
 

City Hall Council Chamber 

1515 Sixth Street, Coachella, California 

(760) 398-3502      www.coachella.org 

AGENDA 

 

CITY COUNCIL CLOSED SESSION AND 

REGULAR MEETING 

 

 

 OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA 

 

THE COUNCIL SITTING AS THE COACHELLA SANITARY DISTRICT, 

COACHELLA FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT, COACHELLA FINANCING AUTHORITY, 

COACHELLA EDUCATIONAL AND GOVERNMENTAL ACCESS CABLE CHANNEL CORPORATION, 

COACHELLA WATER AUTHORITY, AND SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE COACHELLA REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

June 23, 2021 

5:00 PM Closed Session 

6:00 PM Regular Meeting 
 

 

Pursuant to Executive Order N-29-20, this meeting may be 

conducted by teleconference/electronically 

Meeting options will be either in-person or via Zoom: 

In-Person Meeting 

Location: 

 

Coachella City Hall 

Council Chamber 

1515 Sixth Street 

Coachella, CA 

If you would like to attend the meeting via Zoom, here is the link: 

 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88457271898?pwd=REdzU1NoQmpVSFhWTDVaZ0VCekYxdz09  

Passcode: 606140 

Or One tap mobile : 16699006833,,88457271898#,,,,*606140# 

Or Telephone: 

     US: +1 669 900 6833   

Webinar ID: 884 5727 1898 

Passcode: 606140 

 Public comments may be received either in person, via email, or telephonically, or via Zoom with a limit 

of 250 words, or three minutes: 

o Written comments may be submitted to the City Council electronically via email 

to cityclerk@coachella.org. Transmittal prior to the start of the meeting is required. 

o Or, you may leave a message at (760) 262-6240 before 5:30 p.m. on the day of the meeting. 

 The live stream of the meeting may be viewed online by accessing the city's website 

at www.coachella.org, and clicking on the "Watch Council Meetings" tab located on the home page, and 

then clicking on the "live" button.  

Spanish: El idioma español está disponible en Zoom seleccionado la opción en la parte de abajo de la pantalla 

CALL TO ORDER: - 5:00 P.M. 
 

ROLL CALL: 

 

Page 1

http://www.coachella.org/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88457271898?pwd=REdzU1NoQmpVSFhWTDVaZ0VCekYxdz09
mailto:cityclerk@coachella.org
http://www.coachella.org/


Agenda CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA June 23, 2021 

Page 2 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 

“At this time the Council/ Board/Corporation/Authority may announce any items being pulled from the Agenda 

or continued to another date or request the moving of an item on the agenda” 

PUBLIC COMMENTS (CLOSED SESSION ITEMS): 

ADJOURN TO CLOSED SESSION: 

1. CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR PURSUANT TO GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 

54957.6: 

City Labor Negotiator:   City Manager Gabriel Martin; Human Resources Manager Sandy Krause; Public 

Works Director Maritza Martinez; and Finance Director Nathan Statham 

Employee Organization:  Teamsters Local 1932 Representing Mid-Management Employees 

2. CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR PURSUANT TO GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 

54957.6: 

City Labor Negotiator:   City Manager Gabriel Martin; Human Resources Manager Sandy Krause; Public 

Works Director Maritza Martinez; and Finance Director Nathan Statham 

Employee Organization:  Teamsters Local 1932 Representing Miscellaneous/Sanitary Employees 

3. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL - EXISTING LITIGATION 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(1) 

Western Growers Association, et al. v. City of Coachella, et al. 

Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. CVPS2101162 

4. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 

Significant Exposure to Litigation, Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(2)/(e)(1) 

One (1) potential case 

5. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 

Initiation of Litigation, Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(4) 

One  (1) potential case 

RECONVENE REGULAR MEETING: - 6:00 P.M. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

CLOSED SESSION ANNOUNCEMENTS: 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

6. Special Meeting Minutes of a Coachella City Council Study Session held on May 26, 2021. 

 

Page 2



Agenda CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA June 23, 2021 

Page 3 

 

7. Regular Meeting Minutes of May 26, 2021, of the City Council, Coachella Fire Protection District, 

Coachella Sanitary District, Coachella Financing Authority, Coachella Educational and Governmental 

Access Cable Corporation, Coachella Water Authority, and Successor Agency to the Coachella 

Redevelopment Agency. 

PROCLAMATIONS/PRESENTATIONS: 

8. Presentation from the Coachella Valley Mosquito & Vector Control District regarding Neighborhood 

Mosquito Control Treatments taking place in Summer 2021 in Coachella 

9. Presentation on Coronavirus (COVID-19) Response Efforts 

10. Annual Flag Calendar 

WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS: 

CONSENT CALENDAR: 

(It is recommended that Consent Items be acted upon simultaneously unless separate discussion and/or action is 

requested by a Council Member or member of the audience.) 

11. Voucher Listing — EFT's/Utility Billing Refunds/FY 2020-21 Expenditures as of June 23, 2021, 

$3,140,670.63. 

12. Ordinance No. 1181 approving Change of Zone No. 20-08 to add the R-C (Retail Cannabis Overlay) Zone 

to the existing M-S (Manufacturing Service) Zone on a 13,000 square foot developed parcel located at the 

northwest corner of 3rd Street and Grapefruit Boulevard. Pueblo Cannabis, Applicant (Second Reading). 

13. Ordinance No. 1182, Updates to the Hotel Operations Incentive Program (Second Reading) 

14. Resolution No. 2021-35, Update Authorized Signers on the City’s California Local Agency Investment 

Fund (LAIF) Account due to Changes in City Staff  

15. Resolution No. SD-2021-03, to Update Authorized Signers on the Sanitary District’s California Local 

Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) Accounts due to Changes in City Staff  

16. Resolution No. 2021-37, Authorization and Appropriation of deposit funds for Eminent Domain 

Proceedings for the SR-86/Avenue 50 New Interchange Project (ST-81).  

17. Establish the Appropriations Limits for Fiscal Year 2021-22 

a) Adopt Resolution No. 2021-38, establishing the appropriations limit for the City of Coachella for fiscal 

year 2021-22; 

b) Adopt Resolution No. SD-2021-04, establishing the appropriations limit for the Coachella Sanitary 

District for fiscal year 2021-22; 

c) Adopt Resolution No. FD-2021-03, establishing the appropriations limit for the Coachella Fire 

Protection District for fiscal year 2021-22 

18. Approve Resolution No. 2021-39 Amending the existing Street Sweeping Parking Fine.   

Page 3



Agenda CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA June 23, 2021 

Page 4 

 

19. Adopt Resolution No. 2021-41 Authorizing the City Manager to Execute Grant Documents and Submit a 

Joint Application with Pacific Southwest Community Development Corporation, the Project’s Managing 

General Partner, for Funding Under the Infill Infrastructure Grant Program to the California Department of 

Housing and Community Development in a Not-to-Exceed Amount of $4,500,000 Million for the 

Affordable Housing Apartment Project on Tripoli Avenue in the City of Coachella 

20. Annual Investment Policy Update: 

 Resolution No. 2021-44 a Resolution of the City Council of the City of Coachella 

 Resolution No. WA-2021-07, a Resolution of the Coachella Water Authority 

 Resolution No. SD-2021-05, a Resolution of the Coachella Sanitary District 

 Resolution No. FD-2021-04, a Resolution of the Coachella Fire Protection District 

 Resolution No. CBL-2021-02, a Resolution of the Coachella Education and Government Access Cable 

Channel Corporation 

21. Authorize a Community Based Grant to the California Farmworker Foundation in the Amount of $1,000 to 

Assist Farmworkers Facing Food Insecurity  

22. Approve 2021 – 2023 Memorandum of Understanding between the City of Coachella and Desert Recreation 

District.  

23. Approve execution of Amendment No. 3 to the lease agreement between the City of Coachella and Armtec 

Defense Technologies.  

24. Authorize execution of Amendment No. 1 between the City of Coachella and Vintage Landscape for 

Rancho Las Flores Park Project No. 030619A. 

25. Authorize execution of Amendment No. 3 between the City of Coachella and Vintage Landscape for City 

Parks and Office Facilities Project No. 030619C. 

26. Authorize execution of Amendment No. 1 to West Coast Arborist Maintenance Agreement extending their 

term for one year. 

27. Authorize a Community Based Grant to Eastern Coachella Valley for Change in the Amount of $1,000 to 

Provide Mentorship to Students Enrolled in the Tenth Grade at Coachella Valley High School 

28. Approve Agreement for Animal Field and Shelter Services between the City of Coachella and the County 

of Riverside 

29. Authorize a Community Based Grant to the Academy of Musical Performance  in the Amount of $1,000 

for Summer Day Camp Meals 

30. Authorize City Manager to approve Change Order No. 1 and approve Notice of Completion for Bagdouma 

Pool Rehabilitation Project No. 102720, accept project as complete and direct City Clerk to record the 

Notice of Completion.      

 

Page 4



Agenda CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA June 23, 2021 

Page 5 

 

NEW BUSINESS CALENDAR (LEGISLATIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE): 

31. Ordinance No. 1178 approving Change of Zone No. 20-04 to add the R-C (Retail Cannabis) Overlay Zone 

to the existing C-G (General Commercial) Zone on property located at 46-156 Dillon Road. Coachella Can, 

LLC (Armen Paronyan), Applicant. (Second Reading).  

32. Ordinance No. 1184 Amending Chapter 2 of the Coachella Municipal Code by adding Section 2.30 to 

include a Youth Advisory Commission. (First Reading) 

33. Resolution No. 2021-34, a Resolution of the City Council of the City Of Coachella, Adopting an Annual 

Budget And Organizational Structure for Fiscal Year 2021-22 

PUBLIC HEARING CALENDAR (QUASI-JUDICIAL): 

34. B-4 Ranch Change of Zone Project  

a) Resolution No. 2021-36, Environmental Assessment (EA 2-04) adopting a Negative Declaration 

pursuant to the environmental review guidelines of the California Environmental Quality Act.  

b) Ordinance No. 1183, Change of Zone (CZ 20-07) to change the zoning from R-S (Single Family 

Residential) and R-M (Multiple Family Residential) to R‐M Urban (20‐38 du/ac), R‐M General (20‐25 

du/ac), and Neighborhood Commercial (C‐N) on approximately 56.9 acres of vacant, agricultural land 

located on the north side of Avenue 52, east and west of Education Way (APN: 763-060-048).  City-

Initiated. (First Reading) 

35. Public Hearing for Resolution No. 2021-19 Confirming the Assessment and Diagram and Ordering the 

Levy and Collection of Assessments for Fiscal Year 2021/2022 for the City of Coachella Landscaping and 

Lighting Maintenance District Number 1 through 38. 

36. Pulte Coachella Subdivision Project 

 Resolution No. 2021-42, Tentative Tract Map (TTM 38084) and Variance (VAR 21-04) to allow the 

subdivision of 26.81 acres of vacant land into 107 single-family residential lots (having less than the 

minimum 7,200 square feet) ranging in size from 6,017 square feet to 13,171 square feet, with an 

average lot size of approximately 7,500 square feet, with public streets and common-area lots accessed 

from Avenue 51, on property located on the north side of Avenue 51 between Van Buren Street and 

Chiapas Drive (APN #768-050-002). 

 Resolution No. 2021-43, Architectural Review (AR 21-03) to allow the construction of 107 single 

family homes using three production models, within Tentative Tract Map No. 38084 to include: 1) A 

one-story (3-Bedroom, 2-Bath) residence with 1,959 square feet of floor area; 2) A two-story (4-

Bedroom, 2 ½-Bath) residence with 2,404 square feet of floor area; and 3) A two-story (5-Bedroom, 3-

Bath) residence with 2,825 square feet of floor area, all with attached two-car garages and a variety of 

architectural themes (Spanish, Craftsman, and Prairie) and color palettes for the models’ exterior 

finishes and roof tile.  Pulte Home Company, LLC (Applicant) 

37. Public Hearing and Adoption of the 2020 Regional Urban Water Management, Water Shortage 

Contingency Plan, and Appendix L to the 2015 Urban Water Management Plan: 

a) Resolution No. WA-2021-04, to Adopt the 2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water 

Management Plan (RUWMP). 

Page 5



Agenda CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA June 23, 2021 

Page 6 

 

b) Resolution No. WA-2021-05, to Adopt the Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP). 

c) Resolution No. WA-2021-06, to Adopt Appendix L as an addendum to the 2015 Urban Water 

Management Plan (UWMP) 

PUBLIC COMMENTS (NON-AGENDA ITEMS): 

The public may address the City Council/Board/Corporation/ Authority on any item of interest to the public that 

is not on the agenda but is in the subject matter jurisdiction thereof. Please limit your comments to three (3) 

minutes. 

REPORTS AND REQUESTS: 

Council Comments/Report of Miscellaneous Committees. 

City Manager’s Comments. 

ADJOURNMENT: 

 
 

Complete Agenda Packets are available for public inspection on the  

City’s website www.coachella.org. 

 

 

THIS MEETING IS ACCESSIBLE TO PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES 

Page 6

http://www.coachella.org/


 

City Hall Council Chamber  

1515 Sixth Street, Coachella, California  

(760) 398-3502      www.coachella.org 

MINUTES 

 

OF A SPECIAL MEETING 

 

COACHELLA CITY COUNCIL  

STUDY SESSION  

May 26, 2021 

4:30 PM 
 

 

 

CALL TO ORDER: 

 

The Study Session of the City Council of the City of Coachella began at 4:32 p.m.  

 

ATTENDANCE: 

 

Present:  Councilmember Beaman Jacinto, Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember Galarza (arrived at 

4:45 p.m.), Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez.  

 

City Treasurer Aviles. 

  

Absent:  City Clerk Zepeda. 

 

Pursuant to Executive Order N-29-20 pertaining to the coronavirus/COVID-19, this meeting was 

conducted entirely by teleconference/electronically with no in-person public access to the meeting location.  

 

STUDY SESSION ITEMS: 

Said study session shall be for the purpose of discussing the following: 

 

1. AB 992 / Social Media Training by Best Best & Krieger, City Attorney. 
 

ADJOURNMENT: 

 

There being no further business, the meeting concluded at 5:00 p.m. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

___________________________ 

Andrea Carranza, MMC 

Deputy City Clerk 
 

 

[Note: Study Sessions are special meetings of the City Council that are conducted informally. No action is 

contemplated other than familiarization of the Council on specific topics and potential referral to a future agenda.] 

Page 7

Item 6.

http://www.coachella.org/


 

City Hall Council Chamber 

1515 Sixth Street, Coachella, California 

(760) 398-3502      www.coachella.org 

MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL CLOSED SESSION AND  

REGULAR MEETING 

 

 

 OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA 

 

THE COUNCIL SITTING AS THE COACHELLA SANITARY DISTRICT, 

COACHELLA FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT, COACHELLA FINANCING AUTHORITY, 

COACHELLA EDUCATIONAL AND GOVERNMENTAL ACCESS CABLE CHANNEL CORPORATION, 

COACHELLA WATER AUTHORITY, AND SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE COACHELLA REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

May 26, 2021 

5:00 PM Closed Session 

6:00 PM Regular Meeting 
 

 

CALL TO ORDER: - 5:00 P.M. 

The Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Coachella was called to order at 5:00 p.m. by Mayor 

Hernandez.  

ROLL CALL: 

Present:  Councilmember Beaman Jacinto, Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember Galarza, 

Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez.  

 

   City Treasurer Aviles, City Clerk Zepeda (arrived at 5:03 p.m.). 

 

Absent:   None. 

Pursuant to Executive Order N-29-20 pertaining to the coronavirus/COVID-19, this meeting was 

conducted entirely by teleconference/electronically with no in-person public access to the meeting location.  

APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 

 

There were no modifications to the agenda. 

 

Motion:   To approve the agenda as presented. 

Made by:   Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez 

Seconded by:   Councilmember Beaman Jacinto 

Approved:   5-0, by a unanimous voice vote. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS (CLOSED SESSION ITEMS): 

None. 

 

 

Page 8

Item 7.

http://www.coachella.org/


Minutes CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA May 26, 2021 

Page 2 

 

ADJOURN TO CLOSED SESSION: 

Council adjourned into Closed Session at 5:03 p.m. 

1. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 

Initiation of Litigation, Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(4) 

Two (2) potential case 

2. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL - EXISTING LITIGATION 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(1) 

City of Coachella v. Chia Hung Lai, et al.  

Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. PSC1805142 

3. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL - EXISTING LITIGATION 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(1) 

Dolly Hwang, et al v. City of Coachella 

Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. CVPS2100050 

4. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 

Significant Exposure to Litigation, Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(2)/(e)(1) 

One (1) potential case 

5. PUBLIC EMPLOYEE APPOINTMENT 

Title:  City Manager 

6. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL - EXISTING LITIGATION 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(1) 

Western Growers Association, et al. v. City of Coachella, et al. 

Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. CVPS2101162 

RECONVENE REGULAR MEETING: - 6:00 P.M. 

The City Council reconvened into open session at 6:15 p.m.  

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

City Attorney Campos led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

CLOSED SESSION ANNOUNCEMENTS: 

City Attorney Campos stated that Council met in Closed Session, and direction was given, but no reportable 

action was taken.  

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

7. Regular Meeting Minutes of April 28, 2021, of the City Council, Coachella Fire Protection District, 

Coachella Sanitary District, Coachella Financing Authority, Coachella Educational and Governmental 

Access Cable Corporation, Coachella Water Authority, and Successor Agency to the Coachella 

Redevelopment Agency. 

 

Page 9

Item 7.



Minutes CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA May 26, 2021 

Page 3 

 

Motion:  To approve the minutes as presented. 

 

Made by:  Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez 

Seconded by:  Councilmember Galarza 

Approved:  5-0, by a unanimous voice vote. 

PROCLAMATIONS/PRESENTATIONS: 

8. Proclamation Recognizing Líderes Campesinas Youth 

9. Presentation on Coronavirus (COVID-19) Response Efforts 

10. Youth Commission Update 

11. Street Sweeping Parking Fine 

12. Budget Presentation for Fiscal Year 2021-22  

 

Public Comments were moved up to this portion of the meeting being after the 8:00 hour: 
 

1. Ann Hart, via Zoom 

2. James Rodriguez, via Zoom 

3. Stephen Henry, via Zoom 

 

(After Public Comments, the City Council returned to the regular agenda at this point.) 

13. CIP Budget Presentation for Fiscal Year 2021-22 

WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS: 

City Clerk Zepeda announced that one written communication was received in opposition of Item 35 from 

Michael I. Kehoe with Palmieri, Hennessey & Leifer, LLP. The email was received today at 4:42 p.m. and 

forwarded to Council.  

CONSENT CALENDAR: 

14. Voucher Listing — EFT's/Utility Billing Refunds/FY 2020-21 Expenditures as of May 12, 2021, 

$1,119,782.16. 

15. Voucher Listing — EFT's/Permit Refunds/Utility Billing Refunds/FY 2020-21 Expenditures as of May 26, 

2021, $1,802,567.02. 

16. This item was pulled from the Consent Calendar and voted upon separately. See page 4  

17. Resolution No. 2021-31, setting a July 28, 2021 public hearing date for Municipal Solid Waste Rates for 

Fiscal Year 2021/2022.  

18. Resolution No. 2021-32, a Resolution of the City Council of the City of Coachella to adopt a List of Projects 

for Fiscal Year 2020/21, funded by SB 1: Road Repair and Accountability Act. 

Page 10

Item 7.



Minutes CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA May 26, 2021 

Page 4 

 

19. Approval of Addendum No. 2 to the Third Amendment and Restatement of the Coachella Valley 

Association of Governments (“CVAG”) Joint Powers Agreement, which establishes the Twenty-Nine 

Palms Band of Mission Indians as a formal member. 

20. Investment Report – March 2021 

21. Award Professional Services Contract to Angenious Engineering Services for the Avenue 50 Bridge over 

Coachella Valley Storm Water Channel. 

22. Award Maintenance Services Agreement to Conserve Landcare LLC for Landscape Maintenance Services 

for Landscape Lighting and Maintenance Districts 1-38 Project No. 032921.   

23. Art in Public Places Program – Dateland Park Art Mural Installation 

24. Art in Public Places Program – Coachella Smoke Shop Art Mural Installation 

 

Motion: To approve per staff recommendation, Consent Calendar Items 14 through 24, 

with the exception of Item 16, which was voted upon separately (see below).  

 

Made by:   Councilmember Beaman Jacinto 

Seconded by:   Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez 

Approved:    5-0, by the following roll call vote: 

 

AYES: Councilmember Beaman Jacinto, Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember 

Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez. 

NOES:   None.  

ABSTAIN:    None. 

ABSENT:    None. 

The following item was pulled from the Consent Calendar and voted upon separately (see page 3 and above): 

16. Ordinance No. 1178 approving Change of Zone No. 20-04 to add the R-C (Retail Cannabis) Overlay Zone 

to the existing C-G (General Commercial) Zone on property located at 46-156 Dillon Road. Coachella Can, 

LLC (Armen Paronyan), Applicant. (Second Reading).  

 

Public Comment:  Bruce Bauer 

   Steven Lubell  

 

Motion:  To continue item 

 

Made by:  Councilmember Galarza 

Seconded by:   Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez 

Approved:   3-2, by the following roll call vote: 

 

AYES: Councilmember Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez. 

NOES:   Councilmember Beaman Jacinto and Councilmember Delgado.  

ABSTAIN:   None. 

ABSENT:   None. 

Page 11

Item 7.



Minutes CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA May 26, 2021 

Page 5 

 

At this time, the City Council took a five-minute recess and then resumed with the agenda at this point. 

NEW BUSINESS CALENDAR (LEGISLATIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE): 

25. Employment Agreement between the City of Coachella and Dr. Gabriel Martin as City Manager for the 

City of Coachella.  

City Attorney Campos announced that the agreement presented will be modified to start on June 4, 2021, 

with a two-year term with two additional one-year options.  

 

Public Comment: Maria Ruiz, via Zoom  

 

Motion: To approve per staff recommendation 

 

Made by: Mayor Hernandez 

Seconded by:  Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez 

Approved:  5-0, by the following roll call vote: 

 

AYES: Councilmember Beaman Jacinto, Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember 

Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez. 

NOES: None.  

ABSTAIN:  None. 

ABSENT:  None. 

26. Ordinance No. 1182, Updates to the Hotel Operations Incentive Program (First Reading) 

 

Motion: To approve per staff recommendation and amend the date of 2023 to 2025; 

and to read title only and pass to second reading. 

 

Made by: Councilmember Delgado 

Seconded by:  Mayor Hernandez 

Approved:  5-0, by the following roll call vote: 

 

AYES: Councilmember Beaman Jacinto, Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember 

Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez. 

NOES: None.  

ABSTAIN:  None. 

ABSENT:  None. 

27. Renewal of the Cooperative Agreement for continued Fire Services between the City of Coachella and the 

County of Riverside, and shared cost Ladder Truck agreement for continued Fire Services for three 

additional years.   

 

Motion: To approve per staff recommendation 

 

Made by: Councilmember Beaman Jacinto 

Seconded by:  Councilmember Delgado 

Approved:  5-0, by the following roll call vote: 

Page 12

Item 7.



Minutes CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA May 26, 2021 

Page 6 

 

AYES: Councilmember Beaman Jacinto, Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember 

Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez. 

NOES: None.  

ABSTAIN:  None. 

ABSENT:  None. 

28. Direction on the Advertisement of Utility Users Tax Citizen Oversight Committee. 

 

Motion: To extend the committee application period. 

 

Made by: Councilmember Delgado 

Seconded by:  Councilmember Galarza 

Approved:  5-0, by the following roll call vote: 

 

AYES: Councilmember Beaman Jacinto, Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember 

Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez. 

NOES: None.  

ABSTAIN:  None. 

ABSENT:  None. 

(For the following two Commission appointments and based on Ordinance No. 1172, Members of commissions 

shall be appointed for four-year terms or less. The term of each commission member shall continue for the term 

of the nominating council member and automatically terminate when the council member’s term ends. If a council 

member is reelected, that council member is entitled to make all new nominations or may choose to re-nominate 

the council member’s previous nominee): 

29. Appointments to the Coachella Parks and Recreation Commission, five new Commissioners and one 

Alternate Commissioner.  

 

Nominee Nominated by 

(Member of Council) 

Term Expires 

Rosalio Avila Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez November 2022 

J. Carlos Ayala Councilmember Galarza November 2024 

Erza Cadena Councilmember Delgado November 2024 

Lesly Figueroa Councilmember Beaman Jacinto November 2022 

Karina Rodriguez Mayor Hernandez November 2022 

Javier Figueroa Alternate November 2024 

 

Motion: To appoint as Parks and Recreation Commissioners. 

Made by: Mayor Hernandez 

Seconded by:  Councilmember Beaman Jacinto 

Approved:  5-0, by the following roll call vote: 

 

 

 

 

Page 13

Item 7.



Minutes CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA May 26, 2021 

Page 7 

 

AYES: Councilmember Beaman Jacinto, Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember 

Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez. 

NOES: None.  

ABSTAIN:  None. 

ABSENT:  None. 

30. Appointments of Five (5) Coachella Residents to the Coachella Cultural and Arts Commission for 

alternating terms.  

 

Nominee Nominated by 

(Member of Council) 

Term Expires 

Yurema Arvizu Councilmember Delgado November 2024 

Keila Cupil Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez November 2022 

Andrew Gallegos Mayor Hernandez November 2022 

Armando Lerma Councilmember Beaman Jacinto November 2022 

Jonathan Rivera Councilmember Galarza November 2024 

Marisa Aceves Alternate November 2024 

 

Motion: To appoint as Cultural and Arts Commissioners. 

 

Made by: Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez 

Seconded by:  Mayor Hernandez 

Approved:  5-0, by the following roll call vote: 

 

AYES: Councilmember Beaman Jacinto, Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember 

Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez. 

NOES: None.  

ABSTAIN:  None. 

ABSENT:  None. 

31. Establishment of a SB 1383 Organics Waste Reduction Ad Hoc Subcommittee.   

 

Motion: To appoint Councilmember Beaman Jacinto and Councilmember Galarza 

as to the SB 1383 Organics Waste Reduction Ad Hoc Subcommittee. 

 

Made by: Councilmember Beaman Jacinto  

Seconded by:  Councilmember Delgado 

Approved:  5-0, by the following roll call vote: 

 

AYES: Councilmember Beaman Jacinto, Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember 

Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez. 

NOES: None.  

ABSTAIN:  None. 

ABSENT:  None. 

 

Page 14

Item 7.



Minutes CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA May 26, 2021 

Page 8 

 

32. Display of the Pride Flag at City Hall annually during the month of June to commemorate Lesbian, Gay, 

Bisexual and Transgender Pride Month; and display of the Transgender Flag annually on March 31 

commemorating Transgender Day of Visibility.  

 

Public Comment: Frank Figueroa 

 

Motion: To approve with the modification to include monthly heritage flag 

recognitions and bring back to Council a heritage month calendar. 

 

Made by: Councilmember Delgado 

Seconded by:  Councilmember Beaman Jacinto 

Approved:  5-0, by the following roll call vote: 

 

AYES: Councilmember Beaman Jacinto, Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember 

Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez. 

NOES: None.  

ABSTAIN:  None. 

ABSENT:  None. 

PUBLIC HEARING CALENDAR (QUASI-JUDICIAL): 

33. Pueblo Cannabis Project 

a) Resolution 2021-29 approving Conditional Use Permit No. 336 to convert an existing 3,400 square foot 

commercial building into a 1,500 square foot indoor retail cannabis business and 1,900 square foot 

coffee shop with art gallery. The project entails façade renovations and a new parking lot/ landscaping 

with outdoor patio improvements on property located at 85-591 Grapefruit Boulevard. 

b) Ordinance No. 1181 approving Change of Zone No. 20-08 to add the R-C (Retail Cannabis Overlay) 

Zone to the existing M-S (Manufacturing Service) Zone on a 13,000 square foot developed parcel 

located at the northwest corner of 3rd Street and Grapefruit Boulevard. (First Reading) 

Mayor Hernandez opened the Public Hearing for Item 33 at 10:48 p.m.  

 

Public Comment: None. 

 

Mayor Hernandez closed the Public Hearing for Item 33 at 10:49 p.m.  

 

Motion:  To adopt Resolution No. 2021-29; and read title only and pass to second 

reading Ordinance No. 1178. 

 

Made by: Councilmember Beaman Jacinto 

Seconded by:  Councilmember Galarza 

Approved:  5-0, by the following roll call vote: 

 

 

 

 

Page 15

Item 7.



Minutes CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA May 26, 2021 

Page 9 

 

AYES: Councilmember Beaman Jacinto, Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember 

Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez. 

NOES: None.  

ABSTAIN:  None. 

ABSENT:  None. 

34. Appeal of Planning Commission’s Revocation of Conditional Use Permit (CUP 312) that allowed a 3,250 

sq. ft. Retail Cannabis Microbusiness on 20,000 square feet of land located at 84-161 Avenue 48 for “The 

Coachella Lighthouse, LLC”.  City- Initiated Revocation. 

 

Mayor Hernandez re-opened the Public Hearing for Item 34 at 10:50 p.m.  

 

Public Comment: None 

 

Motion:  To continue item to July 14, 2021 

 

Made by: Mayor Hernandez 

Seconded by:  Councilmember Galarza 

Approved:  5-0, by the following roll call vote: 

 

AYES: Councilmember Beaman Jacinto, Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember 

Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez. 

NOES: None.  

ABSTAIN:  None. 

ABSENT:  None. 

35. Resolution No. 2021-33, Public Hearing to Consider the Adoption of a Resolution of Necessity to Acquire 

by Eminent Domain a Fee Interest in Certain Real Property Identified as APN 763-020-021 located at 

Avenue 50 West of SR-86 in Coachella, California for the SR-86 / Avenue 50 Interchange Project. 

 

Written Communication: Michael I. Kehoe with Palmieri, Hennessey & Leifer, LLP – in opposition - 

received 05/26/2021 at 4:42 p.m. and forwarded to Council. 

Emily Chaidez with Best Best & Krieger confirmed that the notice of the hearing was mailed out to the 

affected property owners. 

 

Mayor Hernandez opened the Public Hearing for Item 35 at 10:52 p.m.  

 

Public Comment: Joshua Marx, attorney with Palmieri, Hennessey & Leifer, LLP, representing 

the applicant 

 

Mayor Hernandez closed the Public Hearing for Item 35 at 11:05 p.m.  

 

Motion:  To approve per staff recommendation 

 

Made by: Mayor Hernandez 

Seconded by:  Councilmember Galarza 

Approved:  5-0, by the following roll call vote: 

Page 16

Item 7.



Minutes CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA May 26, 2021 

Page 10 

 

AYES: Councilmember Beaman Jacinto, Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember 

Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez. 

NOES: None.  

ABSTAIN:  None. 

ABSENT:  None. 

36. Agreement with Flock Group, Inc. for the purchase of 65 cameras and a subscription for Automated License 

Plate Recognition (ALPR) software system for Coachella neighborhoods, in the amount of $162,500 

annually plus a one-time 10% installation charge. 

 

Mayor Hernandez opened the Public Hearing for Item 36 at 11:49 p.m.  
 

Public Comment: Mohammad Tajsar with the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) 

  James Rodriguez 

Jesse Mund 
 

Mayor Hernandez closed the Public Hearing for Item 36 at 12:34 p.m.  

 

Motion:  To continue item and send back to the Public Safety Subcommittee 

 

Made by: Councilmember Galarza 

Seconded by:  Councilmember Beaman Jacinto 

Approved:  5-0, by the following roll call vote: 

 

AYES: Councilmember Beaman Jacinto, Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember 

Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez. 

NOES: None.  

ABSTAIN:  None. 

ABSENT:  None. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS (NON-AGENDA ITEMS): 

With the time being after the 8:00 hour and per Resolution No. 2019-34, Public Comments were moved up (see 

page 3). There were no further comments at this time. 

REPORTS AND REQUESTS: 

Council Comments/Report of Miscellaneous Committees. 

City Manager’s Comments. 

ADJOURNMENT: 

There being no further business to come before the City Council and the Agencies, Mayor Hernandez adjourned 

the meeting at 12:39 a.m.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

___________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda, City Clerk 

Page 17

Item 7.



Page 18

Item 11.



Page 19

Item 11.



Page 20

Item 11.



Page 21

Item 11.



Page 22

Item 11.



Page 23

Item 11.



Page 24

Item 11.



Page 25

Item 11.



Page 26

Item 11.



Page 27

Item 11.



Page 28

Item 11.



Page 29

Item 11.



Page 30

Item 11.



Page 31

Item 11.



Page 32

Item 11.



Page 33

Item 11.



Page 34

Item 11.



Page 35

Item 11.



Page 36

Item 11.



Page 37

Item 11.



Page 38

Item 11.



Page 39

Item 11.



Page 40

Item 11.



Page 41

Item 11.



Page 42

Item 11.



Page 43

Item 11.



Page 44

Item 11.



Page 45

Item 11.



Page 46

Item 11.



Page 47

Item 11.



Page 48

Item 11.



Page 49

Item 11.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Luis Lopez, Development Services Director  

SUBJECT: Ordinance No. 1181 approving Change of Zone No. 20-08 to add the R-C (Retail 

Cannabis Overlay) Zone to the existing M-S (Manufacturing Service) Zone on a 

13,000 square foot developed parcel located at the northwest corner of 3rd Street 

and Grapefruit Boulevard. Pueblo Cannabis, Applicant (2nd Reading). 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt Ordinance No. 1181 approving Change of Zone No. 

20-08 to add the RC (Retail Cannabis) Overlay Zone to the existing M-S (Manufacturing Service) 

zone on property located at 85-591 Grapefruit Blvd. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

On May 26, 2021 the City Council introduced for first reading, by title only, Ordinance No. 1181 

as part of the Pueblo Cannabis business and Art Gallery/Coffee Shop proposed for the existing 

building located at 85-591 Grapefruit Blvd.  The Planning Commission reviewed the project and 

recommended to City Council approval of the zone change request on April 7, 2021.  

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

The City Council approved the Pueblo Cannabis dispensary and art gallery/coffee shop project on 

May 26, 2021.  The applicant intends to convert the existing 3,400 square foot commercial building 

into a 1,500 square foot retail cannabis business and 1,900 square foot coffee shop with art gallery.  

The project entails façade renovations and a new parking lot and landscaping, with outdoor patio 

improvements on property located at 85-591 Grapefruit Boulevard. 

 

ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1)  Adopt Ordinance No. 1181 approving Change of Zone No. 20-08.  

2)  Deny Ordinance No. 1181 with findings.  

3)  Continue this matter and provide staff with direction.  

 

 

 

 

Page 50

Item 12.



FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

There are no fiscal impacts associated with this action in that it merely creates the proper zoning 

to allow the operation of a retail cannabis dispensary on the subject site, subject to the conditions 

of approval previously imposed on the business through Conditional Use Permit No. 336.  

 

RECOMMENDED ALTERNATIVE(S): 

 

Staff recommends Alternative #1 above.  

 

 
Attachment:  Ordinance No. 1181 - 2nd Reading 

 

 

Page 51

Item 12.



   

 

ORDINANCE NO. 1181 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COACHELLA APPROVING CHANGE OF ZONE 20-08 TO ADD THE   

R-C (RETAIL CANNABIS OVERLAY) ZONE TO THE EXISTING M-

S (MANUFACTURING SERVICE) ZONE  ON PROPERTY LOCATED 

AT 85-591 GRAPEFRUIT BOULEVARD. PUEBLO CANNABIS 

COMPANY (ARMANDO LERMA), APPLICANT.  

 

WHEREAS Armando Lerma (on behalf of Pueblo Cannabis Company) filed an 

application for Change of Zone 20-08 on property located at 85-591 Grapefruit Boulevard 

(Assessor’s Parcel No. 778-041-003), and attendant application Conditional Use Permit (CUP 

336)  (“Project”); and, 

 

WHEREAS the Planning Commission conducted a duly noticed public hearing on 

Change of Zone (CZ 20-08) and CUP 336 on April 7, 2021 at the Coachella Permit Center, 

53-990 Enterprise Way, Coachella, California and recommended that the City Council 

approve Change of Zone 20-08 and CUP 336: and, 

 

WHEREAS, the Applicant and members of the public were present and were 

afforded an opportunity to testify regarding the Project; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the Project is permitted pursuant to Chapter 17.47 of the Coachella 

Municipal Code, and the attendant application for a Conditional Use Permit to allow the 

Project; and, 

 

WHEREAS the City Council conducted a duly noticed public hearing on Change of 

Zone (CZ 20-08) and CUP 336 on May 26, 2021 at the Coachella City Hall, 1515 6th Street, 

Coachella, California, took public testimony, and approved Change of Zone 20-08 and CUP 

336: and, 

 

WHEREAS, the proposed use is necessary or desirable for the development of the 

community, is consistent with the objectives of the City’s General Plan, and is not detrimental 

to the existing uses or the uses specifically permitted in the zone in which the proposed use 

is to be located; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the proposed site is adequate in size and shape to accommodate the 

proposed development; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the site for proposed use relates properly to streets which are designed 

to carry the type and quantity of traffic to be generated by the proposed use; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the Project is exempt from the provisions of the California 

Environmental Quality Act, as amended; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the conditions as stipulated by the City are necessary to protect the 

public health, safety and welfare of the community. 

 

Page 52

Item 12.



Ordinance No. 1181 

Page 2 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHLLA 

CALIFORNIA, DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. That the City of Coachella Official Zoning Map be amended as shown on 

the attached Change of Zone 20-08 map marked “Exhibit A” from MS (Manufacturing 

Service) to MS-RC (Manufacturing Service -Retail Cannabis Overlay Zone) on property 

located at 85-591 Grapefruit Blvd, with the findings listed below: 

 

Findings for Change of Zone 20-08: 

 
1. The Project is consistent with the goals, objectives, policies, and implementation 

measures of the Coachella General Plan 2035. The site has a Downtown  Center land 

use designation that allows for the proposed development. The proposed change of 

zone is in keeping with the policies of the Downtown Center land use classification and 

the Project is internally consistent with other General Plan policies for this type of 

development.  
 

2. The Project is in compliance with the applicable land use regulations and development 

standards of the City’s Zoning Code. The site plan proposes a retail cannabis business 

and coffee shop including indoor and outdoor space that will be used for temporary art 

exhibitions, outdoor art installations, murals and special events. The Project complies 

with applicable M-S (Manufacturing Service) and Section 17.47.020 property 

development standards as proposed. 
 

3. Every use, development of land and application of architectural guidelines and 

development standards shall be considered on the basis of the suitability of the site for 

a particular use or development intended, and the total development, including the 

prescribed development standards, shall be so arranged as to avoid traffic congestion, 

ensure the protection of public health, safety and general welfare, prevent adverse 

effects on neighboring property and shall be in accord with all elements of the general 

plan. The proposed change of zone is compatible with existing surrounding land uses 

that include commercial, residential and manufacturing land uses.  

 

4. The Project will be compatible with neighboring properties with respect to land 

development patterns and application of architectural treatments. The plans submitted 

for this Project propose a retail cannabis business and coffee shop that is permitted in 

the M-S (Manufacturing Service) zone pursuant to an approved Conditional Use 

Permit. Surrounding properties to the project site include commercial, manufacturing 

and residential land uses. As such, the Project will be in keeping with the scale, 

massing, and aesthetic appeal of the existing area and future development.  

 

5. The Project is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to 

CEQA Guidelines Section 15303 (C) that exempts the conversion of existing small 

structures from one use to another where only minor modifications are made to the 

interior and exterior of the structure. 

 

Page 53

Item 12.



Ordinance No. 1181 

Page 3 

 

Section 2. SEVERABILITY. The City Council declares that, should any provision, 

section, paragraph, sentence or word of this ordinance be rendered or declared invalid by any 

final court action in a court of competent jurisdiction or by reason of any preemptive 

legislation, the remaining provisions, sections, paragraphs, sentences or words of this 

ordinance as hereby adopted shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

Section 3. EFFECTIVE DATE. This ordinance shall take effect thirty (30) days after 

it’s second reading by the City Council. 

 

Section 4. CERTIFICATION. The City Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this 

Ordinance and shall cause it to be published and circulated in the City of Coachella. 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23rd day of June 2021. 

 

 
___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez 

Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

City Attorney 

 
  

Page 54

Item 12.



Ordinance No. 1181 

Page 4 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE 

CITY OF COACHELLA 

) 

) ss. 

) 

 

 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Amendment to Ordinance No. 1181 was 

duly and regularly introduced at a meeting of the City Council on the 26th day of May 2021, and that 

thereafter the said ordinance amendment was duly passed and adopted on the 23rd day of June 2021.  

         

AYES:   

   

NOES:    

   

ABSENT:  

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

___________________________                                         

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy City Clerk 

  

  

Page 55

Item 12.



Ordinance No. 1181 

Page 5 

 

Exhibit A 

Change of Zone 20-08 

 

 

 

Proposed MS-RC Zone 

 

Page 56

Item 12.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Gabriel Martin, Economic Development Director  

SUBJECT: Ordinance No. 1182, Updates to the Hotel Operations Incentive Program (Second 

Reading) 
 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

 

Staff recommends that the Mayor and City Council review the updated draft Hotel Operations 

Incentive Program policy document and Ordinance No. 1182, extending the sunset period of the 

Program for an additional three years, provide staff with guidance and direction, and consider 

approval of the policy and adoption of the ordinance as proposed.  

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and larger economic trends, the City of Coachella is 

currently suffering from one of the highest unemployment rates in the County: 13.8% as of late 

March 2021, per a report by the California Employment Development Department. The City is 

continuing to work to attract and retain business, to encourage the creation of jobs for its residents, 

and to improve the quality of life of its workers and their families. City staff has determined that 

an update to the existing Hotel Operations Incentive Program policy, and the ordinance that 

codified such policy, is needed to further pursue these goals as the City recovers from an economic 

downturn that particularly impacted the travel and leisure sector.  

 

On May 26, 2021, the City Council approved the first reading of the attached Ordinance No. 1182 

amending Section 4.49.020 of the Coachella Municipal Code.  

 

DISCUSSION: 

 

Currently, the Hotel Operations Incentive Program is expired and needs to be updated with a new 

expiration date in the future, if the City Council wishes to continue to implement its provisions. 

Likewise, the proposed ordinance amends Section 4.49.020 of the Municipal Code to bring its 

dates into accordance with the updated Program. The revised policy document will extend the date 

by which a developer can enter into an agreement with the City to develop a compliant hotel project 

to June 1, 2023. The revised policy document will also extend the deadline for a project to be fully 

entitled to be no later than December 31, 2025, to be under construction no later than June 30, 

2026, and for construction to be completed, a Certificate of Occupancy issued, and the hotel open 

and operational no later than June 30, 2027. In accordance with these suggested changes, the 

Page 57

Item 13.



revised Section 4.49.020 of the Coachella Municipal Code will now define “new hotel,” “first class 

new hotel,” and “comfort new hotel” to include hotels fully entitled after January 1, 2018 but 

before December 31, 2025. No other changes are suggested at this time. 

 

ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1) Recommend approval of Hotel Operations Incentive Program and Ordinance No. 1182 

as presented. (Recommended by staff.)  

  

2) Recommend approval of Hotel Operations Incentive Program and Ordinance No. 1182 

with amendments. 

 

3) Recommend denial of Hotel Operations Incentive Program and Ordinance No. 1182. 

 

4) Continue this item and provide staff with direction.  

 
 

FISCAL IMPACTS 

 

There are no fiscal impacts associated with this action in that it merely modifies Coachella 

Municipal Code to extend the existing Hotel Operations Incentive Program until the end of 2025. 

 

ATTACHMENTS  
 

1. Ordinance No. 1182:  An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Coachella, 

California, Amending Section 4.49.020 of the Coachella Municipal Code Regarding the 

Hotel Operations Incentive Program  

 

2. Draft Revised Hotel Incentive Program policy document (in redline)  

 

Page 58

Item 13.



ORDINANCE NO. 1182 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA, AMENDING SECTION 

4.49.020 OF THE COACHELLA MUNICIPAL CODE 

REGARDING THE HOTEL OPERATIONS INCENTIVE 

PROGRAM 

WHEREAS, the City Council previously adopted a Hotel Operations Incentive Program 

by Ordinance No. 1106 on May 24, 2017; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council wishes to extend the sunset period of the Hotel Operations 

Incentive Program for an additional three years, which requires minor modifications to the 

language of Section 4.49.020 of the Coachella Municipal Code. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA 

DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Recitals. The above recitals are hereby adopted by the City Council and 

incorporated as set forth in this section.  

Section 2. Amendment to Coachella Municipal Code. Coachella Municipal Code 

Chapter 4.49, Hotel Operations Incentive Program, Section 4.49.020 is hereby amended and 

restated to read as follows (deleted text in strikethrough, new text in bold underline): 

“4.49.020 - Definitions.  

For the provisions of this chapter, the following definitions shall apply: 

"Adjusted tax rate" means the hotel operations incentive program tax rates which shall be 

exclusively utilized for the calculation of the operating assistance to be paid by the city 

to qualified operators of hotels participating in the hotel performance incentive program. 

"Comfort hotel" means a hotel which provides appropriate standards of physical features and 

operational services established for hotels by the American Automobile Association, J.D. 

Power & Associates, Forbes, or Smith's Travel Research Service. 

"Existing hotel" means a property that was constructed, occupied, and used as a hotel on or 

before January 1, 2018. 

"First class hotel" means a hotel which provides standards of physical features and operational 

services which meet or exceed the higher rating criteria established for hotels by the 

American Automobile Association, J.D. Power & Associates, Forbes, or Smith's Travel 

Research Service. 

"First class hotel standard" means standards of physical features and operation which qualify 

a hotel as a first class hotel and which include operation of the hotel on a twenty-four (24) 

hours per day/seven days a week basis with housekeeping services, food and beverage 

services, room services, banquet and meeting services, concierge and bellman services, 

and parking services. 

Page 59

Item 13.



"Fully entitled" means a hotel that has received and/or been issued all discretionary permits 

and entitlements from the city required for the construction of a new hotel. 

"Hotel" means any property containing four or more guest rooms used by four or more guests 

for compensation and where the guest rooms are designed and intended as transient 

occupancy accommodations. 

"New hotel," "first class new hotel," and "comfort new hotel" means a first class hotel or 

comfort hotel that is or was fully entitled as a hotel after January 1, 2018, but before 

December 31, 2020 2025. The term "new hotel" does not include all, or any portion of, 

or addition to, an existing hotel. 

"Operating covenants" means the covenants described in Section 4.49.050 of this Code. 

"Operator" means the person who is proprietor of a hotel, whether in the capacity of owner, 

lessee, sub-lessee, mortgagee in possession, licensee, franchisee, or any other capacity, 

or the assignee or designee of such proprietor. 

"Transient occupancy" means an uninterrupted stay of no more than twenty-eight (28) 

consecutive calendar days. 

"Transient occupancy tax base" means the existing transient occupancy rate in place at the 

adoption of this ordinance, nine percent.”  

 

SECTION 3. CEQA.  The City Council finds that this Ordinance is not subject to the 

California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) pursuant to Sections 15060(c)(2) (the activity 

will not result in a direct or reasonable foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment) 

and 15060(c)(3) (the activity is not a project as defined in Section 15378) of the CEQA Guidelines, 

California Code of Regulations Title 14, Chapter 3, because it has no potential for resulting in 

physical change to the environment, directly or indirectly. 

SECTION 4. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect thirty (30) days after its 

adoption. 

SECTION 5. Severability.  If any provision or clause of this Ordinance or any application 

of it to any person, firm, organization, partnership, or corporation is held invalid, such invalidity 

shall not affect other provisions of this Ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid 

provision or application. To this end, the provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be severable. 

SECTION 6. Certification.  The City Clerk shall certify the passage of this Ordinance 

and shall cause the same to be entered in the book of original ordinances of said City; shall make 

a minute passage and adoption thereof in the records of the meeting at which time the same is 

passed and adopted; and shall, within fifteen (15) days after the passage and adoption thereof, 

cause the same to be published as required by law, in a local newspaper of general circulation and 

which is hereby designated for that purpose. 

 

 

 

 

Page 60

Item 13.



PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23rd day of June 2021. 

 

 
___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez 

Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

City Attorney 

 
  

Page 61

Item 13.



STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE 

CITY OF COACHELLA 

) 

) ss. 

) 

 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Amendment to Ordinance No. 1182 was duly and 

regularly introduced at a meeting of the City Council on the 26th day of May 2021, and that thereafter the 

said ordinance amendment was duly passed and adopted on the 23rd day of June 2021.  

         

AYES:   

   

NOES:    

   

ABSENT:  

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

___________________________                                         

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy City Clerk 

  

 

Page 62

Item 13.



 

 

 

 

 

 

Hotel Incentive Program (HIP) 

 
Much of the Coachella Valley depends on the growth and expansion of the tourism and travel 

industries. The City of Coachella intends to participate more fully in the tourism, travel industry, 

and aggressively encourage hotel development in Coachella’s municipal boundaries. The Hotel 

Incentive Program (HIP) is designed to encourage the first hotel developments in the City of 

Coachella. 

 

Hotels would provide visitors a convenient and enjoyable experience, enabling visitors to spend 

more time in the city, exploring the many cultural, entertainment and outdoor attractions unique 

to this region in the Coachella Valley. The HIP will help diversify our local economy by 

incentivizing the creation of a new business sector within the City. It will increase the employment 

options for residents currently employed in this well-established valley industry sector and will 

provide new employment opportunities for residents of the City of Coachella. 

 

The HIP is a benefit to the Hotel Operator with the intention being to provide an incentive that will 

assist the operator in offering a competitive room rate as they establish their new hotel in the 

market. 

 

TRANSIENT OCCUPANCY TAX (TOT) RATE  

 

The City of Coachella continues to maintain a Transient Occupancy Tax (TOT) rate that is lower 

than the average TOT rate of neighboring municipalities and is currently the lowest TOT in the 

Coachella Valley at 9%. This low TOT rate provides the Hotel Operator the ability to offer gross 

room rates at several percentage points below (approx. 2-4% lower) neighboring municipalities. 

The low TOT likely would be an inducement to encourage development of new hotels in the City 

of Coachella. 

 

TOT OPERATOR INCENTIVE  

 

The City shall provide the following TOT Incentive based on the type of hotel product proposed: 

 

A. First Class New Hotels. The city shall pay to an operator of a first class new hotel an 

amount equal to fifty (50) percent of the adjusted tax rate. Such payments shall be made 

for twenty (20) years from the certificate of occupancy for the hotel or until the operator 

has been paid twenty-five million dollars ($25,000,000.00), whichever event occurs first. 

 

The city and a qualified participant under this section may enter into an agreement, at the sole 

discretion of the city, to receive an increase in the percent of the adjusted tax rate, for no longer 

Page 63

Item 13.



than the first two years of the qualified participant's incentive program. Without regard to any 

preceding conditions of this section, the program shall terminate at any point the first class new 

hotel is not operated as a first class hotel. 

A. Comfort New Hotels: 

  

a. The city shall pay to an operator of a comfort hotel with one hundred twenty-five 

(125) or more rooms an amount equal to fifty (50) percent of the adjusted tax rate 

and such payments shall be made for twenty (20) years from the certificate of 

occupancy for the hotel or until the operator has received twenty-five million 

dollars ($25,000,000.00), whichever event occurs first. 

 

b. The city shall pay to an operator of a comfort hotel with fifty-one (51) to one 

hundred twenty-four (124) rooms an amount equal to fifty (50) percent of the 

adjusted tax rate and such payments shall be made for ten (10) years or until the 

operator has received ten million dollars ($10,000,000.00), whichever event 

occurs first. 

 

 

c. The city shall pay to an operator of a comfort hotel with fifty (50) or fewer rooms 

an amount equal to fifty (50) percent of the adjusted tax rate and such payments 

shall be made for five years or until the Operator has received five million dollars 

($5,000,000.00), whichever event occurs first. Without regard to any preceding 

conditions of this section, the program shall terminate at any point the hotel is not 

operated as a comfort hotel. 

 

Each operator eligible to participate in the city's hotel operations incentive program shall execute 

operating covenants approved by the city council, and recorded with the county of Riverside 

recorder's office. 

 

AGREEMENT ACCEPTANCE PERIOD  
 

As time is of the essence, a developer must enter into an agreement with the City on or before 

June 1, 2025 to qualify for this program. 

 

PROJECT COMPLETION PERIOD  

 

The project must be fully entitled as a hotel no later than December 31, 2025 and be under 

construction no later than June 30, 2026 with the project completed, Certificate of Occupancy 

issued, hotel open and operational no later than June 30, 2027. 

 

OTHER QUALIFICATIONS AND CONDITIONS  

 

1. The program shall terminate at any point the covenanted property ceases to operate as a 

hotel. 

 

2. An Operating Covenant, covering a ten (10) year period, will be executed, reviewed and 

approved by the City Council and recorded with the County of Riverside. 

Page 64

Item 13.



 

HOTEL CLASS & RATING SYSTEM 

 

The Hotel class is identified by the specific amenities offered at the property. Forbes Travel 

Guide, formerly Mobil Travel Guide, launched its star rating system in 1958 and the “Hotel Stars 

Union” was established in 2010 in Europe to differentiate the classes of hotel accommodations 

and their respective levels of service. The AAA auto association uses a similar rating system with 

diamonds, rather than stars, to express hotel and restaurant rating lever. The Hotel.com is a 

popular hotel reservation website, which uses star rating descriptions to draw distinctions between 

accommodations and the services expected. The rating system classifies the differences between 

“First Class” (4 Star), “Superior Comfort” (3 Star +) and “Comfort” (3 Star) Hotels. The star 

rating system noted below is a combination of components from both Hotels.com and Hotel Stars 

Union. 

 

“STAR” RATING SYSTEM: 

 

5 Star = Luxury  

 

These are hotels that offer the highest level of accommodations and services with a high degree of 

personal service. Although most five star hotels are large properties, sometimes the small 

independent (non-chain) property offers an elegant intimacy that cannot be achieved in the larger 

setting. The hotel locations can vary from the very exclusive locations of a suburban area, to the 

heart of downtown. The hotel lobbies are sumptuous, the rooms complete with stylish furnishing 

and quality linens. The amenities often include: in room video/movie libraries, DVD′s, CD stereos, 

garden tubs or Jacuzzis, heated pools and more. The hotels feature full service restaurants with 

exquisite menus. Room service is usually available 24 hours a day. Fitness Centers and valet and/or 

garage parking are typically available. A concierge is also available to assist you. 

 

Typical National Chains: Ritz Carlton, Four Seasons. 

 

Offering:   

 

 Reception opened 24 hours, multilingual staff 

 Doorman-service or valet parking 

 Concierge 

 Spacious reception hall with seating and beverage service 

 Personalized greeting for each guest with fresh flowers or a present in the room 

 Minibar and food and beverage offered via room service 24 hours 

 Personal care products 

 Internet-PC in the room 

 Safe in the room 

 Ironing and shoe polish service 

 Turndown service in the evening 

 Mystery guesting 

 

 

Page 65

Item 13.

http://hotels.com/


 

 

4 Star + = First Class Superior  
 

The Superior flag is provided when the first class hotel has a proven high quality not only in the 

rooms. The superior hotels provide for additional facilities in the hotel like a sauna or a workout 

room. The quality is checked regularly by mystery guesting by an external inspection service. 

 

4 Star = First Class  

 

Mostly large, formal hotels with reception areas, front desk service and bellhop service. The hotels 

are most often located near other hotels of the same caliber and are usually found near shopping, 

dining and other major attractions. The level of service is well above average and the rooms are 

well lit and well furnished. Restaurant dining is usually available and may include more than one 

choice. Some properties will offer continental breakfast and/or happy hours. Room service is 

usually available during most hours. Valet parking and/or garage service is also usually available. 

Concierge services, fitness centers and one or more pools are often provided. 

 

Typical National Chains: Hyatt, Hilton and Marriot. 

 

Offering:   

 

 Reception opened 18 hours, accessible by phone 24 hours from inside and outside 

 Lobby with seats and beverage service 

 Breakfast buffet or breakfast menu card via room service 

 Minibar or 24 hours beverages via room service 

 Upholstered chair/couch with side table 

 Bath robe and slippers on demand 

 Cosmetic products (e.g. shower cap, nail file, cotton swabs), vanity mirror, scale in the 

bathroom 

 Internet access 

 "À la carte"-restaurant 

 

3 Star + = Superior Comfort  
 

The Superior flag is provided when the additional service and accommodation provisions are not 

sufficient for the next star. The accommodation facilities for a superior hotel need to be on a 

modern level and fully renovated, which is checked regularly. 

 

3 Star = Comfort 

 

Typically, these hotels offer more spacious accommodations that include well-appointed rooms 

and decorated lobbies. Bellhop service is usually not available. They are often located near major 

expressways or business areas, convenient to shopping and moderate to high priced attractions. 

The hotels usually feature medium-sized restaurants that typically offer service breakfast through 

Page 66

Item 13.



dinner. Room service availability may vary. Valet parking, fitness centers and pools are often 

provided. 

 

Typical National Chains: Holiday Inn, Radisson. 

 

Offering:   

 

 Breakfast buffet 

 Reading light next to the bed 

 Bath essence or shower gel 

 Bath towels 

 Linen shelves 

 Offer of sanitary products (e.g. toothbrush, toothpaste, shaving kit) 

 Reception opened 14 hours, accessible by phone 24 hours from inside and outside, 

bilingual staff 

 Luggage service 

 Beverage offer in the room 

 Telephone in the room 

 Internet access in the room or in the public area 

 Heating facility in the bathroom, hair-dryer, cleansing tissue 

 Dressing mirror, place to put the luggage/suitcase 

 Sewing kit, shoe polish utensils, laundry and ironing service  

Additional pillow and additional blanket on demand 

 Systematic complaint management system 

 

2 Star + = Superior Standard  
 

The Superior flag is provided when the additional service and accommodation provisions are not 

sufficient for the next star. The Standard-Superior does usually offer the same service level as 

three-star hotels, but the interiors of the hotel are smaller and cheaper so that the three stars were 

not to be awarded by the inspection body. A two-star superior does not require mystery guesting. 

 

2 Star = Standard  

 

Typically smaller hotels managed by the proprietor. The hotel is often 2 - 4 stories high and usually 

has a more personal atmosphere. It′s usually located near affordable attractions, major intersections 

and convenient to public transportation. Furnishings and facilities are clean but basic. Most will 

not have a restaurant on site but are usually within walking distance to some good low-priced 

dining. Public access, past certain hours, may be restricted. 

 

Typical National Chains: Days Inn, Quality Inn and La Quinta Inn. 

 

In addition to the single star hotels offering:  

 

 Breakfast buffet 

Page 67

Item 13.



 Reading light next to the bed 

 Bath essence or shower gel 

 Bath towels 

 Linen shelves 

 Offer of sanitary products (e.g. toothbrush, toothpaste, shaving kit) 

 

1 Star + = Superior Tourist  
 

The Superior flag is provided when the additional service and accommodation provisions are not 

sufficient for the next star. The bathroom facilities are usually at the same level as for two stars 

hotels but built from cheaper materials. 

 

1 Star = Tourist  

 

Usually denotes independent and name brand hotel chains with a reputation for offering consistent 

quality amenities. The hotel is usually small to medium-sized and conveniently located to 

moderately priced attractions. The facilities are typically basic with telephones and TV′s in the 

bedroom. Some hotels offer limited restaurant service, however room service and bellhop service 

is usually not provided. 

 

Typical National Chains: Econolodge, Motel 6. 

 

Offering:  

  

 100% of the rooms with shower or bath tub 

 Daily room cleaning 

 100% of the rooms with TV and remote control 

 Table and chair 

 Soap or body wash 

 Reception service 

 Facsimile at the reception 

 Publicly available telephone for guests 

 Extended breakfast 

 Beverage offer in the hotel 

 Deposit possibility 

 

References:   

 

 Hotels.com “Star Ratings Explained” 

http://www.hotels.com/customer_care/star_rating.html  

 

 Hotel Star Union “European star rating system” 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Hotel_rating   

 
 

Page 68

Item 13.

http://www.hotels.com/customer_care/star_rating.html
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Hotel_rating


 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Nathan Statham, Finance Director 

SUBJECT: Update Authorized Signers on the City’s LAIF Account due to Changes in City 

Staff  
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt resolution 2021-35 approving the City Manager, 

Finance Director and Accounting Manager as authorized signers on the City’s LAIF account. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

The City currently maintains an investment account with the California Local Agency Investment 

Fund (LAIF) (account # 98-33-171). This account represents highly liquid low risk investments 

with low interest rates. Former City Manager Bill Pattison is currently the authorized signer on the 

account. Funds in this investment account can only be transferred to and from the City’s general 

checking account. Resolution 2021-35 is required by LAIF to update the authorized signers on the 

account. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

There is no fiscal impact as part of this action. 

 

 

Page 69

Item 14.



RESOLUTION NO. 2021-35        

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA AUTHORIZING INVESTMENT OF 

MONIES IN THE LOCAL AGENCY INVESTMENT FUND. 

 

WHEREAS, The Local Agency Investment Fund is established in the State Treasury under 

Government Code section 16429.1 et. seq. for the deposit of money of a local agency for purposes 

of investment by the State Treasurer; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Coachella hereby finds that the deposit and 

withdrawal of money in the Local Agency Investment Fund in accordance with Government Code 

section 16429.1 et. set. for the purpose of investment as provided therein is in the best interest of 

the City of Coachella. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA 

HEREBY RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1. That the City Council of the City of Coachella hereby authorizes the deposit 

and withdrawal of City of Coachella monies in the Local Agency Investment Fund in the State 

Treasury in accordance with government Code section 16429.1 et. seq. for the purpose of 

investment as provided therein. 

 

SECTION 2. The following the officers holding the titles(s) specified or their successors 

in office are each hereby authorized to order the deposit or withdrawal of monies in the Local 

Agency Investment Fund and may execute and deliver any and all documents necessary or 

advisable in order to effectuate the purposes of this resolution and the transactions contemplated 

hereby: 

 

 

 Gabriel Martin Nathan Statham Ruben Ramirez 

  

 City Manager Finance Director Accounting Manager 

 

 

 ____________________ ____________________ ____________________  

 (SIGNATURE) (SIGNATURE) (SIGNATURE) 

  

 

SECTION 3. This resolution shall remain in full force an effect until rescinded by the City 

Council of the City of Coachella by resolution and a copy of the resolution rescinding this 

resolution is filed with the state Treasurer’s Office.  

 

 

 

 

Page 70

Item 14.



Resolution No. 2021-35 

Page 2 

 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED, this 23rd day of June 2021. 

 

___________________________________                                                                                        

Steven A Hernandez 

Mayor         

 

 

ATTEST:  

 

___________________________________                                                      

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Capos 

City Attorney 

Page 71

Item 14.



Resolution No. 2021-35 

Page 3 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA        ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE       ) ss. 

CITY OF COACHELLA           ) 

 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-35 was duly adopted by 

the City Council of the City of Coachella at a regular meeting thereof, held on this 23rd day of June 

2021, by the following vote: 

 

AYES:   

 

NOES:   

 

ABSENT:  

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

 

 

___________________________________                                                      

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy City Clerk 

 

Page 72

Item 14.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Nathan Statham, Finance Director 

SUBJECT: Resolution No. SD-2021-03, to Update Authorized Signers on the Sanitary 

District’s California Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) Accounts due to 

Changes in City Staff  
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the Board of Directors adopt resolution SD-2021-03 approving the City 

Manager, Finance Director and Accounting Manager as authorized signers on the District’s LAIF 

account. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

The District currently maintains an investment account with the California Local Agency 

Investment Fund (LAIF) (account# 70-33-001). This account represents highly liquid low risk 

investments with low interest rates. Former City Manager Bill Pattison is currently the authorized 

signer on the account. Funds in this investment account can only be transferred to and from the 

City’s general checking account. Resolution SD-2021-03 is required by LAIF to update the 

authorized signers on the account. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

There is no fiscal impact as part of this action. 

 

 

Page 73

Item 15.



RESOLUTION NO. SD-2021-03        

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

COACHELLA SANITARY DISTRICT, COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA 

AUTHORIZING INVESTMENT OF MONIES IN THE LOCAL AGENCY 

INVESTMENT FUND. 

 

WHEREAS, The Local Agency Investment Fund is established in the State Treasury under 

Government Code section 16429.1 et. seq. for the deposit of money of a local agency for purposes 

of investment by the State Treasurer; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Coachella Sanitary District (hereafter 

“BOARD” and “DISTRICT” respectively) hereby finds that the deposit and withdrawal of money 

in the Local Agency Investment Fund in accordance with Government Code section 16429.1 et. 

set. for the purpose of investment as provided therein is in the best interest of the Board of Directors 

of the Coachella Sanitary District. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE COACHELLA 

SANITARY DISTRICT HEREBY RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1. That the Board of Directors of the Coachella Sanitary District hereby 

authorizes the deposit and withdrawal of Coachella Sanitary District monies in the Local Agency 

Investment Fund in the State Treasury in accordance with government Code section 16429.1 et. 

seq. for the purpose of investment as provided therein. 

 

SECTION 2. The following officers holding the titles(s) specified or their successors in 

office are each hereby authorized to order the deposit or withdrawal of monies in the Local Agency 

Investment Fund and may execute and deliver any and all documents necessary or advisable in 

order to effectuate the purposes of this resolution and the transactions contemplated hereby: 

 

 

 Gabriel Martin Nathan Statham Ruben Ramirez 

  

 City Manager Finance Director Accounting Manager 

 

 

 ____________________ ____________________ ____________________  

 (SIGNATURE) (SIGNATURE) (SIGNATURE) 

  

 

SECTION 3 – This resolution shall remain in full force an effect until rescinded by the 

Board of Directors of the Coachella Sanitary District by resolution and a copy of the resolution 

rescinding this resolution is filed with the state Treasurer’s Office.  

 

 

 

Page 74

Item 15.



Resolution No. SD-2021-03 

Page 2 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23rd day of June 2021. 
 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez 

President 

 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

Secretary 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

City Attorney 

  

Page 75

Item 15.



Resolution No. SD-2021-03 

Page 3 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA        ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE       ) ss. 

CITY OF COACHELLA           ) 

 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. SD-2021-03 was duly adopted 

by the Board of Directors of the Coachella Sanitary District at a regular meeting thereof, held on 

this 9th day of June 2021, by the following vote of the Board: 

 

AYES: 

 

NOES: 

 

ABSENT: 

 

ABSTAIN: 

 

 

 

 

___________________________________                                                      

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy City Clerk 

 

 

Page 76

Item 15.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Nathan Statham, Finance Director 

SUBJECT: Authorization and appropriation of deposit funds for eminent domain 

proceedings for the SR-86/Avenue 50 new interchange project (ST-81).  
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt resolution 2021-37 approving and appropriating 

deposit funds for the ST-86/Avenue 50 new interchange project (ST-81) eminent domain 

proceedings. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 
City CIP project ST-81 is currently in progress. Current City budgets include funding for the completion of 

project planning and design. The City has been awarded grant funding for the construction phase of the 

project through CalTrans which includes right of way acquisition.  

 

The City Council recently adopted a resolution of necessity authorizing the filing of eminent domain 

proceedings to acquire the property needed for the completion of the SR-86/Avenue 50 New Interchange 

Project.  In order to obtain prejudgment possession of the property it is acquiring, the City must deposit 

the appraised value to continue the court proceedings in the amount of $1,845,000 with the State 

Treasurer’s Office, Condemnation Deposits Fund, as a deposit for AHD Limited Partnership.   

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

The requested funds represent a deposit toward the purchase of the real property that is subject to 

the resolution of necessity authorizing the filing of eminent domain proceedings APN 763-020-

021. Should the proceedings not be completed, the funds would be returned to the City. The City 

also expects to be reimbursed under CalTrans grant funding once the construction phase of the 

project commences or to apply these funds toward the required City share of project costs. By 

adopting resolution 2021-37 Council will be appropriating deposit funds in the amount of 

$1,845,000 from City development impact fee funds 127 and 122 depending on available cash 

balances with funds to be advanced from the City’s General Fund to cover negative cash balances.   

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Resolution 2021-37 

2. City Legal Counsel Letter – Request for Condemnation Funds for Deposit  

Page 77

Item 16.



RESOLUTION NO. 2021-37        

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA AUTHORIZING AND APPROPRIATING 

DEPOSIT FUNDS FOR EMINENT DOMAIN PROCEEDINGS FOR THE 

SR-86/AVENUE 50 NEW INTERCHANGE PROJECT (ST-81) FOR 

DEPOSIT INTO THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA CONDEMNATION 

DEPOSITS FUND. 

 

WHEREAS, The City Council recently adopted a resolution of necessity authorizing the 

filing of eminent domain proceedings to acquire the property identified above for the SR-

86/Avenue 50 New Interchange Project.  In order to obtain prejudgment possession of the property 

it is acquiring, the City must deposit the appraised value to initiate the court proceedings. 

 

WHEREAS, it is necessary for the City to deposit probable just compensation in the 

amount of $1,845,000 with the State Treasurer’s Office, Condemnation Deposits Fund, as a deposit 

for AHD Limited Partnership.  And this deposit needs to be made before the City takes further 

legal action in the court proceedings. 

 

WHEREAS, the City Attorney has made a request for transfer of the required deposit 

funds to the City’s Finance Director dated May 27, 2021. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA 

HEREBY RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1. That the City Council of the City of Coachella hereby authorizes the deposit 

in the amount of $1,845,000 with the State Treasurer’s Office, Condemnation Deposits Fund, as a 

deposit for AHD Limited Partnership. 

 

SECTION 2. That the City Council of the City of Coachella hereby appropriates funds in 

the amount of $1,845,000 from the City’s Street and Transportation (127) and Bridge and Grade 

Separation (122) development impact fee funds with funds to be advanced from the General Fund 

to cover negative cash balances. 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED, this 23rd day of June 2021. 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A Hernandez 

Mayor         

 

 

ATTEST:  

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

Page 78

Item 16.



Resolution No. 2021-37 

Page 2 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Capos 

City Attorney 

Page 79

Item 16.



Resolution No. 2021-37 

Page 3 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA        ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE       ) ss. 

CITY OF COACHELLA           ) 

 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-37 was duly adopted by 

the City Council of the City of Coachella at a regular meeting thereof, held on this 23rd day of June 

2021, by the following vote of Council: 

 

AYES:   

 

NOES:   

 

ABSENT:  

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

 

 

___________________________________                                                      

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy City Clerk 

 

 

Page 80

Item 16.



  

Granite Bay 
(916) 325-4000

Indian Wells 
(760) 568-2611

Irvine 
(949) 263-2600

Los Angeles 
(213) 617-8100

Manhattan Beach 
(310) 643-8448

3390 University Avenue, 5th Floor, P.O. Box 1028, Riverside, CA 92502 
Phone: (951) 686-1450  |  Fax: (951) 686-3083  |  www.bbklaw.com 

Ontario 
(909) 989-8584

Sacramento
(916) 325-4000

San Diego
(619) 525-1300

Walnut Creek 
(925) 977-3300

Washington, DC 
(202) 785-0600

Emily S. Chaidez 
(619) 525-1376
Emily.chaidez@bbklaw.com
File No. 80237.00868

May 27, 2021 

VIA E-MAIL ONLY 

Nathan Statham 
Finance Director 
City of Coachella 
nstatham@coachella.org 

Re: Request for Condemnation Funds for Deposit 
Project:  SR-86/Avenue 50 New Interchange 
Property:  AHD Limited Partnership (APN 763-020-021) 

Dear Mr. Statham: 

The City Council recently adopted a resolution of necessity authorizing the filing of 
eminent domain proceedings to acquire the property identified above for the SR-86/Avenue 50 
New Interchange Project.  In order to obtain prejudgment possession of the property it is acquiring, 
the City must deposit the appraised value in the court proceedings. 

Therefore, it is necessary for the City to deposit probable just compensation.  Please deposit 
the amount of $1,845,000 with the State Treasurer’s Office, Condemnation Deposits Fund, as a 
deposit for AHD Limited Partnership.  This can be made by wire transfer, as follows:  XXX

Once made, please provide us with a copy of the deposit receipt from the State Treasurer’s 
office for inclusion with the pleading papers.   

If you have any questions or if there will be any delay in obtaining the necessary funds, 
please let me or Carlos Campos know as soon as possible.  Thank you. 

 80237.00868\33985811.1 

Page 81

Item 16.



80237.00868\33985811.1 

VIA E-MAIL 

Nathan Statham 
May 27, 2021 
Page 2 

 

Sincerely, 

Emily S. Chaidez 
of BEST BEST & KRIEGER LLP 

CC: Carlos Campos, City Attorney 
Andrew Simmons, City Engineer 

Page 82

Item 16.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Nathan Statham, Finance Director 

SUBJECT: Establish the Appropriations Limits for Fiscal Year 2021-22 

SPECIFICS: a) Adopt Resolution No. 2021-38, establishing the appropriations limit for 

the City of Coachella for fiscal year 2021-22; 

b) Adopt Resolution No. SD-2021-04, establishing the appropriations limit 

for the Coachella Sanitary District for fiscal year 2021-22; 

c) Adopt Resolution No. FD-2021-03, establishing the appropriations limit 

for the Coachella Fire Protection District for fiscal year 2021-22 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

a) Adopt Resolution No. 2021-38, establishing the appropriations limit for the City of Coachella 

for fiscal year 2021-22; 

b) Adopt Resolution No. SD-2021-04, establishing the appropriations limit for the Coachella 

Sanitary District for fiscal year 2021-22; 

c) Adopt Resolution No. FD-2021-03; establishing the appropriations limit for the Coachella Fire 

Protection District for fiscal year 2021-22. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

In conjunction with the fiscal year budget, each year the City of Coachella, Coachella Sanitary 

District and Coachella Fire Protection District are required to establish their appropriations limit 

by resolution.  For fiscal year 2020-21 the appropriations limits were as follows: 
 

City of Coachella - $44,104,728 

Coachella Sanitary District - $7,204,860 

Coachella Fire Protection District – $3,894,368 
 

The formula used to adjust the limit for fiscal year 2021-22 is the change in the California Per 

Capita Personal Income (5.73%) multiplied by the Riverside County population growth factor 

(0.67%) as published by the California Department of Finance.  For the 2021-22 fiscal year the 

calculation results in an increase factor of 1.0644.   Multiplying the 2020-21 appropriation limits 

by the increase factor increases the appropriations limit for the 2021-22 fiscal year to the following:  

 

 

Page 83

Item 17.



City of Coachella - $46,945,072 (increase of $2,840,344) 

Coachella Sanitary District - $7,668,853 (increase of $463,993) 

Coachella Fire Protection District – $4,145,165 (increase of $250,797) 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

There is no fiscal impact at this time.  

 

Page 84

Item 17.



RESOLUTION NO. 2021-38 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COACHELLA CALIFORNIA, ESTABLISHING THE APPROPRIATIONS 

LIMIT FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021-22 FOR THE CITY OF COACHELLA, 

CALIFORNIA IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF 

DIVISION 9 OF TITLE 1 OF THE CALIFORNIA GOVERNMENT CODE 
 

WHEREAS, Article XIIIB of the Constitution of the State of California as proposed by 

the Initiative Measure approved by the people at the special statewide election held November 6, 

1979, provides that the total annual appropriations subject to limitation of each local government 

shall not exceed the appropriations limit of such entity for the prior year adjusted for changes in 

the cost of living and population except as otherwise specifically provided for in said Article; and 

 

WHEREAS, the State Legislature added Division 9 (commencing with Section 7900) to 

Title 1 of the Government Code of the State of California to implement Article XIIIB of the 

California Constitution; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 7910 of the Government Code provides that each year the governing 

body of each local jurisdiction shall, by resolution, establish its appropriations limit for the 

following fiscal year pursuant to Article XIIIB at a regularly scheduled meeting or a noticed special 

meeting and that fifteen days prior to such meeting, documentation used in the determination of 

the appropriations limit shall be available to the public; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 7902 (a) of the Government Code sets forth the method for 

determining the appropriations limit for each local jurisdiction for the 2021-22 fiscal year; and 

 

WHEREAS, the CITY COUNCIL of the City of Coachella wishes to establish the 

appropriations limit for the fiscal year 2021-22 for the City of Coachella. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Coachella, 

California, as follows: 

 

Section 1.  That it hereby found and determined that the documentation used in the 

determination of the appropriations limit for the City of Coachella for the fiscal year 2021-22 was 

available to the public from the Finance Department of the City of Coachella at least fifteen days 

prior to this date. 

 

Section 2.     That the appropriations limit for the City of Coachella fiscal year 2021-22, as 

established in accordance with Section 7902 (a) of the California Government Code, is 

$46,945,072. 

 

Section 3.    That the City Council of the City of Coachella has elected to utilize the 

California Per Capita Income and the Riverside County population growth factor in determining 

the appropriations limit for fiscal year 2021-22. 

 

Page 85

Item 17.



Resolution No. 2021-38 

Page 2 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23rd day of June, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez  

Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

City Attorney 

  

Page 86

Item 17.



Resolution No. 2021-38 

Page 3 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE 

CITY OF COACHELLA 

) 

) ss. 

) 

 

 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-38 was duly adopted by 

the City Council of the City of Coachella at a regular meeting thereof, held on the 23rd day of June, 

2021, by the following vote of Council: 

 

AYES:    

   

NOES:    

   

ABSENT:   

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy City Clerk 
 

 

 

Page 87

Item 17.



RESOLUTION NO. SD-2021-04 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

COACHELLA SANITARY DISTRICT, ESTABLISHING THE 

APPROPRIATIONS LIMIT FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021-22 FOR THE 

COACHELLA SANITARY DISTRICT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 

PROVISIONS OF DIVISION 9 OF TITLE 1 OF THE CALIFORNIA 

GOVERNMENT CODE 
 

WHEREAS, Article XIIIB of the Constitution of the State of California as proposed by 

the Initiative Measure approved by the people at the special statewide election held November 6, 

1979, provides that the total annual appropriations subject to limitation of each local government 

shall not exceed the appropriations limit of such entity for the prior year adjusted for changes in 

the cost of living and population except as otherwise specifically provided for in said Article; and 

 

WHEREAS, the State Legislature added Division 9 (commencing with Section 7900) to 

Title 1 of the Government Code of the State of California to implement Article XIIIB of the 

California Constitution; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 7910 of the Government Code provides that each year the governing 

body of each local jurisdiction shall, by resolution, establish its appropriations limit for the 

following fiscal year pursuant to Article XIIIB at a regularly scheduled meeting or a noticed special 

meeting and that fifteen days prior to such meeting, documentation used in the determination of 

the appropriations limit shall be available to the public; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 7902 (a) of the Government Code sets forth the method for 

determining the appropriations limit for each local jurisdiction for the 2021-22 fiscal year; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Coachella Sanitary District wishes to establish 

the appropriations limit for the fiscal year 2021-22 for the Coachella Sanitary District. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Coachella 

Sanitary District, as follows: 

 

Section 1.  That it hereby found and determined that the documentation used in the 

determination of the appropriations limit for the Coachella Sanitary District for the fiscal year 

2021-22 was available to the public from the Finance Department of the City of Coachella at least 

fifteen days prior to this date. 

 

Section 2.     That the appropriations limit for the Coachella Sanitary District for fiscal year 

2021-22, as established in accordance with Section 7902 (a) of the California Government Code, 

is $7,668,853. 

 

Section 3.    That the Board of Directors of the Coachella Sanitary District has elected to 

utilize the California Per Capita Income and the Riverside County population growth factor in 

determining the appropriations limit for fiscal year 2021-22. 

Page 88

Item 17.



Resolution No. SD-2021-04 

Page 2 

 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23rd day of June 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez  

Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

City Attorney 

  

Page 89

Item 17.



Resolution No. SD-2021-04 

Page 3 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE 

CITY OF COACHELLA 

) 

) ss. 

) 

 

 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. SD-2021-04 was duly adopted 

by the City Council of the City of Coachella at a regular meeting thereof, held on the 23rd day of 

June 2021, by the following vote of Council: 

 

AYES:    

   

NOES:    

   

ABSENT:   

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy City Clerk 
 

 

Page 90

Item 17.



RESOLUTION NO. FD-2021-03 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

COACHELLA FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT, ESTABLISHING THE 

APPROPRIATIONS LIMIT FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021-22 FOR THE 

COACHELLA FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

THE PROVISIONS OF DIVISION 9 OF TITLE 1 OF THE CALIFORNIA 

GOVERNMENT CODE 
 

WHEREAS, Article XIIIB of the Constitution of the State of California as proposed by 

the Initiative Measure approved by the people at the special statewide election held November 6, 

1979, provides that the total annual appropriations subject to limitation of each local government 

shall not exceed the appropriations limit of such entity for the prior year adjusted for changes in 

the cost of living and population except as otherwise specifically provided for in said Article; and 

 

WHEREAS, the State Legislature added Division 9 (commencing with Section 7900) to 

Title 1 of the Government Code of the State of California to implement Article XIIIB of the 

California Constitution; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 7910 of the Government Code provides that each year the governing 

body of each local jurisdiction shall, by resolution, establish its appropriations limit for the 

following fiscal year pursuant to Article XIIIB at a regularly scheduled meeting or a noticed special 

meeting and that fifteen days prior to such meeting, documentation used in the determination of 

the appropriations limit shall be available to the public; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 7902 (a) of the Government Code sets forth the method for 

determining the appropriations limit for each local jurisdiction for the 2021-22 fiscal year; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Coachella Fire Protection District wishes to 

establish the appropriations limit for the fiscal year 2021-22 for the Coachella Fire Protection 

District. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Coachella 

Fire Protection District, as follows: 

 

Section 1. That it hereby found and determined that the documentation used in the 

determination of the appropriations limit for the Coachella Fire Protection District for the fiscal 

year 2021-22 was available to the public from the Finance Department of the City of Coachella at 

least fifteen days prior to this date. 

 

Section 2.  That the appropriations limit for the Coachella Fire Protection District for fiscal 

year 2021-22, as established in accordance with Section 7902 (a) of the California Government 

Code, is $4,145,165. 

 

Page 91

Item 17.



Resolution No. FD-2021-03 

Page 2 

 

Section 3.  That the Board of Directors of the Coachella Fire Protection District has elected 

to utilize the California Per Capita Income and the Riverside County population growth factor in 

determining the appropriations limit for fiscal year 2021-22. 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23rd day of June 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez  

Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

City Attorney 

  

Page 92

Item 17.



Resolution No. FD-2021-03 

Page 3 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE 

CITY OF COACHELLA 

) 

) ss. 

) 

 

 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. FD-2021-03 was duly adopted 

by the City Council of the City of Coachella at a regular meeting thereof, held on the 23rd day of 

June 2021, by the following vote of Council: 

 

AYES:    

   

NOES:    

   

ABSENT:   

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC  

Deputy City Clerk 
 

 

 

Page 93

Item 17.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Maritza Martinez, Public Works Director  

SUBJECT: Approve Resolution No. 2021-39 amending the existing street sweeping 

parking fine.   
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Approve Resolution No. 2021-39 amending the existing street sweeping parking fine. 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

 

On January 13, 2016, Council approved Ordinance 1082 updating Section 10.08.040 of the 

Municipal Code regarding the manner of parking, including a street sweeping No Parking fine of 

$75.00.  The Ordinance was updated on April 27, 2016 to include a state surcharge of $12.50; this 

is a pass-through fee to the state and county.  Since 2016, the total fine amount including the state 

surcharge has been $87.50.   

 

Since March 2020, the street sweeping enforcement program has been suspended.  During a 

Council presentation on May 26, 2021, Council requested the parking fine for street sweeping be 

reduced to $20.00.  When including the state surcharge amount of $12.50 the total fee is $32.50.  

The proposed Resolution No. 2021-39 will amend the fine amount from $75.00 to $20.00; a 73% 

decrease in the fine amount.  Additionally, Resolution No. 2021-39 also identifies a vehicle is able 

to have one citation reduced to a warning once per calendar year through the standard appeals 

process. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

Based on decreased fine recommendation it is estimated total revenue from the Street Sweeping 

Enforcement program will also decrease by 73% ($100,000.00). 

 

  

Attachments: 

Resolution No. 2021-39 

Page 94

Item 18.



Resolution No. 2021-39 

Page 1 

 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-39 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA 

ESTABLISHING A REVISED SCHEDULE OF FINE SCHEDULE FOR 

STREET SWEEPING PARKING VIOLATIONS 

WHEREAS, California Vehicle Code Sections 40200 et seq. authorize cities to impose 

and collect civil fines and penalties for violations of any regulation pertaining to the standing or 

parking of a vehicle; and   

WHEREAS, California Vehicle Code Section 40203.5 specifically requires cities to 

establish a schedule of penalties for parking violations; and  

WHEREAS, a schedule of parking penalties for parking violations sets the fines and 

penalties to be assessed to persons who violate provisions of the California Vehicle Code, or any 

local municipal ordinance pertaining to the standing or parking of a vehicle; and  

WHEREAS, in accordance with the California Vehicle Code, Section 10.08.040(J) of the 

Coachella Municipal Code authorizes the City to adopt a schedule of penalties for parking 

violations and late payment penalties by resolution; and   

WHEREAS, the City’s Schedule for Penalties for Vehicle Use Violations was last updated 

on April 27, 2016 per Resolution 2016-14; and   

WHEREAS, the City Council now desires to update the penalty for parking violations  

during street sweeping as per Coachella Municipal Code 10.08.040(F)(7) ; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, DETERMINED, AND ORDERED by the 

City Council of the City of Coachella, as follows: 

Section 1. Incorporation of Recitals. The City Council hereby finds and determines 

that the foregoing Recitals of this Resolution are true and correct and hereby incorporated into this 

Resolution as though fully set forth herein. 

Section 2. Amended Fine Amount.  The City Council approves and adopts the 

amended parking penalty for Park During Street Sweeping (MC 10.08.404(F)(7) as stated below 

and allowing for one warning per cited vehicle once per calendar year when appealed: 

Base Fine Late Penalty Surcharge 

$20.00  $20.00  $12.50 

Section 3. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon 

execution.  

  

 

 

Page 95

Item 18.



Resolution No. 2021-39 

Page 2 

 
 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23rd day of June 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez  

Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

City Attorney 

 

  

Page 96

Item 18.



Resolution No. 2021-39 

Page 3 

 
 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE 

CITY OF COACHELLA 

) 

) ss. 

) 

 

 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-39 was duly adopted by 

the City Council of the City of Coachella at a regular meeting thereof, held on the 23rd day of June 

2021, by the following vote of Council: 

 

AYES:    

   

NOES:    

   

ABSENT:   

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Andrea J. Carranza  

Deputy City Clerk 
 

 

Page 97

Item 18.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Andrew Simmons, P.E., City Engineer 

Celina Jimenez, Grants Manager 

SUBJECT: 
Adopt Resolution No. 2021-41 Authorizing the City Manager to Execute Grant 

Documents and Submit a Joint Application with Pacific Southwest Community 

Development Corporation, the Project’s Managing General Partner, for Funding 

Under the Infill Infrastructure Grant Program to the California Department of 

Housing and Community Development in a Not-to-Exceed Amount of 

$4,500,000 Million for the Affordable Housing Apartment Project on Tripoli 

Avenue in the City of Coachella 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Adopt Resolution No. 2021-41 authorizing the City Manager to execute grant documents and 

submit a joint application with Pacific Southwest Community Development Corporation, the 

Project’s Managing General Partner, for funding under the Infill Infrastructure Grant Program to 

the California Department of Housing and Community Development in a not-to-exceed amount of 

$4,500,000 million for the affordable housing apartment project on Tripoli Avenue in the City of 

Coachella. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

The California Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) announced 

availability of funding for the Infill Infrastructure Grant (IIG) Program.  Grant funds can be used 

for “capital improvement projects” to facilitate the development of a qualifying infill project or 

area such as: water, sewer, or other utility improvements; streets, roads, transit; project site 

preparation; and sidewalk or streetscape improvement related to the affordable housing 

development project. The City of Coachella will be applying for IIG grant funds with Pacific 

Southwest Community Development Corporation (Pacific Southwest CDC) Submitting a joint 

application demonstrates the City’s commitment to advancing affordable housing locally. 

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

In order to score and compete competitively, the funding proposal will request $4,300,000 (or no 

more than $4.3 million) in IIG grant QIP (Qualifying Infill Project) funds to construct capital 

improvements that are integral components of the Tripoli Avenue Apartments project. The 

proposed scope of work will include: 

Page 98

Item 19.



IIG Grant Scope of Work Detail 

 

IIG GRANT SCOPE OF WORK TOTAL 

City of Coachella   

4th Street Community Plaza  $680,000 

9th Street Public Park (Located 0.4 miles from project adjacent to public art 
walk) $810,000  

City of Coachella Subtotal $1,490,000  

    

Chelsea Investment Corporation (Pacific Southwest CDC)   

Street Improvements West side of Tripoli (between 6th Street and Bagdad, 
including electrical underground) $910,000  

Street Improvements North Side of Bagdad (Between Tripoli and Cesar 
Chavez, including Bagdad Crosswalk at Cesar Chavez and electrical 
underground) $640,000  

Onsite Stormwater Retention $400,000  

Street Improvements for 6th Street Phase II, including sidewalks, landscaping 
and lighting on south side of 6th between Cesar Chavez and Palm as well as 
intersection improvements at 6th and Cesar Chavez. $1,060,000  

Pacific Southwest CDC Subtotal $3,010,000  

    

Total Request $4,500,000  

 

 

ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1. Adopt Resolution No. 2021-41 Authorizing the City Manager to Execute Grant Documents 

and Submit a Joint Application with Pacific Southwest Community Development Corporation, 

the Project’s Managing General Partner, for Funding Under the Infill Infrastructure Grant 

Program to the California Department of Housing and Community Development in a Not-to-

Exceed Amount of $4,500,000 Million for the Affordable Housing Apartment Project on 

Tripoli Avenue in the City of Coachella. 

 

2. Not Adopt Resolution No. 2021-41 Authorizing the City Manager to Execute Grant 

Documents and Submit a Joint Application with Pacific Southwest Community Development 

Corporation, the Project’s Managing General Partner, for Funding Under the Infill 

Infrastructure Grant Program to the California Department of Housing and Community 

Development in a Not-to-Exceed Amount of $4,500,000 Million for the Affordable Housing 

Apartment Project on Tripoli Avenue in the City of Coachella. 

 

 

 

Page 99

Item 19.



 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

There are no direct fiscal impacts for being a joint applicant for IIG funds. However, as a joint 

applicant, the City may share responsibility for completing some aspects of the project such as off-

site street improvements. Staff will evaluate the requirements and risks, and if needed, enter into 

side agreements with project sponsors to clarify responsibilities and mitigate risk to the City. 

 

 

ATTACHMENT(S): 
 

Resolution No. 2021-41 

 

Page 100

Item 19.



 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-41 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE GRANT DOCUMENTS AND 
SUBMIT A JOINT APPLICATION WITH PACIFIC SOUTHWEST COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION, THE PROJECT’S MANAGING GENERAL 
PARTNER, FOR FUNDING UNDER THE INFILL INFRASTRUCTURE GRANT 
PROGRAM TO THE CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT IN A NOT-TO-EXCEED AMOUNT OF $4,500,000 MILLION FOR THE 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING APARTMENT PROJECT ON TRIPOLI AVENUE IN THE CITY 
OF COACHELLA 
 
WHEREAS, the California Department of Housing and Community Development ("Department") 
has issued a Notice of Funding Availability (“NOFA”) dated May 12, 2021, under the IIG Program; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Coachella (“City”) wishes to apply for and receive an allocation of funds 
through the IIG Program for the Tripoli Avenue Apartments; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Coachella is an Eligible Applicant under the IIG Program and wishes to 
apply for an IIG Program Grant in an amount not to exceed $4, 500, 000 (“IIG Grant”) to develop 
infrastructure in support of affordable housing (“IIG Project”) under the above described NOFA. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED: That the City of Coachella is hereby authorized and 
directed to act in connection with the Department’s IIG Grant pursuant to the above mentioned 
NOFA. 
 

RESOLVED FURTHER: That in connection with the City of Coachella’s IIG Grant, the City of 
Coachella is authorized and directed to enter into, execute, and deliver a State of California 
Standard Agreement, and any and all other documents required or deemed necessary or 
appropriate to carry into effect the full intent and purpose of the above resolution, in order to 
evidence the IIG Grant, the City of Coachella's obligations related thereto, and the Department's 
security therefore; including, but not limited to, an affordable housing covenant, a performance 
deed of trust, a disbursement agreement, and certain other documents required by the 
Department as security for, evidence of or pertaining to the IIG Grant, and all amendments 
thereto (collectively, the "IIG Grant Documents"). 
 

RESOLVED FURTHER: That City Manager is hereby authorized to execute the IIG Grant 
Documents, and any amendment or modifications thereto, on behalf of the City of Coachella. 
 

RESOLVED FURTHER: That this resolution shall take effect immediately upon its passage. 
 
RESOLVED FURTHER: The City Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this Resolution.  
 
  

Page 101

Item 19.



 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23rd day of June, 2021 by the consent of the City of 
Coachella City Council by the following vote: 

 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Steven A. Hernandez 
Mayor 
 
 
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Angela M. Zepeda 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Carlos Campos 
City Attorney 
 
  

Page 102

Item 19.



 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA  ) 
COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE  ) ss. 
CITY OF COACHELLA  ) 
 
 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-41 was duly adopted by the City 
Council of the City of Coachella at its regularly scheduled meeting thereof, held on the 23rd day of 
June, 2021 by the following vote of Council: 
 
 
AYES: 
 
NOES: 
 
ABSENT: 
 
ABSTAIN:  
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 
Deputy City Clerk 

 

Page 103

Item 19.



2021-2022 Investment Policy Staff Report, Page 1 of 3 

 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Nathan Statham, Finance Director 

SUBJECT: Annual Investment Policy Update: 

SPECIFICS:  Resolution No. 2021-44 a Resolution of the City Council of the City of 

Coachella 

 Resolution No. WA-2021-07, a Resolution of the Coachella Water 

Authority 

 Resolution No. SD-2021-05, a Resolution of the Coachella Sanitary 

District 

 Resolution No. FD-2021-04, a Resolution of the Coachella Fire 

Protection District 

 Resolution No. CBL-2021-02, a Resolution of the Coachella Education 

and Government Access Cable Channel Corporation 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

1. Approve Resolution No. 2021-44, a Resolution of the City Council of the City of 

Coachella, California to Amend and Reestablish the Investment Policy Originally Adopted 

July 9, 2003 and Amended Annually by the City Council for fiscal year 2021-2022. 

 

2. Approve Resolution No. WA-2021-07, a Resolution of the Board of Directors of the 

Coachella Water Authority, Coachella, California to Amend and Reestablish the 

Investment Policy Originally Adopted July 9, 2003 and Amended Annually by the 

Authority Board for fiscal year 2021-2022. 

 

3. Approve Resolution No. SD-2021-05, a Resolution of the Board of Directors of the 

Coachella Sanitary District, Coachella, California to Amend and Reestablish the 

Investment Policy Originally Adopted July 9, 2003 and Amended Annually by the District 

Board for fiscal year 2021-2022. 

 

4. Approve Resolution No. FD-2021-04, a Resolution of the Board of Directors of the 

Coachella Fire Protection District, Coachella, California to Amend and Reestablish the 

Page 104

Item 20.



2021-2022 Investment Policy Staff Report, Page 2 of 3 

Investment Policy Originally Adopted July 9, 2003 and Amended Annually by the District 

Board for fiscal year 2021-2022. 

 

5. Approve Resolution No. CBL-2021-02, a Resolution of the Board of Directors of the 

Coachella Educational and Governmental Access Cable Channel Corporation, Coachella, 

California to Amend and Reestablish the Investment Policy Originally Adopted July 9, 

2003 and Amended Annually by the Corporation Board for fiscal year 2021-2022. 

 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

The California Government Code, City and Agency Resolutions, and their respective Investment 

Policies require that their respective Investment Policies be updated, reviewed and then filed with 

the legislative body on an annual basis.  This is a request to reestablish the investment policy 

currently in effect as adopted on May 13, 2020.  The City and its related agencies have been 

following the current investment policy as adopted July 9, 2003 and as amended on an annual 

basis. 

 

Staff requested that PFM Asset Management review our existing investment policy and 

recommend changes to assure that the City’s policy is comprehensive and remains compliant with 

all applicable California Government Code statutes regulating the investment of public funds. The 

recommended changes are outlined and explained in the attached memo from PFM. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

There is no fiscal impact as part of this action. 

 

EXHIBITS: 

 

1. Coachella Investment Policy Approved April 2020 

2. Recommended Coachella Investment Policy 2021-2022 

3. PFM Memo of Recommended Changes 

4. Investment Policy Resolution City 2021-44 

5. Investment Policy Resolution Water 2021-07 

6. Investment Policy Resolution Sanitary 2021-05 

7. Investment Policy Resolution Fire 2021-04 

8. Investment Policy Resolution Cable 2021-02 

 

Page 105

Item 20.



CITY OF COACHELLA 

STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT POLICY  

FOR FISCAL YEAR 2020-2021 

ADOPTED MAY 13, 2020 

 

 

 

1.0 POLICY: 

 

This statement is intended to provide guidelines for the prudent investment of the City of 

Coachella’s (hereafter called “City”) temporarily idle cash in all funds, and outline the policies 

for maximizing the efficiency of the City’s cash management system.  

 

It is the objective of this investment policy to provide guidelines for: 

 Insuring the safety of funds invested; 

 Meeting the City’s daily cash flow demands; 

 Maximizing investment interest income for the City; 

 Conform with all laws and statutes governing the investment of public funds. 

 

2.0 SCOPE: 

 

The investment policy applies to the temporary idle cash of the City and its component units as 

accounted for in the Audited Annual Financial Report. Policy statements outlined in this 

document focus on the City’s pooled funds. This policy is applicable, but not limited to all funds 

listed below: 

 General Fund 

 Special Revenue Funds 

 Capital Outlay Funds 

 Debt Service Funds 

 Enterprise Funds 

 Fiduciary Funds 

 Any new fund created by the City Council unless specifically exempted 

 

Exceptions may exist with funds for retiree pension and medical benefits held in a trust and bond 

proceeds held by a trustee or fiscal agent and governed by the instructions in the bond document. 

In addition, if in the opinion of the City Treasurer or their Authorized Designee (Designee), 

matching the segregated investment portfolio of the bond reserve fund with the maturity 

schedule of an individual bond issue is prudent given current economic analysis, the investment 

policy authorizes extending beyond the five year maturity limitation with City Council 

authorization no less than three months prior to the investment as outlined in this document. 

 

3.0 PRUDENCE: 

 

The City Treasurer or Designee are authorized to make investment decisions on behalf of the 

City and considered as trustees and therefore fiduciaries subject to the prudent investors’ 

Page 71

Item 6.

Page 106

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

May 13, 2020 

Page 2 
 

 

standard. When investing, reinvesting, purchasing, acquiring, exchanging, selling, and managing 

public funds, the City Treasurer or Designee shall act with care, skill, prudence, and diligence  

under the circumstances then prevailing, that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and 

familiarity with those matters would use in the conduct and management of their own affairs.  

 

Within the limitations of this section and considering individual investments as part to an overall 

strategy, the City Treasurer or Designee are authorized to acquire approved and suitable 

investments as described in paragraph 8.0 hereof. 

 

The City Treasurer, Authorized Designee and other individuals assigned to manage the 

investment portfolio, acting within the intent and scope of the investment policy and other 

written procedures and exercising due diligence, shall be relieved of personal responsibility and 

liability for an individual security credit risk or market price changes, provided deviations from 

expectations are reported in a timely manner and appropriate action is taken to control adverse 

developments. 

 

4.0 OBJECTIVES: 

 

The three fundamental considerations, in order of priority, for managing the City’s investments 

are safety, liquidity, and yield. At no time should safety or liquidity be compromised in exchange 

for higher yields. 

 

Safety of Principal 

 

The preservation of invested capital is the foremost objective of the City and of primary 

importance. The City shall only invest in financial instruments that are considered safe. The 

safety and risk associated with an investment refers to the potential loss of principal, accrued 

interest, or a combination of these amounts. Each investment decision shall seek to ensure that 

capital losses are avoided. To attain this objective, diversification is required in order that 

potential losses on individual securities do not exceed the income generated from the remainder 

of the portfolio. 

 

Liquidity 

 

The City’s investment portfolio shall contain investments with a diversified mix of maturities in 

order to provide sufficient liquidity to meet projected operating cash requirements of the City. 

 

Return on Investments 

 

The City’s investment portfolio shall be designed with the objective of obtaining a reasonable 

and competitive market rate of return taking into consideration risk constraints, prudent 

investment principles and the cash flow characteristics of the portfolio. 

 

 

Page 72

Item 6.

Page 107

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

May 13, 2020 

Page 3 
 

 

5.0 DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY: 

 

The authority to invest or to reinvest funds or to sell or exchange securities so purchased of City 

Funds is vested in the City Council. Government Code Section (“GCS”) 53607 authorizes the 

delegation of the above duties to the City Treasurer for a one-year period. Therefore, the 

authority to invest and reinvest City funds or to sell or exchange the securities so purchased with 

City funds is hereby delegated to the City Treasurer for a one year period unless sooner 

terminated by the City Council. 

 

The City Treasurer or Designee shall prepare written procedures for the operation of the 

investment program consistent with this investment policy. The procedures shall also include 

reference to: safekeeping, wire transfer agreements, banking service contracts and 

collateral/depository agreements. Such procedures shall include explicit delegation of authority 

to persons responsible for investment transactions. The written procedures may provide for the 

delegation of authority to an Authorized Designee, who upon assuming such position shall 

become responsible for investment transactions. No person may engage in an investment 

decision except as permitted by this policy and by the procedures approved by the City Treasurer 

or Designee.  

 

The City may delegate investment authority to an investment advisor. The advisor will follow 

the Investment Policy and such other written instructions as are provided. 

 

6.0 ETHICS AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: 

 

Officers and employees involved in the investment process shall refrain from personal business 

activity that could conflict with proper execution of the investment program, or which could 

impair their ability to make impartial investment decisions. Employees and investment officials 

are required to annually file all applicable financial disclosures as required by the Fair Political 

Practices Commission (FPPC). 

 

7.0 AUTHORIZED FINANCIAL DEALERS AND INSTITUTIONS: 

 

For any investment not purchased directly from the issuer, the City shall transact business only 

with banks, savings and loans, and investment broker/dealers. The broker/dealers should be 

primary dealers regularly reporting to the New York Federal Reserve Bank. The City Treasurer 

or Designee shall select all security dealers and depositories subject to City Council approval and 

the execution of an appropriate written agreement. Investment transactions shall be conducted 

with several competing, reputable security broker/dealers. The selection process shall focus on 

financial viability, knowledge, experience and ethics in the fixed-income security industry. The 

City Treasurer or Designee will maintain a list and a written agreement with financial institutions 

authorized to provide investment services. 

 

All financial institutions and broker/dealers who desire to become an authorized financial 

institution for investment transactions must supply the City Treasurer or Designee with the 

Page 73

Item 6.

Page 108

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

May 13, 2020 

Page 4 
 

 

following: most recent audited financial statements, proof of Financial Industry Regulatory 

Authority (FINRA) certification, trading resolution, proof of state registration, completed 

broker/dealer questionnaire, certification of having read the City’s investment policy and 

depository contracts. The City Treasurer or Designee will conduct an annual review of the 

financial condition and registrations of qualified bidders. 

 

The City Treasurer or Designee shall annually send a copy of the current investment policy to all 

broker/dealers approved to do business with the City. Confirmation of receipt of this policy shall 

be considered evidence that the dealer understands the City’s investment policies and intends to 

sell the City only appropriate investments authorized by this investment policy.  

 

If the City has an investment advisor, the investment advisor may use its own list of authorized 

broker/dealers to conduct transactions on behalf of the City. 

 

8.0 AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS: 

 

As provided in GCSs 16429.1, 53601, 53601.1, 53631, 53649 and 53684, the State of California 

limits the investment vehicles available to local agencies as summarized in the following 

paragraphs. Where this Policy specifies a percentage limitation for a particular security type or 

issuer, that percentage is applicable at the time the security is purchased. No more than 5% of the 

City’s portfolio shall be invested in any one issuer regardless of sector except for the U.S. 

Treasury, Federal Agencies, supranationals, and pools (including LAIF, County Pools, LGIPs, 

and money market funds). Credit criteria listed in this section refers to the credit rating at the 

time the security is purchased. If an investment’s credit rating falls below the minimum rating 

required at the time of purchase, the City’s investment advisor (if any) and Treasurer will review 

the rating agency action and decide whether to sell or hold the investment. The City may invest 

funds in the following instruments and subject to the limitations set forth in Section 11.0: 

 

State Treasurer’s Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF): As authorized in GCS 16429.1 and 

by LAIF procedures, local government agencies are each authorized to invest a maximum of $75 

million in this investment program administered by the California State Treasurer. 

 

U.S. Treasury Bills and Notes: U.S. Treasury bills, notes, bonds or certificates of indebtedness, 

or those for which the full faith and credit of the United States are pledged for the payment of 

principal and interest. 

 

Federal Agencies: Federal agency or United States government-sponsored enterprise 

obligations, participations, or other instruments, including those issued by or fully guaranteed as 

to principal and interest by federal agencies or United States government-sponsored enterprises.  

 

State of California Obligations: Registered state warrants or treasury notes or bonds of this 

state, including bonds payable solely out of the revenues from a revenue-producing property 

owned, controlled, or operated by the state or by a department, board, agency, or authority of the 

Page 74

Item 6.

Page 109

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

May 13, 2020 

Page 5 
 

 

state rated in a rating category of "A" long-term or "A-1" short-term or its equivalent or higher 

by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization (“NRSRO”).  

 

Obligations of the Other 49 States: Registered treasury notes or bonds of any of the other 49 

states in addition to California, including bonds payable solely out of the revenues from a 

revenue-producing property owned, controlled, or operated by a state or by a department, board, 

agency, or authority of any of the other 49 states, in addition to California, rated in a rating 

category of "A" long-term or "A-1" short-term or its equivalent or higher by a NRSRO.  

 

Obligations of Local Agencies in California: Bonds, notes, warrants, or other evidences of 

indebtedness of a local agency within this state, including bonds payable solely out of the 

revenues from a revenue-producing property owned, controlled, or operated by the local agency, 

or by a department, board, agency, or authority of the local agency rated in a rating category of 

"A" long-term or "A-1" short-term or its equivalent or higher by a NRSRO.  

 

County Pooled Investment Funds: As authorized by GCS 53684, the City may invest in pooled 

investments managed by the County of Riverside. 

 

Bankers’ Acceptances: Bills of exchange or time drafts drawn on and accepted by a commercial 

bank, otherwise known as bankers’ acceptances. Purchases of bankers’ acceptances may not 

exceed 180 days maturity or total more than 40% of the cost value of the City's investment 

portfolio. Eligible bankers’ acceptances must be rated in the highest letter and number rating as 

provided for by a NRSRO. 

 

Commercial Paper: Commercial paper of “prime” quality of the highest ranking or of the 

highest letter and number rating as provided for by a NRSRO. The entity that issues the 

commercial paper shall meet all of the following conditions in either paragraph (1) or paragraph 

(2): 

 

1) The entity meets the following criteria: Is organized and operating in the United States as 

a general corporation. Has total assets in excess of five hundred million dollars 

($500,000,000). Has debt other than commercial paper, if any, that is rated in a rating 

category of “A” or higher, or the equivalent, by a NRSRO. 

 

2) The entity meets the following criteria: Is organized within the United States as a special 

purpose corporation, trust, or limited liability company. Has program wide credit 

enhancements including, but not limited to, over collateralization, letters of credit, or surety 

bond. Has commercial paper that is rated “A-1” or higher, or the equivalent, by a NRSRO. 

 

Purchases of eligible commercial paper may not exceed 25% of the market value of the City’s 

portfolio or have a term to maturity which exceeds 270 days. The City may not own more than 

10% of an issuer’s outstanding commercial paper. 

 

 

Page 75

Item 6.

Page 110

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

May 13, 2020 

Page 6 
 

 

Negotiable Certificates of Deposit: Negotiable certificates of deposit issued by a nationally or 

state-chartered bank, a savings association or a federal association (as defined by Section 5102 of 

the Financial Code), a state or federal credit union, or by a federally- or state-licensed branch of 

a foreign bank rated in a rating category of “A” long-term or "A-1" short-term or its equivalent 

or higher by a NRSRO.  No more than 30% of the City’s portfolio may be invested in negotiable 

CDs. 

 

Non-Negotiable Certificates of Deposit: Non-negotiable certificates of deposit from eligible 

depositories are fixed-term investments, There are no portfolio limits on the amount or maturity 

for this investment vehicle. Eligible depositories may be a state or national bank, savings 

association or federal association, a state or federal credit union, or a federally insured industrial 

loan company, which must have received an overall rating of not less than “satisfactory” in its 

most recent evaluation by the appropriate federal financial supervisory agency of its record of 

meeting the credit needs of California’s communities. Deposits in excess of federal deposit limits 

must be collateralized per Section 9.0. 

 

Medium Term Corporate Notes: Medium-term corporate notes, defined as all corporate and 

depository institution debt securities with a maximum remaining maturity of 5 years or less, 

issued by corporations organized and operating within the United States or by depository 

institutions licensed by the United States or any state and operating within the United States. 

Medium-term corporate notes shall be rated in a rating category of “A” or its equivalent or better 

by a NRSRO. No more than 30% of the City’s portfolio may be invested in corporate notes. 

 

Demand Deposits: The City Treasurer may establish accounts for deposits in a state or national 

bank, savings association or federal association, a state or federal credit union, or a federally 

insured industrial loan company in the State of California, which must have received an overall 

rating of not less than “satisfactory” in its most recent evaluation by the appropriate federal 

financial supervisory agency of its record of meeting the credit needs of California’s 

communities. Deposits in excess of federal deposit limits must be collateralized per Section 9.0. 

 

Money Market Funds: Shares of beneficial interest issued by diversified management 

companies that are money market funds registered with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. Sec. 80a-1, et seq.). To be 

eligible for investment pursuant to this subdivision these companies shall either: have an 

investment advisor registered or exempt from registration with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission with not less than 5 years experience managing money market mutual funds and 

with assets under management in excess of $500,000,000, or attain the highest ranking letter or 

numerical rating provided by not less than two of the three largest NRSROs. No more than 20% 

of the City’s portfolio may be invested in money market funds.  

 

Local Government Investment Pools (LGIPs): Shares of beneficial interest issued by a joint 

powers authority organized pursuant to Section 6509.7 that invests in the securities and 

obligations authorized in subdivisions (a) to (q), inclusive. Each share shall represent an equal 

proportional interest in the underlying pool of securities owned by the joint powers authority. To 

Page 76

Item 6.

Page 111

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

May 13, 2020 

Page 7 
 

 

be eligible under this section, the joint powers authority issuing the shares shall have retained an 

investment adviser that meets all of the following criteria: 

1) The adviser is registered or exempt from registration with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission. 

2) The adviser has not less than five years of experience investing in the securities and 

obligations authorized in subdivisions (a) to (q), inclusive. 

3) The adviser has assets under management in excess of five hundred million dollars 

($500,000,000). 

 

Asset-Backed Security (ABS): Any mortgage pass-through security, collateralized mortgage 

obligation, mortgage-backed or other pay-through bond, equipment lease-back certificate, 

consumer receivable pass-through certificate, or consumer receivable-backed bond of a 

maximum of five years maturity. Eligible securities shall be issued by an issuer rated in a rating 

category of “A” or its equivalent or better for the issuer’s debt as provided by an NRSRO and 

rated in a rating category of “AA” or its equivalent or better by an NRSRO. No more than 20% 

of the City's portfolio may be invested in this type of security. 

 

Supranational: United States dollar denominated senior unsecured unsubordinated obligations 

issued or unconditionally guaranteed by the International Bank for Reconstruction and 

Development (IBRD), International Finance Corporation (IFC), or Inter-American Development 

Bank (IADB), with a maximum remaining maturity of five years or less, and eligible for purchase 

and sale within the United States. Investments under this subdivision shall be rated in a rating 

category of “AA” or its equivalent or better by a NRSRO. No more than 30% of the City’s portfolio 

may be invested in this security type.  

 

Any other permissible investments outlined within Section 53601 may be purchased from time to 

time. 

 

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, moneys held by a trustee or fiscal agent and pledged 

to the payment or security of bonds or other indebtedness, or obligations under a lease, 

installment sale, or other agreement of the City, or certificates of participation in those bonds, 

indebtedness, or lease installment sale, or other agreements, may be invested in accordance with 

the statutory provision governing the issuance of those bonds, indebtedness, or lease installment 

sale, or other agreement or to the extent not inconsistent therewith or if there are no specific 

statutory provisions, in accordance with the ordinance, resolution, indenture, or agreement of the 

local agency providing for the issuance. This includes investing bond proceeds in guaranteed 

investment contracts with United States financial institutions rated in a rating category of “AA,” 

or equivalent, or better by a NRSRO. 

 

9.0 COLLATERALIZATION: 

 

Collateral is required for investments in Non-Negotiable Certificates of Deposit and Demand 

Deposits. Investments in excess of federal deposit insurance limits must be collateralized at 

Page 77

Item 6.

Page 112

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

May 13, 2020 

Page 8 
 

 

105% to 150% depending on the specific security pledged as collateral in accordance with GCS 

53630 et seq. The collateral pool is administered by the State, and is composed of a wide variety 

of government securities, including those indicated above, as well as promissory notes secured 

by first mortgages on improved residential property located in the state and letters of credit 

issued by the Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco.  

 

10.0 SAFEKEEPING AND CUSTODY: 

 

To protect against fraud or embezzlement or losses caused by collapse of an individual securities 

dealer, all deliverable securities owned by the City shall be held in safekeeping by a third party 

bank trust department, acting as agent for the City under the terms of a custody agreement or 

professional services agreement (PSA). All trades executed by a dealer will settle delivery vs. 

payment (DVP) through the City’s safekeeping agent. 

 

Securities held in custody for the City shall be verified on an annual basis by the City’s 

independent auditor. 

 

11.0 DIVERSIFICATION: 

 

It is the City’s policy to minimize portfolio risk by diversifying maturity, sector and class 

allocation. Default risk shall be minimized by investing in an assortment of permitted 

investments as outlined in Section 8.0. To minimize overall portfolio risk, the following not-to-

exceed diversification goals shall guide the City’s operating fund portfolio, based upon the 

portfolio structure at the time of purchase. 

 

Investment Type Not-to-Exceed Limit Other Restrictions 

Local Agency Investment 

Fund (LAIF) 

$75 million Established by the State Treasurer 

U.S. Treasury No Limit None 

Federal Agency No Limit Maximum of 40% per issuer 

State of California 

Obligations 

No Limit  No more than 5% per issuer 

 Rated in a rating category of “A” 

or its equivalent or higher by a 

NRSRO for maturities in excess 

of one year 

 Rated in a rating category “A-1” 

or its equivalent or higher by a 

NRSRO for maturities under one 

year 

Obligations of the Other 49 

States 

No Limit  No more than 5% per issuer 

 Rated in a rating category of “A” 

or its equivalent or higher by a 

Page 78

Item 6.

Page 113

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

May 13, 2020 

Page 9 
 

 

Investment Type Not-to-Exceed Limit Other Restrictions 

NRSRO for maturities in excess 

of one year 

 Rated in a rating category of “A-

1” or its equivalent or higher by a 

NRSRO for maturities under one 

year 

Obligations of Local 

Agencies in California 

No Limit  No more than 5% per issuer 

 Rated in a rating category of “A” 

or its equivalent or higher by a 

NRSRO for maturities in excess 

of one year 

 Rated in a rating category of “A-

1” or its equivalent or higher by a 

NRSRO for maturities under one 

year 

County Pool $10 million None 

Bankers’ Acceptances 40%  No more than 5% per issuer 

regardless of security type 

 Maximum maturity of 180 days 

 Must be rated in highest category 

by a NRSRO 

Commercial Paper 25%  No more than 5% per issuer 

regardless of security type 

 No more than 10% of an issuer’s 

outstanding commercial paper 

 Maximum maturity of 270 days 

 Must be rated in highest category 

by a NRSRO 

Negotiable CDs 30%  No more than 5% per issuer 

regardless of security type 

 Rated in a rating category of “A” 

or its equivalent or higher by a 

NRSRO for maturities in excess 

of one year 

 Rated in a rating category of “A-

1” or its equivalent or higher by a 

Page 79

Item 6.

Page 114

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

May 13, 2020 

Page 10 
 

 

Investment Type Not-to-Exceed Limit Other Restrictions 

NRSRO for maturities under one 

year 

Non-Negotiable CDs No Limit  See Section 9.0 for collateral 

requirements 

Medium Term Corporate 

Notes 

30%  No more than 5% per issuer 

regardless of security type 

 Maximum maturity of five years 

 Minimum credit rating of “A” or 

its equivalent by a NRSRO 

Demand Deposits No Limit  See Section 9.0 for collateral 

requirements 

Money Market Funds 20%  See Section 8.0 for advisor 

requirements or the Fund must 

have the highest rating by two 

NRSRO 

Local Government 

Investment Pools (LGIPs) 

No Limit  See Section 8.0 for advisor 

requirements 

Asset-Backed Securities 

(ABS) 

20%  No more than 5% per issuer 

 Rated in a rating category of 

“AA” (Issue) and “A” (Issuer) or 

its equivalent or higher by a 

NRSRO 

Supranational 30%  Rated in a rating category of 

“AA” or its equivalent or higher 

by a NRSRO 

 

 

12.0 MAXIMUM MATURITIES: 

 

The average dollar weighted maturity of a portfolio may not exceed 3 years. No investment shall 

be made in an investment authorized by this Policy (and that GCS 53601 does not specific a 

maximum maturity) that has a term remaining to maturity in excess of 5 years from date of 

purchase. Maturities shall be staggered to minimize liquidity risk and to enhance the stability of 

incoming cash flows. At least 10% of the portfolio shall be invested in instruments, which can be 

liquidated on one day’s notice. 

 

Bond reserve funds may be invested in securities exceeding 5 years if the maturities of such 

Page 80

Item 6.

Page 115

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

May 13, 2020 

Page 11 
 

 

investments are made to coincide as nearly as possible with the expected use of the funds. 

 

13.0 INTERNAL CONTROL: 

 

The City Treasurer or Designee shall establish sufficient internal controls to ensure compliance 

with all applicable federal, state and local regulations. These internal controls will be 

incorporated into an annual process of independent review by the City’s external auditor. This 

will provide a review of the internal controls by assuring compliance with policies and 

procedures.  

 

14.0 INTEREST EARNINGS: 

 

All moneys earned and collected from investments authorized in this policy shall be allocated 

monthly to various fund accounts based on the cash balance in each fund as a percentage of the 

entire pooled portfolio. Interest earnings on bond proceeds, bond reserves or other restricted 

investments held by trustees shall be allocated directly to the appropriate fund and not be part of 

the pooled allocation. 

 

15.0 PERFORMANCE STANDARDS: 

 

The City’s policy is to achieve a market rate of return on public funds while minimizing risks 

and preserving capital. In evaluating the performance of the City’s portfolio in complying with 

this policy, the City shall establish an appropriate performance benchmark and compare the total 

return of its portfolio to the total return of the benchmark. 

 

16.0 REPORTING: 

 

The City Treasurer or Designee shall provide to the City Council a monthly investment report,  

which provides a clear picture of the status of the current investment portfolio. Based on GCS 

53646, the report shall include, at a minimum, the following information for each type of 

investment held in the City’s investment portfolio: the issuer, date of purchase, date of maturity, 

amount of investment, current market value, yield on investment, income generated from 

investments, dollar amount invested on all securities, investments and moneys held by the local 

agency, and shall additionally include a description of any of the local agency’s funds, 

investments, or programs, and a description of unusual investment activity or developments 

during the month for which the report is prepared. Based on GCS 53607, the report shall also 

include a listing of investment transactions. With respect to all securities held by the local 

agency, and under management of any outside party that is not also a local agency or the State of 

California Local Agency Investment Fund, the report shall also include a current market value as 

of the date of the report and shall include the source of this same valuation.  

 

The report shall state compliance of the portfolio to the statement of investment policy, or 

manner in which the portfolio is not in compliance and include a statement denoting the ability 

of the City to meet its expenditure requirements for the next six months, or provide an 

Page 81

Item 6.

Page 116

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

May 13, 2020 

Page 12 
 

 

explanation as to why sufficient money shall, or may, not be available. 

 

The City Treasurer or Designee may supply to the City Council the most recent statement or 

statements received by the local agency from the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF), County 

Investment Pools, or Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation-insured accounts in a bank or 

savings and loan association. 

 

The City Treasurer or Designee shall prepare and deliver such a report each month to the Mayor 

and each City Council member no later than 30 days after the close of the month for which each 

report is prepared. 

 

In the event that an investment advisor is retained by the City, the investment advisor shall 

prepare and deliver a report for each month’s investment activity as required herein to the City in 

such time as to allow compliance with the delivery times for each report required by this policy. 

 

The City Council may relieve the City Treasurer of his or her duties under this policy in the 

event of any failure to comply with the reporting requirements of this policy. 

 

17.0 INVESTMENT POLICY ADOPTION: 

 

The City’s investment policy shall be adopted annually by the City Council. The policy shall be  

reviewed annually by the City Treasurer and/or Designee with any and all modifications made 

thereto approved by the City Council at a public meeting.  

Page 82

Item 6.

Page 117

Item 20.



 

April 22, 2020 

 

Memorandum 

To: Nathan Statham, CPA, MBA, Finance Director 
City of Coachella 

 

From: Sarah Meacham, Managing Director 
Richard Babbe, Senior Managing Consultant 
PFM Asset Management LLC 

 

Re: Annual Review of Investment Policy 

 

We completed our annual review of the City of Coachella’s (the “City”) Investment Policy (the 

“Policy”). As written, the Policy is comprehensive and in compliance with the sections of the 

California Government Code (the “Code”) that govern the investment of public funds.  

 

We are, however, recommending the City make one update to the Policy. Effective January 1, 

2020, California State Treasurer Fiona Ma increased the Local Agency Investment Fund’s deposit 

limit for regular accounts to $75 million from the previous $65 million. We recommend the City 

update the reference in Section 8.0 Authorized Investments to reflect the State’s new limit. The 

City had specified a lower $50 million for LAIF in the table in Section 11.0 Diversification. As it 

appears that this lower limit was to encourage diversification, it is dependent on the City’s 

preferences whether to retain the $50 million limit or increase it to $75 million to match the 

State’s new limit. 

 

Although no Policy changes are required, we wanted to make you aware of a couple other recent 

changes to local agency investment requirements. Assembly Bill No. 857, which took effect 

January 1, 2020, provides for the establishment of public banks by local agencies, subject to 

approval by the Department of Business Oversight (DBO) and Federal Deposit Insurance 

Corporation (FDIC). As a part of the Bill, subsection (r) was added to Code section 53601, which 

will permit local agencies to invest in the commercial paper, debt securities, or other obligations 

of a public bank. However, we do not recommend that the City add this investment type to the 

Policy at this time as we are not aware of any public banks that are currently in operation. 

Furthermore, we would want to review the operational history and credit quality of any public 

bank before we could recommend investing in its securities.  

 

In addition, Assembly Bill No. 954, which took effect January 1, 2020, increased the amount that 

local agencies are allowed to invest in placement service deposits (Code Section 53601.8) to 50% 

from 30%. Unless amended, this revision is repealed as of January 1, 2026. As the Policy does not 

currently permitted this investment type, no changes are required. 

 

Please let us know if you have any questions or if would like to discuss our comments in more 

detail. 

Page 83

Item 6.

Page 118

Item 20.



RESOLUTION NO. 2020-25        

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA TO AMEND AND REESTABLISH THE 

INVESTMENT POLICY ORIGINALLY ADOPTED JULY 9, 2003 AND 

AMENDED BY THE CITY COUNCIL FOR FISCAL YEAR 2020-2021 

 

WHEREAS, Government Code Section 53601 of the State of California authorizes the 

legal bodies of local agencies to invest surplus money which is not required for the immediate 

necessities of the local agencies in accordance with the rules set forth in the section; and 

 

WHEREAS, Government Code Section 53607 authorizes the local legislative body to 

delegate to the Treasurer of the local agency, the authority to invest or reinvest funds of the local 

agency, or to sell or exchange securities so purchased; and 

 

WHEREAS, said Section 53607 requires that once the Treasurer of the local agency is 

delegated that authority, he thereafter assumes full responsibility for such transactions until such 

time as the delegated authority is revoked; and 

 

WHEREAS, said Section 53607 requires the Treasurer of the local Agency to make a 

monthly report of such transactions to the legislative body; and 

 

WHEREAS, said Section 53607 requires an annual ratification of the delegation of 

authority of the legislative body to the Treasurer; and 

 

WHEREAS, Government Code Section 53646 (2) requires that the Treasurer shall 

annually render to the City Council and any oversight committee a Statement of Investment Policy 

and any change in the policy, which the City Council shall consider at a public meeting; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the City of Coachella to have any surplus or idle 

City funds invested so as to provide additional income to the City of Coachella. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA 

HEREBY RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1 - That the City Treasurer, or their authorized designee(s), of the City of 

Coachella is hereby delegated the authority to invest or reinvest surplus funds of the City of 

Coachella, or to sell, or exchange securities so purchased. 

 

SECTION 2 - The City Treasurer, or their authorized designee(s), will assume full 

responsibility for such transactions until such time as the aforementioned delegated authority is 

revoked, and that the City Treasurer will make a monthly report of such transactions to the City 

Council of the City of Coachella, 

 

SECTION 3 - The City Treasurer shall render to the City Council a Statement of 

Investment Policy in the first quarter of each calendar year.  Any changes to said policy shall be 

Page 84

Item 6.

Page 119

Item 20.



Resolution No. 2020-25 

Page 2 

 

considered by the City Council at such a public regular meeting. 

 

SECTION 4 - The Statement of Investment Policy, attached hereto and incorporated 

herewith, is adopted as the Statement of Investment Policy of the City of Coachella for fiscal year 

2020-2021. 

 

SECTION 5 - The City Treasurer shall comply with the Statement of Investment Policy 

of the City of Coachella adopted by this Resolution. 

 

SECTION 6 - The City Treasurer shall report to the City Council, the City Manager and 

the City’s Auditor as required by the Statement of Investment Policy and all applicable laws. 

 

PASSED, APPROVED, and ADOPTED this 13th day of May 2020. 

 

 

 

 

__________________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez 

Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

__________________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

 

 

 

  

Page 85

Item 6.

Page 120

Item 20.



CITY OF COACHELLA 

STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT POLICY  

FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022 

ADOPTED June 23, 2021 

 

 

 

1.0 POLICY: 

 

This statement is intended to provide guidelines for the prudent investment of the City of 

Coachella’s (hereafter called “City”) temporarily idle cash in all funds, and outline the policies for 

maximizing the efficiency of the City’s cash management system.  

 

It is the objective of this investment policy to provide guidelines for: 

 Insuring the safety of funds invested; 

 Meeting the City’s daily cash flow demands; 

 Maximizing investment interest income for the City; 

 Conform with all laws and statutes governing the investment of public funds. 

 

2.0 SCOPE: 

 

The investment policy applies to the temporary idle cash of the City and its component units as 

accounted for in the Audited Annual Financial Report. Policy statements outlined in this document 

focus on the City’s pooled funds. This policy is applicable, but not limited to all funds listed below: 

 General Fund 

 Special Revenue Funds 

 Capital Outlay Funds 

 Debt Service Funds 

 Enterprise Funds 

 Fiduciary Funds 

 Any new fund created by the City Council unless specifically exempted 

 

Exceptions may exist with funds for retiree pension and medical benefits held in a trust and bond 

proceeds held by a trustee or fiscal agent and governed by the instructions in the bond document. 

In addition, if in the opinion of the City Treasurer or their Authorized Designee (Designee), 

matching the segregated investment portfolio of the bond reserve fund with the maturity schedule 

of an individual bond issue is prudent given current economic analysis, the investment policy 

authorizes extending beyond the five year maturity limitation with City Council authorization no 

less than three months prior to the investment as outlined in this document. 

 

3.0 PRUDENCE: 

 

The City Treasurer or Designee are authorized to make investment decisions on behalf of the City 

and considered as trustees and therefore fiduciaries subject to the prudent investors’ standard. 

When investing, reinvesting, purchasing, acquiring, exchanging, selling, and managing public 

Page 121

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

June 23, 2021 

Page 2 
 

 

funds, the City Treasurer or Designee shall act with care, skill, prudence, and diligence  

under the circumstances then prevailing, that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and 

familiarity with those matters would use in the conduct and management of their own affairs.  

 

Within the limitations of this section and considering individual investments as part to an overall 

strategy, the City Treasurer or Designee are authorized to acquire approved and suitable 

investments as described in paragraph 8.0 hereof. 

 

The City Treasurer, Authorized Designee and other individuals assigned to manage the investment 

portfolio, acting within the intent and scope of the investment policy and other written procedures 

and exercising due diligence, shall be relieved of personal responsibility and liability for an 

individual security credit risk or market price changes, provided deviations from expectations are 

reported in a timely manner and appropriate action is taken to control adverse developments. 

 

4.0 OBJECTIVES: 

 

The three fundamental considerations, in order of priority, for managing the City’s investments 

are safety, liquidity, and yield. At no time should safety or liquidity be compromised in exchange 

for higher yields. 

 

Safety of Principal 

 

The preservation of invested capital is the foremost objective of the City and of primary 

importance. The City shall only invest in financial instruments that are considered safe. The safety 

and risk associated with an investment refers to the potential loss of principal, accrued interest, or 

a combination of these amounts. Each investment decision shall seek to ensure that capital losses 

are avoided. To attain this objective, diversification is required in order that potential losses on 

individual securities do not exceed the income generated from the remainder of the portfolio. 

 

Liquidity 

 

The City’s investment portfolio shall contain investments with a diversified mix of maturities in 

order to provide sufficient liquidity to meet projected operating cash requirements of the City. 

 

Return on Investments 

 

The City’s investment portfolio shall be designed with the objective of obtaining a reasonable and 

competitive market rate of return taking into consideration risk constraints, prudent investment 

principles and the cash flow characteristics of the portfolio. 

 

 

5.0 DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY: 

 

The authority to invest or to reinvest funds or to sell or exchange securities so purchased of City 

Page 122

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

June 23, 2021 

Page 3 
 

 

Funds is vested in the City Council. Government Code Section (“GCS”) 53607 authorizes the 

delegation of the above duties to the City Treasurer for a one-year period. Therefore, the authority 

to invest and reinvest City funds or to sell or exchange the securities so purchased with City funds 

is hereby delegated to the City Treasurer for a one year period unless sooner terminated by the 

City Council. 

 

The City Treasurer or Designee shall prepare written procedures for the operation of the investment 

program consistent with this investment policy. The procedures shall also include reference to: 

safekeeping, wire transfer agreements, banking service contracts and collateral/depository 

agreements. Such procedures shall include explicit delegation of authority to persons responsible 

for investment transactions. The written procedures may provide for the delegation of authority to 

an Authorized Designee, who upon assuming such position shall become responsible for 

investment transactions. No person may engage in an investment decision except as permitted by 

this policy and by the procedures approved by the City Treasurer or Designee.  

 

The City may delegate investment authority to an investment advisor. The advisor will follow the 

Investment Policy and such other written instructions as are provided. 

 

6.0 ETHICS AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: 

 

Officers and employees involved in the investment process shall refrain from personal business 

activity that could conflict with proper execution of the investment program, or which could impair 

their ability to make impartial investment decisions. Employees and investment officials are 

required to annually file all applicable financial disclosures as required by the Fair Political 

Practices Commission (FPPC). 

 

7.0 AUTHORIZED FINANCIAL DEALERS AND INSTITUTIONS: 

 

For any investment not purchased directly from the issuer, the City shall transact business only 

with banks, savings and loans, and investment broker/dealers. The broker/dealers should be 

primary dealers regularly reporting to the New York Federal Reserve Bank. The City Treasurer or 

Designee shall select all security dealers and depositories subject to City Council approval and the 

execution of an appropriate written agreement. Investment transactions shall be conducted with 

several competing, reputable security broker/dealers. The selection process shall focus on financial 

viability, knowledge, experience and ethics in the fixed-income security industry. The City 

Treasurer or Designee will maintain a list and a written agreement with financial institutions 

authorized to provide investment services. 

 

All financial institutions and broker/dealers who desire to become an authorized financial 

institution for investment transactions must supply the City Treasurer or Designee with the 

following: most recent audited financial statements, proof of Financial Industry Regulatory 

Authority (FINRA) certification, trading resolution, proof of state registration, completed 

broker/dealer questionnaire, certification of having read the City’s investment policy and 

depository contracts. The City Treasurer or Designee will conduct an annual review of the financial 

Page 123

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

June 23, 2021 

Page 4 
 

 

condition and registrations of qualified bidders. 

 

The City Treasurer or Designee shall annually send a copy of the current investment policy to all 

broker/dealers approved to do business with the City. Confirmation of receipt of this policy shall 

be considered evidence that the dealer understands the City’s investment policies and intends to 

sell the City only appropriate investments authorized by this investment policy.  

 

If the City has an investment advisor, the investment advisor may use its own list of authorized 

broker/dealers to conduct transactions on behalf of the City. 

 

8.0 AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS: 

 

As provided in GCSs 16429.1, 53601, 53601.1, 53631, 53649 and 53684, the State of California 

limits the investment vehicles available to local agencies as summarized in the following 

paragraphs. Where this Policy specifies a percentage limitation for a particular security type or 

issuer, that percentage is applicable at the time the security is purchased. No more than 5% of the 

City’s portfolio shall be invested in any one issuer regardless of sector except for the U.S. Treasury, 

Federal Agencies, supranationals, and pools (including LAIF, County Pools, LGIPs, and money 

market funds). Credit criteria listed in this section refers to the credit rating at the time the security 

is purchased. If an investment’s credit rating falls below the minimum rating required at the time 

of purchase, the City’s investment advisor (if any) and Treasurer will review the rating agency 

action and decide whether to sell or hold the investment. The City may invest funds in the 

following instruments and subject to the limitations set forth in Section 11.0: 

 

State Treasurer’s Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF): As authorized in GCS 16429.1 and 

by LAIF procedures, local government agencies are each authorized to invest a maximum of $75 

million in this investment program administered by the California State Treasurer. 

 

U.S. Treasury Bills and Notes: U.S. Treasury bills, notes, bonds or certificates of indebtedness, 

or those for which the full faith and credit of the United States are pledged for the payment of 

principal and interest. 

 

Federal Agencies: Federal agency or United States government-sponsored enterprise obligations, 

participations, or other instruments, including those issued by or fully guaranteed as to principal 

and interest by federal agencies or United States government-sponsored enterprises.  

 

State of California Obligations: Registered state warrants or treasury notes or bonds of this state, 

including bonds payable solely out of the revenues from a revenue-producing property owned, 

controlled, or operated by the state or by a department, board, agency, or authority of the state 

rated in a rating category of "A" long-term or "A-1" short-term or its equivalent or higher by a 

nationally recognized statistical rating organization (“NRSRO”).  

 

Obligations of the Other 49 States: Registered treasury notes or bonds of any of the other 49 

states in addition to California, including bonds payable solely out of the revenues from a revenue-

Page 124

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

June 23, 2021 

Page 5 
 

 

producing property owned, controlled, or operated by a state or by a department, board, agency, 

or authority of any of the other 49 states, in addition to California, rated in a rating category of "A" 

long-term or "A-1" short-term or its equivalent or higher by a NRSRO.  

 

Obligations of Local Agencies in California: Bonds, notes, warrants, or other evidences of 

indebtedness of a local agency within this state, including bonds payable solely out of the revenues 

from a revenue-producing property owned, controlled, or operated by the local agency, or by a 

department, board, agency, or authority of the local agency rated in a rating category of "A" long-

term or "A-1" short-term or its equivalent or higher by a NRSRO.  

 

County Pooled Investment Funds: As authorized by GCS 53684, the City may invest in pooled 

investments managed by the County of Riverside. 

 

Bankers’ Acceptances: Bills of exchange or time drafts drawn on and accepted by a commercial 

bank, otherwise known as bankers’ acceptances. Purchases of bankers’ acceptances may not 

exceed 180 days maturity or total more than 40% of the cost value of the City's investment 

portfolio. Eligible bankers’ acceptances must be rated in the highest letter and number rating as 

provided for by a NRSRO. 

 

Commercial Paper: Commercial paper of “prime” quality of the highest ranking or of the highest 

letter and number rating as provided for by a NRSRO. The entity that issues the commercial paper 

shall meet all of the following conditions in either paragraph (1) or paragraph (2): 

 

1) The entity meets the following criteria: Is organized and operating in the United States as 

a general corporation. Has total assets in excess of five hundred million dollars ($500,000,000). 

Has debt other than commercial paper, if any, that is rated in a rating category of “A” or higher, 

or the equivalent, by a NRSRO. 

 

2) The entity meets the following criteria: Is organized within the United States as a special 

purpose corporation, trust, or limited liability company. Has program wide credit 

enhancements including, but not limited to, over collateralization, letters of credit, or surety 

bond. Has commercial paper that is rated “A-1” or higher, or the equivalent, by a NRSRO. 

 

Purchases of eligible commercial paper may not exceed 25% of the market value of the City’s 

portfolio or have a term to maturity which exceeds 270 days.  

 

 

 

Negotiable Certificates of Deposit: Negotiable certificates of deposit issued by a nationally or 

state-chartered bank, a savings association or a federal association (as defined by Section 5102 of 

the Financial Code), a state or federal credit union, or by a federally- or state-licensed branch of a 

foreign bank rated in a rating category of “A” long-term or "A-1" short-term or its equivalent or 

higher by a NRSRO.  No more than 30% of the City’s portfolio may be invested in negotiable 

CDs. 

Page 125

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

June 23, 2021 

Page 6 
 

 

 

Non-Negotiable Certificates of Deposit: Non-negotiable certificates of deposit from eligible 

depositories are fixed-term investments, There are no portfolio limits on the amount or maturity 

for this investment vehicle. Eligible depositories may be a state or national bank, savings 

association or federal association, a state or federal credit union, or a federally insured industrial 

loan company, which must have received an overall rating of not less than “satisfactory” in its 

most recent evaluation by the appropriate federal financial supervisory agency of its record of 

meeting the credit needs of California’s communities. Deposits in excess of federal deposit limits 

must be collateralized per Section 9.0. 

 

Medium Term Corporate Notes: Medium-term corporate notes, defined as all corporate and 

depository institution debt securities with a maximum remaining maturity of 5 years or less, issued 

by corporations organized and operating within the United States or by depository institutions 

licensed by the United States or any state and operating within the United States. Medium-term 

corporate notes shall be rated in a rating category of “A” or its equivalent or better by a NRSRO. 

No more than 30% of the City’s portfolio may be invested in corporate notes. 

 

Demand Deposits: The City Treasurer may establish accounts for deposits in a state or national 

bank, savings association or federal association, a state or federal credit union, or a federally 

insured industrial loan company in the State of California, which must have received an overall 

rating of not less than “satisfactory” in its most recent evaluation by the appropriate federal 

financial supervisory agency of its record of meeting the credit needs of California’s communities. 

Deposits in excess of federal deposit limits must be collateralized per Section 9.0. 

 

Money Market Funds: Shares of beneficial interest issued by diversified management companies 

that are money market funds registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the 

Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. Sec. 80a-1, et seq.). To be eligible for investment 

pursuant to this subdivision these companies shall either: have an investment advisor registered or 

exempt from registration with the Securities and Exchange Commission with not less than 5 years 

experience managing money market mutual funds and with assets under management in excess of 

$500,000,000, or attain the highest ranking letter or numerical rating provided by not less than two 

of the three largest NRSROs. No more than 20% of the City’s portfolio may be invested in money 

market funds.  

 

Local Government Investment Pools (LGIPs): Shares of beneficial interest issued by a joint 

powers authority organized pursuant to Section 6509.7 that invests in the securities and obligations 

authorized in subdivisions (a) to (q), inclusive. Each share shall represent an equal proportional 

interest in the underlying pool of securities owned by the joint powers authority. To be eligible 

under this section, the joint powers authority issuing the shares shall have retained an investment 

adviser that meets all of the following criteria: 

1) The adviser is registered or exempt from registration with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission. 

2) The adviser has not less than five years of experience investing in the securities and 

Page 126

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

June 23, 2021 

Page 7 
 

 

obligations authorized in subdivisions (a) to (q), inclusive. 

3) The adviser has assets under management in excess of five hundred million dollars 

($500,000,000). 

 

Asset-Backed Security (ABS): Any mortgage pass-through security, collateralized mortgage 

obligation, mortgage-backed or other pay-through bond, equipment lease-back certificate, 

consumer receivable pass-through certificate, or consumer receivable-backed bond of a maximum 

of five years maturity. Eligible securities shall be rated in a rating category of “AA” or its 

equivalent or better by an NRSRO. No more than 20% of the City's portfolio may be invested in 

this type of security. 

 

Supranational: United States dollar denominated senior unsecured unsubordinated obligations 

issued or unconditionally guaranteed by the International Bank for Reconstruction and 

Development (IBRD), International Finance Corporation (IFC), or Inter-American Development 

Bank (IADB), with a maximum remaining maturity of five years or less, and eligible for purchase 

and sale within the United States. Investments under this subdivision shall be rated in a rating 

category of “AA” or its equivalent or better by a NRSRO. No more than 30% of the City’s portfolio 

may be invested in this security type.  

 

Any other permissible investments outlined within Section 53601 may be purchased from time to 

time. 

 

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, moneys held by a trustee or fiscal agent and pledged 

to the payment or security of bonds or other indebtedness, or obligations under a lease, installment 

sale, or other agreement of the City, or certificates of participation in those bonds, indebtedness, 

or lease installment sale, or other agreements, may be invested in accordance with the statutory 

provision governing the issuance of those bonds, indebtedness, or lease installment sale, or other 

agreement or to the extent not inconsistent therewith or if there are no specific statutory provisions, 

in accordance with the ordinance, resolution, indenture, or agreement of the local agency providing 

for the issuance. This includes investing bond proceeds in guaranteed investment contracts with 

United States financial institutions rated in a rating category of “AA,” or equivalent, or better by 

a NRSRO. 

 

9.0 PROHIBITED INVESTMENTS: 

 

Any security type or structure not specifically approved by this policy is hereby specifically 

prohibited. Security types which are thereby prohibited include, but are not limited to, inverse 

floaters, derivatives, range notes, interest only strips that are derived from a pool of mortgages, or 

in any investment that could result in zero interest accrual if held to maturity, except as authorized 

by Government Code Section 53601.6 

 

10.0 COLLATERALIZATION: 

 

Collateral is required for investments in Non-Negotiable Certificates of Deposit and Demand 

Page 127

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

June 23, 2021 

Page 8 
 

 

Deposits. Investments in excess of federal deposit insurance limits must be collateralized at 105% 

to 150% depending on the specific security pledged as collateral in accordance with GCS 53630 

et seq. The collateral pool is administered by the State, and is composed of a wide variety of 

government securities, including those indicated above, as well as promissory notes secured by 

first mortgages on improved residential property located in the state and letters of credit issued by 

the Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco.  

 

11.0 SAFEKEEPING AND CUSTODY: 

 

To protect against fraud or embezzlement or losses caused by collapse of an individual securities 

dealer, all deliverable securities owned by the City shall be held in safekeeping by a third party 

bank trust department, acting as agent for the City under the terms of a custody agreement or 

professional services agreement (PSA). All trades executed by a dealer will settle delivery vs. 

payment (DVP) through the City’s safekeeping agent. 

 

Securities held in custody for the City shall be verified on an annual basis by the City’s independent 

auditor. 

 

12.0 DIVERSIFICATION: 

 

It is the City’s policy to minimize portfolio risk by diversifying maturity, sector and class 

allocation. Default risk shall be minimized by investing in an assortment of permitted investments 

as outlined in Section 8.0. To minimize overall portfolio risk, the following not-to-exceed 

diversification goals shall guide the City’s operating fund portfolio, based upon the portfolio 

structure at the time of purchase. 

 

Investment Type Not-to-Exceed Limit Other Restrictions 

Local Agency Investment 

Fund (LAIF) 

$75 million Established by the State Treasurer 

U.S. Treasury No Limit None 

Federal Agency No Limit Maximum of 40% per issuer 

State of California 

Obligations 

No Limit  No more than 5% per issuer 

 Rated in a rating category of “A” 

or its equivalent or higher by a 

NRSRO for maturities in excess 

of one year 

 Rated in a rating category “A-1” 

or its equivalent or higher by a 

NRSRO for maturities under one 

year 

Obligations of the Other 49 

States 

No Limit  No more than 5% per issuer 

 Rated in a rating category of “A” 

Page 128

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

June 23, 2021 

Page 9 
 

 

Investment Type Not-to-Exceed Limit Other Restrictions 

or its equivalent or higher by a 

NRSRO for maturities in excess 

of one year 

 Rated in a rating category of “A-

1” or its equivalent or higher by a 

NRSRO for maturities under one 

year 

Obligations of Local 

Agencies in California 

No Limit  No more than 5% per issuer 

 Rated in a rating category of “A” 

or its equivalent or higher by a 

NRSRO for maturities in excess 

of one year 

 Rated in a rating category of “A-

1” or its equivalent or higher by a 

NRSRO for maturities under one 

year 

County Pool $10 million None 

Bankers’ Acceptances 40%  No more than 5% per issuer 

regardless of security type 

 Maximum maturity of 180 days 

 Must be rated in highest category 

by a NRSRO 

Commercial Paper 25%  No more than 5% per issuer 

regardless of security type 

 Maximum maturity of 270 days 

 Must be rated in highest category 

by a NRSRO 

Negotiable CDs 30%  No more than 5% per issuer 

regardless of security type 

 Rated in a rating category of “A” 

or its equivalent or higher by a 

NRSRO for maturities in excess 

of one year 

 Rated in a rating category of “A-

1” or its equivalent or higher by a 

NRSRO for maturities under one 

Page 129

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

June 23, 2021 

Page 10 
 

 

Investment Type Not-to-Exceed Limit Other Restrictions 

year 

Non-Negotiable CDs No Limit  See Section 9.0 for collateral 

requirements 

Medium Term Corporate 

Notes 

30%  No more than 5% per issuer 

regardless of security type 

 Maximum maturity of five years 

 Minimum credit rating of “A” or 

its equivalent by a NRSRO 

Demand Deposits No Limit  See Section 9.0 for collateral 

requirements 

Money Market Funds 20%  See Section 8.0 for advisor 

requirements or the Fund must 

have the highest rating by two 

NRSRO 

Local Government 

Investment Pools (LGIPs) 

No Limit  See Section 8.0 for advisor 

requirements 

Asset-Backed Securities 

(ABS) 

20%  No more than 5% per issuer 

 Rated in a rating category of 

“AA” (Issue) or higher by a 

NRSRO 

Supranational 30%  Rated in a rating category of 

“AA” or its equivalent or higher 

by a NRSRO 

 

 

13.0 MAXIMUM MATURITIES: 

 

The average dollar weighted maturity of a portfolio may not exceed 3 years. No investment shall 

be made in an investment authorized by this Policy (and that GCS 53601 does not specific a 

maximum maturity) that has a term remaining to maturity in excess of 5 years from date of 

purchase. Maturities shall be staggered to minimize liquidity risk and to enhance the stability of 

incoming cash flows. At least 10% of the portfolio shall be invested in instruments, which can be 

liquidated on one day’s notice. 

 

Bond reserve funds may be invested in securities exceeding 5 years if the maturities of such 

investments are made to coincide as nearly as possible with the expected use of the funds. 

 

Page 130

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

June 23, 2021 

Page 11 
 

 

14.0 INTERNAL CONTROL: 

 

The City Treasurer or Designee shall establish sufficient internal controls to ensure compliance 

with all applicable federal, state and local regulations. These internal controls will be incorporated 

into an annual process of independent review by the City’s external auditor. This will provide a 

review of the internal controls by assuring compliance with policies and procedures.  

 

15.0 INTEREST EARNINGS: 

 

All moneys earned and collected from investments authorized in this policy shall be allocated 

monthly to various fund accounts based on the cash balance in each fund as a percentage of the 

entire pooled portfolio. Interest earnings on bond proceeds, bond reserves or other restricted 

investments held by trustees shall be allocated directly to the appropriate fund and not be part of 

the pooled allocation. 

 

16.0 PERFORMANCE STANDARDS: 

 

The City’s policy is to achieve a market rate of return on public funds while minimizing risks and 

preserving capital. In evaluating the performance of the City’s portfolio in complying with this 

policy, the City shall establish an appropriate performance benchmark and compare the total return 

of its portfolio to the total return of the benchmark. 

 

17.0 REPORTING: 

 

The City Treasurer or Designee shall provide to the City Council a monthly investment report,  

which provides a clear picture of the status of the current investment portfolio. Based on GCS 

53646, the report shall include, at a minimum, the following information for each type of 

investment held in the City’s investment portfolio: the issuer, date of purchase, date of maturity, 

amount of investment, current market value, yield on investment, income generated from 

investments, dollar amount invested on all securities, investments and moneys held by the local 

agency, and shall additionally include a description of any of the local agency’s funds, investments, 

or programs, and a description of unusual investment activity or developments during the month 

for which the report is prepared. Based on GCS 53607, the report shall also include a listing of 

investment transactions. With respect to all securities held by the local agency, and under 

management of any outside party that is not also a local agency or the State of California Local 

Agency Investment Fund, the report shall also include a current market value as of the date of the 

report and shall include the source of this same valuation.  

 

The report shall state compliance of the portfolio to the statement of investment policy, or manner 

in which the portfolio is not in compliance and include a statement denoting the ability of the City 

to meet its expenditure requirements for the next six months, or provide an explanation as to why 

sufficient money shall, or may, not be available. 

 

The City Treasurer or Designee may supply to the City Council the most recent statement or 

Page 131

Item 20.



City of Coachella 

Statement of Investment Policy 

June 23, 2021 

Page 12 
 

 

statements received by the local agency from the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF), County 

Investment Pools, or Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation-insured accounts in a bank or savings 

and loan association. 

 

The City Treasurer or Designee shall prepare and deliver such a report each month to the Mayor 

and each City Council member no later than 30 days after the close of the month for which each 

report is prepared. 

 

In the event that an investment advisor is retained by the City, the investment advisor shall prepare 

and deliver a report for each month’s investment activity as required herein to the City in such 

time as to allow compliance with the delivery times for each report required by this policy. 

 

The City Council may relieve the City Treasurer of his or her duties under this policy in the event 

of any failure to comply with the reporting requirements of this policy. 

 

18.0 INVESTMENT POLICY ADOPTION: 

 

The City’s investment policy shall be adopted annually by the City Council. The policy shall be  

reviewed annually by the City Treasurer and/or Designee with any and all modifications made 

thereto approved by the City Council at a public meeting.  

Page 132

Item 20.



 

June 16, 2021 
 
Memorandum 
To: Nathan Statham, CPA, MBA, Finance Director 

City of Coachella 
 

From: Sarah Meacham, Managing Director 
Richard Babbe, Senior Managing Consultant 
PFM Asset Management LLC 

 

Re: Annual Review of Investment Policy 
 

We reviewed the City of Coachella’s (the “City”) Investment Policy (the “Policy”) as part of City’s 
annual review process. The current Policy is comprehensive and is in compliance with the 
California Government Code (the “Code”) statutes regulating the investment of public funds. We 
are, however, recommending several Policy updates related to recent Code changes. Our 
recommendations are summarized below by Policy section. We have also attached a marked-up 
copy of the current Policy to illustrate our recommendations. 
 
Commercial Paper. 
SB998, which took effect January 1, 2020, eliminated the 10% limit on the outstanding 
commercial paper of any one issuer and established a combined 10% per issuer limit on 
commercial paper and corporate notes. We recommend that the City eliminate the 10% limit on 
the outstanding commercial paper as it is no longer in the Code. There is no need for the City to 
incorporate the new 10% combined per issuer limit on commercial paper and corporate notes as 
the City already has a more restrictive 5% per issuer limit that applies across all corporate 
sectors. 
 
SB998 also allows local agencies that have more than $100 million of investment assets to invest 
up to 40% in commercial paper (the prior limit was 25% for all agencies other than a county or a 
city and county). However, as the City does not meet this asset threshold, this Code revision does 
not apply to the City and the existing 25% Code limit still applies to the City. 
 
Asset-Backed Security (ABS) 
AB 1770, which took effect January 1, 2019, eliminated the requirement that the issuers of Asset-
Backed Securities be rated “A” or its equivalent or higher as provided by an NRSRO. We believe 
the removal of the issuer rating criteria makes sense, since this requirement generally has no 
relevance to the issuers of ABS, which are organized as trusts and typically do not have 
standalone issuer ratings. The minimum “AA” issue rating remains, which is an important risk 
management criteria. 
 

  

Page 133

Item 20.



 

2 

Prohibited Investments 
SB998 also added a provision to Code that allows local agencies to invest in securities issued or 
backed by the U.S. government that could result in zero or negative interest accrual if held to 
maturity, in the event of, and for the duration of, a period of negative market interest rates. The 
Code provision will remain in effect only until January 1, 2026. 
 
This Code change was a modification to Government Code Section 53601.6 that prohibits certain 
types of investments. While we do not anticipate negative market interest rates, we suggest the 
City consider adding a reference to Code Section 53601.6, so that the City has the flexibility to 
purchase these securities if interest rates were to go negative. The following is some suggested 
language for the City’s consideration: 

9.0 PROHIBITED INVESTMENTS 
Any security type or structure not specifically approved by this policy is hereby specifically 
prohibited. Security types which are thereby prohibited include, but are not limited to, inverse 
floaters, derivatives, range notes, interest only strips that are derived from a pool of 
mortgages, or in any investment that could result in zero interest accrual if held to maturity, 
except as authorized by Government Code Section 53601.6 

 
Please let us know if you have any questions or if would like to discuss our recommendations in 
more detail.  

Page 134

Item 20.



CITY OF COACHELLA 
STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT POLICY  

FOR FISCAL YEAR 2020-2021 
ADOPTED MAY 13, 2020 

 
 

 
1.0 POLICY: 
 
This statement is intended to provide guidelines for the prudent investment of the City of 
Coachella’s (hereafter called “City”) temporarily idle cash in all funds, and outline the policies 
for maximizing the efficiency of the City’s cash management system.  
 
It is the objective of this investment policy to provide guidelines for: 

 Insuring the safety of funds invested; 
 Meeting the City’s daily cash flow demands; 
 Maximizing investment interest income for the City; 
 Conform with all laws and statutes governing the investment of public funds. 

 
2.0 SCOPE: 
 
The investment policy applies to the temporary idle cash of the City and its component units as 
accounted for in the Audited Annual Financial Report. Policy statements outlined in this 
document focus on the City’s pooled funds. This policy is applicable, but not limited to all funds 
listed below: 

 General Fund 
 Special Revenue Funds 
 Capital Outlay Funds 
 Debt Service Funds 
 Enterprise Funds 
 Fiduciary Funds 
 Any new fund created by the City Council unless specifically exempted 

 
Exceptions may exist with funds for retiree pension and medical benefits held in a trust and bond 
proceeds held by a trustee or fiscal agent and governed by the instructions in the bond document. 
In addition, if in the opinion of the City Treasurer or their Authorized Designee (Designee), 
matching the segregated investment portfolio of the bond reserve fund with the maturity 
schedule of an individual bond issue is prudent given current economic analysis, the investment 
policy authorizes extending beyond the five year maturity limitation with City Council 
authorization no less than three months prior to the investment as outlined in this document. 
 
3.0 PRUDENCE: 
 
The City Treasurer or Designee are authorized to make investment decisions on behalf of the 
City and considered as trustees and therefore fiduciaries subject to the prudent investors’ 

Page 135

Item 20.

BABBER
Cross-Out



City of Coachella 
Statement of Investment Policy 
May 13, 2020 
Page 2 
 

 

standard. When investing, reinvesting, purchasing, acquiring, exchanging, selling, and managing 
public funds, the City Treasurer or Designee shall act with care, skill, prudence, and diligence  
under the circumstances then prevailing, that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and 
familiarity with those matters would use in the conduct and management of their own affairs.  
 
Within the limitations of this section and considering individual investments as part to an overall 
strategy, the City Treasurer or Designee are authorized to acquire approved and suitable 
investments as described in paragraph 8.0 hereof. 
 
The City Treasurer, Authorized Designee and other individuals assigned to manage the 
investment portfolio, acting within the intent and scope of the investment policy and other 
written procedures and exercising due diligence, shall be relieved of personal responsibility and 
liability for an individual security credit risk or market price changes, provided deviations from 
expectations are reported in a timely manner and appropriate action is taken to control adverse 
developments. 
 
4.0 OBJECTIVES: 
 
The three fundamental considerations, in order of priority, for managing the City’s investments 
are safety, liquidity, and yield. At no time should safety or liquidity be compromised in exchange 
for higher yields. 
 
Safety of Principal 
 
The preservation of invested capital is the foremost objective of the City and of primary 
importance. The City shall only invest in financial instruments that are considered safe. The 
safety and risk associated with an investment refers to the potential loss of principal, accrued 
interest, or a combination of these amounts. Each investment decision shall seek to ensure that 
capital losses are avoided. To attain this objective, diversification is required in order that 
potential losses on individual securities do not exceed the income generated from the remainder 
of the portfolio. 
 
Liquidity 
 
The City’s investment portfolio shall contain investments with a diversified mix of maturities in 
order to provide sufficient liquidity to meet projected operating cash requirements of the City. 
 
Return on Investments 
 
The City’s investment portfolio shall be designed with the objective of obtaining a reasonable 
and competitive market rate of return taking into consideration risk constraints, prudent 
investment principles and the cash flow characteristics of the portfolio. 
 
 

Page 136

Item 20.

BABBER
Cross-Out



City of Coachella 
Statement of Investment Policy 
May 13, 2020 
Page 3 
 

 

5.0 DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY: 
 
The authority to invest or to reinvest funds or to sell or exchange securities so purchased of City 
Funds is vested in the City Council. Government Code Section (“GCS”) 53607 authorizes the 
delegation of the above duties to the City Treasurer for a one-year period. Therefore, the 
authority to invest and reinvest City funds or to sell or exchange the securities so purchased with 
City funds is hereby delegated to the City Treasurer for a one year period unless sooner 
terminated by the City Council. 
 
The City Treasurer or Designee shall prepare written procedures for the operation of the 
investment program consistent with this investment policy. The procedures shall also include 
reference to: safekeeping, wire transfer agreements, banking service contracts and 
collateral/depository agreements. Such procedures shall include explicit delegation of authority 
to persons responsible for investment transactions. The written procedures may provide for the 
delegation of authority to an Authorized Designee, who upon assuming such position shall 
become responsible for investment transactions. No person may engage in an investment 
decision except as permitted by this policy and by the procedures approved by the City Treasurer 
or Designee.  
 
The City may delegate investment authority to an investment advisor. The advisor will follow 
the Investment Policy and such other written instructions as are provided. 
 
6.0 ETHICS AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: 
 
Officers and employees involved in the investment process shall refrain from personal business 
activity that could conflict with proper execution of the investment program, or which could 
impair their ability to make impartial investment decisions. Employees and investment officials 
are required to annually file all applicable financial disclosures as required by the Fair Political 
Practices Commission (FPPC). 
 
7.0 AUTHORIZED FINANCIAL DEALERS AND INSTITUTIONS: 
 
For any investment not purchased directly from the issuer, the City shall transact business only 
with banks, savings and loans, and investment broker/dealers. The broker/dealers should be 
primary dealers regularly reporting to the New York Federal Reserve Bank. The City Treasurer 
or Designee shall select all security dealers and depositories subject to City Council approval and 
the execution of an appropriate written agreement. Investment transactions shall be conducted 
with several competing, reputable security broker/dealers. The selection process shall focus on 
financial viability, knowledge, experience and ethics in the fixed-income security industry. The 
City Treasurer or Designee will maintain a list and a written agreement with financial institutions 
authorized to provide investment services. 
 
All financial institutions and broker/dealers who desire to become an authorized financial 
institution for investment transactions must supply the City Treasurer or Designee with the 

Page 137

Item 20.

BABBER
Cross-Out



City of Coachella 
Statement of Investment Policy 
May 13, 2020 
Page 4 
 

 

following: most recent audited financial statements, proof of Financial Industry Regulatory 
Authority (FINRA) certification, trading resolution, proof of state registration, completed 
broker/dealer questionnaire, certification of having read the City’s investment policy and 
depository contracts. The City Treasurer or Designee will conduct an annual review of the 
financial condition and registrations of qualified bidders. 
 
The City Treasurer or Designee shall annually send a copy of the current investment policy to all 
broker/dealers approved to do business with the City. Confirmation of receipt of this policy shall 
be considered evidence that the dealer understands the City’s investment policies and intends to 
sell the City only appropriate investments authorized by this investment policy.  
 
If the City has an investment advisor, the investment advisor may use its own list of authorized 
broker/dealers to conduct transactions on behalf of the City. 
 
8.0 AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS: 
 
As provided in GCSs 16429.1, 53601, 53601.1, 53631, 53649 and 53684, the State of California 
limits the investment vehicles available to local agencies as summarized in the following 
paragraphs. Where this Policy specifies a percentage limitation for a particular security type or 
issuer, that percentage is applicable at the time the security is purchased. No more than 5% of the 
City’s portfolio shall be invested in any one issuer regardless of sector except for the U.S. 
Treasury, Federal Agencies, supranationals, and pools (including LAIF, County Pools, LGIPs, 
and money market funds). Credit criteria listed in this section refers to the credit rating at the 
time the security is purchased. If an investment’s credit rating falls below the minimum rating 
required at the time of purchase, the City’s investment advisor (if any) and Treasurer will review 
the rating agency action and decide whether to sell or hold the investment. The City may invest 
funds in the following instruments and subject to the limitations set forth in Section 11.0: 
 
State Treasurer’s Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF): As authorized in GCS 16429.1 and 
by LAIF procedures, local government agencies are each authorized to invest a maximum of $75 
million in this investment program administered by the California State Treasurer. 
 
U.S. Treasury Bills and Notes: U.S. Treasury bills, notes, bonds or certificates of indebtedness, 
or those for which the full faith and credit of the United States are pledged for the payment of 
principal and interest. 
 
Federal Agencies: Federal agency or United States government-sponsored enterprise 
obligations, participations, or other instruments, including those issued by or fully guaranteed as 
to principal and interest by federal agencies or United States government-sponsored enterprises.  
 
State of California Obligations: Registered state warrants or treasury notes or bonds of this 
state, including bonds payable solely out of the revenues from a revenue-producing property 
owned, controlled, or operated by the state or by a department, board, agency, or authority of the 

Page 138

Item 20.

BABBER
Cross-Out



City of Coachella 
Statement of Investment Policy 
May 13, 2020 
Page 5 
 

 

state rated in a rating category of "A" long-term or "A-1" short-term or its equivalent or higher 
by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization (“NRSRO”).  
 
Obligations of the Other 49 States: Registered treasury notes or bonds of any of the other 49 
states in addition to California, including bonds payable solely out of the revenues from a 
revenue-producing property owned, controlled, or operated by a state or by a department, board, 
agency, or authority of any of the other 49 states, in addition to California, rated in a rating 
category of "A" long-term or "A-1" short-term or its equivalent or higher by a NRSRO.  
 
Obligations of Local Agencies in California: Bonds, notes, warrants, or other evidences of 
indebtedness of a local agency within this state, including bonds payable solely out of the 
revenues from a revenue-producing property owned, controlled, or operated by the local agency, 
or by a department, board, agency, or authority of the local agency rated in a rating category of 
"A" long-term or "A-1" short-term or its equivalent or higher by a NRSRO.  
 
County Pooled Investment Funds: As authorized by GCS 53684, the City may invest in pooled 
investments managed by the County of Riverside. 
 
Bankers’ Acceptances: Bills of exchange or time drafts drawn on and accepted by a commercial 
bank, otherwise known as bankers’ acceptances. Purchases of bankers’ acceptances may not 
exceed 180 days maturity or total more than 40% of the cost value of the City's investment 
portfolio. Eligible bankers’ acceptances must be rated in the highest letter and number rating as 
provided for by a NRSRO. 
 
Commercial Paper: Commercial paper of “prime” quality of the highest ranking or of the 
highest letter and number rating as provided for by a NRSRO. The entity that issues the 
commercial paper shall meet all of the following conditions in either paragraph (1) or paragraph 
(2): 
 

1) The entity meets the following criteria: Is organized and operating in the United States as 
a general corporation. Has total assets in excess of five hundred million dollars 
($500,000,000). Has debt other than commercial paper, if any, that is rated in a rating 
category of “A” or higher, or the equivalent, by a NRSRO. 
 
2) The entity meets the following criteria: Is organized within the United States as a special 
purpose corporation, trust, or limited liability company. Has program wide credit 
enhancements including, but not limited to, over collateralization, letters of credit, or surety 
bond. Has commercial paper that is rated “A-1” or higher, or the equivalent, by a NRSRO. 

 
Purchases of eligible commercial paper may not exceed 25% of the market value of the City’s 
portfolio or have a term to maturity which exceeds 270 days. The City may not own more than 
10% of an issuer’s outstanding commercial paper. 
 
 

Page 139

Item 20.

BABBER
Cross-Out

BABBER
Cross-Out



City of Coachella 
Statement of Investment Policy 
May 13, 2020 
Page 6 
 

 

Negotiable Certificates of Deposit: Negotiable certificates of deposit issued by a nationally or 
state-chartered bank, a savings association or a federal association (as defined by Section 5102 of 
the Financial Code), a state or federal credit union, or by a federally- or state-licensed branch of 
a foreign bank rated in a rating category of “A” long-term or "A-1" short-term or its equivalent 
or higher by a NRSRO.  No more than 30% of the City’s portfolio may be invested in negotiable 
CDs. 
 
Non-Negotiable Certificates of Deposit: Non-negotiable certificates of deposit from eligible 
depositories are fixed-term investments, There are no portfolio limits on the amount or maturity 
for this investment vehicle. Eligible depositories may be a state or national bank, savings 
association or federal association, a state or federal credit union, or a federally insured industrial 
loan company, which must have received an overall rating of not less than “satisfactory” in its 
most recent evaluation by the appropriate federal financial supervisory agency of its record of 
meeting the credit needs of California’s communities. Deposits in excess of federal deposit limits 
must be collateralized per Section 9.0. 
 
Medium Term Corporate Notes: Medium-term corporate notes, defined as all corporate and 
depository institution debt securities with a maximum remaining maturity of 5 years or less, 
issued by corporations organized and operating within the United States or by depository 
institutions licensed by the United States or any state and operating within the United States. 
Medium-term corporate notes shall be rated in a rating category of “A” or its equivalent or better 
by a NRSRO. No more than 30% of the City’s portfolio may be invested in corporate notes. 
 
Demand Deposits: The City Treasurer may establish accounts for deposits in a state or national 
bank, savings association or federal association, a state or federal credit union, or a federally 
insured industrial loan company in the State of California, which must have received an overall 
rating of not less than “satisfactory” in its most recent evaluation by the appropriate federal 
financial supervisory agency of its record of meeting the credit needs of California’s 
communities. Deposits in excess of federal deposit limits must be collateralized per Section 9.0. 
 
Money Market Funds: Shares of beneficial interest issued by diversified management 
companies that are money market funds registered with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. Sec. 80a-1, et seq.). To be 
eligible for investment pursuant to this subdivision these companies shall either: have an 
investment advisor registered or exempt from registration with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission with not less than 5 years experience managing money market mutual funds and 
with assets under management in excess of $500,000,000, or attain the highest ranking letter or 
numerical rating provided by not less than two of the three largest NRSROs. No more than 20% 
of the City’s portfolio may be invested in money market funds.  
 
Local Government Investment Pools (LGIPs): Shares of beneficial interest issued by a joint 
powers authority organized pursuant to Section 6509.7 that invests in the securities and 
obligations authorized in subdivisions (a) to (q), inclusive. Each share shall represent an equal 
proportional interest in the underlying pool of securities owned by the joint powers authority. To 

Page 140

Item 20.

BABBER
Cross-Out



City of Coachella 
Statement of Investment Policy 
May 13, 2020 
Page 7 

be eligible under this section, the joint powers authority issuing the shares shall have retained an 
investment adviser that meets all of the following criteria: 

1) The adviser is registered or exempt from registration with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

2) The adviser has not less than five years of experience investing in the securities and
obligations authorized in subdivisions (a) to (q), inclusive.

3) The adviser has assets under management in excess of five hundred million dollars
($500,000,000).

Asset-Backed Security (ABS): Any mortgage pass-through security, collateralized mortgage 
obligation, mortgage-backed or other pay-through bond, equipment lease-back certificate, 
consumer receivable pass-through certificate, or consumer receivable-backed bond of a 
maximum of five years maturity. Eligible securities shall be issued by an issuer rated in a rating 
category of “A” or its equivalent or better for the issuer’s debt as provided by an NRSRO and 
rated in a rating category of “AA” or its equivalent or better by an NRSRO. No more than 20% 
of the City's portfolio may be invested in this type of security. 

Supranational: United States dollar denominated senior unsecured unsubordinated obligations 
issued or unconditionally guaranteed by the International Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development (IBRD), International Finance Corporation (IFC), or Inter-American Development 
Bank (IADB), with a maximum remaining maturity of five years or less, and eligible for purchase 
and sale within the United States. Investments under this subdivision shall be rated in a rating 
category of “AA” or its equivalent or better by a NRSRO. No more than 30% of the City’s portfolio 
may be invested in this security type.  

Any other permissible investments outlined within Section 53601 may be purchased from time to 
time. 

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, moneys held by a trustee or fiscal agent and pledged 
to the payment or security of bonds or other indebtedness, or obligations under a lease, 
installment sale, or other agreement of the City, or certificates of participation in those bonds, 
indebtedness, or lease installment sale, or other agreements, may be invested in accordance with 
the statutory provision governing the issuance of those bonds, indebtedness, or lease installment 
sale, or other agreement or to the extent not inconsistent therewith or if there are no specific 
statutory provisions, in accordance with the ordinance, resolution, indenture, or agreement of the 
local agency providing for the issuance. This includes investing bond proceeds in guaranteed 
investment contracts with United States financial institutions rated in a rating category of “AA,” 
or equivalent, or better by a NRSRO. 

9.0  PROHIBITED INVESTMENTS - See insert

9.0 COLLATERALIZATION: 

Collateral is required for investments in Non-Negotiable Certificates of Deposit and Demand 
Deposits. Investments in excess of federal deposit insurance limits must be collateralized at 

Page 141

Item 20.

BABBER
Cross-Out

BABBER
Cross-Out



City of Coachella 
Statement of Investment Policy 
May 13, 2020 
Page 8 

105% to 150% depending on the specific security pledged as collateral in accordance with GCS 
53630 et seq. The collateral pool is administered by the State, and is composed of a wide variety 
of government securities, including those indicated above, as well as promissory notes secured 
by first mortgages on improved residential property located in the state and letters of credit 
issued by the Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco.  

10.0 SAFEKEEPING AND CUSTODY: 

To protect against fraud or embezzlement or losses caused by collapse of an individual securities 
dealer, all deliverable securities owned by the City shall be held in safekeeping by a third party 
bank trust department, acting as agent for the City under the terms of a custody agreement or 
professional services agreement (PSA). All trades executed by a dealer will settle delivery vs. 
payment (DVP) through the City’s safekeeping agent. 

Securities held in custody for the City shall be verified on an annual basis by the City’s 
independent auditor. 

11.0 DIVERSIFICATION: 

It is the City’s policy to minimize portfolio risk by diversifying maturity, sector and class 
allocation. Default risk shall be minimized by investing in an assortment of permitted 
investments as outlined in Section 8.0. To minimize overall portfolio risk, the following not-to-
exceed diversification goals shall guide the City’s operating fund portfolio, based upon the 
portfolio structure at the time of purchase. 

Investment Type Not-to-Exceed Limit Other Restrictions 
Local Agency Investment 
Fund (LAIF) 

$75 million Established by the State Treasurer 

U.S. Treasury No Limit None 
Federal Agency No Limit Maximum of 40% per issuer 
State of California 
Obligations 

No Limit  No more than 5% per issuer

 Rated in a rating category of “A”
or its equivalent or higher by a
NRSRO for maturities in excess
of one year

 Rated in a rating category “A-1”
or its equivalent or higher by a
NRSRO for maturities under one
year

Obligations of the Other 49 
States 

No Limit  No more than 5% per issuer

 Rated in a rating category of “A”
or its equivalent or higher by a

Page 142

Item 20.

BABBER
Cross-Out



City of Coachella 
Statement of Investment Policy 
May 13, 2020 
Page 9 
 

 

Investment Type Not-to-Exceed Limit Other Restrictions 
NRSRO for maturities in excess 
of one year 

 Rated in a rating category of “A-
1” or its equivalent or higher by a 
NRSRO for maturities under one 
year 

Obligations of Local 
Agencies in California 

No Limit  No more than 5% per issuer 

 Rated in a rating category of “A” 
or its equivalent or higher by a 
NRSRO for maturities in excess 
of one year 

 Rated in a rating category of “A-
1” or its equivalent or higher by a 
NRSRO for maturities under one 
year 

County Pool $10 million None 
Bankers’ Acceptances 40%  No more than 5% per issuer 

regardless of security type 

 Maximum maturity of 180 days 

 Must be rated in highest category 
by a NRSRO 

Commercial Paper 25%  No more than 5% per issuer 
regardless of security type 

 No more than 10% of an issuer’s 
outstanding commercial paper 

 Maximum maturity of 270 days 

 Must be rated in highest category 
by a NRSRO 

Negotiable CDs 30%  No more than 5% per issuer 
regardless of security type 

 Rated in a rating category of “A” 
or its equivalent or higher by a 
NRSRO for maturities in excess 
of one year 

 Rated in a rating category of “A-
1” or its equivalent or higher by a 

Page 143

Item 20.

BABBER
Cross-Out

BABBER
Cross-Out



City of Coachella 
Statement of Investment Policy 
May 13, 2020 
Page 10 
 

 

Investment Type Not-to-Exceed Limit Other Restrictions 
NRSRO for maturities under one 
year 

Non-Negotiable CDs No Limit  See Section 9.0 for collateral 
requirements 

Medium Term Corporate 
Notes 

30%  No more than 5% per issuer 
regardless of security type 

 Maximum maturity of five years 

 Minimum credit rating of “A” or 
its equivalent by a NRSRO 

Demand Deposits No Limit  See Section 9.0 for collateral 
requirements 

Money Market Funds 20%  See Section 8.0 for advisor 
requirements or the Fund must 
have the highest rating by two 
NRSRO 

Local Government 
Investment Pools (LGIPs) 

No Limit  See Section 8.0 for advisor 
requirements 

Asset-Backed Securities 
(ABS) 

20%  No more than 5% per issuer 

 Rated in a rating category of 
“AA” (Issue) and “A” (Issuer) or 
its equivalent or higher by a 
NRSRO 

Supranational 30%  Rated in a rating category of 
“AA” or its equivalent or higher 
by a NRSRO 

 
 
12.0 MAXIMUM MATURITIES: 
 
The average dollar weighted maturity of a portfolio may not exceed 3 years. No investment shall 
be made in an investment authorized by this Policy (and that GCS 53601 does not specific a 
maximum maturity) that has a term remaining to maturity in excess of 5 years from date of 
purchase. Maturities shall be staggered to minimize liquidity risk and to enhance the stability of 
incoming cash flows. At least 10% of the portfolio shall be invested in instruments, which can be 
liquidated on one day’s notice. 
 
Bond reserve funds may be invested in securities exceeding 5 years if the maturities of such 

Page 144

Item 20.

BABBER
Cross-Out

BABBER
Cross-Out



City of Coachella 
Statement of Investment Policy 
May 13, 2020 
Page 11 
 

 

investments are made to coincide as nearly as possible with the expected use of the funds. 
 
13.0 INTERNAL CONTROL: 
 
The City Treasurer or Designee shall establish sufficient internal controls to ensure compliance 
with all applicable federal, state and local regulations. These internal controls will be 
incorporated into an annual process of independent review by the City’s external auditor. This 
will provide a review of the internal controls by assuring compliance with policies and 
procedures.  
 
14.0 INTEREST EARNINGS: 
 
All moneys earned and collected from investments authorized in this policy shall be allocated 
monthly to various fund accounts based on the cash balance in each fund as a percentage of the 
entire pooled portfolio. Interest earnings on bond proceeds, bond reserves or other restricted 
investments held by trustees shall be allocated directly to the appropriate fund and not be part of 
the pooled allocation. 
 
15.0 PERFORMANCE STANDARDS: 
 
The City’s policy is to achieve a market rate of return on public funds while minimizing risks 
and preserving capital. In evaluating the performance of the City’s portfolio in complying with 
this policy, the City shall establish an appropriate performance benchmark and compare the total 
return of its portfolio to the total return of the benchmark. 
 
16.0 REPORTING: 
 
The City Treasurer or Designee shall provide to the City Council a monthly investment report,  
which provides a clear picture of the status of the current investment portfolio. Based on GCS 
53646, the report shall include, at a minimum, the following information for each type of 
investment held in the City’s investment portfolio: the issuer, date of purchase, date of maturity, 
amount of investment, current market value, yield on investment, income generated from 
investments, dollar amount invested on all securities, investments and moneys held by the local 
agency, and shall additionally include a description of any of the local agency’s funds, 
investments, or programs, and a description of unusual investment activity or developments 
during the month for which the report is prepared. Based on GCS 53607, the report shall also 
include a listing of investment transactions. With respect to all securities held by the local 
agency, and under management of any outside party that is not also a local agency or the State of 
California Local Agency Investment Fund, the report shall also include a current market value as 
of the date of the report and shall include the source of this same valuation.  
 
The report shall state compliance of the portfolio to the statement of investment policy, or 
manner in which the portfolio is not in compliance and include a statement denoting the ability 
of the City to meet its expenditure requirements for the next six months, or provide an 

Page 145

Item 20.

BABBER
Cross-Out



City of Coachella 
Statement of Investment Policy 
May 13, 2020 
Page 12 
 

 

explanation as to why sufficient money shall, or may, not be available. 
 
The City Treasurer or Designee may supply to the City Council the most recent statement or 
statements received by the local agency from the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF), County 
Investment Pools, or Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation-insured accounts in a bank or 
savings and loan association. 
 
The City Treasurer or Designee shall prepare and deliver such a report each month to the Mayor 
and each City Council member no later than 30 days after the close of the month for which each 
report is prepared. 
 
In the event that an investment advisor is retained by the City, the investment advisor shall 
prepare and deliver a report for each month’s investment activity as required herein to the City in 
such time as to allow compliance with the delivery times for each report required by this policy. 
 
The City Council may relieve the City Treasurer of his or her duties under this policy in the 
event of any failure to comply with the reporting requirements of this policy. 
 
17.0 INVESTMENT POLICY ADOPTION: 
 
The City’s investment policy shall be adopted annually by the City Council. The policy shall be  
reviewed annually by the City Treasurer and/or Designee with any and all modifications made 
thereto approved by the City Council at a public meeting.  

Page 146

Item 20.

BABBER
Cross-Out



Resolution No. 2021-44 

Page 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-44        

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA, 

CALIFORNIA TO AMEND AND REESTABLISH THE INVESTMENT POLICY 

ORIGINALLY ADOPTED JULY 9, 2003 AND AMENDED BY THE CITY 

COUNCIL FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022 

 

WHEREAS, Government Code Section 53601 of the State of California authorizes 

the legal bodies of local agencies to invest surplus money which is not required for the 

immediate necessities of the local agencies in accordance with the rules set forth in the 

section; and 

 

WHEREAS, Government Code Section 53607 authorizes the local legislative 

body to delegate to the Treasurer of the local agency, the authority to invest or reinvest 

funds of the local agency, or to sell or exchange securities so purchased; and 

 

WHEREAS, said Section 53607 requires that once the Treasurer of the local 

agency is delegated that authority, he thereafter assumes full responsibility for such 

transactions until such time as the delegated authority is revoked; and 

 

WHEREAS, said Section 53607 requires the Treasurer of the local Agency to 

make a monthly report of such transactions to the legislative body; and 

 

WHEREAS, said Section 53607 requires an annual ratification of the delegation 

of authority of the legislative body to the Treasurer; and 

 

WHEREAS, Government Code Section 53646 (2) requires that the Treasurer shall 

annually render to the City Council and any oversight committee a Statement of Investment 

Policy and any change in the policy, which the City Council shall consider at a public 

meeting; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the City of Coachella to have any surplus 

or idle City funds invested so as to provide additional income to the City of Coachella. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COACHELLA HEREBY RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1 - That the City Treasurer, or their authorized designee(s), of the City 

of Coachella is hereby delegated the authority to invest or reinvest surplus funds of the City 

of Coachella, or to sell, or exchange securities so purchased. 

 

SECTION 2 - The City Treasurer, or their authorized designee(s), will assume full 

responsibility for such transactions until such time as the aforementioned delegated 

authority is revoked, and that the City Treasurer will make a monthly report of such 

transactions to the City Council of the City of Coachella, 

 

Page 147

Item 20.



Resolution No. 2021-44 

Page 2 

SECTION 3 - The City Treasurer shall render to the City Council a Statement of 

Investment Policy in the first quarter of each calendar year.  Any changes to said policy 

shall be considered by the City Council at such a public regular meeting. 

 

SECTION 4 - The Statement of Investment Policy, attached hereto and 

incorporated herewith, is adopted as the Statement of Investment Policy of the City of 

Coachella for fiscal year 2021-2022. 

 

SECTION 5 - The City Treasurer shall comply with the Statement of Investment 

Policy of the City of Coachella adopted by this Resolution. 

 

SECTION 6 - The City Treasurer shall report to the City Council, the City Manager 

and the City’s Auditor as required by the Statement of Investment Policy and all applicable 

laws. 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED, this 23rd day of June, 2021. 

 

 

_________________________                                                                                       

Steven A Hernandez 

Mayor         

 

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

__________________________                                                      

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Carlos Capos 

City Attorney 

Page 148

Item 20.



Resolution No. 2021-44 

Page 3 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA        ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE       ) ss. 

CITY OF COACHELLA           ) 

 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-44 was duly 

adopted by the City Council of the City of Coachella at a regular meeting thereof, held on 

this 23rd day of June, 2021 by the following vote of the City Council: 

 

AYES: 

 

NOES: 

 

ABSENT: 

 

ABSTAIN: 

 

 

 

 

________________________                                                      

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy City Clerk 

 

 

Page 149

Item 20.



Resolution No. WA-2021-07 

Page 1 

RESOLUTION NO. WA-2021-07 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE COACHELLA WATER 

AUTHORITY, COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA TO AMEND AND REESTABLISH THE 

INVESTMENT POLICY ORIGINALLY ADOPTED JULY 9, 2003 AND AMENDED BY 

THE AUTHORITY BOARD FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Coachella Water Authority (hereafter 

“BOARD” and “AUTHORITY” respectively) wants to be in compliance with State law; and 

 

WHEREAS, Government Code Section 53601 of the State of California authorizes the 

legal bodies of local agencies to invest surplus money which is not required for the immediate 

necessities of the local agencies in accordance with the rules set forth in the section; and 

 

WHEREAS, Government Code Section 53607 authorizes the local legislative body to 

delegate to the Treasurer of the local agency, the authority to invest or reinvest funds of the local 

agency, or to sell or exchange securities so purchased; and 

 

WHEREAS, said Section 53607 requires that once the Treasurer of the local agency is 

delegated that authority, he thereafter assumes full responsibility for such transactions until such 

time as the delegated authority is revoked; and 

 

WHEREAS, said Section 53607 requires the Treasurer of the local Agency to make a 

monthly report of such transactions to the legislative body; and 

 

WHEREAS, said Section 53607 requires an annual ratification of the delegation of 

authority of the legislative body to the Treasurer; and 

 

WHEREAS, Government Code Section 53646 (2) requires that the Treasurer shall 

annually render to the BOARD and any oversight committee a Statement of Investment Policy and 

any change in the policy, which the BOARD shall consider at a public meeting; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the AUTHORITY to have any surplus or idle 

AUTHORITY funds invested so as to provide additional income to the AUTHORITY. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE COACHELLA 

WATER AUTHORITY HEREBY RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1 - That the AUTHORITY Treasurer, or their authorized designee(s), is hereby 

delegated the authority to invest or reinvest surplus funds of the AUTHORITY, or to sell, or 

exchange securities so purchased. 

 

SECTION 2 - The AUTHORITY Treasurer, or their authorized designee(s), will assume 

full responsibility for such transactions until such time as the aforementioned delegated authority 

is revoked, and that the AUTHORITY Treasurer will make a monthly report of such transactions 

to the BOARD of the AUTHORITY. 

 

Page 150

Item 20.



 

Resolution No. WA-2021-07 

Page 2 

SECTION 3 - The AUTHORITY Treasurer shall render to the BOARD a Statement of 

Investment Policy in the first quarter of each calendar year.  Any changes to said policy shall be 

considered by the BOARD at such a regular public meeting. 

 

SECTION 4 - The Statement of Investment Policy, attached hereto and incorporated 

herewith, is adopted as the Statement of Investment Policy of the AUTHORITY for fiscal year 

2021-2022. 

 

SECTION 5 - The AUTHORITY Treasurer shall comply with the Statement of Investment 

Policy of the AUTHORITY adopted by this Resolution. 

 

SECTION 6 - The AUTHORITY Treasurer shall report to the BOARD, the Executive 

Director and the AUTHORITY’S Auditor as required by the Statement of Investment Policy and 

all applicable laws. 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23rd day of June, 2021. 

                                                                      

            

________________________ 

Steven A Hernandez 

President 

 

  

ATTEST:  

 

 

_________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

Secretary 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

Authority Attorney 

 

  

Page 151

Item 20.



 

Resolution No. WA-2021-07 

Page 3 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA        ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE       ) ss. 

CITY OF COACHELLA           ) 

 

 

I HEREBY CEERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. WA-2021-07 was duly 

adopted by the Board of Directors of the Coachella Water Authority at a regular meeting thereof 

held on the 23rd day of June, 2021, by the following vote of the Board: 

 

AYES: 

 

NOES: 

 

ABSENT: 

 

ABSTAIN: 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy City Clerk 

Page 152

Item 20.



Resolution No. SD-2021-05 

Page 1 

RESOLUTION NO. SD-2021-05 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE COACHELLA SANITARY 

DISTRICT, COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA TO AMEND AND REESTABLISH THE 

INVESTMENT POLICY ORIGINALLY ADOPTED JULY 9, 2003 AND AMENDED BY 

THE AUTHORITY BOARD FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Coachella Sanitary District (hereafter 

“BOARD” and “DISTRICT” respectively) want to comply with State law; and 

  

WHEREAS, Government Code Section 53601 of the State of California authorizes the 

legal bodies of local agencies to invest surplus money which is not required for the immediate 

necessities of the local agencies in accordance with the rules set forth in the section; and 

 

WHEREAS, Government Code Section 53607 authorizes the local legislative body to 

delegate to the Treasurer of the local agency, the authority to invest or reinvest funds of the local 

agency, or to sell or exchange securities so purchased; and 

 

WHEREAS, said Section 53607 requires that once the Treasurer of the local agency is 

delegated that authority, he thereafter assumes full responsibility for such transactions until such 

time as the delegated authority is revoked; and 

 

WHEREAS, said Section 53607 requires the Treasurer of the local Agency to make a 

monthly report of such transactions to the legislative body; and 

 

WHEREAS, said Section 53607 requires an annual ratification of the delegation of 

authority of the legislative body to the Treasurer; and 

 

WHEREAS, Government Code Section 53646 (2) requires that the Treasurer shall 

annually render to the BOARD and any oversight committee a Statement of Investment Policy and 

any change in the policy, which the BOARD shall consider at a public meeting; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the DISTRICT to have any surplus or idle 

DISTRICT funds invested so as to provide additional income to the DISTRICT. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE COACHELLA SANITARY 

DISTRICT HEREBY RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1 - That the DISTRICT Treasurer, or their authorized designee(s), is hereby 

delegated the authority to invest or reinvest surplus funds of the DISTRICT, or to sell, or exchange 

securities so purchased. 

 

SECTION 2 - The DISTRICT Treasurer, or their authorized designee(s), will assume full 

responsibility for such transactions until such time as the aforementioned delegated authority is 

Page 153

Item 20.



 
 

Resolution No. SD-2021-05 

Page 2 

revoked, and that the DISTRICT Treasurer will make a monthly report of such transactions to the 

BOARD of the DISTRICT. 

 

SECTION 3 - The DISTRICT Treasurer shall render to the BOARD a Statement of 

Investment Policy in the first quarter of each calendar year.  Any changes to said policy shall be 

considered by the BOARD at such a regular public meeting. 

 

SECTION 4 - The Statement of Investment Policy, attached hereto and incorporated 

herewith, is adopted as the Statement of Investment Policy of the DISTRICT for fiscal year 2021-

2022. 

 

SECTION 5 - The DISTRICT Treasurer shall comply with the Statement of Investment 

Policy of the DISTRICT adopted by this Resolution. 

 

SECTION 6 - The DISTRICT Treasurer shall report to the BOARD, the DISTRICT 

Manager and the DISTRICT’S Auditor as required by the Statement of Investment Policy and all 

applicable laws. 

 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23rd day of June, 2021. 

 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               

______________________________                                                                           

Steven A. Hernandez 

President     

 

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

________________________                                                     

Angela M. Zepeda 

Secretary 

 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 

 

 

_______________________ 

Carlos Campos 

City Attorney 

 

Page 154

Item 20.



 
 

Resolution No. SD-2021-05 

Page 3 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA        ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE       ) ss. 

CITY OF COACHELLA           ) 

 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. SD-2021-05 was duly adopted 

by the Board of Directors of the Coachella Sanitary District at a regular meeting thereof, held on 

the 23rd day of June, 2021 by the following vote of the Board: 

 

AYES: 

 

 

NOES: 

 

 

ABSENT: 

 

 

ABSTAIN: 

 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy City Clerk 

 

Page 155

Item 20.



Resolution No. FD-2021-04 

Page 1 

RESOLUTION NO. FD-2021-04 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE COACHELLA FIRE 

PROTECTION DISTRICT, COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA TO AMEND AND 

REESTABLISH THE INVESTMENT POLICY ORIGINALLY ADOPTED JULY 9, 2003 

AND AMENDED BY THE DISTRICT BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR FISCAL YEAR 

2021-2022 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Coachella Fire Protection District (hereafter 

“BOARD” and “DISTRICT” respectively) wants to be in compliance with State law; and 

 

WHEREAS, Government Code Section 53601 of the State of California authorizes the 

legal bodies of local agencies to invest surplus money which is not required for the immediate 

necessities of the local agencies in accordance with the rules set forth in the section; and 

 

WHEREAS, Government Code Section 53607 authorizes the local legislative body to 

delegate to the Treasurer of the local agency, the authority to invest or reinvest funds of the local 

agency, or to sell or exchange securities so purchased; and 

 

WHEREAS, said Section 53607 requires that once the Treasurer of the local agency is 

delegated that authority, he thereafter assumes full responsibility for such transactions until such 

time as the delegated authority is revoked; and 

 

WHEREAS, said Section 53607 requires the Treasurer of the local Agency to make a 

monthly report of such transactions to the legislative body; and 

 

WHEREAS, said Section 53607 requires an annual ratification of the delegation of 

authority of the legislative body to the Treasurer; and 

 

WHEREAS, Government Code Section 53646 (2) requires that the Treasurer shall 

annually render to the BOARD and any oversight committee a Statement of Investment Policy and 

any change in the policy, which the BOARD shall consider at a public meeting; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the DISTRICT to have any surplus or idle 

DISTRICT   funds invested so as to provide additional income to the DISTRICT. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE COACHELLA 

FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT HEREBY RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1 - That the DISTRICT Treasurer, or their authorized designee(s), is hereby 

delegated the authority to invest or reinvest surplus funds of the DISTRICT, or to sell, or exchange 

securities so purchased. 

 

SECTION 2 - The DISTRICT Treasurer, or their authorized designee(s), will assume full 

Page 156

Item 20.



 
 

Resolution No. FD-2021-04 

Page 2 

responsibility for such transactions until such time as the aforementioned delegated authority is 

revoked, and that the DISTRICT Treasurer will make a monthly report of such transactions to the 

BOARD of the DISTRICT. 

 

SECTION 3 - The DISTRICT Treasurer shall render to the BOARD a Statement of 

Investment Policy in the first quarter of each calendar year.  Any changes to said policy shall be 

considered by the BOARD at such a regular public meeting. 

 

SECTION 4 - The Statement of Investment Policy, attached hereto and incorporated 

herewith, is adopted as the Statement of Investment Policy of the DISTRICT for fiscal year 2021-

2022. 

 

SECTION 5 - The DISTRICT Treasurer shall comply with the Statement of Investment 

Policy of the DISTRICT adopted by this Resolution. 

 

SECTION 6 - The DISTRICT Treasurer shall report to the BOARD, the DISTRICT 

Manager and the DISTRICT’S Auditor as required by the Statement of Investment Policy and all 

applicable laws. 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23rd day of June, 2021. 

 

 

______________________________ 

Steven A Hernandez 

Chairman   

  

                                                    

ATTEST: 

 

 

________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

Secretary 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

City Attorney 

  

Page 157

Item 20.



 
 

Resolution No. FD-2021-04 

Page 3 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA        ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE       ) ss. 

CITY OF COACHELLA           ) 

 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. FD-2021-04 was adopted by 

the Board of Directors of the Coachella Fire Protection District at a regular meeting thereof, held 

on the 23rd day of June, 2021 by the following vote of the Board: 

 

AYES: 

 

 

NOES: 

 

 

ABSENT: 

 

 

ABSTAIN: 

 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Andrea J Carranza, MMC 

Deputy City Clerk 

Page 158

Item 20.



Resolution No. CBL-2021-02 

Page 1 

RESOLUTION NO. CBL-2021-02    

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE COACHELLA 

EDUCATIONAL AND GOVERNMENTAL ACCESS CABLE CHANNEL 

CORPORATION, COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA TO AMEND AND REESTABLISH THE 

INVESTMENT POLICY ORIGINALLY ADOPTED JULY 9, 2003 AND AMENDED BY 

THE CORPORATION BOARD FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022. 

 

WHEREAS, The Coachella Educational and Governmental Access Cable Channel 

Corporation (hereafter “CORPORATION”) wants to be in compliance with State law; and 

 

WHEREAS, Government Code Section 53601 of the State of California authorizes the 

legal bodies of local agencies to invest surplus money which is not required for the immediate 

necessities of the local agencies in accordance with the rules set forth in the section; and 

 

WHEREAS, Government Code Section 53607 authorizes the local legislative body to 

delegate to the Treasurer of the local agency, the authority to invest or reinvest funds of the local 

agency, or to sell or exchange securities so purchased; and 

 

WHEREAS, said Section 53607 requires that once the Treasurer of the local agency is 

delegated that authority, he thereafter assumes full responsibility for such transactions until such 

time as the delegated authority is revoked; and 

 

WHEREAS, said Section 53607 requires the Treasurer of the local Agency to make a 

monthly report of such transactions to the legislative body; and 

 

WHEREAS, said Section 53607 requires an annual ratification of the delegation of 

authority of the legislative body to the Treasurer; and 

 

WHEREAS, Government Code Section 53646 (2) requires that the Treasurer shall 

annually render to the CORPORATION and any oversight committee, a Statement of Investment 

Policy and any change in the policy, which the CORPORATION shall consider at a public 

meeting; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the Coachella Educational and Governmental 

Access Cable Channel Corporation to have any surplus or idle CORPORATION funds invested 

so as to provide additional income to the CORPORATION. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, THE COACHELLA EDUCATIONAL AND 

GOVERNMENTAL ACCESS CABLE CHANNEL CORPORATION HEREBY 

RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1 - That the CORPORATION Treasurer, or their authorized designee(s), is 

hereby delegated the authority to invest or reinvest surplus funds of the CORPORATION, or to 

sell, or exchange securities so purchased. 

Page 159

Item 20.



Resolution No. CBL-2021-02 

Page 2 

 

SECTION 2 - The CORPORATION Treasurer, or their authorized designee(s), 

will assume full responsibility for such transactions until such time as the aforementioned 

delegated authority is revoked, and that the CORPORATION Treasurer will make a 

monthly report of such transactions to the Coachella Educational and Governmental Access 

Cable Channel Corporation 

 

SECTION 3 - The CORPORATION Treasurer shall render to the 

CORPORATION a Statement of Investment Policy in the first quarter of each calendar 

year.  Any changes to said policy shall be considered by the CORPORATION at such a 

public meeting. 

 

SECTION 4 - The Statement of Investment Policy, attached hereto and 

incorporated herewith, is adopted as the Statement of Investment Policy of the Coachella 

Educational and Governmental Access Cable Channel Corporation for fiscal year 2020-

2021. 

 

SECTION 5 - The CORPORATION Treasurer shall comply with the Statement of 

Investment Policy of the CORPORATION adopted by this Resolution. 

 

SECTION 6 - The CORPORATION Treasurer shall report to the 

CORPORATION, the CORPORATION Manager and the CORPORATION’S Auditor as 

required by the Statement of Investment Policy and all applicable laws. 

 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23rd day of June, 2021. 

 

 

_______________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez 

President                                                                        

 

 

ATTEST: 

  

                                                 

______________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

Secretary 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

_______________________ 

Carlos Campos 

Attorney 

Page 160

Item 20.



Resolution No. CBL-2021-02 

Page 3 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA        ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE       )  ss. 

CITY OF COACHELLA           ) 

 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. CBL-2021-02, was 

adopted by the Directors of the Coachella Educational and Governmental Access Cable 

Channel Corporation at a regular meeting thereof, held on the 23rd day of June, 2021 by 

the following roll call vote: 

 

 

AYES: 

 

NOES: 

 

ABSENT: 

 

ABSTAIN: 

 

 

________________________                                                      

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy City Clerk 

 

Page 161

Item 20.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Celina Jimenez, Grants Manager 

SUBJECT: Authorize a Community Based Grant to the California Farmworker Foundation 

in the Amount of $1,000 to Assist Farmworkers Facing Food Insecurity  
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Staff recommends that the City Council consider authorizing a Community-Based Grant to the 

California Farmworkers Foundation in the amount of $1,000 dollars to assist farmworkers facing 

food insecurity. 

 
BACKGROUND: 

 

The Community Based Grant Program was established in 2010 and allows the City of Coachella 

to offer financial assistance to local nonprofit organizations, youth-serving organizations, and 

other community-based organizations that provide essential services, programs and activities to 

residents in Coachella. Applicant organizations are only eligible to submit one application for 

consideration each fiscal year and must be legally established with non-profit or tax-exempt status, 

be based in the Coachella Valley, or provide direct service to Coachella residents. Approval of 

grant funds does not constitute a precedent for grant allocations in subsequent years. All CBG 

grants are reimbursement grants to ensure that applicants are meeting their stated goals.  The FY 

20-21 budget included an allocation of $15,000 for the Community Based Grant Program.  

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

The California Farmworker Foundation, also known as CFF, was formed in 2016 with the 

purpose of offering and creating opportunities that would enable farmworkers to develop 

personal and professional skills.  CFF is a nonprofit organization that brings innovative programs 

and services to farm workers in California. To date, CFF has served more than 35,000 farm 

workers and earned the 2020 Nonprofit of the Year award.  Programs include education, health 

and wellness, immigration and citizenship, professional development, and personal development. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 162

Item 21.



 

ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1. Authorize a Community Based Grant to the California Farmworker Foundation in the 

Amount of $1,000 to Assist Farmworkers Facing Food Insecurity 

 

2. Not Authorize a Community Based Grant to the California Farmworker Foundation in the 

Amount of $1,000 to Assist Farmworkers Facing Food Insecurity 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

Should the City Council approve the staff recommendation, the Community Based Grant account 

will be reduced by $1,000.00 leaving $4,000.00 for the remainder of the fiscal year.  

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 

1. Copy of Application 

 

Page 163

Item 21.



 

CITY OF COACHELLA, CA 
COMMUNITY BASED GRANT PROGRAM 

APPLICATION FOR FUNDS REQUEST 

Please Type Information and Print 
Information entered in the provided spaces cannot be saved. 

 
(Attach additional pages as needed, however applicants are encouraged to be brief.) 

 

1. Application Funding Cycle:                                           Date:  
 
July 1, 20           - June 30, 20           
 

2. Total Amount Requested:     $        
 
If requesting waiver of City fees or charges, please indicate the City service for which the waiver 
is being requested.  
 
 

3. Proposed Program/Service of Funding Request: 
 
 

4. Agency/Organization: 
 

5. Mailing Address: 
 

City:                  Zip:  
 

6. Telephone:  
 

Fax:  
 

7. Official Contact Person: 
Name:  

 
Title:  

 
Telephone:  

 
Fax:  

 
E-mail:  

 
 

06-09-2021

20 21

1,000

California Farmworker Foundation

1120 Kensington St

Delano 93215

661-778-0015

Alejandra Rodriguez-Bobadilla

Outreach Specialist

661-561-0186

alejandra.rodriguez@californiafarmworker

Grocery Store Gift Cards for Coachella Farmworkers

Page 164

Item 21.



8. Does this organization have a non-profit status with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS)?     
Yes       No      (Attach documentation) 
 

9. How long has this organization been in existence? 
 

 
10. Has the organization previously received funding from the City of Coachella?  

 Yes       No   
If yes, please identify the program/service, total prior grant allocation, and the fiscal year in 
which the funds were received. 
 
 

11. Is this request for a  New or  Existing program/service within the City? 
 

12. What is the anticipated time frame to provide the proposed program/service and the 
expenditure of the requested funds? 
 
 

13. Describe briefly how the requested funds will be used. 
 
 

 
14. Will the program/service require additional funding sources? If so, identify all funding sources 

and provide the steps taken to acquire funding. 
 
 

 
15. If the program/service is planned to continue beyond the period provided by this grant, what 

funding plans are there to sustain the program/service? 
 
 
 

16. How will the proposed program/service serve City of Coachella residents?  Will the proposed 
program/service also serve non-Coachella residents? Please describe. 
 
 

 
17. Describe the characteristics of the clients the proposed program/service anticipates to serve (i.e. 

age group, gender, income level, ethnicity, etc.) 
 
 

 
 

18. Attach a proposed budget for requested funds. 
 
Authorized Official:                                              Title:  
 
 
Signature:                                                                         Date:  

 
 

✔

✔

✔

Founded in 2016, and planted roots in Coachella in February 2021.

June 2021

CFF will gift 10 farmworkers with $100 grocery store gift cards during mental health
workshops. 62% of farmworkers we recently surveyed face food insecurity and at least
69.4% suffer from mental health issues.

Basic supplies and food for volunteers will be provided in-kind by a participating
organization.

n/a

Of the farmworker population we surveyed, a majority live in Coachella. The gift cards will
directly assist these families� almost 40% reported reduced work hours due to COVID-19.

18+ farmworkers (must show proof of employment)

Alejandra Rodriguez-Bo Outreach Specialist

Page 165

Item 21.

Alejandra Rodriguez-Bobadilla
06-09-2021



Expense Self-Funded In-Kind Grant Totals

Food for Volunteers $200 $200

Basic Supplies $50 $500 $550

Food4Less Gift Cards (10) $1,000 $1,000

Printing $20 $20

Totals $70 $700 $1,000 $1,770

Total Self-Funded Total In-Kind Total Grant Total Budget

Page 166

Item 21.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Maritza Martinez, Public Works Director  

SUBJECT: Approve 2021 – 2023 Memorandum of Understanding between the City of 

Coachella and Desert Recreation District.  
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Approve 2021 – 2023 Memorandum of Understanding between the City of Coachella and Desert 

Recreation District. 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

 

For the past ten years, the Council has approved funding in the amount of $23,800 for the following 

Summer Programming: Open Swim Passes ($6,000), Summer Camp Scholarships ($10,800), and 

Movies at the Parks ($7,000).  City Council has approved a Memorandum of Understanding since 

July 25, 2011, authorizing the partnership between the City of Coachella and Desert Recreation 

District (DRD), which provides these summer programs. 

The collaboration with the DRD through the MOU has provides the DRD use of City parks, 

Bagdouma Community Center and Bagdouma Pool facilities.  The DRD provides recreational 

programming at city facilities as allowed by this MOU.  Some of the ongoing recreational 

programming offered includes: Hip Hop, Titan Fitness, Beginning Guitar, Beginning Drums, Teen 

Social Nights, Baile Folklorico, Fit after 50, Dance Play and Pretend Ballet, Beginning Ballet, 

Basketball Training Zone, Summer Art Scene and an Adult Softball League.   

The proposed MOU will be for a two-year term, June 1, 2021 - May 31, 2023, and provides 

flexibility for DRD to expand programming as the demand is identified.   The Parks and Recreation 

Commission reviewed this item on June 15, 2021 and recommended approval of the item.  

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

The recommended action has no fiscal impact as these funds are currently budgeted.   

 

Attachments: 

   Proposed MOU 

Page 167

Item 22.



1 

 

AMENDED and RESTATED MOU BETWEEN  
THE CITY OF COACHELLA AND  

DESERT RECREATION DISTRICT FOR  
2021 - 2023 RECREATIONAL PROGRAMMING 

This MOU is made and entered into this 23rd of June, 2021, by and between the 
CITY of Coachella, a municipal corporation, hereinafter referred to as "CITY", and 
Desert Recreation District, a public agency and California Special District, 
hereinafter referred to as "DISTRICT". 

WHEREAS, the CITY owns or leases property (including but not limited to ball fields, 
pools and community centers) that are used for parks, recreational, and community 
activities; and, 

WHEREAS, the DISTRICT is authorized and qualified to provide and administer 
these activities; and, 

WHEREAS, DISTRICT currently provides programs for and operates Bagdouma 
Pool from Memorial Day through Labor Day each year on behalf of the CITY; and, 

WHEREAS, the CITY desires the DISTRICT to expand its provision and 
administration of recreational activities and related services on CITY property to 
provide additional benefits to the residents of Coachella, and 

WHEREAS, the CITY desires to contract with the DISTRICT to provide the, 
following additional "Summer Programming": Summer Camp Scholarships, Movies 
at the Parks, and Open Swim Passes, and 

WHEREAS, the CITY desires to contract with the DISTRICT to provide the 
following additional "Adult Recreation Programming:" Adult Softball, and 

WHEREAS, the City desires to contract with the DISTRICT to provide "Various 
Recreational Programming" as requested at the Bagdouma Community Center; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of their mutual promises, obligations, and 

covenants hereinafter contained, the parties agree as follows: 
 
 

 1. Term: 

The term of this MOU shall commence on June 1, 2021 and end on May 31, 
2023. 

 

A. CITY and DISTRICT, may by written notice, terminate this MOU at any 
time and without cause by giving written notice to the CITY/DISTRICT 
of such termination, and specifying the effective date thereof, at least 
thirty (30) days before the effective date of such termination. 

 2 

Page 168

Item 22.



2 

 

 2. CITY Obligations: 

In consideration of the provision of park and recreation programming as set out in 
Section 3 below, CITY shall make available to DISTRICT the following facilities: 
Bagdouma Pool, Bagdouma Community Center, the use of Bagdouma Park, 
Rancho De Oro Park, Rancho Las Flores Park and Veterans Park (all of these 
collectively called the "CITY facilities"). DISTRICT shall not modify such facilities or 
property without the prior written consent of the CITY. 

A. CITY shall be responsible for routine maintenance and the repair and 
upkeep of CITY facilities in order for them to be appropriate for 
DISTRICT's use. 

B. CITY shall pay all utilities and related payments for use of CITY facilities. 

C. CITY shall be responsible for the cost of repair to CITY facilities damaged 
by vandalism or other intentional acts and shall maintain insurance or self 
insurance which covers such repairs. 

D. CITY shall provide DISTRICT with current emergency and 
maintenance contact information. 

E. CITY shall pay the DISTRICT for the agreed upon Summer Programming 
based upon the cost recovery fees identified in Exhibit A, attached hereto 
and incorporated herein by this reference. 

F. City shall commit to joint marketing efforts and exposure of both agency 
agreed logo and artwork on all distributed publications.  

 3. DISTRICT Obligations: 

DISTRICT shall be responsible for all costs of providing such programs 
(including but not limited to instructors, supplies, overhead and administration) 
and shall be responsible for set up for and clean up after such programs. 

A. DISTRICT shall operate and manage the Summer Programming, Adult 
Recreation Programming and Various Recreational Programming as 
described in Exhibit B, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference. The identified Programming offers recreational activities and 
events for various ages and interests at: Bagdouma Pool, Bagdouma 
Community Center, Bagdouma Park, Rancho Las Flores Park, Rancho 
De Oro, Dateland and Veterans Park. 

B. DISTRICT will provide all Programming at the agreed upon costs 
identified in Exhibit A. 

Page 169

Item 22.



3 

 

C. The DISTRICT may request to provide additional programming and for 
such programming shall determine, collect and retain user fees in order 
to fund such programs and activities initiated by the DISTRICT. 
DISTRICT shall be responsible for any and all bad debts or collections 
of such fees. DISTRICT shall provide a current copy of user fees to 
CITY. The DISTRICT must obtain a facility use permit for all 
programming at City facilities. 

D. DISTRICT shall program, staff and operate Bagdouma Pool from the 
Friday proceeding Memorial Day through Labor Day. 

E. District shall ensure users of the CITY's Summer Programming are CITY 
residents. 

F. DISTRICT shall provide other services requested by the CITY at an 
additional cost consistent with DISTRICT's cost recovery policy. Such 
services may include programming, administration, coordination and 
reservation management, or maintenance. 

G. DISTRICT shall provide CITY with current emergency and maintenance 
contact information. 

H. Non-Discrimination: Recreation programs and services shall be 
provided in accordance with all local, state, and federal laws and 
regulations, without discrimination as to protected categories. 

I. DISTRICT will help promote the all Programming, identified in Exhibit B, 
through its available media outlets and relationships. 

J. DISTRICT will invoice the CITY for the agreed upon Summer 
Programming, as identified in Exhibit A, and provide enrollment/user 
information for each program to substantiate the invoiced amounts will 
be based upon authorized enrollments per City funded program and will 
not exceed City allocated per program budget unless authorized by the 
City Manager or his/her designee. 

4. Insurance: 

The CITY and DISTRICT each shall procure and maintain, at each's sole 
expense, for the duration of this MOU, commercial general liability insurance or 
self-insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property which 
may arise from or in connection with the performance of this MOU by the CITY or 
DISTRICT respectively, or by their agents, representatives, employees and 
authorized volunteers. General liability insurance shall be provided in the amount 
of not less than two million dollars ($2,000,000) combined single limit personal 
injury and property damage. Each party shall furnish the other with original 
endorsements naming the other as an additional named insured under such 
policy. Such insurance shall be primary as to the other party. 

Page 170

Item 22.



4 

 

Each party shall cover its employees under workers compensation as required 

by law. 

5. Independent Contractor: 

The DISTRICT is an independent contractor hereunder, responsible for the 
provision of services without direction or control by CITY. The employees of 
DISTRICT shall not be deemed to be or to become employees of CITY as a 
result of this MOU. 

6. Amendments: 

Any amendment, modification, or variation from the terms of this MOU shall be 
in writing and shall be effective only upon approval by the DISTRICT's 
authorized representative and the CITY's authorized representatives. 

7. Notice: 

All notices or demands of any kind served by either party to this MOU by the 
other will be in writing and will be personally delivered or mailed by registered 
or certified mail, return receipt requested addressed as follows: 

 
City Manager      
City of Coachella 
53-990 Enterprise 
Way, Coachella CA 
92236 

General Manager 
Desert Recreation 
District  
45-305 Oasis Street 

Indio, California 92201 

8. Litigation Costs: 

In the event an action is filed by either party to enforce any rights or obligations under this 

MOU, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorney's fees and court 

costs in addition to any other relief granted by the court. 

9. Authority to Execute MOU: 

Both the CITY and the DISTRICT covenant that each individual executing this MOU 

on behalf of each party is a person duly authorized. 

10. Indemnification: 

The CITY hereby agrees to indemnify, defend (with counsel of DISTRICT's choice) and 

save the DISTRICT harmless from and against any and all losses, claims, actions, fines, 

penalties, demands, damages, liability and expenses, including attorneys' fees, in 

connection with loss of life, personal injury or damage to property, arising from or out of 

any occurrence in, upon, or at the facilities named hereunder or occasioned wholly or in 

Page 171

Item 22.



5 

 

part by any act or failure to act by the CITY, its agents, contractors, employees or 

servants., except that arising from the sole negligence or misconduct of DISTRICT. 

The DISTRICT hereby agrees to indemnify, defend (with counsel of CITY's choice) and 

save the CITY harmless from and against any and all losses, claims, actions, fines, 

penalties, demands, damages, liability and expenses, including attorneys' fees in 

connection with loss of life, personal injury, and damage to property arising from or out 

of the provision of recreation services hereunder or occasioned wholly or in part by any 

act or failure to act by the CITY, its agents, contractors, employees or servants, except 

that arising from the sole negligence or misconduct of CITY. 

11. Entire MOU: 

This writing constitutes the entire MOU of the parties with respect to the subject 

matter herein and may not be modified or amended except by a written MOU 

executed by both parties. 

12. No Waiver: 

 

No waiver of any term or condition or default hereunder will be considered valid 

unless in writing, and no such waiver will be deemed a waiver of any subsequent 

breach or default of the same or similar nature. 

13. Counterpart: 

This MOU may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of which if taken 

together will be deemed an original. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 172

Item 22.



6 

 

WHEREAS IN WITNESS THEREOF, the CITY and DISTRICT hereby 
execute and enter into this Memorandum of Understanding with the intent 
to be bound thereby through their authorized representatives whose 
signatures are affixed below. 

City of Coachella: Desert Recreation District

By:   _________________________________ By: 
        Dr. Gabriel D. Martin  
        City Manager    
                       
       

Attest: 

By: 

___________________________________ 

      City Clerk 

Approved as to form: 

General Manager 

By: 
Carlos Campos 
City Attorney 

Kevin Kalman 

Page 173

Item 22.



7 

 

EXHIBIT A 
Summer Program & 
Cost Recovery Fees 

 
The below are estimated costs per enrollment and event. These line item allocations can 
be shifted with the concurrence of the City Manager, or his/her designee, so long as the 
total allocation is not exceeded. The DISTRICT may not shift these line item allocations 
without prior written approval of the City Manager or his/her designee. 

CITY COSTS: $ 23,800.00 

 Summer Camp Scholarships: three-three week session  

  Budget: $10,800; 
 Ages served — 5-14 

Residents served = up to 90 
 Full Cost: $290.00 per 3-week session 
 An approved scholarship will provide for $120.00 off each session price; City 

cost per approved scholarship will total $120.00 per session.   
 A child can qualify for each 3 week summer camp session. 
 Full Cost: $290.00 per 3-week session.  

 Movies in the Park:  

  Budget: $7,000  
 Ages served — all ages 
 Residents served = 2,800 (estimate based on prior attendance) 
 A total of 7 movie showings to start at dusk at City parks. 

 Open Swim Passes: provides all CITY residents free access to Bagdouma Pool 
during open swim. 

Budget: $6000.00  
 Ages served — all ages 
 Residents served = 300 

USER FEE BASED COST RECOVERY PROGRAMS ($10-$50 per month): 

 Hip Hop 

 Titan Fitness 

 Beginning Guitar  

 Beginning Drums 

 Frisbee Golf 

 Baile Folklorico 

 Beg/Advanced Tae Kwon Do 

 Adult Softball: $350.00 per team 
 Beginning Ballet  

 Dance Play and Pretend 

 Basketball Training  Zone 

 Summer Art Scene 

 

PROGRAMS OFFERED AT NO COST: 

 Fit After 50 
 Teen Program / Teen Social Nights  
 Halloween Spooktacular 

 Hearts and Crafts 

Page 174

Item 22.



8 

 

 Prom Dress Giveaway  
 Eggstravaganza  

Page 175

Item 22.



9 

 

EXHIBIT B 
2021-2023 PROGRAMMING DESCRIPTIONS 

These line item programs can be adjusted with the concurrence of the City 
Manager, or his/her designee. The DISTRICT may not shift these line item 
allocations without prior written approval of the City Manager or his/her designee. 

 Summer Camp Scholarships — Day camp programming provided out of 
the Bagdouma Community Center for ages 5-14. The camp runs three 
week sessions that run from 7:30 am to 6 pm, Monday through Friday. 
The city scholarship program will pay $120.00 of each session per child.   

 Movies at the Parks — seven movie nights.   

 Open Swim Passes — On a first come first serve bases up to 300 swim 
passes are issued to Coachella Residents.  Swim passes will provide 
Coachella residents free use of the Bagdouma Pool during the summer 
months (commencing after Memorial Day Weekend and ending Labor Day 
weekend); funding permitting. The open swim hours are between 12:30 pm 
to 4 pm and 6 pm to 9pm; during the identified months the pool is operated 
and staffed by the DISTRICT. 

 Various Recreational Programming - includes but is not limited to:  Hip Hop, 
Titan Fitness, Beginning Guitar, Beginning Drums, Frisbee Golf, Baile Folklorico, 
Fit After 50, Tae Kwon Do, Ballet, Teen Program, Basketball Training Zone, 
Adult Softball and Summer Art Scene.   

 

Page 176

Item 22.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Maritza Martinez, Public Works Director   

SUBJECT: Approve execution of Amendment No. 3 to the lease agreement between the 

City of Coachella and Armtec Defense Technologies.  
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Approve execution of Amendment No. 3 to the lease agreement between the City of Coachella 

and Armtec Defense Technologies. 

 

BACKGROUND:   

On October 8, 2008, to provide additional open space for recreational use Council action 

authorized the City Manager to execute a Lease Agreement between the City of Coachella and 

Armtec Defense Technologies (Armtec).  The Lease authorized the City (Lessee) to access the 

westerly eleven (11) acres of the property for public park type uses.  These eleven acres have 

been used predominantly for soccer recreation and the property has been segmented into four (4) 

fields.  In 2008, the Lease was entered into with the understanding that the Coachella Valley 

Desert Soccer League (CVDSL) would oversee the installation and maintenance of these fields.  

However, CVDSL was not able to install adequate irrigation systems and overcome the 

challenges posed by the alkalinity of the soil.   

In 2011, Council approved Amendment No. 1 to the Lease Agreement with Armtec.  This 

Amendment authorized the City to extend the Lease for an additional five years, with the 

following conditions set by Armtec: 1) the City will take over maintenance of the leased land and 

2) the City will invest to improve the condition of the fields.  Staff was authorized to invest 

$35,000 in the improvement of the leased land by: overhauling the irrigation system, grading and 

leveling the property, and installing stolons to improve turf conditions.   

The Parks and Recreation Commission recommended Amendment No. 2 to the Armtec Lease 

Agreement for approval on June 21, 2006.  Subsequently, the agreement was approved for 

execution by the City Council on July 13, 2016.  In addition, the Commission recommended and 

City Council approved a Sublease Agreement between Coachella Youth Sports Association Soccer 

(CYSAS.  This Sublease Agreement subleases these eleven (11) acres to CYSAS with the 

following requirements: 1) pay for water utility use and 2) assume the landscape maintenance of 

the said property; all programming and use of the site is managed by CYSAS.  

Page 177

Item 23.



DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

Attached to this staff report is the proposed Amendment No. 3 Lease Agreement between the 

City of Coachella and Armtec, which would extend the term of Lease for an additional five years.  

If the Amendment No 3 were not extended the Sublease Agreement between CYSAS and City 

would expire.  The Sublease Agreement is now operating within its “Extended Term” and is a 

year-to-year agreement that can be terminated without cause by providing 90 days written notice.   

Armtec is aware of the City’s proposed Amendment No. 3 and is comfortable with its approval.  

The Parks and Recreation Commission reviewed this item during their June 15, 2021 meeting 

and recommended approval of this item.   

FISCAL IMPACT: 

This action will not have a negative financial impact to the City’s general fund. 

 

Attachment: 

Lease Agreement Amendment No. 3 

  

 

 

Page 178

Item 23.



Third Amendment to Lease for Public Park  

Between the City of Coachella  

And  

Armtec Defense Technologies 

1. Parties And Date. 

This Third Amendment to the Lease for Public Park ("Third Amendment") is made and entered into this 

23rd day of June, 2021 by and between the City of Coachella ("Lessee") and Armtec Defense Products 

Co., ("Lessor"). Lessee and Lessor are sometimes individually referred to as "Party" and collectively as 

"Parties" in this Second Amendment. 

2. Recitals. 

2.1            Lease. Lessee and Lessor entered into that certain Lease For Public Park dated October 

8, 2008 and Amended on May 25, 2011 and July 13, 2016(“Lease”), whereby Lessor is the owner of 

certain real property (the "Premises") described by Exhibit "A" attached to the Lease. 

2.2            Amendment. Lessee desires to lease the Premises from Lessor for purposes of 

constructing and operating a public park, and Lessor desires to lease the Premises to Lessee on the terms 

and conditions set forth in the Lease and in this Third Amendment. 

2.3 Amendment. Lessee and Lessor desire to amend the Lease for the third time to amend the 

following terms of the Lease: extend the term of the Lease. 

3. Amendments. 

3.1            Term of Lease. Section 4.2 of the Lease are hereby deleted in their entirety and 

replaced with the following: 

4.2 Extension of Term. Following the expiration of the Extended Term (as defined in 

the Lease), unless and until Lessee or Lessor delivers a Notice of Termination in 

accordance with the definition and provisions below, the term of this Lease shall be 

extended for an additional five (5) year period, beginning on May 31, 2016 and expiring 

on May 30, 2026 (the "Extended Term")." 

 

 3.2 Continuing Effect of Agreement. Except as amended by this Third Amendment, all 

provisions of the Lease shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect. From and after the date of 

this Third Amendment, whenever the term "Lease" appears in the Lease, it shall mean the Lease as 

amended by this Third Amendment. 

 3.3 Adequate Consideration. The Parties hereto irrevocably stipulate and agree that they 

have each received adequate and independent consideration for the performance of the obligations 

they have undertaken pursuant to this Third Amendment. 

 

 

 

 

 
80237.00021\5903920.1 

Page 179

Item 23.



 3.4 Counterparts. This Third Amendment may be executed in duplicate originals, each of 

which is deemed to be an original, but when taken together shall constitute but one and the same 

instrument. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Third Amendment as of the date 

first written above. 

LESSEE: 

 

THE CITY OF COACHELLA 

A California municipal corporation  

 

 

By: ___________________________________ 

 Dr. Gabriel D. Martin, City Manager 

Attest: 

 

By: ___________________________________ 

 Angela M. Zepeda, City Clerk 

Approved as to Form: 

 

By: ____________________________________ 

 Carlos L. Campos, City Attorney 

 

LESSOR: 

 

Armtec Defense Products Co.  

a California Corporation  

 

By:  __________________________________ 

 President 

 

Page 180

Item 23.



 

Page 181

Item 23.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Maritza Martinez, Public Works Director  

SUBJECT: Authorize execution of Amendment No. 1 between the City of Coachella and 

Vintage Landscape for Rancho Las Flores Park Project No. 030619A. 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Authorize execution of Amendment No. 1 between the City of Coachella and Vintage Landscape 

for Rancho Las Flores Park Project No. 030619A. 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

 

The City published a Request for Proposals (RFP) for Landscape Maintenance Services for Rancho 

Las Flores Park Project No. 030619A on February 4, 2019.  On March 27, 2019, the City Council 

awarded this RFP to Vintage Landscape.  The Rancho Las Flores Park Project RFP identified that 

the term of the project would be for two years and allowed for a one-year term extension.   

 

Staff is recommending approval of Amendment No. 1 for Project 030619A extending the term of 

the agreement through June 30, 2022 and increasing the total compensation to account for the 

additional year of services.  When including a 15% contingency the total compensation for this 

agreement increases from $136,620 to $204,930. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

No fiscal impact would result from the recommended action as these funds are accounted for in 

the budget.  

 

 Attachment: 

Amendment No. 1 

Page 182

Item 24.



Amendment No. 1 to the Maintenance Services Agreement 030619A 
Between the City of Coachella  

And  
Vintage Landscape 

1. Parties And Date. 

This Amendment No. 1 to the Maintenance Services Agreement ("Amendment 
No.1") is made and entered into this 9th day of June, 2021 by and between the City of 
Coachella ("City") and Vintage Landscape, ("Contractor"). City and Contractor are 
sometimes, individually referred to as "Party" and collectively as "Parties" in this 
Amendment No.1. 

2. Recitals. 

2.1Agreement. City and Contractor entered into that certain Agreement for Landscape 
Maintenance Services for: Rancho Las Flores Park Project No. 030619A 
("Agreement"), entered into on March 27, 2019. 

2.2  Amendment. City and Contractor desire to amend the Agreement for the first time 
to amend the term and compensation of the Agreement as set forth in this Amendment 
No. 1.  

3. Amendments. 

3.1 Term of Agreement. Section 3.1.3 of the Agreement is are hereby deleted in its 
entirety and replaced with the following: 

          3.1.3 Term. The term of this Agreement shall be from July 1, 2019 to June 

30, 2022, unless earlier terminated as provided herein. Contractor shall complete 

the Services within the term of this Agreement, and shall meet any other 

established schedules and deadlines.   

3.2  Compensation.  Section 3.3.1 of the Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety 
and replaced with the following:  

           3.3.1. Compensation. Contractor shall receive compensation, including 
authorized reimbursements, for all Services rendered under this Agreement at the 
rates set forth in Exhibit ”C” attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  
The total annual compensation shall not exceed two hundred four thousand nine 
hundred thirty dollars and no cents ($204,930.00) without written approval of City’s 
City Council.  Extra Work may be authorized, as described below, and if authorized, 
will be compensated at the rates and manner set forth in this Agreement. 

3.3  Continuing Effect of Agreement. Except as amended by this Amendment No.1, 
all provisions of the Agreement shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect 
from and after the date of this Amendment No.1, whenever the term "Agreement" 
appears in the Agreement, it shall mean the Agreement as amended by this 
Amendment No.1. 

Page 183

Item 24.



3.4   Adequate Consideration. The Parties hereto irrevocably stipulate and agree that 
they have each received adequate and independent consideration for the 
performance of the obligations they have undertaken pursuant to this Amendment 
No.l. 

3.5  Counterparts. This Amendment No.1 may be executed in duplicate originals, each 
of which is deemed to be an original, but when taken together shall constitute but one 
and the same instrument. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Amendment,No.1 as 

of the date first written above. 

THE CITY OF COACHELLA     VINTAGE LANDSCAPE 
 
 
By: Dr. Gabriel Martin, City Manager 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Carlos Campos, City Attorney  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 184

Item 24.



EXHIBIT “C” 

COMPENSATION 

 

Initial Term (July 1, 2019 – June 30, 2021) 

 Total Per Month = $4,950.00 

 Total Annual- $59,400.00 

 Total Term Amount NTE - $136,620.00 

 Any additional work requested will be as provided by the Contractor in the 

response to the proposal.  

Extended Term (July 1, 2021 – June 30, 2022) 

 Total Per Month = $4,950.00 

 Total Annual- $59,400.00 

 Total Extended Term Annual Plus 15% Contingency - $8,910.00 + $59,400.00 = 

$68,310.00  

 Total Term Amount NTE - $204,930.00 (for both Initial and Extended Terms 

Combined) 

 Any additional work requested will be as provided by the Contractor in the 

response to the proposal.  

 

 

 

Page 185

Item 24.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Maritza Martinez, Public Works Director  

SUBJECT: Authorize execution of Amendment No. 3 between the City of Coachella and 

Vintage Landscape for City Parks and Office Facilities Project No. 030619C. 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Authorize execution of Amendment No. 3 between the City of Coachella and Vintage Landscape 

for City Parks and Office Facilities Project No. 030619C. 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

 

The City published a Request for Proposals (RFP) for Landscape Maintenance Services for City 

Parks and Office Facilities Project No. 030619C on February 4, 2019.  On March 27, 2019, the 

City Council awarded this RFP to Vintage Landscape.  This agreement has been amended twice: 

once on May 15, 2019 to allow for landscape improvements to the Civic Center and a second time 

to allow for landscape improvements to the Senior Center facility.   

 

The City Parks and Office Facilities RFP identified that the term of the project would be for two 

years and allowed for a one-year term extension.  Staff is recommending approval of Amendment 

No. 3 for Project 030619C extending the term of the agreement through June 30, 2022 and 

increasing the total compensation to account for the additional year of services.  When including 

a 15% contingency the total compensation for this agreement increases from $299,052 to 

$420,147. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

These funds are accounted for in the budget and no fiscal impact would result from the 

recommended action.  

 

 Attachment: 

Amendment No. 3 

Page 186

Item 25.



Amendment No. 3 to the Maintenance Services Agreement 030619C 
Between the City of Coachella  

And  
Vintage Landscape 

1. Parties And Date. 

This Amendment No. 3 to the Maintenance Services Agreement ("Amendment 
No.3") is made and entered into this 9th day of June, 2021 by and between the City of 
Coachella ("City") and Vintage Landscape, ("Contractor"). City and Contractor are 
sometimes, individually referred to as "Party" and collectively as "Parties" in this 
Amendment No.3. 

2. Recitals. 

2.1Agreement. City and Contractor entered into that certain Agreement for Landscape 
Maintenance Services for: City Parks and Office Facilities Project No. 030619C 
("Agreement"), entered into on March 27, 2019. 

2.2  Amendment. City and Contractor desire to amend the Agreement for the third 
time to amend the term and compensation of the Agreement as set forth in this 
Amendment No. 3.  

3. Amendments. 

3.1 Term of Agreement. Section 3.1.3 of the Agreement is hereby deleted in its 
entirety and replaced with the following: 

          3.1.3 Term. The term of this Agreement shall be from May 15, 2019 to 

June 30, 2022, unless earlier terminated as provided herein. Contractor shall 

complete the Services within the term of this Agreement, and shall meet any 

other established schedules and deadlines.   

3.2  Compensation.  Section 3.3.1 of the Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety 
and replaced with the following:  

           3.3.1. Compensation. Contractor shall receive compensation, including 
authorized reimbursements, for all Services rendered under this Agreement at the 
rates set forth in Exhibit ”C” attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  
The total annual compensation shall not exceed four hundred twenty thousand one 
hundred forty seven dollars and no cents ($420,147.00) without written approval 
of City’s City Council.  Extra Work may be authorized, as described below, and if 
authorized, will be compensated at the rates and manner set forth in this Agreement. 

3.3  Continuing Effect of Agreement. Except as amended by this Amendment No.3, 
all provisions of the Agreement shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect 
from and after the date of this Amendment No.3, whenever the term "Agreement" 
appears in the Agreement, it shall mean the Agreement as amended by this 
Amendment No.3. 

Page 187

Item 25.



3.4   Adequate Consideration. The Parties hereto irrevocably stipulate and agree that 
they have each received adequate and independent consideration for the 
performance of the obligations they have undertaken pursuant to this Amendment 
No.3. 

3.5  Counterparts. This Amendment No.3 may be executed in duplicate originals, each 
of which is deemed to be an original, but when taken together shall constitute but one 
and the same instrument. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Amendment,No.3 as 

of the date first written above. 

THE CITY OF COACHELLA     VINTAGE LANDSCAPE 
 
 
By: Dr. Gabriel Martin, City Manager 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Carlos Campos, City Attorney  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 188

Item 25.



EXHIBIT “C” 

COMPENSATION 

 

Initial Term (May 15, 2019 – June 30, 2021) 

 Total Per Month - $8,775.00 

 Total Annual- $105,300.00 

 Original Award - $242,190.00 

 Total Original NTE Amount - $242,190.00 + $56,862 (Permit Center) = 

$299,052.00 

Extended Term (July 1, 2021 – June 30, 2022) 

 Total Per Month - $8,775.00 

 Total Annual- $105,300.00 

 Extended Term Annual plus 15 % Contingency - $15,795 + $105,300 = $121,095 

 New Total NTE - $420,147.00 

 Any additional work requested will be as provided by the Contractor in the 

response to the proposal.  

 

 

 

Page 189

Item 25.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Maritza Martinez, Public Works Department   

SUBJECT: Authorize execution of Amendment No. 1 to West Coast Arborist Maintenance 

Agreement extending their term for one year. 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Authorize execution of Amendment No. 1 to the West Coast Arborist Maintenance Agreement 

extending their term for one year. 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

 

The City published a Request for Proposals (RFP) for the LLMD Tree Trimming Maintenance 

Project No. 030619B for the Landscape Lighting and Maintenance Districts (LLMD), which 

closed on March 6, 2019.  On March 27, 2019, the City awarded the maintenance agreement to 

West Coast Arborists Inc.  The awarded agreement was a two-year term with an option to renew 

for one additional one-year term.  On June 24, 2020, City Council authorized execution of a one-

year term agreement based on the RFP identified above.   

Based upon the completed RFP process for Project No. 030619B, West Coast Arborist Inc. was 

also awarded a tree trimming maintenance agreement for park and street division tree trimming 

needs.  Staff is recommending execution of the attached Amendment No. 1, which would:                

1) extend the term of this agreement for a one-year term (through June 30, 2022 as allowed by the 

RFP) and increase the compensation by $75,000 to allow for an additional year of services; all 

pricing will remain the same.   

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The recommended action will not have a negative impact on the budget; these funds are budgeted 

annually in the streets and park divisions.   

 

Attachment: 

Proposed Amendment No. 1 

Page 190

Item 26.



Amendment No. 1 to the Maintenance Services Agreement  Between the City of Coachella  

And  

West Coast Arborist Inc.  

1. Parties And Date. 

This Amendment No. 1 to the Maintenance Services Agreement ("Amendment No.1") is made and 

entered into this 23rd day of June, 2021 by and between the City of Coachella ("City") and West Coast 

Arborist Inc., ("Contractor"). City and Contractor are sometimes, individually referred to as "Party" and 

collectively as "Parties" in this Amendment No.1. 

2. Recitals. 

2.1Agreement. City and Contractor entered into that certain Agreement for Tree Trimming Maintenance 

Services Agreement Project ("Agreement"), entered into on June 24, 2020. 

2.2  Amendment. City and Contractor desire to amend the Agreement for the first time to amend the term 

and compensation of the Agreement as set forth in this Amendment No. 1.  

3. Amendments. 

3.1 Term of Agreement. Section 3.1.3 of the Agreement is are hereby deleted in its entirety and 

replaced with the following: 

          3.1.3 Term. The term of this Agreement shall be from July 1, 2020 to June 30, 2022, unless 

earlier terminated as provided herein. Contractor shall complete the Services within the term of this 

Agreement, and shall meet any other established schedules and deadlines.   

3.2            Compensation.  Section 3.3.1 of the Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with 

the following:  

           3.3.1. Compensation. Contractor shall receive compensation, including authorized reimbursements,               

for all Services rendered under this Agreement at the rates set forth in Exhibit ”C” attached hereto and 

incorporated herein by reference.  The total annual compensation shall not exceed one hundred fifty 

thousand dollars and no cents ($150,000.00) without written approval of City’s City Council.  Extra Work 

may be authorized, as described below, and if authorized, will be compensated at the rates and manner set 

forth in this Agreement. 

3.3         Continuing Effect of Agreement. Except as amended by this Amendment No.1, all 

provisions of the Agreement shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect from and after the date of 

this Amendment No.1, whenever the term "Agreement" appears in the Agreement, it shall mean the 

Agreement as amended by this Amendment No.1. 

3.4         Adequate Consideration. The Parties hereto irrevocably stipulate and agree that they have each 

received adequate and independent consideration for the performance of the 'obligations they have 

undertaken pursuant to this Amendment No.l. 

  

 

Page 191

Item 26.



3.5 Counterparts. This Amendment No.1 may be executed in duplicate originals, each of 

which is deemed to be an original, but when taken together shall constitute but one and the same 

instrument. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Amendment,No.1 as of the date first 

written above. 

THE CITY OF COACHELLA     WEST COAST ARBORIST INC. 

 

 

By: _________________________    By:__________________________ 

       Dr. Gabriel Martin., City Manager 

 

 

Attest: 

 

 

____________________________ 

City Clerk 

 

 

Approved as to Form: 

 

 

____________________________ 

Carlos Campos, City Attorney  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 192

Item 26.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Celina Jimenez, Grants Manager 

SUBJECT: Authorize a Community Based Grant to Eastern Coachella Valley for Change 

in the Amount of $1,000 to Provide Mentorship to Students Enrolled in the 

Tenth Grade at Coachella Valley High School 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Staff recommends that the City Council consider authorizing a Community-Based Grant to Eastern 

Coachella Valley for Change in the amount of $1,000 dollars to provide mentorship to students 

enrolled in the tenth grade at Coachella Valley High School. 

 
BACKGROUND: 

 

The Community Based Grant Program was established in 2010 and allows the City of Coachella 

to offer financial assistance to local nonprofit organizations, youth-serving organizations, and 

other community-based organizations that provide essential services, programs and activities to 

residents in Coachella. Applicant organizations are only eligible to submit one application for 

consideration each fiscal year and must be legally established with non-profit or tax-exempt status, 

be based in the Coachella Valley, or provide direct service to Coachella residents. Approval of 

grant funds does not constitute a precedent for grant allocations in subsequent years. All CBG 

grants are reimbursement grants to ensure that applicants are meeting their stated goals.  The FY 

20-21 budget included an allocation of $15,000 for the Community Based Grant Program.  

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

Eastern Coachella Valley for Change is a nonprofit organization established in 2020 to assist 

high school students enrolled at Coachella Valley Unified School District with leadership 

development, civic engagement, and higher educational pursuits and resources.  

 

ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1. Authorize a Community Based Grant to Eastern Coachella Valley for Change in the Amount 

of $1,000 to Provide Mentorship to Students Enrolled in the Tenth Grade at Coachella Valley 

High School 

 

Page 193

Item 27.



2. Not Authorize a Community Based Grant to Eastern Coachella Valley for Change in the 

Amount of $1,000 to Provide Mentorship to Students Enrolled in the Tenth Grade at 

Coachella Valley High School 

 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

Should the City Council approve the staff recommendation, the Community Based Grant account 

will be reduced by $1,000.00 leaving $5,000.00 for the remainder of the fiscal year.  

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 

1. Copy of Application 

 

Page 194

Item 27.



 

CITY OF COACHELLA, CA 
COMMUNITY BASED GRANT PROGRAM 

APPLICATION FOR FUNDS REQUEST 

Please Type Information and Print 
Information entered in the provided spaces cannot be saved. 

 
(Attach additional pages as needed, however applicants are encouraged to be brief.) 

 

1. Application Funding Cycle:                                           Date:  
 
July 1, 20� � � � �  - June 30, 20� � � � �  
 

2. Total Amount Requested:     $ � � �  
 
If requesting waiver of City fees or charges, please indicate the City service for which the waiver 
is being requested.  
 
 

3. Proposed Program/Service of Funding Request: 
 
 

4. Agency/Organization: 
 

5. Mailing Address: 
 

City:                  Zip:  
 

6. Telephone:  
 

Fax:  
 

7. Official Contact Person: 
Name:  

 
Title:  

 
Telephone:  

 
Fax:  

 
E-mail:  

 
 

04/08/2021

Page 195

Item 27.



8. Does this organization have a non-profit status with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS)?     
Yes       No      (Attach documentation) 
 

9. How long has this organization been in existence? 
 

 
10. Has the organization previously received funding from the City of Coachella?  

 Yes       No   
If yes, please identify the program/service, total prior grant allocation, and the fiscal year in 
which the funds were received. 
 
 

11. Is this request for a  New or  Existing program/service within the City? 
 

12. What is the anticipated time frame to provide the proposed program/service and the 
expenditure of the requested funds? 
 
 

13. Describe briefly how the requested funds will be used. 
 
 

 
14. Will the program/service require additional funding sources? If so, identify all funding sources 

and provide the steps taken to acquire funding. 
 
 

 
15. If the program/service is planned to continue beyond the period provided by this grant, what 

funding plans are there to sustain the program/service? 
 
 
 

16. How will the proposed program/service serve City of Coachella residents?  Will the proposed 
program/service also serve non-Coachella residents? Please describe. 
 
 

 
17. Describe the characteristics of the clients the proposed program/service anticipates to serve (i.e. 

age group, gender, income level, ethnicity, etc.) 
 
 

 
 

18. Attach a proposed budget for requested funds. 
 
Authorized Official:                                              Title:  
 
 
Signature:                                                                         Date:  

 
 

✔

Page 196

Item 27.

Celina Avalos
April 20, 2021



Page 197

Item 27.



Celina Avalos
Founder & President

ECV for Change

April 21, 2021

Budget Proposal for $1,000 funding from the City of Coachella.

Description Amount Date

Recruitment incentives for
students to join the
mentorship program
(Coachella Valley High
School, La Familia High
School, NOVA Academy).
Incentives include:
raffles/giveaways, food,
etcetera.

$300 May - June

Community outreach &
operation maintenance (social
media graphics, ads, radio,
website fee, zoom).

$500 May - July

Volunteer Stipends -Tors $200 May - July

ecvforchange.org

Page 198

Item 27.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Gabriel Perez, Assistant Community Development Director  

SUBJECT: Approve Agreement for Animal Field and Shelter Services between the City of 

Coachella and the County of Riverside 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Approve Agreement for Animal Field and Shelter Services between the City of Coachella and the 

County of Riverside. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

The City of Coachella contracts with the County of Riverside (County) to provide animal services 

through the Riverside County Department of Animal Services.  The existing contract expires at 

the end of fiscal year 2020-2021 and a new agreement is required for the County to continue to 

provide animal services to the City during the period starting July 1, 2021 and terminating June 

30, 2024.  Animal field services provided under the agreement include the following activities: 

 

 Field Service Assistance  

 Impoundment 

 Proper Care and Treatment 

 Animal Bite investigation and administrative proceedings 

 Quarantine of animal suspected of being rabid and/or that have bitten a person 

 Stray and Barking Animal (Nuisance) Complaints 

 Dead Animals 

 Return of Impounded Animals 

 Kennel and Catteries 

 Issuance of Warning and Citations 

 Field Services Related to Canine Licenses 

 

Additionally, the County would provide shelter and disposition services at the Coachella Valley 

Animal Campus with services such as adoption, spay and neuter, and microchipping.  The 

agreement requires that the City reimburse the County for the services performed and expenses 

incurred. 

 

 

Page 199

Item 28.



FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

The costs associated with the proposed agreement are budgeted. 

 

 

Attachments: Agreement for Animal Field and Shelter Services between the City of Coachella 

and the County of Riverside 

Page 200

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

1 
 

AGREEMENT FOR ANIMAL FIELD AND SHELTER SERVICES 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF COACHELLA AND THE COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE  

 

THIS AGREEMENT FOR ANIMAL FIELD AND SHELTER SERVICES (“Agreement”), is 

made and entered into as of July 1, 2021 (“Effective Date”) by and between the CITY OF 

COACHELLA, a Municipal Corporation (“CITY”), and the COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE, a 

political subdivision of the State of California, on behalf of its Department of Animal Services 

(“COUNTY”), collectively referred to as the “Parties” and individually as a “Party”. 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, CITY desires to contract with COUNTY to provide animal field and shelter services 

for the purpose of safeguarding the health and safety of CITY’s population and the health and 

safety of its domestic animals; 

WHEREAS, CITY desires to promote the humane treatment of animals;  

WHEREAS, COUNTY has the personnel and experience to provide such services and is willing 

to enter into a contract with CITY for the provision of such services subject to the terms and 

conditions for compensation as hereinafter set forth; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants, conditions and advantages 

herein stated, the Parties hereto agree as follows: 

SECTION I.  OBLIGATIONS OF PARTIES 

A. Recitals:  

1. The aforementioned Recitals are true and correct and incorporated herein by this 

reference. 

 

B. County Obligations: 

1. COUNTY shall provide the field and shelter services within the corporate limits of 

CITY as outlined and specified in Exhibit A, Scope of Animal Field Services, attached 

hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, and; Exhibit B, Scope of Animal 

Shelter Services, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference,. 

 

C. City Obligations: 

1. CITY shall reimburse COUNTY for the services performed and the expenses incurred 

as set forth in Section III., Compensation, and Exhibit C, Payment Provisions, 

attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  

 

2. In order for COUNTY to provide the full scope of services to CITY under this 

Agreement, within six months following the Effective Date of this Agreement, 

CITY shall adopt the current verbatim language of the regulations, provisions, 

and rates found in Riverside County Ordinance Nos. 534, 560, 630, 716, 771, and 

878 (“Animal Control Ordinances”), and shall amend its CITY municipal code 

Page 201

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

2 
 

when COUNTY amends its Animal Control Ordinances, from time to time.  

COUNTY shall provide the verbatim language to the CITY that shall be adopted 

into CITY’s municipal codes.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, CITY retains all 

legislative authority pertaining to the regulation of animals within its jurisdiction. 

SECTION II.  PERIOD OF PERFORMANCE 

The Effective Date of this Agreement shall be from July 1, 2021 and shall terminate on June 30, 

2024, unless terminated earlier as provided herein under Section VI, Termination.  

SECTION III.  COMPENSATION 

CITY shall reimburse COUNTY for the services performed and the expenses incurred in 

accordance with the terms of Exhibit C, subject to any applicable changes in the rates and fees 

adopted by the Board of Supervisors of COUNTY.  

SECTION IV.  HOLD HARMLESS/INDEMNIFICATION 

A. CITY shall indemnify and hold harmless the County of Riverside, its Agencies, Districts, 

Special Districts and Departments, their respective directors, officers, Board of Supervisors, 

elected and appointed officials, employees, agents and representatives from any liability, 

claim, damage or action whatsoever, based or asserted upon any actions of CITY, its officers, 

employees, subcontractors, agents or representatives arising out of or in any way relating to 

this Agreement, including but not limited to property damage, bodily injury, or death or any 

other element of any kind or nature whatsoever and resulting from any reason whatsoever 

arising from the negligent or willful actions by CITY, its officers, agents, employees, 

subcontractors, agents or representatives of this Agreement. CITY shall defend, at its sole 

expense, all costs and fees including but not limited to attorney fees, cost of investigation, 

defense and settlements or awards of all Agencies, Districts, Special Districts and Departments 

of the County of Riverside, their respective directors, officers, Board of Supervisors, elected 

and appointed officials, employees, agents and representatives in any such action or claim or 

action based upon such alleged acts or omissions.  

 

B. With respect to any action or claim subject to indemnification herein by CITY, CITY shall, at 

its sole cost, have the right to use counsel of its own choice and shall have the right to adjust, 

settle, or compromise any such action or claim without the prior consent of COUNTY; 

provided, however, that any such adjustment, settlement or compromise in no manner 

whatsoever limits or circumscribes CITY’s indemnification to COUNTY as set forth herein.  

CITY’s obligation to defend, indemnify and hold harmless COUNTY shall be subject to 

COUNTY having given CITY written notice within a reasonable period of time of the claim 

or of the commencement of the related action, as the case may be, and information and 

reasonable assistance, at CITY’s expense, for the defense or settlement thereof. CITY’s 

obligation hereunder shall be satisfied when CITY has provided to COUNTY the appropriate 

form of dismissal relieving COUNTY from any liability for the action or claim involved. 

 

Page 202

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

3 
 

C. The specified insurance limits required in this Agreement shall in no way limit the CITY’s 

obligations to indemnify and hold harmless COUNTY herein from third party claims. 

 

D. COUNTY shall indemnify and hold harmless the CITY, its Agencies, Districts, Special 

Districts and Departments, their respective directors, officers, City Council, elected and 

appointed officials, employees, agents and representatives from any liability, claim, damage 

or action whatsoever, based or asserted upon any actions of COUNTY, its officers, employees, 

subcontractors, agents or representatives arising out of or in any way relating to this 

Agreement, including but not limited to property damage, bodily injury, or death or any other 

element of any kind or nature whatsoever and resulting from any reason whatsoever arising 

from the negligent or willful actions by COUNTY, its officers, agents, employees, 

subcontractors, agents or representatives of this Agreement.  COUNTY shall defend, at its sole 

expense, all costs and fees including but not limited to attorney fees, cost of investigation, 

defense and settlements or awards of all Agencies, Districts, Special Districts and Departments 

of the CITY, their respective directors, officers, City Council, elected and appointed officials, 

employees, agents and representatives in any such action or claim or action based upon such 

alleged acts or omissions.  

 

E. With respect to any action or claim subject to indemnification herein by COUNTY, COUNTY 

shall, at its sole cost, have the right to use counsel of its own choice and shall have the right to 

adjust, settle, or compromise any such action or claim without the prior consent of CITY; 

provided, however, that any such adjustment, settlement or compromise in no manner 

whatsoever limits or circumscribes COUNTY’s indemnification to CITY as set forth herein.  

COUNTY’S obligation to defend, indemnify and hold harmless CITY shall be subject to CITY 

having given COUNTY written notice within a reasonable period of time of the claim or of the 

commencement of the related action, as the case may be, and information and reasonable 

assistance, at COUNTY’s expense, for the defense or settlement thereof. COUNTY’s 

obligation hereunder shall be satisfied when COUNTY has provided to CITY the appropriate 

form of dismissal relieving CITY from any liability for the action or claim involved. 

 

F. The specified insurance limits required in this Agreement shall in no way limit the COUNTY’s 

obligations to indemnify and hold harmless CITY herein from third party claims. 

SECTION V.  INSURANCE 

COUNTY agrees to maintain the following insurance coverage during the term of this Agreement: 

A. Workers’ Compensation: 

COUNTY shall maintain Workers’ Compensation Insurance (Coverage A) as prescribed by the 

laws of the State of California.  The policy shall include Employers’ Liability (Coverage B) 

including Occupational Disease with limits not less than $1,000,000 per person per accident.  

B. Commercial General Liability:  

Page 203

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

4 
 

COUNTY shall maintain Commercial General Liability Insurance coverage for claims which may 

arise from or out of COUNTY’s performance of its obligations hereunder.  This coverage shall 

have a limit of liability not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence combined single limit. 

C. Vehicle Liability: 

If vehicles or mobile equipment is used in the performance of the obligations under this 

Agreement, then COUNTY agrees to maintain automobile liability insurance for vehicles provided 

by the COUNTY for use under this Agreement.  This coverage shall have a limit of liability of not 

less than $1,000,000 combined single limit.   

D. General Insurance Provisions – All Lines: 

1. Any insurance carrier providing insurance coverage hereunder shall be admitted to the 

State of California and have an A M BEST rating of not less than A: VIII (A:8).   

 

2. The insurance requirements contained in this Agreement may be met with a program(s) 

of self-insurance.  

Without limiting or diminishing the CITY’s obligation to indemnify or hold the COUNTY 

harmless, CITY shall procure and maintain or cause to be maintained, at its sole cost and expense, 

the following insurance coverage’s during the term of this Agreement. As respects to the insurance 

section only, the COUNTY herein refers to the County of Riverside, its Agencies, Districts, 

Special Districts, and Departments, their respective directors, officers, Board of Supervisors, 

employees, elected or appointed officials, agents or representatives as Additional Insureds. 

A. Workers’ Compensation:  

If the CITY has employees as defined by the State of California, the CITY shall maintain statutory 

Worker’s Compensation Insurance (Coverage A) as prescribed by the laws of the State of 

California. Policy shall include Employers’ Liability (Coverage B) including Occupational 

Disease with limits not less than $1,000,000 per person per accident. The policy shall be endorsed 

to waive subrogation in favor of The County of Riverside. 

B. Commercial General Liability:  

Commercial General Liability insurance coverage, including but not limited to, premises liability, 

unmodified contractual liability, products and completed operations liability, personal and 

advertising injury, and cross liability coverage, covering claims which may arise from or out of 

CITY’s performance of its obligations hereunder. Policy shall name the COUNTY as Additional 

Insured. Policy’s limit of liability shall not be less than $2,000,000 per occurrence combined single 

limit. If such insurance contains a general aggregate limit, it shall apply separately to this 

agreement or be no less than two (2) times the occurrence limit.  

C. Vehicle Liability:  

If vehicles or mobile equipment are used in the performance of the obligations under this 

Agreement, then CITY shall maintain liability insurance for all owned, non-owned or hired 

vehicles so used in an amount not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence combined single limit. If 

Page 204

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

5 
 

such insurance contains a general aggregate limit, it shall apply separately to this agreement or be 

no less than two (2) times the occurrence limit. Policy shall name the COUNTY as Additional 

Insureds. 

D. General Insurance Provisions – All Lines:  

1) Any insurance carrier providing insurance coverage hereunder shall be admitted to the 

State of California and have an A M BEST rating of not less than A:VII (A:8) unless such 

requirements are waived, in writing, by the County Risk Manager. If the County’s Risk 

Manager waives a requirement for a particular insurer such waiver is only valid for that 

specific insurer and only for one policy term. 

2) The CITY must declare its self-insured retention for each coverage required herein. If any 

such self-insured retention exceed $500,000 per occurrence each such retention shall have 

the prior written consent of the County Risk Manager before commencement of operations 

under this Agreement. Upon notification of self-insured retention unacceptable to the 

COUNTY, and at the election of the County’s Risk Manager, CITY’s carriers shall either; 

1) reduce or eliminate such self-insured retention as respects this Agreement with the 

COUNTY, or 2) procure a bond which guarantees payment of losses and related 

investigations, claims administration, and defense costs and expenses. 

3) CITY shall cause CITY’s insurance carrier(s) to furnish the County of Riverside with either 

1) a properly executed original Certificate(s) of Insurance and certified original copies of 

Endorsements effecting coverage as required herein, and 2) if requested to do so thereto, 

showing such insurance is in full force and effect. Further, said Certificate(s) and policies 

of insurance shall contain the covenant of the insurance carrier(s) that a minimum of thirty 

(30) days written notice shall be given to the County of Riverside prior to any modification, 

cancellation, expiration or reduction in coverage of such insurance. If CITY insurance 

carrier(s) policies do not meet the minimum notice requirement found herein, CITY shall 

cause CITY’s insurance carrier(s) to furnish a 30 days’ Notice of Cancellation 

Endorsement. 

4) In the event of a material modification, cancellation, expiration, or reduction in coverage, 

this Agreement shall terminate forthwith, unless the County of Riverside receives, prior to 

such effective date, another properly executed original Certificate of Insurance and original 

copies of endorsements or certified original policies, including all endorsements and 

attachment thereto evidencing coverage’s set forth herein and the insurance required herein 

is in full force and effect. CITY shall not commence operations until the COUNTY has 

been furnished original Certificate(s) of Insurance and certified original copies of 

endorsements and if requested, certified original policies of insurance including all 

endorsements and any and all other attachments as required in the Section. An individual 

authorized by the insurance carrier to do so on its behalf shall sign the original 

endorsements for each policy and the Certificate of Insurance. 

5) It is understood and agreed to by the parties hereto that the CITY’s insurance shall be 

construed as primary insurance, and the COUNTY’s insurance and/or deductibles and/or 

self-insured retention’s or self-insurance programs shall not be construed as contributory.  

6) If, during the term of this Agreement or any extension thereof, there is a material change 

in the scope of services; or, there is a material change in the equipment to be used in the 

Page 205

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

6 
 

performance of the scope of work; or, the term of this Agreement, including any extensions 

thereof, exceeds five (5) years; the COUNTY reserves the right to adjust the types of 

insurance and the monetary limits of liability required under this Agreement, if in the 

County Risk Management’s reasonable judgement, the amount or type of insurance carried 

by the CITY has become inadequate. 

7) CITY shall pass down the insurance obligations contained herein to all tiers of 

subcontractors working under this Agreement. 

8) The insurance requirements contained in this Agreement may be met with a program(s) of 

self-insurance acceptable to the COUNTY. 

9) CITY agrees to notify COUNTY of any claim by a third party or any incident or event that 

may give rise to a claim arising from the performance of this Agreement. 

 

SECTION VI.  TERMINATION 

A. Either Party may terminate this Agreement without cause upon no earlier than six (6) months 

advance written notice served on the other Party stating the extent and effective date of 

termination.  

 

B. If a six (6) month notice of termination is served on the other Party, after receiving said notice 

of termination, COUNTY shall stop work under this Agreement on the termination date 

specified in the notice of termination; and after termination, CITY shall make payment to 

COUNTY for performance up to the date of termination in accordance with this Agreement.   

SECTION VII.  FORCE MAJEURE 

If either Party is unable to comply with any provision of this Agreement due to causes beyond its 

reasonable control, and which could not have been reasonably anticipated, such as acts of God, 

acts of war, civil disorders, or other similar acts, such Party shall not be held liable for such failure 

to comply.   

SECTION VIII.  AMENDMENTS 

Any amendments, including but not limited to alterations, variations, or supplements, to the terms 

of this Agreement shall be in writing and signed by the Parties hereto, and shall have the approval 

of the Board of Supervisors of COUNTY and CITY’s City Council.  Any amendments will be 

presented to CITY’s City Manager prior to CITY’s City Council approval.  

This Agreement, including any exhibits, constitutes the entire Agreement of the Parties with 

respect to its subject matter and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous representations, 

proposals, discussions and communications, whether oral or in writing.   

SECTION IX.  SEVERABILITY  

Each paragraph or provision of this AGREEMENT is severable from each other provision, and if 

any provision or part thereof is declared invalid, the remaining provisions shall nevertheless 

remain in full force and effect.  

Page 206

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

7 
 

SECTION X.  RECORDS 

COUNTY shall maintain and keep records of all expenditures and obligations incurred pursuant 

to this Agreement and all income and fees received thereby according to generally recognized 

accounting principles.  Such records and/or animal control operations of COUNTY shall be open 

to inspection and audit by CITY or its authorized representative as is deemed necessary by the 

CITY’s City Manager, or designated representative, upon written notice to COUNTY. 

SECTION XI.  NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES 

This Agreement between the Parties is intended for the mutual benefit of the two signing Parties 

only.  No rights are created under this Agreement in favor of any third party or any party who is 

not a direct signatory to this Agreement.  

SECTION XII.  NONDISCRIMINATION 

COUNTY shall not discriminate in the provision of services, allocation of benefits, 

accommodation in facilities, or employment of personnel on the basis of race, ethnicity, religious 

creed, color, national origin, ancestry, age, physical disability, mental disability, medical 

condition, marital status, sex, sexual orientation, or gender identity in the performance of this 

Agreement; and, to the extent they shall be found to be applicable hereto, shall comply with the 

provisions of the California Fair Employment and Housing Act (Gov. Code 12900 et. seq.), the 

Federal Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Pub. L. 88-352) and the Americans with Disability Act of 1990 

(42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq.). 

SECTION XIII.  DISPUTE RESOLUTION AND VENUE 

A. The Parties shall attempt to resolve any disputes amicably at a working level.  If that is not 

successful, the dispute shall be referred to the senior management of the Parties. 

   

B. Prior to filing any legal action related to this Agreement, the Parties shall be obligated to attend 

a mediation session in Riverside County before a neutral third-party mediator. A second 

mediation session shall be required if the first session is not successful.  The Parties shall share 

the cost of the mediations.  

 

C. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of California.  Any legal action 

related to the performance or interpretation of this Agreement shall be filed only in the Superior 

Court of the State of California located in Riverside, California, and the Parties waive any and 

all provisions of law providing for a change of venue to another location.   

SECTION XIV.  ASSIGNMENT 

This Agreement shall be binding upon COUNTY and its successors.  Neither this Agreement nor 

any part thereof nor any moneys due or to become due hereunder may be assigned by the Parties 

without the prior written consent of the other Party.  CITY and COUNTY hereby agree to the full 

performance of the covenants contained herein.  

SECTION XV.  NOTICES 

Page 207

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

8 
 

All correspondence and notices required or contemplated by this Agreement shall be delivered to 

the respective Parties at the addresses set forth below and are deemed submitted two (2) days after 

their deposit in the United States mail, postage prepaid: 

COUNTY: 

Department of Animal Services 

Attention: Director 

6851 Van Buren Boulevard  

Jurupa Valley, CA 92509 

 

CITY: 

City of Coachella 

Attention: City Manager 

53990 Enterprise Way 

Coachella, CA 92236 

SECTION XVI.  CONTRACT PERFORMANCE 

COUNTY’s Director of Department of Animal Services, or designated representative, shall meet 

as necessary to discuss contract performance with CITY’s City Manager, or designated 

representative.   

SECTION XVII.  HEADINGS 

The Section and other headings contained in this Agreement are included for the purpose of 

convenient reference only and shall not restrict, amplify, modify or otherwise affect in any way 

the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement or the exhibits and schedules hereto.  

SECTION XVIII.  COUNTERPARTS 

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed 

an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same Agreement, binding on all 

of the Parties.  

SECTION XIV. WAIVER OF BREACH, RIGHT OR REMEDY 

The waiver by any Party of any breach or violation by another Party of any provision of this 

Agreement or of any right or remedy permitted the waiving Party in this Agreement (a) shall not 

waive or be construed to waive any subsequent breach or violation of the same provision, (b) shall 

not waive or be construed to waive a breach of violation of any other provision, and (c) shall be in 

writing and may not be presumed or inferred from any Party’s conduct.  Except as expressly 

provided otherwise in this Agreement, no remedy conferred by this Agreement is intended to be 

exclusive of any other remedy, and each and every remedy shall be in addition to every other 

remedy granting in this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity, by statute or 

otherwise.  The election of any one or more remedies by a Party shall not constitute a waiver of 

the right to pursue other available remedies.   

SECTION XV. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR  

The COUNTY is acting as an independent contractor to the CITY under this Agreement.  Each 

Party to this Agreement shall have no power to incur any debt, obligation, or liability on behalf of 

another Party to this Agreement. 

SECTION XVI. COOPERATION, FURTHER ACT 

Page 208

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

9 
 

The Parties shall cooperate fully with one another, and shall take any additional acts or sign any 

additional documents as may be necessary, appropriate or convenient to attain the purposes of this 

Agreement.  

 

 

[Signature Provisions on Following Page] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 209

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

10 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused their duly authorized representatives to 

execute this Agreement.  

 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE, 

a Political Subdivision of  

the State of California 

 

By:___________________________ 

     Karen Spiegel, Chair 

     Board of Supervisors  

CITY OF COACHELLA, 

a Municipal Corporation 

 

 

By:__________________________ 

Steven Hernandez 

Mayor  

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

Kecia R. Harper 

Clerk of the Board 

 

By:___________________________ 

          Deputy 

 

ATTEST: 

 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

 

By:___________________________ 

City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Gregory P. Priamos 

County Counsel 

 

By:___________________________ 

     Darren C. Ziegler 

     Deputy County Counsel 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

By:___________________________ 

      Carlos Campos 

      City Attorney 

 

 

Page 210

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

A-1 
 

 SCOPE OF ANIMAL FIELD SERVICES 

CITY OF COACHELLA 

EXHIBIT A 

 

The County of Riverside, on behalf of its Department of Animal Services (“COUNTY”), agrees 

to provide the following animal field services for the City of Coachella (“CITY”): 

 

 

A. PROVISION OF FIELD SERVICES 

 

The animal field services to be provided by COUNTY for CITY within the corporate limits of 

CITY shall include the following activities: 

 

1. Field Service Assistance:  Respond to all calls for field service assistance pursuant to 

the priority of calls as described in Section E below. 

 

2. Impoundment:  Impound dogs and livestock found at large and collect such impound 

fees as established in the appropriate CITY municipal code.  

 

3. Proper Care and Treatment:  Provide humane care and treatment to any stray or 

abandoned animal impounded by field personnel in accordance with State of California 

(“State”) laws and regulations. 

 

4. Animal Bites:  Investigate reported bites by animals.  COUNTY shall respond to all 

reported bites by dogs, cats, or by suspected rabid or wild animals. COUNTY shall only 

be responsible for administrative proceedings resulting therefrom.  

 

5. Quarantine:  Quarantine all animals suspected be rabid and/or that have bitten a person 

as prescribed by the California Compendium of Rabies Control and Prevention, the State 

law, and COUNTY policy.    

 

6. Stray and Barking Animal (Nuisance) Complaints:  Respond to and process nuisance 

complaints, including stray and barking animal complaints. COUNTY shall only be 

responsible for administrative enforcement proceedings resulting therefrom.  

  

7. Dead Animals:  Remove dead animals from the public right-of-way except in such 

cases where an animal is on a state highway within CITY limits. In such cases, 

COUNTY shall immediately (or as soon as practicable) notify the State Department of 

Transportation by telephone, facsimile, email or other means.  

 

8. Return of Impounded Animals:  Encourage the return of any lost/stray animal 

impounded by field personnel while in the field to the rightful owner, subject to the 

payment of impound fees. Ensure an opportunity for members of the public to report 

lost and found animals online. 

 

Page 211

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

A-2 
 

9. Kennels and Catteries:  COUNTY shall inspect and issue licenses to operate dog 

kennels and catteries within CITY pursuant to CITY’s municipal codes, and collect fees 

in connection therewith.  All fees for licenses to operate dog kennels and catteries shall 

be retained by COUNTY.   

 

10. Issuance of Warnings and Citations:  Enforce all appropriate provisions of CITY’s 

municipal code as necessary, including the issuance of warning notices or citations, for 

violations of the provisions of said municipal code.  COUNTY shall only be responsible 

for administrative enforcement proceedings resulting therefrom. 

 

11. Service to Public:  Provide service to the public on matters covered in this Agreement 

consistent with established policies and procedures that promote courteous and efficient 

service and good public relations.  Other policies and procedures notwithstanding, 

COUNTY, in processing any type of complaint or request for service, shall indicate to 

the caller that a response can be expected as per Section E below. 

 

12. Field Services Related to Canine Licenses: COUNTY shall verify canine license 

status when responding to requests for service or when responding to complaints about 

animal behavior.  The Animal Control Officer, as part of the officer's regular animal 

control duties as defined by, but not limited to, the terms of this Agreement, shall 

conduct license inspection activities during animal control investigations to ascertain 

the number of unlicensed dogs, to license such dogs, and to foster compliance with 

CITY’s municipal code.   

 

13. Wildlife: COUNTY will not impound free roaming wildlife unless it is a danger to the 

community, unhealthy, injured, or part of an animal cruelty or animal bite case. 

 

14. Mutual Animal Welfare Programs: If mutually agreeable between the Parties, 

COUNTY and CITY shall work together to establish animal welfare programs that 

benefit the animals and residents of CITY. 

 

15. COUNTY will perform humane investigations of suspected animal neglect and cruelty 

and will be responsible for investigation, citation and preparing materials for 

prosecution. 

 

16. COUNTY and CITY will work together on educational outreach, promotion of 

spay/neuter and vaccination clinics, other owner surrender diversion programs, 

responsible pet ownership and adoption programs and activities. 

 

17. In case of a disaster, COUNTY and CITY will work collaboratively on animal needs 

and communication as it related to rescue, response and recovery efforts. 

 

B. SHELTER CARE AND DISPOSITION SERVICES   

Page 212

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

A-3 
 

 

The COUNTY shall house CITY’s animals at the Coachella Valley Animal Campus, or other 

County operated shelter at the County’s discretion, as set forth in Exhibit B. 

 

C. PROVISION OF VEHICLES AND RADIO EQUIPMENT   

 

COUNTY shall provide animal control vehicles and equip them with the appropriate animal 

control boxes mounted on the truck chassis and with an air conditioning unit mounted on the 

animal control truck boxes for use in the provision of services as set forth in this Agreement. The 

COUNTY shall fuel and maintain said vehicles. 

 

D. MISSING OR STOLEN ANIMALS   

 

COUNTY shall file a report with the appropriate law enforcement agency within twenty-four (24) 

hours if an impounded animal is missing or suspected to have been stolen from an animal control 

vehicle or while in COUNTY’s custody. COUNTY shall indicate on the police report the 

circumstances of the animal's disappearance. 

 

 

E. PRIORITY OF FIELD SERVICES 

 

1. “Services” are those enforcement activities rendered by COUNTY pursuant to the relevant 

sections of CITY’s municipal code and related State law, and are assembled for into two 

categories:  Emergency and Non-Emergency.   

 

2. “Priority Ranking” refers to the order of priority with which a call will be handled.  All 

calls will go directly to the dispatcher or assigned clerical staff for relay to the Animal 

Control Officer.  If a call is “exceptional,” a set forth in Section F below, it shall be referred 

to the supervisor for evaluation and processing.   

 

3. The following definitions of “Regular Service Hours,” “Limited Service Hours” and 

“Holidays” are intended to identify the broad time frames during which specific levels of 

service will be provided.   

 

a. “Regular Service Hours” are between the hours of 7:30 am to 5:00 pm, Monday 

through Friday, Holidays excepted.   

 

b. “Limited Service Hours” are between the hours of 5:00 pm to 7:30 am, Monday 

through Friday, all day Saturday, Sunday and on Holidays.   

 

c. “Holidays” are those days as established by the COUNTY and the CITY where the 

CITY or COUNTY is closed for service on a business day that would otherwise be 

a regular service day.   

 

4. Field service activities shall be performed daily and generally based on both the Priority 

Ranking and the time a call for service is received in accordance with this Agreement.  All 

Page 213

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

A-4 
 

calls involving imminent danger shall be responded to within sixty (60) minutes if 

reasonably possible, subject to considerations involving the time of day, traffic conditions, 

or other circumstances.  An Animal Control Officer shall respond to animal medical 

emergencies and other emergencies involving danger to humans within thirty (30) minutes 

or less during Regular Service Hours, and within sixty (60) minutes or less during Limited 

Service Hours and Holidays.  CITY acknowledges that response time may be affected by 

traffic congestion or other hindering circumstances uncontrollable by COUNTY.  

COUNTY shall provide a means for responding to calls for service that take place during 

Limited Service Periods which are of an emergent nature pursuant to this Exhibit A.  Field 

service personnel may be assigned to patrol and perform other service field tasks as defined 

by COUNTY and CITY.   

 

5. Telephone Service: The COUNTY shall respond to telephone calls for field services 

during Regular Service Hours.  Calls shall be received by the COUNTY answering service 

during Limited Service Hours and on Holidays, as noted above.  Calls answered by the 

answering service will be handled on an emergency basis as outlined in this Exhibit A.  

The dispatcher and/or clerical support staff shall maintain a detailed record of all requests 

for service, both emergency and routine, received during Regular Service Hours and 

Limited Service Hours, including time and date, when the calls were answered, and the 

disposition of those calls.  Records of these calls shall be maintained for at least thirty (30) 

days.   

 

6. The CITY and COUNTY agree that any incident reports to the COUNTY by residents or 

through emergency services involving a dangerous, aggressive, wild, injured or sick animal 

constitute an emergency and require immediate action by the COUNTY pursuant to this 

Agreement.  Calls for service received during Limited Service Hours that are not of an 

emergent nature shall be answered by an answering service and referred to call-back on the 

next business day during phone center operational hours. These calls will then be scheduled 

for response in accordance with this Exhibit A.  

 

7. Calls Considered Emergencies to be Handled Without Delay: 

a. Animals endangering health or safety of the community. 

b. Police Department requests for service 

c. Sick or injured stray animals 

d. Animals in distress 

e. Humane investigations that are life threatening. (Depending on immediate 

circumstances) 

 

8. Calls Considered Non-Emergency to be Handled during Regular Service Hours: 

 

a. Pick-up confined, healthy, stray-animals 

b. Dead animal removal 

c. Quarantine investigations 

d. Leash law enforcement 

e. Nuisance animal investigations 

f. Permit investigations 

Page 214

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

A-5 
 

 

F. EXCEPTIONS 

The Director of Animal Control, or designee, may, on a case-by-case basis, authorize variations 

of priority when circumstances require. 

G. LICENSE FEES (Section 2 of Riverside County Ordinance 630) 

Licenses shall be issued upon receipt of all licensing requirements including payment of the 

license fees at the same rate as established in Section 2 of Riverside County Ordinance No. 630 

and are subject to change as amended by COUNTY’s Board of Supervisors, from time to time. 

H. RABIES VACCINATION CERTIFICATE DATA 

Rabies vaccination certificates shall be collected from area veterinarians and downloaded into 

COUNTY’s database after the data has been scrubbed of inconsistencies. Reminders of licensing 

requirements shall be automatically generated and mailed to dog owners. Those owners who fail 

to comply may be subsequently issued administrative citations. Remittance options include the 

web licensing portal on COUNTY’s website, www.rcdas.org. COUNTY shall verify dog license 

status when responding to requests for service or when responding to complaints. COUNTY 

shall also provide an automated or manual verification system whereby owners can verify the 

status of their animal’s license by telephone. 

I. COLLECTION OF LICENSE FEES: 

CITY authorizes COUNTY to issue and collect the fees for canine licenses and retain ten dollars 

($10) per license on any and all canine license revenue generated by CITY residents during the 

term of the Agreement. All fees collected for canine licenses shall be accounted for by the 

COUNTY on a monthly basis and the COUNTY shall credit to CITY the net amount of license 

fees collected for each month. For purposes of this Agreement, the net amount of license fees 

shall mean the total amount of license fees collected in a month less the sum total of $10 per 

each canine license issued and shall be separate and apart from the monthly compensation rate 

due and payable by the CITY as required in Exhibit C, Payment Provisions. CITY shall be 

responsible for a one-time conversion fee for new data entered into COUNTY’s licensing 

database. 

Page 215

Item 28.

http://www.rcdas.org/


Agreement No. 21-005 

 

B-1 
 

 SCOPE OF ANIMAL SHELTER SERVICES 

CITY OF COACHELLA   

EXHIBIT B 

 

The County of Riverside, on behalf of its Department of Animal Services (“COUNTY”), agrees 

to provide the following Animal Shelter Services for the City of Coachella (“CITY”).  All 

capitalized terms set forth herein are defined in Section B below. 

 

A. COUNTY ANIMAL SHELTER LOCATION 

 

1. Shelter Location:  The COUNTY shall maintain CITY’s animals at Coachella Valley 

Animal Campus (“Shelter”), or other shelter operated by COUNTY at COUNTY’s 

discretion. 

 

The COUNTY shall be responsible for the operation and maintenance of its shelters and 

the care of the animals on a twenty-four (24) hour basis.  

 

2. Shelter Hours of Operation:  COUNTY shall maintain hours of operation at the Shelter 

to provide maximum public access to the animals, to the extent possible. 

 

B. DEFINITIONS 

 

1. Animal Shelter Services” shall include the following activities and services: 

a. Impoundment, admittance, receipt of, care of, custody of and/or feeding of any and 

all stray animals.   

b. Redemption, treatment, sale, adoption, and/or disposal of all animals. 

c. Counseling and advising animal owners. 

d. Posting on Shelter’s website of photographs of all newly impounded animals and 

identifying each animal individually.  

e. Ensuring that all dogs, four (4) months and older, released from the COUNTY to a 

resident of County of Riverside are licensed, microchipped, and spayed/neutered 

and, if not licensed, to sell license to the owner or other person taking custody of 

such dog.  In accordance with COUNTY ordinances, require the micro-chipping of 

released animals at the owner’s expense. 

f. Humane euthanasia of animals as lawful and necessary, including the creation of a 

log detailing those animals that are euthanized and the reasons for such euthanasia 

on an animal-by-animal basis.  This log shall include whether the animal was 

unhealthy and/or unsuitable for adoption.  

g. Proper disposal of dead animals at the rate as set forth in Exhibit C, Payment 

Provisions. 

h. “Care” includes, but is not limited to providing a safe, temporary refuge for any 

animal impounded, and providing needed medical services for injured/sick animals 

or transfer of animal to the appropriate agency. 

2.  “Adoptable Animal” shall mean an animal eight (8) weeks of age or older that at or 

subsequent to the time the animal is impounded or taken into possession, has manifested 

no sign of disease, injury, or congenital or hereditary condition that adversely affects the 

Page 216

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

B-2 
 

health or temperament of the animal, or that is likely to adversely affect the animal’s health 

in the future. Dogs declared “vicious” or “potentially dangerous” under State and/or local 

laws shall be deemed unadoptable. 

3. “Treatable” shall mean an animal with a medical condition such as skin problems, bad flea 

or skin infestations, a broken limb, abscesses, or problems that may be treated with 

appropriate resources, holding space, treatment and/or time.  “Treatable” shall also mean 

an animal with behavioral conditions that may be corrected with time and proper training, 

such as chasing animals/objects, food aggression, etc.  

4. “Untreatable Animal” shall mean any animal that is irremediably suffering from a serious 

illness or physical injury or behavioral condition and shall not be held for owner 

redemption or adoption. 

5.  “Impounded Animal” shall include animals found running at large, removed from private 

property, or that are taken into the shelter by COUNTY or law enforcement. 

6. “Seized Animal” shall include animals that are confiscated under Penal Code 597.1 from 

an owner when ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction, whether the seizure was 

determined justified or not, when exigent circumstances exist. 

 

C. SCOPE OF ANIMAL SHELTER SERVICES 

 

1. Treatment of Animals:  COUNTY shall provide adequate care and treatment of CITY’s 

animals whiles in custody of COUNTY to ensure that impounded animals are provided 

with humane and appropriate levels of care, including a clean environment, fresh water, 

adequate nutrition and appropriate medical care.  

 

2. Level of Service Provided:  COUNTY shall provide Animal Shelter Services as defined 

in this Agreement.  COUNTY’s policies and procedures for Animal Shelter Services shall 

be based on standards and/or guidelines derived from reputable animal care organizations 

including, but not limited to, the Humane Society of the United States, American Humane 

Association and American Veterinary Medical Association. 

 

3. Feeding Protocols: All animals shall be fed in amounts appropriate to meet their 

nutritional needs.  

 

4. Disease Control and Sanitation:  COUNTY shall maintain the Shelter in a clean and 

sanitary condition.  COUNTY’s policies and procedures may include beneficial standards 

and/or guidelines derived from reputable animal care organizations including, but not 

limited to, the Humane Society of the United States, American Humane Association and 

American Veterinary Medical Association. 

 

5. Provision of Personnel and Supplies:  COUNTY shall provide personnel, supplies, 

materials, medication, pharmaceuticals, and equipment, including forms and reports, to 

perform all aspects of the Animal Shelter Services described herein. 

 

6. Holding Periods:  COUNTY shall hold all stray-impounded animals, not otherwise owner 

identifiable, for the holding periods as required by State law. 

 

Page 217

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

B-3 
 

7. Euthanasia:  Humane euthanasia services shall be provided as required for impounded 

animals held at the Shelter for the lawful number of days, if such animal is not reclaimed 

by the animal’s owner and is deemed not adoptable by COUNTY.  Untreatable Animals 

that are irremediably suffering from a serious illness or severe injury may not be held for 

owner redemption or adoption.  Only euthanasia methods approved by the American 

Veterinary Medical Association shall be used.  Records shall be kept for a period of not 

less than three (3) years on each euthanized animal shall include the following information: 

breed; sex; color; weight; other distinguishing characteristics; date, time and location 

where animal was found; method of euthanasia, and reason for use of method.  

 

8. Quarantine:  COUNTY shall quarantine, as prescribed by the California Compendium of 

Rabies Control and Prevention, State law, and COUNTY policy, all animals suspected of 

being rabid, or involved in a bite investigation.   

 

Impoundments and Quarantines:  COUNTY shall house, feed and care for all animals 

impounded and/or quarantined at the Shelter. Quarantined animals may be quarantined at 

the owner’s home or an alternate location. 

9. Animals Surrendered by their Owners:  Any pet surrendered by the owner to an Animal 

Control Officer and transported to the COUNTY shelter shall incur prevailing owner 

surrender charges.  Such fees shall be collected from the owner and conveyed to the 

COUNTY, or be charged directly to the CITY at the established stray animal rate. 

 

a. Animals Surrendered by their Owners: Owner Surrenders will be impounded on 

a case by case basis. Diversion programs will be offered to assist with pet retention. 

CITY shall direct their constituents to consult with COUNTY to surrender their pet. 

COUNTY will offer CITY’s constituents assistance through diversion programs. 

 

10. Any pet surrendered by the owner to an Animal Control Officer and transported to the 

COUNTY shelter shall incur prevailing owner surrender charges. Such fees shall be 

collected from the owner and conveyed to the COUNTY, or be charged directly to the 

CITY at the established stray animal rate. CITY Animal Control Officers shall refer 

constituents requesting to surrender their animal to COUNTY for a diversion consultation. 

CITY shall not accept owner surrenders in the field prior to the constituent consulting the 

COUNTY. 

 

11. Wildlife: COUNTY and CITY Animal Control Officers will work with constituents to 

ensure public safety while maintaining wildlife in the wild. COUNTY and CITY Animal 

Control Officers will triage wildlife reports to determine the appropriate response. Wildlife 

will be impounded if there is a public safety hazard, if the animal’s welfare is at risk, if the 

animal is injured or orphaned, if the animal has been involved in a bite, or involved in an 

animal cruelty investigation. 

 

12. Vicious and Potentially Dangerous Dogs: Any dog declared or determined to be vicious 

or potentially dangerous and in custody of COUNTY either under impoundment or 

quarantine shall be deemed unsuitable for adoption and shall not be released except as 

required by State law or at the Director of Animal Services’ discretion.  

Page 218

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

B-4 
 

 

13. Incoming Animal Identification: Incoming animals shall be checked immediately for 

collar tags and scanned for microchip by qualified Shelter staff within one (1) hour of 

arrival to the Shelter.  Shelter staff shall make all attempts to notify owners within twenty-

four (24) hours of an Impounded Animal delivered by CITY to COUNTY. Animal Control 

Officers shall attempt to return animals in the field prior to delivering the impounded 

animal to the shelter. Animal Control Officers shall scan animals in the field for 

microchips, call phone numbers on tags or research license numbers in an effort to reunite 

animals in the field. 

 

14. Incoming Animal Examinations/Assessments: A cursory exam of an animal shall be 

performed within twelve (12) hours, except during Limited Service Hours when the 

examination will be performed within twenty-four (24) hours.  Incoming animal 

assessment shall include the following: 

a. A physical examination to determine if a medical condition exists which requires a 

veterinarian’s attention  

b. Routine vaccinations and de-worming, as needed 

c. External parasite treatment, as needed 

d. Document the animal’s incoming weight 

e. Scan for microchip identification 

f. Establish unique identifier for the animal 

g. Document any identifying features or abnormalities. The COUNTY shall properly 

document on an animal-by-animal basis that an examination/assessment has been 

performed. 

 

15. Enforcement:  Enforce all relevant provisions of CITY’s municipal code and State law as 

may be applicable to animals housed, kept or maintained at the Shelter.   

 

16. Adoption:   Animals identified as being available for adoption shall be up for adoption in 

the shelter or off-site location, or by posting online. 

 

17. Spay and Neuter:  COUNTY shall ensure that all dogs and cats adopted from the Shelter 

are   spayed or neutered, or that adequate provisions are made for such spaying or neutering 

if COUNTY transfers any animals, or if an adopted animal is unable to receive spaying or 

neutering due to a medical condition.    

In accordance with California Food and Agricultural (“F&A”) Code Sections 30503 and 

31751.3, if veterinarian employed at the Shelter certifies that a dog or cat is too sick or 

injured to be spayed or neutered, the COUNTY shall collect a spay/neuter deposit from the 

adopter or purchaser and this deposit shall be deposited into a segregated fund maintained 

by the COUNTY.  The deposit shall be fully refunded to the adopter or purchaser if proof 

of sterility is provided within thirty (30) business days from the date of surgery, at which 

the deposit is forfeited in accordance with F&A Code Sections 30503 and 31751.3. Spay 

and neuter deposits shall only be used by the COUNTY for canine and feline spay and 

neuter programs. 

 

Page 219

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

B-5 
 

18. Microchipping: In accordance with California Food and Agricultural (“F&A”) Code 

Sections 31108.3 and 31752.1, COUNTY shall ensure that all dogs and cats being 

reclaimed, adopted, or transferred to a new owner are microchipped with current 

information prior to leaving the shelter.  

 

19. Community Adoption Partners: COUNTY shall comply with F&A Code Sections 31108 

and 31752 that provide that any stray dog or cat that is impounded “shall, prior to the 

euthanasia of that animal be released to a nonprofit, as defined in Section 501(c)(3) of the 

Internal Revenue Code, animal rescue or adoption organization if requested by the 

organization prior to the scheduled euthanasia of that animal.  The public or private shelter 

may enter into cooperative agreements with any animal organization or adoption 

organization. The public or private shelter or organization must be approved by COUNTY 

prior to the transfer of any animals. In addition to any required spay or neuter deposit, the 

public or private shelter, at its discretion, may assess a fee, not to exceed the standard 

adoption fee, for animals adopted or released.”  

 

20. Foster Care Placement: Certain animals may be placed in COUNTY’s foster care 

placement program so to improve animal care, give certain animals a better chance of 

adoption, and lift the spirits and morale of staff and volunteers. 

 

21. Community Cat Program (CCP): COUNTY shall determine a cat’s eligibility for the 

CCP. If it is determined that a cat is eligible, the cat will be spayed/neutered, vaccinated, 

and eartipped. Once cat has recovered, the cat will be returned to place of origin.   

 

22. Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA):  COUNTY shall comply with all Drug Enforcement 

Agency (DEA) regulations regarding storage, record-keeping, inventory, use, and disposal 

of all controlled substances.   

 

23. Staffing and Volunteers:  COUNTY shall recruit and supervise all necessary personnel 

for the office, kennel, veterinary and other areas of the Shelter.  Staffing shall include any 

and all full or part-time personnel and shall include the recruitment, supervision and 

assignment of volunteers in suitable Shelter-related activities.  Personnel employed at the 

Shelter in the performance of Shelter-related activities shall be designated as COUNTY 

employees and any and all volunteers engaged in Shelter activities shall participate in 

activities designated by COUNTY and shall be under the auspices of COUNTY.  Use of 

volunteers at the Shelter shall be determined by COUNTY. 

 

24. Missing Animals: COUNTY shall notify an appropriate law enforcement agency 

immediately of any animal missing from the Shelter that had previously been impounded 

and/or in protective custody. 

 

25. CITY Access: COUNTY shall provide access of the entire Shelter to the authorized 

representatives of CITY during Regular Service Hours or at such other times upon written 

notice. 

 

Page 220

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

B-6 
 

26. Livestock and Fowl Care:  COUNTY shall provide food, care and shelter to livestock and 

fowl, either at the Shelter or at another location, when such animals cannot be cared for at 

the Shelter. 

Costs of housing any livestock or fowl, regardless of Shelter location shall be charged to 

the owner of the animal, if known.  If the animal’s owner wishes to redeem the animal, the 

owner shall first pay all applicable fees and charges at the Shelter; except as otherwise 

required by law, then and only, will the COUNTY authorize release of the animal.  

COUNTY shall notify CITY in writing when said expenses reach the amount of $5,000 or 

greater per incident.  Such expenses shall not exceed the amount of $25,000 per incident 

unless authorized in writing by CITY.  

  

27. Animal Disposal: COUNTY shall prohibit any animal whether dead or alive, which has 

been impounded, in custody, or in quarantine at the Shelter to be given away, disposed of, 

traded, sold or in any manner given over to another person, organization or entity for 

experimentation, regardless of purpose.  COUNTY shall be responsible for the disposal of 

animal remains in its custody or control, subject to applicable State laws. 

 

D. COMPENSATION 

 

1. Compensation for Animal Shelter Services: Additional compensation for Animal 

Shelter Services may be required.  Additional costs for large animal sheltering are incurred 

at $20 per animal, per day for horses and cattle, and $12 per animal, per day for swine, 

goats and sheep in accordance with COUNTY’s Animal Control Ordinances and shall be 

billed based on actual sheltering on a monthly basis.   

 

2. Impound/Quarantine Fees: CITY shall be responsible for all costs associated with any 

and all animals seized within the CITY boundaries and brought to COUNTY which are 

held in Shelter, including facilities that have agreements with the COUNTY to provide 

additional shelter services under the supervision of the COUNTY. This includes, but is not 

limited to, animals held in association with any criminal prosecution of animal abuse and 

welfare cases, animals being held as evidence in a court filing, or rabies quarantine.  The 

COUNTY agrees to assist the CITY in seeking reimbursement from the owner by 

providing invoices for all services provided.  All services provided to each animal involved 

shall be charged as of the current date including but not limited to the following: IMP 1-

collection; State Fine 1-collection, Board collection- all fees due; QT Board collection-if 

applicable; Rabies Vaccination collection-  if applicable; DA2PPV collection; Bordatella 

collection; microchip collection; any and all medications provided to each animal; and 

personnel charges. All fees will be in accordance with the COUNTY’s current fee schedule. 

 

3. Outreach Activities: CITY shall work with COUNTY to promote responsible pet 

ownership, lost and found animals, mutually agreeable animal welfare programs, 

Spay/Neuter Services, and adoption of animals through its own educational outreach, and 

through its own social media pages. If requested by CITY, the daily flat rates for 

educational outreach events, vaccination clinics or spay/neuter clinics shall be billed based 

actual outreach days scheduled at the rates below:   

 

Page 221

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

B-7 
 

a. Vaccination or Spay/Neuter Clinic: The cost includes staff, vaccinations and 

microchips, free to constituents with a two hundred (200) animal cap per 

event. The clinics are billed on actual use. 

 

b. Education Outreach Event: The cost to staff an outreach event for the purpose 

of educating CITY constituents. The outreach events are billed on actual 

use. 

 

Page 222

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

B-8 
 

PAYMENT PROVISIONS 

CITY OF COACHELLA 

EXHIBIT C 

City of Coachella (“CITY”) shall compensate the County of Riverside (“COUNTY”) on a 

monthly basis all fees and rates in accordance with the COUNTY’s current fee schedule as set 

forth below: 

A. Animal Field and Sheltering Services Rates* 

Service Impounds Amount Total Yearly 
Monthly 

Installments 

Animal Control Officer (FTE) N/A $172,640 $172,640 $14,387 

Overtime (Estimated)** N/A $111/hr. $13,986 $1,166 

Animal Sheltering* 193 $20/day $38,600 $3,217 

Wildlife Impounds* 1 $138/ea. $138 $12 

Deceased Animal Pick-Up 

and Disposal* 
112 $70/ea. $7,840 $653 

Operation & Maintenance* 193 $10.44/ea. $2,015 $168 

License Processing Fee** N/A $10/ea. $5,400 $450 

Total Cost Estimate   $240,619 $20,053 

*Yearly cost estimate based on statistics provided by CITY of its prior year’s impound rate of 

approximately 193 stray dogs and cats per year, based on an average length of stay of ten (10) 

kenneling days. CITY will be billed based on actual statistics each month.  

**Overtime and license processing are estimated based on prior year’s statistics. This fee will be 

billed based on actual usage. 

City shall be provided with actual impound statistics each month that detail the number of 

animals impounded and the number of kenneling days. Rates are established by the Board of 

Supervisors and are subject to change as approved by COUNTY from time to time. 

Large Animal Sheltering: $20/animal (horses, ponies, cattle) per day of sheltering. 

Large Animal Sheltering: $12/animal (swine, goats, sheep) per day of sheltering. 

B. Collection of License Fees 

CITY authorizes COUNTY to issue and collect the fees for canine licenses and retain ten dollars 

($10) per license on any and all canine license revenue generated by CITY residents during the 

term of the Agreement. All fees collected for canine licenses shall be accounted for by the 

COUNTY on a monthly basis and the COUNTY shall credit to CITY the net amount of license 

fees collected for each month. For purposes of this Agreement, the net amount of license fees 

Page 223

Item 28.



Agreement No. 21-005 

 

B-9 
 

shall mean the total amount of license fees collected in a month less the sum total of $10 per 

each canine license issued and shall be separate and apart from the monthly compensation rate 

due and payable by the CITY as set forth above in Section A. 

C. Impound/Quarantine Fees  

CITY shall be responsible for all costs associated with any and all animals seized within the 

CITY boundaries and brought to COUNTY held in the Shelter, including facilities that have 

agreements with the COUNTY to provide additional shelter services under the supervision of the 

COUNTY. This includes, but is not limited to, animals held in association with any criminal 

prosecution of animal abuse and welfare cases, animals being held as evidence in a court filing, 

or rabies quarantine. The COUNTY agrees to assist the CITY in seeking reimbursement from the 

owner by providing invoices for all services provided. All services provided to each animal 

involved shall be charged as of the current date including but not limited to the following: IMP 1 

– collection; State Fine 1-collection, Board collection- all fees due; QT Board collection-if 

applicable; Rabies Vaccination collection- if applicable; DA2PPV collection; Bordatella 

collection; microchip collection; any and all medications provided to each animal; and personnel 

charges. 

D. Optional Services at City’s Request  

1.Vaccination or Spay/Neuter Clinic: The service provided herein shall be free to constituents, 

with a two hundred (200) animal cap per vaccination clinic, or thirty (30) spay and/or neuter 

surgeries per spay/neuter clinic. Billed on actual use. 

2. Education Outreach Event: The cost for staff an outreach event for the purpose of educating 

CITY constituents. Billed on actual use. 

 

Page 224

Item 28.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Celina Jimenez, Grants Manager 

SUBJECT: Authorize a Community Based Grant to the Academy of Musical Performance  

in the Amount of $1,000 for Summer Day Camp Meals 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Staff recommends that the City Council consider authorizing a Community-Based Grant to the 

Academy of Musical Performance in the amount of $1,000 dollars for summer day camp meals. 

 
BACKGROUND: 

 

The Community Based Grant Program was established in 2010 and allows the City of Coachella 

to offer financial assistance to local nonprofit organizations, youth-serving organizations, and 

other community-based organizations that provide essential services, programs and activities to 

residents in Coachella. Applicant organizations are only eligible to submit one application for 

consideration each fiscal year and must be legally established with non-profit or tax-exempt status, 

be based in the Coachella Valley, or provide direct service to Coachella residents. Approval of 

grant funds does not constitute a precedent for grant allocations in subsequent years. All CBG 

grants are reimbursement grants to ensure that applicants are meeting their stated goals.  The FY 

20-21 budget included an allocation of $15,000 for the Community Based Grant Program.  

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

The Academy of Musical Performance (AMP) is nonprofit organization established in 2017 

offering contemporary music tutelage programs whose goal is to enrich the lives of young 

musicians living in the Coachella Valley by fostering creativity, communication and collaboration 

in the development and enhancement of musical performance and concert production skills 

through participation in a “rock band” style educational setting with professional music coaches. 

The AMP summer camp is AMP’s unique flagship program for Coachella Valley youth in 3rd – 

12 grade. Grant funds will help AMP to provide meals for Coachella youth during summer camp. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 225

Item 29.



 

ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1. Authorize a Community Based Grant to the Academy of Musical Performance in the Amount 

of $1,000 for Summer Day Camp Meals 

 

2. Not Authorize a Community Based Grant to the Academy of Musical Performance in the 

Amount of $1,000 for Summer Day Camp Meals 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

Should the City Council approve the staff recommendation, the Community Based Grant account 

will be reduced by $1,000.00 leaving $3,000.00 for the remainder of the fiscal year.  

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 

1. Copy of Application 

 

Page 226

Item 29.



 

CITY OF COACHELLA, CA 
COMMUNITY BASED GRANT PROGRAM 

APPLICATION FOR FUNDS REQUEST 

Please Type Information and Print 
Information entered in the provided spaces cannot be saved. 

 
(Attach additional pages as needed, however applicants are encouraged to be brief.) 

 

1. Application Funding Cycle:                                           Date:  
 
July 1, 20           - June 30, 20           
 

2. Total Amount Requested:     $        
 
If requesting waiver of City fees or charges, please indicate the City service for which the waiver 
is being requested.  
 
 

3. Proposed Program/Service of Funding Request: 
 
 

4. Agency/Organization: 
 

5. Mailing Address: 
 

City:                  Zip:  
 

6. Telephone:  
 

Fax:  
 

7. Official Contact Person: 
Name:  

 
Title:  

 
Telephone:  

 
Fax:  

 
E-mail:  

 
 

06/04/2021

20 21

1,000

Academy of Musical Performance

P.O. Box 1648

 Indio 92202

537-5267

Daniel Duardo

President

(760) 625-3800

danielduardo@mac.com

Grant funding will support 2 AMP summer day camp programs for youth

Page 227

Item 29.



8. Does this organization have a non-profit status with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS)?
Yes       No      (Attach documentation)

9. How long has this organization been in existence?

10. Has the organization previously received funding from the City of Coachella?
 Yes       No   

If yes, please identify the program/service, total prior grant allocation, and the fiscal year in 
which the funds were received. 

11. Is this request for a  New or  Existing program/service within the City?

12. What is the anticipated time frame to provide the proposed program/service and the
expenditure of the requested funds?

13. Describe briefly how the requested funds will be used.

14. Will the program/service require additional funding sources? If so, identify all funding sources
and provide the steps taken to acquire funding.

15. If the program/service is planned to continue beyond the period provided by this grant, what
funding plans are there to sustain the program/service?

16. How will the proposed program/service serve City of Coachella residents?  Will the proposed
program/service also serve non-Coachella residents? Please describe.

17. Describe the characteristics of the clients the proposed program/service anticipates to serve (i.e.
age group, gender, income level, ethnicity, etc.)

18. Attach a proposed budget for requested funds.

Authorized Official: Title: 

Signature:             Date: 06/04/2021

✔

✔

✔

Since 2017

The 2 summer day camp programs will be held over 4 weeks, summer of 2021

The grant funds will be used to provide meals to feed the approximate 75 youth program
participants

The Academy is currently working on procuring additional grant funding for its long-range
programmatic offerings.

AMP will always search for additional funding support

The grant funds will serve approximately 10 Coachella residents

AMP's summer music instruction programs will serve approximately 75 school-age youth
who are in 3rd through 12 grade.

President

Page 228

Item 29.



Page 229

Item 29.



Page 230

Item 29.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AMP Summer Day Camp Program 
Budget 

 
 
Meals for 10 City of Coachella Youth @ $10 ea. (1 day)   $1,000 
Meals for 65 Youth Program Participants @$10 ea. (20 days)  $13,000 
 

Total Budget  $14,000 
 
 
 

Page 231

Item 29.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Maritza Martinez, Public Works Director  

SUBJECT: Authorize City Manager to approve Change Order No. 1 and approve Notice of 

Completion for Bagdouma Pool Rehabilitation Project No. 102720, accept 

project as complete and direct City Clerk to record the Notice of Completion.      
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Authorize City Manager to approve Change Order No. 1 and approve Notice of Completion for 

Bagdouma Pool Rehabilitation Project No. 102720, accept project as complete and direct City 

Clerk to record the Notice of Completion. 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

 

On February 10, 2021, the City Council awarded the Bagdouma Pool Rehabilitation Project No. 

102720 to Condor Inc.  The project was awarded at the bid amount received of $294,000, plus a 

10% contingency for unanticipated additional repairs; the total contract compensation awarded 

was $323,400.  During the course of the project’s construction, the following additional work was 

required totaling $12,634:  

 replacement of valve for wader pool return; totaling $1,274.00 

 replacement of two (2) acid feed pumps; totaling $6,039.00 

 replacement of twelve (12) anchors for three (3) guardrail locations; totaling $5,321.00. 

Staff recommends approval of the attached Change Order No. 1, in the amount of $12,634. 

 

County Inspector completed inspection of the Bagdouma Pool facility and found the work 

completed met County requirements.  Condor Inc. has completed its responsibilities on the 

project and staff recommends that their work be accepted as complete and that the City Council 

authorize the filing of a Notice of Completion.   

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The recommended action will not have additional fiscal impact as the amount of Change Order 

No. 1 is within the original award amount.     

Attachments:  

Change Order No. 1 

Notice of Completion 

Page 232

Item 30.



Page 233

Item 30.



Page 234

Item 30.



Page 235

Item 30.



Page 236

Item 30.



Page 237

Item 30.



Page 238

Item 30.



Page 239

Item 30.



Page 240

Item 30.



 
To be recorded with County Recorder 

within 10 days after completion and 

Acceptance.  No recording fee. 

 

When Recorded, return to: 

 

   Andrea Carranza, Deputy City Clerk 

   City of Coachella 

   53990 Enterprise Way 

   Coachella, CA 92236 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                             (For Recorders Use) 

Notice of Completion 
(California Civil Code Section 3093 - Public Works) 

Notice is hereby given by the undersigned owner, a political subdivision of the State of California that a 

public work improvement described as Bagdouma Pool Rehabilitation Project No. 102720 has been 

completed and was accepted by the undersigned awarding authority on the date hereof. Pool repair 

improvements were completed at the following city facility: Bagdouma Pool. 

 

The contractor on such work was Condor Inc. and the surety on his bond is United Fire & Casualty 

Company located at PO Box 73909, Cedar Rapids, IA 52407. 

 

The real property upon which said work was performed is in the City of Coachella, County of Riverside, 

and State of California. 

 

The nature of the interest of the owner is in fee. 

 

Date:    June 4, 2021                                                       City of Coachella                                   

(Date of Acceptance)                                  (Name of Political Subdivision) 

  

Owner Address: 

53990 Enterprise Way 

Coachella, CA 92236 

                                                                                            By:________________________________ 

                                                                                                               Steven A. Hernandez 

 

                                                                                             Title:  _________Mayor_________    

State of California)     

    ) ss 

County of Riverside)    

I hereby certify that I am the     Deputy City Clerk       of the governing board of the   City of Coachella, 

the political subdivision which executed the foregoing notice and on whose behalf I make this verification; 

that I have read said notice, know its contents, and that the same is true.  I certify under penalty of perjury 

that the foregoing is true and correct. 

Executed at                 Coachella                                     , California on                                                          (Date) 
   (City Where Signed) 

 

________________________________                                                                     

Andrea Carranza, Deputy City Clerk, City of Coachella                                         County Counsel Form 1 (Rev. 5-64) 

Page 241

Item 30.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Luis Lopez, Development Services Director  

SUBJECT: Ordinance No. 1178 approving Change of Zone No. 20-04 to add the R-C (Retail 

Cannabis) Overlay Zone to the existing C-G (General Commercial) Zone on 

property located at 46-156 Dillon Road. Coachella Can, LLC (Armen Paronyan), 

Applicant. (2nd Reading).  
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Due to the registered concerns, staff recommends that the City Council invite additional public 

testimony, and consider adoption of Ordinance No. 1178 approving Change of Zone No. 20-04 to 

add the RC (Retail Cannabis) Overlay Zone to the existing C-G (General Commercial) zone on 

property located at 46-156 Dillon Road. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

On May 26, 2021 the City Council continued the second reading of Ordinance No. 1178 due to 

correspondence received from the 29 Palms Band of Mission Indians tribal government (Tribe), 

attached to this staff report.  Staff and the applicant have reached out to the Tribe in order to get a 

better understanding of the reasons for their concerns with respect to allowing the R-C (Retail 

Cannabis) zoning on the subject property.  The Tribe did not oppose Conditional Use Permit No.’s 

330 and 331 which entitled the cannabis dispensary and a take-out restaurant on the subject site. 

However, the zone change is a necessary entitlement for the retail cannabis business.  

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

At the time that this staff report was written, staff was aware of one electronic mail correspondence 

submitted by the Tribe on May 11, 2021 to the City Clerk, but directed towards “Councilmember 

Galarza” as shown below.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 242

Item 31.



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

The above e-mail registers a concern regarding the land use compatibility of the proposed retail 

cannabis business because it is in close proximity to the Coachella Crossroads Youth Multisport 

Event Center within 1,000 feet.  There is no City of Coachella Municipal Code regulation requiring 

Page 243

Item 31.



any minimum distance between a commercial entertainment complex (i.e, spectator sports center, 

concert venue) to a retail cannabis business or take-out restaurant (the proposed businesses).  

 

Additionally, the proposed dispensary will be located in the rear portion of the existing building, 

and will have a front-facing take-out restaurant with specialty chicken sandwiches and trimmings. 

The landlord has further indicated that if the dispensary is successful, he intends to build a 

freestanding commercial building to bring a specialty taco shop from the San Diego area to this 

location.  As such, the appearance of the commercial property as viewed from the street, will be 

in keeping with the other uses in the immediate vicinity (i.e., Popeye’s Chicken, Del Taco, etc.) 

and does not raise an incompatibility issue with the Tribal entertainment/sports complex.  

 

Furthermore, the Tribe has not submitted any new information regarding their specific concerns, 

or whether there are acceptable mitigation measures that would allow them to co-exist with a 

commercial cannabis business in their neighborhood.   Denial of the retail cannabis business 

zoning would be to the detriment of a bona-fide business venture that has been expected by the 

applicant/investors and one that is based on good-faith efforts to bring new businesses to the City 

of Coachella. While the CUP is a discretionary action, the Tribe did not previously register any 

opposition to the CUP for the dispensary.   

 

The City Council approved the Coachella Canna Club cannabis dispensary and indoor cannabis 

consumption lounge project on April 28, 2021.  The applicant intends to license the existing one-

story commercial building tenant space for a retail cannabis business to include a 7,170 square 

foot retail cannabis business and consumption lounge and a commercial kitchen with take-out 

restaurant (Chick Next Door) along with indoor and outdoor seating. 

 

Applicant Correspondence:  

 

Attached to this staff report is a letter received from the applicant on June 3, 2021 outlining his 

counter arguments to the concerns registered by the Tribe, and the letter expresses concern over 

delays and a perceived lack of business-friendly demeanor by the City.  There is an attachment to 

the letter consisting of the mailing list of all property owners within 300 feet that were notified 

about the public hearings for this project.  

 

ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1)  Adopt Ordinance No. 1178 approving Change of Zone No. 20-04.  

2)  Deny Ordinance No. 1178 with findings.  

3)  Continue this matter and provide staff with direction.  

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

There are no fiscal impacts associated with this action in that it merely creates the proper zoning 

to allow the operation of a retail cannabis dispensary on the subject site, subject to the conditions 

of approval previously imposed on the business through Conditional Use Permit No. 330.  

 

 

Page 244

Item 31.



 

RECOMMENDED ALTERNATIVE(S): 

 

Staff recommends Alternative #1 above.  

 
 
Attachments:  Ordinance No. 1178 - 2nd Reading 

  Applicant’s Letter of June 3, 2021  

  300-ft Radius Property Owner Mailing Labels 
 

Page 245

Item 31.



   

 

ORDINANCE NO. 1178 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COACHELLA APPROVING CHANGE OF ZONE 20-04 TO ADD THE R-C 

(RETAIL CANNABIS OVERLAY) ZONE TO THE EXISTING C-G 

(GENERAL COMMERCIAL) ZONE ON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 46-

156 DILLON ROAD, COACHELLA CAN LLC (ARMEN PARONYAN), 

APPLICANT. 

 

 WHEREAS, Armen Paronyan (on behalf of Coachella Can LLC) filed an application for 

Change of Zone 20-04 on property located at 46-156 Dillon Road, and attendant applications 

Conditional Use Permit 330 and 331 (Property known as Assessor’s Parcel No. 603-102-024) 

(“Project”); and  

 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission conducted a duly noticed public hearing on 

Change of Zone 20-04 and CUP 330 and CUP 331 on March 3, 2021 at the Coachella Permit 

Center, 53-990 Enterprise Way, Coachella, California and recommended that the City Council 

approve Change of Zone 20-04 and CUP 330 and CUP 331; and  

 

WHEREAS, at the Planning Commission hearing the Applicant and members of the 

public were present and were afforded an opportunity to testify regarding the Project; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Project is permitted pursuant to Chapter 17.47 of the Coachella 

Municipal Code, and the attendant application for a Conditional Use Permit to allow the Project; 

and  

 

WHEREAS, the proposed use is necessary or desirable for the development of the 

community, is consistent with the objectives of the City’s General Plan, and is not detrimental 

to the existing uses or the uses specifically permitted in the zone in which the proposed use is to 

be located; and  

 

WHEREAS, the proposed site is adequate in size and shape to accommodate the 

proposed development; and  

 

WHEREAS, the site for proposed use relates properly to streets which are designed to 

carry the type and quantity of traffic to be generated by the proposed use; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Project is exempt from the provisions of the California Environmental 

Quality Act, as amended; and  

 

WHEREAS the City Council conducted a duly noticed public hearing on Change of 

Zone 20-04 and CUP 330 and CUP 331 on April 28, 2021 at the Coachella City Hall, 1515 6th 

Street, Coachella, California and the applicant and the public were afforded an opportunity to 

testify regarding the Project; and  

 

WHEREAS, the conditions as stipulated by the City are necessary to protect the public 

health, safety and welfare of the community. 

Page 246

Item 31.



                           Ordinance No. 1178 
Page 2 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHLLA 

CALIFORNIA, DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. That the City of Coachella Official Zoning Map be amended as shown on the 

attached Change of Zone 20-04 map marked “Exhibit A” from C-G (General Commercial to 

CG-RC (General Commercial-Retail Cannabis Overlay Zone) on property located at 46-156 

Dillon Road, with the findings listed below: 

 

Findings for Change of Zone 20-08: 

 
1. The Project is consistent with the goals, objectives, policies, and implementation measures 

of the Coachella General Plan 2035. The site has a Regional Retail District land use 

designation that allows for the proposed development. The proposed change of zone is in 

keeping with the policies of the Regional Retail District land use classification and the 

Project is internally consistent with other General Plan policies for this type of development.  

 

2. The Project is in compliance with the applicable land use regulations and development 

standards of the City’s Zoning Code. The site plan proposes a retail cannabis business, 

consumption lounge, commercial kitchen and take out window including indoor and outdoor 

seating areas. The Project complies with applicable C-G (General Commercial) and Section 

17.47.020 property development standards as proposed. 

 

3. Every use, development of land and application of architectural guidelines and development 

standards shall be considered on the basis of the suitability of the site for a particular use or 

development intended, and the total development, including the prescribed development 

standards, shall be so arranged as to avoid traffic congestion, ensure the protection of public 

health, safety and general welfare, prevent adverse effects on neighboring property and shall 

be in accord with all elements of the general plan. The proposed change of zone is 

compatible with existing surrounding land uses that include commercial land uses.  

 

4. The Project will be compatible with neighboring properties with respect to land development 

patterns and application of architectural treatments. The plans submitted for this Project 

propose a cannabis business with a consumption lounge and a fast food restaurant with an 

indoor and outside seating areas that are permitted in the C-G (General Commercial) zone 

pursuant approved Conditional Use Permits. Surrounding properties to the project site 

include commercial and vacant land uses. As such, the Project will be in keeping with the 

scale, massing, and aesthetic appeal of the existing area and future development 

 

5. The Project is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to 

CEQA Guidelines Section 15303 (C) that exempts the conversion of existing small 

structures from one use to another where only minor modifications are made to the interior 

and exterior of the structure. 

 

Section 2. SEVERABILITY. The City Council declares that, should any provision, 

section, paragraph, sentence or word of this ordinance be rendered or declared invalid by any final 

court action in a court of competent jurisdiction or by reason of any preemptive legislation the 

Page 247

Item 31.



                           Ordinance No. 1178 
Page 3 

 

remaining provisions, sections, paragraphs, sentences or words of this ordinance as hereby adopted 

shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

Section 3. EFFECTIVE DATE. This ordinance shall take effect thirty (30) days after its 

second reading by the City Council.  

 

Section 4. CERTIFICATION. The City Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this 

Ordinance and shall cause it to be published and circulated in the City of Coachella. 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23rd day of June 2021. 

 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez 

Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

City Attorney 

 

  

Page 248

Item 31.



                           Ordinance No. 1178 
Page 4 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE 

CITY OF COACHELLA 

) 

) ss. 

) 

 

 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Amendment to Ordinance No. 1178 was 

duly and regularly introduced at a meeting of the City Council on the 14th day of April 2021, and 

that thereafter the said ordinance amendment was duly passed and adopted on the 23rd day of June 

2021.  

         

AYES:   

   

NOES:    

   

ABSENT:  

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

___________________________                                         

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy City Clerk 

 

  

Page 249

Item 31.



                           Ordinance No. 1178 
Page 5 

 

Exhibit A 

Change of Zone 20-04 

 

 

 

Page 250

Item 31.



Page 251

Item 31.



Page 252

Item 31.



Page 253

Item 31.



Page 254

Item 31.



Page 255

Item 31.



Page 256

Item 31.



Page 257

Item 31.



Page 258

Item 31.



Page 259

Item 31.



Page 260

Item 31.



Page 261

Item 31.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Maritza Martinez, Public Works Director  

SUBJECT: Ordinance No. 1184 Amending Chapter 2 of the Coachella Municipal Code by 

adding Section 2.30 to include a Youth Advisory Commission. (First Reading) 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Approve Ordinance No. 1184 amending Chapter 2 of the Coachella Municipal Code by adding 

Section 2.30 to include a Youth Advisory Commission. (First Reading) 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

 

Amending the Coachella Municipal Code to include Section 2.30 will add the Youth Advisory 

Commission as discussed by City Council during the May 26, 2021 Council Meeting.  The 

Commission would consist of ten (10) members that are enrolled in high school and living in the 

City of Coachella. Commissioners would work on all matters involving youth people in the City 

of Coachella and meet once monthly during the local school year (August – June).  All meetings 

would require a quorum of a majority of the membership; six (6) member would constitute a 

quorum.  All Commissioners would have a one-year term.  An application period of 30-45 days 

will be opened after the second reading of Ordinance 1184 is adopted.  Outreach to the youth 

community will occur in collaboration with the local school district, local non-profits and Desert 

Recreation District. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

None. 

 

 

Attachments: 

Ordinance 1184 

 

Page 262

Item 32.



ORDINANCE NO. xxxx 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA ADDING CHAPTER 2.30  

OF THE COACHELLA MUNICIPAL CODE REGARDING 

YOUTH ADVISORY COMMISSION  

WHEREAS, the City of Coachella (“City”) is a duly organized general law city and 

municipal corporation existing in the state of California; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council (“Council”) of the City sits as the governing body of the 

City; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Coachella desires to create a Youth Advisory 

Commission by adding the Commission to the City’s Municipal Code; and 

WHEREAS, all the legal prerequisites relating to the adoption of the Ordinance have 

occurred.  

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA, DOES 

ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS:  

SECTION 1.  The Recitals set forth above are true and correct and are incorporated into 

this Ordinance. 

SECTION 2.  Chapter 2.30 of the Coachella Municipal Code is hereby added in its entirety 

to read as follows: 

Chapter 2.30 -  YOUTH ADVISORY COMMISSION  

2.30.010  Powers and duties. 

2.30.020 Appointments. 

2.30.030 Vacancies 

2.30.040 Membership 

2.30.050 Election of officers. 

2.30.060 Meetings 

 

2.30.010 Powers and Duties.  

 

There shall be a Youth Advisory Commission consisting of ten (10) members; the ten (10) 

members shall be youth enrolled in high school.  Their duties shall include: 

1. Act in an advisory capacity to the City Council in all matters involving young people 

in the City of Coachella.    

2. Work to anticipate the educational, recreational and cultural needs of the city’s youth. 

3. Work to insure the coordination of community resources in order to improve the quality 

of life for all its youth.  

Page 263

Item 32.



Ordinance No. ____ 

Page 2 

4. The City Council shall respect the responsibilities of the Commission and accordingly, 

will endeavor, in good faith, to refer matters pertaining to parks and recreation to the 

commission for advice and recommendations.  Notwithstanding the forgoing, nothing 

in this code shall prohibit the City Council from acting on urgent or other matters 

without referring the same to the Commission.  

 

2.30.020 Appointments.  

 

All members of the Commission must live within the City of Coachella and be enrolled in 

high school.  The term of a Commissioner is one year from August to June; mirroring the 

local school district’s school year. 

 

2.30.030 Vacancies. 

 

In the event a member of the commission has three (3) consecutive unexcused absences 

from meetings of the Commission, the City Council may declare the office of such member 

vacant.  Vacancies, whether scheduled or unscheduled, shall be filled by the City Council.  

 

2.30.040 Membership. 

 

Membership on this Commission shall be as follows: 

A. The total membership of the Commission shall be made up of ten (10) youth members.  

a. All youth members must live in the City of Coachella. 

b. All youth members must be enrolled in high school. 

 

2.30.050 Election of Officers. 

 

At the first meeting of the Commission, and the members shall elect a chair, vice chair and 

secretary.  In the absence or disability of the chair, vice chair and secretary, the Commission 

may designate a temporary chair.  

 

2.30.060 Meetings.  

 

1. The Commission shall meet once a month. All its meetings shall be held in 

accordance with the Ralph M. Brown Act and shall be open to the public except as 

provided by law.  

2. A quorum shall be a majority of the Commission.  No action of the Commission 

shall be valid without the affirmative vote of at least six (6) members.  

 

SECTION 3. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect thirty (30) days after its 

adoption.   

SECTION 4. Severability.  If any section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, sentence, 

clause or phrase of this Ordinance, or any part thereof is for any reason held to be unconstitutional, 

such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portion of this Ordinance or any part 

thereof.  The City Council hereby declares that it would have passed each section, subsection, 

Page 264

Item 32.



Ordinance No. ____ 

Page 3 

subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or 

more section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase be declared 

unconstitutional. 

If for any reason any portion of this Ordinance is found to be invalid by a court of competent 

jurisdiction, the balance of this Ordinance shall not be affected. 

SECTION 5. Certification.  The City Clerk shall certify the passage of this Ordinance and 

shall cause the same to be entered in the book of original ordinances of said City; shall make a 

minute passage and adoption thereof in the records of the meeting at which time the same is passed 

and adopted; and shall, within fifteen (15) days after the passage and adoption thereof, cause the 

same to be published as required by law, in a local newspaper of general circulation and which is 

hereby designated for that purpose. 

SECTION 6. CEQA.  The City Council finds that this Ordinance is not subject to the 

California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Sections 15060(c)(2) (the activity will 

not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment) and 

15060(c)(3) (the activity is not a project as defined in Section 15378) of the CEQA Guidelines, 

California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Chapter 3, because it has no potential for resulting in 

physical change to the environment, directly or indirectly. 

ORDINANCE PASSED AND APPROVED on this 14th day of July, 2021 by the following 

vote.  

 

AYES:  

 

NOES:  

 

ABSENT: 

 

ABSTAIN: 

 

         ______________________ 

         Steven Hernandez 

         Mayor 

ATTEST:  

 

 

____________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda, City Clerk  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 265

Item 32.



Ordinance No. ____ 

Page 4 

APPROVED AS TO FORM:  

 

 

____________________________ 

Carlos Campos, City Attorney 

Page 266

Item 32.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Nathan Statham, Finance Director  

SUBJECT: Resolution No. 2021-34, a Resolution of the City Council of the City Of 

Coachella, Adopting an Annual Budget And Organizational Structure for Fiscal 

Year 2021-22 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 
Adopt Resolution No. 2021-34 approving the annual budget, organizational structure, and policy changes for 

fiscal year 2021-22 for the City of Coachella and its component units. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

I am pleased to submit for your review and approval the proposed budget for the City of Coachella for 

all funds and departments and its component units for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2021 and ending 

June 30, 2022. 

In the proposed budget for Fiscal Year 2021/2022, the City of Coachella and all its component units 

have budgeted revenues of $94.1 million and appropriations of $104.2 million. $16.8 million of these 

appropriations are for non-general fund capital expenditures. The City’s General Fund has budgeted 

revenues of $27.3 million and expenditure appropriations of $26.8 million resulting in a $517,657 

budgeted surplus that is largely due to projected sales tax recoveries after the COVID-19 Pandemic 

restrictions have been relaxed. The General Fund is projected to have unrestricted reserves of $10.6 

million at June 30, 2022.  Details are provided in the general fund schedules and tables that follow. 

HISTORY: 

 

During the prior three fiscal years (2018/2019 - 2020/2021) the City of Coachella has seen a steady 

recovery for our community. The prolonged slow recovery from the 2008 recession continues to affect 

our local economy. The voters passed Measure U, a sales tax rate increase of 1% in November of 2014. 

These funds were critical in allowing us to finish last fiscal year within budget. However, during these 

three fiscal years the City incurred steep increases in our contracts with Riverside County Sheriff and 

Riverside County/Cal Fire for Police and Fire services. Measure-U sales tax revenues and increases in 

cannabis taxes have allowed the City to cover the increase in FY 2021/2022 public safety costs with no 

reductions of service level; however, public safety cost increases for contracted service are not 

sustainable over time.  

 

 

 

Page 267

Item 33.



CHALLENGES AND PRIORITIES: 

 
COVID-19 Pandemic 

The City has weathered the challenges resulting from the COVID-19 Pandemic. The Pandemic had little 

impact on City services and City revenues, primarily sales tax revenues have largely returned to pre-

pandemic levels. Utility revenues in the Water Authority and Sanitation District are still seeing delays 

in payments that will cause time lags in receiving cash payments, but total revenues have not been 

significantly affected. Payment delays are also expected in property tax receipts as foreclosure 

moratoriums expire, but overall property tax revenues are expected to remain relatively flat. The 

proposed budget appropriations anticipate a continuity of current service levels despite the Pandemic 

and operations are not expected to be negatively impacted going into fiscal year 2021-22. The City will 

continue to prioritize the assessment and shifting of funds if cash needs arise from revenue payments 

delayed by the lingering economic effects of the Pandemic. 

Public Safety Cost Increase 

Increases in public safety costs continue to be a challenge for the City.  The County of Riverside’s 

continuous increase to public safety services is limiting the amounts available to address capital needs, 

maintenance and operations in existing and future facilities. In Fiscal Year 2020-21, there was a total 

increase over the previous Fiscal Year to Police and Fire of $1,173,349, which represents slightly over 

9.2%.  For the 2021-22 Fiscal Year, the total amount is expected to remain flat with a slight decrease in 

fire service costs offset by a slight increase in police service costs. The City anticipates the increases to 

continue as Riverside County shifts more cost recovery of police services on to its contract cities.  

ECONOMIC FORECASTS: 

 

The City of Coachella will endeavor to maintain a diversified and stable revenue base to minimize the 

effects of economic fluctuations. All estimates are conservative. General fund revenues are categorized 

into seven broad categories taxes, licenses and permits, charges for services, intergovernmental, fines 

and forfeitures, interest and other revenues and transfers in from other funds.  

 

 
 

Intergovernmental revenues are substantial in comparison to other categories and consists of payments 

from other government entities including admin fees for administration of the Successor Agency and the 

Waste Transfer Station JPA. The general fund’s position as the originating fund for all service 

components, i.e., Water, Sanitary, Fire, Police, Streets, and Redevelopment efforts has resulted in the 

 FY 2019-20 

Actual 

 FY 2020-21 

Budget 

FY 2020-21

Estimated

Year End

 FY 2021-22  

Budget 

Taxes 18,409,029$  18,700,016$  18,449,516$ 20,647,000$ 

Licenses and Permits 458,179         390,000         510,000        508,000        

Charges for Services 477,963         590,000         585,000        585,000        

Intergovernmental 1,100,511      1,099,278      1,121,919     1,199,349     

Fines and Forfeitures 395,433         460,000         450,000        166,598        

Interest and Other Revenue 871,971         316,000         217,500        178,000        

Transfers 3,788,772      4,312,774      4,258,381     4,038,198     

Total 25,501,857$  25,868,068$  25,592,316$ 27,322,145$ 

Page 268

Item 33.



general fund now receiving service charges from all service components. City’s employee salary costs 

are disbursed among departments and service components to be able to ascertain both direct and indirect 

costs for City services rendered. 

General Fund Expenditures by Department 

The general fund is the main operating fund of the City of Coachella. It is used to account for all financial 

resources except where legal, administrative or Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) 

requirements cause them to be accounted for in another fund. 

The City’s general fund activity includes departments that serve the general public as well as functions 

that provide administrative support to the various departments within the government and its agencies. 

The table shown below provides a summary list of the general fund Departments and their respective 

budgets. 

 City of Coachella 

General Fund Historical and Projected Expenditures by Department 

Fiscal Years 2021-2022 

 

 
  

 

Page 269

Item 33.



Other Funds 

The City has various funds and special districts which are designated subdivisions of the general fund or 

are classified as component units. These other funds all have the Coachella City Council as the governing 

body and have their respective budgets approved by the Council for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022.  

Special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are legally 

restricted for specific purposes. Special Revenue funds include State and Federal grants, funds to be used 

solely for capital projects, and the property taxes and charges collected by the County Tax-Collector’s 

Office for the Successor Agency of the Former Coachella Redevelopment Agency and the Coachella 

Fire Protection District. 

 Capital Improvement Funds are used to account for project costs for the building of infrastructure to 

attract business and expand capacities. The Capital Improvement Program found in the last budget 

section is a listing of proposed and existing projects for the acquisition and construction of capital assets. 

These programs are outlined in the proposed five-year capital budget and existing capital projects. The 

five-year Capital Improvement Plan includes proposed financing for the 2021-22 fiscal year with 

projected revenue sources and project costs for the next four fiscal years. The Engineering Department 

has provided a comprehensive capital improvements plan that utilizes developer impact fees, grants and 

self-generated funds from the City’s enterprise operations. Although the funds required for the proposed 

fiscal year projects are available, future year’s projects may have a “To Be Determined” footnote if funds 

have not yet been identified.  

Budget Preparation and Presentation 

Individual general fund departments have included their accomplishments for the current fiscal year, 

their goals for the 2021/22 budget year and are presenting budget issues to the Council for your review 

and approval that will allow the Council to standardize future budget matters and keep the Council’s 

policies in line with the City’s priorities. 

I would like to thank Public Works Director Maritza Martinez, City Engineer Andrew Simmons, Utilities 

Manager Castulo Estrada, the Finance Department staff, and all the City personnel who contributed to 

the entire budget process. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Fiscal year 2021-22 Draft Proposed Budget 

  

  

 

Page 270

Item 33.



 

 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Nathan Statham, Finance Director  

SUBJECT: Resolution No. CBL-2021-01, a Resolution of the Board of Directors of the 

Coachella Educational And Governmental Access Cable Channel Corporation, 

Adopting an Annual Budget for Fiscal Year 2021-22 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Adopt Resolution No. CBL-2021-01 approving the annual budget for Fiscal Year 2021-2022 for 

the Coachella Educational and Governmental Access Cable Corporation. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

The Coachella Educational and Governmental Access Cable Corporation Fund provides resources 

to broadcast via cable television City Council meetings and other limited special public events.  

The fund receives revenue from the City’s general fund through an operating transfer-in.  

Expenditures are made during the fiscal year to cover the cost of materials and labor for the actual 

recording of the meetings.  Projections for this budget are based on funding services for two (2) 

City Council meetings per month.  The projected budget for fiscal year 2021-2022 is shown below 

in the fiscal impact section. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

 
 

EXHIBITS: 

Fiscal year 2021-22 Draft Proposed Budget 

City of Coachella

Educational and Governmental Access Cable Corporation

Beginning Fund Balance 65,533$       

Revenues 11,580         

Total Available 77,113         

Expenditures 32,000         

Ending Fund Balance 45,113$       

Page 271

Item 33.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Nathan Statham, Finance Director 

SUBJECT: Resolution No. FD-2021-02, Approving the Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Coachella 

Fire Protection District Annual Budget 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Adopt Resolution FD-2021-02 approving the annual budget for fiscal year 2021-2022 for the 

Coachella Fire Protection District.   

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

The Coachella Fire Protection District (the District) was created in December 1990 to provide fire 

protection services to the residents of the City of Coachella. The Riverside County Fire Protection 

District provides all necessary services that are described in a contract between the two entities.  

The District is funded through transfers from the City’s general fund, property tax collected, 

interest earned on investments, and miscellaneous sources.   

The District’s 2021-2022 budget includes revenues projected at $3.33 million which represents a 

decrease of 15.6% over the prior fiscal year. This results from grant funded services being directly 

administered by the County of Riverside in 202-2022 and a one-time charge of $350,000 for the 

District’s cost share in a ladder truck purchase included in prior year general fund transfer. 

District expenditures are budgeted at $3.33 million, which is 15.6% less than last year.  The 

decrease is due the one-time charge of $350,000 for the District’s cost share in a ladder truck 

purchase included in prior year expenditures and the transfer of grant related costs to the County 

of Riverside. 

 The District is currently staffed by one (1) fire engine company with a (municipal) Fire Captain 

and (Advanced Life Support) Paramedic for a total of four personnel daily. The cooperative 

agreement includes three (3) Fire Captains, one (1) Fire Apparatus Engineer, one (1) Fire 

Apparatus Engineer/Paramedic, one (1) Firefighter II, and four (4) Firefighter-II/Paramedic 

positions.  

In addition to the staffed positions, an active Volunteer Reserve Firefighter Program boasts a 

company of approximately 6 volunteer firefighters. 

Page 272

Item 33.



FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

 
 

EXHIBITS: 

Fiscal year 2021-22 Draft Proposed Budget 

Projected

 2020-21

Budget

2021-22

Beginning Fund Balance 6,942$        6,942$        

Revenues

General Fund Transfer 2,126,978   1,576,941   

Community Facility District Transfer 714,878      761,800      

Property Taxes 819,300      885,400      

Interest & Other Revenue 102,000      102,000      

Grants 178,437      -              

Total Revenue 3,941,593   3,326,141   

Expenditures

Other Professional Services 3,360,107   3,118,456   

Administration/Other 581,486      207,685      

Total Expenditures 3,941,593   3,326,141   

Surplus (Deficit) -              -              

Projected Ending Fund Balance 6,942$        6,942$        

Page 273

Item 33.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Nathan Statham, Finance Director  

SUBJECT: Resolution No. SD-2021-02, Approving the Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Coachella 

Sanitary District Annual Budget 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Adopt Resolution SD-2021-02 approving the annual budget and organizational structure for the 

fiscal year 2021-2022 for the Coachella Sanitary District. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

The Sanitary District’s 2021-2022 budget includes revenues projected at $7.66 million, which 

represents an increase of 0.2% over the prior fiscal year.  This results from increases in interest & 

other revenues. 

District expenditures (net of principal payments) are budgeted at $7.30 million, which is 2.6% 

greater than last year.  The increase is due to increases in debt service interest for the District’s 

2020 pension obligation bonds budgeted in FY 2021-2022. 

  

Page 274

Item 33.



 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

 
 

EXHIBITS: 

Fiscal year 2021-22 Draft Proposed Budget 

 

Projected 

2020-21

Budget 

2021-22

Revenues

Connection Fees 1,400,000$   1,400,000$   

Utility Service 6,050,000     6,050,000     

Property Taxes 160,000        160,000        

Interest & Other Revenue 40,000          52,702          

Total Revenue 7,650,000     7,662,702     

Expenditures

Operating Costs 2,503,957     2,671,149     

Administrative Costs 2,507,479     2,441,997     

Depreciation & Amortization 1,522,623     1,522,623     

Debt Service

Principal Payments 1,598,323     1,827,056     

Interest Payments 584,146        666,879        

Total Expenditures 8,716,528     9,129,704     

Less: Principal Payments 1,598,323     1,827,056     

Total Expenses Less Principal Pmts7,118,205     7,302,648     

Surplus (Deficit) 531,795$      360,055$      

Page 275

Item 33.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Nathan Statham, Finance Director 

SUBJECT: Resolution No. WA-2021-03, Approving the Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Coachella 

Water Authority Annual Budget 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Adopt Resolution WA-2021-03 approving the annual budget and organizational structure for fiscal 

year 2021-2022 for the Coachella Water Authority.   

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

The Water Authority’s revenue budget projects total revenues of approximately $8.86 million 

which represents an increase of 6.3% over the prior fiscal year.  The increase in revenue is largely 

the result of projected increases in grant funding.  The water rate structure will allow the Water 

Authority to maintain current service levels, fund future capital projects, and maintain contracted 

debt service bond covenant ratios of 120%.   

The Authority’s expenditures are projected to be $7.99 million, net of principal payments, which 

is 1.3% greater than last year.  This is due to increases in grant funded project costs when compared 

to the prior fiscal year. 

 

  

Page 276

Item 33.



 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

 
 

EXHIBITS: 

Fiscal year 2021-22 Draft Proposed Budget 

Projected

 2020-21

Budget

 2021-22

Revenues

Connection Fees 1,200,000$ 850,000$    

Utility Service 6,300,000   6,200,000   

Ground Water Replenishment 540,000      450,000      

Interest, Grants , & Other Revenue 292,000      1,360,000   

Total Revenue 8,332,000   8,860,000   

Expenditures

Operating Costs 2,936,423   2,729,851   

Administrative Costs 2,963,515   2,202,943   

Grant Project Cost -              1,100,000   

Depreciation & Amortization 1,500,000   1,400,000   

Debt Service

Principal Payments 532,094      750,467      

Interest Payments 487,542      556,655      

Total Expenditures 8,419,574   8,739,916   

Less: Principal Payments 532,094      750,467      

Total Expenses Less Principal Pmts 7,887,480   7,989,449   

Surplus (Deficit) 444,520$    870,551$    

Page 277

Item 33.



RESOLUTION 2021-34 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA, 

CALIFORNIA, ADOPTING AN ANNUAL BUDGET AND 

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021-22 

 

WHEREAS, an annual budget and organization structure for Fiscal Year 2021-22 has been 

prepared by the City Manager, Department Heads and other City personnel; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has examined said budget and organizational structure and 

conferred with the City Manager and Departments heads; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has, after due deliberation and consideration, made such 

amendments in the proposed annual budget and organizational structure as it considered desirable; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council has, after due deliberation and consideration, made such 

amendments in the proposed annual budget and organizational structure as it considered desirable; and 

 

NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Coachella, California, 

as follows: 

  

SECTION 1. That the budget and organizational structure attached hereto and made a   part 

hereof is hereby approved and effective July 1, 2021. 

 

SECTION 2. That the Capital Improvements Budget for fiscal 2021-22 is hereby approved 

effective July 1, 2021. 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED, this 23rd day of June 2021. 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A Hernandez 

Mayor         

 

 

ATTEST:  

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Capos 

City Attorney 

Page 278

Item 33.



   Resolution No. 2021-34 

Page 2 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA        ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE       ) ss. 

CITY OF COACHELLA           ) 

 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-34 was duly adopted by 

the City Council of the City of Coachella at a regular meeting thereof, held on this 23rd day of June 

2021, by the following vote of Council: 

 

AYES:   

 

NOES:   

 

ABSENT:  

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

 

 

___________________________________                                                      

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy City Clerk 

 

 

Page 279

Item 33.



RESOLUTION CBL-2021-01 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

COACHELLA EDUCATIONAL AND GOVERNMENTAL ACCESS 

CABLE CHANNEL CORPORATION, ADOPTING AN ANNUAL BUDGET 

FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021-22 
 

WHEREAS, an annual budget for Fiscal Year 2021-22 has been prepared by the District 

Manager; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has examined said budget and conferred with the 

District Manager; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has, after due deliberation and consideration, made 

such amendments in the proposed annual budget as it considered desirable; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has, after due deliberation and consideration, made 

such amendments in the proposed annual budget and organizational structure as it considered 

desirable. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the Board of Directors of the Coachella 

Educational and Governmental Access Cable Channel Corporation, as follows: 

  

Section 1: That the budget attached hereto and made a part hereof is hereby approved and 

effective July 1, 2021. 
 

Section 2: That the Capital Improvements Budget for fiscal 2021-22 is hereby approved 

effective July 1, 2021. 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23th day of June 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez 

Chair                                                                      

 

 

ATTEST: 

  

                                                 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

Secretary 

 

 

  

Page 280

Item 33.



Resolution No. CBL-2021-01 

Page 2 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

Attorney 

Page 281

Item 33.



Resolution No. CBL-2021-01 

Page 3 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA        ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE       )  ss. 

CITY OF COACHELLA           ) 

 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. CBL-2021-01, was duly adopted 

by the Board of Directors of the Coachella Educational and Governmental Access Cable Channel 

Corporation at a regular meeting thereof, held on the 23rd day of June 2021, by the following roll 

call vote: 

 

AYES:   

 

NOES:    

 

ABSENT:  

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

___________________________________                                             

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy City Clerk 

 

 

Page 282

Item 33.



Resolution No. FD-2021-02 

Page 1   

RESOLUTION NO. FD-2021-02 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

COACHELLA FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT, ADOPTING AN ANNUAL 

BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021-22 

 

WHEREAS, an annual budget for Fiscal Year 2021-22 has been prepared by the District 

Manager, Fire Chief and other District personnel; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has examined said budget and conferred with the 

District Manager and the Fire Chief; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors desires to adopt a final annual budget for the Fiscal 

Year 2021-22; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has, after due deliberation and consideration, made 

such amendments in the proposed annual budget as it considered desirable. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the Board of Directors of the Coachella Fire 

Protection District, as follows: 
 

Section 1: That the budget attached hereto and made a part hereof is hereby approved and 

effective July 1, 2021. 
 

Section 2: That the Capital Improvements Budget for fiscal 2021-22 is hereby approved 

effective July 1, 2021. 
 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23rd day of June 2021. 
 

 

___________________________________ 
Steven A. Hernandez 

Chairman 

 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

___________________________________ 
Angela M. Zepeda 

Secretary 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 

___________________________________ 
Carlos Campos 

City Attorney 

Page 283

Item 33.



Resolution No. FD-2021-02 

Page 2   

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE 

CITY OF COACHELLA 

) 

) ss. 

) 
 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. FD-2021-02 was duly adopted by 

the Board of Directors of the Coachella Fire Protection District at a regular meeting thereof, held 

on the 9th day of June, 2021 by the following vote of the Board: 
 

AYES:  

 

NOES:  

 

ABSENT:  

 

ABSTAIN: 
 

 

___________________________________ 
Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy City Clerk 

Page 284

Item 33.



 

RESOLUTION NO. SD-2021-02 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

COACHELLA SANITARY DISTRICT, ADOPTING AN ANNUAL BUDGET 

AND ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021-22 

 

WHEREAS, an annual budget and organizational structure for Fiscal Year 2021-22 has 

been prepared by the District Manager and other District personnel; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has examined said budget and organizational structure 

and conferred with the District Manager; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors desires to adopt a final annual budget and 

organizational structure for Fiscal Year 2021-22; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has, after due deliberation and consideration, made 

such amendments in the proposed annual budget as it considered desirable. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the Board of Directors of the Coachella Sanitary 

District, as follows: 
 

Section 1: That the budget and organizational structure attached hereto and made a part 

hereof is hereby approved and effective July 1, 2021. 
 

Section 2: That the Capital Improvements Budget for fiscal 2021-22 is hereby approved 

effective July 1, 2021. 
 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23rd day of June 2021. 
 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez 

President 

 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

Secretary 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

City Attorney 

Page 285

Item 33.



Resolution No. SD-2021-02 

Page 2 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE 

CITY OF COACHELLA 

) 

) ss. 

) 
 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-02 was duly adopted by 

the Board of Directors of the Coachella Sanitary District at a regular meeting thereof, held on the 

23rd day of June 2021, by the following vote of the Board: 

 
 

AYES:   

 

NOES:   

 

ABSENT:   

 

ABSTAIN:  
 

 

___________________________________ 

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy City Clerk 

Page 286

Item 33.



RESOLUTION NO. WA-2021-03 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

COACHELLA WATER AUTHORITY, ADOPTING AN ANNUAL 

BUDGET AND ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE FOR FISCAL YEAR 

2021-22 

 

WHEREAS, an annual budget and organizational structure for Fiscal Year 2021-22 has 

been prepared by the Executive Director and Authority staff; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has examined said budget and organizational structure 

and conferred with the Executive Director and Authority staff; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors desires to adopt a final annual budget and 

organizational structure for Fiscal Year 2021-22; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has, after due deliberation and consideration, made 

such amendments in the proposed annual budget as it considered desirable. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the Board of Directors of the Coachella Water 

Authority, as follows: 

 

Section 1: That the budget and organizational structure attached hereto and made a part 

hereof is hereby approved and effective July 1, 2021. 

 

Section 2: That the Capital Improvements Budget for fiscal 2021-22 is hereby approved 

effective July 1, 2021. 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23rd day of June 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez 

President 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

Secretary 

 

 

 

 

Page 287

Item 33.



Resolution No. WA-2021-03 

Page 2 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

General Counsel 

 

  

Page 288

Item 33.



Resolution No. WA-2021-03 

Page 3 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA        ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE       ) ss. 

CITY OF COACHELLA           ) 

 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. WA-2021-03 was duly adopted 

by the Board of Directors of the Coachella Water Authority at a regular meeting thereof, held on 

the 23rd day of June 2021, by the following vote of the Authority: 

 

AYES:   

 

NOES:   

 

ABSENT:   

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

___________________________________ 

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy Secretary, Coachella Water Authority 

 

Page 289

Item 33.



 

CITY OF COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA 

Proposed Budget  
Fiscal Year 2021-2022 

1Page 290

Item 33.



C I T Y OF COACHELLA 
Fiscal Year 2021/2022 
Proposed Budget 

&,7<�2)),&,$/6 

&ංඍඒ�&ඈඎඇർංඅ 
0ൺඒඈඋ ................................................................................................... 6ඍൾඏൾඇ�+ൾඋඇൺඇൽൾඓ 
0ൺඒඈඋ�3උඈ�7ൾආ ........................................................................................... -ඈඌൾ�*ඈඇඓൺඅൾඓ 
&ඈඎඇർංඅ�0ൾආൻൾඋ .......................................................................... 0ൾൺඇ�%ൾൺආൺඇ�-ൺർංඇඍඈ 
&ඈඎඇർංඅ�0ൾආൻൾඋ ...................................................................................... 'ൾඇංඌൾ�'ൾඅൺൽඈ 
&ඈඎඇർංඅ�0ൾආൻൾඋ ..................................................................................... 1ൾൿඍൺඅං�*ൺඅൺඋඓൺ 

2ඍඁൾඋ�(අൾർඍൾൽ�2ൿൿංർංൺඅඌ 
&ංඍඒ�&අൾඋ ........................................................................................... $ඇൾඅൺ�0��=ൾඉൾൽൺ 
&ංඍඒ�7උൾൺඌඎඋൾඋ .......................................................................................... $උඍඎඋඈ�$ඏංඅൾඓ 

$ൽආංඇංඌඍඋൺඍංඏൾ�2ൿൿංർංൺඅඌ 
&ංඍඒ�0ൺඇൺൾඋ ........................................................................................... *ൺൻඋංൾඅ�0ൺඋඍංඇ 
&ංඍඒ�$ඍඍඈඋඇൾඒ ........................................................................................... &ൺඋඅඈඌ�&ൺආඉඈඌ 
&ඁංൾൿ�ඈൿ�3ඈඅංർൾ ........................................................................................ 0ංඌඍඒ�5ൾඒඇඈඅൽඌ� 
'ൾඏൾඅඈඉආൾඇඍ�6ൾඋඏංർൾඌ�'ංඋൾർඍඈඋ ..................................................................... /ඎංඌ�/ඈඉൾඓ 
&ංඍඒ�(ඇංඇൾൾඋ ........................................................................................ $ඇൽඋൾඐ�6ංආආඈඇඌ 
)ංඋൾ�&ඁංൾൿ ....................................................................................... %ඈඇංൿൺർංඈ�'ൾ�/ൺ�&උඎඓ 
)ංඇൺඇർൾ�'ංඋൾർඍඈඋ ................................................................................... 1ൺඍඁൺඇ�6ඍൺඍඁൺආ 
3ඎൻඅංർ�:ඈඋඌ�'ංඋൾർඍඈඋ ...................................................................... 0ൺඋංඍඓൺ�0ൺඋඍංඇൾඓ 
8ඍංඅංඍංൾඌ�'ංඋൾർඍඈඋ ................................................................................. &ගඌඍඎඅඈ�(ඌඍඋൺൽൺ 

2Page 291

Item 33.



 

 

City Manager’s Budget Message 

%XGJHW�0HVVDJH 
 

0D\RU�DQG�0HPEHUV�RI�WKH�&LW\�&RXQFLO�DOVR�DFWLQJ�DV�%RDUG�0HPEHUV�IRU�WKH�&RDFKHOOD�6DQLWDU\�'LVWULFW��
&RDFKHOOD�)LQDQFLQJ�$XWKRULW\��&RDFKHOOD�:DWHU�$XWKRULW\��&RDFKHOOD�(GXFDWLRQDO�DQG�*RYHUQPHQWDO�$F�
FHVV�&DEOH�&KDQQHO�&RUSRUDWLRQ�DQG�&RDFKHOOD�)LUH�3URWHFWLRQ�'LVWULFW� 
 

,QWURGXFWLRQ�DQG�6XPPDU\ 
 
,�DP�SOHDVHG�WR�VXEPLW�IRU�\RXU�UHYLHZ�WKH�SURSRVHG�EXGJHW�IRU�WKH�&LW\�RI�&RDFKHOOD�IRU�DOO�IXQGV�DQG�GHSDUWPHQWV�
DQG�LWV�FRPSRQHQW�XQLWV�IRU�WKH�ILVFDO�\HDU�EHJLQQLQJ�-XO\���������DQG�HQGLQJ�-XQH���������� 
 
,Q�WKH�SURSRVHG�EXGJHW�IRU�)LVFDO�<HDU�����-������WKH�&LW\�RI�&RDFKHOOD�DQG�DOO�LWV�FRPSRQHQW�XQLWV�KDYH�EXGJHWHG�
UHYHQXHV�RI�������PLOOLRQ�DQG�DSSURSULDWLRQV�RI��������PLOOLRQ��������PLOOLRQ�RI�WKHVH�DSSURSULDWLRQV�DUH�IRU�FDSLWDO�
SURMHFWV��&,3��H[SHQGLWXUHV��7KH�&LW\¶V�*HQHUDO�)XQG�KDV�EXGJHWHG�UHYHQXHV�RI�������PLOOLRQ�DQG�H[SHQGLWXUH�DS�
SURSULDWLRQV�RI�������PLOOLRQ�UHVXOWLQJ�LQ�D����������EXGJHWHG�VXUSOXV�RI�UHYHQXHV�RYHU�H[SHQVHV�WKDW�LV�ODUJHO\�GXH�
WR�SURMHFWHG�VDOHV�WD[�LQFUHDVHV�GXH�WR�WKH�UHFRYHU\�IURP�WKH�&29,'-���3DQGHPLF��7KH�*HQHUDO�)XQG�LV�SURMHFWHG�
WR�KDYH�XQUHVWULFWHG�UHVHUYHV�RI�������PLOOLRQ�DW�-XQH������������'HWDLOV�DUH�SURYLGHG�LQ�WKH�JHQHUDO�IXQG�VFKHGXOHV�
DQG�WDEOHV�WKDW�IROORZ��� 

 
+LVWRU\ 

 
'XULQJ�WKH�SULRU�WKUHH�ILVFDO�\HDUV������-�����-�����-������WKH�&LW\�RI�&RDFKHOOD�KDV�VHHQ�D�VWHDG\�HFRQRPLF�UH�
FRYHU\�IRU�RXU�FRPPXQLW\�QRWZLWKVWDQGLQJ�WKH�HIIHFWV�RI�&29,'-����7KH�SURORQJHG�VORZ�UHFRYHU\�IURP�WKH������
UHFHVVLRQ�FRQWLQXHV�WR�DIIHFW�RXU�ORFDO�HFRQRP\��7KH�YRWHUV�SDVVHG�0HDVXUH�8��D�VDOHV�WD[�UDWH�LQFUHDVH�RI����LQ�
1RYHPEHU�RI�������7KHVH�IXQGV�ZHUH�FULWLFDO�LQ�DOORZLQJ�XV�WR�ILQLVK�ODVW�ILVFDO�\HDU�ZLWKLQ�EXGJHW��+RZHYHU��GXU�
LQJ� WKHVH� WKUHH� ILVFDO� \HDUV� WKH�&LW\� LQFXUUHG� VWHHS� LQFUHDVHV� LQ�RXU� FRQWUDFWV�ZLWK�5LYHUVLGH�&RXQW\�6KHULII� DQG�
5LYHUVLGH� &RXQW\�&DO� )LUH� IRU� 3ROLFH� DQG� )LUH� VHUYLFHV�� 7KH� 3ROLFH� 'HSDUWPHQW� H[SHQGLWXUHV� LQFUHDVHG� E\�
�������������������DQG�WKH�)LUH�'HSDUWPHQW�([SHQGLWXUHV�LQFUHDVHG�E\���������������������IRU�D�FRPELQHG�WRWDO�
RI������������RU�D�������LQFUHDVH�LQ�3XEOLF�6DIHW\�H[SHQGLWXUHV�RYHU�WKH�WKUHH�\HDUV��7KH�0HDVXUH�8�VDOHV�WD[�UHY�
HQXH�FRQWLQXH�WR�DOORZ�WKH�&LW\�WR�FRYHU�WKHVH�LQFUHDVHG�SXEOLF�VDIHW\�FRVW�OHYHOV�LQWR�)<�����-�����ZLWK�RQO\�OLP�
LWHG�UHGXFWLRQV�LQ�OHYHOV�RI�VHUYLFH�EXW�WKHVH�3XEOLF�6DIHW\�FRQWUDFWHG�VHUYLFH�LQFUHDVHV�E\�5LYHUVLGH�&RXQW\�DUH�QRW�
VXVWDLQDEOH�RYHU�WLPH�� 
  
,Q�ILVFDO�\HDUV���-���DQG���-���WKH�&LW\�IDFHG�&29,'-���UHODWHG�HFRQRPLF�FKDOOHQJHV��7KH�SDQGHPLF�UHVXOWHG�LQ��
VDOHV�WD[�UHGXFWLRQV�RI����������LQ���-���DQG�LV�H[SHFWHG�WR�UHVXOW�LQ�UHGXFWLRQV�RI����������LQ���-����7KHVH�UHGXF�
WLRQV�DUH�H[SHFWHG�WR�EH�RIIVHW�ZLWK�UHFRYHULHV�LQ���-���DQG���-���DV�WKH�HFRQRP\�FRQWLQXHV�WR�H[SDQG�ODUJHO\�GXH�
WR�HFRQRPLF�VWLPXOXV�SURJUDPV�� 
 

&ඁൺඅඅൾඇൾඌ�ൺඇൽ�3උංඈඋංඍංൾඌ 
 
&29,'-���3DQGHPLF�-�7KH�&LW\�VWLOO�IDFHV�XQIROGLQJ�HFRQRPLF�FKDOOHQJHV�UHVXOWLQJ�IURP�WKH�&29,'-���3DQGHP�
LF��7KH�3DQGHPLF�KDV�UHGXFHG�VDOHV�WD[�UHYHQXHV�EXW�D�UHFRYHU\�LQ�VDOHV�WD[�UHYHQXHV�LV�H[SHFWHG��8WLOLW\�UHYHQXHV�
LQ�WKH�:DWHU�$XWKRULW\�DQG�6DQLWDWLRQ�'LVWULFW�KDYH�H[SHULHQFHG�ODJV�LQ�UHFHLYLQJ�FDVK�SD\PHQWV�GXH�WR�&LW\�VKXWRII�
PRUDWRULXPV��7KHVH�ODJV�LQ�FDVK�SD\PHQWV�DUH�QRW�H[SHFWHG�WR�KDYH�D�VLJQLILFDQW�LPSDFW�RQ�&LW\�8WLOLW\�UHYHQXHV��
7KH�&LW\�DQWLFLSDWHV�DGGLWLRQDO�DVVLVWDQFH� IURP� WKH�$PHULFDQ�5HFRYHU\�$FW�RI�������EXW� WKH�PDMRULW\�RI� WKH�H[�
SHFWHG�IXQGV�ZLOO�EH�IRU�VSHFLILF�SXUSRVHV�DQG�QRW�IRU�JHQHUDO�XVH�E\�WKH�&LW\��7KH�HIIHFW�RI�WKHVH�IXQGV�ZHUH�QRW�
LQFRUSRUDWHG�LQWR�WKH�SURSRVHG���-���EXGJHW�� 
 
3XEOLF�6DIHW\�&RVW�,QFUHDVH�-�,QFUHDVHV�LQ�SXEOLF�VDIHW\�FRVWV�FRQWLQXH�WR�EH�D�FKDOOHQJH�IRU�WKH�&LW\���7KH�&RXQW\�
RI� 5LYHUVLGH¶V� FRQWLQXRXV� LQFUHDVH� WR� SXEOLF� VDIHW\� VHUYLFHV� LV� OLPLWLQJ� WKH� DPRXQWV� DYDLODEOH� WR� DGGUHVV� FDSLWDO�
QHHGV��PDLQWHQDQFH�DQG�RSHUDWLRQV� LQ�H[LVWLQJ�DQG� IXWXUH� IDFLOLWLHV�� ,Q�)LVFDO�<HDU�����-���� WKHUH�ZDV�D� WRWDO� LQ�
FUHDVH�RYHU�WKH�SUHYLRXV�)LVFDO�<HDU�WR�3ROLFH�DQG�)LUH�RI�������������ZKLFK�UHSUHVHQWV�VOLJKWO\�RYHU���������)RU�

3Page 292

Item 33.



 

 

City Manager’s Budget Message 

(ർඈඇඈආංർ�)ඈඋൾർൺඌඍඌ 
 

$V�WKH�ORFDO�DQG�QDWLRQDO�HFRQRPLHV�KDYH�VWUXJJOHG�WR�FRSH�ZLWK�WKH�&29,'-���3DQGHPLF��WKH�EURDGHU�HFRQRP\�LV�
VHHLQJ�VLJQLILFDQW�JURZWK�DV�VWDWHV�FRQWLQXH�WR�OLIH�SDQGHPLF�UHODWHG�UHVWULFWLRQV��$�NH\�IDFWRU�IRU�HFRQRPLF�IRUH�
FDVWV�LV�XQHPSOR\PHQW��1DWLRQDO�XQHPSOR\PHQW�KDV�GURSSHG�VLJQLILFDQWO\�IURP�SDQGHPLF�KLJKV�RI�������LQ�$SULO�
�����WKH������LQ�$SULO������DFFRUGLQJ�WR�WKH�8�6��%XUHDX�RI�/DERU�6WDWLVWLFV��'HVSLWH�WKHVH�FKDOOHQJHV��WKH�SDQ�
GHPLF�RFFXUUHG�LQ�WKH�PLGVW�RI�D�VWURQJ�ORFDO�DQG�QDWLRQDO�HFRQRP\��6LJQLILFDQW�VWLPXOXV�SURJUDPV�KDYH�\HW�WR�EH�
IXOO\�LPSOHPHQWHG�DQG�DUH�H[SHFWHG�WR�FRQWLQXH�WR�H[SDQG�WKH�UHFRYHULQJ�HFRQRP\�� 
 
*LYHQ�WKLV�XQSUHFHGHQWHG�YRODWLOLW\�LQ�HFRQRPLF�GDWD��&LW\�VWDII�IRFXVHG�RQ�HYDOXDWLQJ�&LW\�UHYHQXHV�EDVHG�RQ�KLV�
WRULFDO�GDWD�ZKLOH�DFFRXQWLQJ�IRU�OLNHO\�HIIHFWV�WKDW�ZLOO�RFFXU�IURP�FXUUHQW�NQRZQ�IDFWRUV��)LQDQFH�VWDII�ZLOO�FRQ�
WLQXH�WR�PRQLWRU�HFRQRPLF�GDWD�WKURXJKRXW�WKH�\HDU��7KH�&LW\�RI�&RDFKHOOD�ZLOO�FRQWLQXH�WR�HQGHDYRU�WR�PDLQWDLQ�D�
GLYHUVLILHG�DQG�VWDEOH�UHYHQXH�EDVH�WR�PLQLPL]H�WKH�HIIHFWV�RI�HFRQRPLF�IOXFWXDWLRQ��$OO�HVWLPDWHV�DUH�FRQVHUYDWLYH�
DQG�EDVHG�RQ�KLVWRULFDO�SHUVSHFWLYHV�RU�NQRZQ�HYHQWV� 
 
 

*ൾඇൾඋൺඅ�)ඎඇൽ�5ൾඏൾඇඎൾඌ 
 

*HQHUDO�IXQG�UHYHQXHV�DUH�FDWHJRUL]HG�LQWR�VHYHQ�EURDG�FDWHJRULHV�WD[HV��FKDUJHV�IRU�VHUYLFHV��ILQHV�DQG�IRUIHLWXUHV��
LQWHUJRYHUQPHQWDO��XVH�RI�PRQH\�DQG�SURSHUW\��RWKHU�UHYHQXHV�DQG�RSHUDWLQJ�WUDQVIHUV�� 
 

 
,QWHUJRYHUQPHQWDO� UHYHQXHV�DUH�VXEVWDQWLDO� LQ�FRPSDULVRQ� WR�RWKHU�FDWHJRULHV��7KH�JHQHUDO� IXQG¶V�SRVLWLRQ�DV� WKH�
RULJLQDWLQJ�IXQG�IRU�DOO�VHUYLFH�FRPSRQHQWV��L�H���:DWHU��6DQLWDU\��)LUH��3ROLFH��6WUHHWV��DQG�5HGHYHORSPHQW�HIIRUWV�
KDV�UHVXOWHG�LQ�WKH�JHQHUDO�IXQG�QRZ�UHFHLYLQJ�VHUYLFH�FKDUJHV�IURP�DOO�IXQGV��7KH�SURFHVV�RI�HQGLQJ�5HGHYHORS�
PHQW�KDV�UHVXOWHG�LQ�D�VLJQLILFDQW�ORVV�RI�DGPLQLVWUDWLYH�IXQGV���5HGHYHORSPHQW�WD[�LQFUHPHQW�IXQGV�DUH�VWLOO�DYDLOD�
EOH�WR�SHUIRUP�DGPLQLVWUDWLYH�DQG�OHJDO�DFWLYLWLHV�UHTXLUHG�WR�GLVSRVH�RI�DVVHWV�DQG�UHVWUXFWXUH�ILQDQFLQJ�EXW�WKH\�DUH�
OLPLWHG�DQG�GR�QRW�FRYHU�WKH�IXOO�FRVW�RI�WKH�UHGHYHORSPHQW�DJHQF\�GLVVROXWLRQ��7KH�&LW\¶V����HPSOR\HHV¶�VDODU\�
FRVWV�DUH�GLVEXUVHG�DPRQJ����GLIIHUHQW�GHSDUWPHQWV�DQG�IXQGV�WR�EH�DEOH�WR�DVFHUWDLQ�ERWK�GLUHFW�DQG�LQGLUHFW�FRVWV�
IURP�WKH�IDPLO\�RI�HPSOR\HHV�IRU�&LW\�VHUYLFHV�UHQGHUHG�� 
 
 

4Page 293

Item 33.



 

 

City Manager’s Budget Message 

 
*ൾඇൾඋൺඅ�)ඎඇൽ�(එඉൾඇൽංඍඎඋൾඌ�ൻඒ�'ൾඉൺඋඍආൾඇඍ 

 
7KH�*HQHUDO�)XQG� LV� WKH�PDLQ�RSHUDWLQJ�IXQG�RI� WKH�&LW\�RI�&RDFKHOOD�� ,W� LV�XVHG� WR�DFFRXQW� IRU�DOO� ILQDQFLDO� UH�
VRXUFHV� H[FHSW� ZKHUH� OHJDO�� DGPLQLVWUDWLYH� RU� *HQHUDOO\� $FFHSWHG�$FFRXQWLQJ� 3ULQFLSOHV� �*$$3�� UHTXLUHPHQWV�
FDXVH�WKHP�WR�EH�DFFRXQWHG�IRU�LQ�DQRWKHU�IXQG� 
 
7KH�&LW\¶V�JHQHUDO�IXQG�DFWLYLW\�LQFOXGHV�GHSDUWPHQWV�WKDW�VHUYH�WKH�JHQHUDO�SXEOLF�DV�ZHOO�DV�IXQFWLRQV�WKDW�SURYLGH�
DGPLQLVWUDWLYH�VXSSRUW�WR�WKH�YDULRXV�GHSDUWPHQWV�ZLWKLQ�WKH�JRYHUQPHQW�DQG�LWV�DJHQFLHV��7KH�WDEOH�VKRZQ�EHORZ�
SURYLGHV�D�VXPPDU\�OLVW�RI�WKH�*HQHUDO�)XQG�'HSDUWPHQWV�DQG�WKHLU�UHVSHFWLYH�EXGJHWV� 
 
 

5Page 294

Item 33.



 

 

City Manager’s Budget Message 

2ඍඁൾඋ�)ඎඇൽඌ 
 

7KH�&LW\�KDV�YDULRXV�IXQGV�DQG�VSHFLDO�GLVWULFWV�ZKLFK�DUH�GHVLJQDWHG�VXEGLYLVLRQV�RI�WKH�JHQHUDO�IXQG�RU�DUH�FODVVL�
ILHG�DV�FRPSRQHQW�XQLWV��7KHVH�RWKHU� IXQGV�DOO�KDYH�WKH�&RDFKHOOD�&LW\�&RXQFLO�DV� WKH�JRYHUQLQJ�ERG\�DQG�KDYH�
WKHLU�UHVSHFWLYH�EXGJHWV�DSSURYHG�E\�WKH�&RXQFLO�IRU�WKH�ILVFDO�\HDU�HQGHG�-XQH����������� 

 
6ඉൾർංൺඅ�5ൾඏൾඇඎൾ�)ඎඇൽඌ 

 
6SHFLDO�UHYHQXH�IXQGV�DUH�XVHG�WR�DFFRXQW�IRU�WKH�SURFHHGV�RI�VSHFLILF�UHYHQXH�VRXUFHV�WKDW�DUH�OHJDOO\�UHVWULFWHG�IRU�
VSHFLILF�SXUSRVHV��6SHFLDO�5HYHQXH�IXQGV�LQFOXGH�6WDWH�DQG�)HGHUDO�JUDQWV�DQG�VXEYHQWLRQV��LPSDFW�IHHV��IXQGV�WR�
EH�XVHG�VROHO\�IRU�FDSLWDO�SURMHFWV��DQG�WKH�SURSHUW\�WD[HV�DQG�FKDUJHV�FROOHFWHG�E\�WKH�&RXQW\�7D[-&ROOHFWRU¶V�2I�
ILFH�IRU� WKH�6XFFHVVRU�$JHQF\�RI� WKH�)RUPHU�&RDFKHOOD�5HGHYHORSPHQW�$JHQF\�� WKH�&RDFKHOOD�6DQLWDU\�'LVWULFW��
DQG�WKH�&RDFKHOOD�)LUH�3URWHFWLRQ�'LVWULFW�� 
  

&ൺඉංඍൺඅ�,ආඉඋඈඏൾආൾඇඍ�)ඎඇൽ 
 
&DSLWDO�,PSURYHPHQW�)XQGV�DUH�XVHG�WR�DFFRXQW�IRU�SURMHFW�FRVWV�RI�SHUPDQHQW�JHQHUDO�RU�HQWHUSULVH�IXQG�UHVRXUFHV�
XVHG�IRU�WKH�EXLOGLQJ�RI�LQIUDVWUXFWXUH�WR�DWWUDFW�EXVLQHVV�DQG�H[SDQG�FDSDFLWLHV��7KH�&DSLWDO�,PSURYHPHQW�3URJUDP�
IRXQG�LQ�WKH�ODVW�EXGJHW�VHFWLRQ�LV�D�OLVWLQJ�RI�SURSRVHG�DQG�H[LVWLQJ�SURMHFWV�IRU�WKH�DFTXLVLWLRQ�DQG�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�RI�
FDSLWDO�DVVHWV��7KHVH�SURJUDPV�DUH�RXWOLQHG�LQ�WKH�SURSRVHG�ILYH-\HDU�FDSLWDO�EXGJHW�DQG�H[LVWLQJ�FDSLWDO�SURMHFWV��
7KH� ILYH-\HDU�&DSLWDO� ,PSURYHPHQW�3ODQ� LQFOXGHV�SURSRVHG� ILQDQFLQJ� IRU� WKH�����-��� ILVFDO� \HDU�ZLWK�SURMHFWHG�
UHYHQXH�VRXUFHV�DQG�SURMHFW�FRVWV�IRU�WKH�QH[W�IRXU�ILVFDO�\HDUV��7KH�(QJLQHHULQJ�'HSDUWPHQW�KDV�SURYLGHG�D�FRP�
SUHKHQVLYH�FDSLWDO�LPSURYHPHQWV�SODQ�WKDW�XWLOL]HV�ERQG�SURFHHGV�IURP�SUHYLRXV�LVVXDQFHV��GHYHORSHU�LPSDFW�IHHV��
JUDQWV�DQG�VHOI-JHQHUDWHG�IXQGV�IURP�WKH�&LW\¶V�HQWHUSULVH�RSHUDWLRQV��$OWKRXJK�WKH�IXQGV�UHTXLUHG�IRU�WKH�SURSRVHG�
ILVFDO�\HDU�SURMHFWV�DUH�DYDLODEOH��IXWXUH�\HDU¶V�SURMHFWV�PD\�KDYH�D�³7R�%H�'HWHUPLQHG´�IRRWQRWH�LI�IXQGV�KDYH�QRW�
\HW�EHHQ�LGHQWLILHG�� 

 
3උඈඉඈඌൾൽ�%ඎൽൾඍ 

  
,QGLYLGXDO�GHSDUWPHQWV�KDYH�LQFOXGHG�WKHLU�DFFRPSOLVKPHQWV�IRU�WKH�FXUUHQW�ILVFDO�\HDU��WKHLU�JRDOV�IRU�WKH�����-���
EXGJHW�\HDU�DQG�DUH�SUHVHQWLQJ�EXGJHW�LVVXHV�WR�WKH�&RXQFLO�IRU�\RXU�UHYLHZ�DQG�DSSURYDO�WKDW�ZLOO�DOORZ�WKH�&RXQ�
FLO�WR�VWDQGDUGL]H�IXWXUH�EXGJHW�PDWWHUV�DQG�NHHS�WKH�&RXQFLO¶V�SROLFLHV�LQ�OLQH�ZLWK�WKH�&LW\¶V�SULRULWLHV� 
  
,�ZRXOG� OLNH� WR� WKDQN�3XEOLF�:RUNV�'LUHFWRU�0DULW]D�0DUWLQH]��&LW\�(QJLQHHU�$QGUHZ� 6LPPRQV��'HYHORSPHQW�
6HUYLFHV�'LUHFWRU�/XLV� /RSH]��8WLOLWLHV�'LUHFWRU�&DVWXOR�(VWUDGD�� )LQDQFH�'LUHFWRU�1DWKDQ�6WDWKDP��$FFRXQWLQJ�
0DQJHU�5XEHQ�5DPLUH]��)LQDQFH�'HSDUWPHQW�VWDII��DQG�DOO�WKH�&LW\�SHUVRQQHO�ZKR�FRQWULEXWHG�WR�WKH�HQWLUH�EXGJHW�
SURFHVV� 
  
 
5HVSHFWIXOO\�VXEPLWWHG� 
  
  
'U��*DEULHO�0DUWLQ 
&LW\�0DQDJHU 

6Page 295

Item 33.



 

 

7Page 296

Item 33.



 

 

Community Profile 
About the City 

7KH�+LVWRU\�RI�WKH�FLW\�DQG�WRZQ�RI�&RDFKHOOD�GDWHV�EDFN�PRUH�WKDQ�����\HDUV�WR������ZKHQ�
WKH�&RDFKHOOD�9DOOH\�ZDV�PHUHO\�D�SDUW�RI�WKH�JUHDW�XQGHYHORSHG�VDQG�ZDVWH�RI�WKH�&RORUDGR�
5LYHU�EDVLQ��$W�WKDW�WLPH��D�KHDY\�JURZWK�RI�PHVTXLWH�DQG�JUHDVHZRRG�FRYHUHG�WKH�9DOOH\� 

7KLV�DUHD�FDPH�LQWR�EHLQJ�DV�D�SODFH�RQ�WKH�PDS�ZKHQ�-DVRQ�/��5HFWRU��NQRZQ�DV�WKH�WRZQ
V�
IRXQGHU�� HVWDEOLVKHG� D� PHVTXLWH� ZRRG� WHUPLQDO� RQ� D� 6RXWKHUQ� 3DFLILF�
5DLOURDG�VLGLQJ�IURP�ZKHUH�OXPEHU�ZDV�KDXOHG�WR�PDUNHW�LQ�/RV�$QJH�
OHV��7KLV�VSXU�RU�VLGLQJ�ZDV�QDPHG�³:RRGVSXU

�DQG�ZDV�D�WKULYLQJ�EXVL�
QHVV� 
 
7KH�WRZQVLWH�ZDV�NQRZQ�DV�:RRGVSXU�IRU�WKH�ILUVW�WKUHH�\HDUV�RI�LWV�H[�
LVWHQFH��0U��5HFWRU� UHOLQTXLVKHG� WKLV�ZRUN�DQG�FDUULHG� LQWR� H[HFXWLRQ�D�
ORQJ� FKHULVKHG� SODQ� RI� VXUYH\LQJ� WKH� YDOOH\�� +LV� QH[W� VWHS� ZDV� WR� SXW�
GRZQ�D�ZHOO�WR�WHVW�WKH�LGHD�WKDW�DQ�DEXQGDQFH�RI�ZDWHU�ZDV�DYDLODEOH�IRU�
LUULJDWLRQ� 

6HWWOHPHQW� LQ� WKH� DUHD� GLG� QRW� EHJLQ� XQWLO�5HFWRU�� DLGHG� E\� KLV� EURWKHU�
/RQ�%��5HFWRU��KDG�D�ZHOO�GXJ�RQ�WKH�UDZ�GHVHUW�IRXU�PLOHV�HDVW�RI�,QGLR��
7KLV� ILUVW�ZHOO� WDSSHG� D� ILQH� SXUH� DUWHVLDQ�ZDWHU�ZHOO� �RQ�ZKDW� LV� QRZ�
FRYHUHG� E\� WKH� LQWHUVHFWLRQ� RI� *UDSHIUXLW� $YHQXH� DQG� )LIWK� 6WUHHW� LQ�
&RDFKHOOD���ZKLFK�GHVFHQGHG�����IHHW�DQG�WRRN�HLJKW�PRQWKV�WR�GLJ��7KH�
5HFWRUV�FRPSOHWHG�WKH�ZHOO�LQ�1RYHPEHU�RI������ 
 
7KLV�QDPH�ZDV�DJUHHG�XSRQ��7KH�GHYHORSHUV�IRUPDOO\�ODLG�RXW�WKH�WRZQ�

VLWH�LQ�-DQXDU\�������DQG�VHQW�D�SURVSHFWXV�WR�WKH�SULQWHUV��ZKLFK�ZDV�WR�DQQRXQFH�WKH�RSHQ�
LQJ�RI�WKH�QHZ�WRZQ�DQG�WKH�WUHPHQGRXV�DJULFXOWXUDO�SRVVLELOLWLHV�LQ�WKH�VXUURXQGLQJ�DUHD��
%XW�WKH�SULQWHUV�UHWXUQHG�WKH�SURVSHFWXV�ZLWK�&RQFKLOOD�VSHOOHG�&RDFKHOOD��PLVUHDGLQJ�WKH�
OHWWHU�³Q´�IRU�DQ�³D´�DQG�PLVUHDGLQJ�WKH�³L´�DV�DQ�³H´���5DWKHU�WKDQ�GHOD\�WKHLU�DQQRXQFHPHQW��
0U��5HFWRU�DQG�WKH�RWKHUV�GHFLGHG�WR�DFFHSW�WKH�QDPH��ZKLFK�ZDV�DOVR�DGRSWHG�E\�WKH�9DOOH\� 

8Page 297

Item 33.



 

 

9Page 298

Item 33.



 

 

Community Profile 
About the City 

:KHQ�LW�ZDV�IRXQG�RXW� WKDW�0U��5HFWRU�KDG�VWUXFN�ZDWHU� LQ� WKDW�DULG� UHJLRQ��PDQ\�PHQ�FDPH�
IURP�YDULRXV�SODFHV�WR�LQVSHFW�WKH�UHVXOW��%HIRUH�KLP��ODUJH�DPRXQWV�RI�PRQH\�KDG�EHHQ�H[SDQG�
HG�E\�VHYHUDO�SHUVRQV�LQWHUHVWHG�LQ�WKH�GHYHORSPHQW�RI�WKH�VHFWLRQ��EXW�ZLWKRXW�VXFFHVV��%\�WKH�
ZHOO-GLUHFWHG�HIIRUWV�RI�0U��5HFWRU��LUULJDWLRQ�ZDV�PDGH�SRVVLEOH�DQG�VWXUG\�FLWL]HQV�ZHUH�ORFDW�
HG�RQ�KRPHVWHDGV�WR�ZKLFK�WKH�SULRU�ULJKWV�KDG�EHHQ�IRUIHLWHG�E\�SUHYLRXV�VHWWOHUV��ZKR�RQ�DF�
FRXQW�RI�EHLQJ�XQDEOH�WR�JHW�ZDWHU��KDG�DEDQGRQHG�WKHLU�FODLPV� 

2Q�'HFHPEHU����������&RDFKHOOD� LQFRUSRUDWHG�DQG�RIILFLDOO\�EHFDPH�WKH�³&LW\�RI�&RDFKHOOD´�
E\�D��-��PDMRULW\�YRWH�IRUP�D�FLW\�RSHUDWLQJ�XQGHU�WKH�JHQHUDO�ODZV�RI�WKH�6WDWH�RI�&DOLIRUQLD��
$W� WKH� VDPH� WLPH� WKH� ILUVW�&LW\�&RXQFLO�ZDV� HOHFWHG� GXULQJ� WKH� LQFRUSRUDWLRQ� YRWLQJ� SURFHVV���
&RDFKHOOD� ILUVW�EHJDQ�DV����-VTXDUH-PLOHV�� � ,Q� WKH�����¶V�&RDFKHOOD� VWDUWHG� WKH�SURFHVV� WR�H[�
SDQG�LQWR�LWV�SUHVHQW�VSKHUH�WKDW� LQFOXGHV����VTXDUH�PLOHV�� �'XULQJ�WKH�SURJUHVVLYH�����V�� WKH�
FLW\�EHJDQ�LWV�HYROXWLRQ�WRZDUGV�WKH�HFRQRPLF�KHLJKWV�H[SHULHQFHG�WRGD\� 
 
7KH�&LW\� LV� ORFDWHG� DW� WKH� HDVW� HQG� RI� WKH�&RDFKHOOD�9DOOH\� DSSUR[LPDWHO\� ���PLOHV� VRXWK� RI�
3DOP�6SULQJV��&DOLIRUQLD��7KH�VXUURXQGLQJ�DUHD�LV�ODUJHO\�DJULFXOWXUH�ODQG�WR�WKH�VRXWK��XQGHYHO�
RSHG�ODQG�WR�WKH�HDVW�DQG�QRUWK��DQG��
XUEDQ�JURZWK�WR�WKH�ZHVW���7KH�FRP�
PXQLWLHV� RI� &RDFKHOOD� --� LQFOXGLQJ�
7KHUPDO�DQG�0HFFD�--� LQFOXGH�PRUH�
WKDQ� ������� DFUHV� RI� ODQG� LUULJDWHG�
E\�WKH�&RORUDGR�5LYHU�YLD�D�FRPSOH[�
FDQDO�V\VWHP��7KLV�LV�ZKHUH�PDQ\�RI�
&DOLIRUQLD
V� ODUJHVW� FURSV�RI� OHPRQV��
DYRFDGRV�� ILJV� DQG� SHUVLPPRQV� DUH�
JURZQ� 

6LJQLILFDQW� FKDQJHV� DUH� RFFXUULQJ�
ZLWKLQ�WKH�&LW\�DQG�LQ�WKH�VXUURXQG�
LQJ�DUHD���&RDFKHOOD�LV�D�VPDOO��VWDEOH�
FRPPXQLW\� ORFDWHG� LQ� WKH� FHQWHU� RI�
WKH�IDVWHVW�JURZLQJ�UHJLRQ�LQ�WKH�DUHD��WKH�HDVWHUQ�&RDFKHOOD�9DOOH\� �7KH�&LW\�RIIHUV�D�ZHDOWK�RI�
RSSRUWXQLW\�DQG�DQ�XQPDWFKHG�OLIHVW\OH�IRU�ZKLFK�WKH�ZKROH�YDOOH\�LV�LQWHUQDWLRQDOO\�NQRZQ��� 

7KH��&LW\�RI�(WHUQDO�6XQVKLQH�-�*DWHZD\�WR�WKH�6DOWRQ�6HD��LV�ODUJHO\�D�\RXQJ��UXUDO�DQG�IDPLO\
-RULHQWHG� DUHD� RI� WKH� GHVHUW��0XFK� RI� LWV� SRSXODWLRQ� LV�PDGH� XS� RI� \RXQJHU�+LVSDQLF� IDPLO\�
JURXSV�WKDW�HQMR\�D�VHQVH�RI�FRPPXQLW\�DQG�D�OLIHVW\OH�HQULFKHG�ZLWK�HOHPHQWV�RI�D�SURXG�KHULW�
DJH� 

10Page 299

Item 33.



 

 

Community Profile 
About the City 

&RDFKHOOD¶V�SRSXODWLRQ� LV� ORQJ�HVWDEOLVKHG��ZLWK�D�\RXQJ�PHGLDQ�DJH�RI�������DQG� LV�JURZLQJ�
IDVW�� ����VLQFH������ �&RDFKHOOD
V� VWDELOLW\� LV� HYLGHQFHG�E\� LWV� XQXVXDOO\� KLJK� UDWH�RI�������
KRPH�RZQHUVKLS� �7KH�FLW\�RIIHUV�UHVLGHQWV�H[WHQVLYH�FRPPXQLW\�IDFLOLWLHV��VHUYLFHV�DQG�SDUNV� 
 
6LQFH�&RQJUHVV�SDVVHG�WKH�1RUWK�$PHULFDQ�)UHH�7UDGH�$JUHHPHQW��1$)7$���+LJKZD\�����WKH�
URDG�WKDW�UXQV�WKURXJK�GRZQWRZQ�&RDFKHOOD��KDV�EHHQ�QLFNQDPHG�WKH�1$)7$�+LJKZD\��+XQ�
GUHGV� RI� WUDFWRU-WUDLOHU� WUXFNV� SDVV� WKURXJK�RQ� WKHLU�ZD\� WR� WKH�0H[LFDQ� ERUGHU� DQG� VRXWKHUQ�
PDUNHWV���0DMRU�LVVXHV�WKDW�ZLOO�DIIHFW�WKH�JURZWK�RI�WKH�&LW\�DQG�LWV�HFRQRPLF�YLDELOLW\�LQ�WKH�
IXWXUH�DUH� 
 

· 7KH�H[SDQVLRQ�RI�WKH�,QGLDQ�JDPLQJ�LQGXVWU\�LQ�WKH�DUHD� 
· $GYDQFHPHQW�RI�XUEDQ�GHYHORSPHQW�IURP�WKH�ZHVW�LQWR�&RDFKHOOD� 
· $WWUDFWLYHQHVV�RI�UHODWLYHO\�LQH[SHQVLYH�ODQG�LQ�D�FRPPHUFLDOO\�IULHQGO\�HQYLURQPHQW� 
· 7KH�&LW\¶V�DELOLW\�WR�REWDLQ�ILQDQFLQJ�DQG�RWKHU�DVVLVWDQFH�IRU�LQIUDVWUXFWXUH�H[SDQVLRQ� 
· $QQH[DWLRQ�RI�QHZ�DUHDV�LQWR�WKH�&LW\� 

 
7KH�&LW\�RI�&RDFKHOOD�RSHUDWHV�XQGHU�D�FRXQFLO-PDQDJHU�IRUP�RI�JRYHUQPHQW�ZKLFK�FRQVLVWV�RI�
IRXU�&RXQFLOPHPEHU¶V��WKH�0D\RU�DQG�WKH�&LW\�0DQDJHU���7KH�IRXU�&LW\�&RXQFLO�PHPEHUV�DUH�
HOHFWHG�DW� ODUJH�IRU�VWDJJHUHG�IRXU-\HDU� WHUPV�� �7KH�SRVLWLRQ�RI�0D\RU� LV�DOVR�HOHFWHG�DW� ODUJH�
DQG�VHUYHV�D�WZR-\HDU�WHUP���7KH�0D\RU�3UR-7HP�LV�HOHFWHG�E\�WKH�&RXQFLOPHPEHU¶V�DQG�URWDW�
HG�RQ�DQ�DQQXDO�EDVLV��� 
 
7KH�&LW\�RI�&RDFKHOOD�LV�D�IXOO-VHUYLFH�&LW\�DQG�SURYLGHV�WKH�IROORZLQJ�VHUYLFHV� 
 

· 3ROLFH�DQG�ILUH��FRQWUDFWHG�ZLWK�5LYHUVLGH�&RXQW\� 
· +LJKZD\V��HQJLQHHULQJ��EXLOGLQJ��VWUHHWV�DQG�SDUN�PDLQWHQDQFH 
· 3ODQQLQJ�DQG�]RQLQJ 
· 3XEOLF�LPSURYHPHQWV 
· *HQHUDO�DGPLQLVWUDWLYH�VHUYLFHV 
· :DWHU�DQG�VHZHU�VHUYLFHV 
· &RGH�(QIRUFHPHQW�DQG�$QLPDO�&RQWURO 
· (FRQRPLF�'HYHORSPHQW 

11Page 300

Item 33.



 

 

Community Profile 
Area Map 

12Page 301

Item 33.



 

 

Community Profile 
Area Statistics 

3XEOLF�6DIHW\ 

3ROLFH�'HSDUWPHQW—&RQWUDFW 
5LYHUVLGH�&RXQW\�6KHULII� 

 
 
 

 
· ������3DWURO�2IILFHUV�#����KRXUV�SHU�GD\ 
· ��6KHULII¶V�6HUJHDQW 
· ��&RPPXQLW\�$FWLRQ�7HDP��VGF-E� 
· ��&RDFKHOOD�9DOOH\�9LROHQW�*DQJ�7DVN�

)RUFH�2IILFHU 
· ��&RDFKHOOD�9DOOH\�9LROHQW�1DUFRWLF�

&ULPH�7DVN�)RUFH�2IILFHU 
· ��3$&7�'HSXW\��8'&� 
· ��&RPPXQLW\�6HUYLFH�2IILFHU�,, 

&RDFKHOOD�)LUH�3URWHFWLRQ�'LVWULFW� 
)LUH�'HSDUWPHQW�–&RQWUDFW 

5LYHUVLGH�&RXQW\�)LUH 
'HSDUWPHQW�&$/�),5(� 

 
 
· ��0HGLF�(QJLQH��� 
· ��)LUH�&DSWDLQV 
· ��(QJLQHHU 
· ��(QJLQHHU�0HGLFV 
· ��)LUHILJKWHU�,, 
· ��)LUHILJKWHU�,,�0HGLFV 
· ��9ROXQWHHU�3URJUDP 
· ��2IILFH�$VVLVWDQW 
 

13Page 302

Item 33.



 

 

Community Profile 
Area Statistics 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

^ĞǁĞƌ�^ĞƌǀŝĐĞ 
ϰ͘ϱ�DŝůůŝŽŶ�'ĂůůŽŶƐ 

 

&DSDFLW\�SHU�GD\� 
'LVLQIHFWHG�6HFRQGDU\�/HYHO� 

7UHDWPHQW�3ODQW 

DƵŶŝĐŝƉĂů�tĂƚĞƌ�WůĂŶƚ 
ϯ�ZĞƐĞƌǀŽŝƌƐ� 

���PLOOLRQ�JDO��&DSDFLW\ 

ϰϬ�й��ŶĞƌŐǇ�^ĂǀŝŶŐƐ� 
tĂƚĞƌ�ZĞĐůĂŵĂƟŽŶ�WůĂŶƚ� 
����N:�3KRWRYROWDLF�6\VWHP 

14Page 303

Item 33.



 

 

Community Profile 
Area Statistics 

 

3DUNV�DQG�5HFUHDWLRQ� 
&LW\�RI��&RDFKHOOD�SDUNV�DQG�UHFUHDWLRQ�SURYLGHV�D�YDULHW\�IDFLOLWLHV�ZLWK�GLYHUVH�VHUYLFHV���&XUUHQWO\�&LW\�RI�
&RDFKHOOD�KDV�HLJKW�SDUNV��RQH�WRW�ORW��WZR�FRPPXQLW\�FHQWHUV��RQH�ER[LQJ�FOXE��DQG�D�VZLPPLQJ�SRRO� 

%DJGRXPD�3DUN� 
 

%DVHEDOO�6RIWEDOO 7DEOHV   6QDFN�%DU  
 %DUEHTXHV 

%HQFKHV 6ZLPPLQJ�SRRO %OHDFKHUV  
  

3DYLOLRQ 3DUNLQJ   3OD\�*URXQG� 

'DWHODQG�3DUN� 
 

6NDWHERDUG�IDFLOLW\ %HQFKHV� 3OD\JURXQG
 2SHQ�*UDVV 

5DQFKR�'H�2UR�3DUN� 
 

%DVHEDOO�6RIWEDOO 7DEOHV   3OD\JURXQG
 2SHQ�*UDVV 

6LHUUD�9LVWD�3DUN� 
 

%DVHEDOO�6RIWEDOO 2SHQ�*UDVV  3OD\JURXQG
 %DUEHTXHV 

9HWHUDQV�3DUN� 
 

7DEOHV %HQFKHV   %DUEHTXHV 
%OHDFKHUV 2SHQ�JUDVV   6WDJH

  

6KDG\�/DQH�3DUN� 
 

7DEOHV 2SHQ�JUDVV 'ULQNLQJ�)RXQWDLQ 

7RW�/RW�3DUN� 
 

3OD\JURXQG� %HQFKHV %DUEHTXHV

5DQFKR�/DV�)ORUHV�3DUN 
 

6RFFHU�)RRWEDOO 3LFQLF�7DEOHV  3OD\JURXQG
 %HQFKHV 

6QDFN�%DU %DVNHWEDOO�&RXUWV 'ULQNLQJ�IRXQWDLQV

15Page 304

Item 33.



 

 

General Information 
City Organizational Chart 

16Page 305

Item 33.



 

 

General Information 
Budget Calendar 

),6&$/�<($5�����-�� 

 

'LVWULEXWH�����-���%XGJHW�:RUNVKHHWV ........................................................................ 0DUFK�� 

5HYLHZ�RI�5HYHQXH�(VWLPDWHV ....................................................................................... 0DUFK�� 

%XGJHW�:RUNVKHHWV�'XH�WR�)LQDQFH ............................................................................ 0DUFK��� 

%XGJHW�:RUNVKRS�ZLWK�'HSDUWPHQW�6WDII�	�%XGJHW�&RPPLWWHH ................................ $SULO��-� 

&RPSOHWH�)LUVW�'UDIW�RI�����-���%XGJHW ...................................................................... $SULO��� 

5HYLHZ�RI�ILUVW�'UDIW� ............................................................................................... $SULO���-�� 

&RPSOHWH�6HFRQG�'UDIW�RI�����-���%XGJHW .................................................................. 0D\��-� 

'LVWULEXWH�%XGJHW�3DFNDJH�WR�&RXQFLO� .......................................................................... 0D\��� 

3URSRVHG�%XGJHW�3UHVHQWDWLRQ� ....................................................................................... 0D\��� 

3XEOLF�+HDULQJ�	�$GRSW�����-���%XGJHW��6WXG\�6HVVLRQ�LI�1HFHVVDU\� ....................... -XQH��� 

3XEOLF�+HDULQJ�	�$GRSW�����-���%XGJHW��,I�&RQWLQXHG� .............................................. -XQH��� 

 

 

1RWH��7KHUH�ZHUH�VLJQLILFDQW�FKDQJHV�LQ�H[SHFWHG�EXGJHW�FDOHQGDU�GHDGOLQHV�GXH�WR�VWDIILQJ�
VFKHGXOH�FKDQJHV�UHODWHG�WR�&29,'-�� 

17Page 306

Item 33.



 

 

7KH� EXGJHW� SURFHVV� LV� GHWHUPLQHG� E\� ORFDO� DQG� 6WDWH� VWDWXWRU\� UHTXLUHPHQWV�� 7KH� &LW\� RI�
&RDFKHOOD�EXGJHW�SHULRG�FRLQFLGHV�ZLWK�WKH�&LW\¶V�ILVFDO�\HDU�WKDW�EHJLQV�RQ�WKH�ILUVW�GD\�RI�
-XO\�DQG�HQGV�RQ�WKH�ODVW�GD\�RI�-XQH�WKH�IROORZLQJ�\HDU� 
 
%8'*(7$5<�&21752/ 
 
$Q�DQQXDO�EXGJHW�LV�DGRSWHG�E\�WKH�&LW\�&RXQFLO�SULRU�WR�WKH�ILUVW�GD\�RI�WKH�ILVFDO�\HDU���,I�
IRU� JRRG� DQG� VXIILFLHQW� UHDVRQ� WKH� EXGJHW� FDQQRW� EH� DGRSWHG� E\� WKH� ILUVW� GD\� RI� WKH� ILVFDO�
\HDU��LW�VKDOO�EH�DGRSWHG�QR�ODWHU�WKDQ�IRUW\-ILYH�GD\V�VXEVHTXHQW�WR�WKH�EHJLQQLQJ�RI�WKH�ILV�
FDO�\HDU���,I�WKH�EXGJHW�LV�QRW�DGRSWHG�E\�WKH�EHJLQQLQJ�RI�WKH�ILVFDO�\HDU��D�UHVROXWLRQ�DXWKRU�
L]LQJ� WKH� FRQWLQXDWLRQ� RI� QHFHVVDU\� DQG� HVVHQWLDO� H[SHQGLWXUHV� WR� RSHUDWH� WKH�&LW\� VKDOO� EH�
DGRSWHG�SULRU�WR�WKH�EHJLQQLQJ�RI�WKH�ILVFDO�\HDU� 
 
$�SURSRVHG�EXGJHW�VKDOO�EH�SUHSDUHG�E\�WKH�&LW\�0DQDJHU�DQG�WUDQVPLWWHG�WR�WKH�&LW\�&RXQ�
FLO�IRU�LWV�UHYLHZ���2QFH�WUDQVPLWWHG�WR�WKH�&LW\�&RXQFLO��WKH�SURSRVHG�EXGJHW�LV�PDGH�DYDLOD�
EOH�IRU�SXEOLF�LQVSHFWLRQ���$�SXEOLF�KHDULQJ�LV�KHOG�WR�JLYH�WKH�SXEOLF�WKH�RSSRUWXQLW\�WR�FRP�
PHQW�XSRQ�WKH�SURSRVHG�EXGJHW�� �1RWLFH�RI�VXFK�SXEOLF�KHDULQJ�LV�JLYHQ� LQ�D�QHZVSDSHU�RI�
JHQHUDO�FLUFXODWLRQ� 
 
7KH�DGRSWLRQ�RI�WKH�DQQXDO�EXGJHW�IRU�HDFK�FRPSRQHQW�XQLW�LV�DFFRPSOLVKHG�E\�WKH�DSSURYDO�
RI� D�%XGJHW�5HVROXWLRQ��7KH� OHYHO� RI� EXGJHWDU\� FRQWURO� LV� E\� GHSDUWPHQW�ZLWKLQ� WKH� IXQG���
$Q\�EXGJHW�PRGLILFDWLRQV�WKDW�ZRXOG�UHVXOW�LQ�DQ�DSSURSULDWLRQ�LQFUHDVH��D�WUDQVIHU�RI�DSSUR�
SULDWLRQV�DPRQJ�GHSDUWPHQWV��RU�DQ�DSSURSULDWLRQ� WUDQVIHU�ZLWKLQ�D�GHSDUWPHQW� IRU� WKH�SXU�
SRVH�RI�LQFUHDVLQJ�D�VDODU\�DSSURSULDWLRQ�UHTXLUHV�&LW\�&RXQFLO�DSSURYDO��7KH�&LW\�0DQDJHU�
LV�DXWKRUL]HG�WR�WUDQVIHU�QRQ-VDODU\�UHODWHG�DSSURSULDWLRQV�ZLWKLQ�D�GHSDUWPHQW�EXGJHW�� �$OO�
DSSURSULDWLRQV�WKDW�DUH�QRW�REOLJDWHG��HQFXPEHUHG�RU�H[SHQGHG�DW� WKH�HQG�RI� WKH�ILVFDO�\HDU�
VKDOO�ODSVH�DQG�EHFRPH�SDUW�RI�WKH�XQUHVHUYHG�IXQG�EDODQFH�WKDW�PD\�EH�DSSURSULDWHG�IRU�WKH�
QH[W�ILVFDO�\HDU� 
 
%8'*(7�&$/(1'$5 
 
$�EXGJHW� FDOHQGDU� LV� SUHSDUHG� LQ�)HEUXDU\�SULRU� WR� WKH� \HDU-HQG�RI� -XQH���WK� � RI� WKH� VDPH�
\HDU�E\�WKH�)LQDQFH�'LUHFWRU�DQG�UHYLHZHG�E\�WKH�&LW\�0DQDJHU���7KH�DSSURYHG�EXGJHW�FDO�
HQGDU� LGHQWLILHV� WKH� GDWHV� FULWLFDO� WR� WKH� EXGJHW� SURFHVV�� ,W� LV� GHYHORSHG� WR� DVVLVW� WKH� &LW\�
&RXQFLO�DQG�&LW\�VWDII�LQ�SODQQLQJ�DQG�DOORFDWLQJ�WKH�QHFHVVDU\�UHVRXUFHV�QHHGHG�WR�PHHW�WKH�
EXGJHW�GHDGOLQH�WKH�IROORZLQJ�-XQH�SULRU�WR�WKH�FRPPHQFHPHQW�RI�WKH�QHZ�ILVFDO�\HDU� 

General Information 
The Budget Process 

18Page 307

Item 33.



 

 

%8'*(7�35(3$5$7,21�3$&.$*( 
 
,Q� ODWH� )HEUXDU\�� WKH� )LQDQFH�'HSDUWPHQW� SUHSDUHV� DQG� GLVWULEXWHV� WKH�%XGJHW� 3UHSDUDWLRQ�
3DFNDJH��7KH�SDFNDJH� LQFOXGHV� WZR�FULWLFDO�SLHFHV�RI� LQIRUPDWLRQ�QHFHVVDU\� WR�SUHSDUH� WKH�
XSFRPLQJ� EXGJHW�� � )LUVW�� WKH�PDLQWHQDQFH� DQG� RSHUDWLRQV� KLVWRU\� LV� XVHG� WR� JXLGH� GHSDUW�
PHQWV�LQ�GHYHORSLQJ�WKHLU�QRQ-SHUVRQQHO�H[SHQGLWXUH�QHHGV�IRU�WKH�QHZ�ILVFDO�\HDU��6HFRQG��
VWDII�PHPEHUV�DUH�DVNHG�WR�LWHPL]H�WKH�FRVW�RI�WKH�FDSLWDO�RXWOD\�LWHPV�WKH\�DUH�UHTXHVWLQJ�IRU�
WKH�QHZ�\HDU��7KLV�VHUYHV�WKH�DGGLWLRQDO�SXUSRVH�RI�DVVLVWLQJ�WKH�)LQDQFH�'HSDUWPHQW�LGHQWLI\�
QHZ�IL[HG�DVVHW� 
 
%8'*(7�35(6(17$7,21�6(66,216����� 
������������������������������������������������ 
(DFK�\HDU�IURP�DSSUR[LPDWHO\�WKH�EHJLQQLQJ�RI�$SULO�WKURXJK�PLG�$SULO�WKH�&LW\�0DQDJHU��
WKH�)LQDQFH�'LUHFWRU���WKH�$FFRXQWLQJ�0DQDJHU��WKH�EXGJHW�FRPPLWWHH��PHHW�ZLWK�HDFK�GH�
SDUWPHQW�DQG�DJHQF\�WR�GLVFXVV�WKHLU�UHVSHFWLYH�EXGJHW�SDFNDJHV��7KHVH�VHVVLRQV�LQFOXGH�GLV�
FXVVLRQ�RI�JRDOV�DQG�REMHFWLYHV��VWDIILQJ�QHHGV��DQG�DVVXPSWLRQV�XVHG�IRU�GHYHORSLQJ�EXGJHW�
OLQH� LWHP� UHTXHVWV�� �$� FRPSXWHU�JHQHUDWHG� VWDIILQJ�PRGHO� LV� HPSOR\HG� WR� FUHDWH� WKH� VDODU\�
DQG� EHQHILWV� LQIRUPDWLRQ� EDVHG� RQ� LQSXW� IURP� WKH�+XPDQ�5HVRXUFHV�0DQDJHU� DQG� LQ� FRQ�
MXQFWLRQ�ZLWK� FXUUHQW� EDUJDLQLQJ� XQLW� DJUHHPHQWV�� 7KH�PRGHO� JHQHUDWHV� VDODU\� DQG� EHQHILW�
FRVWV� WKDW� DUH� FRPELQHG�ZLWK� QRQ-SHUVRQQHO� LQIRUPDWLRQ� DQG� QHZ� VWDIILQJ� UHTXHVWV� WR� SUR�
GXFH�D�³IXOO-YLHZ´�EXGJHW�SDFNDJH�IRU�HDFK�GHSDUWPHQW�DQG�DJHQF\�� 
 
&281&,/�%8'*(7�35(6(17$7,216 
 
'XULQJ�RQH�RI�WKH�&RXQFLO�PHHWLQJV�LQ�0D\�D�SURSRVHG�EXGJHW�LV�SUHVHQWHG�E\�WKH�&LW\�0DQ�
DJHU�WR�&RXQFLO����7KH�&LW\�&RXQFLO�ZLOO�UHFHLYH�WKH�&LW\�0DQDJHU¶V�UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV�DQG�D�
UHYLHZ�RI�WKH�UHYHQXH�SURMHFWLRQV�E\�WKH�)LQDQFH�'LUHFWRU���,I�DGGLWLRQDO�GLVFXVVLRQ�LV�GHVLUHG�
E\�&RXQFLO�D�VWXG\�VHVVLRQ�FDQ�EH�VFKHGXOHG�VXEVHTXHQW�WR�WKH�SURSRVHG�EXGJHW��7KH�VWXG\�
VHVVLRQ�GLVFXVVLRQ�ZRXOG�XVXDOO\� IRFXVHV�RQ�VKRUW�DQG� ORQJ-WHUP�SULRULWLHV� LQFOXGLQJ�JRDOV�
DQG�REMHFWLYHV�DV�YLHZHG�E\�WKH�&RXQFLO���$W�WKH�FRQFOXVLRQ�RI�WKH�VWXG\�VHVVLRQV�WKH�EXGJHW�
FRPPLWWHH� UHFRQFLOHV� WKH�&RXQFLO� IHHGEDFN�ZLWK� WKH�&LW\�0DQDJHU¶V� UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV�DQG�
SUHSDUHV�D�QHZ�UHFRPPHQGHG�EXGJHW�SDFNDJH� 
 
%8'*(7�+($5,1*�$1'�$'237,21� 
 
)LQDO�DGRSWLRQ�RI� WKH�EXGJHW� IRU� WKH�&LW\� DQG� LWV�DJHQFLHV� LV�XVXDOO\� VFKHGXOHG� IRU� WKH� ODVW�
&RXQFLO�PHHWLQJ�LQ�0D\���$Q\�XQUHVROYHG�LWHPV�DUH�SUHVHQWHG�DQG�UHVSRQVHV�WR�SULRU�&RXQFLO�
VWXG\�VHVVLRQV�DUH�DGGUHVVHG���$�VHULHV�RI�UHVROXWLRQV�DUH�DSSURYHG�WR�DGRSW�DQG�LPSOHPHQW�
WKH�EXGJHW�IRU�WKH�QH[W�ILVFDO�\HDU��$W�WKH�VDPH�WLPH�QH[W�\HDU¶V�*DQQ�VSHQGLQJ�OLPLW�FDOFXOD�
WLRQ�LV�HVWDEOLVKHG�DQG�DFFHSWHG�E\�WKH�&RXQFLO���$IWHU�&RXQFLO�DSSURYDO��WKH�)LQDQFH�'HSDUW�
PHQW�SUHSDUHV�DQG�GLVWULEXWHV� WKH�ILQDO�EXGJHW�GRFXPHQW�� � ,W�PD\�EH�SUHFHGHG�E\�D�VSHFLDO�
UHSRUW�RU�VFKHGXOHV�WR�DVVLVW�GHSDUWPHQW�SHUVRQQHO�DV� WKH\�PDNH�WKH�WUDQVLWLRQ�LQWR�WKH�QHZ�
ILVFDO�\HDU� 

General Information 
The Budget Process 

19Page 308

Item 33.



 

 

2Q�-XQH����������WKH�&LW\�DGRSWHG�D�)LVFDO�&RQWURO�2UGLQDQFH�WKDW�SURYLGHV�IRU�D�V\VWHP�RI�
ILVFDO� DQG� EXGJHWDU\� FRQWUROV�� � 7KH� &LW\¶V� DFFRXQWLQJ� DQG� EXGJHW� V\VWHPV� DUH� DOVR�PDLQ�
WDLQHG�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�*HQHUDOO\�$FFHSWHG�$FFRXQWLQJ�3ULQFLSOHV��*$$3��DQG�WKH�*RY�
HUQPHQWDO�$FFRXQWLQJ�6WDQGDUGV�%RDUG�SURQRXQFHPHQWV���$FFRUGLQJO\��WKH�EDVLV�RI�EXGJHW�
LQJ�LV�FRQVLVWHQW�ZLWK�WKH�&RPSUHKHQVLYH�$QQXDO�)LQDQFLDO�5HSRUW��&$)5���� 
 
*RYHUQPHQWDO� IXQGV� DUH� SUHSDUHG� RQ� D�PRGLILHG� DFFUXDO� EDVLV�ZKLOH� SURSULHWDU\� IXQGV� DUH�
SUHSDUHG�XVLQJ�WKH�DFFUXDO�EDVLV�RI�DFFRXQWLQJ���8QGHU�WKH�PRGLILHG�DFFUXDO�EDVLV�RI�DFFRXQW�
LQJ�� UHYHQXHV� DUH� UHFRJQL]HG� ZKHQ� DYDLODEOH� DQG� PHDVXUDEOH�� � 5HYHQXHV� DUH� FRQVLGHUHG�
DYDLODEOH�ZKHQ�WKH\�ZLOO�EH�FROOHFWHG�GXULQJ�WKH�FXUUHQW�SHULRG�RU�VRRQ�HQRXJK�DIWHU�WKH�HQG�
RI�WKH�SHULRG�WR�SD\�FXUUHQW�\HDU�OLDELOLWLHV���5HYHQXHV�DUH�FRQVLGHUHG�PHDVXUDEOH�ZKHQ�WKH\�
DUH� UHDVRQDEO\� HVWLPDEOH��([SHQGLWXUHV� DUH� JHQHUDOO\� UHFRJQL]HG�ZKHQ� WKH� IXQG� OLDELOLW\� LV�
LQFXUUHG��LI�PHDVXUDEOH�� �8QGHU�WKH�DFFUXDO�EDVLV�RI�DFFRXQWLQJ��UHYHQXHV�DUH�UHFRJQL]HG�LQ�
WKH� SHULRG� WKDW� WKH\� DUH�HDUQHG� DQG�PHDVXUDEOH�� H[SHQVHV� DUH� UHFRJQL]HG� LQ� WKH� SHULRG� LQ�
FXUUHG�LI�PHDVXUDEOH��UHJDUGOHVV�RI�ZKHQ�WKH�FDVK�LV�UHFHLYHG��� 
 
8QGHU�*HQHUDOO\�$FFHSWHG�$FFRXQWLQJ�3ULQFLSOHV��WKH�EDVLV�RI�DFFRXQWLQJ�DSSOLHG�YDULHV�E\�
IXQG�W\SH� 
 
· *RYHUQPHQWDO�)XQGV�DFFRXQW�IRU�PRVW�W\SLFDO�JRYHUQPHQW�WUDQVDFWLRQV�DQG�IRFXV�SULPDU�
LO\�RQ� WKH� VRXUFHV�� XVHV�� DQG�EDODQFHV�RI� FXUUHQW� ILQDQFLDO� UHVRXUFHV� DQG� KDYH� D�EXGJHWDU\�
RULHQWDWLRQ�� �*RYHUQPHQWDO� IXQGV�HPSOR\� WKH�PRGLILHG�DFFUXDO�EDVLV�RI�DFFRXQWLQJ� DQG� LQ�
FOXGH� WKH�*HQHUDO� )XQG�� 6SHFLDO� 5HYHQXH� )XQGV��'HEW� 6HUYLFH� )XQG� DQG�&DSLWDO� 3URMHFWV�
)XQG� 
 
· 3URSULHWDU\�)XQGV�DUH�XVHG�WR�DFFRXQW�IRU�D�JRYHUQPHQWV�RQJRLQJ�DFWLYLWLHV�WKDW�DUH�VLPL�
ODU�WR�EXVLQHVV�IRXQG�LQ�WKH�SULYDWH�VHFWRU���3URSULHWDU\�IXQGV�IRFXV�RQ�WKH�GHWHUPLQDWLRQ�RI�
QHW�LQFRPH��WKH�FKDQJHV�LQ�QHW�DVVHWV��ILQDQFLDO�SRVLWLRQ��DQG�FDVK�IORZV���7KHVH�IXQGV�XWLOL]H�
WKH�DFFUXDO�EDVLV�RI�DFFRXQWLQJ�DQG�LQFOXGH�(QWHUSULVH�)XQGV�� 
 
· )LGXFLDU\�IXQGV�DUH�XVHG�WR�DFFRXQW�IRU�DVVHWV�XVHG�E\�D�JRYHUQPHQWDO�XQLW� LQ�D� WUXVWHH�
FDSDFLW\�RU�DJHQW�IRU�LQGLYLGXDOV��SULYDWH�RUJDQL]DWLRQV��DQG�RWKHU�JRYHUQPHQWDO�XQLWV���)LGX�
FLDU\�)XQGV�IRFXV�RQ�QHW�DVVHWV�DQG�FKDQJHV�LQ�QHW�DVVHWV�� �)LGXFLDU\�IXQGV�XVH�WKH�DFFUXDO�
EDVLV�RI�DFFRXQWLQJ�H[FHSW�IRU�WKH�UHFRJQLWLRQ�RI�FHUWDLQ�OLDELOLWLHV�RI�GHILQHG�EHQHILW�SHQVLRQ�
SODQV� 

General Information 
Basis of Accounting and Budgeting 

20Page 309

Item 33.



 

 

General Information 
List of Funds 

Governmental Funds
General Fund

101 General Fund

Special Revenue Funds Enterprise Funds
108 Road Maintenance-Dillon Road 177 Water Connection Fees
109 Road Maintenance & Rehabilitation (SB 1) 178 Water Authority
111 State Gas Tax 361 Sewer Connection Fees
112 Air Quality Improvement 361 Sanitary District
117 Local Transportation - Measure A
120 Dev Impact Fee -Park Land Capital Projects
121 Dev Impact Fee -Library 182 Capital Improvement Projects
122 Dev Impact Fee -Bridge & Grade Separation
123 Dev Impact Fee -Bus Shelter
124 Dev Impact Fee -Traffic Safety
125 Dev Impact Fee -General Plan
126 Dev Impact Fee -Park Improvement
127 Dev Impact Fee -Streets & Transp.
128 Dev Impact Fee -Police Facilities
129 Dev Impact Fee -General Gov't
130 Dev Impact Fee - Fire Facilities 965 CFD 2018-1 Glenroy
131 Dev Impact Fee - Public Arts
152 Grants
160 Landscape & Lighting Districts
210 CDBG - Community Development Block Grant
212 CDBG Home Rehabilitation Program
222 HOME Program 
232 CAL HOME Program
240 Fire Protection District
241 Community Facility District-Fire
242 Community Facility District-Police
390 Education and Gov't Access Cable

21Page 310

Item 33.



 

 

General Information 
Description of Revenue Sources 

2I�WKH�PDQ\�IRUPV�RI�UHYHQXH�DYDLODEOH�WR�WKH�&LW\��&RDFKHOOD�KDV�WUDGLWLRQDOO\�EURNHQ�GRZQ�UHYHQXH�
VRXUFHV�LQWR�HLJKW�PDMRU�FODVVLILFDWLRQV�LQ�WKH�*HQHUDO�)XQG���7KH\�LQFOXGH� 
 

· 7D[HV  
· 3URSHUW\�7D[HV 
· 6DOHV�7D[ 
· %XVLQHVV�/LFHQVH�)HHV 
· &KDUJH�IRU�6HUYLFHV 
· )LQHV�DQG�)RUIHLWXUHV 
· 8VH�RI�0RQH\�DQG�3URSHUW\ 
· 2WKHU�)XQGV 

 
5HYHQXHV�DUH�XVHG�WR�RIIVHW�WKH�FRVW�RI�RSHUDWLRQV���(DFK�ILVFDO�\HDU�WKH�&LW\�FRQVHUYDWLYHO\�HVWLPDWHV�
UHYHQXHV�XVLQJ�KLVWRULFDO�JURZWK�PRGHOV�DQG�FXUUHQW�HFRQRPLF�WUHQGV���6LQFH�UHYHQXHV�DUH�SURMHFWHG�
XVLQJ�D�FRQVHUYDWLYH�DSSURDFK��DFWXDO�UHYHQXHV�PD\�H[FHHG�HVWLPDWHG�SURMHFWLRQV� 
 
7D[HV 
 
7D[HV�UHSUHVHQW�D�³QRQ-H[FKDQJH´�WUDQVDFWLRQ�DQG�DUH�PDQGDWRU\�FKDUJHV�LPSRVHG�E\�D�JRYHUQPHQW�
WR� SURYLGH� VHUYLFHV� IRU� WKH� FRPPRQ�EHQHILW�� � 7KH��
WD[HV� UHFHLYHG� E\� WKH� &LW\� RI� &RDFKHOOD� LQFOXGH�
3URSHUW\� 7D[�� 6DOHV� 7D[�� )UDQFKLVH� 7D[�� 8WLOLW\�
8VHUV�7D[��DQG�'RFXPHQW�7UDQVIHU�7D[�� � ,Q�DGGL�
WLRQ��GXULQJ� WKH�1RYHPEHU������SULPDU\�HOHFWLRQ��
WKH� YRWHUV� RI� WKH�&LW\� DSSURYHG� DQ� DGGLWLRQDO� ���
6DOHV�7D[���0HDVXUH�8����7RWDO�UHYHQXH�IURP�WD[HV�
LV� SURMHFWHG� WR� EH� ������ PLOOLRQ� LQ� )<� ����-���
ZKLFK� UHSUHVHQWV� D� SURMHFWHG� RYHUDOO� LQFUHDVH� RI�
������� RYHU� )<� ����-���� � 2I� WKLV� DPRXQW� WKH�
887� LV� SURMHFWHG� WR� HDUQ� DSSUR[LPDWHO\� ���� PLO�
OLRQ�LQ�WKH�FXUUHQW�\HDU�� 
 
3URSHUW\�7D[� 
 
3URSHUW\� WD[HV� DUH� DVVHVVHG� DQG� FROOHFWHG� E\� WKH�
&RXQW\�RI�5LYHUVLGH�DW�WKH�EDVH�UDWH�RI����RI�WKH�
DVVHVVHG� YDOXDWLRQ�� � $SSUR[LPDWHO\� � ��� � RI� WKH�
EDVH���� LV� DOORFDWHG� WR� WKH�&LW\�� �$V�SDUW� RI� WKH�
³WULSOH� IOLS´� LQ�������D�SRUWLRQ�RI�PRWRU�YHKLFOHV�
IHHV� ZDV� GHVLJQDWHG� WR� EH� SDLG� RXW� RI� SURSHUW\�
WD[HV� DQG� FDOFXODWHG� RQ� WKH� FKDQJH� LQ� DVVHVVHG�
YDOXDWLRQ�� 
 
 
 

22Page 311

Item 33.



 

 

General Information 
Description of Revenue Sources 

7KH�JURZWK�LQ�SURSHUW\�WD[HV�HQMR\HG�IURP�HDUO\������WR������ZDV�UHYHUVHG�GXH�WR�WKH�HFRQRP�
LF�VORZGRZQ�LQ�WKH�KRXVLQJ�DQG�FUHGLW�PDUNHWV���3URSHUW\�WD[HV�DUH�SURMHFWHG�WR�VOLJKWO\�LQFUHDVH��
RI�������ZKHQ�FRPSDUHG�WR�H[SHFWHG�)<�����-���DPRXQWV�� 
 
6DOHV�7D[� 
 
7KH�VDOHV�DQG�XVH�WD[�UDWH�IRU�5LYHUVLGH�&RXQW\�DQG�
WKH�&LW\�RI�&RDFKHOOD�LV���������2I�WKLV�DPRXQW�WKH�
&LW\� UHFHLYHV� ������� WKH� &RXQW\� RI� 5LYHUVLGH� UH�
FHLYHV�������WKH�6WDWH�RI�&DOLIRUQLD�UHFHLYHV�������
DQG� ����JRHV� WR� WKH�&RXQW\� IRU�YDULRXV� WUDQVSRUWD�
WLRQ�SXUSRVHV��DV�DXWKRUL]HG�E\�³0HDVXUH�$´�� 
 
7KH�&LW\�LV�SURMHFWLQJ�D�GHFUHDVH�RI�������RQ�VDOHV�
DQG�XVH�WD[�UHYHQXHV�LQ�)LVFDO�<HDU�����-���� 
 
 
 
 
%XVLQHVV�/LFHQVH�)HHV� 
 
%XVLQHVV�OLFHQVH�IHHV�DUH�LPSRVHG�E\�WKH�&LW\�IRU�FRQGXFWLQJ�EXVLQHVV�WUDQVDFWLRQV�ZLWKLQ�&LW\�
OLPLWV���7KH�IHHV�DUH�EDVHG�RQ�FHUWDLQ�FULWHULD�
VXFK�DV�JURVV�LQFRPH��ORFDWLRQ�VL]H��QXPEHU�RI�
YHKLFOHV��RU�VRPH�RWKHU�WDQJLEOH�PHDVXUH� 
 
7KH�&LW\�LV�SURMHFWLQJ�%XVLQHVV�/LFHQVH�)HHV�WR�
GHFUHDVH����LQ�)LVFDO�<HDU�����-���� 
 
 
 
 
&KDUJHV�IRU�6HUYLFHV 
 
)HHV�RU�VHUYLFH�FKDUJHV�DUH�LPSRVHG�RQ�WKH�XVHU�IRU�D�VSHFLILF�VHUYLFH�UHQGHUHG�EDVHG�RQ�WKH�UD�
WLRQDO�WKDW�WKH�EHQHILWLQJ�SDUW\�VKRXOG�EHDU�WKH�FRVW�RI�WKH�VHUYLFH�UDWKHU�WKDQ�WKH�JHQHUDO�SXEOLF���
7KHVH�FKDUJHV�LQFOXGH�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�SHUPLWV��HQJLQHHULQJ�DQG�SODQ�FKHFN�IHHV��FHUWLILFDWH�RI�RF�
FXSDQF\�IHHV��DQG�]RQLQJ�DQG�VXE-GLYLVLRQ�IHHV��� 

23Page 312

Item 33.



 

 

General Information 
Description of Revenue Sources 

)LQHV�DQG�)RUIHLWXUHV 
 
)LQHV�DQG�IRUIHLWXUHV�DUH�DQRWKHU�IRUP�RI�D�³QRQ-H[FKDQJH´�WUDQVDFWLRQ� 
 
7KH�6WDWH�RI�&DOLIRUQLD� LPSRVHV� ILQHV� DQG�SHQDOWLHV� IRU� WUDIILF� DQG�SDUNLQJ�YLRODWLRQV�� �7KHVH�
UHYHQXHV� DUH� FROOHFWHG� DQG� GLVWULEXWHG� WKURXJK� WKH�&RXQW\� FRXUW� V\VWHP�� �$� SRUWLRQ� RI� WKHVH�
IHHV��OHVV�DGPLQLVWUDWLYH�FKDUJHV��LV�GLVWULEXWHG�WR�WKH�&LW\���7KH�����-�����EXGJHW�\HDU�SURMHFWV�
UHYHQXH�IURP�WKLV�VRXUFH�WR�EH��������ORZHU�WKDQ�WKH�SULRU�ILVFDO�\HDU� 
 
,QWHUJRYHUQPHQWDO 
 
7KHUH�DUH�IRXU�W\SHV�RI�,QWHUJRYHUQPHQWDO�UHYHQXHV��HQWLWOHPHQWV��VKDUHG�UHYHQXHV��SD\PHQWV�LQ�
OLHX�RI�WD[��DQG�JUDQWV���2I�WKHVH�FDWHJRULHV��VKDUHG�UHYHQXHV�LV�WKH�ODUJHVW�UHYHQXH�JHQHUDWRU�IRU�
WKH�&LW\�RI�&RDFKHOOD��� 
 
8VH�RI�0RQH\�DQG�3URSHUW\ 
 
,QWHUHVW�LQFRPH��UHQW�SD\PHQWV�IRU�XVH�RI�SURSHUW\��PLVFHOODQHRXV�FRQWULEXWLRQV�DQG�RWKHU�GRQD�
WLRQV�FRQWULEXWH�WR�WKLV�UHYHQXH�FDWHJRU\���� 
 
2WKHU�)XQGV 
 
6SHFLDO�5HYHQXH�)XQGV 
 
6SHFLDO�5HYHQXH�)XQGV�DFFRXQW�IRU�UHYHQXHV�WKDW�FDQ�RQO\�EH�XVHG�IRU�FHUWDLQ�VSHFLILF�SXUSRVHV�
DV�GHILQHG�E\�ODZ�RU�DGPLQLVWUDWLYH�DFWLRQ��$OORFDWLRQ�RI�IXQGV�ZLOO�SUREDEO\�KDYH�D�VHULHV�RI�
FRYHQDQWV�DQG�JXLGHOLQHV�WKDW�WKH�UHFLSLHQWV�PXVW�IROORZ���0RVW�VSHFLDO�UHYHQXH�IXQGV�DUH�HLWKHU�
JUDQWV�RU�VXEYHQWLRQV�IURP�WKH�VWDWH�DQG�IHGHUDO�JRYHUQPHQWV�GHVLJQHG�IRU�D�YDULHW\�RI�SXUSRVHV�
IURP� SXEOLF� VDIHW\� WR� DLU� TXDOLW\�� � ,Q� DGGLWLRQ�� VSHFLDO� UHYHQXH� IXQGV� DFFRXQW� IRU� WKH� &LW\¶V�
/DQGVFDSH� DQG� /LJKWLQJ�'LVWULFWV� DQG� &RPPXQLW\� )DFLOLWLHV� 'LVWULFWV�� � (DFK� VSHFLDO� UHYHQXH�
IXQG�KDV�LWV�RZQ�LQGHSHQGHQW�EXGJHW�ZLWK�LWV�RZQ�UHYHQXH�DQG�H[SHQGLWXUH�DFFRXQWV��� 
 
,Q� DGGLWLRQ�� VRPH� RI� WKH� UHYHQXHV� DUH� GHULYHG� IURP� VSHFLDO� JDV� WD[� DOORFDWLRQV� DQG� &RXQW\�
0HDVXUH�$�IXQGV� 
 
'HEW�6HUYLFH�)XQG 
 
'HEW�VHUYLFH�IXQGV�DUH�XVHG�WR�DFFRXQW�IRU�PRQH\�WKDW�ZLOO�EH�XVHG�WR�SD\�WKH�LQWHUHVW 
DQG�SULQFLSDO�RQ�ORQJ-WHUP�GHEWV� 

24Page 313

Item 33.



 

 

General Information 
Description of Revenue Sources 

(QWHUSULVH�)XQGV 
 
(QWHUSULVH�)XQGV�DFFRXQW� IRU�DFWLYLWLHV� WKDW� WKH�&LW\�RSHUDWHV� OLNH�
SULYDWH�EXVLQHVV�HQWHUSULVHV��,Q�WKHVH�VLWXDWLRQV��WKH�&LW\�DFWV�DV�D�
PXQLFLSDO� FRUSRUDWLRQ� WR� UHFRYHU� WKH� FRVWV� RI� SURYLGLQJ� FHUWDLQ�
W\SHV�RI� VHUYLFHV�SULPDULO\� WKURXJK�XVHU� FKDUJHV��7KHVH� FRVWV� LQ�
FOXGH�RSHUDWLQJ� H[SHQVHV� DQG� WKH� FDSLWDO� FRVW� RI�PDLQWDLQLQJ�� UH�
SODFLQJ��XSJUDGLQJ��DGGLQJ�WR�WKH�FDSLWDO�VWRFN�DQG�DOVR�RWKHU�H[�
SHQGLWXUH�SXUSRVHV�VXFK�DV� WKH�DGYDQFHPHQW�RI�SXEOLF�KHDOWK�DQG�
VDIHW\� 
 
7KHUH�DUH�WZR�(QWHUSULVH�)XQGV�ZLWK�LQ�WKH�&LW\�RI�&RDFKHOOD� WKH�&RDFKHOOD�:DWHU�$XWKRULW\��
DQG�&RDFKHOOD�6DQLWDU\�'LVWULFW���7KH�:DWHU�$XWKRULW\�DQG�6DQLWDU\�'LVWULFW�DUH�ZKROO\�RZQHG�
FRPSRQHQW�XQLWV�RI�WKH�&LW\�ZLWK�WKHLU�RZQ�VHSDUDWH�%RDUG�RI�'LUHFWRUV���(DFK�(QWHUSULVH�)XQG�
KDV�DQ�LQGHSHQGHQW�EXGJHW�ZLWK�LWV�RZQ�UHYHQXH�DQG�H[SHQGLWXUH�DFFRXQWV��7KH�*HQHUDO�)XQG�
FDSWXUHV�DGPLQLVWUDWLYH�DQG�RYHUKHDG�FKDUJHV�IURP�WKH�YDULRXV�(QWHUSULVH�)XQGV�LQ�FRQQHFWLRQ�
ZLWK�ZDWHU��VHZHU�DQG�UHIXVH��ELOOLQJ�DQG�RWKHU�VHUYLFHV�SURYLGHG���7KH�&LW\�ZRUNV�GLOLJHQWO\�WR�
HQVXUH�FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK�DOO�3URSRVLWLRQ�����UHTXLUHPHQWV�LQ�UHJDUGV�WR�UDWH�VHWWLQJ�DQG�DOORZD�
EOH�FRVWV��� 
 
&DSLWDO�3URMHFWV�)XQGV 
 
&DSLWDO�3URMHFW�)XQGV�DFFRXQW�IRU�WKH�ILQDQFLDO�WUDQVDFWLRQV�XVHG�IRU�WKH�DFTXLVLWLRQ�RU�FRQVWUXF�
WLRQ�RI�FDSLWDO�IDFLOLWLHV��7KH�WRWDO�FRVW�RI�D�FDSLWDO�SURMHFW�LV�DFFXPXODWHG�LQ�WKLV�IXQG�DQG�DFFX�
PXODWHV�XQWLO�WKH�SURMHFW�LV�FRPSOHWHG��DW�ZKLFK�WLPH�WKH�IXQG�FHDVHV�WR�H[LVW� 
 

25Page 314

Item 33.



 

 

Summary Schedules 
Ending Fund Balances 

Projected Fund 
Balance at
6/30/2021

2021-22
Revenues & 

O ther Sources

2021-22
Appropriations 
& O ther Uses

Revenues O ver 
(Under) 

Appropriations

Projected Fund 
Balance at
6/30/2022

GENERAL FUND

101 General Fund 16,143,908$    27,322,145$    26,804,488$    517,657$         16,661,565$    

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

108 Road Maintenance-Dillon Road (21,298)            60,000             -                   60,000             38,702             
109 Road Maintenance & Rehabilitation (SB 1) (768,570)          892,000           1,310,956        (418,956)          (1,187,526)       
111 State Gas Tax 0                      1,100,000        1,099,400        600                  600                  
112 Air Quality Improvement 48,842             57,691             44,393             13,298             62,140             
117 Local Transportation - Measure A (356,604)          590,803           872,604           (281,801)          (638,405)          
120 Dev Imp Fee - Park Land (44,853)            1,613,072        -                   1,613,072        1,568,219        
121 Dev Imp Fee - Library (11,928,241)     174,982           -                   174,982           (11,753,259)     
122 Dev Imp Fee - Bridge & Grade Separation 90,747             -                   -                   -                   90,747             
123 Dev Imp Fee - Bus Shelter 8,327               -                   237,705           (237,705)          (229,378)          
124 Dev Imp Fee - Traff ic Safety 3,221               -                   -                   -                   3,221               
126 Dev Imp Fee - Park Improvement (457,644)          759,092           -                   759,092           301,448           
127 Dev Imp Fee - Streets/Transp. (2,627,582)       1,100,000        1,426,214        (326,214)          (2,953,796)       
128 Dev Imp Fee - Police Facilities 690,837           94,606             -                   94,606             785,443           
129 Dev Imp Fee - General Gov't (4,407,260)       720,730           106,515           614,215           (3,793,045)       
130 Dev Imp Fee - Fire Facilities 1,452,993        547,518           75,000             472,518           1,925,511        
131 Dev Imp Fee - Art Public 365,502           375                  -                   375                  365,877           
152 Grants (2,442,347)       12,450,288      12,450,288      -                   (2,442,347)       
160 Landscape & Lighting Districts 12,284             2,165,343        2,502,849        (337,506)          (325,222)          
210 CDBG 56,445             260,000           260,000           -                   56,445             
212 CDBG Rehabilitation Home Program 646,024           -                   -                   -                   646,024           
222 HOME Program 4,567,582        -                   -                   -                   4,567,582        
232 CAL HOME Program 690,331           -                   -                   -                   690,331           
240 Fire Protection District 6,942               3,326,141        3,326,141        -                   6,942               
241 Community Facility District - Fire 9,437               766,800           766,800           -                   9,437               
242 Community Facility District - Police 74,850             1,251,200        1,251,200        -                   74,850             
390 Educational & Gov't Access Cable 65,533             11,580             -                   11,580             77,113             

Total Special Revenue Funds (14,264,500)$   27,942,221$    25,730,065$    2,212,156$      (12,052,344)$   

ENTERPRISE FUNDS
178 Water Authority 16,623,429$    10,769,166$    17,075,286$    (6,306,120)$     10,317,308$    
361 Sanitary District 5,597,258        11,274,858      17,677,550      (6,402,692)       (805,434)          

Total Enterprise Funds 22,220,686$    22,044,024$    34,752,836$    (12,708,812)$   9,511,874$      

CAPITAL PROJECTS
182 Capital Improvement Projects (12,524,461)$   16,830,723$    16,830,723$    -$                 (12,524,461)$   

11,575,633$    94,139,113$    104,118,112$  (9,978,999)$     1,596,635$      

26Page 315

Item 33.



 

 

Summary Schedules 
General Fund Balance 

Estimated 7/01/21
Fund Balance

Projected 
6/30/22

Fund Balance

 $        16,540,030  $        16,143,908 

              (396,122)                 517,657 

 $        16,143,908  $        16,661,565 

¹ Nonexpendable              7,493,851              5,975,512 

Restricted Reserves                   74,850                   74,850 

Unrestricted Reserves              8,575,207            10,611,203 

 $        16,143,908  $        16,661,565 

D I F- Library Loan 422,465                         247,433                         

D I F - Park Improvement 819,338                         60,246                           
D IF - Senior Center 2,389,468                      2,068,025                      
DIF - Permit Center 2,146,340                      1,883,568                      

Interest Receivable 13,500                           13,500                           

Prepaid Items 1,702,740                      1,702,740                      

7,493,851$                 5,975,512$                 

Beginning Balance at July 1st

TOTAL FUND BALANCE

City of Coachella
General Fund

Fiscal Year 20221-22
Changes in Fund Balance

Fiscal Year Changes

Fund Balance:

TOTAL FUND BALANCE

(1)

27Page 316

Item 33.



 

 

Summary Schedules 
Revenue by Fund 

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated 
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Budget 

GENERAL FUND

101 General Fund 26,007,359$   25,501,857$   25,592,316$   27,322,145$   

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

108 Road Maintenance-Dillon Road 11,077$          34,125$          -$               60,000$          
109 Road Maintenance & Rehabilitation (SB 1) 874,361          861,012          875,424          892,000          
111 State Gas Tax 885,665          1,007,169       1,163,200       1,100,000       
112 Air Quality Improvement 66,750            45,383            58,000            57,691            
117 Local Transportation - Measure A 648,429          711,512          531,000          590,803          
120 Dev Imp Fee - Park Land 46,546            130,815          1,613,072       1,613,072       
121 Dev Imp Fee - Library 51,157            89,371            174,982          174,982          
122 Dev Imp Fee - Bridge & Grade Separation 14,102            3,081              -                 -                     
123 Dev Imp Fee - Bus Shelter 7,380              8,352              -                 -                     
124 Dev Imp Fee - Traff ic Safety 109                 110                 -                 -                     
126 Dev Imp Fee - Park Improvement 244,766          637,630          759,092          759,092          
127 Dev Imp Fee - Streets/Transp. 154,946          518,621          -                 1,100,000       
128 Dev Imp Fee - Police Facilities 27,793            50,367            94,906            94,606            
129 Dev Imp Fee - General Gov't 85,477            243,193          720,730          720,730          
130 Dev Imp Fee - Fire Facilities 29,439            221,666          548,518          547,518          
131 Dev Imp Fee - Art Public 29,682            90,317            153,506          375                 
152 Grants 4,971,813       4,096,667       8,388,087       12,450,288     
160 Landscape & Lighting Districts 2,061,141       2,048,827       2,047,689       2,165,343       
210 CDBG 403,241          419,594          363,223          260,000          
212 CDBG Home Rehabilitation Program 23,957            4,406              -                 -                     
222 HOME Program 60,488            54,157            -                 -                     
232 CAL HOME Program 6,405              4,902              -                 -                     
240 Fire Protection District 2,821,314       3,233,689       3,941,593       3,326,141       
241 Community Facility District - Fire 581,756          646,553          719,878          766,800          
242 Community Facility District - Police 948,941          1,054,765       1,174,645       1,251,200       
390 Educational & Gov't Access Cable 43,580            11,580            32,000            11,580            

Total Special Revenue Funds 15,100,313$   16,227,862$   23,359,545$   27,942,221$   

ENTERPRISE FUNDS

178 Water Authority 7,904,165       7,500,900       8,332,000$     10,769,166     
361 Sanitary District 8,361,932       8,620,095       11,086,861     11,274,858     

Total Enterprise Funds 16,266,097$   16,120,995$   19,418,861$   22,044,024$   

CAPITAL PROJECTS

182 Capital Improvement Projects 12,516,985$   10,525,963$   7,018,754$     16,830,723$   

TOTAL ALL FUNDS 69,890,754$   68,376,678$   75,389,476$   94,139,113$   

28Page 317

Item 33.



 

 

Summary Schedules 
Expenditures by Fund 

 FY 2018-19
 Actual 

 FY 2019-20
 Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated Year 

End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial
Budget 

GENERAL FUND

101 General Fund 23,476,245$        24,124,644$        25,988,438$        26,804,488$        

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

108 Road Maintenance-Dillon Road -                       -                       66,500                 -                           

109 Road Maintenance & Rehabilitation (SB 1) 430,353               296,377               2,764,396            1,310,956            

111 State Gas Tax 1,166,646            1,101,880            1,163,200            1,099,400            

112 Air Quality Improvement 44,393                 43,824                 44,393                 44,393                 

117 Local Transportation - Measure A 1,300,254            1,343,789            1,077,288            872,604               

120 Police Asset Seizure 2,287                   1,613                   -                       -                           

121 Dev Imp Fee - Park Land 974,944               37,131                 -                       -                           

122 Dev Imp Fee - Library 366,789               26                        -                       -                           

123 Dev Imp Fee - Bridge & Grade Separation 965                      26                        237,705               237,705               

126 Dev Imp Fee - General Plan 391,298               6,046                   127,500               -                           

127 Dev Imp Fee - Park Improvement 1,445,209            1,438,561            1,836,471            1,426,214            

128 Dev Imp Fee - Streets/Transp. 2,287                   683                      -                       -                           

129 Dev Imp Fee - Police Facilities 3,217,069            1,739,894            248,000               106,515               

130 Dev Imp Fee - General Gov't 2,287                   51,237                 232,600               75,000                 

131 Dev Imp Fee - Fire Facilities 77,548                 9,214                   -                       -                           

152 Grants 4,856,898            2,798,591            10,171,631          12,450,288          

160 Landscape & Lighting Districts 1,530,916            1,588,266            4,157,580            2,502,849            

210 CDBG 209,431               497,690               363,223               260,000               

212 CDBG Home Rehabilitation Program -                       6,500                   -                       -                           

240 Fire Protection District 2,812,118            3,236,511            3,941,593            3,326,141            

241 Community Facility District - Fire 588,489               646,021               719,878               766,800               

242 Community Facility District - Police 959,927               994,445               1,174,645            1,251,200            

390 Educational & Gov't Access Cable 11,580                 11,580                 32,000                 32,000                 

Total Special Revenue Funds 20,392,653$        15,849,930$        28,358,603$        25,762,065$        

ENTERPRISE FUNDS

178 Water Authority 6,677,655$          7,915,800$          10,827,714$        17,075,286$        

361 Sanitary District 7,667,875            8,101,751            15,847,463          17,677,550          

Total Enterprise Funds 14,345,530$        16,017,550$        26,675,177$        34,752,836$        

CAPITAL PROJECTS

182 Capital Improvement Projects 12,516,985$        10,525,963$        17,258,442$        16,830,723$        

TOTAL ALL FUNDS 70,731,412$        66,518,088$        98,280,661$        104,150,112$      

29Page 318

Item 33.



 

 

Summary Schedules 
Salaries and Benefits  

by Department 

 Salaries  Benefits  Total 

General Fund

General - City Council 92,437$             150,761$           243,198$           

General - City Clerk 29,212               44,364               73,576               

General - City Manager 333,225             154,081             487,306             

General - Human Resources 142,372             68,661               211,033             

General - Grants Manager 59,095               25,685               84,780               

General - Finance Department 336,925             216,211             553,136             

General - Information Technology 146,690             76,304               222,994             

General - Emergency Operations Services 46,799               24,511               71,309               

Economic Development Department 88,384               33,934               122,317             

Development Services - Planning 579,694             308,832             888,526             

Development Services - Building Department 100,583             60,098               160,680             

Development Services - Code Enforcement 302,596             176,634             479,230             

Development Services - Graffiti 55,261               22,111               77,372               

Engineering Department 454,337             232,452             686,788             

Public Works - Administration 124,794             67,058               191,852             

Public Works - Parks and Recreation 165,427             83,943               249,369             

Public Works - Seniors Program 159,208             81,882               241,091             

Public Works - Fleet Maintenance 164,594             84,117               248,710             

Public Works - Building Maintenance 192,771             110,789             303,559             

Public Works - Streets 431,036             313,948             744,984             

Public Works - Parks 358,782             267,391             626,173             
-                    

Total General Fund 4,364,219$        2,603,766$        6,967,985$        

Landscape and Lighting Districts 101,663$           56,773$             158,436$           

Water Authority

Administration 716,118$           370,344$           1,086,462$        

Operations 631,985             452,001             1,083,985          

Total Water Agency 1,348,103$        822,344$           2,170,447$        

Sanitary District

Administration 680,479$           345,721$           1,026,200$        

Operations 785,304             451,989             1,237,293          

Total Sanitary District 1,465,784$        797,710$           2,263,493$        

GRAND TOTAL 7,279,769$        4,280,592$        11,560,362$      

City of Coachella
Salaries and Benefits by Department

Fiscal Year 2021-22

30Page 319

Item 33.



 

 

Summary Schedules 
Staffing History 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2017-18 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2018-19 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2019-20 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2020-21 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2021-22 

GENERAL FUND

Administration
 Assistant to the City Manager 0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           

City Manager 0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           
 Department Assistant I 0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           

Deputy City Clerk -             -             -             -             0.50           
Economic Development Director 0.80           0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           
Executive Assistant 0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           -             

 Grants Manager -             0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           
Human Resources Manager 0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           
Human Resources Technician 0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           
Public Information Officer -             -             -             -             1.00           

  Total City Administration 3.80           4.00           4.00           4.00           5.00           

Development Services - Planning and Building
 Associate Planner 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           

Building Inspector I 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           -             
Building Inspector II -             -             -             -             1.00           
Office Specialist -             -             -             -             1.00           

 Development Services Director/Assistant 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           
Permit Technician 0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           
Planning Technician 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           
Cannabis Compliance Liaison -             -             -             -             1.00           
Senior Planner -             -             -             -             1.00           

   Total Community Development 4.50           4.50           4.50           4.50           7.50           

Finance Department
Accountant -             0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           
Accounting Manager 0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           

 Accounting Technician - Accts Payable 0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           
Accounting Technician - Payroll 0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           
Business Lic. Technician 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           
Controller -             0.50           0.50           0.50           -             
Finance Director 0.50           -             -             -             0.50           

 Senior Accountant 0.50           -             -             -             -             

   Total Finance Department 3.50           3.50           3.50           3.50           3.50           

31Page 320

Item 33.



 

 

Summary Schedules 
Staffing History (Continued) 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2017-18 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2018-19 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2019-20 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2020-21 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2021-22 

General Government
Information Technology Manager 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           

 Custodian - Bldg. Maintenance Gen 1.00           2.00           2.00           2.00           2.00           
 Custodian - Bldg. Maintenance Senior. Cent 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           

Vehicle/Equipment Mechanic I 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           
 Vehicle/Equipment Mechanic II 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           

   Total General Government 5.00           6.00           6.00           6.00           6.00           

Public Works - Senior Center
 Senior Center Coordinator 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           

Senior Center Assistant 2.00           2.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           

   Total Senior Center 3.00           3.00           2.00           2.00           2.00           

Engineering Department
Assistant City Manager -             0.60           0.60           0.60           -             
Assistant Engineer -             -             -             -             0.50           
City Engineer 0.60           -             -             -             0.60           

 Department Assistant II 0.50           0.50           -             -             -             
Engineering Technician 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           
Construction Project Coordinator 0.30           0.30           0.30           0.30           0.30           
Junior Engineer -             -             1.00           1.00           0.50           
Senior Management Analyst 0.60           0.40           0.40           0.40           0.40           
Senior Civil Engineer 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           

   Total Public Works Engineering 4.00           3.80           4.30           4.30           4.30           

Public Works - Administration
Department Assistant I 0.30           0.30           0.30           0.30           0.30           

 Department Assistant II -             -             -             -             -             
Public Works Director 0.38           0.40           0.40           0.40           0.40           
Construction Project Coordinator 0.30           0.30           0.30           0.30           0.30           
Receptionist 0.33           0.33           -             -             -             

   Total Public Works - Administration 1.31           1.33           1.00           1.00           1.00           

Public Works-Streets
Heavy Equipment Operator 0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           

 Public Works Maintenance 3.00           3.00           3.00           3.00           3.00           
 Senior Maintenance Worker 2.00           2.00           2.00           2.00           2.00           

Streets Supervisor 0.60           0.60           0.60           0.60           0.60           

   Total Public Works - Streets 6.10           6.10           6.10           6.10           6.10           

32Page 321

Item 33.



 

 

Summary Schedules 
Staffing History (Continued) 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2017-18 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2018-19 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2019-20 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2020-21 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2021-22 

Emergency Services
Streets Supervisor 0.40           0.40           0.40           0.40           0.40           

   Total Emergency Services 0.40           0.40           0.40           0.40           0.40           

Development Services-Graffiti Abatement
 PW Maintenance/Graffiti Abatement 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           

   Total Graffiti Abatement 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           

Public Works-Parks
 Public Works Maintenance 3.00           3.00           3.00           3.00           3.00           

Parks Supervisor 0.75           -             -             -             1.00           
Superintendent -             1.00           1.00           1.00           -             

 Senior Maintenance Worker 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           

   Total Public Works - Parks 4.75           5.00           5.00           5.00           5.00           

Public Works - Parks and Recreation Program
 Rec Coordinator 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           

Parks Ranger 2.00           2.00           2.00           2.00           2.00           

   Total Parks and Recreation Program 3.00           3.00           3.00           3.00           3.00           

Development Services - Code Enforcement
Code Enforcement Officer/Clerk 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           0.41           
Neighborhood Services Supervisor 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           -             
Code Enforcement Technician 1.00           -             -             -             -             
Code Enforcement Officer -             -             -             -             1.00           
Code Compliance Manager -             1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           
Senior Code Enforcement Officer 2.00           2.00           2.00           2.00           1.59           

    Total Code Enforcement 5.00           5.00           5.00           5.00           5.00           

 GENERAL FUND TOTALS 45.36         46.63         45.80         45.80         49.80         

Landscape and Lighting District
 Landscape and Lighting Inspector 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           

Director of Public Works 0.22           0.10           0.10           0.10           0.10           
 Parks Supervisor 0.25           -             -             -             -             

Senior Management Analyst 0.40           0.10           0.10           0.10           0.10           

   Total Landscape  and Lighting District 1.87           1.20           1.20           1.20           1.20           

33Page 322

Item 33.



 

 

Summary Schedules 
Staffing History (Continued) 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2017-18 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2018-19 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2019-20 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2020-21 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2021-22 

Water Authority
 Accountant -             0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           

Accounting Manager 0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Accounting Technician 0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           
Accounting Technician - Accts Payable 0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Accounting Technician - Payroll 0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Assistant City Manager -             -             0.20           0.20           -             
Assistant to the City Manager -             0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Assistant Engineer -             -             -             -             0.25           

 Assistant to the City Manager/Grants 0.25           -             -             -             -             
City Engineer 0.20           0.20           -             -             0.20           
City Manager 0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Construction Project Coordinator 0.20           -             0.20           0.20           0.20           
Controller -             0.25           0.25           0.25           -             

 Department Assistant I 0.35           0.35           0.60           0.60           0.60           
 Department Assistant II 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           

Deputy City Clerk -             -             0.25           0.25           0.25           
Economic Development Director 0.10           0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Environmental Compliance Program Mgr. -             0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           
Executive Assistant 0.25           0.25           -             -             -             
Finance Director 0.25           -             -             -             0.25           

 Grants Manager -             0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Heavy Equipment Operator 0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           
Human Resources Manager 0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Human Resources Technician 0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Junior Engineer 0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           0.25           
Lighting and Landscape Manager -             0.20           -             -             -             
Permit Technician 0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Public Works Director 0.20           0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           

 Public Works Maintenance 3.50           3.50           3.00           3.00           2.00           
Receptionist 0.34           0.34           -             -             -             
Senior Accountant 0.25           -             -             -             -             
Senior Management Analyst -             0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           

 Senior Water Service Worker III 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           2.00           
 Senior Water Service Worker IV 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           

Utilities  Manager 0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           
Utility Clerk I -             -             1.00           1.00           1.00           
Utility Clerk II 0.50           0.50           -             -             -             
Water Service Worker/LV2 -             1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           
Water Superintendent 1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           1.00           

   Total Water Authority 14.14         16.34         16.25         16.25         16.25         

34Page 323

Item 33.



 

 

Summary Schedules 
Staffing History (Continued) 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2017-18 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2018-19 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2019-20 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2020-21 

 Fiscal 
Year 

2021-22 

Sanitary District
 Accountant -             0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           

Accounting Manager 0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Accounting Technician 0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           
Accounting Technician - Accts Payable 0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Accounting Technician - Payroll 0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Assistant City Manager -             0.20           0.20           0.20           -             
Assistant to the City Manager -             0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Assistant Engineer -             -             -             -             0.25           

 Assistant to the City Manager/Grants 0.25           -             -             -             -             
City Engineer 0.20           -             -             -             0.20           
City Manager 0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Construction Project Coordinator 0.20           0.20           0.20           0.20           0.20           
Controller -             0.25           0.25           0.25           -             

 Department Assistant I 0.35           0.60           0.60           0.60           0.60           
 Department Assistant II 1.00           0.75           1.00           1.00           1.00           
 Deputy City Clerk -             0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           

Economic Development Director 0.10           0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Environmental Compliance Program Mgr. -             0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           
Executive Assistant 0.25           -             -             -             -             
Finance Director 0.25           -             -             -             0.25           

 Grants Manager -             0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Human Resources Manager 0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Human Resources Technician 0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Junior Engineer 0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           0.25           
Permit Technician 0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Public Works Director 0.20           0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
Public Works Maintenance 0.50           0.50           -             -             -             
Receptionist 0.33           0.33           -             -             -             

 Sanitary Superintendent 2.00           2.00           2.00           2.00           2.00           
 Senior Accountant 0.25           -             -             -             -             

Senior Management Analyst -             0.25           0.25           0.25           0.25           
 Treatment Plant Operator I 3.00           3.00           3.00           3.00           2.00           

Treatment Plant Operator II 2.00           2.00           2.00           2.00           3.00           
Utilities  Manager 0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           0.50           
Utility Clerk I -             -             1.00           1.00           1.00           
Utility Clerk II 0.50           0.50           -             -             -             

   Total Sanitary District 14.63         15.83         15.75         15.75         15.75         

Grand Total 76.00         80.00         79.00         79.00         83.00         

35Page 324

Item 33.



 

 

Cesar E. Chavez 

36Page 325

Item 33.



 

 

*HQHUDO�)XQG�5HYHQXHV 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2020-22
Initial
Budget 

Taxes
101-11-110-10-301-000 Property Taxes - Secured 388,457$         386,740$         415,000$         427,000$         

101-11-110-10-303-000 Property Taxes - Supplemental 50,741             94,748             55,000             57,000             

101-11-110-10-304-000 Property Taxes - Unsecured 20,612             17,943             25,000             21,000             

101-11-110-10-310-000 Sales Tax - Measure U 4,646,594        4,191,015        3,967,000        4,700,000        

101-11-110-10-313-000 Sales Tax - Bradley Burns 3,919,495        3,492,540        3,028,000        4,100,000        

101-11-110-10-314-000 Property Transfer Tax 64,942             67,998             60,000             75,000             

101-11-110-10-315-000 Business License - Annual Fee 24,170             23,230             24,000             25,000             

101-11-110-10-316-000 Business License Tax 569,898           606,394           570,000           570,000           

101-11-110-10-317-000 Construction Tax 100,226           297,939           500,000           500,000           

101-11-110-10-318-000 Franchise Tax 990,696           965,943           1,000,000        965,000           

101-11-110-10-319-000 Delinquent Taxes, Penalties and Interest 3,186               1,758               3,500               3,500               

101-11-110-10-320-000 Utility Users Tax 2,289,439        2,242,714        2,400,000        2,300,000        

101-11-110-10-322-000 TOT-Short Term Vacation Rentals (9%) 143,216           227,076           204,000           140,000           

101-11-110-10-325-000 Business License SB 1186 Fee 4,645               3,929               5,000               4,000               

101-11-110-10-398-000 RPTTF 381,068           365,194           305,000           376,000           

101-11-110-30-333-000 Homeowners Prop Tax Relief 5,180               3,364               5,000               3,500               

101-11-110-30-334-000 Property Tax In Lieu of VLF 4,525,650        4,714,590        4,800,000        5,100,000        

101-11-110-30-335-000 Motor Vehicle In Lieu of Fees 21,905             36,685             20,000             25,000             

101-11-110-30-336-000 Property Tax In Lieu 309,360           203,016           203,016           255,000           

101-11-110-10-332-000 Cannabis - Distribution 5,600               10,477             -                   -                   

101-11-110-10-333-000 Cannabis - Manufacturing Tax 86,034             46,257             440,000           7,000               

101-11-110-10-334-000 Cannabis - Lab Testing Tax 3,416               -                       -                   -                   

101-11-110-10-335-000 Cannabis - Retail 371,664           384,228           420,000           593,000           

101-11-110-10-336-000 Cannabis - Cultivation/Manufacturing Fee 175,636           25,250             -                   400,000           

Sub-Total Taxes 19,101,830$    18,409,029$    18,449,516$    20,647,000$    

Licenses and Permits

101-11-131-20-321-000 Other Licenses and Permits 20,710$           14,931$           20,000$           18,000$           

101-11-144-20-320-000 Building Permits - Building 248,446           428,400           470,000           470,000           

101-11-145-20-321-000 Other Licenses and Permits - Engineering 15,888             14,849             20,000             20,000             

Sub-Total Licenses and Permits 285,044$         458,179$         510,000$         508,000$         

Charges for Services

101-11-141-40-341-000 Zoning and Subdivision Fees - Planning 188,484           114,554           200,000           200,000           

101-11-144-40-346-000 Certificate of Occupancy Fees - Building 10,240             26,880             40,000             40,000             

101-11-144-40-347-000 Plan Check Fees - Building 104,396           109,337           120,000           120,000           

101-11-144-20-322-000 Development Agreement Fee 10,001             -                       -                   -                   

101-11-145-40-345-000 PW Inspection Fees - Engineering 73,058             84,266             75,000             75,000             

101-11-145-40-347-000 Plan Check Fees - Engineering 152,261           142,927           150,000           150,000           

Sub-Total Charges for Services 538,440$         477,963$         585,000$         585,000$         

37Page 326

Item 33.



 

 

*HQHUDO�)XQG�5HYHQXHV��&RQWLQXHG� 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2020-22
Initial
Budget 

Fines and Forfeitures

101-11-150-60-351-000 Parking Citations / Vehicle Recovery Fees 52,313$           56,159$           125,000$         55,000$           

101-11-150-60-353-000 Court Fees and Fines 30,657             58,101             30,000             30,000             

101-11-150-60-354-000 Parking Bail Fees 16,140             6,858               40,000             15,000             

101-11-150-60-356-000 Park Citations 270,214           236,594           250,000           60,598             

101-11-150-60-369-000 Other Revenue - Police Services 2,600               35,836             -                   3,000               

101-11-155-20-321-000 Abandoned Residential Property 2,925               1,885               5,000               3,000               

Sub-Total Fines & Forfeitures 374,848$         395,433$         450,000$         166,598$         

Intergovernmental

101-11-110-40-332-000 General Government Administration Fees 299,163$         249,000$         250,000$         125,000$         

101-11-110-40-333-000 Waste Transfer Station-JPA Income 300,000           312,500           350,000           700,000           

101-11-150-10-527-000 Other intergovernental Revenue 15,744             19,201             -                   -                   

101-11-150-30-331-000 State Grant Revenue SLESA 165,413           155,948           100,000           100,000           

101-11-150-30-332-000 Riverside County- PACT 178,250           178,250           196,919           -                   

101-11-311-30-331-000 State Grant Revenues 1/2% Sales Tax 102,764           142,237           100,000           149,349           

101-11-311-30-343-000 Abandoned Vehicle Grant Revenue 11,039             43,375             125,000           125,000           

Sub-total Intergovernmental 1,072,373$      1,100,511$      1,121,919$      1,199,349$      

Interest and Other Revenue

101-11-110-70-361-000 Interest Income 79,114$           182,419$         60,000$           45,000$           

101-11-110-70-362-000 Rents and Royalties 39,681             108,211           60,000             -                   

101-11-110-70-375-000 Rental of Community Center 1,062               566                  -                   -                   

101-11-110-70-380-000 Rental of Park Fields 64,971             29,000             -                   60,000             

101-11-110-90-349-000 Refunds, Rebates and Reimbursements 47,210             80,074             80,000             50,000             

101-11-110-90-367-000 Contributions and Donations 15,260             14,807             -                   -                   

101-11-110-90-369-000 Other Revenue - General Revenue 327,634           215,924           5,000               5,000               

101-11-131-90-369-000 Other Revenue - Finance /Administration 12,725             29,838             10,000             15,000             

101-11-144-20-369-000 Other Revenue - Charge for Services 353                  68,559             2,500               3,000               

101-11-147-40-350-000 Senior Excursions 1,160               -                       -                   -                   

101-11-170-70-364-000 Unrealized gain/loss on investment -                       142,572           -                   -                   

Sub-Total Interest & Other Revenue 589,170$         871,971$         217,500$         178,000$         

Total General Fund Revenues 21,961,705$    21,713,085$    21,333,935$    23,283,947$    

Transfers In

101-11-117-90-111-000 Transfers From  Gas Tax 1,133,056$      761,477$         805,017$         740,000$         

101-11-118-90-160-000 Transfer From L&LD-Gen Gov't Admin Fees 268,313           234,292           314,195           320,000           

101-11-118-90-178-000 Transfer From Water-Gen Gov't Admin Fees 618,502           794,162           759,279           601,435           

101-11-118-90-361-000 Transfer From Sewer-Gen Gov't Admin Fees 570,968           779,701           941,259           945,811           

101-11-150-90-242-000 Transfer From Police Services 954,142           988,912           1,169,645        1,246,200        

101-11-160-90-210-000 Transfer From CDBG 86,715             87,838             80,000             -                   

101-11-117-90-195-000 Transfer From Other 413,958           142,390           188,986           184,752           

Sub-Total Transfers In 4,045,654$      3,788,772$      4,258,381$      4,038,198$      

Total General Fund Revenue and Transfers 26,007,359$    25,501,857$    25,592,316$ 27,322,145$    

38Page 327

Item 33.



 

 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

7KH�JHQHUDO�IXQG�LV�WKH�PDLQ�RSHUDWLQJ�IXQG�RI�WKH�&LW\�RI�&RDFKHOOD��,W�LV�XVHG�WR�DFFRXQW�IRU�
DOO� ILQDQFLDO� UHVRXUFHV� H[FHSW� ZKHUH� OHJDO�� DGPLQLVWUDWLYH� RU� *HQHUDOO\� $FFHSWHG�$FFRXQWLQJ�
3ULQFLSOHV��*$$3��UHTXLUHPHQWV�FDXVH�WKHP�WR�EH�DFFRXQWHG�IRU�LQ�DQRWKHU�IXQG� 
 
7KH�&LW\¶V�JHQHUDO� IXQG�DFWLYLW\� LQFOXGHV�GHSDUWPHQWV� WKDW�VHUYH� WKH�JHQHUDO�SXEOLF�DV�ZHOO�DV�
IXQFWLRQV�WKDW�SURYLGH�DGPLQLVWUDWLYH�VXSSRUW�WR�WKH�YDULRXV�GHSDUWPHQWV�ZLWKLQ�WKH�JRYHUQPHQW�
DQG�LWV�DJHQFLHV��7KH�WDEOH�VKRZQ�EHORZ�SURYLGHV�D�VXPPDU\�OLVW�RI� WKH�JHQHUDO� IXQG�'HSDUW�
PHQWV�DQG�WKHLU�UHVSHFWLYH�EXGJHWV� 

*HQHUDO�)XQG�([SHQGLWXUHV�E\�'HSDUWPHQW 

Department Name
 FY 2018-19 

Actual 
 FY 2019-20 

Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Budget 

City Council 148,056$       189,175$       212,269$        282,598$        
City Clerk 140,948         100,218         124,059          103,024          
City Attorney 658,167         671,589         585,000          652,000          
City Manager 322,194         334,506         428,162          498,806          
Human Resources 199,289         220,418         258,437          270,567          
Grants Manger 68,735           74,067           83,905            92,080            
Economic Development 141,433         145,605         148,208          214,717          
Finance Department 544,189         651,361         625,713          782,536          
General Government 2,680,431      2,170,801      1,647,082       2,258,138       
Information Technology 492,589         520,104         578,099          539,408          
Emergency Operations Services 71,320           76,916           95,404            87,459            
Development Services - Planning 680,046         701,896         875,916          956,086          
Development Services - Building 354,812         308,991         269,943          323,625          
Development Services - Code Enforcement 541,716         653,912         569,906          619,080          
Development Services - Graffiti 86,630           81,964           122,544          234,872          
Engineering Department 900,558         1,082,265      1,003,752       875,788          
Public Works - Administration 160,547         204,237         253,331          217,352          
Public Works - Parks and Recreation Program 201,117         288,496         321,439          323,069          
Public Works - Seniors Program 293,619         334,118         335,418          337,691          
Public Works - Fleet Maintenance 540,201         378,774         596,135          509,296          
Public Works - Building Maintenance 646,603         698,493         806,141          857,759          
Public Works - Streets 1,284,939      1,298,287      1,381,367       1,504,684       
Public Works - Parks 1,504,129      1,563,917      1,721,460       1,741,573       
Public Safety - Police Services 8,744,510      9,487,472      9,955,639       10,016,406     
Public Safety - Fire Services 1,224,826      1,630,963      2,126,978       1,576,941       
Public Safety - Animal Control 228,416         256,100         250,000          318,000          
Transfers Out 616,225         -                 612,131          610,931          

Total 23,476,245$  24,124,644$  25,988,438$   26,804,488$   

39Page 328

Item 33.



 

 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

*HQHUDO�)XQG�([SHQGLWXUHV�E\�&DWHJRU\ 

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21
 Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Budget 

Salaries and benefits 5,616,192$      6,322,941$      6,879,374$      6,967,985$      
Donations/Contributions/Events 699,644           482,558           397,500           95,000             
Administrative expenses 10,382             10,090             14,000             15,500             
Legal services 658,167           671,589           585,000           652,000           
Other professional fees 2,331,090        2,414,022        2,149,307        2,333,237        
Public safety 9,979,621        11,214,121      12,075,017      11,594,487      
Repairs and maintenance 225,397           170,525           290,334           302,428           
Equipment rental 48,686             31,517             56,000             114,000           
Insurance expense 749,158           993,659           928,882           646,600           
Communication expense 128,313           129,847           164,890           158,241           
Advertising expense 35,158             40,735             41,200             50,500             
Meetings, conferences and travel 79,625             75,768             125,000           178,790           
Supplies 537,676           500,762           597,637           589,940           
Minor equipment 51,975             10,753             29,750             33,500             
Computer software 128,493           141,744           168,360           190,956           
Energy charges 673,673           661,297           698,100           708,100           
Books and periodicals 316                  1,714               4,683               6,100               
Dues and subscriptions 66,712             104,753           33,238             119,195           
Machinery and equipment 23,825             11,477             78,035             172,500           
Miscellaneous expenses 80,670             82,606             18,000             155,000           
Transfers and allocations 735,248           52,167             42,000             857,985           
Transfer - Coachella Lease Bonds 616,225           -                   612,131           862,444           

   TOTAL 23,476,245$    24,124,644$    25,988,438$    26,804,488$    

40Page 329

Item 33.



 

 

&LW\�&RXQFLO 

7KH� &LW\� &RXQFLO� &RQVLVWV� RI� ILYH� PHPEHUV�� IRXU� &RXQFLO�0HPEHUV� DQG� RQH�0D\RU�� � (DFK�
&RXQFLO�0HPEHU�LV�HOHFWHG�WR�VHUYH�D�IRXU�\HDU�DW-ODUJH�WHUP���7KH�0D\RU�LV�HOHFWHG�WR�VHUYH�D�
WZR�\HDU�WHUP���7KH�0D\RU�SUHVLGHV�RYHU�DOO�&RXQFLO�PHHWLQJV�DQG�UHSUHVHQWV�WKH�&LW\�LQ�DOO�RI�
ILFLDO�PDWWHUV��(YHU\�\HDU�WKH�&RXQFLO�VHOHFWV�DQG�DSSRLQWV�RQH�RI�LWV�0HPEHUV�WR�VHUYH�DV�WKH�
0D\RU�3UR-WHP��RU�9LFH�0D\RU��ZKR�SUHVLGHV�RYHU�WKH�PHHWLQJV�DQG�IXQFWLRQV�LQ�WKH�0D\RU¶V�
DEVHQFH�� 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

 
6WHYHQ�+HUQDQGH] ............................................................................................................. 0D\RU 
-RVLH�*RQ]DOH] ................................................................................................... 0D\RU�3UR-7HP 
0HJDQ�%HDPDQ�-DFLQWR� ................................................................................... &RXQFLO�0HPEHU 
'HQLVH�'HOJDGR� ............................................................................................... &RXQFLO�0HPEHU� 
1HIWDOL�*DODU]D ................................................................................................. &RXQFLO�0HPEHU 
 

41Page 330

Item 33.



 

 

&LW\�&RXQFLO� 

7KH�&LW\�&RXQFLO�LV�WKH�OHJLVODWLYH�DXWKRULW\�WKDW�FUHDWHV�WKH�SROLFLHV�DQG�ODZV�
XQGHU�ZKLFK� WKH�&LW\� RSHUDWHV�� �2UGLQDQFHV� DQG� UHVROXWLRQV� DUH� HQDFWHG� DQG�
IXQGV�DSSURSULDWHG�WR�SURYLGH�WKH�YDULRXV�VHUYLFHV�WR�WKH�FRPPXQLW\���7KH�&LW\�
&RXQFLO�SURYLGHV�WKH�OHDGHUVKLS��SROLFLHV�DQG�IXWXUH�GLUHFWLRQ��RU�YLVLRQ��RI�WKH�
&LW\��%HVLGH�WZR�UHJXODU�PHHWLQJV�SHU�PRQWK��WKH�&RXQFLO�PHHWV�LQ�VSHFLDO�VHV�

VLRQV�DQG�ZRUNVKRSV�DV� UHTXLUHG� IRU� WKH� VPRRWK�RSHUDWLRQ�RI� WKH�&LW\��7KH�&LW\�&RXQFLO� DOVR�
DSSRLQWV� WKH�&LW\�0DQDJHU�� WKH�&LW\�$WWRUQH\�DQG� WKH�PHPEHUV�RI� WKH�&LW\¶V�DGYLVRU\�ERDUGV�
DQG�FRPPLVVLRQV� 
 
7KH�&LW\�&RXQFLO�DOVR�VHUYHV�DV�WKH�%RDUG�RI�'LUHFWRUV�IRU�WKH�)LUH�3URWHFWLRQ�'LVWULFW��WKH�6DQL�
WDU\�'LVWULFW�� WKH�:DWHU�$XWKRULW\� DQG� WKH�&DEOH�$FFHVV�&RUSRUDWLRQ��7KH�&LW\�0DQDJHU� DOVR�
VHUYHV�DV�WKH�H[HFXWLYH�GLUHFWRU�RU�GLVWULFW�PDQDJHU�RI�WKHVH�HQWLWLHV�� 

&LW\�&RXQFLO¶V�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

City Council

101-11-111-10-110-000 Regular Employees 34,486$           43,552$           54,663$           92,437$           

101-11-111-10-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 45                    -                   -                       -                   

101-11-111-10-120-000 Temporary/part-time employees 5,588               188                  -                       -                   

101-11-111-10-132-000 Other salary payments 10,900             12,250             12,000             12,000             

101-11-111-10-210-000 Group insurance 57,774             98,353             101,727           137,247           

101-11-111-10-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 1,533               1,399               967                  1,514               

101-11-111-10-230-000 PERS contributions 3,184               5,731               3,212               -                   

101-11-111-10-530-000 Communications 12,480             9,181               12,500             12,000             

101-11-111-10-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel 17,294             15,846             25,000             25,000             

101-11-111-10-610-000 General supplies 3,730               2,320               2,000               2,000               

101-11-111-10-611-000 Minor Equip, Furniture, < 5,000 400                  -                   -                       -                   

101-11-111-10-641-000 Dues and subscriptions 210                  90                    200                  400                  

101-11-111-10-801-000 Miscellaneous -                   267                  -                       -                   

101-11-111-10-801-001 Community Sponsorships 435                  -                   -                       -                   

TOTAL CITY COUNCIL 148,056$         189,175$         212,269$         282,598$         

42Page 331

Item 33.



 

 

&LW\�$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ 

&LW\�&OHUN¶V�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

&,7<�&/(5. 
 

7KH�&LW\�&OHUN�LV�DQ�HOHFWLYH�RIILFH�DQG�ZRUNV�FORVHO\�ZLWK�RWKHUV�LQ�WKH�&LW\�
DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ�IXQFWLRQV��7KH�&LW\�&OHUN¶V�RIILFH� LV� WKH�RIILFLDO�&LW\� UHFRUGHU�
DQG� SURYLGHV� UHVHDUFK� DQG� GRFXPHQWDWLRQ� RI� DOO� &LW\� &RXQFLO� DFWLRQV��
FRRUGLQDWHV� DOO� UHJXODU� DQG� VSHFLDO� FRXQFLO� PHHWLQJV�� FRRUGLQDWHV� DOO� OHJDO�
DGYHUWLVLQJ�� SUHSDUHV� &RXQFLO� DJHQGDV� DQG� UHFRUGV� RI� OHJLVODWLYH� DFWLRQ��

PDLQWDLQV� PXQLFLSDO� FRGH� UHYLVLRQV�� UHFRUGV� DOO� ERDUG� DQG� FRPPLVVLRQ� DFWLYLWLHV�� SURYLGHV�
SURFHGXUHV� IRU� ILOOLQJ�&RXQFLO� DQG�&RPPLVVLRQ�YDFDQFLHV��DQG�DVVLVWV� WKH�&RXQW\� UHJLVWUDU�RI�
YRWHUV�LQ�FRQGXFWLQJ�PXQLFLSDO�HOHFWLRQV� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

City Clerk's Office

101-11-112-10-110-000 Regular employees 38,653$           31,034$           28,466$           29,212$           

101-11-112-10-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 11,084             2,604               7,779               7,880               

101-11-112-10-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 17                    -                   -                       -                   

101-11-112-10-120-000 Temporary/part-time employees 3,185               4,231               -                       -                   

101-11-112-10-132-000 Other salary payments 1,200               1,225               1,200               1,200               

101-11-112-10-210-000 Group insurance 29,024             29,508             30,386             29,903             

101-11-112-10-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 619                  512                  529                  544                  

101-11-112-10-230-000 PERS contributions 7,687               8,216               9,705               4,837               

101-11-112-10-334-000 Other professional/contract services 40,818             9,102               28,738             8,738               

101-11-112-10-430-000 Repair and maintenance services -                   -                   100                  100                  

101-11-112-10-442-000 Rental of Equipment & Vehicles -                   -                   -                       -                   

101-11-112-10-530-000 Communications 1,389               2,756               1,000               2,000               

101-11-112-10-540-000 Advertising 714                  -                   1,200               500                  

101-11-112-10-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel 2,004               1,333               6,435               6,435               

101-11-112-10-610-000 General supplies 1,818               4,927               5,000               5,000               

101-11-112-10-611-000 Minor Equip, Furniture, <5,000.00 -                   -                   -                       2,700               

101-11-112-10-641-000 Dues and subscriptions 2,735               4,769               3,521               3,975               

TOTAL CITY CLERK'S OFFICE 140,948$         100,218$         124,059$         103,024$         

43Page 332

Item 33.



 

 

&LW\�$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ 

&,7<�$77251(< 
 

7KH�2IILFH�RI� WKH�&LW\�$WWRUQH\� LV� VHUYLFHG� WKURXJK�D� FRQWUDFW�ZLWK�DQ� DWWRUQH\�
DSSRLQWHG� IURP�SULYDWH� SUDFWLFH��7KH�&LW\�$WWRUQH\� LV� WKH� JHQHUDO� OHJDO� FRXQVHO�
DQG�SHUIRUPV�DOO� OHJDO�GXWLHV�DVVLJQHG� WR�KLP�KHU�E\� WKH�&LW\�&RXQFLO��7KH�&LW\�
$WWRUQH\�LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�FRRUGLQDWLQJ�DOO�RXWVLGH�OHJDO�FRXQVHO�DQG�NHHSLQJ�WKH�
&LW\�&RXQFLO� LQIRUPHG� RI� DOO� OHJDO�PDWWHUV� WKDW�PD\� DIIHFW� WKH� RSHUDWLRQ� RI� WKH�
&LW\� 

&LW\�$WWRUQH\¶V�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

City Attorney's Office

101-11-114-10-332-000 City Attorney-retainer 400,493$         376,644$         390,000$         410,000$         

101-11-114-10-332-001 City Attorney-reimbursable costs 4,033               8,629               5,000               2,000               

101-11-114-10-332-002 City Attorney-other 36,839             22,673             40,000             40,000             

101-11-114-10-333-000 Other Legal Services 216,802           263,642           150,000           200,000           

TOTAL CITY ATTORNEY'S OFFICE 658,167$         671,589$         585,000$         652,000$         

44Page 333

Item 33.



 

 

&LW\�$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ 

&LW\�0DQDJHU¶V�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

&,7<�0$1$*(5 
 

7KH�&LW\�0DQDJHU�DFWV�DV� WKH�DGPLQLVWUDWLYH�KHDG�RI� WKH�&LW\�JRYHUQPHQW�XQGHU�
WKH�GLUHFWLRQ�RI� WKH�&LW\�&RXQFLO�DQG�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWKLQ� WKH�IUDPHZRUN�RI� WKH�
&LW\¶V�PXQLFLSDO� FRGH� DQG� RWKHU� UHIHUHQFHV� VXFK� DV� WKH� JHQHUDO� SODQ�� � 7KH�&LW\�
0DQDJHU� DGPLQLVWHUV� WKH� DIIDLUV� RI� WKH� &LW\� DQG� LPSOHPHQWV� WKH� SROLFLHV� RI� WKH�
&LW\�&RXQFLO�� � � ,Q�DGGLWLRQ�� WKH�&LW\�0DQDJHU�SURYLGHV�RYHUDOO�GDLO\�VXSHUYLVLRQ��
PDQDJHPHQW�VXSSRUW��DQG�GLUHFWLRQ�WR�&LW\�'HSDUWPHQWV�� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

City Manager's Office

101-11-121-10-110-000 Regular employees 206,104$         206,930$         279,185$         333,225$         

101-11-121-10-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 19,048             23,481             21,517             33,078             

101-11-121-10-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 17                    -                   -                       -                   

101-11-121-10-132-000 Other salary payments 3,250               3,281               3,250               3,250               

101-11-121-10-210-000 Group insurance 37,959             35,585             39,687             67,592             

101-11-121-10-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 3,310               3,307               3,393               5,222               

101-11-121-10-230-000 PERS contributions 44,573             51,277             66,130             44,939             

101-11-121-10-334-000 Other professionals/contract services 7                      -                   -                       -                   

101-11-121-10-430-000 Repair and maintenance services -                   -                   -                       -                   

101-11-121-10-530-000 Communications 2,005               1,644               2,000               2,000               

101-11-121-10-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel 3,380               6,570               10,000             7,500               

101-11-121-10-610-000 General supplies 181                  402                  500                  500                  
101-11-121-10-611-000 Minor Equip, Furniture, <5,000.00 -                   -                   -                       -                   

101-11-121-10-612-000 Minor Software <5,000 -                   -                   -                       -                   

101-11-121-10-640-000 Books and periodicals -                   -                   -                       -                   

101-11-121-10-641-000 Dues and subscriptions 2,361               2,030               2,500               1,500               

101-11-121-10-801-000 Miscellaneous -                   -                   -                       -                   
-                   

TOTAL CITY MANAGER'S OFFICE 322,194$         334,506$         428,162$         498,806$         

45Page 334

Item 33.



 

 

&LW\�$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ 

(FRQRPLF�'HYHORSPHQW�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

(&2120,&�'(9(/230(17�'(3$570(17 
 

7KLV�EXGJHW�FDWHJRU\�FRYHUV�FRRUGLQDWLRQ�ZLWK�WKH�&KDPEHU�RI�&RPPHUFH��QRQ
-SURILWV��DSSURSULDWH�VWDNHKROGHUV��DQG�&LW\�&RXQFLO�UHSUHVHQWDWLYHV�RQ�PDUNHW�
LQJ�DQG�FRPPXQLW\�HYHQWV���7KH�SXUSRVH�RI�WKH�SURJUDP�LV�WR�UHFUXLW�KRWHOLHUV�
DQG�EXVLQHVVHV�WR�GLYHUVLI\�WKH�&LW\¶V�VDOHV�WD[�UHYHQXHV�DQG�EHJLQ�WR�JHQHUDWH�
KRWHO�WD[�UHYHQXHV� 
 
 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Economic Development Department

101-11-122-10-110-000 Regular employees 54,776$           59,765$           63,144$           88,384$           

101-11-122-10-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 5,480               5,950               6,116               8,644               

101-11-122-10-210-000 Group insurance 11,827             14,855             16,482             17,210             

101-11-122-10-220-000 Payroll tax expenses 873                  943                  971                  1,371               

101-11-122-10-230-000 PERS contributions 5,781               5,669               5,195               6,708               

101-11-122-10-334-000 Other professional services 15,066             13,523             15,000             50,000             

101-11-122-10-530-000 Communications 1,036               1,221               1,200               1,200               

101-11-122-10-540-000 Advertising 11,727             21,086             12,000             15,000             

101-11-122-10-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel 23,464             12,818             15,100             15,000             

101-11-122-10-610-000 General supplies 1,043               683                  1,000               1,000               

101-11-122-10-611-000 Minor Equipment < 5,000 -                   -                   1,800               -                   

101-11-122-10-612-000 Computer Software -                   -                   600                  600                  

101-11-122-10-640-000 Books and periodicals -                   300                  300                  300                  

101-11-122-10-641-000 Dues and Subscriptions 5,360               6,293               9,300               9,300               

101-11-122-10-801-001 CBGP-Small Business Assistance 5,000               2,500               -                       -                   

TOTAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 141,433$         145,605$         148,208$         214,717$         

46Page 335

Item 33.



 

 

&LW\�$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ 

+XPDQ�5HVRXUFHV�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

+80$1�5(6285&(6 
 

7KH�+XPDQ� 5HVRXUFHV�0DQDJHU� SHUIRUPV� WKH� GXWLHV� DQG� UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV� IRU� DOO�
KXPDQ�UHVRXUFHV�IXQFWLRQV��,Q�DGGLWLRQ��WKLV�SRVLWLRQ�FRRUGLQDWHV�WKH�ZRUNHUV�FRP�
SHQVDWLRQ� SURJUDP� DQG� HPSOR\PHQW� LQVXUDQFH� SURJUDPV� DV� ZHOO� DV� HPSOR\HH�
WUDLQLQJ�DQG�UHFRUGV��$OO�UHFUXLWPHQW�DQG�QHZ�KLULQJ��IULQJH�EHQHILW�DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ��
DQG�FRRUGLQDWLRQ�RI�WKH�DFWLYLWLHV�DQG�FRQWUDFWV�RI�WKH�EDUJDLQLQJ�XQLWV�DUH�ZLWKLQ�
WKH�UHVSRQVLELOLW\�RI�WKH�+XPDQ�5HVRXUFHV�'HSDUWPHQW� 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Human Resources Department

101-11-123-10-110-000 Regular employees 104,013$         108,990$         137,731$         142,372$         

101-11-123-10-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 8,624               7,346               17,831             18,306             

101-11-123-10-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 35                    14                    -                       -                   

101-11-123-10-120-000 Temporary/part-time employees -                   23,287             -                       -                   

101-11-123-10-132-000 Other salary payments -                   -                   1,124               1,180               

101-11-123-10-210-000 Group insurance 18,219             20,957             37,591             35,670             

101-11-123-10-220-000 Payroll tax expenses 1,634               1,708               2,206               2,289               

101-11-123-10-230-000 PERS contributions 11,010             11,661             12,215             11,217             

101-11-123-10-334-000 Other professional services 21,805             15,508             29,092             27,813             

101-11-123-10-530-000 Communications 1,230               686                  500                  471                  

101-11-123-10-540-000 Advertising 4,224               5,796               2,500               3,000               

101-11-123-10-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel 1,200               1,341               1,800               1,800               

101-11-123-10-610-000 General supplies 2,612               4,543               2,000               2,000               

101-11-123-10-612-000 Minor Software <5,000 14,715             2,580               -                       -                   

101-11-123-10-641-000 Dues and Subscriptions 1,202               6,314               5,847               16,450             

101-11-123-10-801-001 Employee holiday party 8,594               8,556               6,000               6,000               

101-11-123-10-801-002 Employee recognition program 172                  1,129               2,000               2,000               

TOTAL HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT 199,289$         220,418$         258,437$         270,567$         

47Page 336

Item 33.



 

 

&LW\�$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ 

*UDQWV�0DQDJHU�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

*5$176�0$1$*(5� 
 

7KLV�EXGJHW�FDWHJRU\�FRYHUV�FRRUGLQDWLRQ�&LW\�SURJUDPV�IXQGHG�E\�JUDQWV��VSH�
FLDO�DSSURSULDWLRQV�IURP�WKH�&LW\�&RXQFLO��RU�FRRSHUDWLYH�DJUHHPHQWV�ZLWK�H[�
WHUQDO�RUJDQL]DWLRQV�DUH�PDQDJHG�E\�WKH�*UDQWV�0DQDJHU� 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Grants Manager

101-11-125-10-110-000 Regular employees 44,486$           51,274$           54,626$           59,095$           

101-11-125-10-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 1,407               2,067               5,291               5,779               

101-11-125-10-210-000 Group insurance 12,377             13,588             15,054             14,503             

101-11-125-10-220-000 Payroll tax expenses 656                  762                  840                  917                  

101-11-125-10-230-000 PERS contributions 9,596               4,883               4,494               4,485               

101-11-125-10-334-000 Other professional services -                   41                    -                       -                   

101-11-125-10-530-000 Communications -                   204                  1,000               2,000               

101-11-125-10-540-000 Advertising 211                  213                  1,500               2,000               

101-11-125-10-610-000 General supplies -                   1,035               1,100               3,300               
-                   

TOTAL GRANTS MANAGER DEPARTMENT 68,735$           74,067$           83,905$           92,080$           

48Page 337

Item 33.



 

 

6HQLRUV�3URJUDP��'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

&LW\�$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ 

6(1,256�352*5$0 
 
7KH�6HQLRUV�GLYLVLRQ�LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�SURYLGLQJ�IXQGV�DQG�VHUYLFHV�WKDW�PHHW�WKH�
QHHGV�RI� WKH�&LW\¶V� VHQLRU�SRSXODWLRQ��7KH�6HQLRU�&HQWHU� LV� WKH� IRFXV�RI�DOO� WKH�
VHQLRU�SURJUDP�DFWLYLWLHV��7KH�SURJUDP� LQFOXGHV� RXWUHDFK� VHUYLFHV�� KRW� OXQFKHV��
HGXFDWLRQ�� UHFUHDWLRQ�� VXSSRUW� JURXSV�� LQIRUPDWLRQ� DQG� UHIHUUDO�� WD[� DVVLVWDQFH��
IRRG�GLVWULEXWLRQ��DQG�FRXQVHOLQJ� 
 

7KH� 6HQLRUV� 3URJUDP� VWULYHV� WR� SURYLGH� WKH� &LW\¶V� VHQLRUV� ZLWK� RSSRUWXQLWLHV� WR� HQMR\� D�
KHDOWK\�OLIHVW\OH�DQG�WR�EH�VHOI-VXIILFLHQW��7KH�&LW\�DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ�XWLOL]HV�IXQGLQJ�WR�DVVLVW�WKH�
3URJUDP� E\� SURYLGLQJ� WUDQVSRUWDWLRQ� VHUYLFHV�� SURIHVVLRQDO� DGYLVRUV�� DQG� UHFUHDWLRQ�
FRRUGLQDWRUV��:KHUHYHU�SRVVLEOH��WKH�XVH�RI�YROXQWHHU�VHUYLFHV�LV�HQFRXUDJHG� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Seniors Program

-                   
101-11-147-10-110-000 Regular employees 123,182$         127,854$         124,503$         127,708$         

101-11-147-10-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 4,332               1,026               10,967             11,261             

101-11-147-10-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 846                  1,154               -                       -                   

101-11-147-10-120-000 Temporary/part-time employees 27,673             31,471             31,500             31,500             

101-11-147-10-132-000 Other salary payments -                   -                   3,234               3,331               

101-11-147-10-210-000 Group insurance 32,825             38,083             42,920             40,708             

101-11-147-10-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 2,236               2,260               2,408               2,466               

101-11-147-10-230-000 PERS contributions 32,592             43,284             51,186             24,116             

101-11-147-10-334-000 Other professional services 51,355             68,269             52,000             71,900             

101-11-147-10-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 824                  841                  1,000               1,000               

101-11-147-10-530-000 Communications 251                  279                  2,400               2,400               

101-11-147-10-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel 363                  279                  300                  300                  

101-11-147-10-610-000 General supplies 11,008             14,271             13,000             11,000             

101-11-147-10-641-000 Dues and subscriptions 504                  309                  -                       -                   

101-11-147-10-801-000 Miscellaneous 5,626               4,738               -                       10,000             
-                   

TOTAL SENIORS PROGRAM 293,619$         334,118$         335,418$         337,691$         

49Page 338

Item 33.



 

 

)LQDQFH�'HSDUWPHQW 

0,66,21� 
7KH�)LQDQFH�'HSDUWPHQW�LV�FKDUJHG�ZLWK�WKH�UHVSRQVLELOLW\�ZLWK�SURYLGLQJ�IL�
QDQFLDO�PDQDJHPHQW�� EXGJHWLQJ�� DFFRXQWLQJ�� FDVK�PDQDJHPHQW�� UHYHQXH� FRO�
OHFWLRQ��XWLOLW\�ELOOLQJ��ULVN�PDQDJHPHQW��LQIRUPDWLRQ�WHFKQRORJ\�PDQDJHPHQW�
DQG�JHQHUDO�DGPLQLVWUDWLYH�VXSSRUW�IRU�WKH�&LW\�DQG�LWV�FRPSRQHQW�XQLWV� 
 
35,0$5<�$&7,9,7,(6� 

 
6HUYLFHV� SURYLGHG� WKURXJK� WKH� ILQDQFH� DQG� DFFRXQWLQJ� IXQFWLRQV� LQFOXGH�PDLQWDLQLQJ� UHOLDEOH�
DFFRXQWLQJ� UHFRUGV�� SD\PHQW� RI� DSSURYHG� GHPDQGV� DJDLQVW� WKH�&LW\� WUHDVXU\�� ILVFDO� SODQQLQJ�
DQG�GHEW�DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ�� � ,QWHUQDO�FRQWUROV�DUH�HVWDEOLVKHG�DQG�
PDLQWDLQHG�WR�HQVXUH�WKDW�DGHTXDWH�DFFRXQWLQJ�GDWD�DOORZV�IRU�
WKH�SUHSDUDWLRQ�RI�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�LQ�FRQIRUPLW\�ZLWK�JHQ�
HUDOO\� DFFHSWHG� DFFRXQWLQJ� SULQFLSOHV�� � ,QWHUQDO� FRQWUROV� DUH�
HYDOXDWHG�WR�GHWHUPLQH�WKDW�WKH�FRVW�GRHV�QRW�H[FHHG�WKH�EHQH�
ILWV�OLNHO\�WR�EH�GHULYHG���)LQDQFLDO�UHSRUWV�DUH�XVHG�DV�D�WRRO�WR�
PHDVXUH� WKH� UHVXOWV� RI� RSHUDWLRQV� IRU� D� YDULHW\� RI� SXUSRVHV��
ERWK�LQWHUQDO�DQG�H[WHUQDO� 
 
7KH�FDVK�PDQDJHPHQW� IXQFWLRQ� LV� UHVSRQVLEOH� IRU� WKH�SUXGHQW�
LQYHVWPHQW�RI�VXUSOXV�IXQGV���7KH�&LW\¶V�,QYHVWPHQW�3ROLF\�GL�
UHFWV� WKH� LQYHVWPHQW�RI�&LW\�DQG�FRPSRQHQW�XQLW�PRQLHV�ZLWK�
WKH�IROORZLQJ�SULRULWLHV�HVWDEOLVKHG��SUHVHUYDWLRQ�DQG�VDIHW\�RI�
SULQFLSDO��OLTXLGLW\�QHFHVVDU\�WR�PHHW�GDLO\�FDVK�IORZ��UHTXLUH�
PHQWV� DQG� PD[LPL]HG� \LHOG� DIWHU� WKH� ILUVW� WZR� SULRULWLHV� DUH�
PHW���7KH�,QYHVWPHQW�3ROLF\�LV�UHYLHZHG�DQQXDOO\�DQG�VXEPLW�
WHG�WR�WKH�&LW\�&RXQFLO�IRU�DSSURYDO��� 
 
7KH�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�RI� WKH�&LW\�DQG�LWV�&RPSRQHQW�8QLWV�
DUH�H[DPLQHG�DQQXDOO\�E\�DQ�LQGHSHQGHQW��FHUWLILHG�SXEOLF�DF�
FRXQWLQJ� ILUP�� ZKLFK� UHQGHUV� DQ� RSLQLRQ� WKDW� WKH� ILQDQFLDO�
VWDWHPHQWV�IDLUO\�SUHVHQW�WKH�ILQDQFLDO�SRVLWLRQ�RI�WKH�&LW\�DQG�
WKH�UHVXOWV�RI�LWV�RSHUDWLRQV�LQ�DOO�PDWHULDO�UHVSHFWV���2SHUDWLRQ�
RI�WKH�&LW\�DQG�&RPSRQHQW�8QLWV�DUH�DOVR�UHYLHZHG�IRU�FRPSOL�
DQFH�ZLWK�YDULRXV�ODZV�DQG�UHJXODWLRQV� 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

50Page 339

Item 33.



 

 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

)LQDQFH�'HSDUWPHQW�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Finance Department

101-11-131-10-110-000 Regular employees 285,419           308,746           320,984$         336,925$         

101-11-131-10-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 25,669             28,085             35,263             36,656             

101-11-131-10-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 8,669               4,147               4,650               4,650               

101-11-131-10-120-000 Temporary/part-time employees 10,159             10,401             -                       -                   

101-11-131-10-132-000 Other salary payments 600                  1,288               9,105               9,677               

101-11-131-10-210-000 Group insurance 69,381             75,299             88,144             105,650           

101-11-131-10-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 4,643               4,923               5,215               5,486               

101-11-131-10-230-000 PERS contributions 74,979             80,365             100,252           54,093             

101-11-131-10-331-000 Audit Services -                   -                   -                       57,000             

101-11-131-10-334-000 Other professional/contract services 35,734             116,885           40,000             107,000           

101-11-131-10-334-001 Credit Card Processing Fees -                   -                   -                       40,000             

101-11-131-10-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 636                  734                  -                       800                  

101-11-131-10-530-000 Communications 3,480               2,965               3,600               3,600               

101-11-131-10-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel 7,253               6,457               7,000               7,000               

101-11-131-10-610-000 General supplies 9,798               9,645               8,000               8,500               

101-11-131-10-611-000 Minor equipment and furniture 6,495               -                   2,000               3,500               

101-11-131-10-640-000 Books and periodicals -                   -                   -                       500                  

101-11-131-10-641-000 Dues and subscriptions 1,275               1,420               1,500               1,500               

TOTAL FINANCE DEPARTMENT 544,189$         651,361$         625,713$         782,536$         

51Page 340

Item 33.



 

 

'HYHORSPHQW�6HUYLFHV 

7KH�'HYHORSPHQW�6HUYLFHV�'HSDUWPHQW� LV�FRPSULVHG�RI� WKH�3ODQQLQJ�'LYLVLRQ��%XLOGLQJ�
'LYLVLRQ�DQG�&RGH�(QIRUFHPHQW���7KH�'HSDUWPHQW�LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�WKH�RUGHUO\�SODQQLQJ�
DQG�GHYHORSPHQW�RI�WKH�&LW\�RI�&RDFKHOOD�DQG�WKH�PDLQWHQDQFH�RI�WKH�6WDWH�%XLOGLQJ�&RGH�
VWDQGDUGV�ZKLFK�SURPRWH�SXEOLF� VDIHW\�DQG�ZHOIDUH�� �7KH�GHSDUWPHQW� WKURXJK�&RGH�(Q�
IRUFHPHQW�PRQLWRUV�DQG�HQIRUFHV�FRPSOLDQFH�LVVXHV�WKURXJKRXW�WKH�&LW\� 
 

7KH�'HSDUWPHQW�SURFHVVHV�DOO� ODQG�XVH�DSSOLFDWLRQV��DGPLQLVWHUV� WKH�&DOLIRUQLD�(QYLURQPHQWDO�4XDOLW\�
$FW��&(4$���UHYLHZV�DQG�DSSURYHV�GHYHORSPHQW�DQG�UHODWHG�ODQGVFDSLQJ�SODQV��LVVXHV�DOO�EXLOGLQJ�SHU�
PLWV�DQG�SHUIRUPV�EXLOGLQJ�LQVSHFWLRQV�WR�LQVXUH�SXEOLF�VDIHW\���7KH�'HSDUWPHQW�DOVR�LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�
HYDOXDWLQJ�DQG�UHVROYLQJ�GDPDJH�FDXVHG�WR�VWUXFWXUHV�E\�ILUH��ZLQG��HDUWKTXDNHV�DQG�PDQ�PDGH�RU�QDWX�
UDO�GLVDVWHUV� 
 
$�PDMRU� JRDO� RI� WKH� GHSDUWPHQW� LV� WKH� HQKDQFHPHQW� RI� WKH� FKDUDFWHU� DQG� TXDOLW\� RI� OLIH� LQ� WKH� &LW\�
WKURXJK� WKH�FUHDWLRQ�DQG�DGRSWLRQ�RI� VWDQGDUGV�DQG�RUGLQDQFHV�ZKLFK�SURWHFW� WKH�FRPPXQLW\� IURP� LQ�
FRPSDWLEOH�GHYHORSPHQW�DQG�SURPRWH�RUGHUO\�DQG�VXVWDLQDEOH�JURZWK���$�PDMRU�SURMHFW�IRU�WKH�&LW\�LQ�
WKH�FRPLQJ�ILVFDO�\HDU�LV�WR�PRYH�LQWR�QHZ�3HUPLW�&HQWHU�%XLOGLQJ��FURVV�WUDLQ�VWDII�IRU�QHZ�FRUSRUDWH�
FXOWXUH�DW�3HUPLW�&HQWHU��DQG�VWUHDPOLQH�WKH�&LW\¶V�LQVSHFWLRQ�ORJJLQJ�VHUYLFHV� 

 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

52Page 341

Item 33.



 

 

'HYHORSPHQW��6HUYLFHV 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

3ODQQLQJ�'LYLVLRQ�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

3ODQQLQJ�'LYLVLRQ 

7KH�3ODQQLQJ�'LYLVLRQ� LV� UHVSRQVLEOH� IRU� DOO� FXUUHQW� DQG� DGYDQFHG� SODQQLQJ� IXQF�
WLRQV�LQFOXGLQJ�*HQHUDO�3ODQ�$PHQGPHQWV�DQG�+RXVLQJ�(OHPHQW�8SGDWHV��6SHFLILF�
3ODQ�$GRSWLRQV��0XQLFLSDO�&RGH�$PHQGPHQWV��WKH�GD\-WR-GD\�]RQLQJ�DQG�VXEGLYL�
VLRQ� DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ� GXWLHV�� DQG� *,6�PDSSLQJ�PDLQWHQDQFH�  � 7KH� VWDII� SURFHVVHV�
SURMHFW�GHYHORSPHQW�UHYLHZV�IURP�WKH�FRQFHSWXDO�GHVLJQV�WR�WKH�LVVXDQFH�RI�EXLOG�

LQJ� SHUPLWV� DQG� WKH� FROOHFWLRQ� RI� GHYHORSPHQW� LPSDFW� IHHV� DQG�PRQLWRULQJ� RI� HQYLURQPHQWDO�
PLWLJDWLRQ�PHDVXUHV��7KH�'LUHFWRU�VHUYHV�DV�WKH�HQYLURQPHQWDO�DGPLQLVWUDWRU�IRU�&(4$�GRFX�
PHQWV��QHJRWLDWHV�'HYHORSPHQW�$JUHHPHQWV��DQG�VWDIIV� WKH�(FRQRPLF�'HYHORSPHQW��3ODQQLQJ�
6XEFRPPLWWHH�DQG�WKH�3XEOLF�6DIHW\�&RGH�(QIRUFHPHQW�6XEFRPPLWWHH�ZLWK�WKH�&LW\�0DQDJHU��� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Planning Division

101-11-141-10-110-000 Regular employees 366,056$         373,313$         495,609$         579,694$         

101-11-141-10-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 23,842             27,859             44,239             72,013             

101-11-141-10-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 828                  1,569               -                       -                   

101-11-141-10-132-000 Other salary payments 6,300               5,250               5,200               5,363               

101-11-141-10-210-000 Group insurance 80,356             92,301             106,416           157,392           

101-11-141-10-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 5,945               6,084               6,815               9,309               

101-11-141-10-230-000 PERS contributions 71,331             78,677             92,501             64,755             

101-11-141-10-334-000 Other professional/contract services 106,574           73,510             101,533           40,000             

101-11-141-10-430-000 Repair and maintenance services -                   -                   1,000               1,000               

101-11-141-10-530-000 Communications 248                  332                  720                  720                  

101-11-141-10-540-000 Advertising 10,814             12,824             10,000             15,000             

101-11-141-10-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel 4,457               17,763             7,835               7,625               

101-11-141-10-610-000 General supplies 2,585               6,043               1,440               1,440               

101-11-141-10-611-000 Minor equipment and furniture -                   4,310               750                  -                   

101-11-141-10-640-000 Books and periodicals -                   41                    83                    -                   

101-11-141-10-641-000 Dues and subscriptions 709                  2,021               1,775               1,775               

TOTAL PLANNING DIVISION 680,046$         701,896$         875,916$         956,086$         

53Page 342

Item 33.



 

 

'HYHORSPHQW�6HUYLFHV 

%XLOGLQJ�'LYLVLRQ 
 
7KH�%XLOGLQJ�'LYLVLRQ� LVVXHV�EXLOGLQJ�SHUPLWV� DQG�SHUIRUPV� LQVSHFWLRQV��7KH\�
DUH� UHVSRQVLEOH� IRU�HQVXULQJ� WKDW�DOO�SURMHFWV� LQ� WKH�&LW\�DUH�SURSHUO\�SHUPLWWHG�
DQG�PHHW�EXLOGLQJ�FRGH�UHTXLUHPHQWV�� 

%XLOGLQJ�'HSDUWPHQW�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Building Division 

101-11-144-10-110-000 Regular employees 28,804$           62,652$           93,018$           100,583$         

101-11-144-10-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 447                  3,403               7,445               8,070               

101-11-144-10-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime -                   4,968               -                       163                  

101-11-144-10-210-000 Group insurance 12,589             22,967             34,415             33,495             

101-11-144-10-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 428                  991                  1,417               1,537               

101-11-144-10-230-000 PERS contributions 15,850             19,976             30,453             16,671             

101-11-144-10-334-000 Other professional/contract services 294,300           186,944           100,000           160,000           

101-11-144-10-430-000 Repair and maintenance services -                   -                   500                  500                  

101-11-144-10-530-000 Communications 694                  1,798               720                  720                  

101-11-144-10-540-000 Advertising -                   473                  -                       -                   

101-11-144-10-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel 195                  195                  1,030               780                  

101-11-144-10-610-000 General supplies 1,209               2,831               -                       -                   

101-11-144-10-640-000 Books and periodicals -                   1,278               -                       -                   

101-11-144-10-641-000 Dues and subscriptions 295                  516                  945                  945                  
-                   

TOTAL BUILDING DIVISION 354,812$         308,991$         269,943$         323,625$         

54Page 343

Item 33.



 

 

'HYHORSPHQW��6HUYLFHV 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

&RGH�(QIRUFHPHQW�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

&RGH�(QIRUFHPHQW�'LYLVLRQ� 
8QGHU� WKH�&RPPXQLW\�'HYHORSPHQW�6HUYLFHV�'HSDUWPHQW��&RGH�(QIRUFHPHQW�PRQLWRUV�
DQG�HQIRUFHV�FRPSOLDQFH�LVVXHV�IRU�WKH�&LW\�RI�&RDFKHOOD�UHJDUGLQJ�PXQLFLSDO�FRGHV�DQG�
RUGLQDQFHV� LQFOXGLQJ� ]RQLQJ�� ODQG� XVH�� KRXVLQJ� FRGHV�� SURSHUW\� PDLQWHQDQFH�� LOOHJDO�
GXPSLQJ�� OLWWHU�� VDQLWDWLRQ�� LQRSHUDWLYH� RU� DEDQGRQHG� YHKLFOH� DEDWHPHQW�� SDUNLQJ�
UHJXODWLRQV� DQG� SXEOLF� QXLVDQFH� SURYLVLRQV�� 7KLV� LV� DFFRPSOLVKHG� WKURXJK� ILHOG�
LQVSHFWLRQV�� SDWUROOLQJ� DVVLJQHG� DUHDV� DQG� SXEOLF� FRPSODLQWV�� 6WDII� LQYHVWLJDWHV� DQG�

DWWHPSWV� WR� FRUUHFW� YLRODWLRQV� WKURXJK� SXEOLF� HGXFDWLRQ�� YHUEDO� ZDUQLQJV�� QRWLFHV� RI� YLRODWLRQV�� FLYLO�
FLWDWLRQV�� DGPLQLVWUDWLYH� DEDWHPHQW�� DQG� RWKHU� OHJDO� UHPHGLHV�� 6WDII� PDLQWDLQV� WKHLU� RZQ� FDVH� ILOHV��
SUHSDUHV�DOO�ZULWWHQ�UHSRUWV�DQG�UHODWHG�FRUUHVSRQGHQFH�LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�QHFHVVDU\�IROORZ-XS�FRPPXQLFDWLRQ��
7KHUH�DUH�FXUUHQWO\�WKUHH�IXOO�WLPH�FRGH�HQIRUFHPHQW�RIILFHUV�DQG�RQH�FRGH�HQIRUFHPHQW�WHFKQLFLDQ��� 

*RDOV�DQG�2EMHFWLYHV� 
7KH�&RGH�(QIRUFHPHQW�'LYLVLRQ�HVWDEOLVKHG�WKH�IROORZLQJ�JRDOV�DQG�REMHFWLYHV�IRU�WKH�QHZ�ILVFDO�\HDU�� 

· %HJLQ�JDUDJH�FRQYHUVLRQ�RUGLQDQFH�DEDWHPHQW�HQIRUFHPHQW�WKURXJK�SXEOLF�� IO\HUV� LQFOXGHG�ZLWK�XWLOLW\�ELOOV�DQG�FRPPXQLW\�PHHW�
LQJV�� 

· &RQWLQXH�WR�VWULYH�IRU�WKH��EHVW�FXVWRPHU�VHUYLFH�ZH�FDQ�SURYLGH� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Code Enforcement Division 

101-11-155-40-110-000 Regular employees 194,811$         206,975$         189,970$         208,188$         

101-11-155-40-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 23,616             62,464             14,560             11,244             

101-11-155-40-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 11,211             17,431             -                       -                   

101-11-155-40-120-000 Temporary/part-time employees 11,637             8,420               -                       -                   

101-11-155-40-132-000 Other salary payments -                   -                   9,318               7,673               

101-11-155-40-210-000 Group insurance 43,185             50,684             64,867             69,165             

101-11-155-40-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 3,311               4,139               3,023               3,207               

101-11-155-40-230-000 PERS contributions 50,042             55,850             47,239             28,644             

101-11-155-40-334-000 Other professional/contract services 3,257               20,692             23,000             32,500             

101-11-155-40-430-000 Repair and maintenance services -                   220                  -                       -                   

101-11-155-40-530-000 Communications 2,483               2,066               7,000               7,000               

101-11-155-40-540-000 Advertising -                   -                   3,000               3,500               

101-11-155-40-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel 4,503               4,298               12,000             19,850             

101-11-155-40-610-000 General supplies 10,720             5,399               12,000             24,000             

101-11-155-40-611-000 Minor Equipment and Furniture 3,192               4,194               1,000               2,500               

101-11-155-40-612-000 Computer Software 6,012               -                   6,000               11,500             

101-11-155-40-640-000 Books and periodicals -                   95                    1,800               1,800               

101-11-155-40-641-000 Dues and subscriptions 1,230               539                  4,600               1,800               
-                   -                   -                   

TOTAL CODE ENFORCEMENT DIVISION 369,210$         443,466$         399,377$         432,571$         

55Page 344

Item 33.



 

 

'HYHORSPHQW��6HUYLFHV��&RQWLQXHG� 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

AVA Program

101-11-155-41-110-000 Regular employees 97,883$           102,218$         85,540$           94,407$           

101-11-155-41-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 12,871             39,199             6,601               4,010               

101-11-155-41-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 6,156               9,079               -                       -                   

101-11-155-41-120-000 Temporary/part-time employees 848                  -                   -                       -                   

101-11-155-41-132-000 Other salary payments -                   -                   4,324               3,005               

101-11-155-41-210-000 Group insurance 16,492             23,196             28,696             32,166             

101-11-155-41-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 1,687               2,169               1,364               1,431               

101-11-155-41-230-000 PERS contributions 29,823             33,475             29,004             16,090             

101-11-155-41-334-000 Other professional services 5,040               -                   4,000               8,700               

101-11-155-41-430-000 Repair and maintenance services -                   -                   1,000               -                   

101-11-155-41-530-000 Communications 1,274               1,111               2,500               2,500               

101-11-155-41-540-000 Advertising -                   -                   2,000               2,000               

101-11-155-41-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel -                   -                   2,000               3,000               

101-11-155-41-610-000 General supplies 433                  -                   3,000               7,000               

101-11-155-41-611-000 Minor Equipment and Furniture -                   -                   -                       5,000               

101-11-155-41-612-000 Computer Software -                   -                   -                       4,700               

101-11-155-41-640-000 Books & Periodicals -                   -                   500                  1,500               

101-11-155-41-641-000 Dues and subscriptions -                   -                   -                       1,000               
-                   TOTAL AVA PROGRAM 172,506$         210,447$         170,529$         186,509$         

56Page 345

Item 33.



 

 

'HYHORSPHQW�6HUYLFHV 

*UDIILWL�$EDWHPHQW�3URJUDP 
 

7KH�JUDIILWL� DEDWHPHQW�SURJUDP� LV� UHVSRQVLEOH� IRU� WKH� UHPRYDO�RI�EOLJKW�SULPDULO\�
FDXVHG� E\� YDQGDOLVP� RU� PRUH� FRPPRQO\� NQRZQ� DV� ³WDJJLQJ´�� 7KH� 'LYLVLRQ�
SHUIRUPV� PDLQWHQDQFH� VHUYLFHV� RQ� VWUXFWXUHV� DQG� ZDOOV� LQ� SDUNV� DUHDV�� SXEOLF�
EXLOGLQJV�DQG�ODQGVFDSLQJ�GLVWULFWV�� 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

*UDIILWL�$EDWHPHQW�3URJUDP�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

*RDOV�DQG�2EMHFWLYHV� 
7KH�*UDIILWL� $EDWHPHQW� 'LYLVLRQ� HVWDEOLVKHG� WKH� IROORZLQJ� JRDOV� DQG� REMHFWLYHV� IRU� WKH� QHZ�
ILVFDO�\HDU�� 
· &RPSOHWH�D�FRVW�UHFRYHU\�SODQ�IRU�VXEMHFWV�DUUHVWHG� 
· 3XUFKDVH�KRW�SRZHU�ZDVKHU�QHHGHG�LQ�FXUUHQW�WUXFN� 
· $GG�VWDII�WR�JUDIILWL�GLYLVLRQ� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Graffiti Abatement

101-11-148-25-110-000 Regular employees 45,699$           47,808$           51,698$           55,261$           

101-11-148-25-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in -                   455                  3,864               4,182               

101-11-148-25-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 1,134               2,787               -                       -                   

101-11-148-25-132-000 Other salary payments -                   -                   348                  348                  

101-11-148-25-210-000 Group insurance 17,797             13,243             13,100             12,542             

101-11-148-25-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 679                  733                  781                  845                  

101-11-148-25-230-000 PERS contributions 4,778               5,149               4,253               4,194               

101-11-148-25-311-000 County Administrative Charges -                   246                  -                       

101-11-148-25-334-000 Other professional/contract services 412                  696                  4,000               4,000               

101-11-148-25-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 316                  458                  2,500               10,000             

101-11-148-25-530-000 Communications 924                  914                  2,000               2,000               

101-11-148-25-540-000 Advertising -                   -                   3,000               3,000               

101-11-148-25-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel 22                    -                   2,000               10,500             

101-11-148-25-610-000 General supplies 7,199               9,475               30,000             80,500             

101-11-148-25-611-000 Minor equipment and furniture 1,616               -                   -                       2,500               

101-11-148-25-620-000 Energy charges 8,358               5,034               10,000             10,000             

101-11-148-25-741-000 Machinery and Equipment 6,054               -                   5,000               45,000             
-                   

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS - GRAFFITI ABATEMENT 94,988$           86,998$           132,544$         244,872$         

57Page 346

Item 33.



 

 

(QJLQHHULQJ 

�7KH�(QJLQHHULQJ�'LYLVLRQ�LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�WKH�GHVLJQ�DQG�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�RI�SXEOLF�
LPSURYHPHQWV��7KH\�DOVR�SURYLGH�HQJLQHHULQJ�GUDZLQJ�SODQ�FKHFN�VHUYLFHV��WUDIILF�
HQJLQHHULQJ��LQVSHFWLRQ�VHUYLFHV��DQG�FDSLWDO�SURMHFW�PRQLWRULQJ�DQG�PDQDJHPHQW�� 

(QJLQHHULQJ�'LYLVLRQ�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Engineering Division 

101-11-145-10-110-000 Regular employees 462,115$         477,201$         457,668$         454,337$         

101-11-145-10-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 35,920             42,298             48,294             47,694             

101-11-145-10-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 42,018             21,927             13,000             13,000             

101-11-145-10-120-000 Temporary/part-time employees -                   133,337           -                       -                   

101-11-145-10-132-000 Other salary payments 3,138               1,470               7,846               7,956               

101-11-145-10-210-000 Group insurance 95,630             94,753             120,501           92,813             

101-11-145-10-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 7,807               7,746               7,460               7,395               

101-11-145-10-230-000 PERS contributions 96,801             101,647           115,483           63,593             

101-11-145-10-334-000 Other professional services 131,659           180,862           195,000           150,000           

101-11-145-10-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 391                  3,551               3,500               3,000               

101-11-145-10-530-000 Communications 7,482               6,830               8,000               8,000               

101-11-145-10-540-000 Advertising -                   -                   1,000               1,500               

101-11-145-10-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel 7,717               2,791               7,500               7,000               

101-11-145-10-610-000 General supplies 5,979               5,025               4,500               5,000               

101-11-145-10-611-000 Minor equipment and furniture 2,876               2,250               4,500               5,000               

101-11-145-10-612-000 Computer software -                   -                   6,000               6,000               

101-11-145-10-640-000 Books and periodicals 316                  -                   2,000               2,000               

101-11-145-10-641-000 Dues and subscriptions 708                  576                  1,500               1,500               
-                   

TOTAL ENGINEERING DIVISION 900,558$         1,082,265$      1,003,752$      875,788$         

58Page 347

Item 33.



 

 

7KH�3XEOLF�:RUNV�'HSDUWPHQW�LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU� WKH�LPSURYHPHQW��PDLQWHQDQFH�
DQG�RSHUDWLRQ�RI�WKH�&LW\¶V�VWUHHWV��KLJKZD\V��DQG�SDUNV��DQG�IRU�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�RI�
WKH�&LW\¶V�LQIUDVWUXFWXUH��7KH�GHSDUWPHQW�LV�RUJDQL]HG�LQWR�WKUHH�PDMRU�GLYLVLRQV��
����DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ������HQJLQHHULQJ�DQG�����RSHUDWLRQV�� 

3XEOLF�:RUNV 

$FWLYLWLHV� 
7KH�3XEOLF�:RUNV�'HSDUWPHQW�LV�HQJDJHG�LQ�D�QXPEHU�RI�LQIUDVWUXFWXUH�SURMHFWV�DQG�DOVR�DFWV�DV�
WKH�SURMHFW�PDQDJHU��� 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

59Page 348

Item 33.



 

 

3XEOLF�:RUNV 

$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ� 
 
3XEOLF�:RUNV�$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ�LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�LQWHUSUHWLQJ�H[LVWLQJ�&LW\�SROLFLHV�
DQG�FDUU\LQJ�RXW� WKH�&LW\�&RXQFLO¶V�SULRULWLHV� DV� WKH\� UHODWH� WR� VWUHHWV�� KLJKZD\V��
SDUNV� DQG�&,3�SURMHFWV�� 3XEOLF�:RUNV�$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ� DOVR�SURYLGHV�PDQDJHPHQW�
VHUYLFHV�IRU�WKH�6DQLWDU\�'LVWULFW��D�VHSDUDWH�FRPSRQHQW�XQLW�RI�WKH�&LW\�� 

$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Public Works Administration 

-                   
101-11-148-10-110-000 Regular employees 92,548$           93,987$           125,799$         119,794$         

101-11-148-10-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 3,752               2,612               12,077             11,660             

101-11-148-10-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 289                  38                    1,800               1,800               

101-11-148-10-120-000 Temporary/part-time employees 4,436               2,612               5,000               5,000               

101-11-148-10-132-000 Other salary payments 2,080               2,100               4,018               4,044               

101-11-148-10-210-000 Group insurance 15,142             18,618             27,517             24,992             

101-11-148-10-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 1,432               1,412               2,020               1,940               

101-11-148-10-230-000 PERS contributions 29,565             35,209             49,100             22,622             

101-11-148-10-334-000 Other professional services 3,829               7,507               6,000               6,000               

101-11-148-10-530-000 Communications 1,601               1,162               2,000               2,000               

101-11-148-10-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel 112                  1,338               3,500               3,500               

101-11-148-10-610-000 General supplies 4,939               8,667               8,500               8,000               

101-11-148-10-612-000 Minor Software < 5,000 -                   -                   5,000               5,000               

101-11-148-10-641-000 Dues and subscriptions 728                  810                  1,000               1,000               

101-11-148-10-801-000 Miscellaneous 97                    -                   -                       -                   
-                   

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS ADMINISTRATION 160,547$         176,073$         253,331$         217,352$         

60Page 349

Item 33.



 

 

3XEOLF�:RUNV 
6WUHHWV�'LYLVLRQ� 

 
7KH�6WUHHWV�'LYLVLRQ�LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�UHSDLUV�DQG�PDLQWHQDQFH�RI�WKH�&LW\¶V�VWUHHWV�
DQG�KLJKZD\V��DQG�PHGLDQ�VWULSV��5HSDLUV�FDQ� UDQJH� IURP�SRWKROH� UHSDLU� WR�PDMRU�
LPSURYHPHQWV�WKDW�ZRXOG�DOVR�LQYROYH�RXWVLGH�FRQWUDFWRUV�� 

6WUHHWV��'HSDUWPHQW�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Public Works - Street Division 

101-11-148-20-110-000 Regular employees 382,340$         374,413$         407,154$         416,036$         

101-11-148-20-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 31,830             29,312             46,579             47,525             

101-11-148-20-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 65,981             53,952             40,000             45,000             

101-11-148-20-120-000 Temporary/part-time employees -                   -                   15,000             15,000             

101-11-148-20-132-000 Other salary payments 67                    -                   2,123               2,123               

101-11-148-20-210-000 Group insurance 89,163             100,492           119,908           133,506           

101-11-148-20-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 5,917               5,565               6,987               7,230               

101-11-148-20-230-000 PERS contributions 96,490             125,122           158,916           78,563             

101-11-148-20-310-000 Official/administrative -                   -                   -                       -                   

101-11-148-20-334-000 Other professional/contract services 37,904             39,894             10,000             30,000             

101-11-148-20-334-001 Contract services/Street Sweeping 3,387               2,365               6,000               6,000               

101-11-148-20-334-002 Contract services/Traffic Signals 59,955             87,784             65,000             65,000             

101-11-148-20-334-004 Contract services/Median 44,105             61,523             55,000             55,000             

101-11-148-20-334-006 Contract services/Storm Water 1,762               -                   10,000             15,000             

101-11-148-20-334-007 Contract services/Tree Trimming 32,660             39,924             35,000             35,000             

101-11-148-20-334-602 Contract services/Traffic Signals 12,435             9,753               -                       -                   

101-11-148-20-334-604 Contract services/ Median 15,652             2,655               -                       -                   

101-11-148-20-334-608 Contract services/Street Sriping -                   -                   -                       30,000             

101-11-148-20-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 6,930               1,410               10,000             10,000             

101-11-148-20-741-000 Machinery and equipment -                   28,164             -                       

101-11-148-20-442-000 Rental of equipment and vehicles 36,359             11,866             35,000             35,000             

101-11-148-20-444-000 Leases 6,048               6,229               10,000             10,000             

101-11-148-20-530-000 Communications 5,282               4,345               9,600               9,600               

101-11-148-20-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel 90                    -                   4,000               4,000               

101-11-148-20-610-000 General supplies 21,743             23,315             12,000             12,000             

101-11-148-20-610-602 Supplies/Traffic Signals 430                  -                   5,000               5,000               

101-11-148-20-610-603 Supplies/ROW Weed Abatement -                   -                   2,500               2,500               

101-11-148-20-610-605 Supplies/Asphalt/Concrete 6,057               12,740             15,000             15,000             

101-11-148-20-610-606 Supplies/Striping 14,560             11,390             25,000             25,000             

101-11-148-20-610-608 Supplies/Street Lighting 35,227             23,882             35,000             35,000             

101-11-148-20-610-609 Supplies/Potholes 2,148               -                   -                       -                   

101-11-148-20-610-610 Supplies/Signage 47,165             61,153             35,000             35,000             

61Page 350

Item 33.



 

 

3XEOLF�:RUNV� 

6WUHHWV�'LYLVLRQ��&RQWLQXHG� 
 
7KH� 6WUHHWV� 'LYLVLRQ� LV� UHVSRQVLEOH� IRU� UHSDLUV� DQG� PDLQWHQDQFH� RI� WKH� &LW\¶V� VWUHHWV� DQG�
KLJKZD\V��DQG�PHGLDQ�VWULSV��5HSDLUV�FDQ�UDQJH�IURP�SRWKROH�UHSDLU�WR�PDMRU�LPSURYHPHQWV�WKDW�
ZRXOG�DOVR�LQYROYH�RXWVLGH�FRQWUDFWRUV�� 

6WUHHWV��'HSDUWPHQW�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW��&RQWLQXHG� 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Public Works Street Division - Continued

101-11-148-20-610-611 Supplies/Traffic Control 23,435$           11,304$           6,000               6,000$             

101-11-148-20-610-612 Supplies/Drain Maint. 174                  411                  5,000               5,000               

101-11-148-20-611-000 Minor equipment and furniture 4,476               -                   4,000               4,000               

101-11-148-20-612-000 Computer software -                   -                   5,000               5,000               

101-11-148-20-620-000 Energy charges 3,278               3,727               -                       -                   

101-11-148-20-620-602 Utilities/Traffic Signals 16,252             18,200             18,000             18,000             

101-11-148-20-620-604 Utilities/Medians 2,744               2,848               2,600               2,600               

101-11-148-20-620-609 Utilities/Street Lights 164,535           167,681           155,000           165,000           

101-11-148-20-742-000 Vehicles -                   -                   -                       110,000           
-                   TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS STREETS DIVISION 1,276,581$      1,321,417$      1,371,367$      1,494,684$      

62Page 351

Item 33.



 

 

3XEOLF�:RUNV 

3DUNV�'LYLVLRQ 
 
7KH�3DUNV�'LYLVLRQ�LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�LPSURYHPHQW�DQG�PDLQWHQDQFH�RI�WKH�
HLJKW�&LW\�SDUNV��7KH�'LYLVLRQ�SHUIRUPV�UHSDLU�DQG�PDLQWHQDQFH�VHUYLFHV�RQ�
VWUXFWXUHV��SRROV�DQG�ODQGVFDSH�LQ�WKH�SDUNV�DUHDV�DQG�SXEOLF�EXLOGLQJV�� 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

3DUNV�'LYLVLRQ�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Parks Division 

101-11-148-30-110-000 Regular employees 287,951$         303,093$         311,415$         327,282$         

101-11-148-30-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 16,653             9,101               25,896             27,330             

101-11-148-30-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 46,963             57,981             40,000             60,000             

101-11-148-30-120-000 Temporary/part-time employees 7,679               3,298               5,000               31,500             

101-11-148-30-132-000 Other salary payments 9                      -                   1,694               1,694               

101-11-148-30-210-000 Group insurance 80,606             116,514           132,719           130,564           

101-11-148-30-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 5,097               5,370               5,357               5,901               

101-11-148-30-230-000 PERS contributions 65,716             58,503             64,882             41,902             

101-11-148-30-311-000 County Administrative Charges 3,122               3,361               6,000               6,000               

101-11-148-30-334-000 Other professional/contract services 187,677           221,043           203,000           231,000           

101-11-148-30-334-401 Cont Serv/Bagdouma Park 212,609           203,370           228,000           228,000           

101-11-148-30-334-404 Cont Serv/Rancho Las Fl Park 97,980             109,087           100,000           100,000           

101-11-148-30-334-410 Cont Serv/Etherea exhibit 26,378             339                  -                       -                   

101-11-148-30-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 40,557             31,981             35,000             35,000             

101-11-148-30-442-000 Rental of equipment and vehicles 9,485               18,084             18,000             18,000             

101-11-148-30-530-000 Communications 6,597               4,414               8,000               8,000               

101-11-148-30-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel 473                  3,874               4,000               4,000               

101-11-148-30-610-000 General supplies 57,184             55,048             45,000             45,000             

101-11-148-30-610-401 Supplies/Bagdouma 34,074             52,879             30,000             30,000             

101-11-148-30-610-402 Supplies/Dateland Park 1,541               1,726               49,097             8,000               

101-11-148-30-610-403 Supplies/DeOro Park 2,487               5,386               36,500             8,000               

101-11-148-30-610-404 Supplies/Rancho Las Fl Park 15,687             9,537               18,000             18,000             

101-11-148-30-610-405 Supplies/Sierra Vista Park 5,039               1,230               3,500               3,500               

101-11-148-30-610-406 Supplies/Shady Lane Park 1,015               1,927               3,000               3,000               

101-11-148-30-610-407 Supplies/Tot Lot Ave 53 226                  46                    1,500               1,500               

101-11-148-30-610-408 Supplies/Veterans Park 5,409               9,303               7,000               7,000               

101-11-148-30-610-410 Supplies/Etherea exhibit 1,925               34                    2,000               2,000               

63Page 352

Item 33.



 

 

3XEOLF�:RUNV 

3DUNV�'LYLVLRQ��&RQWLQXHG� 
 
7KH�3DUNV�'LYLVLRQ� LV� UHVSRQVLEOH� IRU� LPSURYHPHQW�DQG�PDLQWHQDQFH�RI� WKH�HLJKW�&LW\�SDUNV��
7KH�'LYLVLRQ�SHUIRUPV�UHSDLU�DQG�PDLQWHQDQFH�VHUYLFHV�RQ�VWUXFWXUHV��SRROV�DQG� ODQGVFDSH� LQ�
WKH�SDUNV�DUHDV�DQG�SXEOLF�EXLOGLQJV� 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

3DUNV�'LYLVLRQ�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW��&RQWLQXHG� 

 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Parks Division - Continued

101-11-148-30-610-411 Supplies/Library Park -$                 -$                 3,000               3,000$             

101-11-148-30-610-412 Supplies/Cesar Chavez Park -                   -                   2,000               3,000               

101-11-148-30-611-000 Minor equipment and furniture -                   -                   8,000               4,000               

101-11-148-30-620-401 Utilities/Bagdouma 190,645           188,331           195,000           195,000           

101-11-148-30-620-402 Utilities/Dateland Park 17,842             11,503             20,000             20,000             

101-11-148-30-620-403 Utilities/DeOro Park 20,207             18,921             17,000             17,000             

101-11-148-30-620-404 Utilities/Rancho Las Fl Park 20,215             21,372             45,000             45,000             

101-11-148-30-620-405 Utilities/Sierra Vista Park 11,298             11,093             11,000             11,000             

101-11-148-30-620-406 Utilities/Shady Lane Park 3,627               3,788               3,500               3,500               

101-11-148-30-620-407 Utilities/Tot Lot Ave 53 1,470               2,175               2,000               2,000               

101-11-148-30-620-408 Utilities/Veterans Park 17,627             17,152             18,000             18,000             

101-11-148-30-620-410 Utilities-Etherea exhibit 952                  2,710               2,000               2,000               

101-11-148-30-620-411 Utilities/Library Park -                   -                   10,000             10,000             

101-11-148-30-620-412 Utilities/Grapefruit Blbd. -                   -                   -                       3,000               

101-11-148-30-641-000 Dues and subscriptions 105                  340                  400                  400                  

101-11-148-30-720-000 Buildings and building improvements -                   -                   -                       22,500             
-                   

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS -PARKS DIVISION 1,504,129$      1,563,917$      1,721,460$      1,741,573$      

64Page 353

Item 33.



 

 

3XEOLF�:RUNV 

3DUNV�DQG�5HFUHDWLRQ�3URJUDP�'LYLVLRQ 
 
 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

3DUNV�DQG�5HFUHDWLRQ�3URJUDP�'LYLVLRQ�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Parks and Recreation Program

101-11-146-10-110-000 Regular employees 72,243$           125,313$         127,016           133,927$         

101-11-146-10-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 6,651               5,491               11,074             11,604             

101-11-146-10-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 11,891             14,696             16,000             16,000             

101-11-146-10-120-000 Temporary/part-time employees 32,874             27,409             31,500             31,500             

101-11-146-10-132-000 Other salary payments 4                      -                   348                  348                  

101-11-146-10-210-000 Group insurance 23,713             41,238             44,998             42,802             

101-11-146-10-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 3,424               2,489               2,187               2,292               

101-11-146-10-230-000 PERS contributions 15,679             17,747             14,616             10,897             

101-11-146-10-334-000 Other professional/contract services 18,339             12,975             47,000             47,000             

101-11-146-10-530-000 Communications 659                  2,026               7,200               7,200               

101-11-146-10-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel 1,001               740                  7,500               7,500               

101-11-146-10-610-000 General supplies 14,637             13,110             12,000             12,000             

101-11-146-90-801-011 Summer Programs -                   25,261             -                       -                   
-                       -                   TOTAL PARKS AND RECREATION PROGRAM 201,117$         288,496$         321,439$         323,069$         

65Page 354

Item 33.



 

 

3ROLFH�6HUYLFHV 

3DUW� RI� WKH� 3XEOLF� 6DIHW\� SURJUDP� IRU� WKH� &LW\� RI� &RDFKHOOD� LQFOXGHV� WKH� SROLFH�
VHUYLFHV� IXQFWLRQ� DQG� YDULRXV� ODZ� HQIRUFHPHQW� JUDQWV� DQG� SURJUDPV�� 7KH� SROLFH�
VHUYLFHV� IXQFWLRQ� LV� FDUULHG� RXW� WKURXJK� D� FRQWUDFW� ZLWK� WKH� 5LYHUVLGH� &RXQW\�
6KHULII¶V�2IILFH�� 
 

7KH� &LW\� RI� &RDFKHOOD� SROLFH� GHSDUWPHQW� ZDV� GLVEDQGHG� LQ� 'HFHPEHU� ������ $W� WKDW� WLPH�� D�
FRQWUDFW� ZLWK� WKH� 5LYHUVLGH� &RXQW\� 6KHULII¶V� 2IILFH� ZDV� LPSOHPHQWHG� DQG� ZDV� GHVLJQHG� WR�
SURYLGH�HVVHQWLDOO\�WKH�VDPH�OHYHO�RI�VHUYLFH�ZKLOH�VKDULQJ�RYHUKHDG�FRVWV�ZLWK�RWKHU�FRQWUDFWHG�
FLWLHV��7KH�6KHULII¶V�RIILFH�FRQWUDFW�LV�IXQGHG�E\�WKH�JHQHUDO�IXQG��0DQ\�RI�WKH�VSHFLDO�SURJUDPV�
VXFK�DV�WKH�&RDFKHOOD�9DOOH\�*DQJ�7DVN�)RUFH��7KH�&RDFKHOOD�9DOOH\�1DUFRWLFV�7DVN�)RUFH��WKH�
6DIH�1HLJKERUKRRG�3URJUDP�DQG�RWKHU�IRFXVHG�FULPH�SUHYHQWLRQ�DQG�WUDIILF�VDIHW\�SURJUDPV�DUH�
IXQGHG�SDUWLDOO\�RU�FRPSOHWHO\�E\�JUDQWV�� 
 
7KH�SROLFH�VHUYLFHV�FRQWUDFW�DOVR�LQFOXGHV�DGPLQLVWUDWLYH��FOHULFDO��DFFRXQWLQJ��DQG�LQYHVWLJDWLYH�
VXSSRUW��7KLV�VXSSRUW�LQFOXGHV�VZRUQ�SHUVRQQHO�IRU�IRUHQVLFV��ORJLVWLFDO�VXSSRUW��DQ�HPHUJHQF\�
VHUYLFHV�WHDP�DQG�GLVSDWFK�VHUYLFH�� 
� 
1RWDEOH�KLJKOLJKWV�RI�WKH�3ROLFH�6HUYLFHV�&RQWUDFW�LQFOXGH� 
 
· ������3DWURO�2IILFHUV�#����KRXUV�SHU�GD\ 
· ��6KHULII¶V�6HUJHDQW 
· ��&RPPXQLW\�$FWLRQ�7HDP��6'&-%� 
· ��&RDFKHOOD�9DOOH\�9LROHQW�*DQJ�7DVN�)RUFH�2IILFHU 
· ��&RDFKHOOD�9DOOH\�9LROHQW�1DUFRWLF�&ULPH�7DVN�)RUFH�2IILFHU 
· ��3$&7�'HSXW\��8'&� 
· ��&RPPXQLW\�6HUYLFH�2IILFHU�,, 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

66Page 355

Item 33.



 

 

3ROLFH�6HUYLFHV 

3ROLFH�6HUYLFHV�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Police Services

101-11-150-10-334-000 Other professional/contract services -$                 774$                -$                 -$                 

101-11-150-10-334-130 Justice Assist. Grant (JAG) 2018 5,992               1,712               -                       -                   

101-11-150-10-350-500 Patrol deputies 6,040,027        6,188,450        6,642,270        6,826,066        

101-11-150-10-350-503 Investigator overtime 64,982             140,301           99,991             105,762           

101-11-150-10-350-504 Deputy overtime 111,351           213,458           174,645           184,622           

101-11-150-10-350-505 Special event overtime -                   -                   52,849             55,868             

101-11-150-10-350-506 Facility charge 209,517           214,972           219,993           209,512           

101-11-150-10-350-507 Patrol mileage 213,975           227,323           220,500           208,800           

101-11-150-10-350-508 Professional services 38,628             51,052             35,000             75,000             

101-11-150-10-350-509 Records management system 44,318             46,046             58,750             60,513             

101-11-150-10-350-510 Plain Mileage 19,673             18,810             11,400             12,500             

101-11-150-10-350-511 Gang task force officer - CVVCGTG 204,169           214,793           196,919           209,572           

101-11-150-10-350-512 Community services officer 3,614               244,011           275,491           272,954           

101-11-150-10-350-513 Cal ID 45,551             45,635             46,351             47,186             

101-11-150-10-350-514 Jail access fees 9,777               -                   -                       -                   

101-11-150-10-350-515 Community Action Team 992,186           1,082,221        1,084,110        1,113,980        

101-11-150-10-350-516 Narcotic Task Force Officer - CVNTF 213,666           226,180           196,919           209,572           

101-11-150-10-350-517 Special enforcement overtime 16,911             24,547             52,849             55,868             

101-11-150-10-350-520 Traffic Enforcement -                   -                   40,000             40,000             

101-11-150-10-350-521 Crossing guards 38,298             41,071             26,000             -                   

101-11-150-10-350-523 Special Enforcement Team -                   (9,692)              -                       -                   

101-11-150-10-350-524 Special Enforcement Team-Over Time -                   13,917             -                       -                   

101-11-150-10-350-525 PACT Deputy (UDC) 186,664           206,613           198,919           -                   

101-11-150-10-350-599 Dedicated sergeant 279,258           275,200           277,683           283,631           

101-11-150-10-442-000 Rental of Equipment & Vehicles -                   -                   -                       15,000             

101-11-150-10-530-000 Communications 5,008               5,195               15,000             10,000             

101-11-150-10-610-000 General supplies 390                  -                   20,000             20,000             

101-11-150-10-801-000 Miscellaneous 209                  272                  -                       -                   

101-11-150-10-801-001 Summer Youth Program 348                  -                   10,000             

101-11-150-10-350-527 Dep of Alcoholic Beverage Control -                   2,560               -                       -                   

101-11-150-10-334-131 Justice Assist. Grant (JAG) 2019 -                   833                  -                       -                   

101-11-150-10-741-017 JAG 2017 County Co-Op -                   11,219             -                       -                   
-                   

TOTAL POLICE SERVICES 8,744,510$      9,487,472$      9,955,639$      10,016,406$    

67Page 356

Item 33.



 

 

1HLJKERUKRRG�6HUYLFHV 

$QLPDO�&RQWURO 
 
$QLPDO�FRQWURO�VHUYLFHV�DUH�FRQWUDFWHG�ZLWK�WKH�&RXQW\�
RI�5LYHUVLGH���7KLV�FRQWUDFW�LV�DGPLQLVWHUHG�XQGHU�WKH�
1HLJKERUKRRG�6HUYLFHV�'HSDUWPHQW� 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

$QLPDO�&RQWURO�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 
 

 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Animal Control Program

101-11-157-10-334-000 Contract services 228,416$         256,100$         250,000$         318,000           

TOTAL ANIMAL CONTROL PROGRAM 228,416$         256,100$         250,000$         318,000$         

68Page 357

Item 33.



 

 

&LW\�$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ 

(PHUJHQF\�6HUYLFHV 
 
7KH� (PHUJHQF\� 6HUYLFHV� SURJUDP� LV� UHVSRQVLEOH� IRU� VHFXULQJ� WKH� UHVRXUFHV�
QHFHVVDU\� WR�FDUU\�RXW�HPHUJHQF\�SURFHGXUHV�DQG�UHVSRQVH� WR� ORFDO�HPHUJHQFLHV�
DQG� PDMRU� QDWXUDO� GLVDVWHUV�� 7KH� SURJUDP� SURYLGHV� HPHUJHQF\� SUHSDUHGQHVV�
WUDLQLQJ�IRU�&LW\�VWDII�DQG�HTXLSPHQW�IRU�FRRUGLQDWLRQ�DQG�FRPPXQLFDWLRQ� 

(PHUJHQF\�6HUYLFHV�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

 FY 2017-18 
Actual 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2020-21 
Initial Budget 

Emergency Services Program -                   

101-11-156-10-110-000 Regular employees 36,092$           48,054$           42,008$           45,436$           

101-11-156-10-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 2,776               4,166               4,443               4,621               

101-11-156-10-132-000 Other salary payments -                   -                   139                  139                  

101-11-156-10-210-000 Group insurance 5,467               5,468               6,975               10,621             

101-11-156-10-220-000 Payroll tax deductions -                   57                    676                  703                  

101-11-156-10-230-000 PERS contributions 8,962               11,717             15,131             17,734             

101-11-156-10-334-000 Other professional/contract services 3,000               -                   6,000               6,000               

101-11-156-10-530-000 Communications 4,864               1,782               5,500               5,500               

101-11-156-10-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel 36                    -                   3,000               3,000               

101-11-156-10-610-000 General supplies 647                  -                   1,500               1,500               

101-11-156-10-641-000 Dues and subscriptions 110                  75                    150                  150                  
-                   

TOTAL EMERGENCY SERVICES PROGRAM 61,953$           71,320$           85,522$           95,403$           

69Page 358

Item 33.



 

 

 

*HQHUDO�*RYHUQPHQW 

7KH�IXQFWLRQ�RI�WKH�*HQHUDO�*RYHUQPHQW�GLYLVLRQ�LV�WR�VXSSRUW�WKH�RWKHU�&LW\�XQLWV�
E\�PDQDJLQJ�WKH�JRRGV�DQG�VHUYLFHV�WKH\�XVH�LQ�FRPPRQ�� �6XSSRUW� LV�SURYLGHG�LQ�
DUHDV� VXFK� DV� EXLOGLQJ� PDLQWHQDQFH�� XWLOLW\� VHUYLFHV� SD\PHQWV�� JHQHUDO� LQVXUDQFH�
ULVN� PDQDJHPHQW� DQG� SD\PHQW�� RIILFH� DQG� RSHUDWLQJ� VXSSOLHV�� HTXLSPHQW�
PDLQWHQDQFH��GDWD�SURFHVVLQJ�VHUYLFHV��YHKLFOH�PDLQWHQDQFH�DQG�RWKHUV�DV� WKH\�DUH�

XVHG�E\�&LW\�GHSDUWPHQWV�DQG�DJHQFLHV� 
 
7KH�VLQJOH�ODUJHVW�H[SHQGLWXUH�IRU�WKLV�GHSDUWPHQW�LV�WKH�WUDQVIHU�RI������������WR�WKH�&RDFKHOOD�
)LUH�3URWHFWLRQ�'LVWULFW� IRU� ILUH�SURWHFWLRQ�VHUYLFHV�XQGHU�FRQWUDFW�ZLWK� WKH�&DOLIRUQLD�'HSDUW�
PHQW� RI� )RUHVWU\� WKURXJK� WKH�5LYHUVLGH�&RXQW\� )LUH�'HSDUWPHQW�� � 7KLV� VHFWLRQ� DOVR� LQFOXGHV�
LQVXUDQFH�SUHPLXPV�WKDW�DUH�FRPPRQ�WR�DOO�&LW\�GLYLVLRQV�DQG�DJHQFLHV�� 
 
7KH�VFKHGXOH�IRU�WKH�DOORFDWLRQ�RI�JHQHUDO�JRYHUQPHQW�VXSSRUW�LV�VKRZQ�RQ�WKH�IROORZLQJ�SDJHV��
,W�UHSUHVHQWV�WKH�WRWDO�DPRXQW�WKDW�ZLOO�EH�DOORFDWHG��7KH�DOORFDWLRQ�PHWKRG�LV�DV�IROORZV� 
 
· $OO� GHSDUWPHQWV� DQG� IXQGV� WKDW� DUH� VXSSRUWHG� E\� JHQHUDO� JRYHUQPHQW� LQ� VRPH� ZD\� DUH�

LQFOXGHG�EDVHG�RQ�WKHLU�LQGLYLGXDO�EXGJHW�DPRXQW�DV�D�SHUFHQW�RI�WKH�RYHUDOO�&LW\�EXGJHW�� 
 
· &RQWUDFW�VHUYLFHV�VXFK�DV�3ROLFH��DQG�WKH�&LW\�$WWRUQH\�DUH�QRW�LQFOXGHG��1RU��DUH�JUDQWV�RU�

VSHFLDO�UHYHQXH�IXQGV�LQFOXGHG�� 
 
· 7KH�:DWHU�$XWKRULW\� DQG�6DQLWDU\�'LVWULFW� DUH� LQFOXGHG� GXH� WR� WKHLU� XVH� RI� WKH� HPSOR\HH�

LQVXUDQFH��JHQHUDO�OLDELOLW\�LQVXUDQFH��GDWD�SURFHVVLQJ�DQG�YHKLFOH�PDLQWHQDQFH�IXQFWLRQV� 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

70Page 359

Item 33.



 

 

*HQHUDO�*RYHUQPHQW 

*HQHUDO�*RYHUQPHQW�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

General Government 

Special Events

101-11-160-10-545-000 Sponsorships 40,722$           105,413$         -$                 -$                 

101-11-160-10-801-000 Misc/Economic Development 228,591           58,946             -                       -                   

101-11-160-10-801-001 Community Based Grant Programs 7,609               8,000               15,000             15,000             

101-11-160-10-801-002 Boxing Club 30,000             30,000             30,000             30,000             

101-11-160-10-801-003 Christmas Parade 88,207             67,068             45,000             -                   

101-11-160-10-801-004 Chamber of Commerce 3,891               10,375             50,000             50,000             

101-11-160-10-801-005 July 4th Event 34,372             51,042             65,000             -                   

101-11-160-10-801-006 September 16th Event 69,491             83,527             65,000             -                   

101-11-160-10-801-007 Cinco de Mayo 366                  -                   -                       -                   

101-11-160-10-801-008 Day of Young Child 2,750               4,546               -                       -                   

101-11-160-10-801-009 Veterans Breakfast 10,819             5,462               12,500             -                   

101-11-160-10-801-011 Summer Programs 23,800             6,000               -                       -                   

101-11-160-10-801-012 Coachella Mariachi Festival 51,206             -                   45,000             -                   

101-11-160-10-801-013 Taco Event 64,050             47,211             70,000             -                   

101-11-160-10-801-014 Library - Literary Program -                   68                    -                       -                   

101-11-160-10-801-017 Suavecito Sundays 42,124             4,900               -                       -                   

101-11-160-10-801-018 Coachella Valley LGBTQ Pride Festival -                   7,700               -                       -                   

101-11-160-90-801-012 Synergy Festival 13,247             12,258             -                       -                   

101-11-160-90-801-013 Run with Los Muertos 29,958             48,044             -                       -                   

101-11-160-90-801-014 Dia de Los Muertos USA 1,380               -                   -                       -                   

101-11-160-90-801-017 City of Coachella Anniversary Event (168)                 -                   -                       -                   

Total Special Events 742,414$         550,560$         397,500$         95,000$           

General Government 

  Insurance

101-11-160-90-521-000 Worker's compensation insurance -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 

101-11-160-90-521-001 General liability insurance 272,746           326,607           220,300           324,000           

101-11-160-90-521-002 Employee practices insurance premium 29,966             28,224             32,500             39,600             

101-11-160-90-521-003 Property damage premium 50,039             76,854             96,680             145,000           

101-11-160-90-521-004 Employee honesty bond premium -                   -                   2,900               -                   

101-11-160-90-521-007 Unemployment insurance 4,328               27,010             5,000               16,000             

101-11-160-90-521-008 Insurance-Deadly Weapon Response Program -                   490                  -                       540                  

101-11-160-90-522-000 Retiree employee insurance 77,047             92,263             80,000             102,000           
-                       

Total Insurance 434,126$         551,448$         437,380$         627,140$         

71Page 360

Item 33.



 

 

*HQHUDO�*RYHUQPHQW��&RQWLQXHG� 

*HQHUDO�*RYHUQPHQW�'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW��&RQWLQXHG� 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

General Government 

Other -                       

101-11-160-10-311-000 County administrative charges 7,260$             6,483$             8,000$             9,500$             

101-11-160-10-331-000 Audit services 23,914             3,956               25,000             -                   

101-11-160-10-324-000 Office Equipment Leases -                   -                   -                       58,000             

101-11-160-10-334-000 Other professional/contract services 341,059           413,896           120,000           249,000           

101-11-160-10-521-000 PERS Liability (Public Safety) 305,215           432,948           491,502           -                   

101-11-160-10-523-000 CalPERS-Retiree Pension Replacement Benefit 9,816               9,753               -                       20,000             

101-11-160-10-540-000 Advertising 7,468               343                  5,000               5,000               

101-11-160-10-610-000 General supplies 18,979             24,824             15,000             24,000             

101-11-160-10-641-000 Dues and subscriptions 49,118             50,562             -                       55,000             

101-11-160-10-741-000 Machinery and equipment -                   84,809             -                       -                   

101-11-160-90-334-000 Health Plan Admin Fees 6,160               14,313             115,700           6,000               

101-11-160-90-801-016 Structural Property Improvement Program 30,000             20,000             -                       -                   

Total Other 798,989$         1,061,887$      780,202$         426,500$         

General Government 

Transfers Out -                       

101-11-160-10-910-182 Transfers-out - other funds 672,900$         6,906$             -$                 -$                 

101-11-160-10-910-240 Transfers-out - Fire District 1,224,826        1,630,963        2,126,978        1,576,941        

101-11-160-10-910-390 Transfers-out - Cable Corp 32,000             -                   32,000             32,000             

101-11-160-90-910-182 Transfer Out to CIP Fund 182 (SD-2) -                   -                   -                       251,513           

101-11-160-10-910-195 Transfer Out- Debt Service POB -                                  - -                       825,985           

101-11-160-90-910-195 Transfer Out- Debt Service Lease Rev. Bonds 616,225           -                   612,131           610,931           

Total Transfers 2,545,951$      1,637,869$      2,771,109$      3,297,370$      

TOTAL GENERAL GOVERNMENT 4,521,481$      3,801,764$      4,386,191$      4,446,010$      

72Page 361

Item 33.



 

 

,QIRUPDWLRQ�7HFKQRORJ\�'LYLVLRQ 

,QIRUPDWLRQ�7HFKQRORJ\�'LYLVLRQ�'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

7KH�'HSDUWPHQW�RI�,QIRUPDWLRQ�7HFKQRORJ\��,7��FRQWLQXHV�WR�PDLQWDLQ�WKH�SDFH�RI�
UDSLG�FKDQJH�LQ�WKH�ZRUOG�RI�WHFKQRORJ\���7KH�'HSDUWPHQW�LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�GHYHO�
RSPHQW��LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ��DQG�PDLQWHQDQFH�RI�LQIRUPDWLRQ�V\VWHPV�DQG�WHFKQRORJ\�
IRU�RWKHU�&LW\�'HSDUWPHQWV� 
 

7KH�,7�'HSDUWPHQW�WKURXJK�FROODERUDWLRQ�DQG�SDUWLFLSDWLRQ�ZLWK�RWKHU�GHSDUWPHQWV��
SURYLGHV�WKH�KLJKHVW�TXDOLW\��FRVW-HIIHFWLYH��WHFKQLFDO�VXSSRUW�DQG�VHUYLFHV�WKDW�DUH�FULWLFDO�LQ�
PHHWLQJ�WKH�QHHGV�RI�WKH�SXEOLF� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Information Technology

101-11-161-90-110-000 Regular employees 140,968$         143,829$         148,114$         146,690$         

101-11-161-90-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 5,218               9,770               15,063             15,063             

101-11-161-90-132-000 Other salary payments -                   -                   348                  348                  

101-11-161-90-210-000 Group insurance 22,733             25,657             33,332             30,903             

101-11-161-90-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 2,083               2,191               2,289               2,289               

101-11-161-90-230-000 PERS contributions 36,494             44,909             57,810             27,701             

101-11-161-90-334-000 Professional/contract services 16,273             50,537             32,381             15,000             

101-11-161-90-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 20,280             15,135             19,028             15,028             

101-11-161-90-530-000 Communications 71,284             77,305             79,850             72,130             

101-11-161-90-610-000 General supplies 5,413               3,514               7,000               9,000               

101-11-161-90-611-000 Minor equipment and furniture 31,582             -                   2,000               2,000               

101-11-161-90-612-000 Computer software 122,482           141,744           151,360           163,756           

101-11-161-90-641-000 Dues and subscriptions 2                      265                  -                       -                   

101-11-161-90-741-000 Machinery and equipment 17,778             5,248               29,524             39,500             
-                   

TOTAL INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 492,589$         520,104$         578,099$         539,408$         

73Page 362

Item 33.



 

 

)OHHW�0DLQWHQDQFH�'LYLVLRQ 

)OHHW�0DLQWHQDQFH�'LYLVLRQ�'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

7KH�)OHHW�0DLQWHQDQFH�'LYLVLRQ�PDLQWDLQ�DQG�UHSDLUV�WKH�&LW\¶V�YHKLFOH�
IOHHW�DQG�HTXLSPHQW�DVVHWV���6HUYLFHV�LQFOXGH�KHDY\�HTXLSPHQW�VXFK�DV�
VWUHHW�VZHHSHUV�DQG�VNLS�ORDGHUV��SHUVRQQHO�YHKLFOHV�VXFK�DV�SLFN�XS�WUXFNV�
DQG�DXWRV��FRPPHUFLDO�SDVVHQJHU�YHKLFOHV�DQG�VPDOO�HTXLSPHQW�VXFK�DV��
PRZHUV��EORZHUV��DQG�KHGJHV��� 

 

7KH�GHSDUWPHQW�LV�DOVR�UHVSRQVLEOH�WR�PDQDJH�WKH�LQYHQWRU\�UHSODFHPHQW�SDUWV�WR�VHUYLFH�FLW\�
HTXLSPHQW� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Fleet Maintenance Division 

101-11-164-90-110-000 Regular employees 129,113$         144,655$         152,239           164,594$         

101-11-164-90-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 27,249             5,401               11,521             12,456             

101-11-164-90-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 10,319             9,842               5,000               5,000               

101-11-164-90-132-000 Other salary payments -                   -                   696                  696                  

101-11-164-90-210-000 Group insurance 40,546             46,073             52,485             50,889             

101-11-164-90-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 2,758               2,282               2,396               2,584               

101-11-164-90-230-000 PERS contributions 17,604             14,993             12,524             12,493             

101-11-164-90-334-000 Other professional/contract services 12,359             7,094               -                       -                   

101-11-164-90-334-005 Other Prof/Contact serv- Sr Center 227                  648                  1,800               1,000               

101-11-164-90-334-006 Other Prof/Contact serv-Engineering 227                  788                  3,000               1,000               

101-11-164-90-334-009 Other Prof/Contact serv- Bldg Maint 227                  648                  1,800               1,000               

101-11-164-90-334-010 Other Prof/Contact serv- Code Enf 455                  1,292               3,000               2,000               

101-11-164-90-334-011 Other Prof/Contact serv- Develop Serv 76                    201                  1,800               1,000               

101-11-164-90-334-012 Other Prof/Contact serv- Fleet 152                  413                  8,500               10,000             

101-11-164-90-334-013 Other Prof/Contact serv- Gen Gov't 612                  1,746               1,800               2,000               

101-11-164-90-334-014 Other Prof/Contact serv- LLMD 76                    201                  1,800               2,000               

101-11-164-90-334-015 Other Prof/Contact serv- Parks 985                  2,821               6,000               2,000               

101-11-164-90-334-016 Other Prof/Contact serv- Streets 1,137               3,261               6,000               2,000               

101-11-164-90-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 5,555               13,677             5,000               2,500               

101-11-164-90-430-005 Repair & maint/ Sr Center 3,693               4,832               5,000               5,000               

101-11-164-90-430-006 Repair & maint/Engineering 1,779               797                  2,000               1,000               

101-11-164-90-430-009 Repair & maint/Bldg Maint 260                  1,812               2,000               1,000               

101-11-164-90-430-010 Repair & maint/Code Enf 20,905             833                  1,000               1,000               

101-11-164-90-430-011 Repair & maint/Develop Serv -                   19                    1,000               1,000               

101-11-164-90-430-012 Repair & maint/Fleet 286                  231                  1,000               1,000               

101-11-164-90-430-013 Repair & maint/Gen Gov't 1,243               686                  2,500               2,000               

101-11-164-90-430-014 Repair & maint/LLMD 190                  260                  500                  500                  

74Page 363

Item 33.



 

 

)OHHW�0DLQWHQDQFH�'LYLVLRQ��&RQWLQXHG� 

)OHHW�0DLQWHQDQFH�'LYLVLRQ�'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW��&RQWLQXHG� 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Fleet Maintenance Division - Continued

101-11-164-90-430-015 Repair & maint/Parks 5,012$             443$                5,000$             5,000$             

101-11-164-90-430-016 Repair & maint/Streets 11,211             5,596               5,000               5,000               

101-11-164-90-442-000 Rental of equipment and vehicles 96                    -                   77,086             77,086             

101-11-164-90-530-000 Communications 2,134               1,450               2,400$             2,000               

101-11-164-90-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel 41                    -                   -                       -                   

101-11-164-90-610-000 General supplies 31,924             3,912               16,500             8,500               

101-11-164-90-610-005 General supplies/Senior Center 2,623               459                  4,500               4,500               

101-11-164-90-610-006 General supplies/Engineering 345                  1,458               3,500               3,500               

101-11-164-90-610-009 General supplies/Bldg Maint 1,055               2,558               2,000               2,000               

101-11-164-90-610-010 General supplies/Code Enf 3,021               2,545               3,000               3,000               

101-11-164-90-610-011 General supplies/Develop Services 325                  -                   500                  500                  

101-11-164-90-610-012 General supplies/Fleet 659                  635                  2,000               2,000               

101-11-164-90-610-013 General supplies/Gen Gov't 1,133               404                  1,500               500                  

101-11-164-90-610-014 General supplies/LLMD 703                  668                  500                  500                  

101-11-164-90-610-015 General supplies/Parks 7,303               3,099               14,000             8,500               

101-11-164-90-610-016 General supplies/Streets 4,812               7,292               14,000             8,500               

101-11-164-90-611-000 Minor equipment and furniture 2,955               -                   -                       -                   

101-11-164-90-620-000 Energy charges - fuel costs 1,554               2,513               -                       -                   

101-11-164-90-620-005 Utilities/Senior Center 6,309               6,279               5,500               5,500               

101-11-164-90-620-006 Utilities/Engineering 3,630               3,249               5,500               5,500               

101-11-164-90-620-009 Utilities/Bldg Maint 4,101               4,371               5,000               5,000               

101-11-164-90-620-010 Utilities/Code Enf 9,693               7,989               10,000             10,000             

101-11-164-90-620-011 Utilities/Develop Services 386                  1,126               2,500               2,500               

101-11-164-90-620-012 Utilities/Fleet 5,481               2,213               12,000             12,000             

101-11-164-90-620-013 Utilities/Gen Gov't 2,633               1,039               3,000               3,000               

101-11-164-90-620-014 Utilities/LLMD 3,491               3,769               3,000               3,000               

101-11-164-90-620-015 Utilities/Parks 21,728             19,557             22,000             22,000             

101-11-164-90-620-016 Utilities/Streets 22,452             20,351             22,000             22,000             

101-11-164-90-741-000 Machinery and equipment 105,357           10,293             33,278             -                   

101-11-164-90-742-000 Vehicles -                   -                   28,511             -                   
-                   TOTAL FLEET MAINTENANCE DIVISION 540,201$         378,774$         596,135$         509,296$         

75Page 364

Item 33.



 

 

)OHHW�0DLQWHQDQFH�'LYLVLRQ��&RQWLQXHG� 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

 

*RDOV�DQG�2EMHFWLYHV� 
 

7KH� )OHHW� PDLQWHQDQFH� 'LYLVLRQ� HVWDEOLVKHG� WKH� IROORZLQJ� JRDOV� DQG� REMHFWLYHV� IRU� WKH� QHZ�
ILVFDO�\HDU�� 
 

· 0DLQWDLQ�DQQXDO�SHU�PLOH�FRVWV�IRU�HQWLUH�IOHHW�WR�UHIOHFW�PDLQWHQDQFH�FRVWV�� 
· &RRUGLQDWH�ZLWK�DOO�GHSDUWPHQWV� WR�XSGDWH�DQG�PDLQWDLQ�WKH�YHKLFOH�DQG�HTXLSPHQW�UH�

SODFHPHQW�DQG�VXUSOXV�SURFHVV� 
· &RQWLQXH�WR�ZRUN�RQ�JUDQW�RSWLRQV�WR�IXQG�D�&1*�)XHOLQJ�6WDWLRQ�DW�WKH�&RDFKHOOD�&RU�

SRUDWH�<DUG�� 

76Page 365

Item 33.



 

 

%XLOGLQJ�0DLQWHQDQFH�'LYLVLRQ 

%XLOGLQJ�0DLQWHQDQFH�'LYLVLRQ�'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

7KH�EXLOGLQJ�PDLQWHQDQFH�GLYLVLRQ�LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�DOO�LQ-KRXVH�UHSDLU��UHQRYD�
WLRQ��DQG�PDLQWHQDQFH�RI�FLW\�RZQHG�EXLOGLQJV�DQG�RWKHU�DSSURYHG�IDFLOLWLHV���,Q�
RUGHU�WR�DFFRPSOLVK�LWV�UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV�LQ�PDLQWDLQLQJ�FLW\�RZQHG�VWUXFWXUHV��WKLV�
GHSDUWPHQW�PD\�HPSOR\�VSHFLDOL]HG�HOHFWULFLDQV��KHDWLQJ�DQG�DLU�FRQGLWLRQLQJ�
WHFKQLFLDQV��FDUSHQWHUV��PDLQWHQDQFH�PHFKDQLFV��ODERUHUV��ORFNVPLWKV��DQG�RWKHU�
VHUYLFH�SHUVRQQHO�RQ�DQ�DV�QHHGHG�EDVLV� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Building Maintenance Division 

101-11-165-90-110-000 Regular employees 97,701$           140,565$         169,154$         172,771$         

101-11-165-90-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 13,356             19,314             26,558             26,866             

101-11-165-90-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 17,012             21,247             15,000             15,000             

101-11-165-90-120-000 Temporary/part-time employees 10,206             19,348             20,000             20,000             

101-11-165-90-132-000 Other salary payments -                   -                   2,646               2,646               

101-11-165-90-210-000 Group insurance 11,185             17,349             38,189             35,095             

101-11-165-90-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 1,845               2,623               3,026               3,081               

101-11-165-90-230-000 PERS contributions 24,674             29,811             51,662             28,100             

101-11-165-10-334-000 Other professional/contract services 2,240               -                   -                       -                   

101-11-165-90-334-000 Other professional/contract services 17,481             52,216             10,000             18,000             

101-11-165-90-334-001 Contract Services/City Hall 16,633             22,661             14,000             18,500             

101-11-165-90-334-002 Contract Services/Comm Center 2,490               2,728               5,000               5,000               

101-11-165-90-334-003 Contract Services/Finance 3,444               9,588               4,000               4,000               

101-11-165-90-334-004 Contract Services/Corp Yard 12,952             19,282             15,000             15,000             

101-11-165-90-334-005 Contract Services/Senior Center 8,591               4,826               12,000             12,000             

101-11-165-90-334-006 Contract Services/Engineering -                   -                   -                       -                   

101-11-165-90-334-007 Contract Services/Fire Station -                   -                   5,000               5,000               

101-11-165-90-334-008 Contract Services/Other City Prop 10,178             10,157             5,000               5,000               

101-11-165-90-334-010 Contract Services/Permit Center 25,442             25,365             10,000             25,000             

101-11-165-90-334-011 Contract Services/Library 55,437             4,693               12,000             22,000             

101-11-165-90-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 1,371               315                  -                       -                   

101-11-165-90-430-001 Repair & Maint/City Hall 10,460             16,445             15,000             40,000             

101-11-165-90-430-002 Repair & Maint/Comm Center 9,333               6,206               12,452             50,000             

101-11-165-90-430-003 Repair & Maint/Finance 817                  2,433               1,500               1,500               

101-11-165-90-430-004 Repair & Maint/Corp Yard 39,157             35,507             74,483             73,000             

101-11-165-90-430-005 Repair & Maint/Senior Center 5,687               2,956               7,000               7,000               

101-11-165-90-430-006 Repair & Maint/Engineering 1,349               -                   1,000               1,000               

101-11-165-90-430-007 Repair & Maint/Fire Station 6,622               2,490               4,500               4,500               

101-11-165-90-430-008 Repair & Maint/Other City Prop 15,286             4,177               5,000               1,500               

77Page 366

Item 33.



 

 

%XLOGLQJ�0DLQWHQDQFH�'LYLVLRQ��&RQWLQXHG� 

%XLOGLQJ�0DLQWHQDQFH�'LYLVLRQ�'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW��&RQWLQXHG� 

Fund Overview 
General Fund (101) 

*RDOV�DQG�2EMHFWLYHV� 
7KH�%XLOGLQJ�0DLQWHQDQFH�'LYLVLRQ�HVWDEOLVKHG�WKH�IROORZLQJ�JRDOV�DQG�REMHFWLYHV�IRU�WKH�QHZ�ILVFDO�\HDU�� 

· 0DLQWDLQ�DQQXDO�SHU�PLOH�FRVWV�IRU�HQWLUH�IOHHW�WR�UHIOHFW�PDLQWHQDQFH�FRVWV�� 
· &RRUGLQDWH�ZLWK�DOO�GHSDUWPHQWV�WR�XSGDWH�DQG�PDLQWDLQ�WKH�YHKLFOH�DQG�HTXLSPHQW�UHSODFHPHQW�DQG�VXU�

SOXV�SURFHVV� 
· &RQWLQXH�WR�ZRUN�RQ�JUDQW�RSWLRQV�WR�IXQG�D�&1*�)XHOLQJ�6WDWLRQ�DW�WKH�&RDFKHOOD�&RUSRUDWH�<DUG�� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Building Maintenance Division - Continued

101-11-165-90-430-009 Repair & Maint/Boxing Club 378$                -$                 8,000$             8,000$             

101-11-165-90-430-010 Repairs & Maint/Civic Center 13,253             16,479             57,771             12,000             

101-11-165-90-430-011 Repairs & Maint/Coachella Library 4,078               5,385               5,000               30,000             

101-11-165-90-442-000 Rental of equipment and vehicles 2,842               1,566               3,000               3,000               

101-11-165-90-530-000 Communications 3,996               4,056               5,200               5,200               

101-11-165-90-610-000 General supplies 18,208             18,245             15,000             15,000             

101-11-165-90-610-001 Supplies/City Hall 14,772             23,853             6,000               6,000               

101-11-165-90-610-002 Supplies/Comm Center 2,667               1,374               5,000               5,000               

101-11-165-90-610-003 Supplies/Finance 165                  429                  -                       -                   

101-11-165-90-610-004 Supplies/Corp Yard 6,135               5,611               10,000             10,000             

101-11-165-90-610-005 Supplies/Senior Center 6,675               8,610               11,000             11,000             

101-11-165-90-610-006 Supplies/Engineering 542                  33                    -                       -                   

101-11-165-90-610-007 Supplies/Fire Station 126                  1,365               -                       -                   

101-11-165-90-610-008 Supplies/Other City Prop 5,906               1,005               -                       -                   

101-11-165-90-610-010 Supplies/Permit Center 3,846               9,755               10,000             10,000             

101-11-165-90-610-011 Supplies/Library 19,588             6,376               8,000               8,000               

101-11-165-90-611-000 Minor equipment and furniture -                   -                   2,500               2,500               

101-11-165-90-620-001 Utilities/City Hall 22,819             20,791             20,000             20,000             

101-11-165-90-620-002 Utilities/Comm Center 6,535               6,019               8,000               8,000               

101-11-165-90-620-003 Utilities/Finance 6,764               4,016               4,500               4,500               

101-11-165-90-620-004 Utilities/Corp Yard 12,367             10,832             14,000             14,000             

101-11-165-90-620-005 Utilities/Senior Center 14,082             11,598             12,000             12,000             

101-11-165-90-620-007 Utilities/Fire Station 10,051             10,496             9,000               9,000               

101-11-165-90-620-008 Utilities/Other City Prop 14,161             11,290             10,000             10,000             

101-11-165-90-620-010 Utilities/Permit Center 10,227             21,538             20,000             20,000             

101-11-165-90-620-011 Utilities/Library 25,470             25,470             23,000             23,000             

TOTAL BUILDING MAINT. DIVISION 646,603$         698,493$         806,141$         857,759$         

TOTAL GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES 23,476,245$    24,124,644$    25,988,438$    26,804,488$    

78Page 367

Item 33.



 

 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds 

7KH� VSHFLDO� UHYHQXH� IXQGV� DUH� XVHG� WR� DFFRXQW� IRU� WKH� SURFHHGV� RI� UHYHQXH� VRXUFHV� WKDW� DUH�
OHJDOO\�RU�RWKHUZLVH�UHVWULFWHG�WR�H[SHQGLWXUHV�IRU�VSHFLILHG�SXUSRVHV� 
 
7KH�&LW\�RI�&RDFKHOOD�XWLOL]HV�VSHFLDO�UHYHQXH�IXQGV�IRU�WKH�IROORZLQJ�SXUSRVHV� 
 
· 7R� DFFRXQW� IRU� IXQGV� WKH� &LW\� UHFHLYHV� IURP� RWKHU� DJHQFLHV� YLD� SXEOLF� ODZ� RU� RWKHU�

HQDFWPHQW 
 
· 7R� DFFRXQW� IRU� JUDQW� IXQGV� UHFHLYHG� IURP�RWKHU� HQWLWLHV� VXFK� DV� IHGHUDO�� VWDWH� DQG� FRXQW\�

JUDQW�SURJUDPV 
 
· 7R� DFFRXQW� IRU� UHYHQXH� UHFHLYHG� WKURXJK� VSHFLDO� DVVHVVPHQWV� VXFK� DV� WKH� ODQGVFDSH� DQG�

OLJKWLQJ�GLVWULFWV 
 
· 7R� DFFRXQW� IRU� UHYHQXH� HLWKHU� WUDQVIHUUHG� RU� SURYLGHG� WR� VSHFLDO� GLVWULFWV� VXFK� DV� WKH�

&RDFKHOOD�)LUH�3URWHFWLRQ�'LVWULFW 
 
7KLV�VHFWLRQ�LQFOXGHV�WKRVH�VSHFLDO�UHYHQXH�IXQGV�UHFHLYHG�IURP�RWKHU�DJHQFLHV�YLD�SXEOLF�ODZ�
RU� RWKHU� HQDFWPHQW�� DQG� WKRVH� VSHFLDO� UHYHQXH� IXQGV� LQFOXGHG� LQ� WKH� ODQGVFDSH� DQG� OLJKWLQJ�
GLVWULFWV��*UDQW� IXQGV�� WUDQVIHUV�DQG�RWKHU�VSHFLDO�GLVWULFWV�DUH� LQFOXGHG� LQ�VHSDUDWH�VHFWLRQV�RI�
WKLV�GRFXPHQW� 

79Page 368

Item 33.



 

 

5RDG�0DLQWHQDQFH-'LOORQ�5RDG 

 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (108) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

108-12-311-30-332-000 Road Maintenance - Dillon Rd. 11,077$           34,125$           -$                 60,000$           

Total Road Repair & Maintenance - Dillon Road 11,077$           34,125$           -$                 60,000$           

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2020-22
Initial
Budget 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Road Maintenance - Dillon Road

108-12-281-10-910-182 Transfers out to fund 182 (ST-119) -$                 -$                 66,500$           -$                 
-                       

-$                 -$                 66,500$           -$                 

80Page 369

Item 33.



 

 

5RDG�0DLQWHQDQFH�	�5HKDELOLWDWRQ��6%��� 

$IWHU�\HDUV�RI�DGYRFDWLQJ�IRU�D�VROXWLRQ�WR�WKH�VWDWH¶V�WUDQVSRUWDWLRQ�FULVLV��WKH�/HJLVODWXUH�SDVVHG�
DQG�WKH�*RYHUQRU�VLJQHG�6%����%HDOO���������DOVR�NQRZQ�DV�WKH�5RDG�5HSDLU�DQG�$FFRXQWDELOLW\�
$FW�RI�������LQFUHDVLQJ�WUDQVSRUWDWLRQ�IXQGLQJ�DQG�LQVWLWXWLQJ�PXFK-QHHGHG�UHIRUPV��6%���SUR�
YLGHV�WKH�ILUVW�VLJQLILFDQW��VWDEOH��DQG�RQ-JRLQJ�LQFUHDVH�LQ�VWDWH�WUDQVSRUWDWLRQ�IXQGLQJ�LQ�PRUH�
WKDQ�WZR�GHFDGHV�� 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (109) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

7KLV�ELOO�ZRXOG� FUHDWH� WKH�5RDG�0DLQWHQDQFH�DQG�5HKDELOLWDWLRQ�3URJUDP� WR� DGGUHVV�GHIHUUHG�PDLQWH�
QDQFH�RQ�WKH�VWDWH�KLJKZD\�V\VWHP�DQG�WKH�ORFDO�VWUHHW�DQG�URDG�V\VWHP��7KH�ELOO�ZRXOG�UHTXLUH�WKH�&DOL�
IRUQLD�7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ�&RPPLVVLRQ�WR�DGRSW�SHUIRUPDQFH�FULWHULD��FRQVLVWHQW�ZLWK�D�VSHFLILHG�DVVHW�PDQ�
DJHPHQW�SODQ��WR�HQVXUH�HIILFLHQW�XVH�RI�FHUWDLQ�IXQGV�DYDLODEOH�IRU�WKH�SURJUDP��7KH�ELOO�ZRXOG�SURYLGH�
IRU�WKH�GHSRVLW�RI�YDULRXV�IXQGV�IRU�WKH�SURJUDP�LQ�WKH�5RDG�0DLQWHQDQFH�DQG�5HKDELOLWDWLRQ�$FFRXQW��
ZKLFK�WKH�ELOO�ZRXOG�FUHDWH�LQ�WKH�6WDWH�7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ�)XQG��LQFOXGLQJ�UHYHQXHV�DWWULEXWDEOH�WR�D�������
SHU�JDOORQ�LQFUHDVH�LQ�WKH�PRWRU�YHKLFOH�IXHO��JDVROLQH��WD[�LPSRVHG�E\�WKH�ELOO�ZLWK�DQ�LQIODWLRQ�DGMXVW�
PHQW��DV�SURYLGHG������RI�D�������SHU�JDOORQ�LQFUHDVH�LQ�WKH�GLHVHO�H[FLVH�WD[��ZLWK�DQ�LQIODWLRQ�DGMXVW�
PHQW�� DV�SURYLGHG�� D�SRUWLRQ�RI�D�QHZ� WUDQVSRUWDWLRQ� LPSURYHPHQW� IHH� LPSRVHG�XQGHU� WKH�9HKLFOH�/L�
FHQVH�)HH�/DZ�ZLWK�D�YDU\LQJ�IHH�EHWZHHQ�����DQG������EDVHG�RQ�YHKLFOH�YDOXH�DQG�ZLWK�DQ�LQIODWLRQ�
DGMXVWPHQW��DV�SURYLGHG��DQG�D�QHZ������DQQXDO�YHKLFOH�UHJLVWUDWLRQ�IHH�DSSOLFDEOH�RQO\�WR�]HUR-HPLVVLRQ�
YHKLFOHV�PRGHO�\HDU������DQG� ODWHU��ZLWK�DQ� LQIODWLRQ�DGMXVWPHQW��DV�SURYLGHG��7KH�ELOO�ZRXOG�SURYLGH�
WKDW�WKH�IXHO�H[FLVH�WD[�LQFUHDVHV�WDNH�HIIHFW�RQ�1RYHPEHU����������WKH�WUDQVSRUWDWLRQ�LPSURYHPHQW�IHH�
WDNHV� HIIHFW�RQ�-DQXDU\���������� DQG� WKH� ]HUR-HPLVVLRQ�YHKLFOH� UHJLVWUDWLRQ� IHH� WDNHV� HIIHFW�RQ�-XO\����

 FY 2017-18
Actual 

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2020-21
Initial
Budget 

Road Maintenance & Rehabilitaton (SB 1)

109-12-311-30-332 SB1 Road, Maint & Rehab Account 261,758$         874,361$         807,000$         875,424$         

Total Road Maintenance & Rehabilitaton (SB 1) 261,758$         874,361$         807,000$         875,424$         

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Road Maintenance & Rehabilitation (SB 1)

109-12-229-10-910-182 Transfer out to Fund 182 (ST-77) 230,353$         -$                 -$                 -$                 

109-12-257-10-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (ST-105) -                   -                   -                   647,560           

109-12-277-10-910-182 Transfers out to fund 182 (ST-115) -                   -                   740,000           -                   

109-12-278-10-901-182 Transfers out to fund 182 (ST-116) 200,000           -                   -                   -                   

109-12-281-10-910-182 Transfers out to fund 182 (ST-119) -                   -                   1,138,000        -                   

109-12-282-10-910-182 Transfers out to fund 182 (ST-120) -                   -                   500,000           -                   

109-12-283-10-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (ST-121) -                   296,377           -                   -                   

109-12-291-10-910-182 Transfer out to Fund 182 (ST-129) -                   -                   386,396           386,396           

109-12-293-10-910-182 Transfer out to Fund 182 (ST-131) -                   -                   -                   277,000           

Total Road Repair &  Maintenance Fund 430,353$         296,377$         2,764,396        1,310,956$      

81Page 370

Item 33.



 

 

6WDWH�*DV�7D[ 

7KLV�IXQG�LV�XVHG�WR�DFFRXQW�IRU�WKH�&LW\¶V�VKDUH�RI�WKH�WD[�LPSRVHG�RQ�YHKLFOH�
IXHO� XQGHU� WKH� SURYLVLRQ� RI� WKH� 6WUHHW� DQG� +LJKZD\� &RGH� RI� WKH� 6WDWH� RI�
&DOLIRUQLD�� 7KH� IXQGV� DUH� UHVWULFWHG� WR� WKH� DFTXLVLWLRQ�� FRQVWUXFWLRQ��
LPSURYHPHQW�DQG�PDLQWHQDQFH�RI�SXEOLF�VWUHHWV� 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (111) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

111-12-311-30-331-000 State Gas Tax Revenue 885,665$         1,007,169$      1,163,200$      1,100,000$      

Total State Gas Tax  885,665$         1,007,169$      1,163,200$      1,100,000$      

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2020-22
Initial
Budget 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

State Gas Tax 

111-12-311-10-334-000 Other professional services 15$                  70$                  -$                 -$                 

111-12-311-10-910-118 Transfers-out—street bond fund -                   -                   358,183           359,400           

111-12-311-10-910-101 Transfers-out - street expenditures 1,133,056        761,477           805,017           740,000           

111-12-214-10-910-182 Transfers-out to Fund 182 33,575             -                   -                   

111-14-234-10-910-195 Transfer Out To Fund 195 -                   340,333           -                   

Total State Gas Tax Fund 1,166,646$      1,101,880$      1,163,200$      1,099,400$      

82Page 371

Item 33.



 

 

$LU�4XDOLW\�,PSURYHPHQW� 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (112) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

7KH�&LW\�RI�&RDFKHOOD�UHFHLYHV�$%������IXQGV�WR�LPSOHPHQW�SURJUDPV�WKDW�UHGXFH�
DLU� �SROOXWLRQ�IURP�PRWRU�YHKLFOHV��$�0RWRU�YHKLFOH� UHJLVWUDWLRQ�IHH�VXUFKDUJH�RI�
���SHU�YHKLFOH�LV�FROOHFWHG�E\�WKH�'HSDUWPHQW�RI�0RWRU�9HKLFOHV�DQG�VXEYHQHG�WR�
WKH�6RXWK�&RDVW�$LU�4XDOLW\�0DQDJHPHQW�'LVWULFW��$40'��IRU�GLVEXUVHPHQW���7KH�
SURJUDP�SURYLGHV�D�IXQGLQJ�VRXUFH�IRU�FLWLHV�DQG�FRXQWLHV�WR�PHHW�UHTXLUHPHQWV�RI�

IHGHUDO� DQG� VWDWH� &OHDQ� $LU� $FWV�� DQG� IRU� LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ� RI� PRWRU� YHKLFOH� PHDVXUHV� LQ� WKH�
$40'�$LU�4XDOLW\�0DQDJHPHQW�3ODQ� �$403���7KH� OHJLVODWLRQ� FUHDWLQJ� WKLV� UHYHQXH� VRXUFH�
SURYLGHV�IRU�RYHUVLJKW�RI�WKH�XVH�RI�WKHVH�PRQLHV�E\�ORFDO�JRYHUQPHQWV��$LU�GLVWULFWV�WKDW�UHFHLYH�
$%�����PRQLHV�UHSRUW�DQQXDOO\�WR�WKH�&DOLIRUQLD�$LU�5HVRXUFHV�%RDUG��&$5%��RQ�WKH�XVH�DQG�
UHVXOWV�RI�WKH�SURJUDPV�IXQGHG�E\�WKH�IHHV��&LWLHV�DQG�FRXQWLHV�XQGHU�$40'¶V�MXULVGLFWLRQ�SUR�
YLGH�DQQXDO�SURJUDP�DQG�ILQDQFLDO�LQIRUPDWLRQ�WR�WKH�$40'��7KLV�LQIRUPDWLRQ�LV�FRPSLOHG�E\�
WKH�$40'�DQG�IRUZDUGHG�DV�DQ�DQQXDO�UHSRUW�WR�&$5%�� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Air Quality Improvement 

112-12-311-10-334-000 Professional/contract services 44,393$           43,824$           44,393$           44,393$           

Total Air Quality Improvement 44,393$           43,824$           44,393$           44,393$           

112-12-311-30-331-000 AQMD AB2766 Revenues 59,191$           43,926$           58,000$           57,000$           

112-12-311-70-361-000 Interest Income 660                  921                  -                   691                  

112-12-110-90-101-000 Other Revnues 6,898               -                       -                   -                   

112-12-170-70-364-000 Unrealized gain/loss on investment -                       536                  -                   -                   

Total Air Quality Improvement 66,750$           45,383$           58,000$           57,691$           

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2020-22
Initial
Budget 

83Page 372

Item 33.



 

 

/RFDO�7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ�-�0HDVXUH�$

'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

7KLV�IXQG�LV�VHW�DVLGH�IRU�WKH�FROOHFWLRQ�RI�WKH�RQH-KDOI�FHQW�VDOHV�WD[�LQFUHDVH�
DSSURYHG�E\�WKH�5LYHUVLGH�&RXQW\�YRWHUV��7KH�IXQGV�UHFHLYHG�DUH�UHVWULFWHG�IRU�
XVH�LQ�DFTXLVLWLRQ��FRQVWUXFWLRQ�DQG�LPSURYHPHQW�RI�WKH�&LW\¶V�VWUHHWV� 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (117) 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Local Transportation Fund-Measure A

117-12-131-10-334-000 Other professional/contract services -$                 2,007$             -$                 -$                 

117-12-241-10-737-000 ST-89 Jefferson/I-10 Interchange Reimbursement Agreement -                   2,861               -                   

117-12-248-10-910-182 Transfers-out—Fund 182 ST-96 (107)                 -                   -                   -                   

117-12-249-10-910-182 Transfers-out—Fund 182 ST-97 (137)                 -                   -                   -                   

117-12-252-10-910-182 Transfers-out to 182 (ST-100) -                   633,682           -                   -                   

117-12-257-10-910-182 Transfers-out to 182 (ST-105) -                   -                   -                   561,815           

117-12-229-10-910-182 Transfers-out to 182 (ST-77) 1,300,498        -                   -                   -                   

117-12-278-10-901-182 Transfers-out to 182 (ST-116) -                   705,239           256,000           -                   

117-12-281-10-901-182 Transfers-out to 182 (ST-119) -                   -                   702,288           -                   

117-12-291-10-901-182 Transfers-out to 182 (ST-129) -                   -                   119,000           252,604           

117-12-295-10-901-182 Transfers-out to 182 (ST-131) -                   -                   -                   58,185             

Total Local Transportation Fund-Measure A 1,300,254$      1,343,789$      1,077,288$      872,604$         

117-12-311-30-338-000 RCTC-Measure "A" 599,831$         683,776$         531,000$         570,000$         

117-12-311-70-361-000 Interest Income 48,599             27,737             -                   20,803             

Total Local Transportation - Measure A 648,429$         711,512$         531,000$         590,803$         

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2020-22
Initial
Budget 

84Page 373

Item 33.



 

 

'HYHORSPHQW�,PSDFW�)HHV�-�3DUN�/DQG 

,Q� ����� &DOLIRUQLD� *RYHUQPHQW� &RGH� 6HFWLRQ� ������ �4XLPE\� $FW�� ZDV�
SDVVHG�DXWKRUL]LQJ�FLWLHV�DQG�FRXQWLHV�WR�SDVV�RUGLQDQFHV�UHTXLULQJ�WKDW�GH�
YHORSHUV�VHW�DVLGH�ODQG��GRQDWH�FRQVHUYDWLRQ�HDVHPHQWV�RU�SD\�IHHV�IRU�SDUN�
LPSURYHPHQWV�� �7KH�JRDO�RI� WKH�4XLPE\�$FW�ZDV� WR� UHTXLUH�GHYHORSHUV� WR�
KHOS�PLWLJDWH� WKH� LPSDFWV�RI�GHYHORSPHQW�RQ� ORFDO� FRPPXQLWLHV�� � ,Q������

WKH�DFW�ZDV�VXEVWDQWLDOO\�DPHQGHG�WR�IXUWKHU�GHILQH�DFFHSWDEOH�XVHV�RI�RU�UHVWULFWLRQV�RQ�4XLPE\�
IXQGV��SURYLGHG�DFUHDJH�SRSXODWLRQ�VWDQGDUGV�DQG�UHTXLUHG�DJHQFLHV�WR�VKRZ�D�UHDVRQDEOH�UHOD�
WLRQVKLS�EHWZHHQ�WKH�SXEOLF�QHHG�IRU�WKH�SDUN�RU�UHFUHDWLRQDO�ODQG�DQG�WKH�GHYHORSPHQW�SURMHFW�
ZKLFK�WKH�IHH�LV�LPSRVHG� 
 
7KH�IHH�LV�����������SHU�UHVLGHQWLDO�XQLW�DQG�����������SHU�PXOWL�IDPLO\�XQLW���7KLV�IHH�VWUXFWXUH�
ZDV�DSSURYHG�E\�WKH�&RDFKHOOD�&LW\�&RXQFLO�RQ�)HEUXDU\���������� 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (120) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

120-12-420-50-375-000 Park Land Fees 49,572$           130,815$         1,613,072$      1,613,072$      

120-12-311-70-361-000 Interest Income (3,026)              -                       -                   -                   

Total Dev Impact Fee -Park Land 46,546$           130,815$         1,613,072$      1,613,072$      

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Dev Impact Fee -Park Land
120-12-311-10-334-000 Other professional/Contract services 2,287$             1,613$             -$                 -$                 

Total Dev Impact Fee -Park Land 2,287$             1,613$             -$                 -$                 

85Page 374

Item 33.



 

 

'HYHORSPHQW�,PSDFW�)HHV�-�/LEUDU\ 

,PSDFW� IHHV� SDLG� WR� WKH� &LW\� E\� GHYHORSHUV� IRU� WKHLU� DJUHHPHQW� WR�
VXEVLGL]H� FHUWDLQ� LPSURYHPHQWV� RU� RWKHU� PLWLJDWLRQ� PHDVXUHV� WKDW�
UHVXOW�IURP�GHYHORSPHQW�SURMHFWV�DUH�VHW�DVLGH�LQ�WKLV�IXQG��7KH�XVH�
RI�WKH�PRQH\�LQ�WKLV�IXQG�PXVW�EH�FRQQHFWHG�WR�WKH�LPSDFW�LWHP�IRU�
ZKLFK� WKH� IXQGV�ZHUH�SDLG�E\� WKH�GHYHORSHU�� �7KLV� IXQG�ZDV�HVWDE�
OLVKHG�WR�FROOHFW�IHH�LQ�UHODWLRQ�WR�WKH�H[SDQVLRQ�DQG�RU�FRQVWUXFW�RI�D�
QHZ�&LW\�/LEUDU\�DV�QHHGHG�E\�DQ�LQFUHDVLQJ�SRSXODWLRQ� 

 
7KH�IHH�LV���������SHU�UHVLGHQWLDO�XQLW�DQG���������SHU�PXOWL�IDPLO\�XQLW���7KLV�IHH�VWUXFWXUH�ZDV�
DSSURYHG�WKH�&RDFKHOOD�&LW\�&RXQFLO�RQ�6HSWHPEHU���������� 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (121) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Dev Impact Fee -Library

121-12-311-10-334-000 Transfers-out 2,287$             918$                -$                 -$                 

121-12-466-10-910-182 Transfers-out—Fund 182 957,699           -                   -                   -                   

121-12-311-10-852-000 Interest Expense 14,958             36,212             -                   -                   

Total Dev Impact Fee -Library 974,944$         37,131$           -$                 -$                 

121-12-420-53-372-000 Library Fee 20,804$           54,899$           174,982$         174,982$         

121-12-311-70-361-000 Interest Income 30,353             23,102             -                   -                   

121-12-170-70-364-000 Unrealized gain/loss on investment -                       11,370             -                   

Total Dev Impact Fee -Library 51,157$           89,371$           174,982$         174,982$         

86Page 375

Item 33.



 

 

'HYHORSPHQW�,PSDFW�)HHV�-�%ULGJH�DQG�*UDGH�6HSDUDWLRQ 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (122) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

,PSDFW�IHHV�SDLG�WR�WKH�&LW\�E\�GHYHORSHUV�IRU�WKHLU�DJUHHPHQW�WR�VXEVLGL]H�
FHUWDLQ� LPSURYHPHQWV� RU� RWKHU� PLWLJDWLRQ� PHDVXUHV� WKDW� UHVXOW� IURP�
GHYHORSPHQW�SURMHFWV�DUH�VHW�DVLGH�LQ�WKLV�IXQG��7KH�XVH�RI� WKH�PRQH\�LQ�
WKLV�IXQG�PXVW�EH�FRQQHFWHG�WR�WKH�LPSDFW�LWHP�IRU�ZKLFK�WKH�IXQGV�ZHUH�
SDLG�E\�WKH�GHYHORSHU���7KLV�IXQG�ZDV�HVWDEOLVKHG�WR�DFFRXQW�IRU�IHHV�SDLG�
IRU� WKH� GHYHORSPHQW� RI� DGGLWLRQDO� EULGJH� DQG� JUDGH� VHSDUDWLRQ� DV� QHFHV�

VDU\�GXH�WR�DQ�LQFUHDVLQJ�SRSXODWLRQ� 
 
7KHVH�IHHV�DUH�FROOHFWHG�IRU�LPSURYHPHQWV�WR�DGG�PRGLI\�ODQH�DQG�FLUFXODWLRQ�FDSDFLW\���7KH�IHH�
LV���������SHU�UHVLGHQWLDO�XQLW����������SHU�������VTXDUH�IHHW�IRU�RIILFH�DQG�FRPPHUFLDO�XVHV��
��������SHU�������VTXDUH�IHHW�IRU�UHVWDXUDQW��JDPLQJ��DQG�JDVROLQH�XVHV�DQG�����������IRU�RSHQ�
VSDFH�YHKLFOH�VDOHV���7KLV�IHH�VWUXFWXUH�ZDV�DSSURYHG�E\�WKH�&RDFKHOOD�&LW\�&RXQFLO�RQ�0DUFK�
��������� 
 
$V�RI�WKH������LPSDFW�IHH�XSGDWH��WKLV�IXQG�ZLOO�EH�FORVHG�XSRQ�XVH�RI�DOO�WKH�UHPDLQLQJ�FDVK�
EDODQFH� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Dev Impact Fee -Bridge & Grade Separation

122-12-204-10-910-182 Transfers-out—Fund 182 (6,000)$            -$                 -$                 -$                 
122-12-218-10-910-182 Transfer out to Fund 182 (ST-69) 18,777             -                   -                       -                   
122-12-233-10-910-182 Transfer out to Fund 182 (ST-81) 51,581             -                   -                       -                   
122-12-311-10-334-000 Other professional/contract services 965                  26                    -                       -                   
122-12-250-10-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (ST-98) 301,467           -                   -                       -                   

Total Dev Impact Fee -Bridge & Grade Separation 366,789$         26$                  -$                 -$                 

122-12-311-70-361-000 Interest Income 14,102$           2,080$             -$                 -$                 

122-12-170-70-364-000 Unrealized gain/loss on investment -                       1,001               -                   -                   

Total Dev Impact Fee -Bridge & Grade Separation 14,102$           3,081$             -$                 -$                 

87Page 376

Item 33.



 

 

'HYHORSPHQW�,PSDFW�)HHV�-�%XV�6KHOWHU� 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (123) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

7KH�SXUSRVH�RI�WKLV�IHH�LV�WKH�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�RU�LQVWDOODWLRQ�RI�EXV�VKHOWHU�LPSURYH�
PHQWV�WR�DGG�RU�LPSURYH�VKHOWHUV�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�WKH�5HJLRQDO�7UDQVLW�3ODQ�DQG�
VSHFLILFDOO\�LPSDFWHG�E\�'HYHORSPHQW�3URMHFWV 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Dev Impact Fee -Bus Shelter

123-12-311-10-334-000 Other professional/contract services 965$                26$                  -$                 -$                 
123-12-475-10-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (F-29) -                   -                   237,705           237,705           

Total Dev Impact Fee -Bus Shelter 965$                26$                  237,705$         237,705$         

123-12-311-70-361-000 Interest Income 7,380$             5,639$             -$                 -$                 

123-12-170-70-364-000 Unrealized gain/loss on investment -                       2,713               -                   -                   

Total Dev Impact Fee -Bus Shelter 7,380$             8,352$             -$                 -$                 

88Page 377

Item 33.



 

 

'HYHORSPHQW�,PSDFW�)HHV�-�7UDIILF�6DIHW\ 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (124) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

,PSDFW�IHHV�SDLG�WR�WKH�&LW\�E\�GHYHORSHUV�IRU�WKHLU�DJUHHPHQW�WR�VXEVLGL]H�
FHUWDLQ� LPSURYHPHQWV� RU� RWKHU� PLWLJDWLRQ� PHDVXUHV� WKDW� UHVXOW� IURP�
GHYHORSPHQW�SURMHFWV�DUH� VHW�DVLGH� LQ� WKLV� IXQG��7KH�XVH�RI� WKH�PRQH\� LQ�
WKLV�IXQG�PXVW�EH�FRQQHFWHG�WR�WKH�LPSDFW� LWHP�IRU�ZKLFK�WKH�IXQGV�ZHUH�
SDLG�E\�WKH�GHYHORSHU�����7KLV�IXQG�ZDV�HVWDEOLVKHG�WR�DFFRXQW�IRU�IHHV�SDLG�

IRU�DGGLWLRQDO�WUDIILF�VDIHW\�LWHPV�VXFK�DV�WUDIILF�VLJQDOV�DV�D�UHVXOW�RI�LQFUHDVH�GHYHORSPHQW�� 
 
7KHVH�IHHV�DUH�FROOHFWHG�IRU�LPSURYHPHQWV�WR�DGG�PRGLI\�WUDIILF�FRQWURO�DQG�PDLQWDLQ�VHUYLFH�
OHYHOV���7KH�IHH�LV���������SHU�UHVLGHQWLDO�XQLW�DQG�SHU�������VTXDUH�IHHW�RI�RIILFH�XVH����������
SHU�������VTXDUH�IHHW�RI�UHWDLO��UHVWDXUDQW��JDPLQJ��DQG�JDVROLQH�XVH��DQG���������SHU�DFUH�RI�
RSHQ�XVH�YHKLFOH�VDOHV���7KLV�IHH�VWUXFWXUH�ZDV�DSSURYHG�E\�WKH�&RDFKHOOD�&LW\�&RXQFLO�RQ�
0DUFK������������$V�RI�WKH������LPSDFW�IHH�XSGDWH�WKLV�IXQG�ZLOO�EH�FORVHG�XSRQ�XVH�RI�DOO�WKH�
UHPDLQLQJ�FDVK�EDODQFH� 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Dev Impact Fee -Traffic Safety

124-12-311-10-334-000 Other professional/Contract services 965$                26$                  -$                 -$                 

Total Dev Impact Fee -Traffic Safety 965$                26$                  -$                 -$                 

124-12-311-70-361-000 Interest Income 109$                74$                  -$                 -$                 

124-12-170-70-364-000 Unrealized gain/loss on investment -                       36                    -                   -                   

Total Dev Impact Fee -Traffic Safety 109$                110$                -$                 -$                 

89Page 378

Item 33.



 

 

'HYHORSPHQW�,PSDFW�)HHV�-�3DUN�,PSURYHPHQWV 

,PSDFW�IHHV�SDLG�WR�WKH�&LW\�E\�GHYHORSHUV�IRU�WKHLU�DJUHHPHQW�WR�VXEVLGL]H�
FHUWDLQ� LPSURYHPHQWV� RU� RWKHU� PLWLJDWLRQ� PHDVXUHV� WKDW� UHVXOW� IURP�
GHYHORSPHQW�SURMHFWV�DUH�VHW�DVLGH�LQ�WKLV�IXQG��7KH�XVH�RI�WKH�PRQH\�LQ�WKLV�
IXQG�PXVW�EH�FRQQHFWHG� WR�WKH�LPSDFW� LWHP�IRU�ZKLFK�WKH�IXQGV�ZHUH�SDLG�
E\�WKH�GHYHORSHU��� 

 
7KLV� IXQG�ZDV�HVWDEOLVKHG� WR�DFFRXQW� IRU� IHHV�SDLG� LQ�FRQQHFWLRQ�ZLWK�SDUN� LPSURYHPHQW�DV�D�
UHVXOW� RI� LQFUHDVHG�GHPDQG�GXH� WR�QHZ�GHYHORSPHQW�� �7KLV�PRQH\� LV� UHVWULFWHG� WR� FDSLWDO� LP�
SURYHPHQWV�RQO\�DQG�FDQQRW�EH�XVHG�WR�SXUFKDVH�SDUN�ODQG���,Q�DGGLWLRQ���WKHVH�PRQLHV�VKRXOG�
QRW�EH�FRQIXVHG�ZLWK�WKH�4XLPE\�IHHV�GHILQHG�LQ�DQRWKHU�VHFWLRQ���7KH�IHH�LV�����������SHU�UHVL�
GHQWLDO�XQLW�DQG�����������SHU�PXOWL�IDPLO\�XQLW��7KLV�IHH�VWUXFWXUH�ZDV�DSSURYHG�WKH�&RDFKHOOD�
&LW\�&RXQFLO�RQ�6HSWHPEHU���������� 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (126) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

126-12-311-70-361-000 Interest Income 10,973$           12,628$           -$                 -$                 

126-12-420-50-375-000 Park Improvement Fee 233,793           616,033           759,092           759,092           

126-12-170-70-364-000 Unrealized gain/loss on investment -                       8,968               -                   -                   

Total Dev Impact Fee -Park Improvement 244,766$         637,630$         759,092$         759,092$         

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated 
Year End 

 FY 2020-22
Initial
Budget 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Dev Impact Fee -Park Improvement

126-12-311-10-334-000 Professional/contract services 27,287$           6,046$             127,500$         -$                 
126-12-311-10-852-000 Interest Expense 43,054             -                   -                       -                   
126-12-504-10-910-182 Transfers-out—To Fund 182 P-18 (98)                   -                   -                       -                   
126-12-511-10-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (P-25) 321,055           -                   -                       -                   

Total Dev Impact Fee -Park Improvement 391,298$         6,046$             127,500$         -$                 

90Page 379

Item 33.



 

 

'HYHORSPHQW�,PSDFW�)HHV�-�6WUHHW�DQG�7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ 
,PSDFW�IHHV�SDLG�WR�WKH�&LW\�E\�GHYHORSHUV�IRU�WKHLU�DJUHHPHQW�WR�VXEVLGL]H�FHUWDLQ�LPSURYHPHQWV�RU�RWKHU�PLWLJDWLRQ�PHDVXUHV�

WKDW� UHVXOW� IURP�GHYHORSPHQW�SURMHFWV�DUH� VHW�DVLGH� LQ� WKLV� IXQG��7KH�XVH�RI� WKH�PRQH\� LQ� WKLV� IXQG�
PXVW�EH�FRQQHFWHG�WR�WKH�LPSDFW�LWHP�IRU�ZKLFK�WKH�IXQGV�ZHUH�SDLG�E\�WKH�GHYHORSHU���7KLV�IXQG�ZDV�
HVWDEOLVKHG�WR�DFFRXQW�IRU�IHHV�WR�FRQVWUXFW�RU�LQVWDOO� LPSURYHPHQWV�IRU�QHZ�RU�PRGLILHG�WUDIILF�VLJ�
QDOV��VWUHHW�UHKDELOLWDWLRQ�DQG�FRQVWUXFWLRQ��FRQVWUXFWLRQ�RU�LQVWDOODWLRQ�RI�EULGJH�DQG�JUDGH�FLUFXODWLRQ�
LPSURYHPHQWV��DQG�EXV�VKHOWHU�LPSURYHPHQWV��WKDW�PLWLJDWH�LPSDFWV�RI�VSHFLILF�GHYHORSPHQW�SURMHFWV��
7KH�IHH�LV�����������SHU�UHVLGHQWLDO�XQLW������������SHU�PXOWL-IDPLO\�XQLW��DQG�����������������������
����������SHU�������VTXDUH�IHHW�RI�FRPPHUFLDO�VSDFH��RIILFH�VSDFH��DQG�LQGXVWULDO�VSDFH�UHVSHFWLYHO\���
7KLV�IHH�VWUXFWXUH�ZDV�DSSURYHG�WKH�&RDFKHOOD�&LW\�&RXQFLO�RQ�6HSWHPEHU���������� 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (127) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

127-12-420-50-376-000 Street Construction and Rehab Fee 111,240$         508,374$         -$                 1,100,000$      

127-12-311-70-361-000 Interest Income 43,706             5,380               -                   -                   

127-12-170-70-364-000 Unrealized gain/loss on investment -                       4,867               -                   

Total Dev Impact Fee -Streets & Transp. 154,946$         518,621$         -$                 1,100,000$      

-                       

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated 
Year End 

 FY 2020-22
Initial
Budget 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Dev Impact Fee -Streets / Transp.

127-12-477-10-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (F-31) -$                 233,778$         -$                 -$                 

127-12-311-10-741-000 Capital projects -                   -                   70,000             -                   

127-12-311-10-334-000 Other professional/Contract services 2,287               2,750               156,250           -                   

127-12-293-10-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (ST-131) -                   -                   -                       156,250           

127-12-287-10-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (ST-123) -                   -                   458,827           -                   

127-12-286-10-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (ST-124) -                   137,000           -                       -                   

127-12-284-10-910-182 Transfer our to fund 182 (ST-122) -                   136,742           -                       -                   

127-12-272-10-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (ST-110) 4,711               23,336             -                       -                   

127-12-259-10-910-182 Transfer out to Fund 127 (ST-107) 15                    -                   -                       -                   

127-12-258-10-910-182 Transfers-out to fund 182 (ST-106) 231,925           (57,195)            -                       -                   

127-12-252-10-910-101 Transfer our fund 101 (ST-100) 46,944             -                   -                       -                   

127-12-250-10-910-182 Transfers-out to Fund 182 (ST-98) -                   201,652           80,000             110,000           

127-12-245-10-910-182 Transfers-out—Fund 182 ST-93 18,040             55,034             245,226           121,765           

127-12-238-10-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (ST-86) 21,401             -                   -                       -                   

127-12-236-10-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (ST-84) 14,640             15,679             -                       -                   

127-12-233-10-910-182 New Interchange @ Ave 50 & 86S EXPY (ST-89) -                   6,878               219,000           -                   

127-12-230-10-910-182 Transfers-out to fund 182 (ST-78) 184,548           668,034           -                       -                   

127-12-229-10-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (ST-77) 577,459           -                   -                       -                   

127-12-222-10-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 - ST-66 140,546           -                   -                       -                   

127-12-218-10-910-182 Transfers-out to fund 182 (ST-69) -                   14,873             607,168           1,038,199        

127-11-266-10-910-101 Transfer out to fund 101 (ST-70) 202,691           -                   -                       -                   

Total Dev Impact Fee -Streets / Transp. 1,445,209$      1,438,561$      1,836,471$      1,426,214$      

91Page 380

Item 33.



 

 

'HYHORSPHQW�,PSDFW�)HHV�-�3ROLFH�)DFLOLWLHV 

,PSDFW�IHHV�SDLG�WR�WKH�&LW\�E\�GHYHORSHUV�IRU�WKHLU�DJUHHPHQW�WR�VXEVLGL]H�
FHUWDLQ� LPSURYHPHQWV� RU� RWKHU� PLWLJDWLRQ� PHDVXUHV� WKDW� UHVXOW� IURP�
GHYHORSPHQW�SURMHFWV�DUH�VHW�DVLGH�LQ�WKLV�IXQG��7KH�XVH�RI�WKH�PRQH\�LQ�WKLV�
IXQG�PXVW�EH�FRQQHFWHG�WR�WKH�LPSDFW�LWHP�IRU�ZKLFK�WKH�IXQGV�ZHUH�SDLG�E\�
WKH�GHYHORSHU���'XULQJ�WKH�����-�����ILVFDO�\HDU�IHHV�ZHUH�DGMXVWHG�WR�EHW�

WHU�FRUUHVSRQG�ZLWK�FXUUHQW�FRVWV���7KLV�IXQG�ZDV�HVWDEOLVKHG�WR�DFFRXQW�IRU�IHHV�SDLG�WR�RIIVHW�
WKH�H[SDQVLRQ���EXLOGLQJ�RI�SROLFH�DQG�ILUH�VDIHW\�IDFLOLWLHV�QHFHVVLWDWHG�E\�QHZ�GHYHORSPHQW� 
 
7KHVH�IHHV�DUH�FROOHFWHG�IRU�H[SDQVLRQ�RI�FXUUHQW�IDFLOLWLHV�DQG�WR�SURYLGH�QHZ�IDFLOLWLHV�DQG�
HTXLSPHQW�IRU�ILUH���7KH�IHH�LV���������SHU�UHVLGHQWLDO�XQLW����������SHU�0XOWL�)DPLO\�XQLW��DQG�
�������������������������������DQG�������SHU�������VTXDUH�IHHW�RI�FRPPHUFLDO�VSDFH��RIILFH�
VSDFH��LQGXVWULDO�VSDFH��ZDUHKRXVH�VSDFH��DQG�RSHQ�VKHG�VSDFH�UHVSHFWLYHO\��7KLV�IHH�VWUXFWXUH�
ZDV�DSSURYHG�WKH�&RDFKHOOD�&LW\�&RXQFLO�RQ�6HSWHPEHU���������� 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (128) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Dev Impact Fee -Police Facilities

128-12-311-10-334-000 Professional/contract services 2,287$             683$                -$                 -$                 

Total Dev Impact Fee -Police Facilities 2,287$             683$                -$                 -$                 

128-12-420-52-371-000 Police Facilities Capital Improvements Fee 11,126$           30,613$           93,706$           93,706$           

128-12-311-70-361-000 Interest Income 16,666             13,242             1,200               900                  

128-12-170-70-364-000 Unrealized gain/loss on investment -                       6,512               -                   

Total Dev Impact Fee -Police Facilities 27,793$           50,367$           94,906$           94,606$           

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated 
Year End 

 FY 2020-22
Initial
Budget 

92Page 381

Item 33.



 

 

'HY�,PSDFW�)HH�-*HQHUDO�*RY
W 

7KH�SXUSRVH�RI�WKH�IHH�LV�WR�HQVXUH�WKDW�QHZ�GHYHORSPHQW�IXQGV�LWV�IDLU�VKDUH�
RI�JHQHUDO�JRYHUQPHQW�IDFLOLWLHV��*HQHUDO�JRYHUQPHQW�IDFLOLWLHV�LQ�WKH�&LW\�
RI�&RDFKHOOD�SULPDULO\�LQFOXGH�SXEOLF�ZRUNV�IDFLOLWLHV�DQG�WKH�&LW\�+DOO� 
 
7KH� IHH� LV� ���������� SHU� UHVLGHQWLDO� XQLW�� ���������� SHU�PXOWL� IDPLO\� XQLW��

DQG����������������������������������DQG�������SHU�������VTXDUH�IHHW�RI�FRPPHUFLDO�VSDFH��RI�
ILFH� VSDFH�� LQGXVWULDO� VSDFH�� ZDUHKRXVH� VSDFH�� DQG� RSHQ� VKDGH� VSDFH� UHVSHFWLYHO\�� � 7KLV� IHH�
VWUXFWXUH�ZDV�DSSURYHG�WKH�&RDFKHOOD�&LW\�&RXQFLO�RQ�6HSWHPEHU���������� 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (129) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Dev Impact Fee -General Gov't

129-12-115-10-851-016 Principal Pmts - Permit Center 63,490$           66,077$           124,000$         71,570$           

129-12-115-10-852-015 Interest Payments - Permit Center 42,814             115,678           124,000           34,945             

129-12-311-10-334-000 Other professional/Contract services 2,287               2,465               -                   -                   

129-12-311-10-852-000 Interest Expense 58,921             -                   -                       -                   

129-12-474-10-910-182 DACE and Corporate F-28 1,927,385        219,385           -                       -                   

129-12-477-10-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (F-31) 1,122,172        1,336,290        -                       -                   
s

Total Dev Impact Fee -General Gov't 3,217,069$      1,739,894$      248,000$         106,515$         

129-12-420-53-371-000 General Government Facilities Fee 85,577$           239,305$         720,730$         720,730$         

129-12-311-70-361-000 Interest Income (100)                 2,195               -                   -                   

129-12-170-70-364-000 Unrealized gain/loss on investment -                       1,693               -                   

Total Dev Impact Fee -General Gov't 85,477$           243,193$         720,730$         720,730$         

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated 
Year End 

 FY 2020-22
Initial
Budget 

93Page 382

Item 33.



 

 

'HY�,PSDFW�)HH�-�)LUH�)DFLOLWLHV 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (130) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

7KH�SXUSRVH�RI�WKH�IHH�LV�WR�HQVXUH�WKDW�QHZ�GHYHORSPHQW�IXQGV�LWV�IDLU�VKDUH�
RI�ILUH�SURWHFWLRQ�IDFLOLWLHV� 
 
7KH� IHH� LV� ����������SHU� UHVLGHQWLDO� XQLW�� ����������SHU�PXOWL� IDPLO\�XQLW��
DQG������������������������������������DQG�������SHU�������VTXDUH�IHHW�RI�

FRPPHUFLDO�VSDFH��RIILFH�VSDFH��LQGXVWULDO�VSDFH��ZDUHKRXVH�VSDFH��DQG�RSHQ�VKHG�VSDFH�UHVSHF�
WLYHO\���7KLV�IHH�VWUXFWXUH�ZDV�DSSURYHG�WKH�&RDFKHOOD�&LW\�&RXQFLO�RQ�6HSWHPEHU���������� 

130-12-420-53-371-000 Fire Facilities Capital Improvement Fee -$                 184,782$         544,518$         544,518$         

130-12-311-70-361-000 Interest Income 29,439             24,320             4,000               3,000               

130-12-170-70-364-000 Unrealized gain/loss on investment -                       12,563             -                   

Total Dev Impact Fee - Fire Facilities 29,439$           221,666$         548,518$         547,518$         

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated 
Year End 

 FY 2020-22
Initial
Budget 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Dev Impact Fee - Fire Facilities

130-12-311-10-334-000 Other professional/Contract services 2,287$             1,937$             -$                 -$                 

130-12-460-10-910-182 Transfers out to fund 182 (F-7) -                   49,300             232,600           75,000             

Total Dev Impact Fee - Fire Facilities 2,287$             51,237$           232,600$         75,000$           

94Page 383

Item 33.



 

 

'HY�,PSDFW�)HH�-�3XEOLF�$UWV 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (131) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

7KH�&LW\�KDV�D�UHVSRQVLELOLW\�IRU�H[SDQGLQJ�SXEOLF�H[SHULHQFH�ZLWK�DUW��FXOWXUDO�DQG�DUWLVWLF�UHVRXUFHV�� LQ�
FOXGLQJ�$UW�:RUN�DQG�WKH�SHUIRUPLQJ�DUWV��HQKDQFH�WKH�TXDOLW\�RI�OLIH�IRU�LQGLYLGXDOV�OLYLQJ�LQ��ZRUNLQJ�LQ��
DQG�YLVLWLQJ� WKH�&LW\�EDODQFHG�GHYHORSPHQW�RI� FXOWXUDO�DQG�DUWLVWLF� UHVRXUFHV�SUHVHUYHV�DQG� LPSURYHV� WKH�
TXDOLW\�RI� WKH�XUEDQ�HQYLURQPHQW�DQG� LQFUHDVHV� UHDO�SURSHUW\�YDOXHV�DV�GHYHORSPHQW�DQG�UHYLWDOL]DWLRQ�RI�
WKH�UHDO�SURSHUW\�ZLWKLQ�WKH�&LW\�FRQWLQXH��WKH�RSSRUWXQLW\�IRU�FUHDWLRQ�RI�FXOWXUDO�DQG�DUWLVWLF�UHVRXUFHV�LV�
GLPLQLVKHG��$V� WKLV�GHYHORSPHQW�DQG�UHYLWDOL]DWLRQ�FRQWLQXH�DV�D� UHVXOW�RI�PDUNHW� IRUFHV��XUEDQL]DWLRQ�RI�
WKH� FRPPXQLW\� UHVXOWV�� $V� WKHVH� RSSRUWXQLWLHV� DUH� GLPLQLVKHG� DQG� WKLV� XUEDQL]DWLRQ� RFFXUV�� WKH� QHHG� WR�

GHYHORS�DOWHUQDWLYH�VRXUFHV�IRU�FXOWXUDO�DQG�DUWLVWLF�RXWOHWV� WR�LPSURYH�WKH�HQYLURQPHQW�� LPDJH�DQG�FKDUDFWHU�RI�WKH�FRPPXQLW\�LV� LQ�
FUHDVHG�GHYHORSPHQW�RI�FXOWXUDO�DQG�DUWLVWLF�DVVHWV�VKRXOG�EH�ILQDQFHG�E\�WKRVH�ZKRVH�GHYHORSPHQW�DQG�UHYLWDOL]DWLRQ�GLPLQLVKHV�WKH�
DYDLODELOLW\�RI�WKH�FRPPXQLW\
V�UHVRXUFHV�IRU�WKRVH�RSSRUWXQLWLHV�DQG�FRQWULEXWHV�WR�FRPPXQLW\�XUEDQL]DWLRQ�HVWDEOLVKPHQW�RI�WKLV�$UW�LQ�
3XEOLF�3ODFHV�3URJUDP���$333���ZLOO�SURPRWH�WKH�JHQHUDO�ZHOIDUH�WKURXJK�EDODQFLQJ�WKH�FRPPXQLW\
V�SK\VLFDO�JURZWK�ZLWK�UHYLWDOL]D�
WLRQ�DQG�LWV�FXOWXUDO�DQG�DUWLVWLF�UHVRXUFHV�WKHUH�LV�D�QHHG�WR�FUHDWH�D�3XEOLF�$UWV�&RPPLVVLRQ�WR�DGPLQLVWHU�DQG�RYHUVHH�WKH�$UW�LQ�3XEOLF�
3ODFHV�3URJUDP� 

131-12-311-70-361-000 Interest Income 4,027$             3,015$             500$                375$                

131-12-420-53-377-000 DIF Public Art 25,655             85,514             153,006           
131-12-170-70-364-000 Unrealized gain/loss on investment -                       1,787               -                   

Total Dev Impact Fee - Public Arts 29,682$           90,317$           153,506$         375$                

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2020-22
Initial
Budget 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Dev Impact Fee - Public Arts

131-12-311-10-334-000 Other professional/Contract services 2,548$             959$                -$                 -$                 

131-12-311-10-801-000 Miscellaneous Expenditures -                   8,255               -                       -                   

131-12-311-10-745-000 Public Arts 25,000             -                   -                       -                   

131-12-511-10-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (P-25) 50,000             -                   -                       -                   

Total Dev Impact Fee - Public Arts 77,548$           9,214$             -$                 -$                 

95Page 384

Item 33.



 

 

*UDQWV 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (152) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW� 

152-12-343-30-334-233 Grants Sec 125 (ST-81) -$                 -$                 222,027$         -$                 

152-12-343-30-337-218 CVAG (ST-69) -                       -                       63,294             -                   

152-12-343-30-337-233 Grants CVAG (ST-81) -                       -                       225,220           -                   

152-12-343-30-337-245 CVAG (ST-93) -                       -                       3,160,000        -                   

152-12-343-30-337-250 CVAG Ave 50 Extension-La E (ST-68) -                       -                       575,273           -                   

152-12-343-30-337-445 Developer Deposit (S-15) -                       -                       24,700             -                   

152-12-344-10-337-271 CVAG (ST-109) -                       -                       -                   1,931,767        

152-12-344-30-334-233 Grants Sec 125 (ST-81) -                       -                       -                   100,000           

152-12-344-30-337-218 CVAG (ST-69) -                       -                       -                   2,245,513        

152-12-344-30-337-233 Grants CVAG (ST-81) -                       -                       -                   100,000           

152-12-344-30-337-245 CVAG (ST-93) -                       -                       -                   2,820,046        

152-12-344-30-337-250 Grants CVAG (ST-98) -                       -                       -                   156,712           

152-12-345-30-331-001 Grants - Cannabis Social Equity -                       -                       500,000           -                   

152-12-345-30-331-004 Local Early Action Planning (LEAP) -                       -                       53,310             -                   

152-12-345-30-331-285 Urban Green & Connectivity (ST-123) -                       -                       2,870,237        -                   

152-12-345-30-331-292 HCD - AHSC -                       5,450               694,026           3,796,500        

152-12-343-30-337-293 CVAG (ST-131) -                       -                       -                   1,299,750        

152-12-218-10-330-000 CVAG (ST-69) 10,059             50,525             -                   -                   

152-12-222-30-331-000 Safe Routes to School, Federal Cycle 3 456,100           40,000             -                   -                   

152-12-224-30-331-000 CVAG Avenue 50/I-10 Interchange (ST67) 646,218           25,188             -                   -                   

152-12-224-31-331-000 Developer  (ST-67) 322,483           -                       -                   -                   

152-12-230-10-330-000 Grants Sec 125 (ST-78) 229,609           1,490,028        -                   -                   

152-12-230-10-331-000 Grants CVAG (ST -78) -                       770,145           -                   -                   

152-12-230-10-332-000 City of Indio (ST-78) 213,231           -                       -                   -                   

152-12-233-10-330-000 Grants Sec 125 (ST-81) -                       70,229             -                   -                   

152-12-236-30-331-000 CMAQ Class 2 Bike Lanes (ST-84) 16,625             443,375           -                   -                   

152-12-238-30-331-000 ATP (ST-86) 1,294,114        65,702             -                   -                   

152-12-245-30-331-000 CVAG (ST-93) 197,150           8,420               -                   -                   

152-12-250-30-331-000 CVAG Ave 50 Extension-La E (ST-68) 116,372           15,206             -                   -                   

152-12-250-31-331-000 Developer Ave 50 Extension-La E (ST-98) 517,107           -                       -                   -                   

152-12-258-11-330-000 Acc Name -                       75,000             -                   -                   

152-12-259-30-331-000 CVAG (ST-107) -                       70,098             -                   -                   

152-12-271-30-331-000 CVAG (ST-109) -                       607,159           -                   -                   

152-12-311-32-331-000 Accelerator for America -                       50,000             -                   -                   

152-12-330-40-341-000 ingebrand-Pohlad-Mural Arts Grant -                       10,000             -                   -                   

152-12-330-40-342-000 2020 Census Funding -                       10,222             -                   -                   

152-12-330-70-337-000 CVAG Avenue 50/I-10 Interchange (ST-67) 8,874               -                       -                   -                   

152-12-362-15-331-000 Hwy Bridge Pgrm-HBP BR-NBIL 536 (ST-69) 38,755             -                       -                   -                   

152-12-362-16-331-000 HBP Grant (ST-81) 196,588           -                       -                   -                   

152-12-362-17-331-000 CVAG (ST-81) 106,222           154,734           -                   -                   

152-12-367-17-331-000 Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control -                       20,194             -                   -                   

152-12-367-30-331-000 SB 621 - F/Y 05-06 -                       5,095               -                   -                   

152-12-368-10-331-000 State Grant-Beverage Recycling Grant 23,091             11,657             -                   -                   

152-12-432-30-178-000 Prop 1 DAC Involvement Grant (W-32) 81,599             -                       -                   -                   

152-12-435-30-178-000 Prop 84 DWR-Shady (W-35) -                       18,259             -                   -                   

152-12-437-30-178-000 Prop 1 DAC Involvement Grant (W-37) 58,461             -                       -                   -                   

152-12-444-30-361-000 Prop 1 DAC Involvement Grant (S-14) 68,869             -                       -                   -                   

152-12-466-10-331-000 Riverside County Library (F20) 370,286           -                       -                   -                   

152-12-503-30-331-000 CVWD (SD-03) 50,094             50,094             -                   -                   

152-12-503-31-331-000 CVMC (SD-03) (50,094)            14,565             -                   -                   

152-12-602-10-330-000 Grants Prop 1B CVMC (SD-3) -                       15,322             -                   -                   

Total Grants 4,971,813$      4,096,667$      8,388,087$      12,450,288      

From 152 Expenditures -                   -                   12,450,288      

96Page 385

Item 33.



 

 

*UDQWV 
'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW� 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (152) 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Grants

152-13-160-76-800-000 Subrecipient - COVID Relief -$                 -$                 380,000$         -$                 
152-12-445-36-910-361 Transfer out to fund 361 (S-15) Developer -                   -                   24,700             -                   
152-12-391-35-368-000 California Recycling Grant 11,616             -                   11,897             -                   
152-12-345-10-910-004 Go Biz -                   -                   53,310             -                   
152-12-293-10-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (ST-131) CVAG -                   -                   937,500           1,299,750        
152-12-292-10-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (ST-130) -                   5,450               875,964           3,796,500        
152-12-285-10-910-182 Transfers Out to Fund 182 (ST-123) Urban Green Prog -                   192,073           2,870,237        -                   
152-12-271-10-910-182 Transfers Out to Fund 182 (ST-109) CVAG 95,513             546,355           -                       1,931,767        
152-12-250-12-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (ST-98) CVAG 37,776             76,719             575,273           156,712           
152-12-245-10-910-182 Transfers Out-to 182 CVAG (ST-93) 36,121             165,102           3,160,000        2,820,046        
152-12-233-35-910-182 Transfers out to fund 182-ST-81 CVAG 154,734           20,635             225,220           100,000           
152-12-233-10-910-182 Transfers Out-to 182 ST-81 Sec 125 118,585           15,814             222,027           100,000           
152-12-218-11-910-182 Transfer out to Fund 182 (ST-69) CVAG 35,680             44,633             63,294             2,245,513        
152-12-201-35-910-101 Transfer to fund 101 -                   -                   69,597             -                   
152-12-160-78-800-000 Cannabis Equity - Grant Award -                   -                   500,000           -                   
152-12-160-75-800-000 Grant Award - COVID Relief -                   -                   202,612           -                   
152-12-222-10-910-182 Transfers Out to 182 (ST-66) SRTSL 301,338           -                   -                       -                   
152-12-224-10-910-182 Transfers out - Ave 50/I-10  (ST67) 284,802           0                      -                       -                   
152-12-224-11-910-182 Transfers Out to Fund 182 (ST-67) Developer 322,483           -                   -                       -                   
152-12-224-12-910-182 Transfers Out to Fund 182 (ST-67) RCTC -                   -                   -                       -                   
152-12-230-10-910-182 Transfers Out-to 182 ST-78 536,196           1,343,853        -                       -                   
152-12-230-11-910-182 Transfers Out to Fund 182 (ST-78) CVAG 770,145           -                   -                       -                   
152-12-230-12-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (ST-78) Indio 213,231           -                   -                       -                   
152-12-236-10-910-182 Transfers Out-to 182 ST-84 CMAQ 294,794           165,206           -                       -                   
152-12-238-10-910-182 Transfers out to 182 (ST-86) 477,052           -                   -                       -                   
152-12-250-11-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (ST-98) CVAG 517,107           -                   -                       -                   
152-12-252-10-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (ST-100) -                   107,000           -                       -                   
152-12-258-10-910-182 Transfers Out to Fund 182 (ST-106) School Dist. -                   75,000             -                       -                   
152-12-311-10-334-032 Accelerator for America -                   22,200             -                       -                   
152-12-311-10-334-342 2020 Census Grant -                   18,550             -                       -                   
152-12-432-12-910-178 Transfer out to fund 178 (W-.32) 81,599             -                   -                       -                   
152-12-437-12-910-178 Transfer out to fund 178 (W-.37) 58,461             -                   -                       -                   
152-12-444-12-910-361 Transfer out to fund 361 (S-14) 68,869             -                   -                       -                   
152-12-466-10-910-182 Transfer out to fund 182 (F-20) 370,286           -                   -                       -                   
152-12-503-10-910-361 Transfers Out to Fund 361 (SD-03) Prop 1B 50,094             -                   -                       -                   
152-12-503-11-910-361 Transfer out to fund 361 SD-03 (CVMC) 5,095               -                   -                       -                   
152-12-602-10-910-361 Transfer out to fund 361 (SD-3) 15,322             -                   -                       -                   

Total Grant 4,856,898$      2,798,591$      10,171,631$    12,450,288$    

97Page 386

Item 33.



 

 

&'%*—&RPPXQLW\�'HYHORSPHQW�%ORFN�*UDQW 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW� 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (210) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

210-12-345-30-339-507 CDBG (P-21) -$                 -$                 363,223$         260,000$         

210-12-272-30-330-000 CDBG Grant-Sidewalk ARABY (ST-110) -                       152,000           -                   -                   

210-12-322-30-388-000 CDBG Code Enforcement 403,241           267,594           -                   -                   

Total CDBG - Community Development Block Grant 403,241$         419,594$         363,223$         260,000$         

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

CDBG - Community Development Block Grant
210-12-272-10-910-182 Transfers out--to Fund 182 (ST-110) -$                 152,000$         -$                 -$                 
210-12-279-10-910-182 Transfers out to Fund 182 (ST-117) -                   172,850           -                       -                   
210-12-321-10-734-121 Grant Forgiveness 1,779               -                   -                       -                   
210-12-321-10-910-101 Transfer out to Fund 101 86,715             87,838             -                       -                   
210-12-387-10-110-000 Code/CDBG Regular Pay 80,653             59,101             -                       -                   
210-12-387-10-117-000 Code/CDBG-Stand-by time/Overtime 1,108               629                  -                       -                   
210-12-387-10-210-000 Code/CDBG-Group Insurance 25,896             17,926             -                       -                   
210-12-387-10-220-000 Code/CDBG Payroll Tax Deductions 1,182               871                  -                       -                   
210-12-387-10-230-000 Code/CDBG PERS 9,044               6,475               -                       -                   
210-12-507-10-910-182 Transfer out to Fund 182 (P-21) -                   -                   363,223           260,000           

Total CDBG - Community Development Block Grant 206,377$         497,690$         363,223$         260,000$         

98Page 387

Item 33.



 

 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (160) 

/DQGVFDSH�DQG�/LJKWLQJ�'LVWULFWV��-�� 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW� 

$�/DQGVFDSH�0DLQWHQDQFH�'LVWULFW��/0'��LV�FUHDWHG�WR�SD\�IRU� WKH�FRVWV�
RI�RQ-JRLQJ�PDLQWHQDQFH�RI�SXEOLF�ODQGVFDSLQJ�WKDW�SURYLGHV�VSHFLDO�EHQH�
ILWV� WR� SDUFHOV� LQ� JLYHQ� DUHDV� RI� WKH� &LW\�� 7KH� GLVWULFW� SURYLGHV� VHUYLFHV�
VROHO\� IRU� WKH� EHQHILW� RI� WKRVH� SDUFHOV� ORFDWHG�ZLWKLQ� HDFK� GLVWULFW�� )RU�
PDWLRQ�RI�/0'�LV�JRYHUQHG�E\�WKH�/DQGVFDSH�DQG�/LJKWLQJ�$FW�RI�������
3DUW���RI�'LYLVLRQ����RI�WKH�&DOLIRUQLD�6WUHHWV�DQG�+LJKZD\V�&RGH�� 

District 1

160-12-211-01-361-000 Interest Income (883)$               (605)$               -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-01-363-000 Special Assessments 14,029             13,590             13,919             13,919             

160-12-170-70-364-000 Unrealized gain/loss on investment -                       20,215             -                   -                   

160-12-211-00-361-000 Interest income -                       234                  -                   -                   

Total District 1 13,146$           33,434$           13,919$           13,919$           

District 2

160-12-211-02-361-000 Interest Income (481)$               (286)$               -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-02-363-000 Special Assessments 8,217               7,500               7,769               7,769               

Total District 2 7,736$             7,214$             7,769$             7,769$             

District 3

160-12-211-03-361-000 Interest Income (1,471)$            (1,081)$            -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-03-363-000 Special Assessments 17,315             16,886             17,267             17,267             

Total District 3 15,845$           15,805$           17,267$           17,267$           

District 4

160-12-211-04-361-000 Interest Income 150$                174$                -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-04-363-000 Special Assessments 6,326               6,090               6,232               6,232               

Total District 4 6,476$             6,264$             6,232$             6,232$             

District 6

160-12-211-06-361-000 Interest Income (7,164)$            (5,117)$            -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-06-363-000 Special Assessments 37,392             36,320             36,642             36,642             

Total District 6 30,228$           31,203$           36,642$           36,642$           

District 7

160-12-211-07-361-000 Interest Income (3,267)$            (2,196)$            -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-07-363-000 Special Assessments 25,305             24,235             24,617             24,617             

Total District 7 22,038$           22,039$           24,617$           24,617$           

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated 
Year End 

 FY 2020-22
Initial
Budget 

99Page 388

Item 33.



 

 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (160) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW��&RQWLQXHG� 

/DQGVFDSH�DQG�/LJKWLQJ�'LVWULFWV��-�� 

160-12-211-08-361-000  Interest Income (529)$               (409)$               -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-08-363-000 Special Assessments 3,536               3,397               3,486               3,486               

Total District 8 3,007$             2,989$             3,486$             3,486$             

District 9

160-12-211-09-361-000  Interest Income (1,405)$            (1,048)$            -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-09-363-000 Special Assessments 5,734               5,645               5,645               5,645               

Total District 9 4,329$             4,598$             5,645$             5,645$             

District 10

160-12-211-10-361-000 Interest Income (1,913)$            (1,412)$            -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-10-363-000 Special Assessments 6,221               6,099               6,140               6,140               

Total District 10 4,308$             4,686$             6,140$             6,140$             

District 11

160-12-211-11-361-000 Interest Income 596$                555$                -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-11-363-000 Special Assessments 9,112               8,688               8,900               8,900               

Total District 11 9,707$             9,243$             8,900$             8,900$             

District 12

160-12-211-12-361-000 Interest Income 1,466$             1,252$             -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-12-363-000 Special Assessments 11,550             11,400             11,400             13,300             

Total District 12 13,016$           12,652$           11,400$           13,300$           

District 13

160-12-211-13-361-000 Interest Income (299)$               339$                -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-13-363-000 Special Assessments 53,294             54,095             56,065             57,748             

Total District 13 52,995$           54,433$           56,065$           57,748$           

District 14

160-12-211-14-361-000 Interest Income (409)$               (1)$                   -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-14-363-000 Special Assessments 29,085             29,639             30,535             31,451             

Total District 14 28,677$           29,638$           30,535$           31,451$           

District 15

160-12-211-15-361-000 Interest Income 144$                382$                -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-15-363-000 Special Assessments 24,894             24,894             24,960             25,920             

Total District 15 25,037$           25,276$           24,960$           25,920$           

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated 
Year End 

 FY 2020-22
Initial
Budget 

100Page 389

Item 33.



 

 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (160) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW��&RQWLQXHG� 

/DQGVFDSH�DQG�/LJKWLQJ�'LVWULFWV��-�� 

160-12-211-16-361-000 Interest Income 15,742$           17,664$           -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-16-363-000 Special Assessments 462,000           450,813           457,875           457,875           

Total District 16 477,742$         468,477$         457,875$         457,875$         

District 17

160-12-211-17-361-000 Interest Income 4,200$             3,530$             -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-17-363-000 Special Assessments 65,400             63,800             64,800             76,950             

Total District 17 69,600$           67,330$           64,800$           76,950$           

District 18

160-12-211-18-361-000 Interest Income (6,104)$            (4,150)$            -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-18-363-000 Special Assessments 91,959             94,178             97,311             100,231           

Total District 18 85,855$           90,027$           97,311$           100,231$         

District 19

160-12-211-19-361-000 Interest Income 1,185$             1,202$             -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-19-363-000 Special Assessments 39,589             39,259             39,690             43,261             

Total District 19 40,774$           40,461$           39,690$           43,261$           

District 20

160-12-211-20-361-000 Interest Income 3,442$             2,923$             -$                 -                   

160-12-211-20-363-000 Special Assessments 40,500             40,500             42,120             44,550             

Total District 20 43,942$           43,423$           42,120$           44,550$           

District 21

160-12-211-21-361-000 Interest Income (1,955)$            (1,436)$            -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-21-363-000 Special Assessments 9,414               9,228               9,786               10,080             

Total District 21 7,459$             7,792$             9,786$             10,080$           

District 22

160-12-211-22-361-000 Interest Income 5,698$             4,739$             -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-22-363-000 Special Assessments 47,600             35,250             35,400             41,300             

Total District 22 53,298$           39,989$           35,400$           41,300$           

District 23

160-12-211-23-361-000 Interest Income (7,962)$            (6,045)$            -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-23-363-000 Special Assessments 62,805             63,024             66,107             68,089             

Total District 23 54,843$           56,980$           66,107$           68,089$           

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated 
Year End 

 FY 2020-22
Initial
Budget 

101Page 390

Item 33.



 

 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (160) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW��&RQWLQXHG� 

/DQGVFDSH�DQG�/LJKWLQJ�'LVWULFWV��-�� 

160-12-211-24-361-000 Interest Income (8,184)$            (7,279)$            -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-24-363-000 Special Assessments 190,863           194,949           201,197           207,236           

Total District 24 182,679$         187,669$         201,197$         207,236$         

District 25

160-12-211-25-361-000 Interest Income 3,912$             3,361$             -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-25-363-000 Special Assessments 41,713             41,713             41,760             45,675             

Total District 25 45,625$           45,074$           41,760$           45,675$           

District 27

160-12-211-27-361-000 Interest Income (4,339)$            (4,843)$            -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-27-363-000 Special Assessments 47,528             53,496             53,760             58,800             

Total District 27 43,189$           48,653$           53,760$           58,800$           

District 28

160-12-211-28-361-000 Interest Income (1,294)$            (902)$               -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-28-363-000 Special Assessments 73,594             77,280             82,080             89,775             

Total District 28 72,300$           76,378$           82,080$           89,775$           

District 29

160-12-211-29-361-000 Interest Income 6,062$             5,103$             -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-29-363-000 Special Assessments 51,680             45,450             45,600             49,400             

Total District 29 57,742$           50,553$           45,600$           49,400$           

District 30

160-12-211-30-361-000 Interest Income 9,351$             7,392$             -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-30-363-000 Special Assessments 48,300             31,910             32,000             40,000             

Total District 30 57,651$           39,302$           32,000$           40,000$           

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated 
Year End 

 FY 2020-22
Initial
Budget 

102Page 391

Item 33.



 

 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (160) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW��&RQWLQXHG� 

/DQGVFDSH�DQG�/LJKWLQJ�'LVWULFWV��-�� 

160-12-211-31-361-000 Interest Income 13,349$           10,005$           -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-31-363-000 Special Assessments 56,743             56,529             66,250             86,125             

Total District 31 -$                 -$                 66,250$           86,125$           

District 32

160-12-211-32-361-000 Interest Income 4,206$             4,202$             -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-32-363-000 Special Assessments 105,769           103,461           112,500           112,500           

Total District 32 -$                 -$                 112,500$         112,500$         

District 33

160-12-211-33-361-000 Interest Income 16,587$           14,387$           -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-33-363-000 Special Assessments 162,291           162,291           162,291           169,200           

Total District 33 178,878$         176,678$         162,291$         169,200$         

District 34

160-12-211-34-361-000 Interest Income (8,248)$            (6,431)$            -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-34-363-000 Special Assessments 39,470             43,700             48,300             54,625             

Total District 34 31,222$           37,269$           48,300$           54,625$           

District 35

160-12-211-35-361-000 Interest Income 1,442$             920$                -$                 -                   

160-12-211-35-363-000 Special Assessments 25,235             25,235             25,725             28,175             

Total District 35 26,677$           26,155$           25,725$           28,175$           

District 36

160-12-211-36-361-000 Interest Income 4,528$             3,646$             -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-36-363-000 Special Assessments 34,522             32,939             34,560             39,960             

Total District 36 39,051$           36,584$           34,560$           39,960$           

District 38

160-12-211-38-361-000 Interest Income 1,002$             1,361$             -$                 -$                 

160-12-211-38-363-000 Special Assessments 75,000             75,000             75,000             82,500             

Total District 38 76,002$           76,361$           75,000$           82,500$           

Total Landscaping & Lighting Districts 1,881,073$      1,874,630$      2,047,689$      2,165,343$      

174,197           

103Page 392

Item 33.



 

 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW� 

7KH�/DQGVFDSH�DQG�/LJKWLQJ�'LVWULFWV�ZHUH�FUHDWHG�WR�SURYLGH�ODQGVFDSH�
DQG�&LW\� OLJKW� VHUYLFH� WR� WKH� GLVWULFWV� WKDW� DUH� FRQVLGHUHG� EHQHILW� ]RQHV��
7KHVH�]RQHV�DOORZ�IRU�WKH�FROOHFWLRQ�RI�OHYLHV�RQ�SURSHUW\�WKDW�UHFHLYHV�D�
GLUHFW�EHQHILW�IURP�WKH�ODQGVFDSH�DQG�OLJKWLQJ�SURYLGHG�� 

Fund Overview 
Special�Revenue Funds (160) 

/DQGVFDSH�DQG�/LJKWLQJ�'LVWULFWV��-�� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Landscape and Lighting Districts

General Allocation Items

160-00-195-00-110-000 Regular employees 115,334$         119,482$         121,507$         101,663$         

160-00-195-00-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 7,876               7,895               10,435             8,832               

160-00-195-00-117-000 Standby time/Overtime 5,448               3,404               -                       -                   

160-00-195-00-132-000 Other salary payments 520                  525                  520                  520                  

160-00-195-00-210-000 Group insurance 25,090             24,150             29,882             26,656             

160-00-195-00-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 1,878               1,914               1,865               1,567               

160-00-195-00-230-000 PERS contributions 15,786             38,327             47,425             19,198             

160-00-195-00-334-000 Other Professional/contract Services 10,299             7,013               -                       -                   

160-00-195-00-530-000 Communications 1,816               1,687               2,500               2,500               

160-00-195-00-580-000 Meetings, conf. & travel -                   200                  500                  500                  

160-00-195-00-610-000 General supplies 1,218               381                  1,500               1,500               

160-00-195-00-918-101 Transfer Out-Gen Gov't Admin Fees 225,948           213,109           314,195           320,000           

160-00-195-00-919-101 Transfer Out-Pub Works Admin Fees 42,365             21,183             -                       -                   

160-11-195-00-930-000 Allocation to Districts (453,577)          (412,424)          (530,329)          (482,839)          

Total General Allocation Items -$                 26,846$           -$                 97$                  

104Page 393

Item 33.



 

 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (160) 

/DQGVFDSH�DQG�/LJKWLQJ�'LVWULFWV��-�� 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW��&RQWLQXHG�� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

District 1

160-12-195-01-311-000 County Administrative Charges 146$                136$                185$                185$                

160-12-195-01-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 3,379               2,068               1,176               3,394               

160-12-195-01-334-000 Professional/contract services 3,228               2,342               3,620               10,266             

160-12-195-01-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 2,441               536                  400                  400                  

160-12-195-01-620-000 Energy charges 2,584               2,482               3,620               3,620               

Total District 1 11,778$           7,563$             9,001$             17,865$           

District 2

160-12-195-02-311-000 County Administrative Charges 147$                137$                186$                186$                

160-12-195-02-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 1,389               977                  498                  2,200               

160-12-195-02-334-000 Professional/contract services 193                  193                  336                  6,402               

160-12-195-02-620-000 Energy charges 2,547               2,222               2,790               2,790               

Total District 2 4,277$             3,529$             3,810$             11,578$           

District 3

160-12-195-03-311-000 County Administrative Charges 169$                155$                207$                207$                

160-12-195-03-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 4,626               3,555               1,324               2,118               

160-12-195-03-334-000 Professional/contract services 3,981               4,557               4,200               4,424               

160-12-195-03-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 3,384               260                  200                  200                  

160-12-195-03-620-000 Energy charges 3,684               4,229               4,200               4,200               

Total District 3 15,844$           12,754$           10,131$           11,149$           

District 4

160-12-195-04-311-000 County Administrative Charges 120$                114$                159$                159$                

160-12-195-04-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 1,132               995                  495                  1,152               

160-12-195-04-334-000 Professional/contract services 1,548               1,548               1,731               3,352               

160-12-195-04-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 38                    191                  200                  200                  

160-12-195-04-620-000 Energy charges 987                  1,031               1,200               1,200               

Total District 4 3,825$             3,880$             3,785$             6,063$             

105Page 394

Item 33.



 

 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (160) 

/DQGVFDSH�DQG�/LJKWLQJ�'LVWULFWV��-�� 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW��&RQWLQXHG�� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

District 6

160-12-195-06-311-000 County Administrative Charges 165$                151$                203$                203$                

160-12-195-06-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 3,977               3,167               1,490               3,267               

160-12-195-06-334-000 Professional/contract services 4,860               4,825               5,008               9,028               

160-12-195-06-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 550                  -                   -                       -                   

160-12-195-06-620-000 Energy charges 3,741               3,822               4,700               4,700               

Total District 6 13,293$           11,965$           11,401$           17,198$           

District 7

160-12-195-07-311-000 County Administrative Charges 160$                148$                199$                199$                

160-12-195-07-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 2,129               2,386               1,174               2,520               

160-12-195-07-334-000 Professional/contract services 1,675               2,017               2,953               5,884               

160-12-195-07-430-000 Repair and maintenance services -                   832                  200                  200                  

160-12-195-07-620-000 Energy charges 3,024               3,089               4,460               4,460               

Total District 7 6,989$             8,472$             8,986$             13,263$           

District 8

160-12-195-08-311-000 County Administrative Charges 151$                139$                189$                189$                

160-12-195-08-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 1,041               921                  50                    115                  

160-12-195-08-334-000 Professional/contract services -                   -                   143                  300                  

160-12-195-08-620-000 Energy charges 2,161               2,214               -                       -                   

Total District 8 3,353$             3,275$             382$                604$                

District 9

160-12-195-09-311-000 County Administrative Charges 105$                102$                144$                144$                

160-12-195-09-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 933                  757                  426                  1,966               

160-12-195-09-334-000 Professional/contract services 995                  960                  1,143               6,688               

160-12-195-09-430-000 Repair and maintenance services -                   -                   200                  200                  

160-12-195-09-620-000 Energy charges 1,050               1,062               1,350               1,350               

Total District 9 3,083$             2,881$             3,263$             10,348$           

106Page 395

Item 33.



 

 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (160) 

/DQGVFDSH�DQG�/LJKWLQJ�'LVWULFWV��-�� 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW��&RQWLQXHG�� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

District 10

160-12-195-10-311-000 County Administrative Charges 123$                117$                162$                162$                

160-12-195-10-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 530                  469                  255                  587                  

160-12-195-10-334-000 Professional/contract services 192                  192                  335                  1,140               

160-12-195-10-620-000 Energy charges 888                  909                  1,200               1,200               

Total District 10 1,733$             1,687$             1,952$             3,089$             

District 11

160-12-195-11-311-000 County Administrative Charges 136$                128$                175$                175$                

160-12-195-11-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 1,616               1,800               1,033               1,850               

160-12-195-11-334-000 Professional/contract services 2,052               1,641               2,874               3,894               

160-12-195-11-430-000 Repair and maintenance services -                   2,138               2,000               2,000               

160-12-195-11-620-000 Energy charges 1,657               1,814               1,820               1,820               

Total District 11 5,461$             7,521$             7,902$             9,739$             

District 12

160-12-195-12-311-000 County Administrative Charges 124$                118$                163$                163$                

160-12-195-12-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 2,469               1,401               1,651               3,054               

160-12-195-12-334-000 Professional/contract services 2,477               1,996               3,965               6,002               

160-12-195-12-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 1,701               5,086               5,000               5,000               

160-12-195-12-620-000 Energy charges 1,866               1,645               1,855               1,855               

Total District 12 8,637$             10,246$           12,634$           16,074$           

District 13

160-12-195-13-311-000 County Administrative Charges 163$                150$                202$                202$                

160-12-195-13-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 6,764               5,891               2,504               7,695               

160-12-195-13-334-000 Professional/contract services 7,279               6,754               10,223             24,578             

160-12-195-13-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 5,180               1,886               200                  2,000               

160-12-195-13-620-000 Energy charges 5,349               4,628               6,030               6,030               

Total District 13 24,735$           19,309$           19,159$           40,505$           

107Page 396

Item 33.



 

 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (160) 

/DQGVFDSH�DQG�/LJKWLQJ�'LVWULFWV��-�� 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW��&RQWLQXHG�� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

District 14

160-12-195-14-311-000 County Administrative Charges 130$                123$                169$                169$                

160-12-195-14-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 4,147               4,819               1,597               3,520               

160-12-195-14-334-000 Professional/contract services 4,176               4,498               4,643               7,224               

160-12-195-14-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 273                  2,991               200                  2,000               

160-12-195-14-620-000 Energy charges 4,945               5,057               5,615               5,615               

Total District 14 13,671$           17,488$           12,224$           18,528$           

District 15

160-12-195-15-311-000 County Administrative Charges 112$                108$                151$                151$                

160-12-195-15-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 3,979               3,374               76,958             3,889               

160-12-195-15-334-000 Professional/contract services 3,643               4,015               3,815               7,056               

160-12-195-15-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 168                  962                  600                  2,000               

160-12-195-15-431-000 Vandalism 292                  -                   -                       -                   

160-12-195-15-620-000 Energy charges 4,768               4,785               7,375               7,375               

160-12-195-15-750-000 Capital Project(s) BUDGET USE ONLY -                   -                   500,000           -                   

Total District 15 12,961$           13,244$           588,899$         20,471$           

District 16

160-12-195-16-311-000 County Administrative Charges 329$                285$                364$                364$                

160-12-195-16-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 64,668             55,497             32,934             76,389             

160-12-195-16-334-000 Professional/contract services 95,161             103,697           136,724           143,330           

160-12-195-16-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 10,994             19,562             30,000             130,000           

160-12-195-16-431-000 Vandalism 251                  -                   -                       -                   

160-12-195-16-620-000 Energy charges 45,072             40,353             52,000             52,000             

Total District 16 216,476$         219,395$         252,022$         402,083$         

District 17

160-12-195-17-311-000 County Administrative Charges 161$                148$                199$                199$                

160-12-195-17-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 15,886             14,318             23,698             25,161             

160-12-195-17-334-000 Professional/contract services 20,854             19,901             46,168             49,896             

160-12-195-17-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 3,151               2,006               6,000               40,000             

160-12-195-17-431-000 Vandalism -                   -                   -                       -                   

160-12-195-17-620-000 Energy charges 13,066             12,882             17,180             17,180             

160-12-195-17-750-000 Capital Project(s) BUDGET USE ONLY -                   -                   95,000             -                   

Total District 17 53,118$           49,255$           188,245$         132,436$         

108Page 397

Item 33.



 

 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (160) 

/DQGVFDSH�DQG�/LJKWLQJ�'LVWULFWV��-�� 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW��&RQWLQXHG�� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

District 18

160-12-195-18-311-000 County Administrative Charges 165$                151$                203$                203$                

160-12-195-18-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 16,659             17,675             7,261               11,619             

160-12-195-18-334-000 Professional/contract services 22,578             28,572             39,974             33,036             

160-12-195-18-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 899                  2,216               2,000               5,000               

160-12-195-18-620-000 Energy charges 14,857             13,069             11,300             11,300             

Total District 18 55,158$           61,684$           60,738$           61,158$           

District 19

160-12-195-19-311-000 County Administrative Charges 145$                135$                184$                184$                

160-12-195-19-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 8,107               7,207               3,791               11,227             

160-12-195-19-334-000 Professional/contract services 12,443             12,862             14,833             23,478             

160-12-195-19-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 1,108               6,454               6,000               20,000             

160-12-195-19-620-000 Energy charges 6,040               6,048               4,205               4,205               

Total District 19 27,843$           32,706$           29,013$           59,094$           

District 20

160-12-195-20-311-000 County Administrative Charges 126$                120$                165$                165$                

160-12-195-20-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 9,680               8,512               6,916               14,026             

160-12-195-20-334-000 Professional/contract services 14,583             15,156             37,039             29,238             

160-12-195-20-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 492                  3,228               3,000               20,000             

160-12-195-20-620-000 Energy charges 7,165               7,694               10,400             10,400             

Total District 20 32,046$           34,709$           57,520$           73,829$           

District 21

160-12-195-21-311-000 County Administrative Charges 121$                116$                160$                160$                

160-12-195-21-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 1,586               996                  4,650               14,672             

160-12-195-21-334-000 Professional/contract services 987                  584                  1,433               11,130             

160-12-195-21-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 894                  179                  200                  10,000             

160-12-195-21-620-000 Energy charges 1,830               1,858               2,030               2,030               

Total District 21 5,419$             3,733$             8,473$             37,992$           

109Page 398

Item 33.



 

 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (160) 

/DQGVFDSH�DQG�/LJKWLQJ�'LVWULFWV��-�� 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW��&RQWLQXHG�� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

District 22

160-12-195-22-311-000 County Administrative Charges 142$                132$                181$                181$                

160-12-195-22-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 10,410             8,628               7,096               17,292             

160-12-195-22-334-000 Professional/contract services 13,809             15,788             46,123             29,844             

160-12-195-22-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 1,689               822                  6,000               35,000             

160-12-195-22-620-000 Energy charges 7,763               7,461               8,700               8,700               

Total District 22 33,813$           32,831$           68,100$           91,017$           

District 23

160-12-195-23-311-000 County Administrative Charges 142$                133$                181$                181$                

160-12-195-23-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 16,517             16,536             5,216               7,735               

160-12-195-23-334-000 Professional/contract services 21,750             20,376             23,818             19,799             

160-12-195-23-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 394                  10,519             500                  500                  

160-12-195-23-620-000 Energy charges 15,215             15,718             12,500             12,500             

Total District 23 54,019$           63,282$           42,215$           40,715$           

District 24

160-12-195-24-311-000 County Administrative Charges 216$                193$                253$                253$                

160-12-195-24-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 71,561             58,735             22,755             48,433             

160-12-195-24-334-000 Professional/contract services 116,851           116,587           128,819           163,244           

160-12-195-24-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 9,350               13,323             3,500               15,000             

160-12-195-24-431-000 Vandalism 153                  -                   -                       -                   

160-12-195-24-620-000 Energy charges 40,280             33,137             28,000             28,000             

Total District 24 238,412$         221,975$         183,327$         254,930$         

District 25

160-12-195-25-311-000 County Administrative Charges 129$                122$                167$                167$                

160-12-195-25-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 8,879               8,126               6,834               12,895             

160-12-195-25-334-000 Professional/contract services 12,915             15,412             40,123             28,514             

160-12-195-25-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 410                  783                  6,000               20,000             

160-12-195-25-620-000 Energy charges 7,197               5,755               6,300               6,300               

Total District 25 29,529$           30,197$           59,424$           67,876$           

110Page 399

Item 33.



 

 

/DQGVFDSH�DQG�/LJKWLQJ�'LVWULFWV��-�� 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW��&RQWLQXHG�� 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (160) 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

District 27

160-12-195-27-311-000 County Administrative Charges 139$                130$                178$                178$                

160-12-195-27-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 33,564             30,582             4,616               6,669               

160-12-195-27-334-000 Professional/contract services 77,365             81,212             30,740             21,854             

160-12-195-27-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 1,216               2,462               3,000               3,000               

160-12-195-27-620-000 Energy charges 3,836               2,863               3,400               3,400               

Total District 27 116,120$         117,250$         41,934$           35,101$           

District 28

160-12-195-28-311-000 County Administrative Charges 165$                151$                203$                203$                

160-12-195-28-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 20,103             17,412             7,189               10,538             

160-12-195-28-334-000 Professional/contract services 29,894             26,574             37,161             28,428             

160-12-195-28-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 4,336               2,667               2,000               2,000               

160-12-195-28-620-000 Energy charges 13,906             15,452             14,300             14,300             

Total District 28 68,404$           62,256$           60,853$           55,469$           

District 29

160-12-195-29-311-000 County Administrative Charges 157$                144$                195$                195$                

160-12-195-29-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 8,985               11,234             31,287             19,984             

160-12-195-29-334-000 Professional/contract services 11,197             18,418             53,431             47,308             

160-12-195-29-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 488                  5,918               6,000               30,000             

160-12-195-29-620-000 Energy charges 9,415               7,056               7,700               7,700               

160-12-195-29-750-000 Capital Project(s) BUDGET USE ONLY -                   -                   150,000           -                   

Total District 29 30,241$           42,771$           248,613$         105,187$         

111Page 400

Item 33.



 

 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (160) 

/DQGVFDSH�DQG�/LJKWLQJ�'LVWULFWV��-�� 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW��&RQWLQXHG�� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

District 30

160-12-195-30-311-000 County Administrative Charges 160$                147$                198$                198$                

160-12-195-30-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 11,399             9,997               45,568             21,477             

160-12-195-30-334-000 Professional/contract services 16,259             18,199             41,008             40,270             

160-12-195-30-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 598                  1,493               6,000               40,000             

160-12-195-30-431-000 Vandalism 50                    -                   -                       -                   

160-12-195-30-620-000 Energy charges 10,252             9,453               11,100             11,100             

160-12-195-30-750-000 Capital Project(s) BUDGET USE ONLY -                   -                   250,000           -                   

Total District 30 38,718$           39,289$           353,874$         113,045$         

District 31

160-12-195-31-311-000 County Administrative Charges 205$                184$                242$                242$                

160-12-195-31-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 17,390             24,671             67,889             23,678             

160-12-195-31-334-000 Professional/contract services 33,189             42,536             67,458             46,410             

160-12-195-31-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 590                  7,356               6,000               45,000             

160-12-195-31-431-000 Vandalism 583                  -                   -                       -                   

160-12-195-31-620-000 Energy charges 8,701               9,132               9,300               9,300               

160-12-195-31-750-000 Capital Project(s) BUDGET USE ONLY -                   -                   380,000           -                   

Total District 31 60,657$           83,879$           530,889$         124,630$         

District 32

160-12-195-32-311-000 County Administrative Charges 199$                179$                236$                236$                

160-12-195-32-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 18,968             17,482             32,352             23,290             

160-12-195-32-334-000 Professional/contract services 30,044             34,884             60,717             59,364             

160-12-195-32-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 2,542               1,834               6,000               30,000             

160-12-195-32-620-000 Energy charges 13,689             12,265             9,700               9,700               

160-12-195-32-750-000 Capital Project(s) BUDGET USE ONLY -                   -                   145,000           -                   

Total District 32 65,443$           66,644$           254,005$         122,590$         

District 33

160-12-195-33-311-000 County Administrative Charges 212$                190$                249$                249$                

160-12-195-33-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 37,288             34,270             91,316             65,584             

160-12-195-33-334-000 Professional/contract services 63,250             74,565             111,103           54,874             

160-12-195-33-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 1,388               3,054               30,000             200,000           

160-12-195-33-431-000 Vandalism 92                    -                   -                       -                   

160-12-195-33-620-000 Energy charges 21,500             21,833             24,500             24,500             

160-12-195-33-750-000 Capital Project(s) BUDGET USE ONLY -                   -                   450,000           -                   

Total District 33 123,731$         133,912$         707,168$         345,207$         

112Page 401

Item 33.



 

 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (160) 

/DQGVFDSH�DQG�/LJKWLQJ�'LVWULFWV��-�� 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW��&RQWLQXHG�� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

District 34

160-12-195-34-311-000 County Administrative Charges 141$                131$                166$                166$                

160-12-195-34-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 9,572               8,344               3,821               3,851               

160-12-195-34-334-000 Professional/contract services 15,108             15,474             22,081             6,154               

160-12-195-34-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 1,065               1,339               2,000               4,500               

160-12-195-34-620-000 Energy charges 9,144               5,351               5,600               5,600               

Total District 34 35,030$           30,640$           33,668$           20,271$           

District 35

160-12-195-35-311-000 County Administrative Charges 112$                108$                152$                152$                

160-12-195-35-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 10,229             9,145               5,347               6,441               

160-12-195-35-334-000 Professional/contract services 17,935             18,687             33,068             17,208             

160-12-195-35-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 771                  310                  3,000               5,000               

160-12-195-35-620-000 Energy charges 6,170               4,924               5,100               5,100               

Total District 35 35,217$           33,174$           46,667$           33,901$           

District 36

160-12-195-36-311-000 County Administrative Charges 138$                129$                176$                176$                

160-12-195-36-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 7,727               8,049               20,820             13,927             

160-12-195-36-334-000 Professional/contract services 14,989             15,382             40,638             37,804             

160-12-195-36-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 358                  2,235               6,000               15,000             

160-12-195-36-431-000 Vandalism 114                  -                   -                       -                   

160-12-195-36-620-000 Energy charges 4,492               2,510               6,400               6,400               

160-12-195-36-750-000 Capital Project(s) BUDGET USE ONLY -                   -                   90,000             -                   

Total District 36 27,817$           28,305$           164,034$         73,307$           

District 38

160-12-195-38-311-000 County Administrative Charges 156$                144$                194$                194$                

160-12-195-38-312-000 District Administrative Allocation 16,290             12,424             8,343               10,723             

160-12-195-38-334-000 Professional/contract services 29,876             29,002             55,933             28,724             

160-12-195-38-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 1,802               2,304               2,000               10,000             

160-12-195-38-620-000 Energy charges 5,945               5,844               6,800               6,800               

Total District 38 54,068$           49,718$           73,270$           56,441$           

Total Landscaping & Lighting Districts 1,530,916$      1,588,266$      4,157,580$      2,502,849$      

113Page 402

Item 33.



 

 

&RPPXQLW\�)DFLOLW\�'LVWULFW�-�)LUH�3URWHFWLRQ�6HUYLFHV 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (241) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

2Q�6HSWHPEHU� ���� ����� WKH�&RDFKHOOD�&LW\�&RXQFLO� FUHDWHG� D�&RPPXQLW\� )DFLOLWLHV�
'LVWULFW� WR�KHOS�IXQG�SXEOLF�VDIHW\�H[SHQVHV� LQFXUUHG�E\�QHZ�GHYHORSPHQW�� �6HUYLFHV�
SURYLGHG� LQFOXGH� WKH� RSHUDWLRQ� DQG�PDLQWHQDQFH� RI� ODZ� HQIRUFHPHQW�� ILUH� DQG� SDUD�
PHGLF�VHUYLFHV�� 
 
7KH� DQQXDO� FRVW� LQFOXGH� �������� IRU� ILUH� SURWHFWLRQ� VHUYLFHV� DQG� �������� IRU� SROLFH�
VHUYLFHV���%HJLQQLQJ�ZLWK�WKH������ILVFDO��WKHVH�FKDUJHV�ZLOO�LQFUHDVH�E\�WKH�FKDQJH�LQ�
DQQXDO�&3,� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Community Facility District-Fire
241-12-110-10-311-000 Official administrative 4,052               5,396               5,000$             5,000$             
241-12-110-10-910-101 Transfer out to fund 101 47,741             -                   -                       -                   
241-12-110-10-910-240 Operating transfers out to Fund 240 535,743           640,625           714,878           761,800           
241-12-110-10-334-000 Other professional/contract services 953                  -                   -                       -                   

Total Community Facility District-Fire 588,489$         646,021$         719,878$         766,800$         

241-12-311-70-361-000 Interest Income (2,835)$            (922)$               -$                 -$                 

241-12-363-50-319-000 Delinquent Taxes 4,780               3,969               3,000               3,000               

241-12-363-50-363-000 Special Assessments 579,811           643,296           716,878           763,800           

241-12-311-90-369-000 Other Revenue -                       210                  -                   -                   

Total Community Facility District-Fire 581,756$         646,553$         719,878$         766,800$         

114Page 403

Item 33.



 

 

&RPPXQLW\�)DFLOLW\�'LVWULFW�-�3ROLFH�3URWHFWLRQ�6HUYLFHV 

Fund Overview 
Special Revenue Funds (242) 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

2Q�6HSWHPEHU���������� WKH�&RDFKHOOD�&LW\�&RXQFLO� FUHDWHG� D�&RPPXQLW\�)DFLOLWLHV�
'LVWULFW� WR�KHOS�IXQG�SXEOLF�VDIHW\�H[SHQVHV�LQFXUUHG�E\�QHZ�GHYHORSPHQW�� �6HUYLFHV�
SURYLGHG� LQFOXGH� WKH� RSHUDWLRQ� DQG�PDLQWHQDQFH� RI� ODZ� HQIRUFHPHQW�� ILUH� DQG� SDUD�
PHGLF�VHUYLFHV�� 
 
7KH� DQQXDO� FRVW� LQFOXGH� �������� IRU� ILUH� SURWHFWLRQ� VHUYLFHV� DQG� �������� IRU� SROLFH�
VHUYLFHV� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Community Facility District - Police

242-12-110-10-311-000 Official administrative 4,230$             5,533$             5,000$             5,000$             

242-12-110-10-910-101 Operating transfers out 954,142           988,912           1,169,645        1,246,200        
242-12-110-10-334-000 Other professional/contract services 1,555               -                   -                       -                   

Total Community Facility District - Police Services 959,927$         994,445$         1,174,645$      1,251,200$      

242-12-311-70-361-000 Interest Income (4,865)$            (1,299)$            -$                 -                   

242-12-363-50-319-000 Delinquent Taxes 7,798               6,476               5,000               5,000               

242-12-363-50-363-000 Special Assessments 946,007           1,049,588        1,169,645        1,246,200        

Total Community Facility District-Police 948,941$         1,054,765$      1,174,645$      1,251,200$      
-                       

115Page 404

Item 33.



 

 

Coachella Sanitary District 

7KH�&RDFKHOOD�6DQLWDU\�'LVWULFW�ZDV�FUHDWHG�WR�SURYLGH�VDQLWDWLRQ�DQG�VHZDJH�WUHDWPHQW�VHUYLFHV�WR�
WKH�&LW\�RI�&RDFKHOOD��7KH�'LVWULFW�LV�FRQVLGHUHG�WR�EH�D�FRPSRQHQW�XQLW�RI�
WKH� &LW\� DQG� KDV� EHHQ� EOHQGHG� LQWR� WKH� &LW\¶V� JHQHUDO� SXUSRVH� ILQDQFLDO�
VWDWHPHQWV� IRU� UHSRUWLQJ��$W� WKH� VDPH� WLPH�� WKH�'LVWULFW� LV� D� VHSDUDWH� OHJDO�
HQWLW\�DQG�PXVW�KDYH�LWV�RZQ�EXGJHW�DQG�D�UHVROXWLRQ�WR�DGRSW�LW�� 
 
7KH� DGRSWHG� EXGJHW� IRU� WKH� &RDFKHOOD� 6DQLWDU\� 'LVWULFW� LV� EDVHG� RQ� WRWDO�
UHYHQXHV� EXGJHWHG� WR� FRYHU� WKH� FRVW� RI� RSHUDWLRQV� DQG� GHEW� VHUYLFH� SOXV�
UHODWHG� GHSUHFLDWLRQ�� )<� ����-��� UHYHQXHV� IURP� FKDUJHV� IRU� VHUYLFH� DUH�
SURMHFWHG� WR� EH� �����PLOOLRQ��7KLV� DPRXQW� GRHV� QRW� LQFOXGH� UHYHQXH� IURP�
FRQQHFWLRQ�IHHV�ZKLFK�DUH�UHVWULFWHG�IRU�FDSLWDO�LPSURYHPHQWV�DQG�DUH�SUR�
MHFWHG�WR�EH������PLOOLRQ���7KH�FRQQHFWLRQV�KDYH�GURSSHG�FRQVLGHUDEO\�VLQFH�
WKH�SHDN�GXH�WR�WKH�KRXVLQJ�DQG�PRUWJDJH�FULVHV���$�UDWH�LQFUHDVH�ZDV�LP�
SOHPHQWHG�LQ�-XO\������DV�SDUW�RI�RXU�FRPPLWPHQW�LQ�VHFXULQJ�86'$�ORDQV�
WR�H[SDQG�WKH�VHZHU�WUHDWPHQW�SODQW��� 
 
7KH�6DQLWDU\�'LVWULFW�KDV�VHHQ�DQ�LQFUHDVH�LQ�FRVWV�GXH�WR�LQFUHDVHG�SHUVRQ�

QHO�� HTXLSPHQW� UHSODFHPHQW� DQG� JURZWK� LQ� WKH�'LVWULFW�� �0DQ\� RI� WKHVH� QHZ� FRVWV� DUH� UHTXLUHG� WR�
FRPSO\�ZLWK�WKH�PRUH�VWULQJHQW�UHTXLUHPHQWV�RI�WKH�6WDWH�:DWHU�4XDOLW\�6WDQGDUGV�%RDUG� 

116Page 405

Item 33.



 

 

6HZHU�&RQQHFWLRQ�)HHV 

Sanitary District 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQGLWXUH�%XGJHW 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Sanitary Connection Fees

360-21-205-10-910-361 Transfer out to fund 361 (SWRCB Loan) 1,505,256$      1,505,256$      1,505,256$      1,505,256$      

360-21-439-10-910-361 Transfer out to fund 361 (S-9) -                   -                   50,000             -                   

360-21-454-10-910-000 Transfer out to fund 361(S-24) -                   -                   1,530,000        2,000,000        

360-21-448-10-910-361 Transfer out to fund 361 (S-18) -                   -                   98,705             106,900           

360-21-449-10-910-361 Transfer out to fund 361 (S-19) -                   -                   252,900           297,900           

360-21-450-10-910-361 Transfer out to fund 361 (S-20) -                   -                   103,500           -                   

Total Transfers Out 1,505,256$      1,505,256$      3,540,361$      3,910,056$      

Connection Fees

360-21-211-40-342-000 Connection Fees 399,736$         529,922$         1,400,000$      1,400,000$      

360-21-211-70-361-000 Interest Income 216,641           143,949           40,000             30,000             

360-21-170-70-364-000 Unrealized gain/loss on investment -                       55,483             -                   -                   

Total Sewer Connection Fees 616,377$         729,354$         1,440,000$      1,430,000$    

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2020-22
Initial
Budget 

117Page 406

Item 33.



 

 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

Sanitary District 

General Revenues

361-21-110-10-301-000 Secured Property Tax 42,576$           43,120$           44,000$           44,000$           

361-21-110-10-303-000 Supplemental Property Tax 6,982               6,791               7,000               7,000               

361-21-110-10-304-000 Unsecured Property Tax 1,854               1,996               2,000               2,000               

361-21-110-10-319-000 Delinquent Taxes, Interest & Penalties 338                  186                  -                   -                   

361-21-211-30-333-000 Homeowners Prop Tax Relief 567                  377                  -                   -                   

361-21-110-10-395-000 RPTTF (Low/Mod) 26,088             1,263               -                   -                   

361-21-110-10-396-000 RPTTF Pass-Through 21,525             124,483           22,000             22,000             

361-21-110-10-398-000 RPTTF Residual 83,855             -                       85,000             85,000             

Total Sanitary District - General Revenue 183,787$         178,215$         160,000$       160,000$       

Charges for Service

361-21-211-40-344-000 Utility Service Revenue 5,866,814$      5,969,661$      6,050,000$      6,050,000$      

Total Sanitary District - Charges for Service 7,467,141$      5,969,661$      6,050,000$    6,050,000$    

Other Revenue

361-21-170-70-364-000 Unrealized gain/loss on investment -$                 17,244$           -$                 -$                 

361-21-170-70-365-000 Interest Income - fiscal agent -                       397                  -                   -                   

361-21-211-70-361-000 Interest Income (29,976)            30,270             -                   22,702             

361-21-211-90-369-000 Other Revenue -                   146,733           -                   -                   

361-21-419-30-331-000 IRWM Implementation-Recycle Water Program 80,295             24,477             -                   -                   

361-21-444-30-330-000 Prop 1 DAC Involvement Grant(S-14) -                       2,468               -                   -                   

361-21-445-30-330-000 Prop 84 DWR-Shady Ln (S-15) -                       16,021             -                   -                   

Total Sanitary District - Other Revenue 50,319$           237,609$         -$                22,702$         

Total Sanitary District - Charges for Service and Other Revenue 7,517,460$      6,207,270$      6,210,000$    6,232,702$    

Total Revenues Before Transfers 8,133,837$      6,936,624$      7,650,000$    7,662,702$    

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2020-22
Initial
Budget 

118Page 407

Item 33.



 

 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

Sanitary District 

Transfers In

361-21-205-90-360-000 Transfers In From Fund 360 (SWRCB Loan) 1,505,256$      1,505,256$      1,505,256$      1,505,256$      

361-21-439-90-360-000 Transfers In From Fund 360 (S-09) -                       -                       50,000             -                   

361-21-444-90-152-000 Transfers In From Fund 152 (S-14) 68,869             -                       -                   -                   

361-21-448-90-360-000 Transfers In From Fund 360 (S-18) -                   -                   98,705             106,900           

361-21-449-90-360-000 Transfers In From Fund 360 (S-19) -                   -                   252,900           
361-21-454-90-360-000 Transfers In From Fund 360 (S-24) -                   -                   1,530,000        2,000,000        

361-21-503-90-152-000 Transfers In From Fund 152 (SD-03) 65,416             -                   -                   -                   

361-21-503-91-152-000 Transfers In From Fund 152 CVMC (SD-03) 5,095               -                       -                   -                   

Total Sanitary District - Tranfers In 1,644,636$      1,505,256$      3,436,861$    3,612,156$    

Total Sanitary District 9,962,259$      8,620,095$      11,246,861$ 11,434,858$ 

Expenditures 7,667,875        8,101,751        15,847,463      17,677,550      
2,294,384        518,344           (4,600,602)       (6,242,692)       

119Page 408

Item 33.



 

 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW�-�$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ 

Sanitary District 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Sanitary District Administration

361-21-115-10-110-000 Regular employees 541,319$         539,644$         660,881$         680,479$         
361-21-115-10-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 36,599             40,039             70,429             73,646             
361-21-115-10-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 2,310               3,735               4,050               4,050               
361-21-115-10-120-000 Temporary/part-time employees 56,216             46,586             -                       -                   
361-21-115-10-132-000 Other salary payments 4,477               3,937               10,242             10,741             
361-21-115-10-210-000 Group insurance 112,618           166,199           164,362           149,795           
361-21-115-10-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 8,493               8,981               10,327             10,870             
361-21-115-10-230-000 PERS contributions 127,193           232,273           173,663           96,619             
361-21-115-10-240-000 Pension Expense 82,782             -                   -                       -                   
361-21-115-10-241-000 OPEB Expense 117,775           -                   -                       -                   
361-21-115-10-310-000 Official/administrative 77,173             88,273             80,000             80,000             
361-21-115-10-311-000 County administrative charges 5,736               4,465               6,000               6,000               
361-21-115-10-331-000 Audit services 281                  569                  6,000               6,000               
361-21-115-10-334-000 Other professional/contract services 36,626             51,197             60,000             60,000             
361-21-115-10-334-001 Merchant Account Fees 3,850               -                   -                       -                   
361-21-115-10-335-000 Franchise Fee expense 145,000           102,340           150,000           150,000           
361-21-115-10-336-000 In lieu taxes 99,996             99,996             99,996             99,996             
361-21-115-10-430-000 Repair and maintenance services -                   2,292               -                       

361-21-115-10-442-000 Rental of Equipment & Vehicles 163                  -                   2,000               2,000               
361-21-115-10-530-000 Communications 9,756               12,910             10,000             10,000             
361-21-115-10-540-000 Advertising 170                  2,128               10,000             10,000             
361-21-115-10-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel 5,323               4,045               10,000             10,000             
361-21-115-10-610-000 General supplies 6,787               13,565             8,000               8,000               
361-21-115-10-611-000 Minor Equipment -                   2,615               3,000               3,000               
361-21-115-10-612-000 Minor Software -                   6,757               8,000               8,000               
361-21-115-10-641-000 Dues and subscriptions 8,184               7,817               14,718             20,000             
361-21-115-10-851-011 Principal pmt - 2011 USDA Loan -                   -                   55,000             55,000             
361-21-115-10-851-015 Principal payments 2015A -                   -                   170,000           175,000           
361-21-115-10-851-105 Principal pmt - 2005 B -                   -                   89,572             93,305             
361-21-115-10-851-205 Principal pmt - 2005 SWB -                   -                   1,283,751        1,283,751        

361-21-115-10-851-020 Principal pmt - 2020 POB Bonds -                   -                   -                       220,000           
361-21-115-10-852-015 Interest payments 2015A 145,638           140,801           136,975           130,175           
361-21-115-10-852-054 Int Exp - USDA Ave 54 Loan 61,527             60,162             59,864             59,864             
361-21-115-10-852-105 Int Exp - 2005 B 171,991           168,477           165,802           162,030           

361-21-115-10-852-205 Int Exp - 2005 State Water Board 271,528           243,151           221,505           221,505           

361-21-115-10-852-020 Interest payments - 2020 POB Bonds -                   -                   -                       93,305             
361-21-115-10-891-000 Depreciation expense 1,390,971        1,389,501        1,500,000        1,500,000        
361-21-115-10-892-000 Amortization expense -                   -                   22,623             22,623             

360-21-311-10-344-000 Other professional/contract services -                   2,399               -                       -                   
361-00-115-00-918-101 Transfer Out-Gen Gov't Admin Fees 570,968           779,701           945,811           981,026           

Total Sanitary District Administration 4,104,451$      4,229,650$      6,212,571$      6,496,780$      

120Page 409

Item 33.



 

 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW�-�2SHUDWLRQV� 

Coachella Sanitary District 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Sanitary District Operations

361-21-120-10-110-000 Regular employees 656,176$         719,576$         745,769$         785,304$         

361-21-120-10-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 79,781             53,402             85,916             89,636             

361-21-120-10-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 64,133             57,872             30,125             30,125             

361-21-120-10-120-000 Temporary/part-time employees 1,469               -                   -                       -                   

361-21-120-10-132-000 Other salary payments -                   150                  10,217             10,721             

361-21-120-10-210-000 Group insurance 104,577           166,844           189,373           179,506           

361-21-120-10-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 11,417             11,901             12,275             12,960             

361-21-120-10-230-000 PERS contributions 176,929           322,906           241,074           129,041           

361-21-120-10-334-000 Professional/contract services 101,278           75,383             205,000           310,000           
361-21-120-10-334-001 Professional/contract services - lab 47,213             49,875             80,000             250,000           
361-21-120-10-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 202,262           115,116           250,000           -                   
361-21-120-10-442-000 Rental of equipment and vehicles 20,671             24,022             22,280             100,000           
361-21-120-10-530-000 Communications -                   -                   2,000               2,000               
361-21-120-10-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel -                   -                   -                       2,000               
361-21-120-10-610-000 General supplies 129,207           142,787           187,000           180,000           
361-21-120-10-611-000 Minor Equip, Furniture, <5,000 -                   -                   -                       -                   
361-21-120-10-612-000 Software 4,992               4,992               5,000               -                   
361-21-120-10-620-000 Energy charges 372,180           390,159           395,650           400,000           
361-21-120-10-741-000 Machinery and equipment -                   -                   33,278             190,000           
361-21-120-10-742-000 Vehicles -                   -                   9,000               -                   
361-21-120-10-801-000 Miscellaneous 9,596               -                   -                       -                   

Total Sanitary District Operations 1,981,881$      2,134,986$      2,503,957$      2,671,293$      

121Page 410

Item 33.



 

 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW�-�&DSLWDO�3URMHFWV 

Coachella Sanitary District 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Sanitary District - Capital Expenditures

361-21-419-60-734-000 Recycled Water Program-FSP 76,288$           -$                 -$                 -$                 

361-21-439-60-737-000 S-9 CVHS Lift Station Replacement -                   -                   250,000           250,000           
361-21-444-60-737-000 S-14 Mesquite Septic to Sewer Conversion -                   -                   15,000             43,842             
361-21-445-60-734-000 S-15-Prof Serv-Shady Lane Septic to Sewer -                   -                   37,490             

361-21-445-60-737-000 S-15 Shady Lane / Amezcua Septic to Sewer Conversion -                   -                   294,700           820,000           
361-21-447-60-734-000 S-17 SCADA System -Professional Services -                   11,836             -                       

361-21-447-60-737-000 S-17 SCADA System Improvements -                   -                   85,579             

361-21-448-60-737-000 S-18 Capacity Imp. Tyler from Ave 53 to Ave 54 -                   -                   981,805           1,069,000        
361-21-449-60-737-000 S-19 Capacity Imp. Ave 50 from Coronado to Harrison -                   -                   281,000           331,000           
361-21-450-60-737-000 S-20 Capacity Imp. Airport 450ft West of Van Buren -                   -                   115,000           

361-21-454-60-737-000 S-24 48th & Harrison Sewer Improvements -                   -                   1,530,000        2,000,000        
361-21-456-60-737-000 S-26 Industrial Waste Line & Sewer Intertie -                   -                   -                       85,579             
361-21-503-60-734-000 SD-3 -Prop 1/Stormwater Professional Services -                   359,691           -                       -                   
361-21-503-60-737-000 SD-3 Prop 1 Local Assistance for Storm water Imp. -                   (139,668)          -                       -                   

-                       
Total Capital Expenditures 76,288$           231,859$         3,590,574$      4,599,421$      

122Page 411

Item 33.



 

 

7KH�&RDFKHOOD�:DWHU�$XWKRULW\�LV�D�MRLQW�SRZHUV�DJHQF\��-3$��RUJDQL]HG�DQG�H[LVWLQJ�XQGHU�DQG�
E\�YLUWXH�RI�$UWLFOHV���WKURXJK���RI�&KDSWHU���RI�'LYLVLRQ���RI�7LWOH���FRPPHQFLQJ�ZLWK������RI�
WKH� &DOLIRUQLD� *RYHUQPHQW� &RGH�� DV� DPHQGHG�� 7KH� &LW\� DQG� WKH� &RDFKHOOD� 5HGHYHORSPHQW�
$JHQF\�HQWHUHG�LQWR�D�-RLQW�([HUFLVH�RI�3RZHUV�$JUHHPHQW�GDWHG�-XO\���������WR�HVWDEOLVK�WKH�
$XWKRULW\�� 7KH� $XWKRULW\� LV� JRYHUQHG� E\� D� %RDUG� RI� ILYH� PHPEHUV� FRPSULVHG� RI� WKH� VDPH�
LQGLYLGXDOV�ZKR�DUH�PHPEHUV�RI�WKH�&LW\�&RXQFLO�RI�WKH�&LW\�RI�&RDFKHOOD��7KH�$XWKRULW\�ZDV�
FUHDWHG�IRU�WKH�SXUSRVH��DPRQJ�RWKHU�WKLQJV��RI�SURYLGLQJ�ILQDQFLQJ�UHODWHG�WR�DQ\�XWLOLW\�V\VWHP�
RU�VHUYLFH�WKURXJK�WKH�OHDVH��DFTXLVLWLRQ�RU�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�RI�VXFK�FDSLWDO�LPSURYHPHQWV��8QGHU�WKH�
ERQG� ODZ�� WKH� $XWKRULW\� KDV� WKH� SRZHU� WR� LVVXH� ERQGV� WR� SD\� WKH� FRVWV� RI� SXEOLF� FDSLWDO�
LPSURYHPHQWV� 
 
3ULRU�WR�WKH�HVWDEOLVKPHQW�RI�WKH�$XWKRULW\��WKH�&LW\�RI�&RDFKHOOD�WUHDWHG�WKH�ZDWHU�XWLOLW\�DV�DQ�
HQWHUSULVH� IXQG� WKDW�ZDV� VHOI-VXVWDLQLQJ�DQG� WKDW�JHQHUDWHG� LWV� UHYHQXH� IURP�XVHU�FKDUJHV��7KH�
ZDWHU�XWLOLW\¶V�RSHUDWLRQV�KDYH�QRW�FKDQJHG�ZLWK�WKH�FUHDWLRQ�RI�WKH�$XWKRULW\� 
 
7KH� VHUYLFH� DUHD� RI� WKH� $XWKRULW\� LV� WKH� VDPH� DV� WKH� &LW\� OLPLWV� DQG� WKH� &LW\¶V� VSKHUH� RI�
LQIOXHQFH�� $V� WKH� &LW\� EHFRPHV� PRUH� GHYHORSHG�� WKH� GHPDQG� IRU� ZDWHU� VHUYLFHV� JURZV�
SURSRUWLRQDWHO\��$FFRUGLQJO\��WKH�JURZWK�RI�WKH�ZDWHU�V\VWHP�VKRXOG�QRW�UHTXLUH�DQ�LQFUHDVH�LQ�
VL]H� RI� WKH� VHUYLFH� DUHD� XQOHVV� DQQH[DWLRQV� DUH� XQGHUWDNHQ�� +RZHYHU�� DV� H[SHFWHG�� WKH� OLQHDU�
IRRWDJH�RI�WKH�V\VWHP�LV�H[SDQGLQJ�DV�WKH�JURZWK�ILOOV�LQ�WKH�VSDFH�ZLWKLQ�WKH�&LW\¶V�VHUYLFH�DUHD� 
 
2Q�0DUFK����������WKH�%RDUG�RI�'LUHFWRUV�DSSURYHG�D�ILYH-\HDU�UDWH�VWUXFWXUH�� �:DWHU�VHUYLFH�
FKDUJHV�ZHUH�LQFUHDVHG�RQ�0D\���������DQG�DUH�VFKHGXOHG�WR�LQFUHDVH�RQ�-DQXDU\���IRU�IRXU�\HDU�
EHJLQQLQJ�LQ������ 

Coachella Water Authority 

123Page 412

Item 33.



 

 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

Water Authority 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

:DWHU�&RQQHFWLRQ�)HHV 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Water Connection Fees

177-21-311-10-334-000 Other professional/contract services -$                 2,287$             -$                 -$                 

177-21-446-10-910-178 Transfer to fund 178 (W-46) -                   -                   -                       1,500,000        
177-21-447-10-910-178 Transfer to fund 178 (W-47) 192,334           -                   409,166           409,166           
- - - - - - - - - - -

Total Water Authority 192,334$         2,287$             409,166$         1,909,166$      

177-21-211-40-342-000 Connection Fees 202,541$         421,060$         1,200,000$      850,000$         

177-21-211-70-361-000 Interest Income 211,359           165,322           40,000             30,000             

177-21-170-70-364-000 Unrealized gain/loss on investment -                       81,511             -                   -                   

Total Water - Connection Fees 413,901$         667,893$         1,240,000$      880,000$         

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2020-22
Initial
Budget 

124Page 413

Item 33.



 

 

Water Authority 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW� 

178-21-211-40-344-000 Utility Service Revenue 6,221,940$      5,991,611$      6,300,000$      6,200,000$      

Total Water - Charge for Services 6,221,940$      5,991,611$      6,300,000$      6,200,000$      

Other Charges, Interes, and Grants  

178-21-211-40-342-000 Other Charges 133,689$         96,279$           140,000$         110,000$         

178-21-211-40-348-000 Connection Fees 19,670             22,474             20,000             20,000             

178-21-211-90-369-000 Other Revenue (140)                 191                  -                   -                   

178-21-211-90-370-000 Ground Water Replenishment 433,729           437,331           540,000           450,000           

178-21-211-91-369-000 Other Revenue 31,582             980                  37,000             -                   

178-21-330-40-337-000 State Prop 84 Grant-Round 3 148,155           31,701             -                   -                   

178-21-330-41-338-000 State Prop 84 Grant -Round 4 5,697               206                  -                   -                   

178-21-330-40-335-000 Prop 1 DAC Involvement -                       11,050             -                   -                   

178-21-211-70-361-000 Interest Income 162,518           144,562           -                   -                   

178-12-311-70-361-000 Interest Income 216                  -                       -                   -                   

178-12-170-70-365-000 Interest Income - fiscal agent -                       300                  -                   -                   

178-21-170-70-364-000 Unrealized gain/loss on investment -                       74,056             -                   -                   

178-21-330-40-336-000 Sate Prop 84 Grant 814                  -                       -                   -                   

178-21-435-30-330-000 Prop 84 - Shady Lane (W-35) -                       -                       -                   -                   

178-21-437-30-330-000 Prop 1 DAC Involvement Grant(W-37) -                       22,267             -                   1,100,000        

178-21-330-41-339-000 Water - Conservation Rebate Program -                       -                       55,000             100,000           

Total Water - Other Charges, Interest, and Grants 935,932$         841,397$         792,000$         1,780,000$      

Total Water Revenues Before Transfers 7,571,772$      7,500,900$      8,332,000$      8,860,000$      

Transfers In

178-21-432-90-152-000 Transfers In From Fund 152 (W-32) 81,599$           -$                 -$                 -$                 

178-21-437-90-152-000 Transfers In From Fund 152 (W-37) 58,461             -                       -                   -                   

178-21-447-90-177-000 Transfers In From Fund 177 (W-47) 192,334           -                       -                   409,166           

178-21-446-40-177-000 Transfers In From Fund 177 (W-46) -                       -                       -                   1,500,000        

178-21-330-40-XXX Account Title -                       -                       -                   -                   

Total Water - Transfers In 332,393$         -$                 -$                 1,909,166$      

Total Coachella Water Authority 8,318,066$      8,168,793$      9,572,000$      11,649,166$    

125Page 414

Item 33.



 

 

Water Authority 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW�-�$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Water Authority Administration 

178-21-115-10-110-000 Regular employees 575,579$         635,402$         695,501$         716,118$         

178-21-115-10-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 38,007             43,129             73,301             76,600             
178-21-115-10-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 11,024             12,654             4,050               4,050               
178-21-115-10-120-000 Temporary/part-time employees 52,558             14,403             -                       -                   
178-21-115-10-132-000 Other salary payments 4,483               3,937               10,416             10,915             
178-21-115-10-210-000 Group insurance 124,143           213,933           179,050           164,013           
178-21-115-10-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 9,135               9,643               10,858             11,417             
178-21-115-10-230-000 PERS contributions 136,138           257,350           187,175           103,349           

178-21-115-10-240-000 Pension Expense 25,015             -                   -                       -                   
178-21-115-10-241-000 OPEB Expense (6,254)              -                   -                       -                   
178-21-115-10-310-000 Official/administrative 41,646             51,220             30,000             30,000             
178-21-115-10-331-000 Audit services 338                  569                  18,000             18,000             
178-21-115-10-332-001 City Attorney Services-reimbursable cost 4,550               287                  -                       -                   
178-21-115-10-332-002 City Attorney services - special services 90,065             55,874             -                       -                   
178-21-115-10-334-000 Professional/contract services 78,164             223,222           200,000           150,000           
178-21-115-10-334-001 Merchant Account Fees 42,137             58,521             45,000             -                   
178-21-115-10-335-000 Franchise Fee Exp. 156,760           136,380           156,760           156,760           
178-21-115-10-336-000 In Lieu Tax Exp. 103,020           103,020           103,020           103,020           
178-21-115-10-337-000 Utility Support Program 2,000               2,800               2,000               2,000               
178-21-115-10-430-000 Repairs and maintenance -                   734                  159,483           -                   
178-21-115-10-442-000 Rental of Equipment & Vehicles 163                  -                   2,000               2,000               
178-21-115-10-530-000 Communications 8,068               10,621             10,000             10,000             
178-21-115-10-540-000 Advertising 170                  16,178             25,000             25,000             
178-21-115-10-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel 3,860               2,066               10,000             10,000             
178-21-115-10-610-000 General supplies 7,459               11,144             10,000             10,000             
178-21-115-10-611-000 Minor Equipment -                   5,795               3,000               5,000               
178-21-115-10-612-000 Minor Software <5000 -                   -                   30,000             5,000               
178-21-115-10-641-000 Dues and subscriptions 10,219             20,595             28,718             26,500             
178-21-115-10-851-008 Principal payments - 2008  USDA Bonds -                   -                   77,094             80,467             
178-21-115-10-851-012 Principal payments - 2012 Water Bonds -                   -                   455,000           470,000           
178-21-115-10-852-008 Interest payments - 2008 USDA Bonds 193,022           189,790           186,417           184,658           
178-21-115-10-852-012 Interest payments - 2012 Water Bonds 290,620           281,737           301,125           287,175           

178-21-115-10-851-020 Principal payments - 2020 POB -                   -                   -                       200,000           

178-21-115-10-852-020 Interest payments - 2020 POB -                   -                   -                       84,822             
178-21-115-10-891-000 Depreciation expense 1,300,348        1,278,343        1,500,000        1,400,000        
178-21-115-10-918-101 Transfer Out-Gen Gov't Admin Fees 618,502           794,162           970,183           601,435           

-                   -                   Total Water Authority Administration 3,920,939$      4,433,511$      5,483,151$      4,948,299$      

126Page 415

Item 33.



 

 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW�-�2SHUDWLRQV 

Water Authority 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Water Authority Operations

-                   -                   178-21-120-10-110-000 Regular employees 472,299$         462,435$         611,392$         631,985$         

178-21-120-10-114-000 Benefit and leave cash-in 71,573             45,529             83,943             85,984             

178-21-120-10-117-000 Stand-by time/overtime 69,170             109,727           68,375             68,375             

178-21-120-10-120-000 Temporary/part-time employees -                   -                   -                       -                   

178-21-120-10-132-000 Other salary payments -                   150                  10,867             11,371             

178-21-120-10-210-000 Group insurance 90,477             170,221           177,296           187,698           

178-21-120-10-220-000 Payroll tax deductions 9,903               8,868               10,924             11,306             

178-21-120-10-230-000 PERS contributions 139,157           202,671           152,868           87,266             

178-21-120-10-334-000 Professional/contract services 154,600           108,661           120,000           120,000           
178-21-120-10-334-001 Professional services - lab fees 26,292             20,959             40,000             40,000             
178-21-120-10-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 102,969           106,267           100,000           150,000           
178-21-120-10-442-000 Rental of equipment and vehicles 4,095               2,705               12,280             20,000             
178-21-120-10-530-000 Communications 591                  502                  2,000               2,000               
178-21-120-10-610-000 General supplies 163,610           462,034           400,000           250,000           
178-21-120-10-612-000 Computer Software 4,992               -                   15,000             15,000             
178-21-120-10-620-000 Energy charges 438,860           456,238           550,000           550,000           
178-21-120-10-620-001 Ground water replenishment 451,843           455,050           540,000           519,000           
178-21-120-10-741-000 Machinery and equipment -                   -                   33,278             -                   
178-21-120-10-742-000 Vehicles -                   -                   8,200               -                   
178-21-120-10-744-000 Computer Software -                   4,992               -                       -                   
178-21-120-10-801-000 Miscellaneous -                   5,731               -                       -                   

Total Water Authority Operations 2,200,430$      2,622,740$      2,936,423$      2,749,985$      

127Page 416

Item 33.



 

 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW�-�&DSLWDO�([SHQGLWXUHV 

Coachella Water Agency 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Capital Expenditures
178-06-148-10-739-023 Turf Buyback-Prop 84 Round 3 60,899$           5,798$             55,000$           -$                 

178-21-421-10-734-000 W21 Water Master Plan 110,719           -                   -                       -                   
178-21-432-10-734-000 W-32 Mesquite Water MA-Prof Services -                   118,430           -                   
178-21-432-10-737-000 W-32 Mesquite Water MA-Construction -                   17,000             888,541           
178-21-433-10-734-000 W33 Chromium 6 Treatment Sys-Prof Service -                   851,465           -                       -                   
178-21-435-10-734-000 W-35 Shady Lane Co-Professional Services -                   68,282             750,000           
178-21-437-10-737-000 W-37 Well 20-Construction -                   -                   21,800             -                   
178-21-438-10-737-000 W-38 3.6Mg Reservoir Interior Relining -                   -                   450,000           450,000           
178-21-441-10-737-000 W-41 Valve Replacement -                   -                   100,000           100,000           
178-21-445-10-737-000 W-45 Aging Pipeline Replacement -                   -                   500,000           500,000           
178-21-446-10-737-000 Well 20 (150 Zone) -                   -                   -                       3,000,000        
178-21-447-10-737-000 W-47 Advanced Meter Infrastructure 192,334           -                   518,462           518,462           
178-21-448-10-737-000 W-48 SCADA System Update -                   -                   150,000           150,000           
178-21-450-10-737-000 W-37 Castro's Water System Consolidation -                   -                   -                       1,110,833        

Total Capital Expenditures 363,952$         857,263$         1,998,975$      7,467,836$      

128Page 417

Item 33.



 

 

7KH�&RDFKHOOD� )LUH� 3URWHFWLRQ�'LVWULFW� �WKH�'LVWULFW��ZDV� FUHDWHG� LQ�'HFHPEHU�
�����WR�SURYLGH�ILUH�SURWHFWLRQ�VHUYLFHV�WR�WKH�UHVLGHQWV�RI�WKH�&LW\�RI�&RDFKHOOD��
7KH� 'LVWULFW� LV� FRQVLGHUHG� D� FRPSRQHQW� XQLW� RI� WKH� &LW\� RI� &RDFKHOOD� IRU�
ILQDQFLDO� UHSRUWLQJ� SXUSRVHV�� 7KH� 5LYHUVLGH� &RXQW\� )LUH� 3URWHFWLRQ� 'LVWULFW�
SURYLGHV�DOO�QHFHVVDU\�VHUYLFHV�WKDW�DUH�GHVFULEHG�LQ�D�FRQWUDFW�EHWZHHQ�WKH�WZR�

HQWLWLHV�� � *RYHUQDQFH� LV� SURYLGHG� E\� WKH� &LW\� &RXQFLO� ZKRVH� PHPEHUV� DOVR� VHUYH� DV� WKH�
'LVWULFW¶V�%RDUG�RI�'LUHFWRUV���7KH�ERDUG�IXQGV�WKH�'LVWULFW�WKURXJK�WUDQVIHUV�IURP�WKH�&LW\¶V�
JHQHUDO� IXQG�� SURSHUW\� WD[� FROOHFWHG�� LQWHUHVW� HDUQHG� RQ� LQYHVWPHQWV�� DQG� PLVFHOODQHRXV�
VRXUFHV��)L[HG�DVVHWV�LQFOXGH�VWUXFWXUHV�DQG�HTXLSPHQW�WKDW�H[LVWHG�SULRU�WR�WKH�FRQWUDFW�ZLWK�
WKH�&RXQW\�)LUH�3URWHFWLRQ�'LVWULFW� 
 
7KH� 'LVWULFW� XWLOL]HV� WKH� VDPH� )LVFDO� &RQWURO� 2UGLQDQFH�� DV� DGRSWHG� E\� WKH� &LW\�� ZKLFK�
SURYLGHV�IRU�D�V\VWHP�RI�ILVFDO�DQG�EXGJHWDU\�FRQWUROV�� 
 
7KH�'LVWULFW� LV� FXUUHQWO\� VWDIIHG�E\�RQH� ���� HQJLQH� FRPSDQ\� WKDW� VWDIIV� WKUHH� ����)LUH�&DS�
WDLQV��RQH�����(QJLQHHU��RQH�����(QJLQHHU�PHGLF��RQH�����)LUHILJKWHU�,,��IRXU�����)LUHILJKWHU�,,�
PHGLFV��DQG�RQH�����2IILFH�DVVLVWDQW� 
 
,Q� DGGLWLRQ� WR� WKH� VWDIIHG� SRVLWLRQV�� DQ� DFWLYH� YROXQWHHU� SURJUDP� ERDVWV� D� FRPSDQ\� WKDW�
FRQVLVWV�RI�D�VWDII�RI�DSSUR[LPDWHO\�RQH�����9ROXQWHHU�)LUHILJKWHU� 
 
$FWLYLW\�IRU�WKH�SDVW�ILVFDO�\HDU�LQFOXGHV�WKH�IROORZLQJ��DSSUR[��������UHVSRQVHV��� 
 

 

Fire Protection District 

129Page 418

Item 33.



 

 

$FWLYLW\�IRU�WKH������FDOHQGDU�\HDU�LQFOXGHV�WKH�IROORZLQJ� 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Fire Protection District (Continued) 

Response By Category
Jan 1 2019 to 

December 31st, 
2020

Percentage of 
Total
Calls

Com Fire 7.0                                 0.227%

False Alarm 198.0                             6.410%

Hax Mat 6.0                                 0.194%

Medical 2,321.0                          75.138%

Multi-Fam Dwelling Fire 1.0                                 0.032%

Other Fire 69.0                               2.234%

Other Misc 41.0                               1.327%

Public Service Assistance 59.0                               1.910%

Residential Fire 18.0                               0.583%

Rescue 2.0                                 0.065%

Ringing Alarm 12.0                               0.388%

Standby 21.0                               0.680%

Traffic Collision 249.0                             8.061%

Vehide Fire 32.0                               1.036%

Wild and Fire 53.0                               1.716%

Total 3,089                   100.00%

Deparment Call Volume

130Page 419

Item 33.



'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

Component Units 
Coachella Fire Protection District 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW� 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Fire Protection District

240-12-110-10-311-000 County administrative charges 3,020$    3,602$    5,000$    5,000$    

240-12-110-10-331-000 Audit services 281  569  10,000  10,000  

240-12-110-10-334-000 Professional/contract services 2,681,072  3,073,168  3,350,107  3,108,456  

240-12-110-10-430-000 Repair and maintenance services 9,187  6,757  30,000  30,000  

240-12-110-10-540-000 Advertising -   -   -  1,000  

240-12-110-10-580-000 Meetings, conferences and travel -   277  1,000  1,000  

240-12-110-10-610-000 General supplies 932  1,777  4,000  4,000  

240-12-110-10-611-000 Minor Equip, Furniture <5,000 -   3,668  -  -   

240-12-110-10-612-000 Computer software -   -   1,000  1,000  

240-12-110-10-640-000 Books and periodicals -   -   500  500  

240-12-110-10-741-000 Machinery and equipment -   -   350,000  -   

240-12-110-10-801-000 Miscellaneous 1,043  4,304  1,000  1,000  

240-12-110-90-930-101 General government allocation 116,582  142,390  188,986  164,185  

Total Fire Protection District 2,812,118$      3,236,511$      3,941,593$      3,326,141$      

240 240-12-110-10-303-000 Supplemental Property Tax 26,281  23,727  28,000  29,000  

240 240-12-110-10-304-000 Unsecured Property Tax 15,940  15,865  15,000  15,000  

240 240-12-110-10-395-000 RPTTF (Low/Mod) 100,833  4,900  -  -  

240 240-12-110-10-396-000 RPTTF Pass-Through 405,773  486,197  80,000  455,000  

240 240-12-110-10-398-000 RPTTF Residual (0)  -  320,000  -  

240 240-12-151-30-333-000 Homeowners Prop Tax Relief 4,868  3,126  4,000  3,000  

240 240-12-110-10-319-000 Delinquent Taxes, Interest & Penalties 3,038  1,655  2,000  2,000  

240 240-12-110-40-342-000 Other Charges 101,028  40,880  100,000  100,000  

240 240-12-311-70-361-000 Interest and Rents 20,017  10,917  -  -  

240 240-12-311-90-369-000 Other Revenue 17,315  14,201  -  -  

Total Fire Protection District Revenues Before Transfers 1,060,745  962,101  921,300  987,400  

Tansfers-in

240 240-12-151-90-101-000 Transfers In - General Fund 1,224,826  1,630,963  2,126,978  1,576,941  

240 240-12-151-90-150-000 Transfers In From Fund 150 -  -  -  -  

240 240-12-151-90-241-000 Transfers In - CFD 535,743  640,625  714,878  761,800  

240 240-12-151-90-152-000 Transfers In From Fund 152 (SAFER) -  -  178,437  -  

Total Fire Protection District Transfers-In 1,760,569$    2,271,588$    3,020,293$    2,338,741$      

Total Fire Protection District 2,821,314$    3,233,689$    3,941,593$    3,326,141$      

131Page 420

Item 33.



 

7KH�&RDFKHOOD�(GXFDWLRQDO�DQG�*RYHUQPHQWDO�$FFHVV�&DEOH�&RUSRUDWLRQ��LV�IXQGHG�WR�SURYLGH�
WKH�FRPPXQLW\�ZLWK�WHOHYLVHG�FRYHUDJH�RI�WKH�&LW\�&RXQFLO�PHHWLQJV� 

7KH�UHYHQXH�IRU�WKLV�IXQG�LV�D���������WUDQVIHU�IURP�WKH�*HQHUDO�)XQG��7KH�H[SHQGLWXUHV�IRU�WKH�
EXGJHW�DUH�EDVHG�RQ�WZR�&LW\�&RXQFLO�PHHWLQJV�SHU�PRQWK�DQG�LQFOXGH�SURIHVVLRQDO�VHUYLFHV�DQG�
RSHUDWLQJ�VXSSOLHV��7KH�HVWLPDWHG�FRVWV�IRU�WKLV�\HDU�DUH����������� 

'HWDLOHG�5HYHQXH�%XGJHW 

'HWDLOHG�([SHQVH�%XGJHW 

Government Access and Cable 
Corporation 

 FY 2018-19 
Actual 

 FY 2019-20 
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2021-22 
Initial Budget 

Education and Government Access Cable

390-12-192-10-334-000 Professional/contract services 11,580$    11,580$    32,000$    32,000$    
- 

Total Education and Government Access Cable 11,580$    11,580$    32,000$    32,000$    

 FY 2018-19
Actual 

 FY 2019-20
Actual 

 FY 2020-21 
Estimated
Year End 

 FY 2020-22
Initial
Budget 

Education and Gov't Access Cable

390-12-211-90-101-000 Transfers In-General Fund 32,000$    -$    32,000$    -$    

390-12-311-31-331-000 Time Warner Cable Grant 11,580  11,580  -  11,580  

Total Education and Gov't Access Cable 43,580$    11,580$    32,000$    11,580$   

132Page 421

Item 33.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Luis Lopez, Development Services Director 

SUBJECT: B-4 Ranch Change of Zone Project  

a) Resolution No. 2021-36, Environmental Assessment (EA 2-04) adopting a 

Negative Declaration pursuant to the environmental review guidelines of the 

California Environmental Quality Act.  

b) Ordinance No. 1183, Change of Zone (CZ 20-07) to change the zoning from 

R-S (Single Family Residential) and R-M (Multiple Family Residential) to 

R‐M Urban (20‐38 du/ac), R‐M General (20‐25 du/ac), and Neighborhood 

Commercial (C‐N) on approximately 56.9 acres of vacant, agricultural land 

located on the north side of Avenue 52, east and west of Education Way 

(APN: 763-060-048).  City-Initiated. (First Reading) 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2021-36 adopting a Negative 

Declaration, pursuant to CEQA Guidelines, and introduce for first reading, by title only, Ordinance 

No. 1183 approving Change of Zone No. 20-07 for the B-4 Ranch Change of Zone Project.  

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

The B-4 Ranch Change of Zone project (“Project”) is located on approximately 56.9 acres north 

of Avenue 52, and west and east of Education Way (APN: 763-060-048). The City initiated effort 

is proposing a Change of Zone from the existing Single Family Residential (R‐S) and Multiple 

Family Residential (R‐M) designations to R‐M Urban (20‐38 du/ac), R‐M General (20‐25 du/ac), 

and Neighborhood Commercial (C‐N).  

 

The Change of Zone will help create adequate zoning capacity to meet the City’s 5th Cycle 

Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA), consistent with the adopted Housing Element and 

General Plan. It will also allow a mixture of housing types available to all residents including 

market rate housing and affordable housing. The Project proposes a Change of Zone only, no 

development plans are proposed at this time for the property. The Planning Commission 

recommended approval of the Project on May 5, 2021. The exhibit below shows the project 

location. 

Page 422

Item 34.



 
 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

The City of Coachella initiated Change of Zone No. 20-07 at the request of the State of California 

– Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) pursuant to a mandatory re-zoning 

effort called out in the City’s Housing Element.  The Change of Zone’s main purpose is to create 

additional “development ready” multifamily residential zoning to accommodate the City’s 

Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) from the 5th Cycle carryover which is required to be 

completed as part of the City’s 2013-2021 Housing Element. Communities use the RHNA in land 

use planning, prioritizing local resource allocation, and in deciding how to address identified 

existing and future housing needs resulting from population, employment, and household growth. 

The rezoning is anticipated to allow for the development of approximately 1,314 dwelling units as 

shown below in Table 4, Potential Project Units. The project would help create adequate zoning 

capacity to meet the City’s 5th Cycle RHNA Allocation consistent with the adopted Housing 

Element and General Plan.  

 

 

Page 423

Item 34.



The Change of Zone will re-designate the property as shown below in Table 1 and illustrated in 

Figure 3 Proposed Change of Zone: 

 

Table 1: Current and Proposed Zoning 

 

Current Zoning  

 Residential Single Family (R-S) 

 Residential Multiple Family (R-M) 

Proposed Zoning 

 Residential Multiple Family (R-M) - General: 20-25 Du./Ac. 

 Residential Multiple Family (R-M) - Urban: 20-38 Du./Ac. 

 Neighborhood Commercial (C-N) 

 

 

The proposed Change of Zone will allow for Multi-Family Residential and Commercial 

Neighborhood uses. The R-M and C-N zones are intended to provide for the establishment and 

expansion of multiple family residential development areas at various medium and high population 

densities, including market rate housing, and related community services. The proposed zones are 

consistent with the project’s land use designations of Urban Neighborhood and Neighborhood 

Center, established by the Coachella General Plan Update (CGPU) and therefore a General Plan 

Amendment is not needed for this project. 

 

Land Use and Proposed Zoning Breakdown: 

 

The project site is approximately 56.9 acres. The project proposes R-M General (20-25 du/ac) on 

approximately 29.3 acres of the site, R-M Urban (20-38 du/ac) on approximately 22.6 acres of the 

site, and C-N on approximately 4.1 acres of the site as illustrated in Figure 3 below. R-M General 

land uses permits 20 to 25 dwelling units per acre; therefore, the R-M General portion of the project 

site may include an average of 659 dwelling units. The R-M Urban land use permits 20 to 38 du/ac; 

therefore, this portion of the site could accommodate an average of 655 dwelling units. The project 

site in total could accommodate an average of approximately 1,314 dwelling units. This is shown 

in Table 3, Potential Project Units. 

 

The current General Plan Land Use category acreages, the Zoning District acreages, and the total 

dwelling unit yield for the project site are as shown below: 

 
 

Table 2 Existing GP Land Use Designations 

Land Use  Acres 

Urban Neighborhood  51.9 

Neighborhood Center  4.1 

Total* 56 

*Approximate value 

Page 424

Item 34.



 

 

Table 3 Proposed Zoning 

Proposed Zoning  Acres 

R-M General (20-25 du/ac) 29.3 

R-M Urban (20-38 du/ac) 22.6 

Neighborhood Commercial 4.1 

Total* 56 

*Approximate value 

 

Table 4 Potential Project Units 

Proposed Zone Acres Allowed DU Mid Density Total DU/AC 

R-M General 29.3 20-25 du/ac 22.5 du/ac 659 

R-M Urban  22.6 20-38 du/ac 29 du/ac 655 

Total  1,314 

 

Currently, the site has a split-zone (R-S and R-M) consisting of R-S (Residential Single-Family) 

on the west side of Education Way (north of the IID Powerline Easement) and R-M (Multifamily 

Residential) zoning on the south of the IID Powerline easement.  The territory on the east side of 

Education Way and the area north of the Valle Del Sol Elementary School consists of R-S zoning, 

except for the southerly 215 feet of the land which has R-M zoning.  

 

The proposed Change of Zone Exhibit will change the zoning to C-N (Neighborhood Commercial) 

for the southerly 4.1 acres located west of Education Way.  The northerly 3.9 acres west of 

Education Way will have R-M General (20-25 du/ac) zoning.  Similarly the area west of Education 

Way and north of the elementary school will have R-M Urban (25-38 du/ac) zoning for the 

southerly 25.6 acres, and R-M General (20-25 du/ac) zoning for the northerly 25.4 acres.  These 

more specific R-M districts with “minimum density” requirements, will allow further development 

of the sites without the need for additional discretionary actions, and are consistent with State Laws 

regarding the low and moderate income categories of the Regional Housing Needs Allocation.   

 

The Change of Zone Exhibit is shown below:  
 

Page 425

Item 34.



 
Figure 3: Proposed Change of Zone 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 426

Item 34.



ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW: 

 

The City of Coachella as the lead agency for this project prepared an Initial Study pursuant to the 

guidelines of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). This Initial Study has been 

prepared in accordance with CEQA Guidelines Section 15063(c) to provide a preliminary analysis 

of the proposed project’s actions and to determine if the project, as proposed, may have a 

significant effect upon the environment.  Staff undertook review of the proposed rezoning and 

determined the project COULD NOT have a significant effect on the environment, and 

subsequently a NEGATIVE DECLARATION has been prepared.   

 

Attached to this staff report is Resolution No. 2021-36 adopting a Negative Declaration for the 

project, pursuant to CEQA review guidelines.  A copy of the Notice of Intent to Adopt a Negative 

Declaration and the Initial Study/Negative Declaration document are attached to this report.  The 

City Council must adopt the environmental documents, prior to approving the Change of Zone 

item.  

 

ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1. Adopt the attached Resolution approving EA 20-04 and Introduce for 1st reading, by title only, 

Ordinance No. 1138 approving Change of Zone (CZ 20-07). 

2. Take no action.  

3. Continue this item and provide staff with direction.  

 

RECOMMENDED ALTERNATIVE(S): 
 

Staff recommends Alternative #1 as noted above. 

 
 
Attachment:   Resolution No. 2021-36 

Notice of Intent to Adopt a Negative Declaration 

  CEQA Initial Study/ Negative Declaration  

  Ordinance No. 1138 (1st Reading) 

 

 

 

Page 427

Item 34.



RESOLUTION NO. 2021-36 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE COACHELLA, 

CALIFORNIA ADOPTING A NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

(ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT NO. 20-04) FOR THE B-4 RANCH 

CHANGE OF ZONE PROJECT, PURSUANT TO CEQA GUIDELINES, 

CONSISTING OF CHANGE OF ZONE (CZ 20-07) FOR 56.9 ACRES 

LOCATED ON THE NORTH SIDE OF AVENUE 52, EAST AND WEST OF 

EDUCATION WAY.  CITY-INITIATED. 

 

WHEREAS, the Proposed Project, as set forth in Environmental Assessment (EA 20-04) 

and Change of Zone (CZ 20-07) consists of the above-referenced application on approximately 

56.9 acres of vacant agricultural land located on the north side of Avenue 52, east and west of 

Education Way (APN: 763-060-048); and the Project seeks to bring the properties into compliance 

with the General Plan’s “Land Use and Community Character Element”; and   

 

WHEREAS, the General Plan Land Use Map and Sub-Area 1 policies, call for the 

subject property to include medium to high-density residential uses in close proximity to 

commercial uses, and to create an urban pattern that includes short blocks with good street 

connectivity and pedestrian amenities; and   

 

WHEREAS, Prior to the approval of this Change of Zone (CZ 18-10), the project site 

contains only two zoning districts: R-S (Residential Single-Family) and R-M (Multiple-Family 

Residential).  Neither of these two zones provides the proper density and variety of housing 

types envisioned by the General Plan; and  

 

WHEREAS, to bring the site into compliance with the General Plan, and to comply with 

the City’s Housing Element re-zoning requirements, the City of Coachella Development 

Services with the consent of the Property Owner proposes to create the following Zoning 

Districts: 

 

 R-M General (Multiple-Family Residential, 20 – 25 DU/AC)  

 R-M Urban (Multiple-Family Residential, 25-38 DU/AC)  

 C-N (Neighborhood Commercial); and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City completed Environmental Assessment/Initial Study (EA 20-04) 

for the Proposed Project pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act, as amended; and  

 

WHEREAS, based on this Environmental Assessment/Initial Study the City has made 

a determination that the Project will not have a significant impact on the environment and has 

prepared a Negative Declaration for this Project; and  

 

WHEREAS, a Notice of Intent to Adopt a Negative Declaration was posted with the 

County Clerk and the proposed Mitigated Negative was made available for a 20-day public 

review period commencing on March 25, 2021 and ending on April 13, 2021; and  

 

Page 428

Item 34.



Resolution No. 2021-36 

Page 2 

 

WHEREAS, interested and concerned individuals and public agencies had the 

opportunity to review and comment on the proposed Negative Declaration; and  

 

WHEREAS, findings of the Initial Study indicated that the Proposed Project would not 

create any significant impacts to the environment; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Proposed Project would not be detrimental to the general health, safety 

and welfare of the community; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council conducted a duly noticed public hearing on Change of 

Zone No. 20-07 on June 9, 2021 in the Council Chambers, 1515 Sixth Street, Coachella, 

California to consider staff recommendations and prior written and oral testimony regarding the 

project and wherein the public was given an opportunity to testify; and  

 

WHEREAS, a Negative Declaration was prepared in accordance with the California 

Environmental Quality Act, as amended. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved that the City Council has considered the Negative 

Declaration prepared for Change of Zone 20-07 (CZ 20-07) under Environmental Assessment No. 

20-04 (EA 20-04), attached hereto, and has determined that the project would have no significant 

deleterious effect on the environment and orders that a Negative Declaration be adopted and filed 

pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act, as amended, for CZ 20-07 for approximately 

56.9 acres of vacant, agricultural land located on the north side of Avenue 52, east and west of 

Education Way further identified as Assessor Parcel Number 763-060-048. 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED, this 23rd day of June 2021. 

 

___________________________________                                                                                        

Steven A Hernandez 

Mayor         

 

 

ATTEST:  

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Capos 

City Attorney 

Page 429

Item 34.



Resolution No. 2021-36 

Page 3 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA        ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE       ) ss. 

CITY OF COACHELLA           ) 

 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-36 was duly adopted by 

the City Council of the City of Coachella at a regular meeting thereof, held on this 23rd day of June 

2021, by the following vote of Council: 

 

AYES:   

 

NOES:   

 

ABSENT:  

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

 

 

___________________________________                                                      

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy City Clerk 

Page 430

Item 34.



 

 CITY OF COACHELLA 
 Development Services Department 
 
  
 53-990 Enterprise Way 
 Coachella CA 92236 
 (760) 398-3102 
  
  

 
 

NOTICE OF INTENT TO ADOPT A NEGATIVE DECLARATION 
 
Project Title/Location:  B-4 Ranch Re-Zone Project 

North Side of Avenue 52, east and west of Education Way, the City of Coachella, CA  
 

Project Description: 
 
Change of Zone No. 20-07 proposes a Change of Zone from the existing Single Family Residential (R-S) 
and Multiple Family Residential (R-M) zones to R-M General (20-25 dwelling units per acre (du/ac)), R-
M Urban (20-38 du/ac), and Neighborhood Commercial (C-N). The proposed zones are consistent with 
the City of Coachella’s General Plan land use designations of Urban Neighborhood and Neighborhood 
Center. The subject site is approximately 56.9 acres of land north of Avenue 52, and west and east of 
Education Way.  
 
An Environmental Initial Study recommending the adoption of a Negative Declaration for EA 18-04 has 
been prepared and distributed to responsible agencies for review and comment pursuant to the guidelines 
of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). A 20-day review period for the Negative 
Declaration will commence on March 25, 2021 and will end on April 13, 2021 for interested and 
concerned individuals and public agencies to submit written comments on the Initial Study. Any written 
comments on the proposed Negative Declaration must be received within the public review period. Below 
is the weblink to the City Webpage containing the Initial Study and Negative Declaration for the B-$ 
Ranch Re-Zone Project. 
 
        https://www.coachella.org/departments/development-services/environmental-reviews 
 
The Planning Commission will hold a public hearing to consider the proposed project on April 21, 2021 
to review the CEQA Draft documents for adequacy. 
 
Copies of the proposed Negative Declaration and all environmental documents are available for review at 
the City of Coachella - Development Services Department located at 53-990 Enterprise Way, Coachella, 
CA 92236  Monday through Thursday, from 7:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., by appointment. 
 
Comments on the proposed Negative Declaration should be sent to Luis Lopez, Development Services 
Director at the above referenced address or by e-mail to LLopez@Coachella.org. 
 
The proposed project site is not contained on the lists compiled pursuant to Section 65962.5 of the 
California Government Code.  

Page 431

Item 34.

https://www.coachella.org/departments/development-services/environmental-reviews


 
 

Initial Study / Negative Declaration for 

Peter Rabbit Re‐Zone 

Site ID: 24 

 

 

LEAD AGENCY: 

City of Coachella 
Development Services Department 

1515 Sixth Street 
Coachella, CA 92236 

 

	

  APPLICANT: 
City of Coachella 

c/o Luis Lopez, Development Services Director 
53990 Enterprise Way 
Coachella, CA 92236 

 
 
 
 

PREPARED BY: 

 
MSA Consulting, Inc. 

34200 Bob Hope Drive 

Rancho Mirage, CA 92270 

Page 432

Item 34.



 
 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone Site 24 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

i 

Table of Contents 
Chapter 1 Introduction .............................................................................................................................. 1 

 Overview .................................................................................................................................. 1 

 Authority .................................................................................................................................. 1 

 Scope of Environmental Review .............................................................................................. 1 

 Impact Assessment Terminology ............................................................................................. 2 

 Organization of the Initial Study .............................................................................................. 2 

 Documents Incorporated by Reference .................................................................................. 3 

Chapter 2 Project Description .................................................................................................................... 4 

 Project Description .................................................................................................................. 4 

 Proposed Land Use Breakdown ............................................................................................... 5 

 General Plan and Zoning Designation ...................................................................................... 5 

2.4              Environmental Setting and Surrounding Land Uses ................................................................ 6 

2.5   Permits/Approvals required from public agencies .................................................................. 6 

Exhibit 1        Regional Location Map………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 7 

Exhibit 2        Vicinity Map………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 8 

Exhibit 3        Aerial Map ..………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 9 

Exhibit 4        Project Site Plan ….………………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 10 

Environmental Impact Analysis  

I. AESTHETICS.............................................................................................................................. 14 

II. AGRICULTURAL RESOURCES .................................................................................................... 22 

III. AIR QUALITY ............................................................................................................................ 26 

IV. BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES ......................................................................................................... 35 

V. CULTURAL RESOURCES ............................................................................................................ 38 

VI. ENERGY .................................................................................................................................... 41 

VII. GEOLOGY AND SOILS ............................................................................................................... 51 

VIII. GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS ................................................................................................ 59 

IX. HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS ................................................................................ 64 

X. HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY ........................................................................................ 72 

XI. LAND USE AND PLANNING ...................................................................................................... 79 

XII. MINERAL RESOURCES .............................................................................................................. 82 

XIII. NOISE ....................................................................................................................................... 84 

XIV. POPULATION AND HOUSING ................................................................................................... 96 

XV. PUBLIC SERVICES ................................................................................................................... 100 

XVI. RECREATION .......................................................................................................................... 104 

Page 433

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

ii 

XVII. TRANSPORTATION ................................................................................................................. 105 

XVIII. TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES .............................................................................................. 111 

XIX. UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS .......................................................................................... 113 

XX. WILDFIRE ............................................................................................................................... 117 

XXI. MANDATORY FINDINGS OF SIGNIFICANCE ........................................................................... 120 

 

Page 434

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

1 

Chapter 1 Introduction 

 Overview 

The  Peter  Rabbit  Re‐Zoning  project  (“project”)  is  located  on  approximately  56.9  acres  in  the  City  of 
Coachella. The site is formed by a parcel (APN 763‐060‐048) north of 52nd Avenue, and west and east of 
Education Way. The City of Coachella  (the Applicant)  is proposing a Change of Zone  from the existing 
Single Family Residential  (R‐S) and Multiple Family Residential  (R‐M)  to R‐M Urban, R‐M General, and 
Neighborhood Commercial  (C‐N). Future development of  the site  is  intended to  include a multi‐family 
housing  community  with  a  variety  of  pricing  options  and  with  commercial  uses  on  the  56.9‐acre 
property.  
 
The  project  site  has  been  disturbed  due  to  its  previous  use  as  an  agricultural  operation.  Based  on 
historical  aerial  imagery,  the  site  was  intermittently  utilized  as  agricultural  fields,  being  harvested, 
cleared and  graded,  since before 1953. However,  onsite  agricultural  operations have  ceased,  and  the 
property  is  currently  fallow.  The  property’s  southern  boundary  is  met  by  52nd  Avenue;  the  eastern 
boundary  is met by single family dwelling units;  the northern boundary  is met by the Coachella Valley 
Stormwater Channel, and  the western boundary  is met by  residential dwelling units and Valle Del Sol 
Elementary School.  
 
The project site is currently located within the City of Coachella’s General Plan Urban Neighborhood and 
Neighborhood Center land use designations. Urban Neighborhood land use designations are established 
for predominantly multi‐family housing types with very good non‐motorized access to a wide range of 
civic  and  commercial  amenities  located  at  the  edges  and/or  within  the  mixed‐use  fabric  of  the 
neighborhood. Neighborhood Center land use designations are intended to provide for a concentration 
of  neighborhood‐serving  commercial  businesses  and  civic  amenities  –  often  mixed  with  multi‐family 
housing – within convenient walking or biking distance of nearby neighborhoods.  
 
As  previously  stated,  the  existing  zoning  designations  for  the  project  site  includes  Single  Family 
Residential (R‐S) and Multiple Family Residential (R‐M). R‐S zones are intended to provide areas within 
the City where development  is  limited to  low‐density concentrations of single‐family dwellings, and to 
stabilize and protect the residential character of such areas. R‐M zones are intended to provide for the 
establishment and expansion of multiple‐family residential development areas at various medium and 
high population densities and related community services.  
 
The project is proposing a Change of Zone from R‐S and R‐M to R‐M General, 20‐25 dwelling units per 
acre  (du/ac),  R‐M Urban,  20‐38 du/ac,  and Neighborhood Commercial  (C‐N).  The proposed  zones  are 
consistent with the existing General Plan land use designations; therefore, the only entitlement required 
for  this  project  includes  a  Change  of  Zone.  However,  additional  entitlements,  such  as  Architecture 
Review  and  Tentative  Parcel Maps, would  be  required  if  future  development  of  the  56.9‐acre  site  is 
proposed. The Change of Zone will create adequate zoning capacity to meet the City’s 5th Cycle Regional 
Housing  Needs  Allocation  (RHNA),  consistent  with  the  adopted  Housing  Element.  It  will  also  allow  a 
mixture of housing types available to all residents including market rate housing and affordable housing.  

 Authority 

The  City  of  Coachella  is  the  lead  agency  for  the  proposed  Peter  Rabbit  Re‐Zone  project.  The  City 
undertook the review of the applicant’s submittal, and determined that it is a project, as defined by the 

Page 435

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

2 

California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). Since the project  includes a discretionary action, the City 
concluded  that  an  Initial  Study  should  be  prepared.  This  Initial  Study/Negative  Declaration  has  been 
prepared in accordance with Public Resources Code Section 21000 et. seq.   

 Scope of Environmental Review 

This  Initial  Study  evaluates  the  proposed  project’s  potential  environmental  effects  on  the  following 
topics as contained in Appendix G of the CEQA Guidelines, as follows:  
 Aesthetics 
 Agricultural Resources 
 Air Quality 
 Biological Resources 
 Cultural Resources 
 Energy 
 Geology and Soils 
 Greenhouse Gas Emissions 
 Hazards and Hazardous Materials 
 Hydrology and Water Quality 
 Land Use and Planning 
 Mineral Resources 
 Noise 
 Population and Housing 
 Public Services 
 Recreation 
 Transportation 
 Tribal Cultural Resources 
 Utilities and Service Systems 
 Wildfire 
 Mandatory Significance of Findings  

 Impact Assessment Terminology 

The Environmental Checklist identifies impacts using four levels of significance as follows: 

No Impact: When the analysis finds that the project would not affect the environment. 

Less  than  Significant:  When  the  analysis  finds  that  a  project  would  not  substantially  impact  the 
environment and no mitigation is required to reduce the impact to less than significant.  

Less than Significant with Mitigation Incorporated:  When the analysis finds that project would result in 
substantial  impact  on  the  environment,  but  feasible  mitigation  measures  can  be  successfully 
implemented to reduce levels to less than significant.   

Potentially Significant:  When the analysis finds that a project would result in substantial impact on the 
environment  and  no  mitigation  measures  can  implemented  to  reduce  the  impacts  to  less  that 
significant.  

 Organization of the Initial Study 

This Initial Study has been completed in the following format: 

Page 436

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

3 

Chapter 1  Introduction:   This chapter provides a brief summary of the proposed project and describes 
the regulatory framework for the preparation of an Initial Study under CEQA.  

Chapter  2  Project  Description:  This  chapter  provides  a  comprehensive  description  of  the  applicant’s 
proposal for the project, the General Plan and Zoning for the project and the surrounding land uses.   

Chapter 3 Environmental Checklist:   This chapter contains the analysis of each topic identified in CEQA 
Appendix  G,  and  includes  a  discussion  of  the  environmental  setting,  the  project’s  impacts,  the 
determination of significance, and mitigation measures where necessary.  

Chapter 4 References: This chapter  identifies  the documents and technical  reports used for  this  Initial 
Study. 

 Documents Incorporated by Reference 

In addition to the documents listed in Chapter 4, the City of Coachella’s General Plan, General Plan EIR, 
and Municipal Code were used as part of the evaluation of the proposed project. These documents are 
available  on  the  City’s  website  at  www.coachella.org  and  at  the  Development  Services  Department, 
located at 1515 Sixth Street.  

Page 437

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

4 

Chapter 2 Project Description 

 Project Description 

The Peter Rabbit Re‐Zoning project is proposing to change the existing zone of the property from Single 
Family Residential (R‐S) and Multiple Family Residential (R‐M) to R‐M General (20‐25 dwelling units per 
acre  (du/ac)), R‐M Urban (20‐38 du/ac), and Neighborhood Commercial  (C‐N). The project  is currently 
located on approximately 56.9 acres of land, north of 52nd Avenue and west and east of Education Way. 
The  Assessor’s  Parcel  Number  (APN)  for  the  site  is  763‐060‐048.  The  project  property  previously 
operated as  agricultural  land  since at  least 1953; however,  the  site  is  currently  vacant.  The proposed 
zones are consistent with the project’s land use designations of Urban Neighborhood and Neighborhood 
Center, established by the Coachella General Plan Update (CGPU). Development of the site would also 
include landscaping, street improvements, and parking. Vehicular access to the project will be provided 
from 52nd Avenue and Education Way.  
 
The project site is currently vacant, with evidence of prior disturbance, due to the development of the 
surrounding  land  uses,  and  the  previous  agricultural  operation  that  took  place  onsite.  The  project’s 
northern boundary is delineated by the Coachella Valley Stormwater Channel. The eastern boundary is 
met  by  a  residential  community  with  single  family  dwellings.  52nd  Avenue  delineates  the  property’s 
southern boundary, and a residential community with single family and multiple family homes, as well 
as  Valle  Del  Sol  Elementary  School  borders  the  property’s  western  boundary.  Distribution  and 
transmission power poles are  located at  the property’s  southern boundary.  South of 52nd Avenue are 
industrial  land  uses.  The  land  use  designations  for  the  surrounding  area  includes  Suburban 
Neighborhood  to  the  east,  Industrial  District  to  the  south,  Suburban  Neighborhood,  General 
Neighborhood, and School to the west.  
 
R‐M  and  C‐N  zones  are  intended  to  provide  for  the  establishment  and  expansion  of  multiple  family 
residential development areas at various medium and high population densities and related community 
services, all  located in conformance with the general plan. The project proposes to provide housing  in 
compliance  with  the  Regional  Housing  Needs  Assessment  (RHNA).  The  RHNA  is  mandated  by  State 
Housing Law as part of the periodic process of updating local housing elements of the General Plan. The 
RHNA  quantifies  the  need  for  housing  within  each  jurisdiction  during  specified  planning  periods. 
Communities use the RHNA  in  land use planning, prioritizing  local  resource allocation, and  in deciding 
how  to  address  identified  existing  and  future  housing  needs  resulting  from population,  employment, 
and household growth. The project would create adequate zoning capacity to meet the City’s 5th Cycle 
RHNA  Allocation  consistent  with  the  adopted  Housing  Element.  The  project  includes  a  mixture  of 
housing types available to all residents including market rate housing. 
 
The project site is approximately 56.9 acres. The project proposes R‐M General on approximately 29.3 
acres of the site, R‐M Urban on approximately 22.6 acres of the site, and C‐N on approximately 4.1 acres 
of the site. R‐M General land uses permits 20 to 25 dwelling units per acre; therefore, the R‐M General 
portion  of  the  project  site  may  include  an  average  of  659  dwelling  units.  The  R‐M  Urban  land  use 
permits  20  to  38  du/ac;  therefore,  this  portion  of  the  site  could  accommodate  an  average  of  655 
dwelling units. The project site could accommodate an average of approximately 1,314 dwelling units. 
This is shown in Table 3, Potential Project Units.  

Development  of  the  site  would  also  include  landscaping,  street  improvements,  and  parking  areas 
constructed  in compliance with the standards established for Urban Neighborhood and Neighborhood 

Page 438

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

5 

Center land use designations. Approval of the Change of Zone will render the project in full compliance 
with City regulations.   

 Proposed Land Use and Zoning Breakdown 

The proposed breakdown for the project is as follows: 

Table 1 Existing Land Use  

Land Use   Acres 

Urban Neighborhood   51.9 

Neighborhood Center   4.1 

Total* 56 

*Approximate value 

Table 1 Proposed Zoning 

Proposed Zoning   Acres 

R‐M General   29.3 

R‐M Urban   22.6 

Neighborhood Commercial  4.1 

Total* 56 

*Approximate value 

Table 3 Potential Project Units 

Proposed Zone  Acres  Allowed DU  Mid Density  Total DU/AC 

R‐M General  29.3  20‐25 du/ac  22.5 du/ac  659 

R‐M Urban   22.6  20‐38 du/ac  29 du/ac  655 

Total  1,314 

 

  R‐M General  R‐M Urban  Total Potential DU 

Min DU  586  452  1,038 

Mid DU  659  655  1,314 

Max DU  733  859  1,592 
 

 General Plan and Zoning Designation 

The  existing  General  Plan  Land  Use  designation  for  the  project  site  is  Urban  Neighborhood  and 
Neighborhood Center. The existing zoning designation is Residential Single Family (R‐S), and Residential 
Multiple Family (R‐M).   

2.4    Environmental Setting and Surrounding Land Uses 

Page 439

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

6 

The proposed project site is located in the central portion of the City of Coachella, within the General 
Plan’s Urban Neighborhood and Neighborhood Center  land use. Urban Neighborhood  land uses  are 
characterized predominantly (although not exclusively) by multi‐family housing types with very good 
non‐motorized access to a wide range of civic and commercial amenities located at the edges and/or 
within the mixed‐use fabric of the neighborhood. The site has been disturbed and previously graded. 
Surrounding land uses include: 

North: Coachella Valley Stormwater Channel  

South: 52nd Avenue and Industrial District  

East: Residential neighborhood 

West: Valle Del Sol Elementary School and Residential neighborhood 

 Permits/Approvals required from other public agencies: 

State Water Resource Control Board (SWRCB) 
South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD) 
 

   

Page 440

Item 34.



N.T.S.

MSA CONSULTING, INC.

> PLANNING > CIVIL ENGINEERING > LAND SURVEYING

34200 Bob Hope Drive,  Rancho Mirage,  CA  92270

760.320.9811    msaconsultinginc.com

REGIONAL LOCATION MAP
EXHIBIT

1PETER RABBIT FARMS
INITIAL STUDY

Page 441

Item 34.



N.T.S.

MSA CONSULTING, INC.

> PLANNING > CIVIL ENGINEERING > LAND SURVEYING

34200 Bob Hope Drive,  Rancho Mirage,  CA  92270

760.320.9811    msaconsultinginc.com

PROJECT VICINITY MAP
EXHIBIT

2PETER RABBIT FARMS
INITIAL STUDY

AVENUE 50

AVENUE 50

TY
LE

R 
ST

RE
ET

PO
LK

 S
TR

EE
T

AVENUE 52

CITY OF
COACHELLA

G
RAPEFRUIT BLVD. / HIG

HW
AY 111

AVENUE 53

AVENUE 54

TY
LE

R 
ST

RE
ET

C
ES

A
R

C
HA

V
EZ

ST
RE

ET

TY
LE

R 
ST

RE
ET

AVENUE 53

AVENUE 54

HIGHWAY 86

FI
LL

M
O

RE
 S

TR
EE

T

SITE

Page 442

Item 34.



PROJECT SITE

LA
 P

O
N

D
ER

O
SA

 D
RI

V
E

APN: 763-060-048

NAOMI COURT

PE
RE

Z 
ST

RE
ET

C
A

LL
E 

G
A

RD
EN

IA
PA

LM
ER

A
S 

C
IR

C
LE

AVENUE 52

LAS FLORES AVENUE

HERNANDEZ STREET

N.T.S.

MSA CONSULTING, INC.

> PLANNING > CIVIL ENGINEERING > LAND SURVEYING

34200 Bob Hope Drive,  Rancho Mirage,  CA  92270

760.320.9811    msaconsultinginc.com

AERIAL PHOTOGRAPH
EXHIBIT

3PETER RABBIT FARMS
INITIAL STUDY

Page 443

Item 34.



AVENUE 52

LA
 P

O
N

D
ER

O
SA

 D
RI

V
E

NAOMI COURT

COACHELLA VALLEY STORMWATER CHANNEL

LA HERNANDEZ STREET

RESIDENTIAL SINGLE
FAMILY (R-S) /

RESIDENTIAL MULTIPLE
FAMILY (R-M)

TO
NEIGHBORHOOD

FROM

COMMERCIAL (C-N)

FAMILY (R-S) /
RESIDENTIAL MULTIPLE

FAMILY (R-M) TO
RESIDENTIAL MULTIPLE

FAMILY (R-M)
(GENERAL: 20-25 DU./AC.)

FROM RESIDENTIAL SINGLE
RESIDENTIAL SINGLE FAMILY (R-S) /

RESIDENTIAL MULTIPLE FAMILY (R-M) TO
TO

RESIDENTIAL MULTIPLE FAMILY (R-M)
(URBAN: 20-38 DU./AC.)

FROM

RESIDENTIAL SINGLE FAMILY (R-S) /
RESIDENTIAL MULTIPLE FAMILY (R-M) TO

TO
RESIDENTIAL MULTIPLE FAMILY (R-M)

(GENERAL: 20-25 DU./AC.)

FROM

±4.1 AC.

±3.9 AC.

±25.4 AC.

±22.6 AC.

N.T.S.

MSA CONSULTING, INC.

> PLANNING > CIVIL ENGINEERING > LAND SURVEYING

34200 Bob Hope Drive,  Rancho Mirage,  CA  92270

760.320.9811    msaconsultinginc.com

PROJECT SITE PLAN
EXHIBIT

4PETER RABBIT FARMS
INITIAL STUDY

Page 444

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

11 

Environmental Impact Analysis 

 

INITIAL STUDY/MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

 
 

Project Title:  Peter Rabbit Re‐Zoning 

Case No.  Environmental Assessment – EA #20‐04 
Change of Zone – CZ #20‐07 

Assessor’s Parcel No.  763‐060‐048 

Project Location:  North of 52nd Avenue & East and West of Education Way 

Coachella, CA 92236  

Riverside County 

Project Sponsor’s Name and 
Address: 

Cardinal Distributing Co.  Inc.  / Peter 

Rabbit Farms  

85810 Grapefruit Boulevard 

Coachella, CA 92236 

General Plan Designation(s):  Urban Neighborhood and Neighborhood Center 

Zoning:  Single Family Residential (R‐S) and Multiple Family Residential (R‐M) 

Lead Agency Name and Address:  City of Coachella – Planning Division  
1515 Sixth Street 
Coachella, California 92236 

Lead Agency Contact Person:  Luis Lopez,  
Community Development Director 

Phone Number:  (760) 398‐3502 

Date Prepared:  January 2021 
 

   

Page 445

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

12 

Environmental Factors Potentially Affected: 
 
The  environmental  factors  checked  below  would  be  potentially  affected  by  this  project,  as  indicated  by  the 
checklist and corresponding discussion on the following pages. 
 

  Aesthetics   
Agriculture and Forestry 
Resources 

  Air Quality 

  Biological Resources    Cultural Resources    Energy 

  Geology & Soils    Greenhouse Gas Emissions     Hazards & Hazardous Materials  

  Hydrology / Water Quality     Land Use / Planning     Mineral Resources  

  Noise     Population / Housing     Public Services  

  Recreation     Transportation     Tribal Cultural Resources  

  Utilities / Service Systems     Wildfire   
Mandatory Findings of 
Significance  

 
DETERMINATION:  The City of Coachella Planning Department 
 
On the basis of this initial evaluation: 
 

  I find that the proposed project COULD NOT have a significant effect on the environment, and a NEGATIVE 
DECLARATION will be prepared. 

 
  I find that although the proposed project could have a significant effect on the environment there will not 

be a significant effect in this case because revisions in the project have been made by or agreed to by the 
project proponent.  A MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION will be prepared. 

 
  I  find  that  the  proposed  project  MAY  have  a  significant  effect  on  the  environment,  and  an 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT is required. 
 

  I  find  that  the  proposed  project MAY  have  a  “potentially  significant  impact”  or  “potentially  significant 
unless mitigated” impact on the environment, but at least one effect 1) has been adequately analyzed in 
an  earlier  document  pursuant  to  applicable  legal  standards,  and  2)  has  been  addressed  by mitigation 
measures based on  the earlier analysis as described on attached sheets.   An ENVIRONMENTAL  IMPACT 
REPORT is required, but it must analyze only the effects that remain to be addressed. 

 
  I find that although the proposed project could have a significant effect on the environment, because all 

potentially  significant  effects  (a)  have  been  analyzed  adequately  in  an  earlier  EIR  or  NEGATIVE 
DECLARATION pursuant to applicable standards, and (b) have been avoided or mitigated pursuant to that 
earlier EIR or NEGATIVE DECLARATION, including revisions or mitigation measures that are imposed upon 
the proposed project, nothing further is required. 

 

     

     

Luis Lopez    Date 

Director of Community Development     

 

Page 446

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

13 

PURPOSE OF THIS INITIAL STUDY 
 
This  Initial  Study  has  been  prepared  in  accordance  with  the  CEQA  Guidelines  Section  15063(c)  to  provide  a 
preliminary  analysis  of  a  proposed  project’s  actions  and  to  determine  if  the  project,  as  proposed, may  have  a 
significant effect upon the environment. The findings determined from the preliminary analysis are presented  in 
the form of the Initial Study, which will be used in support of the preparation of a Mitigated Negative Declaration.   
 
EVALUATION OF ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS 
 
1)  A brief explanation is required for all answers except “No Impact” answers that are adequately supported by 

the  information  sources  a  lead  agency  cites  in  the  parentheses  following  each  question.    A  “No  Impact” 
answer is adequately supported if the referenced information sources show that the impact simply does not 
apply  to projects  like  the one  involved  (e.g.,  the project  falls  outside a  fault  rupture  zone).   A  “No  Impact” 
answer should be explained where it is based on project‐specific factors as well as general standards (e.g., the 
project will not expose sensitive receptors to pollutants, based on project‐specific screening analysis). 

2)  All answers must take into account the whole action involved, including offsite as well as onsite, cumulative as 
well as project‐level, indirect as well as direct, and construction as well as operational impacts. 

3)  Once the lead agency has determined that a particular physical impact may occur, then the checklist answers 
must  indicate whether the  impact  is potentially significant,  less than significant with mitigation, or  less than 
significant.  "Potentially Significant Impact" is appropriate if there is substantial evidence that an effect may be 
significant. If there are one or more "Potentially Significant Impact" entries when the determination is made, 
an EIR is required. 

4)  "Negative Declaration: Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated" applies where the incorporation of 
mitigation measures  has  reduced  an  effect  from  "Potentially  Significant  Impact"  to  a  "Less  Than  Significant 
Impact."  The  lead  agency must  describe  the mitigation measures,  and  briefly  explain  how  they  reduce  the 
effect  to  a  less  than  significant  level  mitigation  measures  from  Section  XVII,  "Earlier  Analyses,"  may  be 
cross‐referenced). 

5)  Earlier analyses may be used where, pursuant to the tiering, program EIR, or other CEQA process, an effect has 
been adequately analyzed in an earlier EIR or negative declaration.  Section 15063(c)(3)(D). In this case, a brief 
discussion should identify the following: 

a)  Earlier Analysis Used.  Identify and state where they are available for review. 

b)  Impacts Adequately Addressed.  Identify which effects from the above checklist were within the 
scope of and adequately analyzed in an earlier document pursuant to applicable legal standards, 
and  state  whether  such  effects  were  addressed  by  mitigation  measures  based  on  the  earlier 
analysis. 

c)  Mitigation  Measures.    For  effects  that  are  "Less  than  Significant  with  Mitigation  Measures 
Incorporated," describe  the mitigation measures, which were  incorporated or  refined  from the 
earlier document and the extent to which they address site‐specific conditions for the project. 

6)  Lead agencies are encouraged to incorporate into the checklist references to information sources for potential 
impacts  (e.g.,  general  plans,  zoning  ordinances).  Reference  to  a  previously  prepared  or  outside  document 
should, where appropriate, include a reference to the page or pages where the statement is substantiated. 

7)  Supporting Information Sources:  A list of references used during the preliminary analysis and research should 
be attached with this document. In addition, other sources used or individuals contacted should be cited in the 
discussion. 

8)  The explanation of each issue should identify: 

a)  The significance criteria or threshold, if any, used to evaluate each question; and 

b)  The mitigation measure identified, if any, to reduce the impacts to less than significance. 

Page 447

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

14 

I. AESTHETICS 
 
 
Except as provided in Public Resources Code Section 21099, 
would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No 
Impact 

a)  Have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista?          

b)  Substantially  damage  scenic  resources,  including,  but 
not  limited  to,  trees,  rock  outcroppings,  and  historic 
buildings within a state scenic highway?  

       

c)  In  non‐urbanized  areas,  substantially  degrade  the 
existing  visual  character  or  quality  of  public  views  of 
the site and  its  surroundings?  (Public views are  those 
that are experienced from publicly accessible vantage 
point). If the project is in an urbanized area, would the 
project  conflict  with  applicable  zoning  and  other 
regulations governing scenic quality?  

       

d)  Create a new source of substantial light or glare, which 
would  adversely  affect  day  or  nighttime  views  in  the 
area?  

       

(Sources:  “California  Scenic  Highway  Mapping  System,”  2019;  2035  Coachella  General  Plan  Update,  2015; 
Coachella Municipal Code.)  
 

Setting 
 
The Coachella Valley is defined as a low and relatively flat desert basin bounded by mountainous terrain. 
The surrounding mountain ranges specifically include the Little San Bernardino Mountains to the north 
and northeast, the Santa Rosa Mountains to the south, and the San Jacinto Mountains to the west. The 
topographic variety in the Coachella Valley establishes elevations from 1,000 feet in the Mecca Hills to 
the  east,  to  approximately  160  feet  below  sea  level  south  of  Thermal.  Although  the  elevation  varies 
widely,  the  City  of  Coachella  is  relatively  flat,  with  a  gentle  slope  from  northwest  to  southeast.  The 
project site  is  located in the southeast portion of the City, surrounded by developed properties to the 
west, south, and east.  
 
The  approximately  56.9‐acre  project  site  is  currently  disturbed,  due  to  its  previous  operation  as 
agricultural  land. Historical  imagery shows the project site was previously occupied by agricultural and 
residential uses prior to 1953. However, the project is disturbed with scattered vegetation according to 
historical imagery from 1972. Between the years 1986 to present, the site has been used intermittently 
for  agricultural  purposes,  showing  evidence  of  harvesting  and  clearing  of  land.  However,  agricultural 
operations have ceased, and the site is currently fallow. The residential properties east of the site were 
developed by (at  least) 1996, the residential properties west of  the site were developed by 2004, and 
Valle Del Sol Elementary School was fully developed by 2005. The paved roadway, 52nd Avenue, occurs 
along  the  project’s  southern  boundary.  52nd  Avenue  is  equipped with  sidewalks  and  curb  and  gutter 
improvements.  
 
The City of Coachella categorizes the different land uses into six specific designations. These six different 
designations include: Ranchos, Neighborhoods, Centers, Districts, Specific Plans and Public. The project 

Page 448

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

15 

site is located in the Neighborhoods and Centers designation. Neighborhood Districts, as defined by the 
City, are areas that mixes a variety of residential types within a walkable network of green streets and 
parks,  well‐connected  to  parks,  schools  and  neighborhood  centers  to  serve  daily  shopping  needs. 
Suburban, General and Urban are all  subcategories within  the Neighborhood District designation. The 
proposed project  lies within the Urban Neighborhood subcategory in Coachella, which is characterized 
predominantly  (although not exclusively) by multi‐family housing  types with very good non‐motorized 
access to a wide range of civic and commercial amenities located at the edges and/or within the mixed‐
use fabric of the neighborhood. Urban Neighborhoods support retail, office, civic, and recreational uses 
in  limited  quantities.  Building  heights  are  generally  two  to  three  stories.  Development  intensities  for 
Urban Neighborhood land use designations vary from 20 to 38 dwelling units per acre (du/ac), with 30 
du/ac average for new projects (2035 Coachella General Plan Update).  
 
The  southwestern  portion  of  the  site  is  designated  Neighborhood  Center  land  use.  Neighborhood 
Centers create a concentration of commercial businesses and civic amenities – often mixed with multi‐
family  housing.  These  land  uses  are  located  within  convenient  walking  or  biking  distance  of  nearby 
neighborhoods and provide gathering places for residents of surrounding neighborhoods. Neighborhood 
Centers  are  intended  to  be  ideal  locations  for  high‐quality  transit  stops.  Uses  allowed  within 
Neighborhood  Centers  primarily  includes  neighborhood‐serving  retail  and  services,  permitting 
residential uses on the upper floors and mixed‐use buildings and in multi‐family buildings at the edge of 
the center where it transitions to the adjoining neighborhood. Development intensities permitted within 
this land use includes 15 to 40 du/ac, and a floor area ratio (FAR) of 0.5 – 1.5.  
 
The proposed project  site  is also  located  in Coachella’s  Single  Family Residential  (R‐S) and Residential 
Multiple  Family  (R‐M)  zoning  designations.  R‐S  zones  are  intended  to  provide  areas  within  the  City 
where development is limited to low‐density concentrations of single‐family dwellings, and to stabilize 
and  protect  the  residential  character  of  such  areas  (Coachella Municipal  Code  17.16).  R‐M  zones  are 
intended  to  provide  for  the  establishment  and  expansion  of multiple‐family  residential  development 
areas at various medium and high population densities and related community services, all  located  in 
conformance with the General Plan (Coachella Municipal Code 17.20).  
 
The project proposes a Change of Zone from the R‐S and R‐M zones to R‐M General (20‐25 du/ac), R‐M 
Urban (20‐38 du/ac), and Neighborhood Commercial (C‐N). The increased densities would permit more 
housing that is needed in the City of Coachella. The proposed zones are consistent with the property’s 
existing  land use designations of Urban Neighborhood and Neighborhood Center  (discussed further  in 
the Land Use and Planning Section of this document). The existing land use designations and proposed 
zoning designations establish standards and guidelines that contribute to the visual character and scenic 
quality  of  the  City.  They  also  establish  guidelines  that  maintain  the  existing  natural  landscaping  and 
scenic vistas in the City. The project does not currently propose development on the 56.9‐acre property 
and  a  site  plan  does  not  currently  exist.  However,  analysis  of  future  development  on  aesthetics  and 
aesthetic  resources  are  provided  in  this  discussion.  The  City  of  Coachella’s  General  Plan  Update was 
used to determine the aesthetic resources  in the City, as well as development regulations, guidelines, 
and standards for the proposed uses.  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a)  No Impact. The City of Coachella lists various aspects of scenic beauty in the City’s General Plan 

Update  (CGPU). These  include views of  the mountains,  the rural and agricultural character, as 
well as parks and open space areas. According to the City, the natural topography of the hills, 

Page 449

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

16 

the existing agricultural uses and the views of the surrounding mountains should be maintained 
and  preserved  for  its  scenic  quality.  The  value  of  scenery  can  be  highly  subjective  due  to 
personal  preference  and  opinion  and  is  generally  affected  by  the  presence  and  intensity  of 
neighboring man‐made improvements, such as structures, overhead utilities, and landscape, to 
name a few. Certain man‐made features can either add to or obstruct a scenic vista, depending 
on viewpoint and perspective.  

   
The project site  is  located  in the southeast portion of  the City of Coachella,  in  the City’s West 
Coachella Neighborhood General Plan Subarea. The zoning designations within the project site 
includes Residential Single Family (R‐S) and Residential Multiple Family (R‐M) zones. The project 
site  is  surrounded  by  the  Coachella  Valley  Stormwater  Channel  to  the  north,  single‐family 
residential  properties  to  the  east,  52nd  Avenue  to  the  south,  and  single  family  residential, 
multiple  family  residential  and  Valle  Del  Sol  Elementary  School  to  the  west.  The  residential 
properties west and east of the project site are separated from the project by fencing or block 
wall perimeters.  
 
According  to  the  CGPU,  hillsides  and mountains  in  the  Coachella  Valley  are  considered  visual 
resources  to  the City.  From  the project  site,  views of  the  San  Jacinto Mountains  to  the west, 
Santa Rosa Mountains to the southwest, and Little San Bernardino Mountains to the north and 
northeast  are  present.  However,  views  of  these  mountain  ranges  are  distant  and  partially 
obstructed  by  existing  manmade  structures  and  landscaping.  The  Little  San  Bernardino 
Mountains are located north and east of the project and can be viewed from a distance. Due to 
the  location  of  the  Coachella  Valley  Stormwater  Channel,  abutting  the  property’s  northern 
boundary,  and  the  agricultural  uses  north  of  the  site,  views  of  the  Little  San  Bernardino 
Mountains  to  the  north  are  unobstructed.  However,  the  views  of  the  Little  San  Bernardino 
Mountains  (when  viewed  from  the  project)  to  the  east  are  largely  obstructed  by  the  existing 
residential community immediately adjacent to the project’s eastern boundary.  

 
  The project proposes to change the current zoning designations of R‐S and R‐M to R‐M General, 

R‐M  Urban,  and  Neighborhood  Commercial  (C‐N).  The  project,  located  in  the  City’s  Urban 
Neighborhood  and  Neighborhood  Center  land  use  designations,  will  comply  with  the 
requirements of properties within these designations. The project will avoid  larger blocks,  lots 
and  buildings  that  would  be  incompatible  with  the  scale  and  character  of  Coachella’s 
Neighborhoods and Centers. Per the CGPU, buildings within this land use designation are not to 
exceed three stories. 
 
Future development may partially obstruct the views of the San Jacinto Mountains to the single‐
story  residences  immediately east of  the site. Future development may also partially obstruct 
the  views  of  the  Little  San  Bernardino  Mountains  to  the  east,  when  viewed  at  the  existing 
residential properties west of the project site. However, as established previously, these views 
are already distant and obstructed. Building heights within future development will not exceed 3 
stories,  per  the  CGPU.  Future  buildings  will  also  be  separated  from  the  existing  residential 
communities east of the project by setbacks established for Multifamily Residential zones (R‐M), 
per  the  Coachella  Municipal  Code  Chapter  17.20,  R‐M  Multiple‐Family  Residential  Zone. 
Industrial and agricultural uses, including packing houses, electrical substation, and date farm is 
located south of the project, separated from the project by 52nd Avenue. Future construction of 
the proposed project may partially obstruct  the views of  the Little San Bernardino Mountains 
from  the  south‐lying  properties,  however,  the  properties  to  the  south  do  not  include 

Page 450

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

17 

opportunities to view the Mountains, compared to a residential community. For example, scenic 
vistas may be viewed from residential building windows, front or back yards, or driveways, and 
neighborhood  streets  and  sidewalks,  where  vistas  can  be  viewed  at  leisure.  In  contrast,  the 
industrial  properties  to  the  south  do  not  include  building  windows  or  yards  where  the 
mountains can be viewed. Additionally, the proposed project will abide by building, and setback 
standards established for R‐M and C‐N zones.  
 
The  proposed  project  is  not  expected  to  obstruct  the  views  of  the  surrounding  scenic  vistas. 
Future proposed building height, setbacks and design standards will comply with the guidelines 
established  in  the  City’s Municipal  Code  for  R‐M  and  C‐N  zones,  as well  as  design  standards 
outlined in the CGPU for Urban Neighborhood and Neighborhood Centers land use designations. 
The  distant  views  of  the  various  mountain  ranges  will  remain  visible  to  the  surrounding 
residencies  and  residents  after  the  construction  of  the  project.  Future  development  may 
partially  obstruct  the  views,  depending  on  location  and  viewpoint;  however,  the  project  will 
comply with the standards established  in the City Municipal Code and General Plan regulating 
building heights and setbacks to ensure scenic vistas continue to be visible. No development is 
proposed at this time, therefore, no impacts to the scenic vistas are anticipated. 

 
b)  No  Impact. The  approximately  56.9‐acre  project  property  lies  on previously  disturbed  land  in 

the  central  portion  of  Coachella.  Prior  land  uses  of  the  site  included  farmland  operations. 
Historical  aerial  imagery  (dating  back  to  1953)  residents  that  the  property  was  used  for 
agriculture  uses,  since  at  least  1953.  No  buildings  or  structures  were  developed  onsite, 
according  to  the  historical  images.  Though,  grading  of  the  site  as  well  as  the  growing  and 
clearing of crops has occurred onsite from at least 1953 to recent years. 

 
  Scenic resources, including trees, rock outcroppings, and scenic highways within the viewsheds 

of  State  Scenic Highways  provide aesthetic  and  visual  appeal  for  residents  and  visitors of  the 
City’s Planning Area. Similarly, scenic routes provide valuable visual relief to travelers. The State 
Scenic  Highway  Program  was  established  to  preserve  and  enhance  the  natural  beauty  of 
California. It not only adds to the pleasure of the residents, but also encourages the growth of 
the recreation and tourism in the State. The California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) 
manages  the State Scenic Highway Program. To be  listed as a  Scenic Highway,  the  road must 
traverse an area of outstanding scenic quality, containing striking views, flora, geology, or other 
unique  natural  attributes.  There  are  three  officially  designated  State  Scenic  Highways  in 
Riverside  County.  They  include  Highway  273,  62  and  the  closest,  Highway  74,  which  is 
approximately  13.60  miles  northwest  of  the  project  site.  The  northern  section  Highway  111 
(Palm Springs to Palm Desert) and the southern section (Mecca to the Salton Sea) is categorized 
as an eligible State Scenic Highway, but it is not officially designated.  
 
There are no designated, or eligible, State Scenic Highways within the Planning Area. According 
to the Coachella General Plan Update Environmental Impact Report (EIR), certain sections of Old 
Highway 99 (now Dillon Road between Grapefruit Boulevard and Interstate 10), Old Highway 86 
(Harrison Street  south of Grapefruit Boulevard), Old Highway 111  (Grapefruit Boulevard),  and 
Highway  86‐S  Expressway  (south  of  Interstate  10)  represent  visual  corridors  and  serve  as  an 
aesthetic  resource  for  the  City.  The  project  lies  approximately  0.20  miles  southwest  of  the 
closest City designated visual  corridor, Highway 86‐S. Due  to  the distance  from the project  to 
Highway  86‐S,  the  project will  not  obstruct  the  scenic  resources  viewed  by motorists  driving 
along the roadway.  

Page 451

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

18 

 
Conclusively,  the proposed project  is not  located adjacent  to a designated Scenic Highway, as 
identified by Caltrans or the City. Additionally, there are no significant trees, rock outcroppings, 
or  historical  buildings  due  to  the  cleared  and  disturbed  character  of  the  site.  Therefore,  the 
proposed project would not result in adverse impacts to scenic resources adjacent to or near a 
State Scenic Highway. No impact. 

 
c)  No  Impact.  According  to  the  CGPU  Environmental  Impact  Report  (EIR),  the  City  has  a  unique 

visual  characteristic  in  its  scenic  geographical  location,  agricultural  and  rancho  history,  and 
quality  architecture  of  historic  buildings.  Although  the  alteration  of  the  existing  landscape  is 
unavoidable  due  to  future  development,  the  views  of  the  mountains,  rural,  agricultural 
character should be respected, maintained, and preserved. 

 
The Draft EIR presents policies to help preserve the existing visual character of the City where it 
is deemed valuable, or direct future development to either enhance the existing visual character 
in  the City or  create a new,  complementary visual  character.  Specifically,  these policies direct 
new  development  to  maintain  the  existing  small‐town  character  and  cultural  diversity  of 
Coachella,  preventing  development  not  compatible  with  the  existing  character  from  being 
constructed.  The policies  identify  specific  urban design practices,  such as  the development of 
complete  neighborhoods,  preservation  of  agriculture  and  open  space,  pedestrian‐oriented 
design, and sustainable development practices, as methods of achieving the preservation of this 
character.  Further,  the policies  specify  that  the City’s natural  resources  should be  retained  to 
help  preserve  visual  character, which will  further  preserve  the  existing  character.  Finally,  the 
policies require high‐quality and  long‐lasting building materials and quality architecture, which 
will  also  ensure  quality  visual  character  in  the  community  by  preventing  the  construction  of 
bland, poor quality buildings.  

 
The project  site  is  currently characterized by disturbed  land previously utilized  for agricultural 
operations. Historical  imagery dating  from 1953,  shows  the property graded and operating as 
agricultural  land.  The  properties  west,  south,  and  east  of  the  project  were  also  utilized  as 
agricultural land in 1953. Between 1953 to the recent years, the project site has been harvested 
and cleared of agriculture intermittently. No buildings occur on the project site throughout this 
time.  By  at  least  2005,  the  properties  west  and  east  of  the  project  ceased  their  agricultural 
operations and were developed  into  residential  communities and a public  facility  (elementary 
school).  By  1986,  the  industrial  business  south  of  the  project  property  were  developed.  The 
surrounding developed context largely contributes to the existing scenic quality of the area.  
 
The  project  proposes  the  development  of  a  mixed‐use  community  consisting  of  multifamily 
residential  uses  and  neighborhood  commercial  uses  on  approximately  56.9  acres.  The  City’s 
Zoning  Code  will  regulate  the  developmental  standards  for  the  proposed  project.  The  City’s 
Zoning  Code  establishes  permitted  uses  and  property  development  standards  for  the  zones 
within the City.  
 
Currently,  the  project  is  designated  as  Residential  Single  Family  (R‐S)  and  Multiple  Family 
Residential  (R‐M)  as  established  by  the City’s  Zoning Map.  R‐S  zones  are  intended  to  provide 
areas  within  the  city  where  development  is  limited  to  low  density  concentrations  of  single‐
family dwellings, and to stabilize and protect the residential character of such areas. R‐M zones 
are  intended  to  provide  for  the  establishment  and  expansion  of  multiple  family  residential 

Page 452

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

19 

development  areas  at  various medium  and  high  population  densities  and  related  community 
services, all located in conformance with the general plan. 
 
The project proposes a Change of Zone from the R‐S and R‐M designations, to R‐M (Urban), R‐M 
(General),  and Neighborhood  Commercial  (C‐N).  C‐N  zones  are  intended  to  provide  for  every 
day,  convenience  shopping  intended  to  serve  residential  neighborhoods,  consistent  with  the 
environmental  requirements  of  such  neighborhoods.  The  project  proposes  an  increased 
residential density and use within  the project  area.  The Coachella Municipal  Code establishes 
property development standards for the various zones within the City. These standards include 
density and lot size requirements, yard requirements, height limits, distances between buildings, 
usable open space, off‐street parking standards, and minimum dwelling unit sizes. The project 
will  be  required  to  comply  with  the  standards  and  requirements  listed  in  the  Coachella 
Municipal Code for the proposed R‐M and C‐N zones.  
 
In addition to the City’s Municipal Code, the 2035 General Plan Update provides guidance on the 
type  of  buildings  that  should  be  constructed  in  order  to  create  the  form  and  character 
envisioned by the City.  The project site is located in Subarea 1, West Coachella Neighborhoods. 
The vision for  the West Coachella Neighborhoods  is  to create a block and street network  that 
links existing and new development into a coherent town. This subarea will provide housing that 
ranges  from single‐family houses  to house‐scale multi‐family buildings. New development will 
occur  as  infill  development  and  streets  will  be  pedestrian  friendly  with  on‐street  parking, 
sidewalks shaded by trees and safe crosswalks.  
 
The project is also located within the City’s Urban Neighborhood and Neighborhood Center land 
use  designations  established  in  the  General  Plan.  The  intended  physical  character  of  Urban 
Neighborhoods is to create high intensity, walkable, transit ready neighborhood with a variety of 
types of housing – predominantly multi‐family of various types. Urban Neighborhoods should be 
located in close proximity to high quantities of commercial, civic, and recreational uses. Per the 
General Plan Update, urban form guidelines for Urban Neighborhoods include the following:  
 
1. Lot coverage generally does not exceed 60 percent. 
2. Buildings should generally have front and rear yards. 
3. Desired building types are rowhouse/townhouse, garden apartment and urban apartment.  
4. The main  entrance  to  each  building  should  be  located  within  the  front  façade,  accessed 

directly from the street and designed to welcome visitors.  
5. Building heights are generally two to three stories. 
6. Vehicular  access  should be provided  through an alley at  the  rear of  the  lot or  a driveway 

connecting to the street. Driveways from the street, when necessary, should be as narrow 
as practical – and not more than 18 feet wide.  

 
Neighborhood  Center  land  use  designations  are  intended  to  create  a  concentration  of 
commercial  businesses  and  civic  amenities  (often  mixed  with  multi‐family  housing)  within 
convenient walking or biking distance of nearby neighborhoods. The intended physical character 
of  Neighborhood  Centers  is  to  provide  convenient  access  and  parking  to  motorists  and 
pedestrians. Buildings  face public streets  (either  the primary  roadway or new  internal  streets) 
with attractive shopfronts designed to display merchandise, dining rooms, patios, and signage to 
passersby. Streets connect the center to adjacent neighborhoods and to the urban corridor(s), 
providing convenient access on foot or by bike from residences to retail amenities and to transit. 

Page 453

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

20 

Per  the  General  Plan  Update,  urban  form  guidelines  for  Urban  Neighborhoods  include  the 
following: 
 
1. A  variety  of  building  types  are  allowed,  ranging  from  rowhouse/townhouse  to  main 

street/mixed‐use. 
2. Building entrances are direct from the sidewalk, generally via shopfronts. 
3. Building heights are generally one to three stories.  
4. Vehicular access is provided to parking lots via common drives detailed as small streets and 

by alleys. Services and trash should be located behind buildings in alleys.  
 

Future development shall comply with the City’s standards for projects in Urban Neighborhood 
and Neighborhood Center  land use  areas  in  order  to  achieve  the  intended physical  character 
and scenic quality of these land uses.  
 
In addition to the design standards outlined in the General Plan, the City’s Zoning Code will also 
regulate  the standards  for  the proposed project. The City’s Zoning Code establishes permitted 
uses and property development standards for the zones within the City. Currently the project is 
designated as Residential  Single  Family  (R‐S)  and Multiple  Family Residential  (R‐M). R‐S  zones 
are  intended  to  provide  areas  within  the  city  where  development  is  limited  to  low  density 
concentrations of single‐family dwellings, and to stabilize and protect the residential character 
of  such  areas.  R‐M  zones  are  intended  to  provide  for  the  establishment  and  expansion  of 
multiple family residential development areas at various medium and high population densities 
and related community services, all located in conformance with the general plan. 
 
The project proposes a Change of Zone from the R‐S and R‐M designations, to R‐M (Urban), R‐M 
(General),  and Neighborhood  Commercial  (C‐N).  C‐N  zones  are  intended  to  provide  for  every 
day,  convenience  shopping  intended  to  serve  residential  neighborhoods,  consistent  with  the 
environmental  requirements  of  such  neighborhoods.  The  project  proposes  an  increased 
residential density and use within  the project  area.  The Coachella Municipal  Code establishes 
property development standards for the various zones within the City. These standards include 
density and lot size requirements, yard requirements, height limits, distances between buildings, 
usable open space, off‐street parking standards, and minimum dwelling unit sizes. The project 
will  be  required  to  comply  with  the  standards  and  requirements  listed  in  the  Coachella 
Municipal Code for the proposed R‐M and C‐N zones.  
 
Future development shall follow the City of Coachella’s standards for buildings in R‐M and C‐N 
zones and Urban Neighborhood and Neighborhood Center  land use designations. Additionally, 
in order to ensure that the project will properly comply with the architectural guidelines of the 
City and the provisions of development standards, the project is subject to Architectural Review. 
The change of zone project is not expected to degrade the existing visual character or quality of 
the site and its surroundings; thus, no impacts are expected.  

 
d)  No  Impact.  As  stated  in  the  previous  discussions,  the  project  site  is  located  in  the  Urban 

Neighborhood  and  Neighborhood  Center  land  use  designations  in  the  City  of  Coachella.  The 
existing zoning designations  for  the project  is R‐S and R‐M. The project proposes a Change of 
Zone from the R‐S and R‐M zones, to R‐M General, R‐M Urban, and C‐N. The proposed zones are 
consistent  with  the  General  Plan  land  use  designations.  The  project  site  is  currently  vacant, 
however, prior use of the site included both vacant land and agricultural operations. Due to the 

Page 454

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

21 

vacant character of the project site, the property does not currently contribute to the ambient 
lighting in the area.  

 
Sources of fixed nighttime lighting in the areas surrounding the project can be attributed to the 
existing  homes  west  and  east  of  the  project,  Valle  Del  Sol  Elementary  School  located 
immediately  west  of  the  project,  and  the  industrial  uses  south  of  the  project.  The  individual 
home  lighting  typically  consists of  low‐intensity, wall‐mounted, downward‐oriented  fixtures  in 
the patio, side and front yards of homes. Nighttime lighting from the school also includes low‐
intensity, wall‐mounted, downward‐oriented fixtures on the buildings and entrances, as well as 
lighting  in parking  and outdoor  recreational  areas. Nighttime  lighting  from  the  industrial  uses 
typically  includes exterior  lighting  systems  to provide adequate  security. Non‐fixed  sources of 
daytime or nighttime lighting are attributed to vehicular traffic in the surrounding area. 

 
  Future development is expected to consist of residential and commercial uses on the 56.9‐acre 

site. Buildout of the proposed project can be expected to generate increased levels of light and 
glare from interior and exterior building lighting, safety and security lighting, landscape lighting, 
and vehicles accessing the site. Stationary lighting in the residential portion of the project will be 
consistent with  exterior  and  interior  lighting  typical  for  residential  communities  in  Coachella. 
These typically consist of low‐intensity, wall‐mounted, downward‐oriented fixtures, which avoid 
spilling onto adjacent properties.  
 
Chapter 17.54.010 (K) (off‐street parking and loading: lighting) of the Coachella Municipal Code, 
states  that  parking  area  lighting  is  not  always  required;  however,  if  lighted  parking  areas  are 
required parking areas, such lighting fixtures shall be located, with hoods provided and adjusted, 
so  as  to  preclude  the  direct  glare  of  the  light  from  shining  onto  property  or  streets.  Future 
development shall comply with Chapter 17.54.010 (K)  in order to provide  lighting for cars and 
pedestrians without generating excess light and spillage.  
 
As  stated  previously,  future  development  is  anticipated  to  generate  increased  levels  of  light 
compared  to  the  existing  use  as  fallow  agricultural  land.  Although  the  land  use  density  will 
increase,  the  lighting  levels  are  not  expected  to  exceed  typical  levels within  the  surrounding 
environment and levels  inconsistent with Urban Neighborhood and Neighborhood Center  land 
use designations and R‐M and C‐N zones.  
 
Pertaining to glare, the project would not introduce buildings with large reflective surfaces that 
would  generate  substantial  glare.  Building  surfaces  and  materials  used  would  be  subject  to 
review  by  the  City  of  Coachella  and  Architectural  Review  to  ensure  that  the  project  site  is 
consistent  with  the  development  standards  in  the  City’s Municipal  Code  and  aligns  with  the 
intended physical character of the associated land use designations.   
 

  No  impacts  pertaining  to  project‐generated  light  and  glare  are  anticipated  relative  to  the 
Change of Zone.  

 
Mitigation Measures: None required 
 
 
   

Page 455

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

22 

II. AGRICULTURAL RESOURCES 
Potentially 
Significant 
Impact

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No 
ImpactWould the project: 

a)  Convert  Prime  Farmland,  Unique  Farmland,  or 
Farmland  of  Statewide  Importance  (Farmland),  as 
shown  on  the  maps  prepared  pursuant  to  the 
Farmland  Mapping  and  Monitoring  Program  of  the 
California Resources Agency, to non‐agricultural use?  

       

b)  Conflict with  existing  zoning  for  agricultural  use,  or  a 
Williamson Act contract?  

       

c)  Conflict with existing zoning for, or cause rezoning of, 
forest  land  (as  defined  in  Public  Resources  Code 
section  12220(g)),  timberland  (as  defined  by  Public 
Resources  Code  section  4526)  or  timberland  zoned 
Timberland  Production  (as  defined  by  Government 
Code section 51104(g))? 

       

d)  Result in the loss of forest land or conversion of forest 
land to non‐forest use? 

       

e)  Involve  other  changes  in  the  existing  environment 
which, due to their  location or nature, could result  in 
conversion  of  Farmland,  to  non‐agricultural  use  or 
conversion of forest land to non‐forest use?  

       

(Sources: 2035 Coachella General Plan, Figure 3‐6, 2015; “Riverside County Important Farmland 2014 Map,” sheet 
2 of 3, California Department of Conservation, updated November 2016.) 
 

Setting 
As a part of Riverside County, the City of Coachella’s agricultural  lands are a key aspect of the County 
and  its  character.  Agricultural  land  covers  approximately  40  percent  of  the  City’s  General  Plan  area. 
Though, most of  the agricultural  land  is  located  in and around  the unincorporated areas of Coachella, 
with the more centralized areas being converted into or being used for urban or industrial use.  
 
The California Land Conservation Act, also known as the Williamson Act, was adopted in 1965 in order to 
encourage the preservation of the State’s agricultural lands and to prevent its premature conversion to 
urban  uses.  The Williamson  Act  creates  an  arrangement  whereby  private  landowners’  contract  with 
counties and cities to voluntarily restrict land to agricultural and open space uses. Under the Williamson 
Act, an agricultural preserve must consist of no less than 100 acres, any development on the property 
must be related to the primary use of the land for agricultural purposes, and development must be in 
compliance  with  local  uniform  rules  or  ordinances.  Williamson  Act  contracts  are  estimated  to  save 
agricultural landowners from 20 to 75 percent in property taxes each year.  
 
The  vehicle  for  these  agreements  is  a  rolling‐term,  10‐year  contract  (i.e.,  unless  either  party  files  a 
“notice  of  nonrenewal,”  the  contract  is  automatically  renewed  annually  for  an  additional  year).  In 
return,  restricted parcels are assessed  for property  tax purposes at a  rate consistent with  their actual 
use,  rather  than potential market value  (California Department of Conservation, 2006).  If  a  “notice of 
nonrenewal”  is  filed by a  landowner,  a nine‐year nonrenewal period  commences. Over  this period of 

Page 456

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

23 

time, the annual tax assessment gradually increases. At the end of the nine‐year nonrenewal period, the 
contract is terminated. Only the landowner can petition to cancel a Williamson Act contract. 
 
Discussion of Impacts 

a) Less  than  Significant  Impact.  Preservation  of  agriculture  is  considered  integral  to  the  City’s 
future.  Agricultural  land  is  one  of  several  predominant  land  uses  within  Coachella,  covering 
approximately 29 percent (11,139 acres) of the City’s planning area. Approximately 5,112 acres 
of the total agricultural  land within the Planning Area  is  located within the City’s  incorporated 
area. Most of the agricultural land is located in the unincorporated areas (6,058 acres). Of this 
agricultural land, much of it is Important Farmland as defined by the State. 
 

      The  project  property’s  land  use  designations  are  determined  as  Urban  Neighborhood  and 
Neighborhood  Center  in  the  Coachella  General  Plan  2035.  The  entire  property  is  disturbed, 
including  clearing  and grading. Approximately  49  acres of  the  site operated as  an  agricultural 
farmland. Based on historical aerial  imagery, the property operated as farmland prior to 1953.  
According to the most recent Riverside County Important Farmland Map, the entire property is 
designated  as  Farmland of  Local  Importance.  Farmland of  Local  Importance  is  defined by  the 
Department of Conservation as farmland that is important to the local economy. In the County 
of Riverside, Farmland of Local Importance includes (1) land where the soils would be classified 
as Prime or Statewide Farmland, but  lack available  irrigation water;  (2)  lands producing major 
crops for the County but are not listed as unique crops; (3) dairylands including corrals, pasture, 
milking  facilities,  hay  and  manure  storage  areas  if  accompanied  with  permanent  pasture  or 
hayland  of  10  acres  or  more;  or  (4)  lands  identified  by  the  city  or  county  ordinance  as 
agricultural zones or contracts.  

 
Historical  aerial  imagery  reveals  that  by  1953  the  project  site,  and  the  surrounding  area, 
operated  as  agricultural  land.  However,  the  surrounding  areas  became  more  urbanized, 
constructing residential communities by 2002, and the elementary school by 2005. The project 
property was used intermittently as agricultural field. The site currently lies within an urbanized 
area of Coachella. The project is also located within Subarea 1, West Coachella Neighborhoods, 
of the Coachella General Plan. The West Coachella Neighborhoods area includes predominantly 
single‐family  homes  but  also  contains  various  types  of  retail  uses,  apartments,  schools,  and 
parks.  The  vision  for  the West  Coachella  Neighborhood  subarea  includes  residential  housing, 
ranging from single family to multi‐family buildings, and new development located in infill lots. 
 
Additionally,  the  land use designations, which the project site  is  located within  is  identified as 
Urban  Neighborhood  and  Neighborhood  Center,  established  by  the  City  of  Coachella.  Urban 
Neighborhoods  are  designated  for  multi‐family  housing  types  with  very  good  non‐motorized 
access to a wide range of civic and commercial amenities located at the edges and/or within the 
mixed‐use  (retail,  office,  civic,  and  recreational)  fabric  of  the  neighborhood.  Neighborhood 
Centers provides for a concentration of neighborhood‐serving commercial businesses and civic 
amenities, often mixed with multi‐family housing, within convenient walking or biking distance 
of nearby neighborhoods.  
 
Although the site is designated as Farmland of Local Importance, the City designated land uses 
established  for  the  site  intends  for  the  development  of  residential  dwellings  and  commercial 
uses.  Additionally,  the  project  site  is  surrounded  by  developed  uses  including  residential 

Page 457

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

24 

communities and a public elementary school. The project is located in Coachella General Plan’s 
Urban Neighborhood and Neighborhood Center land uses, which emphasize the development of 
residential  communities  in  close  proximity  to  commercial  and  retail  areas.  The  project  is  not 
designated as Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland or Farmland of Statewide  Importance by  the 
California  Department  of  Conservation.  The  project  is  not  in  use  as  Farmland  of  Local 
Importance and is not planned for such use in the General Plan. Therefore, impacts are less than 
significant.  

 
b) No Impact. Review of agricultural maps  indicates  that  there are 994 acres of agricultural  land 

covered  by  Williamson  Act  contracts  within  the  Coachella  Planning  Area  and  1,480  acres  of 
agricultural  land covered by Williamson Act contracts  that have  filed for non‐renewal. Existing 
Agricultural Uses  summarizes  the agricultural  lands within Planning Area  that are and are not 
covered  by  Williamson  Act  contracts.  General  information  about  the  Williamson  Act  can  be 
found on page 4.2‐7 of  the City of Coachella General Plan Update.  There are no  lands with a 
Williamson Act  contract  in  the  immediate  project  vicinity.  The  closest  farmland  properties  lie 
approximately 1.20 miles northwest of the project and approximately 1.60 miles southwest of 
the  project.  Additionally,  the  project  does  not  lie  in  an  area  zone  for  agriculture.  The  zoning 
designations for the site includes Single Family Residential (R‐S) and Multiple Family Residential 
(R‐M). The project proposes a Change of Zone from R‐S and R‐M to R‐M General, R‐M Urban, 
and  Neighborhood  Commercial  (C‐N).  These  zones  are  consistent  with  the  existing  land  use 
designations at  the property: Urban Neighborhood and Neighborhood Commercial. Therefore, 
the project will have no impact on zoning for agricultural use or Williamson Act contract. 

 
c) No Impact.  The project property is not currently zoned as forest land, timberland, or timberland 

production. Development of project will not result in the re‐zoning of forest land, timberland or 
timberland zoned for timberland production. No impacts are anticipated. 
 

d) No Impact. The proposed project is zoned for Residential Single Family (R‐S) and Multiple Family 
Residential  (R‐M)  uses.  The  project  proposes  a  Change  of  Zone  to  update  the  zoning  to  R‐M 
General (20‐25 dwelling units per acre), Urban (20‐38 du/ac), and Neighborhood Commercial (C‐
N). No forest land, timberland or Timberland Production zoning occurs on the project site or in 
the  surrounding  area  because  forest  vegetation  is  not  characteristic  of  the  Coachella  Valley 
desert environment. No impacts are anticipated. 
 

e) Less  than  Significant  Impact.  As  previously  described,  the  project  site  and  vicinity  are 
designated by the City of Coachella Zoning Map as Residential Single Family (R‐S) and Multiple 
Family Residential (R‐M). The project proposes a Change of Zone from the current R‐S and R‐M 
designations  to  R‐M  General  (20‐25  du/ac),  R‐M  Urban  (20‐38  du/ac),  and  Neighborhood 
Commercial  (C‐N).  The  proposed  residential  community  will  not  result  in  conversion  of  any 
forest land because no forest land is situated within or adjacent to the project.  
 
The project site previously operated as agricultural field. Development of the proposed project 
will convert farmland to non‐farmland uses. The project property is located within an urbanized 
area of Coachella, surrounded by developed communities and  includes residential  to the west 
and  east,  an  elementary  school  to  the  west,  and  industrial  uses  to  the  south.  As  stated  in 
discussion a),  the project  site  is  located within Subarea 1, West Coachella Neighborhood. This 
subarea predominantly  includes single‐family homes, however, mixed use operations including 
retail, apartments, schools, and parks are permitted within Subarea 1. The vision for the West 

Page 458

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

25 

Coachella  Neighborhood  subarea  includes  residential  housing,  ranging  from  single  family  to 
multi‐family buildings, and new development located in infill lots.  
 
In addition to the project’s location within Subarea 1 of the City, the land use designations for 
the  project  area  is  Urban  Neighborhood  and  Neighborhood  Center,  as  established  by  the 
Coachella General Plan. Urban Neighborhoods allows multifamily residential homes with access 
to  civic  and  commercial  amenities.  Neighborhood  Centers  allows  commercial  retail  areas  in 
close proximity to residential areas.  
 
The  project  proposes  the development  of  a  residential  community  and  commercial  uses.  The 
project  is  consistent  with  the  vision  of  Subarea  1  and  the  land  use  designations  of  Urban 
Neighborhood  and  Neighborhood  Center.  Although  the  project  will  convert  land  previously 
utilized as farmland to non‐farmland uses, the project proposes needed affordable housing in a 
land  use  designation  that  permits  residential  and  commercial  developments.  Less  than 
significant impacts are required.  

 

Mitigation Measures: None required 
  

Page 459

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

26 

III. AIR QUALITY 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact  No Impact

Where  available,  the  significance  criteria  established by 
the  applicable  air  quality  management  district  or  air 
pollution control district may be relied upon to make the 
following determinations. Would the project: 

a)  Conflict  with  or  obstruct  implementation  of  the 
applicable air quality plan?  

       

b)  Result  in a cumulatively considerable net  increase of 
any  criteria pollutant  for which  the project  region  is 
non‐attainment under  an  applicable  federal  or  state 
ambient air quality standard?   

       

c)  Expose  sensitive  receptors  to  substantial  pollutant 
concentrations?  

       

d)  Result  in  other  emissions  (such  as  those  leading  to 
odors)  adversely  affecting  a  substantial  number  of 
people?  

       

(Sources: Coachella 2035 General Plan, 2015, CalEEMod Version 2016.3.2) 

 
Setting 
 
The project site and the Coachella Valley are located in the northern region of the Salton Sea Air Basin 
(SSAB),  within  the  jurisdiction  of  the  South  Coast  Air  Quality  Management  District  (SCAQMD).  The 
regional  climate,  as  well  as  the  temperature,  wind,  humidity,  precipitation,  and  amount  of  sunshine 
significantly  influence  the  air  quality  in  the  SSAB.  Climate  in  the  Coachella  Valley  is  considered  a 
continental,  desert‐type  climate,  with  hot  summers,  mild  winters,  and  very  little  annual  rainfall. 
Precipitation is less than six inches annually and occurs mostly in the winter months from active frontal 
systems  and  in  the  late  summer  months  from  thunderstorms.  The  Coachella  Valley  is  exposed  to 
frequent  gusty  winds.  The  flat  terrain  of  the  valley  and  strong  temperature  differentials,  created  by 
intense solar heating, produce moderate winds and deep thermal convection. Higher wind speeds occur 
most frequently  in the months of April and May. As subsequently discussed, SCAQMD has established 
Rules  403  and  403.1  to  prevent  wind  erosion  and  fugitive  dust  impacts,  particularly  during  land 
disturbance and earth moving activities associated with construction. 
 
Existing air  quality  is measured at  established SCAQMD air quality monitoring  stations. Monitored air 
quality is evaluated in the context of ambient air quality standards.  These standards are the levels of air 
quality  that  are  considered  safe, with an adequate margin of  safety,  to protect  the public health and 
welfare. Monitoring stations are located in Indio, Palm Springs and Mecca. To maintain compliance with 
the  National  Ambient  Air  Quality  Standards  (NAAQS)  and  California  Ambient  Air  Quality  Standards 
(CAAQS), SCAQMD has adopted a series of Air Quality Management Plans (AQMPs). AQMPs are updated 
regularly  in  order  to more  effectively  reduce  emissions,  accommodate  growth,  and  to minimize  any 
negative fiscal impacts of air pollution control on the economy.  
 
In March of 2017, SCAQMD released the most current Final Air Quality Management Plan (2016 AQMP), 
which is a regional blueprint for achieving the federal air quality standards. The 2016 AQMP is the most 
recently adopted air quality plan, which includes both stationary and mobile source strategies to ensure 

Page 460

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

27 

that  the  approaching  attainment  deadlines  are met  and  public  health  is  protected  to  the maximum 
extent feasible. As with every AQMP, a comprehensive analysis of emissions, meteorology, atmospheric 
chemistry, regional growth projections, and the impact of existing control measures is updated with the 
latest  data  and  methods.  Land  use  designation  adopted  by  local  jurisdictions  are  important 
considerations  in  the  AQMP  development.  The  2016  AQMP  provides  local  guidance  for  the  State 
Implementation  Plans  (SIP),  which  establishes  the  framework  for  the  air  quality  basins  to  achieve 
attainment of the state and the National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS). 
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a) No  Impact.  Site  the  project  is  not  proposing  development  at  the  time  of  writing,  future 

development  of  the  site  has  been  evaluated  for  consistency  with  the  local  air  quality 
management  plans,  which  links  local  planning  and  individual  projects  to  the  regional  plans 
developed to meet the ambient air quality standards and the most recently accepted air quality 
plans. The assessment takes into consideration whether the project forms part of the expected 
conditions identified in local plans (General Plan Land Use and Zoning) and whether the project 
adheres to the City’s air quality goals, policies, and local development assumptions factored into 
the  regional  2016  Air  Quality  Management  Plan  (2016  AQMP)  by  SCAQMD.  Air  emissions 
associated with the short‐ term construction activities and long‐term operations were analyzed 
for this purpose.  
 
As discussed in the land use and planning section of this Initial Study, the existing General Plan 
land  use  designation  for  the  project  site  is  Urban  Neighborhood  and  Neighborhood  Center. 
Urban  Neighborhood  land  use  designations  are  established  for  predominantly  multi‐family 
housing  types with  very  good  non‐motorized  access  to  a wide  range  of  civic  and  commercial 
amenities  located  at  the  edges  and/or  within  the  mixed‐use  fabric  of  the  neighborhood. 
Neighborhood  Center  land  use  designations  are  intended  to  provide  for  a  concentration  of 
neighborhood‐serving  commercial  businesses  and  civic  amenities  –  often  mixed  with  multi‐
family  housing  –  within  convenient  walking  or  biking  distance  of  nearby  neighborhoods.  The 
allowable  development  intensity  for  Urban  Neighborhood  designation  ranges  from  20  to  38 
dwelling units per acre  (du/ac), with 30 du/ac being  the average density  for new projects. As 
part of the proposed entitlement process, the project will result in a Change of Zone (CZ) from 
the  existing  Residential  Single  Family  (R‐S)  and  Multiple‐Family  Residential  (R‐M)  zoning 
designations to R‐M General, R‐M Urban, and Neighborhood Commercial (C‐N). For the analysis 
of future development, the residential density was estimated at a mid‐density of 22.5 du/ac for 
the  R‐M General  zone  and  29  du/ac  for  the  R‐M Urban  zone.  These  densities  are within  the 
allowable range intended under the General Plan designation and assumptions. 
 
Based on  the 2019‐2020 California Department of  Finance population and housing estimates, 
the  City  of  Coachella’s  current  total  population  is  approximately  47,186  with  an  average 
household  size  of  4.65.  Future  development  is  estimated  to  support  a  tenant  population  of 
6,110 persons, which represents approximately 13 percent of the current City population.  It  is 
anticipated that some of the project tenants served by the project will be existing residents from 
within  the City of Coachella  and/or  from neighboring  incorporated and unincorporated areas. 
The net population  increase resulting  from the project  is expected to be  less than 13 percent. 
Therefore,  the  proposed  development  and  associated  tenant  population  are  not  expected  to 
conflict  with  the  City’s  land  use  composition,  zoning,  housing  diversity,  or  other  regulatory 
policies  factored  into  the  local  and  regional  air  quality  objectives  for  complying  with  the 

Page 461

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

28 

applicable air quality standards. The project is expected to meet the General Plan objective for 
Urban  Neighborhood  and  Neighborhood  Center  designations  by  contributing  to  the  housing 
diversity within a walkable environment. 
 
An  impact  is  potentially  significant  if  concentration  of  emissions  exceed  the  State  or  Federal 
Ambient Air Quality  Standards. Based on Table 2‐4 of  the Final  2016 AQMP,  the  two primary 
pollutants of concern in the Coachella Valley including the City of Coachella are ozone (O3) and 
particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5). The project site is located within the Salton Sea Air Basin, 
which has been designated by  the California Air Resources Board as a nonattainment area for 
ozone  (8‐hour  standard)  and  PM10.  Violations  of  the  air  quality  standards  for  ozone  are 
impacted by pollutant transport from the South Coast Air Basin. 
 
Ozone  (O3)  is  described  in  the  Final  2016  AQMP  as  being  formed  when  byproducts  of 
combustion react in the presence of ultraviolet sunlight. This process occurs in the atmosphere 
where  oxides  of  nitrogen  (NOX)  combine  with  reactive  organic  gases  (ROG),  such  as 
hydrocarbons,  in  the  presence  of  sunlight.  Ozone  is  a  pungent,  colorless,  toxic  gas,  and  a 
common  component  of  photochemical  smog.  Although  also  produced  within  the  Coachella 
Valley, most ozone pollutants affecting the Valley are transported by coastal air mass from the 
Los Angeles and Riverside/San Bernardino air basins,  thereby contributing  to occasionally high 
local ozone concentrations. 
 
Particulate Matter (PM10 and PM2.5) is described in the Final 2016 AQMP as consisting of fine 
suspended particles of ten microns or smaller in diameter, and are the byproducts of road dust, 
sand, diesel soot, windstorms, and the abrasion of  tires and brakes. The elderly, children, and 
adults with pre‐existing respiratory or cardiovascular disease are most susceptible to the effects 
of PM10 and PM2.5. 

 
To  assist  lead  agencies  in  determining  the  significance  of  air  quality  impacts,  SCAQMD  has 
established  suggested  short‐term  construction‐related  and  long‐term  operational  impact 
significance  thresholds  for  direct  and  indirect  impacts  on  air  quality.  Table  III‐1  displays  the 
established construction and operational daily significance thresholds, which are recommended 
for  use  by  lead  agencies  in  considering  potential  impacts  on  air  quality.  Future  development 
effects would be considered potentially significant if the emissions exceed these thresholds. 

 
Table III‐1 

SCAQMD’s Air Quality Significance Thresholds (Pounds/Day) 
 

Emission 
Source 

CO  VOC  NOx  SOx  PM10  PM2.5 

Construction or 
Operation 

 

550  75  100  150  150  55 

Source: Air Quality Analysis Guidance Handbook, Chapter 5. 
Prepared by the South Coast Air Quality Management District. www.aqmd.gov/ceqa/hndbk.html 

 
In  November  of  2017,  the  SCAQMD  in  conjunction  with  the  California  Air  Pollution  Control 
Officers Association (CAPCOA) and other California air districts, released the latest version of the 
California Emissions Estimator Model™ (CalEEMod™) Version 2016.3.2. CalEEMod serves as an 
adopted  platform  to  calculate  both  construction  emissions  and  operational  emissions  from  a 
land use project. The purpose of this model is to calculate construction‐source and operational‐
source  criteria  pollutant  (NOx,  VOC,  PM10,  PM2.5,  SOx,  and  CO)  and  greenhouse  gas  (GHG) 

Page 462

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

29 

emissions  from  direct  and  indirect  sources;  and  quantify  applicable  air  quality  and  GHG 
reductions  achieved  from  mitigation  measures.  CalEEMod  utilizes  widely  accepted 
methodologies for estimating emissions combined with default data that can be used when site‐
specific information is not available.   Sources of these methodologies and default data include 
but  are  not  limited  to  the  United  States  Environmental  Protection  Agency  (USEPA)  AP‐42 
emission  factors,  California  Air  Resources  Board  (CARB)  vehicle  emission  models,  studies 
commissioned  by  California  agencies  such  as  the  California  Energy  Commission  (CEC)  and 
CalRecycle. In addition, some local air districts provided customized values for their default data 
and existing regulation methodologies for use for projects located in their jurisdictions. 
 
CalEEMod  Version  2016.3.2  was  utilized  to  estimate  the  short‐term  construction‐related  and 
long‐term operational emissions of criteria air pollutants and greenhouse gases associated with 
future  development  on  the  project  site.  Short‐term  construction‐related  emissions  are 
calculated  for  site  preparation,  grading  (earth  movement),  vertical  construction,  paving,  and 
architectural coating. Long‐term operational emissions are attributed to mobile sources (vehicle 
trips, vehicle emissions, fleet mix and road dust), land use area sources, energy use, solid waste 
disposal, and water use.  
 
The SCAQMD requires any emission reductions resulting from existing rules or ordinances to be 
included as part of the unmitigated project emissions. Those measures that are mandated and 
therefore required of all developments by applicable ordinances, rules, and regulations are not 
considered  mitigation.  The  previously  cited  Coachella  Code  of  Ordinances  (Chapter  8.20  – 
Fugitive Dust Control) and SCAQMD Rule 403 and 403.1 outline the minimum requirements for 
construction  activities  to  reduce man‐made  fugitive  dust  and  corresponding  PM10  emissions. 
The City will require the preparation of a Fugitive Dust Control Plan identifying the fugitive dust 
sources at the site and the work practices and control measures proposed to meet the minimum 
performance standards and Coachella Valley Best Available Control Measures (CVBACM). Being 
surrounded  primarily  by  existing  residential  uses,  the  required  dust  control  plan  must  be 
coordinated  with  the  construction  logistics  plan  to  identify  the  appropriate  temporary 
construction  access  point  that  results  in  the  least  amount  of  disturbance  to  existing  nearby 
residents.  The  plan  must  also  call  for  appropriate  temporary  fencing  with  screening  along 
perimeter segments without an existing solid block wall. Moreover, the proper soil stabilization 
measures  must  be  implemented  to  control  visible  dust.  Therefore,  the  implementation  of 
fugitive dust control measures are a requirement and not deemed mitigation. 
 
Based  on  the  emissions modeling  results  shown  in  Table  III‐2,  construction  related  emissions 
resulting  from  site  preparation,  grading,  utilities/building  construction,  paving,  architectural 
coating,  and  construction  workers  commuting  would  not  exceed  the  applicable  SCAQMD 
regional  thresholds  of  significance  for  any  criteria  pollutants,  including  PM10  and  Ozone 
precursors.  Thus,  a  less  than  significant  impact  would  occur  for  future  development‐related 
construction‐source emissions and no additional mitigation is required. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 463

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

30 

Table III‐2 
Short‐Term Air Pollutant Emissions Associated with Projected  

Construction at Mid‐Density Development Scenario (Pounds/Day) 
Emission Source  ROG/VOC NOx CO SO2 PM10  PM2.5

Maximum Daily 
Emissions Resulting 

from Site 
Preparation, Grading, 
Building Construction, 

Paving, and 
Architectural Coating 

Activities  

60.2452   46.4431  45.6059  0.1397   6.6711  4.4134 

SCAQMD Threshold  75  100  550  150  150  55 

Threshold Exceeded  No  No  No  No  No  No 

Note: The PM10 and PM2.5 emissions are based con compliance with Chapter 8.20 (Fugitive Dust 
Control)  in  the  City’s  Code  of  Ordinances  and  the  local  standard  requirement  to  implement 
SCAQMD Rule 403 and 403.1 to control fugitive dust. VOC and ROGs are summed in the CalEEMod 
report under the header ROG. 

 
Table III‐3 

Long‐Term Operational Air Pollutant Emissions  

Associated with Mid‐Density Development Scenario (Pounds/Day) 
Emission Source  ROG/VOC NOx CO SO2 PM10  PM2.5

Total Area Sources, 
Energy Use, Mobile 

Sources 
50.2970  98.2724  270.1071  0.7110  50.167  14.4695 

SCAQMD Threshold  75  100  550  150  150  55 

Threshold Exceeded  No  No  No  No  No  No 

Note: VOC and ROGs are summed in the CalEEMod report under the header ROG. 

 
Furthermore,  CalEEMod  was  utilized  to  estimate  the  long‐term  operational  air  pollutant 
emissions  that  would  result  from  operation  of  future  development  of  the  project  site. 
Operational emissions are ongoing emissions that will occur during the  life of  the future uses. 
These  sources  include  energy  demand  and  vehicular  emissions.  As  shown  in  Table  III‐3,  the 
future development‐related emissions of criteria pollutants are not projected to exceed any of 
the SCAQMD recommended significance threshold criteria for operational impacts.  
 
In summary, future development is not expected to result in growth or land use changes which 
would  interfere  with  the  City  or  region’s  ability  to  comply  with  the  most  current  air  quality 
plans. Moreover, the future development’s short‐term construction and long‐term operational 
emissions would not exceed the established regional thresholds. Pertaining to the obstruction of 
an  applicable  air  quality  plan,  less  than  significant  impacts  are  anticipated  for  the  future 
development. No impacts are anticipated for the Change of Zone. 

       

b)  No Impact. Riverside County portion of the Salton Sea Air Basin (SSAB) is designated by the U.S. 
Environmental  Protection  Agency  (EPA)  as  a  “Severe‐15”  ozone  nonattainment  area  for  the 
1997 8‐hour federal ozone standard (0.080 ppm) and the more stringent 2008 standard (0.075 

Page 464

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

31 

ppm).  Violations  of  the  ambient  air  quality  standards  for  ozone  in  the  Coachella  Valley  are 
primarily due to pollutant transport from the neighboring SCAB. Ozone is formed on sunny days 
from  ozone  precursors  in  the  lower  atmosphere  that  are  emitted  upwind  of  the  Coachella 
Valley, in the coastal and central Los Angeles County areas of the South Coast Air Basin (SCAB). 
Pollutant transport through the Banning Pass, from the SCAB to the Salton Sea Air Basin, is the 
primary cause of the high ozone concentrations experienced in the Coachella Valley in the late 
afternoon and early evening. The attainment date for the 1997 8‐hour ozone standard  is  June 
15, 2019.   
 
Based on reference publications by SCAMQD, ozone is a pungent, colorless toxic gas produced in 
the  troposphere  by  the  photochemical  process.  In  the  Coachella  Valley,  peak  ozone 
concentrations occur in the late afternoon and early evening hours. The attainment date for the 
2008 8‐hour ozone standard  is  July 20, 2027. The 2016 AQMP  is addressing  the Clean Air Act 
planning requirements for ozone in the SCAB and the Coachella Valley portion of the SSAB. As 
demonstrated in tables  III‐3 and III‐4, future development‐related short‐term construction and 
long‐term operational emissions are not expected to exceed the daily thresholds of significance 
established by SCAQMD  for ozone precursors,  such as NOx and ROG/VOC. By  complying with 
the adopted thresholds, the future development  is also complying with the overall attainment 
strategies reflected in the 2016 AQMP. 
 
Furthermore,  the Coachella Valley  is currently designated as a serious nonattainment area  for 
PM10 (particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 10 microns or less). In the Coachella 
Valley, there are two primary sources of PM10: natural sources consisting of sea salts, volcanic 
ash, and pollens, and man‐made or anthropogenic sources. Man‐made sources originate  from 
direct emissions, such as  industrial facilities, fugitive dust sources (e.g., construction sites) and 
paved  and  unpaved  road  dust.  The  U.S.  EPA‐approved  2002  Coachella  Valley  PM10  State 
Implementation  Plan  (2002  CVSIP)  includes  an  attainment  strategy  for  meeting  the  PM10 
standards. Some of the existing measures include the requirement of detailed dust control plans 
from builders that specify the use of more aggressive and frequent watering, soil stabilization, 
wind  screens,  and  phased  development  to  minimize  fugitive  dust.  Appropriate  air  quality 
measures to prevent fugitive dust are required by the City’s fugitive dust control policies, which 
is consistent with SCAQMD Rules 403 and 403.1 that apply to the Coachella Valley strategy for 
reducing fugitive dust emissions.  
 
Relative  to  the  PM10  emissions  threshold,  construction  activities  associated  with  future 
development will be required to adhere to the City’s Fugitive Dust and Erosion Control policies 
and  ordinance  to minimize  potential  temporary  construction  related  emissions.  An  approved 
Fugitive  Dust  (PM10)  Control  Plan  will  be  required  prior  to  issuance  of  a  grading  permit. 
Implementation of the Fugitive Dust Control Plan is required to occur under the supervision of 
an individual with training on Dust Control in the Coachella Valley (Rule 403 and 403.1). The plan 
will  include  methods  to  prevent  sediment  track‐out  onto  public  roads,  prevent  visible  dust 
emissions  from  exceeding  a  20‐percent  opacity,  and  prevent  visible  dust  emissions  from 
extending more than 100 feet (vertically or horizontally from the origin of a source) or crossing 
any property line. The most widely used measures include proper construction phasing, proper 
maintenance/cleaning  of  construction  equipment,  soil  stabilization,  installation  of  track‐out 
prevention devices, and wind fencing. Since emissions related to future development would be 
consistent  with  the  Air  Quality  Management  Plan,  the  Coachella  Valley  PM10  SIP,  and  all 
SCAQMD  Air  Quality  Significance  Thresholds,  long‐term  operational  air  quality  impacts 

Page 465

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

32 

associated with  future  development  should  not  be  considered  cumulatively  considerable.  No 
impacts are anticipated relative to the Change of Zone.  
 

b) No Impact. A sensitive receptor is a person in the population who is particularly susceptible (i.e. 
more  susceptible  than  the  population  at  large)  to  health  effects  due  to  exposure  to  an  air 
contaminant. Sensitive receptors and the facilities that house them are of particular concern if 
they  are  located  in  close  proximity  to  localized  sources  of  carbon  monoxide,  toxic  air 
contaminants, or odors.  Land uses considered by the SCAQMD to be sensitive receptors include 
residences,  long‐term  health  care  facilities,  schools,  rehabilitation  centers,  playgrounds, 
convalescent centers, childcare centers, retirement homes, and athletic facilities.  
 

  As previously introduced, the vacant project property is surrounded primarily by residential uses 
and is within close proximity to Valle Del Sol Elementary School. During construction of future 
development on the project property is expected to produce temporary and localized emissions, 
which  based  on  the  Air  Quality  Study’s  modeling  results,  would  not  exceed  the  SCAQMD 
thresholds of  significance.  Implementation of  the  required  SCAQMD rules,  best  available dust 
control measures  and  the  City’s  Fugitive  Dust  Control  policies  will minimize  those  temporary 
impacts,  preventing  pollutants  emissions  from  reaching  any  substantial  concentrations. 
Examples of best available dust control measures include constructing a temporary fence with a 
wind screen to prevent propagation of dust emissions, utilizing properly maintained equipment, 
maintaining stabilized soil, and constructing track‐out prevention devices at construction access 
points. These standard practices are consistent with the SCAQMD Rule 403 and 403.1 and the 
Coachella  Valley  Best  Available  Control  Measures  (CVBACM),  as  identified  in  the  SCAQMD 
Coachella Valley Fugitive Dust Control Handbook.  

 
  The South Coast Air Quality Management District  (SCAQMD) has developed and published the 

Final Localized Significance Threshold (LST) Methodology to identify potential impacts that could 
contribute  or  cause  localized  exceedances  of  the  federal  and/or  state  ambient  air  quality 
standards  (NAAQS/CAAQS).  LST  methodology  was  developed  in  response  to  environmental 
justice  and  health  concerns  raised  by  the  public  regarding  exposure  of  individuals  to  criteria 
pollutants in local communities. The purpose of analyzing LSTs is to determine whether a project 
may generate significant adverse localized air quality impacts in relation to the nearest exposed 
sensitive  receptors,  such  as  schools,  churches,  residences,  hospitals,  day  care  facilities,  and 
elderly care facilities. LST thresholds represent the maximum emissions from a project that will 
prevent  an  exceedance  of  the  most  stringent  applicable  federal  or  state  ambient  air  quality 
standard at the nearest sensitive receptor, taking into consideration ambient concentrations in 
each source receptor area (SRA), project, size, and distance to the sensitive receptor. Therefore, 
meeting the lowest allowable emissions thresholds translates to meeting the most stringent air 
quality standards for a project locality. 

 
  As  part  of  the  LST methodology,  SCAQMD has  divided  its  jurisdiction  into  37  source  receptor 

areas  (SRAs)  which  can  be  used  to  determine  whether  a  project  may  generate  significant 
adverse  localized  air  quality  impacts.  The  proposed  development  is  located  in  SRA  30, which 
covers the Coachella Valley and City of Coachella. LSTs only apply to certain criteria pollutants: 
carbon  dioxide  (CO),  oxides  of  nitrogen  (NOx)  particulate  matter  equal  to  or  less  than  10 
microns  in  diameter  (PM10),  and  particulate  matter  equal  to  or  less  than  2.5  microns  in 
diameter (PM2.5). 

 

Page 466

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

33 

  Geographic Information Systems (GIS) mapping analysis was used to delineate the project area 
and identify the nearest sensitive receptors using the distance intervals established by the LST 
methodology, which are 25 meters (82 feet), 50 meters (164 feet), 100 meters (328 feet), 200 
meters  (656  feet),  and  500  meters  (1,640  feet).  Since  the  project’s  immediate  surroundings 
include residential developments and an elementary school, the shortest and most conservative 
distance interval of 25 meters (82 feet) was used for this analysis. The shortest distance interval 
establishes  the  strictest  threshold  with  the  lowest  emissions  allowances  needed  to maintain 
compliance.  The  existing  separation  between  the  project  property  and  existing  neighboring 
residential  units  and  the  elementary  school  includes  solid block walls  (6‐ft  tall)  and  chain‐link 
fencing.  It  is  worth  noting  that  in  accordance  with  SCAQMD  Rule  403.1  and  Chapter  8.20 
(Fugitive Dust Control) of the City of Coachella Code of Ordinances, the proponent of the future 
development is required to install and maintain a temporary wind fence during construction to 
contain dust emissions. 

 
Table III‐4 

Localized Significance Thresholds (LSTs) Associated with  
Associated with Projected Construction at Mid‐Density Development Scenario 

With Receptors at 25 Meters (82 Feet), 5‐Acre Area Increments 
(In Pounds/Day) 

Emission Source  NOx CO PM10 PM2.5 
Maximum Unmitigated Emissions 
Resulting from Site Preparation, 
Grading, Building Construction, 
Paving and Architectural Coating 

(Rounded Value) 

46.4431  45.6059  6.6711  4.4134 

SCAQMD LST Threshold for SRA 30 304  2,292  14  8 

LST Threshold Exceeded?  No  No  No  No 

Sources: CalEEMod Results and AQMD LST Look‐Up Tables 
Note: The PM10 and PM2.5 emissions are based on the CalEEMod mitigated results due 
to the local standard requirement to implement SCAQMD Rule 403 and 403.1 to control 
fugitive dust. 

 
  California Emissions Estimator Model™ (CalEEMod™ Version 2016.3.2) was utilized to calculate 

the maximum daily on‐site emissions  that will  occur during  construction based on  the  largest 
acreage interval allowed by the LST methodology, which is 5 acres. The data provided in Table 
III‐4 demonstrates that the construction activities would not generate emissions in excess of the 
site‐specific  LSTs;  therefore,  site‐  specific  impacts  during  construction  of  future  development 
would be less than significant. Based on the LST methodology, if the calculated emissions for the 
proposed construction or operational activities are below the LST emission levels. Related to the 
exposure  of  sensitive  receptors  to  substantial  pollutant  concentrations  as  a  result  of  future 
development,  less  than significant  impacts are anticipated. However, no  impacts are expected 
related to the Change of Zone. 

 
d)  No  Impact.  As previously  analyzed and disclosed,  implementation of  the proposed Change of 

Zone  will  not  result  in  emissions  that  would  exceed  the  South  Coast  AQMD  Air  Quality 
Significance  Thresholds  pertaining  to  construction  or  operation.  Moreover,  the  project 
emissions  would  not  exceed  the  Localized  Significance  Thresholds  applicable  to  the  project 
setting in relation to the nearby residences or school sites.  

Page 467

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

34 

 
  The  proposed  Change  of  Zone  will  not  include  the  types  of  facilities  commonly  known  to 

generate  odors,  such  as  wastewater  treatment  plants,  sanitary  landfills,  composting/green 
waste  facilities,  recycling  facilities,  petroleum  refineries,  chemical  manufacturing  plants, 
painting/coating operations, rendering plants, or food packaging facilities.  As such, the Change 
of  Zone  is  not  expected  to  result  in  odor  emissions  adversely  affecting  nearby  neighbors. 
Pertaining to other emissions adversely affecting a substantial number of people, no impacts are 
expected relative to the proposed Change of Zone.  

   
Mitigation Measures: None Required  

 
 

 
 
 

Page 468

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

35 

IV. BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Have  a  substantial  adverse  effect,  either  directly  or 
through  habitat  modifications,  on  any  species 
identified  as  a  candidate,  sensitive,  or  special  status 
species  in  local  or  regional  plans,  policies,  or 
regulations,  or  by  the  California  Department  of  Fish 
and Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service?  

       

b)  Have  a  substantial  adverse  effect  on  any  riparian 
habitat  or  other  sensitive  natural  community 
identified  in  local  or  regional  plans,  policies,  or 
regulations  or  by  the  California  Department  of  Fish 
and Game or US Fish and Wildlife Service?  

       

c)  Have a substantial adverse effect on state or federally 
protected  wetlands  (including,  but  not  limited  to, 
marsh,  vernal  pool,  coastal,  etc.)  through  direct 
removal,  filling,  hydrological  interruption,  or  other 
means?  

       

d)  Interfere  substantially  with  the  movement  of  any 
native resident or migratory fish or wildlife species or 
with  established  native  resident  or migratory wildlife 
corridors, or impede the use of native wildlife nursery 
sites?  

       

e)  Conflict  with  any  local  policies  or  ordinances 
protecting  biological  resources,  such  as  a  tree 
preservation policy or ordinance?  

       

f)  Conflict  with  the  provisions  of  an  adopted  Habitat 
Conservation  Plan,  Natural  Community  Conservation 
Plan, or other approved local, regional, or state habitat 
conservation plan?  

       

(Source:  City  of  Coachella  General  Plan  2035,  2015;  City  of  Coachella  General  Plan  2035  Draft  Environmental 
Impact Report, 2015) 
 

Setting 
 
The  proposed  project  site  is  comprised  of  approximately  56.9  gross‐acres  that  have  been  previously 
graded and disturbed  for agricultural uses. The project  is  located within  the Coachella Valley Multiple 
Species Habitat Conservation Plan area (CVMSHCP) but is not within a Conservation Area.  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a)  No  Impact.  The  proposed  project  occupies  approximately  56.9  acres  of  vacant  and  fallow 

farmland  in  the  City  of  Coachella.  The  project  proposes  a  Change  of  Zone  from  the  existing 
Single  Family  Residential  (R‐S)  and  Multiple  Family  Residential  (R‐M)  to  R‐M  General,  R‐M 
Urban, and Neighborhood Commercial  (C‐N). Surrounding properties  include residential  to the 
east and west, the Coachella Valley Stormwater Channel to the north, and industrial uses to the 

Page 469

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

36 

south.  The  property’s  western  and  eastern  boundaries  are  physically  delineated  by  a 
combination of perimeter block wall and chain link fencing. 
According  to  historic  imagery  dating  back  to  1953,  prior  uses  of  the  site  appear  to  consist 
primarily  of  agricultural  uses.  The project  site  has  been disturbed  and utilized  for  agricultural 
purposes  in  the past decades; however,  the site currently  indicates a  fallow condition. Due to 
the  property’s  past  use  as  an  agricultural  operation,  as  well  as  the  developed  nature  of  the 
surrounding properties,  the  current  state and activities of  the  site do not provide a  condition 
that would support natural vegetation communities or habitats, including the presence of plant 
or animal species given special status by governing agencies.  

 
Per  the  Coachella  General  Plan  Draft  EIR,  the  project  site  is  not  identified  as  a  vegetation 
community  or  habitat  plan  and  is  not  in  a  location  where  special  status  plant  or  wildlife 
resources have been identified. The property is within the CVMSHCP, which outlines policies for 
conservation  of  habitats  and  natural  communities.  The  project  site  is  not  located  within  a 
CVMSHCP  Conservation  Area  and  there  are  no  known  significant  biological  resource  on  the 
project site. Therefore, the project would not have a substantial adverse  impact on candidate, 
sensitive, or special status species. No impacts are expected to species identified as a candidate, 
sensitive, or  special  status  species  in  local or  regional plans, policies, or  regulations, or by  the 
California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) or US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS).  

 
b)  No  Impact.  The  project  does  not  contain  nor  is  it  adjacent  to  any  riparian  habitat  or  other 

sensitive natural community identified in local or regional plans, policies, and regulations or by 
the California department of Fish and Wildlife, or U.S. Fish and Wildlife service. The Coachella 
Valley Stormwater Channel  is  located along  the northeasterly border of  the  site, however, no 
impacts to the channel are expected. There is no blue line stream within the project property as 
depicted  on  the  United  States  Geological  Survey  topographic  maps  or  National  Hydrography 
Dataset.  The  project  is  proposing  a  zone  change  from  Single  Family  Residential  (R‐S)  and 
Multiple Family Residential (R‐M) to R‐M General (20‐25 du/ac), R‐M Urban (20‐38 du/ac), and 
Neighborhood  Commercial  (C‐N).  The  proposed  zones  complies  with  the  City  of  Coachella 
General Plan Update land use designations. As a result, no impacts to riparian habitat or other 
sensitive natural communities are anticipated. 

 
c)  No Impact. The project site is surrounded by residential communities to the west and east, the 

Coachella Valley Stormwater Channel to the north, and industrial uses to the south. The project 
site  does  not  contain,  nor  is  adjacent  to,  federally  protected  wetlands,  marshes,  or  other 
drainage features. The project is adjacent to the Coachella Valley Stormwater Channel; however, 
the proposed project will not impact the Channel or any other drainage features.  

 
The project proposes a Change of Zone from R‐S and R‐M to R‐m General, R‐M Urban, and C‐N. 
The  project  applicant  will  be  required  to  develop  and  implement  a  Project‐Specific  Water 
Quality Management Plan (WQMP) to ensure that the project does not contribute pollutants of 
concern  from  storm  runoff.  As  a  result,  implementation  of  the  proposed  project  would  not 
result  in  the  direct  removal,  filing  or  other  hydrological  interruption  of  these  resources. 
Therefore, no impacts are anticipated.   

 
d)  No  Impact.  No  migratory  wildlife  corridors  or  native  wildlife  nursery  sites  are  found  on  the 

project or adjacent properties. As previously discussed,  the project has been graded and used 
for  agricultural  purposes  for  decades.  Moreover,  there  are  no  existing  drainages  that  would 

Page 470

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

37 

support wildlife nursery sites or corridors and the site is not located in a known wildlife corridor. 
Therefore, no impacts to movement of any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife species, 
corridors or wildlife nursery sites are expected.  

 
e)  No Impact. The site has been disturbed for a number of years and as a result does not support 

natural  vegetation  communities  or  habitats.  Project  implementation  would  not  result  in 
demolition or tree removal. The future development will include landscaping improvements in a 
manner  that  is  consistent with  local development standards. The project will  comply with  the 
CVMSHCP  and  there  are  no  other  unique  local  policies  or  ordinances  protecting  biological 
resources  that  would  cause  a  conflict  nor  does  the  site  support  high  valuable  biological 
resources  that  could  be  affected.  There  are  no  applicable  tree  preservation  policies  or 
ordinances and no impacts are expected.  

 
f)  No  Impact.  The project  lies within  the boundary of  the CVMSHCP, which outlines policies  for 

conservation of habitats and natural communities. However, the project is not located within or 
adjacent  to  a  designated  Conservation  Area  under  this  plan.  Therefore,  it  is  not  subject  to 
CVMSHCP  requirements  regarding  lands  adjoining  Conservation  Areas.  The  CVMHSCP 
implements a Local Mitigation Development Fee (LDMF) from all new development to support 
the acquisition of conservation lands. The fee would be applied per Chapter 4.48.060 of the City 
of Coachella Municipal Code. Based on these provisions, the applicable fees would be collected 
by the City and future development is expected to comply with the provisions of the CVMSHCP. 
No impacts would result from the Change of Zone.  

 
Mitigation Measures: None Required  

Page 471

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

38 

V. CULTURAL RESOURCES 
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Cause  a  substantial  adverse  change  in  the  significance 
of a historical resource pursuant to Section 15064.5?  

       

b)  Cause  a  substantial  adverse  change  in  the  significance 
of an archaeological resource pursuant to 15064.5?  

       

c)  Disturb  any  human  remains,  including  those  interred 
outside of dedicated cemeteries?  

       

(Source:  City  of  Coachella  General  Plan  2035,  2015;  City  of  Coachella  General  Plan  2035  Draft  Environmental 
Impact Report, 2015) 

 
Setting 
 
The City of Coachella sits on the shoreline of ancient Lake Cahuilla, a large intermittent freshwater lake 
created by the Colorado River. Its shorelines continually changed as the lake was filled and emptied by 
the  river,  and when  it was  full  it  attracted  human  settlement with  its  plentiful  resources.  Settlement 
along  the  lakeshore  in  the  Coachella  Valley  was  particularly  intensive,  with  evidence  of  large‐scale, 
multi‐seasonal occupation. 
 
The  first  known  human  inhabitants  of  the  Coachella  Valley  included  the  Cahuilla  Indians,  whose 
occupancy  spread  from  the Banning Pass  to  the  Salton  Sea. Anthropologists  divided  the Cahuilla  into 
three  groups  based  on  their  geographic  setting:  (1)  the  Pass  Cahuilla  of  the  San Gorgonio  Pass‐Palm 
Springs  area;  (2)  the  Mountain  Cahuilla  of  the  San  Jacinto  and  Santa  Rosa  Mountains;  and  (3)  the 
Cahuilla Valley, and the Desert Cahuilla of the eastern Coachella Valley. The Cahuilla Indians developed a 
seasonal  mobility  system,  which  utilized  the  lake  when  it  was  full  and  benefited  from  the  available 
terrestrial  resources  once  the  lake  desiccated.  They  also migrated  to  higher  elevations  to  utilize  the 
resources and cooler temperatures.  
 
The City  of  Coachella  contains  a  significant  amount  of  archeological  resources  due  to  its  rich  cultural 
history and historical settlements within its boundaries. It was once the site of Native Americans tribal 
land and some tribal  land still exists there. While having a rich Native American historical background, 
the  Native  American  population  is  still  present  in  Coachella.  Due  to  its  historical,  cultural,  and 
archaeological  resources, most  of  the  City  is  designated  as  “medium  sensitivity  to  historical  resource 
sensitivity” (Coachella 2035 General Plan Final EIR, Figure 4.4‐2).  
 
The project property occupies approximately 56.9 acres of disturbed, vacant land north of 52nd Avenue 
and west and east of Education Way. The site is surrounded by the Coachella Valley Stormwater Channel 
to  the  north,  and  existing  residential  developments  to  the  east  and  west.  Valle  Del  Sol  Elementary 
School  abuts  the  project  site’s  western  boundary.  The  paved  roadway,  52nd  Avenue,  borders  the 
southern property boundary. Industrial uses are located south of the project site, south of 52nd Avenue.  
 
The  site  previously  operated  as  agricultural  land,  and  has  been  subject  to  grading,  clearing,  and 
harvesting since before 1953, according to historical aerial  imagery. The project  is currently zoned for 
Single  Family Residential  (R‐S)  and Multiple  Family  Residential  (R‐M).  The project  is  proposing  a  zone 

Page 472

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

39 

change from the R‐S and R‐M designations to R‐M General, R‐M Urban, and Neighborhood Commercial 
(C‐N). 
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a) No  Impact. A historical  resource,  as defined  in  Section 15064.5 of  the CEQA Guidelines,  shall 

include:  a  resource  listed  in  or  determined  to  be  eligible  by  the  State  Historical  Resources 
Commission, for listing in the California Register of Historical Resources; a resource determined 
as historically or culturally significant; any object, building, structure, site, area, place, record or 
manuscript  which  a  lead  agency  determines  to  be  historically  significant  or  significant  in  the 
architectural,  engineering,  scientific,  economic,  agricultural,  educational,  social,  political, 
military or cultural annals of California may be considered to be an historical resource. 

The project site occupies approximately 56.9 acres of  fallow farmland. There are no known or 
observable historic resources as defined in Section 15046.5 of the CEQA Guidelines that would 
be adversely affected by the proposed zone change. This includes known or observable objects, 
buildings, structures, sites, areas, places, records, or manuscript which a lead agency determines 
to be historically significant. 
 
According to the National Register Database and Research, historic buildings do not exist within 
or near  the project  site.  In addition,  historical  imagery dated between 1953 and 2016 do not 
indicate  the  existence  of  any  buildings  within  the  project  vicinity.  Therefore,  no  man‐made 
features were  known  to  be present  in  the project  area prior  to  then.  The  aerial  photographs 
further  demonstrate  that  the  project  area  has  been  primarily  used  as  farmlands  since  1953, 
alternating between fallow and vegetative cycles until present day.  
 
The  project  site  is  not  located  on  or  near  a  mapped  historical  resource  as  identified  in  the 
Multipurpose  Open  Space  of  the  Riverside  County  General  Plan.  At  such  time  when 
development of residential or commercial uses are proposed, the property would be subject to 
further environmental analysis and a project  specific  cultural  analysis  shall be conducted by a 
qualified professional. The proposed project would only  involve a zoning chance and does not 
involve approval of any development entitlements. As a result,  less than significant  impacts to 
historical resources relative to the zone change are anticipated to result from the project. 

Therefore, there are no recognizable potential historical resources as defined in Section 15064.5 
of the CEQA Guidelines that would be adversely affected by future development. No impacts are 
anticipated relative to the Change of Zone.   

b) No  Impact.  The  City  of  Coachella  defines  an  archeological  resource  as  places  where  human 
activity has measurably altered the earth or left deposits of physical remains and may be either 
prehistoric‐era  (before  European  contact)  or  historic‐era  (after  European  contact). 
Archaeological  resources  are  important  for  scientific  historic,  and/or  religious  reasons  to 
cultures,  groups,  or  individuals.  Given  the  sheer  number  of  recorded  resources  and  Native 
American or Euro‐American locations throughout the Coachella Valley, the City of Coachella can 
be considered sensitive for archaeological resources (2035 Coachella General Plan EIR).  
 
The proposed project would only  involve a policy action to amend the zoning designation and 
does not involve approval of any development entitlements. Future development of residential 

Page 473

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

40 

or  commercial  uses would be  subject  to  further  environmental  analysis  and  require  a project 
specific  cultural  analysis  be  completed  by  a  qualified  professional.  This  would  identify  any 
archaeological  resources  and  provide  appropriate  project  mitigation  as  needed.  No  impacts 
relative  to  adverse  change  in  archaeological  resources  are  anticipated  as  a  result  of  the 
proposed zoning change.   
 

c) No Impact. As previously discussed, the project site previously operated as agricultural land. The 
project site is not likely to uncover human remains during grading operations, since the site was 
previously disturbed during agricultural operations. However,  the California Health and Safety 
Code  Section  7050.5,  and  the  CEQA Guidelines  Section  15064.5  requires  that  in  the  event  of 
discovery or recognition of any human remains in any location other than a dedicated cemetery, 
there shall be no further excavation or disturbance of  the site, or any nearby area reasonably 
suspected to overlay adjacent remains, until  the County Coroner has examined the remains.  If 
the coroner determines the remains to be Native American or has reason to believe that they 
are  those  of  Native  American,  the  coroner  shall  contact  by  telephone  the  Native  American 
Heritage Commission within 24‐hours. Pursuant to the mentioned California Health and Safety 
Code, proper actions shall  take place  in  the event of a discovery or  recognition of any human 
remains  during  future  development  construction  activities.  Pursuant  to  the  mentioned 
California Health and Safety Code, proper actions shall take place in the event of a discovery or 
recognition  of  any  human  remains  during  project  construction  activities.  No  impacts  are 
expected relative to the proposed Change of Zone.  

 
Mitigation Measures None Required  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 474

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

41 

VI. ENERGY 
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Result  in  potentially  significant  environmental  impact 
due  to  wasteful,  inefficient,  or  unnecessary 
consumption  of  energy  resources,  during  project 
construction or operation?  

       

b)  Conflict  with  or  obstruct  a  state  or  local  plan  for 
renewable energy or energy efficiency?  

       

 
(Sources:  The City of Coachella 2035 General  Plan,  2015; City of Coachella Climate Action Plan, 2014; California 
Energy  Consumption  Database,  California  Energy  Commission,  2019;  CalEEMod  Version:  CalEEMod.2016.3.2, 
accessed July 2019; U.S. Energy Information Administration, 2020). 
 

Setting 
 
The project proposes a multi‐family housing community located on approximately 56.9 acres in the City 
of Coachella. The site is located north of 52nd Avenue and west and east of Education Way. The project is 
currently located within the Coachella General Plan Urban Neighborhood and Neighborhood Center land 
use designations. The existing zoning designations for the project are Single Family Residential (R‐S) and 
Multiple  Family  Residential  (R‐M).  The  project  is  proposing  a  Change  of  Zone  from  the  R‐S  and  R‐M 
zones to R‐M General (20‐25 du/ac), R‐M Urban (20‐38 du/ac), and Neighborhood Commercial (C‐N).  
 
According to the City of Coachella’s Climate Action Plan (CAP), energy  is used for heating and cooling, 
transportation, manufacturing, and producing food. The most common sources of energy include fossil 
fuels  like  oil,  gasoline,  natural  gas  and  coal.  The  consumption  of  these  energy  sources  leads  to  the 
production  of  greenhouse  gas  (GHG)  emissions.  In  2010,  total  GHG  emissions  in  Coachella  were 
approximately 382,787 metric  tons  (MTCO2e), a 22 percent  increase over 2005 emissions of 312, 628 
MTCO2e.  This  number  accounts  for  direct  emissions  from  the  on‐site  combustion  of  fuels  and  the 
combustion  of  fuel  in  vehicles,  as  well  as  indirect  emissions  associated  with  community  electricity 
consumption,  and  emissions  from  solid waste  generated,  crop management  and water  consumed  by 
Coachella. The residential sector was the third largest producer of GHG emissions within the City, after 
transportation and commercial/industrial. The City of Coachella established various methods to reduce 
energy related GHG emissions produced by the City in their CAP.  
 
Electricity is provided to the City of Coachella by Imperial Irrigation District (IID). IID is the sixth‐largest 
utility  in  California,  has  an  energy  service  area  of  6,471  square  miles,  serving  more  than  145,000 
customers and controlling more than 1,100 megawatts (MW) of energy. Electricity is delivered through 
high voltage  transmission and  low voltage distribution power  lines. Distribution power  lines  transport 
anywhere  from  4  kV  to  69  kV, while  transmission  lines  can  transport  69  kV  to  765  kV  of  electricity. 
Transmission and distribution power poles are located on the southern boundary of the project, along 
52nd Avenue.  
 
The Southern California Gas Company (SoCalGas or the Gas Company) provides natural gas to the City of 
Coachella, including the project site. Natural gas is used primarily for space and water heating, as well as 
cooking.  The  two  closest  high‐pressure  distribution  lines  provided  by  the  Gas  Company  are  located 

Page 475

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

42 

approximately 0.37 miles west of  the project site. High pressure distribution pipelines  that operate at 
pressures above 60 psi and deliver gas in smaller volumes to the lower pressure distribution system. 
 
The project does not currently propose development on the 56.9‐acre property and a site plan does not 
currently  exist.  However,  energy  consumption  of  future  development  is  analyzed  in  this  Energy 
discussion.  Future development  is  expected  to  consume energy  in  the  form of  electricity,  natural  gas 
and petroleum during project construction and operation. The latest version of CalEEMod v2016.3.2 was 
utilized to calculate construction‐source and operational‐source energy use for the future development. 
The discussion of the findings is provided below.  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a)   Less  than  Significant  Impact.  As  previously  stated,  the  proposed  Change  of  Zone  will  not 

consume energy. However, future development of the project site will consume energy during 
its construction and operation. Energy consumption (via electricity, natural gas, and petroleum) 
relative to potential future development of the site is analyzed below. Energy consumption was 
calculated using the latest version of CalEEMod.  

 
Electricity  
 
According to the California Energy Commission (CEC), the residential sector in Riverside County 
consumed  approximately  7,705.52  million  kWh  (GWh)  in  2018.  The  non‐residential  sector  in 
Riverside  County  consumed  approximately  8,275.21  million  kWh  in  2018.  This  equals  a 
combined electrical consumption of residential and non‐residential uses 15,980.73 million kWh.  
 
Electricity is provided to the City of Coachella, and the project site, by Imperial Irrigation District 
(IID). Electricity use resulted in the second largest emissions produced community‐wide, behind 
petroleum  (discussed  further below).  Electricity use  increased  from approximately 212 million 
kWh  in  2005  to  220  million  kWh  in  2010,  a  4  percent  increase.  Residential  electricity 
consumption  increased  by  20  million  kWh  (25  percent)  and  outdoor  and  street  lighting 
electricity use rose by approximately 300,000 kWh (48 percent).  

 
Construction 
Temporary  electrical  power  for  lighting  and  electronic  equipment,  such  as  computers  inside 
interim  construction  trailers,  would  be  provided  by  IID.  Electricity  consumed  for  onsite 
construction  trailers,  which  are  used  by  managerial  staff  during  the  hours  of  construction 
activities, as well as electrically powered hand tools are expected to use a minimal amount of 
electricity. However, the electricity used for such activities would be temporary and negligible. 
Most  energy  used  during  construction  would  be  from  petroleum  consumption  (discussed 
further below).  
 
Operation  
Future development is anticipated to be composed of mixed uses including residential and local 
serving commercial uses. The project would not result in the use of excessive amounts of fuel or 
electricity  and  would  not  result  in  the  need  to  develop  additional  sources  of  energy.  While 
energy use at  the site would not be excessive,  future development would  incorporate several 
measures directed at minimizing energy use. These measures include applying energy efficient 
design  building  shells  and  building  components,  such  as  windows,  roof  systems,  electrical 

Page 476

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

43 

lighting systems, and heating, ventilating and air conditioning systems to meet the most current 
Title  24  Standards  at  the  time  of  development,  as well  as  providing  low‐flow  appliances  and 
covered parking stalls with PV solar  facilities. Therefore,  reducing  the use of electricity during 
operation.  
 
According  to  the  CalEEMod  calculations  future  development  could  generate  the  demand  for 
approximately  5,733,960  kWh  of  annual  electricity  use  for  the  multiple‐family  residential 
component (depicted in CalEEMod as “apartments low‐rise”), as depicted in the table below.  
 

Table VI‐1 Operational Electricity Demand 

  Electricity Use 

Land Use  kWh/yr 

Apartments Low‐Rise  5,733,960 

Total  5,733,960 

 
Natural Gas  
 
According to the California Energy Commission, the residential sector consumed approximately 
259.34  million  therms  of  natural  gas  in  2018,  while  the  non‐residential  sector  consumed 
approximately  139.19  million  therms  in  2018.  Combined,  both  the  residential  and  non‐
residential sectors consumed approximately 398.54 million therms in 2018.  
 
Natural gas is provided to the City of Coachella, and the project site, by the SoCal Gas Company. 
In  2010,  the  residential  sector  consumed  approximately  2.1  million  therms  of  natural  gas. 
Specifically, single family residential natural gas use grew by over 500,000 therms (35 percent), 
multifamily  residential  natural  gas  fell  by  approximately  20,000  therms  (16  percent),  and 
commercial  and  industrial  natural  gas  use  increased  by  over  50,000  therms  (4  percent). 
Throughout the City, natural gas use between 2005 and 2010 increased 20 percent, equivalent 
to  an  increase  of  approximately  600,000  therms.  Natural  gas  combustion  resulted  in  11,000 
MTCO2e  of  greenhouse  gas  emissions.  Natural  gas  use  within  multi‐family  residential 
contributed one percent of the emissions (City of Coachella Climate Action Plan).   
 

  Note: The CalEEMod program uses thousand British thermal units (kBTU) to quantify natural gas 
use, where 1 therm equals approximately 99.976 kBTU. For example, the approximately 600,000 
therm  increase  of  natural  gas  consumption  between  2005  and  2010  is  equivalent  to 
approximately 59,985,680 kBTU. Thousand British thermal units will be used when analyzing the 
potential project‐related natural gas consumption below.  

   
Construction  
Natural  gas  is  not  anticipated  to  be  required  during  construction  of  the  future  development. 
Fuels used for construction would primarily consist of diesel and gasoline, which are discussed 
under  the  following  petroleum  subsection.  Any  minor  amounts  of  natural  gas  that  may  be 
consumed because of construction would be temporary and negligible and would not have an 
adverse effect. 

 
Operation 

Page 477

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

44 

The consumption of natural gas typically is consumed during building heating, water heating and 
cooking,  which  will  occur  during  project  operation.  The  project’s  expected  natural  gas 
consumption  was  calculated  using  the  CalEEMod  default  values.  Based  on  the  CalEEMod 
calculations,  the  project  is  estimated  to  consume  approximately  22,209,200  thousand  British 
thermal units (kBTU) of natural gas annually during operation of the multiple‐family residential 
(apartment  low‐rise)  component.  This  is  displayed  in  Table  VI‐2,  Operational  Natural  Gas 
Demand, below.  
 
As  such,  future development would  result  in  a  long‐term  increase  in demand  for natural  gas. 
However,  future  development  would  be  designed  to  comply  with  Title  24,  Part  6  of  the 
California Code of  Regulations  (CCR). Natural  gas  consumption would be  appropriate  and not 
place a significant burden on SoCal Gas services. 
 

Table VI‐2 Operational Natural Gas Demand 

  Natural Gas Use 

Land Use  kBTU/yr 

Apartments Low Rise  22,209,200 

Total   22,209,200 

 
Petroleum  
 
Petroleum  is  the  largest  U.S.  energy  source  according  to  the  U.S.  Energy  Information 
Administration (EIA). Petroleum products are used to fuel vehicles and produce electricity. U.S. 
Petroleum consumption  in 2017 was primarily used by  the transportation sector  (71 percent). 
The  industrial  sector accounted  for 24 percent petroleum consumption,  the  residential  sector 
consumed 3 percent, commercial consumed 2 percent, and finally, electric power consumed 1 
percent.  
 
Gasoline is the most consumed petroleum product in the United States. In 2017, consumption of 
finished motor gasoline averaged about 392 million gallons per day, which was equal to about 
47 percent of total U.S. petroleum consumption, according to the U.S. EIA. Gasoline and other 
vehicle fuels are commercially provided commodities and would be available to the project via 
commercial outlets. 

 
The transportation sector within the City of Coachella produced approximately 130,000 MTCO2e 
in 2010, being the largest contributor to GHG emissions in the City. Overall, the transportation 
sector emitted 45 percent of the City’s GHG emissions in 2010. Transportation sector emissions 
were estimated in the City’s CAP by applying conversion factors to daily vehicle miles traveled 
(VMT).  It  was  estimated  that  75  percent  of  the  greenhouse  gas  emissions  from  the 
transportation  sector  were  the  result  of  burning  gasoline,  and  the  remainder  resulted  from 
burning diesel fuel.  
 
Construction  
Petroleum would be consumed throughout construction of  future development of  the project 
property.  Fuel  consumed  by  construction  equipment would  be  the  primarily  energy  resource 
expended  over  the  course  of  construction,  while  VMT  associated  with  the  transportation  of 

Page 478

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

45 

construction  materials  and  construction  worker  commutes  would  also  result  in  petroleum 
consumption. Heavy‐duty equipment used for project construction would rely on diesel fuel, as 
would haul  trucks  involved  in off‐hauling materials  from excavation. Construction workers are 
expected to travel  to and  from the project site  in gasoline‐powered passenger vehicles. There 
are  no  unusual  characteristics  or  construction  processes  that  would  require  the  use  of 
equipment that would be more energy intensive that is used for comparable activities or use of 
equipment that would not conform to current emission standards (and related fuel efficiencies).  
 
Heavy‐duty  construction  equipment  of  various  types  would  be  used  during  each  phase  of 
construction. CalEEMod was used to estimate construction equipment usage. In the analysis of 
the future development, the mitigated construction figures were used, based on the assumption 
that  the  site  will  implement  applicable  mitigation  measures.  Fuel  consumption  from 
construction  equipment  was  estimated  by  converting  the  total  CO2  emissions  from  each 
construction phase to gallons using the conversion factors shown in the tables included below.  
 

Table VI‐3 Construction Worker Gasoline Demand 

Phase  Days  Trips  Miles  VMT  KgCO2e  Kg/CO2/Gallon  Gallons 

Site Prep.  10  18  11  1,980  2,413.5  8.89*  271.5 

Grading  110  20  11  24,200  7,159.2  8.89  805.3 

Building Const.  1,110  1,207  11  14,737,470  3,418,407  8.89  384,522.7

Paving  60  15  11  9,900  2,494.2  8.89  280.6 

Arch. Coating   150  205  11  338,250  82,975.5  8.89  9,333.5 

Total   395,213.6
*https://www.epa.gov/energy/greenhouse‐gases‐equivalencies‐calculator‐calculations‐and‐references 
https://www.epa.gov/energy/greenhouse‐gas‐equivalencies‐calculator 

Table VI‐4, Construction Vendor Diesel  Fuel Demand  (below),  illustrates  the demand of diesel 
fuel  for  construction  vendor  trips  to  and  from  the  site.  These  trips  are  associated  with  the 
delivery of construction materials during the construction phase. Construction vendor demand 
equals a total of 1,646,043 gallons of diesel fuel.  

 
Table VI‐4 Construction Vendor Diesel Fuel Demand 

Phase  Days  Trips  Miles  VMT  KgCO2e  Kg/CO2/Gallon  Gallons 

Site Preparation  10  0  0  0  0  10.18  0 

Grading  110  0  0  0  0  10.18  0 

Building Const.  1,110  152  5.40  911,088  16,756,721 10.18  1,646,043

Paving  60  0  0  0  0  10.18  0 

Arch. Coating   150  0  0  0  0  10.18  0 

Total  1,646,043

 
Table VI‐5, Construction Equipment Diesel Fuel Demand, displays the demand of diesel fuel for 
construction  vehicles  on‐site  during  the  various  construction  phases.  Construction  equipment 
diesel demands equals a total of 171,288.9 gallons of diesel fuel. 
 
 
 

Page 479

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

46 

Table VI‐5, Construction Equipment Diesel Fuel Demand 

Phase  Days  Equipment Units  KgCO2e  Kg/CO2/Gallon  Gallons 

Site Preparation  10  7  67,412  10.18  6,622.0 

Grading  110  8  302,321.2  10.18  29,697.6 

Building Const.  1,110  9  1,294,360.5  10.18  127,147.3 

Paving   60  6  60,453.3  10.18  5,938.4 

Arch. Coating  150  1  19,175.5  10.18  1,883.6 

Total  171,288.9 

 
Overall,  future  development  is  estimated  to  consume  approximately  395,213.6  gallons  of 
gasoline and 1,817,331.9 gallons of diesel  fuel during  the construction phases.  In  total,  future 
development  may  consume  approximately  2,212,545.5  gallons  of  petroleum  during  the 
estimated  6  years  of  construction.  Petroleum  use  is  necessary  to  operate  construction 
equipment.  The  US  EPA  applied  a  Tier  3  program  in  order  to  reduce  the  impacts  of  motor 
vehicles  on  air  quality  and  public  health.  The  vehicle  emissions  standards  will  reduce  both 
tailpipe  and  evaporative  emissions  from  passenger  cars,  light‐duty  trucks,  medium  duty 
passenger vehicles, and some heavy‐duty vehicles. The construction equipment will utilize Tier 3 
engines or higher, therefore would be newer off‐road equipment units.  
 
The  energy  used  during  the  construction  of  future  development  would  be  limited  to  the 
development of the property and would not require  long‐term petroleum use. Additionally, at 
this time there are no unusual characteristics or construction processes that would require the 
use of equipment that would be more energy intensive that is used for comparable activities or 
use  of  equipment  that  would  not  conform  to  current  emissions  standards  (and  related  fuel 
efficiencies).  Thus,  construction  is  not  anticipated  to  consume  petroleum  in  a  wasteful  or 
inefficient manner. No impacts relative to the Change of Zone are anticipated.  
 
Operation 
Lowering transportation emissions requires making vehicles and their fuels cleaner, reducing the 
length  of  driving  trips,  managing  the  demand  for  travel,  and  providing  alternatives  such  as 
walking, biking, and transit for travel. According to the Coachella CAP, in 2010 the City produced 
approximately  900,000  vehicle  miles  traveled  each  day,  producing  180,078  MTCO2e  from 
transportation‐related emissions.  
 
According  to  the  figures  provided  by  the  CalEEMod  calculations,  future  development  could 
potentially  generate  and  estimated  annual  VMT  of  21,043,892,  depicted  in  Table  VI‐6  below. 
The average daily  trip rate for weekdays could be 9,397.34 VMT, 10,210.16 on Saturdays, and 
8,655.82 on Sundays.  Total mobile  source CO2e  is 9,853.76 MT per  year, or 9,853,760 kg per 
year. CalEEMod assumes 92.5 percent of VMT burns gasoline, while the remaining 7.5 percent 
burn  diesel.  Thus,  of  the  9,853,760  kg  of  mobile  emissions  (CO2e),  9,114,728  kgCO2e  is 
generated  by  gasoline  combustion  and  739,032  kgCO2e  is  generated  by  diesel  combustion. 
Future  development  could  have  an  annual  gasoline  demand  of  1,025,278.7  gallons  and  an 
annual diesel demand of 72,596.5 gallons, as displayed in the following Table VI‐7.  
 
 
 
 

Page 480

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

47 

Table VI‐6, Operational Petroleum Demand 

Land Use  Annual VMT 

Apartments Low Rise  21,043,892 

Total   21,043,892 

 

Table VI‐7 Operational Annual Petroleum 

  Annual VMT  KgCO2e*  Kg/CO2/Gallon  Annual Gallons 

Gasoline  1,951,419.8  9,114,728  8.89  1,025,278.7 

Petroleum   158,223.2  739,032  10.18  72,596.5 

Total   1,097,875.2 

*9,853,760 x 0.925 = 9,114,728; 9,853,760 x 0.075 = 739,032 

Over  the  lifetime of operation of  future development,  the  fuel  efficiency of  vehicles  in  use  is 
expected  to  increase,  as  older  vehicles  are  replaced  with  newer  more  efficient  models. 
Therefore, it is expected that the amount of petroleum consumed due to the vehicle trips to and 
from  the  future  development  site  during  operation  would  decrease  over  time.  Additional 
advancement  of  technology  includes  the  use  of  plug‐in  hybrid  and  zero  emission  vehicles  in 
California, which will also decrease the amount of future petroleum consumed in the state. With 
the  foregoing,  operation  of  future  development  is  expected  to  use  decreasing  amounts  of 
petroleum over time, due to advances in fuel economy.  
 
Additionally,  future  development  is  located  within  a  mile  radius  of  various  existing  markets, 
restaurants  and  services.  These  services  are  located  primarily  on  Grapefruit  Boulevard, 
approximately 2,000 feet west of the project site. Bus services, provided by SunLine Transit, will 
also  be  accessible  to  the  project  site.  Three  bus  stops  are  located  within  1,000  feet  of  the 
project.  These  stops  include  52nd  Avenue  at  La  Ponderosa  (Stop  ID  494),  52nd  Avenue  at 
Enterprise (Stop ID 230), and 52nd Avenue at Tyler (Stop ID 487). 52nd Avenue at La Ponderosa 
is  the closest stop to  the project site,  located approximately 450  feet east of  the project. The 
availability of bus lines and services will reduce the amount of potential VMTs created by future 
development.  

 
Although future development of the project property would result in an increase in petroleum 
use during construction and operation compared to the existing, vacant conditions, the property 
would comply with the City’s General Plan Update, City Municipal Code, and Climate Action Plan 
regarding  VMT  reduction.  Additionally,  future  development may  provide  a  pedestrian  access 
network that internally links all uses and connects to all existing external streets and pedestrian 
facilities contiguous with the site. Providing a pedestrian access network to link areas of the site 
encourages  people  to  walk  instead  of  drive,  therefore,  reducing  the  regional  VMTs  and 
associated  vehicular‐source  emissions.  Given  these  considerations,  petroleum  consumption 
associated with operation would not be considered excessive.  

 
Development and operation of  future development would  increase demand  for energy  in  the 
project  area  and  in  the  service  areas  of  IID  and  SoCal  Gas  Company.  However,  based  on  the 
findings described above, construction and operation are not anticipated to result in potentially 
significant  impacts  due  to  wasteful,  inefficient,  or  unnecessary  consumption  of  energy 

Page 481

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

48 

resources, during project construction or operation. No impacts to energy resources relative to 
the Change of Zone are expected.  

 

b)  No  Impact.  The project proposes  to change  the existing  zoning of an approximately 56.9‐acre 
property  north  of  52nd  Avenue  and  east  and west  of  Education Way  in  Coachella.  The  site  is 
currently  designated  as  R‐S  and  R‐M;  however,  the  proposed  Change  of  Zone will  revise  the 
project  zones  to  R‐M General,  R‐M Urban,  and C‐N. As  stated  in  the previous  discussion,  the 
proposed  project  will  not  use  an  unnecessary  or  wasteful  amount  of  energy  resources.  To 
ensure the conservation of energy, the state of California and the City of Coachella implements 
various  regulations  in  order  to  be  more  energy  efficient  and  reduce  the  amount  of  GHG 
emissions. Some of the state‐wide and local regulations are listed below.   

 
State Regulations  
 
Assembly Bill 32 
Assembly Bill 32 (AB 32) was signed in 2006 to establish and reduce the amounts of greenhouse 
gases being emitted on a state‐wide level. Specifically, AB 32 requires a reduction of emissions 
to  1990  levels  by  2020.  It  plans  to  do  this  by  establishing  an  annual  reporting  program  for 
significant sources. Energy efficiency goals listed in AB 32 includes maximizing energy efficiency 
building  and  appliance  standards,  and  pursuing  additional  efficiency  efforts  including  new 
technologies, and new policy and implementation mechanisms.  
 
Executive Order S‐3‐05  
Executive Order (EO) S‐3‐05, passed in 2005, established reduction targets of an 80 percent of 
1990  levels  reduction by 2050, and created agencies  to achieve these  targets. The passage of 
this  regulation  requires  the  use  of  more  energy  efficient  practices  regarding  building 
development and operation in order to reduce the amount of GHGs produced.  
 
Title 20: Appliance Efficiency Standards 
The California Code of Regulations (CCR), Title 20: Division 2, Chapter 4, Article 4, Sections 1601‐
1608  (Appliance  Efficiency  Regulations)  regulates  the  sale  of  appliances  in  California.  The 
Appliance Efficiency Regulations  include standards  for both federally regulated appliances and 
non‐federally  regulated  appliances.  23  categories  of  appliances  are  included  in  the  scope  of 
these  regulations. The  standards within  these  regulations apply  to appliances  that are  sold or 
offered for sale in California, except those sold wholesale in California for final retail sale outside 
the state and those designed and sold exclusively for use in recreational vehicles or other mobile 
equipment.  
 
Title 24: Building Energy Efficiency Standards and CALGreen Building Standards Code  
In addition  to Title 20  (Sections 1601‐1608) of  the CCR, Title 24, parts 6 and 11, also outlines 
energy  efficient  building  designs  for  new  development.  The  CCR’s  2019  Building  Energy 
Efficiency Standards (Title 24, Part 6), and the CALGreen Building Standards Code (Title 24, Part 
11),  establish  mandatory  guidelines  and  standards  requiring  more  energy  efficient  new  and 
existing developments. The California Energy Commission adopted the Building Energy Efficient 
Standards  for all new residential and nonresidential construction to reduce greenhouse gases, 
as a part of the California Building Code, Title 24. This requires new homes to include at least 50 
percent  of  kitchen  lighting  to  be  LED,  compact  fluorescent  or  similar  high  efficiency  fixtures, 
double pane windows, cool roofs, and other design techniques to reduce heat loss. Title 24, Part 

Page 482

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

49 

11, establishes design and development methods that include environmentally responsible site 
selection, building design, building siting and development to protect, restore and enhance the 
environmental quality of the site and respect the integrity of adjacent properties. The proposed 
project will  be  required  to  comply with  the  state  implemented  standards  for  energy  efficient 
new developments.  
 
California’s Renewable Portfolio Standards 
The  California  Renewable  Portfolio  Standards  will  reduce  GHG  emissions  by  requiring  utility 
companies,  such  as  IID,  to  switch  from  non‐renewable  resources,  such  as  coal‐fired  power 
plants, to renewable resources, such as wind turbines and solar power.  
 
Low Carbon Fuel Standard 
The Low Carbon Fuel Standard (LCFS), or Executive Order (EO) S‐1‐07, establishes a low carbon 
fuel  standard  for  transportation  fuels  in  California.  EO  S‐1‐07  was  enacted  to  reduce  carbon 
intensity in transportation fuels as compared to conventional petroleum fuels, such as gasoline 
and diesel. It requires that the carbon intensity of California’s transportation fuels be reduced at 
least 10 percent by 2020. 
 
Clean Car Standards 
The  Clean  Car  Standards,  otherwise  known  as  Pavley  1493,  sets  more  stringent  vehicle  fuel 
economy standards for cars and light trucks that reduce greenhouse gas emissions. In 2009, the 
federal government enabled the state of California to enforce stricter  tailpipe emissions  limits 
on  new  passenger  vehicles.  In  2010,  the  US  EPA  and  the  Department  of  Transportation’s 
National  Highway  Safety  Administration  announced  new  vehicle  greenhouse  gas  emission 
standards and corporate average fuel economy standards that reinforce California’s standard. 
 
City Regulations 
 
The City of Coachella Climate Action Plan 
The  City  of  Coachella  developed  their  Climate  Action  Plan  (CAP)  in  2014  in  order  to  achieve 
community‐wide greenhouse gas emissions reductions. The CAP quantifies emissions from the 
build‐out  of  the  City  and  includes  additional  policies  and  implementation  actions  to  help 
Coachella  further  reduce  emissions.  The CAP analyzes policies  from  the General  Plan Update, 
that  reduce  energy  use,  vehicle  miles  traveled,  resource  consumption,  and  greenhouse  gas 
emissions,  comparing  the  emissions  to  voluntary  statewide  emissions  targets  outlined  in  the 
California  Climate  Action  Scoping  Plan  and  Executive  Order  S‐03‐05.  In  compliance  with  the 
statewide  emission  targets,  the  City  established  a  per  service  population  2020  emissions 
reduction target of 15 percent below 2010  levels and a 2035 emissions reduction target of 49 
percent below 2010 levels.  
 
The CAP organizes  the General Plan polices  into  six  strategies  to  reduce emissions  reductions 
throughout the City: building and infrastructure energy efficiency, renewable energy generation, 
land use and transportation, vegetation and open space, solid waste, and water use. According 
to  the  CAP  residential  and  non‐residential  buildings  produce  approximately  39  percent  of 
Coachella’s  emissions  and  are  a  primary  target  for  the  CAP.  The  City  plans  to  achieve  this 
emissions  reduction  through  energy  efficiency  policies  for  homes,  and  businesses  including 
energy performance targets to construct buildings 15 percent more energy efficient than Title 
24 standards.  

Page 483

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

50 

 
Coachella General Plan Update 
The  City  of  Coachella’s  General  Plan  Update  (GPU)  emphasizes  the  importance  to  increase 
energy  conservation  and  efficiency  and  reduce  energy  consumption  and  emissions  within  its 
City. The various goals and policies outlined within the Sustainability and Natural Environment 
Element of the GPU focuses on City development and its impact to climate change, energy and 
water  resources,  while  presenting  the  goal  to  implement  green  building  design  into  new 
developments  in  the  City.  Reoccurring  policies  include  GHG  emissions  reductions,  water 
conservation  methods,  energy  efficient  building  design,  and  implementation  of  renewable 
energy sources. Goal 2 specifically requires and energy efficient community that relies primarily 
on renewable and non‐polluting energy sources. Policies within this goal include building design 
strategies  such as passive  solar design, use of  alternative energy,  construction  standards,  and 
energy performance targets in order to create a more energy efficient community.  
 
The  importance of efficient  land use and  transportation patterns  is  also a  goal  in  the GPU,  in 
order to reduce emissions and VMTs, while improving air quality. The overall goal  is to reduce 
energy consumption  in  the City  to  improve air quality,  reduce GHG emissions,  to  increase  the 
quality of life for the City’s residents. 
 
Coachella Municipal Code  
Similar to the City’s CAP and GPU, the City’s Municipal Code also encourages the reduction of air 
pollution  created  by  vehicle  emissions.  Chapter  12.40,  Transportation  Demand Management 
Program, of the Coachella Municipal Code, is intended to protect the public health, welfare and 
safety by  reducing air pollution caused by vehicle  trips and VMTs. This  chapter  is  intended  to 
reduce emissions by requiring the development of a trip reduction and travel demand element 
to the congestion management plan (CMP), and adoption and implementation of trip reduction 
and travel demand ordinances by local agencies.   

 
The project property proposes a residential and commercial project on approximately 56.9 acres 
of  disturbed,  vacant  land  in  the  City  of  Coachella.  The  project  will  comply  with  state‐
implemented building standards such as those outlined in Title 20 and Title 24 of the California 
Code of Regulations. As stated  in  the previous discussion, project‐related energy consumption 
and VMTs created by  the project are not anticipated  to be  substantial. Construction activities 
would  require  the  use  of  equipment  that  would  be  more  energy  intensive  that  is  used  for 
comparable  activities.  However,  construction  equipment will  comply with  the  Tier  3  program 
engines or higher, therefore would be newer off‐road equipment units.  
 
The project property is located in a built urban environment, surrounded by existing residential 
uses. Existing grocery stores, elementary schools, parks, churches and bus stops all  lie within a 
half‐mile  radius of  the project property. Pedestrian pathways  that  internally  links all uses and 
connects to all existing planned external streets will assist in reducing potential project‐related 
VMTs. Future development of the project property will comply with all applicable State and local 
guidelines  and  regulations  regarding  energy  efficient  building  design  and  standards.  The 
proposed Change of Zone will not conflict or obstruct a state or local plan for renewable energy 
or energy efficiency. No impacts. 

 

Mitigation Measures: None Required  

 

Page 484

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

51 

VII. GEOLOGY AND SOILS 
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Directly or indirectly cause potential substantial adverse 
effects,  including  the  risk  of  loss,  injury,  or  death 
involving: 

       

  i)  Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as delineated 
on the most recent Alquist‐Priolo Earthquake Fault 
Zoning Map  issued  by  the  State  Geologist  for  the 
area  or  based  on  other  substantial  evidence  of  a 
known  fault?  Refer  to  Division  of  Mines  and 
Geology Special Publication 42. 

       

  ii)  Strong seismic ground shaking?          

  iii)  Seismic‐related  ground  failure,  including 
liquefaction?  

       

  iv)  Landslides?          

b)  Result in substantial soil erosion or the loss of topsoil?          

c)  Be located on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable, or 
that would become unstable as a result of the project, 
and potentially result in on‐ or off‐site landslide, lateral 
spreading, subsidence, liquefaction or collapse?  

       

d)  Be located on expansive soil, as defined in Table 18‐1‐B 
of  the  Uniform  Building  Code  (1994),  creating 
substantial direct or indirect risks to life or property?  

       

e) Have soils incapable of adequately supporting the use of 
septic tanks or alternative wastewater disposal systems 
where  sewers  are  not  available  for  the  disposal  of 
wastewater?  

       

f)    Directly  or  indirectly  destroy  a  unique  paleontological 
resource or site or unique geologic feature?  

       

(Sources: The City of Coachella 2035 General Plan, 2015; The City of Coachella 2035 General Plan Update EIR, 2015; 
Technical  Background  Report  to  the  Safety  Element,  2014;  FEMA  Flood  Zone  Map:  Riverside  County,  2017; 
Riverside County General Plan EIR, 2014) 
 

Setting 
 
Coachella  defines  its  city  as  highly  diverse  both  physically  and  geologically.  The  multiple  faults  that 
traverse the area and climate helps define the Coachella Valley region as a low and relatively flat desert 
basin bounded by mountainous terrain. The surrounding mountain ranges specifically include the Little 
San Bernardino Mountains to the northeast, the Santa Rosa Mountains to the south, and the San Jacinto 
Mountains  to  the  west.  The  topographic  variety  in  the  Coachella  Valley  establishes  elevations  from 
1,000 feet in the Mecca Hills to the east, to approximately 160 feet below sea level south of Thermal. 
Although  the  elevation  varies widely,  the  City  of  Coachella  is  relatively  flat, with  a  gentle  slope  from 
northwest  to  southeast.  The project  site  is  located  in  the  southeast portion of  the City on previously 
disturbed and relatively flat land. 

Page 485

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

52 

 
The  City  of  Coachella,  including  the  project  site,  is  located  within  a  northwest‐southeast  structural 
depression extending from the Banning Pass to the Gulf of California. This region  is designated as the 
Salton Trough, which was inundated by the Colorado River’s water, forming ancient Lake Cahuilla. Since 
that time, the floor of the Trough has been repeatedly flooded with other “fresh” water lakes, the most 
recent being the current Salton Sea. The Trough is an internally draining area with no readily available 
outlet  to  the  Gulf  of  California  portions  well  below  sea  level.  The  sole  outlet  for  these  waters  is 
evaporation, leaving behind vast amounts of terrestrial sediment materials. 
 
The project does not currently propose development on the 56.9‐acre property and a site plan does not 
currently  exist.  However,  analysis  of  future  development  on  geology  and  soils  is  provided  in  this 
discussion. In 2014 the City of Coachella published a Technical Background Report to the Safety Element 
Update,  which  analyzes  various  hazards  that  can  possibly  occur  in  the  City.  The  various  hazards 
addressed  within  the  Technical  Background  Report  includes  seismic,  geologic,  flood,  fire,  hazardous 
material  and  severe  weather  hazards.  The  seismic  and  geologic  hazards  sections  of  the  Technical 
Background Report were consulted for this Geology and Soils Section.  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a.i)   No Impact. The City of Coachella recognizes the potential of seismic hazards in the region. 2035 

Coachella  General  Plan  Update  (CGPU)  states  that  because  the  San  Andreas  Fault  passes 
through the northeastern portion of the City, the potential for primary surface fault rupture and 
strong ground shaking are very high. For this reason, a project’s location relative to the Alquist‐
Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone is evaluated to determine the project’s susceptibility to seismically 
induced rupture. The Alquist‐Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone is a northwest‐southeast descending 
zone established in 1971 to reduce losses from surface fault rupture on a statewide basis. The 
intent  of  the  zone  is  to  ensure  public  safety  by  prohibiting  the  siting  of  most  structures  for 
human occupancy across  traces of active  faults  that constitute potential hazards  to structures 
from surface faulting or fault creep.  

 
According  to  the  City  of  Coachella’s  Technical  Background  Report,  the  maximum  magnitude 
recorded from the San Andreas Fault was 7.2, and the Coachella section  is  the only section of 
the  southern  San  Andreas  Fault  that  has  not  produced  a major  earthquake  in  historic  times. 
Surface rupture  is expected to occur along pre‐existing, known active  fault  traces, however,  it 
could potentially splay or step from the known active faults or rupture along unidentified traces. 
The Alquist‐Priolo Earthquake Fault  Zone Map  issued by  the State Geologist, determined  that 
the  subject  property  lies  approximately  1.70  miles  southwest  of  the  closest  Alquist‐Priolo 
Earthquake Fault Zone.  
 
The City of Coachella’s Municipal Code reflects the possible impacts of potential seismic hazards 
in Chapter 15.66, Seismic Hazards Mitigation. New buildings are required to follow these codes 
in order  to be  theoretically  stronger and more  likely  to  survive an earthquake, with  the main 
purpose  to  prevent  the  collapsing  of  structures.  Therefore,  risks  to  future  development 
associated with  fault  rupture at  the project  site  is  considered  low since  the project  site  is not 
located within the Alquist‐Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone and will comply with the requirements 
outlined in the Coachella Municipal Code. No impacts are expected associated with the Change 
of Zone. 

 

Page 486

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

53 

a.ii)  No  Impact.  The  project  site  is  located  in  a  seismically  active  region  where  earthquakes 
originating on local and regional seismic faults can produce severe ground shaking. Like most of 
the  Coachella  Valley,  the  project  site  has  been  subjected  to  past  ground  shaking  by  nearby 
faults. According to Plate 1‐1 of the Technical Background Report, the closest recorded historical 
(years  1800‐2014)  seismic  event  to  the  project  occurred  at  the  residential  community 
immediately east of the site, with an earthquake magnitude 2 to 3. 

 
In order to reduce hazards associated with ground shaking impacts on people and buildings, the 
City  of  Coachella  implements  the  latest  seismic  safety  design  standards  outlined  in  both  the 
Coachella General Plan Technical Background Report, and the most recent (2019) edition of the 
updated  California  Building  Code  (CBC).  The  City  of  Coachella  requires  new  buildings  to  be 
constructed in accordance with the most recent edition of the CBC and City Municipal Code. The 
Coachella  Municipal  Code  provides  regulations  for  collapse‐resistant  design,  which  will  be 
enforced during structure design and construction. Remedial grading and construction will work 
to  reduce exposure of  people or  structures  to  adverse effects  to  the  greatest  extent  possible 
against seismic hazards. 

 
The buildings and structures proposed for the future development will be required to follow all 
applicable  building  standards  outlined  in  the  CBC  and  the  City’s Municipal  Code,  in  order  to 
ensure  the  safety of  the  residents. All  grading and construction plans will be  reviewed by  the 
City. No impacts associated with the Change of Zone are expected. 

 
a.iii)  No  Impact.  The General  Plan’s  Technical  Background Report  addresses  the different  forms of 

ground failure that the City of Coachella may be susceptible to after the event of an earthquake, 
including  liquefaction,  settlement  and  slope  failure.  Liquefaction,  according  to  the  Technical 
Background Report, typically occurs  in saturated,  loose, fine‐ to medium‐grained sandy to silty 
soils in the presence of ground accelerations of 0.2g, and groundwater within 50 feet below the 
ground surface. In an event of an earthquake, the increase of subsurface water pressure may fill 
the pores and increase subsurface water pressure, causing the soil to lose strength and behave 
like a  liquid, and potentially compromising  the ground. According  to  the General Plan Seismic 
Hazard Zones Map in the Technical Background Report (Plate 1.3), the project site is located in 
an area with high liquefaction susceptibility due to the youthful, unconsolidated sediments, and 
historically shallow groundwater within 30 feet of the ground surface.  

 
  The  Coachella  Water  Authority  and  Sanitary  District  operates  and  maintains  the  water 

distribution  system  for  the  project  property  and  the  City  of  Coachella.  According  to  the 
California Department of Water Resources Groundwater Information Center, one of the nearest 
monitored  public  well  to  the  project  is  identified  as  State  Well  05S08E33D001S,  located 
approximately  1.50  miles  northwest  of  the  project.  Based  on  the  most  recent  monitoring 
information,  reported  on  May  26,  2020,  the  depth  to  groundwater  at  this  well  site  was 
approximately  27.2  feet.  Additional  wells  in  proximity  to  the  project  includes  State  Well 
06S08E22D002S,  approximately  2.34  feet  southeast  of  the  site,  and  06S07E13J003S, 
approximately  2.75  miles  southwest  of  the  site.  Groundwater  depths  at  these  sites  were 
measured at 18.8  feet below ground surface  (measured  June 24, 2020), and 58.54  feet below 
ground surface (measured November 18, 2020), respectively. Due to the shallow groundwater 
depths in the area, the site is susceptible to seismically‐induced liquefaction.    

 

Page 487

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

54 

Settlement  is  a  potential  consequence  of  seismic  activity  and  liquefaction,  where  the  excess 
pore pressure generated by ground shaking and  leading  to  liquefaction  is associated with  the 
tendency for loosely compacted, saturated soil to rearrange into a denser configuration during 
shaking.  Dissipation  of  that  excess  pore  pressure  will  produce  volume  decreases  (termed 
consolidation or compaction) within  the soil  that may be manifested at  the ground surface as 
settlement.  Unconsolidated  young  alluvial  deposits  are  especially  susceptible  to  this  hazard. 
Artificial fills may also experience seismically induced settlement. Damage to structures typically 
occurs as a  result of  local differential  settlements.  Plate 2‐1a  (Geologic Map)  in  the Technical 
Background  Report  indicates  that  the  project  site,  and  a majority  of  the  City’s  valley  floor  is 
underlain by young, unconsolidated alluvial and lacustrine sediments, locally mantled with wind 
deposits  (map symbols Qg and Ql/Qa). These sediments are susceptible to seismically  induced 
settlement.  
 
Per the Technical Background Report, mitigation for seismically induced settlement is similar to 
those used  for  liquefaction. Over‐excavation and  re‐compaction are  the most commonly used 
method  to  densify  soft  soils  susceptible  to  settlement.  Deeper  over‐excavation  below  final 
grades, especially at cut/fill, fill/natural, or alluvium/bedrock contracts may be recommended to 
provide  a  more  uniform  subgrade.  Over  excavation  should  also  be  performed  so  that  large 
differences  in  fill  thickness  are  not  present  across  individual  lots.  In  some  cases,  specially 
designed  deep  foundations,  strengthened  foundations,  and/or  fill  compaction  to  a  minimum 
standard  that  is  higher  than  that  required  by  the  applicable  building  codes  may  be 
recommended. The potential for seismic related ground failure at the project site is projected to 
be less than significant with the efforts established in the California Building Code and Coachella 
Municipal Code.   

 
Seiches can occur  in bodies of water both near and  far  from the earthquake epicenter. Given 
that  there  are  canals,  ponds,  and  pools  in  the  Coachella  area,  seiches  as  a  result  of  ground 
shaking  can  be  expected  to  occur  in  the  region.  The  amplitude  of  these  waves  cannot  be 
predicted but these are typically less than about 1.6 feet (0.5 meters) high. The amplitude of the 
seiche  waves  that  could  occur  in  these  water  bodies  cannot  be  predicted  given  that  several 
parameters combine to form these waves, although, given the relatively shallow depth of these 
bodies of water, the seiches are anticipated to be relatively minor. Water in swimming pools is 
known to slosh during earthquakes, but in most cases, the sloshing does not lead to significant 
damage,  according  to  the  Technical  Background  Report.  Given  its  distance  from  the  ocean, 
Coachella does not have a tsunami hazard.  
 
The  Change  of  Zone will  not  be  impacted  by  seismically  induced  liquefaction,  settlement,  or 
seiches.  

 
a.iv)  No  Impact. The City defines  landslides as movements of  relatively  large  landmasses, either as 

nearly intact bedrock blocks, or as jumbled mixes of bedrock blocks, fragments, debris and soils. 
The  potential  for  landslides  is  dependent  on  various  factors  including  slope  height,  slope 
steepness,  shear  strength and orientation of various weak  layers underground. Strong ground 
shaking can cause existing slopes to become unstable, which may lead to landslides or rockfalls 
that  can  overrun  structures,  harm  people  or  damage  property,  sever  utility  lines  and  block 
roads. According to the City of Coachella’s Technical Background Report to the Safety Element 
Update, the majority of the City has a 0 to 10 percent grade, including the project site (Plate 2‐
2).  Areas with  a  10  percent  grade  or  greater  involves  the  areas  along  the  San  Andreas  Fault 

Page 488

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

55 

northeast of the project site. In the Technical Background Report, the City recognizes and maps 
the  various  landslide  and  rockfall  hazard  areas  in  Coachella  (Plate  1‐3).  These  areas  are  also 
located where the percent grade is higher than 10 percent.  
 
Rockfalls and landslides are more likely to occur in the northeastern and eastern portions of the 
Coachella General Plan area due to the steep slopes  located  in those regions. Protection from 
rockfalls or surficial slides can often be achieved by protective devices such as barriers, retaining 
structures,  catchment  areas,  or  a  combination  of  the  above.  According  to  Plate  1‐3,  in  the 
Technical Background Report, the project property is not located in an area that is susceptible to 
seismically induced rockfalls, rock slides, soil falls, soil slides and soil slumps. This is due to the 
project’s  location  in  a  generally  developed  and  urban  area,  as  well  as  its  distance  from  the 
nearest  sloped  areas.  The  subject  site  is  located  on  relatively  level  ground  and  is  not  located 
immediately adjacent to any mountains or hillsides. As such,  the site  is not susceptible to any 
forms of slope instability. Therefore, no impacts are anticipated. 

 
b)  No Impact. The Coachella Technical Background Report states that climate, topography, soil and 

rock types and vegetation are all influential factors of erosion, runoff and sedimentation in the 
Coachella Valley. Human activities, such as grading and construction, are also a large contributor 
to  erosion  in  the  region.  The  soils  most  susceptible  to  erosion  include  the  unconsolidated 
sediments  in  the  canyon  bottoms  and  valley  floor,  as well  as  the  granular  semi‐consolidated 
sediments forming the hills. Windborne, waterborne and human‐borne erosion are concerns for 
the  City  of  Coachella,  especially  because  wind‐blown  sand  causes  soil  loss,  dryness  and 
deterioration of soil structure, nutrient and productivity losses, air pollution, sediment transport 
and deposition, and health problems. 
 
Windborne  erosion  is  a  widespread  concern  in  Riverside  County,  especially  in  the  Coachella 
Valley. Approximately 20 percent of  land area  in  the County  is vulnerable  to “high” and “very 
high” wind erosion. The Coachella Valley floor  is highly susceptible to wind erosion due to the 
high  winds  funneled  from  the  west  (Riverside  County  2016  General  Plan  Figure  S‐8).  As 
previously stated, windborne erosion not only causes physical and structural damage, but also 
damages to the public health by causing respiratory problems.  
 
Future  development  will  require  activities  such  as  clearing  onsite  vegetation,  grading, 
construction, and other ground disturbances by heavy machinery that could result in the loss of 
some topsoil and generate particulate matter. The City of Coachella requires mitigation of this 
hazard  with  the  implementation  of  a  Fugitive  Dust  Control  Plan  (Coachella  Municipal  Code 
Chapter 8.20, Fugitive Dust Control). The Fugitive Dust Control Plan is a document that describes 
fugitive dust  sources at  a  site and  the  corresponding  control measures. Pursuant  to  SCAQMD 
Rules 403 and 403.1, the future development is required to implement the Fugitive Dust Control 
Plan and the use of best management practices (BMPs) during operations capable of generating 
fugitive dust in the Coachella Valley.  
 
In addition to windborne erosion, the City of Coachella determines that a majority of the City, 
including the project site, is susceptible to water erosion due to the distal fan and lake deposits. 
According  to  the  Federal  Emergency  Management  Agency  (FEMA)  Map  Panel  Number 
06065C2270H, revised March 6, 2018, the entire project is located within the FEMA Flood Zone 
X, protected by  levee. Flood Zone X are areas determined to have moderate to  low flood risk, 
and corresponds to areas of 500‐year flood, areas of 100‐year flood with average depths of less 

Page 489

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

56 

than one foot or with drainage areas less than one square mile, and areas protected by levees 
from 100‐year flood. North and east of the project property is the Coachella Valley Stormwater 
Channel, which FEMA designates as Flood Zone A. This flood zone is defined as an area subject 
to inundation by the 1‐percent‐annual‐chance flood event and likely to create erosion within the 
zone.  
 
The mitigation  of waterborne  erosion  at  the  project  site  during  future  construction  activities 
includes the developer’s compliance with the State’s most current Construction General Permit 
(CGP)  (Order  No.  2009‐0009‐DWQ,  as  amended  by  2010‐0014‐DWQ  and  2012‐0006‐DWQ). 
Compliance with  the  CGP  involves  the  development  and  implementation  of  a  project‐specific 
Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) designed to reduce potential adverse impacts to 
surface  water  quality  during  the  period  of  construction.  The  required  plan  will  identify  the 
locations  and  types of  construction activities  requiring BMPs and other  necessary  compliance 
measures to prevent soil erosion and stormwater runoff pollution. The plan will also identify the 
limits of allowable  construction‐related disturbance  to prevent any exceedances or violations. 
Waterborne  erosion  and  the  City’s  Standard  Conditions  associated  with  it  are  thoroughly 
discussed in the Hydrology and Water Quality Section of this document.  

 
To  reduce  the amount of  soil erosion created,  future development shall  implement a Fugitive 
Dust Control Plan,  a  SWPPP,  and best management practices, which are  required not only by 
Coachella but also the Riverside County. No impacts are expected associated with the Change of 
Zone..  

 
c) No  Impact.  The  proposed  project  site  is  located  on  the  southeastern  side  of  the  City,  on 

previously disturbed land. The majority of the City has a grade of 0 to 10 percent, meaning that 
Coachella  is  relatively  flat.  Per  the  Coachella’s  General  Plan  Technical  Background  Report, 
Quaternary river channel deposits (Qg), alluvial fan and stream deposits (Qa), and interbedded 
lake and distal fan deposits (Ql/Qa) sediments are cohesionless and loose in the upper sections, 
and  thus  susceptible  to  liquefaction.  According  to  Figure  4.5‐7  in  the  Coachella  General  Plan 
Draft EIR, Soils Classification, the surficial sediments at the project site includes lake and distal 
deposits  (Ql/Qa). These  sediments are  fine‐grained  sand,  silt,  and clay of  the valley  floor. The 
various  soil  components  are  vital  to  the  stability  of  the  project  site  specifically  regarding 
landslides, lateral spreading, subsidence, liquefaction, or collapse.  

 
As previously stated in discussion VII.a.iii, above, the project site is located in an area susceptible 
to  liquefaction  due  to  the  youthful,  unconsolidated  sediments,  and  historically  shallow 
groundwater. Since the site is potentially susceptible to liquefaction, it may also be susceptible 
to  lateral  spreading, which also requires a shallow water  table or proximity  to a water source 
that  could  cause  inundation  of  onsite  soils.  However,  ground  improvement  (such  as  over‐
excavation  and  re‐compaction  of  low  density  soils)  and  foundation  design  can  mitigate  the 
potential effects of liquefaction, lateral spread, and settlement.  

 
The  site  is  not  susceptible  to  landslides  due  to  its  relatively  flat  terrain  and  distance  from 
mountainous slopes, and although tectonic subsidence has been documented in the Coachella 
Valley, it is not known to occur in the project vicinity.  

 
Settlement or collapsible soils, as the Safety Element of the Coachella GPU states, typically occur 
in recently deposited sediments that accumulated in arid or semi‐arid environments. Collapsible 

Page 490

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

57 

soils do not appear to be widespread in the planning area, but most likely do occur in localized 
areas, especially in those with distal fan and lake deposits. However, settlement resulting from 
the  anticipated  foundation  loads  should  be  minimal  provided  that  foundation  design  and 
construction complies with the applicable California Building Code and the Coachella Municipal 
Code standards. No impacts are expected associated with the Change of Zone. 
 
Overall,  no  impacts  of  liquefaction,  lateral  spread,  landslides  and  rockfall,  settlement,  or 
collapsible soils to the project site are anticipated relative to the proposed Change of Zone.  

 
d) No  Impact.  Expansive  soils  typically  contain  large amounts of  clay  that expand when water  is 

absorbed and shrink when they dry. The best defense against this hazard in new developments 
is to avoid placing expansive soils near the surface or over watering the expansive soils.  
 
As stated in discussion VII.c., the surficial sediments at the project site includes lake and distal 
deposits (Ql/Qa), which includes fine‐grained sand, silt, and clay of the valley floor. According to 
the Technical Background Report, the potential for expansive soils in lake and distal deposits is 
generally low, except where lake deposits of silt and clay are within or just below the depth of 
structural foundation elements. These deposits are suitable for fill materials; however, clay‐rich 
sediments should not be placed in foundation areas if possible.  
 
No  impacts  are  anticipated  relative  to  risks  of  structural  damage  caused  by  expansive  soils 
regarding the Change of Zone.  
 

e) No Impact. The project site previously operated as agricultural land intermittently since at least 
1953. Currently, crops are not being harvested and the site is fallow. Residential structures have 
not occurred onsite, and  septic  tanks do not occur within  the project boundaries. The project 
property  is  surrounded  by  residential  developments  to  the  west  and  east,  Valle  Del  Sol 
Elementary  School  to  the  west,  and  industrial  uses  to  the  south.  The  proposed  project  will 
connect  to  the  City’s  existing  sewer  system.  No  alternative  wastewater  disposal  systems  are 
proposed.  No  adverse  impacts  associated  with  wastewater  disposal  systems  will  occur.  No 
impacts are expected regarding wastewater disposal systems and sewers. 
 

f) No  Impact.  The  City  values  its  rich  history  and  paleontological  resources;  therefore,  the 
preservation of these resources is highly important. The protection of important archaeological 
and  paleontological  resources  from  loss  or  destruction  depends  on  the  implementation  of 
appropriate mitigation during development activities.   
 
Per the Riverside County Environmental Impact Report (EIR), the County categorizes the project 
site as having a “High Sensitivity A”  regarding paleontological  sensitivity. High Sensitivity A, as 
defined by the Riverside County EIR, “is based on geologic formations or mapped rock units that 
are known to contain or have the correct age and depositional conditions to contain significant 
paleontological  resources.  These  include  rocks  of  Silurian  or  Devonian  age  and  younger  that 
have potential  to contain remains of fossil  fish, and Mesozoic and Cenozoic rocks that contain 
fossilized body elements and trace fossils such as tracks, nests and eggs.”  
 
Although  the  Riverside  County  General  Plan  EIR  mapped  the  project  as  an  area  with  high 
paleontological  resources,  the  Coachella  GPU  EIR  considers  the  project  site  and  surrounding 

Page 491

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

58 

area  as  having  an  “undetermined  sensitivity”  for  paleontological  resources  (Figure  4.4‐3, 
Paleontological Resource Sensitivity).  

  
Additionally, the site has been subject to previous human disturbance since at least 1953, where 
it served as agricultural land. Agricultural activities include tilling the land, and planting, growing 
and harvesting crops. Paleontological resources are not likely to be onsite due to the use of the 
property  for  agricultural  purposes  for  multiple  decades.  The  project  is  also  located  in  an 
urbanized context within the City and due to the disturbance on the project site, the property is 
not  recognized  as  a  unique  paleontological  or  a  unique  geologic  feature.  No  impacts  are 
expected associated with the Change of Zone. 
 

Mitigation Measures None required 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 492

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

59 

VIII. GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS 
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Potentially 
Significant 
Unless 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Generate greenhouse gas emissions, either directly or 
indirectly,  that  may  have  significant  impact  on  the 
environment?  

       

b)  Conflict  with  an  applicable  plan,  policy  or  regulation 
adopted  for  the purpose of  reducing  the emissions of 
greenhouse gases? 

       

(Sources: CalEEMod Version 2016.3.2; 2035 General Plan, 2015; City of Coachella Climate Action Plan, June 2014.) 
 

Setting 
 
Greenhouse  gases  (GHG)  are  a  group  of  gases  that  trap  solar  energy  in  the  Earth’s  atmosphere, 
preventing  it  from  becoming  too  cold  and  uninhabitable.  Common  greenhouse  gases  in  the  Earth’s 
atmosphere  include: water  vapor,  carbon  dioxide  (CO2), methane  (CH4),  nitrous  oxide  (N2O),  ozone, 
and  chlorofluorocarbons  to a  lesser extent. Carbon dioxide  is  the main GHG  thought  to  contribute  to 
climate change. Carbon dioxide reflects solar radiation back to Earth, thereby trapping solar energy and 
heat within the lower atmosphere. Human activities (such as burning carbon‐based fossil  fuels) create 
water vapor and CO2 as byproducts,  thereby  impacting  the  levels of GHG  in  the atmosphere. Carbon 
dioxide equivalent (CO2e) is a metric used to compare emissions of various greenhouse gases. It is the 
mass  of  carbon  dioxide  that would  produce  the  same  estimated  radiative  forcing  as  a  given mass  of 
another greenhouse gas. Carbon dioxide equivalents are computed by multiplying the mass of the gas 
emitted  by  its  global  warming  potential.  Global  Climate  Change  (GCC)  is  defined  as  the  change  in 
average meteorological conditions on the earth with respect to temperature, precipitation, and storms. 
GCC  is  currently  one  of  the most  controversial  environmental  issues  in  the  United  States,  and much 
debate exists within the scientific community about whether or not GCC  is occurring naturally or as a 
result of human activity.   
 
To  address  the  long‐term  adverse  impacts  associated  with  global  climate  change,  California’s  Global 
Warming  Solutions  Act  of  2006  (AB  32)  requires  California  Air  Resource  Board  (CARB)  to  reduce 
statewide emissions of greenhouse gases to 1990 levels by 2020. In 2016, Governor Jerry Brown signed 
Senate Bill 32 (SB32) that requires California to reduce GHG emissions to 40 percent below 1990 levels 
by 2030. With the passage of the California Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006 (Assembly Bill 32) in 
California, environmental documents for projects pursuant to CEQA are required to analyze greenhouse 
gases  and  assess  the  potential  significance  and  impacts  of  GHG  emissions.  On  July  11,  2018,  CARB 
announced  in  a  press  release  (No.  18‐37)  that  greenhouse  gas  pollution  in  California  fell  below 1990 
levels  for  the  first  time  since  emissions  peaked  in  2004,  an  achievement  roughly  equal  to  taking  12 
million cars off the road or saving 6 billion gallons of gasoline a year. Moreover, according to the CARB 
report  on  California  Greenhouse  Gas  Emissions  for  2000  to  2016,  which  tracks  the  trends  of  GHG 
emissions,  California’s  GHG  emissions  have  followed  a  declining  trend  between  2007  and  2016.  The 
largest reductions are attributed to the electricity sector, which continues to see decreases as a result of 
the State’s climate policies.  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 

Page 493

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

60 

a)  Less Than Significant Impact: CalEEMod Version 2016.3.2 was used to quantify GHG emissions 
associated  with  the  project.  As  previously  mentioned,  this  software  was  developed  in 
conjunction with the California Air Pollution Control Officers Association (CAPCOA) to estimate 
air emissions, including GHGs. CalEEMod utilizes widely accepted methodologies for estimating 
emissions combined with default data  that  can be used when site‐specific  information  is not 
available. Sources of these methodologies and default data include but are not limited to the 
United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) AP‐42 emission factors, California Air 
Resources Board (CARB) vehicle emission models, studies commissioned by California agencies 
such  as  the  California  Energy  Commission  (CEC)  and  CalRecycle.  The  project’s  total  building 
area  and  parking  lot  uses were  factored  into  the model  to  evaluate whether  the  estimated 
criteria pollutants and GHG emissions would exceed the established thresholds and therefore 
conflict with the plans and efforts of reducing the emissions of greenhouse gases. Construction‐
related GHG emissions were amortized over a 30‐year period and added to the project’s annual 
operational GHG emissions. The operational GHG emissions can be attributed to the following 
sources: 

 
Area  Sources:  Landscape  maintenance  equipment  would  generate  emissions  from  fuel 
combustion  and  evaporation  of  unburned  fuel.  Equipment  in  this  category  would  include 
lawnmowers, shedders/grinders, blowers,  trimmers, chain saws, and hedge trimmers used to 
maintain the landscaping of the developed site. 

 
Energy Sources: GHGs are emitted from buildings as a result of activities for which electricity 
and natural gas are typically used as energy sources. Combustion of any type of fuel emits CO2 
and other GHGs directly into the atmosphere; these emissions are considered direct emissions 
associated  with  a  building.  GHGs  are  also  emitted  during  the  generation  of  electricity  from 
fossil fuels; these emissions are considered to be indirect emissions. 

 
Mobile  Sources:  GHG  emissions  will  also  result  from  mobile  sources  associated  with  the 
project, which include the typical daily operation of motor vehicles by employees and visitors. 
Project  mobile  source  air  quality  impacts  are  dependent  on  both  overall  daily  vehicle  trip 
generation and the effect of the project on peak hour traffic volumes and traffic operations in 
the local vicinity. 

 
Solid Wastes: The proposed land uses will result in the generation and disposal of solid waste. 
A large percentage of this waste will be diverted from landfills by a variety of means, such as 
reducing the amount of waste generated, recycling, and/or composting. The remainder of the 
waste not diverted will be disposed of at a landfill. GHG emissions from landfills are associated 
with the anaerobic breakdown of material. GHG emissions associated with the disposal of solid 
waste  associated  with  the  proposed  project  were  calculated  by  the  CalEEMod model  using 
default parameters. 

 
Water Supply, Treatment and Distribution: Indirect GHG emissions result from the production 
of  electricity  used  to  convey,  treat  and  distribute  water  and  wastewater.  The  amount  of 
electricity required to convey,  treat and distribute water depends on the volume of water as 
well as the sources of the water. 

 
The  currently  applicable  GHG  thresholds  for  local  lead  agency  consideration  are  referenced 
from the SCAQMD Draft Local Agency Threshold supporting documentation, which establishes 

Page 494

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

61 

an interim tiered approach. Under this guidance, a screening threshold of 3,000 metric tons of 
carbon  dioxide  equivalent  (MTCO2e)  per  year  has  been  an  acceptable  approach  for  non‐
industrial projects, while industrial projects have higher screening level of 10,000 MTCO2e per 
year. As a conservative measure,  the GHG analysis  for  future development aims to meet  the 
lowest screening level of 3,000 MTCO2e per year, as shown below. 
 

Table VIII‐1 
Total Project Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

Associated with Future Construction at Mid‐Density Development Scenario 

Unmitigated Emission Source 

Emissions  
(metric tons per year) 

Total CO2E 

Annual Construction Emissions Amortized Over 30 Years 50.8660 

Area, Energy, Mobile Sources, Waste, and Water Usage  15,718.7184 

Total CO2E (All Sources)  15,769.5844   

Service Population  6,110 

Total CO2e/Service Population  2.5809 

Threshold  3.0 (Based on 2035 Target) 

Threshold Exceeded?  NO 

 
As shown in VIII‐1 resulting from the CalEEMod calculations, future construction is expected to 
generate approximately 15,769.6 MTCO2e per year from construction, area, energy, stationary, 
waste, and water usage sources. As such, future development GHG emissions would not exceed 
the  lowest  threshold  of  significance  set  at  3,000  MTCO2e  per  year.  Having  been  evaluated 
against  the  regionally  accepted  thresholds, which are part of  the State’s  regulations aimed at 
addressing  climate  change,  future  development  is  not  expected  to  interfere  with  the  plans, 
policies, or regulations adopted for the purpose of reducing the emissions of greenhouse gases. 
The Change of Zone project will result in no impacts.  
 

b)  No  Impact:  The  City  of  Coachella  has  prepared  and  adopted  Climate  Action  Plan  (CAP)  in 
conjunction  with  a  General  Plan  Update  as  a  roadmap  for  achieving  community‐wide 
greenhouse  gas  emissions  reductions.  The  CAP  builds  on  the  2013  General  Plan  Update, 
quantifying emissions from the build‐out of the proposed plan and includes additional policies 
and  implementation  actions  to  help  Coachella  further  reduce  emissions.  It  also  includes 
strategies to protect public health and make the community more resilient to climate change. 
Coachella’s  CAP  is  designed  to  provide  clear  policy  guidance  to  the  City  staff  and  decision‐
makers on how to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. It identifies a pathway to reduce emissions 
within a range of voluntary, state‐level emissions reduction targets. This path includes strategies 
for  improving  connectivity  and  land  use  patterns,  transportation  modes  and  systems, 
incorporating  energy  efficiency  standards,  increasing  the  City’s  renewable  energy  supply,  and 
reducing waste and consumption. By providing an emissions  inventory, emissions  targets, and 
strategies  for  reducing  greenhouse  gas  emissions,  the  City  of  Coachella  has  established  a 
framework  evaluating  and  mitigating  greenhouse  gas  emissions.  Part  of  these  emissions 

Page 495

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

62 

reductions  will  need  to  be  achieved  through  better  environmental  performance  of  new 
development. 
 
The CAP organizes General Plan policies into six strategies to reduce emissions throughout the 
City: building and  infrastructure energy efficiency;  renewable energy generation;  land use and 
transportation;  vegetation  and  open  space;  solid  waste;  and  water  use.  Each  strategy  is 
supported  by  a  number  of  more  specific  programs,  actions,  and  measures  that  will  be 
implemented as part of the City’s General Plan.  
 
Energy  Efficiency:  Residential  and  non‐residential  buildings  produce  approximately  39%  of 
Coachella’s  emissions  and  are  a  primary  target  for  the  CAP.  This  strategy  for  energy 
performance  targets  to  construct  buildings  15% more  energy  efficient  than  Title  24,  increase 
passive  solar design  features,  and planting new  shade  trees.    The proposed development will 
include solar photovoltaic panels mounted on the proposed carports, thus complying with the 
energy efficiency strategy identified in the City’s CAP. 
 
Energy  Generation:  This  strategy  includes  General  Plan  policies  that  will  help  homes  and 
businesses  in  Coachella  increase  renewable  energy  production.  It  includes  requirements  for 
solar  photovoltaic  infrastructure  on  new  homes  and  businesses  and  pursuing  clean  energy 
through  community  choice  aggregation.  The  proposed  development  will  include  solar 
photovoltaic  panels  mounted  on  the  proposed  carports,  thus  complying  with  the  energy 
efficiency strategy identified in the City’s CAP. 
 
Land  Use  and  Transportation:  Coachella’s  General  Plan  provides  clear  guidance  for  how 
Coachella  will  become  a  city  of  walkable  neighborhoods  tied  together  by  multi‐modal 
transportation  corridors  and  interspersed  with  vibrant  districts  for  shopping,  working, 
entertaining,  and  commerce.  The walkable  neighborhoods will  have  a  diverse mix  of  housing 
types and will be in close proximity to shopping and neighborhood services so that the majority 
of  one’s  daily  needs  are  a  short  walk  away.  This  strategy  evaluates  the  land  use  and 
transportation  policies  in  the  General  Plan  that  aim  to  reduce  vehicle  miles  travelled  and 
improve mobility. Specific implementation measures involve changing land uses, adopting a new 
perspective  on  community  design,  promoting  alternative  modes  of  travel,  and  revising 
antiquated parking standards. 
 
Future  development  of  the  project  property  will  occur  on  a  site  located  within  a  walkable 
environment in terms of proximity to schools, commercial uses, and other services. Specifically, 
the site is located adjacent to the nearest elementary school, and approximately one half‐mile 
(equivalent to a 10‐minute walk) to the nearest commercial establishment. As such the project’s 
location is expected to align with the land use and transportation strategy of the CAP. 
 
Solid Waste: Solid waste generation produces only a small percentage of Coachella’s emissions 
(3%), but with population and employment growth, the specific actions outlined in the General 
Plan  to  increase  waste  diversion  can  result  in  significant  emissions  reductions.  This  strategy 
includes  General  Plan  policies  related  to  increase  residential  and  commercial  recycling  and 
construction recycling. The proposed development is expected to follow the City’s most current 
recycling and other waste diversion programs, which tend to be promoted at the Citywide level. 
Therefore, no conflicts with this strategy are anticipated. 
 

Page 496

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

63 

Vegetation and Open Space: Not only do  trees and open  space enhance  the appearance of  a 
community,  they  reduce  ambient  air  temperature,  lower  energy  use,  reduce  air  and  water 
pollution, and absorb greenhouse gases. Coachella’s General Plan includes polices for increasing 
access  to  parks  and  open  spaces  and  planting  new  trees.  This  compilation  of  General  Plan 
polices  focuses  on  the  carbon  sequestration  benefits  of  new  vegetation  and  trees.  
Approximately 60 percent of the site’s land use composition will consist of open space while the 
remaining 40 percent will be occupied by residential buildings, community buildings, and paving. 
 
Water Use: Water use represents one of the fastest growing emissions sectors in the Coachella 
CAP with potable water use growing 45% between 2005 and 2010. The General Plan  includes 
policies  to  address  indoor  and  outdoor  water  use  and  future  water  supply.  This  strategy 
analyzes  the  effectiveness  of  these  measures  at  reducing  greenhouse  gas  emissions.  The 
proposed  development  is  expected  to  implement  the  required  water‐efficient  landscape 
irrigation and indoor fixtures to support the water use strategy.  
 
The  CAP  includes  a  process  in  which  projects  are  evaluated  for  their  design  attributes  and 
performance. The CAP establishes a per service population 2020 emissions reduction target of 
15% below 2010  levels and a 2035 emissions reduction target of 49% below 2010  levels.   The 
CAP's 2020 targeted GHG emissions per service population goal is 7.0 MTCO2e/SP/year and the 
2035 targeted GHG emissions per service population goal is 4.2 MTCO2e/SP/year.   
 
As  previously  discussed,  future  development  on  the  project  property  may  result  in  GHG 
emissions totaling 15,769.6 MTCO2e. The City of Coachella CAP defines a service population as 
the total number of residents and employees (jobs) in a geographic area. From the perspective 
of  service population efficiency,  the project’s  total  emissions  (15,769.6 MTCO2e) divided by a 
service population of 6,110 residents is equivalent to 2.58 MTCO2e/SP/year, which satisfies the 
2035 targeted GHG emissions per service population goal is 4.2 MTCO2e/SP/year. As such, the 
proposed  residential development  is not expected  to  conflict with  the applicable plan  for  the 
purposes  of  reducing  greenhouse  gas  emissions. No  impact  relative  to  the  Change of  Zone  is 
anticipated. 

 
Mitigation Measures: None required 
 

Page 497

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

64 

IX. HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Create  a  significant  hazard  to  the  public  or  the 
environment  through  the  routine  transport,  use,  or 
disposal of hazardous materials?  

       

b)  Create  a  significant  hazard  to  the  public  or  the 
environment through reasonably foreseeable upset and 
accident  conditions  involving  the  release  of  hazardous 
materials into the environment?  

       

c)  Emit  hazardous  emissions  or  handle  hazardous  or 
acutely  hazardous  materials,  substances,  or  waste 
within  one‐quarter  mile  of  an  existing  or  proposed 
school?  

       

d)  Be  located  on  a  site  which  is  included  on  a  list  of 
hazardous  materials  sites  compiled  pursuant  to 
Government  Code  Section  65962.5  and,  as  a  result, 
would it create a significant hazard to the public or the 
environment?  

       

e)  For a project located within an airport land use plan or, 
where  such  a  plan  has  not  been  adopted,  within  two 
miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the 
project  result  in  a  safety hazard or  excessive noise  for 
people residing or working in the project area?  

       

f)  Impair implementation of or physically interfere with an 
adopted  emergency  response  plan  or  emergency 
evacuation plan?  

       

g)  Expose  people  or  structures,  either  directly  or 
indirectly,  to  a  significant  risk  of  loss,  injury  or  death 
involving wildland fires?  

       

(Sources:  City  of  Coachella  2035  General  Plan  Update,  2015;  Coachella  Municipal  Code;  Coachella  Technical 
Background  Report  to  the  Safety  Element  Update,  2014;  Enforcement  and  Compliance  History  Online,  EPA; 
EnviroStor, Department of Toxic Substances Control; GeoTracker, State Water Resources Control Board.) 
 

Setting 
 
The project site is located on approximately 56.9 acres of disturbed land north of 52nd Avenue and east 
and  west  of  Education Way  in  the  City  of  Coachella.  The  project  proposes  to  re‐zone  the  56.9‐acre 
property from its current designation of Single Family Residential (R‐S) and Multiple Family Residential 
(R‐M) zones to R‐M General (20‐25 du/ac), R‐M Urban (20‐38 du/ac), and Neighborhood Commercial (C‐
N). The project is currently characterized by disturbed land. Approximately 8 acres of the site (southwest 
corner) has been graded and disturbed, however, this area is currently vacant. The remainder of the site 
(approximately 49 acres) was previously used for agricultural operations; however, it is currently vacant. 

Page 498

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

65 

 
The project does not currently propose development on the 56.9‐acre property and a site plan does not 
currently  exist. However,  a  general  analysis of  future development  relative  to hazards and hazardous 
materials are provided in this discussion. 
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a‐b)  No Impact. As stated in the Setting, the project proposes to re‐zone approximately 56.9 acres of 

land north of 52nd Avenue and east and west of Education Way in Coachella. The project site is 
surrounded  by  the Coachella Valley  Stormwater  Channel  to  the  north,  residential  uses  to  the 
east and west, Valle Del Sol Elementary School to the west, and industrial and agricultural land 
uses to the south (separated by 52nd Avenue).  
 
The Code of Federal Regulations (CFR Title 40, Part 261) defines hazardous materials based on 
ignitability,  reactivity,  corrosivity,  and/or  toxic  properties.  The  State  of  California  defines 
hazardous  materials  as  substances  that  are  toxic,  ignitable  or  flammable,  reactive  and/or 
corrosive, which have the capacity of causing harm or a health hazard during normal exposure 
or  an  accidental  release.  As  a  result,  the  use  and  management  of  hazardous  or  potentially 
hazardous substances is regulated under existing state, federal and local laws. Hazardous wastes 
require special handling and disposal methods to reduce their potential to damage public health 
and the environment. Manufacturer’s specifications also dictate the proper use, handling, and 
disposal methods for the specific substances.  

 
Future construction would involve the use of heavy equipment that have a potential of fuel and 
oil spills due to the usage of fuel, oil, lubricants and other potential flammable substances. The 
contractor will be required to identify a staging area for storing these materials, as well as other 
practices  to  prevent  any hazardous discharge or  release  into  the environment,  in  their  Storm 
Water Pollution Prevention Plan  (SWPPP).  The SWPPP  requires a  list of pollutant  sources and 
the  identification  of  construction  areas  where  additional  control  measures  are  necessary  to 
prevent pollutants from being discharged. Best management practices (BMPs) are necessary for 
proper  material  delivery  and  storage,  material  use  and  spill  prevention  and  control.  The 
measures will outline the required physical improvements and procedures to prevent impacts of 
pollutants  and  hazardous materials  to workers  and  the  environment  during  construction.  For 
example, all construction materials including paints, solvents, and petroleum products must be 
stored  in  controlled  areas  and  according  to  the  manufacturer’s  specifications.  Additionally, 
perimeter controls (fencing with wind screen),  linear sediment barriers (gravel bags, fiber rolls 
or  silt  fencing),  and  access  restrictions  (gates)  would  help  prevent  temporary  impact  to  the 
public and environment. No impacts will occur associated with this Change of Zone.  
 
The  project  proposes  residential  and  commercial  zoning  designations  on  the  approximately 
56.9‐acre  site.  The  proposed  residential  portion  of  the  project would  include Multiple  Family 
Residential (R‐M) General developments, which allows 20 to 25 dwelling units per acre (du/ac) 
and Urban developments, which allows 20 to 38 du/ac. Approximately 4 acres of the southwest 
portion of the site is designated as Neighborhood Commercial zone, which permits commercial 
businesses  in  proximity  to  residential  communities.  The  nature  of  residential  and  commercial 
uses are not expected to involve, as a primary activity, the routine transport, use or disposal of 
hazardous materials in quantities or in a manner that would pose a threat to the project and its 
surroundings or create a  significant hazard  through a  foreseeable accident condition  involving 

Page 499

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

66 

the  release  of  hazardous  materials  into  the  environment.  The  regular  operation  of  future 
development  will  involve  the  handling,  application,  and  storage  of  cleaning  agents,  building 
maintenance  products,  paints,  solvents  and  other  related  substances  commonly  used  with 
residential  apartment maintenance.  These  products  are  not  expected  to  be  used  in  amounts 
harmful to the public. 
 
The handling, application and storage of cleaning agents, building maintenance products, paints, 
solvents and other related substances is expected to occur within the project in order to carry 
out the necessary operations for the residential and commercial uses. However, these materials 
would not be present in sufficient quantities that pose a significant hazard to public health and 
safety, or the environment. The Change of Zone will result in no impacts.  
 

c) No Impact. The closest school is located west of the project, Valle Del Sol Elementary School. As 
previously discussed, the project proposes a Change of Zone from the property’s existing zoning 
of R‐S and R‐M to R‐M General, R‐M Urban, and C‐N on approximately 56.9 acres. During  the 
construction  of  future  development,  proper  safety  measures  will  be  implemented.  These 
standard  operational  procedures  and  protocols  as  well  as  the  best  management  practices 
(BMPs), will minimize any potential public exposure to hazardous materials. Operation of future 
residential  and  commercial  property  will  not  include  the  use,  transportation,  or  storage  of 
hazardous materials in quantities that would pose a significant hazard to the west‐lying school 
(see discussion b. for further analysis). No impact to schools is expected relative to the Change 
of Zone. 
 

d)  No Impact. As previously discussed, the project site proposes a change of zone from R‐S and R‐
M  to R‐M General  (20‐25 du/ac),  R‐M Urban  (20‐38 du/ac),  and C‐N.    Since before 1953,  the 
project site operated as agricultural land; however, the site is currently vacant.  

 
Record  searches on  the project property were performed within multiple database platforms, 
pursuant  to Government Code 65962.5 and  its  subsections.  The  resources  consulted  included 
GeoTracker, EnviroStor and the EPA Enforcement and Compliance History Online (ECHO).  
 
GeoTracker is a database maintained by the State of California Water Resources Control Board 
that  provides  online  access  to  environmental  data.  It  serves  as  the  management  system  for 
tracking  regulatory  data  on  sites  that  can  potentially  impact  groundwater,  particularly  those 
requiring groundwater cleanup and permitted facilities, such as operating underground storage 
tanks and land disposal sites.  
   
EnviroStor is a database maintained by the State of California Department of Toxic Substances 
Control  (DTSC). The EnviroStor database  identifies sites with known contamination or sites for 
which  there  may  be  reasons  to  investigate  further.  It  includes  the  identification  of  formerly 
contaminated  properties  that  have  been  released  for  reuse;  properties where  environmental 
deed  restrictions  have  been  recorded  to  prevent  inappropriate  land  uses;  and  risk 
characterization  information  that  is  used  to  assess potential  impacts  to  public  health  and  the 
environment at contaminated sites. 
   
Moreover,  the ECHO database  focuses on  inspection,  violation, and enforcement data  for  the 
Clean  Air  Act  (CAA),  Clean  Water  Act  (CWA)  and  Resource  Conservation  and  Recovery  Act 

Page 500

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

67 

(RCRA)  and  also  includes  Safe  Drinking Water  Act  (SDWA)  and  Toxics  Release  Inventory  (TRI) 
data.  
 
In  December  2020,  a  search  was  performed  on  all  three  database  platforms.  The  three 
consulted databases did not  list any  facilities  related  to  the  project  site. The  three databases, 
however,  recorded  sites  within  a  half‐mile  radius  of  the  project  property.  The  results  are 
described below: 

 
GeoTracker is a database maintained by the State of California Water Resources Control Board 
to  provide  online  access  to  environmental  data.  It  serves  as  the  management  system  for 
tracking regulatory data on sites that can potentially impact groundwater. The database search 
results revealed thirteen Leaking Underground Storage Tanks (LUST) Cleanup Sites and Cleanup 
Program Site within a mile of the project site. The facilities are listed as follows: 
 

 Koolco  is  located  approximately  0.12 miles  southwest  of  the  project,  at  52112  Industrial 
Way. This facility is listed as a LUST Cleanup Site, with an existing status of Completed Case 
Closed as of December 24, 1994.  

 Coachella  Valley Water District,  located  at  85995  52nd Avenue,  approximately  0.20 miles 
west of the project. The site is listed as a LUST Cleanup Site three times. The site currently 
has a status of Completed Case Closed as of August 26, 1996, April, 29, 2005, and January 
13, 2011.  

 Kinder Morgan Energy Partners (Former Santa Fe Pacific Pipeline Partners – 52nd Ave/HWY) 
is  located at 85989 52nd Avenue, approximately 0.27 miles west of the site. This facility  is 
registered as a Cleanup Program Site and has the status of Open – Remediation as of July 15, 
1990.  The  site  is  currently  monitored,  and  quarterly  and  semi‐annual  groundwater 
monitoring reports are administered at the site (available at GeoTracker). 

 El  Super  Toro  Loco  #3,  located  approximately  0.40  miles  west  of  the  project  at  52051 
Grapefruit  Avenue.  This  facility  is  registered  as  a  LUST  Cleanup  Site;  however,  the  site 
currently has a status of Completed Case Closed as of July 7, 2006.  

 Circle K/Former,  located at 51989 Grapefruit Boulevard, approximately 0.40 miles west of 
the project site. This registered facility is listed as a LUST Cleanup Site; however, the facility 
currently has a status of Completed Case Closed as of December 12, 2002.  

 Circle K #1303  is  located at 49989 Grapefruit Boulevard, approximately 0.56 miles west of 
the project site. This facility is listed as a LUST Cleanup Site, with a Completed Case Closed 
status as of November 13, 2000.  

 Red Dragon Restaurant, approximately 0.62 miles west of  the project,  is  located at 85981 
Grapefruit  Boulevard  and  registered  as  a  LUST  Cleanup  Site.  This  facility  currently  has  a 
status of Completed Case Closed as of November 7, 1986.  

 Cox  Oil  Company  is  located  at  1121  Highway  111,  approximately  0.75 miles  west  of  the 
project. This registered site is listed as a LUST Cleanup Site with a status of Completed Case 
Closed as of July 24, 1992.  

 Santa Fe Pacific Pipeline Partners – 52nd Ave/HWY lies approximately 0.76 miles west of the 
project, at 52nd Avenue and Highway 111. This  facility  is  listed as a Cleanup Program Site 
with a status of Open – Remediation as of July 6, 2010. The site is currently monitored, and 
semi‐annual groundwater monitoring is administered at the site (available at GeoTracker). 

Page 501

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

68 

 Sanchez  Mini  Mart  is  located  approximately  0.80  miles  west  of  the  project,  at  1003 
Grapefruit  Avenue.  This  facility  is  registered  as  a  LUST  Cleanup  Site  with  a  status  of 
Completed Case Closed as of August 22, 2007. 

 CVSD Palm View Maintenance is  located at 1101 Orchard Street, approximately 0.87 miles 
west of the project. This  facility  is registered as a LUST Cleanup Site, however, the current 
status of the facility is Completed Case Closed as of January 13, 1997.  

 
The  facilities  listed above are not anticipated  to  impact  the project site due to  their distances 
from the site and their statuses of Completed Case Closed.  
 
The  EnviroStor  database  revealed  two  “cleanup  sites”  within  a  mile  radius  of  the  project 
property. The two facilities are listed below:  
 

 The closest facility in the database is Bobby Duke Middle School conversion and expansion 
project, at 85358 Bagdad Avenue, approximately 0.86 miles northwest of the project. This 
facility is listed as a school investigation, however, as of June 2007, it was listed as Inactive, 
Withdrawn.  

 The second facility  listed  included East Coachella Elementary School, approximately 1‐mile 
northwest of  the project.  This  site  is  listed as  a  School Cleanup  Site;  however,  no  further 
action was required as of June 2004. 

 
When consulting the Enforcement and Compliance History Online (ECHO) database, no facilities 
or records on the property were identified, however, thirteen were listed within a mile radius of 
the project. The facilities are listed as follows: 
 

 Woodspur  Operations  LLC:  52200  Industrial  Way,  approximately  0.13  miles  south  of  the 
project. This facility is registered with the RCRA. No violations.  

 SFPP LP Coachella Site: 85985 52nd Avenue, approximately 0.23 miles west of the project. 
This  site  is  registered  with  the  RCRA  as  an  active  small  quantity  generator  (SQG).  No 
violations.  

 BCI  Coca  Cola  Bottling  Company  of  LA:  86375  Industrial  Way,  approximately  0.26  miles 
south of the project site. Registered under the Clean Water Act (CWA) as a Minor General 
Permit Covered Facility. No violations.  

 Imperial Irrigation District/Coachella: 1280 Grapefruit, approximately 0.59 miles west of the 
project. This facility is registered under the CAA, as an operating major emissions facility. No 
violation.  

 Armtec Defense Products Company: 85901 Avenue 53, approximately 0.60 miles southwest 
of the project. This site  is registered under the RCRA as an active  large quantity generator 
(LQG), the CWA as a Minor General Permit Covered Facility, and the Toxic Release Inventory 
(TRI). No violation.  

 Coachella Gas Turbine Plant: J1170 Shady Lane, approximately 0.70 miles west of the project 
is  registered  under  the  CWA  as  a Minor  General  Permit  Covered  Facility.  The  facility  has 
failed  to  submit  the  required  reporting  for  Stormwater  Non‐Construction  permit.  The 
violation has been identified since January 2019.  

 Coronet  Concrete  Prod  Inc:  50305  Highway  111,  approximately  0.71  miles  west  of  the 
project. The facility is registered under the CWA as a Minor General Permit Covered Facility. 

Page 502

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

69 

The site is currently in violation for failing to submit required Storm Water Non‐Construction 
report. The facility has been in violation since January 2019.  

 South West Pump & Drilling Inc: 53381 Highway 111, approximately 0.74 miles south of the 
project site, is registered under the RCRA. No violations.  

 Valley Pride Inc.: 86120 Tyler Lane, approximately 0.79 miles south of the project. This site is 
registered under the RCRA. No violations.  

 Coachella Water Authority: 1515 6th Street, approximately 0.92 miles west of the project, is 
listed under the SDWA. No violations. 

 Imperial  Western  Products:  86600  Avenue  54,  approximately  0.93  miles  south  of  the 
project. This site is registered under the CWA as a Minor Unpermitted Facility and the RCRA. 

 General  Telephone  of  CA:  723  Vine  Street,  approximately  0.96  miles  northwest  of  the 
project. The facility is listed under the RCRA as an active SQG. No violations.  

 Burrtec  Coachella  Yard:  53600  Polk  Street,  approximately  0.96  miles  southeast  of  the 
project. This facility is registered under the CWA. No violations.  

 
The  facilities  listed above are not anticipated  to  impact  the project site due to  their distances 
from the site and their statuses of “No Violations”. Future development on the project property 
would  be  required  to  assess  the  statuses  of  the  facilities  registered  in  the  property’s  vicinity 
prior to development of the site.  
 
The project site is characterized by approximately 56.9 acres of disturbed land and proposes a 
Change  of  Zone  from  R‐S  and  R‐M  to  R‐M  General,  R‐M  Urban,  and  C‐N.  The  nature  of  the 
proposed zones will not use hazardous materials in sufficient quantities as to create a significant 
hazard to the public or the environment. The facilities registered in the GeoTracker, EnviroStor, 
and ECHO are not associated with the project, and the project is not located on a site which is 
included on a list of hazardous materials sites compiled pursuant to Government Code Section 
65962.5. The Change of Zone will have no impacts.   

 
e)  No Impact. The Jacqueline Cochran Regional Airport  is  located approximately 2.20 miles south 

of  the  project  site.  The  proposed  project  is  located  within  Zone  E  of  the  airport’s  land  use 
compatibility plan. Zone E is the least restrictive zone within an airport’s land use compatibility 
plan.  Zone  E  is  considered  “Other  Airport  Environs”,  and  there  are  no  limits  to  residential 
densities/intensities. However, airspace review is required for objects greater than 100 feet  in 
height.  Additionally, physical (e.g., tall objects), visual, and electronic forms of interference with 
the safety of aircraft operations, otherwise referred to as “Hazards to flight”, are prohibited. The 
project will  not  result  in  safety  hazards or  excessive noise  for people  living or working  in  the 
area. 

 
f) No Impact. The City of Coachella’s Technical Background Report to the Safety Element Update 

analyzes various safety hazards within the City. These potential hazards include seismic hazards, 
geologic hazards,  fire hazards, hazardous materials management and severe weather hazards. 
The preparation, response and recovery of these hazards are outlined within Chapter 7 of  the 
Technical  Background  Report.  According  to  Chapter  7,  the  City  of  Coachella  is  a  participant 
member  of  the  Riverside  County Operational  Area Multi‐Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation  Plan 
(HMP) approved by FEMA in 2005 and ongoing updates to the document.  
 

Page 503

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

70 

The  Coachella  Fire  Department  Station  is  located  approximately  1.15 miles  northwest  of  the 
project  site,  at  1377  6th  Street.  The  closest  police  station  to  the  project  site  is  the  Riverside 
County Sheriff Department Thermal Station at 86625 Airport Boulevard, approximately 2 miles 
south of  the project property. The  Indio Police Department, at 46800  Jackson Street, and  the 
Indio Fire Department, at 46990 Jackson Street, lies approximately 4.15 miles northwest of the 
project  site.  The  Police  Department  typically  serves  as  the  lead  organization  in  carrying  out 
evacuations,  supported by  the Fire Department as appropriate. The Public Works Department 
typically  assists  in  the  identification  of  the  best  evacuation  routes  and  in  barricading  the 
evacuated areas. 
 
As depicted in Plate 7‐2 in the Technical Background Report, major evacuation routes within the 
City  of  Coachella  includes  48th  Avenue,  50th  Avenue,  52nd  Avenue,  Route  86,  Harrison  Street, 
Grapefruit  Boulevard,  and  Interstate  10  (I‐10)  freeway.  The  closest  evacuation  route  to  the 
project  property  is  52nd  Avenue,  lying  immediately  south  of  the  project  site.  Grapefruit 
Boulevard  (Highway 111) and Route 86 are  the second and  third closest evacuation  routes  to 
the project,  lying approximately 0.36 miles west and 0.50 miles east of  the proposed project, 
respectively.  

 
The  proposed  project will  not  significantly  alter  the  existing  circulation  pattern  in  the  project 
area or adversely impact evacuation plans, considering that the site is currently surrounded by 
developed homes and existing paved  improvements. The project  lies within the City’s General 
Plan  Urban  Neighborhood  and  Neighborhood  Center  land  use  designations.  These  land  use 
designations  permit  the  development  of  residential  dwelling  units  and  commercial  uses, 
respectively.  The  project’s  western  and  eastern  boundaries  are  met  by  existing  residential 
communities. Valle Del Sol Elementary School is located west of the project site, and industrial 
uses  are  located  south  of  the  project  property.  The  Coachella  Valley  Stormwater  Channel 
borders the northern boundary, and 52nd Avenue borders the southern property boundary. The 
area surrounding the project is developed with paved roadways and existing infrastructure. The 
project will not impact existing evacuation routes.  
 
As  previously  discussed,  the  proposed  residential  community  and  commercial  use  on 
approximately 56.9 acres of disturbed land. Primary ingress and egress will be located along the 
existing  paved  roadways:  52nd  Avenue  and  Education Way.  These  roadways  will  also  provide 
emergency access to the project site. Proposed parking and circulation plans will be reviewed by 
the Fire and Police Departments to assure that the project’s ingress/egress driveways and roads 
are  adequate  for  accommodating  emergency  vehicles.  In  order  to  assure  that  the  future 
development  does  not  interfere  with  emergency  access  during  development,  a  construction 
traffic  plan  may  be  required  to  be  submitted  to  the  Fire  Department  for  review  prior  to 
development. The Change of Zone will have no impacts.  

 

g)  No Impact. Large areas of Southern California are susceptible to wildfires all year around due to 
the  region’s  weather,  topography  and  vegetation  conditions.  The  Coachella  Valley’s  hot,  dry 
summer  with  the  dry  brush  vegetation  creates  ideal  conditions  to  fuel  most  wildfires.  The 
California Board of Forestry considers wildland as important source of water, timber, minerals, 
wildlife,  recreation  and  forage.  Wildland  fire  protection  in  California  is  the  responsibility  of 
either  the  State,  local  government,  or  federal  government.  Local  responsibility  areas  include 
incorporated  cities  where  fire  protection  is  typically  provided  by  City  fire  departments,  fire 
protection districts, counties and by CAL Fire under contract to local government.  

Page 504

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

71 

 
  The  project  site  is  located  in  the  Coachella  General  Plan’s  Urban  Neighborhood  and 

Neighborhood Center  land use designations.  It  is  located in an urbanized area of the City with 
existing residential units to the west and east, Valle Del Sol Elementary School to the west, and 
industrial and agricultural uses to the south. The Riverside County General Plan and the CAL Fire 
Maps  for  Western  Riverside  County  indicate  that  the  project  and  its  surroundings  are  not 
located within the Very High Fire Hazard Severity Zone for both State or Federal Responsibility 
Areas and Local Responsibility Areas. With the foregoing, the project would not expose people 
or structures to significant injury, loss or death due to wildfires. See the Wildfire Section of this 
Initial Study for further discussion. No impacts are anticipated.  

 
Mitigation Measures: None Required. 

Page 505

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

72 

X. HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY  
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Violate any water quality standards or waste discharge 
requirements  or  otherwise  substantially  degrade 
surface or ground water quality?  

       

b)  Substantially  decrease  groundwater  supplies  or 
interfere  substantially  with  groundwater  recharge 
such  that  the  project  may  impede  sustainable 
groundwater management of the basin?  

       

c) Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the 
site  or  area,  including  through  the  alteration  of  the 
course of a stream or river or through the addition of 
impervious surfaces, in a manner that would:  

       

i) result in substantial erosion or siltation on‐ or off‐
site;  

       

ii) substantially  increase  the  rate  or  amount  of 
surface  runoff  in  a manner which would  result  in 
flooding on‐ or off‐site;  

       

iii)  create  or  contribute  runoff  water  which  would 
exceed the capacity of existing or planned storm‐
water  drainage  systems  or  provide  substantial 
additional sources of polluted runoff; or  

       

iv)  impede or redirect flood flows?          

d)  In flood hazard, tsunami, or seiche zones, risk release 
of pollutants due to project inundation?  

       

e)  Conflict  with  or  obstruct  implementation  of  a  water 
quality  control  plan  or  sustainable  groundwater 
management plan?  

       

(Sources:  Flood  Insurance  Rate Map  #06065C2270H,  Federal  Emergency Management  Agency, March  6,  2018; 
2035 Coachella General Plan, 2015; City of Coachella, 2015 Urban Water Management Plan, 2016) 
 

Setting 
 
The Clean Water Act  (CWA) of 1972 was enacted  to  restore and maintain  the chemical, physical, and 
biological integrity of the nation’s waters by regulating the discharge of pollutants to waters of the U.S. 
from point  sources. As part of  the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System  (NPDES) program, 
subsequent  amendments  to  the  CWA  established  a  framework  for  regulating  non‐point  source 
discharges from urban land runoff and other diffuse sources that were also found to contribute to runoff 
pollution.  Under  CWA,  the  Environmental  Protection  Agency  (EPA)  authorized  the  NPDES  permit 
program  to  various  state,  tribal,  and  territorial  governments,  enabling  them  to  perform many  of  the 

Page 506

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

73 

permitting,  administrative,  and  enforcement  aspects  of  the  program.  California  is  a  delegated NPDES 
state and has authority to administer the NPDES program within its limits.  
 
The  Porter‐Cologne  Act  is  the  principal  law  governing  water  quality  regulation  for  surface  waters  in 
California.  It established a comprehensive program to protect water quality and the beneficial uses of 
water. Presently in the state of California, the State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) and nine 
California Regional Water Quality Control Boards (RWQCBs) regulate and protect water quality pursuant 
to  NPDES.  Their  regulations  encompass  storm  water  discharges  from  construction  site,  municipal 
separate storm sewer systems (MS4s), and major industrial facilities.  
 
The  approved  Colorado  River  Basin  Water  Quality  Control  Plan  (Basin  Plan)  identifies  the  beneficial 
water uses, describes the water quality which must be maintained to support such uses, and describes 
the programs, projects, and other actions necessary to achieve the standards and protect water quality. 
The proposed project  is  located within  the Whitewater River Watershed  in  the Colorado River Region 
(Region 7). As a component of Region 7, the Whitewater River Watershed MS4 established a compliance 
program that covers approximately 1,645 square miles, including the City of Coachella and the proposed 
project.  
 
The Regional Basin Plan establishes water quality standards for surface waters within the Colorado River 
region, which  include designated beneficial uses of those water bodies and the  levels of water quality 
that must be met and maintained to protect those uses. Based on the project’s location and setting, the 
nearest receiving water to the project is the Coachella Valley Stormwater Channel (CVSC), located north 
of the project property. CVSC is the primary regional flood control facility in the eastern Coachella Valley 
and  City  of  Coachella.  As  an  unlined,  engineered  extension  of  the  Whitewater  River,  CVSC  accepts 
agricultural  irrigation  return  water  and  conveys  treated  wastewater,  urban  runoff,  and  stormwater 
runoff to the Salton Sea. The project is physically and hydrologically separated from this facility by the 
existing engineered levee system that is operated and maintained by CVWD.  
 
Water bodies where the assessed water quality does not meet the standards to support the beneficial 
uses  are  regionally  listed  pursuant  to  Section  303(d)  of  the  CWA.  The  most  current  2014  and  2016 
Integrated  Report  (Clean Water  Act  Section  303(d)  List/305(b)  Report)  indicates  that  portions  of  the 
CVSC  are  impaired  by  DDT  (Dichlorodiphenyltrichoroethane),  Dieldrin,  Indicator  Bacteria,  PCBs 
(Polychlorinated  Biphenyls),  and  Toxaphene.  These  water  quality  impairments  are  not  known  to  be 
associated with or caused by development. 
 
The  Chapter  13.16  (Water  Quality  Control)  of  the  Coachella  Code  of  Ordinances  serves  as  the  local 
stormwater management standard, aligning with CWA, NDPES, and MS4 provisions. 
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a)  No  Impact.  The  size  and  nature  of  the  proposed  development  prompts  compliance with  the 

existing  regulations  pertaining  to  water  quality  standards  and  waste  discharge  requirements 
during and after construction. As a result, the project proponent must comply with the State’s 
most  current  Construction General  Permit  (CGP), Order No.  2009‐0009‐DWQ,  as  amended by 
2010‐0014‐DWQ and 2012‐006‐DWQ. Compliance with the CGP involves the development and 
implementation of a project‐specific Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP), designed 
to prevent potential adverse impacts to surface water quality during the period of construction. 
The required plan will  identify the  limits of disturbance during construction,  indicating specific 

Page 507

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

74 

locations  where  activities  will  require  implementation  of  storm  water  Best  Management 
Practices (BMPs). Storm water BMPs refer to a schedule of activities, prohibitions of practices, 
maintenance procedures, and other management practices to prevent, eliminate, or reduce the 
pollution of water of the receiving waters. BMPs also include treatment requirements, operating 
procedures, and practices to control plant site runoff spillage or  leaks. Consistent with Section 
XIV of the CGP, the required SWPPP will also specify the necessary recordkeeping, relevant good 
site  housekeeping  requirements,  proper  waste  management,  proper  handling  and  storage 
within the allowable construction limits.  
 
Based  on  the  project  location  and  setting,  the  compliant  SWPPP  is  expected  for  future 
development  to  identify  temporary  sediment  track‐out prevention BMPs at each construction 
entrance/exit  point  that  eventually  exits  to  a  public  street.  This  type  of  BMP  will  provide 
temporary stabilization to prevent sediment track‐out and fugitive dust emissions from exiting 
the  site.  Linear  sediment  barriers  may  be  warranted  along  portions  of  the  construction 
perimeter  to  prevent  soil  erosion  impacts  and  sediment  impacts.  As  construction  progresses, 
any  on‐site  catch  basin  inlets  that  become  operational  will  require  temporary  protection  to 
prevent  sediment  or  pollutants  from  entering  the  on‐site  storm  drain  system.  As  a  standard 
condition, any ground surface area disturbed by construction activities must be entirely covered 
by  the SWPPP and must be properly  re‐stabilized  to satisfy  the City and NPDES requirements. 
The BMPs will be regulated by the plan review process prior to obtaining a grading permit and 
will be enforced as part of the agency site inspection protocols during construction.  
 
During construction,  future development will also be required to comply with South Coast Air 
Quality  Management  District’s  (SCAQMD)  Rule  403  and  403.1  and  the  City’s  Fugitive  Dust 
Control  policies,  which  establish  the  minimum  requirement  for  construction  and  demolition 
activities  and  other  specified  sources  in  order  to  reduce  man‐made  fugitive  dust  and  the 
corresponding PM10 emissions. Implementation of Fugitive Dust Control Plan primarily pertains 
to  air  quality,  but  also  supports  water  quality  protection  through  the  requirement  of  soil 
stabilization  measures  to  prevent  sediment  erosion  and  track‐out.  The  concurrent 
implementation of  the required SWPPP and Dust Control Plan plans will prevent  the potential 
construction‐related  impacts  to  water  quality  at  the  site  and  its  surroundings,  therefore, 
resulting in less than significant impact. 
 
Future development will be designed with an on‐site stormwater retention system that during 
the  life  of  the  project  will  comply  with  the  City’s  drainage  requirements  by  preventing  site 
discharge  and  transport  of  untreated  runoff.  The  proposed  storm  drain  system  will  include 
facilities  sized  to  provide  sufficient  storage  for  the  100‐year  controlling  storm  event.  As  a 
standard  requirement,  the  project  development  proponent  must  develop  and  implement  a 
project‐specific  Water  Quality  Management  Plan  (WQMP)  to  comply  with  the  most  current 
standards of  the Whitewater  River Region Water Quality Management Plan  for Urban Runoff 
and the Whitewater River Watershed MS4 Permit.  
 
The project‐specific WQMP and Hydrology Report will  identify a strategy of site design, source 
controls,  and  treatment  controls  with  a  required  operation  and  maintenance  program  to 
address post‐construction runoff quality and quantity. To achieve this, future will be divided into 
multiple  drainage  management  areas  with  corresponding  underground  retention  facilities. 
Runoff from the impervious areas of the project (building buildings, hardscape, asphalt) will be 
conveyed  to  a  corresponding  retention  facility  sized  to  collect  and  percolate  the  entire 

Page 508

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

75 

stormwater volume resulting from the controlling 100‐year storm event. The site plan, grading 
design, catch basin design, and retention facilities of the project must be factored in the project‐
specific  WQMP  development  and  documentation.  The  project  design  will  be  subject  to  City 
review and approval.  
 
During construction and operation,  future development will be required to comply with CWA, 
NPDES, and  local  regulations  to prevent  impacts  to water quality standards and the beneficial 
uses  assigned  to  local  receiving waters. No  impacts  are  anticipated  relative  to  the  Change  of 
Zone. 

 
b)  No  Impact.  The Coachella Water Authority  (CWA)  is  the primary domestic water purveyor  for 

the  City  of  Coachella  and  the  project  area,  primarily  relying  on  groundwater  as  the  primary 
supply.  The  project  area  and  City  of  Coachella  are  underlain  by  the  East  (Lower) Whitewater 
River Subbasin, which forms part of  the Coachella Valley groundwater basin. The East  (Lower) 
Whitewater River Subbasin is managed regionally by a collaborative effort by multiple agencies. 
The  collaboration  among  CWA,  CVWD,  and  other  local  water  districts  has  resulted  in  an 
established  water  conservation,  water  reuse,  and  groundwater  recharge  strategy  to  ensure 
water availability  and  system capacity  to meet  the growing needs of  the City.  These planning 
efforts  include:  residential  and  commercial  landscape  and  irrigation  upgrade  rebates,  water 
audits,  water  conservation  kits,  budget‐tiered  rate  structure,  water  conservation  workshops, 
and a Memorandum of Understanding between the City and CVWD to help ensure a sufficient 
and  reliable  water  supply  for  development  projects  within  the  City  and  in  its  Sphere  of 
Influence. 
 
In  2014,  the  California  Legislature  signed  a  three‐bill  legislative  package  into  law,  collectively 
known as the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA).  SGMA allows local agencies 
to manage groundwater resources  in a sustainable manner, with management efforts  tailored 
to  the  resources  and  needs  of  their  specific  communities.  Groundwater  management  is 
described  as  the  planned  and  coordinated  monitoring,  operation,  and  administration  of  a 
groundwater  basin  sustainability.  As  part  of  this  effort,  the  Coachella  Water  Authority  was 
elected  to  serve  as  a  groundwater  sustainability  agency  (GSA)  to  develop  and  implement  the 
Groundwater Sustainability Plan. Since groundwater management has been a historic effort  in 
the  Coachella  Valley,  local  agencies,  including  Coachella Water  Authority,  have  been  able  to 
adapt their current measures as part of their sustainability plan. 
 
Local  groundwater  resources  are  managed  under  the  2015  City  of  Coachella  Urban  Water 
Management Plan  (2015 UWMP).  The 2015 UWMP serves  as  a planning  tool  that documents 
actions in support of long‐term water resources planning and ensures adequate water supplies 
are available to meet the existing and future urban water demands.  
 
The 2015 UWMP indicates that the Coachella Valley groundwater basin historically has been in a 
state  of  overdraft.  An  overdraft  condition  occurs  when  the  outflows  (demands)  exceed  the 
inflows (supplies) to the groundwater basin over a period of time. To address this condition, the 
Coachella Water  Authority  and  other  domestic water  suppliers  like  CVWD have  implemented 
water  conservation  measures  and  groundwater  replenishment  efforts  to  stabilize  the 
groundwater levels and eliminate the overdraft condition. Artificial replenishment, or recharge, 
is recognized by the water districts as one of the most effective methods available for preserving 
local  groundwater  supplies,  reversing  aquifer  overdraft  and  meeting  demand  by  domestic 

Page 509

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

76 

consumers. According  to  the CVWD web  site on Ground Replenishment and  Imported Water, 
local agencies have percolated over 650 billion gallons of water back into the aquifer to date.  In 
the eastern Coachella Valley, Thomas E. Levy Groundwater Replenishment Facility is the primary 
site  for  groundwater  recharge.  This  facility  operates  by  recharging  water  obtained  from  the 
Coachella Canal at a capacity of 40,000 acre feet per year (AFY). 
 
Combined  with  water  conservation  and  efficiency  requirements,  individual  development 
projects can contribute to groundwater sustainability by implementing the required stormwater 
runoff retention and infiltration facilities. 
 
The  project’s  location  and  setting will  not  impede with  any  existing  or  planned  groundwater 
recharge  facility,  such  that  it  would  impede  sustainable  groundwater  management  in  this 
manner.  The  proposed  project  aligns  with  the  local  and  regional  groundwater  recharge 
strategies  by  implementing  on‐site  retention,  infiltration  and  low  impact  development 
improvements as part of  the  site design. Project’s  stormwater management design  includes a 
system of on‐site retention basins designed to collect and infiltrate storm water runoff resulting 
from  the  controlling  100‐year  event.  Based  on  the  preliminary  engineering  estimates,  the 
proposed  underground  retention  structures  will  have  a  combined  capacity  of  approximately 
60,524 cubic feet. As such, the entire volume of stormwater runoff generated on‐site up to the 
100‐year event will be percolated on‐site, contributing to groundwater recharge.  
 
Furthermore,  future development will  implement water  conservation measures  in accordance 
with  the  2015 UWMP.  These measures  include water  efficient  landscaping  and  irrigation  and 
water  efficient  plumbing  and  appliances.  Future  development  will  conserve  water  through 
measures  that  may  include  efficient  irrigation  and  drought‐tolerant  planting  materials. 
Therefore, the Change of Zone will not interfere with the regional groundwater recharge efforts 
or groundwater sustainability for the regional basins. No impacts are anticipated.   
 

c.i)  No Impact. The project property consists of fallow farmland and a relatively flat terrain absent 
of any on‐site natural drainage features or courses attributed to any stream or river. The project 
sites  surroundings  include  man‐made  drainage  controls,  including  fully  improved  curb  and 
gutter  improvements  along  its  southerly  and  westerly  portions.  Runoff  resulting  from 
precipitation  events  would  have  the  propensity  to  follow  the  elevation  gradient  toward  the 
southeast,  but  no  defined  drainage  paths,  depressions,  or  basins  are  present.  The  nearest 
defined drainage feature to the project is the engineered Coachella Valley Stormwater Channel 
(CVSC), located approximately 100 feet to the northeast. This channel accepts urban runoff from 
developed  and  undeveloped  areas  throughout  the  City  of  Coachella  and  other  upstream 
jurisdictions. The CVSC facility is physically and hydrologically separated from the project site by 
a system of engineered levees. 
 

  As previously mentioned, the proposed zone change does not involve development entitlement 
or physical improvement on the vacant land that would result in the alteration of any drainage 
course  or  stream,  such  that  would  raise  concerns  about  erosion  or  siltation.  As  a  standard 
condition,  future  development  of  the  site,  whether  under  the  existing  or  proposed  land  use 
policy, would require a proper and thorough review of the existing hydrologic conditions for site 
planning decisions that avoid drainage alterations. The proposed land use policy change would 
not preclude future development form undergoing environmental review and implementing the 
appropriate site design considerations to prevent substantial erosion or siltation impacts. Future 

Page 510

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

77 

development  would  be  subject  to  agency  review  and  approval  to  ensure  that  the  proposed 
grading and drainage conditions are acceptable to  the City standards. Pertaining  to erosion or 
siltation, on‐ or off‐site, no impacts are anticipated relative to the Change of Zone.  
 

c.ii)  No  Impact.  The  proposed  project  does  not  involve  the  entitlement  of  any  specific  form  of 
development  plan  and  no  physical  alterations  to  the  existing  undeveloped  land would  result 
from its  implementation. Future development on the property would be subject to a separate 
environmental  review  process  to  assess  the  site‐specific  considerations  pertaining  to  existing 
drainage  conditions  and  the  management  of  any  potential  changes  to  the  surface  runoff 
resulting from that development.  

 
  Future  development  under  the  proposed  general  and  urban  multiple  family  residential  and 

neighborhood commercial designations could potentially involve a relatively more utilization of 
the  project  site  compared  to  the  current  policy.  This  is  due  to  the  current  residential 
development  standards  allowing  for  a  density  of  20‐25  dwelling  units  per  acre  for  the  R‐M 
General designation, and 20‐38 dwelling units per acre for the R‐M Urban designation. A greater 
portion of impervious cover (buildings, hardscape, pavement) allowable under the development 
standards of  the aforementioned designations would  typically  result  in a potential  increase  in 
surface  runoff  rates  and  amounts.  Therefore,  future  development  would  be  required  to 
implement the appropriate storm drain and retention facilities to prevent to control the volume 
and rate of stormwater runoff, as stipulated in Chapter 13.16 of the Coachella Municipal Code 
(Ordinance  #1152).  On‐site  stormwater  retention  systems  of  future  development  will  be 
adequately sized to protect the proposed buildings and facilities from flooding conditions up to 
the controlling 100‐year storm event. As such, the future development’s storm drain and flood 
control improvements are not expected to substantially increase the rate or amount of surface 
runoff  in  a manner which would  result  in  flooding on‐  or  off‐site. No  impacts  are  anticipated 
related to the Change of Zone.  

 
c.iii)  No Impact. Runoff from the impervious surfaces introduced by future development will not be 

directly connected to the municipal stormwater system, such that it would exceed its capacity or 
introduced  additional  sources  of  runoff  pollution.  The  City  is  currently  in  the  process  of 
developing its stormwater master plan, which will factor land use projects with and without on‐
site  retention  facilities.  In  complying  with  the  applicable  retention  requirements,  future 
development  is  not  expected  to  interfere with  the  City’s  stormwater master  planning  efforts 
currently underway. No impacts related to the Change of Zone are anticipated. 

 
c.iv)  No  Impact.  As  previously  discussed,  the  project  is  absent  of  any  mapped  natural  drainage 

courses or designated FEMA zones with flood flow concerns. The site is not situated in an area 
where flood flows could be impeded, redirected, or increased as a result of the implementation 
of the proposed Change of Zone. However, future development’s storm drain system will meet 
the  local  MS4  and  City  requirements  by  including  the  properly  sized  retention  facilities.  No 
impacts are anticipated relative to the Change of Zone. 

 
d)  No Impact. Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRMs) serve as the basis for identifying potential flood 

hazards.  According  to  FIRM  panel  06065C2270H,  effective March  6,  2018,  the  entire  Subject 
Property is located within Zone X, which applies to areas of 0.2 % annual chance flood; areas of 
1% annual chance flood with average depths of  less than 1 foot or with drainage areas of  less 
than 1 square mile; and areas protected by levees from 1% annual chance flood. Furthermore, 

Page 511

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

78 

this flood zone is categorized as an area of minimal flood hazard.  The project is not located near 
any coastal areas and therefore is not prone to tsunami hazards. The project is not located near 
any body of water and therefore is not prone to seiche hazards. The project does not propose 
any development at this time; however, any future development would be required to design a 
storm drain system designed to properly capture the site’s urban runoff to prevent any risk of 
uncontrolled pollutant discharge. The typical developments involved with a zoning of urban and 
general  multiple‐family  residential  and  neighborhood  commercial  do  not  typically  host  the 
storage  of  pollutants,  petroleum  products,  or  other  hazardous  materials  in  conditions  which 
would  be  deemed  a  risk  of  release  in  an  inundation  condition.  Therefore,  no  impacts  are 
anticipated related to the Change of Zone. 

 
e)  No Impact. As discussed previously, the project proponent for future development  is required 

to  implement a project‐specific Water Quality Management Plan  (WQMP)  to comply with  the 
most  current  standards  of  the Whitewater  River  Region Water Quality Management  Plan  for 
Urban  Runoff, Whitewater  River  Watershed  MS4  Permit,  and  the  City  of  Coachella’s  Water 
Quality Control regulations outlined in the Code of Ordinances (Chapter 13.16). The WQMP will 
incorporate grading, hydrology, and other plans  to document  the site design,  source controls, 
and treatment controls with a required operation and maintenance program to comply with the 
hierarchy water quality objectives. Moreover,  storm water  retention  facilities will  ensure  that 
urban  runoff  is  recharged  into  the  ground  via  infiltration.  Combined with  the  required water 
conservation practices, the project  is expected to contribute to the groundwater sustainability 
efforts implemented for the Coachella Valley region. No impacts are anticipated related to the 
Change of Zone. 

 
Mitigation Measures: None required 
 

Page 512

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

79 

XI. LAND USE AND PLANNING  
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Physically divide an established community?          

b)  Cause  a  significant  environmental  impact  due  to  a 
conflict  with  any  land  use  plan,  policy,  or  regulation 
adopted  for  the  purpose  of  avoiding  or  mitigating  an 
environmental effect?  

       

(Sources: City of Coachella 2035 General Plan Update, 2015; Coachella Municipal Code) 

 
Setting 
 
On‐site and Vicinity Land Uses 
 
Per the City of Coachella General Plan Update (CGPU), residential land uses (which include single family, 
multi‐family and other) occupy approximately 1,339 acres of the City. This makes up almost 4 percent of 
the  total  area within  the City, while  vacant  land occupies approximately 53 percent. Agricultural  land 
uses occupy 33 percent of  the City’s area, being  the second  largest  land use classification  in  the City. 
Transportation,  communications,  and  utilities  is  the  third  largest  land  use,  covering  approximately  6 
percent of the City. Commercial land uses occupy approximately 138 acres (0.4 percent) in the City. The 
site of the proposed project is currently characterized by disturbed land, used previously for agricultural 
purposes.  
 
The project site  is primarily surrounded by developed, single  family residential homes to the east and 
west, multiple  family residential homes to  the west, Valle Del Sol Elementary School  to the west, and 
industrial  and  agricultural  uses  to  the  south.  The  Coachella  Valley  Stormwater  Channel  abuts  the 
project’s northern boundary, and 52nd Avenue abuts the project’s southern boundary.  
 
Existing General Plan Land Use Designations 
 
Future development of the project site and all lands within the City of Coachella are subject to land use 
and other development related goals and policies contained  in  the recently adopted City of Coachella 
General Plan 2035, and the codified regulations, standards and other criteria provided in the Coachella 
Municipal  Code.  The  current General  Plan Update  Land Use  designation  for  the  project  site  is Urban 
Neighborhood and Neighborhood Center. The Urban Neighborhood designation provides predominantly 
(although not  exclusively) multi‐family  housing  types with  very  good non‐motorized  access  to  a wide 
range of civic and commercial amenities located at the edges and/or within the mixed‐use fabric of the 
neighborhood.  Neighborhood  Centers  create  a  concentration  of  commercial  businesses  and  civic 
amenities  –  often mixed with multi‐family  housing  – within  convenient walking  or  biking  distance  of 
nearby  neighborhoods.  Centers  provide  gathering  places  for  residents  of  surrounding  neighborhoods 
and are ideal locations for high‐quality transit stops.  
 
Existing Zoning Designations 
 
The  existing  zones  for  project  site  includes  Residential  Single‐Family  Zone  (R‐S)  and  Multiple  Family 
Residential (R‐M), as designated by the City of Coachella. R‐S zones are intended to provide areas within 

Page 513

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

80 

the City where development  is  limited to  low‐density concentrations of single‐family dwellings and  to 
stabilize and protect the residential character of such areas (Coachella Municipal Code Chapter 17.16). 
R‐M zones are  intended to provide  for  the establishment and expansion of multiple‐family  residential 
development areas at various medium and high population densities and related community services, all 
located in conformance with the general plan (Coachella Municipal Code Chapter 17.20).  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a) No  Impact. The project  site  is  currently  located on disturbed and vacant  land,  surrounded by 

existing, developed properties. The Coachella Valley Stormwater Channel abuts  the property’s 
northern  boundary,  a  single‐family  residential  community  abuts  the  property’s  eastern 
boundary,  and  single  family  residential, multi‐family  residential,  and Valle Del  Sol  Elementary 
School abuts  the property’s western boundary. 52nd Avenue delineates  the project’s  southern 
boundary and  industrial and agricultural uses  lie  south of 52nd Avenue. The boundaries of  the 
existing  residential  units  that  surround  the  project  property  are  clearly  separated  from  the 
project site, by either fencing or block walls. A majority of the Elementary School’s perimeter is 
surrounded  by  fencing.  The  existing  communities  are  developed  and  operate  independently 
from the project property. Therefore, the project site  is not anticipated to physically divide an 
established community. No impact. 

 
b) Less  Than  Significant  Impact.  As  stated  previously,  the  subject  property  occurs  in  an  area 

designated  for Urban Neighborhood and Neighborhood Center, according  to  the General Plan 
Map. Urban Neighborhood  land uses allow 20 to 38 dwelling units per acre (du/ac), with a 30 
du/ac average for new projects, and a flood area ratio (FAR) of 0.5. Neighborhood Center land 
uses allow 15 to 40 du/ac, and a FAR of 0.5 to 1.5. 
 
General Plan Consistency  
 
The project proposes  to process a Change of Zone  to  facilitate  the development of a housing 
community  available  for  a  variety  of  costs  and  local  serving  commercial  uses with  the Urban 
Neighborhood  and  Neighborhood  Center  land  use  designations  established  by  the  City  of 
Coachella. Project design features and land use operations shall be consistent with the General 
Plan land use designations.  

 
Zoning Consistency 
 
The City’s Official  Zoning Map  identifies  the project  to be  located  in Residential  Single  Family 
Zone (R‐S) and Multiple Family Residential Zone (R‐M). R‐S zones are intended to provide areas 
within  the  city  where  development  is  limited  to  low‐density  concentration  of  single‐family 
dwellings,  and  to  stabilize  and protect  the  residential  character  of  such  areas.  R‐M  zones  are 
intended  to  provide  for  the  establishment  and  expansion  of  multiple‐family  residential 
development  areas  at  various medium  and  high  population  densities  and  related  community 
services, all located in conformance with the general plan.  
 
The project proposes a Change of Zone  (CZ)  to change the current R‐S and R‐M zones  to R‐M 
General, R‐M Urban, and Neighborhood Commercial (C‐N). R‐M General zones will allow for 20 
to 25 du/ac, and R‐M Urban zones allow for 20 to 38 du/ac.  
 

Page 514

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

81 

Chapter 17.20 of the Coachella Municipal Code states that R‐M zones are  intended to provide 
for the establishment and expansion of multiple‐family residential development areas at various 
medium and high population densities and related community services. R‐M zones allows higher 
density  residential  developments  and  is  consistent  with  the  Urban  Neighborhood  land  use, 
designated  by  the  General  Plan.  The  increased  land  use  density  will  provide  much  needed 
affordable housing  to  the City of Coachella. C‐N  zones are  intended  to provide  for every day, 
convenience  shopping  intended  to  serve  residential  neighborhoods,  consistent  with  the 
environmental requirements of such neighborhoods. Convenience shopping facilities are those 
which provide space for retail and service businesses serving the immediate neighborhood. The 
provisions of this zone are intended to minimize or eliminate, insofar as possible, any conflicting 
aspects  of  commercial  land  use  within  residential  neighborhoods,  particularly  as  related  to 
traffic, type of activity, and site requirements (Coachella Municipal Code Chapter 17.24).  
 
The CZ would permit an increased density and intensity allowed on the project site, compared 
to  the existing R‐S zoning designation. The proposed project would allow  the development of 
much needed affordable housing units in the City, as well as locate commercial uses in proximity 
to  the  existing  and  proposed  communities.  The  proposed  R‐M General,  R‐M Urban,  and  C‐N 
zones  are  consistent  with  the  existing  General  Plan  land  use  designations  of  Urban 
Neighborhood and Neighborhood Center. As previously  stated, Urban Neighborhood  land use 
designations permit 20 to 38 du/ac, with 30 du/ac average for new projects.  
 
Future development will participate in Architecture Review as part of the entitlement process. 
Overall,  the  Change  of  Zone  will  comply  with  the  land  use  policies  provided  by  the  City  of 
Coachella to ensure impacts are less than significant.  

 
Mitigation Measures: None required 
 

Page 515

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

82 

XII. MINERAL RESOURCES  
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Result  in  the  loss  of  availability  of  a  known  mineral 
resource that would be of value to the region and the 
residents of the state?  

       

b)  Result  in  the  loss of availability of a  locally  important 
mineral  resource  recovery  site  delineated  on  a  local 
general plan, specific plan or other land use plan?  

       

(Sources:  Coachella  2035 General  Plan,  2015;  California Division  of Mines  and Geology,  1987;  Riverside  County 
General Plan, 2015) 

 
Setting 
 
Riverside County emphasizes  the  importance of mineral  resources and  its protection. For  this  reason, 
the  State Mining  and  Geology  Board  (SMGB)  listed  and  prioritized  the  mineral  deposits  in  Riverside 
County. These Mineral Resource Zones (MRZ) help identify mineral deposits that need to be protected 
from  encroaching  urbanization  and  land  uses  incompatible  with  mining.  The  SMGB  categorized  the 
mineral  resources  into  six  zones  and  identifies  designation  as  having  either  a  regional  or  a  statewide 
economic  significance.  The purpose of  these designations  is  to  identify  those areas  that  are of  prime 
importance  in meeting  the  future needs of  the  study  region and protect  these areas  from a  land use 
perspective.   
 
As described in Section VII of this document, the sedimentary units in the Coachella area are composed 
of a mix of water‐transported alluvial  sand,  silt,  clay, and gravel derived  from erosion of  the adjacent 
hills  and mountains  and  very  fine‐grained  ancient  lake  deposits.  Very  young,  unconsolidated  alluvial 
sediments  line the drainage courses. The existing and potential mineral resources  in Coachella  include 
sand and gravel, clay, oil and gas, and geothermal. 
 
The project site is located in the City of Coachella’s Urban Neighborhood and Neighborhood Center land 
use designations, specifically zoned Single Family Residential (R‐S) and Multiple Family Residential (R‐M). 
The project proposes a Change of Zone from R‐S and R‐M to R‐M General, R‐M Urban and Neighborhood 
Commercial  (C‐N).  The  proposed  zones  are  consistent  with  the  existing  General  Plan  land  use 
designations.  
 
 As stated throughout this document, the project site has been utilized for agricultural operations from 
the 1950s to recent years. The project site is currently vacant and fallow. According to the Department 
of Agriculture,  the soil  types present at  the project site  include Coachella  fine sand  (CrA), Gilman  fine 
sandy loam (GcA), Gilman silt loam (GfA), and Indio fine sandy loam (Ir).  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a‐b)  No  Impact.  The  project  site  is  designated  as Mineral  Resource  Zone  1  (MRZ‐1)  by  the  State 

Mining  and  Geology  Board.  Available  geological  information  indicates  that  areas  within  this 
designated zone have little likelihood of significant mineral resources (Riverside County General 
Plan 2015). The project site also occurs in an existing residential district and is not designated for 

Page 516

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

83 

mineral resource land uses. The proposed zone change, therefore, will not result in the loss of 
availability of a known mineral resource that would be of value to the region and the residents 
of the state. 

 
Due to the mineral resource designation by the State Mining and Geology Board, and the land 
use designation selected by the City, the proposed zone change is not expected to result in the 
loss  of  availability  of  a  locally  important  mineral  resource  recovery  site  defined  on  a  local 
general  plan,  specific  plans  or  other  land  use  plans.  No  project‐related  impacts  to  mineral 
resources are anticipated. 

 
Mitigation Measures: None required 
 
 

Page 517

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

84 

XIII. NOISE  
 
 
Would the project result in: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Generation  of  a  substantial  temporary  or  permanent 
increase  in  ambient noise  levels  in  the  vicinity of  the 
project  in excess of  standards established  in  the  local 
general  plan  or  noise  ordinance,  or  applicable 
standards of other agencies?  

       

b)  Generation  of  excessive  groundborne  vibration  or 
groundborne noise levels?  

       

c)  For  a  project  located  within  the  vicinity  of  a  private 
airstrip  or  an  airport  land  use  plan  or,  where  such  a 
plan  has  not  been  adopted,  within  two  miles  of  a 
public airport or public use airport, would the project 
expose people residing or working  in the project area 
to excessive noise levels?  

       

(Sources: Coachella 2035 General Plan, 2015; Coachella Noise Technical Appendix, 2015) 
 

Setting 
 
Noise 
 
Noise is simply defined as “unwanted sound.” Sound becomes unwanted when it interferes with normal 
activities,  causing  physical  harm  or  causing  adverse  effects  on  health.  Noise  is  measured  on  a 
logarithmic scale of pressure level known as a decibel (dB). An A‐weighted decibel (dBA) is an expression 
of the relative loudness of sounds in air as perceived by the human ear. In the A‐weighted system, the 
decibel values of sounds at low frequencies are reduced compared with unweighted decibels, in which 
no  correction  is  made  for  audio  frequency.  Excessive  noise  or  prolonged  exposure  to  noise  can 
contribute  to  temporary  and  permanent  impairments,  such  as  hearing  loss,  fatigue,  stress,  sleep 
deprivation,  anxiety,  and annoyance. Although noise has been accepted as a necessary by‐product of 
urban  development,  it  can  become  an  environmental  hazard.  A  variety  of  components  of  the  urban 
environment  generate  noise;  these  include  construction  equipment  and  activities, motor  vehicles,  air 
traffic, mechanical equipment, household appliances, and other sources. Figure 4.10‐1 in the Coachella 
General Plan Update (CGPU) Environmental  Impact Report (EIR) outlines common indoor and outdoor 
noise levels. The figure is provided below.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 518

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

85 

Figure XIII‐1 Examples of Typical Sound Levels 

 
Source: City of Coachella, Noise Technical Appendix, Figure 1, 2015.  

 
Noise transmission is affected by a variety of factors, such as temperature, wind speed and direction, as 
well as the type of ground surface. Soft ground surfaces tend to reduce sound levels better than hard 
surfaces.  This  reduction  of  sound  intensity  caused  by  surfaces, walls,  vegetation,  or  other material  is 
called  attenuation.  A  drop  off  rate  of  4.5  dBA  per  doubling  distance  is  typical  across  soft  ground.  In 
comparison, hard ground, such as concrete, stone, and hard packed earth reduce sound by 3.0 dBA per 
doubling distance. Effective noise barriers, such as walls or berms, can help reduce noise levels by 10 to 
15 decibels. These types of barriers can provide relief from traffic noise. Vegetation, on the other hand, 
is less effective for reducing noise levels. For a noise barrier to work, walls need to be high enough and 
long enough to block the view of a road. 
 
The State of California requires each city and county to adopt Noise Elements as a part of their General 
Plan. In addition to the 12 Land Use Categories included in the Noise Element, there are 4 Community 

Page 519

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

86 

Noise Equivalent Level’s  (CNEL),  in order to  interpret the compatibility of  the 12 Land Use Categories. 
Zone  A  (Green)  –  Clearly  Compatible,  Zone  B  (Yellow)  –  Normally  Compatible,  Zone  C  (Orange)  – 
Normally  Incompatible,  Zone  D  (Red)  Clearly  Incompatible.  The  four  zones  of  compatibility  are 
dependent on the Land Use Categories (Figure 10‐1 Coachella General Plan Update). Figure 10‐1 from 
the CGPU is provided below.  
 

Figure 10‐1 Coachella Land Use/Noise Compatibility Matrix 

 
 
Noise levels are generally low in agricultural and rural areas, and higher in more urbanized areas. Noise 
in eastern Coachella Valley is generally related to linear sources, or “noise corridors,” such as roadways 
and railroads, or to aircraft. Within the General Plan area, principal noise corridors are major roadways 
such as Highway 111 and Highway 86/86S; Southern Pacific Railroad; Harrison Street and Polk Street; 

Page 520

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

87 

and the Jacqueline Cochran Regional Airport. Other sources of vehicular noise include the local streets in 
the General Plan area. Transportation noise is concentrated along these roadways and can vary with the 
volume of traffic, the vehicular speed, the vehicular mix, and the roadway cross‐section. 
 
The project site is located north of 52nd Avenue and west and east of Education Way. According to the 
Noise Technical Appendix, 52nd Avenue west of Education Way is a roadway with relatively high traffic 
volumes.  As  part  of  the  development  of  the  Noise  Element  of  the  General  Plan,  noise  level 
measurements were collected at 11 different locations throughout the City. The measurement locations 
were selected on the basis of proximity to major noise sources, noise sensitivity of nearby land uses, and 
obtaining  a  representative  sample  of  different  noise  environments  throughout  the  community.  A 
measurement  of  52nd  Avenue  was  taken  west  of  Education  Way,  approximately  50  feet  from  the 
centerline of 52nd Avenue and 670 feet south of Valle Del Sol Elementary School, at 1:19 p.m. The noise 
level measurement  at  this  location was 65.8 dBA. Contours of 70 dBA are  rated normally  compatible 
with residential land use categories. 
 
Interior and exterior noise standards for the City of Coachella are outlined in Table 4.10‐3 in the Noise 
Element of  the CGPU EIR and displayed below.  In Coachella,  interior  and exterior noise  standards  for 
residential communities are 45 dB (interior) and 65 dB (exterior).  
 

Table XIII‐1 Coachella Interior and Exterior Noise Standards 

 

Page 521

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

88 

 
 
Vibration 
 
Vibration  is  sound radiated through  the ground. The rumbling sound caused by  the vibration of  room 
surfaces  is  called  groundborne  noise.  Groundborne  vibration  is  almost  exclusively  a  concern  inside 
buildings  and  is  rarely  perceived  as  a  problem  outdoors.  Groundborne  vibration  related  to  human 
annoyance is generally related to root mean square (RMS) velocity levels expressed in vibration decibels 
(VdB).  However,  construction‐related  groundborne  vibration  in  relation  to  its  potential  for  building 
damage can also be measured in inches per second (in/sec) peak particle velocity (PPV), as determined 
by the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) (2006).  
 
The background vibration velocity  level  in  residential and educational areas  is usually around 50 VdB. 
The  vibration  velocity  level  threshold  of  perception  for  humans  is  approximately  65  VdB.  A  vibration 
velocity  level  of  75  VdB  is  the  approximate  dividing  line  between  barely  perceptible  and  distinctly 
perceptible  levels  for  many  people.  Most  perceptible  indoor  vibration  is  caused  by  sources  within 
buildings, such as operation of mechanical equipment, movement of people, or the slamming of doors. 
Typical  outdoor  sources  of  perceptible  groundborne  vibration  are  construction  equipment,  steel‐
wheeled trains, and traffic on rough roads. If a roadway is smooth, the groundborne vibration of traffic 
is rarely perceptible. The range of interest is from approximately 50 VdB, which is the typical background 
vibration velocity  level,  to 100 VdB, which  is  the general  threshold where minor damage can occur  in 
fragile buildings.  
 
The  project  site  is  located  on  approximately  56.9  acres  north  of  52nd  Avenue  and  east  and  west  of 
Education Way. Surrounding land uses includes residential communities to the east and west, Valle Del 
Sol  Elementary  School  to  the  west,  and  industrial  and  agricultural  uses  to  the  south.  The  Coachella 
Valley  Stormwater Channel  delineates  the property’s  northern boundary,  and 52nd Avenue delineates 
the  property’s  southern  boundary.  The  project  proposes  a  Change  of  Zone  from  the  existing 

Page 522

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

89 

designations of Single Family Residential (R‐S) and Multiple Family Residential (R‐M) to R‐M General (20‐
25 du/ac), R‐M Urban (20‐38 du/ac) and Neighborhood Commercial (C‐N). The land use designations for 
the  project  property  is  Urban  Neighborhood  and  Neighborhood  Center.  The  existing  land  use 
designations are compatible with the proposed Change of Zone.  
 
The project does not currently propose development on the project property and a site plan does not 
currently exist. However, analysis of noise generated by the proposed zone changes is provided in this 
Noise discussion. All future activities within the project property will be required to adhere to the City’s 
Noise Ordinance. Project‐related impacts to noise and vibration will be less than significant. 
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a)  No  Impact.  As  stated  above  in  the  Setting,  the  project  proposes  a  Change  of  Zone  from  the 

existing  zoning designations of R‐S and R‐M  to R‐M General  (20‐25 du/ac), R‐M Urban  (20‐38 
du/ac), and C‐N. The project property is currently vacant, however, previous onsite operations 
included agricultural uses. Land uses surrounding the project  includes residential communities 
to the east and west, Valle Del Sol Elementary School to the west, and industrial and agricultural 
uses  to  the  south.  The  northern  and  southern  boundaries  are  met  by  the  Coachella  Valley 
Stormwater Channel and 52nd Avenue, respectively. 

 
  According  to  the  CGPU,  noise  sources  in  the  City  can  be  divided  into  two  basic  categories, 

transportation  sources  (primarily  traffic)  and  non‐transportation  sources;  however, 
transportation sources are by  far  the  largest contributor  to noise  in Coachella. Project‐related 
construction and operational noise impacts are discussed in greater detail below.  
 
Construction 
 
Construction of future development would include development of residential and commercial 
uses on approximately 56.9 acres of  vacant  land previously used  for  agriculture. Construction 
activities  include  site  preparation  (i.e.,  clearing,  watering  the  site),  grading,  building 
construction, and paving the site; all activities that impact the noise environment.  
 
Sensitive  receptors  are  located  near  to  the  potential  project  construction  site  of  future 
development.  In order  to mitigate  the potential noise  impacts generated by  construction,  the 
City of Coachella established hours of construction permitted for projects adjacent to sensitive 
receptors. The restriction on hours of construction would keep any such construction activities 
at  the nearest  sensitive  receptor  from significantly  interfering with people’s  sleep or morning 
and  evening  activities.  Section  7.04.070  of  the  Coachella  Municipal  Code  (CMC)  specifically 
exempts  noise  sources  associated  with  construction,  erection,  demolition,  alteration,  repair, 
addition to or improvement of any building, structure, road or improvement to realty, provided 
that such activities take place during daytime hours, as follows: 

 
  October 1st through April 30th 
    Monday – Friday: 6:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. 
    Saturday/Sunday/Holidays: 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 
 
  May 1st through September 30th 
    Monday – Friday: 5:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. 

Page 523

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

90 

    Saturday/Sunday/Holidays: 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 
 

During construction, future development shall follow common industry standards that will help 
limit  noise  level  increases.  For  example,  construction  equipment,  fixed  or  mobile,  should  be 
equipped and properly operating and maintained mufflers and the engines should be equipped 
with shrouds. Approved haul routes shall be used to minimize exposure of sensitive receptors to 
potential  adverse  levels  from  hauling  operations.  Construction  equipment  shall  be  in  proper 
working  order  and  maintained  to  reduce  backfires.  To  maintain  normal  noise  levels  during 
construction and vehicle movement on/off the project site, the staging area(s) will be required 
to maintain a safe minimal distance from the nearby residences to avoid high noise levels.  
 
Additionally,  construction  traffic  and  equipment  are  also  anticipated  to  generate  noise  along 
access routes to the proposed future development. The larger pieces of heavy equipment would 
be  moved  onto  the  development  during  their  associated  construction  activity  (i.e.,  site 
preparation,  grading,  etc.).  Daily  transportation  of  construction  workers  and  the  hauling 
materials both on and off the project site are expected to cause increases in noise levels along 
surrounding  roadways.  However,  vehicle movement  on/off  the  project  site  shall  occur within 
the City designated construction times.  

 
  Operation 
 

The Change of Zone project proposes Urban Neighborhood and Neighborhood Center land use 
designations.  Primary  project‐related  operational  noise  sources  will  include  vehicular  traffic 
accessing  the  site,  grounds  maintenance  equipment,  and  heating  ventilation  and  air 
conditioning  (HVAC) units.  Stationary and  traffic noise generated by  the proposed project  are 
discussed subsequently.  
 
Stationary Noise  
 
Stationary noise generated by the proposed project’s R‐M and C‐N zones will  include activities 
normally  associated  with  residential  communities  and  commercial  developments.  These 
activities  include  the  operation  of HVAC units,  people  talking,  parking  area  noise,  car  alarms, 
trash  pick‐ups,  and  landscaping  and  property  maintenance  equipment  (i.e.  lawn  mowers). 
People talking at a normal level typically has a noise level of 60 to 65 dBA, while louder activities 
such as operating HVAC equipment and car alarms typically lie within the moderately loud range 
of 65 to 80 dBA, and garbage trucks can be very loud at 100 dBA. However, these activities are 
typically  temporary  and  intermittent;  therefore,  stationary  noise  generated  by  the  proposed 
project is not anticipated to increase the existing ambient noise environment substantially. 
 
Table 4.10‐3 in the CGPU EIR’s Noise Element outlines the interior and exterior noise standards 
for the various land uses within the City (this table  is also included in the Setting discussion of 
this Noise  section).  Per  Table  4.10‐3,  residential  land uses  are  permitted  to  have  a maximum 
exterior noise standard of 65 dB (energy average CNEL), and  interior noise standard of 45 dB. 
The 45 dB noise level for residential interiors is the requirement with closed windows (excluding 
bathrooms,  toilets,  closets,  and  corridors).  Interior  noise  can  be mitigated  by  using  standard 
building materials during construction of the residential structures.  
 

Page 524

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

91 

The  outdoor  environment  is  limited  to  private  yard  of  single  family  residence, multi‐purpose 
private  patio  or  balcony  which  is  served  by  means  of  exit  from  inside;  mobile  home  park, 
hospital patio, park’s picnic area, school’s playground, and hotel and motel recreation area. The 
Coachella Land Use/Noise Compatibility Matrix (CGPU, Figure 10‐1) defines noise levels up to 70 
CNEL within residential developments (single‐family, duplex, and multiple family) to be normally 
compatible. Noise levels exceeding 70 dBA CNEL are categorized as normally  incompatible and 
clearly  incompatible  in  residential  land uses. Normally  compatible noise  levels  for  commercial 
uses (i.e., commercial retail, bank, restaurant, movie theater) is up to 80 dBA CNEL (Figure 10‐1). 
As  previously  stated,  the  outdoor  noise  environment  in  residential  and  commercial  areas  can 
range  from  60  dBA  (people  talking)  to  100  dBA  (trash  trucks).  However,  these  activities  are 
intermittent, temporary, and typical of residential and commercial areas.  
 
Per  the Noise Element  in  the CGPU,  the goal  is  to  create a  community where excessive noise 
from stationary sources is minimized through policies such as the City noise ordinance and noise 
control. Chapter 7.04.030 of the Coachella Municipal Code states that regardless of whether an 
objective measurement by sound level meter is involved, it shall be unlawful for any person to 
make, continue, or cause to be made or continued, within the city limits any disturbing excessive 
or offensive noise or vibration which causes discomfort or annoyance to any reasonable person 
of normal sensitivity residing in the area or that is plainly audible at a distance greater than fifty 
(50) feet from the sources point for any purpose. The following ten‐minute average sound level 
limits, unless otherwise specifically indicated, shall apply as indicated in the following table as it 
relates to a fixed noise source. 
 

Zone  Time 
Applicable Ten‐Minute Average 

Decibel Limit (A‐weighted) 

Residential – All Zones 
6:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m.  55 

10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m.  45 

Commercial – All Zones 
6:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m.  65 

10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m.  55 

 
Maintenance  of  the  project  site  is  anticipated  to  include  activities,  such  as  landscaping  and 
gardening, that create a stationary source of noise. Chapter 7.04.075 of the Coachella Municipal 
Code states that noise associated with property maintenance activity and all portable blowers, 
lawnmowers, edgers, or similar devices shall be prohibited except during the following hours: 
 

Date  Permitted Hours of Property Maintenance 

October 1st through April 30th  Monday – Sunday: 9:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. 

May 1st through September 30th 
Monday – Friday: 8:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. 

Saturday and Sunday: 9:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. 

*Property maintenance activities shall not occur on holidays. 

 
Notwithstanding  the hours of permitted operations,  such equipment  that  constitutes a public 
nuisance  may  be  abated  as  otherwise  provided  in  the  Noise  Control  Chapter  of  the  City’s 
Municipal Code.  

 

Page 525

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

92 

The  project  proposes  residential  uses  on  approximately  52.9  acres  of  the  site  and  4  acres  of 
commercial uses on the southwest portion of the site. The project is currently located within the 
City’s Single Family Residential (R‐S) and Multiple Family Residential (R‐M) zoning designations. 
However, the project proposes a Change of Zone from R‐S and R‐M to R‐M General, R‐M Urban 
and  Neighborhood  Commercial  (C‐N).  The  proposed  zones  are  consistent  with  the  land  uses 
designations  for  the  project,  which  is  Urban  Neighborhood  and  Neighborhood  Center.  The 
project  proposes  increased  development  intensities  for  the  residential  portion  of  the  site; 
however,  the  noise  levels  are  not  anticipated  exceed  the  City’s  noise  compatibility  level  for 
residential properties. Future development will include building materials and noise attenuating 
devices,  such  as  block  walls  and  landscaping,  in  order  to  decrease  noise  generated  by  the 
project. Additionally, the project will comply with the City’s Noise Ordinance which designates 
times permitted for operation of the project (i.e., property maintenance). Future development 
will  not  introduce  a  land  use  that  will  exceed  the  allowable  noise  levels  in  residential  and 
commercial  areas.  Additionally,  the  project’s  proposed  zones  comply  with  existing  land  use 
designations for the project, and the surrounding area. Therefore, the project will not generate 
a  substantial  temporary  or  permanent  increase  in  ambient  noise  levels  in  the  vicinity  of  the 
project.  
 
Traffic Noise 
 
The  project  proposes  Multiple‐Family  Residential  and  Neighborhood  Commercial  zones  on 
approximately  56.9  acres.  The  vehicle  mix  will  be  comparable  with  existing  vehicles  on 
surrounding  roads  and  within  the  surrounding  residential  communities.  Neighborhood 
Commercial  zones  are  intended  to  provide  for  a  concentration  of  neighborhood‐serving 
commercial  businesses  and  civic  amenities  (often  mixed  with  multi‐family  housing)  within 
convenient  walking  or  biking  distances  of  nearby  neighborhoods.  The  proposed  commercial 
zone would be utilized by the proposed multiple‐family residential dwellings associated with the 
project, as well as the existing residential communities in proximity to the project.  

 
Onsite Traffic 
 
Vehicular use related to residential properties typically include commuter vehicles. The project 
proposes  R‐M General,  R‐M Urban,  and  C‐N  land  uses  on  the  56.9‐acre  property.  Residential 
communities typically do not generate high levels of traffic noise in a neighborhood due to the 
decreased  traffic  speeds,  traffic  calming designs,  and pedestrian pathways  generally  designed 
for  residential  communities.  These  features  keep  traffic  noise  levels  low  and  maintains  the 
ambient noise environment  typical  for  residential  communities.  The  residential portion of  the 
project will not generate a substantial  increase in ambient noise levels. The residential portion 
of  the  project  will  increase  the  existing  ambient  noise  level  due  to  the  proposed  land  use, 
however,  the  implementation  of  traffic  calming  designs,  pedestrian  features,  and  low  vehicle 
speeds will ensure that the increase of noise level is not substantial.    
 
Traffic generated by the commercial zone at the site (southwest portion of the project property) 
would  likely  increase  the  noise  environment  in  the  area  nominally.  Traffic  generated  by  the 
commercial  portion  of  the  project would  occur  during  the  permitted  hours  of  operation  and 
would cease during the nighttime hours. As previously stated, Neighborhood Center  land uses 
are intended to provide for a concentration of neighborhood‐serving commercial businesses and 
civic amenities. These  land uses are  located near neighborhoods, where biking and walking to 

Page 526

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

93 

the  centers  are  permitted  and  encouraged  through  design.  According  to  Figure  4.10‐1  in  the 
CGPU EIR  (also provided  in  the Settings discussion of  this Noise section), outdoor noise  levels 
generated  by  commercial  areas  typically  ranges  from  65  to  70  dBA.  Per  the  Coachella  Land 
Use/Noise  Compatibility  Matrix,  this  is  a  normally  compatible  noise  level  in  residential  uses 
(excluding mobile home communities). Impacts relative to the Change of Zone are not expected.  
 
Offsite Traffic 
 
Operation of future development would result in an increase of vehicular traffic on the existing 
surrounding roadways, including the south‐adjacent roadway, 52nd Avenue due to the increased 
land  use  densities.  As  stated  in  the  Setting  discussion  of  this  Noise  section,  noise  level 
measurements were collected at 11 different locations throughout the City for the development 
of  the Noise Element  in  the CGPU. The measurement  locations were  selected on  the basis of 
proximity  to  major  noise  sources,  noise  sensitivity  of  nearby  land  uses,  and  obtaining  a 
representative sample of different noise environments throughout the community. The segment 
of 52nd Avenue, west of Education Way, was measured since it is a roadway with relatively high 
traffic  volumes  located near  a  sensitive  receptor  (Valle Del  Sol  Elementary  School).  The noise 
measurement was taken at 52nd Avenue west of Education Way, approximately 50 feet from the 
centerline of 52nd Avenue and 670 feet south of Valle Del Sol Elementary School, at 1:19 p.m. 
The noise level measured at this location was 65.8 dBA.  
 
The CGPU EIR analyzes noise sections  throughout  the City  to establish existing conditions and 
the  noise  measurement  at  52nd  Avenue,  between  Grapefruit  Boulevard  and  Enterprise  Way 
were used  for  this analysis. According  to Table 4  in Coachella’s Noise Technical Appendix,  the 
segment  of  52nd  Avenue  between  Grapefruit  Boulevard  and  Enterprise  Way  will  generate  a 
future noise level of 76.5 Leq (dBA), assuming City buildout. The results of the noise modeling of 
the roadways concluded that peak noise levels along I‐10, SR‐86S, Dillon Road, as well as certain 
segments of Grapefruit Boulevard and 52nd Avenue are expected to exceed 75 dBA CNEL. Peak 
noise level along all modeled segments are expected to exceed 70 dBA CNEL, with the 65 CNEL 
contour expected to extend over 100 feet from the centerline of all modeled roadways.  
 
Given  these  projected  future  noise  levels,  it  was  concluded  that  implementation  of  the 
proposed CGPU could expose either existing or future noise‐sensitive receptors in these areas to 
noise  levels above  the City’s 65 dBA CNEL exterior noise standard  for  residential uses. A  local 
government  has  little  direct  control  of  transportation  noise  at  the  source.  State  and  federal 
agencies  have  the  responsibility  to  control  vehicle  noise  emission  levels.  The  most  effective 
methods local governments have to mitigate transportation noise is through land use planning 
that reduces vehicle trips and physical interventions that reduce the impact of the noise on the 
community (e.g., building and site design that shields sensitive receivers from noise sources).  
 
Although  noise  barriers  and  setbacks  have  historically  been  common  methods  of  protecting 
noise  sensitive  land  uses  from  excessive  transportation‐related  noise  in  many  communities, 
recent attempts to emphasize pedestrian‐friendly design and mixed‐use development have led 
to consideration of alternative strategies for dealing with transportation‐related noise sources. 
These  alternative  strategies  include  land use planning  to  reduce  and  slow  (or  “calm”)  vehicle 
trips, and  incorporation of noise attenuating features  into the architectural design of projects. 
Low vehicle speeds will be implemented in the residential community.  

 

Page 527

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

94 

The  project  site  is  currently  designated  for  residential  communities  and  commercial 
developments in the General Plan, which allows for the exterior noise levels of between 65 and 
70 dBA CNEL. The proposed project is consistent with surrounding land uses, and therefore, will 
not  result  in  unacceptably  high  noise  levels  requiring  mitigation.  The  City  requires  that  all 
projects  conform  to  all  applicable  General  Plan  goals  and  policies  and  will  include  noise 
attenuation  strategies  in  its  review  of  the  project‐specific  design.  No  impacts  relative  to  the 
Change of Zone are anticipated.  

   
b)  No Impact. Ground‐borne vibration and/or ground‐borne noise generated during construction 

of future development could be felt by adjacent land uses. The Federal Transit Administration’s 
(FTA)  May  2006  Transit  Noise  and  Vibration  Impact  Assessment,  states  that  temporary 
construction create “frequent” vibration events and a threshold of 72 VdB for frequent events 
affecting residences and buildings where people normally sleep. 

   
  Sensitive  receptors  are  located  near  to  the  potential  project.  The  restriction  on  hours  of 

construction  would  keep  any  such  construction  activities  exceeding  72  VdB  at  the  nearest 
sensitive  receptor  from  significantly  interfering  with  people’s  sleep.  Section  7.04.070  of  the 
Coachella  Municipal  Code  (CMC)  specifically  exempts  noise  sources  associated  with 
construction,  erection,  demolition,  alteration,  repair,  addition  to  or  improvement  of  any 
building,  structure,  road  or  improvement  to  realty,  provided  that  such  activities  take  place 
during daytime hours, as follows: 

 

Date  Permitted Hours of Construction 

October 1st through April 30th 
Monday – Friday: 6:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. 

Saturday/Sunday/Holidays: 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 

May 1st through September 30th 
Monday – Friday: 5:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. 

Saturday/Sunday/Holidays: 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 

 
The primary  source of  ground‐borne  vibration will  be operation  of  heavy  equipment,  such  as 
grading  vehicles;  however,  the  impacts  will  be  temporary  and  will  end  once  construction  is 
complete. Construction of future development will involve the temporary operation of vehicles 
and  equipment  which  could  result  in  localized,  short‐term  vibration  increases  during  the 
permitted hours of construction established by the City.  

 
Additionally,  all  construction  equipment  staging  will  be  located  within  the  temporary 
construction  limits,  while  vehicular  and  equipment  access  to  the  construction  site  would  be 
restricted to only the approved entry points that minimize disturbance to local traffic.  

   
  The transport of workers, equipment, and building materials to and from the construction site 

will  incrementally  increase noise  levels  along  the  roadways  leading  to  and  from  the  site.  The 
increase, although temporary  in nature, could be audible to noise receptors  located along the 
roadways  utilized  for  this  purpose.  Even  though  there  could  be  a  relatively  high  single  event 
noise  exposure potential with  passing  trucks  causing  annoyance,  the  effect  on  ambient  noise 
levels would be substantially less than 3 dBA when truck noise (87 dBA at 50 feet) is added to 
existing noise levels and averaged over a 24‐hour period. 

   

Page 528

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

95 

Neither the County nor the affected cities have vibration standards for temporary construction, 
but  the  County’s  General  Plan  Noise  Element  does  contain  the  human  reaction  to  typical 
vibration  levels.  Vibration  levels  with  peak  particle  velocity  of  0.787  inches  per  second  are 
considered  readily perceptible and above 0.1968  in/sec are  considered annoying  to people  in 
buildings.  Riverside  County  General  Plan  Policy  15.3  identifies  a  motion  velocity  perception 
threshold for vibration due to passing trains of 0.01 inches per second (in/sec) over the range of 
one to 100 Hz.  
 
No impact is anticipated relative to the Change of Zone. 

   
c)  No  Impact.  The  project  is  located  approximately  2.20  miles  from  the  Jacqueline  Cochran 

Regional  Airport  and  is  located  outside  of  the  70,  65  and  60  CNEL  noise  contours  associated 
with this facility. No impacts are expected relative to the Change of Zone. 
 

Mitigation Measures: None required 
 
   

Page 529

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

96 

XIV. POPULATION AND HOUSING 
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Induce substantial unplanned population growth in an 
area,  either  directly  (for  example,  by  proposing  new 
homes  and  businesses)  or  indirectly  (for  example, 
through extension of roads or other infrastructure)?  

       

b)  Displace  substantial  numbers  of  existing  people  or 
housing,  necessitating  the  construction  of 
replacement housing elsewhere?  

       

(Source:  Coachella  2035  General  Plan,  2015;  E‐5  Population  and  Housing  Estimates  prepared  by  the  California 
Department of Finance; E‐8 Historical Population and Housing Estimates prepared by the California Department of 
Finance; SCAG: Profile of the City of Coachella [2019]) 
 

Setting 
 
According to the California Department of Finance (DOF), the City of Coachella had a total population of 
40,704 people in 2010. Based on the 2020 DOF population and housing estimates, the City of Coachella’s 
current  total population  is approximately 47,186, which  is an approximately 16 percent  increase  from 
the City’s population in 2010. The City of Coachella’s population accounts for approximately 1.9 percent 
of the County of Riverside’s total population of 2,442,304 people (2020). In 2018 the median age in the 
City of Coachella was 30.8, while the median age  in Riverside was 35 (SCAG Local Profiles, Coachella). 
Additionally, the number of jobs in Coachella in 2017 was 9,785; an approximately 9.2 percent increase 
in jobs since 2016.  
 
Table XIV‐1  shows  the  increase  in number of  households  (total  and occupied housing units)  between 
2000 and 2020, according to the DOF Population and Housing Estimates. In 2000, Coachella had 5,024 
total  households  which  increased  to  10,631  total  households  by  2020,  representing  a  111.6  percent 
increase in 20 years.  
 

Table XIV‐1 Total Households, 2000 to 2020 

Jurisdiction  Household  2000  2020  # Increase  % Increase 

County of Riverside  
Total  584,674  856,124  271,450  46.4 

Occupied  506,218  746,160  239,942  47.4 

City of Coachella  
Total  5,024  10,631  5,607  111.6 

Occupied  4,807  10,126  5,319  110.6 
Source: California Department of Finance E‐8 Historical Population and Housing Estimates for Cities, Counties, and the State, 
1990‐2000; E‐5, Population and Housing Estimates for Cities, Counties, and the State, 2011‐2020.  

 
There are three housing types in the City of Coachella, as presented in Table XIV‐2, Total Dwelling Units 
by  Type  of  Structure,  2000  to  2020.  The  housing  units  include  single  family  units,  consisting  of  both 
detached  and  attached  units;  multifamily  units,  consisting  of  apartments,  duplexes,  triplexes, 
fourplexes, plus; and mobile homes.  
 
 
 

Page 530

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

97 

Table XIV‐2 Total Dwelling Units by Type of Structure, 2010 to 2020 

Building Type 
2000  2020  Change 2000‐2020 

Units  % of Total  Units   % of Total  Units  % Change 

Single Family  3,419  68.0  7,838  73.7  4,419  +129.2 

Multifamily  1,150  22.9  2,164  20.3  1,014  +88.2 

Mobile Home  455  9.1  629  6.0  174  +38.2 

Total Dwelling Units  5,024  100  10,631  100  5,607  +111.6 
Source: California Department of Finance E‐8 Historical Population and Housing Estimates for Cities, Counties, and the State, 
1990‐2000; E‐5, Population and Housing Estimates for Cities, Counties, and the State, 2011‐2020.  

 
In  2020,  the  City  of  Coachella  had  a  total  of  10,631  total  housing  units,  in  which  10,126  units 
(approximately 95 percent of units), were occupied. Conversely, 505 units, or 5 percent, were registered 
as vacant in 2020 by the DOF. This vacancy rate may be due to the seasonal, recreational, or occasional 
use of homes that is popular in the Coachella Valley. The average household size in the City of Coachella 
is 4.65 persons.  
 
The project proposes a Change of Zone on approximately 56.9 acres of  land north of 52nd Avenue and 
west and east of Education Way. The site previously operated as agricultural land; however, agricultural 
operations has stopped. The site is currently located within the City’s Single Family Residential (R‐S) and 
Multiple  Family  Residential  (R‐M)  zoning  designations.  Currently,  the  northern  portion  of  the  site  is 
designated as R‐S,  and  the  southern portion  is  designated as  R‐M.  The project proposes  a Change of 
Zone from the R‐S and R‐M designations to R‐M General, R‐M Urban, and Neighborhood Commercial (C‐
N). R‐M General zones permit 20 to 25 dwelling units per acre (du/ac), and R‐M Urban zones permit 20 
to 38 du/ac.   
 
The Change of  Zone proposed  for  the project  is  consistent with  the Coachella General Plan  Land Use 
designations  within  the  project  area.  Currently,  the  project  is  located  within  the  City’s  Urban 
Neighborhood and Neighborhood Center. Urban Neighborhood land use designations permit residential 
densities  between  20  to  38  du/ac.  Therefore,  the  project would  permit  an  average  of  approximately 
1,314 dwelling units on the 56.9‐acre property. This is illustrated in Table XIV‐3.  
 

Table XIV‐3 Potential Project Units 

Proposed Zone  Acreage  Allowed DU  Mid Density  Total DU/AC 

R‐M General  29.3  20‐25 du/ac  22.5 du/ac  659 

R‐M Urban   22.6  20‐38 du/ac  29 du/ac  655 

Total  1,314 

*For purposes in the analysis of this Initial Study, Mid density dwelling units are utilized. 

 

  R‐M General  R‐M Urban  Total Potential DU 

Min* DU  586  452  1,038 

Mid DU  659  655  1,314 

Max DU  733  859  1,592 
*Min  =  Minimum  number  du  (20  in  both  zones),  Mid  =  Medium/middle  du 
(22.5 in R‐M General and 29 in R‐M Urban), and Max = Maximum du (25 in R‐M 
General and 38 in R‐M Urban) 
 

Page 531

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

98 

The proposed project could generate a tenant population of 6,110 (mid du), when referencing the 4.65 
persons per household in the City. The potential population generated from the project (6,110 persons) 
represents  approximately  13  percent  increase  of  the  City’s  current  population.  It  is  anticipated  that 
some of the project tenants served by the future development will be existing residents from within the 
City of Coachella and/or from neighboring incorporated and unincorporated areas. The net population 
increase  resulting  from  the  project  is  expected  to  be  less  than  13  percent.  Therefore,  the  proposed 
development  and  associated  tenant  population  are  not  expected  to  conflict  with  the  City’s  land  use 
composition, zoning, housing diversity, or other regulatory policies. The project is expected to meet the 
General  Plan  objective  for  Urban  Neighborhood  and  Neighborhood  Center  land  use  designations  by 
contributing to the housing diversity within a walkable environment. 
 
The project does not currently propose development on the 56.9‐acre property and a site plan does not 
currently exist. However, analysis of future development on population and housing are provided in this 
discussion. 
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a) No Impact. As stated in the Setting, the project site is located in the City’s General Plan Urban 

Neighborhood and Neighborhood Center land use designations. Per the Coachella General Plan 
Update  (CGPU),  Urban  Neighborhood  designations  are  intended  to  create  a  high‐intensity, 
walkable, transit‐ready neighborhood with a variety of types of housing – predominantly multi‐
family  of  various  types.  Permitted  land  uses  within  Urban  Neighborhoods  primarily  includes 
multi‐family  residential; however,  retail, office,  civic,  and  recreational uses may be allowed  in 
limited  quantities.  Small  quantities  of  single‐family  homes  may  be  allowed  in  this  land  use 
designation. Development intensities in this land use range from 20 to 38 du/ac, with 30 du/ac 
average for new projects. Neighborhood Center land use designations are intended to create a 
concentration  of  commercial  businesses  and  civic  amenities  (often  mixed  with  multifamily 
housing) within convenient walking or biking distance of nearby neighborhoods.  
 
The project’s currently zoning designation includes R‐S and R‐M; therefore, the project proposes 
a  Change of  Zone  to  change  the  zoning designations  from R‐S  and R‐M  to R‐M General,  R‐M 
Urban,  and  C‐N.  The  proposed  designations  would  increase  development  intensity  since  the 
project would remove the Single Family Residential zone. However, the densities allowed within 
R‐M  General,  R‐M  Urban,  and  C‐N  zones  are  consistent  with  the  development  intensities 
permitted in Urban Neighborhoods and Neighborhood Centers, as distinguished in the Coachella 
General Plan Update.  
 
The CGPU Environmental Impact Report analyzed future growth under Chapter 4.13, Population 
and  Housing.  Figure  4.13‐2  in  the  EIR  forecasts  a  population  of  135,000  by  year  2035.  As  of 
January  2020,  the  City  of  Coachella  had  a  population  of  47,186  (California  Department  of 
Finance). As a result of project build‐out, the future development could add up to approximately 
6,110 new residents to the City, for an approximate City population of 53,296. This is an increase 
of 13 percent and still below the projected 2035 population forecast of 135,000. Although future 
development would contribute to the growth within the City of Coachella, significant growth to 
population, housing and employment is already anticipated in the City’s General Plan and EIR.  
 

Page 532

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

99 

Furthermore,  the  project  site  is  within  an  area  that  is  fully  served  by  existing  infrastructure, 
public services and utilities. As a result, development of the project would not cause potential 
growth inducing effects by extending utilities into an undeveloped area.  
 
No impacts are anticipated relative to the Change of Zone.  
 

b) No  Impact.  The entire property  is  currently disturbed and vacant  land designated by  the City 
General  Plan  as  Urban  Neighborhood  and  Neighborhood  Center.  The  project  area  was 
previously  utilized  as  agricultural  land.  Residential  dwellings were  not  located  on  the  project 
property;  therefore,  the  proposed  project would  not  displace  any  existing  housing  or  require 
replacement housing. No impacts are anticipated. 

 
Mitigation Measures: None required 
 

Page 533

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

100 

XV. PUBLIC SERVICES  
 
 
Would the project result in: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

Substantial  adverse  physical  impacts  associated  with  the 
provision  of  new  or  physically  altered  governmental 
facilities, need  for new or physically  altered governmental 
facilities,  the construction of which could cause  significant 
environmental  impacts,  in  order  to  maintain  acceptable 
service  ratios,  response  times  or  other  performance 
objectives for any of the public services: 

       

a)  Fire protection?          

b)  Police protection?          

c)  Schools?          

d)  Parks?          

e)  Other public facilities?          

 

Setting 
 

Fire Protection: 
The  City  of  Coachella  contracts with  Riverside  County  Fire Department  (RCFD)  for  a  full  range  of  fire 
protection services provided 24‐hours a day, 7‐days a week. The RCFD is staffed with a combination of 
County and State of California Department of Forestry & Fire Protection employees. They operate 96 fire 
stations that serve 1,360,000 residents over 6,970 miles of Riverside County. The City of Coachella has 
one Fire station, Battalion 6, Coachella Fire Station No. 79, located at 1377 6th Street and approximately 
1.2 miles from the site.  Fire Station No. 79 is staffed by 18 full time personnel, 10 volunteer firefighters, 
and 10 explorer cadets. Six firefighters are on duty at times.   The Station is equipped with two Type 1 
fire engines which includes a staff of three persons per engine per day.    
 
It  is the goal of the RCFD fire service to have the first engine company arrive on the scene within five 
minutes  90  percent  of  the  time.  Response  times  to  emergency  calls  within  the  City  average 
approximately four minutes or less 80% of the time. 
 
Police: 
Law enforcement services are provided to the City of Coachella through a contractual agreement with 
Riverside  County  Sheriff’s  Department.  The  Sheriff’s  department  provides  24‐hour  municipal  police 
services  associated  with  a  City  police  department.  The  Sheriff’s  station  is  located  at  86‐625  Airport 
Boulevard, approximately 2.1 miles southeast of  the subject property. Per the City’s General Plan EIR, 
the Coachella Police Department has 36 sworn officers and 2 non‐sworn,  totaling 38 positions.   24 of 
these  positions  are  dedicated  to  the  patrol  division with  the  remaining deputies  dedicated  to  special 
assignments such as the Community Action Team, a School Resources Officer, and Gang and Narcotics 
Enforcement.  The Coachella Police Department divides the City into three beats. The Patrol Division of 
the department covers an area of 30 square miles.     
 

Page 534

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

101 

Schools: 
The project site  falls within  the boundary of  the Coachella Valley Unified School District  (CVUSD). The 
nearest elementary school is Valle Del Sol Elementary School located immediate west of the project site, 
at  51433  Education Way.  Bobby  Duke Middle  School  located  at  85358  Bagdad  Avenue  is  the  closest 
secondary  school,  approximately  1  mile  from  the  project  site.  Coachella  Valley  High  School  is 
approximately 3 miles southwest of the project site. 
 
Parks:   
The Coachella Valley Recreation and Park District (CVRPD) provide park and recreational services to the 
City.  Per the City of Coachella General Plan EIR (2015), there are seven public parks located within the 
City of Coachella, totaling approximately 60.3 acres.  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a) No Impact. The project proposes a Change of Zone (CZ) of approximately 56.9 acres of vacant 

land from Single Family Residential (R‐S) and Multiple Family Residential (R‐M) to R‐M General, 
R‐M Urban, and Neighborhood Commercial  (C‐N) zoning designations. The proposed project  is 
located on an infill site surrounded by existing residential neighborhoods to the east and west, 
an elementary school to the west, and industrial uses to the south. The site is currently within 
an area that  is provided with fire protection and emergency services by Riverside County Fire. 
The proposed CZ would permit the development of 20 to 25 dwelling units per acre (du/ac)  in 
the proposed R‐M General zone, and 20 to 38 du/ac in the proposed R‐M Urban zone. C‐N zones 
allow  commercial  uses,  such  as  convenience  shopping,  in  proximity  to  residential 
neighborhoods.  C‐N  zones  allow  residential  dwelling  units with  the  submittal  of  a  conditional 
use permit.  
 
The proposed zone changes would allow for a development that would result in an increase in 
emergency  and  public  service  calls  for  fire  services;  however,  based  on  the  project  sites 
proximity  to  Fire  Station  79  (approximately  1.2 miles),  the  project would  not  require  new  or 
expanded facilities. Moreover, to ensure adequate emergency fire protection services, the City 
of Coachella maintains a mutual aid agreement with surrounding City and County jurisdictions. 
There are three other existing stations that are within the proximity of the City. These include 
Fire  Station  No.  39,  located  outside  of  the  City  limits  at  the  Jacqueline  Cochran  Airport  in 
Thermal,  Fire  Station No.  70  located at Avenue 54  and Madison  Street  in  La Quinta,  and  Fire 
Station No. 86,  located at Jackson Street and Dr. Carreon Boulevard in  Indio. Fire Station 39 is 
approximately 3.1 miles away  from the project site, Fire Station 70  is approximately 5.3 miles 
away and Fire Station 86 is approximately 3.9 miles away. 
 
Through the Regional Fire Serve System, the City of Coachella received an immediate response 
from the outlying stations, including personnel and equipment for any major event or multiple 
events  that may occur within  the City.  The City  also  participates  in  a  cost  sharing  agreement 
with  the Cities  of  Indio,  La Quinta,  and Riverside County  for  the use of  the  100’  ladder  truck 
located at Fire Station 86 in Indio. 
 
As previously stated, the project proposes a Change of Zone of approximately 56.9 acres. A site 
plan of the project is not currently provided; however, it can be concluded that development of 
the site would result in an increase in service and emergency service calls. Therefore, analysis of 
the  proposed  residential  and  commercial  zones  impact  on  fire  services  is  provided  in  this 

Page 535

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

102 

discussion. Development on the project site would be required to be designed to comply with all 
applicable fire safety requirements, to include, installation of fire hydrants, and sprinkler system 
and construction provisions contained in Title 14, California Building Code, and Riverside County 
Fire Department Standards. Additionally, future development would be required to comply with 
the City’s Development Impact Fees in place at the time of construction. Payment of these feels 
helps offset impacts by providing revenue for necessary improvements to ensure acceptable fire 
facilities, response times, equipment and personnel are maintained. The project will be required 
to annex  into  the City’s  Communities  Facilities District  for  Fire  Services, which  is  a  special  tax 
used to pay for public services. Therefore, no significant impacts to fire protection services are 
expected relative to the Change of Zone.   
 

b) No Impact. The project proposes a CZ from the existing R‐S and R‐M zones, to R‐M General, R‐M 
Urban,  and  C‐N.  A  site  plan  of  the  project  is  not  currently  provided;  however,  it  can  be 
concluded  that development of  the site would  result  in an  increase  in  service and emergency 
service calls, due to  its  increase in density. Therefore, analysis of the proposed residential and 
commercial zones impact on police services is provided in this discussion. 
 
Future  development  of  the  project  will  increase  calls  and  demand  for  police  and  emergency 
services.  However,  this  demand  is  not  expected  to  hinder  the  City’s  ability  to  provide  police 
services  or  create  demands  that would  require  the  construction  of  a  new  police  station.  The 
project is located in a developed in an urban area, surrounded by existing development that is 
currently served by  the Riverside County Sheriff’s Department. The project will be required to 
comply with the City’s Development Impact Fees in place at the time of construction. These fees 
on new development allow the City to continue to finance public facilities which goes towards 
the  funding  of  various  public  services,  including  police.  It  also  assists  in  offsetting  impacts  by 
providing enough revenue for necessary emergency service improvements to ensure acceptable 
police and fire response times, equipment, and personnel are maintained. Future development 
will be required to annex into the City’s Communities Facilities District for Police Services, which 
is a special tax used to pay for public services.  
 
The Change of Zone will contribute no impacts to fire protection services.   
 

c)   No  Impact.  Public  education  services  are  provided  to  the  City  of  Coachella  by  the  Coachella 
Valley Unified School District. The project proposes a Change of Zone from the existing R‐S and 
R‐M zones,  to R‐M General, R‐M Urban, and C‐N, on approximately 56.9 acres. The proposed 
Change of Zone is consistent with the existing land use designations: Urban Neighborhood, and 
Neighborhood  Center.  With  the  proposed  Change  of  Zone,  the  project  site  could  allow  an 
average  of  approximately  1,314  dwelling  units  on  the  site  (see  the  Population  and  Housing 
section for further discussion. This  is assuming that the site develops the mid‐density dwelling 
units onsite. Per the 2020 CA Department of Finance, the average persons per household (PPH) 
is 4.65 persons. At  full buildout,  future development of  the site has  the potential  to generate 
approximately 950 new students based on the District’s Student Generation Rate (Table XVI‐1).  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 536

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

103 

Table XV‐1 CVUSD District Wide Student Generation Rate 

School Type  Dwelling Units  Generation Rate*  Students Generated**

Elementary School  1,314  0.3974  522 

Middle School  1,314  0.1207  158 

High School  1,314  0.2058  270 

Total New Students 950 
*Source: 2020 CVSUSD Fee Justification Study for New Residential and Commercial/Industrial Development, May 5, 2020 

**Student Generated numbers were rounded. 

 
  The addition of 950 new students is not anticipated to cause a substantial impact to the District 

nor would additional school facilities need to be constructed as a result of the proposed project. 
The District currently has school capacity to house approximately 21,004 students as calculated 
by  the  District.  Elementary  school  facilities  are  sufficient  to  house  12,216  students  in 
kindergarten through sixth grade, middle school facilities are sufficient to house, 2,828 students 
in  seventh  through eighth  grade,  high  school  capacity  is  sufficient  for  5,960  students  in ninth 
through twelfth grade.  

 
  Per  the  2020  CVUSD  Fee  Justification  Study,  a  capacity  analysis  was  conducted  for  the 

2019/2020 school year and the District has excess capacity at its elementary and high school to 
accommodate  students  from  new  development.  Middle  schools  were  over  capacity  by  90 
students for the 2019/2020 school year. Moreover, school age children may also attend several 
private schools located in the Coachella Valley. 

 
  Assembly Bill 2926 and Senate Bill 50 (SB 50) allow school districts to collect “development fees” 

for  all  new  construction  for  residential/commercial  and  industrial  use. At  the  time of writing, 
development  fees  are  $4.08/sq.ft.  to  residential  and  $0.66/  sq.ft  for  commercial.  Monies 
collected are used  for  construction and  reconstruction of  school  facilities.  The  legislation was 
enacted to mitigate the impacts to schools by providing funds for the construction of additional 
facilities  based  on  the  additional  demand  created  by  new  development.  Should  future 
construction be proposed, the property would be required to comply with CVUSD development 
fees. No impacts to local schools are expected relative to the Change of Zone. 

 
d) No Impact. The City of Coachella offers a diverse range of park and recreation facilities. The City 

operates eight parks, one tot lot, two community centers, one boxing club and a swimming pool. 
As discussed in the Recreation section (XVI) of this document, the proposed project would not 
create additional demand for public park facilities or result in the need to modify existing or the 
construction of new park facilities. Therefore, no impacts are expected.  
 

e) No Impact.  No increase in demand for government services or other public facilities is expected 
beyond those discussed in this section. No impacts to other public facilities are expected.  

 
Mitigation Measures: None required 
 

Page 537

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

104 

XVI. RECREATION 
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional 
parks  or  other  recreational  facilities  such  that 
substantial  physical  deterioration  of  the  facility  would 
occur or be accelerated?  

       

b)  Does  the  project  include  recreational  facilities  or 
require  the  construction  or  expansion  of  recreational 
facilities,  which might  have  an  adverse  physical  effect 
on the environment?  

       

(Sources: Coachella 2035 General Plan, 2015) 

 
Setting  
 
Parks and open space provide for the preservation, continued growth and enhancement of Coachella’s 
parklands, recreational areas and surrounding open spaces. Open spaces are areas intended to remain 
essentially  open  with  limited  or  no  development.  This  includes  spaces  used  for  passive  recreation, 
resource  protection  and/or  hazard  avoidance.  Parks  include  greenways,  developed  parks  and  other 
areas primarily used  for  recreation.  Typically,  these areas are characterized by a high degree of open 
area and a  limited number of buildings. Parks  frequently  include sports  fields, playground equipment, 
and  picnic  areas,  sitting  areas,  concession  businesses,  open  turf,  natural  areas,  trails,  and  public  golf 
courses. The City provides a variety of recreation facilities and currently has eight parks, one tot lot, two 
community centers, one boxing club and a swimming pool. The parks are funded by the Coachella parks 
and recreation foundation.  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a‐b)  No  Impact.  The  project  proposes  a  Change  of  Zone  from  Single‐Family  Residential  (R‐S)  and 

Multiple Family Residential (R‐M) to R‐M General, R‐M Urban, and Neighborhood Commercial. 
Future development on the project site would be required to comply with the City’s parkland in 
lieu  fee  (Quimby)  and  other  development  impact  fees.  The  future  residents  and  guests 
generated by future development may lead to an incremental increase in physical deterioration 
of  City  public  recreational  facilities.  However,  this  impact  could  be  reduced  if  the  project 
proposes open space and community recreational areas (i.e., parks, playgrounds, etc.). 

 
With the compliance of the City’s fees, no impacts are expected relative to the Change of Zone.  

 
Mitigation Measures: None required 
 
 

Page 538

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

105 

XVII. TRANSPORTATION 
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Conflict  with  a  program  plan,  ordinance  or  policy 
addressing  the  circulation  system,  including  transit, 
roadway, bicycle and pedestrian facilities?  

       

b)  Would the project conflict or be inconsistent with CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15064.3, subdivision (b)?  

       

c)  Substantially  increase  hazards  due  to  a  geometric 
design  feature  (e.g.,  sharp  curves  or  dangerous 
intersections)  or  incompatible  uses  (e.g.,  farm 
equipment)?  

       

d)  Result in inadequate emergency access?          

(Sources: Coachella 2035 General Plan, 2015; Coachella General Plan Update EIR, Traffic Section, 2013) 
 

Setting    
 
The project is situated north of 52nd Avenue, southwest of the Coachella Valley Storm Water Channel, 
and west and east of Education Way. Education Way intersects the southwest portion of the site. The 
project  is  within  the  City  of  Coachella’s  Urban  Neighborhood  and  Neighborhood  Center  land  use 
designation, specifically zoned Single Family Residential (R‐S) and Multiple Family Residential (R‐M). The 
project is proposing a Change of Zone to General R‐M, Urban R‐M, and Neighborhood Commercial (C‐N). 
Development within the site limits is not proposed at the time of writing.  
 
Access to the site is primarily provided by 52nd Avenue. The following analysis evaluated the potential 
circulation  system  deficiencies  that  may  result  from  potential  development  of  the  site  within  the 
proposed  zoning designations.  Institute of  Transportation Engineers  (ITE)  Trip Generation Manual  (9th 
Edition, 2012) rates were used to determine trip generation of the proposed project.  
 
Level of Service 
Level of Service (LOS) is a measure of transportation system performance based upon the ratio of traffic 
volume  relative  to  the  capacity  of  the  roadway  or  intersection.  The  volume‐to‐capacity  ratio  (V/C) 
indicates the overall performance of the roadway segment or intersection and corresponds to a rating of 
A through F identifying its level of capacity utilization and relative level of congestion. LOS A represents 
free‐flow traffic with little or no delay whereas LOS F represents a breakdown of traffic flow and a high 
incidence  of  delay.  According  to  the  City  of  Coachella  Traffic  Impact  Study,  the  City  of  Coachella  has 
established LOS D as the acceptable LOS for  its  intersections. Therefore, any  intersection operating at 
LOS E or F will be considered deficient for the purposes of the analysis. 
 
Vehicle Miles Travelled (VMT)  
Vehicle Miles Travelled is a measure of the amount of travel for all vehicles in a geographic region over a 
given period of time, typically a one‐year period. The analysis of Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) (SB743) 
attributable  to  a  project  in  CEQA  went  into  full  effect  statewide  on  July  1,  2020.  According  to  the 
Governor’s  office  of  Planning  and  Research  (OPR)  proposed  CEQA  Guideline  Implementing  SB  743, 

Page 539

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

106 

projects that decrease vehicle miles traveled in a project area compared to existing conditions should be 
considered  to  have  a  less  than  significant  transportation  impact.  The  California  Air  Pollution  Control 
Officers Association (CAPCOA) publishes a resource for Local Government to assess emission reductions 
from  Greenhouse  Gas  Mitigation  Measures.  The  CAPCOA  report  recognizes  that  land  use  planning 
provides the best opportunity to influence GHG emissions through a reduction in overall VMT. 
 
Goals  for  reducing Greenhouse Gasses  (GHG) have been  the primary motivation  for  the  shift  to VMT 
measures.  Reductions  in  VMT  produce many  other  potential  benefits  such  as  reductions  in  other  air 
pollutant emissions, water pollution, wildlife mortality and traffic congestion, as well as improvements 
in safety and health and savings in public and private costs. 
 
The  City’s  Climate  Action  Plan  (CAP)  includes  the  following  Reduction  Target/Goal:  Establish  a  per 
service  population  2020  emissions  reduction  target  of  15%  below  2010  levels  and  a  2035  emissions 
reduction target of 49% below 2010 levels. The CAP states that the combustion of gasoline and diesel 
fuels  by  the  transportation  sector  contributed  the  largest  proportion  of  emissions  in  Coachella. 
Transportation gasoline use resulted in 41% of the community total of GHG emissions in 2010.  The CAP 
further states that  lowering transportation emissions requires making vehicles and their  fuels cleaner, 
reducing the length of driving trips, managing the demand for travel, and providing alternatives such as 
walking, biking and transit for travel.  
 
According to the National Center for Sustainable Transportation, a number of cities, regions and states 
across the United States have begun to deemphasize vehicle delay metrics such as LOS. In their place, 
policymakers are considering alternative transportation  impact metrics  that more closely approximate 
the true environmental impacts of driving. VMT is one metric that is increasingly being utilized. 
 
Goals  for  reducing Greenhouse Gasses  (GHG) have been  the primary motivation  for  the  shift  to VMT 
measures.  Reductions  in  VMT  produce many  other  potential  benefits  such  as  reductions  in  other  air 
pollutant emissions, water pollution, wildlife mortality and traffic congestion, as well as improvements 
in safety and health and savings in public and private costs. 
 
TUMF 
The Transportation Uniform Mitigation Fee (TUMF) Ordinance became effective July 1, 1989. The TUMF 
program  is a component of  the  twenty‐year Measure Α, sales  tax program managed by  the Coachella 
Valley Association of Governments (CVAG) and approved by voters in November 1988. In 2002, a thirty‐
year extension was approved by Riverside County voters and resulted in an expiration date of 2039.  
 

Under the TUMF, developers of residential, industrial, and commercial property pay a development fee 
to fund transportation projects that will be required as a result of the growth the projects create. TUMF 
will be required as a Condition of Approval for any future development project.  
 
The  City  of  Coachella  implements  a  Development  Impact  Fee  (DIF.)  The  proposed  project  is  located 
within the City of Coachella and any proposed future development will therefore be subject to the DIF. 
Eligible  facilities  for  funding  the  City  DIF  program  are  identified  on  the  County  of  Riverside’s  Public 
Needs List.  
 

Discussion of Impacts 
 

Page 540

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

107 

a‐b)   No  Impact.  The  project  applicant  proposes  to  process  a  zone  change  for  approximately  56.9 
acres.  The  property  is  currently  zoned  for  Single  Family  Residential  (S‐F)  and Multiple  Family 
Residential  (R‐M)  and  is  proposing  a  change  to  General  R‐M,  Urban  R‐M,  and  Neighborhood 
Commercial (C‐N).  
 
The property  is  located on  the north  side of  52nd Avenue and on  the  east  and west  sides of 
Education Way. 52nd Avenue serves as the Project Site’s primary source of access. This roadway 
is currently paved with two lanes, curb and gutter, forming portions of the western boundary of 
the project and intersecting the site through the southwesterly portions.    
 
As  required by SB 743, VMT replaced  the  former metric used  to analyze  traffic  impacts which 
was  LOS.  According  to  Table  1  of  the  Policy,  retail  project  types would  result  in  a  significant 
impact if the project caused a net increase in the total existing VMT for the region.  
 
With  the  implementation  of  SB  743,  intersection  LOS  is  not  calculated  to  determine 
transportation  impacts,  however  it  provides  information  regarding  intersection  capacity  and 
general plan consistency for the City.  
 
LOS 
Average Daily Trips (ADT) refers to the total number of vehicles that travel a defined segment of 
roadway  over  a  twenty‐four‐hour  period.  The  standard  most  often  used  to  evaluate  the 
operating  conditions  of  the  transportation  system  is  called  level  of  service  (LOS).  LOS  is  a 
qualitative assessment of the quantitative effect of factors such as: speed and travel time, traffic 
volume,  geometric  features,  traffic  interruptions,  delays,  and  freedom  to  maneuver,  driver 
comfort and convenience, and vehicle operating costs. LOS compares existing traffic volumes (V) 
with available roadway capacity (C). LOS allows operating conditions to be characterized as LOS 
“A” through LOS “F”, where LOS “A” represents the most favorable free flow conditions and LOS 
“F” the  least  favorable forced flow driving condition. The LOS categories are based on relative 
levels  of  driver  acceptability  of  various  delays.  A  given  lane  or  roadway may  provide  a  wide 
range of service levels, depending upon traffic volumes and speeds.  
 
Roadway capacity has been defined as  the maximum number of vehicles that can pass over a 
given roadway during a given time under prevailing roadway and traffic conditions. The capacity 
of  a  roadway used  for design purposes  (generally  defined as  LOS D)  is  the  level  at which  the 
facility  is handling the maximum traffic volume that  it can accommodate while maintaining an 
acceptable level of driver satisfaction. The City of Coachella has defined Level of Service “D” as 
the performance threshold for roadway segments and intersections.  
 
52nd Avenue is designated as a major arterial road with enhanced bicycle facilities, according to 
the  City  of  Coachella’s General  Plan.  These  facilities  provide  for  all modes  of  travel,  but  they 
acknowledge  that  the  arterial  is  a  primary  link  in  the  City’s  vehicular  transportation  system. 
Major arterials have  six  travel  lanes and  can have ROW up  to 132  feet.  Travel  lanes  can vary 
from 11 to 12 feet. The General Plan roadway designations are determined based on projected 
traffic  numbers.  Future  development  projects  will  be  conditioned  to  improve  the  adjacent 
portion of Little Morongo Road to its ultimate condition. The improvements are identified as a 
half‐width  (55  foot)  section,  including  paving,  gutter,  sidewalk  and  landscape  parkway.  Final 
Street Improvement Plans will be reviewed and approved by the City.  
 

Page 541

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

108 

The Coachella Valley Association of Governments Coachella Valley Traffic Counts Interactive GIS 
Map details the traffic counts throughout the Coachella Valley. 52nd Avenue east of Highway 111 
had traffic counts of 7,650 eastbound and 7,922 westbound, for a total of 15,572.  In addition, 
52nd  Avenue  west  of  Highway  86  South  had  traffic  counts  of  2,845  eastbound  and  2,910 
westbound for a total of 5,755. 
 
According  to  the  Coachella  General  Plan  Traffic  Impact  Study,  a  Major  Arterial  road  has  a 
maximum two‐way traffic volume (ADT) of 56,000. 52nd Avenue,  the Major Arterial Road and 
the  sites primary  source of  access, has a V/C of 0.885  for  a  LOS of D.  This would  result  in  an 
overall capacity of approximately 63,300 for the adjacent portion of 52nd Avenue. 
 
The Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Rates – 9th Edition was utilized to 
compare  the  potential  maximum  trip  generation  of  the  approved  land  use,  Single  Family 
Residential,  and  the  proposed  land  uses,  General  R‐M,  Urban  R‐M,  and  Neighborhood 
Commercial. The guidance provides the following Rates for the four land uses:  

 
Table XVI‐1 ITE Trip Generation Rates – 9th Edition 

Description/ITE Code  Units 
ITE Trip Generation Rates 

Weekday  AM  PM 

Single Family Homes/210  DU*  9.52  0.75  1.00 

Multi‐Family Houses (low rise) / 220  DU  6.65  0.51  0.62 

Mid‐Rise Residential with 1st Floor  
Commercial / 231 

DU  N/A  0.67  0.78 

*DU = Dwelling Unit 

 
The following assumptions are utilized for the purpose of this CEQA document: 

 
Table XVI‐2 Project Assumptions Based on Proposed Land Uses 

Land Use  Allowable Density  Acreage  Units (mid)* 

Existing: Single Family Homes  4.6 DU/acre  23.9  109.94 

Existing: Multi‐Family Houses  14 DU/acre  29.8  417.2 

Multiple Family Residential ‐ General  20‐25 DU/acre  29.3  659 

Multiple Family Residential – Urban  20‐38 DU/acre  22.6  655 

Neighborhood Commercial        
*Mid density dwelling unit number was utilized in the analysis of future development‐generated trips.  

  
Table XVI‐3 Estimated Maximum Total Generated Trips 

Description/ITE Code 
(Max. Density Allowed) 

ITE Trip Generation Rates1 

Weekday  AM  PM 

Existing: Single Family Homes / 210  1,047  82  110 

Existing: Multi‐Family Homes / 220  2,774  213  259 

Multi‐Family Homes (General) / 220  4,382  336  409 

Multi‐Family Homes (Urban) / 220  4,356  334  406 

Difference 2  4,917  375  446 
Notes: 1. The max dwelling unit number was used for the table, to analyze worst case scenario. 

2. The difference between proposed and existing land uses.  

 

Page 542

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

109 

As  shown  in  Table  XVI‐3,  if  a  future  General  R‐M,  Urban  R‐M,  or  Neighborhood  Commercial 
project is submitted with the maximum estimated FAR, average daily trips are estimated to be 
more  than  two  times  higher  than  a  Single  Family  Residential  or  Multiple  Family  Residential 
project of maximum allowable density.  
 
Future  Development  Projects  will  require  case  by  case  analysis  to  determine  appropriate 
mitigation relative to estimated project trip generation. Future Traffic Analyses may be required 
at  the  time  of  project  submittal.  The  City  has  the  ability  to  establish  a  variety  of  conditions 
including fair share contributions to improvements to the circulation system. Impacts relative to 
trips  in  exceedance of  rates  utilized  to  determine  current  roadway design  parameters will  be 
addressed by appropriate conditions of approval as determined by the reviewing agencies.  
 
Prior to approval future development projects, including offsite street design standards and the 
projects fair share portion of offsite street improvements will be reviewed by the City as part of 
project processing. As a Standard Condition, future applicants shall complete adjacent roadway 
improvements as designated by the General Plan or the City Engineer.  
 
The  Transportation Uniform Mitigation  Fee  (TUMF) Ordinance  became  effective  July  1,  1989. 
The TUMF program is a component of the twenty year Measure A, sales tax program managed 
by  the  Coachella  Valley  Association  of  Governments  (CVAG)  and  approved  by  voters  in 
November, 1988. In 2002, a thirty year extension was approved by Riverside County voters and 
resulted in an expiration date of 2039. 
 
Under  the  TUMF,  developers  of  residential,  industrial  and  commercial  property  pay  a 
development fee to fund transportation projects that will be required as a result of the growth 
the  projects  create.  TUMF  will  be  required  as  a  Condition  of  Approval  for  any  future 
development project.  
 
Circulation  and  parking  will  be  required  to  be  consistent  with  City  parking  standards  as 
determined by City Staff.  
 
City  review of  development  projects  is  expected  to  result  in  appropriate  conditions  based on 
future  project  descriptions.  Following  implementation  of  conditions,  future  development 
projects are not anticipated to conflict with an applicable plan, ordinance or Policy establishing 
measures of effectiveness for the performance of the circulation system. 
 
VMT 
Riverside County identifies RIVTAM as the appropriate tool for conducting VMT analysis for land 
use  projects  in  Riverside  County.  RIVTAM  considers  interaction  between  different  land  uses 
based on socio‐economic data such as population, households and employment. 
 
Travel activity associated with total VMT is normally extracted from the “without Project” and 
“with Project” RIVTAM model run for 2012 and 2040 conditions, then interpolated for baseline 
(2020)  conditions.  This  methodology  is  commonly  referred  to  as  “boundary  method”  and 
includes the total VMT for all vehicle trips with one or both trip ends within a specific geographic 
area. The “boundary method” VMT per service population for the CVAG subregion is utilized to 
normalize VMT into a standard unit for comparison purposes, focusing on the total population 
and employment in the Coachella Valley. VMT for the area is calculated, total area VMT is then 

Page 543

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

110 

normalized by dividing by the respective service population (i.e., population and employment of 
the Coachella Valley). 
 
Future  development  projects  effect  on  VMT  (for  non‐residential  uses)  is  not  considered 
significant  if  it  results  in  a  cumulative  link‐level  boundary  CVAG  VMT  per  service  population 
decrease under the plus project condition compared to the no project condition. For Residential 
Uses, VMT per capita exceeding a  level of 15 percent below the current  jurisdictional baseline 
VMT per capita. For new retail and other land use projects, utilizing a threshold consistent with 
the net total VMT of the jurisdiction.  
 
There  is  currently  no  development  proposed  for  the  subject  property.  The  proposed  zone 
change is expected to result in no impacts relative to CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.3. 
 

c) No Impact. In its current condition, the undeveloped project property is bordered by the paved 
alignment  of  52nd  Avenue  on  the  south.  The  paved  alignment  of  Education  Way  abuts  the 
project along the western portion of the site.  To provide proper access to future development, 
off‐site design and proposed off‐site improvements would include street paving on portions of 
52nd  Avenue  and  Education  Way  along  the  southerly  and  westerly  portions  of  the  project. 
Circulation design will undergo City and Fire Department review before approval to ensure that 
the  local development standards for roadways,  in  interior and exterior circulation designs, are 
met  without  resulting  in  traffic  safety  impacts  including  hazardous  design  features.  Future 
projects will not include sharp curves or dangerous intersections. The proposed land use would 
be consistent with existing land uses throughout the neighboring community. No incompatible 
uses will result from future development. No impacts are expected associated with the Change 
of Zone. 
  

d) Less than Significant Impact.  Future development projects will be required to provide adequate 
access to emergency response vehicles, as required by the City of Coachella and in accordance 
with  the  Fire  Department  review  and  requirements.  Site  plan  review would  include  in‐depth 
analysis  of  emergency  access  to  the  site  to  ensure  proper  access  to  facilities.  As  mentioned 
previously,  future development projects are expected to obtain access from 52nd Avenue and 
Education Way. The design details of future vehicular driveways will be reviewed and approved 
by the Riverside County Fire Department.  
 
Both  residential  and  light  industrial  future development would  be  required  to provide proper 
premises identification with legible site name, address numbers, and clear signage indicating the 
site access points. Operational  fire hydrants and extinguishers are also required  in accordance 
with  Chapter  15.24  of  the  Coachella  Municipal  Code  (California  Fire  Code).  Off‐site  project 
improvements will  involve  paving  along  the  project’s  perimeter within  the  required  rights‐of‐
way and according to the City’s designated street standards. 
 
The proposed zone change will not result  in impacts relative to emergency access. No impacts 
are anticipated.  
 

Mitigation Measures: None required   

Page 544

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

111 

XVIII. TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES 
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a) Would the project cause a substantial adverse change 
in the significance of a Tribal cultural resource, defined 
in Public Resource Code Section 21074 as either a site, 
feature, place, cultural landscape that is geographically 
defined  in  terms  of  the  size  scope  of  the  landscape, 
sacred  place,  or  object  with  cultural  value  to  a 
California Native American tribe, and that is:                       

       

i) Listed or eligible for listing in the California Register 
of  Historical  Resources,  or  in  a  local  Register  of 
historical  resources  as  defined  in  Public  Resource 
Code Section 5020.1(k), or; 

       

ii) A  resource  determined  by  the  lead  agency  in  its 
discretion  and  supported  by  substantial  evidence, 
to  be  significant  pursuant  to  criteria  set  forth  in 
subdivision  (c)  of  Public  Resources  Code  Section 
5024.1.  In  applying  the  criteria  set  forth  in 
subdivision  (c)  of  Public  Resources  Code  Section 
5024.1,  the  lead  agency  shall  consider  the 
significance  of  the  resource  to  a  California  Native 
American Tribe.   

       

(Sources: 2035, Coachella General Plan Update).  

 
Setting 
 

As  discussed  in  the  Cultural  Section  of  this  Initial  Study,  the  Coachella  Valley  is  a  historical  center  of 
Native  American  settlement,  where  U.S.  surveyors  noted  large  numbers  of  Indian  villages  and 
rancherías,  occupied by  the Cahuilla  people,  in  the mid‐19th  century.  The Takic‐speaking Cahuilla  are 
generally divided by anthropologists  into three groups, according to their geographic setting:  the Pass 
Cahuilla of the San Gorgonio Pass‐Palm Springs area, the Mountain Cahuilla of the San Jacinto and Santa 
Rosa Mountains and the Cahuilla Valley, and the Desert Cahuilla of the eastern Coachella Valley.  
 
The Cahuilla were primarily hunters and gatherers who exploited nearly all of the resources available in 
a highly developed  seasonal mobility  system.  They were adapted  to  the arid  conditions of  the desert 
floor,  the  lacustral  cycles  of Holocene  Lake Cahuilla,  and  the  environments  of  the  nearby mountains. 
When the lake was full, or nearly full, the Cahuilla would take advantage of the resources presented by 
the body of fresh water. Once the lake had desiccated, they utilized the available terrestrial resources. 
They also migrated to the higher elevations of the nearby mountains to take advantage of the resources 
and cooler temperatures available in that environment.  
 
The City of Coachella contains a significant amount of archaeological  resources due to  its  rich cultural 
history and historical settlements within its boundaries. It was once the site of Native Americans tribal 
land and some tribal land still exists there. The Native American population is still present in Coachella. 
Per Figure 4.4‐2 in the Coachella General Plan Update (CGPU) Final Environmental Impact Report (EIR), 

Page 545

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

112 

most of the City  is designated as “medium sensitivity to historical resources sensitivity”. This  is due to 
the City’s historical, cultural, and archaeological resources.  
 
The  proposed  project  site  occupies  approximately  56.9  acres  of  vacant  land  previously  used  for 
agricultural  operations.  The  site  has  been  graded  and  disturbed  since  before  1953,  according  to 
historical aerial imagery.  

 
Discussion of Impacts 

a i‐ii)  No Impact. As discussed previously throughout this document, the project site is approximately 
56.9  acres of  fallow  farmland  currently  zoned  for  Single  Family  Residential  (R‐S)  and Multiple 
Family Residential (R‐M). The project is proposing a Change of Zone (CZ) from the R‐S and R‐M 
designations to R‐M General, R‐M Urban, and Neighborhood Commercial (C‐N).  

 
  As  discussed  in  the  Cultural  Resources  section  of  this  Initial  Study,  there  are  no  known  or 

observed historic resources as defined in Section 15046.5 of the CEQA Guidelines that would be 
adversely  affected  by  the  proposed  zone  change.  This  includes  known  or  observable  objects, 
buildings, structures, sites, areas, places, records, or manuscript which a lead agency determines 
to be historically accurate. According to the National Register Database and Research, historic 
buildings do not exist within or near the project site.  In addition, historic aerial  imagery dated 
between  1953  and  2016  do  not  indicate  the  existence  of  any  buildings  within  the  project 
vicinity. Therefore, no man‐made features were known to be present in the project area prior to 
then. The aerial photographs further demonstrate that the project area has been primarily used 
as farmlands since 1953, alternating between fallow and vegetative cycles until present day. The 
entire  site has been extensively disturbed  in  the past, and no other  features,  site, or artifacts 
more than 50 years of age have been encountered. 

 
  Public  Resources  Code  21074  identifies  “Tribal  Cultural  Resources”  as  “sites,  features,  places, 

cultural  landscapes,  sacred  places,  and  objects  with  cultural  value  to  a  California  Native 
American Tribe” and that are either  included or determined to be eligible for  inclusion on the 
national, state, or local register of historic resources, or that are determined be the lead agency, 
in its discretion, to be significant when taking into consideration the significance of the resource 
to a California Native American Tribe. 

 
  As previously discussed,  the project  is  proposing a  zone  change  from Residential  Low  (R‐L)  to 

Light Industrial (I‐L) and no development is proposed at this time. The City of Coachella and the 
Coachella  Valley  have  a  long  history  of  tribal  settlement;  there  is  potential  for  future 
development  to  encounter  Tribal  Resources.  Prospective  development  would  require  further 
environmental  analysis  and  a  project  specific  cultural  assessment,  at  which  time  the  NAHC 
would be contacted for sacred land research and contact information for local Tribes would be 
provided. Less than significant impacts to Tribal Resources are anticipated as a result of the zone 
change. 

 
  AB 52 Consultation was conducted by the City of Coachella from XX, XX, 2021 through XX, XX, 

2021.  Need  information  from  City  staff  in  order  to  complete  this  section  and  provide  any 
mitigation if necessary.    

 
Mitigation Measures: None required 

Page 546

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

113 

XIX. UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS 
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Require  or  result  in  the  relocation  or  construction  of 
new  or  expanded  water,  wastewater  treatment  or 
storm  water  drainage,  electric  power,  natural  gas,  or 
telecommunications  facilities,  the  construction  or 
relocation  of  which  could  cause  significant 
environmental effects?   

       

b)  Have  sufficient  water  supplies  available  to  serve  the 
project  and  reasonable  foreseeable  future 
development  during  normal,  dry  and  multiple  dry 
years?  

       

c)  Result in a determination by the wastewater treatment 
provider which  serves or may  serve  the project  that  it 
has adequate capacity  to  serve  the project's projected 
demand  in  addition  to  the  provider's  existing 
commitments?  

       

d)  Generate  solid  waste  in  excess  of  State  or  local 
standards,  or  in  excess  of  the  capacity  of  local 
infrastructure,  or  otherwise  impair  the  attainment  of 
solid waste reduction goals?  

       

e)   Comply with federal, state, and local management and 
reduction  statutes  and  regulations  related  to  solid 
waste?  

       

 
Setting 
 
Water 
Groundwater  is  the  primary  source  of  domestic  water  supply  in  the  Coachella  Valley;  the  Coachella 
Water Authority (CWA) provides over 8,000 municipal water service connections and over 2,128 million 
gallons  (MG)  of  water  to  customers  in  their  service  area.  CWA’s  existing  water  system  consists  of 
different  pressure  zones,  groundwater  wells,  storage  reservoirs,  booster  pumping  stations,  and 
distribution facilities. Groundwater  is pumped from six wells within  the City’s distribution system. The 
total capacity of active wells is approximately 11,400 gallons per minute (gpm). CWA has three storage 
reservoirs within the City, with a total reservoir capacity of approximately 10.5 MG. CWA’s distribution 
system  network  consists  of  approximately  120  miles  of  pipeline,  which  ranges  from  4‐inches  to  36‐
inches in diameter.  
 
Wastewater 
Wastewater services are provided to the City by the Coachella Sanitary District. The City of Coachella’s 
sewer  system  consist  of  approximately  90 miles  of  sanitary  sewers  that  collect  local  flows  generated 
from  the  City’s  residential,  commercial,  and  industrial  areas  and  discharge  to  the  City’s  Avenue  54 
wastewater treatment plan (WWTP) with a capacity of 4.5 million gallons per day (MGD).   
 
 
 

Page 547

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

114 

Solid Waste 
The City of Coachella contracts with Burrtec Waste and Recycling Services. Burrtec provides an array of 
services and offers residents containers for landfill waste, green waste, and recyclables. Residential and 
Commercial  waste  and  recycling  is  taken  to  the  Coachella  Valley  Transfer  Station.  Waste  from  the 
Transfer Station is then taken to a permitted landfill or recycling facility outside of the Coachella Valley. 
These include Badlands Disposal site, El Sobrante Sanitary Landfill, and Lamb Canyon Disposal Site.  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a) Less  Than  Significant  Impact.  The  Coachella Water  Authority  (CWA)  provides  domestic water 

supply and the Coachella Sanitary District provides Wastewater services to the City of Coachella. 
The  subject  property  is  approximately  56.9  acres  and  is  currently  characterized  as  fallow 
farmland and is not served by existing utilities at this time. As previously discussed throughout 
this document, the project is requesting a zone change from its current land use designation of 
Single Family Residential (R‐S) and Multiple Family Residential (R‐M) to General R‐M, Urban R‐
M, and Neighborhood Commercial (C‐N) and no entitlements for development are proposed at 
this time. 
 
Groundwater  is  the  primary  source  of  domestic  water  supply  in  the  Coachella  Valley;  CWA 
provides  potable  water  to  the  City  by  pumping  from  six  wells  within  the  City’s  distribution 
system.  The  total  capacity  of  active wells  is  approximately  11,400  gallons  per minute  (gpm). 
CWA  has  three  storage  reservoirs  within  the  City,  with  a  total  reservoir  capacity  of 
approximately 10.5 MG. CWA’s distribution system network consists of approximately 120 miles 
of pipeline, which range from 4‐inches to 36‐inches in diameter. 
 
The City of Coachella 2015 Sewer System Master Plan Update states that flows generated from 
the  City’s  residential,  commercial,  and  industrial  areas  discharge  to  the  City’s  Avenue  54 
wastewater  treatment  plant  (WWTP) with  a  capacity of  4.5 million  gallons per day  (MGD).  In 
addition,  the city maintains about 90 miles of sanitary sewers ranging  in size  from 4‐inches to 
54‐inches in diameter.  
 
The  undeveloped,  fallow  farmland  project  site  is  currently  not  supported  by  an  existing 
stormwater  drainage  system.  Based  on  the  local  natural  topography,  runoff  from  the 
undeveloped  property  would  have  the  propensity  to  flow  toward  the  south  and  southeast 
without the benefit of any existing drainage controls. Project implementation would not result 
in physical  improvements,  such  that would alter  the on‐site drainage conditions or contribute 
runoff water to the local facilities. 
 
Future project‐specific development will be subject to the City’s entitlement and environmental 
review process to assess the nature and intensity of potable water and wastewater use, as well 
as  all  of  the  opportunities  to  incorporate water  conservation measures.  Development  of  any 
kind would be expected to implement water conservation measures to reduce impacts to local 
groundwater  supplies.  These  measures  may  include  low‐flow  plumbing  fixtures,  drought‐
tolerant (native) outdoor landscaping, and water‐efficient irrigation systems.  
 
Project  specific  domestic  water  and  wastewater  improvements  necessary  to  serve  future 
development would be identified by the CWA and the Coachella Sanitation District and included 
as conditions of approval by the City of Coachella during the City’s standard review process. The 

Page 548

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

115 

Zone  change  currently  being  processed  through  the  City  would  not  trigger  the  need  for  the 
construction of additional new water or wastewater treatment  facilities of expansion of  these 
facilities.  
 
No impacts are expected as a result of the proposed zone change.  
 

b) No Impact. CWA’s 2015 Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) has been prepared to conduct 
long term water supply and water resource planning to ensure reliability in water service that is 
sufficient to meet the needs of  its consumers  in their service area. Per the CWA 2015 UWMP, 
the total pumping capacity of active wells is approximately 11,400 gpm or 16.5 mgd. CWA has a 
current  baseline water  demand  rate  of  204  gallons  per  capita  per  day  (GPCD).  CWA’s  actual 
water usage is 142 gpcd and is 40.8% lower than the targeted reduction for 2015 and 2020. It is 
anticipated  that  future  users will  continue  to  achieve  a  lower  GPCD  average  usage  across  all 
customer  classes  due  to  implementation of  plumbing  code  and  updated  landscape ordinance 
requirements.  The City’s Municipal Code has several ordinances in place to ensure water supply 
and efficiency measures are in place.  Additionally, any development within the project area will 
be  required  to  comply with  the  City’s  Landscape  Development  Guidelines  and would  include 
water efficient  landscaping. Compliance with  these guidelines and City ordinances will  ensure 
that future development reduces water demand to meet CWA’s target demands. 
 
The UWMP estimates a population projection out to 2035, the 2020 population is estimated at 
55,783.  The  current  population  of  the  City  of  Coachella  is  47,186  persons  (Department  of 
Finance Population and Housing Estimates) which is still below the UWMP population estimates. 
The project site is vacant, fallow farmland and therefore is not currently utilizing domestic water 
services provided by CWA. The project proposes a zone change from Single Family Residential 
(R‐S)  and  Multiple  Family  Residential  (R‐M)  designations  to  General  R‐M,  Urban  R‐M,  and 
Neighborhood Commercial (C‐N) designations. The project does not propose any development 
at the time of writing. Development of either R‐M or C‐N designations will add to the demand of 
water supplies, however, potential demand is expected to be incremental and could be served 
by the existing water supply.   
 
Future project‐specific development will be subject to the City’s entitlement and environmental 
review  process  to  assess  the  nature  and  intensity  of  potable  water,  as  well  as  all  of  the 
opportunities  to  incorporate  water  conservation  measures.  Project  specific  domestic  water 
improvements necessary to serve future development would be identified by CWA and included 
as conditions of approval by the City of Coachella during the City’s standard review process.  
 
No impacts are expected as a result of the proposed Change of Zone.  
 

c) No  Impact.  The  project  proposes  a  zoning  change  from  Single  Family  Residential  (R‐S)  and 
Multiple Family Residential  (R‐M)  to General R‐M, Urban R‐M, and Neighborhood Commercial 
(C‐N). The project does not propose any development at the time of writing. Any Wastewater 
generated  by  future  development  of  the  Project  site  will  be  conveyed  to  CWA  Avenue  54 
Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP). This WWTP has a capacity of 4.5 million gallons per day 
(mgd).  The  City’s  collection  system  includes  90  miles  of  sanitary  sewer  and  two  pumping 
stations.  Wastewater  from  the  City  is  conveyed  to  the  Avenue  54  WWTP,  which  treats  an 
average of 2.9 mgd and has a capacity of 4.5 mgd. As previously discussed, future development 
of  the project  is  expected  to moderately  increase wastewater  flows, however  the  site will  be 

Page 549

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

116 

subject to the City’s entitlement and environmental review process to assess and mitigate these 
impacts.  
 
No impacts to wastewater are expected relative to the Change of Zone. 
 

d) No Impact. The City of Coachella contracts with Burrtec Waste and Recycling Services to provide 
regular  trash,  recycling,  and  green  waste  pickup.  The  proposed  project  does  not  currently 
involve any entitlements for development. However, solid waste generated by future residential 
or  commercial  development  would  generate  an  incremental  increase  in  solid  waste  volumes 
during  short‐term construction and  long‐term operational  activities.  Solid waste generated by 
the  future  development would  be  hauled  to  the  Edom Hill  Transfer  Station. Waste  from  this 
transfer station is then sent to a permitted landfill or recycling facility outside of the Coachella 
Valley.  These  include  Badlands  Disposal  Site,  El  Sobrante  Sanitary  Landfill  and  Lamb  Canyon 
Disposal Site. These facilities are required to comply with federal, state, and local statutes and 
regulations related to solid waste. CalRecycle data indicated that these landfills have 40‐50% of 
their  remaining  estimated  capacity.  Therefore,  future  development  would  be  required  to 
comply with all applicable solid waste statutes and regulations as a result of development on the 
project site. No impacts are anticipated relative to the Change of Zone. 
 

e) No  Impact.  The  City  of  Coachella  contracts with  the  Burrtec Waste  and Recycling  Services  to 
serve  the  solid waste  disposal  needs  of  the  city,  including  the  undeveloped  project  site.  The 
project  does  not  propose  any  entitlements  for  development  of  the  site  at  this  time.  The 
proposed land use change and any future development of the project site will comply with all 
applicable solid waste statutes and guidelines. No impacts are expected relative to solid waste 
statutes and regulations.  

 
Mitigation Measures: None required 
 
   

Page 550

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

117 

XX. WILDFIRE 
 
 
If  located  in  or  near  state  responsibility  areas  or  lands 
classified  as  very  high  fire  hazard  severity  zones,  would 
the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Substantially  impair  an  adopted  emergency  plan  or 
emergency evacuation plan?  

       

b)  Due  to  slope,  prevailing  winds,  and  other  factors, 
exacerbate  wildfire  risks,  and  thereby  expose  project 
occupants to, pollutant concentrations from a wildfire 
or the uncontrolled spread of a wildfire?  

       

c)  Require  the  installation  or  maintenance  of  associated 
infrastructure  (such  as  roads,  fuel  breaks,  emergency 
water  sources,  power  lines  or  other  utilities)  that may 
exacerbate  fire  risk or  that may  result  in  temporary or 
ongoing impacts to the environment?  

       

d)  Expose  people  or  structures  to  significant  risks, 
including  downslope  or  downstream  flooding  or 
landslides,  as  a  result  of  runoff,  post‐fire  slope 
instability, or drainage changes?  

       

 
(Sources: The City of Coachella 2035 General Plan, 2015) 
 

Setting  
 
A  wildfire  is  an  unplanned  fire  that  burns  in  a  natural  area  such  as  a  forest,  grassland,  or  prairie. 
Wildfires are often caused by humans or lighting and are exacerbated by steep slopes, dense vegetation 
(fuel), and dry and windy weather conditions. When these conditions are present, a wildfire can burn 
quickly and over a vast area, damaging hillsides, essential infrastructure, and homes and buildings. 
 
A  wildland  urban  interface  (WUI)  is  the  line,  area,  or  zone  where  structures  and  other  human 
development  meet  or  intermingle  with  undeveloped  wildland  or  vegetation  fuels.  People  and  man‐
made structures in WUI areas are more susceptible to the impacts of wildfires due to their adjacency to 
areas that provide fuel to wildfires, such as forests with dense vegetation. The project site is located on 
approximately  56.9  acres  of  previously  disturbed  land.  The  project  proposes  a  Change  of  Zone  from 
Single‐Family  Residential  (R‐S)  to Multiple‐Family  Residential  (R‐M)  to  R‐M  General,  R‐M  Urban,  and 
Neighborhood Commercial (C‐N). Impacts of wildfires to the proposed project is discussed below.  
 
a‐d)  No Impact. The site is currently characterized as disturbed land that was previously utilized for 

agricultural  operations,  since  before  1953.  The property  ceased  agricultural  operations  and  is 
currently fallow. The topography at the site is defined as relatively flat, with a subtle gradient to 
the  northwest.  The  properties  surrounding  the  project  site  are  completely  developed  with 
residential communities to the west and east, and Valle Del Sol Elementary School immediately 
west  of  the  site.  The northern property  boundary  is met  by  the  Coachella  Valley  Stormwater 
Channel, and  the southern property boundary  is met by 52nd Avenue.  Industrial  land uses are 
located south of 52nd Avenue.  

 

Page 551

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

118 

According to Cal Fire’s Fire and Resource Assessment Program the proposed project site is not 
located within  a  Very  High  Fire Hazard  Severity  Zone  (VHFHSZ)  in  a  Local  Responsibility  Area 
(LRA), or a  Fire Hazard Severity Zone  (FHSZ)  in a State Responsibility Area  (SRA). Additionally, 
Chapter 7, Disaster Preparedness, Response and Recovery, of the Technical Background Report 
for  the Coachella General Plan Update  (CGPU) Environmental  Impact Report  (EIR),  claims  that 
wildfires are not prevalent in the City. Wildfires occur rarely in or near the developed areas in 
the valley floor. Urban fires are particularly dangerous in heavily developed, older areas, where 
unsprinklered  buildings  not  constructed  of  fire‐resistant  materials  are  located  close  together 
(Technical Background Report, page 7‐2). Impacts of wildfires in or around the project area are 
not anticipated.  

   
  According to the Technical Background Report wildfires in the Coachella region typically start in 

the mountains  or  foothills  to  the  east,  and  in  the  San  Jacinto Mountains  to  the west. Minor 
vegetation  fires have occurred  to  the  south,  in  the Thermal area. These  fires have historically 
not impacted the City of Coachella. With the future development of the hillsides, in the eastern 
portion  of  the General  Plan  area,  there will  be  an  increased  potential  for wildfires  to  impact 
development, especially if the prevailing winds at the time fan the fires so that they spread onto 
the  urban‐wildland  fire  interface.  If  this  happens,  evacuation  of  the  potentially  affected 
neighborhoods  may  be  required.  In  general,  evacuees  would  take  roads  leading  toward  the 
more developed areas of the City, to the west and south of the hillsides.  

 
The CGPU  identifies major evacuation routes  in the City. The routes  include: 48th Avenue, 50th 
Avenue, 52nd Avenue Route 86, Harrison Street, Grapefruit Boulevard, and  Interstate 10  (I‐10) 
freeway.  The  closest  major  evacuation  route  to  the  project  site  is  52nd  Avenue,  which  lies 
immediately  south  of  the  project.  Grapefruit  Boulevard  (Highway  111)  and  Route  86  are  the 
second and third closest evacuation routes to the project,  lying approximately 0.36 miles west 
and  0.50  miles  east  of  the  proposed  project,  respectively.  The  proposed  project  will  not 
significantly  alter  the  existing  circulation  pattern  in  the  project  area  or  adversely  impact 
evacuation plans, considering the site is currently surrounded by developed homes and existing 
paved improvements.  
 
Vehicular access to the project property would occur on the existing roadways, 52nd Avenue and 
Education  Way.  Emergency  access  to  the  project  would  occur  along  these  roadways  during 
project  operation.  Prior  to  project  development,  access  and  site  plans will  be  required  to  be 
submitted  to  the  Fire  Department  for  review  in  order  to  assure  that  the  project  does  not 
interfere with emergency access. As a result, the project  is not expected to impair an adopted 
emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan. No impacts are anticipated. 

 
  Wildfire  risk  is  related  to  a  number  of  parameters,  including  fuel  loading  (vegetation),  fire 

weather  (winds,  temperatures,  humidity  levels  and  fuel  moisture  contents)  and  topography 
(degree of slope). Steep slopes contribute to fire hazards by intensifying the effects of wind and 
make  fire  suppression difficult.  Fuels  such as  grass  are highly  flammable because  they have a 
high surface area to mass ratio and require less heat to reach the ignition point. The topography 
of  the  project  site  is  relatively  flat,  due  to  its  previously  graded  nature  and  operation  as 
agricultural land. Steep slopes do not occur on the project site. The closest slope to the project 
site  is  located  north  of  the  site  for  the  Coachella  Valley  Stormwater  Channel.  The  Coachella 
Valley  Stormwater  Channel  slopes  approximately  26  feet.  The  Channel  does  not  provide  the 
environment suitable  for a wildfire  to occur. Therefore, project site  is not expected to expose 

Page 552

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

119 

project occupants  to pollutant  concentrations  from a wildfire or  the uncontrolled  spread of  a 
wildfire. 

 
The  proposed  project would  include  development  of  infrastructure  (water,  sewer,  and  storm 
drainage).  The  proposed  improvements would  allow  for  decrease  fire  risk  relative  to  existing 
conditions.  The  project  would  not  impair  implementation  of  or  physically  interfere  with  an 
adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan. As a result, the project is not 
expected  to  require  the  installation  or  maintenance  of  associated  infrastructure  that  may 
exacerbate fire risk or that may result in temporary or ongoing impacts to the environment. 

 
The property is located in an urbanized area. Landslides include rockfalls, deep slope failure, and 
shallow  slope  failure  are  not  likely  to  occur  at  the  project  site,  due  to  the  absence  of  steep 
slopes. Factors such as the geological conditions, drainage, slope, vegetation, and others affect 
the  potential  for  landslides.  The  project  site  is  relatively  flat;  therefore,  the  potential  for  a 
landslide in the project site is essentially non‐existent. As a result, the project is not expected to 
expose people or structures to significant risks, including downslope or downstream flooding or 
landslides, as a result of runoff, post‐fire slope instability, or drainage changes and no impact is 
expected to result from the project. 

 

Mitigation Measures: None required 

Page 553

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

120 

XXI. MANDATORY FINDINGS OF SIGNIFICANCE 
 
NOTE:    If  there  are  significant  environmental  impacts  which  cannot  be  mitigated  and  no  feasible  project 
alternatives are available, then complete the mandatory findings of significance and attach to this initial study as 
an appendix.  This is the first step for starting the environmental impact report (EIR) process. 
 

 
 
 
Does the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Have the potential to substantially degrade the quality 
of the environment, substantially reduce the habitat of 
a  fish  or  wildlife  species,  cause  a  fish  or  wildlife 
population  to  drop  below  self‐sustaining  levels, 
threaten  to  eliminate  a  plant  or  animal  community, 
substantially  reduce  the number or  restrict  the  range 
of  a  rare or  endangered plant  or  animal  or  eliminate 
important examples of the major periods of California 
history or prehistory?  

       

b)  Have  impacts  that  are  individually  limited,  but 
cumulatively  considerable?  ("Cumulatively 
considerable" means that the incremental effects of a 
project  are  considerable  when  viewed  in  connection 
with  the  effects  of past  projects,  the  effects  of other 
current  projects,  and  the  effects  of  probable  future 
projects) 

       

c)  Have  environmental  effects  which  will  cause 
substantial  adverse  effects  on  human  beings,  either 
directly or indirectly?  

       

 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a) No Impact.  As concluded in the Biological and Cultural Resources Sections of this Initial Study, 

the proposed project would result in no impacts. The Change of Zone is compatible with the City 
of  Coachella General  Plan  and  its  surroundings.  The  project will  not  significantly  degrade  the 
overall  quality  of  the  region’s  environment,  or  substantially  reduce  the  habitat  of  a  wildlife 
species,  cause  a  fish  or  wildlife  population  to  drop  below  self‐sustaining  levels,  threaten  to 
eliminate  a  plant  or  animal  community,  reduce  the number or  restrict  the  range of  a  rare  of 
endangered plant or animal community. The project site has been previously disturbed over the 
years and development of the site would not eliminate important examples of major periods of 
the California History or pre‐history.  Based upon the information provided in the biological and 
cultural  sections  within  this  Initial  Study,  approval  and  implementation  of  the  project  is  not 
expected  to  substantially  alter  or  degrade  the  quality  of  the  environment  and  mitigation 
measures included in this document will reduce potential impact to less than significant levels.   

 
 

Page 554

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

121 

b)  No Impact.  The proposed project and its location is found to be adequate and consistent with 
existing federal, state, and local policies and is consistent with the City of Coachella General Plan 
and surrounding  land use. Approval and  implementation of  the proposed project will  result  in 
no impacts related to cumulatively considerable impacts.     

 
c)  No  Impact.    As  discussed  in  the  various  sections  throughout  this  Initial  Study,  the  proposed 

project would not include a land use that could result in substantial adverse effects on human 
beings.  The  City’s  detailed  review  process  will  ensure  that  applicable  guidelines  are  being 
followed. Based upon the findings provided in this document, no impacts are expected.   

 
Mitigation Measures: None Required  
   

Page 555

Item 34.



INITIAL STUDY/ NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Peter Rabbit Re-Zone 
January 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

122 

References 
 

City of 2015 Coachella General Plan, 2035 and General Plan EIR 
 
CWA 2015 Urban Water Management Plan 
 
City of Coachella 2015 Sewer System Management Plan 

City of Coachella Municipal Code  

Riverside County General Plan, 2015 
 
California Division of Mines and Geology, 1987 
 
CalEEMod Version 2016.3.2 
 
City of Coachella Climate Action Plan, June 2014 

California Scenic Highway Mapping System 

Riverside County Important Farmland 2014 Map  
 
CalRecycle Solid Waste Information System  
 
 

Page 556

Item 34.



ORDINANCE NO. 1183 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COACHELLA APPROVING CHANGE OF ZONE (CZ 20-07) FROM R-S 

(RESIDENTIAL SINGLE-FAMILY) and R-M (MULTIPLE-FAMILY 

RESIDENTILA) to R‐M URBAN (MULTIPLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL, 

20‐38 DU/AC), R‐M GENERAL (MULTIPLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL, 

20‐25 DU/AC), AND C-N (NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL) ON 

APPROXIMATELY 56.9 ACARES OF VACANT, AGRICULTURAL 

LAND LOCATED ON THE NORTH SIDE OF AVENUE 52, EAST AND 

WEST OF EDUCATION WAY (APN: 763-060-048). CITY-INITIATED; 

PETER RABBIT FARMS, OWNER. (1ST Reading) 

 

WHEREAS, the Proposed Project, as set forth in Environmental Assessment (EA 

20-04) and Change of Zone (CZ 20-07) consists of the above-referenced application on 

approximately 56.9 acres of vacant agricultural land located on the north side of Avenue 

52, east and west of Education Way; and the Project seeks to bring the properties into 

compliance with the General Plan’s “Land Use and Community Character Element”; and,  

 

WHEREAS, the General Plan Land Use Map and Sub-Area 1 policies, call for the 

subject property to include medium to high-density residential uses in close proximity to 

commercial uses, and to create an urban pattern that includes short blocks with good street 

connectivity and pedestrian amenities; and,  

 

WHEREAS, Prior to the approval of this Change of Zone (CZ 18-10), the project 

site contains only two zoning districts: R-S (Residential Single-Family) and R-M 

(Multiple-Family Residential).  Neither of these two zones provides the proper density and 

variety of housing types envisioned by the General Plan; and, 

 

WHEREAS, to bring the site into compliance with the General Plan, and to comply 

with the City’s Housing Element re-zoning requirements, the City of Coachella 

Development Services with the consent of the Property Owner proposes to create the 

following Zoning Districts: 

 

 R-M General (Multiple-Family Residential, 20 – 25 DU/AC)  

 R-M Urban (Multiple-Family Residential, 25-38 DU/AC)  

 C-N (Neighborhood Commercial); and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City completed Environmental Assessment/Initial Study (EA 20-

04) for the Proposed Project pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act, as 

amended; and, 

 
 

WHEREAS, based on this Environmental Assessment/Initial Study the City has 

made a determination that the Project will not have a significant impact on the environment 

and has prepared a Negative Declaration for this Project; and, 

Page 557

Item 34.



Ordinance No. 1183 – 1st Reading 

Page 2 

 

 

WHEREAS, a Notice of Intent to Adopt a Negative Declaration was posted with 

the County Clerk and the proposed Mitigated Negative was made available for a 20-day 

public review period commencing on March 25, 2021 and ending on April 13, 2021; and, 

 

WHEREAS, interested and concerned individuals and public agencies had the 

opportunity to review and comment on the proposed Negative Declaration; and, 

 

WHEREAS, findings of the Initial Study indicated that the Proposed Project would 

not create any significant impacts to the environment; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the Proposed Project would not be detrimental to the general health, 

safety and welfare of the community. 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council conducted a duly noticed public hearing on Change 

of Zone No. 20-07 on June 9, 2021 in the Council Chambers, 1515 Sixth Street, Coachella, 

California to consider staff recommendations and prior written and oral testimony 

regarding the project and wherein the public was given an opportunity to testify; and, 

 

WHEREAS, a Negative Declaration was prepared in accordance with the 

California Environmental Quality Act, as amended. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA, DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. That the City of Coachella Official Zoning Map be amended as shown on the 

attached Change of Zone 20-07 Map marked “Exhibit A” from R-S (Residential Single-

Family) to R-M Urban (Multiple-Family Residential, 20-38 UN/AC), R-M General 

(Multiple-Family Residential, 20-25 UN/AC) and C-N (Neighborhood Commercial) on 

approximately 56.9 acres of vacant, agricultural land located on the north side of Avenue 

52, east and west of Education Way (APN: 763-060-048) with the findings listed below. 

 

Findings for Change of Zone 20-07: 

 
1. The Project is consistent with the goals, objectives, policies, and implementation 

measures of the Coachella General Plan 2035.  The site has a General Neighborhood 

land use designation and is part of the Subarea 1 – West Coachella Neighborhoods 

policies, that allows for the proposed development.  The proposed change of zone is in 

keeping with the policies of the General Neighborhood land use classification and the 

Project is internally consistent with other General Plan policies for this type of 

development.  

 
 

 

2. The Project complies with the applicable land use regulations and development 

standards of the City’s Zoning Code. The Project complies with applicable sections of 

Page 558

Item 34.



Ordinance No. 1183 – 1st Reading 

Page 3 

 

the General Plan and Section 17.80 of the City of Coachella Municipal Code in that the 

subject property is vacant land that will be developed in accordance with the R-M, 

General (Multiple-Family Residential, 20-25 DU/AC), R-M, Urban (Multiple-Family 

Residential, 25-38 DU/AC) and C-N (Neighborhood Commercial) zoning development 

standards and the site has conforming width and depth, is generally flat, and can 

accommodate intensive urban development as anticipated in the future. 
 

3. Every use, development of land and application of architectural guidelines and 

development standards shall be considered on the basis of the suitability of the site for a 

particular use or development intended, and the total development, including the 

prescribed development standards, shall be so arranged as to avoid traffic congestion, 

ensure the protection of public health, safety and general welfare, prevent adverse effects 

on neighboring property and shall be in accord with all elements of the general plan. The 

proposed change of zone is compatible with existing surrounding land uses that include 

a variety of residential, institutional, and light industrial uses. There is access to Avenue 

52, which is a major arterial roadway that can accommodate the future traffic/circulation 

needs of the site. 

 

4. The Project will be compatible with neighboring properties with respect to land 

development patterns and application of architectural treatments.  Surrounding 

properties to the project site include multiple-family residential, an elementary school 

and light industrial uses. As such, the Project will be in keeping with the scale, massing, 

and aesthetic appeal of the existing area and future development.  

 

5. The Project will not create any significant impacts to the environment based upon a 

complete and accurate reporting of the environmental impacts associated with the 

Project contained in the Negative Declaration, Initial Study, and administrative record.  

The Negative Declaration and the Initial Study have been completed in compliance with 

CEQA, the State CEQA Guidelines, and the City of Coachella’s Local CEQA 

Guidelines. 

 

Section 2. SEVERABILITY. The City Council declares that, should any provision, section, 

paragraph, sentence or word of this ordinance be rendered or declared invalid by any final 

court action in a court of competent jurisdiction or by reason of any preemptive legislation, 

the remaining provisions, sections, paragraphs, sentences or words of this ordinance as 

hereby adopted shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

Section 3. EFFECTIVE DATE. This ordinance shall take effect thirty (30) days after its 

second reading by the City Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 4. CERTIFICATION. The City Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this Ordinance 

and shall cause it to be published and circulated in the City of Coachella. 

Page 559

Item 34.



Ordinance No. 1183 – 1st Reading 

Page 4 

 

 
 ORDINANCE PASSED AND APPROVED on this ___th day of June 2021. 

 

  

 

            __________________________   

                                                    Steven A. Hernandez, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

____________________________                                              

Angela M. Zepeda, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

____________________________                                              

Carlos Campos, City Attorney 

 

Page 560

Item 34.



 

 

I, Angela M. Zepeda, City Clerk, City of Coachella, California, certify that the foregoing 

Ordinance No. 1143 was introduced by the City Council at a regular meeting of the City 

Council held on the 23rd day of October 2019, and was adopted on the 13th day of November 

2019, by the following vote: 

          

  

AYES: 

 

 NOES: 

 

 ABSENT: 

 

 ABSTAIN: 

 

            ___________________________                                         

            Angela M. Zepeda, City Clerk 

 

  

Page 561

Item 34.



 

“Exhibit A” 

   

 

B-4 RANCH CHANGE OF ZONE PROJECT – CHANGE OF ZONE EXHIBIT  

 

Page 562

Item 34.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Maritza Martinez, Public Works Director 

SUBJECT: Public Hearing for Resolution No. 2021-19 Confirming the Assessment and 

Diagram and Ordering the Levy and Collection of Assessments for Fiscal Year 

2021/2022 for the City of Coachella Landscaping and Lighting Maintenance 

District Number 1 through 38. 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

The City Council adopts Resolution No. 2021-19: 

I. Confirming the Diagram and Assessments and Ordering the Levy and Collection of 

Assessments for the City of Coachella Landscaping and Lighting Maintenance 

District 1 through 38 for Fiscal Year 2021/2022, pursuant to the provisions of Part 2 

Division 15 of the California Streets and Highways Code. 

II. Authorize and Direct the City Clerk to file the diagram and assessment with the 

Riverside County Assessor/ County Clerk-Recorder’s Office 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

In accordance with the “Landscaping and Lighting Act of 1972” of the Streets and Highways 

Code, on March 24, 2021, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 2021-17, and initiated 

proceedings to update the District for the next Fiscal year declaring its Intention to Levy and 

Collect Assessments and Ordered the preparation of the Engineer’s Report. Subsequently, on 

April 28, 2021 the City Council adopted Resolution No. 2021-18 giving Preliminary Approval of 

the Engineer’s and setting a time and place for the Public hearing to Levy and Collect 

Assessments. A map displaying the Districts is attached herewith as Exhibit “A”. 

Resolution No. 2021-19, if approved, will confirm the assessments for the Fiscal Year 2021/2022 

for the City of Coachella Landscaping and Lighting Maintenance District Number 1 through 38, 

shown on the attached Exhibit “A” and “B”. A notice of Public Hearing was posted in the local 

newspaper on the attached Exhibit “C”. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

Approval of the assessments would have no adverse impact to the General Fund. The proposed 

assessments for each District has been prepared based upon the improvements and maintenance 

Page 563

Item 35.



expenses necessary to maintain the common areas within each District. The revenues and 

expenditures are accounted for within separate 160 fund accounts within each District. 

 

Page 564

Item 35.



Page 565

Item 35.



Page 566

Item 35.



Page 567

Item 35.



Page 568

Item 35.



Page 569

Item 35.



Page 570

Item 35.



Page 571

Item 35.



Page 572

Item 35.



Page 573

Item 35.



Page 574

Item 35.



Page 575

Item 35.



Page 576

Item 35.



Page 577

Item 35.



Page 578

Item 35.



Page 579

Item 35.



Page 580

Item 35.



Page 581

Item 35.



Page 582

Item 35.



Page 583

Item 35.



Page 584

Item 35.



Page 585

Item 35.



Page 586

Item 35.



Page 587

Item 35.



Page 588

Item 35.



Page 589

Item 35.



Page 590

Item 35.



Page 591

Item 35.



Page 592

Item 35.



Page 593

Item 35.



Page 594

Item 35.



Page 595

Item 35.



Page 596

Item 35.



Page 597

Item 35.



Page 598

Item 35.



Page 599

Item 35.



Page 600

Item 35.



Page 601

Item 35.



Page 602

Item 35.



Page 603

Item 35.



Page 604

Item 35.



Page 605

Item 35.



Page 606

Item 35.



Page 607

Item 35.



Page 608

Item 35.



Page 609

Item 35.



Page 610

Item 35.



Page 611

Item 35.



Page 612

Item 35.



Page 613

Item 35.



Page 614

Item 35.



Page 615

Item 35.



Page 616

Item 35.



Page 617

Item 35.



Page 618

Item 35.



Page 619

Item 35.



Page 620

Item 35.



Page 621

Item 35.



Page 622

Item 35.



Page 623

Item 35.



Page 624

Item 35.



Page 625

Item 35.



Page 626

Item 35.



Page 627

Item 35.



Page 628

Item 35.



Page 629

Item 35.



Page 630

Item 35.



Page 631

Item 35.



Page 632

Item 35.



Page 633

Item 35.



Page 634

Item 35.



Page 635

Item 35.



RESOLUTION NO. 2021-19 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA, CONFIRMING THE ASSESSMENT AND 

DIAGRAM AND ORDERING THE LEVY AND COLLECTION OF 

ASSESSMENTS FOR THE CITY OF COACHELLA LANDSCAPING AND 

LIGHTING MAINTENANCE DISTRICT NO. 1 THROUGH 38 FOR 

FISCAL YEAR 2021/2022, PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF PART 2 

OF DIVISION 15 OF THE CALIFORNIA STREETS AND HIGHWAYS 

CODE 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council and the City of Coachella, California (“City Council”) has 

adopted Resolution No. 2021-17 on March 24,2021 Initiating the Preparation of the Engineer’s 

Report Declaring Intention to Levy and Collect Assessments for Fiscal Year 2021/2022 for the 

City of Coachella Landscaping and Lighting Maintenance District Number 1 through 38 pursuant 

to the terms and provisions of the “Landscaping and Lighting Act of 1972”, being Part 2 Division 

15 of the California Streets and Highways Code; and 

 

 WHEREAS, this City Council has directed the staff to prepare the Engineer’s Report, and 

the City Engineer has prepared and submitted the report to the City Clerk his report pursuant to 

law for the City Council’s consideration; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council has adopted Resolution Number 2021-18 on April 14,2021 

Giving Preliminary Approval of the Preliminary Engineer’s Report for Levy of Annual 

Assessments for Landscaping and Lighting Maintenance Districts 1 through 38 Declaring the 

Intention to Levy and Collect Assessments for Fiscal Year 2021/2022 and Set a Public Hearing 

for Districts 1 through 38; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council scheduled a Public Hearing on June 23, 2021 at 6:00 p.m. 

prior to confirmation of the proposed assessments for Fiscal Year 2021/2022; and 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Coachella as 

follows: 

 

 Section 1.  That above recitals area all true and correct 

 

 Section 2. Following notice duly given by publication, the City Council has held a full 

and fair Public Hearing regarding the Levy of the Proposed Assessment within the City of 

Coachella Landscaping and Lighting Maintenance District No. 1 through 38 for Fiscal Year 

commencing on July 1, 2021 and ending June 30, 2022, to pay for the cost and expenses of 

maintaining and servicing existing and proposed public landscaping and storm drain facilities 

installed and constructed within public places in the City of Coachella, pursuant to the terms and 

provisions of the Landscaping and Lighting Act of 1972, being Part 2 of Division 15 of the 

California Streets and Highways Code. All interested persons were offered the opportunity to hear 

and be heard regarding protests and objections to the Levy and Collection of the Proposed 

Assessment against lots or parcels of real property within City of Coachella Landscaping and 

Page 636

Item 35.



 

Resolution No. 2021-19 

Page 2 

 

Lighting Maintenance District No. 1 through 38. All protests and objections to the Levy and 

Collection of the proposed assessments for the Fiscal Year 2021/2022 commencing on July 1, 

2021 and ending on June 30, 2022, area hereby overruled by the City Council. 

 

Section 3. The City Council hereby orders the maintenance and servicing of the 

existing and proposed public landscape facilities installed and constructed in public places in the 

City of Coachella and hereby confirms the diagram and assessment set forth in the Engineer’s 

Report. 

 

Section 4. The assessment is in compliance with the provisions of the “Landscaping 

and Lighting Act of 1972,” being Part 2 of Division 15 of the California Streets and Highways 

Code and with any applicable provisions of Proposition 218. 

 

Section 5. The assessment is levied without regard to property valuation. 

 

Section 6. The assessment is levied for the purpose of paying the costs and expenses 

of maintaining and servicing existing and proposed public landscaping facilities installed and 

constructed in public places in the City of Coachella for the Fiscal Year commencing on July 1, 

2021 and ending on June 30, 2022. 

Section 7. The adoption of Resolution No. 2021-19 constitutes the levy of an 

assessment for the Fiscal Year commencing on July 1, 2021 and ending on June 30, 2022. 

 

Section 8. The maintenance and servicing of the public landscaping facilities shall be 

performed pursuant to law and the County Recorder/Auditor of Riverside County shall enter on 

the County Assessment Roll opposite each lot or parcel of land the amount of the assessment and 

such assessments shall then be collected at the same time and in the same manner as the County 

taxes are collected. After collection by the County, the net amount of the assessments shall be paid 

to the City of Coachella Finance Department. 

 

Section 9. The City of Coachella Finance Department shall deposit all monies 

representing assessments collected by the County to the credit of a special fund known as Special 

Revenue Funds Special Assessments, City of Coachella Landscaping and Lighting Maintenance 

District No. 1 through 38. 

 

Section 10. The City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to file the diagram and 

assessment, or a certified copy of the diagram and assessment, with the Riverside County, 

Assessor’s Office, together with a certified copy of Resolution 2021-19 upon its adoption. 

 

Section 11. A certified copy of the assessment and diagram shall be filed in the Office 

of the City Clerk, with a duplicate copy on file in the office of the Public Works Department and 

open for public review. 

 

 

 

 

[THIS SPACE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 

Page 637

Item 35.



 

Resolution No. 2021-19 

Page 3 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23rd day of June 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez  

Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

City Attorney 

 

  

Page 638

Item 35.



 

Resolution No. 2021-19 

Page 4 

 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE 

CITY OF COACHELLA 

) 

) ss. 

) 

 

 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-19 was duly adopted by 

the City Council of the City of Coachella at a regular meeting thereof, held on the 23rd day of June 

2021, by the following vote of Council: 

 

AYES:    

   

NOES:    

   

ABSENT:   

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Andrea J. Carranza  

Deputy City Clerk 

 

  

Page 639

Item 35.



 

Resolution No. 2021-19 

Page 5 

 

SCHEDULE 
 

Landscaping and Lighting Maintenance District No.  1 Through 38 

 

 

 

Item Council Meeting Date 
Resolution 2021-17 Initiating Preparation of 

Engineer’s Report and Declaring Intention to 

Levy and Collect Assessments for Fiscal Year 

2021/2022  

March 24, 2021 

Resolution 2021-18 Preliminary Approval of 

Engineer’s Report and Setting a time and 

Place for Public Hearing to Levy and Collect 

Assessments for Fiscal Year 2021/2022 

April 28, 2021 

Resolution 2021-19 Confirming the 

Assessment and Diagram and Ordering the 

Levy and Collection of Assessments for 

Fiscal Year 2021/2022  

June 23, 2021 

Page 640

Item 35.



 

Resolution No. 2021-19 

Page 6 

 

Exhibit “A” 

 

CITY OF COACHELLA LANDSCAPING AND LIGHTING MAINTENANCE  

DISTRICT NO. 1 THROUGH 38 FISCAL YEAR 2021/2022 

 

BOUNDARY MAP 

 

 

Page 641

Item 35.



 

Resolution No. 2021-19 

Page 7 

 

Exhibit “B” 

 

CITY OF COACHELLA LANDSCAPING AND LIGHTING MAINTENANCE  

DISTRICT NO. 1 THROUGH 38 FISCAL YEAR 2021/2022 

 

DISTRICT NUMBER PROPOSED LEVY PER 

LOT 

NUMBER OF LOTS 

AREA 1 109.60 127 

AREA 2 59.76 130 

AREA 3 95.40 181 

AREA 4 94.42 66 

AREA 5 0.00 0 

AREA 6 214.28 171 

AREA 7 152.90 161 

AREA 8 25.26 138 

AREA 9 176.42 32 

AREA 10 81.86 75 

AREA 11 84.76 105 

AREA 12 175.00 76 

AREA 13 343.74 168 

AREA 14 349.46 90 

AREA 15 540.00 48 

AREA 16 825.00 555 

AREA 17 475.00 162 

AREA 18 582.74 172 

AREA 19 343.34 126 

AREA 20 550.00 81 

AREA 21 144.00 70 

AREA 22 350.00 118 

AREA 23 572.18 119 

AREA 24 712.15 291 

AREA 25 525.00 87 

AREA 26 0.00 0 

AREA 27 525.00 112 

AREA 28 525.00 171 

AREA 29 325.00 152 

AREA 30 250.00 160 

AREA 31 325.00 265 

AREA 32 450.00 250 

AREA 33 600.00 282 

AREA 34 475.00 115 

AREA 35 575.00 49 

AREA 36 370.00 108 

AREA 37 0.00 0 

AREA 38 550.00 150 

Page 642

Item 35.



 

Resolution No. 2021-19 

Page 8 

 

Exhibit “C” 

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING FOR RESOLUTION NO. 2021-19, “CONFIRMING THE 

ASSESSMENT AND DIAGRAM AND ORDERING THE LEVY AND COLLECTION OF 

ASSESSMENTS FOR THE CITY OF COACHELLA LANDSCAPING AND LIGHTING 

MAINTENANCE DISTRICT NO. 1 THROUGH 38 FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021/2022 

 

 

THE DESERT SUN 

 

05/28/2021 

06/04/2021 

06/11/2021 

 

Page 643

Item 35.



 

Resolution No. 2021-19 

Page 9 

 

 

Page 644

Item 35.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Luis Lopez, Development Services Director 

SUBJECT: Pulte Coachella Subdivision Project 

SPECIFICS:  Resolution No. 2021-42, Tentative Tract Map (TTM 38084) and Variance 

(VAR 21-04) to allow the subdivision of 26.81 acres of vacant land into 107 

single-family residential lots (having less than the minimum 7,200 square 

feet) ranging in size from 6,017 square feet to 13,171 square feet, with an 

average lot size of approximately 7,500 square feet, with public streets and 

common-area lots accessed from Avenue 51, on property located on the north 

side of Avenue 51 between Van Buren Street and Chiapas Drive (APN #768-

050-002). 

 

 Resolution No. 2021-43, Architectural Review (AR 21-03) to allow the 

construction of 107 single family homes using three production models, 

within Tentative Tract Map No. 38084 to include: 1) A one-story (3-

Bedroom, 2-Bath) residence with 1,959 square feet of floor area; 2) A two-

story (4-Bedroom, 2 ½-Bath) residence with 2,404 square feet of floor area; 

and 3) A two-story (5-Bedroom, 3-Bath) residence with 2,825 square feet of 

floor area, all with attached two-car garages and a variety of architectural 

themes (Spanish, Craftsman, and Prairie) and color palettes for the models’ 

exterior finishes and roof tile.  Pulte Home Company, LLC (Applicant) 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt the attached resolutions approving Tentative Tract 

Map No. 38084, approval of Variance No. 21-04 and approval of Architectural Review No. 21-03 

for the Pulte Coachella Subdivision Project.  

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

In 2004, the subject site was originally approved as the second phase of Tentative Tract Map No. 

32075  (TTM 32075 known as the “Prado” gated community) in 2005.  The second phase of TTM 

32075 expired in 2014, and at that time the Prado Homeowners Association (“Prado HOA”)  

requested the owner to pursue the following modifications to the project:  

 

 

Page 645

Item 36.



 

1)  Consider gating off the second phase of the project to reduce the amount of 

traffic entering and exiting from Avenue 50.  

2) Incorporate added open space amenities to the existing Prado gated community.  

3) Complete the installation of street lights along Via Prado as originally approved 

for the gated community.   Below is the original Prado phase 1 and 2 concept: 

 

Based on the HOA’s directives to the prior owner, the subject site was re-designed as a “public 

street” subdivision, known as Tentative Tract Map No. 36555 (“La Obra”) as shown below:  

 

TTM 36555 Street configuration                11 New Lots within gated community 

Page 646

Item 36.



 

 

 

 

 

 

As shown in the exhibit above, the “La Obra” project proposed two new cul-de-sacs and 11 new 

homesites within the existing “Prado” community at Via Prado and Rivera Street.  However, this 

prior design is no longer feasible for the Prado HOA and the current landowner, as explained 

below. 

The “La Obra” subdivision expired in 2020 and the prior vacant land inside the Prado community 

were sold to D.R. Horton and built to completion.  Earlier this year, the Prado HOA stated that 

they do not wish to acquire new lots into their community, and the City is unable to impose this 

requirement on the new owners. As such, Pulte Homes Company, LLC has re-designed the 

subdivision to have no impact upon the “Prado” gated community, as shown below.  

 

 

Page 647

Item 36.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As shown on 

the above 

map exhibit, all interior streets are proposed to have standard 6-inch curbs with parking allowed 

on both sides of the street.  A 1.13-acre retention basin is proposed in the southeastern corner of 

the project site that will be landscaped with a perimeter ADA path to provide exercise stations as 

an amenity for the residents.  There will be no improved parkland within the community as this 

neighborhood is within close walking distance to a large community park (Bagdouma Park).  

Therefore, the future home builder will pay the City’s full Parks Dedication and Parks 

Improvement development impact fees.   

The lot sizes will range in size from 6,014 square feet to 13,825 square feet in size.  The minimum 

standard for lot sizes in the R-S zone is 7,200 square feet and a 60-foot width for corner lots. 

Therefore, the applicant has submitted a request for Variance (Variance 21-04) to allow lots less 

than 7,200 square feet, as discussed further in this report.  

Page 648

Item 36.



On May 19, 2021, the Planning Commission reviewed Tentative Tract Map No. 38084, and the 

attendant Variance and Architectural Review, and recommended to the City Council, approval of 

the project.  At the May 19, 2021 hearing, members of the Prado HOA testified regarding their 

strong preference for an opaque gate at Via Prado, and for a solid masonry wall at the southerly 

terminus of Ribera Street.     

PROJECT LOCATION AND ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING: 

The project is located north of Avenue 51 between Van 

Buren Street and Chiapas Drive (APN #768-050-002, 008). 

The project site is a vacant property that is surrounded by 

developed single family residential neighborhoods, and a 

ranch property.  Specifically, the surrounding uses are as 

follows: 

 

North:  Single Family Residential                                         

                        (Prado Gated Community)  

South:   Single Family Residential  

East:   Single Family Residential  

West:  Rural/ Ranch Property  

 

The site is vacant and was previously rough graded and 

improved with a sewer mainline along Via Prado extension 

as part of the “Prado” phase 2 development which was to 

have a gated entrance on Avenue 51, connecting internally 

to Via Prado and Avenue 50.  Currently the north half-street 

portion of Avenue 51 is lacking the required road-widening 

street dedication for future improvements. 

 

Avenue 51 Improvements and Parkway Design:  

The half-street improvements for Avenue 51 are shown as a 45-foot half street with 35 feet of 

pavement and 10 feet of parkway.  The City’s General Plan 2035 calls for a 90-foot “Collector 

with Bicycle Facility” including 30 feet of pavement with bike lanes, and 10 feet of parkway.  

There are painted medians identified for Avenue 51.  The applicant proposes an enhanced parkway 

area of 25 feet along Avenue 51, which would create a perimeter landscape area with a meandering 

sidewalk with a total landscaped setback of 35 feet from curb face to the perimeter wall.  A bus 

turnout area was required along Avenue 51 for the original Tentative Map 32075. However, the 

Sunline Transit Agency has not required this transit improvement for the project at this time.  There 

is already a bus turnout at the northwest corner of Avenue 51 and Frederick Street that can serve 

this future community.  

 

Drainage:  

Page 649

Item 36.



Since the proposed subdivision is a public-street subdivision, all the common area landscaping and 

retention basins would be maintained through the City’s Landscape and Lighting Maintenance 

District.   

The proposed subdivision will drain from northwest to southeast into the main retention basin area 

at the southeast corner of the project site.  Similarly, in the northeast portion of the site, the lots 

will drain into a secondary retention basin in the northeast corner, abutting the Prado community.  

 

Landscaping/Fencing: 

The applicant has submitted conceptual plans showing the placement of 24-inch box and 36-inch 

box shade trees and accent trees around the retention basin, in the neighborhood streets, and along 

the Avenue 51 perimeter.  California fan palms are proposed at the main entry, creating a formal 

entry feature at Avenue 51 frontage with a landscaped median.  A variety of species trees are 

proposed in the retention basins including Sweet Acacia, Mulga, and Palo Verde trees. Although, 

no street trees are shown along the Avenue 51 frontage, staff is conditioning the project to use a 

minimum of one 24 – inch box species tree for every 50 feet along the street frontage of Avenue 

51.  

Over the past several months, staff has had detailed discussions with the adjoining Prado 

Community HOA regarding the emergency access gate along Via Prado and the future fencing at 

the southerly terminus of Ribera Street.  There are existing sewer lines and the need to maintain 

an emergency access gate at Via Prado is not a negotiable item.  Therefore, a decorative wrought 

iron gate will be installed at Via Prado (to substantially match the Prado gate at Avenue 50) to be 

installed. At the Planning Commission meeting, the requirement for the “addition of an opaque 

metal mesh/screen” was discussed for the Via Prado gate.  Additionally, the HOA specifically 

requested a solid masonry wall at Ribera Street which will be left as a “stub” street within the 

Prado community.  This presents some challenges because there are existing utilities in this 

location.  However, there is an ability to abandon the dry utilities here, and the City controls the 

wet utilities (water and sewer) and has agreed to enter into an encroachment permit to allow a solid 

masonry wall to be installed in this location.  An exhibit of the common-area landscaping is 

attached to this staff report.   

Non-gated communities require maintenance of common-area lots via the City’s Landscape and 

Lighting district. Accordingly, this project will be required to form a new LLMD for the common 

area maintenance assessments for maintenance of common area landscaped lots, emergency access 

gates and perimeter wall at Ribera Street and related common-area improvements.   

CONSISTENCY WITH GENERAL PLAN: 

The subject site is currently in a “General Neighborhood” land use category of the General Plan, 

which allows a density of 12 dwelling units per acre average, with a predominance of detached 

single family residences.  While the project will not achieve the desired average density, the project 

will be providing a lot size that is smaller than the current zoning district regulations, and as such 

staff is supporting the requested variance application to allow lot sizes less than 7,200 square feet, 

Page 650

Item 36.



and corner lots less than 70 feet in width.  This is substantially in keeping with the prior approvals 

on the site, and discussed in the variance application.  

 

CONSISTENCY WITH ZONING CODE: 

The subject zoning on the property is RS (Single Family Residential) which requires a minimum 

lot size of 7,200 square feet and minimum lot width of 60 feet for interior lots, 70 feet for corner 

lots, and 40 feet for knuckle or cul-de-sac lots.  The applicant has requested a variance to reduce 

the minimum lot area and corner lot dimensions for Tentative Tract Map No. 38084.  The project 

will provide lot sizes ranging in size from 6,014 to 13,825 square feet, and corner lot widths of 65 

to 100 feet in dimension.  This configuration of lot sizes is similar to the original Prado community 

to the north and the existing Aventine community to the south.  There are no irregularly-shaped 

lots proposed and all other development standards of the RS zone can be complied with when 

future homes are built on the project site. 

 

TENTATIVE TRACT MAP NO. 38084: 

Section 66474 et seq. of the Subdivision Map Act describes the grounds under which a City may 

approve or deny a tentative map. Section 16.12.100 of the Coachella Municipal Code includes the 

findings of the Subdivision Map Act that are required for granting approval of a tentative map.  

Staff has included findings and conditions for approval of the tentative map.  As outlined in this 

staff report, the proposed subdivision and attendant variance request have complied with City’s 

minimum policy directives under the General Plan and current zoning regulations.  All public 

street subdivisions are maintained by the City’s Landscape and Lighting Maintenance District.   

VARIANCE NO. 21-04: 

The applicant is seeking a variance to the minimum lot size established in the RS zone district.  

Section 17.16.030 (Residential – Single-Family Zone - Property Development Standards) § B-1 

(Lot Area Requirements – Interior Lots) of the Coachella Municipal Code requires that the 

minimum lot size shall be no less than 7,200 square feet for interior lots, and that all lots average 

at least 7,000 square feet.  The applicant is proposing lots that range in size from approximately 

6,014 square feet to 13,825 square feet, and an average lot size of approximately 7,500 square feet.    

In accordance with Chapter 17.76.020(B – Findings), in order to grant a variance to the above code 

section(s), the Planning Commission must make five findings as listed below.  Each finding 

granting a variance shall be supported by written findings of fact showing specifically how the 

determination is substantiated by evidence. 

In order to grant a variance, the Commission must make all the following findings in the 

affirmative, as specified in Section 17.76.020-B of the City Zoning Code.  

Page 651

Item 36.



 That the strict application of the provisions of this chapter would result in practical 

difficulties or unnecessary hardships inconsistent with the general purpose and intent of 

the chapter. 

 

 That there are special circumstances applicable to the subject property such as size, 

shape, topography, location or surroundings, that do not apply generally to other 

property in the same zone and vicinity. 

 

 That such variance is necessary for the preservation and enjoyment of a substantial 

property right or use generally possessed by other property in the same zone and vicinity, 

but which, because of such special circumstances and practical difficulties or 

unnecessary hardships is denied to the property in question. 

 

 That the granting of such variance will not be materially detrimental to the public welfare 

or injurious to the property or improvements in the same zone or vicinity in which the 

property is located 

 

 That the granting of the variance will not adversely affect any element of the general 

plan. 

 

Staff finds that the subject site has unique circumstances associated with the adjoining gated 

community that was originally supposed to be extended to Avenue 51. This has resulted in the 

need to modify street configurations and utility service designs that make the project infeasible 

without a reduced lot area pattern.  At the time that the approvals for the prior subdivision map, 

known as Tentative Tract Map No. 36555, there was a lot boundary discrepancy to be deeded to 

the westerly neighbor and measuring 16 foot x 620 foot (9,148 square feet) on the southwest 

corner of the proposed development.  In order to keep the design similar to that of the prior 

proposed project with 107 lots, without having to re-write the environmental assessment for the 

prior-approved project, the variance to the lot size standard is needed in order to not reduce the 

allowable number of lots on this subdivision.   

The General Plan 2035 document allows for nearby properties within the same existing zone 

designation and vicinity to develop at a higher density, including developments with lots of 6,000 

square foot minimums for single-family homes.  Further, the development directly east of the 

proposed project is a PUD with lots that are 6,000 and an average lot size of less than 7,000 

square feet. As such, there are adjacent developments with same-size or smaller lots, and the 

design of the development will have a layout of not having through streets that will act as a by-

pass for the major intersections, thus slowing and mitigating fast moving traffic through the 

development.   Accordingly, staff has prepared findings for recommending approval of the 

Variance request, to the City Council.  

 

Page 652

Item 36.



ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW NO. 21-03: 

The applicant has submitted architectural exhibits for three model production plans that are 

currently being built in the Valencia Community, located at the southeast corner of Avenue 50 and 

Van Buren Street.  The proposed architectural review proposes three production homes including:  

Model 1 - One-Story (3-Bedroom, 2-Bath) residence with 1,959 sq. ft. Of floor area;  

Model 2 - Two-story (4-Bedroom, 2 ½-Bath) residence with 2,404 sq. ft. of floor area 

Model 3 - Two-story (5-Bedroom, 3-Bath) residence with 2,825 sq. ft. of floor area.   

 

All homes will have an attached two-car garage, and there will be a variety of architectural themes 

(Spanish, Craftsman, and Prairie) and color palettes for the models’ exterior finishes and roof tile. 

The architectural theming is shown in the exhibits below:  

 

 

 

Plan 1 - Spanish Elevation 

 

 

Page 653

Item 36.



 

Plan 1 - Craftsman Elevation 

 

 

 

 

Plan 1 - Prairie Elevation 

 

 

 

Page 654

Item 36.



 

 

Plan 1 – Floor Plan  

 

 

 

Plan 2 - Spanish Elevation 

Page 655

Item 36.



 

 

 

Plan 2 - Prairie Elevation 

 

 

 

 

Plan 2 - Craftsman Elevation 

Page 656

Item 36.



 

Plan 2 – Floor Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

Plan 3 - Spanish Elevation 

Page 657

Item 36.



 

 

 

Plan 3 - Craftsman Elevation 

 

 

 

 

Page 658

Item 36.



Plan 3 - Prairie Elevation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Plan 3 – Floor Plan 

 

The proposed materials sample boards showing the various color palettes for the roof tile and 

exterior field colors, and trim/door colors are attached to this staff report. Additionally, the 

preliminary plotting plan for the overall community is shown below:  

Page 659

Item 36.



 

 

Staff has previously approved the three architectural elevation types proposed herein in the 

immediate vicinity of the site, at the Valencia community which is currently being developed. As 

such, staff is recommending approval of the proposed architectural review exhibits for this project.  

Accordingly, staff has prepared findings and conditions of approval for the approval of the request 

for Architectural Review No. 21-03. This includes a condition of approval that the applicant submit 

typical front yard landscaping plans, prior to issuance of building permits, to landscape the front 

yards in keeping with City Zoning Code regulations. The applicant has indicated that they intend 

to landscape the front yards with a design similar to what was installed at the “Valencia” 

community model homes, built by the same developer.  

 

CEQA ADDENDUM TO MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION (EIS 04-05): 

On June 9, 2004 the City Council adopted a Mitigated Negative Declaration pursuant to the 

guidelines of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) for the Prado project, as part of 

Page 660

Item 36.



Tentative Tract Map 32075 and Environmental Initial Study (EIS) 04-05. The proposed project is 

a re-designed version of Tentative Tract Map 32075 with a modified circulation plan, and would 

not increase the total number of residential lots previously proposed on the site.  All prior 

mitigation measures for EIS 04-05 have been made a part of the proposed project. As such, no 

additional environmental review is required.  

The City Council must approve the Addendum to Mitigated Negative Declaration (EIS #04-05) 

(attached), and approve the project based on the previously-adopted Mitigated Negative 

Declaration, including all mitigation measures listed in the attached Resolution approving the 

tentative tract map.   

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

Staff recommends that the City Council take the following actions.  

1) Approve the environmental documents contained as part of CEQA Addendum to Mitigated 

Negative Declaration for Environmental Initial Study (EIS 04-05) making a finding of 

adequacy with the prior Mitigated Negative Declaration and Mitigation Measures.  

2) Approve Variance No. 21-04 and Tentative Tract Map No. 38084 with the findings and 

conditions listed in the attached Resolution No. 2021-42. 

3) Approve Architectural Review No. 21-03 with the findings and conditions listed in the attached 

Resolution No. 2021-43.  

 

Attachments:   Resolution No. 2021-42 
Resolution No. 2021-43 
Tentative Tract Map No. 38084 Exhibit  

  Common Area Landscape Plans 
CEQA Addendum to Mitigated Negative Declaration (EIS #04-05) 
Architectural Exhibits 
Material Sample/Color Palette Board 
Correspondence 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 661

Item 36.



 

 

 

Page 662

Item 36.



RESOLUTION NO. 2021-42 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COACHELLA APPROVING AN ADDENDUM TO MITIGATED 

NEGATIVE DECLARATION PURSUANT TO CEQA GUIDELINES 

(ADDENDUM TO EIS 04-05) AND APPROVING TENTATIVE TRACT 

MAP NO. 38084 AND VARIANCE NO. 21-04 TO ALLOW THE 

SUBDIVISION OF 26.81 ACRES OF VACANT LAND INTO 107 SINGLE-

FAMILY RESIDENTIAL LOTS (HAVING LESS THAN THE MINIMUM 

7,200 SQUARE FEET OF LAND AREA RANGING IN SIZE FROM 6,017 

SQUARE FEET TO 13,171 SQUARE FEET, WITH AN AVERAGE LOT 

SIZE OF APPROXIMATELY 7,500 square FEET, WITH PUBLIC 

STREETS AND COMMON-AREA LOTS, ON 26.81 ACRES OF VACANT 

LAND LOCATED ON THE NORTH SIDE OF AVENUE 51 BETWEEN 

VAN BUREN STREET AND CHIAPAS DRIVE (APN #768-050-002). PULTE 

HOMES COMPANY, LLC (APPLICANT). 

 

WHEREAS, Pulte Homes Company, LLC  (“Applicant”) filed an application for 

Tentative Tract Map No. 38084 and Variance No. 21-04 and related entitlements for Architectural 

Review No.  21-03 to allow the subdivision and development  of 26.81 acres of vacant land into 

a residential community with 107 new homes, on the north side of Avenue 51 between Van 

Buren Street and Chiapas Drive; (Riverside County Assessor Parcel Numbers 768-050-002) 

(the “Project”) ; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City has processed said application pursuant to the Subdivision Map 

Act (commencing with Section 66400, Title 7 of the Government Code), Title 16 of the 

Coachella Municipal Code, and the California Environmental Quality Act of 1970 as amended; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, on May 19, 2021, the Planning Commission of the City of Coachella held 

a duly noticed and published Public Hearing and considered the Tentative Tract Map, Variance, 

and Architectural Review as presented by the applicant, adopting the findings and conditions 

as recommended by staff; and 

 

WHEREAS, at the Planning Commission Public Hearing of May 19, 2021 the applicant 

and the general public were given an opportunity to testify regarding Tentative Tract Map No. 

38084 and the attendant Variance and Architectural Review, and the Planning Commission 

recommended to the City Council approval of Tentative Tract Map No. 38084, and Variance 

No. 21-04 with the findings and conditions recommended by staff; and 

 

WHEREAS, on June 23, 2021, the City Council of the City of Coachella held a duly 

noticed and published Public Hearing and considered Tentative Tract Map No. 38084 and 

Variance No. 21-04 as presented by the applicant, adopting the findings and conditions as 

recommended by staff; and 

 

 

Page 663

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-42 

Page 2 

 
 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Coachella finds that Tentative Tract Map 

No. 38084 is in compliance with the Subdivision Map Act and the City’s Subdivision 

Ordinance. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of 

Coachella, California does hereby approve the Addendum to Mitigated Negative Declaration 

pursuant to California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines  (Addendum to EIS 04-

05), and approves Tentative Tract Map No. 38084 (attached herein as “Exhibit A”) and 

Variance No. 21-04 with the findings and conditions listed below. 

 

FINDINGS FOR APPROVAL OF TENTATIVE TRACT MAP NO. 38084: 

 

1. The proposed subdivision map and design of improvements are consistent with the General 

Plan, the City of Coachella Official Zoning Map and any specific plan governing the site. The 

subject site is a 27-acre vacant parcel with adequate access and lot dimensions to allow for the 

intended single-family residential lot development in a manner consistent with the Low 

Density Residential land use designation of the General Plan. The project will substantially 

comply with the draft General Plan 2035 document which calls for a “General Neighborhood” 

encouraging a predominance of small-lot, single-family residential neighborhoods. 

 

2. The site is physically suitable for the type of development and the proposed density. The 

proposed subdivision will provide adequate sized lots for new single-family residential lots.  

All proposed lots will have adequate dimensions, and ingress and egress to accommodate the 

proposed development. 

 

3. The design of the subdivision and type of improvements are not likely to cause substantial 

environmental damage or substantially and avoidably injure fish or wildlife or their habitat. 

There are no sensitive habitats or bodies of water in the immediate vicinity of the site.  The 

initial environmental study prepared for this project did not identify any biological resources 

on the site or in the vicinity of the project.  

 

4. The design of the subdivision and type of improvements are not likely to cause any serious 

public health problems. As proposed with the variance to the minimum lot size, the proposed 

subdivision would allow for single-family residential lots with a minimum lot size of 6,017 

square feet.  The adjoining uses are consistent with the proposed use of the property as a single-

family detached subdivision. 

 

5. The design of the subdivision and type of improvements will not conflict with easements, 

acquired by the public at large, for access through or use of, property within the proposed 

subdivision.  The project is located on the north side of Avenue 51 between Van Buren Avenue 

and Chiapas Drive.  Emergency access through the Prado project is accessible via an 

emergency access gate at Via Prado, and the proposed connections allow water and sewer to 

connect between Avenue 51 and Avenue 52. 

 

Page 664

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-42 

Page 3 

 
 

6. The design of the subdivision will provide, to the extent feasible, for future passive or natural 

heating or cooling opportunities. The proposed subdivision will provide adequate sites for new 

homes with southern exposure, and all future construction will be designed to the latest 

Building Codes and energy efficient design and construction will be required by the City’s 

Building Department. 

 

7. The scope of development proposed as part of Tentative Tract Map 38084 is substantially 

similar to the prior approved Tentative Tract Map 32075 and Environmental Initial Study No. 

04-05 which was prepared pursuant to the State of California Environmental Quality Act 

Guidelines.  Additionally, staff prepared an Addendum to the Mitigated Negative Declaration 

showing substantial evidence that the proposed project will not create any new potentially 

adverse environmental effects that were not previously analyzed and mitigated.  As such, the 

project is consistent with the Mitigated Negative Declaration as adopted by the City Council 

on June 9, 2004, and the project’s environmental effects will not be significant subject to the 

project’s compliance with the following mitigation measures, as are applicable to the subject 

site: 

 

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

 

Air Quality 

 

AQl  All off-road construction equipment shall use aqueous diesel fuel. 

 

AQ2  During clearing, grading, earth moving, or excavation operations, excessive fugitive 

dust emissions shall be controlled by regular watering or other dust preventive measures 

using the following procedures, as specified in the  South Coast Air Quality 

Management District’s Rules and Regulations. Comply with AQMD Rule 403, 

particularly to minimize fugitive dust and noise to surrounding areas. SCAQMD Rule 

403.1, as amended, should be adhered to, ensuring the cleanup of the construction-

related dirt on approach routes to the site, and the application of water and/or chemical 

dust retardants that solidify loose soils, should be implemented for construction vehicle 

access, as directed by the City Engineer. This should include covering, watering or 

otherwise stabilizing all inactive soil piles (left more than 10 days) and inactive graded 

areas (left more than 10 days).   

 

 On-site vehicle speed will be limited to 15 miles per hour.  

 

 All material excavated or graded will be sufficiently watered to prevent excessive 

amounts of dust. Watering will occur at least twice doily with complete coverage, 

preferable in the late morning and after work is done for the day.   

 

 Unpaved haul roods shall be watered at least twice daily.  

 

 All material transported on-site or off-site will be either sufficiently watered or 

securely covered to prevent excessive amounts of dust.  

 

Page 665

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-42 

Page 4 

 
 

 The area disturbed by clearing, grading, earth moving, or excavation operations will 

be minimized so as to prevent excessive amounts of dust.  

 

These control techniques will be indicated in Project specifications. Compliance with 

this measure will be subject to periodic site inspections by the City. 

 

AQ3  Project grading plans shall show the duration of construction. Ozone 

precursor emissions from construction equipment vehicles shall be controlled by 

maintaining equipment engines in good condition and in proper tune per manufacturer's 

specifications, to the satisfaction of the City Engineer.  Compliance with this measure 

will be subject to periodic inspections of construction equipment vehicles by the City. 

 

AQ4  All trucks that are to haul excavated or graded material on-site shall comply with State 

Vehicle Code Section 23114, with special attention to Sections 23114(b)(F), (e)(2) and 

(e) (4) as amended, regarding the prevention of such material spilling onto public streets 

and roads.  

 

Biological Resources 

 

BIO1 Spring botanical surveys shall be conducted during Spring 2004 assuming appropriate 

weather conditions occur (i.e., appropriate rainfall) to determine if special status plant 

species are present or absent. If no special status plant species are identified within the 

study area, no further mitigation shall be required. If a sizeable population of special 

status plant species is located within the study area, mitigation shall be developed 

through either a conservation easement or mitigation plan. The mitigation plan shall 

include the following requirements: 

A pre-construction survey conducted during the peak flowering period for each 

respective special status plant potentially occurring on the Project site shall be conducted 

by the Project biologist the spring prior to grading. 

 

If a large population of special status plants (as determined by USFWS staff) is found 

during these surveys, the limits of each impacted location shall be clearly delineated 

with lath and brightly colored flagging. 

 

The locations of special status plants shall be monitored every two weeks by the Project 

biologist to determine when the seeds are ready for collection. 

 

A qualified seed collector shall collect all of the seeds from the plants to be impacted 

when the seeds are ripe. The seeds shall be cleaned and stored by a qualified nursery or 

institution with appropriate storage facilities. 

 

Following the seed collection, the top 12 inches of topsoil from special status plant 

populations shall be scraped, stockpiled and used in the selected mitigation location 

agreed upon by the City and the Project biologist. 

 

Page 666

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-42 

Page 5 

 
 

The mitigation plan shall include detailed descriptions of maintenance appropriate for 

the Project site, monitoring requirements and annual reports requirements and shall have 

the full authority to suspend any operation on the Project site which is, in the qualified 

biologist's opinion, not consistent with the mitigation plan. 

 

The performance criteria developed in the mitigation plan shall include requirements for 

a minimum of 60 percent germination of the number of plants impacted. The 

performance criteria shall also include percent cover, density and seed production 

requirements. These criteria shall be developed by the Project biologist following habitat 

analysis of an existing habitat. This information shall be recorded by a qualified 

biologist. 

 

If the germination goal of 60 percent is not achieved following the first season, 

remediation measures shall be implemented and additional seeding may be necessary. 

Remedial measures would include at a minimum: soils testing, control of invasive 

species, soil amendments and physical disturbance (to provide scarification of the seed) 

of the planted areas by raking or similar actions. Additional mitigation measures may 

be suggested as determined necessary by the Project biologist. Potential seed sources 

from additional donor sites shall also be identified in case it becomes necessary to collect 

additional seed for use on the Project site following performance of remedial measures. 

 

BI02 In order to avoid impacts to an occupied burrowing owl burrow, focused surveys shall 

be conducted prior to commencement of clearing or grading operations on the Project 

site. Additionally, if clearing or grading operations are planned during the breeding 

season for any of these species, a breeding rapt or survey shall be conducted prior to any 

clearing or grading activities. 

Surveys for burrowing owl shall be conducted according to a protocol prepared by the 

Burrowing Owl Consortium of the Santa Cruz Predatory Bird Research Group. Surveys 

shall be conducted by walking through suitable habitat over the entire Project site and 

in areas within approximately 500 feet of the Project impact zone. Any active burrows 

found during survey efforts shall be mapped on the construction plans. If no active 

burrowing owl burrows are found, no further mitigation is required. Results of the 

surveys shall be provided to the CDFG. 

 

BI03  If burrowing owl nest sites are found, the following restrictions on construction are 

required between March 1 and August 31(or until nests are no longer active as 

determined by a qualified biologist):  

 

Clearing limits shall be established with a minimum of 250 feet, or as otherwise 

determined by a qualified biologist, in any direction from any occupied burrow 

exhibiting nesting activity; and Access and surveying shall not be allowed within 100 

feet of any burrow exhibiting nesting activity. Any encroachment into the 250/1 00-

foot buffer area around the known nest is allowed only if it is determined by a qualified 

biologist that the proposed activity shall not disturb the nest occupants. If construction 

occurs outside of the breeding season, exclusion of burrowing owls from their burrow 

is a practice generally accepted by the CDFG. Exclusion of burrowing owls involves 

Page 667

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-42 

Page 6 

 
 

placement of one-way doors at the opening of known occupied burrows to allow egress 

from and preventing ingress to the burrow. In this manner the burrowing owl is forced 

to look for another suitable roosting location. One-way doors should be left in place 

for 48 hours to ensure owls have left the burrow before excavation. Whenever possible, 

burrows shall be excavated using hand tools and refilled to prevent reoccupation. 

Sections of flexible plastic pipe or burlap bags shall be inserted into the tunnels during 

excavation to maintain an escape route for any animals inside the burrow. 

 

BI04  Surveys for the Coachella Valley round-tailed ground squirrel shall be conducted 

according to guidelines provided by the USFWS and consist of the following: 

 

A minimum of three surveys conducted between May 1 and July 31; Each survey must 

be conducted from one hour after sunrise to four hours after sunrise:  

 

Temperatures in the shade must range from 80 degrees to 91.4 degrees 

Fahrenheit (27 degrees to 33 degrees Centigrade); 

Wind speeds must be low; and 100 percent of the study area must be covered, using 

walking transects spaced approximately 32 feet ( 10 meters) apart. 

 

BI05  Adequate fees shall be paid according to the adopted Multiple Species Habitat Plan 

(MSHCP) and Natural Community Conservation Plan (NCCP) shall it become adopted 

prior to Project development.  

 

 

Cultural Resources 

 

CUL 1 Prior to construction. the applicant shall hire a certified archaeologist to observe 

grading/ major trenching activities and salvage and catalogue archaeological resources 

as necessary. The archaeologist shall establish. In cooperation with the City. 

procedures for temporarily halting or redirecting work to permit sampling. 

identification and evaluation of the artifacts, as appropriate. If the archaeological 

resources are found to be significant, the archaeologist shall determine appropriate 

actions, in consultation with the City. for exploration and/or salvage. 

 

Geology and Soils 

 

GEOl  All structures shall be designed as confirmed during the building design plan checking, 

to withstand anticipated groundshaking caused by future earthquakes within an 

acceptable level of risk (i.e., high risk zone). As designated by the City's latest adopted 

edition of the Uniform Building Code. 

 

GE02  Prior to the issuance of a grading permit, a site specific geologic and soils report shall 

be prepared by a registered geologist or soils engineer and submitted to the City 

Building and Safety Division for approval. The report shall specify design parameters 

necessary to remediate any soil and geologic hazards. 

 

Page 668

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-42 

Page 7 

 
 

GE03  All grading. landform modifications and construction shall be in conformance with 

state-of-the-practice design and construction parameters. Typical standard minimum 

guidelines regarding regulations to control excavations, grading, earthwork 

construction. including fills and embankments and provisions for approval of plans 

and inspection of grading construction are set from the latest version of the Uniform 

Building Code. Compliance with these standards shall be evident on grading and 

structural plans. This measure shall be monitored by the City Building and Safety 

Division through periodic site inspections. 

 

GE04  Type 5 cement shall be used for all foundations and slabs on grade. 

 

GEO5  Precise grading plans shall include an Erosion, Siltation and Dust Control Plan to be 

approved by the City Building Division. The Plan's provisions may include 

sedimentation basins. sand bagging, soil compaction, revegetation, temporary 

irrigation, scheduling and time limits on grading activities, and construction equipment 

restrictions on-site. This plan shall also demonstrate compliance with South Coast Air 

Quality Management District Rule 403, which regulates fugitive dust control. 

 

GE06  As soon as possible following the completion of grading activities, exposed soils shall 

be seeded or vegetated seed mix and/or native vegetation to ensure soil stabilization. 

 

 

Hazards and Hazardous Materials 

 

HAZl Any hazardous waste that is generated on-site shall be transported to an appropriate 

disposal facility by a licensed hauler in accordance with the appropriate State and 

Federal laws.  

 

HAZ2 All miscellaneous vehicles, maintenance equipment and materials, 

construction/irrigation materials, miscellaneous stockpiled debris, 1 and 5-gallon 

containers, construction/irrigation materials, and former agricultural equipment, 

should be removed off-site and properly disposed of at an approved landfill facility. 

Once removed, a visual inspection of the areas beneath the removed materials should 

be performed. Any stained soils observed underneath the removed materials should be 

sampled. Results of the sampling (if necessary) would indicate the level of remediation 

efforts that may be required. 

 

HAZ3 Soil sampling should be performed within the maintenance yard to characterize the 

extent of contamination associated with the surficial soil staining. Soil should be 

removed and disposed of at an appropriate landfill facility in accordance with state and 

federal requirements.  

 

HAZ4 The majority of the Project site has been historically utilized for agricultural purposes 

for several decades and may contain pesticide residues in the soil. Soil sampling should 

occur throughout the Project site, including the maintenance and staging areas. The 

Page 669

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-42 

Page 8 

 
 

sampling will determine if pesticide concentrations exceed established regulatory 

requirements and will identify proper handling procedures that may be required.  

 

HAZ5 The terminus of all undocumented pipes should be defined. The primary concern with 

pipes that extend into the ground surface is the potential for the pipe(s) to act as a 

ventilation apparatus for a UST. Should USTs be present, the USTs should be removed 

and properly disposed of at an approved landfill facility. Once the UST is removed, a 

visual inspection of the areas beneath and around the removed UST should be 

performed. Any stained soils observed underneath the UST should be sampled. Results 

of the sampling (if necessary) would indicate the level of remediation efforts that may 

be required. 

 

HAZ6 The location of the two former USTs should be defined since no closure/removal 

records were found during this Assessment. Once identified, soil sampling should be 

performed within the former UST areas to characterize the extent of contamination (if 

any) associated with the former USTs staining. 

 

HAZ7 The on-site water well should be properly removed and abandoned pursuant to the latest 

procedures required by the local agency with closure responsibilities for the wells. Any 

associated equipment should be removed off-site properly disposed of at a permitted 

landfill.  A visual inspection of the areas beneath the removed materials  (if present)  

should be performed. 

 

HAZ8 A visual inspection of the interior  the on-site structure  is recommended.  In the  event  

that   hazardous  materials   are  encountered, they  should   be properly tested and then 

properly disposed of pursuant to State and Federal regulations. 

 

HAZ9  Any transformers to be removed/relocated should be conducted under the purview of 

the local utility purveyor to identify property handling procedures regarding potential 

PCBs. 

 

HAll0  Based upon the year  the existing structure located on the Project site was built  (prior  

to  1978), asbestos-containing materials  and lead-based paint may be present  within 

the existing on-site structures and would need to be handled properly prior to 

remodeling or demolition activities. 

 

HAZll If unknown wastes or suspect materials are discovered during construction by   the   

contractor  which  he/she    believes  may    involve   hazardous waste/materials, the 

contract  shall: 

 

Immediately  stop  work  in  the  vicinity   of  the  suspected contaminant, removing 

workers and  the public from the area;  

 

Notify the Project  Engineer of the implementing Agency; Secure the area a directed 

by the Project  Engineer; and  

 

Page 670

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-42 

Page 9 

 
 

Notify the implementing agency's Hazardous  Waste/Materials Coordinator 

 

Hydrology  and  Water Quality 

 

HYDl  The applicant shall obtain a Notice of Intent  from  the  State  of  California Regional  

Water   Quality   Control  Board,  as  the  approximately  58-acre proposed Project  

would result in the disturbance of one  or more acres.   A copy of the Notice of Intent  

acknowledgement from the State of California Regional Water  Quality  Control Board  

must  be  submitted to  the  City  of Coachella before issuance of grading permits. 

 

HYD2 Prior to the issuance of grading permits, Best Management Practices (BMPs) shall be  

developed in compliance with  the  City  of  Coachella  and  the Coachella Valley   

Water  District  NPDES  Permit.    Specific  measures shall include: 

 

Siltation  of  drainage devices shall be  handled through a  maintenance program to 

remove silt/dirt from channels and parking areas;  

 

Surplus or waste materials from construction shall not be placed in drainage ways or 

within the 100-year floodplain surface waters:  

 

All loose piles of soil, silt, cloy, sand, debris or other earthen materials shall be 

protected in a reasonable manner to eliminate any discharge to waters of the State;  

 

During construction, temporary gravel or sandbag dikes shall be used as necessary to 

prevent discharge of earthen materials from the site during periods of precipitation or 

runoff:  

 

Stabilizing agents such as straw, wood chips and/or soil sealant/dust retardant shall be 

used during the interim period after grading in order to strengthen exposed soil until 

permanent solutions ore implemented; and  

 

Re-vegetated areas shall be continually maintained in order to assure adequate growth 

and root development. 

 

HYD3 The applicant shall submit a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP), which 

identifies construction and post construction BMPs to the City for review and approval.  

 

HYD4  Prior to the issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a Water Quality 

Management Plan (WQMP) pursuant to the Coachella Valley Water District and the 

City of Coachella local implementation plan, specifically identifying BMPs that shall 

be used on-site to control predictable pollutant runoff. 

 

HYDS Prior to the issuance of building permits, the applicant shall obtain coverage under 

NPDES Statewide Industrial Stormwater Permit for General Construction Activities 

from the State Water Resources Control Board. Evidence that this has been obtained 

shall be submitted to the City.  

Page 671

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-42 

Page 10 

 
 

 

Land Use and Planning 

 

LANl The City of Coachella has determined that there is a need for improvements that are 

caused by new development and for which a shored responsibility for constructing 

exists. The study prepared by the Community Development Department regarding 

Proposed New Development Impact Fees has been prepared and is available for 

review. Payment of a fair share amount would serve to mitigate the impacts of new 

development. One of these fees is the General Plan Fee to be paid at the time permits 

are issued. In 2009, the City adopted a General Government facility fee that includes 

a General Plan Update component. The fees shall be paid according to the City’s 

current development impact fee schedule at the time the building permit is issued. 

 

Noise 

 

Nl  During all Project site excavation and grading, the Project Contractor shall equip all 

construction equipment, fixed or mobile, with properly operating and maintained 

mufflers consistent with manufacturers' standards.  

 

N2  The Construction Contractor shall place all stationary construction equipment so that 

emitted noise is directed away from sensitive receptors nearest the Project site. 

 

N3  The Construction Contractor shall locate equipment staging in areas that will create 

the greatest distance between construction-related noise sources and noise-sensitive 

receptors nearest the Project site during all Project construction. 

 

Public Services 

 

PSl  The developer is subject to school assessment fees pursuant to California State law. 

The developer shall provide evidence of compliance to the City prior to issuance of 

building permits.  

 

PS2  The developer is subject to park assessment fees pursuant to California State law. The 

developer shall provide evidence of either the dedication of land or fees paid in lieu 

of, to the City prior to issuance of building permits. 

 

Traffic 

 

TRl  The Project applicant's payment to the Coachella Valley Association of Governments 

(CVAG) Transportation Uniform Mitigation Fund (TUMF) Fee Program and to the 

City of Coachella Environmental Fee Program for Traffic Signals shall pay for the 

Project's fair share contribution to the identified mitigation measures as follow: 

 

Van Buren Street/ Avenue 50-Modify eastbound Avenue 50 approach from one left-

turn lane and one shared through/right-turn lane to consist of one left-turn lane, one 

through lane and one shared through/right-turn lane.  

Page 672

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-42 

Page 11 

 
 

 

Frederick Street/ Avenue 50- Modify westbound Avenue 50 approach from one left-

turn lane, one through lane and one right-turn lane to consist of one left-turn lane, one 

through lane and one shared through/right-turn lane.  

 

TR2  The City of Coachella has determined that there is a need for improvements that are 

caused by new development and for which a shared responsibility for constructing 

exists. The study prepared by the Department of Community Development regarding 

Proposed New Development Impact Fees has been prepared and is available for 

review. Payment of a fair share amount would serve to mitigate the impact of new 

development, as follows:  

 

The approved development impact fee for Traffic Signal shall be paid at the time 

permits are issued. A fee shall be paid at the time the permits are issued as a mitigated 

of the environmental impacts associated with this project. The fees shall be paid 

according to the City’s current development impact fee schedule.  

 

TR3  The City of Coachella has determined that there is a need for improvements that are 

caused by new development and for which a shored responsibility for constructing 

exists. The study prepared by the Department of Community Development regarding 

Proposed New Development Impact Fees has been prepared and is available for 

review. Payment of a fair shore amount would serve to mitigate the impact of new 

development as follows: The approved development impact fee for Bridge and Grade 

Separation be paid at that permits are issued. In 2009, the City adopted a Streets and 

Transportation facility that includes roads and bridges impacts. The fees shall be paid 

according to the City’s current development impact fee schedule at the time the 

building permit is issued. 

 

TR4  The City of Coachella has determined that there is a need for improvements that ore 

caused by new development and for which a shored responsibility for constructing 

exists. The study prepared by the Department of Community Development regarding 

Proposed New Development Impact Fees has been prepared and is available for 

review. Payment of a fair shore amount would serve to mitigate the impact of new 

development. The approved development impact fee for Bus Shelter and Bus Stop 

Safety Zone shall be paid at the time permits or issued. A fee shall be paid at the time 

the permits or issued as mitigation for environmental impacts associated with the 

project. The fees shall be paid according the City’s current development impact fee 

schedule. 

 

TRS  Prior to Project plan approval, the quantity, location, width and type of driveways shall 

be subject to the approval of the City Engineer. An effective sight distance for 

vehicular traffic shall be maintained at the driveway entrances on Avenue 50 and 

Calhoun Street. Adequate sight distance shall also be maintained within the 

development at all driveway intersections to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. 

 

 

Page 673

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-42 

Page 12 

 
 

Utilities and Services 

 

UTIL1  All required sewer improvements shall be designed and constructed to City Standards. 

All tentative tract mops, site plans and other plans within the Project area shall be 

accompanied by adequate plans for sewer improvements prepared by a registered 

professional engineer.  

 

UTIL2  Prior to the issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit for approval of the 

City Engineering Deportment, a Water Quality Management Plan (WQMP) 

specifically identifying Best Management Practices (BMPs) that shall be used on-site 

to control predictable pollutant runoff. 

 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL FOR TENTATIVE TRACT MAP NO. 38084: 

 

1. Approval of Tentative Tract Map 38084 is contingent upon Planning Commission approval 

of the attendant Variance 21-04 for reduced lot size and dimension requirements of the RS 

zone.  The tentative map is approved for a 107-lot subdivision having frontage on public 

streets and leaving an emergency-access gate along Via Prado between the subject site and 

Prado Gated Community.   

 

2. The final map shall provide a perimeter landscaped setback along the Avenue 51 frontage of 

35 feet measured from the curb face to the perimeter wall.   

 

3. Prior to recordation of the final map, the applicant shall submit revised landscaped plans 

subject to review by the Planning Commission showing the following:  

 

a. A minimum six-foot high decorative masonry wall shall be erected at the southerly 

terminus of Ribera Street, to match the existing perimeter wall for the southern boundary 

of the Prado Gated Community.  

 

b. A landscaping/irrigation plan shall be submitted for the 10-foot by 100-foot landscaped 

median island and planter at the entrance into the community along Via Prado.  

 

c. Decorative metal signage identifying the community name shall be installed on the 

perimeter walls adjacent to the  intersection of Via Prado and Avenue 51. 

 

d. The use of  ¾-inch or larger gravel in lieu of decomposed granite “fines” in all common 

area landscaped planter areas.  

 

e. A landscape/irrigation plan showing a “desert wash” landscape palette of trees, shrubs 

and groundcovers, with a minimum 3-inch cobble at the floor of all retention basins. 

 

4. The applicant shall submit a detailed landscaping and irrigation plan for review and approval 

by the City Engineer and Development Services Director prior to the recordation of the final 

map. The applicant shall improve Lot C of Tentative Tract Map 38084 (Retention Lot) with 

a perimeter paved ADA pathway with outdoor exercise stations and equipment accessible 

Page 674

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-42 

Page 13 

 
 

from connecting sidewalks along Street A, subject to review by the Development Services 

Director and City Engineer.  

 

5. The proposed subdivision shall be improved with a decorative masonry perimeter wall 

consisting of tan slumpstone, splitface block, or precision with stucco finish wall, and a 

decorative cap.  A minimum of one 12-inch square masonry pilaster at every 50 feet shall be 

used along any masonry wall facing a public street.  

 

6. Prior to final map recordation, staff will review all street names and addressing for 

consistency with the type of Street consistent with City policies. 

 

Coachella Valley Water District 

 

7. The City of Coachella may require mitigation measures to be incorporated into the 

development to prevent flooding of the site or downstream properties. These measures shall 

require on-site retention of the incremental increase of runoff from the 100-year storm. 

 

8. The applicant shall meet and confer with the Coachella Valley Water District and provide 

verification that there are not interferences with the proposed subdivision and any United 

States Bureau of Reclamation facilities, or CVWD/private facilities not shown on the 

development plans, including but not limited to Avenue 51 West Drain Line.  

 

9. The project lies within the East Whitewater River Sub basin Area of Benefit. Groundwater 

production within the area of benefit is subject to a replenishment assessment in accordance 

with the State Water Code. 

 

10. All water wells owned or operated by an entity producing more than 25 acre-feet of water 

during any year must be equipped with a water-measuring device. A CVWD Water 

Production Metering Agreement is required to ensure CVWD staff regularly read and 

maintain this water-measuring device. 

 

11. Prior to recordation of the final map, the subdivider shall meet and confer with the Coachella 

Valley Water District to incorporate into the design, construction, and operation of the 

subdivision to reduce its negative impact on the Indio Subbasin, pursuant to the approved 

Coachella Valley Water Management Plan Alternative to the Groundwater Sustainability 

Plan.  

 

 

ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT 

 

Street Improvements:  

 

12. Street improvement plans prepared by a California Registered Civil Engineer shall be 

submitted for engineering plan check prior to issuance of encroachment permits.  All street 

improvements including street lights shall be designed and constructed in conformance with 

Page 675

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-42 

Page 14 

 
 

City Standards and Specifications.  Street flow line grade shall have a minimum slope of 0.35 

%.  

 

13. Applicant shall construct all off-site and on-site improvements including street pavement, 

curb, gutter, sidewalk, street trees, perimeter walls, perimeter landscaping and irrigation, 

storm drain, street lights, and any other incidental works necessary to complete the 

improvements.  Driveways shall conform to City of Coachella standards for residential 

driveways.  

 

14. Avenue 51 shall be improved as shown in the Mobility Element of the General Plan, with a 

35-foot half street paved roadway and a 10-foot parkway. Street improvements shall include 

3 inches of A.C. pavement over 10 inches of class II base, 8 inch type “B” curb and gutter, 

6-foot sidewalk, 15,000 lumen HPS street lights (150 watt bulb), connections to the existing 

public improvements with the appropriate transitions and tapers as required by the City 

Engineer and any other incidental works necessary to complete the improvements in 

accordance with the City Standards and Specifications.   

 

15. Avenue 51 shall be a 90-foot right-of-way, except where underground utilities will be 

constructed within the parkway additional right of way is required for a total of 15 feet 

parkway.  An additional 25 feet of common-area/perimeter landscaping shall be provided 

between the street right-of-way along Avenue 51 and perimeter subdivision wall.   

 

16. The developer shall grant a landscaping easement to the City of Coachella over all common-

area / retention basin lots for inclusion into the Landscape and Lighting Maintenance District.  

17. The developer shall obtain an encroachment permit for any improvements constructed within 

public right-of-ways.  

 

18. The applicant shall provide Speed Humps on all interior streets. Locations shall be approved 

by the City Engineer. 

 

Sewer and Water Improvements: 

 

19. Sewer & Water Improvement Plans prepared by a California Registered Civil Engineer shall 

be submitted for engineering plan check and City Engineer approval.  

 

20. Applicant shall construct all off-site and on-site water and wastewater improvements and any 

other incidental works necessary to complete the improvements.  Size and location of sewer 

and water improvements shall be approved by the City Engineer.  

21. Applicant shall extend the 12” water main in Avenue 51 to the westerly boundary of this tract 

and connect the onsite water system to this main. System shall include all fire hydrants, 

valves, blow-offs, fittings and all incidental works necessary to complete the water system in 

accordance with the City Standards and Specifications. 

 

22. Minimum depth of sewer manholes shall be 5.00 feet (top of pipe to top of rim). Size and 

slope of sewer mains shall be approved by the City Engineer.  The minimum slope for sewer 

Page 676

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-42 

Page 15 

 
 

main shall be as follows: (1) 8" - 0.33 percent, (2) 10" - 0.24 percent, (3) 12" - 0.19 percent, 

(4) 15", 18", 24", 27" & 33" 0.14 percent.  

 

23. Applicant shall extend the 12” sewer main in Avenue 51 to the westerly boundary of this tract 

and connect the onsite sewer system to this main. System shall include all manholes, 

cleanouts, and laterals to serve each residential lot, and all incidental works necessary to 

complete the sewer system in accordance with the City Standards and Specifications. 

 

General: 

 

24. A composite utility plan showing all utilities shall be submitted for review and approval by 

the City Engineer.  The applicant shall construct all other utilities such as gas, telephone, 

television cable, electrical, and any other incidental works necessary to complete the utility 

improvements.  All utilities will be constructed underground and extended to the tract 

boundary.  Existing overhead utilities within the limit of construction shall be relocated 

underground and behind sidewalk.  Street improvement plans shall not be approved until this 

plan is submitted and deemed substantially complete and correct.  

 

25. The developer shall submit a Fugitive Dust Control and Erosion Control plan in accordance 

with Guidelines set forth by CMC and SCAQMD to maintain wind and drainage erosion and 

dust control for all areas disturbed by grading.  Exact method(s) of such control shall be 

subject to review and approval by the City Engineer.  No sediment is to leave the site.  

Additional securities, in bond form, in amount of $2,000.00 per acre of gross area, and a one 

time cash deposit of $2,000.00 are required to insure compliance with this requirement.  No 

work may be started on or off site unless the PM-10 plan has been approved, the original 

plans, and executed dust control agreement, are filed in the engineering department at the 

City of Coachella. 

 

26. The owner shall agree to the formation of a Landscape and Lighting Maintenance District for 

the maintenance of the lighting, perimeter wall, landscaping and irrigation.  The owner shall 

prepare the improvement plans, Engineer’s Report, Estimated Costs, and submit to the City 

Engineer as required for the formation of the LLMD.  The funds to be deposited shall be a 

minimum of $1,000.  Costs over $1,000 shall be billed by the City to the owner for payment 

prior to the recordation of the Final Map. 

 

27. The applicant shall pay all necessary plan check, permit and inspection fees at cost for the 

public off-site and on-site improvements.  Fees will be determined when plans are submitted 

to the City Engineering Department for plan check. 

28. Applicant shall comply with the valley wide NPDES permit requirements including but not 

limited to submittal of a Preliminary WQMP for plan review accompanied by a $3,000 plan 

check deposit and a Final WQMP for final approval including executed maintenance 

agreement. All unused plan check fees will be refunded to the applicant upon approval of the 

Final WQMP.  

 

 

 

Page 677

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-42 

Page 16 

 
 

Completion: 

 

29. "As-built" plans shall be submitted to and approved by the City Engineer prior to acceptance 

of the improvements by the City.  All off-site and on-site improvements shall be completed 

to the satisfaction of the City Engineer prior to acceptance of improvements for maintenance 

by the City.  

 

30. Prior to issuance to of certificate of occupancy, all off-site improvements, including 

landscaping and lighting of the retention basins, and landscaped areas along the exterior 

streets, shall be completed to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. 

 

31. The developer will establish, at a minimum, one (1) vertical control monument (benchmark) 

to be placed in a permanent location within the limits of the development and file a record of 

said monument with the County of Riverside. The monument will comply with Caltrans 

survey manual chapter 8 section 8.2-3 for benchmarks. The record elevation set will comply 

with third-order precision standards as defined in the Caltrans Surveys manual. Official City 

of Coachella Vertical Control Brass disks will be available from the City of Coachella. The 

monument location shall be approved by the City Engineer prior to establishment.  

 

32. The owner/developer shall reimburse the City of Coachella for public improvements related 

to the existing Traffic Signal at Avenue 50 and Van Buren Street, and for the Landscaped 

Median at Avenue  Owner/developer shall pay $1,211.64 per dwelling unit for Landscaped 

Median and $788.12 per dwelling unit for Traffic Signal at the time building permits are 

issued for each new dwelling unit.  

 

33. The developer shall construct improvements including sidewalks, with a 6-inch raised curb 

and gutter connecting to pavement, fronting along all lots to be developed.  The use of 

“wedge” curb, or “rolled” curb shall not be allowed. All Driveways shall conform to City of 

Coachella standards.  

 

34. The developer shall work with the City of Coachella Engineering Department on a scope of 

work and any necessary repairs for completion of all on-site and off-site improvements.  Prior 

to final inspections for each phase, the developer shall meet and confer with the City Engineer 

to schedule inspections for existing street improvements and to identify repairs to be made 

by the developer that resulted from the developer’s construction activities.  Developer shall 

make requested repairs prior to receiving a certificate of occupancy for the last home in the 

phase for which final inspections are being requested at that time.  

 

Street Lights: 

 

35. The developer shall pay applicable fees to energize street lights to the appropriate agency, 

and shall verify that all street lights are operational prior to issuance of the 1st Certificate of 

Occupancy of each phase.  

 

 

 

Page 678

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-42 

Page 17 

 
 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT FOR VARIANCE NO. 21-04: 

 

1. The strict application of the provisions of this chapter would result in practical difficulties 

or unnecessary hardships inconsistent with the general purpose and intent of chapter 17 

(Zoning Code).  At the time that the approvals for the prior subdivision map, known as 

Tentative Tract Map No. 36555, there was a lot boundary discrepancy to be deeded to the 

westerly neighbor and measuring 16 foot x 620 foot (9,148 square feet) on the southwest 

corner of the proposed development.  In order to keep the design similar to that of the prior 

proposed project with 107 lots, without having to re-write the environmental assessment for 

the prior-approved project, the variance to the lot size standard is needed in order to not 

reduce the allowable number of lots on this subdivision.   

 

2. There are special circumstances applicable to the subject property such as size, shape, 

topography, location or surroundings that do not apply generally to other property in the 

same zone and vicinity.   The subject site has unique circumstances associated with the 

adjoining gated community that was originally supposed to be extended to Avenue 51. This 

has resulted in the need to modify street configurations and utility service designs that make 

the project infeasible without a reduced lot area pattern.  

 

3. The variance is necessary for the preservation and enjoyment of a substantial property right 

or use generally possessed by other property in the same zone and vicinity, but which, 

because of such special circumstances and practical difficulties or unnecessary hardships is 

denied to the property in question. The General Plan 2035 document allows for nearby 

properties within the same existing zone designation and vicinity to develop at a higher 

density, including developments with lots of 6,000 square foot minimums for single-family 

homes.  Further, the development directly east of the proposed project is a PUD with lots 

that are 6,000 and an average lot size of less than 7,000 square feet. 

 

4. The granting of the variance will not be materially detrimental to the public welfare or 

injurious to the property or improvements in the same zone or vicinity in which the property 

is located.  Allowing slightly smaller lots than the zone designation allows will not be 

materially detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to the property or improvements of 

nearby developments.  Adjacent developments have same-size or smaller lots, and the 

design of the development will have a layout of not having through streets that will act as a 

by-pass for the major intersections, thus slowing and mitigating fast moving traffic through 

the development.   

 

5. The granting of the variance will not adversely affect any element of the general plan. The 

current General Plan designation for the property is General Neighborhood and has a desired 

population density of 7-20 dwelling units per acre with small-lot single family detached 

residential as the predominant development pattern.  The proposed development proposes a 

density of 4 dwelling units per acre with smaller-lot single family lots as encouraged by the 

General Plan.  Allowing the density helps to further achieve the desired population within 

this portion of the City.     

 

Page 679

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-42 

Page 18 

 
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL FOR VARIANCE NO. 21-04: 

 

1. Approval of Variance No. 21-04 is to allow deviations in the minimum lot size and dimension 

requirements for lots in the R-S (Residential Single-Family) zoning district as shown on the 

submitted Tentative Tract Map 38084. All other development standards of the R-S zone and 

the City’s Municipal Code shall be complied with and shown on the final map.   

 

2. Variance No. 21-04 is hereby granted for a 24-month period, or until Tentative Tract Map 

38084 is recorded, whichever occurs sooner, unless extended by the Planning Commission.  

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED, this 23rd day of June 2021. 

 

___________________________________                                                                                        

Steven A Hernandez 

Mayor         

 

 

ATTEST:  

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Capos 

City Attorney 

Page 680

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-42 

Page 19 

 
 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA        ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE       ) ss. 

CITY OF COACHELLA           ) 

 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-42 was duly adopted by 

the City Council of the City of Coachella at a regular meeting thereof, held on this 23rd day of June 

2021, by the following vote of Council: 

 

AYES:   

 

NOES:   

 

ABSENT:  

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

 

 

___________________________________                                                      

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 
Deputy City Clerk 

 

Page 681

Item 36.



N 00°06'43" E
35.00'

EX. PROJECT
BOUNDARY

STREET "A"

VI
A

 P
RA

DO

EX. PROJECT
BOUNDARY

RAPHAEL WAY

PROP. GATED EMERGENCY,
UTILITY, & DRAINAGE ACCESS

AVENUE 51

EX. PROJECT BOUNDARY

VI
A

 P
RA

DO

VI
A

 P
RA

DO

ST
RE

ET
 "B

"

STREET "C"

STREET "D"

STREET "E"

ST
RE

ET
 "F

"

STREET "E"

ST
RE

ET
 "B

"

10' 20' 20' 10'

70'

10' 40' 10'

60'

10
'

40
'

10
'

60
'

10' 40' 10'

60'

B B
B

B B

10
'

40
'

10
'

60
'

B

B

10
'

40
'

10
'

60
'

A A

1
50'

EX. C/L

EX. EASEMENT

PROP. CURB

EX. R/W &
PROJECT BOUNDARY

50
'

10' 40' 10'

60'

B B

(SEE NOTE NO. 3)

20
'

50
'

72'

10
7'

62'

21'

99
'

68'

90
'

60'

10
7'

60'

10
7'

60'

72'

92
'

21'

57'

65'

10
7'

50'
21

'

92
'

10
7'

60'

60'

10
7'

60'

10
7'

60'

65'

82
'

35'

41'

49'

21
'

92
' 10

7'

60'

60'

10
7'

60'

10
7'

60'

60'

10
7'

22'

54'

91
'

21'

55'

11
5'

70'

10
0'

60'

11
5'

60'

60'

11
5'

60'

11
4'

60'

61'

10
5'

60'

42'

129'

97'

57
'

21'

82'

72
'

97'

73
'

97'

73
'

73'

10
0'

24'

82'

11
5'

70'

70'
11

5'

129'

62
'

143'

60
'

114'

60
'

104'

61
'

60
'

101'

60
'

60
'

101'

61
'

61
'

86'

21
'

55
'

70
'

92
'

21'

57'

10
7'

60'

60'

10
7'

60'

10
7'

60'

60'

10
7'

60'

10
7'

65'

10
6'

63'

98
'11

5'

60'

60'

11
5'

60'

55'

21
'

10
0'

70'

128'

127'

60
'

127'

60
'

60
'

126'

60
'

60
'

126'

60
'

60
'

116'

60
'

61'

11
2'

45
'

141'

76'

56' 20'

21'

60'

10
7'

92
'

60'

10
7'

60'

60'

10
7'

60'

10
7'

60'

60'
10

7'
47'

35
'

82
'

72'

60'

60'

10
7'

60'

60'

10
7'

60'

60'

10
7'

93'

55' 19'

97
'

24'

86'

10
7'

79'

91
'

60'

10
7'

60'

60'

10
7'

60'

60'

10
7'

60'

67'

21
'

91
'

86'

91'

68
'

40
'

110'

124'

53'

10
2'

60'

60'

11
0'

60'

60'

11
0'

60'

60'

11
0'

60'

60'

11
0'

60'

60'

11
0'

70'

55'

21
'

95
'

66'

60'

10
7'

60'

60'

10
7'

60'

57'
20

'

77'

60'

61'

94
'

94
'

62
'

92
'

60'

60
'

10'

60
'

10
'

40
'

10
'

STREET "C"

RI
BE

RA
 S

TR
EE

T

1
6,205 SF

2
6,743 SF

3
6,882 SF

4
7,922 SF

5
7,922 SF

6
6,882 SF

7
6,882 SF

8
6,877 SF

9
6,509 SF

10
9,601 SF

11
12,144 SF

12
9,059 SF

13
7,163 SF

14
7,260 SF

15
7,260 SF

16
7,260 SF

17
7,308 SF

18
7,395 SF

19
7,608 SF

20
7,652 SF

21
7,626 SF

22
7,599 SF

23
7,573 SF

24
7,306 SF

25
9,351 SF

26
12,707 SF

27
8,426 SF

28
6,425 SF

29
6,602 SF

30
6,603 SF

31
6,603 SF

32
6,604 SF

33
7,598 SF

107
7,093 SF

89
8,611 SF

90
8,174 SF

106
6,862 SF

39
7,355 SF

38
6,390 SF

37
6,390 SF

36
6,390 SF

35
6,390 SF

34
7,928 SF

40
7,555 SF

41
6,390 SF

42
6,390 SF

43
6,390 SF

44
6,390 SF

45
7,769 SF

105
6,944 SF 91

8,157 SF

92
7,276 SF

93
7,280 SF

94
7,284 SF

95
7,287 SF

96
7,291 SF

97
8,635 SF

98
8,082 SF

99
9,891 SF

100
8,163 SF

101
7,296 SF

102
6,519 SF

103
6,110 SF

46
9,604 SF

47
6,390 SF

48
6,390 SF

49
6,390 SF

50
8,731 SF

51
7,891 SF

52
6,390 SF

53
6,390 SF

54
6,390 SF

55
8,429 SF

76
13,171 SF

75
5,944 SF

74
6,494 SF

73
6,420 SF

72
6,420 SF

71
7,936 SF

56
7,006 SF

57
6,420 SF

58
6,420 SF

59
6,420 SF

60
6,815 SF

61
6,692 SF

62
6,420 SF

63
6,420 SF

64
6,420 SF

65
6,838 SF

70
7,596 SF

69
6,420 SF

68
6,307 SF

67
6,017 SF

LOT "C"
49,138 SF
1.13 AC.

77
9,462 SF

78
6,271 SF

79
6,605 SF

80
6,606 SF

81
6,606 SF

82
6,606 SF

83
6,606 SF

84
6,606 SF

85
6,606 SF

86
6,606 SF

87
6,173 SF

LOT "B" 11,272 SF
0.26 AC.

LOT "A" 11,523 SF
0.26 AC.

9,196 SF
0.21 AC.

104
6,100 SF

20
'

50
'

N 89°53'17" W  101.80'

N 89°50'52" W  110.00'
N 89°50'52" W  101.00'

N 89°50'52" W  631.54'

N
 0

0°
34

'5
0"

 E
  1

12
9.

73
'

N 89°50'24" W  1021.90'

N
 0

0°
06

'3
9"

 E
  1

25
5.

36
'

N 00°06'43" E  5.00' 2
10'

2
60'

EX. R/W

35
'

10
'5'

1
50'

N 89°18'57" W 60.00'

∆=10°42'48"
R=100.00'
18.70'

N 10°29'42" E
40.04'

∆=23°05'26"
R=70.00'
28.21'

PROP. PROJECT BOUNDARY & R/W

45
'

C

B

B

B

B

C

R 
= 

50
0'

R  
= 

80
0'

R 
= 

1 0
00

'

R  
= 

1 0
00

'

88
7,268 SF

10' 40' 10'
60'

B

46'

150'

35
'

60
'

60
'

110'

61'

60
'

100'

44
'

146'

13
2'

61'

60'

10
0'

61'

10
7'

61'

10
3'

81
'

86'

35
'

56
'

66
'

110'

66
'

66
'

110'

66
'

66
'

110'

66
'

66
'

110'

66
'

66
'

110'

66
'

21'

95'

75
'

110'

60
'

60
'

110'

60
'

60
'

110'

60
'

60
'

110'

60
'

60
'

110'

60
'

60
'

110'

60
'

60
'

110'

60
'

60
'

110'

60
'

110'

R 
= 7

0.0
'

R = 70
.0'

R 
=  

50
.0

'

R = 70.0'

ZU
M

A

DR
IV

E

RETENTION
10,795 SF
0.25 AC.

66
7,846 SF

LOT "D"

37'126'

10
1'

49'

15
0'

115'

10
4'

56
'

121'

60
'

61
'

121'

60
'

60
'

121'

60
'

60
'

121'

60
'

60
'

122'

60
'

61
'

125'

60
'

60
'

60
'

92'

63
'

60
'

45'

53'

66
'

91
'

11
'134'

75
'

85
'

104'

75
'

99'

22
'

61'

6 0
'

R = 50.0'

75'

41'

50'

98
'

SECTION A-A
VIA PRADO ENTRY

(PRIVATE ROAD)

10'

25'

70'

0.5'0.5'

10'

25'

PROP. P.U.E.

R/W
PROP.

R/W
PROP.

PROP. P.U.E.
35' 35'

10' 10'

PROP. BARRIER CURBPROP. BARRIER CURB

CL

N.T.S.

10'20' 20'
PROP. RAISED

MEDIAN

2%2%

A.C. PAVEMENT
OVER A.B.

SECTION B-B
VIA PRADO, STREET "A" THRU "E"

(PRIVATE ROAD)
N.T.S.

10'

20'

60'

0.5'0.5'

10'

20'

PROP. P.U.E.

R/W
PROP.

R/W
PROP.

PROP. P.U.E.
30' 30'

10' 10'

CL

A.C. PAVEMENT
OVER A.B.

2%2%

5'

90' (ULTIMATE R/W)R/W
PROP.

R/W
EX.

45' 45' (EXISTING IMPROVEMENTS)

10'

CL

A.C. PAVEMENT
OVER A.B.

12' 12' 6' 6'

35' 35' 10'

12' 12' 5'

SECTION C-C
AVENUE 51

(COLLECTOR WITH ENHANCED BICYCLE FACILITIES / PUBLIC ROAD)
N.T.S.

6' 4' 4'6'
EX. TRAVEL LANEEX. TRAVEL LANEPROP. TRAVEL LANEPROP. TRAVEL LANEPROP.

BICYCLE
LANE

PROP.
SIDEWALK

EX.
BICYCLE

LANE

EX.
SIDEWALK

TENTATIVE TRACT MAP NO. 38084

DATA TABLE

ASSESSOR'S PARCEL NUMBER: 768-050-002

EXHIBIT DATE: FEBRUARY 18, 2021

SOURCE OF TOPOGRAPHY:

ADDRESS:

INLAND AERIAL SURVEYS, INC.

7117 ARLINGTON AVENUE, SUITE "A"
RIVERSIDE, CALIFORNIA  92503

DATE OF TOPOGRAPHY: NOVEMBER 25, 2020

PUBLIC UTILITY PURVEYORS:

EXISTING GROSS AREA 26.81 AC.

EXISTING ZONING:

PROPOSED ZONING:

EXISTING GENERAL PLAN LAND USE:

PROPOSED GENERAL PLAN LAND USE:

RESIDENTIAL SINGLE FAMILY (R-S)

RESIDENTIAL SINGLE FAMILY (R-S)

LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL 0-6 DU/AC (RL)

LAND USE DESCRIPTION: AREA (AC.)

1

EXISTING EASEMENT NOTES:

ZONE "X": AREA OF MINIMAL FLOOD HAZARD

FEMA FLOOD ZONE DESIGNATION:

EXHIBIT PREPARER:

ADDRESS:

MSA CONSULTING, INC.

34200 BOB HOPE DRIVE
RANCHO MIRAGE, CALIFORNIA  92270

CONTACT: PAUL DEPALATIS, AICP TELEPHONE: (760) 320-9811

REVISIONS
NO. DATE

LIQUEFACTION: HIGH LIQUEFACTION ZONE

NOTES: 1.

LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL 0-6 DU/AC (RL)

IN THE CITY OF COACHELLA, COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE, STATE OF CALIFORNIA

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:

DESCRIPTION

ELECTRIC:

GAS:

TELEPHONE:

WATER:

CABLE:

SEWER:

USA:

LOT 124 OF TRACT NO. 32075-1, PER M.B. 387/39-42, BEING IN THE NORTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 6,
TOWNSHIP 6 SOUTH, RANGE 8 EAST, SAN BERNARDINO MERIDIAN.

THIS MAP INCLUDES THE ENTIRE CONTIGUOUS OWNERSHIP OF THE LAND DIVIDER.
2. THERE ARE NO EXISTING DWELLINGS, BUILDINGS, OR OTHER STRUCTURES KNOWN ON

THIS PROPERTY.

MSA CONSULTING, INC.

> PLANNING > CIVIL ENGINEERING > LAND SURVEYING

34200 Bob Hope Drive,  Rancho Mirage,  CA  92270

760.320.9811    msaconsultinginc.com

SHEET

SHEETS
1
OF
1

EAST
NORTH
SOUTH
WEST

CENTERLINE

EASEMENT
EXISTING

(E)
(N)
(S)
(W)

C/L

ESMT.
EX.

ABBREVIATIONS

ACREAGEAC

CURB AND GUTTERC&G

ASSESSORS PARCEL NUMBERAPN

E/P EDGE OF PAVEMENT

A.C. ASPHALT CONCRETE

MAX. MAXIMUM

BOUNDARYBNDRY

M.B. MAP BOOK

AND INCIDENTAL PURPOSES, RECORDED SEPTEMBER 22, 1958 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 67734 IN

IMPERIAL IRRIGATION DISTRICT

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY

FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS

COACHELLA WATER AUTHORITY

SPECTRUM

CITY OF COACHELLA

UNDERGROUND SERVICE ALERT

(760) 335-3640

(877) 238-0092

(800) 921-8101

(760) 501-8100

(877) 719-3278

(760) 501-8100

(800) 227-2600

TELEPHONE: (951) 687-4252

EXISTING OVERHEAD TELEPHONE

EXISTING SEWER
EXISTING RIGHT OF WAY

PROPOSED CURB
PROPOSED EASEMENT

EXISTING PROJECT BOUNDARY

EXISTING SEWER FORCE MAIN
EXISTING WATER

PROPOSED LOT LINE
PROPOSED RIGHT OF WAY

PROPOSED AND EXISTING CENTER LINE

SCHOOL DISTRICT: COACHELLA VALLEY UNIFIED

APPLICANT /

ADDRESS:

CONTACT:

27401 LOS ALTOS, SUITE 400
MISSION VIEJO, CALIFORNIA  92691

SOHAIL BOKHARI

PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC.

TELEPHONE: (949) 330-8537

PROPOSED PROJECT BOUNDARY

AN EASEMENT IN FAVOR OF COACHELLA VALLEY COUNTY WATER DISTRICT, FOR PIPE LINES

PROPOSED NET AREA

PROPOSED SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL LOTS (LOTS 1 THRU 107)

PROPOSED OPEN SPACE LOTS (LOTS "A" THRU "D")

26.93 AC.

17.90 AC.

1.91 AC.

AS SHOWN ON RIVERSIDE COUNTY, CALIFORNIA, FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAPS,
COMMUNITY PANEL MAP NUMBER: 06065C2262H
EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 16, 2018

EXISTING IRRIGATION
EXISTING GAS

EXISTING EASEMENT
EXISTING ELECTRIC

EXISTING IRRIGATION DRAIN LINE
EXISTING CABLE

EXISTING CONTOURS
EXISTING SPOT ELEVATIONS

LEGEND

X EXISTING EASEMENT DELTA

EXISTING LOT LINE

EXISTING EDGE OF PAVEMENT

EXISTING TELEPHONE

MIN. MINIMUM
NUMBER

PROPOSED

RIGHT OF WAY

TYPICAL

NO.

PROP.

R/W

TYP.

P.U.E. PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT

SF SQUARE FEET

RADIUSR

STANDARDSTD.

P/L PROPERTY LINE

N.T.S. NOT TO SCALE

R-L LOW DENSITY (RESIDENTIAL)

UG UNDERGROUND

OVERHEADO/H
OPEN SPACE / PARKSOS/PP
PAGEPG.

LAND OWNER:

N.T.S.
VICINITY MAP

AVENUE 50

SITE

AVENUE 49

AVENUE 51

AVENUE 52

C
A

LH
O

UN
 S

TR
EE

T

V
A

N
 B

UR
EN

 S
TR

EE
T

FR
ED

ER
IC

K 
BL

V
D

.

ST
RE

ET

G
RAPEFRUIT BLVD.

C
ES

A
R 

C
HA

V
EZ

3. LOT "D" TO BE DEEDED TO GREGORIO CERVANTES AND BEATRICE CERVANTES AS PART
OF A SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT RELATED TO A LOT LINE DISPUTE.

PROPOSED PUBLIC STREET VACATION (AVENUE 51) 0.12 AC.

PROPOSED PUBLIC STREETS (VIA PRADO, STREET "A" THRU "E") 7.12 AC.

BOOK 2335, PAGE 478 OF OFFICIAL RECORDS. (PLOTTED HEREON)

2
DESCRIPTION FOR: 60' PUBLIC UTILITY AND ROAD, 10' PUBLIC UTILITY AND INCIDENTAL
AN EASEMENT SHOWN OR DEDICATED ON THE MAP AS REFERRED TO IN THE LEGAL

PURPOSES. (PLOTTED HEREON)
(NOTE: THE MAP DOES NOT SHOW CITY ACCEPTANCE OF THE DEDICATION)

3
TRANSMISSION OF ELECTRIC ENERGY FOR COMMUNICATIONS, TELECOMMUNICATIONS,
AN EASEMENT IN FAVOR OF VERIZON CALIFORNIA INC., A CORPORATION, FOR THE

VIDEO, INTELLIGENCE BY ELECTRICAL MEANS AND/OR OTHER PURPOSES AND INCIDENTAL
PURPOSES, RECORDED OCTOBER 17, 2007 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 2007-0640834 OF O.R.
(BLANKET IN NATURE)

R:
\2

62
9\

A
ca

d
\P

la
nn

in
g\

Te
nt

at
iv

e 
Tr

ac
t M

ap
\2

62
9 

TT
M

 3
80

84
.d

w
g,

 2
/1

8/
20

21
 3

:1
2:

28
 P

M
, d

ga
lle

ra
ni

, M
SA

 C
on

su
lti

ng
, I

nc
.

Page 682

Item 36.

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
445

AutoCAD SHX Text
450

AutoCAD SHX Text
450

AutoCAD SHX Text
450

AutoCAD SHX Text
450

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
450.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
452.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
449.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
449.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
449.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
449.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
449.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
449.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
449.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
449.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
450.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
450.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
449.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
449.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
449.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
449.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
449.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
451.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
449.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
451.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
453.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
450.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
451.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
450.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
449.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
449.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
449.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
451.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
449.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
450.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
450.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
441.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
441.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
441.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
441.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
441.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
441.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
441.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
441.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
448.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
447.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
442.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
443.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
445.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
446.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGNAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-050-002

AutoCAD SHX Text
VACANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. GENERAL PLAN: R-S

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. ZONING: LR

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-040-060

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETENTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-040-049

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-040-048

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-040-047

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-040-046

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-040-045

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-040-044

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-040-043

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-040-042

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-040-041

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-040-040

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-040-039

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-020-013

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-020-014

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-020-015

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-020-016

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-020-017

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-020-018

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-020-019

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-020-020

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-020-021

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-020-022

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-020-023

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-050-001

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-481-008

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-481-007

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-481-006

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-481-005

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-481-004

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-481-003

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-481-002

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-481-001

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-490-031

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-490-030

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-490-029

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-490-028

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-490-027

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-490-026

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-490-013

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-490

AutoCAD SHX Text
-025

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-111-004

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-111-005

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-111-006

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-111-007

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-111-008

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-111-009

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-111-010

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-111-011

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-111-012

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-090-030

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-090-029

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-090-028

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-090-027

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-090-026

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-090-025

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-090-023

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-090-022

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-090-021

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-090-020

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-090-019

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-090-018

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-090-017

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
768-090-016

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT 32075-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
M.B. 387/39-42

AutoCAD SHX Text
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text
M.B. 387/39-42

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT NO. 32075-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 124

AutoCAD SHX Text
  Copyright 2021

AutoCAD SHX Text
All Rights Reserved

AutoCAD SHX Text
MSA Consulting, Inc.

AutoCAD SHX Text
c

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE 1"=50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
150'

AutoCAD SHX Text
200'

AutoCAD SHX Text
679.3



Resolution No. 2021-43 

Page 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-43 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA 

APPROVING ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW NO. 21-03 FOR THE 

CONSTRUCTION OF 107 SINGLE-FAMILY HOMES WITHIN TENTATIVE 

TRACT NO. 38084 USING THREE PRODUCTION HOME MODELS TO 

INCLUDE 1) A ONE-STORY (3-BEDROOM, 2-BATH) RESIDENCE WITH 1,959 

SQUARE FEET OF FLOOR AREA; 2) A TWO-STORY (4-BEDROOM, 2 ½-BATH) 

RESIDENCE WITH 2,404 SQUARE FEET OF FLOOR AREA; AND 3) A TWO-

STORY (5-BEDROOM, 3-BATH) RESIDENCE WITH 2,825 SQUARE FEET OF 

FLOOR AREA, ALL WITH ATTACHED TWO-CAR GARAGES AND A 

VARIETY OF ARCHITECTURAL THEMES (SPANISH, CRAFTSMAN, AND 

PRARIE) AND COLOR PALETTES FOR MODELS’ EXTERIOR FINISHES AND 

ROOF TILE.  THE SUBJECT SITE IS 26.81 ACRES OF VACANT LAND 

LOCATED WITHIN THE R-S (RESIDENTIAL SINGLE-FAMILY) ZONE ON 

THE NORTH SIDE OF AVENUE 51 BETWEEN VAN BUREN STREET AND 

CHIAPAS DRIVE (APN #768-050-002). PULTE HOMES COMPANY, LLC. 

(APPLICANT) 

 

WHEREAS, Pulte Homes Company, LLC  (“Applicant”) has filed an application for 

Architectural Review No. 21-03 and related entitlements for Tentative Tract Map No. 38084 and Variance 

No. 21-04 to allow the subdivision and development  of 26.81 acres on the north side of Avenue 51 

between Van Buren Street and Chiapas Drive; (Riverside County Assessor Parcel Numbers 768-050-

002) (the “Project”) and, 

 
WHEREAS, the City has processed said Architectural Review application pursuant to the 

provisions of Title 17 of the Coachella Municipal Code (Title 17), and the California Environmental 

Quality Act of 1970 as amended; and, 

 

WHEREAS, on May 19, 2021, the Planning Commission of the City of Coachella held a duly 

noticed and published Public Hearing and considered the applications for Architectural Review and 

related Tentative Tract Map and Variance as presented by the applicant, adopting the findings, revised 

conditions, and staff recommendations; and, 

 

WHEREAS, at the Planning Commission Public Hearing of May 19, 2021 the applicant and 

the general public were given an opportunity to testify regarding Architectural Review No. 21-03 and 

the Planning Commission recommended to the City Council approval of Architectural Review No. 21-

03; and, 

 

WHEREAS, on June 23, 2021, the City Council of the City of Coachella held a duly noticed 

and published Public Hearing and considered the applications for Architectural Review No. 21-03 and 

related Tentative Tract Map and Variance requests as proposed by the applicant, and adopted the staff  

recommendations for approval with the findings and conditions of approval; and, 

 

WHEREAS, at the City Council Public Hearing of June 23, 2021 the applicant and the general 

public were given an opportunity to testify regarding Architectural Review No. 21-03; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds adequacy in the environmental review documents inclusive 

of Environmental Assessment (EIS 04-05) and the Addendum to Mitigated Negative Declaration on file 

with the office of the City’s Planning Director. 

Page 683

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-43 

Page 2 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of Coachella, 

in light of the whole record before it, including but not limited to recommendations of the Development 

Services Director as provided in the Staff Report dated June 23, 2021 and documents incorporated therein 

by reference and any other evidence within the record or provided at the public hearing of this matter, 

hereby APPROVES Architectural Review No. 21-03 with the findings and conditions listed below. 

 

FINDINGS FOR APPROVAL OF ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW NO. 21-03: 

 

1. The proposed model homes which include a “Prairie”, “Spanish”, and “Craftsman” architectural 

theming are consistent with the goals, objectives, policies, and implementation measures of the 

Coachella General Plan. The project complies with the General Neighborhood land use designation of 

the General Plan, which looks to provide a diversity of housing that meets the needs of Coachella’s 

many household sizes, incomes and lifestyle preferences.  This land use category envisions a mixture 

of single-family and multifamily/mixed use development types.  While the proposed subdivision is a 

single family development with a density of four dwelling units per acre, there are smaller lot sizes 

within the subdivision that will add to the overall density of the project, and will create a transition 

adjacent to the future multifamily residential/mixed-use development anticipated on the vacant lot to 

the west at Van Buren Street. Additionally, this development is within a previously-approved 

subdivision that will have public streets with good pedestrian connectivity to the surrounding public 

amenities at Bagdouma Park. As such, the project is consistent with internal policies of the General 

Plan.  

 

2. The proposed use of single family residences will be located, designed, constructed, operated and 

maintained so as to be compatible with the existing or intended character of the general vicinity and 

shall not change the essential character of the same area. The proposed dwellings will comply with 

minimum development standards and consist of one-story and two-story homes that are compatible 

with adjoining newer homes to the north and northwest of the site. The proposed homes are currently 

being developed at the Valencia community to the northwest of the site and there are future multifamily 

/ mixed-use developments proposed on the vacant land to the west which will be in keeping with the 

intended character of the larger vicinity.  

 

3. The proposed single-family residences will be compatible and in keeping with the design and character 

of neighboring properties with respect to land development patterns and application or architectural 

treatments.  The plans submitted indicate an exterior stucco finish with concrete tile roofing with earth-

tone color schemes. Landscaping and irrigation will be installed for each home prior to issuance of a 

certificate of occupancy for each home. 

 

4. Where the proposed use may be potentially hazardous or disturbing to existing or reasonable expected 

neighboring uses, it must be justified by the common public interest as a benefit to the community as a 

whole. The Development Services Department does not anticipate any potentially hazardous or 

disturbing impacts on existing or neighboring uses. Single family residential dwellings are not uses 

known to create hazardous or disturbing effects upon the neighborhood. The proposed dwellings are 

anticipated to improve the aesthetics of the existing neighborhood by completing an unfinished 

neighborhood to the north, and will help with dust control. 

 

5. The proposed project will not create any significant environmental effects in that the project is 

substantially similar to the originally approved subdivision of land as part of “Prado” Gated Community 

and as documented in evidence contained in the Addendum to Mitigated Negative Declaration 

previously prepared for Tentative Tract Map No. 32075 analyzed under Environmental Assessment 

Page 684

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-43 

Page 3 

(EIS 04-05) pursuant to the provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).  The 

project is, therefore, not subject to any further environmental review. 

 

 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL FOR ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW 21-03: 

 

1. This architectural review is granted to approve common area landscaping and fencing improvements 

for the “Sevilla” community and to approve new exterior architectural theming, materials, and color 

schemes for new production homes within Tentative Tract Map No. 38084 (“Sevilla”) in the R-S 

(Residential – Single Family) zone, to include a “Spanish”, “Craftsman” and “Prairie” theming with 

varying roof tile and color schemes, as shown on submitted plans. The applicant shall submit 

construction drawings through the Building Division for plan check and approval prior to obtaining 

building permits.   The applicant shall pay any fees necessary to secure permits and any special 

investigation inspections and reports, subject to review and approval by the Building Official, including 

a soils report and related structural recommendations.  The owner shall secure Fire Department 

approval for the proposed production homes prior to the issuance of any building permits.   

 

2. Common area landscaping improvements shall include decorative masonry perimeter walls with 

decorative cap, beige wrought iron gate (for emergency access only) with arched belltop, and a metal 

screen/mesh at Via Prado, to substantially match the existing Prado Community gate at Avenue 50.  

The perimeter wall at the southerly terminus of Ribera Street shall be decorative masonry with 

decorative cap and 12-inch square pilasters every 50 feet, to substantially match the existing perimeter 

wall along the southern boundary of the Prado Community.  The developer shall work with the utility 

companies to install landscaping and fencing improvements over the public utility easement areas, and 

to install the new walls and common-area landscaping in this location into the City’s Landscape and 

Lighting Maintenance District.   

 

3. A minimum of one 24-inch box shade tree shall be planted every 50 linear feet along the Avenue 51 

street frontage, to match the plant palette of the retention basin lots. The perimeter fencing along 

Avenue 51 and the main entry at Via Prado shall consist of decorative masonry walls including tan 

slump, split-face block, tan precision, or textured / painted precision block wall with 12-inch square 

pilasters and decorative caps at every 75 linear feet.  

 

4. Prior to the issuance of a building permit for new single family residences, the applicant shall submit a 

landscape and irrigation plan showing typical front yard landscaping and irrigation for the typical front 

yards and corner lots, for review and approval by the Development Services Director. All landscaping 

shall be planted and maintained with a permanent underground irrigation system to be operational prior 

to the issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy.  Landscaping in the front yard shall comply with the 

City’s front yard landscaping regulations, unless otherwise approved by the Development Services 

Director.  

 

5. All garden walls shall consist of concrete masonry units (CMU), with use of decorative masonry walls 

for those portions visible to a street, pursuant to city standard block wall details.  Post-tension, non-

grouted walls shall not be used. The builder shall use Type 5 concrete specifications for all CMU 

footings and for the base course of CMU wall, including the use of sealants to protect against corrosive 

soils, subject to review and approval by the Deputy Building Official.  Interior fencing between single 

family lots that are not visible to the street may be of a tan/beige vinyl fencing material.  

 

6. All front yard areas between the front building line of the home and the street line shall be limited to a 

maximum of 60 percent of paving of the total front yard area. Those areas that are not paved shall be 

landscaped in accordance with Section 17.16.030-C(4) of the Zoning Code. 

Page 685

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-43 

Page 4 

7. The proposed residences shall incorporate decorative window trims and window shutter details on side 

and rear elevations as used on the front building elevations, for those home sites that have second-floor 

windows oriented towards a corner street line.    

 

8. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall pay the applicable school facilities fees to 

the Coachella Unified School District. 

 

9. A precise grading/improvement plan, prepared by a California Registered Civil Engineer, shall be 

submitted for review and approval by the City Engineer prior to issuance of any building permits for a 

new dwelling.  A final soils report, compaction report and rough grading certificate shall be submitted 

and approved prior to issuance of any building permits.   

 

10. Site access for the model complex shall be in conformance with the requirements of Title 24 of the 

California Administrative Code, including temporary parking lot and temporary restroom serving the 

model complex.   

Grading and Drainage: 

11. A preliminary geological and soils engineering investigation shall be conducted by a registered soils 

engineer, and a report submitted for review with the grading plan and shall include pavement 

recommendations (on-site & off-site).  The report recommendations shall be incorporated into the 

grading plan design prior to grading plan approval.  The soils engineer and/or the engineering geologist 

shall certify to the adequacy of the grading plan.  

12. A grading plan, prepared by a California Registered Civil Engineer, shall be submitted for review and 

approval by the City Engineer prior to issuance of any permits.  An “As-Graded” geotechnical report 

shall be submitted and approved prior to issuance of any building permits. 

13. A Drainage Report, prepared by California Registered Civil Engineer, shall be submitted for review 

and approval by the City Engineer prior to issuance of any permits.  The report shall contain a 

Hydrology Map showing on-site and off-site tributary drainage areas and shall be prepared in 

accordance with the requirements of the Riverside County Flood Control District.  Adequate provisions 

shall be made to accept and conduct the existing tributary drainage flows around or through the site in 

a manner which will not adversely affect adjacent or downstream properties. If the design of the project 

includes a retention basin, it shall be sized to contain the runoff resulting from a 10-year storm event 

and the runoff from a 100-year storm event shall be contained within basin with shallow ponding (3.5' 

max.) and within the public streets.  The basin shall be a maximum of 4 feet in depth from adjacent 

grades.  The basin shall be designed to evacuate a 10-year storm event within 72 hours.  The size of the 

detention basin(s) shall be determined by the hydrology report and be approved by the City Engineer.  

Detention basin shall be provided with a minimum of 2.00 feet sandy soil if determined to contain silt 

or clay materials.   Maximum allowable percolation rate for design shall be 10 gal./s.f./day unless 

otherwise approved by the City Engineer.  A percolation test for this site is required to be submitted.  

A combination drywell vertical drain field shall be constructed at all points where runoff enters the 

retention basin.  Drywell & vertical drain field design shall be based on soils borings made at the 

proposed drywell locations after the retention basins have been rough graded.  Minimum boring depth 

shall be 45-feet.  A log, which includes sieve analysis for each strata of the borings, shall be submitted 

to the City Engineer for confirmation of depth of the vertical drain fields.  

14. Site access improvements shall be in conformance with the requirements of Title 24 of the California 

Administrative Code.  This shall include access ramps for off-site and on-site streets and walkways as 

required. 

Page 686

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-43 

Page 5 

15. The Developer shall obtain approval of site access and circulation from Fire Marshall and trash 

Disposal Company.  

 

ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT 

Street Improvements: 

16. Street improvement plans prepared by a California Registered Civil Engineer shall be submitted for 

engineering plan check prior to issuance of encroachment permits.  All street improvements including 

street lights shall be designed and constructed in conformance with City Standards and Specifications.  

Street flow line grade shall have a minimum slope of 0.35 %.  

17. Applicant shall construct all off-site and on-site improvements including street pavement, curb, gutter, 

sidewalk, street trees, perimeter walls, perimeter landscaping and irrigation, storm drain, street lights, 

and any other incidental works necessary to complete the improvements.  Driveways shall conform to 

City of Coachella standards for residential driveways.  

18. Avenue 51 shall be improved as shown in the Mobility Element of the General Plan, with a 35-foot half 

street paved roadway and a 10-foot parkway. Street improvements shall include 3 inches of A.C. 

pavement over 10 inches of class II base, 8 inch type “B” curb and gutter, 6-foot sidewalk, 15,000 

lumen HPS street lights (150 watt bulb), connections to the existing public improvements with the 

appropriate transitions and tapers as required by the City Engineer and any other incidental works 

necessary to complete the improvements in accordance with the City Standards and Specifications.   

19. Avenue 51 shall be a 90-foot right-of-way, except where underground utilities will be constructed 

within the parkway additional right of way is required for a total of 15 feet parkway.  An additional 25 

feet of common-area/perimeter landscaping shall be provided between the street right-of-way along 

Avenue 51 and perimeter subdivision wall.   

20. The developer shall grant a landscaping easement to the City of Coachella over all common-area / 

retention basin lots for inclusion into the Landscape and Lighting Maintenance District.  

21. The developer shall obtain an encroachment permit for any improvements constructed within public 

right-of-ways.  

22. The applicant shall provide Speed Humps on all interior streets. Locations shall be approved by the 

City Engineer. 

Sewer and Water Improvements: 

23. Sewer & Water Improvement Plans prepared by a California Registered Civil Engineer shall be 

submitted for engineering plan check and City Engineer approval. 

24. Applicant shall construct all off-site and on-site water and wastewater improvements and any other 

incidental works necessary to complete the improvements.  Size and location of sewer and water 

improvements shall be approved by the City Engineer.  

25. Applicant shall extend the 12” water main in Avenue 51 to the westerly boundary of this tract and 

connect the onsite water system to this main. System shall include all fire hydrants, valves, blow-offs, 

Page 687

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-43 

Page 6 

fittings and all incidental works necessary to complete the water system in accordance with the City 

Standards and Specifications. 

26. Minimum depth of sewer manholes shall be 5.00 feet (top of pipe to top of rim). Size and slope of sewer 

mains shall be approved by the City Engineer.  The minimum slope for sewer main shall be as follows: 

(1) 8" - 0.33 percent, (2) 10" - 0.24 percent, (3) 12" - 0.19 percent, (4) 15", 18", 24", 27" & 33" 0.14 

percent. 

27. Applicant shall extend the 12” sewer main in Avenue 51 to the westerly boundary of this tract and 

connect the onsite sewer system to this main. System shall include all manholes, cleanouts, and laterals 

to serve each residential lot, and all incidental works necessary to complete the sewer system in 

accordance with the City Standards and Specifications. 

 

General: 

28. A composite utility plan showing all utilities shall be submitted for review and approval by the City 

Engineer.  The applicant shall construct all other utilities such as gas, telephone, television cable, 

electrical, and any other incidental works necessary to complete the utility improvements.  All utilities 

will be constructed underground and extended to the tract boundary.  Existing overhead utilities within 

the limit of construction shall be relocated underground and behind sidewalk.  Street improvement 

plans shall not be approved until this plan is submitted and deemed substantially complete and correct. 

29. The developer shall submit a Fugitive Dust Control and Erosion Control plan in accordance with 

Guidelines set forth by CMC and SCAQMD to maintain wind and drainage erosion and dust control 

for all areas disturbed by grading.  Exact method(s) of such control shall be subject to review and 

approval by the City Engineer.  No sediment is to leave the site.  Additional securities, in bond form, 

in amount of $2,000.00 per acre of gross area, and a one time cash deposit of $2,000.00 are required to 

insure compliance with this requirement.  No work may be started on or off site unless the PM-10 plan 

has been approved, the original plans, and executed dust control agreement, are filed in the engineering 

department at the City of Coachella.  

30. The owner shall agree to the formation of a Landscape and Lighting Maintenance District for the 

maintenance of the lighting, perimeter wall, landscaping and irrigation.  The owner shall prepare the 

improvement plans, Engineer’s Report, Estimated Costs, and submit to the City Engineer as required 

for the formation of the LLMD.  The funds to be deposited shall be a minimum of $1,000.  Costs over 

$1,000 shall be billed by the City to the owner for payment prior to the recordation of the Final Map. 

31. The applicant shall pay all necessary plan check, permit and inspection fees at cost for the public off-

site and on-site improvements.  Fees will be determined when plans are submitted to the City 

Engineering Department for plan check.  

32. Applicant shall comply with the valley wide NPDES permit requirements including but not limited to 

submittal of a Preliminary WQMP for plan review accompanied by a $3,000 plan check deposit and a 

Final WQMP for final approval including executed maintenance agreement. All unused plan check fees 

will be refunded to the applicant upon approval of the Final WQMP. 

 

Completion: 

Page 688

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-43 

Page 7 

33. "As-built" plans shall be submitted to and approved by the City Engineer prior to acceptance of the 

improvements by the City.  All off-site and on-site improvements shall be completed to the satisfaction 

of the City Engineer prior to acceptance of improvements for maintenance by the City.  

34. Prior to issuance to of certificate of occupancy, all off-site improvements, including landscaping and 

lighting of the retention basins, and landscaped areas along the exterior streets, shall be completed to 

the satisfaction of the City Engineer. 

35. The developer will establish, at a minimum, one (1) vertical control monument (benchmark) to be 

placed in a permanent location within the limits of the development and file a record of said monument 

with the County of Riverside. The monument will comply with Caltrans survey manual chapter 8 

section 8.2-3 for benchmarks. The record elevation set will comply with third-order precision standards 

as defined in the Caltrans Surveys manual. Official City of Coachella Vertical Control Brass disks will 

be available from the City of Coachella. The monument location shall be approved by the City Engineer 

prior to establishment.  

 

36. The owner/developer shall reimburse the City of Coachella for public improvements related to the 

existing Traffic Signal at Avenue 50 and Van Buren Street, and for the Landscaped Median at Avenue 

50.  Owner/developer shall pay $1,211.64 per dwelling unit for Landscaped Median and $788.12 per 

dwelling unit for Traffic Signal at the time building permits are issued for each new dwelling unit.  

 

37. The developer shall construct improvements including sidewalks, with a 6-inch raised curb and gutter 

connecting to pavement, fronting along all lots to be developed.  The use of “wedge” curb, or “rolled” 

curb shall not be allowed. All Driveways shall conform to City of Coachella standards.  

 

38. The developer shall work with the City of Coachella Engineering Department on a scope of work and 

any necessary repairs for completion of all on-site and off-site improvements.  Prior to final inspections 

for each phase, the developer shall meet and confer with the City Engineer to schedule inspections for 

existing street improvements and to identify repairs to be made by the developer that resulted from the 

developer’s construction activities.  Developer shall make requested repairs prior to receiving a 

certificate of occupancy for the last home in the phase for which final inspections are being requested 

at that time.  

 

Street Lights: 

 

39. The developer shall pay applicable fees to energize street lights to the appropriate agency, and shall 

verify that all street lights are operational prior to issuance of the 1st Certificate of Occupancy of each 

phase. 

 

 

FIRE DEPARTMENT: 

 

40. It is the responsibility of the recipient of these Fire Department conditions to forward them to all 

interested parties.  The building permit number is required on all correspondence. 

 

41. All conditions of approval titled “Prior to Final Inspection” and/or any type of fire suppression systems 

must be reviewed, inspected and approved by the Riverside County Fire Department prior to Building 

Safety’s final inspection.  The Fire Department letter of conditions, job card and approved plans must 

be at the job site for all inspections.  

 

Page 689

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-43 

Page 8 

42. The following plans have been reviewed and conditioned with requirements that correspond with the 

appropriate milestones. Regardless of the conditions all plans shall comply with ORD. 787.6, 2019 

Adopted Codes (CFC, CBC, CMC, etc.), and all standards referenced therein. These conditions are 

intended to assist in code compliance but, any required provisions not named in these conditions shall 

also apply.     

 

43. The Fire Department is required to set a minimum fire flow for the remodel or construction of all 

commercial buildings in accordance with Ordinance 787 and the California Fire Code.  A fire flow of 

1500 GPM for a 2 hour duration at 20 psi residual operating pressure must be available before any 

combustible material is placed on the job site Additional fire hydrants may be required to meet the 

spacing requirements of the California Fire Code.(Commercial) 

 

44. A combination of on-site and off-site super fire hydrants (6”x4”x2½”x2½”) on a looped system shall 

be provided spaced an average of 500 feet between fire hydrants and in no case shall fire hydrants be 

further than 50 feet from any portion of on a street or road frontage as measured along approved 

vehicular travel ways.  The required fire flow shall be available from any adjacent hydrant(s) in the 

system.(Commercial and Residential) 

 

45. Gate openings shall be as wide as the minimum 20 foot required width of the access lane(s) entering 

and exiting the development.  Gates shall be located at least 35 feet into the development property to 

allow a vehicle to stop without obstructing traffic on the road.(Commercial and Residential) 

 

46. The site address shall be clearly posted at the job site entrance during construction.  This will enable 

incoming emergency equipment and inspectors to locate the job site from the assigned street.  Numbers 

shall be a minimum of 24 inches in height.   

 

47. All buildings shall be constructed with Class B roofing material as per the California Building Code.  

 

48. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, building plans have been reviewed, however, a separate plan 

check deposit based fee of $1056.00 made payable to the Riverside County Fire Department, in the 

form of a check or money order only, must be submitted to the Fire Department. A Permit Fire 

Department “Submittal Form” must be completed along with payment.   

 

49. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the developer shall separately submit 2 sets of water system 

plans to the Fire Department for review.  Plans must be signed by a registered Civil Engineer and/or 

water purveyor prior to Fire Department review and approval. On-site and Off-site plans shall be signed 

by the Fire Department after review and approval.  Two (2) copies of the signed and approved water 

plans shall be returned to the Fire Department before release of a building permit.  

 

50. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant and/or developer shall be responsible to submit 

written certification from the water purveyor noting the location and type of existing fire hydrant(s) 

and that the existing water system is capable of delivering 1500 GPM fire flow for a 2 hour duration at 

20 psi residual operating pressure.  If a water system/hydrant(s) currently does not exist, the applicant 

and/or developer shall be responsible to provide written certification that financial arrangements have 

been made to provide them.  

 

51. Prior to the issuance of a building final inspection, the developer shall install a complete fire sprinkler 

system designed in accordance with California Building Code, California Fire Code and adopted 

standards.  Sprinkler systems with pipe sizes larger than 4 inches in diameter will require the Engineer 

or Architect of Record certification with details and calculations with “wet signature” that the building 

structural system is designed to support the seismic and gravity loads for the support the additional 

Page 690

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-43 

Page 9 

weight of the sprinkler system.  The PIV and FDC shall be located to the front of the building in an 

approved location, unobstructed and within 50 feet of an approved road or driveway, within 200 feet 

of a hydrant.  A C-16 licensed contractor must submit plans, along with the current deposit based fee, 

to the Fire Department for review and approval prior to installation.   

  

52. Prior to the issuance of a building final inspection, the developer shall install a complete fire sprinkler 

system designed in accordance with California Building Code, California Fire Code and adopted 

standards.  The FDC shall be located at or near the front of the building.  A C-16 licensed contractor 

must submit plans, along with the current deposit based fee, to the Fire Department for review and 

approval prior to installation. 

 

53. Prior to the issuance of a building final inspection,  the developer shall install an alarm monitoring 

system for fire sprinkler system(s) with 20 or more heads.  Valve monitoring, water-flow alarm and 

trouble signals shall be automatically transmitted to an approved central station, remote station or 

proprietary monitoring station in accordance with California Building Code, California Fire Code and 

adopted standards.  An approved audible sprinkler flow alarm shall be provided on the exterior in an 

approved location. The location of the Fire Alarm Control Unit shall be located in an environmentally 

controlled location in accordance with 10.14 (NFPA 72, 2010). A C-10 licensed contractor must submit 

plans designed in accordance with adopted standards, along with the current $192.00 deposit based fee, 

to the Fire Department for review and approval prior to installation.  

 

54. Prior to the issuance of a building final inspection, the developer shall install a manual and/or automatic 

fire alarm system as required by the California Building Code, California Fire Code and designed in 

accordance with adopted standards. The location of the Fire Alarm Control Unit shall be located in an 

environmentally controlled location in accordance with NFPA 72. A C-10 licensed contractor must 

submit plans, along with the current $627.00 deposit based fee, to the Fire Department for review and 

approval prior to installation.  Guideline handouts are available from the Fire Department.  

 

55. Prior to the issuance of a building final inspection,  the applicant shall install a UL 300 compliant 

hood/duct fire extinguishing system must be installed over the cooking equipment as required by the 

California Fire Code, California Mechanical Code and adopted standards.  The extinguishing system 

must automatically shut-down gas and /or electricity to all cooking appliances upon activation.  A C-

16 licensed contractor must submit plans, along with the current $215.00 deposit based fee, to the Fire 

Department for review and approval prior to installation.  Alarm system supervision is only required if 

the building has an existing fire alarm system. (Commercial) 

 

56. Prior to the issuance of a building final inspection, the applicant/developer shall prepare a site plans 

designating required fire lanes with appropriate lane paintings and/or signs.  Plans must be submitted 

along with the current $212.00 deposit based fee to the Fire Department for review and approval.  

 

57. Prior to the issuance of a building final inspection, the developer shall ensure gates shall be automatic 

or manual operated and install Knox key operated switches with dust cover, installed mounted as 

recommended by the Knox Company.  Plans must be submitted to the Fire Department for approval of 

mounting location/position and/or operating standards.  Special forms are available from this office for 

ordering the Key Switch.   

 

58. Prior to the issuance of a building final inspection, the developer shall install a portable fire 

extinguisher, with a minimum rating of 2A-10BC, for every 3,000 sq. ft. and/or 75 feet of travel 

distance.  Fire extinguishers shall be mounted no higher than 5 ft. above finished floor, as measured to 

the top of the extinguisher.  Where not readily visible, signs shall be posted above all extinguishers to 

Page 691

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-43 

Page 10 

indicate their locations.  Extinguishers must have current CSFM service tags affixed; or within one year 

of from the date of month and year of manufacture.   

 

59. Prior to the issuance of a building final inspection, the developer shall install a rapid entry Knox Box 

shall be installed on the outside of the building. If a Knox box has already been installed provide keys 

to the tenant space for inclusion in the main building Knox Box. Key(s) shall have durable and legible 

tags affixed for identification of the correlating tenant space. Special forms are available from this 

office for ordering the Knox Box. If the building/facility is protected with a fire alarm or burglar alarm 

system, it is recommended that the lock box be “tamper” monitoring. 

 

60. Prior to the issuance of a building final inspection,  a Fire Knox Padlock shall be installed on both sides 

of the gate located along Via Prado separating the two communities for Emergency Fire Access. 

 

61. Prior to the issuance of a building final inspection, exit signs, exit marker and exit path markings shall 

be installed per the California Building Code.  

 

62. Prior to the issuance of a building final inspection, all egress door hardware shall comply with the 

California Building Code. 

 

63. Prior to the issuance of a building final inspection, the applicant/developer must submit an emergency 

evacuation plan to the Fire Department for review and approval prior to installation.  Evacuation plan(s) 

must be posted in the building at locations approved by the Fire Department. 

 

64. Prior to the issuance of a building final inspection, The applicant shall submit to the Fire Department 

flame-retardant certification(s) by applicator or manufacturer, along with CSFM Listing, for all 

decorative materials used in this facility.  Samples of flame-retardant material(s) may be required for 

flame spread testing.  All required treated materials must have a current CSFM approval tag affixed to 

each item or panel. (Commercial) 

 

65. Prior to the issuance of a building final inspection, the applicant shall display street numbers in a 

prominent location on the front of the residences.  All addressing must be legible, of a contrasting color 

with the background and adequately illuminated to be visible from the street at all hours.   

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED, this 23rd day of June 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________                                                                                        

Steven A Hernandez 

Mayor         

 

 

ATTEST:  

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

 

 

 

Page 692

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-43 

Page 11 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Capos 

City Attorney 

Page 693

Item 36.



Resolution No. 2021-43 

Page 12 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA        ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE       ) ss. 

CITY OF COACHELLA           ) 

 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-43 was duly adopted by 

the City Council of the City of Coachella at a regular meeting thereof, held on this 23rd day of June 

2021, by the following vote of Council: 

 

AYES:   

 

NOES:   

 

ABSENT:  

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

 

 

___________________________________                                                      

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 
Deputy City Clerk 

 

 

Page 694

Item 36.



5

3'

3'

5'

3'
3'

5'

33

1234

56789

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28 29 30 31 32 33

107

89

90

106

39 38 37 36 35 34

40 41 42 43 44 45

105

91

92

93

94

95

96

97

98

99

100

101

102

103

46

47484950

51 52 53 54 55

7574737271

70

5657585960

61 62 63 64 65 69
68

67

66

76

77

78

79

80

81

82

83

84

85

86

104

87

88

2" WETTED & COMPACTED USE SOIL BINDING

ADDITIVE ON ALL SLOPES IN RETENTION BASIN

TREES BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE WU QTY

ACACIA ANEURA

MULGA

24"BOX L 0.2 24

ACACIA SMALLII

SWEET ACACIA

24" BOX L 0.2 13

PARKINSONIA PRAECOX

PALO BREA

24"BOX L 0.2 11

PARKINSONIA X `DESERT MUSEUM`

DESERT MUSEUM PALO VERDE

24"BOX L 0.2 10

PROSOPIS  CHILENSIS "PHOENIX"

THRONLESS HYBRIDE MESQUITE

24"BOX L 0.2 28

PALM TREES BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE WU QTY

CHAMAEROPS HUMILIS

MEDITERRANEAN FAN PALM

36" BOX M 0.5 83

WASHINGTONIA HYBRID

HYBRID CALIFORNIA FAN PALM

SEE PLAN M 0.5 6

SHRUBS BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE WU QTY

BOUGAINVILLEA X `LA JOLLA`

BOUGAINVILLEA

5 GAL M 0.5 64

CAESALPINIA PULCHERRIMA

RED BIRD OF PARADISE

5 GAL L 0.2 41

CASSIA ARTEMISIOIDES

FEATHERY CASSIA

5 GAL L 0.2 111

JUSTICIA CALIFORNICA

CHUPAROSA

5 GAL L 0.2 43

LEUCOPHYLLUM LAEVIGATUM

CHIHUAHUAN SAGE

5 GAL L 0.2 43

LEUCOPHYLLUM LANGMANIAE `RIO BRAVO`

BAROMETERBUSH

5 GAL L 0.2 41

ACCENTS BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE WU QTY

AGAVE VILMORINLANA

OCTOPUS PLANT

5 GAL L 0.2 5

DASYLIRION WHEELERI

GREY DESERT SPOON

15 GAL L 0.2 49

FOUQUIERIA SPLENDENS

OCOTILLO

5` HT MIN L 0.2 29

HESPERALOE PARVIFLORA

RED YUCCA

5 GAL L 0.2 1

HESPERALOE PARVIFLORA YELLOW

YELLOW YUCCA

1 GAL L 0.2 1

GRASSES BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE WU QTY

MUHLENBERGIA RIGENS

DEER GRASS

5 GAL M 0.5 91

GROUNDCOVERS BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE WU QTY

DALEA GREGGII

TRAILING INDIGO BUSH

5 GAL L 0.2 57

LANTANA MONTEVIDENSIS `PURPLE`

TRAILING LANTANA

1 GAL M 0.5 12

LANTANA MONTEVIDENSIS `WHITE`

TRAILING LANTANA

1 GAL M 0.5 17

LANTANA X `NEW GOLD`

NEW GOLD LANTANA

1 GAL M 0.5 40

OENOTHERA BERLANDIERI

MEXICAN EVENING PRIMROSE

5 GAL L 0.2 33

VINE/ESPALIER BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE WU QTY

BOUGAINVILLEA X `BARBARA KARST`

BARBARA KARST BOUGAINVILLEA

15 GAL M 0.5 33

GROUND COVERS BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE WU QTY

COBBLE "DOS RIOS" 1" - 3" 65 SF

H

PLANT SCHEDULE

BOULDERS - T.B.S.

SEE PLAN FOR SIZE, LOCATIONS

90

47

DG

5' 5'

1234

7574737271

70

69 68

67

66

5'

5'

5'

5'5'

5'

5'

5'

5'

5'

5' 5'

5'

5'

5'

5'

5'

5'

5'

3'

3'
3'

3'

3'

3'

3'
3'

3'
3'

3'

3'

3'

3'

3'

3'

3'

3'

3'

3'

3'

3'

3'

3'

3'

5'

3'

5'

5'

5'

5'

5' 5'

5'

5'

5'

5'

5'

3'

3'
5'

3'

3'

3'

3'

3'

5'

3' 3'
3'

3'

3' 3'

3' 3'
3' 3'

3' 3'
3'

3'
3'

3'
3'

3'
3'

3'

3'
3'

5'

3'

3'

3'

V
A

N
N

O
P
A

R
K

IN
G

PULTE HOMES - SOUTH PRADO (COACHELLA )

34200 Bob Hope Drive,  Rancho Mirage,  CA  92270

760.320.9811   msaconsultinginc.com

MSA CONSULTING, INC.

> PLANNING > CIVIL ENGINEERING > LAND SURVEYING > RGA LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS 3/9/2021

LANDSCAPE PLAN - COMMON AREA

KEY MAP

MAIN ENTRY (A)

RETENTION BASIN & STREET SCAPE TYPICAL (C)

EMERGENCY ENTRY (B)

AVENUE 51

AVENUE 51

V
IA

 P
RA

D
O

V
IA

 P
RA

D
O

TRACT NO.32075

A

B

C

SIDEWALK

60' PUE

SLUMP BLOCK WALL

TUBULAR STEEL
EMERGENCY
ENTRY

SLUMP BLOCK
WALL

DG TRAIL(850')
W/ MILE MARKERS

EVERY 200'

FITNESS
EQUIPMENT(2)

DRAINAGE
OUTLET

DRY CREEK

DRY CREEKMOUNDINGSLUMP BLOCK WALL
W/ PILASTER

SIDEWALK
50' ESMT
FOR CVCWD

VINYL FENCE

DG

DG

AVENUE 51

V
IA

 P
RA

D
O

TRACT NO.32075

SIDEWALK

SIDEWALK

VINYL FENCE

MODEL

Page 695

Item 36.



3'

2 3 4

V
A

N
N

O
P
A

R
K

IN
G

TREES BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE WU QTY REMARKS

CINNAMOMUM CAMPHORA

CAMPHOR TREE

36" BOX M 0.5 4

GEIJERA PARVIFLORA

AUSTRALIAN WILLOW

36" BOX M 0.5 2

JACARANDA ACUTIFOLIA

JACARANDA

36" BOX M 0.5 2

PISTACIA CHINENSIS

CHINESE PISTACHE

36" BOX M 0.5 8

RHUS LANCEA

AFRICAN SUMAC

36" BOX M 0.5 5

SCHINUS MOLLE

CALIFORNIA PEPPER

24"BOX M 0.5 4

SHRUBS BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE WU QTY REMARKS

ACACIA REDOLENS `DESERT CARPET` TM

BANK CATCLAW

5 GAL L 0.2 37

BACCHARIS X `CENTENNIAL`

CENTENNIAL COYOTE BRUSH

5 GAL L 0.2 9

CALLIANDRA CALIFORNICA

RED BAJA FAIRY DUSTER

15 GAL L 0.2 12

CALLISTEMON VIMINALIS `LITTLE JOHN`

DWARF WEEPING BOTTLE BRUSH

5 GAL L 0.2 6

CASSIA ARTEMISIOIDES

FEATHERY CASSIA

15 GAL L 0.2 14

CUPHEA HYSSOPIFOLIA

FALSE HEATHER

5 GAL M 0.5 23

ELAEAGNUS PUNGENS `FRUITLANDII`

FRUITLAND SILVERBERRY

15 GAL M 0.5 11

HEMEROCALLIS X `YELLOW`

YELLOW DAYLILY

5 GAL M 0.5 30

HESPERALOE PARVIFLORA YELLOW

YELLOW YUCCA

1 GAL L 0.2 13

ILEX VOMITORIA `NANA`

DWARF YAUPON HOLLY

15 GAL M 0.5 8

JUNIPERUS CHINENSIS `SPARTAN`

SPARTAN JUNIPER

15 GAL M 0.5 13 COLUMN

LANTANA X `NEW GOLD`

NEW GOLD LANTANA

1 GAL M 0.5 60

LIGUSTICUM JAPONICUM TEXANUM

TEXAS PRIVET

15 GAL M 0.5 10

MUHLENBERGIA RIGENS

DEER GRASS

5 GAL M 0.5 22

PHOTINIA X FRASERI

RED TIP PHOTINIA

15 GAL M 0.5 22

PITTOSPORUM TOBIRA `WHEELERS DWARF`

WHEELER`S DWARF MOCK ORANGE

15 GAL M 0.5 28

RAPHIOLEPIS INDICA SPRINGTIME

INDIA HAWTHORN

15 GAL M 0.5 15

ROMNEYA COULTERI

MATILIJA POPPY

5 GAL L 0.2 15

SALVIA GREGGII

AUTUMN SAGE

5 GAL M 0.5 18

TECOMARIA CAPENSIS

CAPE HONEYSUCKLE

15 GAL M 0.5 17

XYLOSMA CONGESTUM `COMPACTA`

COMPACT XYLOSMA

5 GAL M 0.5 22

VINE/ESPALIER BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE WU QTY REMARKS

BIGNONIA VIOLACEA

VIOLET TRUMPET VINE

15 GAL M 0.5 1

BOUGAINVILLEA X `BARBARA KARST`

BARBARA KARST BOUGAINVILLEA

15 GAL M 0.5 2 WIRE TO SCREEN

PHAEDRANTHUS BUCCINATORIUS

BLOOD-RED TRUMPET

15 GAL M 0.5 1

GROUND COVERS BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE WU QTY REMARKS

PLANT SCHEDULE

GROUND COVERS BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE WU QTY REMARKS

CAREX PRAEGRACILIS

CALIFORNIA FIELD SEDGE

1 GAL M 0.5 2

LAWN SOD HIGH  0.8 14 SF

ROSMARINUS OFFICINALIS `HUNTINGTON BLUE`

HUNTINGTON ROSEMARY

1 GAL M 0.5 5

SANTOLINA CHAMAECYPARISSUS

LAVENDER COTTON

1 GAL L 0.2 1

133

131

62

2,003

5'

2" WETTED & COMPACTED USE SOIL BINDING

ADDITIVE ON ALL SLOPES IN RETENTION BASIN

STEEL HEADER TO BE BROWN

BOULDERS - T.B.S.

SEE PLAN FOR SIZE, LOCATIONS

21

10

DG

PULTE HOMES - SOUTH PRADO (COACHELLA )

34200 Bob Hope Drive,  Rancho Mirage,  CA  92270

760.320.9811   msaconsultinginc.com

MSA CONSULTING, INC.

> PLANNING > CIVIL ENGINEERING > LAND SURVEYING > RGA LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS 3/9/2021

LANDSCAPE PLAN - MODEL

LOT  3
B

SALES OFFICE PUBLIC RESTROOM

ADA ACCESS

A
D

A
 A

C
C

ES
S

LOT 2
TEMPORARY PARKING

LOT  4
A

CONCRETE PATIO W/
PORTABLE BBQ

CONCRETE PATIO
W/ ALUMAWOOD COVER

PORTABLE BBQ

6' VINYL
FENCE

6' SLUMP
BLOCK WALL

6' SLUMP
BLOCK WALL

6' VINYL
FENCE

VINYL GATE

SIDEWALK 3' TRAP
 VINYL FENCE

DG

DG

PEDESTRIAN GATE
TO MATCH FENCE

VINYL DOUBLE MAINTENANCE
ACCESS GATE

LAWN
LAWN

DG

Page 696

Item 36.



PROPOSED
WATER LINE

EXISTING
WATER LINE

EXISTING
SEWER LINE

PROPOSED
SEWER LINE PROPOSED

6' TUBE FENCE

EXISTING
GAS LINE

EXISTING IID
POWER LINE

5'
5'

5'

3'

3'

3'

3'

3'

3'

12' WIDE
TUBE STEEL GATE
FOR MAINTENANCE

PROPOSED
6' DECORATIVE MASONRY WALL

TO MATCH EXISTING PERIMETER WALL
OF PRADO GATED COMMUNITY

PROPOSED
6' BLOCK WALL

EXISTING
6' BLOCK WALL

EXISTING
6' BLOCK WALL

"DESERT WASH"
 LANDSCAPE STYLE

PUE

WEDGE CURB

SIDEWALK

LOT LINE

PILASTER PILASTER

LOT D

PUE
PUE

EXISTING
6' BLOCK WALL

PILASTER

PROPOSED
6' BLOCK WALL

PROPOSED
6' BLOCK WALL

OFFSET PART WITHIN EASEMENT

C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TIO
N

 D
ET

A
IL

S

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-
-
-

-

-

-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

PR
O

JE
C

T:

SH
EE

T 
TIT

LE

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:

PROJECT MANAGER:

DRAWN:

CHECKED:

PROJ. N0.

DATE:

SCALE:

REVISIONS: INIT.

SHEET N0:

TM

TM

2629

4/19/21

C
O

A
C

HE
LL

A
, C

A

-
-
- -

-
-
- - -

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS
A DESIGN STUDIO OF MSA CONSULTING, INC .

> LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE > PLANNING
> CIVIL ENGINEERING > LAND SURVEYING

34200 BOB HOPE DRIVE,  RANCHO MIRAGE,  CA  92270
760.320.9811  MSACONSULTINGINC.COM

MSA CONSULTING, INC.

-

C
O

A
C

HE
LL

A
 1

07

L-2.02

EB

PER DETAIL

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"PLAN VIEW - RETENTION BASINC
Page 697

Item 36.



2

1

6

7 7PA PA

11

11

4' MIN 24'-0" MIN. PER FIRE MARSHALL

PROPOSED WATER LINE

EXISTING SEWER LINE

4' MIN
POST LOCATION TO BE DETERMINED IN FIELD BASED ON

LOCATION OF UNDERGROUND UTILITIES.
5

1

5

1

8'-0"

EXISTING SEWER LINE
TO  BE RELOCATED

EXISTING WATER LINE
TO BE  REMOVED

ASPHALT STREET

EXISTING
GAS LINE

EXISTING IID
POWER LINE

2

8

10

6

9

3"
 M

IN
.

TB
D

TB
D

2"  FENCE POST
6" STEEL GATE POST IN ASPHALT
12 ' EMERGENCY GATES (24' MIN. WIDTH PER FIRE DEPT.
PERFORATED METAL BY MCNICHOLS W/ 51% OPEN AREA
BLOCK WALL
ROLLING CURB
SIDEWALK
SPREAD FOOTING TO BE DESIGNED BY STRUCTURAL ENGINEER. ENGINEER TO
COORDINATE WITH UTILITIES BELOW TO AVOID INSTALLATION CONFLICTS.
TBD = TO BE DETERMINED BY STRUCTURAL ENGINEER.
ROAD BASE
COMPACTED SUBGRADE
FENCING
2" SQ TUBE STEEL FRAME
1
2" SQ TUBE STEEL PICKETS AT 4" O.C. WITH METAL MESH WELDED TO PROPERTY
SIDE OF GATE.
CANE BOLT:
8" DIAMETER x 12" DEEP CONCRETE FOOTING
STEEL SLEEVE/RECEIVER FOR CANE BOLT
STEEL SLEEVE WELDED TO FRAME TO ACCEPT CANE BOLT

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

KEYNOTES

11

15

16

17

12

13

14

211 12 13

14

5'-6
"

4"

4"

4

3"

17

16

15
1. WELD ALL CONNECTIONS & GRIND SMOOTH. FINISH ALL METAL SURFACES W/1 COAT OF ZINC-CHROMATE PRIMER & 2 COATS
OF EXTERIOR GRADE ENAMEL.  CONTRACTOR TO SUBMIT SHOP DRAWINGS TO  LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT FOR APPROVAL PRIOR TO
FABRICATION.
2. FENCE COLOR TO MATCH ADJACENT BLOCK WALL

C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TIO
N

 D
ET

A
IL

S

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-
-
-

-

-

-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

PR
O

JE
C

T:

SH
EE

T 
TIT

LE

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:

PROJECT MANAGER:

DRAWN:

CHECKED:

PROJ. N0.

DATE:

SCALE:

REVISIONS: INIT.

SHEET N0:

TM

TM

2629

4/19/21

C
O

A
C

HE
LL

A
, C

A

-
-
- -

-
-
- - -

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS
A DESIGN STUDIO OF MSA CONSULTING, INC .

> LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE > PLANNING
> CIVIL ENGINEERING > LAND SURVEYING

34200 BOB HOPE DRIVE,  RANCHO MIRAGE,  CA  92270
760.320.9811  MSACONSULTINGINC.COM

MSA CONSULTING, INC.

-

C
O

A
C

HE
LL

A
 1

07

SCALE: 1" = 1'-0"POST FOOTING ENLARGEMENTA.2 L-2.00

EB

PER DETAIL

SCALE: 1/2" = 1'-0"PLAN VIEW - EMERGENCY ACCESS GATEA.1

SCALE: 1/2" = 1'-0"ELEVATION - EMERGENCY ACCESS GATE @ VIA PRADOA

SCALE: 1/2" = 1'-0"CANE BOLT ENLARGEMENTA.3

Page 698

Item 36.



PROPOSED
WATER LINE

EXISTING
WATER LINE

EXISTING
SEWER LINE

PROPOSED
SEWER LINE

4' MIN4' MIN

POST LOCATION TO BE
DETERMINED IN FIELD BASED

ON LOCATION OF
UNDERGROUND UTILITIES.

4' MIN4' MIN

15 5

2

8'

POST LOCATION TO BE
DETERMINED IN FIELD BASED

ON LOCATION OF
UNDERGROUND UTILITIES.

8'

LANDSCAPE

EXISTING
GAS LINE

EXISTING IID
POWER LINE

2" SQ. STEEL POST @ 8'-0" O.C.
1 1/2" SQ. STEEL RAIL
3/4" SQ. STEEL PICKET @ 4 1/2" O.C.
PERFORATED METAL BY MCNICHOLS W/ 51% OPEN AREA
BLOCK WALL
SIDEWALK

1

2

3

4

5

6

KEYNOTES

1. WELD ALL CONNECTIONS & GRIND SMOOTH. FINISH
ALL METAL SURFACES W/1 COAT OF ZINC-CHROMATE
PRIMER & 2 COATS OF EXTERIOR GRADE ENAMEL.
CONTRACTOR TO SUBMIT SHOP DRAWINGS TO
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT FOR APPROVAL PRIOR TO
FABRICATION.
2. FENCE COLOR TO MATCH ADJACENT BLOCK WALL

1'

3"

1'-6
"

4"

6" L
OW

ER 
THA

N
AD

JAC
ENT

 WA
LL

DIA

1 2 3

2

4

C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TIO
N

 D
ET

A
IL

S

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-
-
-

-

-

-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

PR
O

JE
C

T:

SH
EE

T 
TIT

LE

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:

PROJECT MANAGER:

DRAWN:

CHECKED:

PROJ. N0.

DATE:

SCALE:

REVISIONS: INIT.

SHEET N0:

TM

TM

2629

4/19/21

C
O

A
C

HE
LL

A
, C

A

-
-
- -

-
-
- - -

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS
A DESIGN STUDIO OF MSA CONSULTING, INC .

> LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE > PLANNING
> CIVIL ENGINEERING > LAND SURVEYING

34200 BOB HOPE DRIVE,  RANCHO MIRAGE,  CA  92270
760.320.9811  MSACONSULTINGINC.COM

MSA CONSULTING, INC.

-

C
O

A
C

HE
LL

A
 1

07

L-2.01

EB

PER DETAIL

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"PLAN VIEW - GATEB.1

SCALE: 1/2" = 1'-0"ELEVATION - STEEL TUBE FENCE @ RIBERA STREETB

Page 699

Item 36.



City of Coachella  Page 1 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

Addendum to the 
Mitigated Negative Declaration 

 

Application for  
58-Acre Kirkjan Project  

MND Addendum 
 
 

LEAD AGENCY: 

City of Coachella 
Development Services Department 

1515 Sixth Street 
Coachella, CA 92236 

 

 

 APPLICANT: 
City of Coachella 

c/o Luis Lopez, Development Services Director 
53990 Enterprise Way 
Coachella, CA 92236 

 
 
 
 

PREPARED BY: 

 
MSA Consulting, Inc. 

34200 Bob Hope Drive 

Rancho Mirage, CA 92270 

 

Page 700

Item 36.



City of Coachella  Page 2 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
Title                Page No. 
 
Chapter 1 – Introduction ……………………………………………..….…………3 
 
Chapter 2 – Statutory Background……………………………….….…..….……6 
 
Chapter 3 – Summary of Original Project……………………….….….…..……7 
 
Chapter 4 – Project Revisions ……………………………………...…….…….…9 
 
Chapter 5 – Environmental Setting …………………….……………….….……11 
 
Chapter 6 – Environmental Impact Analysis…………….….……………….…12 
 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Approved 58-Acre Kirkjan MND 

 
  

Page 701

Item 36.



City of Coachella  Page 3 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

CHAPTER ONE – INTRODUCTION 
 
In 2004, the City of Coachella adopted a Mitigated Negative Declaration (MND) for the 58-Acre 
Kirkjan Project (Environmental Initial Study No. 04-05), referred to herein as “previous project” or 
“MND”. The 58-Acre Kirkjan MND evaluated the impacts associated with the proposed 
development of 232 single-family residential uses and associated improvements on 58 acres. The 
analysis of the 58-Acre Kirkjan project identified several mitigation measures to address and 
mitigate potentially significant impacts to less than significant levels. The adopted 58-Acre Kirkjan 
MND is included as Appendix A. 
 
The previous project proposed a change of zone (No. 04-04) and a Tentative Tract Map (TTM 
No. 32075). The previous project involved redesignating the project site from Agriculture 
Transition (A-T) to Residential Single-Family (R-S), in order to develop the 232 dwelling units.  
 
The previous/proposed project is located on 58 acres of disturbed vacant land located south of 
Avenue 50, west of Frederick Street, and north of Avenue 51, in the City of Coachella, California. 
The Assessor’s Parcel Number (APN) for the site is 768-050-002.  
 
As previously stated, the MND analyzed impacts associated with the proposed development of 
232 residential units and associated improvements on 58 acres.  The northern portion of the site 
(approximately 31 acres) has now been developed with 123 single-family residential lots. The 
revised project proposes to develop 107 of the 109 residential lots and homes analyzed in the 
MND, along with associated improvements, in the southern portion of the 58-acre site.   
 
In accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and CEQA Guidelines, this 
addendum addresses the potential environmental impacts associated with the proposed 
residential community and provides an evaluation of potential environmental impacts in relation 
to the original project evaluated in the adopted MND, as well as the new environmental topics 
required by the most current CEQA Guidelines. The addendum is an informational document 
intended to be used in the planning and decision-making process as provided for under Section 
15164 of the CEQA Guidelines. The addendum does not recommend approval or denial of the 
proposed modifications of the previous project. The conclusion of this addendum is that the 
proposed changes to the project will neither result in new significant impacts nor substantially 
increase the severity of previously disclosed impacts beyond those already identified in the 
previously adopted MND. Thus, a subsequent MND is not required.  
 
The location of the project site is shown below in Exhibit 1 and 2.  

  

Page 702

Item 36.



City of Coachella  Page 4 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

Exhibit 1 
 Vicinity Map 

  

Page 703

Item 36.



City of Coachella  Page 5 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

Exhibit 2 
Aerial Photograph 

  

Page 704

Item 36.



City of Coachella  Page 6 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

CHAPTER TWO – STATUTORY BACKGROUND 
 
The City of Coachella is the CEQA lead agency responsible for the project. Under CEQA, an 
addendum to a certified Environmental Impact Report (EIR) or a Negative Declaration (ND) may 
be prepared if minor technical changes or additions to the proposed project are required or if none 
of the conditions described in Section 15162 calling for the preparation of a subsequent EIR (or 
MND) have occurred (CEQA Guidelines Section 15164[b]). An addendum is appropriate if the 
project changes or modifications do not result in any new significant impacts or a substantial 
increase in severity of previously identified significant impacts. The addendum need not be 
circulated for public review (CEQA Guidelines Section 15164[c]); however, an addendum is to be 
considered along by the decision-making body prior to making a decision on the project (CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15164[d]).  
 
This MND addendum demonstrates that the environmental analysis, impacts, and mitigation 
requirements identified in the MND remain substantively unchanged by the revised project 
description detailed herein and supports the findings that the proposed project does not raise any 
new issues and does not exceed the level of impacts identified in the previous MND. Further, 
rather than only focusing on the characterization of whether the project is “new” or “old”, the City 
has also evaluated the previous environmental document to determine if it retains any relevance 
in light of the proposed changes, and if any major revisions to the document are required due to 
the involvement of new, previously unstudied significant environmental effects. The subsequent 
review provisions of CEQA are designed to ensure that an agency proposing changes to a 
previously approved project explores environmental impacts not considered in the original 
environmental document. This assumes that some of the environmental impacts of the modified 
project are considered in the original environmental document, such that the original document 
retains relevance to the decision-making process. If it is wholly, irrelevant, then it is only logical 
that the agency starts over from the beginning. The City has determined that project changes will 
not require major revisions to the initial environmental document. Accordingly, recirculation of the 
MND for public review is not necessary pursuant to Section 15164 of the CEQA Guidelines. 
Therefore, a decision was made by the City of Coachella not to prepare a subsequent Negative 
Declaration pursuant to Section 15162 of the CEQA Guidelines. To support this decision, the 
following discussion describes the proposed project modifications and the associated 
environmental analysis.   

  

Page 705

Item 36.



City of Coachella  Page 7 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

CHAPTER THREE – SUMMARY OF ORIGINAL PROJECT  
 
The previous project proposed the development of 232 single family residential dwellings on 
approximately 58 acres in the City of Coachella. The previous project occupied the area south of 
Avenue 50, approximately 630 feet east of Van Buren Street, north of Avenue 51, and 
approximately 960 feet west of Frederick Street.  

At the time the MND was written the site was characterized by bare soil and agricultural trees, dirt 
roads, abandoned residential structures, a maintenance yard, miscellaneous storage areas, and 
shipping/receiving areas which were utilized during past harvests. 

Access to the site was proposed to occur along a north-south trending internal street, Via Prado. 
Via Prado would provide access to Avenue 50, to the north, and Avenue 51, to the south. 
Construction of the previous project was proposed to occur in one (1) phase, beginning in 2005. 
The previous project was proposed to take 12 months to complete.  

The previously proposed project proposed a change of zone (No. 04-04) and a Tentative Tract 
Map (TTM No. 32075). The previously project involved redesignated the project site from 
Agriculture Transition (A-T) to Residential Single-Family (R-S), in order to develop the 232 
dwelling units.  
 
The previous project site plan is shown below, in Exhibit 3. 

 
 
 

 

  

Page 706

Item 36.



City of Coachella  Page 8 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

Exhibit 3 
Previous Project Site Plan 

  

Page 707

Item 36.



City of Coachella  Page 9 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

CHAPTER FOUR – PROJECT REVISIONS 
 
The revised project includes the development of the remaining 27 acres in the southern portion 
of the site.  

As previously stated, the 58-Acre Kirkjan project was originally designed as a single-family 
residential property totaling 232 dwelling units and associated improvements. Associated 
improvements included paved parking, landscaped areas, and a detention basin in the 
southeastern corner of the site. The northern portion of the site (approximately 31 acres of the 
site) has now been developed with 123 single family residential lots (both developed with homes 
and vacant). 

The revised project proposes to subdivide the undeveloped 27-acre parcel into 107 lots, per the 
submitted Tentative Tract Map (TTM) exhibit (Exhibit 4). The property in its current state is 
undeveloped with site access at Via Prado to the north and Ave 51 (existing two-lane paved road) 
to the south. The subdivision has been designed with gated emergency gates and utility / drainage 
access points on the northerly portion of the site off Via Prado and Ribera Street. A proposed 
retention basin will be located on the southeast corner of the site. The revised project will be 
developed in 13 phases.  

The development of the revised project would result in a total of 230 dwelling units on the 58-acre 
site, as opposed to 232 dwelling units proposed in the previous project. The revised site plan is 
indicated in Exhibit 4.  

Both the previous and revised projects propose the development of single-family homes on the 
58-acre site, and the revised project proposes a slight reduction in the total number of units.   

The impact analysis contained herein will focus on whether the revised project would result in any 
new or more severe impacts not previously identified in the adopted 58-Acre Kirkjan Project MND.  

 

 
 
  

Page 708

Item 36.



City of Coachella  Page 10 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

Exhibit 4 
Revised Project Site Plan

Page 709

Item 36.



City of Coachella  Page 11 
Draft Addendum  April 2021 

 

CHAPTER FIVE – ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING 
 
The project site is located in the City of Coachella. The site is located south of Avenue 50, and 
north of Avenue 51. The previous project encompassed one 58-acre parcel (Assessor’s Parcel 
Number 768-050-002). The northern portion of the site is mostly developed, while the southern 
portion (27 acres) is undeveloped and vacant. The southern 27 acres of the site addresses the 
revised project. The revised project occurs within Lot 124 of Tract No. 32075-1, per M.B.387/39-
42, being in the northwest ¼ of Section 6, Township 6 South, Range 8 East, San Bernardino 
Meridian.  

The area surrounding the project site is characterized by developed and vacant parcels. The 
project is surrounded by developed, residential communities to the north, east, west, and south. 
Avenue 50 is located to the north, Frederick Street is located approximately 960 feet to the east, 
Avenue 51 is located to the south, and Van Buren Street is located approximately 630 feet to the 
west. The project is located within the City of Coachella’s Residential Single Family Zone (R-S). 
The existing land use designation for the site is Low Density Residential (0-6 dwelling units per 
acre).  

The location of the project site is shown in Exhibit 1 and 2.  
 
 
  

Page 710

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 12 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

CHAPTER SIX – ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ANALYSIS 
 
This document is an addendum to the previously adopted 58-Acre Kirkjan MND referenced above. 
This addendum provides the project specific environmental review pursuant to CEQA to 
demonstrate the adequacy of the MND relative to the revised project. As indicated above, the 
previous MND identified significant impacts and proposed mitigation measures related to 
biological resources and cultural resources. The analysis below discusses the adequacy and 
applicability of previous mitigation measures to the revised project. In addition, the analysis below 
addresses whether any new or more severe impacts would result from the project revisions and 
whether any additional mitigation measures beyond those previously identified in the MND would 
be required.  

I. Aesthetics  
 

58-Acre Kirkjan Project MND 
 
The MND identified no significant impacts related to aesthetics. According to the MND, prior to 
development of the 58-acre site, the property consisted of bare soil and agricultural trees, dirt 
roads, abandoned residential structures, a maintenance yard, miscellaneous storage areas, and 
shipping/receiving areas which were utilized during past harvests. Per the MND, the City did not 
identify scenic vistas within the project vicinity, therefore, scenic vistas would not be impacted by 
the previous project. Additionally, the MND concluded that no historical buildings were known to 
occur within the project site and scenic highways do not occur in the project area. Therefore, no 
impacts would occur to scenic resources or scenic highways.  

The MND concluded that the development of the 232 residential dwelling units would alter the 
existing visual character of the area; however, the project was required to submit plans for 
approval of the Planning Commission, which would ensure a high-quality design. Additionally, the 
project was also required to participate in architectural review and comply with landscaping and 
lighting requirements as established by the City’s zoning ordinance. Therefore, the MND 
concluded that impacts to the visual character of the area and light and glare would be less than 
significant, and no mitigation measures were required.  

Revised Project  
 
Similar to the MND, the revised project would not affect scenic vistas in the area. The surrounding 
area is largely developed with single family residential communities. The revised project would 
develop single family residential dwelling units similar in design, scale, and mass to the existing 
residential structures. Similar to the MND, the revised project would be required to submit plans 
for approval of the Planning Commission, which would ensure a high-quality design. Additionally, 
the revised project is also required to participate in architectural review and comply with 
landscaping and lighting requirements as established by the City’s zoning ordinance. Therefore, 
the revised project’s impacts to the visual character of the area and light and glare would be the 
same as the previous project, and less than significant. 

As previously determined, potential historic resources do not exist on the project site. Additionally, 
the project site is not located in proximity to a state scenic highway, therefore, the revised project 
would not impact scenic resources adjacent to or within close proximity to state scenic highways.   

Major revisions to the MND are not required due to the proposed changes to the project as there 
have been no substantial changes in the project or its surrounding circumstances relating to any 

Page 711

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 13 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

aesthetic impacts that would require major MND revisions; and there is no new information 
showing greater effects than disclosed in the previous MND.  

II. Agricultural Resources  
 

58-Acre Kirkjan Project MND 
 
The MND concluded that the previous project would result in no significant impacts related to 
agricultural and forest/timberland resources. According to the MND, the project site was not 
located in an area designated as Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide 
Importance. The land use designation for the site was Low Density Residential (RL). RL 
designations allow 0 to 6 dwelling units per acre (du/ac). According to the MND, the project site 
was not located in an existing zone for agricultural use or classified as farm land, forest land, 
timberland, or Timberland Production zones. The MND concluded that the project would not result 
in impacts to agricultural resources.  
 
Revised Project  
 
The revised project would not change the proposed uses of the project site. The project site does 
not include any active agricultural uses or agricultural resources, and is not adjacent to such uses, 
and is not zoned or designated for agricultural uses. Thus, similar to the MND, the revised project 
would have no impact to agricultural resources.  

Major revisions to the MND are not required due to the proposed changes to the project as there 
have been no substantial changes in the project or its surrounding circumstances relating to 
agricultural resources that would require major MND revisions; and there is no new information 
showing greater effects than disclosed in the previous MND.  

III. Air Quality  
 

58-Acre Kirkjan Project MND 
 
The adopted MND Air Quality analysis involved quantifying the worst-case potential criteria air 
pollutant emission levels resulting from construction and operation of the residential project to 
compare against the numeric thresholds established by South Coast Air Quality Management 
District (SCAQMD) for the project region and air basin. The methodology of the adopted MND 
relied on Urban Emissions Model (URBEMIS), which is software developed by the California Air 
Resources Board (CARB) as a modeling tool to assist local public agencies with estimating air 
quality impacts from land use projects pertaining to CEQA environmental analysis. The computer 
model was developed to estimate construction, area source, and operational air pollution 
emissions from a wide variety of land use development projects, including residential 
neighborhoods. In addition to URBEMIS, the prior MD Caltrans CALINE 4 model was utilized to 
estimate local Carbon Monoxide (CO) concentrations associated with roadway traffic. At the time 
of the prior MND preparation, the Salton Sea Air Basin was designated by CARB as being in non-
attainment for ozone and PM10, but the required State Implementation Plans (SIPs) were in place 
at a regional level to meet the target attainment levels. 
 
The prior analysis found construction-related activities, including site preparation, grading, 
construction equipment operation, construction traffic, and building construction would result in 
measurable criteria pollutant emissions. The quantitative analysis of these activities found that 

Page 712

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 14 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

unmitigated short-term peak emission levels would not technically exceed the SCAQMD 
thresholds; however, nitrogen oxides emissions would come to within one pound per day below 
the threshold, prompting mitigation to ensure that these measures were maintained during 
construction. In summary, the mitigation related to construction (AQ1 through AQ4) mandated the 
use of aqueous diesel fuel, compliance with the local dust control requirements, proper 
maintenance of construction equipment, and compliance with the state vehicle code, resulting in 
less than significant impacts. 
 
The prior analysis also reviewed long-term (operational) criteria air pollutant emissions expected 
to result at full project buildout, during the life of the project. These emissions would be generated 
by mobile (vehicle) and area sources associated with the residential land use operations. The 
quantitative analysis using URBEMIS software found that the estimated emissions would not 
result in any exceedance of the SCAQMD thresholds. The prior analysis also involved Caltrans 
CALINE 4 modeling to determine the likelihood of carbon monoxide hotspot resulting from the 
project. Based on the worst-case approach, the project was found to not result in adverse carbon 
monoxide emissions capable of generating hotspots. Therefore, operation of the project at full 
buildout of 232 units was found to result in less than significant levels without the need for 
mitigation. 
 
In this context, the prior MND concluded that the project would not result in impacts to air quality 
regarding conflicts with implementation of local air quality plan, considerable net increases in 
criteria pollutants for which the region is in non-attainment, exposure of sensitive receptors or 
other objectionable emissions.  The MND also concluded that with implementation of mitigation 
measures AQ-1 through AQ-4, the previous project would not have any significant effects 
concerning compliance with applicable air quality plans and standards.  
 
Revised Project  
 
Since the prior environmental review, the project setting has not incurred any substantial change 
in circumstances deemed inconsistent with the project’s planned residential uses. To date, project 
implementation has resulted in 123 single-family dwelling units with associated road and utility 
infrastructure on the northern 31 acres of the project site. The remaining area has maintained a 
vacant condition with soil treatment as a method to prevent fugitive dust emissions. Buildout of 
the project with minor modifications would result in the completion of 107 residential dwelling 
units, for a total of 230 units. This total represents two fewer units than previously analyzed and 
therefore a minor reduction in the associated construction and operational emissions. The 
reduction in emissions is also attributed to the improved energy efficiency standards associated 
with the remaining residential units to be constructed and the stricter vehicular emissions 
standards pertaining to project-induced vehicle trips. 

Since the prior MND, the regulatory framework and air quality standards have undergone updates, 
including those reflected in the adopted Air Quality Management Plan (2016 AQMP) applicable 
to the entire SCAMQD jurisdiction. However, because the project was analyzed and adopted prior 
to the 2016 AQMP adoption, its residential land uses already form part of the growth assumptions 
factored into the current regional air quality management strategies of this plan. As a result, 
project buildout with the same (or slightly reduced) land use density and composition would not 
result in conflicts with the 2016 AQMP. SCAMQD has not changed the construction and 
operational peak emissions standards observed in the prior analysis, for which no exceedances 
were estimated. 

The project region is continuing to implement SIPs toward establishing attainment for PM10 

Page 713

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 15 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

(particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 10 microns or less).  and Ozone.   

PM10: On February 25, 2010, the ARB approved the 2010 Coachella Valley PM10 Maintenance 
Plan and transmitted it to the U.S. EPA for approval. With the recent data being collected at the 
Coachella Valley monitoring stations, consideration of high-wind exceptional events, and 
submittal of a PM10 Re-designation Request and Maintenance Plan, a re-designation to 
attainment status of the PM10 NAAQS is deemed feasible in the near future according to the 2016 
AQMP. As a standard requirement, the remaining construction activities for project buildout would 
be subject to SCAMQD Rules 403 and 403.1, as well as the City’s Fugitive Dust Control 
requirements (Chapter 8.20 of the Coachella Code of Ordinances) aimed at addressing the PM10 
concerns for the region. This implementation would be consistent with Mitigation Measure AQ2 
and with the updated PM10 SIP. Dust control measures during construction would continue 
preventing emissions impacts to nearby residential uses. After project completion, permanent site 
stabilization through residential construction would eliminate the potential source of fugitive dust  

Ozone: SCAQMD is continuing to implement an updated strategy to comply with the ozone 
standard (1997 8-hour standard), for which there is a target attainment date of June 15, 2024. 
SCAQMD has acknowledged that the largest ozone contributors to the Coachella Valley are not 
sources within the region, but rather the ozone and ozone precursors transported to the Coachella 
Valley from the upwind South Coast Air Basin (SCAB). SCAQMD deems that local sources of air 
pollution generated in the Coachella Valley have a limited impact on ozone levels compared to 
the transported sources generated in SCAB. The prior MND analysis involved a quantification of 
criteria pollutants, including ozone precursors (reactive organic gases and nitrogen oxides). Under 
each standard, the project construction and operation did not reach or exceed the established 
SCAMQD thresholds. Considering that the project previously complied with the threshold and that 
buildout will not involve any increase in residential units, no changes are expected pertaining to 
compliance and consistency with the applicable ozone SIP. 

Therefore, based on the reduction in total residential units, completion of the project with minor 
modifications, and with implementation of mitigation measures AQ-1 through AQ-4, would result 
in less than significant impacts regarding conflicts with implementation of local air quality plan, 
considerable net increases in criteria pollutants for which the region is in non-attainment, 
exposure of sensitive receptors to other objectionable emissions. 

IV. Biological Resources  
 

58-Acre Kirkjan Project MND 
 
The MND evaluated potential biological resource impacts associated with the development of the 
58-acre project site. BonTerra Consulting conducted a search of available literature and 
conducted a general biological survey of the project property to identify special status plants, 
wildlife, and habitats known to occur in the vicinity of the project site. The California Native Plant 
Society’s (CNPS) Inventory of Rare and Endangered Vascular Plants of California (2003) and 
compendia of special status species published by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) 
and California Department of Fish and Game (CDFG) were reviewed. In addition, the CDFG’s 
California Natural Diversity Database was reviewed.  

The MND stated that vegetation on the project site consisted of disturbed/ruderal, disturbed, and 
developed areas, as categorized by the CDFG. The disturbed/ruderal areas on the project site 
were characterized by agricultural crop rows with native and non-native weeds and shrubs. The 
dominant plant was the saltbush, with other species occurring throughout, including four-wing 

Page 714

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 16 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

saltbush, Bermuda grass, Jimson weed, red-stemmed filaree, sunflower, cheese bush, arrow 
weed, Russian thistle, bush seepweed, and salt cedar. The disturbed areas were characterized 
by grading and/or disking. This area was devoid of vegetation and consisted of bare ground. The 
developed area of the site consisted of paved areas and a man-made structure including a small, 
prefabricated warehouse and associated parking lot. This area was also devoid of vegetation.  

The wildlife species found during the biological survey are associated with agricultural operations 
and disturbed/ruderal vegetation in low desert areas. No common reptile species, fish, or 
amphibian species were observed on the project site at the time the MND was written.  

Special status plant species with a low potential to occur in the project area included chaparral 
sand-verbena and the Coachella Valley milk-vetch since marginally suitable habitat occurs within 
the project. Glandular ditaxis, California ditaxis, and slender wooly-heads had a moderate 
potential of occurrence at the site due to the presence of suitable habitat.  

Five special status plant species had the potential to occur onsite, including one federally listed 
Endangered species, according to the MND. Therefore, spring botanical surveys for these species 
were required. The surveys were to be conducted during their appropriate survey “window” to 
determine their presence or absence on the project. If a substantial population of one of these 
species were found on the project, impacts on the population would require additional mitigation. 
If construction of the previous project was expected to commence prior to the survey window for 
the special status plant species, the project would have to address these species as potentially 
present and make a finding of potentially significant based on habitat suitability alone. This would 
require the development and implementation of mitigation measures prior to construction. This 
was indicated as BIO1 in the MND.  

One special status wildlife species, the burrowing owl, was observed on the project site at the 
time the MND was written. Additionally, the Palm Springs round-tailed ground squirrel had the 
potential to occur on the project site when the MND was written. Therefore, the following mitigation 
measures were required in the MND: 

BIO2:  In order to avoid impacts to an occupied burrowing owl burrow, focused surveys shall be 
conducted prior to commencement of clearing or grading operations on the project site. 
Additionally, if clearing or grading operations are planned during the breeding season for 
any of these species, a breeding raptor survey shall be conduced prior to any clearing or 
grading activities.  

 Surveys for burrowing owl shall be conducted according to a protocol prepared by the 
Burrowing Owl Consortium of the Santa Cruz Predatory Bird Research Group. Surveys 
shall be conducted by walking through suitable habitat over the entire project site and in 
areas within approximately 500 feet of the project impact zone. Any active burrows found 
during survey efforts shall be mapped on the construction plans. If no active burrowing 
owl burrows are found, no further mitigation is required. Results of the surveys shall be 
provided to the CDFG.  

BIO3:  If burrowing owl nest sites are found, the following restrictions on construction are required 
between March 1 and August 31 (or until nests are no longer active as determined by a 
qualified biologist): 

 Clearing limits shall be established with a minimum of 250 feet, or as otherwise 
determined by a qualified biologist, in any direction from any occupied burrow 
exhibiting nesting activity; and  

Page 715

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 17 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

 Access and surveying shall not be allowed within 100 feet of any burrow exhibiting 
nesting activity. Any encroachment into the 250/100-foot buffer area around the known 
nest is allowed only if it is determined by a qualified biologist that the proposed activity 
shall not disturb the nest occupants.  

If construction occurs outside of the breeding season, exclusion of burrowing owls from 
their burrow is a practice generally accepted by the CDFG. Exclusion of burrowing owls 
involves placement of one-way doors at the opening of known occupied burrows to allow 
egress from and preventing ingress to the burrow. In this manner the burrowing owl is 
forced to look for another suitable roosting location. 

BIO4:  Surveys for the Coachella Valley round-tailed ground squirrel shall be conducted 
according to guidelines provided by the USFWS and consist of the following: 

 A minimum of three surveys conducted between May 1 and July 31. 

 Each survey must be conducted from one hour after sunrise to four hours after sunrise.  

 Temperatures in the shade must range from 80 degrees to 91.4 degrees Fahrenheit.  

 Wind speeds must be low.  

 100 percent of the study area must be covered, using walking transects spaced 
approximately 32 feet apart.  

 
The MND determined that the previous project would not result in impacts to riparian habitat or 
other sensitive natural community. Additionally, the previous project would not result in adverse 
effects on federally protected wetlands, as defined by Section 404 of the Clean Water Act.  
 
According to the MND, the City of Coachella’s General Plan policies encouraged the preservation 
of the habitat areas of rare, threatened, and endangered wildlife and plant resources within open 
space areas. Future development proposals would be required to demonstrate compliance with 
General Plan policies. Therefore, the MND concluded that the previous project would not conflict 
with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources in the City.  
 
At the time the MND was written, the Coachella Valley Association of Governments (CVAG) was 
preparing a Multiple Species Habitat Conservation Plan (MSHCP) and Natural Community 
Conservation Plan (NCCP) for the Coachella Valley region. The MSHCP and NCCP were 
developed to create large, interconnected preserves for special status species and their habitats 
while streamlining the regulatory process outside of the reserve areas. The involved agencies 
planned to accomplish this by providing a means to subsidize mitigation/compensation measures 
for species covered by the plan and satisfy applicable provisions of federal and state 
requirements. The payment of fees was the most common mitigation. Therefore, the MND 
required the implementation of mitigation measure BIO5. 
 
BIO5:  Adequate fees shall be paid according to the adopted MSHCP and NCCP shall it become 

adopted prior to project development.  
 
The MND concluded that implementation of mitigation measures BIO1 through BIO5 would 
reduce biological resource impacts to less than significant.  

Revised Project  
 
The revised project intends to reconfigure the southern portion of the previous project. No 
additional grading or development beyond what was anticipated in the MND would occur. In its 

Page 716

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 18 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

existing condition the site has been largely developed and/or disturbed. As discussed in the MND, 
the site may provide suitable habitat for chaparral sand-verbena, Coachella Valley milk-vetch, 
glandular ditaxis, California ditaxis, and slender wooly-heads. However, currently the Coachella 
Valley MSHCP covers the Coachella Valley milk-vetch and mitigation is provided under the 
MSHCP through the payment of fees, which is deemed to be full compliance with mitigation 
measure BIO5 from the MND. The chaparral sand-verbena, glandular ditaxis, California ditaxis, 
and slender woolly-heads are not covered under the CVMSHCP. However, these species are not 
listed as rare, threatened, or endangered by either the state or federal governments and are not 
likely to occur onsite due to the largely disturbed (cleared vegetation and graded) character of the 
site. However, the revised project may be required to conduct a botanical survey (mitigation 
measure BIO1), similar to the MND, to determine the presence of these rare species. Therefore, 
the revised project would be required to implement mitigation measures BIO1 and BIO5, as called 
for in the MND. This would ensure impacts to the species would be less than significant with 
mitigation. 

Although the site is largely disturbed and developed, the revised project would still be required to 
conduct surveys to determine the presence or absence of burrowing owls or the Coachella Valley 
round-tailed ground squirrel. Therefore, the revised project would be required to implement 
mitigation measures BIO2 through BIO4, as called for in the MND.  

Similar to the MND, the revised project would result in no impact associated with sensitive habitat, 
riparian habitat, or other sensitive natural community, wetlands, or vernal pools as none of these 
resources were identified on the project site. Additionally, no impact was identified to any native 
resident or migratory fish or wildlife species, or with established native resident or migratory 
wildlife corridors or nursery sites. No conflicts with local policies or ordinances protecting 
biological resources such as a tree preservation policy or ordinance would occur under the revised 
project.  

Major revisions to the MND are not required due to the proposed changes to the project as there 
have been no substantial changes in the project or its surrounding circumstances relating to 
biological impacts that would require major MND revisions; and there is no new information 
showing greater significant effects than disclosed in the previous MND.  

V. Cultural Resources  
 

58-Acre Kirkjan Project MND 
 
The MND evaluated potential cultural resource impacts associated with the development of the 
58-acre project site. The MND did not find prehistoric or historic resources on the project site. The 
records search through the Eastern Information Center (EIC) did not disclose any recorded 
prehistoric sites or isolates within or adjacent to the project site. The field survey also did not 
record any prehistoric resources. Additionally, no paleontological resources were identified 
through either the records search or the field survey. Therefore, the MND concluded that no 
impacts to paleontological resources would occur.  
 
The records search through the EIC revealed that a structure appeared to fall within the parcel 
boundaries by 1941, but it was no longer present by the 1956 topographic map revision date. No 
historic sites or isolates had been recorded previously within or adjacent to the parcel. The field 
survey revealed the foundations of a small agricultural complex within the project boundaries, 
however, it was not considered to be a significant archaeological resource, and did not qualify for 

Page 717

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 19 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

the California Register of Historic Resources (CRHR). Monitoring during grading was 
recommended in the MND. This is indicated as CUL1, below. 
 
 CUL1: Prior to construction, the applicant shall hire a certified archaeologist to observe 

grading/major trenching activities and salvage and catalogue archaeological resources as 
necessary. The archaeologist shall establish, in cooperation with the City, procedures for 
temporarily halting or redirecting work to permit sampling, identification and evaluation of 
the artifacts, as appropriate. If the archaeological resources are found to be significant, 
the archaeologist shall determine appropriate actions, in consultation with the City, for 
exploration and/or salvage.  

 
The MND concluded that implementation of this mitigation measure would reduce cultural 
resource impacts to less than significant.  
 

Revised Project 
 
The revised project would not require construction beyond what was anticipated in the MND. 
While overall site layout is proposed to change, no additional grading beyond what was 
anticipated in the MND would occur. Similar to the MND, the revised project would result in no 
impacts to historic resources, as defined in Section 15064.5 of the CEQA Guidelines. This 
includes any object, structure, site, area, place, record, or manuscript which a lead agency 
determines to be historically significant.  

As discussed in the MND, there is the potential for grading to impact significant archaeological 
resources. Therefore, the revised project would be required to implement mitigation measure 
CUL1 as required in the MND. This would ensure impacts to cultural resources would be less 
than significant with mitigation, the same that was identified in the MND.  

Major revisions to the MND are not required due to changes to the project as there have been no 
substantial changes in the project or its surrounding circumstances relating to cultural resources 
that would require major MND revisions; and there is no new information showing greater 
significant effects than disclosed in the previous MND.  

VI.  Geology and Soils  
 

58-Acre Kirkjan Project MND 
 
According to the MND, the project site is located within the seismically active southern California 
region. However, the MND concluded that the project was not located in an area zoned for the 
Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone, and impacts would be less than significant. Additionally, 
the MND found that there were no faults, active or inactive, that traverse the project site, however, 
groundshaking could occur at the site. Therefore, the project was required to conform with all 
applicable City ordinances, as well as standard engineering practices and design criteria to 
reduce these impacts. The following mitigation was established for the project: 

 GEO1: All structures shall be designed as confirmed during the building design plan checking, 
to withstand anticipated groundshaking caused by future earthquakes within an 
acceptable level of risk (i.e., high risk zone), as designated by the City’s latest adopted 
edition of the Uniform Building Code.   

 

Page 718

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 20 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

The MND found that a majority of the City’s Planning Area has a high generalized liquefaction 
potential, including the project site, due to the presence of alluvial sediment and shallow or semi-
perched groundwater within 50 feet of the ground surface. Therefore, mitigation included ground 
improvement techniques to reduce the potential for liquefaction or utilizing “deep” foundation 
systems (i.e., compaction grouting, overexcavation of near surface soils; rammed aggregate 
piers; deep foundation systems such as driven piles) for the proposed structures. The following 
mitigation measures were established to reduce impacts of liquefaction to less than significant:  

GEO2: Prior to the issuance of a grading permit, a site specific geologic and soils report shall be 
prepared by a registered geologist or soils engineer and submitted to the City Building and 
Safety Division for approval. The report shall specify design parameters necessary to 
remediate any soil and geologic hazards.  

 
GEO3: All grading, landform modifications, and construction shall be in conformance with state-

of-the-practice design and construction parameters. Typical standard minimum guidelines 
regarding regulations to control excavations, grading, earthwork construction, including 
fills and embankments and provisions for approval of plans and inspection of grading 
construction are set from the latest version of the Uniform Building Code. Compliance with 
these standards shall be evident on grading and structural plans. This measure shall be 
monitored by the City Building and Safety Division through periodic site inspections. 

 
GEO4: Type 5 cement shall be used for all foundations and slabs on grade.  
   
These mitigation measures reduced impacts of liquefaction and associated secondary effects 
(such as lateral spreading) to less than significant.  
 
The soils onsite at the time the MND was written, included Gilman-Coachella-Indio soils. These 
soils are considered non-expansive. Therefore, impacts of expansive soils at the site are less 
than significant. In order to mitigate the loss of topsoil at the site, the MND concluded that 
development onsite would be subject to City codes and requirements for erosion control, grading, 
and soil remediation as recommended in the following measures.  
 
GEO5: Precise grading plans shall include Erosion, Siltation and Dust Control Plan to be 

approved by the City Building Division. The Plan’s provisions may include sedimentation 
basins, sand bagging, soil compaction, revegetation, temporary irrigation, scheduling and 
time limits on grading activities, and construction equipment restrictions on-site. This Plan 
shall also demonstrate compliance with South Coast Air Quality Management District Rule 
403, which regulates fugitive dust control. 

 
GEO6: As soon as possible following the completion of grading activities, exposed soils shall be 

seeded or vegetated seed mix and/or native vegetation to ensure soil stabilization.  
 
Finally, septic tanks or alternative wastewater disposal systems were not proposed at the project. 
Impacts are less than significant.  

With the foregoing, the MND concluded that impacts regarding geology and soils at the site would 
be less than significant with the implementation of mitigation measures GEO1 through GEO6.  

Revised Project 
 

Page 719

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 21 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

The revised project would not require grading or construction beyond what was anticipated in the 
MND. As such, no new or increased impacts related to geology and soils would occur. As 
discussed in the MND, compliance with the most current State building codes and regulations 
would ensure grading and development of the site reduces the impacts associated with geology 
and soils to less than significant, as concluded in the MND.  

In addition to GEO1, the project shall comply with the most current seismic design coefficients 
and ground motion parameters and all applicable provisions of the California Building Code 
(CBC). Additionally, the proposed facilities were required to be constructed in a manner that 
reduced the risk of seismic hazards (Title 24, California Code of Regulations). Remedial grading 
and construction would reduce exposure of people or structures to adverse effects of seismic 
hazards to the greatest extent possible. All grading and construction plans were required to be 
reviewed and approved by the City. The implementation of GEO2 through GEO4 would ensure 
the foundation soils can support the proposed project. Impacts would be reduced to less than 
significant.  

Additionally, the implementation of a Fugitive Dust Control Plan (as required by Chapter 8.20 in 
the City’s Municipal Code) and a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) during 
construction activities to reduce impacts of soil erosion at the site. Grading plans will be developed 
in compliance with the City’s standards and will be reviewed by the City. These and the 
implementation of measures GEO5 and GEO6 would ensure erosion at the site would be less 
than significant.  

Major revisions to the MND are not required due to changes to the project as there have been no 
substantial changes in the project or its surrounding circumstances relating to geology and soils 
that would require major MND revisions; and there is no new information showing greater 
significant effects than disclosed in the previous MND.  

VII. Hazards and Hazardous Materials  
 

58-Acre Kirkjan Project MND 
 
The MND evaluated potential hazardous material impacts associated with the construction of the 
project site. The MND concluded that impacts would be less than significant.  

As determined in the MND, hazardous materials are not typically associated with residential land 
uses. Minor cleaning products and the occasional use of pesticides and herbicides for landscape 
maintenance would be the extent of materials used. Therefore, the MND listed the following 
mitigation: 

HAZ1: Any hazardous waste that is generated onsite shall be transported to an appropriate 
disposal facility by a licensed hauler in accordance with the appropriate State and Federal 
Laws.  

 
A Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) was conducted to identify Recognized 
Environmental Conditions (RECs). RECs, as identified by the American Society for Testing and 
Materials (ASTM), is the presence or likely presence of any hazardous substances or petroleum 
products on a property under conditions that indicate an existing release, a past release, or a 
material threat of a release of any hazardous substances or petroleum products into structures 
on the property or into the ground, groundwater, or surface water of the property. The ESA 

Page 720

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 22 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

included a site inspection, an analysis of asbestos containing materials, lead based paints, 
adjacent properties, public records, historic RECs, and historical uses information.  
 
The Phase I ESA was consulted to determine whether the project would create a significant 
hazard to the public or the environment through reasonably foreseeable upset and accident 
conditions involving the release of hazardous materials into the environment. Based upon the 
results of the Phase I ESA, mitigations measures were recommended in order to reduce impacts 
to less than significant levels. These mitigation measures were listed in the MND as HAZ2 through 
HAZ11. HAZ2 through HAZ11 are briefly listed below. Please reference Appendix A for a 
complete list of mitigation measures.  
 
HAZ2: All miscellaneous vehicles, maintenance equipment and materials, construction/irrigation 

materials, miscellaneous stockpiled debris, 1- and 5-gallon containers 
construction/irrigation materials, and former agricultural equipment, should be removed 
off-site and properly disposed of at an approved landfill facility. Once removed, a visual 
inspection of the areas beneath the removed materials should be performed. Any stained 
soils observed underneath the removed materials should be sampled. Results of the 
sampling (if necessary) would indicate the level of remediation efforts that may be 
required.  

 
HAZ3: Soil sampling should be performed within the maintenance yard to characterize the extent 

of contamination associated with the surficial soil staining. Soil should be removed and 
disposed of at an appropriate landfill facility in accordance with state and federal 
requirements.  

 
HAZ4: Soil sampling should occur throughout the project site, including the maintenance and 

staging area, to determine if pesticide concentrations exceed established regulatory 
requirements. 

 
HAZ5: The terminus of all undocumented pipes should be defined. Should underground storage 

tanks (USTs) be present, the USTs should be removed and properly disposed of.  
 
HAZ6: The location of the two former USTs should be defined, and soil sampling should be 

performed.  
 
HAZ7: The onsite water well should be properly removed and abandoned pursuant to the latest 

procedures required by the local agency with closure responsibilities for the wells.  
 
HAZ8: A visual inspection of the interior onsite structure is recommended. If hazardous materials 

are encountered, they should be properly tested.  
 
HAZ9: Any transformers to be removed/relocated should be conducted under the purview of the 

local utility purveyor to identify property handling procedures regarding potential PCBs. 
 
HAZ10: Asbestos-containing materials and lead-based paint may be present within the existing 

onsite structures and would need to be handled properly prior to demolition activities.  
 
HAZ11: If unknown wastes or suspect materials are discovered during construction by the 

contractor which he/she believes may involve hazardous waste/materials the contractor 
shall: 

 Stop work in the vicinity of the suspected contaminant, removing workers and the 

Page 721

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 23 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

public from the area. 

 Notify the project engineer of the implementing agency.  

 Secure the area as directed by the project engineer.  

 Notify the implementing agency’s hazardous waste/materials coordinator.  
 
The MND concluded that with the implementation of mitigation measures HAZ2 through HAZ11, 
the project would result in less than significant impacts.  
 
The MND determined that no existing or proposed school facilities were located within one-quarter 
mile radius of the project. Additionally, the project would not involve the use, storage, transport, 
and/or disposal of hazardous materials, and impacts would be less than significant.  
 
The MND stated that governmental sources have been searched by EDR for sites within the 
project site and within an approximate one-mile radius of the site. The search discovered 18 
regulatory sites located within one-mile radius of the project. A REC on the project site caused by 
one or more of these sites were considered to be low due to the groundwater flow direction, the 
distance and direction from the project, and/or the status of the identified site. Therefore, the MND 
determined that the implementation of the previously listed mitigation measures would reduce the 
impacts to less than significant.  
 
The MND determined that the project site was not located within an airport land use plan or in the 
vicinity of a private airstrip. Therefore, the MND concluded that impacts would not be significant.  

In addition, the MND determined that the project would not alter or impede an existing evacuation 
route and would not impair implementation of goals and policies of the City of Coachella, resulting 
in no impacts. The MND concluded that the previous project did not have the capacity to expose 
people or structures to wildland fires, and no impacts would occur.  

The MND concluded that impacts to hazards and hazardous materials at the project site would 
be less than significant with the implementation of mitigation measures HAZ1 through HAZ11.  

Revised Project 
 
The revised project would not require grading or construction beyond what was anticipated in the 
MND, and would not change the allowable uses on the property from the previous project. As 
such, no new or more impacts related to hazards or hazardous materials would occur. As 
discussed in the MND, hazardous materials are not typically associated with residential land uses. 
Minor cleaning products and the occasional use of pesticides and herbicides for landscape 
maintenance would be the extent of materials used. Therefore, similar to the MND, the revised 
project will implement HAZ1 to ensure that materials used are disposed of properly.  

Construction of the project was expected to involve the temporary management and use of 
potentially hazardous substances and petroleum products. The nature and quantities of these 
products would be limited to what is necessary to carry out construction of the project. Some of 
these materials would be transported to the site periodically by vehicle and would be stored in 
designated controlled areas on a short-term basis. When handled properly by trained individuals 
and consistent with the manufacturer’s instructions and industry standards, the risk involved with 
handling these materials would be considerably reduced. To prevent a threat to the environment 
during construction, the management of potentially hazardous materials and other potential 
pollutant sources would be regulated through the implementation of control measures required in 
the Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) for the project. The SWPPP requires a list 

Page 722

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 24 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

of potential pollutant sources and the identification of construction areas where additional control 
measures are necessary to prevent pollutants from being discharged. Best management 
practices are necessary for Material Delivery and Storage; Material Use; and Spill Prevention and 
Control. The measures outlined SWPPP documents require physical improvements and 
procedures to prevent impacts of pollutants and hazardous materials to workers and the 
environment during construction. For example, all construction materials, including paints, 
solvents, and petroleum products, must be stored in controlled areas and according to the 
manufacturer’s specifications. In addition, perimeter controls (fencing with wind screen), linear 
sediment barriers (gravel bags, fiber rolls, or silt fencing), and access restrictions (gates) would 
help prevent temporary impacts to the public and environment. Compliance with industry and 
manufacturer standards regarding the handling, use, delivery, and storage of hazardous materials 
would ensure impacts of accidental release or the handling of hazardous materials during 
construction and operation of the site would be less than significant.  

The site, which has been partially developed and graded, shall be required to implement 
mitigation measures HAZ2 through HAZ11 to the extent applicable to the 27-acre site, to ensure 
hazardous materials are not located onsite prior to the construction of the project. Some mitigation 
previously recommended in the MND may not apply to the revised project since the site has 
undergone development, clearing of vegetation and previously existing structures and agricultural 
materials, and grading. Depending on whether the materials and previous uses identified in the 
Phase I ESA are still present onsite, some of the mitigation measures may not be applicable to 
the revised project if they have already been addressed during the previous development of the 
site or the hazardous materials are not present on the 27-acre site.  

In addition, as discussed in the MND, the project site is not located within one-quarter mile of a 
school. Therefore, impacts would be less than significant. The project is not within an airport land 
use plan, or within two miles of an airport or airstrip. Therefore, there would be no impacts. 

Implementation of the revised project would not physically interfere with an adopted emergency 
response plan or emergency evacuation plan. Similar to the MND, the site plan configuration of 
the revised project includes fire truck accessible drive aisles to ensure adequate emergency 
response access on-site. The proposed design would be subject to a standard review process by 
the Riverside County Fire Department to ensure that the site-specific emergency access, water 
pressure, and other pertinent criteria are met by the revised project. Less than significant impacts 
are expected. 

The project is located outside of areas designed as Very High/High/Moderate Fire Hazard 
Severity Zone (FHSZ) for State and Federal Responsibility Areas, and Very High FHSZ for Local 
Responsibility Areas. The project is not located near wildlands and impacts were determined to 
be less than significant. The revised project will not result in additional grading or construction 
beyond the boundaries of the property analyzed in the MND. Therefore, impacts of wildfires would 
not be significant, similar to the MND.  

With the implementation of mitigation measures HAZ1 through HAZ11, impacts of hazardous 
materials at the project site would be less than significant.  

Major revisions to the MND are not required due to changes to the project as there have been no 
substantial changes in the project or its surrounding circumstances relating to hazards and 
hazardous materials that would require major MND revisions; and there is no new information 
showing greater significant effects than disclosed in the previous MND.  

Page 723

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 25 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

VIII. Hydrology and Water Quality   
 

58-Acre Kirkjan Project MND 
 
The 58-acre project setting evaluated by the prior MND was characterized as relatively flat land, 
primarily in a vacant condition, with the scattered presence of date palms, dirt roads, abandoned 
residential structures, and miscellaneous storage areas remaining from prior agricultural 
operations. The observed structures and palm trees were located on the north half of the site, 
while the southern half maintained a prevalent vacant condition. The project site was found to be 
absent of any naturally occurring drainage courses, streams, rivers, designated flood zones, or 
other features pertinent to a hydrologic setting. The surrounding context included a combination 
of undeveloped, agricultural, and residential uses, also absent of any hydrologic resources. 
 
The prior MND analysis cited various regulatory requirements, permit coverages, and project-
specific engineering design approvals necessary to adhere to the local hydrology and surface 
water quality standards, as well as the construction and post-construction compliance plans 
mandated under the National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) framework 
(Section 402 of the Clean Water Act).  
 
Specifically, the prior MND determined that the project proponent would be required to obtain 
coverage under the NPDES Construction General Permit for the extent of land disturbance. 
Preparation and implementation of a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) was also 
mandated to document the construction and post-construction practices for preventing surface 
water impacts. For the post-construction condition, the project proponent was required to prepare 
a Water Quality Management Plan (WQMP) to document the project’s stormwater management 
and pollution source control from the residential land uses. The WQMP would be consistent with 
the grading and storm drain system designed to convey project runoff into on-site retention basins 
with the capacity to meet the City’s hydrologic retention standards, therefore preventing 
stormwater runoff discharge. The storm drain system and site design identified two basin locations 
respective to the northern and southern portions of the project site.  
 
The prior MND did not identify any deviation from the regulatory requirements and the associated 
stormwater controls. The required storm drain system inherent to the project and various forms 
of compliance documents were found to prevent the hydromodification concerns typically 
associated with land development activities, while the mitigation measures (HYD1 through HYD6) 
were aimed at ensuring that these standards were followed during construction and life of the 
project. It is worth noting that the prior mitigation measures for hydrology and water quality 
pertained directly to ensuring regulatory compliance, rather than mitigating for a substantive 
hydrology or surface water quality impact. 
 
Therefore, with mitigation incorporated, the project of 232 residential units was found to result in 
less than significant impacts pertaining to groundwater resources and interactions with designated 
flood zones. Impacts to water quality standards, waste discharge requirements, groundwater 
resources, erosion, siltation, flooding, and stormwater discharge were also found to be less than 
significant. 
 

Revised Project 
 
Since the prior environmental review, the project setting has not incurred any substantial change 
in circumstances inconsistent with the project’s planned residential uses. The 58-acre site has 

Page 724

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 26 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

undergone phased residential development in general conformity with such the entitlements and 
scope analyzed in the adopted MND. The construction progress to date includes street, utility, 
and storm drain infrastructure serving a total of 123 single-family dwelling lots generally occupying 
the northern 31 acres of the project site. Stormwater infrastructure for this area includes a storm 
drain system designed to capture and convey runoff to a constructed and operational 1.5-acre 
on-site retention basin. It is assumed that all constructed grading and storm drain plans underwent 
City review and approval for consistency with the runoff retention requirements. It is also assumed 
that the required SWPPP and WQMP were properly processed for the phase of development 
leading to the current condition. 

The southern portion of the project remains undeveloped. Buildout of the project in this area will 
result in 107 single-family residential dwelling units with associated street, utility, and storm drain 
infrastructure in a site plan configuration generally consistent what was analyzed in the adopted 
MND. One minor change is that the project buildout would result in a total of 230 units versus the 
232 units previously assessed. There are also minor revisions to the street layout. Buildout of the 
remaining area with the minor modifications would require the same categories of compliance 
plans and final engineering design approvals to comply with the NPDES, MS4, and City-specific 
engineering standards.  

For the period of construction, a new SWPPP must be prepared, filed, and implemented to comply 
with the State’s most current Construction General Permit (CGP), Order No. 2009-0009-DWQ, as 
amended by 2010-0014-DWQ and 2012-006-DWQ. This regulatory compliance plan will include 
measures to ensure that the remaining construction activities prevent surface water quality 
impacts. For post-construction (operational) conditions, additional documentation will be required 
in the form of a WQMP to comply with the most current standards of the Whitewater River Region 
Water Quality Management Plan for Urban Runoff and the Whitewater River Watershed MS4 
Permit. This WQMP will be subject to review and approval by the City for consistency with the 
Coachella Code of Ordinances, Chapter 13.16, Water Quality Control and other associated 
standards.  

For the remaining residential buildout, the proposed storm drain system will convey runoff into an 
on-site retention basin, the location of which is consistent with the prior MND analysis. The 
remaining stormwater infrastructure will continue to provide adequate capacity to prevent 
uncontrolled runoff discharge. There is no aspect of the remaining residential buildout deviating 
from the prior analysis and regulatory requirements and the associated stormwater controls, 
including compliance with the previously adopted mitigation measures. Therefore, after following 
the regulatory program requirements designed specifically prevent hydrologic, stormwater and 
surface water impairments, the impacts resulting from the revised project would continue to be 
less than significant. The revised plans would not result in new or greater significance levels than 
those disclosed in the previous MND. 

Therefore, Major revisions to the MND are not required due to changes to the project as there 
have been no substantial changes in the project or its surrounding circumstances relating to 
hydrology that would require major MND revisions; and there is no new information showing 
greater significant effects than disclosed in the previous MND.  

IX. Land Use and Planning   
 

58-Acre Kirkjan Project MND 
 

Page 725

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 27 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

The MND concluded that the project site would not divide an established community. At the time 
the MND was written, a majority of the area surrounding the project site was undeveloped. 
Additionally, the area was designated Low Density Residential. Therefore, the previous project 
was consistent with the General Plan land use designation and would not divide an established 
community.  

The previous project proposed the approval of a zone change from Agriculture Transitional (A-T) 
to Residential Single Family (R-S). The A-T designation requires a minimum lot size of five acres. 
However, the R-S designation provides for a minimum lot size of 6,000 square feet. The zoning 
designation for the previous project would be allowed to develop a total of up to 348 lots. The 
previous project proposed 232 residential units (4 dwelling units per acre). The R-S zone would 
be consisted with the Low Density Residential land use designation. Therefore, the MND 
concluded that the project’s zone change would be less than significant with the implementation 
of the following mitigation measure (article 030): 

LAN1: The City of Coachella has determined that there is a need for improvements that are 
caused by new development and for which a shared responsibility for constructing exists. 
The study prepared by the Community Development Department regarding Proposed 
New Development Impact Fees has been prepared and is available for review. Payment 
of a fair share amount would serve to mitigate the impacts of new development. One of 
these fees is the General Plan Fee to be paid at the time permits are issued. If permits are 
issued prior to the approval of a development impact fee, a fee shall be paid at the time 
permits are issued as a mitigation of the environmental impacts associated with this 
project. The fees shall be as follows: Buildings - $50.00 per Dwelling Unit.  

 
Additionally, the MND indicated that the Coachella Valley Association of Governments (CVAG) 
was preparing a Multiple Species Habitat Conservation Plan (MSHCP) and Natural Community 
Conservation Plan (NCCP) for the Coachella Valley region. The plans were created to protect 
special status species and their habitats while streamlining the regulatory process through the 
implementation of mitigation measures. Mitigation included the payment of fees as a standard 
condition of approval. The MND determined that with the payment of these fees, the project would 
not conflict with any applicable habitat conservation plan and less than significant impacts were 
expected (refer to mitigation measure BIO5).  

The MND concluded that impacts to land use and planning would result in less than significant 
impacts with the implementation of mitigation.  

Revised Project 
 
The revised project would not create any new land use barriers, preclude the development of 
surrounding parcels, or otherwise divide or disrupt the physical arrangement of the surrounding 
established community, as the areas surrounding the project site are mostly developed and 
consist of residential buildings and uses. The site is designated as Low Density Residential by 
the City’s General Plan. The existing zoning designation for the site is Residential Single Family 
(R-S). These land use and zoning designations would not change as a result of implementing the 
revised project. In addition, the revised project would not consist of components that would conflict 
with any applicable habitat conservation plans or natural conservation plans and will be required 
to pay development fees to support the acquisition of conservation lands of the CVMSHCP.  

No new or more severe impacts associated with land use and planning would occur as a result of 
implementing the revised project. Major revisions to the MND are not required due to changes to 

Page 726

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 28 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

the project as there have been no substantial changes in the project or its surrounding 
circumstances relating to land use that would require major MND revisions; and there is no new 
information showing greater significant effects than disclosed in the previous MND.  

X. Mineral Resources 
 

58-Acre Kirkjan Project MND 
 
The MND concluded that the previous project would result in no impacts to mineral resources. 
Per the MND, no classified or designated mineral deposits of statewide or regional significance 
are known to occur within the project area. The MND determined that the project site is designated 
as MRZ-1, therefore, the project would not result in the loss of availability of any known mineral 
resource valuable to the region or to the residents of the state. No impacts were identified in the 
previous MND.  

Revised Project 
 
Similar to the previous project, under the revised project it would not be feasible to use the project 
site for mining operation due to the site’s zoning and land use designation. Additionally, the site 
is surrounded by existing residential communities. The City’s General Plan does not identify the 
project site as an existing or past extraction site. Therefore, implementation of the revised project 
would result in no impacts related to the loss of local, regional, or state mineral resources, similar 
to the MND.  

Major revisions to the MND are not required due to changes to the project as there have been no 
substantial changes in the project or its surrounding circumstances relating to mineral resources 
that would require major MND revisions; and there is no new information showing greater 
significant effects than disclosed in the previous MND.  

XI. Noise 
 

58-Acre Kirkjan Project MND 
 
The MND concluded that the project would result in short term impacts related to noise. However, 
these impacts can be reduced to less than significant levels with the implementation of mitigation 
measures.  

As detailed in the MND, construction activities of the project were expected to generate short-
term noise increases compared to the existing levels. Construction crew commutes and the 
transport of construction equipment and materials to the site would increase noise levels on 
access roads leading to the site. The MND determined that short-term construction related 
impacts associated with worker commute and equipment transport to the project would be less 
than significant. Short-term noise impacts would also be associated with excavation, grading, and 
erecting of buildings onsite during construction. Therefore, the MND established the following 
mitigation measures for the previous project: 

N1:  During all project site excavation and grading, the project coordinator shall equip all 
construction equipment, fixed or mobile, with properly operating and maintained mufflers 
consistent with manufacturer’s standards.  

 

Page 727

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 29 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

N2:  The construction contractor shall place all construction equipment so that emitted noise is 
directed away from sensitive receptors nearest the project site.  

 
N3:  The construction contractor shall locate equipment staging in areas that will create the 

greatest distance between construction-related noise sources and noise-sensitive 
receptors nearest the project site during all project construction. 

 
Additionally, construction of the previous project was required to occur within the construction 
hours specified in the City’s Noise Ordinance. With this, and the implementation of the mitigation 
measures, the MND concluded that the project would not result in significant impacts to noise. 
The MND also stated that the construction noise would not occur once construction of the project 
was completed.  
 
The MND determined that the previous project would result in minimal groundbourne vibrations 
or noise that would not be considered excessive. The MND concluded that impacts would be less 
than significant.  
 
The MND analyzed whether the previous project would create substantial permanent increase in 
ambient noise levels. The MND concluded that the project would result in less than significant 
impacts to ambient noise levels by comparing long-term (mobile) sources and long-term 
(stationary) sources.  
 
The MND determined that the project is not located within two miles of a public airport or public 
use airport, or within the vicinity of a private airstrip. Therefore, the MND concluded that there 
would be no impacts.  
  

Revised Project 
 
The revised project would not require grading or construction beyond what was anticipated in the 
MND, nor would it change the allowed uses within the project site. No additional grading beyond 
what was anticipated in the MND would occur. As such, no new or more impacts related to noise 
would occur. Impacts would be less than significant, similar to the MND.  

Similar to the MND, construction activities associated with the revised project are only permitted 
within the construction hours established by the City. During construction, the revised project will 
be subject to mitigation measures N1 through N3, and is also expected to follow common industry 
standards that will help limit noise level increases. For example, all construction equipment, fixed 
or mobile, should be equipped with properly operating and maintained mufflers and the engines 
should be equipped with shrouds. Approved haul routes shall be used to minimize exposure of 
sensitive receptors to potential adverse levels from hauling operations. All construction equipment 
shall be in proper working order and maintained to reduce backfires. Similar to the MND, 
construction noise generated by the revised project is expected to be less than significant with 
the implementation of N1 through N3, as established in the MND. 

Operation of the revised project is the same as the operations analyzed in the MND. While the 
revised project would result in an increase in noise levels compared to the existing partially 
undeveloped condition, the nature of the residential uses are not expected to result in the 
generation of noise levels that would surpass the community noise and land use compatibility 
standards. 

Page 728

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 30 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

In regard to noise generated by project traffic, the revised project would not introduce a substantial 
amount of additional vehicle travel to the site. The revised project would not significantly alter on- 
or off-site noise generation, as the proposed uses would be similar to the existing uses in the 
surrounding area and the lot count would be less than that analyzed in the previous MND.  

Similar to the MND, noise levels associated with the revised project would not conflict with the 
City’s Noise Ordinance or the General Plan noise standards, resulting in less than significant 
impacts. Additionally, the revised project is not located within two miles of a public airport or public 
use airport, or within the vicinity of a private airstrip. Therefore, there would be no impacts.  
 
With the implementation of mitigation measures N1 through N3, the revised project would result 
in less than significant impacts.  
 
Major revisions to the MND are not required due to changes to the project as there have been no 
substantial changes in the project or its surrounding circumstances relating to noise that would 
require major MND revisions; and there is no new information showing greater significant effects 
than disclosed in the previous MND.  

XII. Population and Housing  
 

58-Acre Kirkjan Project MND 
 
The MND concluded that the project could induce population growth in the area both indirectly 
and directly. The development of new homes, as determined in the MND, would result in 
population growth directly, while the development of roads and other infrastructure would induce 
population growth indirectly.  

According to the MND, the increase of 232 housing units at the site would result in a population 
increase of 1,114 persons. However, the MND determined that the project would decrease the 
existing housing shortage in the City, and impacts would be less than significant.  

Due to the vacant character of the site, the MND determined that the site would not displace any 
existing housing or require replacement housing. Therefore, the MND concluded that there would 
be no impact to replacement housing as a result of the project.  

Revised Project 
 
The revised project would not displace any existing housing units or people, as the site is vacant 
and located in the Low Density Residential land use designation, established by the City of 
Coachella. The previous project proposed 232 dwelling units, while the revised project would 
result in the total development of 230 dwelling units. The revised project would not result in any 
substantial increase or decrease of population as analyzed in the MND. Therefore, similar to the 
MND, impacts to population growth would be less than significant. 

Major revisions to the MND are not required due to changes to the project as there have been no 
substantial changes in the project or its surrounding circumstances relating to population growth 
that would require major MND revisions; and there is no new information showing greater 
significant effects than disclosed in the previous MND.  

XIII. Public Services  

Page 729

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 31 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

 

58-Acre Kirkjan Project MND 
 
The MND found that impacts to fire protection, police services, and schools would be less than 
significant.  

Development of the project increases demand on fire services, however based on the site 
proximity to the City’s existing fire stations, the project was determined to be adequately served 
without the expansion of a new fire facility and adequate response times would be met. 
Additionally, the project was required to implement all applicable and current California Fire Code 
Standards. This included the installation of fire hydrants as well as sprinkler systems inside the 
buildings. Furthermore, the project was required to be reviewed by City and Fire officials to ensure 
adequate fire service and safety as a result of project implementation. Therefore, the MND 
concluded that less than significant impacts were expected. 

Although the project required additional demand for police services, the demand was not 
expected to hinder the City’s ability to provide police protection services and adequate response 
times would be met. Furthermore, the project was required to be reviewed by City and Police 
officials to ensure adequate police service and safety as a result of project implementation. 

The proposed project would result in an increase in students attending Kindergarten to 12th grade 
in the Coachella Valley Unified School District (CVUSD). Per the MND, developers would be 
required to pay school impact fees, as authorized by State law, in order to reduce impacts 
resulting from new development. The payment of school fees is considered full mitigation of new 
development impacts on schools, according to the MND.  

PS1:  The developer is subject to school assessment fees pursuant to California State law. The 
developer shall provide evidence of compliance to the City prior to issuance of building 
permits.  

 
The previous project proposed the development of 232 residential dwelling units. Per the MND, 
the City required new residential development to dedicate land or fees in lieu of park and 
recreation facilities in order to achieve a standard of five acres of park space/open space per 
1,000 people. The previous project was required to comply with the following mitigation measure.  

PS2:  The developer is subject to park assessment fees pursuant to California State law. The 
developer shall provide evidence of either the dedication of land or fees paid in lieu of, to 
the City prior to issuance of building permits.  

 
The MND concluded that due to the size of the previous project, the project would not significantly 
affect other governmental agencies or facilities.  

The MND determined that the project would result in less than significant impacts to public 
services with the implementation of PS1 and PS2.  

Revised Project 
 
Similar to the MND, the revised project would result in less than significant impacts to public 
facilities with implementation of mitigation measures PS1 and PS2. The revised project would 
result in less than significant impacts to fire protection, police services, and school facilities, similar 
to the proposed project. Therefore, the revised project will be required to comply with the City’s 

Page 730

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 32 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

Development Impact Fees (DIF) to assist with the funding of public facilities and services, 
including fire and police services. The revised project would also be required to pay developer 
impact fees to the CVUSD to assist in offsetting impacts to school facilities. The developer impact 
fees for the District have increased since the time the MND was written. Currently, fees are $4.08 
per square foot for residential, and $0.66 per square foot for commercial. The revised project 
would be required to pay the most current fees. Additionally, the project would be required to pay 
park assessment fees as established in mitigation measure PS2. However, with the payment of 
the DIFs for public facilities and services, and developer impact fees for the school facilities and 
parks, the revised project would result in less than significant impacts to public services, similar 
to the previous project.  

Major revisions to the MND are not required due to changes to the project as there have been no 
substantial changes in the project or its surrounding circumstances relating to public services that 
would require major MND revisions; and there is no new information showing greater significant 
effects than disclosed in the previous MND.  

XIV. Recreation 
 

58-Acre Kirkjan Project MND 
 
The MND concluded that with the implementation of mitigation measure PS2, the project would 
not result in significant impacts to parks. The payment of Quimby Act Fees would mitigate the 
impacts of the City’s recreational facilities. As such, the MND concluded that the project would 
result in less than significant impacts to recreational facilities in the City of Coachella with the 
implementation of PS2.  

Revised Project 
 
The revised project proposes residential dwelling units. Similar to the MND, the revised project 
would be required to implement PS2, to reduce impacts to park facilities within the City of 
Coachella.   

Major revisions to the MND are not required due to changes to the project as there have been no 
substantial changes in the project or its surrounding circumstances relating to parks that would 
require major MND revisions; and there is no new information showing greater significant effects 
than disclosed in the previous MND.  

XV. Transportation  
 

58-Acre Kirkjan Project MND 
 
The 58-acre project setting evaluated by the prior MND was characterized as relatively flat land, 
primarily in a vacant condition, with the scattered presence of date palms, dirt roads, abandoned 
residential structures, and miscellaneous storage areas remaining from prior agricultural 
operations. The observed structures and palm trees were located on the north half of the site, 
while the southern half maintained a prevalent vacant condition. The surrounding context included 
a combination of undeveloped, agricultural, and residential uses. 
 
A project specific Traffic Impact Analysis was prepared by RBF Consulting.  

 

Page 731

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 33 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

The proposed 58-acre Project site consisted of 232 single-family dwelling units in the City of 
Coachella. As part of the proposed Project, the following improvements were planned for Avenue 
50 and Avenue 51:  
 

 An additional eastbound lane on Avenue 50 will be constructed along the Project site 
frontage.  

 An additional westbound lane on Avenue 51 will be constructed along the Project site 
frontage. 

 
The Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) trip generation rates were used to calculate the 
number of trips forecast to be generated by the proposed Project. The proposed Project was 
forecast to generate approximately 2,220 daily trips, which included approximately 179 a.m. peak 
hour trips and approximately 237 p.m. peak hour trips. 
 
Two study intersections were forecast to operate at an unacceptable LOS (LOS D or worse) 
according to City of Coachella performance criteria for forecast year 2005 with Project conditions:  
 

 Van Buren Street/Avenue 50 (p.m. peak hour only); and  

 Frederick Street/Avenue 50 (p.m. peak hour only).  
 
To eliminate the forecast year 2005 with Project conditions deficiencies at the two study 
intersections, the following mitigation measures were recommended: 
 

 Van Buren Street/Avenue 50 -Modify eastbound Avenue 50 approach from one left-turn 
lane and one shared through/ right-turn lane to consist of one left-turn lane, one through 
lane, and one shared through/ right-turn lane.  

 Frederick Street/Avenue 50 -Modify westbound Avenue 50 approach from one left-turn 
lane, one through lane, and one right-turn lane to consist of one left-turn lane, one through 
lane, and one shared through/ right-turn lane. 

 
Assuming implementation of the recommended mitigation measures, the two study intersections 
are forecast to operate at an acceptable LOS (LOS C or better) during the a.m. and p.m. peak 
hours for forecast mitigated year 2005 with Project conditions. 
 
The Project applicant’s payment to the Coachella Valley Association of Governments (CVAG) 
Transportation Uniform Mitigation Fund (TUMF) Fee Program and to the City of Coachella 
Environmental Fee Program For Traffic Signals shall pay for the Project's fair share contribution 
to the identified mitigation measures. Implementation of the recommended mitigation measures 
would reduce impacts to a less than significant level. 
 
All study intersections were forecast to operate at an acceptable LOS (LOS C or better) according 
to City of Coachella performance criteria for forecast General Plan buildout with Project 
conditions. No mitigation measures are required for forecast General Plan buildout with Project 
conditions and therefore, impacts would be less than significant in this regard. 
 
The following Mitigation Measures were included in the previous MND: 
 
TR1  The Project applicant's payment to the Coachella Valley Association of Governments 

(CVAG) Transportation Uniform Mitigation Fund (TUMF) Fee Program and to the City of 
Coachella Environmental Fee Program For Traffic Signals shall pay for the Project's fair 

Page 732

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 34 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

share contribution to the identified mitigation measures as follows: Van Buren Street 
Avenue 50 -Modify eastbound Avenue 50 approach from one left-turn Lane and one 
shared through/right-turn lane to consist of one left-turn lane, one through lane, and one 
shared through/ right-turn lane. Frederick Street/Avenue 50 -Modify westbound Avenue 
50 approach from one left-turn lane, one through lane, and one right-turn lane to consist 
of one left-turn lane, one through lane, and one shared through/ right-turn lane. 

 
TR2  The City of Coachella has determined that there is a need for improvements that are 

caused by new development and for which a shared responsibility for constructing exists. 
The study prepared by the Department of Community Development regarding Proposed 
New Development Impact Fees has been prepared and is available for review. Payment 
of a fair share amount would serve to mitigate the impact of new development, as follows: 
The approved development impact fee for Traffic Signal be paid at the time permits are 
issued. A fee shall be paid at the time the permits are issued as a mitigated of the 
environmental impacts associated with this project. The fees shall be as follows: Building 
- $192.00 per dwelling unit. 

 
TR3  The City of Coachella has determined that there is a need for improvements that are 

caused by new development and for which a shared responsibility for constructing exists. 
The study prepared by the Department of Community Development regarding Proposed 
New Development Impact Fees has been prepared and is available for review. Payment 
of a fair share amount would serve to mitigate the impact of new development as follows: 
The approved development impact fee for Bridge and Grade Separation be paid at that 
permits are issued. If permits are issued prior to the approval of a development impact 
fee, a fee shall be paid at the time the permits are issued as a mitigation of the 
environmental impacts associated with this project. The fee shall be as follows: Buildings 
- $422.00 per dwelling unit. 

 
TR4  The City of Coachella has determined that there is a need for improvements that are 

caused by new development and for which a shared responsibility for constructing exists. 
The study prepared by the Department of Community Development regarding Proposed 
New Development Impact Fees has been prepared and is available for review. Payment 
of a fair share amount would serve to mitigate the impact of new development. The 
approved development impact fee for Bus Shelter and Bus Stop Safety Zone shall be paid 
at the time permits are issued. A fee shall be paid at the time the permits are issued as a 
mitigation for environmental impacts associated with the project. The fees shall be as 
follows: Bus Shelters - $50.00 per dwelling unit. 

 
TR5  Prior to Project plan approval, the quantity, location, width and type of driveways shall be 

subject to the approval of the City Engineer. An effective sight distance for vehicular traffic 
shall be maintained at the driveway entrances on Avenue 50 and Calhoun Street. 
Adequate sight distance shall also be maintained within the development at all driveway 
intersections to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. 

 
Following compliance with Mitigation Measures and Standard Conditions including adjacent 
roadway improvements and payment of TUMF and Development Impact Fees, the project was 
expected to result in an acceptable increase in traffic levels on the local roadways and less than 
significant impacts were expected.  
 

Revised Project 
 

Page 733

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 35 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

The southern portion of the project remains undeveloped. Buildout of the revised project in this 
area will result in 107 single-family residential dwelling units with associated street, utility, and 
storm drain infrastructure in a site plan configuration generally consistent what was analyzed in 
the adopted MND. The revised project includes a change to the proposed lots. The project 
buildout would result in a total of 230 units versus the 232 units previously assessed. There are 
also minor revisions to the street layout. Buildout of the remaining area with the minor 
modifications would require the same categories of compliance plans and final engineering design 
approvals to comply with City-specific engineering standards.  

While the revised project would result in an increase in traffic levels compared to the existing 
undeveloped condition, the proposed residential lots are not expected to result in the generation 
of traffic levels that would surpass the City of Coachella standards. 

The revised project would not introduce a substantial amount of additional vehicle trips. The 
revised project would not result in increased vehicular conflicts, as the proposed uses would be 
similar to the prior proposed uses and existing uses in the surrounding area. Following compliance 
with Mitigation Measures and Standard Conditions including adjacent roadway improvements and 
payment of TUMF and Updated Development Impact Fees, the project is expected to result in 
less than significant impacts similar to the previous project.  

Since approval of the previous project and the MND, the State of California has changed the 
methodology for evaluating transportation-related impacts from a traffic congestion/level of 
service analysis, to an analysis of how the project will affect the vehicle miles traveled in the area.  
In this case, the revised project does not change the previously approved residential uses and it 
reduces the total number of homes by two.  Accordingly, the revised project would not alter the 
projected vehicle miles traveled in the area, and would not have an impact different than the 
previous project. 

Major revisions to the MND are not required due to changes to the project as there have been no 
substantial changes in the project or its surrounding circumstances that would require major MND 
revisions; and there is no new information showing greater significant effects than disclosed in 
the previous MND.  

XVI. Utilities and Service Systems  
 

58-Acre Kirkjan Project MND 
 
The MND determined that the project would result in less than significant impacts to utilities and 
service systems including water infrastructure and supply, wastewater infrastructure, stormwater 
infrastructure, or solid waste facilities.  

According to the MND, the Coachella Sanitary District (CSD) was responsible for the provision of 
wastewater treatment facilities that served the project site. The exiting sewer collection system 
was composed of small diameter pipe larger diameter pipes serving as interceptors at Harrison 
and Highway 111; east and west between Avenue 52 and Avenue 53; parallel to the stormwater 
channel north of Avenue 54; and in Avenue 54 from Van Buren to the existing wastewater 
treatment plant (WWTP). The WWTP had a designed capacity of 2.8 million gallons per day 
(MGD). The MND determined that the previous project (58 acres) would generate approximately 
37,468 gallons of wastewater per day, which is approximately 0.1 percent of the anticipated 
increase in wastewater generation upon buildout of the City. Therefore, the MND concluded that 

Page 734

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 36 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

the previous project would not result in significant impacts to wastewater facilities. However, the 
MND required the following mitigation: 

UTIL1: All required sewer improvements shall be designed and constructed to City Standards. All 
tentative tract maps, site plans, and other plans within the project area shall be 
accompanied by adequate plans for sewer improvements prepared by a registered 
professional engineer.  

 
At the time the MND was written, the Coachella Municipal Water Department provided the City, 
and the project site, with potable water. The MND determined that the previous project (58 acres) 
would increase water demand by 65,018 gallons of water per day, which represents 
approximately 0.5 percent of the anticipated increase in water demand upon buildout of the City 
General Plan. Therefore, the MND concluded that development of the previous project would not 
result in significant impacts to water facilities.  
 
According to the MND, the previous project was subject to requirements of the NPDES that would 
reduce impacts to the storm water drainage systems. Additionally, storm drain improvements 
were required to be subject to City review and approval. The following mitigation was established 
in the MND to ensure storm water drainage impacts remain at or below existing levels: 
 
UTIL2: Prior to the issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit for approval of the City 

Engineering Department, a Water Quality Management Plan (WQMP) specifically 
identifying Best Management Practices (BMPs) that shall be used onsite to control 
predictable pollutant runoff.  

 
The MND determined that demolition and construction activities associated with the previous 
project would generate construction debris and waste. Post-development operations resulting 
from development of 232 single family residential units would further increase the volume of solid 
waste generated from the project. Based upon the generation factor used in the MND (2.27 
pounds per person per year), the previous project would generate approximately 2,529 pounds 
(1.1 tons) of solid waste per year. The addition of 1.1 tons of solid waste represented 0.8 percent 
of the anticipated solid waste generated from buildout of the City General Plan area. In addition, 
the volume of the previous project’s solid waste, ultimately disposed of at the landfills would be 
reduced due to the requirement of AB 939. Therefore, the MND concluded that the project would 
result in less than significant impacts.  
 

Revised Project 
 
Similar to the findings in the MND, the revised project would not result in significant impacts to 
utilities and service systems. The revised project would not require grading or construction beyond 
what was anticipated in the MND and would not change the allowable uses. No additional grading 
beyond what was anticipated in the MND would occur. As such, no new or more severe impacts 
related to utilities and service systems would occur.  

Similar to the MND, wastewater generated by the revised project is expected to be minimal. The 
revised project is not expected to exceed wastewater treatment requirements of the State 
Regional Water Quality Control Board (SRWQCB) (Colorado River Basin). In addition, City and 
other local and governmental agency review will ensure compliance with all current and applicable 
wastewater treatment requirements. Similar to the MND, the revised project proposes to connect 
to existing waste and sewer infrastructure. The revised project would undergo review by the 
Coachella Water Authority (CWA) and City staff to ensure wastewater capacity and compliance 

Page 735

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 37 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

with the current wastewater treatment requirements. Additionally, sewer installation and 
connection fees in place at the time of development will be collected by CWA. No new or 
expanded treatment facilities are anticipated from project implementation. Similar to the previous 
project, the revised project would result in less than significant impacts to wastewater treatment 
facilities with implementation of mitigation measure UTIL1. 

In regard to new stormwater drainage facilities, the revised project would be expected to 
incorporate storm drain and flood control facilities to prevent changes to local drainage conditions 
(patterns, quantities, or velocities) and adverse erosion and sedimentation impacts, and would 
comply with mitigation measure UTIL2. The revised project’s site plan indicates that stormwater 
runoff from the project, including hardscape, would be carried to a retention basin in the southeast 
corner of the site. The basin would be sized to contain the largest increase in runoff volume 
between the pre- and post-construction condition caused by the controlling storm event. Only 
runoff in excess of the storm drain system capacity would be conveyed off-site in a pattern that 
does not cause erosion or siltation conditions.  

Like the previous project, the revised project will be required to comply with all construction 
requirements and best management practices through the life of the project. Standard 
engineering procedures currently in place require that all final grading and hydrology plans be 
submitted to the City of Coachella for review and approval prior to the issuance of a grading 
permit. This is indicated as mitigation measure UTIL2, resulting in less than significant impacts, 
similar to the previous project.  

In regard to water supply, the revised project would be expected to follow water conservation 
guidelines to mitigate impacts to public water supplies. Examples of these water conservation 
methods include water conserving plumbing fixtures, drought tolerant landscaping, and drip 
irrigation systems. The revised project proposes to connect to the existing water lines. Additional 
domestic water improvements necessary to serve this development will be identified by CWA and 
included as conditions of approval by the City of Coachella during the City’s standard review 
process. Less than significant impacts to water supply are expected. 

In regard to landfill capacity, solid waste generated by the revised project would consist of 
standard household/office waste. Residential waste and recycling collected from the revised 
project will be hauled to the Edom Hill Transfer Station. Waste from this transfer station is then 
sent to a permitted landfill or recycling facility outside of the Coachella Valley. These include 
Badlands Disposal Site, El Sobrante Sanitary Landfill and Lamb Canyon Disposal Site. 
CalRecycle data indicates that these landfills have 40-50% of their remaining estimated capacity. 
Additionally, solid waste generated by residential dwelling units would be minimal. Less than 
significant impacts to solid waste are expected. Additionally, the revised project would comply 
with all applicable solid waste statutes and guidelines. No impacts are expected relative to solid 
waste statues and regulations. 

Major revisions to the MND are not required due to changes to the project as there have been no 
substantial changes in the project or its surrounding circumstances relating to utilities and service 
systems that would require major MND revisions; and there is no new information showing greater 
significant effects than disclosed in the previous MND.  

XVII. Mandatory Findings of Significance 
 

58-Acre Kirkjan Project MND 
 

Page 736

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 38 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

The MND found that the 58-Acre Kirkjan Project would result in potentially significant impacts 
related to air quality, biological resources, cultural resources, geology and soils, hazards and 
hazardous materials, hydrology and water quality, land use and planning, noise, public services, 
transportation and traffic, and utilities and service systems. As previously described, all of these 
impacts were reduced to below a significant level with the implementation of mitigation measures.  

All other project impacts were found to be less than significant without mitigation, and no 
deficiencies related to the City’s General Plan were found to occur. The project would not result 
in environmental effects that would cause a substantial adverse effect on human beings either 
directly or indirectly.  

Revised Project 
 
Similar to the previous project analyzed in the MND, the revised project would result in potentially 
significant impacts, however, these impacts would be reduced to less than significant through 
implementation of the mitigation measures outlined in the MND. No additional impacts were 
identified as a result of the revised project, and no deficiencies were identified related to the City’s 
General Plan as a result of the residential project revisions.  

Page 737

Item 36.



 

City of Coachella  Page 39 
CEQA Addendum  April 2021 

Sources 
 

City of Coachella General Plan 
 
City of Coachella Municipal Code 
 
Riverside County General Plan (RCIP), adopted October 7, 2003 
 

  
 

Page 738

Item 36.



Appendix A – Approved 58-Acre Kirkjan Project MND 
 
 

Page 739

Item 36.



ENVIRONMENTAL INITIAL STUDY N0. 04-05

MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION

CHANGE OF ZONE NO. 04-04

TENTATIVE TRACT MAP NO. 32075

58-Acre Kirkjan Project

LEAD AGENCY:

City of Coachella

1515 Sixth Street

Coachella, California 92236

Contact: Mr. Gabriel E. Papp
Director of Community Development

760) 398-3102

CONSULTANT:

CCiN~UI.TthIG

14725 Alton Parkway
Irvine, California 91764

Contact: Mr. Eddie Torres, Project Manager
Environmental Services

949) 855-3612

April 27, 2004

JN 20-100472

Exhibit 5. EIS No. 04-05Page 740

Item 36.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

INTRODUCTION ..................................................................................................1

1.1 Statutory Authority and Requirements .................................................................1

1.2 Purpose ...............................................................................................................1
1.3 Consultation .........................................................................................................2
1.4 Incorporation by Reference ..................................................................................2

PROJECT DESCRIPTION ...................................................................................4

2.1 Project Location/Setting .......................................................................................4

2.2 Project Characteristics .........................................................................................4

2.3 Phasing ...............................................................................................................4

INITIAL STUDY CHECKLIST ...............................................................................8

3.1 Background ..................................................................................................8
3.2 Environmental Factors Potentially Affected ................................................. 9

3.3 Evaluation of Environmental Impacts ...................................................................9

3.4 Mitigation Measures ...........................................................................................18

ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS ....................................................................................26

4.1 Aesthetics .......................................................................................................... 26

4.2 Agriculture Resources ................................................................................. 27

4.3 Air Quality .................................................................................................... 28

4.4 Biological Resources ................................................................................... 36

4.5 Cultural Resources ...................................................................................... 47

4.6 Geology and Soils ........................................................................................ 49

4.7 Hazards & Hazardous Materials .................................................................. 53

4.8 Hydrology & Water Quality ........................................................................... 61

4.9 Land Use & Planning ................................................................................... 66

4.10 Mineral Resources ....................................................................................... 67

4.11 Noise ........................................................................................................... 67

4.12 Population and Housing ............................................................................... 73

4.13 Public Services ............................................................................................ 75

4.14 Recreation ................................................................................................... 77

4.15 Transportation/Traffic ...................................................................................77

4.16 Utilities and Service Systems ....................................................................... 90

4.17 Mandatory Findings of Significance ............................................................. 93

REFERENCES ...................................................................................................95

5.1 Environmental Evaluation Personnel .................................................................95

5.2 Reference Documents ...............................................................................:....... 95

CONSULTANT RECOMMENDATION ...............................................................96

LEAD AGENCY DETERMINATION ...................................................................98

JN 20-100472 i April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 741

Item 36.



LIST OF EXHIBITS

1 Regional Vicinity Map ......................................................................................................5

2 Site Vicinity Map ............................................................................................................ 6

3 Preliminary Site Plan ..................................................................................................... 7

LIST OF TABLES

1 Short-Term (Construction) Emissions ............................................................................ 31

2 Long-Term (Operational) Emissions .............................................................................. 32

3 Federal and State Carbon Monoxide Standards ............................................................ 33

4 Projected CO Concentrations ........................................................................................ 34

5 Special Status Plant Species Known To Occur in the Study Area ................................. 39

6 Special Status Wildlife Species Known To Occur in the Study Area .............................. 41

7 Identified Sites Within AOne-Mile Radius of the Project Site ........................................ 59

8 Interior and Exterior Noise Standards ............................................................................ 68

9 Typical Construction Equipment Noise Levels ............................................................... 70

10 Projected Noise Levels Per Roadway Segment ............................................................ 72

11 LOS and Delay Ranges ................................................................................................. 78

12 Existing Conditions Peak Hour LOS .............................................................................. 79

13 Forecast Year 2005 Without Project Peak Hour LOS .................................................... 81

14 Forecast Improved Year 2005 Without Project Conditions Peak Hour LOS ................... 82

15 Proposed Project ITE Trip Rates ................................................................................... 83

16 Forecast Project Trip Generation ................................................................................... 83

17 Forecast Year 2005 With Project Peak Hour LOS ......................................................... 84

18 Forecast Mitigated Year 2005 With Project Peak Hour LOS .......................................... 84

19 Forecast General Plan Buildout Without Project Peak Hour LOS .................................. 86

20 Forecast Improved General Plan Buildout Without Project Conditions Peak Hour LOS.87

21 Forecast General Plan Buildout With Project Peak Hour LOS ....................................... 88

JN 20-100472 ii April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 742

Item 36.



TECHNICAL APPENDICES

Bound Under A Separate Cover)

A. Phase I Environmental Site Assessment

B. Traffic Impact Analysis

C. Biological Resources Assessment

D. Air Quality Assessment

E. Cultural Resources Assessment

F. Noise Modeling

JN 20-100472 iii April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 743

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Following preliminary review of the proposed Kirkjan project (Project), the City of Coachella

City) has determined that the proposed Project is subject to the guidelines and regulations of

the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). This Initial Study addresses the direct,

indirect, and cumulative environmental effects associated with the development of 232 single-

family residential uses on 58 acres.

1.1 STATUTORY AUTHORITY AND REQUIREMENTS

In accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) (Public Resources Code

Section 21000-21177) and pursuant to Section 15063 of Title 14 of the California Code of

Regulations (CCR), the City of Coachella, acting in the capacity of Lead Agency, is required to

undertake the preparation of an Initial Study to determine if the proposed project would have a

significant environmental impact. If, as a result of the Initial Study, the Lead Agency finds that

there is evidence that any aspect of the project may cause a significant environmental effect,

the Lead Agency shall further find that an Environmental Impact Report (EIR) is warranted to

analyze project-related and cumulative environmental impacts. Alternatively, if the Lead Agency

finds that there is no evidence that the project, either as proposed or as modified to include the

mitigation measures identified in the Initial Study, may cause a significant effect on the

environment, the Lead Agency shall find that the proposed project would not have a significant

effect on the environment and shall prepare a Negative Declaration for that project. Such

determination can be made only if "there is no substantial evidence in light of the whole record

before the Lead Agency" that such impacts may occur (Section 21080(c), Public Resources

Code).

The environmental documentation, which is ultimately selected by the City of Coachella in

accordance with CEQA, is intended as an informational document undertaken to provide an

environmental basis for subsequent discretionary actions upon the project. The resulting

documentation is not, however, a policy document and its approval and/or certification neither

presupposes nor mandates any actions on the part of those agencies from whom permits and

other discretionary approvals would be required.

The environmental documentation and supporting analysis is subject to a public review period.

During this review, public agency comments on the document relative to environmental issues

should be addressed to the City of Coachella. Following review of any comments received, the

City of Coachella will consider these comments as a part of the project's environmental review

and include them with the Initial Study documentation and administrative record for

consideration by the City of Coachella.

1.2 PURPOSE

The purpose of the Initial Study is to: (1) identify environmental impacts; (2) provide the Lead

Agency with information to use as the basis for deciding whether to prepare an EIR or Negative

Declaration; (3) enable an applicant or Lead Agency to modify a project, mitigating adverse

impacts before an EIR is prepared; (4) facilitate environmental assessment early in the design

of the project; (5) provide documentation of the factual basis for the finding in a Negative

Declaration that a project would not have a significant environment effect; (6) eliminate needless

EIRs; and (7) determine whether a previously prepared environmental document could be used

for the project.

JN 20-100472 1 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 744

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negafive Declaration58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Section 15063 of the State CEQA Guidelines identifies specific disclosure requirements forinclusion in an Initial Study. Pursuant to those requirements, an Initial Study shall include: (1) adescription of the project, including the location of the project; (2) an identification of theenvironmental setting; (3) an identification of environmental effects by use of a checklist, matrixor other method, provided that entries on a checklist or other form are briefly explained toindicate that there is some evidence to support the entries; (4) a discussion of ways to mitigatesignificant effects identified, if any; (5) an examination of whether the project is compatible withexisting zoning, plans, and other applicable land use controls; and (6) the name of the person orpersons who prepared or participated in the preparation of the Initial Study.

1.3 CONSULTATION

As soon as the Lead Agency has determined that an Initial Study would be required for theProject, the Lead Agency is directed to consult informally with all Responsible Agencies andTrustee Agencies that are responsible for resources affected by the Project, in order to obtainthe recommendations of those agencies as to whether an EIR or Negative Declaration shouldbe prepared for the Project. Following receipt of any written comments from those agencies,the Lead Agency would consider any recommendations of those agencies in the formulation ofthe recommended mitigation measures. The City will consider recommendations fromResponsible Agencies, Trustee agencies and other parties as part of the IS/MND 30-day publicreview period. As stated in the Notice of Availability, CEQA requires that any Responsible orTrustee agencies provide comments relative to their statutory area of responsibility, and thatany recommended mitigation measures include recommended monitoring requirements andsuggestions for potential feasible Project alternatives. The City has experience in successfullyworking with the various affected public agencies, and will also consult with and/or secureapplicable permits or approvals from the necessary agencies as part of Project implementationsee Section 3.1 for a listing of other anticipated permits or approvals).

1.4 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

Pertinent documents relating to this Initial Study. have been cited and incorporated, inaccordance with Sections 15148 and 15150 of the CEQA Guidelines, to eliminate the need forinclusion of voluminous engineering and technical reports within the EIR. Of particularrelevance are those previous EIRs that present information regarding descriptions ofenvironmental settings, future development-related growth and cumulative impacts. This InitialStudy/Mitigated Negative Declaration has incorporated by reference the City of CoachellaGeneral Plan Environmental Impact Report, the City of Coachella General Plan, and the Countyof Riverside Comprehensive General Plan. These planning and environmental clearancedocuments include background information regarding environmental conditions, as well aspolicies and information related to the proposed Project. These documents were utilizedthroughout this Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration and are available for review at theCity of Coachella Community Development Department, located at 1515 Sixth Street,Coachella, California, 92236.

City of Coachella General Plan 2000 Environmental Impact Report (SCH #96071011),March 1997

The City of Coachella General Plan 2000 EIR presents environmental impacts and mitigationmeasures in order to ensure successful implementation of the Coachella General Plan. Thestudy area for the General Plan EIR includes the incorporated City of Coachella, its Sphere ofInfluence (SOI), and other surrounding areas that could ultimately become part of the City andtherefore have an effect on the planning process in the City. The boundaries of the Planning
JN 20-100472 2

April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 745

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 04-04, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Area were chosen by the City to assure that adequate data would be available for analyzing the

future growth of the City and its environs, and for the analysis of future services and

infrastructure, circulation and traffic, compatibility of land uses in outlying areas and

environmental concerns. The lands included within the Planning Area boundary were not

limited to those included within the City of Coachella's currently adopted SOI. The areas

included were chosen based upon their importance to Coachella's future. The availability of

environmental and general planning data for the whole planning area assures the ability to

respond to future issues with consistent information. The General Plan environmental analysis

included biological and archaeological information for the General Plan Study Area. The

General Plan EIR identified unavoidable significant impacts for the following areas; land use;

biotic resources; air quality; noise; water consumption; energy and educational facilities.

City of Coachella General Plan 2000

The City of Coachella General Plan 2000 is a policy planning document which provides along-

range, comprehensive plan for the physical development of the jurisdiction and any land outside

its boundaries which the agency deems relevant for planning purposes. The General Plan for

the City is a compilation of the goals, policies, and objectives that will guide the physical

development of the City, and in those areas which the City considers within its planning purview

i.e., existing spheres of influence and surrounding study area). The 2000 General Plan

expresses community development goals for the distribution of future land uses.

County of Riverside Comprehensive General Plan, Amended through December 1989

Riverside County, an area of 7,310 square miles, stretches from the Colorado River, 200-miles

west to the Los Angeles metropolitan area and to within 10 miles of the Pacific Ocean.

Riverside County includes 19 incorporated cities, dozens of unincorporated communities, and

substantial amounts of state and federally controlled areas such as parks, wildlife areas, and

other public lands. The Comprehensive General Plan is designed to provide an administrative

guideline for the County in providing services for the residents of the County. This is

accomplished through the County's implementation of the General Plan's Administrative

Element and the programs located in the other Elements of the Plan. The Comprehensive

General Plan is also used to determine appropriate land uses for sites located within the

County. In conjunction with this use, development proposals are reviewed for consistency with

the Comprehensive General Plan.

JN 20-100472 3 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 746

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

2.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION

2.1 PROJECT LOCATION/SETTING

The City of Coachella is located in the southwestern portion of the Coachella Valley in easternRiverside County, California (refer to Exhibit 1, Regional Vicinity Map). The Coachella Valleystraddles the southern edge of the Mojave Desert and the northern edge of the ColoradoDesert. The 58-acre Project site is located in the western portion of the City of Coachella and isbounded by Avenue 50 to the north, vacant land and Frederick Street to the east, Avenue 51 tothe south and vacant land and Van Buren Street to the west (refer to Exhibit 2, Site VicinityMap). The Project site is west of State Route 86 (SR-86) and approximately 1.5 milessouthwest of Interstate 10 (I-10). The Project site is currently zoned Agriculture Transition (A-T).

2.2 PROJECT CHARACTERISTICS

The proposed Project would involve redesignating the Project site to R-S (Residential Single-Family Zone), in order to be developed with 232 single-family dwelling units (refer to Exhibit 3,Preliminary Site Plan). Site access is proposed at one full-access location and two right-in-right-out only access locations on Avenue 50 and one full-access location on Avenue 51.

2.3 PROJECT PHASING

The proposed Project is anticipated to begin construction in early 2005. The Project would bedeveloped in one phase and is anticipated to take approximately 12 months for completion.

JN 20-100472 4
April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 747

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 04-04, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Exhibit 1, Regional Vicinity Map

Moreno - r,,,~
Valley

Cathed ral

Palm City RIVERSID E

Springs ®
COUNT Y

Perris

Palm Project Site
Hemet

Idyllwild Rancho Desert Indi

Sun Mlroge Indian

City Wells Coachella

QuiMa

Mza

N

Temecul~ -- -
i .;\ --

i ~~' SA:LTON ~`
i ,

I ,` 
S E A

blamer ~ `~•,

Springs ``
i ~ '\

Bortego i

Springs ~ r_~
Vista ® I '~, ;

CalipaUia E

1 ., ~,;.Escondido

Julian ~ 
Westmorland

Encinitas Ramona

Poway
i I M P E R I A L Brawley

SAN DIEGO ~ I
COUNTY

Mlro
COUNTY I ~ m

Mesa ', Imperial ~
Santee

Alpine Pine
Valley ~ ~ Centro

an Cajon I Ocotillo

Dieg I
CalexicoLemon , ~_,

Grove
Jamul

Dulwra

Protrero Campo
PACIFIC ~' 

Chula ~ _
Vista

OCEAN M E.X'1;;G,0

KIRKJAN PROJECT
r Q

D 10 14mi~es

Regional VicinityAFFRORIµA?E

CONSULTING .. 1219iW JN20~:ODC72.1075?

Exhibit 1

JN 20-100472 5 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 748

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Exhibit 2, Site Vicinity Map

Y km<n ...

r

S

ux. j Ir,xm

v - :~ AVE
wnvx

I
a

4>

Try ~ N. k
YG

alncYaE~ ... _ ~ i
Z:.

vy, IC fkR7GY.P.rlXS dJ`
J4̂. G127RRT L(IH

C'am` -

AA

ar
A.J y~.J

y _
R { w

w

ItY.IW~ -

A1~E
r

s.aYUa Wu+
ix

u,r " .

At~ ._.

r

f "e

t
RL ~ ~~'.

i

fi

A'r E
AA ~., a

A~Z'w ._..

a ~''
i (M:7'JYitR

ter. ~.... ~......~_

z i
s

A1'f i9 Y AVi

cm. NYWAIIk A.

4

r.~.S.KE. 
G~

F

i.:.

OM1i4. kl
M fD

t

k

i:SfA F
i~F is!
p i

ramf7,~YKfCL.. .Y-.w-. _.._._.._ ... ~._.

Y
E 4 ..

d l T5~N1 S .:
1J L Y.

u
y ~ ~ aiFkIl.lh ~.~

1

rAt:c :ia , .. ~ ~ .

ISdH Ri

A :
NJFN

OQ

A tt E 1. N~ ~5U

1. ~~
M ~ , ,,

fii 3 .

pNW1 J~ i.
A

J.
a4nt_ a

A ~ 1C! .

r

w.'..

E. 1.+. 'u'~,,,.'

7 u u lu+:

S

Q

Project
tj = O R y

I-~=~ y

n~

r'~e~[eCV aarr

j eL~fHl
j ii.' ~~

a

r..
ss _ ~.
J = 

filfri7x

1[U1sA .
AY ', ~...., 

r

y ..

MA
AY

AVENUE 52 ~ ~` 
v

x

x ,
r'. ~

4,
C

i - GR Y ...

ALE[. YfC~

n~,
YA~.IIY AlUl.l~ t..

N

4.11 .•
1n

7 i..~.

source: 1 homes Guide. Riverside County, 2003. pages 5470, 5471, 5530 85531.

r

0 2500'

APPROXIMATE

CONSULTING _4 12'c::'03 JN 20.10[1i77.tm5?

Exhibit 2

KIRKJAN PROJECT

Site Vicini#y

JN 20-100472 6 April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 749

Item 36.



EL

05 3f1N3AV ___ e~6
5

a

o

C
m

Z
0

O

a i

M ~ 1

ZH

U~

W

H

Q
C4
Z

H
y

X
W

w ~
i

k 0
E N ~~

o ~a`
Q

o ~O

g
V 3a X

O O

p ae
w a

u b
d Q

y
F

Q

Z

X

w w
J

w

Z~
to Q

7 =
Z ~

J

W LL

ganNanv - -

t 1 ( in E
r{ a e

I

st
l ;I ;

i ~~ EE
Ot

dd °' r'~''r°!r{ r

eCIE ippyyp
liE~ l;le

i!!Sri!! ; l
ir~ t ~ rlj
tltli l;ti

ii6 ~ v~
5a

YQ kc~rZ~ ~ t tcti! 1 b111 ! F ti,~f ~d ~ i{ {

tea- ~~

Page 750

Item 36.



z
a
J f[)
d ti

O

W M ~

wZ ~S
a

WU~,~ ~'~
F-¢~. ~~

9

a
b ~ ~ ~ i

z_ ¢ ~
Z

J W
W H
fx
n.

E ~ ~ f-
fE

t ~~~ 4 ;

1
i

0 E ~ ~..

i~.
i

y
F

i

itp~
I p

IS
E

t~s ~
E

i

E ~ !:~

1

s

0 ~ _~ t~ ~~ E ~~e~1
s
1

2Ef E

etl o ~~ 
d ~

r~€ ~
fE¢ s

t

lea~

6 ~

e~ ~'rF6 E ~ Pp~ ~
B ie~§ ~ ii~t ~

i~ ~ ~i3: [ ~ F ~ E 6 331
6 g

II~i~ i':

555
t° ~

E E
e

E{~'{Eye
el6

Ea?f~
t

p9p'pp~ : I~~ fc . 1~o EI
Ea0 iptE 4 i~t~ f

1"

I~~! ~ .t

Etl i ~ : i tidd E 4 1

o ~~f1} ~(
I

E
p! 6€f~[!~
f= I~~~Et

fts ii
9 6fE 4~i ~~

PP ii

Etpt:`@
Iff

9-

e!~?~ ~r t C t

sE~ g i'91 i=1`t- Eto t. °c E E t. i a o fl°eeeo 9 y EI9 9E~ y fieE 1812~iE 65 ~EC's ~i4 i}:s.

ftt

g~s

Z

J

m

Z
0
v

C ~

r\ F

Page 751

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 04-04, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

3.0 INITIAL STUDY CHECKLIST

3.1 BACKGROUND

Project Title• 58-Acre Kirkjan Property

Lead Agency Name and Address:

City of Coachella

1515 Sixth Street

Coachella, CA 92236

Contact Person and Phone Number:

City of Coachella

Gabriel E. Papp
Director of Community Development (760) 398-3102

Project Location:

The 58-acre Project site is located in the western portion of the City of Coachella and is

bounded by Avenue 50 to the north, Van Buren Street to the west, Avenue 51 to the south and

Frederick Street to the east.

Project Sponsor's Name and Address:

Steve Hyman
Westshore Development, LLC

38-858 Lobelia Drive

Palm Desert, CA 92211

General Plan Designation: RL (Low Density Residential 0-6du/ac)

Zoning: A-T (A riculture Transition)

Description of the Project: (Describe the whole action involved, including but not limited to,

later phases of the project, and any secondary, support or off-site features necessary for its

implementation.)

The proposed Project would involve development of 232 single-family dwelling units. The

proposed Project would require a zone change from A-T (Agriculture-Transition) to R-S (Low-

Densit Residential.

Surrounding Land Uses and Setting:

The 58-Acre Project site is bounded by Avenue 50 to the north, vacant land and Van Buren

Street to the west, vacant land and Avenue 51 to the south and Frederick Street to the east.

Other public agencies whose approval is required (e.g., permits, financing approval or

participation agreement).

City of Coachella Planning Commission

City of Coachella City Council

City of Coachella Sanitary District

Citv of Coachella Fire Department District

JN 20-100472 8 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 752

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 04-04, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

3.2 ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS POTENTIALLY AFFECTED

The environmental factors checked below would be potentially affected by this Project, involving
at least one impact that is a "Potentially Significant Impact" or "Less than Significant I mpact With

Mitigation", as indicated by the checklist on the following pages.

Aesthetics Agricultural Resources Air Quality

Biological Resources Cultural Resources Geology/Soils

Hazards & Hazardous

Materials
Hydrology/WaterQuaIity Land Use/Planning

Mineral Resources Noise Population/Housing

Public Services Recreation TransportationlTraffic

Utilities/Service Systems Mandatory Findings of Significance

3.3 EVALUATION OF ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS

This section analyzes the potential environmental impacts associated. with the proposed Project.
The issue areas evaluated in this Initial Study include:

Aesthetics

Agriculture Resources

Air Quality
Biological Resources

Cultural Resources

Geology and Soils

Hazards and Hazardous Materials

Hydrology and Water Quality
Land Use and Planning
Mineral Resources

Noise

Population and Housing
Public Services

Recreation

Transportation/Traffic
Utilities & Service Systems

The environmental analysis in this section is patterned after the Initial Study Checklist

recommended by the City of Coachella's CEQA Guidelines and used by the City in its

environmental review process. For the preliminary environmental assessment undertaken as

part of this Initial Study's preparation, a determination that there is a potential for significant
effects indicates the need to more fully analyze the development's impacts and to identify
mitigation.

For the evaluation of potential impacts, the questions in the Initial Study Checklist are stated

and an answer is provided according to the analysis undertaken as part of the Initial Study. The

analysis considers the long-term, direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts of the proposed
residential development. To each question, there are four possible responses:

JN 20-100472 9 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 753

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

No Impact. The project will not have any measurable environmental impact on the

environment.

Less Than Significant Impact. The project will have the potential for impacting the

environment, although this impact will be below established thresholds that are

considered to be significant.

Potentially Significant Impact Unless Mitigation Incorporated. The project will have

the potential to generate impacts which may be considered as a significant effect on the

environment, although mitigation measures or changes to the project's physical or

operational characteristics can reduce these impacts to levels that are less than

significant.

Potentially Significant Impact. The project will have impacts which are considered

significant, and additional analysis is required to identify mitigation measures that could

reduce these impacts to less than significant levels.

Where potential impacts are anticipated to be significant, mitigation measures will be required,

so that impacts may be avoided or reduced to insignificant levels.

JN 20-100472 10 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 754

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental -nitial Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 04-04, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Less Than Less

Potentially;, Significant Than

Significant ImpacYwith Significant No

impact Mitigation Impact.. Impact

1. AESTHETICS. Would the project:

Have a substantial adverse effect on a scenica

vista?

b. Substantially damage scenic resources, including,
but not limited to, trees, rock outcroppings, and

historic buildin s within a state scenic hi hwa ?

c. Substantially degrade the existing visual character

or ualit of the site and its surroundin s?

d. Create a new source of substantial light or glare
which would adversely affect day or nighttime
views in the area?

2. AGRICULTURAL RESOURCES. In determining whether impacts to agricultural resources are significant
environmental effects, lead agencies may refer to the Calrfomia Agricultural Land Evaluation and Site Assessment Model

1997) prepared by the California Department of Conservation as an optional model to use in assessing impacts on

agriculture and farmland. Would the project:

a. Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or

Farmland of Statewide Importance (Farmland), as

shown on the maps prepared pursuant to the

Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program of the

California Resources Agency, to non-agricultural
use?

b. Conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use, or

a Williamson act contract?

c. Involve other changes in the existing environment

which, due to their location or nature, could result

in conversion of Farmland, to non-agricultural use?

3. AIR QUALITY. Where available, the significance criteria established by the applicable air quality management or air

pollution control district maybe relied upon to make the following determinations. Would the project:

a. Conflict with or obstruct implementation of the

applicable air quality plan?
b. Violate any air quality standard or contribute

substantially to an existing or projected air quality
violation?

c. Result in a cumulatively considerable net increase

of any criteria pollutant for which the project region
is non-attainment under an applicable federal or

state ambient air quality standard (including
releasing emissions which exceed quantitative
thresholds for ozone precursors)?

d. Expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant
concentrations?

e. Create objectionable odors affecting a substantial

number of people?

JN 20-100472 11 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 755

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

4. BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES. would the project:

a. Have a substantial adverse effect, either directly or

through habitat modifications, on any species
identified as a candidate, sensitive, or special
status species in local or regional plans, policies,
or regulations, or by the California Department of

Fish and Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service?

b. Have a substantial adverse effect on any riparian
habitat or other sensitive natural community
identified in local or regional plans, policies,

regulations or by the California Department of Fish

and Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service?

c. Have a substantial adverse effect on federally

protected wetlands as defined by Section 404 of

the Clean Water Act (including, but not limited to,

marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through direct

removal, filling, hydrological interruption, or other

means?

d. Interfere substantially with the movement of any

native resident or migratory fish or wildlife species

or with established native resident or migratory
wildlife corridors, or impede the use of native

wildlife nurse sites?

e. Conflict with any local policies or ordinances

protecting biological resources, such as a tree

reservation olic or ordinance?

f. Conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat

Conservation Plan, Natural Community
Conservation Plan, or other approved local,

regional, or state habitat conservation plan?

5. CULTURAL RESOURCES. Would the ro~ect:

a. Cause a substantial adverse change in the

significance of a historical resource as defined in

CEQA Guidelines §15064.5?
b. Cause a substantial adverse change in the

significance of an archaeological resource

ursuant to CEQA Guidelines 15064.5?

c. Directly or indirectly destroy a unique

paleontological resource or site or unique
eolo is feature?

d. Disturb any human remains, including those

interred outside of formal cemeteries?

6. GEOLOGY AND SOILS. Would the ro~ect:

a. Expose people or structures to potential
substantial adverse effects, including the risk of

loss, in~ur , or death involvin

1) Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as

delineated on the most recent Alquist-Priolo
Earthquake Fault Zoning Map issued by the

State Geologist for the area or based on other /

substantial evidence of a known fault? Refer

to Division of Mines and Geology Special
Publication 42.

JN 20-100472 12 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 756

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

2) Strong seismic ground shaking?

3) Seismic-related ground failure, including
li uefaction?

4) Landslides?

Result in substantial soil erosion or the loss ofb

topsoil?

c. Be located on a geologic unit or soil that is

unstable, or that would become unstable as a

result of the project, and potentially result in on-or

off-site landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence,
li uefaction or colla se?

d. Be located on expansive soil, as defined in Table

18-1-B of the Uniform Building Code (1994),
creatin substantial risks to life or ro ert ?

e. Have soils incapable of adequately supporting the

use of septic tanks or alternative waste water

disposal systems where sewers are not available

for the dis osal of waste water?

7. HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS: Would the project:

a. Create a significant hazard to the public or the

environment through the routine transport, use, or

dis osal of hazardous materials?

b. Create a significant hazard to the public or the

environment through reasonably foreseeable upset
and accident conditions involving the release of

hazardous materials into the environment?

c. Emit hazardous emissions or handle hazardous or

acutely hazardous materials, substances, or waste

within one-quarter mile of an existing or proposed
school?

d. Be located on a site which is included on a list of

hazardous materials sites compiled pursuant to

Government Code Section 65962.5 and, as a

result, would it create a significant hazard to the

ublic or the environment?

e. For a project located within an airport land use

plan or, where such a plan has not been adopted,
within two miles of a public airport or public use

airport, would the project result in a safety hazard

for eo le residin or workin in the ro~ect area?

f. For a project within the vicinity of a private airstrip,
would the project result in a safety hazard for

eo le residin or workin in the ro~ect area?

g. Impair implementation of or physically interfere

with an adopted emergency response plan or

emer enc evacuation Ian?

h. Expose people or structures to a significant risk of

loss, injury or death involving wildland fires,

including where wildlands are adjacent to

urbanized areas or where residences are

intermixed with wildlands?

8. HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY. Would the project
a. Violate any water quality standards or waste

discharge requirements?

JN 20-100472 13 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 757

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

b. Substantially deplete groundwater supplies or

interfere substantially with groundwater recharge
such that there would be a net deficit in aquifer
volume or a lowering of the local groundwater table

level (e.g., the production rate of pre-existing
nearby wells would drop to a level which would not

support existing land uses or planned uses for

which ermits have been ranted ?

c. Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of

the site or area, including through the alteration of

the course of stream or river, in a manner which

would result in substantial erosion or situation on-

or off-site?

d. Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of

the site or area, including through the alteration of

the course of a stream or river, or substantially
increase the rate or amount of surface runoff in a

manner which would result in flooding on- or off-

site?

e. Create or contribute runoff water which would

exceed the capacity of existing or planned
stormwater drainage systems or provide substantial

additional sources of olluted runoff?

f. Otherwise substantially degrade water quality?

g. Place housing within a 100-year flood hazard area

as mapped on a federal Flood Hazard Boundary or

Flood Insurance Rate Map or other flood hazard

delineation ma ?

h. Place within a 100-year flood hazard area

structures which would impede or redirect flood

flows?

i. Expose people or structures to a significant risk of

loss, injury or death involving flooding, including
floodin as a result of the failure of a levee or dam?

j. Inundation by seiche, tsunami, or mudflow?

9. LAND USE AND PLANNING. Would the project:

a. Physically divide an established community?

b. Conflict with any applicable land use plan, policy,
or regulation of an agency with jurisdiction over the

project (including, but not limited to the general
plan, specific plan, local coastal program, or zoning
ordinance) adopted for the purpose of avoiding or

miti atin an environmental effect?

c. Conflict with any applicable habitat conservation

plan or natural community conservation plan?

10. MINERAL RESOURCES. Would the project:

a. Result in the loss of availability of a known mineral

resource that would be of value to the region and

the residents of the state?

b. Result in the loss of availability of a locally-
important mineral resource recovery site delineated

on a local general plan, specific plan or other land

use Ian?

JN 20-100472 14 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 758

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental lnitia/Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

11. NOISE. Would the project result in:

a. Exposure of persons to or generation of noise

levels in excess of standards established in the

local general plan or noise ordinance, or applicable
standards of other a encies?

b. Exposure of persons to or generation of excessive

groundborne vibration or groundborne noise

levels?

c. A substantial permanent increase in ambient noise

levels in the project vicinity above levels existing
without the ro'ect?

d. A substantial temporary or periodic increase in

ambient noise levels in the project vicinity above

levels existin without the ro'ect?

e. For a project located within an airport land use plan
or, where such a plan has not been adopted, within

two miles of a public airport or public use airport,
would the project expose people residing or

working in the project area to excessive noise

levels?

f. For a project within the vicinity of a private airstrip,
would the project expose people residing or

working in the project area to excessive noise

levels?

12. POPULATION AND HOUSING. Would the project:

a. Induce substantial population growth in an area,

either directly (for example, by proposing new

homes and businesses) or indirectly (for example,
throu h extension of roads or other infrastructure ?

b. Displace substantial numbers of existing housing,
necessitating the construction of replacement
housin elsewhere?

c. Displace substantial numbers of people,
necessitating the construction of replacement
housin elsewhere?

13. PUBLIC SERVICES.

a. Would the project result in substantial adverse

physical impacts associated with the provision of

new or physically altered governmental facilities,
need for new or physically altered governmental
facilities, the construction of which could cause

significant environmental impacts, in order to

maintain acceptable service ratios, response times

or other performance objectives for any of the

ublic services:

1) Fire protection?

2) Police protection?

3) Schools?

4) Parks?

5) Other public facilities?

JN 20-100472 15 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 759

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Projecf Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

14. RECREATION.

a. Would the project increase the use of existing

neighborhood and regional parks or other

recreational facilities such that substantial physical
deterioration of the facility would occur or be

accelerated?

b. Does the project include recreational facilities or

require the construction or expansion of

recreational facilities which might have an adverse

h sical effect on the environment?

15. TRANSPORTATIONITRAFFIC. Would the project:

a. Cause an increase in traffic which is substantial in

relation to the existing traffic load and capacity of

the street system (i.e., result in a substantial

increase in either the number of vehicle trips, the

volume to capacity ratio on roads, or congestion at

intersections ?

b. Exceed, either individually or cumulatively, a level

of service standard established by the county

congestion management agency for designated
roads or hi hwa s?

c. Result in a change in air traffic patterns, including
either an increase in traffic levels or a change in

location that results in substantial safe risks?

d. Substantially increase hazards due to a design
feature (e.g., sharp curves or dangerous
intersections) or incompatible uses (e.g., farm

e ui ment ?

e. Result in inadequate emergency access?

f. Result in inadequate parking capacity?

g. Conflict with adopted policies, plans, or programs

supporting alternative transportation (e.g., bus

turnouts, bic cle racks ?

16. UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS. Would the ro"ect:

a. Exceed wastewater treatment requirements of the

a licable Re Tonal Water Quali Control Board?

b. Require or result in the construction of new water

or wastewater treatment facilities or expansion of

existing facilities, the construction of which could

cause si nificant environmental effects?

c. Require or result in the construction of new storm

water drainage facilities or expansion of existing
facilities, the construction of which could cause

si nificant environmental effects?

d. Have sufficient water supplies available to serve

the project from existing entitlements and

resources, or are new or expanded entitlements

needed?

e. Result in a determination by the wastewater

treatment provider which serves or may serve the

project that it has adequate capacity to serve the

project's projected demand in addition to the

erovider's existing commitments?

JN 20-100472 16 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 760

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

f. Be served by a landfill with sufficient permitted
capacity to accommodate the project's solid waste

dis osal needs?

g. Comply with federal, state, and local statutes and

re ulations related to solid waste?

17. MANDATORY FINDINGS OF SIGNIFICANCE.

a. Does the project have the potential to degrade the

quality of the environment, substantially reduce the

habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or

wildlife population to drop below self-sustaining
levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or animal

community, reduce the number or restrict the range
of a rare or endangered plant or animal or eliminate

important examples of the major periods of

California history or prehistory?

b. Does the project have impacts that are individually
limited, but cumulatively considerable?

Cumulatively considerable" means that the

incremental effects of a project are considerable

when viewed in connection with the effects of past
projects, the effects. of other current projects, and

the effects of robable future ro'ects ?

c. Does the project have environmental effects which

will cause substantial adverse effects on human

beings, either directly or indirectly?

JN 20-100472 17 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 761

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 04-04, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

3.4 MITIGATION MEASURES

Air Quality

AQ1 All off-road construction equipment shall use aqueous diesel fuel.

AQ2 During clearing, grading, earth moving, or excavation operations, excessive fugitive
dust emissions shall be controlled by regular watering or other dust preventive
measures using the following procedures, as specified in the South Coast Air Quality

Management Districts Rules and Regulations.

Comply with AQMD Rule 403, particularly to minimize fugitive dust and noise to

surrounding areas. SCAQMD Rule 403.1, as amended, should be adhered to,

ensuring the clean up of the construction-related dirt on approach routes to the site,

and the application of water and/or chemical dust retardants that solidify loose soils,

should be implemented for construction vehicle access, as directed by the City

Engineer. This should include covering, watering or otherwise stabilizing all inactive

soil piles (left more than 10 days) and inactive graded areas (left more than 10 days).

On-site vehicle speed will be limited to 15 miles per hour.

All material excavated or graded will be sufficiently watered to prevent
excessive amounts of dust. Watering will occur at least twice daily with

complete coverage, preferable in the late morning and after work is done for

the day.

Unpaved haul roads shall be watered at least twice daily.

All material transported on-site or off-site will be either sufficiently watered or

securely covered to prevent excessive amounts of dust.

The area disturbed by clearing, grading, earth moving, or excavation

operations will be minimized so as to prevent excessive amounts of dust.

These control techniques will be indicated in Project specifications.

Compliance with this measure will be subject to periodic site inspections by
the City.

AQ3 Project grading plans shall show the duration of construction. Ozone precursor

emissions from construction equipment vehicles shall be controlled by maintaining

equipment engines in good condition and in proper tune per manufacturer's

specifications, to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. Compliance with this measure

will be subject to periodic inspections of construction equipment vehicles by the City.

AQ4 All trucks that are to haul excavated or graded material on-site shall comply with

State Vehicle Code Section 23114, with special attention to Sections 23114(b)(F),

e)(2) and (e)(4) as amended, regarding the prevention of such material spilling onto

public streets and roads.

JN 20-100472 18 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 762

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Biological Resources

B101 Spring botanical surveys shall be conducted during Spring 2004 assuming
appropriate weather conditions occur (i.e., appropriate rainfall) to determine if special
status plant species are present or absent. ff no special status plant species are

identified within the study area, no further mitigation shall be required. If a sizeable

population of special status plant species is located within the study area, mitigation
shall be developed through either a conservation easement or mitigation plan. The

mitigation plan shall include the following requirements:

Apre-construction survey conducted during the peak flowering period for
each respective special status plant potentially occurring on the Project site
shall be conducted by the Project biologist the spring prior to grading.

If a large population of special status plants (as determined by USFWS stafr]
is found during these surveys, the limits of each impacted location shall be

clearly delineated with lath and brightly colored flagging.

The locations of special status plants shall be monitored every two weeks by
the Project biologist to determine when the seeds are ready for collection. A

qualified seed collector shall collect all of the seeds from the plants to be

impacted when the seeds are ripe. The seeds shall be cleaned and stored

by a qualified nursery or institution with appropriate storage facilities.

Following the seed collection, the top 12 inches of topsoil from special status

plant populations shall be scraped, stockpiled and used in the selected

mitigation location agreed upon by the City and the Project biologist.

The mitigation plan shall include detailed descriptions of maintenance

appropriate for the Project site, monitoring requirements and annual reports
requirements and shall have the full authority to suspend any operation on

the Project site which is, in the qualified biologist's opinion, not consistent
with the mitigation plan.

The performance criteria developed in the mitigation plan shall include

requirements for a minimum of 60 percent germination of the number of

plants impacted. The performance criteria shall also include percent cover,

density and seed production requirements. These criteria shall be developed
by the Project biologist following habitat analysis of an existing habitat. This

information shall be recorded by a qualified biologist.

If the germination goal of 60 percent is not achieved following the first

season, remediation measures shall be implemented and additional seeding
may be necessary. Remedial measures would include at a minimum: soils

testing, control of invasive species, soil amendments and physical
disturbance (to provide scarification of the seed) of the planted areas by
raking or similar actions. Additional mitigation measures may be suggested
as determined necessary by the Project biologist.

Potential seed sources from additional donor sites shall also be identified in
case it becomes necessary to collect additional seed for use on the Project
site following performance of remedial measures.

JN 20-100472 19 April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 763

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

B1O2 In order to avoid impacts to an occupied burrowing owl burrow, focused surveys shall

be conducted prior to commencement of clearing or grading operations on the

Project site. Additionally, if clearing or grading operations are planned during the

breeding season for any of these species, a breeding raptor survey shall be

conducted prior to any clearing or grading activities.

Surveys for burrowing owl shall be conducted according to a protocol prepared by

the Burrowing Owl Consortium of the Santa Cruz Predatory Bird Research Group.

Surveys shall be conducted by walking through suitable habitat over the entire

Project site and in areas within approximately 500 feet of the Project impact zone.

Any active burrows found during survey efforts shall be mapped on the construction

plans. If no active burrowing owl burrows are.found, no further mitigation is required.

Results of the surveys shall be provided to the CDFG.

6103 If burrowing owl nest sites are found, the following restrictions on construction are

required between March 1 and August 31 ( or until nests are no longer active as

determined by a qualified biologist):

Clearing limits shall be established with a minimum of 250 feet, or as

otherwise determined by a qualified biologist, in any direction from any

occupied burrow exhibiting nesting activity; and

Access and surveying shall not be allowed within 100 feet of any burrow

exhibiting nesting activity. Any encroachment into the 250/100-foot buffer

area around the known nest is allowed only if it is determined by a qualified

biologist that the proposed activity shall not disturb the nest occupants.

If construction occurs outside of the breeding season, exclusion of burrowing owls

from their burrow is a practice generally accepted by the CDFG. Exclusion of

burrowing owls involves placement of one-way doors at the opening of known

occupied burrows to allow egress from and preventing ingress to the burrow. In this

manner the burrowing owl is forced to look for another suitable roosting location.

One-way doors should be left in place for 48 hours to ensure owls have left the

burrow before excavation. Whenever possible, burrows shall be excavated using

hand tools and refilled to prevent reoccupation. Sections of flexible plastic pipe or

burlap bags shall be inserted into the tunnels during excavation to maintain an

escape route for any animals inside the burrow.

6104 Surreys for the Coachella Valley round-tailed ground squirrel shall be conducted

according to guidelines provided by the USFWS and consist of the following:

A minimum of three surveys conducted between May 1 and July 31;

Each survey must be conducted from one hour after sunrise to four hours

after sunrise;

Temperatures in the shade must range from 80 degrees to 91.4 degrees
Fahrenheit (27 degrees to 33 degrees Centigrade);

Wind speeds must be low; and

JN 20-100472 20 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 764

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

100 percent of the study area must be covered, using walking transects

spaced approximately 32 feet (10 meters) apart.

B1O5 Adequate fees shall be paid according to the adopted Multiple Species Habitat Plan

MSHCP) and Natural Community Conservation Plan ( NCCP) shall it become

adopted prior to Project development.

Cultural Resources

CUL1 Prior to construction, the applicant shall hire a certified archaeologist to observe

grading/ major trenching activities and salvage and catalogue archaeological
resources as necessary. The archaeologist shall establish, in cooperation with the

City, procedures for temporarily halting or redirecting work to permit sampling,
identification and evaluation of the artifacts, as appropriate. If the archaeological
resources are found to be significant, the archaeologist shall determine appropriate
actions, in consultation with the City, for exploration and/or salvage.

Geology and Soils

GEO1 All structures shall be designed as confirmed during the building design plan
checking, to withstand anticipated groundshaking caused by future earthquakes
within an acceptable level of risk (i.e., high risk zone), as designated by the City's
latest adopted edition of the Uniform Building Code.

GEO2 Prior to the issuance of a grading permit, a site specific geologic and soils report
shall be prepared by a registered geologist or soils engineer and submitted to the

City Building and Safety Division for approval. The report shall specify design
parameters necessary to remediate any soil and geologic hazards.

GEO3 All grading, landform modifications and construction shall be in conformance with

state-of-the-practice design and construction parameters. Typical standard minimum

guidelines regarding regulations to control excavations, grading, earthwork

construction, including fills and embankments and provisions for approval of plans
and inspection of grading construction are set from the latest version of the Uniform

Building Code. Compliance with these standards shall be evident on grading and
structural plans. This measure shall be monitored by the City Building and Safety
Division through periodic site inspections.

GEO4 Type 5 cement shall be used for all foundations and slabs on grade.

GEO5 Precise grading plans shall include an Erosion, Siltation and Dust Control Plan to be

approved by the City Building Division. The Plan's provisions may include
sedimentation basins, sand bagging, soil compaction, revegetation, temporary
irrigation, scheduling and time limits on grading activities, and construction

equipment restrictions on-site. This plan shall also demonstrate compliance with
South Coast Air Quality Management District Rule 403, which regulates fugitive dust
control.

JN 20-100472 21 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 765

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 04-04, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

GEO6 As soon as possible following the completion of grading activities, exposed soils shall

be seeded or vegetated seed mix and/or native vegetation to ensure soil

stabilization.

Hazards and Hazardous Materials

HAZ1 Any hazardous waste that is generated on-site shall be transported to an appropriate

disposal facility by a licensed hauler in accordance with the appropriate State and

Federal laws.

HAZ2 All miscellaneous vehicles, maintenance equipment and materials,

construction/irrigation materials, miscellaneous stockpiled debris, 1 and 5-gallon

containers, construction/irrigation materials, and former agricultural equipment,
should be removed off-site and properly disposed of at an approved landfill facility.
Once removed, a visual inspection of the areas beneath the removed materials

should be performed. Any stained soils observed underneath the removed materials

should be sampled. Results of the sampling (if necessary) would indicate the level of

remediation efforts that may be required.

HAZ3 Soil sampling should be performed within the maintenance yard to characterize the

extent of contamination associated with the surficial soil staining. Soil should be

removed and disposed of at an appropriate landfill facility in accordance with state

and federal requirements.

HAZ4 The majority of the Project site has been historically utilized for agricultural purposes

for several decades and may contain pesticide residues in the soil. Soil sampling

should occur throughout the Project site, including the maintenance and staging
areas. The sampling will determine if pesticide concentrations exceed established

regulatory requirements and will identify proper handling procedures that may be

required.

HAZ5 The terminus of all undocumented pipes should .be defined. The primary concern

with pipes that extend into the ground surface is the potential for the pipe(s) to act as

a ventilation apparatus for a UST. Should USTs be present, the USTs should be

removed and properly disposed of at an approved landfill facility. Once the UST is

removed, a visual inspection of the areas beneath and around the removed UST

should be performed. Any stained soils observed underneath the UST should be

sampled. Results of the sampling ( if necessary) would indicate the level of

remediation efforts that may be required.

HAZE The location of the two former USTs should be defined since no closure/removal

records were found during this Assessment. Once identified, soil sampling should be

performed within the former UST areas to characterize the extent of contamination (if

any) associated with the former USTs staining.

HAZ7 The on-site water well should be properly removed and abandoned pursuant to the

latest procedures required by the local agency with closure responsibilities for the

wells. Any associated equipment should be removed off-site properly disposed of at

a permitted landfill. A visual inspection of the areas beneath the removed materials

if present) should be performed.

JN 20-100472 22 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 766

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental /nitia/ Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Dec/aration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

HAZ8 A visual inspection of the interior the on-site structure is recommended. In the event
that hazardous materials are encountered, they should be properly tested and then
properly disposed of pursuant to State and Federal regulations.

HAZ9 Any transformers to be removed/relocated should be conducted under the purview of
the local utility purveyor to identify property handling procedures regarding potential
PCBs.

HAZ10 Based upon the year the existing structure located on the Project site was built (prior
to 1978), asbestos-containing materials and lead-based paint may be present within
the existing on-site structures and would need to be handled properly prior to
remodeling or demolition activities.

HAZ11 If unknown wastes or suspect materials are discovered during construction by the
contractor which he/she believes may involve hazardous waste/materials, the
contract shall:

Immediately stop work in the vicinity of the suspected contaminant, removing
workers and the public from the area;

Notify the Project Engineer of the implementing Agency;

Secure the area a directed by the Project Engineer; and

Notify the implementing agency's Hazardous Waste/Materials Coordinator.

Hydrology and Water Quality

HYD1 The applicant shall obtain a Notice of Intent from the State of California Regional
Water Quality Control Board, as the approximately 58-acre proposed Project would
result in the disturbance of one or more acres. A copy of the Notice of Intent
acknowledgement from the State of California Regional Water Quality Control Board
must be submitted to the City of Coachella before issuance of grading permits.

HYD2 Prior to the issuance of grading permits, Best Management Practices (BMPs) shall
be developed in compliance with the City of Coachella and the Coachella Valley
Water District NPDES Permit. Specific measures shall include:

Siltation of drainage devices shall be handled through a maintenance
program to remove silt/dirt from channels and parking areas;

Surplus or waste materials from construction shall not be placed in drainage
ways or within the 100-year floodplain surface waters;

All loose piles of soil, silt, clay, sand, debris or other earthen materials shall
be protected in a reasonable manner to eliminate any discharge to waters of
the State;

During construction, temporary gravel or sandbag dikes shall be used as

necessary to prevent discharge of earthen materials from the site during
periods of precipitation or runoff;

JN 20-100472 23 April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 767

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 04-04, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Stabilizing agents such as straw, wood chips and/or soil sealant/dust

retardant shall be used during the interim period after grading in order to

strengthen exposed soil until permanent solutions are implemented; and

Revegetated areas shall be continually maintained in order to assure

adequate growth and root development.

HYD3 The applicant shall submit a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP), which

identifies construction and post construction BMPs to the City for review and

approval.

HYD4 Prior to the issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a Water Quality

Management Plan (WQMP) pursuant to the Coachella Valley Water District and the

City of Coachella local implementation plan, specifically identifying BMPs that shall

be used on-site to control predictable pollutant runoff.

HYD5 Prior to the issuance of building permits, the applicant shall obtain coverage under

NPDES Statewide Industrial Stormwater Permit for General Construction Activities

from the State Water Resources Control Board. Evidence that this has been

obtained shall be submitted to the City.

Land Use and Planning

LAN1 The City of Coachella has determined that there is a need for improvements that are

caused by new development and for which a shared responsibility for constructing

exists. The study prepared by the Community Development Department regarding

Proposed New Development Impact Fees has been prepared and is available for

review. Payment of a fair share amount would serve to mitigate the impacts of new

development. One of these fees is the General Plan Fee to be paid at the time permits

are issued. If permits are issued prior to the approval of a development impact fee, a

fee shall be paid at the time permits are issued as a mitigation of the environmental

impacts associated with this project. The fees shall be as follows: Buildings - $50.00

per Dwelling Unit.

Noise

N1 During all Project site excavation and grading, the Project Contractor shall equip all

construction equipment, fixed or mobile, with properly operating and maintained

mufflers consistent with manufacturers' standards.

N2 The Construction Contractor shall place all stationary construction equipment so that

emitted noise is directed away from sensitive receptors nearest the Project site.

N3 The Construction Contractor shall locate equipment staging in areas that will create

the greatest distance between construction-related noise sources and noise-

sensitive receptors nearest the Project site during all Project construction.

Public Services

JN 20-100472 24 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 768

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

PS1 The developer is subject to school assessment fees pursuant to California State law.
The developer shall provide evidence of compliance to the City prior to issuance of

building permits.

PS2 The developer is subject to park assessment fees pursuant to California State law.
The developer shall provide evidence of either the dedication of land or fees paid in
lieu of, to the City prior to issuance of building permits.

Traffic

TR1 The Project applicant's payment to the Coachella Valley Association of Governments

CVAG) Transportation Uniform Mitigation Fund (TUMF) Fee Program and to the

City of Coachella Environmental Fee Program for Traffic Signals shall pay for the

Project's fair share contribution to the identified mitigation measures as follow:

Van Buren Street/Avenue 50 -Modify eastbound Avenue 50 approach from
one left-turn lane and one shared through/right-turn lane to consist of one left-
turn lane, one through lane and one shared through/right-turn lane.

Frederick Street/Avenue 50 -Modify westbound Avenue 50 approach from
one left-turn lane, one through lane and one right-turn lane to consist of one

left-turn lane, one through lane and one shared through/right-turn lane.

TR2 The City of Coachella has determined that there is a need for improvements that are

caused by new development and for which a shared responsibility for constructing
exists. The study prepared by the Department of Community Development regarding
Proposed New Development Impact Fees has been prepared and is available for
review. Payment of a fair share amount would serve to mitigate the impact of new

development, as follows: The approved development impact fee for Traffic Signal be
paid at the time permits are issued. A fee shall be paid at the time the permits are

issued as a mitigated of the environmental impacts associated with this project. The
fees shall be as follows: Building - $192.00 per dwelling unit.

TR3 The City of Coachella has determined that there is a need for improvements that are

caused by new development and for which a shared responsibility for constructing
exists. The study prepared by the Department of Community Development regarding
Proposed New Development Impact Fees has been prepared and is available for
review. Payment of a fair share amount would serve to mitigate the impact of new

development as follows: The approved development impact fee for Bridge and Grade
Separation be paid at that permits are issued. If permits are issued prior to the

approval of a development impact fee, a fee shall be paid at the time the permits are

issued as a mitigation of the environmental impacts associated with this project. The
fee shall be as follows: Buildings - $422.00 per dwelling unit.

TR4 The City of Coachella has determined that there is a need for improvements that are

caused by new development and for which a shared responsibility for constructing
exists. The study prepared by the Department of Community Development regarding
Proposed New Development Impact Fees has been prepared and is available for
review. Payment of a fair share amount would serve to mitigate the impact of new

development. The approved development impact fee for Bus Shelter and Bus Stop
Safety Zone shall be paid at the time permits are issued. A fee shall be paid at the time
the permits are issued as a mitigation for environmental impacts associated with the

project. The fees shall be as follows: Bus Shelters - $50.00 per dwelling unit.

JN 20-100472 25 April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 769

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

TR5 Prior to Project plan approval, the quantity, location, width and type of driveways

shall be subject to the approval of the City Engineer. An effective sight distance for

vehicular traffic shall be maintained at the driveway entrances on Avenue 50 and

Calhoun Street. Adequate sight distance shall also be maintained within the

development at all driveway intersections to the satisfaction of the City Engineer.

Utilities and Services

UTIL1 All required sewer improvements shall be designed and constructed to City

Standards. All tentative tract maps, site plans and other plans within the Project area

shall be accompanied by adequate plans for sewer improvements prepared by a

registered professional engineer.

UTIL2 Prior to the issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit for approval of the

City Engineering Department, a Water Quality Management Plan ( WQMP)

specifically identifying Best Management Practices (BMPs) that shall be used on-site

to control predictable pollutant runoff.

JN 20-100472 26 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 770

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS

The following is a discussion of potential impacts associated with development of 232 single-
family residential units on a 58-acre site. Explanations are provided for each item below.

4.1 AESTHETICS. Would the project:

a) Have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista?

Less Than Significant Impact. The Project proposes development of approximately 58
acres with single-family residential units. The Project site currently consists of bare soil,
agricultural trees (date palms), unimproved dirt roads, abandoned residential structures,
a maintenance garage, miscellaneous storage areas and shipping/receiving areas which
were utilized during past harvests. The General Plan does not identify any scenic vistas
within the Project vicinity. Therefore, impacts in this regard would be less than

significant.

b) Substantially damage scenic resources, including, but not limited to, trees, rock

outcroppings, and historic buildings within a state scenic highway?

Less Than Significant Impact. Refer to Response 4.1(a). In addition, no historical

buildings are known to occur within the Project site. Finally, the Coachella General Plan
does not identify any scenic highways within the Project area.

c) Substantially degrade the existing visual character or quality of the site and its

surroundings?

Less Than Significant Impact. The proposed Project would include development of
232 single-family residential units. Therefore, the proposed Project would result in the
alteration of the existing visual character of the Project site. However, the proposed
Project would be required to submit development plans for approval of the Planning
Commission, which would ensure a high quality design of development. In addition, the

proposed Project would be subject to architectural review pursuant to Section 080.10,
Architectural Review, and Section 070.07(D)(4), Landscaping, of the City's Zoning
Ordinance. Upon approval of the development plans and the inclusion of landscaping
plans and design guidelines, impacts in this regard would be less than significant.

d) Create a new source of substantial light or glare which would adversely affect day or

nighttime views in the area?

Less Than Significant Impact. Implementation of the proposed Project would create
the following new light sources: building exterior and interior lighting, security lighting,
signage and parking lot lighting.

The unwanted illumination on an adjacent property is defined as light spill. Perceived

glare is the unwanted and potentially objectionable result from looking directly into a light
source of a luminaire. The proposed Project would be required to comply with Section

070.03(K) of the City's Zoning Ordinance that requires, "parking areas such lighting
fixtures shall be located, with hoods provided and adjusted, so as to preclude the direct

JN 20-100472 27 April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 771

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

glare of the light from shining onto property or streets. Upon compliance with the City's

Zoning Ordinance in regards to light spill and glare, impacts as a result of Project

implementation would be less than significant.

4.2 AGRICULTURAL RESOURCES. In determining whether impacts to agricultural

resources are significant environmental effects, lead agencies may refer to the

California Agricultural Land Evaluation and Site Assessment Model ( 1997)

prepared by the California Department of Conservation as an optional model to

use in assessing impacts on agriculture and farmland. Would the project:

a) Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide Importance

Farmland), as shown on the maps prepared pursuant to the Farmland Mapping and

Monitoring Program of the California Resources Agency, to non-agricultural use?

Less than Significant Impact. As indicated in the City's General Plan, the City's

Planning Area includes 21,840-acres of agricultural land, 3,800-acres in the incorporated

area and 18,040-acres in the unincorporated area. The agricultural areas are primarily

located east and south of the existing urbanized area of the City. The agricultural areas

include date groves, citrus orchards, as well as grape, lettuce, corn and carrot

production. Figure 40, Environmental Conservation -Existing Setting, of the City's

General Plan currently identifies the Project site as Significant Agricultural Lands. The

City General Plan indicates the important role agriculture plays in the economic, social,

and physical fabric of the City and its need to retain and maintain the agricultural

element. The General Plan Land Use Policy Diagram indicates that the Project site is

designated as Low Density Residential (RL) having a density of 0 to 6 dwelling units per

acre, with a zoning designation of Agriculture-Transition (A-T). The City's Zoning

Ordinance describes the intent and purpose of the Agricultural Transition Zone

designation as, "permitting the continued agricultural use of those lands suited to

eventual development in other uses and zones, pending proper timing for the

economical provisions of utilities, major streets, and other facilities, so that compact,

orderly development will occur." Therefore, the proposed Project would be consistent

with the intent of the Agricultural Transition Zone by providing compact, orderly

development consistent with the surrounding uses. The Project site is not designated as

Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland or Farmland of Statewide Importance or as an

Agricultural Retention Area, within the City's General Plan. Therefore, impacts in this

regard would be less than significant.

b) Conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use, or a Williamson Act contract?

Less Than Significant Impact. As previously mentioned, agricultural uses are present

within the Project area. In addition, the Project site is zoned A-T and designated at RL in

the City's General Plan. However, as discussed above, the intent of the A-T designation

is to provide for the eventual development of the area as evidenced by the RL

designation. The Project site is not under a Williamson Act contract, therefore impacts in

this regard would be less than significant.

JN 20-100472 28 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 772

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

c) Involve other changes in the existing environment which, due to their location or nature,
could result in the conversion of Farmland, to non-agricultural use?

Less Than Significant Impact. As previously stated, the Project area is designated as

an agricultural area slated for future development, as is the surrounding vicinity. Refer
to Responses 4.3(a) and 4.3(b).

4.3 AIR QUALITY. Where available, the significance criteria established by the

applicable air quality management or air pollution control district may be relied

upon to make the following determinations. Would the project:

Information in this section is based on the Air Quality Technical Assessment -Kirkjan
Property, prepared by RBF Consulting (dated March 25, 2004). The Air Quality
Assessment is reproduced in its entirety as Appendix D.

The Project site is located within the City of Coachella, which is part of the Salton Sea
Air Basin ( Basin) and is under the jurisdiction of the South Coast Air Quality
Management District (SCAQMD). The SCAQMD's current guidelines and emission
thresholds established in the CEQA Air Quality Analysis Guidance Handbook, updated
October 2003, were adhered to in the assessment of air quality impacts for the proposed
Project. The City regularly relies on the SCAQMD standards as the standards for the

City.

The air quality assessment includes estimating emissions associated with short-term
construction and long-term operation of the proposed Project. The URBEMIS 2002
model was used to estimate Project-related mobile and stationary sources emissions in
this air quality assessment. A local Carbon Monoxide (CO) hot spot analysis was

conducted to assess the potential for a CO hotspot. The Caltrans CALINE 4 model was

utilized to assess local CO concentrations at intersections most affected by Project
traffic. Project-specific information was used in the modeling. Default values

representative of the proposed Project were used when Project-specific data were not
available.

Both the State of California and the Federal government have established health based
Ambient Air Quality Standards (AAQS) for six criteria air pollutants. These pollutants
include ozone (03), carbon monoxide (CO), nitrogen oxides (NOX), sulfur oxides (SOX),
PM,o, and lead (Pb). Currently, 03 and PM,o are designated by the California Air
Resources Board (GARB) as non-attainment for the Salton Sea Air Basin (refer to Table
1 in the Air Quality Impact Analysis). 03 (smog) is formed by a photochemical reaction
between NOX and reactive organic compounds (ROC). Thus, impacts from 03 are

assessed by evaluating impacts from NOX and ROC.

The net increase in pollutant emissions determines the significance and impact on

regional air quality as a result of the proposed Project. The results also allow the local
government to determine whether the proposed Project will deter the region from

achieving the goal of reducing pollutants in accordance with the AQMP in order to

comply with Federal and State Ambient Air Quality Standards (AAQS).

JN 20-100472 29 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 773

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Inifial Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negafive Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 04-04, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Construction Emission Thresholds

The following CEQA significance thresholds for construction emissions have been

established for the Basin:

75 pounds per day or 2.5 tons per quarter of (ROC) Reactive Organic

Compounds;
100 pounds per day or 2.5 tons per quarter of NOX (Nitrogen Oxide);

550 pounds per day or 24.75 tons per quarter of CO (Carbon Monoxide);

150 pounds per day or 6.75 tons per quarter of PM,o (Particulates); and

150 pounds per day or 6.75 tons per quarter of SOX (Sulfur Oxides).

Projects in the Basin with construction-related emissions that exceed any of the

emission thresholds are considered to be significant under the SCAQMD guidelines.

Operational Emission Thresholds

The daily operational emissions "significance" thresholds for the Basin are detailed

below.

Emission Thresholds for Pollutants with Regional Effecfs

Projects with operation-related emissions that exceed any of the emission thresholds

listed below are considered significant under the SCAQMD guidelines:

55 pounds per day of ROC;
55 pounds per day of NOX;
550 pounds per day of CO;

150 pounds per day of PM,o; and

150 pounds per day of SOX.

Local Microscale Concentration Standards

The significance of localized Project impacts under CEQA depends on whether ambient

CO levels in the vicinity of the Project are above or below State and Federal CO

standards. If ambient levels are below the standards, a project is considered to have a

significant impact if project emissions exceed of one or more of these standards. If

ambient levels already exceed a State or Federal standard, project emissions are

considered significant if they increase one-hour CO concentrations by 1.0 part per

million (ppm) or more or eight-hour CO concentrations by 0.45 ppm or more. The

following are applicable local emission concentration standards for CO:

California State one-hour CO standard of 20.0 ppm; and

California State eight-hour CO standard of 9.0 ppm.

a) Conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan?

Less Than Significant Impact. The SCAQMD has prepared multiple Air Quality

Management Plans (AQMPs). The most recent AQMP was updated in 2003. The

AQMP relies on a multi-level partnership of governmental agencies at the federal, state,

regional and local level. These agencies (Environmental Protection Agency, California

JN 20-100472 30 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 774

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 04-04, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Air Resources Board ( GARB), local governments, Coachella Valley Association of
Governments (CVAG) and the SCAQMD) are the cornerstones that implement the
AQMP programs.

CVAG is responsible under the Federal Clean Air Act (Federal CAA) for determining
conformity of projects, plans and programs with the SCAQMD AQMP. Although air

quality is a regional problem, SCAQMD's AQMP place a heavy reliance on local

implementation measures, such as land use decisions and local employment
transportation programs. The implementation process stresses the freedom of cities to
choose attainment measures that best suit local conditions.

As indicated in SCAQMD's CEQA Air Quality Handbook, there are two main indicators of

consistency:

Whether the project would not result in an increase in the frequency or severity of

existing air quality violations or cause or contribute to new violations, or delay
timely attainment of air quality standards or the interim emission reductions
specified in the AQMP; and

Whether the project would exceed the AQMP's assumptions for 2010 or

increments based on the year of project build-out and phase.

As indicated in Response 4.3(b) (refer to Table 1, Short-Term (Construction) Emissions
and Table 2, Long-Term (Operational) Emissions), the proposed Project would not
exceed SCAQMD thresholds for construction activities or long-term operations. In

addition, while the proposed Project would involve the transition of a vacant land with

development of residential uses, the General Plan designated the Project site as RL

Low Density Residential) with the anticipation that the Project site would be developed
with low-density residential uses. Therefore, the proposed Project was included in the
SCAG's RCPG and the growth assumptions included within, resulting in less than

significant impacts in this regard.

b) Violate any air quality standard or contribute substantially to an existing or projected air

quality violation?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigation Incorporated.

SHORT-TERM (CONSTRUCTION) EMISSIONS

Short-term impacts to air quality would occur as a result of construction activities
associated with development of the proposed Project. Additionally, construction
activities required to construct the proposed Project would include:

Exhaust emissions and potential odors from construction equipment used on the
construction site as well as the vehicles used to transport materials to and from
the site; and

Exhaust emissions from the motor vehicles of the construction crew.

JN 20-100472 31 April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 775

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Inifial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Project construction would result in temporary emissions CO, NOX ROC and PM,o.

Construction activities would result in criteria pollutant emissions from stationary and

mobile powered on-site equipment, from material delivery trucks, and from worker

vehicles to and from the Project site. Stationary or mobile powered on-site construction

equipment includes trucks, backhoes, pavers and other paving equipment. Construction

activities would require an estimated work force averaging 18 construction workers per

day for the duration of construction activities. This would result in an estimate of 72

construction worker inbound and outbound trips per day during the projected
construction period. Based on the considerably insignificant amount of daily work trips

required for Project construction, construction worker trips are not anticipated to

significantly contribute to or affect traffic flow on local roadways and are therefore not

considered significant.

Table 1, Short-Term ( Construction) Emissions, provides anticipated short-term

construction emissions estimates, which would result during the construction phase of

the proposed Project. Anticipated emissions were quantified utilizing emission factors

within the URBEMIS2002 computer model developed by the CARB (refer to Appendix A,

Air Quality Impact Analysis). It should be noted that emission estimates are based on

eight (8) hours of continual operation, which is considered aworst-case analysis of

actual equipment use on any given day. Thus, quantified estimated provided below

provides for a conservative emission estimates of criteria pollutants. Table 1 below

indicates that the total daily anticipated Project construction emissions would not exceed

SCAQMD construction thresholds for CO, ROC, and PM,o. However, implementation of

the proposed Project would approach the SCAQMD threshold for NOx emissions

associated with construction activities. Implementation of the recommended mitigation

measure to use aqueous diesel fuel for off-road construction equipment would ensure

that NOX emissions to below the SCAQMD threshold level. Additionally, particulate

emission control measures, while not required to reduce PM,o emissions to below the

applied threshold, are recommended.

Table 1

SHORT-TERM (CONSTRUCTION) EMISSIONS

Emission Source
Pollutant` (Ibslday)'

ROC NOx CO PM~o

Unmitigated Construction Emissions 16.44 99.10 103.94 116.02

Mitigated Construction Emissions 16.44 85.33 103.94 38.07

SCAQMD Threshold 75 100 550 150

Is Threshold Exceeded? No No No No

ROC =reactive organic compounds CO =Carbon Monoxide

NOX = Nitro en Oxides PM~o =fine articulate matter

Source: Emissions calculated usin the URBEMIS2002 Com uter Model as recommended b the SCAQMD.

Based upon the conclusions provided in Tablet, Project construction would not have the

potential to result in significant short-term air quality impacts. In order to minimize

construction-related emissions, all construction vehicles and construction equipment

would be required to be equipped with the state-mandated emission control devices

JN 20-100472 32 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 776

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Projecf Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

pursuant to state emission regulations and standard construction practices. Short-term
construction PM,o emissions would further be reduced with the implementation of

required dust suppression measures outlined within SCAQMD Rule 403. After
construction of the Project is complete, all construction-related impacts would cease,
thus resulting in a less than significant impact. Therefore, Project construction is not

anticipated to violate State or Federal air quality standards or contribute to existing air

quality violation in the air basin as only minor amounts of earth movement is proposed.

LONG-TERM (OPERATIONAL) EMISSIONS

Mobile Sources

Mobile source emissions are major contributors to air pollution within the City of
Coachella and the surrounding vicinity. As shown on Table 2, Long-Term (Operational)
Emissions, emissions from the proposed Project would not exceed SCAQMD thresholds
for ROC, NOX, CO and PM~o. Operational emissions are based on land use data
provided by the Applicant, the Project Traffic Study and assuming full occupancy by
2006.

Stationary Source Emissions

Stationary source emissions would be generated due to an increased demand for
natural resources consumption with the development of the proposed Project (referred to
below as "area source emissions"). The primary use of natural gas by the proposed land
uses would be for combustion to produce space heating, water heating and other
miscellaneous heating or air conditioning. It is important to note that, while construction-
related emissions occur predominantly in the immediate Project area, operational
emissions are dispersed throughout Southern California (due to Project traffic). As
shown on Table 2, emissions from the proposed Project would not exceed SCAQMD
thresholds for ROC, NOx, CO or PM,o.

Table 2

LONG-TERM (OPERATIONAL) EMISSIONS

Pollutant (Ibslday)~
Project

ROG NOx CO PM~o

Area Source Emissionsz 5.04 1.96 0.84 0.00
Vehicle Emissions 23.72 36.16 293.45 22.57

Total Unmitigated Emissions 28.76 38.12 294.28 22.57

SCAQMD Threshold 55 55 550 150

Is Threshold Exceeded? No No No No

ROG =Reactive Organic Gases NOx =Nitrogen Oxides
CO =Carbon Monoxide PM~o =Fine Particulate Matter

Notes:

1 - Based on URBEMIS2002 modeling results, worst-case seasonal emissions for area and mobile emissions, and trip rate data
provided in the Project Traffic Study.

2 -Area Source emissions excludes the use of fireplaces and wood burning stoves.

Source: Emissions calculated using the URBEMIS2002 Computer Model as recommended by the SCAQMD.

JN 20-100472 33 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 777

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 04-04, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Carbon Monoxide Hotspots

Local air quality is a major concern along roadways. Carbon monoxide is a primary

pollutant, and unlike ozone, is directly emitted from a variety of sources. For this reason,

CO concentrations are usually indicative of the local air quality generated by a roadway

network and are used as an indicator of its impacts upon the local air quality.

Comparisons of levels with State and Federal CO standards indicate the severity of the

existing concentrations for receptors in the Project area. The Federal and State

standards for CO are presented in Table 3, Federal and State Carbon Monoxide

Standards.

Table 3

FEDERAL AND STATE CARBON MONOXIDE STANDARDS

Jurisdiction Averaging Time CO Standard

1 Hour 35 ppm
Federal

8 Hour 9 ppm

1 Hour 20 ppm
State

8 Hour 9 ppm

Notes:

m = arts er million

Source: California Air Resources Board.

An impact is potentially significant if the project produces emissions levels that exceed

the State or Federal AAQS. Because CO is produced in greatest quantities from vehicle

combustion and does not readily disperse into the atmosphere, adherence to AAQS is

typically demonstrated through an analysis of localized CO concentrations. Areas of

vehicle congestion have the potential to create "pockets" of CO called "hot spots".

These pockets have the potential to exceed the State 1-hour standard of 20.0 ppm

and/or the 8-hour standard to 9.0 ppm. Note that federal levels are based on 1-and 8-

hour standards of 35.0 and 9.0 ppm respectively. To identify CO hotspots, the

SCAQMD criterion recommends performing a CO hotspot analysis when a project

increases the volume to capacity ratio (also called the intersection capacity utilization) by

0.02 (two percent) for any intersection with an existing level of service (LOS) D or worse.

However, since the existing intersections are not at an LOS D, Year 2005 was used to

be conservative. Because traffic congestion is highest at intersections where vehicles

queue and are subject to reduced speeds, these hot spots are typically produced at

intersection locations. Typically, the level of service (LOS) at an intersection producing a

hot spot is at D or worse during the peak hour. The intersections within the study area

that operate at an LOS of D or worse during Year 2005 have been analyzed for the

potential to create a CO hotspot (refer to Table 4, Projected CO Concentrations).

The analysis provides aworst-case scenario. Intersection turning movements are based

on data supplied by the Project Traffic Impact Analysis. Because the p.m. peak hour

results in higher intersection capacity utilization (ICU) (i.e., worse LOS) in all cases, the

p.m. peak hour was used in the modeling process. Year 2005 projections are modeled

using the existing lane configurations. The projected traffic volumes were then modeled

using the CALINE4 dispersion model. The resultant values were then added to an

ambient concentration. For the purposes of this analysis, the ambient concentrations

JN 20-100472 34 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 778

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Table 4

PROJECTED CO CONCENTRATIONS

1=HourCO (ppm) 8-Hour C0`(ppm)
Intersection

1-Hour Future + 8-Hour Future +
Standard Project Standard Project

Van Buren Street/Avenue 50 20 ppm 4.4 ppm 9 ppm 3.1 ppm

Frederick Street/Avenue 50 20 ppm 4.4 ppm 9 ppm 3.1 ppm
Notes:

1. As measured at a distance of 10 feet from the comer of the intersection predicting the highest value. Presented 1-hour CO
concentrations include a background concentration of 3,3 ppm. Eight-hour concentrations are based on a persistence of 0.7
of the 1-hour concentration.

2. The State 1-hour standard is 20 ppm. The Federal standard is 35 ppm. The most stringent standard is reflected in the Table.
3. The State 8-hour and Federal 8-hour standard is 9 m.

are taken as the highest one-hour concentration that was measured at the nearest

monitoring station. Future ambient concentrations would be far lower than present
levels based upon expected trends and advancing technologies.

The Van Buren Street/Avenue 50 and Frederick Street/Avenue 50 intersections operate
at an LOS D, and are projected to increase the delay time by more than two percent.
The maximum Year 2005 1-hour weekday CO concentration is 4.4 ppm for both
intersections. The CO levels are well below the State and Federal standards of 20 ppm
and 35 ppm respectively. The proposed Project would not result in adverse CO
emissions. Additionally, the measured concentrations are well below the State and
Federal standard of 9 ppm. Therefore, the proposed Project would not result in adverse
CO emissions and impacts in this regard would be less than significant.

Mitigation Measures:

AQ1 All off-road construction equipment shall use aqueous diesel fuel.

AQ2 During clearing, grading, earth moving, or excavation operations, excessive

fugitive dust emissions shall be controlled by regular watering or ofher dust

preventive measures using the following procedures, as specified in fhe
South Coast Air Quality Management Districts Rules and Regulations.

Comply with AQMD Rule 403, particularly to minimize fugitive dust and noise
to surrounding areas. SCAQMD Rule 403.1, as amended, should be adhered

to, ensuring the clean up of the construction-related dirt on approach routes
to the site, and the application of water and/or chemical dust retardants that

solidify loose soils, should be implemented for construction vehicle access,
as directed by the City Engineer. This should include covering, watering or

otherwise stabilizing all inactive soil piles ( left more than 10 days) and
inactive graded areas (left more than 10 days).

On-site vehicle speed will be limited to 15 miles per hour.

All material excavated or graded will be sufficiently watered to prevent
excessive amounts of dust. Watering will occur at least twice daily

JN 20-100472 35 April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 779

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

with complete coverage, preferable in the late morning and after work

is done for the day.

Unpaved haul roads shall be watered at least twice daily.

All material transported on-site or off-site will be either sufficiently

watered or securely covered to prevent excessive amounts of dust.

The area disturbed by clearing, grading, earth moving, or excavation

operations will be minimized so as to prevent excessive amounts of

dust.

These control techniques will be indicated in Project specifications.

Compliance with this measure will be subject to periodic site

inspections by the City.

AQ3 Project grading plans shall show the duration of construction. Ozone

precursor emissions from construction equipment vehicles shall be controlled

by maintaining equipment engines in good condition and in proper tune per

manufacturer's specifications, to the satisfaction of the City Engineer.

Compliance with this measure will be subject to periodic inspections of

construction equipment vehicles by the City.

AQ4 All trucks that are to haul excavated or graded material on-site shall comply

with State Vehicle Code Section 23114, with special attention to Sections

23114(b)(F), (e)(2) and (e)(4) as amended, regarding the prevention of such

material spilling onto public streets and roads.

c) Result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria pollutant for which the

project region is non-attainment under an applicable federal or state ambient air quality

standard (including releasing emissions which exceed quantitative thresholds for ozone

precursors) ?

Less Than Significant Impact Cumulative projects include local development as well

as general growth within the Project area. However, as with most development, the

greatest source of emissions is from mobile sources, which travel well out the local area.

Therefore, from an air quality standpoint, the cumulative analysis would extend beyond

any local projects and when wind patterns are considered, would cover an even larger

area. Accordingly, the cumulative analysis for a project's air quality analysis must be

regional by nature.

The Project area is in attainment for CO. Construction and operation of cumulative

projects will further degrade the local air quality, as well as the air quality of the SSAB.

Air quality will be temporarily degraded during construction activities that occur

separately or simultaneously. However, the greatest cumulative impact on the quality of

regional air will be the incremental addition of pollutants mainly from increased traffic

from residential, commercial and industrial development and the use of heavy equipment

and trucks associated with the construction of these projects.

With respect to emissions that may contribute to exceeding state and federal standards,

a CO hot spot screening analysis was performed for Year 2005 traffic. The results of

this analysis shows that continued background growth in the area would not violate

JN 20-100472 36 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 780

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

published air quality standards, and therefore do not present a significant cumulative

impact. In addition, due to the Project's relatively small scale, the contribution to the

cumulative air emissions is not "cumulatively considerable".

d) Expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations?

Less Than Significant Impact. Sensitive populations (i.e., children, senior citizens and

acutely or chronically ill people) are more susceptible to the effects of air pollution than

the general population. Land uses considered sensitive receptors typically include

residences, schools, playgrounds, child care centers, hospitals, convalescent homes

and retirement homes. The proposed Project would not expose sensitive receptors to

substantial pollutant concentrations, as construction and operational air emissions would

not exceed SCAQMD thresholds. In addition, long-term (mobile) emissions would not

exceed SCAQMD thresholds. Less than significant impacts would occur in this regard
with development of the proposed Project.

e) Create objectionable odors affecting a substantial number of people?

Less Than Significant Impact. Construction activities associated with the Project may

generate detectable odors typical of construction equipment exhaust. Odors associated

with diesel and gasoline fumes are transitory in nature and would not create

objectionable odors affecting a substantial number of people. The impacts of these

odors would be short-term, would cease upon Project completion, and are not

anticipated to be significant.

4.4 BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES. Would the project:

BonTerra Consulting conducted a search of available literature to identify special status

plants, wildlife, and habitats known to occur in the vicinity of the Project site (refer to

Appendix C, Biological Resources Assessment). The California Native Plant Society's
GNPs) Inventory of Rare and Endangered Vascular Plants of California (2003) and

compendia of special status species published by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service

USFWS) and California Department of Fish and Game (CDFG) were reviewed. In

addition, the CDFG's California Natural Diversity Database was reviewed (CDFG 2003).

A general biological survey was conducted on January 7, 2004 to describe the

vegetation and evaluate the potential of habitats on the Project site to support special
status plant and wildlife species. The timing of the survey was not conducive to

identifying certain special status annual plants that sprout briefly during the spring and

then die back; however, potential habitat to support these species could be identified.

The Project site was walked in parallel transects approximately 30 feet apart, covering
the entire Project site. All plant and wildlife species or signs of presence observed were

recorded in field notes. Plant species were identified in the field or collected for future

identification. Plants were identified using keys in Hickman (1993), Munz (1974), and
Abrams (1923, 1960). Taxonomy follows Hickman (1993) for scientific and common

names. Taxonomy and nomenclature for wildlife generally follows AOU (1998) for birds,
Collins and Taggart (2002) for amphibians and reptiles, and Kays and Wilson (2002) for
mammals. All wildlife species observed were recorded in field notes.

JN 20-100472 37 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 781

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

a) Have a substantial adverse effect, either directly or through habitat modifications, on any

species identified as a candidate, sensitive, or special status species in local or regional

plans, policies, or regulations, or by the California Department of Fish and Game

CDFG) or U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigation Incorporated.

Vegetation

Vegetation on the Project site consists of three types following the CDFG List of

California Terrestrial Natural Communities (2002). These vegetation types consist of

disturbed/ruderal, disturbed and developed areas.

Disturbed/ruderal areas on the Project site are characterized by the remnant east-west

trending agricultural crop rows with native and non-native weeds and shrubs. The

dominant plant in this vegetation type is saltbush (Atriplex sp.) with other species

occurring throughout including four-wing saltbush (Atriplex canescens), Bermuda grass

Cynodon dactylon), Jimson weed ( Datura wrightii), red-stemmed filaree (Erodium

cicutarium), sunflower (Helianthus annuus), cheese bush (Hymenoclea salsola), arrow

weed ( Pluchea sericea), Russian thistle (SaIsola tragus), bush seepweed ( Suaeda

moquini-) and salt cedar (Tamarisk sp.).

Disturbed areas on the Project site are characterized by substrate disturbed by grading

and/or disking prior to and during the survey. This portion of the Project site is currently

devoid of vegetation and consists of bare ground.

Developed areas on the Project site consist of paved areas and aman-made structure

including a small prefabricated warehouse (less than 5,000 square feet) and associated

parking lot. This portion of the Project site is currently devoid of vegetation.

Wildlife

Vegetation on the Project site provides potential habitat for several wildlife species.

Wildlife species found or expected to occur on the Project site include species

associated with agricultural operations and disturbed/ruderal vegetation in low desert

areas.

No common reptile species were observed on the Project site given the timing of the

survey during winter hibernation for species occurring in the region. Reptile species

potentially occurring on the Project site includes the desert iguana ( Dipsosaurus

dorsalis), side-blotched lizard ( Uta stansburiana), western whiptail ( Cnemidophorus

tigris), coachwhip (Masticophis flagellum), gopher snake (Pituophis melanoleucus) and

sidewinder (Crotalus cerastes).

No fish or amphibian species were observed during the survey and none would be

expected to occur on the Project site due to the lack of permanent water. Additionally,

no depressions or other sources of temporary water substantial enough to provide

amphibian breeding pools currently exist on the Project site.

Common bird species or evidence of their presence observed during the survey included

killdeer (Charadrius vociferous), mourning dove (Zenaida macroura), common ground-

dove ( Columbina passerina), rock pigeon ( Columba Livia), white-throated swift

JN 20-100472 38 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 782

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negative Declaration58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Aeronautes saxatalis), Say's phoebe ( Sayomis says), loggerhead shrike ( Laniusludovicianus), verdin ( Auriparus flaviceps), cactus wren ( Campy/lorhynchusbrunneicapillus), northern mockingbird ( Mimus polyg/ottos), yellow-rumped warblerDendroica coronata), California towhee ( Pipilo crissa/is), white-crowned sparrowZonotrichia leucophrys), great-tailed grackle (Quiscalus mexicanus), lesser goldfinchCarduelis psaltria), house finch (Carpodacus mexicanus) and house sparrow (Passerdomesticus). Other year-round resident desert species potentially occurring on theProject site include black phoebe (Sayornis nigricans), western meadowlark (Sturnel/aneglects) and Brewer's blackbird (Euphagus cyanocepha/us).

Raptor species or evidence of their presence observed during the survey includedAmerican kestrel (Falco sparverius) and burrowing owl (Athene cunicularia). The Projectsite may also provide potential foraging habitat for the turkey vulture (Cathartes aura),red-tailed hawk (Buteo jamaicensis) and prairie falcon (Falco mexicanus).
One mammal species, the desert cottontail (Sylvilagus auduboniv), was observed on theProject site. Other mammal species potentially occurring on the Project site includewestern harvest mouse ( Reithrodonfomys megalotis), deer mouse ( Peromyscusmanicu/atus), house mouse (Mus muscu/us) and Botta's pocket gopher (Thomomysbottae). Additionally, the coyote (Canis latrans) may incidentally occur on the Projectsite.

Several bat species may forage on the Project site including the Mexican free-tailed batTadarida brasiliensis), pallid bat (Antrozus pallidus), fringed myotis (Myotis thysanodes),California myotis (Myotis californicus), western small-footed myotis (Myotis ciliolabrum),western pipistrelle (Pipistrellus hesperus) and big brown bat (Eptesicus fuscus). No batswould be expected to roost on the Project site.

Special Status Biological Resources

BonTerra Consulting conducted a literature search to identify special status plants,wildlife, and habitats known to occur in the study area. For this Project, the study area isdefined as an approximately 250-square mile area as shown on the Indio, ThermalCanyon, Valerie, and Mecca USGS 7.5-minute California Quadrangle maps. Specialstatus biological resources include plant and wildlife species, and habitats that havebeen afforded special status and/or recognition by federal and/or state resourceagencies, as well as private conservation organizations. In general, the principal reasonan individual taxon (e.g., species, subspecies, or variety) is given such recognition is thedocumented or perceived decline or limitation of its population size, or geographic rangeand/or distribution resulting in most cases from habitat loss.

Special Status Plant Species

Of those plant species that occur in the region, 10 species are listed or proposed forlisting as Endangered or Threatened by the CDFG and/or the USFWS, or are CNPS List1 B or List 2 species. A brief description of the Threatened or Endangered speciespotentially occurring on the Project site is provided below. Additionally, the speciesidentified by the CNDDB and CNPS records searches for the study area along with theirlisting status and potential for occurrence are listed in Table 5, Special Status PlantSpecies Known to Occur in the Study Area. It should be noted that other species thatare considered rare or of limited distribution may occur in the Project region; however,

JN 20 100472
39

April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 783

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

none of these species are listed as Threatened or Endangered and substantial

populations would not be expected to occur on the Project site.

Table 5

SPECIAL STATUS PLANT SPECIES KNOWN TO OCCUR IN THE STUDY AREA

Status potentiaLFor Occurrence
Species CNPSFederailState

Abronia villosa var. aurita None 1B Low; marginally suitable habitat

cha arral sand-verbena

Astragalus lenfifinosus var. coachellae FE 1 g Low; marginally suitable habitat

Coachella Valle milk-vetch
Not expected to occur; outside known

Chamaesyce platysperma SOC 1 g
ran e; resumed extinct

flat-seeded spur a

Ditaxis clariana None 2 Moderate; suitable habitat present
landular ditaxis

Ditaxis serrata var. califomica None 3 Moderate; suitable habitat present
California ditaxis

Not expected to occur; lack of suitable

Gilia maculata None 16 habitat, well below known elevation

Little San Bernardino Mountains gilia ran e

Not expected to occur; lack of suitable

Mentzelia tridentata None 1B habitat, well below known elevation

creamy blazing star ran e

Nemacaulis denudata var. gracilis None 2 Moderate; suitable habitat present
slender woolt -heads

Not expected to occur; lack of suitable
Stemodia durantifolia None 2

habitat
ur le stemodia

Not expected to occur; lack of suitable
Xylorhiza cognata None 1 g

habitat
Mecca-aster

Federal Designations:
FE = Listed by the federal govemment as an Endangered species.
FT = Listed by the federal govemment as a Threatened species,
SOC = Species of Concern [as noted by CNDDB 2000A], former FC2 species.

State Designations:

SE = Listed as Endangered by the State of California.

ST = Listed as Threatened by the State of Califomia.

California Native Plant Society ICNPSI:

CNPS 1A = Plants presumed extinct in Califomia.

CNPS 1 B = Plants considered Rare, Threatened or Endangered in California and elsewhere.

CNPS 2 = Plants Rare, Threatened or Endangered in Califomia but more common elsewhere.

CNPS 3 = Plants about which we need more information - A review list.

CNPS 4 = Plants of limited distribution - A watch list.

The study area is defined as an approximately 250-square mile area as shown on the Indio, Thermal Canyon, Valerie and Mecca USGS

7.5-minute California Quadrangle maps.

Source: BonTerra Consulting, Biological Resources Assessment, August 2002.

JN 20-100472 40 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 784

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 04-04, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Coachella Vallev Milk-vetch (Astragalus lentiginosus var coache//ae)

The Coachella Valley milk-vetch is afederally-listed Endangered species. Coachella
Valley milk-vetch may flower as early as February or as late as May, depending on
rainfall and temperature. It is endemic to windblown sand in the Coachella Valley from
Cabazon to Indio, below approximately 1,200 ft above mean sea level (msl). It is also
reported on hillsides surrounding the dunelands. It is an annual or short-lived perennial
with a deep taproot that dies back to ground level in the summer. After flowering, the
leaves dry and fall. In some years this species may not come up at all. This species
has a low potential to occur on the Project site due to the presence of marginally suitable
habitat.

Special Status Wildlife Species

Of the wildlife species that occur in the region, 12 species are listed by the CNDDB as
Threatened and/or Endangered or considered species of concern by the USFINS and/or
CDFG have the potential to occur on the Project site. Brief descriptions of the
Threatened or Endangered species are listed below alphabetically according to their
scientific name. Additionally, the species identified by the CNDDB records search for
the study area along with their listing status and potential for occurrence are listed in
Table 6, Special Status Wildlife Species Known to Occur in the Study Area. It should be
noted that other species that are considered rare or of limited distribution may occur in
the Project region; however, none of these species are listed as Threatened or
Endangered and substantial populations would not be expected to occur on the Projectsite.

Fish

Desert Pupfish (Cyprinodon macularius)

The desert pupfish is a state- and federally-listed Endangered species. This speciesinhabits springs, marshes, lakes, and pools of creeks over mud or sand where it feeds.
on algae and can tolerate extreme environmental conditions, including temperatures upto 113 degrees Fahrenheit (45 degrees Celsius), salinities as high as 142 parts perthousand (ocean water is typically 33 parts per thousand), and oxygen concentrations aslow as 0.13 milligram per liter (the lowest known for any fish species restricted to gillbreathing). The desert pupfish is not expected to occur on the Project site due to lack of
standing water in the Project area.

Reptiles

Coachella Vallev Fringe-toed Lizard (Uma inornata)

The Coachella Valley fringe-toed lizard (CVFTL) is afederally-listed Threatened and
state-listed Endangered species restricted to sand dunes in the Coachella Valley and
requires habitat with fine, loose, windblown sand and widely spaced desert shrubs.

Suitable habitat can include loose sand dunes, sand hummocks and the edges ofwashes where sand has accumulated. Critical habitat was designated for the CVFTL atthe time of federal listing. The northern and western boundaries of designated criticalhabitat extend beyond the limits of the CVFTL's distribution to include the sand source,

Div N-"IW4/L 41 April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 785

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Sfudy No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 04-04, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Table 6

SPECIAL STATUS WILDLIFE SPECIES KNOWN TO OCCUR IN THE STUDY AREA'

Status
P t ti l f OSpecies

federal State.
ccurrenceo en a or

invertebrates

Macrobaetes valgum
Coachella iantsavd-treader cricket

SOC None None; lack of suitable habitat

Oliaroes Clara SOC None None; lack of suitable habitat
cheeseweed owlfl

Stenopelmatus cahuilaensis

Coachella Valle Jerusalem cricket
SOC None None; lack of suitable habitat

Fish

Cyprinodon macularius

desert u fish
FE SE None; lack of suitable habitat

Reptiles
Phrynosoma mcallii

flat-tailed homed lizard
FT SSC/P None; lack of suitable habitat

Uma inomata

Coachella Valle frin a-toed lizard
FT SE None; lack of suitable habitat

Birds

Falco mexicanus None SSC High for foraging; no potential for nesting
rairie falcon

Lanius ludovicianus SOC SSC Observed; suitable nesting habitat present
to erhead shrike

Speotyfo cunicularia SOC SSC Observed; suitable habitat present
burrowin owl

Toxostoma lecontei SOC None Low for foraging; None for nesting
LeConte's thrasher

Mammals

Ovis canadensis nelsoni DPS

Peninsular bi horn shee
FT SE

None; lack of suitable habitat and distance

ftom known o ulations

Spermophilus ten;ticaudus chlorus

Coachella Valle round-tailed round squirrel
C SSC Low; marginally suitable habitat present

LEGEND

Federal (USFWS) State (CDFG)
FE Endangered E Endangered
FT Threatened T Threatened

PE Proposed Endangered PE Proposed Endangered
PT Proposed Threatened PT Proposed Threatened

C Candidate Species SSC Species of Special Concern

SOC Species of Concernz FP Fully Protected

P Protected

The study area is defined as an approximately 250-square mile area as shown on the Indio, Thermal Canyon, Valerie and Mecca USGS 7.5-minute

California Quadrangle maps.
s This desi nation, althou h not an active term, has been reinstated for informational ur oses onl .

Source: BonTerra Consultin , Biolo ical Resources Assessment, Au ust 2002.

JN 20-100472 42 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 786

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

which is essential for maintaining down-wind blow sand deposits. The Project site islocated outside the designated critical habitat boundaries.

Mammals

Peninsular Bighorn Sheep (Ovis candensis nelson)

The peninsular bighorn sheep is a federally-listed Endangered and state-listedThreatened/Fully Protected species. This species is considered a Distinct PopulationSegment (DPS) of the Nelson's bighorn sheep more common in the mountain ranges ofcentral and southern Nevada, northwestern Arizona and eastern Idaho. The peninsularpopulation segment occurs on the steep slopes, canyons, and washes of the SanJacinto and Santa Rosa mountains generally below 4,600 ft above msl. Steep (50 toover 70 percent slopes) and rough (i.e., with many small-scale changes in slope) terrainis utilized extensively for escape cover, but flat areas such as bajadas or alluvial fans atthe base of mountains are often used for foraging.

A total of approximately 844,897 acres in Riverside, San Diego and Imperial counties,California, were designated Critical Habitat for the Peninsular bighorn sheep by theUSFWS on February 1, 2001. Designated Critical Habitat encompasses the San JacintoMountains and adjacent lowlands approximately five miles to the west of the Project site.This species is not expected to occur on the Project site due to the lack of suitablehabitat and distance from suitable habitat and known populations.

Summary

Special Status Plants

Five special status plant species have potential to occur on the Project site, includingone federally-listed Endangered species. Therefore, spring botanical surreys for thesespecies should be conducted during their appropriate survey "window" to determine theirpresence or absence on the Project site. If a substantial population of one of thesespecies were found on the Project site, impacts on the population would requiremitigation. If construction of the proposed Project is expected to commence prior to thesurvey window for the special status plant species, the proposed Project would have toaddress these species as potentially present and make a finding of potentially significantbased on habitat suitability alone. This would require the development andimplementation of mitigation measures prior to construction.

Special Status Wildlife

One special status wildlife species, the burrowing owl, was observed on the Project site.Additionally, the Palm Springs round-tailed ground squirrel has potential to occur on theProject site.

Ra tors

Raptors, including the American kestrel and burrowing owl, were observed on theProject site during the survey. Burrowing owl burrows are protected under Fish andGame Code Section 3503.5, which prohibits "take, possession, or destruction of anybirds in the orders Falconiformes or Strigiformes (birds-of-prey) or take, possession, or

JN 20-100472
43

April 27, 2004, 2004Page 787

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

destruction of the nest or eggs of any such bird". In order to avoid impacts to an

occupied burrowing. owl burrow, focused surveys should be conducted prior to

commencement of clearing or grading operations on the Project site. American kestrels

are not expected to breed on the Project site. In order to avoid impacts to an occupied
burrowing owl burrows, focused surveys should be conducted prior to commencement of

clearing or grading operations on the Project site. Additionally, if clearing or grading

operations are planned during the breeding season for any of these species, a breeding

raptor survey should be conducted prior to any clearing or grading activities.

Coachella Valley Round-tailed Ground Squirrel

The Coachella Valley round-tailed ground squirrel is a federal Candidate for listing as

Threatened or Endangered and, as such, is not protected by the federal or state ESAs.

However, if a population of this species is known to occur on a site, impacts to the

species may be considered significant depending on the size of the population detected.

Therefore, if a population were found within the Project area, mitigation would be

required in consultation with the CDFG. Mitigation generally consists of purchase of

known occupied habitat for preservation.

Mitigation Measures:

8101 Spring botanical surveys shall be conducted during Spring 2004 assuming

appropriate weather conditions occur (i. e., appropriate rainfall) to determine if

special status plant species are present or absent. If no special status plant

species are identified within the study area, no further mitigation shall be

required. If a sizeable population of special status plant species is located

within the study area, mitigation shall be developed through either a

conservation easement or mitigation plan. The mitigation plan shall include

the following requirements:

Apre-construction survey conducted during the peak flowering period
for each respective special status plant potentially occurring on the

Project site shall be conducted by the Project biologist the spring prior
to grading.

If a large population of special status plants (as determined. by
USFWS staff) is found during these surveys, the limits of each

impacted location shall be clearly delineated with lath and brightly
colored flagging.

The locations of special status plants shall be monitored every two

weeks by the Project biologist to determine when the seeds are ready
for collection. A qualified seed collector shall collect all of the seeds

from the plants to be impacted when the seeds are ripe. The seeds

shall be cleaned and stored by a qualified nursery or institution with

appropriate storage facilities.

Following the seed collection, the top 12 inches of topsoil from special
status plant populations shall be scraped, stockpiled and used in the

selected mitigation location agreed upon by the City and the Project
biologist.

JN 20-100472 44 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 788

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405/Mitigated Negative Declaration58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

The mitigation plan shall include detailed descriptions of maintenance
appropriate for the Project site, monitoring requirements and annual
reports requirements and shall have the full authority to suspend anyoperation on the Project site which is, in the qualified biologist'sopinion, not consistent with the mitigation plan.

The performance criteria developed in the mitigation plan shall include
requirements for a minimum of 60 percent germination of the numberof plants impacted. The performance criteria shall a/so include
percent cover, density and seed production requirements. Thesecriteria shall be developed by the Project biologist following habitat
analysis of an existing habitat. This information sha// be recorded bya qualified biologist.

If the germination goal of 60 percent is not achieved following the first
season, remediation measures shall be implemented and additional
seeding may be necessary. Remedial measures would include at aminimum: soils testing, control of invasive species, soil amendmentsand physical disturbance (to provide scarification of the seed) of the
planted areas by raking or similar actions. Additional mitigationmeasures maybe suggested as determined necessary by the Projectbiologist.

Potential seed sources from additional donor sites shall also beidentified in case it becomes necessary to collect additional seed for
use on the Project site following performance of remedial measures.

8102 In order to avoid impacts to an occupied burrowing owl burrow, focused
surveys sha// be conducted prior to commencement of clearing or gradingoperations on the Project site. Additionally, if clearing or grading operationsare planned during the breeding season for any of these species, a breedingraptor survey shall be conducted prior to any clearing or grading activities.

Surveys for burrowing owl shall be conducted according to a protocolprepared by the Burrowing Owl Consortium of the Santa Cruz Predatory BirdResearch Group. Surveys shall be conducted by walking through suitablehabitat over the entire Project site and in areas within approximately 500 feetof the Project impact zone. Any active burrows found during survey effortsshall be mapped on the construction plans. If no active burrowing owlburrows are found, no further mitigation is required. Results of the surveysshall be provided to the CDFG.

B1O3 if burrowing owl nest sites are found, the following restrictions on constructionare required between March 1 and August 31 (or until nests are no longeractive as determined by a qualified biologist):

Clearing limits shall be established with a minimum of 250 feet, or asotherwise determined by a qualified biologist, in any direction from
any occupied burrow exhibiting nesting activity; and

JN 20 100472 45
April 27, 2004, 2004Page 789

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 04-04, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Access and surveying shall not be allowed within 100 feet of any

burrow exhibiting nesting activity. Any encroachment into the

250/100-foot buffer area around the known nest is allowed only if it is

determined by a qualified biologist that the proposed activity shall not

disturb the nest occupants.

If construction occurs outside of the breeding season, exclusion of burrowing
owls from their burrow is a practice generally accepted by the CDFG.

Exclusion of burrowing owls involves placement of one-way doors at the

opening of known occupied burrows to allow egress from and preventing
ingress to the burrow. In this manner the burrowing owl is forced to look for

another suitable roosting location. One-way doors should be left in place for

48 hours to ensure owls have left the burrow before excavation. Whenever

possible, burrows shall be excavated using hand tools and refilled to prevent

reoccupation. Sections of flexible plastic pipe or burlap bags shall be

inserted into the tunnels during excavation to maintain an escape route for

any animals inside the burrow.

B1O4 Surveys for the Coachella Valley round-tailed ground squirrel shall be

conducted according to guidelines provided by the USFWS and consist of the

following:

A minimum of three surveys conducted between May 1 and July 31;

Each survey must be conducted from one hour after sunrise to four

hours after sunrise;

Temperatures in the shade must range from 80 degrees to 91.4

degrees Fahrenheit (27 degrees to 33 degrees Centigrade);

Wind speeds must be low; and

100 percent of the study area must be covered, using walking
transects spaced approximately 32 feet (10 meters) apart.

b) Have a substantial adverse effect on any riparian habitat or other sensitive natural

community identified in local or regional plans, policies, regulations or by the California

Department of Fish and Game (CDFG) or U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service?

No Impact. The proposed Project would not result in impacts to riparian habitat or other

sensitive natural community. The proposed Project would modify any natural drainage
would be required to obtain a 1600 Streambed Alteration agreement from the California

Department of Fish and Game (CDFG). Therefore, there would be no impacts in this

regard.

JN 20-100472 46 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 790

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negative Declaration58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 04-04, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

c) Have a substantially adverse impact on federally protected wetlands as defined bySection 404 of the Clean Water Act (including, but not limited to, marsh, vernal pool,coastal, etc.) through direct removal, filling, hydrological interruption, or other means?

No Impact. The proposed Project would not result in any adverse effects on federallyprotected wetlands as defined by Section 404 of the Clean Water Act (CWA).' Refer to
response 4.4(b).

d) Intertere substantially with the movement of any native resident or migratory fish orwildlife species or with established native resident or migratory wildlife corridors, orimpede the use of native wildlife nursery sites?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigation Incorporated. Refer to Response4.4(a).

e) Conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources, such astree preservation policy or ordinance?

Less Than Significant Impact. The City General Plan policies encourage preservationof the habitat areas of rare, threatened and endangered wildlife and plant resourceswithin open space areas. Future development proposals will be required to demonstrate
compliance with General Plan policies. Therefore, less than significant impacts would
occur in this regard.

t7 Conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural CommunityConservation Plan, or other approved local, regional or state habitat conservation plan?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigation Incorporated. The Coachella ValleyAssociation of Governments (CVAG) is currently preparing a Multiple Species HabitatConservation Plan (MSHCP) and Natural Community Conservation Plan (NCCP) for theCoachella Valley region. The MSHCP and NCCP will create large interconnected
preserves for special status species and their habitats while streamlining the regulatoryprocess outside of the reserve areas. This will be accomplished by providing a means tostandardize mitigation/compensation measures for species covered by the plan and
satisfy applicable provisions of federal and state ESAs, the California EnvironmentalQuality Act (CEQA), and National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA). Measures will mostlikely take the form of payment of fees as a standard condition of approval for
development within the fee area. A draft plan is expected to be circulated for publicreview after April 2004.

Mitigation Measure:

8105 Adequate fees shall be paid according to the adopted MSHCP and NCCPshall it become adopted prior to Project development.

BonTerra Consulting, Biological Resources Assessment, August 2004.

JN 20 1 00472 47
April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 791

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

4.5 CULTURAL RESOURCES. Would the project:

Archaeological Resource Management Corporation ( ARMC) conducted a Phase I

archaeological assessment for the 58-acre parcel ( refer to Appendix E, Cultural

Resources Assessment). The purpose of the assessment was to identify any

archaeological sites or isolates (prehistoric or historic) within or adjacent to the Project

site that might be impacted by the proposed development. Due to the limited nature of

the Project, no formal research design was developed. In general the assessment was

carried out to identify significant cultural resources that might be impacted by the

proposed development.

Field Methods

The field crew walked 5-10 meter, zig-zag transects east to west and the reverse across

the Project site. The surveyors scanned the exposed soil for evidence of prehistoric

activities, items such as grinding equipment (manos, metates, mortars, and pestles),

hunting equipment (arrowpoints or dart points; shaft or arrow straightener), storage or

cooking items (ceramic vessels), and features, such as hearths. They also sought
evidence of historic period artifacts, such as metals, kitchen items ( glassware,

dinnerware, cutlery) and consumer items (bottles, tins).

Database Search

The results of the records and literature search at the Eastern Information Center (EIC),

University of California, Riverside, were that the property had not been previously

surveyed for archaeological resources within the past five years and that no

archaeological sites or isolates had been recorded within or adjacent to the Project site.

The 1941 15' USGS topographic map (Coachella) revealed a structure that appeared to

fall within the site boundaries. That structure was no longer present on the 1956 USGS

topographic map (7.5' Indio Quadrangle). The results of the field survey were that the

foundations for an agricultural complex (Primary Number 33-13197) were located and

recorded on the property. See Appendix E for the site survey record.

a) Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource as

defined in CEQA Guidelines §15064.5?

Less Than Significant Impact Wifh Mitigation Incorporated.

The field crew observed that the Project site was completely disturbed by agriculture and

related activities. Three quarters (northwest, southwest, southeast) of the Project site

consisted of a plowed field. The field contained scattered dried plants allowing

approximately 60 to 65 percent ground visibility. No evidence of prehistoric or historic

resources was observed on the Project site.

Several dirt roads traversed the east and east-central parts of the Project site. In the

northeast quarter of the Project site, an abandoned earthen reservoir, large recent

dump, and a row of introduced ornamental trees surrounded two poured concrete

foundations. These foundations appeared to have been part of temporary storage or

processing buildings associated with the agricultural field and the reservoir. There was

no evidence of a substantial structure at the site of the foundations; only one hole,

JN 20-100472 48 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 792

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

evidence of a bolt attachment, was found on the concrete slabs. Refer Appendix E forthe site survey record for this small agricultural complex (Primary Number 33-13197).
In the extreme northeastern portion of the parcel, between the foundations, the reservoir,and Avenue 50, decomposing sod remnants were found, providing evidence that thisportion of the Project site was devoted to sod farming. The dump, reservoir, sod patchand foundations area of the Project site permitted an estimated 20 to 30 percent groundvisibility. These data are presented in the Site Survey Record (refer to Appendix E).
Prehistoric Resources

The records search through the EIC did not disclose any recorded prehistoric sites orisolates within or adjacent to the Project site. The field survey also did not record anyprehistoric resources.

Historic Resources

The records search through the EIC revealed that a structure appeared to fall within theparcel boundaries by 1941, but it was no longer present by the 1956 topographic maprevision date. No historic sites or isolates had been recorded previously within oradjacent to the parcel. The field survey revealed the foundations of a small agriculturalcomplex, recorded as Primary Number 33-13197, within the Project boundaries.

The results were that an agricultural complex (Primary Number 33-13197) was found tobe present within the Project boundaries. It is not, however, considered to be asignificant archaeological resource, that is, it would not qualify for the California Registerof Historic Resources (CRHR). Due to the presence of the historic archaeological site,the limited ground visibility, and the potential for encountering unknown and potentiallysignificant archaeological resources, monitoring during grading is recommended. If inthe course of grading archaeological resources are encountered, a qualifiedarchaeologist should review the finds, assess their significance, develop and carry out aprogram of mitigation, where appropriate. Therefore, implementation of therecommended mitigation measure would reduce impacts to historical resources to a lessthan significant level.

Mitigation Measures:

CUL 1 Prior to construction, the applicant shall hire a certified archaeologist toobserve grading/ major trenching activities and salvage and cataloguearchaeological resources as necessary. The archaeologist shall establish, incooperation with the City, procedures for temporarily halting or redirectingwork to permit sampling, identification and evaluation of the artifacts, asappropriate. if the archaeological resources are found to be significant, thearchaeologist shall determine appropriate actions, in consultation with theCity, for exploration and/or salvage.

b) Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of an archaeological resourcepursuant to CEQA Guidelines §15064.5?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigation Incorporated. Results of the EICsearch indicated that an agricultural complex (Primary Number 33-13197) was present

JN 20-100472
49

April 27, 2004, 2004Page 793

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Inifia! Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

within the Project site boundaries. It is not, however, considered to be a significant
archaeological resource, since it would not qualify for the California Register of Historic

Resources (CRHR). Due to the presence of the historic archaeological site, the limited

ground visibility, and the potential for encountering unknown and potentially significant
archaeological resources, monitoring during grading is recommended. If in the course of

grading archaeological resources are encountered, a qualified archaeologist should

review the finds, assess their significance, develop and carry out a program of

mitigation, where appropriate.

Mitigation Measures: Refer to Mitigation Measure CUL1.

c) Directly or indirectly destroy a unique paleontological resource or site or unique geologic
feature?

No Impact. Results from the Cultural Resources Assessment indicated that no

paleontological resources were identified through either the records search or the field

survey. In addition, the Project site is well removed from designated Geologic Resource

Areas, as indicated in the City General Plan Conservation Element. Therefore, there

would be no impacts in this regard.

d) Disturb any human remains, including those interred outside of formal cemeteries?

No Impact. There are no known formal or informal grave sites within the proposed
Project area. Therefore, there would be no impacts in this regard.

4.6 GEOLOGY AND SOILS. Would the project:

a) Expose people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of

loss, injury, or death involving:

1) Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as delineated on the most recent Alquist-Priolo
Earthquake Fault Zoning Map issued by the State Geologist for the area or based on

other substantial evidence of a known fault? Refer to Division of Mines and Geology
Special Publication 42.

Less Than Significant Impact The Project site is located within the seismically active

southern California region. Active faults are faults that are considered likely to undergo
renewed movement within a period of concern to humans. These include faults that are

currently slipping, those that display earthquake activity, and those that have historical

surface rupture. The California Geological Survey (previously known as the California

Division of Mines and Geology) defines active faults as those which have had surface

displacement within Holocene time (about the last 11,000 years). Such displacement
can be recognized by the existence of sharp cliffs in young alluvium, unweathered

terraces, and offset modern stream courses. Potentially active faults are those believed

to have generated earthquakes during the Quaternary period, but prior to Holocene time.

The seismic activity in the central portion of the Coachella Valley and the Coachella

Valley segment of the San Andreas fault have been relatively low, compared to other

parts of southern California. Several Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zones which are

defined as active and potentially active faults either transect or are in close proximity to

JN 20-100472 50 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 794

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

the Project area. Active faults are defined by the California Department of Mines andGeology (CDMG) as those areas with evidence of ground rupture within 10,000 year oldor less sediments. Active faults within the area include the San Andreas, SkeletonCanyon and Coachella Fan Fault zones. Potentially active faults that transect theProject area include the southeasterly fault segments or extensions of the Coachella fanfault zone and the northwesterly extensions of the Skeleton Canyon fault zones. Theabove fault zone extensions are considered segments of the San Andreas Fault zoneand are not presently zoned for the Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone or RiversideCounty Fault Zone studies. Therefore, impacts in this regard would be less thansignificant

2. Strong seismic ground shaking?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigation Incorporated. As previously stated theProject site is located within the seismically active region of southern California, whichcould result in groundshaking. Southern Califomia is likely to experience, on average,an earthquake of Magnitude 7.0, and ten (10) earthquakes of Magnitude 6.0 over aperiod of 10 years.

There are no faults, active or inactive, that run through the Project site. In addition, theProject site is not located within an Alquist-Priolo Special Study Zones area. However,there are several active and potentially active fault zones, near the Project site that couldresult in groundshaking. These fault zones include Wildomar Fault and Murrieta CreekFault Zone. Improvements and developments would be required to conform to allapplicable City Ordinances, as well as adherence to standard engineering practices anddesign criteria. Therefore, mitigation measures are recommended to ensure thatimpacts from groundshaking would be reduced to a less than significant level.

Mitigation Measures:

GEO9 All structures shat/ be designed as confirmed during the building design planchecking, to withstand anticipated groundshaking caused by futureearthquakes within an acceptable level of risk (i. e., high risk zone), as
designated by the City's latest adopted edition of the Uniform Building Code.

3. Seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction?

Less Than Significanf Impact With Mitigation Incorporafed. Liquefaction is the lossof strength of cohesionless soils when the pore water pressure in the soil becomes equalto the confining pressure. Liquefaction generally occurs as a "quicksand" type of groundfailure caused by strong groundshaking. The primary factors influencing liquefactionpotential include groundwater, soil type, relative density of the sandy soils, confiningpressure and the intensity and duration of groundshaking. A majority of the City'sPlanning Area has a high generalized liquefaction potential, including the Project site,due to the presence of alluvial sediment and shallow or semi-perched groundwater towithin 50 feet of the ground surface. The potential effects of seismic settlement mayneed to be mitigated. Mitigation measures typically include ground improvementtechniques to reduce the potential for liquefaction or utilizing "deep" foundation systemsfor the proposed structures. Such methods may consist of compaction grouting;

JN 20-100472
51

April 27, 2004, 2004Page 795

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

overexcavation of near surface soils and the placement of a gravel blanket wrapped in

geofabric beneath the structure(s); "rammed aggregate piers" which feature successive

layers of densely compacted aggregate; and/or a deep foundation system such as

driven piles. Specific recommendations and details to reduce the potential for surface

manifestation of liquefaction should be provided in supplemental reports as the Project

progresses and additional data is obtained and analyzed. Implementation of the

recommended mitigation measures would reduce impacts regarding liquefaction and

settlement to a less than significant level.

Mitigation Measures:

GEO2 Prior to the issuance of a grading permit, a site specific geologic and soils

report shall be prepared by a registered geologist or soils engineer and

submitted to the City Building and Safety Division for approval. The report
shall specify design parameters necessary to remediate any soil and geologic
hazards.

GEO3 All grading, landform modifications and construction shall be in conformance

with state-of--the-practice design and construction parameters. Typical
standard minimum guidelines regarding regulations to control excavations,

grading, earthwork construction, including fills and embankments and

provisions for approval ofplans and inspection of grading construction are set

from the latest version of the Uniform Building Code. Compliance with these

standards shall be evident on grading and structural plans. This measure

shall be monitored by the City Building and Safety Division through periodic
site inspections.

GEO4 Type 5 cement shall be used for all foundations and slabs on grade.

4. Landslides?

Less Than Significant Impact. Landslides are mass movements of the ground that

include rock falls, relatively shallow slumping and sliding of soil, and deeper rotational or

transitional movement of soil or rock. The proposed Project site is not identified on

Figure 52, Environmental Hazards Policy Diagram, of the City's General Plan, as an

area susceptible to landslides. Therefore, impacts in this regard would be less than

significant.

b) Result in substantial soil erosion or the loss of topsoil?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigafion Incorporated. According to the Soil

Survey of Riverside County, California, Coachella Valley Area by the United States

Department of Agriculture Soil Conservation Service, the Project site is situated on the

Gilman-Coachella-Indio association. This association is nearly level to rolling, somewhat

excessively drained to moderately well drained fine sands, fine sandy loams, silt loams,

loamy fine sands and very fine sandy loams on alluvial fans. Two soil series are present
on the Project site and are briefly described below.

Gilman fine sandy loam generally occurs on alluvial fans and flood plains of the

Coachella Valley. Depth to the high water table is 40 to 60 inches. Runoff is slow and

JN 20-100472 52 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 796

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

the erosion hazard is slight. The soil is moderately alkaline. The hazard of soil blowingis moderate. Available water capacity is 9.5 to 10.5 inches. This soils is used for truck
crops, citrus, cotton, alfalfa hay and dates.

Gilman silt loam is a nearly level soils that has a silt loam surtace layer and is
moderately alkaline. Runoff is very slow on this moderately permeable soil. The erosionhazard is slight. Available water capacity is 9.5 to 10.5 inches. The depth to the watertable is 40 to 60 inches. The soil is used for dates, cotton, alfalfa hay and recreation.
Site preparation would include site grading of the entire Project site. Development on-site would be subject to City codes and requirements for erosion control, grading, andsoil remediation as recommended in Mitigation Measures GE05 and GE06 andMitigation Measure AQ2, which would reduce impacts to a less than significant level.

Mitigation Measures:

GE05 Precise grading plans shall include an Erosion, Siltation and Dust ControlPlan to be approved by the City Building Division. The Plan's provisions mayinclude sedimentation basins, sand bagging, soil compaction, revegetation,temporary irrigation, scheduling and time limits on grading activities, and
construction equipment restrictions on-site. This plan shall also demonstrate
compliance with South Coast Air Quality Management District Rule 403,which regulates fugitive dust control.

GE06 As soon as possible following the completion of grading activities, exposedsoils shall be seeded or vegetated seed mix and/or native vegetation to
ensure soil stabilization.

c) Be located on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable, or would become unstable as aresult of the project, and potentially result in on- or off-site landslide, lateral spreading,subsidence, liquefaction or collapse?

Less Than Significant Impact Wifh Mitigation Incorporated. As identified on Figure52 of the City's General Plan, the only geologic hazards associated with the proposedProject site is the potential for liquefaction to occur. As indicated above, mitigationmeasures would reduce the impacts from liquefaction to a less than significant level.Therefore, impacts in this regard would be less than significant.

Mitigation Measures: Refer to Mitigation Measures GE02 through GE04.

d) Be located on expansive soil, as defined in Table 18-1-B of the Uniform Building Code1997), creating substantial risks to life or property?

Less Than Significant /mpact. As mentioned previously, dominant soil association inthe Project area is the Gilman-Coachella-Indio soil association. Characteristics of theGilman fine sandy loam association are well drained soils with slow runoff and slighterosion hazard. These soils are generally non-expansive and therefore, impacts in thisregard would be less than significant.

JN 20 100472 53
April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 797

Item 36.



City of Coachella ~ Environmental Initial Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 04-04, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

e) Have soils incapable of adequately supporting the use of septic tanks or alternative

waste water disposal system where sewers are not available for the disposal of waste

water?

Less Than Significant Impact. Implementation of the proposed Project does not have

the capacity to affect existing and/or proposed septic tanks or alternate wastewater

disposal systems. Therefore, impacts in this regard would be less than significant.

4.7 HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS. Would the project:

A Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) was prepared by RBF Consulting,

dated February 6, 2004 (refer to Appendix A. Phase I Environmental Site Assessment).

The purpose of conducting the ESA is to satisfy one of the requirements to qualify for the

Innocent Landowner Defense to CERCLA (Superfund Law) liability, by providing an

appropriate inquiry into the previous uses of the Project site in order to identify

Recognized Environmental Conditions (RECs). As defined in American Society for

Testing and Materials (ASTM) Standard Practice E 1527-00, a REC is "the presence or

likely presence of any hazardous substances or petroleum products on a property under

conditions that indicate an existing release, a past release, or a material threat of a

release of any hazardous substances or petroleum products into structures on the

property or into the ground, groundwater, or surface water of the property." The term

includes hazardous substances or petroleum products even under conditions in

compliance with laws. The term is not intended to include "de minimis" conditions that

generally do not present a material risk of harm to public health or the environment and

that generally would not be the subject of an enforcement action if brought to the

attention of appropriate governmental agencies. Conditions determined to be "de

minimis" are not RECs.

a) Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through the routine

transport, use, or disposal of hazardous materials?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigation Incorporated. The Project proposes

development of residential uses on the Project site. Hazardous materials are not

typically associated with this type of land use. Minor cleaning products along with the

occasional use of pesticides and herbicides for landscape maintenance of the Project
site are the extent of materials used and applicable here. Implementation of the

recommended mitigation measure would ensure all impacts regarding hazardous

materials would be reduced to a less than significant level.

Mitigation Measure:

HAZ1 Any hazardous waste that is generated on-site shall be transported to an

appropriate disposal facility by a licensed hauler in accordance with the

appropriate State and Federal laws.

JN 20-100472 54 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 798

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environments/Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 04-04, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

b) Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through reasonab/yforeseeable upset and accident conditions involving the release of hazardous materialsinto the environment?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mifigafion Incorporated. A summary of results ofthe Phase I ESA is as follows (refer to Appendix A for a complete discussion of theinvestigation and conclusions).

Site Inspection

Evidence of recognized environmental conditions within the boundary of the Project sitewas observed during the January 5, 2004 site inspection, which consisted of thefollowing:

Miscellaneous debris (i.e., hoses, pipeline, tires, wood, vegetation) was noted
throughout various portions of the Project site, primarily along the boundariesthat adjoin existing dirt roadways. Within the northeastern portion of the Projectsite, one 55-gallon drum, debris and piles of concrete blocks were present. RBFcould not visually inspect the ground surface in areas where debris was present,especially large inaccessible debris piles.

Miscellaneous agricultural equipment (e.g., an old truck, shipping boxes, tools)was noted to the south of the on-site structure. The abandoned farm equipmentappeared to be in poor condition; RBF could not visually inspect the groundsurface that underlies the on-site equipment and materials.

The maintenance yard appeared to contain miscellaneous debris, tractors, andradiators. However, access to the maintenance yard and associated structurewas unavailable at the time of the Assessment.

Surficial staining of the ground surface (bare soil) was visually observed withinthe maintenance yard and adjacent to the south of the on-site structure.

One water well was observed within the boundaries of the Project site during theJanuary 5, 2004 inspection.

Asbestos Containing Materials

Based upon the year the existing structure present on-site was built (prior to 1978), thepotential for asbestos-containing materials (AGMs) to be found on-site is consideredlikely.

Lead-Based Paints

Based upon the year the existing structure present on-site was built (prior to 1978), thepotential for lead-based paints (LBPs) to be found on-site is considered likely.

JN 20-100472
55

April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 799

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No, 32075

Adjacent Properties

The presence of hazardous materials on the Project site that may have been generated
from adjacent properties was not visible during the January 5, 2004 site inspection.

Public Records

Available public records (provided by Environmental Data Resources, Inc. (EDR)) were

reviewed by RBF on December 12, 2003. The list reviewed identified one regulatory
property within the boundaries of the Project site, which is briefly described below:

84265 Avenue 50 was listed within the Historical Underground Storage Tank

HIST UST) database. The HIST UST database contains historical listings of

underground storage tank locations. 84265 Avenue 50 has been listed within

this database for the presence of two historical underground storage tanks within

the Project site. No contamination has been reported within the EDR database

with respect to the Project site.

The list identified 18 listed regulatory sites located within cone-mile radius of the Project
site. A potential REC on the Project site caused by these properties is considered to be

low due to the groundwater flow direction from the Project site, and/or the status of the

identified sites.

Historic Recognized Environmental Condition

A "historic recognized environmental condition" (HREC) is defined as a condition which

in the past would have been considered a REC, but which may or may not be

considered a REC currently. HRECs are generally conditions that have in the past been

remediated to the satisfaction of the responsible regulatory agency. A HREC has been

identified since the Project site has been listed as having two historic USTs. The exact

location of the historic USTs remains undefined; no closure/removal records were found

during the review of building department records.

Historical Use(s) Information

Review of available environmental documentation and interviews indicates that past on-

site activities have created the potential for environmental conditions to be present within

the boundary of the Project site. Based upon the site inspection, review of available

historical aerial photographs and interviews, portions of the Project site were historically
used for agricultural purposes and portions of the Project site are have been utilized as a

nursery for several years. Therefore, a combination of several commonly used

pesticides (i.e., DDD, DDT, DDE), which are now banned may have been used

throughout the Project site. It should be noted that the historical use of agricultural
pesticides might have resulted in pesticide residues of certain persistence in soil at

concentrations that are considered to be hazardous according to established Federal

regulatory levels. The primary concern with historical pesticide residues is human health

risk from inadvertent ingestion of contaminated soil, particularly by children. The

presence of moderately elevated pesticide residuals in soil present potential health and

marketplace concerns.

JN 20-100472 56 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 800

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negative Declaration58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 04-04, Tentative Tracf Map No. 32075

Based upon the results of the Phase I ESA, mitigation measures are recommended inorder to reduce impacts regarding hazardous materials to a less than significant level.

Mitigation Measures:

HAZ2 All miscellaneous vehicles, maintenance equipment and materials,construction/irrigation materials, miscellaneous stockpiled debris, 1 and 5-
gallon containers, construction/irrigation materials, and former agricu/turalequipment, should be removed off-site and properly disposed of at an
approved landfill facility. Once removed, a visual inspection of the areasbeneath the removed materials should be performed. Any stained soilsobserved underneath the removed materials should be sampled. Results offhe sampling (if necessary) would indicate the level of remediation efforts that
maybe required.

HAZ3 Soil sampling should be performed within the maintenance yard tocharacterize the extent of contamination associated with the surficial soil
staining. Soil should be removed and disposed of at an appropriate landfillfacility in accordance with state and federal requirements.

HAZ4 The majority of the Project site has been historically utilized for agriculturalpurposes for several decades and may contain pesticide residues in the soil.Soil sampling should occur throughout the Project site, including themaintenance and staging areas. The sampling will determine if pesticideconcentrations exceed established regulatory requirements and will identifyproper handling procedures that maybe required.

HAZ5 The terminus of all undocumented pipes should be defined. The primaryconcern with pipes that extend into the ground sunàce is the potential for thepipe(s) to act as a ventilation apparatus for a UST. Should USTs be present,the USTs should be removed and properly disposed of at an approved landfillfacility. Once the UST is removed, a visual inspection of the areas beneathand around the removed UST should be performed. Any stained soilsobserved underneath the UST should be sampled. Results of the samplingif necessary) would indicate the level of remediation efforts that may berequired.

HAZ6 The location of the two former USTs should be defined since noclosure/removal records were found during this Assessment. Once identified,soil sampling should be performed within the former UST areas tocharacterize the extent of contamination (if any) associated with the formerUSTs staining.

HAZ7 The on-site water well should be properly removed and abandoned pursuantfo the latest procedures required by the local agency with closureresponsibilities for the wells. Any associated equipment should be removedoff-site properly disposed of at a permitted landfill. A visual inspection of theareas beneath the removed materials (ifpresent) should be performed.

HAZ8 A visual inspection of the interior the on-site structure is recommended. Inthe event that hazardous materials are encountered, they should be properly

JN 20 100472 57
April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 801

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

tested and then properly disposed of pursuant to State and Federal

regulations.

HAZ9 Any transformers to be removed/relocated should be conducted under the

purview of the local utility purveyor to identify property handling procedures

regarding potential PCBs.

HAZ10 Based upon the year the existing structure located on the Project site was

built (prior to 1978), asbestos-containing materials and lead-based paint may

be present within the existing on-site structures and would need to be

handled properly prior to remodeling or demolition activities.

HAZ11 ! f unknown wastes or suspect materials are discovered during construction by

the contractor which he/she believes may involve hazardous waste/materials,

the contract shall:

Immediately stop work in the vicinity of the suspected contaminant,

removing workers and the public from the area;

Notify the Project Engineer of the implementing Agency;

Secure the area a directed by the Project Engineer; and

Notify the implementing agency's Hazardous Waste/Materials

Coordinator.

c) Emit hazardous emissions or handle hazardous or acutely hazardous materials,

substances, or waste within one-quarter mile of an existing or proposed school?

Less Than Significant Impact. No existing or proposed school facilities are located

within aone-quarter mile radius of the Project site. Furthermore, as previously stated in

Response 4.7(a), the proposed Project would not involve the use, storage, transport,

and/or disposal of hazardous materials. Therefore, impacts in this regard would be less

than significant.

d) Be located on a site which is included on a list of hazardous materials sites compiled

pursuant to Government Code Section 65962.5 and, as a result, would it create a

significant hazard to the public or the environment?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigation Incorporated. The governmental

sources have been searched by EDR (at the request of RBF), for sites within the Project

site and within an approximate one-mile radius of the Project site boundaries. Upon

completion of their search, EDR provided RBF with their findings dated December 12,

2003 (refer to Appendix A, Phase 1 Environmental Site Assessment). To reduce the

potential for omitting possible hazardous material sites on the Project site and within the

surrounding area, sites may be listed in this report if there is any doubt as to the location

because of discrepancies in map location, zip code, address, or other information.

The lists identified 18 regulatory sites located within aone-mile radius of the Project site.

A REC on the Project site caused by one or more of these sites are considered to be low

JN 20-100472 58 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 802

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

due to the groundwater flow direction; the distance and direction from the Project site;
and/or the status of the identified sites. For a complete list of sites identified and their

status, refer to the map of sites within aone-mile radius of the Project site. Table 7,
Identified Sites Within aone-Mile Radius of the Project Site, below, indicates the listed

regulatory sites located within aone-mile radius of the Project site.

As discussed in Response 4.7(d), implementation of the recommended mitigation
measures would reduce impacts regarding hazardous materials to a less than significant
level.

Mitigation Measure: Refer to Mitigation Measures HAZ11 and HAZ15.

e) For a project located within an airport land use plan or, where such a plan has not been

adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the project result

in a safety hazard for people residing or working in the project area?

No Impact. The proposed Project is not located within an airport land use plan, or within

two miles of a public airport or public use airport. The nearest airport is the Desert

Resorts Regional Airport serving the greater Coachella Valley located approximately six

miles southeast of the Project site. Implementation of the proposed Project would not

result in a safety hazard for people residing or working in the Project area.

fl For a project within the vicinity of a private airstrip, would the project result in a safety
hazard for people residing or working in the project area?

No Impact. Refer to Response 4.7(e).

g) Impair implementation of or physically interfere with an adopted emergency response

plan or emergency evacuation plan?

No Impact. Implementation of the proposed Project would not interfere with an existing
emergency response plan. No revisions to adopted emergency plans would be required.
as a result of the proposed Project. Therefore, no impacts are anticipated as a result of

Project implementation.

h) Expose people or structures to a significant risk of loss, injury or death involving wildland

fires, including where wildlands are adjacent to urbanized areas or where residences are

intermixed with wildlands?

No Impact. The proposed Project does not have the capacity to expose people or

structures to wildland fires. No impacts would occur in this regard.

JN 20-100472 59 April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 803

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Table 7

IDENTIFIED SITES WITHIN AONE-MILE RADIUS OF THE PROJECT SITE

Potential for an
EDR`

Map Site NamelAddress
Direction from Regulatory

LIST
Site Status

Environmental

Condition on>theProjecYsite
ID# Project site

Ranch 1 Two (2) historical Low

1 84265 Avenue 50 Project site HIST UST underground storage tanks Historical USTs; No

Coachella, CA 92236 re orted on-site. contamination re orted

Sungold #1 Ranch One (1) historical Low

A3A2
Ave 50/Van Buren 0.12-miles west of HIST UST

underground storage tank No contamination

Thermal, CA 92274 the Project site CHMIRS
reported on-site. reported)

Suspicious mail at

50606 Suncrest St. #6 0.65-miles east of
CHMIRS

residence. Letter turned Low

4
Coachella, CA 92670 the Project site over to County Health, Refer to site status)

nothin found.

Sulfur contamination at

residence. Resident

50071 Kenmore Street 0.60-miles east of
CHMIRS

washed agricultural Low

5
Coachella, CA 92670 the Project site spraying rig, runoff water Refer to site status)

went into street. Cleanup
b count fire and health.

Leaking underground Low
Soco Apple Market #4

0.70-miles east of LUST
storage tank on-site.

Gasoline contamination
Contamination down

6 g y50980 Hi hwa 86

Coachella, CA 92236
the Project site Cortese

aquifer affected. MTBE
radient and rester than9 g
2-mile from Project site)

detected.

Leaking underground
Chevron Station #9-2447

70-miles northeast0
Notify 65 storage tank on-site.

Low

7 49-975 Harrison of the Project site
LUST Gasoline contamination,

Refer to site status)
Coachella, CA 92236 Cortese aquifer affected. Case

closed Jul 9, 1998.

Waste oil contamination to

Lucky's Auto Service
0.70-miles southeast

LUST

Cortese

soil only. Case closed

August 21 1995.
Low

B8 51229 Harrison Street

Coachella, CA 92236
of the Project site

HAZNET Aqueous solution. Disposal
Refer to site status)

Method: Rec cler.

Gasoline contamination.
Deleon's Service

0.70-miles southeast LUST Preliminary site assessment Low

B9 51298 Harrison Street
of the Project site Cortese underway. Case closed Refer to site status)

Coachella, CA 92236 Au ust 18,1998.
Small Quantity Generator.

RCRIS-SQG
No violations found.

Gasoline contamination, Low

Amigo Mini Mart
0.75-miles northeast

FINDS

LUST
aquifer affected. Local Contamination down

10 85-509 Highway 111
of the Project site oversight program gradient and greater than

Coachella, CA 92236 underway. rmile from Project site)
HAZNET

Aqueous solution. Disposal
Method: Rec cler.

LUST

C11-C12

Escher Oil

85119 Avenue 50
0.85-miles northeast

i

Cortese

Notify 65

Gasoline contamination,
aquifer affected. Case

Low

Refer to site status)
Coachella, CA 92236

teof the Project s
LUST closed January 27,1997.
EM I

JN 20-100472 60 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 804

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental lnitia/Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

EDR PotentPal foran

Ma p Site NamelAddress
Directiorrfrom Regulatory

Site Status
Environmental

ID# Project site LIST Condition on the

Pro'ect ite
Cortese

RCRIS-SQG

D13-D14
Foster-Gardner, Inc.

1577 First Street
0.85-miles east of

FINDS

AWP
Small Quantity Generator,
no violations found Active

Low

Property located grater
Coachella, CA 92236

the Project site Cal-Sites
annual work plan site

than'/,-mite form the
DEED Project site)

HAZNET
HIST UST

Low

15
Sossa's Market #7

48975 Grapefruit Boulevard
0.75-miles northeast

f
LUST

Gasoline contamination.

Preliminary site assessment
Contamination located

down gradient and greater
Coachella, CA 92236

o the Project site Cortese
underway. than'/,-mile from Project

site

16

Fire Station

1377 Sixth Street
0.85-miles southeast

of the Project site Notify 65
No further information

id d

Low

No contamination
Coachella, CA 92236 prov e

re ored
RCRIS-SQG Small Quantity Generator.

C17
Circle K Store #1303

49989 Grapefruit Street
0.85-miles northeast

FINDS

LUST

No violations found.

Gasoline contamination
Low

Coachella, CA 92236
of the Project site

Cortese aquifer affected. Case Refer to site status)
HIST UST closed November 13, 2000.

18
Walter Property
84540 Mitchell

0.75-miles north of LUST
Gasoline contamination, Low

Coachella, CA 92236
the Project site Cortese aquifer affected. Case

closed A ril 23, 1993.
Refer to site status)

19

Coachella City Yard
1670 Second Street 0.95-miles east of LUST

Diesel contamination,
aquifer affected Case

Low

Coachella, CA 92236
the Pro ect siteI Cortese

closed December 8,1999. Refer to site status)

Low

20
Coachella Fire Station

1377 Sixth Street
0.95-miles southeast LUST

Gasoline contamination, Contamination located

Coachella, CA 92236
of the Project site Cortese aquifer affected. Post

remedial action monitoring.
down gradient and greater
than'/,-mile from Project

site

E21-E22
Old Builders Supply
85-220 Avenue 50

0.95-miles southeast Notify 65

LUST
Gasoline contamination,
aquifer affected Case

Low

Coachella, CA 92236
of the Pro ect site

Cortese closed Jul 22, 1992. Refer to site status)

23
Autos Del Valle

51890 Highway 86
0.9-miles southeast LUST

Gasoline contamination,
aquifer affected Case

Low

Coachella, CA 92236
of the Pro ect site Cortese

closed October 28, 1998. Refer to site status)
Notes: Map ID numbers match the site numbers indicated on the map of sites within one-mile radius contained within Append'a A, EDR SEARCH.

POTENTIAL FOR ENVIRONMENTAL CONDRION KEY:

Low Potential = Potential to create environmental condition on Project site is considered to be low for one or several factors including, but not limited to, the following:

direction of groundwater flow is away from the Project site (down gradient); remedial action is underway or completed at off-site location; distance from Project site is considered greatenough to not allow the creation of a potential environment condition; only soil was affected by the occurrence; and/ or reporting agency has determined no further action is necessary.

Moderate Potential = Potential to create environmental condition on Project site is considered to be moderate and further investigation may be necessary due to one or several factors
including, but not limited to, the following:

occurrence reported but remedial status unknown; unable to confirm remedial action completed; proximity to Project site; groundwater flow is towards the Project site (up gradient).

High Potential = Potential to create environmental condition on Project site is considered to be high and further investigation necessary due to one or several factors including the
followin ; occurrence noted on-site and status if remedial action unknown; occurrence affected roundwater and is located u radient from Pro~ect site.
Source: RBF Consulting, Phase 1 Environmental Sife Assessment, February 6, 2004.

JN 20-100472 61 April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 805

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

4.8 HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY. Would the project:

a) Violate any water quality standards or wasfe discharge requirements?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigation Incorporated. Impacts to water quality

would range over three different periods: 1) during the earthwork and construction

phase, when the potential for erosion, siltation and sedimentation would be the greatest;

2) following construction, prior to the establishment of ground cover, when the erosion

potential may remain relatively high; and 3) following completion of the Project, when

impacts related to sedimentation would decrease markedly, but those associated with

urban runoff would increase.

As part of Section 402 of the Clean Water Act, the U.S. Environmental Protection

Agency (EPA) has established regulations under the National Pollution Discharge

Elimination System ( NPDES) program to control direct storm water discharge. In

California, the State Water Quality Control Board (WQCB) administers the NPDES

permitting program and is responsible for developing NPDES permitting requirements.

The NPDES program regulates industrial pollutant discharges, which include

construction activities. All new construction projects over one acre must prepare a

Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) and file a Notice of Intent with the

State Water Resources Control Board under the requirements of Statewide Industrial

Storm Water Permit for General Construction Activities. The State then issues a permit

for the construction phase of the development.

The Coachella area is within the Colorado River Basin Region (Region No. 7), which

adopted its Water Quality Control Plan on November 17, 1993. The owners and

operators of municipal storm sewer systems in the Whitewater River Basin, including the

City of Coachella and the Coachella Valley Water District, received approval by the

RWQCB in May of 1996, which includes NPDES permit No. CAS617002 along with

Waste Discharge Requirements governing storm water discharge into the Whitewater

River. In applying for the permit, a Storm Water Management Plan was prepared which

provides a basis for reducing the discharge of pollutants into municipal storm sewers to

the maximum extent practical. The permit establishes Best Management Practices

BMPs) to reduce pollutants, water quality monitoring and sampling standards to

evaluate ambient water quality and the effectiveness of BMPs in reducing pollutants.

Accordingly, the following mitigation measures would reduce Project impacts to a less

than significant level.

Mifigation Measures:

HYD1 The applicant shall obtain a Notice of Intent from the State of California

Regional Water Quality Control Boars, as the approximately 58-acre

proposed Project would result in the disturbance of one or more acres. A

copy of the Notice of Intent acknowledgement from the State of California

Regional Water Quality Control Board must be submitted to the City of

Coachella before issuance of grading permits.

HYD2 Prior to the issuance of grading permits, Besf Management Practices (BMPs)

shall be developed in compliance with the City of Coachella and the

JN 20-100472
62 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 806

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initia/Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Coachella Valley Water District NPDES Permit. Specific measures shall
include:

Siltation of drainage devices shall be handled through a maintenance

program to remove silt/dirt from channels and parking areas;

Surplus or waste materials from construction shall not be placed in

drainage ways or within the 100-year floodplain surface waters;

All loose piles of soil, silt, clay, sand, debris or other earthen materials
shall be protected in a reasonable manner to eliminate any discharge
to waters of the State;

During construction, temporary gravel or sandbag dikes shall be used
as necessary to prevent discharge of earthen materials from the site

during periods ofprecipitation or runoff;

Stabilizing agents such as straw, wood chips and/or soil sealant/dust
retardant shall be used during the interim period after grading in order
to strengthen exposed soil until permanent solutions are implemented;
and

Revegetated areas shall be continually maintained in order to assure

adequate growth and root development.

HYD3 The applicant shall submit a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan

SWPPP), which identifies construction and post construction BMPs to the

City for review and approval.

HYD4 Prior to the issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a Water

Quality Management Plan (WQMP) pursuant to the Coachella Valley Water
District and the City of Coachella local implementation plan, specifically
identifying BMPs that shall be used on-site to control predictable pollutant
runoff.

HYD5 Prior to the issuance of building permits, the applicant shall obtain coverage
under NPDES Statewide Industrial Stormwater Permit for General
Construction Activities from the State Water Resources Control Board.
Evidence that this has been obtained shall be submitted to the City.

b) Substantially deplete groundwater supplies or interfere substantially with groundwater
recharge such that there would be a net deficit in aquifer volume or a lowering of the
local groundwater table level (e. g., the production rate ofpre-existing nearby wells would

drop to a level which would not support existing land uses or planned uses for which

permits have been granted)?

Less Than Significant Impact. Groundwater has historically been the principal source

of water supply in the Coachella Valley. The Project site is located at the southeasterly
end of the Coachella Valley Groundwater Basin as defined by the Department of Water

JN 20-100472 63 April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 807

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Resources (DWR).2 This groundwater basin encompasses most of the Coachella Valley

from the San Gorgonio Pass to the Salton Sea and has been subdivided by the DWR

and U.S. Geological Surrey into four interrelated water bearing sub-basins which are

delineated by fault barriers that restrict the lateral movement of groundwater.

Specifically, the Project site lies within the Whitewater River (or Indio) sub-basin, which

encompasses approximately 400 square miles. The Project site is further located within

the Thermal Subarea of the Whitewater Sub-basin. Using imported water from the

Colorado River; the Coachella Valley Water District (CVWD) operates a recharge area

north of Palm Springs. Recently, CVWD indicates that the groundwater basin in the

lower valley is showing signs of overdraft including a drop in the water table.

According to the General Plan EIR, buildout of the General Plan would result in an

increase of approximately 12 million gallons per day (GPD) of water. Based on a

generation factor of 1,121 GPD/acre, the proposed Project would result in an increase

demand of approximately 65,018 GPD of water.3 This increase would represent 0.5

percent of the anticipated increase in water demand upon buildout of the General Plan

approximately 12.1 million GPD). In addition, the General Plan EIR indicates that the

increase in demand for water as a result of buildout of the General Plan would not have

a significant effect on groundwater recharge.4 The General Plan EIR concludes,

because the City is working cooperatively to address the issue of groundwater supply

on a regional basis, and because prior efforts in the upper Whitewater Basin have

proven successful, impacts relating to the supply of water via groundwater resources are

not anticipated to be significant." Therefore, since the proposed Project would result in a

fraction of the increase of water to be supplied by groundwater, compared to the

anticipated General Plan buildout, impacts to groundwater would be less than significant.

c) Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the site or area, including through the

alteration of the course of a stream or river, in a manner which would result in substantial

erosion or siltation on- or off-site?

No Impact. While the proposed Project would involve grading and construction

activities, which would permanently alter the drainage pattern of the Project site, there

are no streams or rivers that traverse the Project site. Therefore, development of the

proposed Project would not result in substantial erosion or siltation on- or off-site.

d) Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the site or area, including through the

alteration of the course of a stream or river, or substantially increase the rate or amount

of surface runoff in a manner which would result in flooding on- or off-site?

No Impact. There are no existing natural water bodies in the area. However,

development of the vacant site with impervious surfaces (paved parking lots and

driveways) would increase the amount of surface runoff in the area. Appropriate BMPs

would be considered for inclusion as a means to address any potential stormwater

issues. Existing infrastructure improvements, including surface gutters along Avenue 50

would provide adequate drainage for the surface runoff created by the proposed Project.

2
Coachella Valley Water District, Engineer's Report on Water Supply and Replenishment Assessment

1991/1992.
s

City of Coachella, General Plan EfR, Table 3.10-2, September 1996.

Ibid, page 195.

JN 20-100472 64 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 808

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Therefore, the proposed Project would not affect water courses or substantially increase
the rate or amount of surface runoff to create flooding impacts, resulting in less than
significant impacts.

e) Create or contribute runoff water which would exceed fhe capacity of existing or planned
stormwater drainage systems or provide substantial additional sources of polluted
runoff?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mifigation Incorporated. Construction of the
proposed Project may result in minor changes in the amount of runoff due to an increase
in the amount of impermeable surface area within the Project area. Surface runoff
velocities, volumes, and peak flow rates would have a minor increase due to an increase
in impervious surfaces. Drainage improvements would be provided on-site as part of the
Project design and would be subject to review and approval by the City of Coachella.
Therefore, impacts would be less than significant.

Mitigation Measure:

HYDE The Project applicant shall submit sto-mdrain plans to the City Engineer for

approval, prior to approval of the Tentative Tract Map.

Otherwise substantially degrade water quality?

Less Than Significant Impact. Construction and post-development surface runoff
would occur as a result of development on-site. The proposed Project is not anticipated
to create any additional impacts that would degrade water quality beyond those
previously identified in the General Plan EIR.

g) Place housing within a 100-year flood hazard area as mapped on a federal Flood
Hazard Boundary or Flood Insurance Rate Map or other flood hazard delineation map?

Less Than Significant Impact The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA)
produces Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM) showing areas subject to 100-year floods.
One-hundred-year floods are those floods expected to occur, on the average, once

every 100 years, based on historical data. The 100-year flood has a 1/100 or one

percent chance of occurring in any given year. Flood insurance rates are based on

FEMA's designations of flood zones, and the practice is to avoid or restrict construction
within the 100-year flood zones, or to engage in flood proofing techniques such as

elevating building pads or by constructing flood walls and levees.

According to the most recent Flood Insurance Rate Map published by FEMA (March 22,
1983), small portions of the Study area remain in Zone AO which is defined as areas of
100-year shallow flooding where depths are between one and three feet. There are also
areas within Zone B, which is between the limits of the 100-year flood and the 500-year
flood; or subject to 100-year flooding at depths of less than a foot; or where the
contributing drainage area is less than one square mile; or areas protected by levees
from the base flood. However, as discussed above, channel improvements to the
Coachella Valley Storm Channel, which, as stated earlier, is designed to carry the

JN 20-100472 65 April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 809

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Standard Project Flood, make it likely that no true flood hazard currently exists in these

areas.

According to a letter dated September 21, 1984 from FEMA to the City, the entire city

limits as they existed at that time are in Zone C, which is classified as "Areas of Mi

1983
Flooding" however, the most recent Flood Insurance Rate Map dated March 22,

has not been updated to reflect this change in status. The Coachella Valley Water

District (CVWD) indicates that the Cities of Indio and Coachella were reclassified to

Zone C when channel protection was applied to portions of the Coachella Storm water

Channel. In addition, the "limits of study" on this version of the FIRM does not cover

unincorporated portions of the study area south of Avenue 58 suggesting that this area

may need further evaluation. CVWD does indicate, however, that the Coachella Storm

water Channel has ample capacity to contain the 100-year flood in this area.

The proposed Project site is not located within a 100-year flood hazard area. The

Environmental Hazards Policy Diagram within the City General Plan does not indicate

the Project site as an area within the 100-Year Floodplain designation. The proposed

Project site is not located within a 100-year flood hazard area. The Environmental

Hazards Policy Diagram within the City General Plan does not indicate the Project site

as an area within the 100-Year Floodplain designation. Therefore, less than significant

impact would occur in this regard.

h) Place within a 100-year flood hazard area structures which would impede or redirect

flood flows?

No Impact. As mentioned above, the proposed Project would not place structures or

housing within the 100-year flood hazard area which would impede or redirect flood

flows. Therefore, there would be no impacts in this regard.

i) Expose people or structures to a significant risk of loss, injury or death involving flooding,

including flooding as a result of the failure of a levee or dam?

No Impact. As stated previously, the proposed Project does not propose any new

housing or building structures within the 100-year flood plain. The proposed Project

would not expose people or structures to a significant risk of loss, injury or death

involving flooding or the failure of a levee or a dam. Therefore, there would be no

impacts in this regard.

j) Inundation by seiche, tsunami, or mudflow?

No Impact. The City of Coachella lies within the lower end of the Coachella

Hydrological Unit, which includes approximately 1,600 square miles. Known also as the

Whitewater River Basin, all surface waters ultimately discharges into the Salton Sea.

Due to the location and nature of the proposed Project, in north central Riverside County

and well removed from the Pacific Ocean, the potential for inundation by seiche,

tsunami, or mudflow is not anticipated.

JN 20-100472 66 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 810

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

4.9 LAND USE AND PLANNING. Would the project:

a) Physically divide an established community?

Less Than Significant Impact. The majority of the area surrounding the Project site is

undeveloped. In addition, the area has been zoned A-T but designated as Low Density
Residential within the General Plan. Therefore, the development of 232 single-family
residential uses within the Project site is consistent with the anticipated development in
the surrounding community and the low-density residential General Plan designation.
Thus, impacts in this regard would be less than significant.

b) Conflict with any applicable land use plan, policy, or regulation of an agency with

jurisdiction over the project (including, but not limited to the general plan, specific plan,
local coastal program, or zoning ordinance) adopted for the purpose of avoiding or

mitigating an environmental effect?

Less Than Significant Impact. The Project site is zoned A-T (Agriculture Transitional)
and designated as RL (Low Density Residential) in the City's General Plan. The
proposed Project would require approval of a zone change to R-S (Residential Single-
Family). The A-T designation requires a minimum lot size of five acres. However, the
R-S designation provides for a minimum lot size of 6,000 square feet. Under the existing
zoning designation, the Project site could be developed with a maximum of six lots per
acre, while under the proposed zone change the maximum density that can be

developed on the Project site would be 348 lots. The proposed Project involves
development of 232 residential units fora density of 4 dwelling units per acre.

Development of 232 residential units on the approximately 58-acre site would be
consistent with the General Plan's RL designation. Upon approval of the zone change to

R-S, the proposed Project would be required to comply with Article 030: R-S Residential
Single-Family Zone requirements. The zoning designation establishes permitted uses

and property development standards that the proposed Project must be consistent with.

Approval of the zone change and compliance with Article 030 of the City's Zoning
Ordinance would reduce impacts to a less than significant impact.

Mitigation Measure:

LAN1 The City of Coachella has determined that there is a need for

improvements that are caused by new development and for which a

shared responsibility for constructing exists. The study prepared by the

Community Development Department regarding Proposed New

Development Impact Fees has been prepared and is available for review.

Payment of a fair share amount would serve to mitigate the impacts of
new development. One of these fees is the General Plan Fee to be paid
at the time permits are issued. If permits are issued prior to the approval
of a development impact fee, a fee shall be paid at the time permits are

issued as a mitigation of the environmental impacts associated with this

project. The fees shall be as follows: Buildings - $50.00 per Dwelling
Unit.

JN 20-100472 67 April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 811

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

c) Conflict with any applicable habitat conservation plan or natural community conservation

plan?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigafion Incorporated. The Coachella Valley

Association of Governments (CVAG) is currently preparing a Multiple Species Habitat

Conservation Plan (MSHCP) and Natural Community Conservation Plan (NCCP) for the

Coachella Valley region. The MSHCP and NCCP will create large interconnected

presences for special status species and their habitats while streamlining the regulatory

process outside of the reserve areas. This will be accomplished by providing a means to

standardize mitigation/compensation measures for species covered by the plan and

satisfy applicable provisions of federal and state ESAs, the California Environmental

Quality Act (CEQA), and National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA). Measures will most

likely take the form of payment of fees as a standard condition of approval for

development within the fee area. A draft plan is expected to be circulated for public

review after April 2004.

Mitigafion Measure: Refer to Mitigation Measure BI05.

4.10 MINERAL RESOURCES. Would the project:

a) Result in the loss of availability of a known mineral resource that would be of value to the

region and the residents of the state?

No Impact. No classified or designated mineral deposits of statewide or regional

significance are known to occur within the Project area. According to figure 42, CDMG

Mineral Land Classification and BLM Mineral Resource Potential Maps, of the City's

General Plan, the Project site is designated as MRZ-1, which is defined as, "Areas

where adequate information indicates that no significant mineral deposits are present, or

where it is judged that little likelihood exists for their presence." Therefore, the proposed

Project would not result in the loss of availability of any known mineral resource valuable

to the region or to the residents of the state.

b) Result in the loss of availability of a locally important mineral resource recovery site

delineated on a local general plan, specific plan or other land use plan?

No Impact. Refer to Response 4.10(a).

4.11 NOISE. Would the project result in:

a) Exposure of persons to or generation of noise levels in excess of standards established

in the local general plan or noise ordinance, or applicable standards of other agencies?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigation Incorporated. The applicable noise

standards governing the Project site are the criteria in the City's Noise Element of the

General Plan.

JN 20-100472 68 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 812

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

City of Coachella Environmental Hazards and Safety Element of the General Plan. The
Environmental Hazards and Safety Element of the City's General Plan identifies the

City's policy concerning natural and manmade hazards, including noise, in order to

increase the community's public safety. The following policies from the City's General

Plan relate to the proposed Project.

The City shall require noise control plans for new development located within the

60 CNEL contour (approximately 550 feet) of the centerline of major arterial

roadways, 370 feet of the centerline of arterial roadways and 225 feet of
collectors.

The City will consider the severity of noise exposure in the community planning
process to prevent or minimize noise impacts to existing and proposed land

uses.

Noise sensitive land uses (residences, lodging, hospitals, long term medical care

facilities, educational facilities, libraries and churches) will not be located near

major noise sources unless noise mitigation measures such as walls or earth

berms have been incorporated into the design of the Project to reduce noise

exposures in exterior living spaces and interior living areas to the levels deemed

acceptable by the City.

In addition the City of Coachella has adopted specific interior and exterior noise

standards that were included in the 1987 City of Coachella General Plan Noise Element.

These standards are included in Table 8, Inferior and Exterior Noise Standards.

Table 8

INTERIOR AND EXTERIOR NOISE STANDARDS

Land. Use`-Cate Dries Ener ~-Avers a CNEL dB

Category Uses lnteriori Exteriorz

Single Family, Duplex, 453 65
Residential Multi le Famil

Mobile Home NA 654

Hotel, Motel, Transient
45 655

Lod in

Commercial, Retail, Bank,
55 NA

Restaurant

Office Building, Research

and Development, 50 NA
Professional Offices, City

Commercial Office Buildin

Industrial Amphitheatre, Concert

Institutional Hall, Auditorium, Meeting 45 NA

Hall

G mnasium Multi ur ose 50 NA

Sorts Club 55 NA

Manufacturing,
Warehousing, Wholesale, 65 NA

Utilities

Movie Theatres 45 NA

JN 20-100472 69 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 813

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Hospital, School 45 65

Institutional Classroom

Church, Libra 45 NA

lnan mare Parks NA 65

Notes:

1. Indoor environment excluding: bathrooms, toilets, closets, corridors.

2. Outdoor environment limited to :Private yard of single family, Multi-family private patio or balcony served by a means

of exit from inside, mobile home park, hospital patio, park's picnic area, school playground and hotel and motel

recreation area.

3. Noise levels required with closed windows. Mechanical ventilating system or other means of natural ventilation shall

be provided per Chapter 12, Section 1205 of the Uniform Building Code.

4. Exterior noise level should be such that internal noise level will not exceed 45 CNEL.

5. Exce t those areas affected b aircraft noise.

Source: City of Coachella, General Plan EIR September 1996

Short-term noise impacts would be associated with excavation, grading, and erecting of

buildings on-site during construction of the proposed Project. Construction related short-

term noise levels would be higher than existing ambient noise levels in the Project area

today, but would no longer occur once construction of the Project is completed.

Two types of short-term noise impacts could occur during the construction of the

proposed Project. First, construction crew commutes and the transport of construction

equipment and materials to the site for the proposed Project would incrementally

increase noise levels on access roads leading to the site. Although there would be a

relatively high single-event noise exposure potential causing intermittent noise nuisance

passing trucks at 50 feet would generate up to a maximum of 87 dBA), the effect on

longer term (hourly or daily) ambient noise levels would be small. Therefore, short-term

construction related impacts associated with worker commute and equipment transport

to the Project site would be less than significant.

The second type of short-term noise impact is related to noise generated during

excavation, grading, and construction of buildings on the Project site. Construction is

completed in discrete steps, each of which has its own mix of equipment, and

consequently, its own noise characteristics. These various sequential phases would

change the character of the noise generated on the site, and therefore the noise levels

surrounding the site as construction progresses. Despite the variety in the type and size

of construction equipment, similarities in the dominant noise sources and patterns of

operation allow construction-related noise ranges to be categorized by work phase.

Table 9, Typical Construction Equipment Noise Levels, lists typical construction

equipment noise levels based on a distance of 50 feet between the equipment and a

noise receptor. Typical noise levels range up to 91 dBA Lmax at 50 feet during the

noisiest construction phases. The site preparation phase, which includes excavation

and grading of the site, tends to generate the highest noise levels, because the noisiest

construction equipment is earthmoving equipment. Earthmoving equipment includes

excavating machinery such as backhoes, bulldozers, draglines, and front loaders.

Earthmoving and compacting equipment includes compactors, scrapers, and graders.

Typical operating cycles for these types of construction equipment may involve one or

two minutes of full-power operation followed by three or four minutes at lower power

settings.

JN 20-100472 70 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 814

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405/Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Construction of the proposed Project is expected to require the use of earthmovers,
bulldozers and water and pickup trucks. Based on the information in Table 9, the
maximum noise level generated by each earthmover on the Project site is assumed to
be 88 dBA Lmax at 50 feet from the earthmover. Each bulldozer would also generate 88
dBA Lmax at 50 feet. The maximum noise level generated by water and pickup trucks is

approximately 86 dBA Lmax at 50 feet from these vehicles. Each doubling of the sound
source with equal strength increases the noise level by 3 dBA. Assuming that each

piece of construction equipment operates at some distance from the other equipment,
the worst-case combined noise level during this phase of construction would be 91 dBA

Lmax at a distance of 50 feet from the active construction area.

There are no sensitive receptors within the vicinity of the Project area that would be

subjected to noise levels above those established by the City. However, compliance
with the construction hours specified in the City's Noise Ordinance as well as

implementation of the recommended mitigation measures would ensure that
construction noise impacts would be reduced to a less than significant level.

Table 9

TYPICAL CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT NOISE LEVELS

Type of Equipment

Rangeiof
Maximum Sound

Levels Measured

dBA.at 50.feet~

Suggestetl~
Maximum SoundALevels for

Analysis
dBA at 50feet)

Pile Drivers, 12,000 to 18,000 ft-Ib/blow 81 to 96 g3
Rock Drills 83 to 99 g6
Jack Hammers 75 to 85 82

Pneumatic Tools 78 to 88 85
Pum s 74 to 84 80

Dozers 77 to 90 85
Scra ers 83 to 91 g7
Haul Trucks 83 to 94 g8
Cranes 79 to 86 82

Portable Generators 71 to 87 g0
Rollers 75 to 82 80
Tractors 77 to 82 g0
Front-End Loaders 77 to 90 86
H draulic Backhoe 81 to 90 86
H draulic Excavators 81 to 90 86

Graders 79 to 89 86
Air Com ressors 76 to 89 86

Trucks 81 to 87 86
Source: Noise Control for Buildin sand Manufacturin Plants, Bolt, Beranek & Newman 1987.

Mifigation Measures:

JN 20-100472 71 April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 815

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

N1 During all Project site excavation and grading, the Project Contractor shall

equip all construction equipment, fixed or mobile, with properly operating and

maintained mufflers consistent with manufacturers' standards.

N2 The Construction Contractor shall place all stationary construction equipment

so That emitted noise is directed away from sensitive receptors nearest the

Project site.

N3 The Construction Contractor shall locate equipment staging in areas that will

create the greatest distance between construction-related noise sources and

noise-sensitive receptors nearest the Project site during all Project

construction.

b) Exposure of persons to or generation of excessive groundborne vibration or

groundborne noise levels?

Less Than Significant Impact. Minimal groundborne vibrations or noise would be

created by the proposed Project. However, no excessive groundborne vibration or noise

would be created by the proposed Project. Excessive groundborne vibration is typically

caused by activities such as blasting used in mining operations, or the use of pile drivers

during construction. The proposed Project would not require any blasting and no pile

driving is anticipated. Thus, the grading and construction of infrastructure and buildings

is not anticipated to generate excessive groundborne vibration or groundborne noise

levels. Thus, less than significant impacts would occur in this regard.

c) A substantial permanent increase in ambient noise levels in the project vicinity above

levels existing without the project?

Less Than Significant Impact

LONG-TERM (MOBILE) SOURCES

In accordance with the Project Traffic Study, mobile source noise impacts on the

surrounding street network were modeled for Future (2005) and Future (2005) Plus

Project. These two scenarios were modeled to demonstrate the Project's net acoustical

increase over future ambient (No Project) conditions. An increase of five dBA or greater

in noise levels occurring from Project-related activities would be significant when the "No

Project" noise level is below 65 dBA CNEL. Additionally, an increase of three dBA or

greater in noise levels occurring from Project-related activities would be significant when

the "No Project" noise level is above 65 dBA CNEL.

In Table 10, Projected Noise Levels Per Roadway Segment, the first contour (dBA at

100 feet from centerline) depicts the noise level that would be heard 100 feet

perpendicular to the roadway centerline. This is the typical distance to the midpoint of a

rear yard for a receptor adjacent to a roadway. The second contour (distance from

roadway centerline) illustrates the distances for which various noise levels would be

encountered. The distance from centerline, which is the midpoint of the roadway cross

section, depicts the spreading effect of the acoustics generated by mobile sources.

JN 20-100472 72 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 816

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

According to Table 10, under the "2005 Without Project" scenario, noise levels at a

distance of 100 feet from centerline would range from approximately 47 dBA to 63 dBA.
The highest noise levels would occur along Harrison Street, south of Avenue 50. Noise
levels along this roadway segment would be 62.9 dBA at 100 feet from the roadway
centerline. The lowest noise levels would occur along Frederick Street, north of Avenue
51. Noise levels along this roadway segment would be 47.4 dBA at 100 feet from the

roadway centerline.

Under the "2005 With Project" scenario, noise levels at a distance of 100 feet from
centerline would also range from approximately 49 to 63 dBA. The highest noise levels
would occur along Harrison Street, south of Avenue 50. Noise levels along this roadway
segment would be 66.6 dBA at 100 feet from the roadway centerline. The lowest noise
levels would occur along Frederick Street, south of Avenue 51. Noise levels along this
roadway segment would be 48.4 dBA at 100 feet from the roadway centerline.

Table 10 also compares the "2005 Without Project" scenario with the "2005 With Project"
scenario. The highest noise increase would occur along Harrison Street, which would
have a noise increase of 3.8 dBA. Under the "2005 Without Project Scenario", this

roadway segment would be 62.4 dBA at 100 feet from the roadway centerline.

Table 10

PROJECTED NOISE LEVELS PER ROADWAY SEGMENT

Future Future Plus Project

dBA@ 100

F t f

Distance'~from Roadway
Centerline to: (Feet) dBA@1̀00`

Distance from Roadway
Centerlinetos"(Feet)

Difference.

indBA

Roadway Segment ADT
ee rom

Roadway
Centerline

80 CNEL

Noise

contour-

65s:CNEL

Noise

Contour

70 CNEL

Noise
Contour.

ADT
feetfrom-

Roadway
CenteHine

60 CNEL

Noise

Contour

ti5 CNEL

Noise

Contour

70 CNEL

Noise

Contour

@100 Feet

rom

Roadway

Avenue 50

East of Harrison Street 4,675 55.5 57 27 12 5,275 56.0 62 29 13 0.5

West of Calhoun Street 7,470 57.5 78 36 17 7,670 57.7 80 37 17 0.2

West of Frederick Street 7,545 57.6 79 37 17 8,390 58.1 85 39 18 1.5

West of Harrison Street 7,828 57.7 81 37 17 10,658 59.1 99 46 21 1.4

West of Van Buren Street 7,925 57.8 81 38 18 8,003 57.8 82 38 18 0.0

Avenue 51

West of Calhoun Street 1,050 49.0 21 10 5 1,050 49.0 21 10 5 0.0

West of Frederick Street 1,870 51.5 31 14 7 2,393 52.6 37 17 8 1.1

West of Harrison Street 2,350 52.5 36 17 8 2,450 52.7 37 17 8 0.2

West of Van Buren Street 1,195 49.6 23 11 5 1,195 49.6 23 11 5 0.0

Avenue 52

West of Frederick Street 5,130 55.9 61 28 13 5,130 55.9 61 28 13 0.0
West of Van Buren Street 4,245 55.1 54 25 12 4,455 55.3 55 26 12 0.2

Calhoun Street

North of Avenue 50 4,210 55.1 53 25 11 4,410 55.3 55 26 12 0.2

North of Avenue 51 1,720 51.2 29 14 6 1,720 51.2 29 14 6 0.0

South of Avenue 51 1,685 51.1 29 13 6 1,685 51.1 29 13 6 0.0

JN 20-100472 73 April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 817

Item 36.



As noted previously, an increase of five dBA or less is considered less than significant

when the "No Project" noise levels are less than 65 dBA CNEL. Additionally, an

increase of three dBA or greater in noise levels occurring from Project-related activities

would be significant when the "No Project" noise level is above 65 dBA CNEL. Since the

largest traffic noise increase due to Project related traffic would be 3.8 dBA (along

Harrison Street) where the traffic noise level without the Project is 62.4 dBA (less than

65 dBA), a less than significant impact would occur as a result of Project

implementation.

However, as indicated in the City's General Plan, the City will require noise control plans

for new development located within the 60 CNEL contour of the centerline of a major

roadway. Since the 60 CNEL contour extends a maximum of 199 feet from the roadway

centerline (Harrison Street, south of Avenue 50), the proposed Project will not be

required to prepare noise control plans.

LONG-TERM (STATIONARY) SOURCES

Mechanical equipment such as air conditioners often generate noise levels that may

exceed local noise standards. At a distance of 90 feet, the noise level from all units

operating simultaneously would be approximately 54 dBA, which is below the City's

acceptable exterior noise level of 65 dBA CNEL.S Therefore, there would be a less than

significant impacts associated with long-term stationary sources.

d) A substantial temporary or periodic increase in ambient noise levels in the project vicinity

above levels existing without the project?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigation -ncorporated. Refer to Response

4.11(a).

5
Per conversation with Carmen Manriquez, City Planner, on March 22, 2004.

JN 20-100472 74 April 27, 2004, 2004

City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Page 818

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

e) For a project located within an airport land use plan or, where such a plan has not been

adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the project
expose people residing or working in the project area to excessive noise levels?

No Impact. The Project site is not located within two miles of a public airport or public
use airport. Given the Project's site distance from the Desert Resorts Regional Airpert
approximately six miles), no impacts are anticipated in this regard.

fJ For a project within the vicinity of a private airstrip, would the project expose people
residing or working in the project area to excessive noise levels?

No Impact. The Project site is not located within the vicinity of a private airstrip. Thus,
future uses would not be subjected to excessive noise levels in this regard.

4.12 POPULATION AND HOUSING. Would the project:

a) Induce substantial population growth in an area, either directly ( for example, by
proposing new homes and businesses) or indirectly (for example, through extension of
roads or other infrastructure)?

Less Than Significant Impact. A project could induce population growth in an area

either directly or indirectly. More specifically, the development of new homes or

businesses could induce population growth directly, whereas, the extension of roads or

other infrastructure could induce population growth indirectly. According to the 2000
Census, the City of Coachella's population was approximately 22,724 persons. As of
January 1, 2003, the City's population was approximately 26,772 persons.s

The net increase of 232 housing units within the Project area would cause an increase in
the City's population. Based on an estimate of 4.8 persons per household (State of
California Department of Finance), the development of 232 additional housing units
would result in a population increase of approximately 1,114 persons. As a result of
Project implementation, the City's population would increase to approximately 27,886
persons. This would represent an approximately 4.2 percent increase over the City's
2003 population estimate of 26,772 persons.

The Southern California Association of Governments (SCAG) is the regional planning
body for the Southern California region. SCAG projects the City of Coachella's
population to reach approximately 22,996 by the year 2005 and 29,283 by the year
2020. This increase would represent approximately 30 percent of SCAG's projected
growth anticipated by the year 2020. Due to the under-estimation of population growth
by SCAG (the 2003 population of 26,772 persons is already above SCAG's projected
population of 22,996 by 2005), the City's population growth is anticipated to be greater
than that projected by SCAG. Based upon a historical growth rate of 2.6 percent a year,
the City of Glendora's population is projected to be 41,409 persons by the year 2020.'
This is more consistent with the growth anticipated in the City's General Plan based on

California Department of Finance, Table 2 - E-5 City/County Population and Housing Estimates, 1/1/2003,
updated 2003.

This figure is based upon an average of historical population growth from the Department of Finance from
1990 through 2000.

JN 20-100472 75 April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 819

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negafive Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

the assumption of a 3.3 percent growth rate from 2000 through 2005. The City's

General Plan anticipates a total population of 27,306 persons by the year 2005, an

increase of approximately 534 persons from the City's 2003 estimated population.

Therefore, an increase of 1,114 persons as a result of Project implementation would

directly induce substantial population growth. However, the City's General Plan

projected a need for 1,488 additional residential units by the year 2005. The addition of

232 residential units represents approximately 15.6 percent of the required additional

housing needed by the year 2005. Therefore, while the proposed Project would induce

population growth, the proposed Project would decrease the existing housing shortage,

resulting in less than significant impacts in this regard.

b) Displace substantial numbers of existing housing, necessitating the construction of

replacement housing elsewhere?

No Impact. The proposed Project involves the development of currently vacant land

with 232 residential units. Therefore, the proposed Project would not involve the

displacement of existing housing and there would be no impacts in this regard.

c) Displace substantial numbers of people, necessitating the construction of replacement

housing elsewhere?

No Impact. Refer to Response 4.12(b).

4.13 PUBLIC SERVICES.

a) Would the project result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the

provision of new or physically altered governmental facilities, need for new or physically

altered governmental facilities, the construction of which could cause significant

environmental impacts, in order to maintain acceptable service ratio, response times or

other performance objectives for any of the public service:

1) Fire protection?

Less Than Significant Impact. The City of Coachella currently contracts with the

Riverside County Fire Department for fire protection services and emergency medical

services. The City's General Plan policy in regards to fire protection is to, "achieve a

high standard of fire protection to adequately serve the City at full buildout. The targeted

standard of personnel per 1,000 populations is 2.0. The targeted response time is five

minutes or less. The service standard is to provide fire protection within a 1.5 mile

radius from the fire stations."

The fire station that would serve the Project site is Fire Station #79, located at 1377 6th

Street, approximately 2.3 miles southeast of the Project site. Fire Station #79 has a total

of eight full-time personnel, which results in approximately 3.3 firefighters for every 1,000

residents, which is slightly higher than the City's standard of 2.0. Fire Station #79

includes two Type 1 Engines, one Breathe Support facility, one water tender, one utility

truck and one Battalion Chief.8

e
Per phone conversation on March 2, 2004, with Robert Michael of the Riverside County Fire Department.

JN 20-100472 76 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 820

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Although new residences would exist on-site, this would not result in significant
emergency service impacts. The proposed Project would result in the addition of 989
persons, which would increase the firefighter personnel per 1,000 population to 3.5.9
This would not result in significant emergency service impacts. In addition, the overall

Project design shall be required to provide adequate emergency vehicle access. The
Riverside County Fire Department would review and comment on the site plan prior to
Project approval. As part of the review, the Riverside County Fire Department would
impose standard conditions of approval, which would ensure that Project impacts are at
a less than significant level.

2) Police protection?

Less Than Significant Impacf. The City of Coachella Police Department is under
contract with the Riverside County Sheriff's Department, which provides police
protection services to the Project site. The nearest police station is located at 82-695 Dr.
Carreon Boulevard, within the City of Indio. The City's General Plan policy in regard to

police protection is to, "achieve a high standard of police protection to adequately serve

the City at full buildout to a standard of 1.3 sworn officers per 1,000 population."

Although new residences would exist on-site, this would not result in significant
emergency service impacts. The overall Project design shall be required to provide
adequate emergency vehicle access. The Police Department would review the site plan
as a standard condition of approval, resulting in less than significant impacts in this
regard.

3) Schools?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigation Incorporated. The Coachella Valley
Unified School District (CVUSD) serves the entire City of Coachella, portions of Indio
and La Quinta, as well as unincorporated communities of Thermal and Mecca. Based
on the student generation rate of 1.12 students per residential unit, provided by the
CVUSD, the estimated potential students for the proposed Project would result in the
addition of approximately 260 students. Students from the Project site would go to the
Mountain Vista Elementary School (K-6), Cahuilla Desert Academy (7-8) or Coachella
Valley High School (9-12). Each of these schools are currently at capacity with total
enrollment for Mountain Vista Elementary School at 681 students, 1,330 students
enrolled at Cahuilla Desert Academy and a total of 2,873 students enrolled at Coachella
Valley High School.

Developers shall be required to pay school impact fees, as authorized by State law, in
order to reduce impacts resulting from new development, to less than significant levels.

Currently, the CVUSD Level 1 Impact Fees are $2.24 per square foot of residential uses
and Level 2 Fees are $2.19 per square foot. However, Level 2 Fees are anticipated to
increase to above $2.70 per square foot in April 2004. Payment of school fees is
considered full mitigation of new development impacts on schools.

a
Based on an estimate of 4.8 persons per household (State of California Department of Finance), the

development of 232 additional housing units would result in a population increase of approximately 1,114 persons.

JN 20-100472 77 April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 821

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Mitigation Measures:

PS1 The developer is subject to school assessment fees pursuant to California State

law. The developer shall provide evidence of compliance to the City prior to

issuance of building permits.

4) Parks?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigation Incorporated. The City required new

residential development to dedicate land or fees in lieu for park and recreation facilities

in order to achieve a standard of five acres of park space/open space per 1,000

population. The proposed Project would be required to comply with Section 21-266,

Dedication of Land and/or Payment of Fees for Park and Recreation Purposes Pursuant

to the Quimby Act, of the City's Municipal Code. Dedication of land or payment of fees

pursuant to Section 21-266 of the City's Municipal Code would reduce all impacts to

parks to a less than significant level.

Mitigation Measure:

PS2 The developer is subject to park assessment fees pursuant to California State

law. The developer shall provide evidence of either the dedication of land or fees

paid in lieu of, to the City prior to issuance of building permits.

5) Other Public Facilities?

Less Than Significant Impact Due to the size and scope of the proposed Project, the

Project would not significantly affect other governmental agencies or facilities. No

significant impacts are anticipated in this regard.

4.14 RECREATION

a) Would the proposed project increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional

parks or other recreational facilities such That substantial physical deterioration of the

facility would occur or be accelerated?

Less Than Significant Impact Wifh Mitigation Incorporated. The proposed Project

would result in 232 new single-family homes, generating approximately 1,114 new

residents, who would utilize existing parks and recreation facilities. The proposed

Project would be subject to payment of Quimby Act Fees, which would mitigate impacts

as a result of increased use of the City's recreational facilities. Payment of required

mitigation fees would reduce impacts to recreation facilities to a less than significant

level.

Mitigation Measures: Refer to Mitigation Measure PS2.

b) Does the project include recreational facilities or require the construction or expansion of

recreational facilities which might have an adverse effect on the environment?

JN 20-100472 78 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 822

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

No Impact. The proposed Project would result in 232 new single-family homes

generating approximately 1,114 new residents, who would utilize existing parks and

recreation facilities. No on-site recreational facilities are proposed. Therefore, there are

no impacts in this regard.

4.15 TRANSPORTATION/TRAFFIC. Would the project:

RBF Consulting has prepared an analysis evaluating the traffic impacts of the proposed
58-acre Kirkjan project. The Traffic Impact Analysis prepared by RBF Consulting, dated

March 2004, is reproduced in its entirety as Appendix B, Traffic Impact Analysis.

Study Area

City of Coachella staff identified the following eight intersections for analysis in this

study:

Calhoun Street/Avenue 50 (4-way stop controlled);
Calhoun Street/Avenue 51 (4-way stop controlled);
Van Buren Street/Avenue 50 (4-way stop controlled);
Van Buren Street/Avenue 51 (4-way stop controlled);
Van Buren Street/Avenue 52 (4-way stop controlled);
Frederick Street/Avenue 50 (4-way stop controlled);
Frederick Street/Avenue 51 (2-way stop controlled); and

Harrison Street/Avenue 50 (signalized).

The study intersections were are analyzed for the following study scenarios:

Existing Conditions;
Forecast Year 2005 Without Project Conditions;
Forecast Year 2005 With Project Conditions;
Forecast General Plan Buildout Without Project Conditions; and

Forecast General Plan Buildout With Project Conditions.

Analysis Methodology

Level of service (LOS) is commonly used as a qualitative description of intersection

operation and is based on the type of traffic control and delay experienced at the

intersection. The Highway Capacity Manual (HCM) analysis methodology for Signalized
Intersections and Unsignalized Intersections is utilized to determine the operating LOS

of the study intersections.

The HCM analysis methodology describes the operation of an intersection using a range

of LOS from LOS A (free-flow conditions) to LOS F ( severely congested conditions),
based on the corresponding ranges of stopped delay experienced per vehicle for

signalized and unsignalized intersections shown in Table 11, LOS and Delay Ranges.

Table 11

LOS AND DELAY RANGES

Delay (secondslvehicle)

JN 20-100472 79 April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 823

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

LOS Signalized Intersections Unsignalized IntErsections

A

g

10.0

10.Oto<20.0

10.0

10.Oto<15.0

C 20.Oto<35.0 15.Oto<25.0

p 35.Oto<55.0 25.Oto<35.0

E 55.Oto<80.0 35.Oto<50.0

F 80.0 50.0

Source: Transportation Research Board, Highway Capacity Manual, Special Report 209, Third Edition (Washington D.C.,1997).

Performance Criteria

The City of Coachella goal for peak hour intersection operation is LOS C or better.

Threshold of Significance

To determine whether the addition of Project-generated trips results in a significant

impact at a study intersection, the City of Coachella has established the following

threshold of significance:

At intersections operating at LOS C or better, a significant project impact occurs

when a proposed project decreases the peak hour LOS at a study intersection to

LOS D or worse.

a) Cause an increase in traffic which is substantial in relation to the existing traffic load and

capacity of the street system (i.e., result in a substantial increase in either the number of

vehicle trips, the volume to capacity ratio on roads, or congestion at intersections)?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigation Incorporated.

Existing Peak Hour Level of Service

Table 12, Existing Conditions Peak Hour LOS, summarizes the existing a.m. and p.m.

peak hour average stopped delay per vehicle and corresponding LOS of the study

intersections based on existing peak hour intersection volumes; detailed HCM analysis

sheets are provided in Appendix B.

Table 12

EXISTING CONDITIONS PEAK HOUR LOS

AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour

Studylntersection
Delay LOS Delay LOS

Calhoun StlAvenue 50 (Stop) 8.2 A 9.9 A

Calhoun St/Avenue 51 (Stop) 7.4 A 7.7 A

Van Buren StlAvenue 50 (Stop) 8.1 A 10.2 B

JN 20-100472 80 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 824

Item 36.



City of Coachella . Environmental lnitia/ Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Van Buren St/Avenue 51 (Stop) 7.6 A 8.1 A

Van Buren St/Avenue 52 (Stop) 9.9 A 10.1 B

Frederick St/Avenue 50 (Stop) 8.4 A 11.4 B

Frederick St/Avenue 51(Stop) 9.1 A 11.4 B

Harrison StlAvenue 50 (Signal) 13.5 B 18.0 B

Source: RBF Consulting, 58 Acre Kirkjan Site Traffic Impact Analysis, March 19, 2004.

As shown in Table 12, all study intersections are currently operating at an acceptable
LOS (LOS C or better) during the a.m. and p.m. peak hours according to City of

Coachella performance criteria.

FORECAST YEAR 2005 WITHOUT PROJECT CONDITIONS

Thirty-two other projects in the vicinity of the Project study area have been approved by
the City of Coachella and the City of Indio, but have not yet been constructed and
therefore are not currently generating trips. However, by year 2005, these 32 approved
projects are expected to be built and generating trips. This section analyzes the impact
of adding trips forecast to be generated by these 32 approved projects to existing traffic

conditions to reflect forecast year 2005 without Project conditions. Approved Project trip
generation and assignment data was provided by the City of Coachella and the City of

Indio for use in this analysis. To calculate trips forecast to be generated by an approved
project or a proposed project, transportation planners/engineers utilize published trip
generation rate sources such as Institute of Transportation Engineers ( ITE) Trip
Generation Manual, 6th Edition, which is used to analyze the proposed Project.

The City of Indio approved projects are forecast to generate approximately 22,052 daily
trips, which includes approximately 1,866 a.m. peak hour trips and approximately 2,253
p.m. peak hour trips. The City of Coachella approved projects are forecast to generate
approximately 24,00 daily trips, which includes approximately 1,691 a.m. peak hour trips
and approximately 2,329 p.m. peak hour trips.

Approved Projects Improvements

Since trips forecasted to be generated by the approved projects are included in this

study, planned improvements for the approved projects are assumed as well.

Improvements planned by 2005 as part of already approved projects include:

An additional westbound lane on Avenue 50 will be constructed along the Project
site frontage.

Two additional southbound lanes on Van Buren Street will be constructed along
the Project site frontage.

JN 20-100472 81 April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 825

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

The southbound Van Buren Street approach at the Van Buren Street/Avenue 50

intersection will be widened from one shared left-turn/through/right-turn lane to

one left-turn lane, two through lanes and one right-tum lane.

An additional westbound lane on Avenue 50 will be constructed along the Project

site frontage.

An additional southbound lane on Frederick Street will be constructed along the

Project site frontage.

The southbound Frederick Street approach at the Frederick Street/Avenue 50

intersection will be widened from one shared left-turn/through/right-turn lane to

one left-turn lane, one through lane, and one defacto right-turn lane.

Forecast Year 2005 Without Project Conditions Peak Hour Level of Service

Forecast year 2005 without Project traffic volumes were derived by adding City of

Coachella and City of Indio approved projects-generated trips to existing conditions

traffic volumes.

Table 13, Forecast Year 2005 Without Project Peak Hour LOS, summarizes forecast

year 2005 without Project conditions a.m. and p.m. peak hour average stopped delay

per vehicle and corresponding LOS of the study intersections; detailed HCM analysis

sheets are provided in Appendix B.

Table 13

FORECAST YEAR 2005 WITHOUT PROJECT PEAK HOUR LOS

AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour

Study ntersection

Delay LOS Delay LOS

Calhoun StlAvenue 50 (Stop) 10.8 B 25.1 D

Calhoun St/Avenue 51 (Stop) 7.6 A 8.0 A

Van Buren StlAvenue 50 (Stop) 11.1 B 28.9 D

Van Buren StlAvenue 51 (Stop) 7.8 A 8.4 A

Van Buren SUAvenue 52 (Stop) 10.3 B 10.7 B

Frederick StlAvenue 50 (Stop) 10.4 B 26.7 D

Frederick StlAvenue 51 (Stop) 9.1 A 11.4 B

Harrison StlAvenue 50 (Signal) 17.0 B 21.2 C

Note: Deficient intersection operation shown in bold.

Source: RBF Consulting, 58 Acre Kirkjan Site Traffic Impact Analysis, March 19, 2004.

JN 20-100472 82 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 826

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

As shown in Table 13, three study intersections are forecast to operate at an

unacceptable LOS (LOS D or worse) according to City of Coachella performance criteria
for forecast year 2005 without Project conditions:

Calhoun Street/Avenue 50 (p.m. peak hour only);
Van Buren Street/Avenue 50 (p.m. peak hour only); and
Frederick Street/Avenue 50 (p.m. peak hour only).

Forecast Year 2005 Without Project Conditions Recommended Improvements

To eliminate the forecast year 2005 without Project conditions deficiencies at the three

study intersections, the following improvements are recommended:

Calhoun Street/Avenue 50 -Modify eastbound Avenue 50 approach from one

shared left-turn/through lane and one defacto right-turn lane to consist of one left-
turn lane and one shared through/right-turn lane.

Van Buren Street/Avenue 50 -Modify eastbound Avenue 50 approach from one

shared left-turn/through lane and one defacto right-turn lane to consist of shared

left-turn/through lane and one shared through/right-turn lane.

Frederick Street/Avenue 50 -Modify westbound Avenue 50 approach from one

left-turn lane and one shared through/right-turn lane to consist of one left-turn

lane, one through lane, and one shared through/right-turn lane.

Assuming implementation of the recommended improvements, Table 14, Forecast

Improved Year 2005 Without Project Conditions Peak Hour LOS, shows the forecast
LOS of the three intersections for forecast year 2005 without Project conditions; detailed
HCM analysis sheets are provided in Appendix B.

Table 14

FORECAST IMPROVED YEAR 2005 WITHOUT PROJECT CONDITIONS PEAK
HOUR LOS

Stud Intersection
AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour

y

Delay LOS Delay LOS

Calhoun St/Avenue 50 10.5 B 17.5 C

Van Buren St/Avenue 50 10.5 B 23.5 C

Frederick StlAvenue 50 10.4 B 21.5 C

Source: RBF Consulting, 58 Acre Kirkjan Site Tragic Impact Analysis, March 19, 2004.

As shown in Table 14, assuming implementation of the recommended improvements,
the three deficient study intersections are forecast to operate at an acceptable LOS

LOS C or better) during the a.m. and p.m. peak hours for forecast year 2005 without

Project conditions.

JN 20-100472 83 April 27, 2004, 2004Page 827

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

PROPOSED PROJECT

The proposed 58-acre Project site consists of 232 single-family dwelling units in the City

of Coachella. As part of the proposed Project, the following improvements are planned
for Avenue 50 and Avenue 51:

An additional eastbound lane on Avenue 50 will be constructed along the Project

site frontage.

An additional westbound lane on Avenue 51 will be constructed along the Project

site frontage.

Project Trip Generation

Table 15, Proposed Project ITE Trip Rates, summarizes the Institute of Transportation

Engineers (ITE) trip generation rates used to calculate the number of trips forecast to be

generated by the proposed Project.

Table 16, Forecast Project Trip Generation, summarizes trips forecast to be generated

by the proposed Project utilizing the trip generation rates shown in Table 15.

As shown in Table 16, the proposed Project is forecast to generate approximately 2,220

daily trips, which includes approximately 179 a.m. peak hour trips and approximately 237

p.m. peak hour trips.

Table 15

PROPOSED PROJECT ITE TRIP RATES

AM Peak Hour Rates PM Peak Hour Rates
gaily Trip

Land Use (ITE Code)
In Out Total In Out Total

Rate

Single-Family Detached Housing (210) 0.19 0.58 0.77 0.65 0.37 1.02 9.57

Source: 1997 ITE Trip Generation Manual, 6G"' Edition.

Table 16

FORECAST PROJECT TRIP GENERATION

AM Peak Hour Trips PM Peak Hour Trips
DailyTripsLand Use

In Out Total In Out Total

232 Single-Family Dwelling Units 44 135 179 151 86 237 2,220

Source: 19971TE Trip Generation Manual, 6m Edition.

FORECAST YEAR 2005 WITH PROJECT CONDITIONS

JN 20-100472 84 April 27, 2004, 2004

Page 828

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Inifial Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

This section analyzes the impact of adding trips forecast to be generated by the

proposed Project to forecast year 2005 without Project traffic conditions.

Forecast year 2005 with Project traffic volumes were derived by adding Project -
generated trips to forecast year 2005 without Project traffic volumes. Forecast year
2005 with Project conditions assume implementation of improvements recommended to

eliminate forecast year 2005 without Project deficiencies.

Forecast Year 2005 With Project Conditions Peak Hour Level of Service

Table 17, Forecast Year 2005 With Project Peak Hour LOS, summarizes the forecast

year 2005 with Project conditions a.m. and p.m. peak hour average stopped delay per

vehicle and corresponding LOS of the study intersections; detailed HCM analysis sheets

are provided in Appendix B.

As shown in Table 17, two study intersections are forecast to operate at an

unacceptable LOS (LOS D or worse) according to City of Coachella performance criteria

for forecast year 2005 with Project conditions:

Van Buren Street/Avenue 50 (p.m. peak hour only); and

Frederick Street/Avenue 50 (p.m. peak hour only).

To eliminate the forecast year 2005 with Project conditions deficiencies at the two study
intersections, the following mitigation measures are recommended:

JN 20-100472 85 April 27, 2004, 2004Page 829

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 04-04, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Table 17

FORECAST YEAR 2005 WITH PROJECT PEAK HOUR LOS

Forecast Improved Year.2005

Without Pro'ect
Forecast Year;2005 With Project

Study Intersection AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour AM-Peak Hour PM Peak Hour

Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay LOS

Calhoun St/Avenue 50 (Stop) 10.5 B 17.5 C 10.8 B 19.1 C

Calhoun StlAvenue 51 (Stop) 7.6 A 8.0 A 7.6 A 8.0 A

Van Buren StlAvenue 50 (Stop) 10.5 B 23.5 C 11.0 B 29.5 E

Van Buren St/Avenue 51 (Stop) 7.8 A 8.4 A 8.0 A 8.7 A

Van Buren StlAvenue 52 (Stop) 10.3 B 10.7 B 10.4 B 11.0 B

Frederick StlAvenue 50 (Stop) 10.4 B 21.5 C 11.0 B 26.3 D

Frederick St/Avenue 51 (Stop) 9.1 A 11.4 A 9.2 A 10.4 B

Harrison StlAvenue 50 (Signal) 17.0 B 21.2 C 17.0 B 21.4 C

Note: Deficient intersection operation shown in bold.

Source: RBF Consultin , 58 Acre Kirk'an Site Traffic Im act Anal sis, March 19, 2004.

Van Buren Street/Avenue 50 -Modify eastbound Avenue 50 approach from one

left-turn lane and one shared through/right-turn lane to consist of one left-turn

lane, one through lane, and one shared through/right-turn lane.

Frederick Street/Avenue 50 -Modify westbound Avenue 50 approach from one

left-turn lane, one through lane, and one right-turn lane to consist of one left-turn

lane, one through lane, and one shared through/right-turn lane.

Assuming implementation of the recommended mitigation measures, Table 18, Forecast

Mitigated Year 2005 With Project Peak Hour LOS, shows the forecast LOS of the two

intersections for forecast year 2005 with Project conditions; detailed HCM analysis

sheets are provided in Appendix B.

Table 18

FORECAST MITIGATED YEAR 2005 WITH PROJECT PEAK HOUR LOS

Non-Mitigated Mitigated

Study' Intersection AM Peak Hour PM PeakHour ` AM'Peak Hour PM=Peak Hour

Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay LOS

Van Buren SUAvenue 50 (Stop) 11.0 B 29.5 E 10.5 B 20.9 C

Frederick StlAvenue 50 (Stop) 11.0 B 26.3 D 10.7 B 17.8 C

Note: Deficient intersection o eration shown in bold.

Source: RBF Consulting, 58 Acre Kirkjan Site Tragic Impact Analysis, March 19, 2004.

JN 20-100472 86 April 27, 2004, 2004
Page 830

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change ofZone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

As shown in Table 18, assuming implementation of the recommended mitigation
measures, the two study intersections are forecast to operate at an acceptable LOS

LOS C or better) during the a.m. and p.m. peak hours for forecast mitigated year 2005

with Project conditions.

FORECAST GENERAL PLAN BUILDOUT WITHOUT PROJECT CONDITIONS

Forecast General Plan buildout without Project traffic volumes were derived by applying
an annual growth rate factor of five percent on top of existing traffic volumes to obtain

year 2025 volumes as directed by City staff.

Planned Roadway Improvements

Forecast General Plan buildout conditions assume buildout of the City General Plan

Circulation Element as follows:

Calhoun Street is improved to a two-lane, undivided Collector. At the

intersections, Calhoun Street consists of one left-turn lane, one through lane, and

one defacto right-turn lane;

Van Buren Street is improved to a four-lane, divided Secondary Arterial. At the

intersections, Van Buren Street consists of one left-turn lane, two through lanes,
and one defacto right-turn lane;

Frederick Street, south of Avenue 50, is improved to a four-lane, divided

Secondary Arterial. At the intersections, Frederick Street consists of one left-turn

lane, two through lanes, and one defacto right-turn lane;

Harrison Street is improved to an eight-lane, divided Enhanced Major Arterial. At

the intersections, Harrison Street consists of one left-turn lane, four through
lanes, and one right-turn lane;

Avenue 50 is improved to a four-lane, divided Primary Arterial. At the

intersections, Avenue 50 consists of one left-turn lane, two through lanes, and

one right-turn lane;

Avenue 51 is improved to a four-lane, divided Secondary Arterial. At the

intersections, Avenue 51 consists of one left-turn lane, two through lanes, and

one defacto right-turn lane; and

Avenue 52 is improved to a six-lane, divided Major Arterial. At the intersections,
Avenue 52 consists of one left-turn lane, three through lanes, and one right-turn
lane.

Forecast General Plan Buildout Without Project Conditions Peak Hour Level of

Service

In response to widening the roadways to satisfy General Plan buildout conditions, the

following intersections are assumed to be signalized:

Calhoun Street/Avenue 50;
Van Buren Street/Avenue 50;
Frederick Street/Avenue 50; and

JN 20-100472 87 April 27, 2004Page 831

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Van Buren Street/Avenue 52.

Table 19, Forecast General Plan Buildout Without Project Peak Hour LOS, summarizes

forecast General Plan buildout without Project conditions a.m. and p.m. peak hour

average stopped delay per vehicle and corresponding LOS of the study intersections;

detailed HCM analysis sheets are provided in Appendix B.

Table 19

FORECAST GENERAL PLAN BUILDOUT WITHOUT PROJECT PEAK HOUR LOS

AM Peak Hour PM' Peak Hour

Study Intersection
Delay LOS Delay LOS

Calhoun StlAvenue 50 (Stop) 10.6 B 10.4 B

Calhoun St/Avenue 51 (Stop) 8.9 A 11.7 B

Van Buren StlAvenue 50 (Stop) 12.9 B 12.1 B

Van Buren StlAvenue 51 (Stop) 9.6 A 12.2 B

Van Buren St/Avenue 52 (Stop) 11.7 B 12.8 B

Frederick St/Avenue 50 (Stop) 14.4 B 14.0 B

Frederick St/Avenue 51 (Stop) 10.5 B 21.9 C

Harrison St/Avenue 50 (Signal) 18.6 B 39.2 D

Note: Deficient intersection operation shown in bold,

Source: RBF Consulting, 58 Acre Kirkjan Site Trattic Impact Analysis, March 19, 2004.

As shown in Table 19, one study intersection is forecast to operate at an unacceptable

LOS (LOS D or worse) according to City of Coachella performance criteria for forecast

General Plan buildout without Project conditions:

Harrison Street/Avenue 50 (p.m. peak hour only).

Forecast General Plan Buildout Without Project Conditions Recommended

Improvements

To eliminate the forecast General Plan buildout without Project conditions deficiency at

the study intersection, the following improvement is recommended:

Harrison Street/Avenue 50 -Modify eastbound Avenue 50 approach signal-timing

to include aright-turn overlap.

Assuming implementation of the recommended improvement, Table 20, Forecast

Improved General Plan Buildout Without Project Conditions Peak Hour LOS, shows the

forecast LOS of the study intersection for forecast General Plan buildout without Project

conditions; detailed HCM analysis sheets are provided in Appendix B.

JN 20-100472 88 April 27, 2004
Page 832

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Table 20

FORECAST IMPROVED GENERAL PLAN BUILDOUT WITHOUT PROJECT
CONDITIONS PEAK HOUR LOS

Stud Intersection
AM Peak-flour PM Peak Houi•

y
Delay LOS Delay LOS

Harrison St/Avenue 50 (Signal) 17.7 B 23.9 C

Source: RBF Consulting, 58 Acre Kirkjan Site Traffic Impact Analysis, March 19, 2004.

As shown in Table 20, assuming implementation of the recommended improvement, the

deficient study intersection is forecast to operate at an acceptable LOS (LOS C or better)
during the a.m. and p.m. peak hours for forecast General Plan buildout without Project
conditions.

FORECAST GENERAL PLAN BUILDOUT WITH PROJECT CONDITIONS

This section analyzes the impact of adding trips forecast to be generated by the

proposed Project to forecast General Plan buildout without Project traffic conditions.

Forecast General Plan buildout with Project traffic volumes were derived by adding
Project -generated trips to forecast General Plan buildout without Project traffic volumes.
This represents the net difference in trips generated by the current existing General Plan

agricultural-preserve zoning, which is assumed to not generate any trips and trips
generated by the proposed General Plan Amendment (GPA). With the addition of this

Project, a GPA would allow for up to ten dwelling units per acre, which is assumed for

this analysis. Forecast buildout with Project conditions assume implementation of

improvements recommended to eliminate forecast General Plan buildout without Project
deficiencies.

Forecast General Plan Buildout With Project Conditions Peak Hour Level of

Service

Table 21, Forecast General Plan Buildout With Project Peak Hour LOS, summarizes the

forecast General Plan buildout with Project conditions a.m. and p.m. peak hour average
stopped delay per vehicle and corresponding LOS of the study intersections; detailed
HCM analysis sheets are provided in Appendix B.

As shown in Table 21, all study intersections are forecast to operate at an acceptable
LOS (LOS C or better) according to City of Coachella performance criteria for forecast
General Plan buildout with Project conditions.

SUMMARY

All study intersections are currently operating at an acceptable LOS (LOS C or better)
during the a.m. and p.m. peak hours according to City of Coachella performance criteria.

The proposed Project
include approximately
trips.

is forecast to generate approximately 2,220 daily trips, which

179 a.m. peak hour trips, and approximately 237 p.m. peak hour

JN 20-100472 89 April 27, 2004Page 833

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Stady No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Table 21

FORECAST GENERAL PLAN BUILDOUT WITH PROJECT PEAK HOUR LOS

Forecast£improved General Plan

Buildout WithoutPro'ect

Forecast GenerafPlan
Buildout Nith=P,ro'ect

Study Intersection AMPeak Hour PM Peak Hour AM Peak Hour I?M'Peak'Hour

Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay
LOS

Calhoun St/Avenue 50 (Signal) 10.6 B 10.4 B 10.4 B 10.5 B

Calhoun StlAvenue 51 (Stop) 8.9 A 11.7 B 8.9 A 11.7 B

Van Buren St/Avenue 50 (Signal) 12.9 B 12.1 B 12.9 B 12.1 B

Van Buren St/Avenue 51 (Stop) 9.6 A 12.2 B 9.7 A 12.5 B

Van Buren St/Avenue 52 (Stop) 11.7 B 12.8 B 11.9 B 12.9 B

Frederick St/Avenue 50 (Signal) 14.4 B 14.0 B 14.3 B 14.0 B

Frederick StlAvenue 51 (Stop) 10.5 B 21.9 C 10.1 B 16.0 C

Harrison St/Avenue 50 (Signal) 17.7 B 23.9 C 19.0 B 25.1 C

Source: RBF Consulting, 58 Acre Kirkjan Site Traffic Impact Analysis, March 19, 2004.

Two study intersections are forecast to operate at an unacceptable LOS (LOS D or

worse) according to City of Coachella performance criteria for forecast year 2005 with

Project conditions:

Van Buren StreeUAvenue 50 (p.m. peak hour only); and

Frederick Street/Avenue 50 (p.m. peak hour only).

To eliminate the forecast year 2005 with Project conditions deficiencies at the two study

intersections, the following mitigation measures are recommended:

Van Buren Street/Avenue 50 -Modify eastbound Avenue 50 approach from one

left-turn lane and one shared through/right-turn lane to consist of one left-turn

lane, one through lane, and one shared through/right-turn lane.

Frederick Street/Avenue 50 -Modify westbound Avenue 50 approach from one

left-turn lane, one through lane, and one right-turn lane to consist of one left-turn

lane, one through lane, and one shared through/right-turn lane.

Assuming implementation of the recommended mitigation measures, the two study

intersections are forecast to operate at an acceptable LOS (LOS C or better) during the

a.m. and p.m. peak hours for forecast year 2005 with Project conditions.

The Project applicant's payment to the Coachella Valley Association of Governments

CVAG) Transportation Uniform Mitigation Fund (TUMF) Fee Program and to the City of

Coachella Environmental Fee Program For Traffic Signals shall pay for the Project's fair

share contribution to the identified mitigation measures. Implementation of the

recommended mitigation measures would reduce impacts to a less than significant level.

JN 20-100472 90 April 27, 2004
Page 834

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 04-04, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

All study intersections are forecast to operate at an acceptable LOS (LOS C or better)
according to City of Coachella performance criteria for forecast General Plan buildout
with Project conditions. No mitigation measures are required for forecast General Plan
buildout with Project conditions and therefore, impacts would be less than significant in
this regard.

Mitigation Measure:

TR1 The Project applicant's payment to the Coachella Valley Association of
Governments (CVAG) Transportation Uniform Mitigation Fund (TUMF) Fee

Program and to the City of Coachella Environmental Fee Program For Traffic

Signals shall pay for the Project's fair share contribution to the identified

mitigation measures as follows:

Van Buren StreebAvenue 50 -Modify eastbound Avenue 50 approach
from one left-turn Lane and one shared through/right-turn lane to
consist of one left-turn lane, one through lane, and one shared

through/right-turn lane.

Frederick Street/Avenue 50 -Modify westbound Avenue 50 approach
from one left-turn lane, one through lane, and one right-turn lane to
consist of one left-turn lane, one through lane, and one shared

through/right-turn lane.

TR2 The City of Coachella has determined that there is a need for improvements
that are caused by new development and for which a shared responsibility for
constructing exists. The study prepared by the Department of Community
Development regarding Proposed New Development Impact Fees has been

prepared and is available for review. Payment of a fair share amount would
serve to mitigate the impact of new development, as follows: The approved
development impact fee for Trafrrc Signal be paid at the time permits are

issued. A fee shall be paid at the time the permits are issued as a mitigated of
the environmental impacts associated with this project. The fees shall be as

follows: Building - $192.00 per dwelling unit.

TR3 The City of Coachella has determined that there is a need for improvements
that are caused by new development and for which a shared responsibility for

constructing exists. The study prepared by the Department of Community
Development regarding Proposed New Development Impact Fees has been

prepared and is available for review. Payment of a fair share amount would
serve to mitigate the impact of new development as follows: The approved
development impact fee for Bridge and Grade Separation be paid at that
permits are issued. If permits are issued prior to the approval of a

development impact fee, a fee shall be paid at the time the permits are issued
as a mitigation of the environmental impacts associated with this project. The
fee shall be as follows: Buildings - $422.00 per dwelling unit.

TR4 The City of Coachella has determined that there is'a need for improvements
that are caused by new development and for which a shared responsibility for

constructing exists. The study prepared by the Department of Community
Development regarding Proposed New Development Impact Fees has been
prepared and is available for review. Payment of a fair share amount would
serve to mitigate the impact of new development. The approved development
impact fee for Bus Shelter and Bus Stop Safety Zone shall be paid at the time

JN 20-100472 91 April 27, 2004Page 835

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

permits are issued. A fee shall be paid at the time the permits are issued as a

mitigation for environmental impacts associated with the project. The fees

shall be as follows: Bus Shelters - $50.00 per dwelling unit.

b) Exceed, either individually or cumulatively, a level of service standard established by the

county congestion management agency for designated roads or highways?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigation Incorporated. Refer to Response

4.15(a).

c) Result in a change in air traffic patterns, including either an increase in traffic levels or a

change in location that results in substantial safety risks?

No Impact. Since the Project site is not located within the direct flight path of the Desert

Resorts Regional Airport, an increase in traffic levels or change in location that would

result in substantial safety risks are not anticipated to occur. Therefore, there would be

no impact in this regard.

d) Substantially increase hazards due to a design feature (e.g., sharp curves or dangerous

intersections) or incompatible uses (e. g., farm equipment)?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigation Incorporated. Project site access is

proposed at one full-access location and two right-in-right-out only access location on

Avenue 50 and one full-access location on Avenue 51. The proposed Project is subject
to the provisions of the City of Coachella design standards in order to alleviate design
features and safety hazards, which would reduce potential impacts to a less than

significant level. However, the following mitigation measure is recommended to ensure

transportation safety and visibility impacts remain at or below existing levels.

Mitigation Measure:

TR5 Prior to Project plan approval, the quantity, location, width and type of

driveways shall be subject to the approval of the City Engineer. An effective

sight distance for vehicular traffic shall be maintained at the driveway
entrances on Avenue 50 and Calhoun Street. Adequate sight distance shall

also be maintained within the development at all driveway intersections to the

satisfaction of the City Engineer.

e) Result in inadequate emergency access?

Less Than Significant Impact. The Project proposes ingress/egress locations off of

Avenue 50 and Calhoun Street. The site plan must satisfy all City of Coachella design
standards related to emergency access. Thus, no significant impacts are anticipated in

this regard.

f) Result in inadequate parking capacity?

Less Than Significant Impact. Section 070.03. Parking Requirements, identifies the

parking requirements for residential uses. Section 4(a), Residential Uses, requires two

parking spaces per dwelling unit, both to be in an enclosed garage. The proposed

Project would be required to comply with this parking requirement, therefore, impacts in

this regard would be less than significant.

JN 20-100472 92 April 27, 2004
Page 836

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

g) Conflict with adopted policies, plans, or programs supporting alternative transportation
e.g., bus turnouts, bicycle racks)?

No Impact, Due to the nature and scope of the proposed Project, no impacts are

anticipated in regards to alternative transportation.

4.16 UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS. Would the project:

a) Exceed wastewater treatment requirements of the applicable Regional Water Quality
Control Board?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigation Incorporated. Refer to Response
4.8(a).

Mitigafion Measures: Refer to Mitigation Measures HYD1 through HYD5.

b) Require or result in the construction of new wafer or wastewater treatment facilities or

expansion of existing facilities, the construction of which could cause significant
environmental effects?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigation Incorporated. The Coachella Sanitary
District (CSD) is responsible for the provision of wastewater treatment facilities that
serve the Project site. The existing sewer collection system is composed of small
diameter pipe with larger diameter pipes serving as interceptors at Harrison and

Highway 111; east to west between Avenue 52 and Avenue 53; parallel to the

stormwater channel north of Avenue 54; and in Avenue 54 from Van Buren to the

existing wastewater treatment plant (WWTP). The WWTP has a designed capacity of
2.8 million gallons per day (MGD). Currently, the average daily flow is 1.9 MGD or 68

percent capacity.

Based on CSD generation factors, residential uses generate 646 gallons of wastewater

per day per acre.10 Therefore, the proposed Project ( 58 acres) would generate
approximately 37,468 gallons of wastewater per day. This represents approximately 0.1

percent of the anticipated increase in wastewater generation upon buildout of the
General Plan, which is anticipated to be approximately 34.5 million gallons of

wastewater per day. In addition, the increase of 37,468 gallons of wastewater per day
would represent less than one percent of the current flow. Therefore, development of

the proposed Project would not result in significant impacts to wastewater facilities.

However, mitigation measures have been included in order to ensure impacts to

wastewater facilities are reduced to a less than significant level.

The Coachella Municipal Water Department serves the incorporated area of the City,
including the Project site, with potable water. As discussed above, the City relies on

groundwater extraction from the Whitewater River sub-basin as its chief source of

potable water. Using water from this source, the City operates a water supply, storage
and delivery system consisting of wells, reservoirs, booster stations and distribution
lines.

Wastewater generation rates based on the General Plan EIR, Table 3.10-4. The generation rate for residential land

use is 646 gallons per day per acre.

JN 20-100472 93 April 27, 2004Page 837

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Currently, the City has two reservoirs; a 1.5 million gallon (MG) water tank located south

of 46th Avenue and west of Polk Street. The second storage tank is 3.6 MG is located

near 51St Avenue, west of Highway 86. The City's water system employs the use of four

active wells with a t total production capacity of approximately 3,750 gallons per minute

2.6 MGD). The City's existing water system is organized around two pressure zones.

The Project site is located within the lower zone that lies south of 48th Avenue, bounded

by Van Buren on the west, the Coachella Valley Storm Drain on the east and 54th

Avenue on the south.

Based on generation factors from the City of Coachella Water Master Plan, residential

uses have a demand factor 1,121 gallons of water per day per acre." Therefore, the

proposed Project (58 acres) would increase water demand by 65,018 gallons of water

per day. This represents approximately 0.5 percent of the anticipated increase in water

demand upon buildout of the General Plan (approximately 12.1 million GPD). Therefore,

development of the proposed Project would not result in significant impacts to water

facilities.

Mitigation Measures:

UTIL1 All required sewer improvements shall be designed and constructed to City
Standards. All tentative tract maps, site plans and other plans within the

Project area shall be accompanied by adequate plans for sewer

improvements prepared by a registered professional engineer.

Water generation rates based on the General Plan EIR, Table 3.10-2. The generation rate for residential land use is

1,121 gallons per day per acre.

JN 20-100472 94 April 27, 2004Page 838

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental lnifia/Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Projecf Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

c) Require or result in the construction of new storm water drainage facilities or expansion
of existing facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmenfal

effects?

Less Than Significant Impact With Mitigation Incorporated. The Coachella Valley
Stormwater District merged with the Coachella Valley Water District in 1937, which

presently maintains regional flood control facilities in the valley. Within the Project area,

the west side of the Whitewater River channel has been lined with concrete north of

Avenue 50 and is designed to handle 82,000 cubic feet per second (cfs) or the Standard

Project Flood (SPF) which is defined as the largest flood which can occur within a given
area. The SPF is determined using meteorological data, hydrological data and historical

records and is equal to more than twice the amount of flow associated with a 100-year
storm event (42,000 cfs).

The proposed Project would be subject to requirements of the NPDES that would reduce

impacts to the storm water drainage systems. Also, Project storm drain improvements
shall be subject to City review and approval. The following mitigation measures are

recommended to ensure storm water drainage impacts remain at or below existing
levels.

Mitigation Measures:

UTIL2 Prior to the issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit for

approval of the City Engineering Department, a Water Quality Management
Plan (WQMP) specifically identifying Best Management Practices (BMPs)
that shall be used on-site to control predictable pollutant runoff.

d) Have sufficient water supplies available to serve the project from existing entitlements

and resources, or are new or expanded entitlements needed?

Less Than Significant Impact. Refer to Responses 4.8(b) and 4.16(b).

e) Result in a determination by the wastewater treatment provider which serves or may
serve the project that it has adequate capacity to serve the project's projected demand in

addition to the provider's existing commitments?

Less Than Significant Impact Refer to Response 4.16(a).

f) Be served by a landfill with sufficient permitted capacity to accommodate the project's
solid waste disposal needs?

Less Than Significant Impact. The City of Coachella currently contracts with Western

Waste Industries (WWI) for solid waste collection and disposal services. WWI has

curbside recycling programs for single-family residences along with voluntary programs.

Currently, WWI estimates a diversion rate of approximately 61 percent. Solid waste that
is not otherwise diverted is disposed of at either the Arvin Sanitary Landfill, Azusa Land

Reclamation Landfill, Lamb Canyon Disposal site, the Badlands Landfill or the Mesquite
Landfill. The City of Coachella generated a total of 22,301 tons of solid waste in 2002.12

1z
California Integrated Waste Management Board, Jurisdiction Disposal and ADC by Facility, Updated

March 2, 2004.

JN 20-100472 95 April 27, 2004
Page 839

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

The California Integrated Waste Management Act, AB 939, required jurisdictions to

divert 50 percent of the waste stream away from land disposal by the year 2000.

According to a study prepared for Riverside County, the incorporated City of Coachella

diverted approximately 57 percent of their solid waste in 1990, through recycling and

composting.13 Since 1995, the City has diverted on average 54 percent of the City's

solid waste.14

Proposed demolition and construction activities would generate construction debris from

development of the Project site. Post development operations resulting from

development of 232 single-family residential units would further increase the volume of

solid waste generated from the Project site. Based upon a generation factor of 2.27

pounds per person per year, the proposed Project would generate approximately 2,529

pounds (1.1 tons) of solid waste a year.15

The addition of 1.1 tons of solid waste generated as a result of the proposed Project

represents 0.8 percent of the anticipated solid waste generated from buildout of the

General Plan (approximately 144 tons per year). In addition, the volume of the Project's

solid waste, ultimately disposed of at the landfills would be reduced due to the

requirements of AB 939. Therefore, impacts in this regard would be less than

significant.

g) Comply with federal, state, and local statutes and regulations related to solid waste?

Less Than Significant Impact. Refer to Response 4.16(f).

4.17 MANDATORY FINDINGS OF SIGNIFICANCE.

a) Does the project have the potential to degrade the quality of the environment,

substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife

population to drop below self-sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or animal

community, reduce the number or restrict the range of a rare or endangered plant or

animal or eliminate important examples of the major periods of California history or

prehistory?

Less Than Significant Impact. A total of five special status species were identified on

the Project site. Therefore, mitigation measures including performing spring surveys and

requiring protection or relocation of the species, have been included which would reduce

impacts to special status plants to a less than significant impact. In addition, the

burrowing owl and the Coachella Valley Round-tailed Ground Squirrel were either

identified on-site or have a potential to occur at the Project site. As a result, mitigation

measures have been recommended which would require further surveying and

protection of the special status wildlife species. Therefore, with implementation of the

recommended mitigation measures, the proposed Project would not have the potential to

degrade the quality of the environment.

b) Does the project have impacts that are individually limited, but cumulatively

considerable? ("Cumulatively considerable" means that the incremental effects of a

13
CHM Hill, Riverside County Waste Generation Study, June 1991.

14
California Integrated Waste Management Board, Jurisdiction Diversion Rate Summary, Updated March 2,

2004.
S

City of Coachella, General Plan EIR, Table 3.10-6.

JN 20-100472 96 April 27, 2004

Page 840

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

project are considerable when viewed in connection with the effects of past projects, the

effects of other current projects, and the effects of probable future projects)?

Less Than Significant Impact. Although the Project may incrementally affect other

resources that were determined to be less than significant, the Project's contribution to

these effects is not considered "cumulatively considerable", in consideration of the less

than significant impacts associated with the proposed Project, with implementation of the

recommended mitigation measures. In addition, each project would be evaluated on a

case by case basis and mitigation would be implemented to ensure that impacts would

be reduced to the maximum extent feasible.

c) Does the project have environmental effects which will cause substantial adverse effects

on human beings, either directly or indirectly?

Less Than Significant Impact. Section 4.0, Environmental Analysis, reviewed the

proposed Project's potential impacts related to air pollution, noise, public health and

safety, traffic and other issues. As explained in these sections, the proposed Project
would not cause substantial adverse effects on human beings.

JN 20-100472 97 April 27, 2004
Page 841

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

5.0 REFERENCES

5.1 Environmental Evaluation Personnel

RBF Consulfing

Mr. Eddie Torres, INCE, Project Manager
Ms. Lindsay Anderson, Environmental Analyst

Lead Agency

City of Coachella

Gabriel E. Papp
1515 Sixth Street

Coachella, CA 92236

5.2 Reference Documents

The following references were utilized during preparation of this Initial Study/Negative

Declaration.

Archaeological Resource Management Corporation, Report of Phase I Archaeological

Assessment for 58-Acre Parcel, January 14, 2004.

BonTerra Consulting, Biological Resources Assessment fora 58-Acre site in the Citv of

Coachella Riverside County, California, January 14, 2004.

California Department of Finance, County Population and Housing Statistics Table E-5, 2003.

California Environmental Resources Evaluation System, website: http://ceres.ca.aov/.

City of Coachella, General Plan 2020, October 1998.

City of Coachella, General Plan Housing Update, October 2001.

County of Riverside, Riverside County Comprehensive General Plan, Fourth Edition, March 6,

1984.

Department of Conservation, California Geological Survey website: www.consrv.ca.gov.

RBF Consulting, 58-Acre Kirkjan Site Traffic Impact Analysis, March 18, 2004.

RBF Consulting, Air Quality Assessment -Kirkjan Property, March 25, 2004.

RBF Consulting, Phase I Environmental Site Assessment 58-Acre Kirkjan Property, February 6,

2004.

South Coast Air Quality Management District, CEQA Air Quality Handbook, 1993.

JN 20-100472 98 April 27, 2004

Page 842

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 0405 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 0404, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

Southern California Association of Governments, Regional Comprehensive Plan and Guide,
May 1995.

The Thomas Guide, San Bernardino and Riverside Counties, 2003.

United States Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service, United States Department
of the Interior, Bureau of Indian Affairs in cooperation with the University of California

Agricultural Experiment Station, Soil Survey for Western Riverside Area, California.

November1971.

United States Department of the Interior, Geological Survev Fallbrook Quadrangle 1968,
revised 1988.

JN 20-100472 99 April 27, 2004
Page 843

Item 36.



City of Coachella Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration

58-Acre Kirkjan Project

6.0 CONSULTANT RECOMMENDATION

Based on the information and environmental analysis contained in this Initial Study/Negative

Declaration, we recommend that the City of Coachella prepare a Negative Declaration for this

project. We find that the Kirkjan Project would not have a significant effect on environmental

issues, and that issues identified were either at a Less Than Significant or No Impact level. We

recommend that the first category be selected for the Lead Agency's determination (refer to

Section 7.0, Lead Agency Determination).

f, ~` ~

Eddie Torres

Project Manager, Environmental Services

RBF Consulting

3~3I ~®~f
Date

JIV 20-100472 100 April 27, 2004

Page 844

Item 36.



City of Coachella Environmental Initial Study No. 04-05 /Mitigated Negative Declaration
58-Acre Kirkjan Project Change of Zone No. 04-04, Tentative Tract Map No. 32075

7.0 LEAD AGENCY DETERMINATION

On the basis of this initial evaluation:

I find that the proposed project COULD NOT have a significant effect on

the environment, and a NEGATIVE DECLARATION will be prepared.

I find that although the proposed project could have a significant effect on

the environment, there will not be a significant effect in this case because
the appropriate mitigation measures have been added. A MITIGATED

NEGATIVE DECLARATION will be prepared.

I find that the proposed project MAY have a significant effect on the

environment, and an ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT is required.

I find that the proposed project MAY have a significant effect(s) on the

environment, but at least one effect 1) has been adequately analyzed in

an earlier document pursuant to applicable legal standards, and 2) has
been addressed by mitigation measures based on the earlier analysis as

described on attached sheets, if the effect is a "potentially significant
impact" or " potentially significant unless mitigated." An

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT is required, but it must analyze
only the effects that remain to be addressed.

n ~~ 2 ~
Gabriel E. Papp
City of Coachella

Date

JN 20-100472 101 April 27, 2004Page 845

Item 36.



Design Review Date: 

Sheet Index
 Cover 

 Streetscene  SS

 4019-1  Floor Plan ®A® - Spanish  1

 4019-1  Front Elevations  1.1

 4019-1  Elevations ®A®- Spanish  2

 4019-1  Floor Plan ®B® - Prairie  3

 4019-1  Elevations 'B' - Prairie  4

 4019-1  Floor Plan ®C® - Craftsman  5

 4019-1  Elevations 'C' - Craftsman  6

 3823-1  Floor Plan ®A®- Spanish  7

 3823-1  Front Elevations  7.1

 3823-1  Elevations ®A® - Spanish  8

 3823-1  Floor Plan ®B®- Prairie  9

 3823-1  Elevations ®B®- Prairie  10

 3823-1  Floor Plan ®C® - Craftsman  11

 3823-1  Elevations 'C' - Craftsman  12

 4028-2  Floor Plan ®A®- Spanish  13

 4028-2  Front Elevations  13.1

 4028-2  Elevations ®A® - Spanish  14

 4028-2  Floor Plan ®B® - Prairie  15

 4028-2  Elevations 'B' - Prairie  16

 4028-2  Floor Plan ®C® - Craftsman  17

 4028-2  Elevations ®C® - Craftsman  18

February 18, 2021

Coachella 107
Coachella, CA

Page 846

Item 36.



(c) Copyright 2019 PulteGroup, Inc.

4028-2 2,825 SQ. FT.
OPTIONS

Note:  Colors in this rendering may not be accurately represented due to printing.  Please refer to the actual paint chips in the DR package.
STREETSCENE SS

4028-1 A
SPANISH

4019-1 C
CRAFTSMAN

3823-2 B
PRAIRIE

Page 847

Item 36.



Page 848

Item 36.



(c) Copyright 2019 PulteGroup, Inc.

4028-2 2,825 SQ. FT.
OPTIONS

Note:  Colors in this rendering may not be accurately represented due to printing.  Please refer to the actual paint chips in the DR package.
1.1FRONT ELEVATIONS

A - SPANISH

B - PRAIRIEC - CRAFTSMAN

4019-1         1,959 SQ. FT.

Page 849

Item 36.



Note:  Colors in this rendering may not be accurately represented due to printing.  Please refer to the actual paint chips in the DR package.

Page 850

Item 36.



3823-1         2,404 SQ. FT.

Page 851

Item 36.



Note:  Colors in this rendering may not be accurately represented due to printing.  Please refer to the actual paint chips in the DR package.

Page 852

Item 36.



3823-1         2,404 SQ. FT.

Page 853

Item 36.



Note:  Colors in this rendering may not be accurately represented due to printing.  Please refer to the actual paint chips in the DR package.

Page 854

Item 36.



Page 855

Item 36.



(c) Copyright 2019 PulteGroup, Inc.

4028-2 2,825 SQ. FT.
OPTIONS

Note:  Colors in this rendering may not be accurately represented due to printing.  Please refer to the actual paint chips in the DR package.
7.1

A - SPANISH

B - PRAIRIEC - CRAFTSMAN

FRONT ELEVATIONS
3823-1         2,404 SQ. FT.

Page 856

Item 36.



Note:  Colors in this rendering may not be accurately represented due to printing.  Please refer to the actual paint chips in the DR package.

Page 857

Item 36.



Page 858

Item 36.



Note:  Colors in this rendering may not be accurately represented due to printing.  Please refer to the actual paint chips in the DR package.

Page 859

Item 36.



Page 860

Item 36.



Note:  Colors in this rendering may not be accurately represented due to printing.  Please refer to the actual paint chips in the DR package.

Page 861

Item 36.



Page 862

Item 36.



(c) Copyright 2019 PulteGroup, Inc.

4028-2 2,825 SQ. FT.
OPTIONS

Note:  Colors in this rendering may not be accurately represented due to printing.  Please refer to the actual paint chips in the DR package. 13.1

A - SPANISH

B - PRAIRIEC - CRAFTSMAN

FRONT ELEVATIONS
Page 863

Item 36.



Note:  Colors in this rendering may not be accurately represented due to printing.  Please refer to the actual paint chips in the DR package.

Page 864

Item 36.



Page 865

Item 36.



Note:  Colors in this rendering may not be accurately represented due to printing.  Please refer to the actual paint chips in the DR package.

Page 866

Item 36.



Page 867

Item 36.



Note:  Colors in this rendering may not be accurately represented due to printing.  Please refer to the actual paint chips in the DR package.

Page 868

Item 36.



Coachella 107


for

Internal Architect

2.19.21
NOTE: All photographs of stone, brick, masonry and roof tiles are for representation only - See actual samples for exact colors. 

MBACC not responsible for manufacturer color printed materials being off from actual materials.

Single Family Homes
Coachella, CA

Elevations designed by

Exterior Color Schemes 
for Approval Only

Page 869

Item 36.



Coachella 107 at Coachella, CA
Pulte Homes
EXTERIOR COLOR SCHEMES DOCUMENT (ECS)

10.31.19 MBACI 10519aspen

STUCCO: OMEGA STUCCO - SAND FINISH STONE: CORONADO STONE PRODUCTS
PAINT: BRICK: CORONADO THIN BRICK 
ROOF: MORTAR: OBP MAC PLUS: STANDARD GREY

GARAGE DOORS: GUTTERS ONLY: RGS COLORS

COLOR SCHEME
COLOR APPLICATION A 1 2 3
STUCCO BODY PAINT MATCH
FOR RENDERING/ BINDER PURPOSES ONLY

SW 0050                 
CLASSIC LIGHT BUFF

SW 7051                
ANALYTICAL GRAY

SW 9112
SONG THRUSH

STUCCO BODY  / ROLLED STUCCO FASCIA 5/8 -A872 3/4 -236 1551
STUCCO BODY ACCENT /
INCLUDING GABLE ACCENT WHERE NOTATED

SW 7051       
ANALYTICAL GRAY

SW 7046          
ANONYMOUS

SW 6103
TEA CHEST

FASCIA / EAVES / ALL TRIM SW 7040                 
SMOKEHOUSE

SW 7055      
ENDURING BRONZE

SW 7036
ACCESSIBLE BEIGE

GARAGE DOORS:                                                                   
WAYNE DALTON STANDARD COLORS DESERT TAN TAUPE DESERT TAN

FRONT DRS SW 7621           
SILVERMIST

SW 7701                    
CAVERN

SW 7679
GOLDEN GATE

SHUTTERS SW 0047                      
STUDIO BLUE GREEN

SW 2803   
ROOKWOOD TERRA COTTA

SW 6153
BRONZE PROTÉGÉ

DECORATIVE METAL & RAILINGS / ACCENT 
HINGES, RINGS ETC ON SHUTTERS

SW 7069                 
IRON ORE

SW 7069                 
IRON ORE

SW 7069
IRON ORE

GUTTERS RUSTIC BROWN TERRATONE BUCKSKIN BROWN

1BCCS 6031                       
LA TERRA BLEND

1BCCS 0300                       
BRONZE PEARL

1BCCS 6160
AUTUMN BLEND

COLOR SCHEME
COLOR APPLICATION B 4 5 6
STUCCO BODY PAINT MATCH
FOR RENDERING/ BINDER PURPOSES ONLY

SW 7541                 
GRECIAN IVORY

SW 7529                       
SAND BEACH

SW 7671
ON THE ROCKS

STUCCO BODY 1523 15 1/2 -414
FASCIA / EAVES /
ALL TRIM 

SW 7562                 
ROMAN COLUMN

SW 7047                 
PORPOISE

SW 7546
PRAIRIE GRASS

GARAGE DOORS:                                                                   
WAYNE DALTON STANDARD COLORS WHITE TAUPE DESERT TAN

ENTRY DOORS /
SHUTTERS

SW 6258                                
TRICORN BLACK

SW 2735                 
ROCKWEED

SW 7061
NIGHT OWL

GUTTERS HIGH GLOSS WHITE TERRATONE ADOBE TAN

1FBCJ 1132   
CHARCOAL BROWN

1FBCJ 3233                               
BROWN BLEND

1FBCJ 4598
FOREST GREEN BLEND

COLOR SCHEME
COLOR APPLICATION C 7 8 9
STUCCO BODY PAINT MATCH
FOR RENDERING/ BINDER PURPOSES ONLY

SW 9165                 
GOSSAMER VEIL

SW 7045                 
INTELLECTUAL GRAY

SW 7528
WINDSOR GREIGE

STUCCO BODY D26 1/4 A-876 A 216
FASCIA / EAVES / ALL TRIM  / WOOD RAILS SW 7005                              

PURE WHITE
SW 6146
UMBER

SW 7526
MAISON BLANCHE

GABLE SIDING INSETS SW 7663                 
MONORAIL SILVER

SW 7564    
POLAR BEAR

SW 6200
LINK GRAY

GARAGE DOORS:                                                                   
WAYNE DALTON STANDARD COLORS WHITE ALMOND ALMOND

FRONT DRS /
SHUTTERS

SW 6068                 
BREVITY BROWN

SW 7645                  
THUNDER GRAY

SW 7545
PIER

OLD WORLD LEDGESTONE:                                                            
GREY QUARTZITE

OLD WORLD LEDGESTONE:
ETOWAH

OLD WORLD LEDGESTONE:
CAPE COD GREY

GUTTERS HIGH GLOSS WHITE BUCKSKIN BROWN LIGHT PECAN

1FECY 4070                 
SEA PEARL BLEND

1FECY 3181
SMOKEY TOPAZ

1FECY 4072
SAHARA QUARTZ

All Colors and Materials are recommendations based solely upon aesthetic value for the exclusive internal use by SAID BUILDER. Any other use is prohibited.

MBACI shall not be held liable for any errors or product failure on manufacturers or contractor/subcontractors part in the field
(i.e. stucco, masonry, paint manufacturers errors, etc).  

NOTE: MANDOORS & VENTS TO BE PAINTED ADJACENT COLOR - UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED
NOTE: ALL PAINT BREAKS TO BE TURNED AND FINISHED AT INSIDE CORNERS, UNDER BALCONIES & CANTILEVERS UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED
NOTE: SUBSTITUTIONS FOR ANY MATERIALS ARE NOT TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE FINAL APPROVAL FROM MBACI OFFICE. 
NOTE: SIDE ENHANCED ELEVATIONS TO RECEIVE TYPICAL TREATMENTS AS FRONT ELEVATIONS. - SEE ELEVATIONS FOR COLOR PLACEMENT
**NOTE: STUCCO has been eye matched to paint by MBACI for rendering use only. Do not use this paint color in field or for an exact match to stucco.
NOTE: All photographs of stone, brick, masonry and roof tiles are for representation only - See actual samples for exact colors.     

 MBACI not responsible for manufacturer color printed materials being off from actual materials.

Color schemes are exclusive property of MBACI. Any reuse of any C & M Selections other than at above said property must receive approval by MBACI.

SHERWIN WILLIAMS

FULL 'S' ROOF TILE

STONE VENEER  

A'  ELEVATIONS 

FLAT SHAKE ROOF TILE

B'  ELEVATIONS

BORAL ROOFING

FLAT SLATE ROOF TILE 

C'   ELEVATIONS 

WAYNE DALTON GARAGE DOOR STANDARD

Page 870

Item 36.



Exterior Color Scheme

MATERIAL SPECIFICATION Sherwin Williams 
Paint

Omega Stucco

STUCCO BODY PAINT MATCH
FOR RENDERING/ BINDER PURPOSES 
ONLY

SW 0050                                                                                                                          
CLASSIC LIGHT BUFF

STUCCO BODY  /        
ROLLED STUCCO FASCIA 5/8 -A872

STUCCO BODY ACCENT /                                                                                                                               
INCLUDING GABLE ACCENT 
WHERE NOTATED

SW 7051                                                                       
ANALYTICAL GRAY

FASCIA / EAVES / ALL TRIM  SW 7040                                                                                                                               
SMOKEHOUSE

GARAGE DOORS:
WAYNE DALTON
STANDARD COLORS

DESERT TAN

FRONT DRS SW 7621                                                                           
SILVERMIST

SHUTTERS SW 0047                                                                                      
STUDIO BLUE GREEN

METAL DETAILS SW 7069                                                                                                                          
IRON ORE

Pulte Homes

COLOR  
APPLICATION MATERIAL SAMPLE

1
To be used on                                 
'A' - Elevations

Roof Material
BORAL Roofing Materials

1BCCS 6031
LA TERRA BLEND

Full S Profile

Coachella 107

Page 871

Item 36.



Exterior Color Scheme

MATERIAL SPECIFICATION Sherwin Williams 
Paint

Omega Stucco

STUCCO BODY PAINT MATCH
FOR RENDERING/ BINDER PURPOSES 
ONLY

SW 7051                                                                                                                   
ANALYTICAL GRAY

STUCCO BODY  /        
ROLLED STUCCO FASCIA 3/4 -236

STUCCO BODY ACCENT /                                                                                                                               
INCLUDING GABLE ACCENT 
WHERE NOTATED

SW 7046                                                                            
ANONYMOUS

FASCIA / EAVES / ALL TRIM  SW 7055                                                                        
ENDURING BRONZE

GARAGE DOORS:
WAYNE DALTON STANDARD 
COLORS

TAUPE

FRONT DRS SW 7701                                                                                      
CAVERN

SHUTTERS SW 2803                                                                     
RKWD TERRACOTTA

METAL DETAILS SW 7069                                                                                                                          
IRON ORE

1BCCS 0300
BRONZE PEARL

Full S Profile

BORAL Roofing Materials

Coachella 107 2Pulte Homes

To be used on                                 
'A' - Elevations

COLOR  
APPLICATION MATERIAL SAMPLE

Roof Material

Page 872

Item 36.



Exterior Color Scheme

MATERIAL SPECIFICATION Sherwin Williams 
Paint

Omega Stucco

STUCCO BODY PAINT MATCH
FOR RENDERING/ BINDER PURPOSES 
ONLY

SW 9112                                                                                                                          
SONG THRUSH

STUCCO BODY  /        
ROLLED STUCCO FASCIA 1551

STUCCO BODY ACCENT /                                                                                                                               
INCLUDING GABLE ACCENT 
WHERE NOTATED

SW 6103                                                            
TEA CHEST

FASCIA / EAVES / ALL TRIM  SW 7036                                                                                                               
ACCESSIBLE BEIGE

GARAGE DOORS:
WAYNE DALTON STANDARD 
COLORS

DESERT TAN

FRONT DRS SW 7679                                                 
GOLDEN GATE

SHUTTERS SW 6153                                                             
BRONZE PROTÉGÉ

METAL DETAILS SW 7069                                                                                                                          
IRON ORE

1BCCS 6160
AUTUMN BLEND

Full S Profile

BORAL Roofing Materials

Coachella 107 3Pulte Homes

To be used on                                 
'A' - Elevations

COLOR  
APPLICATION MATERIAL SAMPLE

Roof Material

Page 873

Item 36.



Exterior Color Scheme

MATERIAL SPECIFICATION Sherwin Williams 
Paint

Omega Stucco

STUCCO BODY PAINT MATCH
FOR RENDERING/ BINDER PURPOSES 
ONLY

SW 7541                                                                                                                          
GRECIAN IVORY

STUCCO BODY 1523

FASCIA / EAVES /
ALL TRIM 

SW 7562                                                                                                            
ROMAN COLUMN

GARAGE DOORS:
WAYNE DALTON STANDARD 
COLORS

WHITE

ENTRY DOORS /
SHUTTERS

SW 6258                                                                                                
TRICORN BLACK

1FBCJ 1132
CHARCOAL BROWN

Flat Shake Profile

Roof Material
BORAL Roofing Materials

Coachella 107 4Pulte Homes

To be used on                                 
'B' - Elevations

COLOR  
APPLICATION MATERIAL SAMPLE

Page 874

Item 36.



Exterior Color Scheme

MATERIAL SPECIFICATION Sherwin Williams 
Paint

Omega Stucco

STUCCO BODY PAINT MATCH
FOR RENDERING/ BINDER PURPOSES 
ONLY

SW 7529                                                                                                      
SAND BEACH

STUCCO BODY 15

FASCIA / EAVES /
ALL TRIM 

SW 7047                                                                                                                               
PORPOISE

GARAGE DOORS:
WAYNE DALTON STANDARD 
COLORS

TAUPE

ENTRY DOORS /
SHUTTERS

SW 2735                                                                                                              
ROCKWEED

1FBCJ 3233
BROWN BLEND
Flat Shake Profile

Roof Material
BORAL Roofing Materials

Coachella 107 5Pulte Homes

To be used on                                 
'B' - Elevations

COLOR  
APPLICATION MATERIAL SAMPLE

Page 875

Item 36.



Exterior Color Scheme

MATERIAL SPECIFICATION Sherwin Williams 
Paint

Omega Stucco

STUCCO BODY PAINT MATCH
FOR RENDERING/ BINDER PURPOSES 
ONLY

SW 7671                                                                                                                  
ON THE ROCKS

STUCCO BODY 1/2 -414

FASCIA / EAVES /
ALL TRIM 

SW 7546                                                                                                   
PRAIRIE GRASS

GARAGE DOORS:
WAYNE DALTON STANDARD 
COLORS

DESERT TAN

ENTRY DOORS /
SHUTTERS

SW 7061                                                                                                    
NIGHT OWL

1FBCJ 4598
FOREST GREEN BLEND

Flat Shake Profile

Roof Material
BORAL Roofing Materials

Coachella 107 6Pulte Homes

To be used on                                 
'B' - Elevations

COLOR  
APPLICATION MATERIAL SAMPLE

Page 876

Item 36.



Exterior Color Scheme

MATERIAL SPECIFICATION Sherwin Williams 
Paint

Omega Stucco

STUCCO BODY PAINT MATCH
FOR RENDERING/ BINDER PURPOSES 
ONLY

SW 9165                                                                                                                          
GOSSAMER VEIL

STUCCO BODY D26

FASCIA / EAVES /
ALL TRIM 

SW 7005                                                                                              
PURE WHITE

GABLE SIDING INSETS SW 7663                                                                                                 
MONORAIL SILVER

GARAGE DOORS:
WAYNE DALTON STANDARD 
COLORS

WHITE

ENTRY DOORS /
SHUTTERS

SW 6068                                                                                                       
BREVITY BROWN

1FECY 4070
SEA PEARL BLEND

Flat Slate Profile

MASONRY VENEER
Coronado Stone Veneer

OLD WORLD LEDGESTONE:                                                            
GREY QUARTZITE

Roof Material
BORAL Roofing Materials

Coachella 107 7Pulte Homes

To be used on                                 
'C' - Elevations

COLOR  
APPLICATION MATERIAL SAMPLE

Page 877

Item 36.



Exterior Color Scheme

MATERIAL SPECIFICATION Sherwin Williams 
Paint

Omega Stucco

STUCCO BODY PAINT MATCH
FOR RENDERING/ BINDER PURPOSES 
ONLY

SW 7045                                                                                                                          
INTELLECTUAL GRAY

STUCCO BODY 1/4 A-876

FASCIA / EAVES /
ALL TRIM 

SW 6146                                                                  
UMBER

GABLE SIDING INSETS SW 7564                                                                      
POLAR BEAR

GARAGE DOORS:
WAYNE DALTON STANDARD 
COLORS

ALMOND

ENTRY DOORS /
SHUTTERS

SW 7645                                                                                    
THUNDER GRAY

1FECY 3181
SMOKEY TOPAZ

Flat Slate Profile

BORAL Roofing Materials

Coachella 107 8Pulte Homes

To be used on                                 
'C' - Elevations

COLOR  
APPLICATION MATERIAL SAMPLE

MASONRY VENEER
Coronado Stone Veneer

OLD WORLD LEDGESTONE:                                                                         
ETOWAH

Roof Material

Page 878

Item 36.



Exterior Color Scheme

MATERIAL SPECIFICATION Sherwin Williams 
Paint

Omega Stucco

STUCCO BODY PAINT MATCH
FOR RENDERING/ BINDER PURPOSES 
ONLY

SW 7528                                                                                                                          
WINDSOR GREIGE

STUCCO BODY A 216

FASCIA / EAVES /
ALL TRIM 

SW 7526                                                                                                          
MAISON BLANCHE

GABLE SIDING INSETS SW 6200                                                               
LINK GRAY

GARAGE DOORS:
WAYNE DALTON STANDARD 
COLORS

ALMOND

ENTRY DOORS /
SHUTTERS

SW 7545                                                              
PIER

1FECY 4072
SAHARA QUARTZ

Flat Slate Profile

BORAL Roofing Materials

Coachella 107 9Pulte Homes

To be used on                                 
'C' - Elevations

COLOR  
APPLICATION MATERIAL SAMPLE

MASONRY VENEER
Coronado Stone Veneer

OLD WORLD LEDGESTONE:                                                       
CAPE COD GREY

Roof Material

Page 879

Item 36.



 
Attorneys at Law  

1901 Camino Vida Roble, Suite 100 
Carlsbad, California 92008 

 

74-900 Highway 111, Suite 222 
Indian Wells, California 92210 

 
(844) 4DELPHI ♦ Fax: (760) 820-2696 ♦ www.DelphiLLP.com 

_________________________________________________ 
 

 
May 19, 2021 

 

Via Electronic Mail  
 
City of Coachella 
Attn: Planning Commission 
c/o Luis Lopez, Development Services Director 
53990 Enterprise Way 
Coachella, CA 92236 
 
Re:  Prado Homeowners Association 
 Planning Commission Public Hearing on Pulte Coachella Subdivision Project 
 Our File No. 5424 
 
Dear Mr. Lopez and Esteemed Members of the Planning Commission: 
 
Delphi Law Group, LLP, represents the Prado Homeowners Association (“Prado”).  We are 
submitting this letter in advance of the public hearing on May 19, 2021, at which the Planning 
Commission will review Tentative Tract Map (TTM 38084) and Variance (VAR 21-04) as well as 
Architectural Review (AR 21-03). 
 
Prado is located immediately north of the proposed Pulte development and shares a common 
boundary that is perpendicular to Via Prado and Ribera Street. As indicated in the Staff Report 
dated May 19, 2021, Prado has requested that a solid masonry wall be constructed along the 
southerly end of Ribera Street to match the existing walls of the Prado community.  The draft 
Resolutions prepared by staff memorialize the construction of a masonry wall on Ribera Street. 
However, Resolution No. PC2021-06 further indicates that Pulte will be required to work with the 
utility companies to install landscaping and fencing improvements over the public utility easement 
areas along Ribera Street.  No conceptual drawings of the masonry wall and landscaping/ fencing 
have been provided for Prado’s review.  Thus, Prado has no ability to determine exactly where the 
landscaping/ fencing will be located and how these will integrate with the masonry wall.  Accordingly, 
while the Board of Directors is in favor of the construction of a masonry wall along Ribera Street, 
it cannot support the proposed condition of approval and Resolutions until it has had the 
opportunity to review the drawings.  Prado reserves the right to oppose Tentative Tract Map (TTM 
38084) and Variance (VAR 21-04) as well as Architectural Review (AR 21-03) if it determines 
that the proposed masonry wall is unacceptable based upon the drawings presented by Pulte. 
 

Page 880

Item 36.



 
May 19, 2021 
Page 2 
 
Notwithstanding, Prado has a few proposed revisions to the Resolutions. In relation to Resolution 
PC2021-06, section 2 of the Conditions of Approval, we request that, for the sake of clarity, the 
word “perimeter fencing” be revised to “perimeter wall” in the second sentence.   
 
In relation to Resolution PC2021-05, section 3 of the Conditions of Approval, we request that 
language be included requiring Pulte to construct the masonry wall as part of the final grading 
operations of the Pulte project. 
 
We are also requesting that language be inserted into the Conditions of Approval for each 
Resolution indicating that Prado shall have the right to review and approve the final plans for the 
masonry wall and landscaping/ fencing. 
 
We thank you for your consideration of this letter and respectfully request that the revisions we 
have proposed be incorporated into the Resolutions.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
DELPHI LAW GROUP, LLP 

 
Christina Baine DeJardin 
 
cc: Board of Directors 

Page 881

Item 36.



Page 882

Item 36.



Page 883

Item 36.



Page 884

Item 36.



Page 885

Item 36.



 

STAFF REPORT 

6/23/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Cástulo R. Estrada, Utilities Manager  

SUBJECT: Public Hearing and Adoption of the 2020 Regional Urban Water Management, 

Water Shortage Contingency Plan, and Appendix L to the 2015 Urban Water 

Management Plan  
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

The 2020 Regional Urban Water Management Plan and Water Shortage Contingency Plan must 

be submitted to the California Department of Water Resources (DWR) by July 1, 2021. Staff 

recommends that the Council (Board): 

 Adopt the 2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan (RUWMP). 

 Adopt the Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP). 

 Adopt Appendix L as an addendum to the 2015 Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) 

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 
The Coachella Water Authority is required to prepare an Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) every 

five years.  The UWMPs for the 2020 reporting cycle are due to be submitted to the California 

Department of Water Resources (DWR) by July 1, 2021.  The UWMP describes the anticipated water 

supplies and demands for the next 25 years.  It also describes the programs that are in place to 

encourage efficient water use. 

Six agencies in the Coachella Valley worked together to develop a Regional Urban Water Management 

Plan (RUWMP).  The agencies include: 

 Coachella Valley Water District (CVWD) 

 Coachella Water Authority (CWA) 

 Desert Water Agency (DWA) 

 Indio Water Authority (IWA) 

 Mission Springs Water District (MSWD) 

 Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company (MDMWC) 

By collaborating on a RUWMP, the agencies were able to coordinate their assessment of regional water 

supplies.  The report has two main parts.  Chapters 1 through 3 are regional chapters which provide an 

overall introduction, descriptions of the six participating agencies, and an overview of the water supplies 

used in the Coachella Valley.  Chapters 4 through 9 are individual agency chapters.  Each agency chapter 

Page 886

Item 37.



addresses how that participating agency meets its reporting requirements under the Urban Water 

Management Planning Act. 

Each agency’s chapter includes a discussion of compliance with SB X7-7, the required 20-percent 

reduction in per-capita water use by 2020.  Each agency has met its compliance target for reducing 

water use in gallons per capita per day (GPCD) from the baseline.   

In addition to the RUWMP, each agency has prepared a Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP).  The 

WSCP is a document to describe how each agency would respond to a water shortage.  If an extended 

drought or sudden event (like an earthquake) impacted the region’s ability to replenish the groundwater 

basin or the Coachella Water Authority’s ability to provide enough water to meet all customer needs, 

the WSCP may need to be implemented.  Each agency’s WSCP defines six levels of shortage and outlines 

the actions that will be required of customers during each level.  The six agencies aligned the actions in 

their plans as much as possible to maintain consistent requirements and messaging for customers 

throughout the Valley.  These WSCPs are attachments to the RUWMP.  

The agencies received feedback from the community in developing the RUWMP and the WSCPs.  The 

agencies hosted two public workshops and used an on-line collaboration portal to gather additional 

feedback.  If the WSCPs need to be implemented during a water shortage, the agencies will evaluate 

how well they are working and consider making changes if needed.  

Beginning in 2022, each agency will need to prepare an Annual Assessment (AA) that looks at expected 

demands and supplies for the coming year.  The RUWMP participating agencies will collaborate with 

each other, DWR, the Metropolitan Water District of Southern California, and others in preparing the 

assessments.  Each agency will need to submit the AA to DWR by July 1, 2022. 

The agencies have also prepared an appendix to describe how the region is increasing the use of local 

water supplies and reducing reliance on supplies from the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta.  The 

Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta Reform Act of 2009 requires agencies who might propose a new 

conveyance facility or other covered action that involves Delta water to demonstrate consistency with 

the Delta Plan’s policy to reduce reliance on the Delta.  By adopting Appendix L as an addendum to the 

2015 Urban Water Management Plan, the Coachella Water Authority will be able to demonstrate 

consistency with this policy. 

 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

No Fiscal Impact   

Page 887

Item 37.



REGIONAL URBAN WATER
2020
MANAGEMENT PLAN

COACHELLA VALLEY

P U B L I C  R E V I E W  D R A F T   |   M AY  25,  2021
Page 888

Item 37.



 

 

 

 

      

 

 

 

2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban 
Water Management Plan 

 

 

 

Prepared For: 
Coachella Valley Water District 

Coachella Water Authority 
Desert Water Agency 
Indio Water Authority 

Mission Springs Water District 
Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

 

 

6/30/2021 

 

Prepared by Water Systems Consulting, Inc. 

 
 

 

 

Page 889

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

i 

Chapter 1 Introduction ............................................................................................................................. 1-1 
 Purpose ............................................................................................................................................ 1-1 
 RUWMP Organization ...................................................................................................................... 1-2 
 Plain Language Summary ................................................................................................................ 1-3 

Chapter 2 Agency Descriptions .............................................................................................................. 2-1 
 Agencies Participating in RUWMP ................................................................................................... 2-1 

2.1.1 Coachella Valley Water District ................................................................................................. 2-3 
2.1.2 Coachella Water Authority ......................................................................................................... 2-3 
2.1.3 Desert Water Agency ................................................................................................................. 2-3 
2.1.4 Indio Water Authority ................................................................................................................. 2-3 
2.1.5 Mission Springs Water District ................................................................................................... 2-4 
2.1.6 Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company ..................................................................................... 2-4 
 Other Agencies and Entities ............................................................................................................. 2-4 

2.2.1 Valley Sanitary District ............................................................................................................... 2-4 
2.2.2 Agua Caliente Water Authority .................................................................................................. 2-4 
2.2.3 City of Palm Springs .................................................................................................................. 2-5 
2.2.4 Coachella Valley Regional Water Management Group ............................................................. 2-5 
2.2.5 Indio Subbasin Groundwater Sustainability Agencies ............................................................... 2-5 
2.2.6 Mission Creek Subbasin Management Committee ................................................................... 2-6 
 Outreach During RUWMP Preparation ............................................................................................ 2-6 

Chapter 3 Regional Sources of Supply .................................................................................................. 3-1 
 Groundwater ..................................................................................................................................... 3-1 

3.1.1 Basin Description ....................................................................................................................... 3-1 
3.1.2 Groundwater Management ........................................................................................................ 3-6 
3.1.3 Sustainable Groundwater Management Act .............................................................................. 3-7 
3.1.4 Groundwater Quality .................................................................................................................. 3-7 
 Imported Water ................................................................................................................................. 3-8 

3.2.1 Colorado River Water ................................................................................................................ 3-8 
3.2.2 State Water Project Water/MWD Exchange ............................................................................ 3-13 
 Local Surface Water ....................................................................................................................... 3-16  
 Recycled Water .............................................................................................................................. 3-17  
 Consistency with the Delta Plan for Participants in Covered Actions ............................................ 3-20 
 Climate Change .............................................................................................................................. 3-20  

Chapter 4 Coachella Valley Water District ............................................................................................. 4-1 
 Introduction ....................................................................................................................................... 4-1 

4.1.1 Chapter Organization ................................................................................................................. 4-1 
4.1.2 RUWMP in Relation to Other Efforts ......................................................................................... 4-1 

Page 890

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

ii 

4.1.3 RUWMP and Grant or Loan Eligibility ....................................................................................... 4-2 
4.1.4 Demonstration of Consistency with the Delta Plan for Participants in Covered Actions ........... 4-2 
 Plan Preparation ............................................................................................................................... 4-2 

4.2.1 Plan Preparation ........................................................................................................................ 4-2 
4.2.2 Basis for Preparing a Plan ......................................................................................................... 4-2 
4.2.3 Regional Planning ...................................................................................................................... 4-2 
4.2.4 Individual or Regional Planning and Compliance ...................................................................... 4-3 
4.2.5 Fiscal or Calendar Year and Units of Measure .......................................................................... 4-3 
4.2.6 Coordination and Outreach ........................................................................................................ 4-3 
 System Description ........................................................................................................................... 4-3 

4.3.1 General Description ................................................................................................................... 4-3 
4.3.2 Jurisdictional Boundary .............................................................................................................. 4-5 
4.3.3 Service Area Climate ................................................................................................................. 4-7 
4.3.4 Service Area Population and Demographics ............................................................................. 4-8 
4.3.5 Land Uses within Service Area .................................................................................................. 4-9 
 Water Use Characterization ............................................................................................................. 4-9 

4.4.1 Past, Current, and Projected Water Use by Sector ................................................................. 4-10 
4.4.2 Worksheets and Reporting Tables .......................................................................................... 4-15 
4.4.3 Water Use for Lower Income Households ............................................................................... 4-15 
4.4.4 Climate Change Considerations .............................................................................................. 4-17 
 SB X7-7 Baseline and Targets ....................................................................................................... 4-17 

4.5.1 Wholesale Suppliers ................................................................................................................ 4-17  
4.5.2 SB X7-7 Forms and Tables ..................................................................................................... 4-17  
4.5.3 Baseline and Target Calculations for 2020 UWMPs ............................................................... 4-17 
4.5.4 Service Area Population and Gross Water Use ...................................................................... 4-18 
4.5.5 2020 Compliance Daily Per-Capita Water Use ....................................................................... 4-18 
4.5.6 Regional Alliance ..................................................................................................................... 4-19  
 Water Supply Characterization ....................................................................................................... 4-19 

4.6.1 Water Supply Analysis Overview ............................................................................................. 4-19 
4.6.2 Supply Characterization ........................................................................................................... 4-20  
4.6.3 Submittal Tables Completion Using the Optional Planning Tool ............................................. 4-30 
4.6.4 Energy Use .............................................................................................................................. 4-30  
 Water Service Reliability and Drought Risk Assessment ............................................................... 4-31 

4.7.1 Reliability Overview ................................................................................................................. 4-31  
4.7.2 Water Service Reliability Assessment ..................................................................................... 4-32 
4.7.3 Management Tools and Options .............................................................................................. 4-36  
4.7.4 Drought Risk Assessment ....................................................................................................... 4-36  
 Water Shortage Contingency Plan ................................................................................................. 4-38 
 Demand Management Measures ................................................................................................... 4-38 

Page 891

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

iii 

4.9.1 Demand Management Measures for Wholesale Suppliers ..................................................... 4-38 
4.9.2 Existing Demand Management Measures for Retail ............................................................... 4-38 
4.9.3 Implementation ........................................................................................................................ 4-45  
4.9.4 Water Use Objectives (Future Requirements) ......................................................................... 4-46 

 Plan Adoption, Submittal, and Implementation ............................................................................ 4-46 
4.10.1 Inclusion of All 2020 Data ...................................................................................................... 4-46  
4.10.2 Notice of Public Hearing ........................................................................................................ 4-46  
4.10.3 Public Hearing and Adoption ................................................................................................. 4-47 
4.10.4 Plan Submittal ........................................................................................................................ 4-47  
4.10.5 Public Availability ................................................................................................................... 4-48  
4.10.6 Notification to Public Utilities Commission ............................................................................. 4-48 
4.10.7 Amending an Adopted UWMP or Water Shortage Contingency Plan ................................... 4-48 

Chapter 5 Coachella Water Authority .................................................................................................... 5-1 
 Introduction ....................................................................................................................................... 5-1 

5.1.1 Chapter Organization ................................................................................................................. 5-1 
5.1.2 UWMPs in Relation to Other Efforts .......................................................................................... 5-1 
5.1.3 UWMPs and Grant or Loan Eligibility ........................................................................................ 5-1 
5.1.4 Demonstration of Consistency with the Delta Plan for Participants in Covered Actions ........... 5-1 
 Plan Preparation ............................................................................................................................... 5-2 

5.2.1 Plan Preparation ........................................................................................................................ 5-2 
5.2.2 Basis for Preparing a Plan ......................................................................................................... 5-2 
5.2.3 Regional Planning ...................................................................................................................... 5-2 
5.2.4 Individual or Regional Planning and Compliance ...................................................................... 5-2 
5.2.5 Fiscal or Calendar Year and Units of Measure .......................................................................... 5-2 
5.2.6 Coordination and Outreach ........................................................................................................ 5-2 
 System Description ........................................................................................................................... 5-3 

5.3.1 General Description ................................................................................................................... 5-3 
5.3.2 Service Area Boundary Map ...................................................................................................... 5-4 
5.3.3 Service Area Climate ................................................................................................................. 5-6 
5.3.4 Service Area Population and Demographics ............................................................................. 5-7 
5.3.5 Land Uses within Service Area .................................................................................................. 5-8 
 Water Use Characterization ............................................................................................................. 5-9 

5.4.1 Non-Potable Versus Potable Water Use ................................................................................... 5-9 
5.4.2 Past, Current, and Projected Water Use by Sector ................................................................... 5-9 
5.4.3 Worksheets and Reporting Tables .......................................................................................... 5-12 
5.4.4 Water Use for Lower Income Households ............................................................................... 5-12 
5.4.5 Climate Change Considerations .............................................................................................. 5-13 
 SB X7-7 Baseline and Targets ....................................................................................................... 5-13 

5.5.1 Wholesale Suppliers ................................................................................................................ 5-13  

Page 892

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

iv 

5.5.2 SB X7-7 Forms and Tables ..................................................................................................... 5-13  
5.5.3 Baseline and Target Calculations for 2020 UWMPs ............................................................... 5-13 
5.5.4 Service Area Population and Gross Water Use ...................................................................... 5-13 
5.5.5 2020 Compliance Daily Per-Capita Water Use (GPCD).......................................................... 5-13 
5.5.6 Regional Alliance ..................................................................................................................... 5-14  
 Water Supply Characterization ....................................................................................................... 5-14 

5.6.1 Water Supply Analysis Overview ............................................................................................. 5-14 
5.6.2 Supply Characterization ........................................................................................................... 5-14  
5.6.3 Submittal Tables Using Optional Planning Tool ...................................................................... 5-18 
5.6.4 Energy Use .............................................................................................................................. 5-18  
 Water Service Reliability and Drought Risk Assessment ............................................................... 5-19 

5.7.1 Reliability Overview ................................................................................................................. 5-19  
5.7.2 Water Service Reliability Assessment ..................................................................................... 5-19 
5.7.3 Drought Risk Assessment ....................................................................................................... 5-23  
 Water Shortage Contingency Plan ................................................................................................. 5-25 
 Demand Management Measures ................................................................................................... 5-25 

5.9.1 Demand Management Measures for Wholesale Suppliers ..................................................... 5-25 
5.9.2 Existing Demand Management Measures for Retail ............................................................... 5-25 
5.9.3 Implementation ........................................................................................................................ 5-28  
5.9.4 Water Use Objectives (Future Requirements) ......................................................................... 5-29 

 Plan Adoption, Submittal, and Implementation ............................................................................ 5-29 
5.10.1 Inclusion of All 2020 Data ...................................................................................................... 5-30  
5.10.2 Notice of Public Hearing ........................................................................................................ 5-30  
5.10.3 Public Hearing and Adoption ................................................................................................. 5-30 
5.10.4 Plan Submittal ........................................................................................................................ 5-30  
5.10.5 Public Availability ................................................................................................................... 5-30  
5.10.6 Notification to Public Utilities Commission ............................................................................. 5-31 
5.10.7 Amending an Adopted UWMP or Water Shortage Contingency Plan ................................... 5-31 

Chapter 6 Desert Water Agency ............................................................................................................. 6-1 
 Introduction ....................................................................................................................................... 6-1 

6.1.1 Chapter Organization ................................................................................................................. 6-1 
6.1.2 UWMPs in Relation to Other Efforts .......................................................................................... 6-1 
6.1.3 UWMPs and Grant or Loan Eligibility ........................................................................................ 6-1 
6.1.4 Demonstration of Consistency with the Delta Plan .................................................................... 6-1 
 Plan Preparation ............................................................................................................................... 6-2 

6.2.1 Plan Preparation ........................................................................................................................ 6-2 
6.2.2 Basis for Preparing a Plan ......................................................................................................... 6-2 
6.2.3 Regional Planning ...................................................................................................................... 6-2 
6.2.4 Individual or Regional Planning and Compliance ...................................................................... 6-2 

Page 893

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

v 

6.2.5 Fiscal or Calendar Year and Units of Measure .......................................................................... 6-2 
6.2.6 Coordination and Outreach ........................................................................................................ 6-2 
 System Description ........................................................................................................................... 6-2 

6.3.1 General Description ................................................................................................................... 6-3 
6.3.2 Institutional Boundary Map ........................................................................................................ 6-3 
6.3.3 Service Area Climate ................................................................................................................. 6-5 
6.3.4 Service Area Population and Demographics ............................................................................. 6-6 
6.3.5 Land Uses within Service Area .................................................................................................. 6-8 
 Water Use Characterization ............................................................................................................. 6-9 

6.4.1 Non-Potable Versus Potable Water Use ................................................................................... 6-9 
6.4.2 Past, Current, and Projected Water Use by Sector ................................................................... 6-9 
6.4.3 Worksheets and Reporting Tables .......................................................................................... 6-12 
6.4.4 Water Use for Lower Income Households ............................................................................... 6-12 
6.4.5 Climate Change Considerations .............................................................................................. 6-12 
 SB X7-7 Baseline and Targets ....................................................................................................... 6-13 

6.5.1 Wholesale Suppliers ................................................................................................................ 6-13  
6.5.2 SB X7-7 Forms and Tables ..................................................................................................... 6-13  
6.5.3 Baseline and Target Calculations for 2020 UWMPs ............................................................... 6-13 
6.5.4 Service Area Population and Gross Water Use ...................................................................... 6-13 
6.5.5 2020 Compliance Daily Per Capita Water Use (GPCD) .......................................................... 6-13 
6.5.6 Regional Alliance ..................................................................................................................... 6-14  
 Water Supply Characterization ....................................................................................................... 6-14 

6.6.1 Water Supply Analysis Overview ............................................................................................. 6-14 
6.6.2 Supply Characterization ........................................................................................................... 6-14  
6.6.3 Submittal Tables Using Optional Planning Tool ...................................................................... 6-22 
6.6.4 Energy Use .............................................................................................................................. 6-22  
 Water Service Reliability and Drought Risk Assessment ............................................................... 6-24 

6.7.1 Reliability Overview ................................................................................................................. 6-24  
6.7.2 Water Service Reliability Assessment ..................................................................................... 6-25 
6.7.3 Drought Risk Assessment ....................................................................................................... 6-28  
 Water Shortage Contingency Plan ................................................................................................. 6-29 
 Demand Management Measures ................................................................................................... 6-30 

6.9.1 Demand Management Measures for Wholesale Suppliers ..................................................... 6-30 
6.9.2 Existing Demand Management Measures for Retail ............................................................... 6-30 
6.9.3 Implementation of DMMs ......................................................................................................... 6-32  
6.9.4 Water Use Objectives (Future Requirements) ......................................................................... 6-32 

 Plan Adoption, Submittal, and Implementation ............................................................................ 6-32 
6.10.1 Inclusion of All 2020 Data ...................................................................................................... 6-32  
6.10.2 Notice of Public Hearing ........................................................................................................ 6-33  

Page 894

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

vi 

6.10.3 Public Hearing and Adoption ................................................................................................. 6-33 
6.10.4 Plan Submittal ........................................................................................................................ 6-33  
6.10.5 Public Availability ................................................................................................................... 6-33  
6.10.6 Notification to Public Utilities Commission ............................................................................. 6-34 
6.10.7 Amending an Adopted UWMP or Water Shortage Contingency Plan ................................... 6-34 

Chapter 7 Indio Water Authority ............................................................................................................. 7-1 
 Introduction ....................................................................................................................................... 7-1 

7.1.1 Chapter Organization ................................................................................................................. 7-1 
7.1.2 UWMPs in Relation to Other Efforts .......................................................................................... 7-1 
7.1.3 UWMPs and Grant or Loan Eligibility ........................................................................................ 7-1 
7.1.4 Demonstration of Consistency with the Delta Plan for Participants in Covered Actions ........... 7-1 
 Plan Preparation ............................................................................................................................... 7-2 

7.2.1 Plan Preparation ........................................................................................................................ 7-2 
7.2.2 Basis for Preparing a Plan ......................................................................................................... 7-2 
7.2.3 Regional Planning ...................................................................................................................... 7-2 
7.2.4 Individual or Regional Planning and Compliance ...................................................................... 7-2 
7.2.5 Fiscal or Calendar Year and Units of Measure .......................................................................... 7-2 
7.2.6 Coordination and Outreach ........................................................................................................ 7-2 
 System Description ........................................................................................................................... 7-3 

7.3.1 General Description ................................................................................................................... 7-3 
7.3.2 Service Area Boundary Maps .................................................................................................... 7-3 
7.3.3 Service Area Climate ................................................................................................................. 7-5 
7.3.4 Service Area Population and Demographics ............................................................................. 7-6 
7.3.5 Land Uses within Service Area .................................................................................................. 7-7 
 Water Use Characterization ............................................................................................................. 7-7 

7.4.1 Non-Potable Versus Potable Water Use ................................................................................... 7-7 
7.4.2 Past, Current, and Projected Water Use by Sector ................................................................... 7-7 
7.4.3 Worksheets and Reporting Tables .......................................................................................... 7-11 
7.4.4 Water Use for Lower Income Households ............................................................................... 7-11 
7.4.5 Climate Change Considerations .............................................................................................. 7-11 
 SB X7-7 Baseline and Targets ....................................................................................................... 7-11 

7.5.1 Wholesale Suppliers ................................................................................................................ 7-12  
7.5.2 SB X7-7 Forms and Tables ..................................................................................................... 7-12  
7.5.3 Baseline and Target Calculations for 2020 UWMPs ............................................................... 7-12 
7.5.4 Service Area Population and Gross Water Use ...................................................................... 7-12 
7.5.5 2020 Compliance Daily Per Capita Water Use (GPCD) .......................................................... 7-12 
7.5.6 Regional Alliance ..................................................................................................................... 7-13  
 Water Supply Characterization ....................................................................................................... 7-13 

7.6.1 Water Supply Analysis Overview ............................................................................................. 7-13 

Page 895

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

vii 

7.6.2 Supply Characterization ........................................................................................................... 7-13  
7.6.3 Submittal Tables Using Optional Planning Tool ...................................................................... 7-20 
7.6.4 Energy Use .............................................................................................................................. 7-20  
 Water Service Reliability and Drought Risk Assessment ............................................................... 7-21 

7.7.1 Reliability Overview ................................................................................................................. 7-21  
7.7.2 Water Service Reliability Assessment ..................................................................................... 7-22 
7.7.3 Drought Risk Assessment ....................................................................................................... 7-24  
 Water Shortage Contingency Plan ................................................................................................. 7-27 
 Demand Management Measures ................................................................................................... 7-27 

7.9.1 Demand Management Measures for Wholesale Suppliers ..................................................... 7-27 
7.9.2 Existing Demand Management Measures for Retail ............................................................... 7-27 
7.9.3 Implementation ........................................................................................................................ 7-31  
7.9.4 Water Use Objectives (Future Requirements) ......................................................................... 7-31 

 Plan Adoption, Submittal, and Implementation ............................................................................ 7-31 
7.10.1 Inclusion of All 2020 Data ...................................................................................................... 7-31  
7.10.2 Notice of Public Hearing ........................................................................................................ 7-31  
7.10.3 Public Hearing and Adoption ................................................................................................. 7-32 
7.10.4 Plan Submittal ........................................................................................................................ 7-32  
7.10.5 Public Availability ................................................................................................................... 7-32  
7.10.6 Notification to Public Utilities Commission ............................................................................. 7-32 
7.10.7 Amending an Adopted UWMP or Water Shortage Contingency Plan ................................... 7-32 

Chapter 8 Mission Springs Water District ............................................................................................. 8-1 
 Introduction ....................................................................................................................................... 8-1 

8.1.1 Chapter Organization ................................................................................................................. 8-1 
8.1.2 UWMPs in Relation to Other Efforts .......................................................................................... 8-1 
8.1.3 UWMPs and Grant or Loan Eligibility ........................................................................................ 8-1 
8.1.4 Demonstration of Consistency with the Delta Plan for Participants in Covered Actions ........... 8-1 
 Plan Preparation ............................................................................................................................... 8-2 

8.2.1 Plan Preparation ........................................................................................................................ 8-2 
8.2.2 Basis for Preparing a Plan ......................................................................................................... 8-2 
8.2.3 Regional Planning ...................................................................................................................... 8-2 
8.2.4 Individual or Regional Planning and Compliance ...................................................................... 8-2 
8.2.5 Fiscal or Calendar Year and Units of Measure .......................................................................... 8-2 
8.2.6 Coordination and Outreach ........................................................................................................ 8-3 
 System Description ........................................................................................................................... 8-3 

8.3.1 General Description ................................................................................................................... 8-3 
8.3.2 Service Area Boundary Maps .................................................................................................... 8-3 
8.3.3 Service Area Climate ................................................................................................................. 8-5 
8.3.4 Service Area Population and Demographics ............................................................................. 8-6 

Page 896

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

viii 

8.3.5 Land Uses within Service Area .................................................................................................. 8-7 
 Water Use Characterization ............................................................................................................. 8-8 

8.4.1 Non-Potable Versus Potable Water Use ................................................................................... 8-8 
8.4.2 Past, Current, and Projected Water Use by Sector ................................................................... 8-8 
8.4.3 Worksheets and Reporting Tables .......................................................................................... 8-11 
8.4.4 Water Use for Lower Income Households ............................................................................... 8-11 
8.4.5 Climate Change Considerations .............................................................................................. 8-12 
 SB X7-7 Baseline and Targets ....................................................................................................... 8-12 

8.5.1 Wholesale Suppliers ................................................................................................................ 8-12  
8.5.2 SB X7-7 Forms and Tables ..................................................................................................... 8-12  
8.5.3 Baseline and Target Calculations for 2020 UWMPs ............................................................... 8-12 
8.5.4 Service Area Population and Gross Water Use ...................................................................... 8-12 
8.5.5 2020 Compliance Daily Per Capita Water Use (GPCD) .......................................................... 8-12 
8.5.6 Regional Alliance ..................................................................................................................... 8-13  
 Water Supply Characterization ....................................................................................................... 8-13 

8.6.1 Water Supply Analysis Overview ............................................................................................. 8-13 
8.6.2 Supply Characterization ........................................................................................................... 8-13  
8.6.3 Submittal Table Using Optional Planning Tool ........................................................................ 8-21 
8.6.4 Energy Use .............................................................................................................................. 8-21  
 Water Service Reliability and Drought Risk Assessment ............................................................... 8-22 

8.7.1 Reliability Overview ................................................................................................................. 8-22  
8.7.2 Water Service Reliability Assessment ..................................................................................... 8-23 
8.7.3 Drought Risk Assessment ....................................................................................................... 8-25  
 Water Shortage Contingency Plan ................................................................................................. 8-26 
 Demand Management Measures ................................................................................................... 8-27 

8.9.1 Demand Management Measures for Wholesale Suppliers ..................................................... 8-27 
8.9.2 Existing Demand Management Measures for Retail ............................................................... 8-27 
8.9.3 Implementation ........................................................................................................................ 8-33  
8.9.4 Implementation to Achieve Water Use Targets ....................................................................... 8-34 
8.9.5 Water Use Objectives (Future Requirements) ......................................................................... 8-35 

 Plan Adoption, Submittal, and Implementation ............................................................................ 8-35 
8.10.1 Inclusion of All 2020 Data ...................................................................................................... 8-35  
8.10.2 Notice of Public Hearing ........................................................................................................ 8-35  
8.10.3 Public Hearing and Adoption ................................................................................................. 8-36 
8.10.4 Plan Submittal ........................................................................................................................ 8-36  
8.10.5 Public Availability ................................................................................................................... 8-36  
8.10.6 Notification to Public Utilities Commission ............................................................................. 8-36 
8.10.7 Amending an Adopted UWMP or Water Shortage Contingency Plan ................................... 8-36 

Chapter 9 Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company ................................................................................ 9-1 

Page 897

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

ix 

 Introduction ....................................................................................................................................... 9-1 
9.1.1 Chapter Organization ................................................................................................................. 9-1 
9.1.2 UWMPs in Relation to Other Efforts .......................................................................................... 9-1 
9.1.3 UWMPs and Grant or Loan Eligibility ........................................................................................ 9-1 
9.1.4 Demonstration of Consistency with the Delta Plan for Participants in Covered Actions ........... 9-1 
 Plan Preparation ............................................................................................................................... 9-2 

9.2.1 Plan Preparation ........................................................................................................................ 9-2 
9.2.2 Basis for Preparing a Plan ......................................................................................................... 9-2 
9.2.3 Regional Planning ...................................................................................................................... 9-2 
9.2.4 Individual or Regional Planning and Compliance ...................................................................... 9-2 
9.2.5 Fiscal or Calendar Year and Units of Measure .......................................................................... 9-2 
9.2.6 Coordination and Outreach ........................................................................................................ 9-2 
 System Description ........................................................................................................................... 9-3 

9.3.1 General Description ................................................................................................................... 9-3 
9.3.2 Service Area Boundary Maps .................................................................................................... 9-3 
9.3.3 Service Area Climate ................................................................................................................. 9-5 
9.3.4 Service Area Population and Demographics ............................................................................. 9-5 
9.3.5 Land Uses within Service Area .................................................................................................. 9-8 
 Water Use Characterization ............................................................................................................. 9-8 

9.4.1 Non-Potable Versus Potable Water Use ................................................................................... 9-8 
9.4.2 Past, Current, and Projected Water Use by Sector ................................................................... 9-9 
9.4.3 Worksheets and Reporting Tables .......................................................................................... 9-12 
9.4.4 Water Use for Lower Income Households ............................................................................... 9-12 
9.4.5 Climate Change Considerations .............................................................................................. 9-12 
 SB X7-7 Baseline and Targets ....................................................................................................... 9-13 

9.5.1 Wholesale Suppliers ................................................................................................................ 9-13  
9.5.2 SB X7-7 Forms and Tables ..................................................................................................... 9-13  
9.5.3 Baseline and Target Calculations for 2020 UWMPs ............................................................... 9-13 
9.5.4 Service Area Population and Gross Water Use ...................................................................... 9-13 
9.5.5 2020 Compliance Daily Per Capita Water Use (GPCD) .......................................................... 9-13 
9.5.6 Regional Alliance ..................................................................................................................... 9-14  
 Water Supply Characterization ....................................................................................................... 9-14 

9.6.1 Water Supply Analysis Overview ............................................................................................. 9-14 
9.6.2 Supply Characterization ........................................................................................................... 9-14  
9.6.3 Submittal Tables Using Optional Planning Tool ...................................................................... 9-19 
9.6.4 Energy Use .............................................................................................................................. 9-19  
 Water Service Reliability and Drought Risk Assessment ............................................................... 9-20 

9.7.1 Reliability Overview ................................................................................................................. 9-20  
9.7.2 Water Service Reliability Assessment ..................................................................................... 9-21 

Page 898

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

x 

9.7.3 Drought Risk Assessment ....................................................................................................... 9-23  
 Water Shortage Contingency Plan ................................................................................................. 9-26 
 Demand Management Measures ................................................................................................... 9-26 

9.9.1 Demand Management Measures for Wholesale Suppliers ..................................................... 9-26 
9.9.2 Existing Demand Management Measures for Retail ............................................................... 9-26 
9.9.3 Implementation ........................................................................................................................ 9-27  
9.9.4 Water Use Objectives (Future Requirements) ......................................................................... 9-27 

 Plan Adoption, Submittal, and Implementation ............................................................................ 9-28 
9.10.1 Inclusion of All 2020 Data ...................................................................................................... 9-28  
9.10.2 Notice of Public Hearing ........................................................................................................ 9-28  
9.10.3 Public Hearing and Adoption ................................................................................................. 9-28 
9.10.4 Plan Submittal ........................................................................................................................ 9-28  
9.10.5 Public Availability ................................................................................................................... 9-29  
9.10.6 Notification to Public Utilities Commission ............................................................................. 9-29 
9.10.7 Amending an Adopted UWMP or Water Shortage Contingency Plan ................................... 9-29 

 

 

 

 

Table 2-1.  Outreach Recipients ................................................................................................................ 2-7 
Table 3-1. Priorities and Water Delivery Contracts, California Seven-Party Agreement of 1932 ............ 3-10 
Table 3-2. CVWD Colorado River Water Budget under the Quantification Settlement Agreement ........ 3-11 
Table 3-3. State Water Project Allocations to CVWD and DWA (AFY) ................................................... 3-13 
Table 3-4. Non-Municipal Water Use ....................................................................................................... 3-20  
Table 4-1. DWR 2-1R Public Water Systems ............................................................................................ 4-2 
Table 4-2. Monthly Average Climate Data (Palm Springs) ........................................................................ 4-7 
Table 4-3. Monthly Average Climate Data (Thermal) ................................................................................ 4-8 
Table 4-4.  DWR 3-1R Current and Projected Population ......................................................................... 4-9 
Table 4-5.  Water Use Sectors ................................................................................................................. 4-10  
Table 4-6.  DWR 4-4R 12 Month Water Loss Audit Reporting ................................................................ 4-12 
Table 4-7.  DWR 4-1R Actual Demands for Water (AFY) ........................................................................ 4-13 
Table 4-8.  DWR 4-2R Projected Retail Demands for Water (AFY) ........................................................ 4-14 
Table 4-9.  Anticipated Water Savings Due to Conservation (AFY) ........................................................ 4-15 
Table 4-10.  DWR 4-3R Total Gross Water Use (AFY) ........................................................................... 4-15 
Table 4-11.  Lower Income Housing Units ............................................................................................... 4-16  
Table 4-12.  DWR 4-5R Inclusion in Water Use Projections ................................................................... 4-17 
Table 4-13.  DWR 5-1R Baselines and Targets Summary ...................................................................... 4-19 
Table 4-14.  DWR 5-2R 2020 Compliance .............................................................................................. 4-19 
Table 4-15.  DWR 6-1R Groundwater Volume Pumped (AFY) ............................................................... 4-20 
Table 4-16.  DWR 6-2R Wastewater Collected within Service Area in 2020 .......................................... 4-23 
Table 4-17.  DWR 6-3R Wastewater Treatment and Discharge within Service Area in 2020 ................. 4-23 
Table 4-18.  DWR 6-4R Recycled Water Within Service Area in 2020 (AFY) ......................................... 4-25 
Table 4-19.  DWR 6-5R Recycled Water Use Projection Compared to Actual ....................................... 4-26 

Page 899

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

xi 

Table 4-20.  DWR 6-7R Expected Future Water Supply Projects or Programs ...................................... 4-29 
Table 4-21.  DWR 6-8R Actual Water Supplies ....................................................................................... 4-30 
Table 4-22.  DWR 6-9R Projected Water Supplies .................................................................................. 4-30 
Table 4-23.  DWR O-1B Energy Intensity Reporting ............................................................................... 4-31 
Table 4-24.  DWR 7-1R Basis of Water Year Data .................................................................................. 4-32 
Table 4-25.  DWR 7-2R Normal Year Supply and Demand Comparison ................................................ 4-33 
Table 4-26.  DWR 7-3R Single Dry Year Supply and Demand Comparison ........................................... 4-33 
Table 4-27.  DWR 7-4R Multiple Dry Years Supply and Demand Comparison ....................................... 4-35 
Table 4-28.  DWR 7-5 Five-Year Drought Risk Assessment ................................................................... 4-37 
Table 4-29.  Demand Management Measure Implementation Summary ................................................ 4-46 
Table 4-30. DWR 10-1R Notification to Cities and Counties ................................................................... 4-47 
Table 5-1. DWR 2-1R Public Water Systems ............................................................................................ 5-2 
Table 5-2. Monthly Average Climate Data ................................................................................................. 5-6 
Table 5-3.  DWR 3-1R Current and Projected Population ......................................................................... 5-7 
Table 5-4.  Coachella City Demographic Data........................................................................................... 5-8 
Table 5-5. DWR 4-4R 12 Month Water Loss Audit Reporting ................................................................. 5-10 
Table 5-6. DWR 4-1R Actual Demands for Water (AFY) ......................................................................... 5-10 
Table 5-7. DWR 4-2R Projected Demands for Water .............................................................................. 5-11 
Table 5-8. Anticipated Water Savings Due to Conservation (AFY) ......................................................... 5-12 
Table 5-9. DWR 4-3R Total Gross Water Use (AFY) .............................................................................. 5-12 
Table 5-10. DWR 5-1R Baselines and Targets Summary ....................................................................... 5-13 
Table 5-11. DWR 5-2R 2020 Compliance ............................................................................................... 5-14 
Table 5-12. DWR 6-1R Groundwater Volume Pumped (AFY) ................................................................ 5-15 
Table 5-13.  DWR 6-2R Wastewater Collected within Service Area in 2020 .......................................... 5-16 
Table 5-14.  DWR 6-3R Wastewater Treatment and Discharge within Service Area in 2020 ................. 5-16 
Table 5-15.  DWR 6-8R Actual Water Supplies ....................................................................................... 5-18 
Table 5-16.  DWR 6-9 R Projected Water Supplies ................................................................................. 5-18 
Table 5-17.  DWR O-1B Energy Intensity Reporting ............................................................................... 5-19 
Table 5-18. DWR 7-1R Basis of Water Year Data ................................................................................... 5-20 
Table 5-19. DWR 7-2R Normal Year Supply and Demand Comparison ................................................. 5-21 
Table 5-20. DWR 7-3R Single Dry Year Supply and Demand Comparison ............................................ 5-21 
Table 5-21. DWR 7-4R Multiple Dry Years Supply and Demand Comparison ........................................ 5-22 
Table 5-22. DWR 7-5 Five-Year Drought Risk Assessment .................................................................... 5-24  
Table 5-23.  DMM Implementation Summary .......................................................................................... 5-29 
Table 5-24.  DWR 10-1R Notification to Cities and Counties .................................................................. 5-30 
Table 6-1.  DWR 2-1R Public Water Systems ........................................................................................... 6-2 
Table 6-2. Monthly Average Climate Data ................................................................................................. 6-5 
Table 6-3. DWR 3-1R Current and Projected Population .......................................................................... 6-8 
Table 6-4. Water Use Sectors .................................................................................................................... 6-9 
Table 6-5. DWR 4-4R 12 Month Water Loss Audit Reporting ................................................................. 6-10 
Table 6-6. DWR 4-1R Actual Demands for Water (AF) ........................................................................... 6-10 
Table 6-7. DWR 4-2R Projected Demands for Water (AF) ...................................................................... 6-11 
Table 6-8. Estimated Water Savings Due to Passive Conservation ........................................................ 6-12 
Table 6-9. DWR 4-3R Total Gross Water Use ......................................................................................... 6-12 
Table 6-10. DWR 5-1R Baselines and Targets Summary ....................................................................... 6-13 
Table 6-11. DWR 5-2R 2020 Compliance ............................................................................................... 6-14 
Table 6-12. DWR 6-1R Groundwater Volume Pumped (AFY) ................................................................ 6-15 
Table 6-13. DWR 6-2R Wastewater Collected within Service Area in 2020 ........................................... 6-18 
Table 6-14. DWR 6-3R Wastewater Treatment and Discharge within Service Area in 2020 .................. 6-18 
Table 6-15. DWR 6-4R Recycled Water Within Service Area in 2020 .................................................... 6-19 
Table 6-16. DWR 6-5R Recycled Water Use Projection Compared to Actual ........................................ 6-20 
Table 6-17. DWR 6-8R Actual Water Supplies ........................................................................................ 6-21 
Table 6-18. DWR 6-9 R Projected Water Supplies .................................................................................. 6-22 
Table 6-19. Energy Use for Water Management ..................................................................................... 6-23 
Table 6-20. DWR O-1B Energy Intensity Reporting ................................................................................ 6-24 
Table 6-21. DWR 7-1R Basis of Water Year Data ................................................................................... 6-26 

Page 900

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

xii 

Table 6-22. DWR 7-2R Normal Year Supply and Demand Comparison ................................................. 6-27 
Table 6-23. DWR 7-3R Single Dry Year Supply and Demand Comparison ............................................ 6-27 
Table 6-24. DWR 7-4R Multiple Dry Years Supply and Demand Comparison (AF)................................ 6-28 
Table 6-25. DWR 7-5 Five-Year Drought Risk Assessment .................................................................... 6-29  
Table 6-26. DWR 10-1R Notification to Cities and Counties ................................................................... 6-33 
Table 7-1.  DWR 2-1R Public Water Systems ........................................................................................... 7-2 
Table 7-2.  Monthly Average Climate Data ................................................................................................ 7-5 
Table 7-3.  DWR 3-1R Current and Projected Population ......................................................................... 7-6 
Table 7-4.  City of Indio Demographic Data ............................................................................................... 7-6 
Table 7-5.  Water Use Sectors ................................................................................................................... 7-7 
Table 7-6. DWR 4-4R 12 Month Water Loss Audit Reporting ................................................................... 7-8 
Table 7-7.  DWR 4-1R Actual Demands for Water (AFY) .......................................................................... 7-9 
Table 7-8.  DWR 4-2R Projected Demands for Water ............................................................................. 7-10 
Table 7-9.  Anticipated Water Savings Due to Conservation (AFY) ........................................................ 7-10 
Table 7-10.  DWR 4-3R Total Gross Water Use ...................................................................................... 7-11 
Table 7-11. DWR 5-1R Baselines and Targets Summary ....................................................................... 7-12 
Table 7-12.  DWR 5-2R 2020 Compliance .............................................................................................. 7-13 
Table 7-13.  DWR 6-1R Groundwater Volume Pumped (AFY) ............................................................... 7-14 
Table 7-14.  DWR 6-2R Wastewater Collected within Service Area in 2020 .......................................... 7-15 
Table 7-15.  DWR 6-3R Wastewater Treatment and Discharge within Service Area in 2020 ................. 7-15 
Table 7-16.  DWR 6-4R Recycled Water Within Service Area (AFY) ...................................................... 7-17 
Table 7-17.  DWR 6-5R Recycled Water Use Projection Compared to Actual ....................................... 7-18 
Table 7-18.  Emergency Interties ............................................................................................................. 7-19  
Table 7-19.  DWR 6-7R Expected Future Water Supply Projects or Programs ...................................... 7-19 
Table 7-20.  DWR 6-8R Actual Water Supplies (AFY) ............................................................................ 7-20 
Table 7-21.  DWR 6-9 R Projected Water Supplies (AFY) ...................................................................... 7-20 
Table 7-22. DWR O-1B Energy Intensity Reporting ................................................................................ 7-21 
Table 7-23.  DWR 7-1R Basis of Water Year Data .................................................................................. 7-22 
Table 7-24.  DWR 7-2R Normal Year Supply and Demand Comparison ................................................ 7-23 
Table 7-25.  DWR 7-3R Single Dry Year Supply and Demand Comparison ........................................... 7-23 
Table 7-26.  DWR 7-4R Multiple Dry Years Supply and Demand Comparison ....................................... 7-24 
Table 7-27.  DWR 7-5 Five-Year Drought Risk Assessment ................................................................... 7-26 
Table 7-28.  DWR 10-1R Notification to Cities and Counties .................................................................. 7-32 
Table 8-1.  DWR 2-1R Public Water Systems ........................................................................................... 8-2 
Table 8-2.  Monthly Average Climate Data ................................................................................................ 8-5 
Table 8-3. DWR 3-1R Current and Projected Population .......................................................................... 8-6 
Table 8-4.  City of Desert Hot Springs Demographic Data ........................................................................ 8-7 
Table 8-5.  DWR 4-4R 12 Month Water Loss Audit Reporting .................................................................. 8-8 
Table 8-6.  DWR 4-1R Actual Demands for Water (AFY) .......................................................................... 8-9 
Table 8-7.  DWR 4-2R Projected Demands for Water ............................................................................. 8-10 
Table 8-8.  Anticipated Water Savings Due to Conservation ................................................................... 8-11 
Table 8-9.  DWR 4-3R Total Gross Water Use ........................................................................................ 8-11 
Table 8-10.  DWR 5-1R Baselines and Targets Summary ...................................................................... 8-13 
Table 8-11.  DWR 5-2R 2020 Compliance .............................................................................................. 8-13 
Table 8-12.  DWR 6-1R Groundwater Volume Pumped (AFY) ............................................................... 8-14 
Table 8-13.  DWR 6-2R Wastewater Collected within Service Area in 2020 .......................................... 8-16 
Table 8-14.  DWR 6-3R Wastewater Treatment and Discharge within Service Area in 2020 ................. 8-16 
Table 8-15.  DWR 6-4R Recycled Water Within Service Area (AFY) ...................................................... 8-18 
Table 8-16.  DWR 6-5R Recycled Water Use Projection Compared to Actual ....................................... 8-19 
Table 8-17. DWR 6-6R Methods to Expand Future Recycled Water Use ............................................... 8-19 
Table 8-18.  DWR 6-7R Expected Future Water Supply Projects or Programs ...................................... 8-20 
Table 8-19.  DWR 6-8R Actual Water Supplies ....................................................................................... 8-20 
Table 8-20.  DWR 6-9R Projected Water Supplies (AFY) ....................................................................... 8-21 
Table 8-21.  DWR O-1A Energy Intensity Reporting ............................................................................... 8-22 
Table 8-22.  DWR 7-1R Basis of Water Year Data .................................................................................. 8-23 
Table 8-23.  DWR 7-2R Normal Year Supply and Demand Comparison ................................................ 8-24 

Page 901

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

xiii 

Table 8-24.  DWR 7-3R Single Dry Year Supply and Demand Comparison ........................................... 8-24 
Table 8-25.  DWR 7-4R Multiple Dry Years Supply and Demand Comparison ....................................... 8-25 
Table 8-26.  DWR 7-5 Five-Year Drought Risk Assessment ................................................................... 8-26 
Table 8-27.  Summary of DMM Implementation (2016 – 2020) ............................................................... 8-33 
Table 8-28.  DWR 10-1R Notification to Cities and Counties .................................................................. 8-35 
Table 9-1.  DWR 2-1R Public Water Systems ........................................................................................... 9-2 
Table 9-2.  Monthly Average Climate Data ................................................................................................ 9-5 
Table 9-3.  DWR 3-1R Current and Projected Population ......................................................................... 9-6 
Table 9-4.  Bermuda Dunes CDP Demographic Data ............................................................................... 9-7 
Table 9-5.  City of La Quinta Demographic Data ....................................................................................... 9-8 
Table 9-6.  Water Use Sectors ................................................................................................................... 9-9 
Table 9-7.  DWR 4-4R 12 Month Water Loss Audit Reporting .................................................................. 9-9 
Table 9-8.  DWR 4-1R Actual Demands for Water (AFY) ........................................................................ 9-10 
Table 9-9.  DWR 4-2R Projected Demands for Water (AFY) .................................................................. 9-11 
Table 9-10.  Anticipated Savings Due to Conservation ........................................................................... 9-12 
Table 9-11.  DWR 4-3R Total Gross Water Use (AF) .............................................................................. 9-12 
Table 9-12.  DWR 5-1R Baselines and Targets Summary ...................................................................... 9-14 
Table 9-13.  DWR 5-2R 2020 Compliance .............................................................................................. 9-14 
Table 9-14. DWR 6-1R Groundwater Volume Pumped (AFY) ................................................................ 9-15 
Table 9-15.  DWR 6-2R Wastewater Collected within Service Area in 2020 .......................................... 9-17 
Table 9-16.  DWR 6-8R Actual Water Supplies ....................................................................................... 9-19 
Table 9-17.  DWR 6-9 R Projected Water Supplies (AFY) ...................................................................... 9-19 
Table 9-18.  DWR O-1B Energy Intensity Reporting ............................................................................... 9-20 
Table 9-19.  DWR 7-1R Basis of Water Year Data .................................................................................. 9-21 
Table 9-20. DWR 7-2R Normal Year Supply and Demand Comparison ................................................. 9-22 
Table 9-21. DWR 7-3R Single Dry Year Supply and Demand Comparison ............................................ 9-22 
Table 9-22. DWR 7-4R Multiple Dry Years Supply and Demand Comparison ........................................ 9-23 
Table 9-23.  DWR 7-5 Five-Year Drought Risk Assessment ................................................................... 9-25 
Table 9-24.  DWR 10-1R Notification to Cities and Counties .................................................................. 9-28 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2-1. Water Agencies Participating in Coachella Valley RUWMP ................................................... 2-2 
Figure 3-1. Coachella Valley Groundwater Subbasins and Groundwater Replenishment Facilities ......... 3-3 
Figure 3-2. Sources of Imported Water Supply.......................................................................................... 3-9 
Figure 3-3.  Wastewater and Recycled Water Facilities .......................................................................... 3-19 
Figure 4-1.  CVWD Jurisdictional Boundary .............................................................................................. 4-6 
Figure 5-1. CWA Service Area Boundary .................................................................................................. 5-5 
Figure 5-2. Monthly Average Climate Data ................................................................................................ 5-6 
Figure 6-1. DWA Institutional Boundary ..................................................................................................... 6-4 
Figure 6-2. Monthly Average Climate Data ................................................................................................ 6-6 
Figure 7-1.  IWA Service Area Boundary ................................................................................................... 7-4 
Figure 7-2.  Monthly Average Climate Data ............................................................................................... 7-5 
Figure 8-1.  MSWD Service Area Boundary .............................................................................................. 8-4 

Page 902

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

xiv 

Figure 8-2.  Monthly Average Climate Data ............................................................................................... 8-5 
Figure 9-1.  MDMWC Service Area Boundary ........................................................................................... 9-4 
Figure 9-2.  Monthly Average Climate Data ............................................................................................... 9-5 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A. Applicable Sections of California Water Code 
B. Notification Letters and Newspaper Notices of Plan Preparation and Adoption Hearing 
C. Reduced Delta Reliance 
D. Standard UWMP Reporting Tables 
E. SB X7-7 Verification Forms 
F. Agreements Related to Water Management 

a. Agreement Between MWD, CVWD, and DWA for the Exchange and Advance Delivery of 
Water (December 2019) 

b. Agreement Between MWD and CVWD for Transfer of 35,000 AFY (Amended December 
2019) 

G. AWWA Water Loss Audits 
H. Resolutions of Adoption 
I. DWR UWMP Checklists 

 

Water Shortage Contingency Plan for each agency including Legal Authority 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 903

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

xv 

C Degrees Celsius 

F Degrees Fahrenheit 

AB Assembly Bill 

AF Acre Foot 

AFY Acre Feet per Year 

AHHG Area of Historic High Groundwater 

AMR Automatic Meter Reader 

AOB Area of Benefit 

APA Administrative Procedures Act 

AWWA American Water Works Association 

BDCC Bermuda Dunes Country Club 

BMP Best Management Practice 

CALWARN California Water/Wastewater Agency Response Network 

CAP Central Arizona Project 

CAT Climate Action Team 

CCF Hundred Cubic Feet 

CCR California Code of Regulations 

CEQA California Environmental Quality Act 

CFS Cubic Feet per Second 

CII Commercial, Industrial, and Institutional 

CIMIS California Irrigation Management Irrigation System 

CPS City of Palm Springs 

CRA Colorado River Aqueduct 

CSD Coachella Sanitary District 

CUWCC California Urban Water Conservation Council 

CVRWMG Coachella Valley Regional Water Management Group 

CVWD Coachella Valley Water District 

CWA Coachella Water Authority 

CWC California Water Code 

DCFP Delta Conveyance Facility Project 

DCP Drought Contingency Plan 

DCR DWR SWP Delivery Capacity Report 

DDW SWRCB Division of Drinking Water 

DFW California Department of Fish and Wildlife 

DIP Ductile Iron Pipe 

Page 904

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

xvi 

DMM Demand Management Measure 

DRA Drought Risk Assessment 

DWA Desert Water Agency 

DWR California Department of Water Resources 

EIR Environmental Impact Report 

EPA United States Environmental Protection Agency 

ERNIE Emergency Response Network of the Inland Empire 

ESA Endangered Species Act 

ET Evapotranspiration 

ETo Reference Evapotranspiration 

GAC Granulated Activated Carbon 

GIS Geographic Information System 

GPCD Gallons per Capita per Day 

GPM Gallons per Minute 

GRF Groundwater Replenishment Facility 

GRP Groundwater Replenishment Program 

HECW High Efficiency Clothes Washer 

HET High Efficiency Toilet 

IWA Indio Water Authority 

IX Ion Exchange 

KAF Thousand Acre Feet 

KAFY Thousand Acre Feet per Year 

LAFCO Local Agency Formation Commission 

MAF Million Acre-Feet 

MCL Maximum Contaminant Level 

MDMWC Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

MF Multi-family 

MG Million Gallons 

MGD Million Gallons per Day 

MOU Memorandum of Understanding 

MSL Mean Sea Level 

MSWD Mission Springs Water District 

MTBE Methyl Tertiary Butyl Ether 

MVP Mid-Valley Pipeline 

MWD Metropolitan Water District of Southern California 

NMFS National Marine Fisheries Service 

NOAA National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration 

Page 905

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

xvii 

NPDES National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 

PCE Perchloroethylene 

PVC Polyvinyl Chloride 

QSA Quantification Settlement Agreement 

QWEZ Qualified Water Efficient Landscaper 

RIX Rapid Infiltration and Extraction 

RPA Reasonable and Prudent Alternative 

RUWMP Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

RWQCB Regional Water Quality Control Board 

SB X7-7 Senate Bill 7 of Special Extended Session 7 

SCSD Salton Community Services District 

SF Single Family 

SOC Synthetic Organic Chemicals 

SOI Sphere of Influence 

SWRCB State Water Resources Control Board 

TDS Total Dissolved Solids 

TCE Trichloroethylene 

ULFT  Ultra-Low Flush Toilet 

UV Ultraviolet 

UWMP Urban Water Management Plan 

UWMP Act Urban Water Management Planning Act 

VOC Volatile Organic Compound 

VSD Valley Sanitary District 

WBIC Weather Based Irrigation Controller 

WSCP Water Shortage Contingency Plan 

WFF Water Filtration Facility 

WSS Water Sense Specification 

WTP Water Treatment Plant 

WWTP Wastewater Treatment Plant 

 

 

Page 906

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

1-1 

 

 

This Regional Urban Water Management Plan (RUWMP) has been prepared on behalf of the six urban 
water suppliers that serve customers in the Coachella Valley: 

 Coachella Valley Water District (CVWD) 
 Coachella Water Authority (CWA) 
 Desert Water Agency (DWA) 
 Indio Water Authority (IWA) 
 Mission Springs Water District (MSWD) 
 Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company (MDMWC) 

These agencies have historically collaborated on planning efforts related to water resources and their 
efficient use in the Coachella Valley. Some previous planning efforts have involved some or all of the 
agencies listed above, and some efforts have involved additional agencies, such as the Valley Sanitary 
District (VSD). Relevant past and on-going efforts include: 

 2010 Coachella Valley Water Management Plan Update (2010 CVWMP Update) 
 2013 Mission Creek/Garnet Hill Subbasins Water Management Plan (2013 MC/GH WMP) 
 2015 Coachella Valley Salt and Nutrient Management Plan (2015 CV-SNMP) 
 2018 Coachella Valley Integrated Regional Water Management Plan and Stormwater Resource 

Plan (2018 IRWM/SWR Plan) 
 2021 CV-SNMP Development Workplan and Groundwater Monitoring Program Workplan 
 2022 Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA) Alternative Plan Update for the Indio 

Subbasin (in progress) 
 2022 SGMA Alternative Plan Update for the Mission Creek Subbasin (in progress) 

 Purpose 

The purpose of this RUWMP is to allow the six agencies to address Urban Water Management Plan 
(UWMP) requirements. These requirements originated in California’s Urban Water Management Planning 
Act of 1983 (Act), and the requirements have been expanded and updated with subsequent legislation. 
Agencies are required to prepare an updated UWMP every five years and submit it to the California 
Department of Water Resources (DWR).  DWR then performs a review to verify that each UWMP addresses 
the requirements of the California Water Code (CWC). The current round of UWMPs will report on water 
use through 2020, and they are due to be submitted to DWR by July 1, 2021. 

Although most agencies prepare an individual UWMP and submit it to DWR, the CWC allows agencies to 
join together to prepare a RUWMP. The RUWMP must include all the same elements as an individual 
UWMP. Jointly preparing a RUWMP presents an opportunity for agencies to coordinate their efforts on 
demand projections, characterization of shared supplies, and planning for potential water shortages. 

DWR has produced an Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook 2020 (Guidebook) (Final March 2021) 
to assist water suppliers in UWMP preparation. This Guidebook identifies several additional requirements 
that have been added by new legislation since the 2015 UWMPs were prepared. Major new requirements 
identified by DWR include: 

 Five Consecutive Dry-Year Water Reliability Assessment.  The Legislature modified the dry-
year water reliability planning from a “multiyear” time period to a “drought lasting five consecutive 
water years” designation. This statutory change requires a Supplier to analyze the reliability of its 
water supplies to meet its water use over an extended drought period. Each agency addresses this 
requirement in Section 7 of its individual chapter. 

 Drought Risk Assessment.  The California Legislature created a new UWMP requirement for 
drought planning, in part because of the significant duration of recent California droughts and the 
predictions about hydrological variability attributable to climate change. The Drought Risk 

Page 907

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

1-2 

Assessment (DRA) requires a Supplier to assess water supply reliability over a five-year period 
from calendar years 2021 to 2025 that examines water supplies, water uses, and the resulting 
water supply reliability under a reasonable prediction for five consecutive dry years. Each agency 
addresses this requirement in Section 7 of its individual chapter. 

 Seismic Risk. The Water Code now requires Suppliers to specifically address seismic risk to 
various water system facilities and to have a mitigation plan. Each agency addresses this 
requirement in its Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP). 

 Water Shortage Contingency Plan.  In 2018, the Legislature modified the UWMP laws to require 
a WSCP with specific elements. The WSCP provides a Supplier with an action plan for a drought 
or catastrophic water supply shortage. Each agency has prepared a WSCP and adopted it 
alongside this RUWMP. 

 Groundwater Supplies Coordination. In 2014, the Legislature enacted the SGMA to address 
groundwater conditions throughout California. Water Code now requires Suppliers’ 2020 UWMPs 
to be consistent with Groundwater Sustainability Plans, in areas where those plans have been 
completed by Groundwater Sustainability Agencies. In the Coachella Valley, SGMA requirements 
are being met through the update of two Alternative Plans, one for the Indio Subbasin and one for 
the Mission Creek Subbasin. The coordination with those efforts is described in Chapter 3 of the 
RUWMP. 

 Lay Description.  The Legislature included a new statutory requirement for Suppliers to include a 
lay description of the fundamental determinations of the UWMP, especially regarding water service 
reliability, challenges ahead, and strategies for managing reliability risks. This description is 
included as Section 1.3. 

The 2020 UWMPs will also require suppliers to document their compliance with Senate Bill (SB) X7-7, the 
Water Conservation Act of 2009. This legislation required urban suppliers to reduce their per-capita water 
use by 20 percent by the year 2020. This 2020 RUWMP demonstrates each supplier’s compliance with this 
requirement. 

 RUWMP Organization 

This report has been organized to reflect the agencies’ collaborative efforts in managing shared water 
resources, while still allowing each agency to meet its individual reporting requirements. 

1. Chapter 1 provides an introduction and reviews the purpose and organization of the RUWMP. 
2. Chapter 2 provides an overview of the participating agencies and their service areas. 
3. Chapter 3 provides a narrative description of water sources used in the region. 
4. Chapters 4 through 9 are individual agency chapters.  Each agency’s individual chapter is 

structured with the organization recommended in the Guidebook.  For each agency, the elements 
of the individual chapter include: 

1. Introduction and Overview 
2. Plan Preparation 
3. System Description 
4. Water Use Characterization 
5. SB X7-7 Baseline and Targets 
6. Water Supply Characterization 
7. Water Service Reliability and Drought Risk Assessment 
8. Water Shortage Contingency Plan 
9. Demand Management Measures 
10. Plan Adoption, Submittal, and Implementation 

5. Appendices provide supporting information and documentation used in preparation of the RUWMP. 
6. Each agency has prepared a WSCP to be adopted by its governing board. These WSCPs are 

attachments to the RUWMP. 

 

Page 908

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

1-3 

 Plain Language Summary 

1. Introduction 

This Regional Urban Water Management Plan (RUWMP) has been prepared on behalf of six water 
providers that serve customers in the Coachella Valley. The agencies include: 

 Coachella Valley Water District (CVWD) 
 Coachella Water Authority (CWA) 
 Desert Water Agency (DWA) 
 Indio Water Authority (IWA) 
 Mission Springs Water District (MSWD) 
 Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company (MDMWC) 

These agencies work together on planning efforts related to water resources and their efficient use in the 
Coachella Valley. 

This report has two main parts. Chapters 1 through 3 are regional chapters which provide an overall 
introduction, descriptions of the six participating agencies, and an overview of the water supplies used in 
the Coachella Valley. Chapters 4 through 9 are individual agency chapters. Each agency chapter addresses 
how that participating agency meets its reporting requirements under the Urban Water Management 
Planning Act. 

In addition to the RUWMP, each agency has prepared a WSCP. The WSCP is a document to describe how 
each agency would respond to a water shortage. These WSCPs are attachments to the RUWMP. 

2. Water Supplies 

The Coachella Valley Groundwater Basin is used by all six agencies as their primary source of supply for 
meeting municipal water demands (water used for typical household, business, and local government use). 
The basin provides storage to help meet demand even in dry years. In a typical year, groundwater pumping 
is more than the amount of local rain and mountain snowmelt. CVWD and DWA replenish the basin with 
water imported from outside the basin. 

The two largest subbasins in the Coachella Valley Groundwater Basin used to meet municipal water 
demands are the Indio Subbasin and the Mission Creek Subbasin. Subbasins are portions of a larger 
groundwater basin – usually separated by faults. In both of these subbasins, water agencies are developing 
updated plans to address long-term sustainable management of the groundwater basin. These plans were 
approved by the California Department of Water Resources to meet planning requirements of the 
Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA) and are called the Alternative Plans. While the 
RUWMP is focused on water used for municipal supply, the Alternative Plans address all water use in the 
Valley, including golf course and agricultural irrigation.   

In addition to groundwater, some of the water providers use local stream water, and some have recycled 
water systems to provide highly treated wastewater for irrigation.  Imported water is used for groundwater 
replenishment and meeting nonurban demands. 

3. Water Demands 

Each agency’s chapter provides a summary of their current water demands (the amount of water customers 
are using) and their projected water use through 2045. These projections were developed considering 
variables like climate, population growth, and customer behaviors. Each agency’s chapter also describes 
the Demand Management Measures (DMMs) that encourage efficient water use by all customers. Through 
these programs, the agencies have seen significant reductions in water use by customers since 2010 and 
have complied with targets set by the State.  

4. Drought Risk 

Each agency’s chapter presents a comparison of expected supplies and demands under future conditions. 
The agencies are committed to efficient water use and can implement their WSCPs to reduce demands if 
needed. However, the agencies anticipate being able to meet all demands through 2045, even throughout 
a five-year dry period. 

Page 909

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

1-4 

Thanks to the storage capacity of the groundwater basin, supplies are very reliable from year to year 
because the agencies can pump enough groundwater to meet demands. In the longer term, reliability 
depends on the continued replenishment of the groundwater basin with imported water supplies. The 
agencies are working together to continue and expand replenishment programs. 

5. Contingency Planning 

If an extended drought or sudden event (like an earthquake) impacted the region’s ability to replenish the 
groundwater basin or the agency’s ability to provide enough water to meet all customer needs, the WSCP 
may need to be implemented. Each agency’s WSCP defines six levels of shortage and outlines the actions 
that will be required of customers during each level. The six agencies aligned the actions in their plans as 
much as possible to maintain consistent requirements and messaging for customers throughout the Valley. 

6. Preparation and Outreach 

The agencies received feedback from the community in developing this RUWMP and the WSCPs. The 
agencies hosted two public workshops and used an on-line collaboration portal to gather additional 
feedback. Each agency also made the draft plans available for public review and held a public hearing to 
consider input.  If the WSCPs need to be implemented during a water shortage, the agencies will evaluate 
how well they are working and consider making changes.  

 

 

Page 910

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

2-1 

 

The Coachella Valley lies in the northwestern portion of a great valley, the Salton Trough, which extends 
from the Gulf of California in Mexico northwesterly to the Cabazon area. This area lies primarily in Riverside 
County but also extends into northern San Diego County and northeastern Imperial County. The Colorado 
River enters this trough, and its delta has formed a barrier between the Gulf of California and the Coachella 
Valley. The Coachella Valley is ringed with mountains on three sides.  On the west and north sides are the 
Santa Rosa, San Jacinto, and San Bernardino Mountains, which rise more than 10,000 feet above mean 
sea level (ft msl). To the northeast and east are the Little San Bernardino Mountains, which attain elevations 
of 5,500 ft msl. The Whitewater River and its tributaries, including the San Gorgonio River, Mission Creek, 
and Little and Big Morongo Creeks, and Box Canyon Wash, drain the major portion of the Valley. 

The Coachella Valley is drained primarily by the Whitewater River that conveys flows southward along the 
natural alignment to the Coachella Valley Stormwater Channel (CVSC).  The CVSC is a man-made channel 
that conveys flows downstream of Point Happy to the Salton Sea. The Coachella Valley is characterized 
by low precipitation and high summer daytime temperatures. Water bodies in the Coachella Valley include 
the Salton Sea, a collection of small ephemeral streams and creeks, and the Whitewater River, an 
ephemeral stream in the western Coachella Valley. 

This chapter provides background information about the agencies participating in this RUWMP and other 
agencies involved in water resource planning in the Coachella Valley. 

 Agencies Participating in RUWMP 

The jurisdictional service areas of the six participating agencies are shown in Figure 2-1. 

Background about these six agencies is presented in the following sections. 

 

 

Page 911

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

2-2 

 

Figure 2-1. Water Agencies Participating in Coachella Valley RUWMP 
 

Page 912

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

2-3 

 

2.1.1    Coachella Valley Water District 

CVWD was formed in 1918 under the County Water District Act provisions of the California Water Code 
(CWC). In 1937, CVWD absorbed the responsibilities of the Coachella Valley Stormwater District that had 
been formed in 1915. CVWD now encompasses approximately 640,000 acres, mostly within Riverside 
County, but also extending into northern Imperial and northeastern San Diego Counties. CVWD is governed 
by a board of five directors, elected by district voters to four-year terms. Each director lives in and represents 
one of five directorial divisions in the district and is elected by voters who also reside in that division. 

CVWD is a Colorado River water importer and a California State Water Project (SWP) contractor. The 
water-related services provided by CVWD include: 

 Domestic water delivery 
 Irrigation water delivery and agricultural drainage 
 Wastewater reclamation and recycling 
 Stormwater protection 
 Groundwater replenishment 

2.1.2    Coachella Water Authority 

The City of Coachella was incorporated in 1946 and encompasses approximately 32 square miles in the 
eastern Coachella Valley. The City’s sphere of influence encompasses 53 square miles. 

CWA provides potable water service in the City of Coachella. The water-related services provided by the 
City include domestic water delivery, wastewater collection and reclamation, and local drainage control. 

The City also manages the Coachella Sanitary District (CSD), which operates a 4.5 MGD design capacity 
wastewater treatment facility. Currently, CSD discharges treated wastewater to the Coachella Valley Storm 
Channel. In addition, CSD participated in a regional feasibility study to determine the best available and 
most cost-effective opportunity to implement a recycled water program and has plans to develop a water 
reuse system in the future. 

The Coachella Water Authority and the Coachella Sanitary District (CSD) are wholly owned component 
units of the City with its own separate Board of Directors. 

2.1.3    Desert Water Agency 

DWA is a public agency of the State of California and was formed in 1961 to import water from the State 
Water Project in an effort to provide a reliable local water supply. In 1968, DWA entered the retail water 
business by purchasing the Cathedral City and Palm Springs water companies. DWA covers an area of 
about 325 square miles, including unincorporated Riverside County areas, part of Cathedral City, and most 
of Palm Springs. DWA is governed by a five-member Board of Directors, elected by residents within DWA 
boundaries. 

DWA manages a domestic water system, a recycled water system, an irrigation water delivery system, a 
wastewater collection system, and groundwater recharge facilities. Additionally, DWA produces electrical 
power with two hydroelectric generating plants and two photovoltaic solar installations. 

2.1.4    Indio Water Authority 

Incorporated in 1930, the City of Indio was the first city in the Coachella Valley. The City encompasses 
approximately 38 square miles with a sphere of influence that adds approximately 22 square miles north of 
Interstate 10. The existing land uses include commercial, limited industrial, and residential.  The majority of 

Page 913

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

2-4 

land use can be classified as residential, varying in density from equestrian and country estates to high-
density multi-family dwellings. The proposed future land uses within the sphere of influence include open 
space, residential, resource recovery, specific plans (assumed mixed use), business park, and a small 
amount of community commercial. 

IWA was formed as a Joint Powers Authority in 2000, wholly owned by the City and Indio Redevelopment 
Agency, to be the legislative and policy entity responsible for delivering water to residents of the City for all 
municipal water programs and services. 

2.1.5    Mission Springs Water District 

MSWD is a public water and wastewater agency organized under the County Water District Law, through 
the California Water Code. MSWD began as a mutual water company in the late 1940s.  By 1953, it had 
evolved into an incorporated entity, the Desert Hot Springs County Water District. That name was changed 
to Mission Springs Water District in 1987. MSWD’s service area consists of 135 square miles, including the 
City of Desert Hot Springs, a portion of the City of Palm Springs, and ten smaller communities in Riverside 
County, including North Palm Springs, West Palm Springs Village and Palm Springs Crest. MSWD is 
governed by a five-member board, elected from five separate divisions, for a four-year term. 

MSWD provides water services to more than 13,500 retail water customers through three independent 
production and distribution systems; and provides wastewater service to more than 9,200 customers 
through two independent wastewater collection and treatment systems. As a result of MSWD’s 
Groundwater Quality Protection Program, a septic to sewer conversion program aimed at abating legacy 
septic systems, MSWD will begin construction on a third treatment plant in 2021. In addition, MSWD 
provides water conservation services. In 2019, MSWD completed a 1.0 mega-watt solar facility to help 
offset approximately 25% of energy consumption for its water and wastewater operations.  

2.1.6    Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

MDMWC is a retail urban water supplier that was established in 1953 to provide potable water service to 
the community of Bermuda Dunes. MDMWC has grown over the years, seeing housing booms in the mid-
1980s, late 1990s, and mid-2000s, and it now provides service to more than 2,500 customers in the 
Bermuda Dunes area. MDMWC is a mutual water company that is governed by a four-member Board of 
Directors. 

 Other Agencies and Entities 

2.2.1    Valley Sanitary District 

The Valley Sanitary District (VSD) is a California Special District governed by a locally elected Board of 
Directors. It was founded in 1925 and is governed by the California Sanitary Act of 1923. Although not a 
water supplier, VSD provides wastewater collection and treatment service for the City of Indio and the 
majority of IWA customers. Currently, VSD discharges treated wastewater to the Coachella Valley 
Stormwater Channel and provides a small amount of treated wastewater for on-site irrigation. 

IWA is currently pursuing opportunities with VSD to inject recycled water at VSD’s plant in the future. 

2.2.2    Agua Caliente Water Authority 

The Agua Caliente Water Authority is a branch of Tribal Government that regulates the Tribe’s groundwater 
and surface water. 

Page 914

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

2-5 

2.2.3    City of Palm Springs 

The City of Palm Springs (CPS) operates a wastewater treatment plant that treats wastewater collected 
within the City. Approximately 75 percent of the treated effluent is sent to DWA’s Recycled Water Plant for 
further treatment.   

2.2.4    Coachella Valley Regional Water Management Group 

The Coachella Valley Regional Water Management Group (CVRWMG) is a collaborative effort between 
CVWD, CWA, DWA, IWA, MSWD, and VSD to implement an Integrated Regional Water Management 
(IRWM) Plan to address the water resources planning needs of the Coachella Valley. Following formation 
of the CVRWMG and formal recognition of the Coachella Valley IRWM Region (Region) by DWR through 
the Region Acceptance Process (RAP), the CVRWMG developed the first IRWM Plan in 2010. The 
CVRWMG prepared updates to the IRWM Plan in 2014 and 2018. The 2018 IRWM plan also addressed 
the requirements for a Stormwater Resource (SWR) Plan and therefore is referred to as the 2018 
IRWM/SWR Plan. The IRWM/SWR Plan presents an integrated regional approach for addressing water 
management issues through a process that identifies and involves water management stakeholders from 
the Coachella Valley. The IRWM/SWR Plan: 

 Defines the Coachella Valley IRWM Region and water systems, 
 Identifies regional water management goals and objectives, 
 Establishes objectives and measurable targets for the Region, 
 Identifies water management issues and needs, 
 Identifies stakeholder involvement and agency coordination processes, 
 Identifies and evaluates resource management strategies, 
 Assesses the integration of projects based on objectives, 
 Establishes an IRWM and SWR Plan project evaluation and prioritization process based on 

regional priorities, and 
 Establishes a framework for implementation of projects. 

The IRWM program is a local water resources management approach directed by the California Department 
of Water Resources (DWR). It is aimed at securing long-term water supply reliability within California by 
first recognizing the inter-connectivity of water supplies, and then encouraging the development and 
implementation of projects that yield combined benefits for water supplies, water quality, and natural 
resources. 

The Region is chiefly the same as the Whitewater River watershed, also known as the Coachella Valley.  
The Region is about 65 miles long on a northwest-southeast trending axis and covers approximately 1,420 
square miles. The Region currently faces multiple potential water supply and quality issues, including 
increasing water demands, historical groundwater overdraft, stormwater capture and management, 
groundwater quality, surface water quality, flooding, and regulatory constraints that may be associated with 
any of these issues.   

The Region boundary was recently expanded to include the unincorporated communities of Bombay Beach 
and North Shore. This will facilitate integrated water resources management within the entire CVWD service 
area and provide opportunities for Bombay Beach and North Shore to participate in IRWM-related activities. 

2.2.5    Indio Subbasin Groundwater Sustainability Agencies 

The four water agencies located within the Indio Subbasin are each exclusive Groundwater Sustainability 
Agencies (GSAs) that oversee and manage portions of the Indio Subbasin that overlay each of their 
respective service areas. The agencies collaborated to submit the 2010 CVWMP Update as an alternative 
to a Groundwater Sustainability Plan (GSP). The 2010 CVWMP Update was approved by DWR as a 
functionally equivalent alternative to a GSP on July 17, 2019. These agencies are developing the Indio 
Subbasin Alternative Plan Update, which needs to be submitted to DWR by January 1, 2022. 

Page 915

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

2-6 

The four Indio Subbasin GSAs include: 

 Coachella Valley Water District 
 Coachella Water Authority 
 Desert Water Agency 
 Indio Water Authority 

2.2.6    Mission Creek Subbasin Management Committee 

The three water agencies located within the Mission Creek Subbasin have formed a Management 
Committee. CVWD and DWA are each exclusive GSAs that oversee and manage portions of the Mission 
Creek Subbasin that overlay each of their respective service areas. The three agencies collaborated to 
submit the 2013 MC/GH WMP as an alternative to a Groundwater Sustainability Plan (GSP). The 2010 
CVWMP Update was approved by DWR as a functionally-equivalent alternative to a GSP on July 17, 2019. 
The Management Committee is developing the Mission Creek Subbasin Alternative Plan Update, which 
must be submitted to DWR by January 1, 2022. 

The three agencies in the management committee include: 

 Coachella Valley Water District 
 Desert Water Agency 
 Mission Springs Water District 

 Outreach During RUWMP Preparation 

The CWC requires agencies to perform outreach to cities and counties within their service area, the general 
public, and other interested parties during preparation of the UWMP. In addition to the minimum 
requirements defined by the CWC, the agencies held two public workshops to present information about 
the RUWMP and gather input from stakeholders. These workshops were held in December 2020 and March 
2021. Due to restrictions on in-person gatherings as a result of the COVID-19 Pandemic, and in compliance 
with the Governor’s Executive Orders (EOs) related to public meetings (EO-N-25-20, EO-N-29-20, and EO-
N-33-20), the meetings were held virtually using an online collaboration platform. The agencies also 
maintained an online social collaboration site during December 2020 and January 2021 where participants 
could provide comments and input on the plan following the first public workshop. During the second 
workshop in March 2021, breakout groups were used to facilitate public comments on key elements of the 
plan. The concerns and comments received were used to guide the development of the final RUWMP. 

In February 2021, formal notifications of RUWMP preparation were provided to the recipients identified in 
Table 2-1. 

 

  

Page 916

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

2-7 

 

Table 2-1.  Outreach Recipients 
Type Recipient 

City La Quinta 

City Indio (Indio Water Authority) 

City Coachella (Coachella Water Authority) 

City Palm Desert 

City Cathedral City 

City Indian Wells 

City Rancho Mirage 

City Palm Springs 

City Desert Hot Springs 

County County of Riverside Transportation and Land Management Agency - Planning 
Department 

County Riverside County Flood Control and Water Conservation District 

County Riverside County Department of Environmental Health 

County Imperial County Planning and Development Services 

Tribal Cabazon Band of Mission Indians 

Tribal Agua Caliente Band of Cahuilla Indians 

Tribal Torres Martinez Desert Cahuilla Indians 

Tribal Augustine Band of Cahuilla Indians 

Tribal Twenty-Nine Palms Band of Mission Indians 

Tribal Morongo Band of Mission Indians 

Other Coachella Valley Resource Conservation District 

Other Desert Valley Builders Association 

 

A second set of notices were sent to these recipients to notify them of the time and date for each agency’s 
public hearing to consider feedback. Each agency held a public hearing in June 2021, and each agency’s 
governing board adopted the RUWMP. The details of each agency’s adoption are included in the individual 
agency chapters. 

 

 

Page 917

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

3-1 

 

Each of the six agencies has its own portfolio of water sources that it uses to meet demands. The available 
supplies fall into the major categories below: 

 Groundwater 
 Colorado River water imported through the Coachella Canal 
 State Water Project water exchanged for Colorado River water delivered by the Metropolitan Water 

District (MWD) of Southern California through the Colorado River Aqueduct  
 Local surface water 
 Recycled water 

These sources are described in the following sections. 

 Groundwater 

Groundwater is the principal source of municipal water supply in the Coachella Valley. The Coachella Valley 
Groundwater Basin (DWR Basin No. 7-21) encompasses the entire floor of the Coachella Valley and 
consists of four subbasins as identified in California Department of Water Resources (DWR) Bulletin 118:  

 Indio1  
 Mission Creek 
 Desert Hot Springs 
 San Gorgonio Pass 

The USGS recognizes a fault-bounded portion of the western end of the Indio Subbasin as the Garnet Hill 
Subbasin. This area is referred to in this report as the Garnet Hill Subarea of the Indio Subbasin, as 
designated in DWR Bulletin 118. 

The agencies have groundwater wells that produce water from the Indio Subbasin, including the Garnet Hill 
Subarea, the Mission Creek Subbasin, and the San Gorgonio Pass Subbasin. Water from the Desert Hot 
Springs Subbasin is higher in temperature and salinity, and is not used for potable purposes. 

3.1.1    Basin Description 

The Coachella Valley groundwater basin, as described by the DWR Bulletin 118, is bounded on the easterly 
side by the non-waterbearing crystalline rocks of the San Bernardino and Little San Bernardino Mountains 
and on the westerly side by the crystalline rocks of the San Jacinto and Santa Rosa Mountains. The trace 
of the Banning fault on the north side of San Gorgonio Pass forms the upper boundary. At the west end of 
the San Gorgonio Pass, between Beaumont and Banning, the basin boundary is defined by a surface 
drainage divide separating the Coachella Valley Groundwater Basin from the Beaumont Groundwater Basin 
of the Upper Santa Ana drainage area. 

The southern boundary is formed primarily by the watershed of the Mecca Hills and by the northwest 
shoreline of the Salton Sea running between the Santa Rosa Mountains and Mortmar. Between the Salton 
Sea and Travertine Rock, at the base of the Santa Rosa Mountains, the lower boundary coincides with the 
Riverside/Imperial County Line. Southerly of the southern boundary, at Mortmar and at Travertine Rock, 
the subsurface materials are predominantly fine grained and low in permeability; although groundwater is 

 

 

1 The subbasin is identified as the Indio Subbasin in DWR Bulletin 108 (1964) and Bulletin 118 (2003). 
However, the subbasin is identified as the Whitewater River Subbasin by the USGS. This report identifies 
the subbasin as the Indio Subbasin. 

Page 918

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

3-2 

present, it is not readily extractable. A zone of transition exists at these boundaries; to the north, the 
subsurface materials are coarser and more readily yield groundwater. 

In 1964, DWR estimated that the Coachella Valley groundwater basin contained a total of approximately 
39.2 million acre-feet (AF) of water in the first 1,000 feet below the ground surface; much of this water 
originated as runoff from the adjacent mountains. Of this amount, approximately 28.8 million AF of water 
was stored in the Indio Subbasin. However, the amount of water in the subbasin decreased over the years 
because pumping to serve urban, rural, and agricultural development in the Coachella Valley withdrew 
water at a rate faster than its rate of recharge. Over the last ten years, the subbasin has seen significant 
groundwater level increases. These increases are the result of the high volumes of direct replenishment 
that occurred at Groundwater Replenishment Facilities (GRFs), increased conservation, and projects that 
provide imported water for irrigation to reduce groundwater pumping. Replenishment and conservation 
have also resulted in increasing water levels over the last decade in the Mission Creek Subbasin. 

Although there is interflow of groundwater throughout the groundwater basin, fault barriers, constrictions in 
the basin profile and areas of low permeability limit and control movement of groundwater. Based on these 
factors, the groundwater basin has been divided into subbasins and subareas as described by DWR in 
1964 and the USGS in 1971. 

The boundaries between subbasins are generally based upon faults that are effective barriers to the lateral 
movement of groundwater. Minor subareas have also been delineated, based on one or more of the 
following geologic or hydrologic characteristics: type of water bearing formations, water quality, areas of 
confined groundwater, forebay areas, groundwater flow divides, and surface drainage divides. 

The subbasins used for planning include: 

 Indio  
 Mission Creek 
 Desert Hot Springs 
 San Gorgonio Pass 

The subbasins, with their groundwater storage reservoirs, are defined without regard to water quantity or 
quality. They delineate areas underlain by formations which readily yield the stored water through water 
wells and offer natural reservoirs for the regulation of water supplies. 

The planning subbasins are shown in Figure 3-1. 

 

Page 919

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

3-3 

 

Figure 3-1. Coachella Valley Groundwater Subbasins and Groundwater Replenishment Facilities 
 

Page 920

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

3-4 

3.1.1.1    Indio Subbasin 

The Indio Subbasin underlies the major portion of the Coachella Valley floor and encompasses 
approximately 400 square miles.  Beginning approximately one mile west of the junction of State Highway 
111 and Interstate 10, the Indio Subbasin extends southeast approximately 70 miles to the Salton Sea. The 
Indio Subbasin underlies the cities of Palm Springs, Cathedral City, Rancho Mirage, Palm Desert, Indian 
Wells, La Quinta, Indio, and Coachella, and the unincorporated communities of Thousand Palms, Thermal, 
Bermuda Dunes, Oasis, and Mecca. 

The Indio Subbasin is divided for management into the West Valley and the East Valley. The East Valley 
lies southeast of a line generally extending from Point Happy (a rocky outcrop of the Santa Rosa Mountains 
near Washington Street and Highway 111) northeast to the Indio Hills near Jefferson Street, and the West 
Valley is northwest of this line. 

Generally, the West Valley, which includes the cities of Palm Springs, Cathedral City, Rancho Mirage, 
Indian Wells and Palm Desert, has a predominately resort/recreation-based economy that relies on 
groundwater as its principal water source. In the West Valley portion of the Indio Subbasin, underlying 
sediments profiles consist of coarse sand and gravel with minor amounts of clay. The aquifer in this area is 
unconfined, allowing water that applied on the ground surface to percolate directly into the underlying 
aquifer system, making recharge simple and efficient. 

CVWD and DWA collaborate to provide groundwater replenishment in the West Valley. Recharge activities 
with SWP Exchange water commenced in 1973 at the Whitewater River Groundwater Replenishment 
Facility (WWR-GRF), north of Palm Springs. Recharge activities at this location have varied with the 
availability of SWP Exchange water. Groundwater levels in the subbasin have increased or stabilized since 
recharge commenced. Although some areas of the mid-valley are still experiencing a decline in 
groundwater levels, the rates of decline have been generally decreasing and many areas have seen 
increases. Recharge activities began at a newly completed facility, Phase 1 of the Palm Desert 
Groundwater Replenishment Facility (PD-GRF), in early 2019. 

The East Valley includes the cities of Coachella, Indio and La Quinta and the communities of Bermuda 
Dunes, Mecca, and Thermal.  Much of the East Valley has an agricultural-based economy utilizing 
groundwater and Colorado River water imported through the Coachella Canal. Some portions of the East 
Valley are underlain by several impervious clay layers (an aquitard) that impedes groundwater recharge. 
From about Indio southeasterly to the Salton Sea, the subbasin contains increasingly thick layers of silt and 
clay, especially in the shallower portions of the subbasin. These silt and clay layers, which are remnants of 
ancient lake bed deposits, impede the percolation of water applied for irrigation and limit groundwater 
replenishment opportunities to the westerly fringe in this area of the subbasin. 

The historical fluctuations of groundwater levels in the East Valley of the Indio Subbasin indicate a steady 
decline in the levels throughout the subbasin prior to 1949. With the importation of Colorado River water 
from the Coachella Canal after 1949, the demand on the groundwater basin declined in the East Valley, 
and the groundwater levels rose sharply. Water levels in the deeper aquifers of the East Valley rose from 
1950 to about 1980. However, in the early 1980s, water levels in the East Valley began declining again, at 
least partly due to increasing urbanization and groundwater usage. In 2009, CVWD implemented large-
scale recharge activities in the East Valley at the Thomas E. Levy Groundwater Replenishment Facility 
(TEL-GRF) that have resulted in increasing water levels. 

Conservation and source substitution with Canal water and recycled water are also ongoing strategies to 
manage groundwater levels throughout the subbasin. 

3.1.1.2    Mission Creek Subbasin 

Water-bearing materials underlying the Mission Creek upland comprise the Mission Creek Subbasin. The 
subbasin is bounded on the south by the Banning fault and on the north and east by the Mission Creek 
fault. The subbasin is bordered on the west by non-water bearing rocks of the San Bernardino Mountains. 
To the southeast of the subbasin are the Indio Hills, which consist of the semi water-bearing Palm Springs 
Formation. 

Page 921

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

3-5 

Both the Mission Creek fault and the Banning fault are effective barriers to groundwater movement, as 
evidenced by offset water levels, fault springs, and changes in vegetation. The wells drilled in this subbasin 
pass thorough unconsolidated recent alluvium (sands and gravels forming the uppermost geologic 
formation in the subbasin) and semi-consolidated and interbedded sands, gravels and silts. Although these 
Pleistocene deposits are the main source of water, water also occurs in recent alluvium where the water 
table is sufficiently shallow. 

The Mission Creek Subbasin is considered an unconfined aquifer with a saturated thickness of 1,200 feet 
or more and an estimated total storage capacity on the order of 2.6 million acre-feet (MAF). The subbasin 
is naturally recharged by surface and subsurface flow from the Mission Creek, Dry, and Big Morongo 
Washes, the Painted Hills, and surrounding mountain drainages. Irrigation return flows and discharges from 
municipal and individual subsurface wastewater disposal systems also contribute to recharge. 

Due to overdraft conditions in the Mission Creek Subbasin, CVWD and DWA began constructing facilities 
to replenish the Mission Creek Subbasin in October 2001. Facilities were completed in June 2002 and in 
December 2002, DWA and CVWD began recharge activities in the Mission Creek Subbasin. The current 
replenishment program is effectively increasing water levels throughout most of the subbasin. 

CVWD, DWA, and MSWD jointly developed a water management plan for this subbasin and the Garnet Hill 
Subarea in 2013 pursuant to a 2004 settlement agreement (the 2013 Mission Creek and Garnet Hill Water 
Management Plan). This agreement and the 2003 Mission Creek Groundwater Replenishment Agreement 
between CVWD and DWA (amended in 2014) specify that the available SWP water will be allocated 
between the Mission Creek and West Whitewater River Subbasin Management Areas in proportion to the 
amount of groundwater produced or surface water diverted from the West Whitewater River Subbasin 
management area (West Indio Subbasin Area) and the Mission Creek Subbasin Management Area during 
the preceding year. 

3.1.1.3    Desert Hot Springs Subbasin 

The Desert Hot Springs subbasin is bounded on the north by the Little San Bernardino Mountains and to 
the south by the Mission Creek and San Andreas faults. The San Andreas fault separates the Desert Hot 
Springs Subbasin from the Indio Subbasin and serves as an effective barrier to groundwater flow. Due to 
poor quality and low groundwater yields, all potable water demand overlying the subbasin is supplied by 
wells in the Mission Creek Subbasin. However, wells in the Miracle Hill area produce geothermally heated 
groundwater that supplies spa resorts in Desert Hot Springs. Private wells in the Fargo Canyon Subarea 
have historically been used for agricultural irrigation.  

3.1.1.4    Garnet Hill Subarea 

The area between the Garnet Hill fault and the Banning fault, named the Garnet Hill Subarea of the Indio 
Subbasin by DWR, was considered a distinct subbasin by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) because of 
the effectiveness of the Banning and Garnet Hill faults as barriers to groundwater movement. The area is 
bounded on the north by the Banning fault, on the south by the Garnet Hill fault, and on the east and west 
by non-water to semi-water bearing rocks. DWR considers the area to be part of the Indio Subbasin. 

MSWD constructed Well 33 in the Garnet Hill Subbasin with production since 2007.  MSWD, CVWD and 
DWA have jointly developed the 2013 Mission Creek/Garnet Hill Water Management Plan for this Subarea 
along with the Mission Creek Subbasin. Currently, CVWD includes a portion of the Garnet Hill Subarea in 
its West Whitewater Area of Benefit replenishment assessment program. Separately, DWA has a 
replenishment assessment program in its portion of the Garnet Hill Subarea. For SGMA compliance, the 
area is considered to be part of the Indio Subbasin. 

3.1.1.5    San Gorgonio Pass Subbasin 

A portion of the MSWD western service area and DWA jurisdictional area is underlain by the San Gorgonio 
Pass Subbasin. The portion of the Coachella Valley Groundwater Basin that lies entirely within the San 
Gorgonio Pass is described as the San Gorgonio Pass Subbasin. This subbasin is bounded on the north 
by the San Bernardino Mountains and by semi-permeable rocks, and on the south by the San Jacinto 

Page 922

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

3-6 

Mountains. A surface drainage divide between the Colorado River and South Coastal Hydrologic Study 
Areas bounds the subbasin on the west. The eastern boundary is formed by a bedrock constriction that 
creates a groundwater cascade into the Indio Subbasin. 

The main water bearing deposits in the subbasin are Holocene and Pleistocene age alluvium and Pliocene 
to Pleistocene age San Timoteo Formation. Holocene alluvium is mostly gravel and sand and, where 
saturated, would yield water readily to wells. Within the subbasin, these deposits lie largely above the water 
table and contribute little water to wells. Holocene alluvium is found in the tributaries of the subbasin and 
allows runoff to infiltrate and recharge the subbasin. Older, Pleistocene-age alluvium contains sand and 
gravel, but also large amounts of clay and silt. These deposits yield moderate amounts of water to wells. 

The San Gorgonio Pass Subbasin is subdivided into a series of storage units that include the Banning 
Bench, Banning, Beaumont, and Cabazon storage units. The Cabazon storage unit is recharged naturally 
with runoff from the adjacent San Jacinto and San Bernardino Mountains. 

The Cabazon storage unit encompasses approximately 11 square miles. The Cabazon storage unit is 
located near the western MSWD boundary. MSWD operates four wells in the Cabazon storage unit. Other 
groundwater users in the Cabazon storage unit include Desert Hills Premium Outlets, Morongo Band of 
Mission Indians, and Cabazon Water District. 

3.1.2    Groundwater Management 

Historically, groundwater overdraft was a concern for much of the Coachella Valley. CVWD and DWA jointly 
operate groundwater replenishment programs (GRPs) in the West Whitewater River Subbasin and Mission 
Creek Subbasin management areas, and CVWD operates a replenishment program in the East Whitewater 
River Subbasin area of benefit (AOB). These programs have had a significant beneficial effect on overdraft. 
To recover the cost of the GRP, a Replenishment Assessment Charge (RAC) is applied to all non-exempted 
groundwater production. These RACs are calculated and managed separately by each agency for each of 
the AOBs. 

In 2002, CVWD adopted the Coachella Valley Water Management Plan (CVWMP) to address groundwater 
overdraft and is working collaboratively with other agencies to implement that plan. An update to the 
CVWMP was adopted in 2012 and a status report was prepared in 2014 and 2016. Projects constructed in 
the past 12 years include the TEL-GRF in La Quinta, the PD-GRF, the Martinez Canyon Pilot Recharge 
Facility in Oasis, and Phase I of the Mid-Valley Pipeline project, which conveys Coachella Canal water to 
the mid-valley, where it can be delivered directly or mixed with recycled water from WRP-10 to meet 
irrigation demands of golf courses in the Indian Wells-Palm Desert-Rancho Mirage area of the Valley. 

As noted above, CVWD and DWA began recharge operations at the Mission Creek GRF (MC-GRF) in 
2002. In addition, CVWD, DWA, and MSWD completed and adopted the 2013 Mission Creek/Garnet Hill 
Water Management Plan to address groundwater overdraft and the agencies (collectively the Management 
Committee) are implementing that plan. Projects constructed in the past eight years include septic to sewer 
conversion projects, abating approximately 3,400 septic tanks, and installation of additional monitoring 
wells. In addition, MSWD will begin construction of its Regional Water Reclamation Facility in 2021 to 
provide the treatment capacity needed to complete removal of all legacy septic tank systems throughout its 
service area. 

Additional programs focusing on conversion of groundwater pumpers to recycled and imported Coachella 
Canal water over the next ten years are intended to prevent future overdraft. During extended drought 
periods when SWP Exchange water deliveries for replenishment are reduced, continued groundwater 
pumping could result in short-term overdraft. Reduced replenishment could result in lower groundwater 
levels, which are expected to recover when normal supply conditions resume. Short-term reductions in 
replenishment due to droughts are not expected to affect long-term supply reliability. 

Page 923

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

3-7 

3.1.3    Sustainable Groundwater Management Act 

In 2014, the California Legislature enacted the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA), a 
package of three bills (AB 1739, SB 1168, and SB 1319), that empowers local agencies to sustainably 
manage groundwater resources. SGMA defines sustainable groundwater management as the 
management of groundwater supplies in a manner that can be maintained during the planning and 
implementation horizon without causing undesirable results. 

A local agency, combination of local agencies, or county may establish a GSA. It is the GSA’s responsibility 
to develop and implement a groundwater sustainability plan (GSP) that considers all beneficial uses and 
users of groundwater in the basin. GSAs must develop GSPs with measurable objectives and interim 
milestones that ensure basin sustainability by 2042. A basin may be managed by a single GSP or multiple 
coordinated GSPs. A basin can be managed by an alternative to a GSP if approved by DWR. 

SGMA compliance efforts are ongoing in three subbasins:  Indio, Mission Creek, and San Gorgonio Pass. 
DWA, CVWD, IWA, and CWA all filed to become GSAs and jointly manage the Indio Subbasin.  The 2003 
Mission Creek Groundwater Replenishment Agreement (amended in 2014) and 2004 Mission Creek 
Settlement Agreement guide management of the Mission Creek Subbasin. CVWD and DWA filed for GSA 
status in the Mission Creek Subbasin. The Mission Creek Subbasin Annual Report provides additional 
information regarding the CVWD, DWA, and MSWD 2004 Settlement Agreement, the subsequent 
Management Committee, and how the agencies are working together under SGMA.  DWA is one of three 
GSAs completing a GSP in the San Gorgonio Pass Subbasin. 

The agencies submitted the 2010 Coachella Valley Water Management Plan and the 2013 Mission Creek 
and Garnet Hill Water Management Plan as Alternative Plans under SGMA for the Indio and Mission Creek 
Subbasins, respectively. The agencies prepared bridge documents to show how these alternative plans 
met the requirements of SGMA for each subbasin. The Alternative Plans were accepted by DWR, and they 
are currently being updated for submittal by January 1, 2022. 

3.1.4    Groundwater Quality 

According to the 2010 CVWMP, groundwater quality in the Coachella Valley varies with depth, proximity to 
faults and recharge basins, presence of surface contaminants, and other hydrogeologic or human factors. 
Ongoing basin-wide groundwater quality monitoring found that drinking water supplied from groundwater 
wells complies with all state and federal drinking water quality standards, with the exception of arsenic and 
the proposed chromium‐6 Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL) of 10 parts per billion (ppb). Both 
substances are naturally occurring in some portions of the groundwater basin.  

Where it is an issue, suppliers are meeting the MCL for arsenic through a combination of treatment and 
blending approaches. 

Chromium-6, also known as Cr-6 and hexavalent chromium, is a natural element that occurs in groundwater 
in the Coachella Valley due to the erosion of natural deposits. Cr-6 levels are controlled in California drinking 
water by existing regulations that include a MCL of 50 parts per billion (ppb) for total chromium, which is 
twice as stringent as the national MCL for total chromium of 100 ppb established by the United States 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). California’s Senate Bill 351, adopted in 2001, required the state 
to develop a drinking water standard for Cr-6. State health officials enacted the country’s first Cr-6 drinking 
water standard or MCL in 2014. In May 2017, a judge invalidated the MCL because the state failed to 
properly consider the economic feasibly of compliance. The State Water Resources Control Board is now 
working on establishing a new Cr-6 MCL for drinking water. 

Total dissolved solids (TDS) and salinity of the groundwater basin is also an important water quality 
parameter.  Efforts are being made to analyze this through the Coachella Valley Groundwater Basin Salt 
and Nutrient Management Plan. 

 

Page 924

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

3-8 

 Imported Water 

The Coachella Valley has access to two sources of imported water: 

1. CVWD has rights to receive Colorado River water delivered through the Coachella Canal, a branch 
of the All-American Canal. 

2. CVWD and DWA are SWP contractors. As such, they have rights to receive water from the State 
Water Project, which conveys water from northern California south to Lake Perris and other 
endpoints. There is no physical infrastructure to convey SWP water to the Coachella Valley. 
Therefore, CVWD and DWA have entered into exchange agreements with MWD. MWD’s Colorado 
River Aqueduct (CRA) conveys water from the Colorado River through the Coachella Valley and 
eventually to Lake Mathews. The exchange agreements allow MWD to deliver Colorado River 
Water to CVWD and DWA for use in groundwater recharge in the West Whitewater River Subbasin 
Management Area and the Mission Creek Subbasin Management Area. In exchange, MWD 
receives SWP water that would have gone to CVWD and DWA. 

The imported water sources and conveyance infrastructure are shown in Figure 3-2. 

3.2.1    Colorado River Water 

Colorado River water has been a major source of supply for the Coachella Valley since 1949 with the 
completion of the Coachella Canal. The Coachella Canal (Canal) is a branch of the All-American Canal that 
brings Colorado River water into the Imperial and Coachella Valleys. The Canal originates at Drop 1 on the 
All-American Canal and extends approximately 122 miles, terminating in CVWD’s Lake Cahuilla. This water 
is used for agricultural, golf course, and landscape irrigation purposes, as well as groundwater recharge. 

The Colorado River is managed and operated in accordance with the Law of the River, the collection of 
interstate compacts, federal and state legislation, various agreements and contracts, an international treaty, 
a U.S. Supreme Court decree, and federal administrative actions that govern the rights to use of Colorado 
River water within the seven Colorado River Basin states. The Colorado River Compact, signed in 1922, 
apportioned the waters of the Colorado River Basin between the Upper Basin (Colorado, Wyoming, Utah, 
and New Mexico) and the Lower Basin (Nevada, Arizona, and California). The Colorado River Compact 
allocates 15 million AFY of Colorado River water: 7.5 million AFY to the Upper Basin and 7.5 million AFY 
to the Lower Basin, plus up to 1 million AFY of surplus supplies.  In addition to those allocations, Mexico 
was allocated 1.5 million AFY. The Lower Basin’s water was further apportioned among the three Lower 
Basin states by the Boulder Canyon Project Act in 1928 and the 1964 U.S. Supreme Court decree in Arizona 
v. California. Arizona’s basic annual apportionment is 2.8 million AFY, California’s is 4.4 million AFY, and 
Nevada’s is 0.3 million AFY. 

California’s apportionment of Colorado River water is allocated by the 1931 Seven Party Agreement. The 
parties involved include: 

 Palo Verde Irrigation District (PVID) 
 Imperial Irrigation District (IID) 
 CVWD 
 MWD 
 City of Los Angeles 
 City of San Diego 
 County of San Diego 

The allocations of the City and the County of San Diego and the City of Los Angeles are now incorporated 
into MWD’s allocations. The allocations defined in the Seven Party Agreement are shown in Table 3-1. 

 

Page 925

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

3-9 

 

Figure 3-2. Sources of Imported Water Supply 
 

Page 926

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

3-10 

Table 3-1. Priorities and Water Delivery Contracts, California Seven-Party 
Agreement of 1932 

Priority Description AFY 

1 Palo Verde Irrigation District gross area of 104,500 acres of valley 
lands 

3,850,000 

2 Yuma Project (Reservation Division) not exceeding a gross area of 
25,000 acres within California 

3(a) Imperial Irrigation District, Coachella Valley Water District, and lands 
in Imperial and Coachella Valleys to be served by the All-American 
Canal 

3(b) Palo Verde Irrigation District – 16,000 acres of mesa lands 

4 Metropolitan Water District of Southern California for use on coastal 
plain 

550,000 

 Subtotal – California’s Basic Apportionment 4,400,000 

5(a) Metropolitan Water District of Southern California for use on coastal 
plain  

550,000 

5(b) 

 

Metropolitan Water District of Southern California for use on coastal 
plain [lower priority than 5(a)] 

112,000 

6(a) Imperial Irrigation District and lands in the Imperial and Coachella 
Valleys to be served by the All-American Canal 

300,000 

6(b) Palo Verde Irrigation District – 16,000 acres of mesa lands  

 Total 5,362,000 

Notes: 

Priorities 5-6 would only receive water if there is water available in excess of the 7.5 million AFY for the 
Lower Basin states or unused water within the Lower Basin. 

Sources: United States Bureau of Reclamation, http://www.usbr.gov; 2010 Coachella Valley Water 
Management Plan Update, January 2012, p. 4‐14, Table 4‐2. 

 

In its 1979 supplemental decree in the Arizona v. California case, the United States Supreme Court also 
assigned “present perfected rights” to the use of river water to a number of individuals, water districts, towns 
and Indian tribes along the river. These rights, which total approximately 2.875 million AFY, are charged 
against California’s 4.4 million AFY allocation and must be satisfied first in times of shortage. Under the 
1970 Criteria for Coordinated Long‐Range Operation of the Colorado River Reservoirs (Operating Criteria), 
the Secretary of the Interior determines how much water is to be allocated for use in Arizona, California, 
and Nevada and whether a surplus, normal, or shortage condition exists. The Secretary may allocate 
additional water if surplus conditions exist on the Colorado River. 

California’s Colorado River supply is protected by the 1968 Colorado River Basin Project Act (PL 90- 537, 
1968), which authorized construction of the Central Arizona Project (CAP). This act provides that, in years 
of insufficient supply on the main stream of the Colorado River, supplies to the CAP shall be reduced to 
zero before California will be reduced below 4.4 million AF in any year. This provision assures full supplies 
to the Coachella Valley except in periods of extreme drought. 

CVWD’s use of Colorado River water is authorized under the terms of a contract between the United States 
and CVWD, signed October 15, 1934, under which the United States built the Imperial Dam, the All-
American Canal and the Coachella Canal, and agreed to deliver water to CVWD in accordance with the 
priorities of the Seven Party Agreement and the 1934 Compromise Agreement between CVWD and 

Page 927

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

3-11 

Imperial Irrigation District (IID), that subordinated CVWD’s right to use water to that of IID. CVWD’s rights 
would later be quantified under the Quantification Settlement Agreement (QSA) in 2003. 

The service area for Colorado River water delivery under CVWD’s contract with the Bureau of Reclamation 
is defined as Improvement District No. 1 (ID-1) which encompasses most of the East Valley and a portion 
of the West Valley north of Interstate 10.  Under the 1931 California Seven Party Agreement, CVWD has 
water rights to Colorado River water as part of the first 3.85 million AFY allocated to California.  CVWD is 
in the third priority position along with IID. 

3.2.1.1    Quantification Settlement Agreement 

In October 2003, CVWD, IID, MWD, and the San Diego County Water Authority along with the state and 
federal governments executed the QSA. The QSA quantifies the Colorado River water allocations of 
California’s contractors for the next 75 years and provides for the transfer of water between agencies. Under 
the QSA, CVWD has a base allotment of 330,000 AFY. In accordance with the QSA, CVWD has entered 
into water transfer agreements with MWD and IID that increase CVWD supplies as shown in Table 3-2. 

 

Table 3-2. CVWD Colorado River Water Budget under the Quantification 
Settlement Agreement 

Component 2020 Amount 
(AFY) 

2027 – 2045 
Amount (AFY) 

Base Entitlement 330,000 330,000 

1988 MWD/IID Approval Agreement 20,000 20,000 

First IID/CVWD Transfer 50,000 50,000 

Second IID/CVWD Transfer1 23,000 53,000 

Less Coachella Canal Lining (to SDCWA) -26,000 -26,000 

Less Miscellaneous/Indian Present Perfected Rights -3,000 -3,000 

QSA Diversions 394,000 424,000 

MWD/CVWD SWP Transfer2 35,000 35,000 

Total Allocations 429,000 459,000 

Less Conveyance Losses and Regulatory Water3 -26,200 -22,950 

Total Deliveries to CVWD 402,800 436,050 

Notes: 

1. The Second IID/CVWD Transfer began in 2018 with 13,000 AF of water. This amount increases 
annually by 5,000 AFY for a total of 53,000 AFY in 2026. 

2. The 35,000 AFY MWD/CVWD SWP Transfer may be delivered at either Imperial Dam or Whitewater 
River and is not subject to SWP or Colorado River reliability. 

3. Conveyance losses (5%) and regulatory water based on historic averages. 

 

The QSA requires most Colorado River water to be delivered at Imperial Dam, via the All-American Canal 
to the Coachella Canal. The 35,000 AFY MWD/CVWD SWP Transfer can also be delivered to the 
Whitewater Turnout on the CRA.  Deliveries at Whitewater are subject to a supplemental energy charge for 
CRA pumping. The 35,000 AFY supply is not subject to SWP delivery reliability, rather it is a fixed annual 
delivery. Either MWD or CVWD may request a reduction or elimination of delivery in a given year subject 
to mutual consent. However, no QSA water may be used in the Mission Creek Subbasin. Delivery of this 
water to the WWR-GRF commenced in 2010; the amount delivered each year has varied based on supply 

Page 928

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

3-12 

conditions. The 2019 Second Amendment to the Delivery and Exchange Agreement with MWD allows 
CVWD to receive 15,000 AF of the 20,000 AF 1988 MWD/IID Approval Agreement water at the WWR-GRF 
through 2026. 

3.2.1.2    Canal Water Deliveries 

CVWD manages the Coachella Canal and associated water delivery system used to irrigate over 60,000 
acres of farmland in the ID-1 Service Area. The Coachella Canal was built during the period from August 
1938 to June 1948, with construction halted during World War II. Construction of the underground 
distribution system was initiated in 1948 and completed in 1954. The Canal distribution system was 
constructed and engineered to follow the natural slope of the land to allow the free flow of water using the 
force of gravity. Irrigation pumps are used to deliver water to elevated areas within the availability zones. 
This lateral distribution system delivers water to farmers at the highest point of every 40 acres of eligible 
land within the District's service area. 

In addition to agricultural irrigation, Canal water is currently delivered to 30 golf courses and an additional 
9-holes on another course in the Indio Subbasin in-lieu of groundwater to reduce groundwater pumping. 
Golf courses served with Canal water are required to meet at least 80 percent of their water needs with 
Colorado River water. CVWD is working with one additional golf course to connect it to the Canal water 
distribution system. 

3.2.1.3    Mid-Valley Pipeline 

The Mid-Valley Pipeline (MVP) is a pipeline distribution system to deliver Canal water to the mid-Valley 
area for golf course and landscape irrigation. Some customers receive only Canal water, while others 
receive a blend of Canal water and recycled water from WRP-10. This source substitution project reduces 
groundwater pumping for these uses. 

Construction of the first phase of the MVP from the Coachella Canal in Indio to CVWD’s WRP-10 in Palm 
Desert (6.6 miles in length) was completed in 2009. Currently, six golf courses receive Canal water directly 
from the MVP. An additional 15 golf courses receive a blend of Canal water from the MVP blended with 
recycled water from CVWD’s WRP-10. 

Implementation of later phases will expand the non-potable system to be able to serve approximately 38 
golf courses in the Rancho Mirage-Palm Desert-Indian Wells area that currently use groundwater as their 
primary source of supply with Canal water or a blend with recycled water. Golf courses connected to the 
MVP or non-potable system are required to meet at least 80 percent of their water needs with non-potable 
water. 

A total of six homeowner’s associations (HOAs) and municipal buildings also receive a blend of recycled 
water and Canal water from the MVP. The MVP and WRP-10 non-potable system currently serves 
approximately 12,000 AFY of Canal water and 7,000 AFY of CVWD’s WRP-10 recycled water.  

3.2.1.4    Oasis In-Lieu Recharge Project  

The Oasis In-Lieu Recharge Project is an in-lieu source-substitution project identified in the 2010 CVWMP 
Update that will supply approximately 32,000 AFY to offset groundwater pumping for agricultural irrigation. 
System improvements required to convey water to these lands include construction of gravity and 
pressurized pipelines, surface reservoirs, pump stations, and related modifications and connections to the 
existing irrigation system. The project will be constructed, owned, and operated by CVWD. It will be 
connected to the existing water delivery system (Lateral 97.1) that serves the Oasis Area. This lateral serves 
one of the six distinct service zones within Improvement District No. 1 (ID-1). Its headworks is a turnout 
from the Coachella Canal and it heads southwesterly across the Coachella Valley to the Oasis Tower 
location at the intersection of Avenue 70 and Polk Street. 

Phase I of the project included two reservoirs to provide additional storage and operational improvements 
and flexibility in the Oasis area. Construction on Phase I of the project was completed in December 2020. 
The construction of Phase II is scheduled to be completed by 2023. Connections to the distribution system 
are expected to be phased in between 2023 and 2028. 

Page 929

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

3-13 

3.2.2    State Water Project Water/MWD Exchange 

To recharge groundwater supplies in the Management Areas of the West Whitewater River and Mission 
Creek subbasins, CVWD and DWA obtain imported water supplies from the SWP. The SWP is managed 
by DWR and includes 660 miles of aqueduct and conveyance facilities extending from Lake Oroville in 
northern California to Lake Perris in the south. The SWP has contracts to deliver 4.172 million AFY to 29 
contracting agencies. DWA and CVWD initially contracted with the State of California for SWP water in 
1962 and 1963, respectively. CVWD’s original SWP water allocation (Table A Amount) was 23,100 AFY, 
while DWA’s original SWP water allocation was 38,100 AFY. As a result of the water transfers in Table 3-3, 
CVWD’s current Table A allocation is 138,350 AFY and DWA’s Table A allocation is 55,750 AFY for a total 
of 194,100 AFY to the Coachella Valley. These totals are shown in Table 3-3. 

 

Table 3-3. State Water Project Allocations to CVWD and DWA (AFY) 

Agency 

Original 
SWP Table 

A 

Tulare Lake 
Basin 

Transfer #1 

Tulare Lake 
Basin 

Transfer #2 
MWD 

Transfer 

Berrenda-
Mesa 

Transfer 

Current 
Total Table 

A 

CVWD 23,100 9,900 5,250 88,100 12,000 138,350 

DWA 38,100 0 1,750 11,900 4,000 55,750 

Total 61,200 9,900 7,000 100,000 16,000 194,100 

 

Each year, DWR determines the amount of water available for delivery to SWP contractors based on 
hydrology, reservoir storage, the requirements of water rights licenses and permits, water quality and 
environmental requirements for protected species in the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta. The available 
supply is then allocated according to each SWP contractor’s updated Table A Amount (including both their 
original allocation and subsequent transfers). CVWD and DWA jointly manage their combined SWP Table 
A Amounts, allocating costs in proportion to total groundwater production within the West Whitewater River 
Subbasin Management Area and the Mission Creek Subbasin Management Area Areas of Benefit, within 
their respective service areas. 

3.2.2.1    SWP Exchange and Advance Delivery Agreements 

SWP Exchange water has been used to recharge the Management Area of the West Whitewater River 
Subbasin at the WWR-GRF since 1973. Because CVWD and DWA do not have a physical connection to 
SWP conveyance facilities, MWD takes delivery of CVWD’s and DWA’s SWP water, and in exchange, 
delivers an equal amount of Colorado River water to the Whitewater Service Connections (for recharge at 
WWR-GRF and MC-GRF). 

In December of 2019, the Agreement between MWD, CVWD, and DWA for the exchange and advance 
delivery was amended and restated. The restated agreement notes that: 

 CVWD and DWA entered into separate exchange agreements with MWD in 1967 under which 
CVWD and DWA deliver their SWP water to MWD, and in exchange MWD delivers a like amount 
of Colorado River Water to CVWD and DWA. 

 In 1984, the three parties entered into the Advance Delivery Agreement, which allowed MWD to 
deliver Colorado River water in advance to be credit against its future water exchange obligations. 

 In 2003, the parties entered the 2003 Exchange Agreement, which amended the 1983 Exchange 
Agreements and the Advance Delivery Agreement. It also provided for the transfer of 100,000 AFY 
of MWD’s Annual Table A amount to CVWD and DWA in exchange for a like quantity of MWD’s 
Colorado River Water. The agreement also provided MWD an annual option to call-back the 
100,000 AF transfer under certain conditions. 

 The purposes of the restated agreement were to make necessary updates, end MWD’s right to call 
back 100,000 AFY of Table A water, and allow MWD to defer certain Colorado River deliveries to 
CVWD and DWA. 

Page 930

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

3-14 

The amount of water that has been pre-delivered is accounted for and reported annually in the Engineer’s 
Reports on Water Supply and Replenishment prepared by CVWD and DWA. As of December 31, 2020, 
the advance delivery account balance was 313,400 AF. 

MWD and CVWD have a separate agreement for delivery and exchange of 35,000 AF. This agreement 
was first created in 2003, amended in 2015, and amended for the second time in 2019. The 2019 
amendments provided for an exchange of additional water and streamlined provisions of the agreement 
related to delivery, billing, and payments. 

3.2.2.2    SWP Reliability 

DWR prepares a biennial report to assist SWP contractors and local planners in assessing the availability 
of supplies from the SWP. DWR issued its most recent update, the 2019 DWR State Water Project Delivery 
Capability Report (DCR), in August 2020. In this update, DWR provides SWP supply estimates for SWP 
contractors to use in their planning efforts, including the 2020 UWMPs. The 2019 DCR includes DWR’s 
estimates of SWP water supply availability under both existing (2020) and future (2040) conditions. 

DWR’s estimates of SWP deliveries are based on a computer model that simulates monthly operations of 
the SWP and Central Valley Project systems. Key inputs to the model include the facilities included in the 
system, hydrologic inflows to the system, regulatory and operational constraints on system operations, and 
contractor demands for SWP water. In conducting its model studies, DWR must make assumptions 
regarding each of these key inputs. 

In the 2019 DCR for its model study under existing conditions, DWR assumed:  existing facilities, hydrologic 
inflows to the model based on 82 years of historical inflows (1922 through 2003), current regulatory and 
operational constraints including 2018 Addendum to the Coordinated Operation Agreement (COA), 2019 
biological opinions and 2020 Incidental Take Permit, and contractor demands at maximum Table A 
Amounts. The long-term average allocations reported in the 2019 DCR for the existing conditions study 
provide an appropriate estimate of the SWP water supply availability under current conditions. 

To evaluate SWP supply availability under future conditions, the 2019 DCR included a model study 
representing hydrologic and sea level rise conditions at 2040. The future condition study used all of the 
same model assumptions as the study under existing conditions, but reflected changes expected to occur 
from climate change, specifically, projected temperature and precipitation changes centered around 2035 
(2020 to 2049) and a 45-centimeter sea level rise. The long-term average allocations reported for the future 
conditions study from the 2019 DCR are 58 percent for existing conditions through 2039, and 52 percent 
for future conditions beginning in 2040. 

As part of other on-going planning efforts, the RUWMP participating agencies are evaluating potential future 
scenarios that include lower reliability values that reflect recent historical average availability. These 
scenarios also incorporate potential climate change impacts and are being analyzed in the Alternative Plans 
currently under development. 

Each year by October 1, SWP contractors submit their requests for SWP supplies for the following calendar 
year. By December 1, DWR estimates the available water supply for the following year and sets an initial 
supply allocation based on the total of all contractors’ requests, current reservoir storage, forecasted 
hydrology through the next year, and target reservoir storage for the end of the next year. The most 
uncertain of these factors is the forecasted hydrology. In setting water supply allocations, DWR uses a 
conservative 90% hydrologic forecast, where nine out of ten years will be wetter than the assumed forecast 
and one out of ten years drier than the assumed forecast. DWR re-evaluates its estimate of available 
supplies throughout the runoff season of winter and early spring, using updated reservoir storage and 
hydrologic forecasts, and revises SWP supply allocations as warranted. Since most of California’s annual 
precipitation falls in the winter and early spring, by the end of spring the supply available for the year is 
much more certain, and in most years DWR issues its final SWP allocation by this time. While most of the 
water supply is certain by this time, runoff in the late fall remains somewhat variable as the next year’s 
runoff season begins. A drier than forecasted fall can result in not meeting end-of-year reservoir storage 
targets, which means less water available in storage for the following year. 

Page 931

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

3-15 

DWR’s 2019 DCR indicates that the modeled single dry year SWP water supply allocation is 7% under the 
existing conditions. However, historically the lowest SWP allocations were at 5% in 2014 and initial 
allocations in 2021. The circumstances that led to these water supply allocations were unusual, and 
although possible, have a low probability of frequent occurrence. The assumption for SWP contractors such 
as CVWD and DWA is that a 5% allocation represents the “worst-case” scenario. 

3.2.2.3    Yuba Accord 

In 2008, CVWD and DWA entered into separate agreements with DWR for the purchase and conveyance 
of supplemental SWP water under the Yuba River Accord Dry Year Water Purchase Program (Yuba 
Accord). This program provides dry year supplies through a water purchase agreement between DWR and 
Yuba County Water Agency, which settled long-standing operational and environmental issues over 
instream flow requirements for the lower Yuba River. Yuba Accord water transfers could include both 
surface water and groundwater substitution transfers for an estimated total of up to 140,000 AFY. The 
amount of water available for purchase varies annually and is allocated among participating SWP 
contractors based on their Table A amounts.  

3.2.2.4    Rosedale – Rio Bravo Transfers 

In 2008, CVWD entered into an agreement with Rosedale-Rio Bravo Water Storage District (Rosedale Rio-
Bravo) for a one-time transfer of 10,000 AF of Glorious Lands Company (GLC) water intended for a property 
development located in Riverside County within CVWD’s boundary. In 2012, CVWD entered into an 
Assignment Agreement with GLC to take over GLC’s water rights for the term of the 2005 Water Supply 
Agreement between GLC and Rosedale Rio-Bravo. The Assignment Agreement provides a total of 
252,500 AF to CVWD from Rosedale Rio-Bravo through 2035. CVWD also entered into a letter agreement 
with MWD in 2012 for the delivery and exchange of up to 16,500 AFY of non-Table A SWP water that 
Rosedale Rio-Bravo provides to CVWD. The water from Rosedale Rio-Bravo is delivered to CVWD as 
exchange water from MWD at the WWR-GRF. 

In 2020, CVWD finalized a supplemental letter agreement with Rosedale Rio-Bravo and a Point of Delivery 
Agreement with DWR that increased the limit on the amount Rosedale Rio-Bravo can deliver to CVWD in 
any one year (from 16,500 to 20,000 AFY), but does not change the total volume delivered during the life 
of the agreement through 2035. 

3.2.2.5    Delta Conveyance Facility Project 

The Delta Conveyance Facility Project (DCFP) is a State project that would improve SWP reliability and 
result in increased deliveries in the future. The existing SWP water conveyance facilities in the Delta, which 
include Clifton Court Forebay and the Banks Pumping Plant, enable DWR to divert water to the California 
Aqueduct. The DCFP would construct and operate new conveyance facilities in the Delta, primarily a new 
tunnel to bypass existing natural channels used for conveyance. New intake facilities would be located in 
the north Delta along the Sacramento River between Freeport, CA and the confluence with Sutter Slough. 
A new tunnel would convey water from the new intakes to the existing Banks Pumping Plant and potentially 
the federal Jones Pumping Plant, both in Byron, CA in the south Delta. The new facilities would provide an 
alternate location for diversion of water from the Delta and would be operated in coordination with the 
existing south Delta pumping facilities. 

Construction of the DCFP will improve water supply reliability for State Water Contractors by addressing 
in-Delta conveyance, with its myriad of constraints. Because the SWP currently relies on the Delta’s natural 
channels to convey water, it is vulnerable to earthquakes, climate change, and pumping restrictions 
established to protect in-stream species and habitats. Certain pumping restrictions in the south Delta can 
prevent the SWP from reliably capturing water when it is available, especially in wet weather. The DCFP 
would add new diversions in the north Delta to promote a more resilient and flexible SWP in the face of 
unstable future conditions. Combined with the current through-Delta method, the addition of DCFP is 
referred to as the “dual conveyance” system. 

Page 932

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

3-16 

CVWD and DWA have approved an agreement to advance their share of funding for DCFP planning and 
design costs, and will consider approval of an Agreement in Principle for the Delta Conveyance Facility in 
2021. 

3.2.2.6    Lake Perris Dam Seepage Recovery Project 

In 2017, MWD and DWR began preliminary planning for recovery of seepage below the Lake Perris Dam 
and delivery of the recovered water to MWD in addition to its current allocated Table A water. The project 
is composed of installing a series of five pumps placed down-gradient from the face of the Lake Perris Dam 
that will pump water that has seeped from the lake into the groundwater. The recovered water will be 
pumped into a collection pipeline that discharges directly into MWD’s Colorado River Aqueduct south of 
Lake Perris.  CVWD and DWA were invited to partner in the project with MWD, and the parties have signed 
an agreement with DWR for funding of environmental analysis, planning, and preliminary design. 

3.2.2.7    Sites Reservoir 

The Sites Reservoir Project would capture and store stormwater flows from the Sacramento River for 
release in dry years. Sites Reservoir would be situated on the west side of the Sacramento Valley, 
approximately 10 miles west of Maxwell, CA. When operated in coordination with other Northern California 
reservoirs such as Shasta, Oroville, and Folsom, which function as the backbone to both the SWP and the 
Central Valley Project, Sites Reservoir would increase flexibility and reliability of statewide water supplies 
in drier periods. In 2019, CVWD and DWA both entered into an agreement with the Sites Project Authority 
for the next phase of planning for the Sites Reservoir. 

3.2.2.8    Potential Risks to SWP Supplies 

The quantities of SWP water delivered to state water contractors in a given year depends on the demand 
for supply; amounts of rainfall, snowpack, runoff, and water in storage; pumping capacity from the Delta; 
and legal constraints on SWP operations. 

Higher sea levels as a result of climate change would threaten the existing levee system in the Delta. Most 
of the Delta is below sea level and is vulnerable to flooding. Salinity intrusion into the Delta may require 
increased releases of freshwater from upstream reservoirs to maintain compliance with water quality 
standards. For the SWP, climate change has the potential to affect the availability of its supply, and its 
ability to convey water. 

The Delta's levee system is also susceptible to sudden failures as a result of seismic events. California is 
subject to frequent earthquakes with potentially high magnitudes that can cause serious damage to 
structures and levees. As mentioned earlier, in the event of levee failure, water quality would be at risk from 
saltwater intrusion into the Delta. Such conditions would significantly affect water supply reliability by limiting 
pumping. 

 Local Surface Water 

The Coachella Valley drainage area is approximately 65 percent mountainous and 35 percent typical desert 
valley with alluvial fan topography buffering the valley floor from the steep mountain slopes. The mean 
annual precipitation ranges from 44 inches in the San Bernardino Mountains to less than 3 inches at the 
Salton Sea. Three types of storms produce precipitation in the drainage area: general winter storms, 
general summer storms and local thunderstorms. Longer duration, lower intensity rainfall events tend to 
have higher recharge rates, but runoff and flash flooding can result from all three types of storms.  
Otherwise, there is little or no flow in most of the streams in the drainage area. 

The Mission Creek runs from the San Bernardino and Little San Bernardino mountains in the northwest and 
flows southeast to the Whitewater River. Mission Creek flows to the valley floor on a consistent basis, but 
the stream usually disappears underground a short distance from its entrance into the greater Mission 
Creek Subbasin near Highway 62. While the principal surface water features in the Mission Creek and 

Page 933

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

3-17 

Desert Hot Springs Subbasin areas directly contribute to groundwater recharge, they are not sufficiently 
reliable to be used directly for municipal, industrial or agricultural uses. 

The Whitewater River runs through the Coachella Valley from the northwest to the south east. Many 
portions of the main channel and its tributaries have been channelized to convey flood flows. The upper 
reach of the main channel is referred to as the Whitewater River Stormwater Channel (WRSC), and the 
lower reach is referred to as the Coachella Valley Stormwater Channel (CVSC). 

DWA and CVWD both hold State of California surface water rights.  CVWD’s rights total up to 328,591 AFY 
for the Whitewater River and multiple tributaries, which exceeds the long-term average watershed runoff. 
These rights allow CVWD to capture available watershed runoff for replenishment of the groundwater basin. 

DWA’s rights total up to 13,308 AFY for Chino, Snow, Falls Creek, and Whitewater River. DWA acquired 
the water rights of the Whitewater River Mutual Water Company for 10 cubic feet per second (cfs) from 
Whitewater Canyon in 2008. Local surface water is diverted by DWA for urban and agricultural demands. 
Because surface water supplies are affected by variations in annual precipitation, however, the annual 
supply is highly variable. Since 1960, the historical surface water diversions have ranged from 
approximately 1,400 to 8,500 AFY. For the period 2010-2019, DWA’s average annual surface water 
diversions from all sources totaled 1,832 AFY. The remaining undiverted surface water is recharged into 
the Indio Subbasin through the natural streambed near Snow Creek Road/Highway 111, Chino Canyon, 
and the Whitewater River Channel. 

 Recycled Water 

Recycled water is a significant potential local resource that can be used to help reduce overdraft.  
Wastewater that has been highly treated and disinfected can be reused for landscape irrigation and other 
purposes. An overview of water recycling programs is included here, and each agency’s chapter has more 
detailed information about their facilities. 

CVWD started recycling wastewater for irrigation of golf courses and landscaping in the Coachella Valley 
in the late 1960s. CVWD operates five WRPs, two of which (WRP-7 and WRP-10) generate recycled water 
for irrigation of golf courses and large landscaped areas. WRP-7 is located in north Indio and is a 5.0 MGD 
secondary treatment facility with current tertiary treatment capacity of 2.5 MGD (2,800 AFY). The tertiary 
treated wastewater is used for irrigation of golf courses at Sun City in north Palm Desert and Shadow Hills 
in north Indio.  WRP-10 is located in the City of Palm Desert and is an 18.0 MGD secondary treatment 
facility with a current tertiary treatment capacity of 15 MGD (16,800 AFY). WRP-10 delivers recycled water 
for irrigation of golf courses, municipal, and HOA landscaping. CVWD is also planning to add tertiary 
treatment at WRP-4, in the unincorporated community of Thermal. CVWD’s remaining two plants, WRP-1 
and WRP-2, are smaller facilities with no current plans for water recycling. 

CWA serves the City of Coachella, which through its Coachella Sanitary District (CSD) owns and operates 
a 4.5 MGD (5,040 AFY) secondary treatment wastewater facility utilizing activated sludge and oxidation 
ditch processes. The plant currently discharges treated effluent to the CVSC. CSD participated in a regional 
feasibility study to determine the best available and most cost-effective opportunity to implement recycled 
water. 

DWA began operating a Water Reclamation Plant (WRP) in the 1980s that treats effluent from the City of 
Palm Springs Wastewater Treatment Plant. The WRP has a tertiary treatment capacity of 10 MGD (11,200 
AFY). DWA delivers recycled water to golf courses, parks, and other landscapes in the Palm Springs area, 
and also utilizes recycled water for irrigation at its operations center and WRP. Beginning in 2014, DWA 
equipped two shallow groundwater wells to augment the non-potable supply for peak demands (typically 
summer). These shallow wells pump non-potable groundwater adjacent to the DWA Recycling Plant into 
the recycled water distribution system.  

IWA serves the City of Indio, where wastewater treatment is provided by Valley Sanitary District (VSD). 
VSD owns and operates an 11 MGD (12,320 AFY) capacity wastewater treatment facility that serves most 
of the City of Indio. The City of Indio and the VSD have formed a Joint Powers Authority to plan, program, 
finance, design and operate a Reclaimed Water Facility. This facility would provide advanced treatment for 

Page 934

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

3-18 

effluent from VSD’s plant and create a new sustainable source of supply. Initial planning for the first phase 
is currently underway. 

MSWD operates two wastewater treatment facilities and will begin construction of the Regional Water 
Reclamation Facility this year. While all plants currently or will provide secondary treatment, MSWD has 
completed a recycled water feasibility study and plans to implement advanced treatment and recycled water 
recharge in the Mission Creek Subbasin in the next 5 to 10 years. 

MDMWC does not provide wastewater treatment services, and coordinates with regional agencies on 
potential uses of recycled water within its service area. 

Two small facilities in the southern portion of the study area are operated by the Salton Community Services 
District (SCSD). The Salton City WWTP and the Desert Shore WWTP dispose of effluent through 
evaporation and percolation, and there are no current plans for water recycling. 

Wastewater treatment and recycled water facilities are shown in Figure 3-3. 

 

Page 935

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

3-19 

 

Figure 3-3.  Wastewater and Recycled Water Facilities 
 

Page 936

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

3-20 

 

 Consistency with the Delta Plan for Participants in Covered Actions 

The region’s approach to demonstrating reduced reliance on the Delta has been developed using input 
from DWR and the State Water Contractors. This RUWMP is focused on the delivery of potable water to 
meet demands in each agency’s public water systems. Agricultural users and golf courses use large 
amounts of water in the Coachella Valley, but this water is not typically delivered through the municipal 
systems. Instead, these users may pump groundwater which is recharged with SWP Exchange water or 
receive Canal water delivered by CVWD. For the purposes of evaluating regional reliance on the Delta, the 
agencies have prepared an estimate of these non-municipal demands in the region. These estimates are 
shown in Table 3-4. 

 

Table 3-4. Non-Municipal Water Use 
 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Agricultural Irrigation (AFY) 290,312 287,092 283,873 280,654 277,442 274,231 

Golf Irrigation (AFY) 105,300 106,075 106,850 107,625 107,625 107,625 

Other Non-Urban Non-Potable 
Use (AFY) 

18,893 21,593 21,593 21,593 21,593 21,593 

Total Non-Urban Non-Potable 
Use (AFY) 

414,505 414,760 412,316 409,872 406,660 403,449 

Notes: 

These estimates are from the draft Indio Subbasin Alternative Plan Update and draft Mission Creek 
Subbasin Alternative Plan Update, which will be submitted to DWR by January 1, 2022. 

 

The analysis of reduced Delta reliance is provided in Appendix C. 

 Climate Change 

Climate plays a central role in the operation, planning, and management of water resource systems for 
water supply, flood management, and environmental stewardship. Expectations of the timing and form of 
precipitation; the timing, magnitude, and distribution of runoff; and the availability of water for beneficial use 
are based on understanding of the climate system and experience with historical meteorological and 
hydrological events. 

The potential impacts of climate change on water resources may be felt through changes in temperature, 
precipitation, and runoff. Particularly, the Colorado River Hydrologic Region is subject to the following 
climate vulnerabilities: 

 Magnitude and frequency of extreme precipitation events may increase, resulting in greater flood 
risk and debris flows. 

 More frequent and longer droughts would reduce imported water supply reliability and decrease 
local water quality (through increasing concentrations of constituents) and habitat. 

The implications of climate change regionally and nationally may adversely impact the Coachella Valley’s 
water resources. Further discussions of potential climate change impacts are included in the 2018 
Coachella Valley IRWM/SWR Plan. 

 

 

Page 937

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-1 

 

 

 Introduction 

This chapter presents information specific to CVWD’s reporting requirements under the Urban Water 
Management Planning Act (UWMP Act). As an urban water supplier, CVWD is required to prepare an Urban 
Water Management Plan (UWMP) every five years in response to the requirements of the UWMP Act, 
California Water Code Sections (CWC) 10610 through 10656. This Regional UWMP (RUWMP) serves to 
meet the UWMP Act requirements for the six participating agencies, and this chapter contains information 
specific to CVWD. 

Background about the preparation of the RUWMP and the changes in the CWC requirements is presented 
in Chapter 1 of the RUWMP. The relation of the RUWMP to other planning efforts is described in Chapter 
3 of the RUWMP. 

4.1.1    Chapter Organization 

This chapter is organized to follow the structured recommended in the Guidebook.   

Section 4.1 - Introduction and Overview. Provides a discussion on the importance and extent of 
CVWD’s water management planning efforts. 

Section 4.2 - Plan Preparation. Provides information on CVWD’s process for developing the 
UWMP, including efforts in coordination and outreach. 

Section 4.3 - System Description. Includes maps of the service area, a description of the service 
area and climate, public water systems, and CVWD’s organizational structure and history. 

Section 4.4 - System Water Use. Describes and quantifies the current and projected urban water 
uses within CVWD’s service area. 

Section 4.5 - Baselines and Targets. Describes CVWD’s methods for calculating baseline and 
target urban water consumption. Demonstrates achievement of the 2020 water use target. 

Section 4.6 - System Supplies. Describes and quantifies current and projected sources of urban 
water available to CVWD. Includes discussion of potential recycled water uses and supply 
availability. 

Section 4.7 - Water Supply Reliability. Describes the reliability of CVWD’s water supply and projects 
the reliability for the next 25 years. Includes an analysis for normal years, single dry years, and 
multiple dry years. 

Section 4.8 - Water Shortage Contingency Planning. Provides CVWD’s staged plan for dealing with 
water shortages, including a catastrophic supply interruption. 

Section 4.9 - Demand Management Measures. Describes CVWD’s efforts to promote conservation 
and to reduce demand through demand management measures. 

Section 4.10 - Plan Adoption, Submittal, and Implementation. Describes the steps taken by CVWD 
to adopt and submit the UWMP and to make it publicly available. Includes a discussion of CVWD’s 
plan to implement the UWMP. 

4.1.2    RUWMP in Relation to Other Efforts 

The related planning efforts by agencies in the Coachella Valley are described in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

Page 938

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-2 

4.1.3    RUWMP and Grant or Loan Eligibility 

The CWC requires urban water suppliers to have a current UWMP, deemed sufficient at addressing the 
CWC requirements by DWR, in order for the urban water suppliers to be eligible for any water management 
grant or loan administered by DWR.  

In addition, the UWMP Act requires a retail water agency to meet its 2020 Compliance Urban Water Use 
Target and report compliance in the 2020 UWMP. Section 4.5 of this chapter describes CVWD’s calculation 
of 2020 water use in gallons per capita per day (GPCD) and demonstrates compliance with CVWD’s 2020 
target.  CVWD has met the water conservation requirements to be eligible for State water grants or loans. 

4.1.4    Demonstration of Consistency with the Delta Plan for Participants in Covered Actions 

The participating agencies’ approach to demonstrating reduced reliance on the Delta is discussed in 
Chapter 3 of the RUWMP.  The analysis of reduced Delta reliance is provided in Appendix C. 

 Plan Preparation 

This section provides information on CVWD’s process for developing this RUWMP, including efforts in 
coordination and outreach. 

4.2.1    Plan Preparation 

In accordance with the CWC, urban water suppliers must develop a UWMP every five years.  An “urban 
water supplier” is a supplier providing water for municipal purposes to more than 3,000 service connections 
or supplying 3,000 or more acre-feet (AF) of water per year.  CVWD has over 100,000 municipal service 
connections and, therefore, surpasses the 3,000-connection threshold and has prepared a 2020 UWMP. 

4.2.2    Basis for Preparing a Plan 

CVWD serves municipal customers through three public water systems, summarized in Table 4-1.  This 
chapter and the RUWMP meet reporting requirements for all three systems.  In March 2021, the ID No. 11 
system was consolidated into the Cove Community system, and future reporting will treat them as a 
consolidated system. 

 

Table 4-1. DWR 2-1R Public Water Systems 

Public Water 
System Number 

Public Water System Name 
Number of Municipal 

Connections 2020 
Volume of Water 

Supplied 2020 (AF) 

CA3310001 and 
CA1310011 

CVWD - Cove Community 
and CVWD – ID No. 11 

108,507 96,661 

CA3310048 CVWD - ID No. 8 1,586 3,182 

- Total 110,093 99,843 

 

4.2.3    Regional Planning 

The regional planning efforts of water supply agencies in the Coachella Valley are described in Chapters 2 
and 3 of the RUWMP. 

Page 939

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-3 

The UWMP Act allows water agencies to prepare their plans either individually or by participation in an area 
wide, regional, watershed, or basin-wide urban water management plan.  CVWD is participating in the 
Coachella Valley RUWMP.   

4.2.4    Individual or Regional Planning and Compliance 

The Water Conservation Act of 2009 allows agencies to report progress toward achieving water 
conservation targets on an individual or regional basis.  The agencies have not created a Regional Alliance 
for the purposes of measuring and reporting water conservation targets. 

4.2.5    Fiscal or Calendar Year and Units of Measure 

This UWMP reports water use on a calendar year basis, and all volumes are expressed in units of acre-
feet (AF), unless otherwise indicated.  CVWD is a retail agency and does not currently sell wholesale water. 

4.2.6    Coordination and Outreach 

According to CWC §10631, an urban water supplier that relies on water from a wholesaler must provide 
the wholesaler with water use projections for that supplier for the next 20 years.  However, CVWD does not 
receive water from a wholesale supplier and meets all its water demands through its own supplies. 

CVWD does not currently provide wholesale water to other water agencies. 

CWC §10620 requires urban water suppliers to coordinate their plans with other appropriate agencies in 
the area.  Outreach and coordination during RUWMP preparation are described in Chapter 2 of the 
RUWMP. 

CWC §10621 requires the urban water supplier to notify the cities and counties that are within their service 
area 60 days before the public hearing of the UWMP.  The notices are described in Chapter 2 of the 
RUWMP. 

 System Description 

This section describes the CVWD urban water service area and population. 

4.3.1    General Description 

CVWD was formed in 1918 under the County Water District Act provisions of the CWC.  In 1937, CVWD 
absorbed the responsibilities of the Coachella Valley Stormwater District that had been formed in 1915.  
CVWD now encompasses approximately 640,000 acres, mostly within Riverside County, but also extending 
into northern Imperial and northeastern San Diego counties.   

CVWD is governed by a board of five directors, elected by district voters to four-year terms. Each director 
lives in and represents one of five directorial divisions in the district and is elected by voters who also reside 
in that division. 

CVWD is a Colorado River water importer and a California State Water Project contractor.  The water-
related services provided by CVWD include: 

 Domestic water delivery 
 Irrigation water delivery and agricultural drainage 
 Wastewater reclamation and recycling 
 Stormwater protection 
 Groundwater replenishment 

Page 940

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-4 

CVWD is the largest urban water supplier in the Coachella Valley with over 100,000 municipal connections. 

4.3.1.1    Domestic Water Delivery 

CVWD’s domestic water system has 64 pressure zones and consists of approximately 97 groundwater 
production wells, 2,000 miles of pipe, and 133 million gallons of storage in 65 enclosed reservoirs. 

4.3.1.2    Irrigation Water Delivery and Agricultural Drainage 

CVWD’s irrigation system provides Colorado River water to over 1,200 customers covering over 75,000 
acres via the 123-mile, concrete-lined, Coachella Branch of the All American Canal.  The irrigation 
distribution system consists of 485 miles of buried pipe, 16 pumping plants, and 1,300 AF of storage. 

Due to a high perched groundwater table and concentration of salts in irrigated soils within CVWD’s service 
area, an agricultural drainage system is necessary.  CVWD operates and maintains an agricultural drainage 
system consisting of 166 miles of buried pipe ranging in size from 18 inches to 72 inches in diameter and 
21 miles of open channels to serve as a drainage network for irrigated lands.  The system receives water 
from on-farm drainage lines.  In most areas, the drainage system flows to the Coachella Valley /Whitewater 
River Stormwater Channel.  However, in areas near the Salton Sea, a number of open channels convey 
flows directly to the sea. 

4.3.1.3    Wastewater Reclamation and Recycling 

CVWD’s wastewater reclamation system collects and treats approximately 17 million gallons per day (MGD) 
from approximately 95,000 user accounts.  The system consists of approximately 1,100 miles of collection 
piping and five wastewater reclamation plants (WRPs).  Some areas within the CVWD service area remain 
on septic systems.   

Two of the plants, WRP 7 and 10, recycle an average of about 8 MGD for golf course and municipal 
irrigation.  The recycled water distribution systems serve a total of 20 customer accounts through 31 miles 
of pressurized distribution pipelines. The main focus of the recycled water system is to provide non-potable 
water to golf customers, but also serve non-potable water to HOAs for landscape irrigation. 

4.3.1.4    Stormwater Protection 

CVWD provides regional flood protection for its stormwater unit within the Coachella Valley.  CVWD’s 
stormwater unit extends from the Whitewater River Groundwater Replenishment Facility (WWR-GRF) to 
Salton City, encompassing approximately 380,000 acres.  CVWD’s regional flood control system consists 
of a series of debris basins, levees, and stormwater channels that divert floodwaters from the canyons and 
alluvial fans surrounding the Coachella Valley to the 50-mile Whitewater River/Coachella Valley Stormwater 
Channel (CVSC) that flows to the Salton Sea. 

4.3.1.5    Groundwater Recharge 

CVWD operates and maintains groundwater recharge facilities at three locations in the Coachella Valley:  
the WWR-GRF, the Thomas E. Levy GRF (TEL-GRF), and the Palm Desert GRF (PD-GRF).  Desert Water 
Agency (DWA) shares in the operation and maintenance cost at the WWR-GRF. CVWD and DWA also 
share costs of the operation and maintenance of the Mission Creek GRF (MC-GRF) to replenish the aquifer 
underneath the Mission Creek Subbasin. 

CVWD has operated and maintained recharge facilities at the WWR-GRF (formerly referred to as the 
Whitewater Spreading Area) since 1919, first with local surface runoff and, since 1973, with imported State 
Water Project Exchange water. The WWR-GRF has a series of 19 ponds covering 700 acres adjacent to 
the Whitewater River. Local runoff and State Water Project Exchange water deliveries are transported to 
the ponds via the Whitewater River channel, and then diverted into the recharge ponds at two locations by 
diversion structures. Since its introduction in 1973, over 3.8 million acre-feet of water have been recharged 
at this facility. 

Page 941

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-5 

CVWD began recharging Colorado River water from the Coachella Canal at the TEL-GRF in 2009. The 
facility consists of 39 ponds covering 163 acres with a design capacity of 40,000 AFY. The facility is located 
on the western slope of the East Coachella Valley. 

The PD-GRF (Phase I) began operation in Palm Desert in February 2019.  It is supplied by Colorado River 
water delivered through the Mid-Valley Pipeline. The facility consists of five ponds covering 20 acres with 
a maximum design capacity of 10,000 AFY. Phase II of the project will consist of three ponds covering 25 
acres in the Whitewater River Stormwater Channel with a maximum design capacity of 15,000 AFY.  

4.3.2    Jurisdictional Boundary 

The CVWD jurisdictional boundary and current service area are shown in Figure 4-1. 

 

Page 942

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-6 

 

Figure 4-1.  CVWD Jurisdictional Boundary 
 

Page 943

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-7 

4.3.3    Service Area Climate 

The CVWD service area is located in the Colorado River Hydrologic Region as defined by DWR.  Most of 
the Colorado River region has a subtropical desert climate with hot summers and short, mild winters.  The 
mountain ranges on the northern and western borders, in particular the San Bernardino and San Jacinto 
Mountains, create a rain shadow effect for most of the region.  Annual average rainfall amounts on the 
Valley floor range from a little over 6 inches to less than 3 inches.  Most of the precipitation for the region 
occurs in the winter and spring.  However, monsoonal thunderstorms, spawned by the movement of 
subtropical air from the south, can occur in the summer and generate significant rainfall in some years.  
Higher annual rainfall amounts and milder summer temperatures occur in the mountains to the north and 
west. 

Data from climate stations in Palm Springs and Thermal (Desert Resorts Regional Airport) can be used as 
an indicator of climate in the CVWD service area.  Monthly average temperature reaches as high as 108 
degrees Fahrenheit (F) and monthly average low temperatures are 38 degrees F.  Precipitation typically 
occurs during the winter months with an annual mean rainfall of approximately 5.5 inches in Palm Springs 
and 3.0 inches in Thermal.  Average minimum and maximum temperature, total precipitation, and 
evapotranspiration at the Palm Springs and Thermal climate stations are summarized in Table 4-2 and 
Table 4-3, respectively. 

 

Table 4-2. Monthly Average Climate Data (Palm Springs) 
Parameter Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Annual 

Average Max. 
Temperature (F) 

71 73 80 86 94 104 108 107 102 90 78 69 89 

Average Minimum 
Temperature (F) 

47 49 54 59 65 73 80 79 74 64 53 46 62 

Average Total 
Precipitation (in) 

0.95 0.92 0.36 0.10 0.02 0.00 0.25 0.14 0.20 0.20 0.26 0.70 3.80 

Evapotranspiration, 
ETo (in) 

2.5 3.4 5.6 7.1 8.3 8.7 8.1 7.5 6.2 4.7 2.9 2.2 67.2 

Notes: 

Temperature and Precipitation from National Weather Service Forecast office, Station Palm Springs Airport.  Data from 
1998 through 2020.  Accessed through https://w2.weather.gov/climate/xmacis.php?wfo=sgx 

 

ETo Data from California Irrigation Management Information System (CIMIS) Station 208, La Quinta II.  Data from 
February 2007 through December 2020. 

 

 

  

Page 944

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-8 

 

Table 4-3. Monthly Average Climate Data (Thermal) 
Parameter Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

Ann-
ual 

Average Max. 
Temperature 
(F) 

71 74 81 87 95 103 107 106 101 91 79 69 89 

Average 
Minimum 
Temperature 
(F) 

39 43 49 55 63 69 76 75 68 57 45 38 56 

Average Total 
Precipitation (in) 

0.64 0.61 0.34 0.08 0.01 0.01 0.13 0.12 0.32 0.19 0.17 0.34 2.96 

Evapo-
transpiration, 
ETo (in) 

2.7 3.9 6.4 8.0 9.3 9.3 9.6 9.1 7.1 5.3 3.2 2.4 70.2 

Notes: 

Temperature and Precipitation from National Weather Service Forecast office, Station Desert Resorts Regional Airport.  
Data from 1990 through 2020.  Accessed through https://w2.weather.gov/climate/xmacis.php?wfo=sgx 

 

CIMIS Monthly Average ETo Report for Thermal South – Station 218 (data for 2010 through 2020) 

 

Climate change could impact demands and supplies within CVWD’s service area.  A discussion of these 
potential changes is included in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

4.3.4    Service Area Population and Demographics 

This section describes the population and demographics within CVWD’s service area. 

CVWD’s service area includes all or a portion of the cities of Cathedral City, Indian Wells, Indio, La Quinta, 
Palm Desert, and Rancho Mirage, and unincorporated areas of Riverside County. 

The Regional Transportation Plan adopted by the Southern California Association of Governments (SCAG) 
in 2020 is referred to as Connect SoCal.2  As part of that effort, SCAG performed a detailed evaluation of 
current and projected future demographics throughout southern California, include the study area for the 
RUWMP.  The Connect SoCal analysis included forecasts for employment, population, and households 
within cities and unincorporated areas.  This demographic information was used to prepare projections of 
future water demands. 

The population growth forecasts were developed using regional growth projections published in 2020 by 
SCAG.  The projections provided in SCAG’s Connect SoCal plan included estimates of population, 
households, and employment through 2045.  The anticipated growth was identified for traffic analysis zones 
(TAZ) that could be overlaid with the CVWD service area boundary. 

An important consideration affecting per capita water use in the Coachella Valley is the region’s large 
seasonal population, which is not counted by the federal census or other demographic data.  Due to its mild 
winter climate and recreational opportunities, the Valley is a popular destination for “snowbirds,” people 

 

 

2 More information about Connect SoCal is available at https://scag.ca.gov/read-plan-adopted-final-
plan. 
 

Page 945

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-9 

whose primary residence is outside the Valley but may live in the Valley for three to six months during the 
winter period.  In addition, there are people who maintain second homes in the Valley and use them for 
shorter periods of time throughout the year to participate in the Valley’s various sports, entertainment, and 
recreational activities.  The visitor population also makes use of the Valley’s hotel/motel/time-share resorts 
as well as mobile home parks.  These properties use water year-round for irrigation even when not occupied 
during the summer months.  Per capita water use calculations only consider the permanent population but 
include all water uses (permanent and seasonal) which leads to higher gallon per capita per day (GPCD) 
estimates. 

CVWD developed an approach for estimating service area population to account for the effect of seasonal 
residents on GPCD estimates.  This method was approved by DWR for use in the RUWMP.  Estimates of 
the permanent population were made using DWR’s Population Tool.  The water service area shown in 
Figure 4-1 was loaded into the Population Tool and intersected with census data to estimate permanent 
population.  CVWD then estimated the seasonal population and the population in RV parks using data from 
the Census and other sources.  More information about the seasonal population methodology is provided 
in Section 4.5.4. 

The recent and projected future service area population is shown in Table 4-4. 

 

Table 4-4.  DWR 3-1R Current and Projected Population 

Population Served 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Permanent 221,791 241,680 261,570 281,460 301,349 321,239 

Seasonal 41,261 44,497 47,732 50,914 53,564 56,161 

RV Parks 5,900 5,900 5,900 5,900 5,900 5,900 

Total 268,952 292,077 315,202 338,274 360,813 383,300 

 

4.3.5    Land Uses within Service Area 

The cities within the CVWD service area are identified in Section 4.3.4 and are shown in Figure 4-1. These 
cities participated in the development of SCAG’s Connect SoCal plan, which included an intensive outreach 
and coordination effort with land use jurisdictions.  The use of SCAG’s growth forecast for water demand 
estimations means that the projections reflect patterns and expectations for land use within the service 
area. 

Existing land use in the CVWD service area is a mixture of urban uses (residential, commercial, industrial, 
and civic), agriculture, golf courses, and open space.  As noted in the 2018 IRWM/SWR Plan, an important 
trend in the Valley is the conversion of farmland to urban uses although this trend has been slower than 
initially projected. 

 Water Use Characterization 

Water resources planning requires reasonably accurate estimates of future water needs.  This section 
presents CVWD’s baseline and projected urban water system demands.  To provide an adequate long-
range view of future water needs, this report uses a 25-year planning period from 2020 to 2045.  This longer 
planning period allows the RUWMP to serve as a source document for future water supply assessments 
and written supply verifications until the next 5-year UWMP update.  

Page 946

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-10 

4.4.1     Past, Current, and Projected Water Use by Sector 

Water use is broken down by sector as discussed in the following subsections. Currently, all potable urban 
water use is supplied by groundwater.  

The urban demand sectors listed in CWC §10631 that apply to CVWD are summarized in Table 4-5. 

 

Table 4-5.  Water Use Sectors 
Sector Discussion for CVWD 

Single Family 
Residence 

A single-family dwelling unit is defined as a lot with a free-standing building containing 
one dwelling unit that may include a detached secondary dwelling.  A relatively high 
percentage of these meters serve properties that are used seasonally. 

Future single family residences are expected to use less water than existing properties 
due to the mandated use of high efficiency plumbing fixtures under the CalGreen 
building standards and reduced landscape water use mandated by CVWD’s 
Landscape Ordinance. 

Multi-Family Multiple dwelling units contained within one building or several buildings within one 
complex.  Within the CVWD service area, multi-family demand includes customers 
with more than one dwelling unit such as duplexes, triplexes, apartments, other 
multiple dwelling properties, and mobile home and recreational vehicle parks served 
by a master meter.  Many of these connections serve properties that are used 
seasonally.  

Future multi-family residences are expected to use less water than existing properties 
due to the mandated use of high efficiency plumbing fixtures under the CalGreen 
building standards and reduced landscape water use mandated by CVWD’s 
Landscape Ordinance. 

Commercial A water user that provides or distributes a product or service.  For the CVWD service 
area, commercial use includes businesses, commercial properties, restaurants, hotels 
and motels.  Most existing and all new commercial customers are required to have 
separate landscape irrigation services. 

Future commercial water use is expected to be lower in response to CalGreen 
requirements. 

Industrial An industrial water user is primarily a manufacturer or processor of materials as 
defined by the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code sectors 
31 to 33, inclusive, or an entity that is a water user primarily engaged in research and 
development. CVWD does not currently classify any of its users as industrial. 

Institutional and 
Governmental 

Institutional and governmental water users are dedicated to public service.  This user 
class typically includes schools, higher education institutions, courts, churches, 
hospitals, government facilities, and non-profit research institutions.  CVWD classifies 
these users as “Public Agency” uses, among others.  Future public agency water use 
is expected to be lower in response to CalGreen requirements. 

Page 947

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-11 

Sector Discussion for CVWD 

Landscape Landscape water connections supply water solely for landscape irrigation. Such 
connections may be associated with large single family properties, and multi-family, 
commercial, or institutional/governmental sites, but are considered a separate water 
use sector because the connection is solely for landscape irrigation.  Many of these 
connections serve the common area landscaping of homeowner’s associations and 
parks.  CVWD’s landscape ordinance requires the installation of dedicated landscape 
irrigation meters for all projects except single family homes with a landscape area less 
than 5,000 square feet. Future landscape usage is expected to decrease due to 
implementation of CVWD’s Landscape Ordinance that requires improved irrigation 
efficiency and reduced allowable water use. 

Sales to Other 
Agencies 

Not applicable. CVWD does not currently sell water to another water agency. 

Conjunctive 
Use 

Not applicable 

Groundwater 
Recharge 

As described in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP, CVWD and DWA use imported water to 
replenish groundwater supplies in the basin.  This water is non-potable, and this use 
is not included CVWD’s municipal demands on the urban water system. 

Saline Water 
Intrusion 
Barriers 

Not applicable 

Agricultural CVWD does not deliver potable water through its urban water system for agricultural 
use.  Agricultural users rely on Canal water delivered through the irrigation system and 
pumped groundwater, and this usage is considered in the Alternative Plans approved 
for Sustainable Groundwater Management Act compliance. 

Distribution 
System Losses 

Non-revenue water is considered the difference between production and measured 
consumption.  Non-revenue water includes distribution system losses as well as 
authorized non-billed water uses, such as firefighting and flushing.  Distribution system 
losses are reported in Table 4-6. 

 

In addition to the uses specified in the water code, CVWD provides water for temporary construction 
activities. Construction use represents less than 1 percent of total water use and varies based on 
construction activity. 

4.4.1.1    Demands Not Served by the Urban Water System 

CVWD operates several separate non-potable water systems that do not serve urban water customers.  
The agricultural irrigation, golf course irrigation, and groundwater recharge uses are not served from 
CVWD’s urban water system, but they are described below to provide a complete picture of CVWD’s water 
supply operations.  Consequently, with the exception of recycled water, these non-potable uses are not 
included in DWR’s standardized tables. 

The Coachella Canal water distribution system was constructed to deliver Colorado River water for 
agricultural uses in the East Valley.  Currently, Canal water supplies agricultural, golf course irrigation, fish 
farming operations, duck clubs, and recreational lake uses. Agricultural use represents the largest use of 
Canal water in the Coachella Valley.  Agricultural uses in areas that do not have access to Canal water are 
served by private groundwater wells; no agricultural irrigation is served by CVWD’s urban water system.  
As urban development occurs in the East Valley, a portion of the agricultural land may convert to urban 
land uses and reduce agricultural demand for Colorado River water. 

There are approximately 105 golf courses within the CVWD service area.  These golf courses are served 
by private wells or non-potable water sources.  CVWD serves Canal water from the Coachella Canal or the 

Page 948

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-12 

Mid-Valley Pipeline system or a blend of tertiary-treated recycled water and Canal water to approximately 
54 golf courses for irrigation in-lieu of pumping from private groundwater wells.  CVWD is actively expanding 
the non-potable delivery system, with the goal of fully utilizing its available recycled water augmented with 
Canal water. These in-lieu delivery programs help reduce groundwater overdraft and the need for direct 
groundwater replenishment.  No significant golf course irrigation is served by CVWD’s urban water system. 

CVWD recycles water at WRP-7 in north Indio and WRP-10 in Palm Desert, as described in Section 4.6. 

CVWD also operates TEL-GRF in the East Valley and jointly operates two other recharge facilities with 
DWA, the WWR-GRF and the MC-GRF.  CVWD recently began operations at another recharge facility, the 
PD-GRF, in early 2019.  These recharge facilities are supplied with imported water as described in Chapter 
3 of the RUWMP. 

4.4.1.2    Distribution System Losses 

CVWD prepares annual water audits using the American Water Works Association (AWWA) Free Water 
Audit Software.  The results for the past five years are summarized in Table 4-6.  The numbers in Table 
4-6 are the reported total losses, including apparent losses and real losses.  The audit reports are included 
in Appendix G.   

 

Table 4-6.  DWR 4-4R 12 Month Water Loss Audit Reporting 

Report Period Start Date Volume of Water Loss (AF) 

MM YYYY 
Total of CVWD Public Water 

Systems 

07 2015 9,063 

07 2016 10,339 

07 2017 9,961 

07 2018 10,947 

07 2019 10,584 

 

4.4.1.3    Summary of Current and Projected Uses 

The uses in CVWD’s urban system for the past five years are summarized in Table 4-7. 

 

  

Page 949

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-13 

 

Table 4-7.  DWR 4-1R Actual Demands for Water (AFY) 

Use Type 
Additional 

Description 

Level of 
Treatment  

When Delivered 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Single Family  Drinking Water 48,368 51,903 52,668 51,217 54,816 

Multi-Family  Drinking Water 3,743 3,863 3,893 3,853 3,996 

Commercial  Drinking Water 4,978 5,072 5,039 4,883 4,242 

Institutional/ 
Governmental 

 Drinking Water 896 1,489 1,212 1,443 1,941 

Landscape  Drinking Water 21,506 22,701 23,559 22,039 22,829 

Other Construction Drinking Water 967 1,168 1,073 1,337 902 

Other 
Non-
Revenue 

Drinking Water 11,630 10,518 11,518 10,998 11,116 

-   Total 92,088 96,714 98,962  95,770 99,842 

Note:  Non-revenue water is the difference between production and customer billing.  It includes losses 
and authorized, non-billed consumption. 

 

CVWD is participating in the Indio Subbasin Alternative Plan Update and the Mission Creek Alternative 
Plan Update being prepared to meet requirements of the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act 
(SGMA).  The RUWMP agencies coordinated efforts with demand projections prepared for the Alternative 
Plan Updates.  The demand projection approach included the following steps: 

 The projections were based on SCAG’s regional growth forecast prepared as part of their 
regional transportation plan, Connect SoCal.  SCAG gathered input from cities and counties 
throughout Southern California about expected growth and development for the next 25 years 
and incorporated the land use designations in each jurisdiction’s General Plan.  The SCAG 
analysis includes estimates of population, households, and employment in each TAZ in their 
study area.3 

 Additional analysis of vacancy rates was performed to estimate baseline and projected housing 
units for the study area, including housing units used by seasonal residents and other part-time 
uses. 

 Future estimates of employment were used to drive future growth in Commercial, Industrial, and 
Institutional (CII) demands. 

 Five years of customer billing data were used to develop unit demand factors.  These factors 
have units of gallons per housing unit for residential and landscape uses and gallons per 
employee for CII uses. 

 Water losses were estimated using water loss audits.  
 Demands were adjusted for two types of conservation savings: 

o Indoor passive conservation savings from the natural replacement of indoor devices 

 

 

3 An overview of the demographic and growth forecast is available at 
https://scag.ca.gov/sites/main/files/file-attachments/0903fconnectsocal_demographics-and-
growth-forecast.pdf?1606001579.   
 

Page 950

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-14 

o Outdoor conservation savings from the implementation of CVWD’s Landscape 
Ordinance. 

The projected demands are shown in Table 4-8.  The demand projections in Table 4-8 are for future 
municipal demands within CVWD’s jurisdictional boundary.  Some of these areas are currently served by 
private domestic wells and are not yet connected to the CVWD system.  CVWD plans to consolidate and 
provide service to these areas, but the timing will depend on the availability of grant funding.  For planning 
purposes, all municipal demands within the jurisdictional boundary are included beginning in 2025.  
CVWD’s actual deliveries will likely be less than these estimates until CVWD begins providing service to 
these areas.   

 

Table 4-8.  DWR 4-2R Projected Retail Demands for Water (AFY) 
- 

Additional 
Description 

Projected Water Use 

Use Type 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Single Family  60,142  63,824  67,331  69,816  71,695  

Multi-Family  6,873  7,245  7,742  8,267  9,045  

CII  7,060  7,244  7,438  7,709  7,985  

Landscape  34,193  36,205  38,226  39,865  41,516  

Other  1,457  1,563  1,670  1,755  1,840  

Losses  13,736  14,501  15,222  15,670  16,085  

- Total  123,461  130,582  137,629  143,081  148,166  

Note:  Projections based on demand projections in draft Alternative Plan Updates for Indio Subbasin 
and Mission Creek Subbasin. The projected demand increase from 2020 to 2025 reflects planned 
expansion of the service area to include areas not current connected to the CVWD system. The timing 
of this expansion will depend on the availability of grant funding. 

 

Demand projections prepared for this plan considered the incorporation of codes and standards.  The draft 
Indio Subbasin Alternative Plan Update included modeling of anticipated future water savings due to fixture 
replacements.  The analysis included indoor savings related to toilets, showerheads, dishwashers, clothes 
washers, and urinals (categorized as indoor water use) as well as outdoor water use. Indoor conservation 
is mainly a result of government mandated water efficiency requirements for fixtures, defined as “passive 
savings.” The model considers these mandates and the average useful life and replacement rates for each 
type of fixture based on standard industry estimates and plumbing fixture saturation studies.  It assumes 
that all new construction complies with the plumbing codes in effect at that time and that when a device is 
replaced, the new device is also in compliance with the current plumbing codes.  Estimated frequency of 
use for each type of fixture as determined by the Water Research Foundation and American Water Works 
Association Research Foundation were multiplied by the number of housing units to produce the total indoor 
passive conservation savings. 

Anticipated outdoor water use savings were based on the implementation of the California Model Water 
Efficiency Landscape Ordinance (MWELO) which is the standard for outdoor water conservation for the 
state.  The resulting water savings from the MWELO are estimated using an Evapotranspiration Adjustment 
Factor (ETAF) which adjusts the reference ET for plant requirements and irrigation efficiency.  No savings 
were assumed from special landscape areas, such as recreational areas, as these are allotted extra water 
use as well as existing landscapes as these savings are not considered passive since there are incentives 
under conservation programs.  

The anticipated savings due to these measures are summarized in Table 4-9.  These savings have been 
incorporated into the water demand projections presented in Table 4-8. 

Page 951

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-15 

 

Table 4-9.  Anticipated Water Savings Due to Conservation (AFY) 
 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 
Indoor Passive Savings 547 1,414 1,965 2,393 2,718 2,986 
Outdoor Passive Savings 1,981 3,439 4,873 6,275 7,399 8,439 
Total Passive Savings 2,528 4,853 6,838 8,668 10,117 11,425 
Note:  Estimated savings are from draft Indio Subbasin Alternative Plan Update.  Preliminary demand 
projections for draft Mission Creek Subbasin Alternative Plan Update identified an additional 160 AFY 
of passive conservation savings by 2045. 

 

Gross water use is summarized in Table 4-10.  In addition, projected recycled water demands are included 
in Table 4-10 as required by the Guidebook and standardized tables.  Note that recycled water is reported 
in the tables with urban water demands to be consistent with the DWR standard tables, but recycled water 
is not a part of the urban water system. 

 

Table 4-10.  DWR 4-3R Total Gross Water Use (AFY) 

- 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Potable Water 
From DWR Table 4-1R and 4-2R 

99,843 123,461  130,582  137,629  143,081  148,166  

Recycled Water 
From DWR Table 6-4R 

9,457 13,600 14,400 15,100 15,900 16,800 

Total Water Use 109,300 137,061 144,982 152,729 158,981 164,966 

Note:  The projected potable demand increase from 2020 to 2025 reflects planned expansion of the 
service area to include areas not current connected to the CVWD system. The timing of this 
expansion will depend on the availability of grant funding. 
 
Recycled water projections are based on current tertiary capacity at treatment plans and do not 
include planned recycling at plants that will require additional or expanded tertiary capacity. 

 

4.4.2    Worksheets and Reporting Tables 

CVWD has completed the required UWMP submittal tables and included them in Appendix D of the 
RUWMP. 

4.4.3    Water Use for Lower Income Households 

California Water Code 10631.1 requires retail urban water suppliers to provide water use projections for 
future single-family and multi-family residential housing needed for lower income households.  These water 
use projections assist a supplier in complying with state code which grants priority of the provision of service 
to housing units that are affordable to lower income households. 

The SCAG Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA) Housing Need by Income Category is used to 
develop projections of lower income housing units in future years. Persons per household values are from 
the SCAG Local Profiles Report for each city; this is assumed to stay constant through future planning 
years. Since unincorporated Riverside County needs are for the entire unincorporated county area, they 
are scaled proportionally to the unincorporated area served by CVWD. 

Page 952

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-16 

Table 4-11 summarizes the projected water use for additional lower income households assuming the 
following: (1) the average persons per household remains constant, (2) lower income housing needs are 
proportional to the projected population growth, and (3) daily water use per capita is equal to the projected 
per capita water use. Note that lower income household water use projections are included in the total 
water use projections above. 

 

Table 4-11.  Lower Income Housing Units 
Jurisdiction  2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 

Cathedral City Lower income housing units 
(3.1 persons per household) 

254 265 276 288 301 

 Water use (AF) 319 321 325 333 344 

Indian Wells Lower income housing units 
(1.9 persons per household) 

71 72 73 74 77 

 Water use (AF) 55 53 53 53 54 

La Quinta Lower income housing units 
(2.6 persons per household) 

159 165 171 177 185 

 Water use (AF) 167 167 169 171 177 

Palm Desert Lower income housing units 
(2.1 persons per household) 

168 173 178 183 188 

 Water use (AF) 143 142 142 143 146 

Rancho Mirage Lower income housing units 
(2.0 persons per household) 

40 43 46 49 51 

 Water use (AF) 32 34 35 37 38 

Unincorporated 
(within CVWD 
service area) 

Lower income housing units 
(3.2 persons per household) 

3,988 5,816 7,644 9,472 10,684 

 Water use (AF) 5,168 7,259 9,291 11,291 12,594 

Total Lower income housing units 4,680 6,534 8,388 10,243 11,468 

 Water use (AF) 5,884 7,975 10,015 12,027 13,352 

 

Documentation of the codes and ordinances used in development of the demand projections is included in 
Table 4-12. 

 

Page 953

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-17 

Table 4-12.  DWR 4-5R Inclusion in Water Use Projections 

Are Future Water Savings Included in 
Projections? 

Yes 

Citations 

California Building Code, Title 24, Chapter 4, Division 4.3 
California Building Code, Title 24, Chapter 5, Division 5.3 

California Water Code §10608.16-10608.44 
CVWD Ordinance No. 1302.2 (November 24, 2015) 

CVWD Ordinance No. 1422.3 (May 24, 2016) 

Are Lower Income Residential 
Demands Included in Projections? 

Yes 

 

4.4.4    Climate Change Considerations 

A regional discussion of potential climate change impacts is included in Chapter 3.  Based on larger scale 
studies, it can be inferred that increased temperatures in the Coachella Valley would increase water 
demands for crop and landscape irrigation, municipal water use, and evaporative losses from canals and 
open reservoirs.  It has been suggested that increased summer temperatures could draw increased 
monsoonal flow resulting in more frequent summer thunderstorms.  However, no formal studies have been 
conducted for the Coachella Valley.  A combination of state- and local-led demand management measures 
may reduce demand for irrigation via landscape ordinances while public outreach and education can lead 
to reductions in water demands through conservation measures. 

 SB X7-7 Baseline and Targets 

With the adoption of the Water Conservation Act of 2009 (SB X7-7), the State set a goal of reducing urban 
water use by 20 percent by the year 2020.  Each retail urban water supplier was required to determine its 
water use during a baseline period and establish water use targets for the years 2015 and 2020 in order to 
help the State achieve the 20 percent reduction. 

In the 2020 UWMP, water agencies must demonstrate compliance with their established water use target 
for the year 2020.  Compliance is verified by DWR’s review of the SB X7-7 Verification Form submitted with 
an agency’s 2020 UWMP. The SB X7-7 standardized tables are found in Appendix E and summarized 
below. 

4.5.1    Wholesale Suppliers 

CVWD is not a wholesale supplier, and therefore this section is not applicable. 

4.5.2    SB X7-7 Forms and Tables 

CVWD calculated baseline water use and targets in its 2015 UWMP.  Since that time, CVWD has obtained 
more accurate information to estimate its service area population.  Therefore, CVWD is recalculating its 
baseline water use and compliance target in this plan. 

4.5.3    Baseline and Target Calculations for 2020 UWMPs 

CVWD calculated service area population for its baseline period and calculated an updated compliance 
target for 2020.  The calculations are documented on the standard DWR SB X7-7 tables included in 
Appendix E and are summarized here. 

Page 954

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-18 

4.5.4    Service Area Population and Gross Water Use 

CVWD calculated its permanent 2020 service area population by uploading a GIS shapefile of its water 
service area (WSA) to the DWR Population Tool.  The tool used 2010 census data and the number of 
connections in 2010 and 2020 to estimate the population in 2020. CVWD then added the estimated 
seasonal population of “snow birds” and visitors. 

The methodology for estimating population in seasonal housing units consists of the following steps: 

1. The number of housing units in each Census block was obtained from Census data.  The Census 
blocks were intersected with the supplier boundaries to calculate the number of housing units. 

2. The portion of housing units that are for seasonal use was determined from Census data.  The 
2010 Census data indicated that 23.4% of the total housing units in Palm Springs were for 
seasonal use. 

3. The number of seasonal housing units was calculated by multiplying the number of housing units 
by the portion of housing units that are for seasonal use. 

4. The annual average occupancy rate for seasonal housing units was estimated from data provided 
by the Greater Palm Springs Convention and Visitors Bureau (GPSCVB).  These data showed a 
62% occupancy rate in Palm Springs from July of 2017 to July of 2018. 

5. The number of occupied seasonal housing units was calculated by multiplying the number of 
seasonal housing units by the annual average occupancy rate of 62%. 

6. Census data was used to calculate a number of persons per household. 
7. The number of people in occupied seasonal housing units was calculated by multiplying the 

number of occupied seasonal housing units by the number of persons per household. 

A separate methodology was used for estimating population in RV and mobile home parks, consisting of 
the following steps: 

1. Data was collected from managers of RV and mobile home parks for the number of spaces that 
are occupied seasonally.  Spaces that are occupied permanently were not included, since those 
residents should be included in the Census data for permanent population. 

2. The annual average occupancy rate for seasonally occupied RV spaces was assumed to be the 
same as the GPSCVB occupancy rate. 

3. The number of occupied seasonal RV spaces was calculated by multiplying the number of 
seasonal RV spaces by the annual average occupancy rate of 62%. 

4. Census data was used to calculate a number of persons per household. 
5. The number of people in occupied seasonal RV spaces was calculated by multiplying the number 

of occupied seasonal RV spaces by the number of persons per household. 

This methodology was reviewed and approved in advance by DWR. 

CVWD’s gross water use was determined from annual production records.  Meter adjustments, exported 
water, distribution system storage, recycled water, and process water were not applicable to CVWD’s 
distribution system. 

Allowable adjustments to the 2020 gross water include extraordinary events, weather normalization, and 
economic adjustments. No adjustments were made to CVWD’s 2020 water use. 

4.5.5    2020 Compliance Daily Per-Capita Water Use 

CVWD’s average use during the baseline period and confirmed 2020 target are shown in Table 4-13. 

 

  

Page 955

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-19 

Table 4-13.  DWR 5-1R Baselines and Targets Summary 

Baseline Period 
Start 
Year 

End 
Year 

Average Baseline 
Use (GPCD) 

Confirmed 2020 
Target (GPCD) 

10-15 Year 1999 2008 515 412 

5 Year 2003 2007 505   

All values are in Gallons per Capita per Day (GPCD) 

 

CVWD’s compliance with the 2020 target is shown in Table 4-14. 

 

Table 4-14.  DWR 5-2R 2020 Compliance 

Actual 2020 

 
2020 

Confirmed 
Target GPCD 

Supplier Achieved 
Targeted Reduction 

in 2020 GPCD 2020 Total 
Adjustments 

Adjusted 
2020 GPCD 

331 0 331 412 YES 

All values are in Gallons per Capita per Day (GPCD) 

 

4.5.6    Regional Alliance 

An urban water supplier may satisfy the requirements of CWC §10620 by participation in areawide, regional, 
watershed, or basin wide urban water management planning (Regional Alliance) where those plans will 
reduce preparation costs and contribute to the achievement of conservation and efficient water use.  CVWD 
did not choose to comply with the SB X7-7 requirements through a Regional Alliance. 

 Water Supply Characterization 

This section describes the existing and future water supplies available to CVWD to meet its domestic and 
non-potable water demands.  

4.6.1    Water Supply Analysis Overview 

CVWD’s urban water service area is defined as the area served by its potable water distribution system. 
Currently, all urban water uses are supplied from local groundwater. In addition to groundwater, CVWD has 
imported water supplies from the State Water Project and the Colorado River, and recycled water from two 
water reclamation plants. These imported and recycled water supplies are used to meet CVWD’s non-urban 
water demands and to replenish the groundwater basin, CVWD also has plans to increase its use of 
recycled water. 

Page 956

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-20 

4.6.2    Supply Characterization 

The types of supply recognized by DWR are presented in the following sections. 

4.6.2.1    Purchased or Imported Water 

CVWD has access to two sources of imported water. 

CVWD receives Colorado River water through the Coachella Canal (Canal).  Colorado River water has 
been a major source of supply for the Coachella Valley since 1949 with the completion of the Coachella 
Canal.  The Coachella Canal is a branch of the All-American Canal that brings Colorado River water into 
the Imperial and Coachella Valleys.  The Canal originates at Drop 1 on the All-American Canal and extends 
approximately 122 miles, terminating in CVWD’s Lake Cahuilla.  This water is used for agricultural, golf 
course, and landscape irrigation purposes, as well as groundwater recharge.  It is not used to meet 
municipal demands. 

More information about CVWD’s Colorado River supplies is included in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

CVWD also has rights to receive water through the State Water Project (SWP).  Since there is no physical 
connection to bring SWP water to the Valley, CVWD has entered into exchange agreements with the 
Metropolitan Water District of Southern California (MWD).  CVWD receives water from MWD’s Colorado 
River Aqueduct (CRA), and in exchange MWD receives SWP water that would have gone to CVWD.  This 
SWP Exchange water is used for groundwater recharge and not to meet municipal demands. 

More information about CVWD’s SWP supplies is included in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

4.6.2.2    Groundwater 

Groundwater is the principal source of municipal water supply in the Coachella Valley. CVWD obtains 
groundwater from both the Indio and the Mission Creek Subbasins. The Indio Subbasin is a common 
groundwater source, which is shared by CVWD, DWA, MDMWC, the cities of Indio and Coachella, and 
numerous private groundwater producers.  The Mission Creek Subbasin is also a common water supply 
that is utilized by CVWD, MSWD, and private groundwater producers.  More information about local 
groundwater resources is included in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

CVWD’s total groundwater production from the Indio and Mission Creek Subbasins is presented in Table 
4-15.  In response to growth, CVWD will gradually increase groundwater production to meet demands.  
CVWD intends to continue meeting its urban water demands with groundwater.  In addition, CVWD has 
enacted water-saving policies such as tiered water rates, landscape irrigation conservation, and a new 
landscape ordinance applicable to the water use of new developments. 

In addition to other urban water retail producers, there are private producers who pump directly from the 
groundwater basin. To manage groundwater overdraft, CVWD will continue to convert the larger producers 
to non-potable Canal water and recycled water, where feasible.  CVWD also works with agencies in the 
region to replenish the groundwater basin and implement conservation programs. 

 

Table 4-15.  DWR 6-1R Groundwater Volume Pumped (AFY) 

Groundwater Type Location or Basin Name 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Alluvial Basin Indio Subbasin 89,421 93,798 96,176 93,130 96,661 

Alluvial Basin Mission Creek Subbasin 2,667 2,917 2,786 2,642 3,182 

- Total 92,088 96,715 98,962 95,772 99,843 

 

Page 957

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-21 

4.6.2.3    Surface Water 

CVWD does not currently use or intend to use any local surface water as part of its urban water supply. 
Local runoff is captured and used for groundwater recharge.  

4.6.2.4    Stormwater 

CVWD does not use stormwater directly as a source of supply.  Through the IRWM process, CVWD and 
other local agencies are evaluating opportunities to capture stormwater for groundwater recharge. 

4.6.2.5    Wastewater and Recycled Water 

CVWD provides both water and wastewater services in its service area.  CVWD provides wastewater 
collection and treatment services for all or part of the cities of Cathedral City, Indian Wells, La Quinta, Palm 
Desert, and Rancho Mirage, as well as unincorporated areas of Riverside County. By agreement, a small 
portion of flow from DWA’s service area is sent to CVWD’s WRP-10. 

Recycled water is a significant potential local resource that can be used to help reduce overdraft. 
Wastewater that has been highly treated and disinfected can be reused for landscape irrigation and other 
purposes; however, the current level of wastewater treatment does not yield water suitable for direct potable 
use. Valley golf courses are not connected to CVWD’s urban water but instead rely on private groundwater 
wells to meet their irrigation needs. To manage groundwater overdraft, CVWD started recycling wastewater 
for irrigation of golf courses and landscaping in the Coachella Valley in the late 1960s. As growth occurs in 
the Valley, the supply of recycled water is expected to increase creating an additional opportunity to 
maximize local water supply. 

CVWD’s wastewater collection system consists of approximately 1,160 miles of 6-inch through 36-inch 
diameter sewers, and includes 28 sewage lift stations and associated force mains. The system contains 
trunk sewers, generally 10 inches in diameter and larger, that convey the collected wastewater flows to the 
District’s treatment facilities.  CVWD operates five WRPs, two of which (WRP-7 and WRP-10) generate 
recycled water for irrigation of golf courses and large landscaped areas. Brief descriptions of CVWD’s 
WRPs are presented here.  

WRP-1 serves the Bombay Beach community near the Salton Sea. WRP-1 has a design capacity of 
150,000 gallons per day (gpd), and currently all of the effluent from this facility is disposed by evaporation-
infiltration. CVWD has no plans to recycle effluent from this facility because of the low flow and lack of 
potential uses near the plant. 

WRP-2 serves the nearby North Shore community. WRP-2 has a treatment capacity of 33,000 gpd and can 
provide additional capacity when flows exceed this value.  WRP-2 discharges treated secondary effluent 
into four evaporation-infiltration basins for final disposal.  CVWD has no plans to recycle effluent from this 
facility because of the low flow and lack of potential uses near the plant. 

WRP-4 is a 9.9 million gallons per day (MGD) capacity treatment facility located in Thermal. WRP-4 became 
operational in 1986 and serves communities from La Quinta to Mecca. WRP-4 provides secondary 
treatment consisting of pre-aeration ponds, aeration lagoons, polishing ponds, and disinfection. The treated 
effluent is discharged to the CVSC pursuant to a National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) 
permit. Effluent from WRP-4 is not currently recycled. CVWD plans to add tertiary treatment and reuse 
effluent from this plant in the future primarily for agricultural irrigation.  CVWD has filed a Change Petition 
(WW0093) with the SWRCB to move forward with recycling at WRP-4. 

WRP-7 is located in North Indio and has a capacity of 5.0 MGD. The design capacity of the tertiary treatment 
system at WRP-7 is 2.5 MGD. The off-site pumping capacity of the WRP-7 recycled water pump is 
approximately 4,500 gpm. In the summer, peak demands exceed the pumping capacity of 4,000 gpm, which 
typically serves Sun City and 500 gpm which serves Shadow Hills. 

WRP-10 is located in Palm Desert. WRP-10 began delivering recycled water in 1987. The design capacity 
of the tertiary treatment system at WRP-10 is 15 MGD. Since 2009, WRP-10 is also capable of serving 
canal water from the MVP blended with tertiary water to non-potable water customers. 

Page 958

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-22 

WRP-10 has two distribution systems. One is a low-pressure system, with recycled water and/or canal 
water delivered by the MVP leaving the plant in this system at 85 psi. The other system is a high pressure 
system which pumps recycled water and/or canal water delivered by the MVP out at 135 psi. Because the 
winter demand for recycled water is less than the available supply, a portion of the plant flow is disposed 
through on-site percolation-evaporation ponds. As more golf courses are connected to the WRP-10 
recycled water distribution system, CVWD plans to eliminate percolation of recycled water. 

The wastewater collected and treated in the service area is shown in Table 4-16.  The recycled water 
produced is shown in Table 4-17. 

 

 

Page 959

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-23 

Table 4-16.  DWR 6-2R Wastewater Collected within Service Area in 2020 

Wastewater Collection Recipient of Collected Wastewater 

Name of Wastewater 
Collection Agency 

Wastewater Volume 
Metered or Estimated 

Wastewater Volume Collected 
from UWMP Service Area in 2020 

(AFY) 

Name of Wastewater Agency 
Receiving Collected Wastewater  

Wastewater Treatment 
Plant Name 

Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Located within UWMP Area 

WWTP Operation Contracted 
to a Third Party  

CVWD Metered 18 CVWD WRP-1 Yes No 

CVWD Metered 13 CVWD WRP-2 Yes No 

CVWD Metered 6,353 CVWD WRP-4 Yes No 

CVWD Metered 3,236 CVWD WRP-7 Yes No 

CVWD Metered 9,238 CVWD WRP-10 Yes No 

- Total 18,858         

 

 

 

Table 4-17.  DWR 6-3R Wastewater Treatment and Discharge within Service Area in 2020 
-             2020 Volumes (AFY) 

Wastewater 
Treatment Plant 

Name 

Discharge 
Location Name or 

Identifier 

Discharge Location 
Description 

Wastewater 
Discharge ID 

Number 

Method of 
Disposal 

Plant Treats 
Wastewater 

Generated Outside 
the Service Area 

Treatment Level 

Wastewater 
Treated 

Discharged 
Treated 
Wastewater 

Recycled 
Within 
Service Area 

Recycled 
Outside of 
Service Area 

Instream 
Flow Permit 
Requirement 

WRP-1 Bombay Beach Percolation ponds 7A330105021 Percolation ponds No 
Secondary, 
undisinfected 

18 18 0 0 0 

WRP-2 North Shore Percolation ponds 7A330105032 Percolation ponds No 
Secondary, 
undisinfected 

13 13 0 0 0 

WRP-4 Thermal CVSC 7A330105091 
Stormwater channel 
outfall 

No 
Secondary, 
disinfected - 23 

6,353 5,908 0 0 0 

WRP-7 North Indio 
Non-potable customers 
and percolation ponds 

7A330105071 Percolation ponds No Tertiary 3,236 1,300 1,936 0 0  

WRP-10 Palm Desert 
Non-potable customers 
and percolation ponds 

7A330105012 Percolation ponds Yes Tertiary 9,238 1,716 7,521 0 0 

-           Total 18,858 8,955 9,457 0 0 

 

 

Page 960

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-24 

 

The existing recycled water customers are not part of CVWD’s urban potable water system, but are private 
groundwater producers that purchase recycled water. It is expected that golf course irrigation will remain 
the largest use of recycled water in the future. Although CVWD’s urban water demand is not offset by 
recycled water use, the Coachella Valley’s water supply is indirectly increased by transitioning private 
groundwater producers to recycled water. Table 4-18 summarizes the current and projected uses of 
recycled water within CVWD’s service area. 

The 2015 UWMP projected recycled water uses for 2020 are presented in Table 4-19 compared with actual 
recycled water use. 

 

Page 961

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-25 

Table 4-18.  DWR 6-4R Recycled Water Within Service Area in 2020 (AFY) 
Name of Supplier Producing (Treating) the Recycled Water Coachella Valley Water District 

Name of Supplier Operating the Recycled Water Distribution System Coachella Valley Water District 

Supplemental Volume of Water Added in 2020  

Source of 2020 Supplemental Water Coachella Canal 

Beneficial Use Type 
Potential Beneficial Uses of 
Recycled Water 

Amount of 
Potential Uses 
of Recycled 
Water   

General Description 
of 2020 Uses 

Level of Treatment 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Landscape Irrigation (excludes golf courses)     
HOAs and municipal 
landscaping 

Tertiary 383 383 383 383 383 383 

Golf Course Irrigation       Tertiary 8,313 13,217 14,017 14,717 15,517 16,417 

Commercial Use                     

Industrial Use                     

Geothermal and Other Energy Production                      

Seawater Intrusion Barrier                     

Recreational Impoundment                     

Wetlands or Wildlife Habitat                     

Groundwater Recharge (IPR)                     

Surface Water Augmentation (IPR)                     

Direct Potable Reuse                     

-       Total 8,696 13,600 14,400 15,100 15,900 16,800 

Internal Reuse (Not included in Statewide 
Recycled Water Volume) 

        761 761 761 761 761 761 

                      

                      
*IPR - Indirect Potable Reuse 

 

Page 962

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-26 

Table 4-19.  DWR 6-5R Recycled Water Use Projection Compared to Actual 

Use Type 
2015 Projection 
for 2020 (AFY) 

2020 Actual Use (AFY) 

Agricultural Irrigation     

Landscape Irrigation (excludes golf courses) 400 383 

Golf Course Irrigation 13,900 8,313 

Commercial Use     

Industrial Use     

Geothermal and Other Energy Production     

Seawater Intrusion Barrier     

Recreational Impoundment     

Wetlands or Wildlife Habitat     

Groundwater Recharge (IPR)*     

Surface Water Augmentation (IPR)*     

Direct Potable Reuse     

Total 14,300 8,696 

 

CVWD has long encouraged the use of recycled water for irrigation purposes. In 2006, CVWD sponsored 
SB 1557 that was adopted by the California Legislature as Part 8.2 (CWC §32600-32603) of the County 
Water District Law. This law applies only to CVWD and specifies that the use of potable domestic water for 
non-potable uses for cemeteries, parks, highway landscaped areas, new industrial facilities, and golf course 
irrigation is a waste and an unreasonable use. In 2014, Assembly Bill 1896 amended this law (CWC 
§32601) to include the use of potable domestic water for landscaped common areas of residential 
developments maintained by a homeowner’s association as a waste and an unreasonable use. The law 
mandates the use of non-potable water (including recycled water) for cemeteries, parks, highway 
landscaped areas, new industrial facilities, landscaped common areas of residential developments 
maintained by a homeowner’s association, and golf course irrigation provided: 

1. The CVWD Board determines that the source of non-potable water is of adequate quality for the 
proposed use and is available for that use. 

2. The CVWD Board determines that the non-potable water may be furnished for the proposed use 
at a reasonable cost to the user. 

3. The State Department of Public Health determines that the use of non-potable water from the 
proposed source will not be detrimental to public health. 

4. The California Regional Water Quality Control Board determines that the use of non-potable water 
from the proposed source will comply with any applicable water quality control plan. 

5. The CVWD Board determines that the use of non-potable water for the proposed use will not 
adversely affect groundwater rights, will not degrade water quality, and is determined not to be 
injurious to plant life, fish, and wildlife. 

CVWD uses this law to encourage the use of both recycled water and Coachella Canal water for non-
potable uses. In 2009, CVWD developed a standardized non-potable water use contract that mandates at 
least 80 percent of the demand be met with non-potable water. As part of the non-potable water use 
contract, CVWD establishes the price of non-potable water at 85 percent of the cost of groundwater 
pumping and the applicable replenishment assessment charge. The agreement also specifies a 50 percent 
“conservation charge” for any non-potable water use below 80 percent of demand, providing a financial 
incentive to use non-potable water. 

Page 963

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-27 

Where practical, CVWD requires new developments to use recycled or non-potable water as a condition of 
receiving domestic and sanitation services from CVWD. The developments will then use the recycled or 
non-potable water as it becomes available. CVWD also has a policy of requiring that new golf courses either 
use recycled water or canal water where it is available. CVWD is committed to maximizing the use of non-
potable water for non-potable uses by investing in infrastructure improvements as discussed previously.   

4.6.2.6    Desalinated Water Opportunities 

CVWD has evaluated the use of desalinated shallow groundwater as part of its water supply portfolio 
through desalination of shallow saline groundwater. At this time this opportunity has been deferred due to 
slower than anticipated growth. 

4.6.2.7    Water Exchanges and Transfers 

This section describes opportunities for water exchanges and transfers, including existing emergency 
interconnections between CVWD and adjacent water agencies. 

SWP Exchange water is a significant supply for groundwater recharge in the Coachella Valley.  This supply 
is described in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP.   

Water transfers involve the temporary or permanent sale or lease of a water right or contractual water 
supply between willing parties. Water can be made available for transfer from other parties through a variety 
of mechanisms: 

 Transferring imported water from storage that would have otherwise carried over to the following 
years 

 Pumping groundwater instead of imported water delivery and transferring the imported water 
 Transferring previously stored groundwater either by direct pumping or exchange for imported 

water 
 Reducing consumptive use through crop idling/shifting or implementing water use efficiency 

measures 
 Reducing return flows or conveyance losses 

The ability to successfully execute a water transfer depends upon a number of factors including: 

 Water rights (pre- vs. post-1914 rights) and place of use requirements 
 Regulatory approval (SWRCB, DWR, Reclamation) 
 Ability to convey the transferred water 
 Delta carriage water and conveyance losses 
 Environmental impacts (CEQA/NEPA compliance) 
 Third-party impacts 
 Supply reliability 
 Cost 

CVWD continues to evaluate potential transfers as a way to increase supply reliability.  At this point, no 
specific new transfer projects have been identified. 

CVWD currently has emergency interties with IWA, Mission Springs Water District, and Desert Water 
Agency. The combined capacities of these connections is in excess of 20 million gallons per day. 

4.6.2.8    Future Water Projects 

CVWD recognizes the need to obtain additional water supplies to meet projected water demands and 
prevent groundwater overdraft. CVWD is investigating several programs to obtain additional supply or 
improve the reliability of SWP supplies. These programs are described below. 

Delta Conveyance Facility Project  

The Delta Conveyance Facility Project (DCFP) would construct and operate new conveyance facilities in 
the Delta, primarily a new tunnel to bypass existing natural channels used for conveyance.  New intake 

Page 964

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-28 

facilities would be located in the north Delta along the Sacramento River between Freeport, CA and the 
confluence with Sutter Slough.  A new tunnel would convey water from the new intakes to the existing 
Banks Pumping Plant and potentially the federal Jones Pumping Plant, both in the south Delta. The new 
facilities would provide an alternate location for diversion of water from the Delta and would be operated in 
coordination with the existing south Delta pumping facilities.  CVWD and DWA have approved an 
agreement to advance their share of funding for DCFP planning and design costs. 

Lake Perris Dam Seepage Recovery Project 

In 2017, MWD and DWR began preliminary planning for recovery of seepage below the Lake Perris Dam 
and delivery of the recovered water to MWD in addition to its current allocated Table A water.  The project 
is composed of installing a series of five pumps down-gradient from the face of the Lake Perris Dam that 
will pump water that has seeped from the lake into the groundwater.  The recovered water will be pumped 
into a collection pipeline that discharges directly into MWD’s Colorado River Aqueduct south of Lake Perris. 

CVWD and DWA were invited to partner in the project with MWD, and the parties are currently working on 
an agreement with DWR for funding of environmental analysis, planning, and preliminary design. 

Sites Reservoir Project 

The Sites Reservoir Project would capture and store stormwater flows from the Sacramento River for 
release in dry years. Sites Reservoir would be situated on the west side of the Sacramento Valley, 
approximately 10 miles west of Maxwell, CA. When operated in coordination with other Northern California 
reservoirs such as Shasta, Oroville, and Folsom, which function as the backbone to both the SWP and the 
Central Valley Project, Sites Reservoir would increase flexibility and reliability of statewide water supplies 
in drier periods.  In 2019, CVWD and DWA both entered into an agreement with the Sites Project Authority 
for the next phase of planning for the Sites Reservoir. 

Table 4-20 provides a summary of expected future water supply projects.  

 

Page 965

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-29 

Table 4-20.  DWR 6-7R Expected Future Water Supply Projects or Programs 

Name of Future 
Projects or 
Programs 

Joint Project 
with Other 
Suppliers 

Agency Name Description 
Planned 

Implementation 
Year 

Planned for Use in 
Year Type 

Expected 
Increase in 

Water Supply to 
Supplier (AFY) 

Lake Perris Dam 
Seepage Recovery 
Project 

Yes MWD   2023 Normal 2,425 

Sites Reservoir 
Project 

Yes 
Sites Project 
Authority 

 2035 Normal 10,000 

 

 

 

Page 966

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-30 

4.6.2.9    Summary of Existing and Planned Sources of Water 

Summaries of the existing and planned urban water supply volumes by source are presented in Table 4-21 
and Table 4-22. 

 

Table 4-21.  DWR 6-8R Actual Water Supplies 

-   2020 

Water Supply 
Additional Detail on 
Water Supply 

Actual Volume 
(AFY) 

Water Quality 

Groundwater (not 
desalinated) 

Indio Subbasin 96,661 Drinking Water 

Groundwater (not 
desalinated) 

Mission Creek Subbasin 3,182 Drinking Water 

Recycled water WRP-7 and WRP-10 9,457 Recycled water 

- Total 109,300   

 

 

Table 4-22.  DWR 6-9R Projected Water Supplies 
-   Projected Water Supply (AFY) 

-   2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Water 
Supply 

Additional 
Detail on 

Water Supply 

Reasonably 
Available 
Volume 

Reasonably 
Available 
Volume  

Reasonably 
Available 
Volume   

Reasonably 
Available 
Volume    

Reasonably 
Available 
Volume     

Groundwater 
(not 
desalinated) 

Indio and 
Mission Creek 
Subbasins 

123,461 130,582 137,629 143,081 148,166 

Recycled 
Water 

  
13,600 14,400 15,100 15,900 16,800 

- Total 137,061 144,982 152,729 158,981 164,966 

4.6.2.10    Special Conditions 

Climate change has the potential to affect Coachella Valley’s two major sources of imported water: the 
Colorado River and the SWP. Potential effects of global warming could also increase water demand within 
the Coachella Valley.  These potential impacts are discussed in Chapter 3.  

4.6.3    Submittal Tables Completion Using the Optional Planning Tool 

CVWD has elected not to use the Optional Planning Tool. 

4.6.4    Energy Use 

CVWD has compiled data to document the energy used for water management operations.  CVWD used 
the Total Utility Approach to estimate the energy intensity of its water management operations. 

The results are summarized in Table 4-23. 

Page 967

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-31 

 

Table 4-23.  DWR O-1B Energy Intensity Reporting 
Table O-1B: Recommended Energy Reporting  - Total Utility Approach  

Enter Start Date for Reporting 
Period 

1/1/2019 Urban Water Supplier Operational Control 

End Date 12/31/2019 

Is upstream embedded in the 
values reported?  

 No Sum of All Water 
Management 

Processes 

Non-Consequential 
Hydropower  

Water Volume Units Used AFY Total Utility  Hydropower Net Utility  

 Volume of Water Entering Process (volume unit) 95,772 AFY 0 95,772 AFY 

Energy Consumed (kWh) 129,094,314 0 129,094,314 

Energy Intensity (kWh/volume) 1,347 0 1,347 

   

Quantity of Self-Generated Renewable Energy 

  kWh 

Data Quality (Estimate, Metered Data, Combination of Estimates and Metered Data) 

Combination of Estimates and Metered Data    

Data Quality Narrative 

Energy use data was obtained from electricity consumption records maintained by the agency. 

Narrative 

The agency uses energy for groundwater production from wells, pumping at booster stations from lower 
pressure zones to higher pressure zones, and treatment processes. 

 

 Water Service Reliability and Drought Risk Assessment 

The California Urban Water Management Planning Act (Act) requires urban water suppliers to assess water 
supply reliability by comparing total projected water use with the expected water supply over the next 20 to 
25 years in five-year increments. The Act also requires an assessment for a single dry year and multiple 
dry years. This chapter presents the reliability assessment for CVWD’s service area. 

4.7.1    Reliability Overview 

Regional water agencies are facing increasing challenges and opportunities in their role as stewards of 
water resources in the region.  The region faces a growing gap between its water requirements and its firm 
water supplies.  Increased environmental regulations, the collaborative competition for water from outside 

Page 968

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-32 

the region, and the current drought conditions have curtailed supplies of imported water.  Continued 
population and economic growth increase water demand within the region, putting an even larger burden 
on local supplies. 

CVWD’s only direct source of urban potable water supply is local groundwater. However, the groundwater 
supply is replenished with CVWD’s supplies of Colorado River and SWP Exchange water.  Potential 
constraints on these supplies that could affect reliability are discussed in Chapter 3. 

The average year is a year, or an averaged range of years, that most closely represents the median water 
supply available to CVWD. The Act uses the term “normal” conditions. This RUWMP uses the long-term 
average supply metrics to represent average year conditions. 

The single dry year is the year that represents the lowest water supply available to CVWD. This RUWMP 
uses 2014 for the single dry year as a worst case.  

The multiple dry year period is the period that represents the lowest average water supply available to 
CVWD for a consecutive multi year period (five years or more). This is generally considered to be the lowest 
average runoff for a consecutive multiple year period for a watershed since 1903. DWR has interpreted 
“multiple dry years” to mean five dry years; however, water agencies may project their water supplies for a 
longer time period. This RUWMP uses 2012 through 2016 as the multiple dry year period.  

Table 4-24 summarizes the water years used as the basis for urban water supply reliability assessment 
and the percent of average supply available for each base year. 

 

Table 4-24.  DWR 7-1R Basis of Water Year Data 

-   Available Supply if Year Type Repeats 

Year 
Type 

Base 
Year 

Percent of 
Average Supply 

Average Year 2020 100% 

Single-Dry Year 2014 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 1st Year  2012 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 2nd Year 2013 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 3rd Year 2014 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 4th Year 2015 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 5th Year  2016 100% 

 

4.7.2    Water Service Reliability Assessment 

The following tables provide CVWD’s projected water supplies and demands in a normal year, single dry 
year, and multiple dry years. It should be noted that the retail supplies and demands presented in the tables 
below include recycled water delivered to CVWD’s non-urban customers based on DWR’s standardized 
tables and the UWMP Guidebook. However, recycled water is not an urban water supply and is not 
delivered to CVWD’s urban water customers. Instead, recycled water is used to offset the groundwater 
pumping of private well owners (mainly golf courses) to eliminate overdraft. 

Supplies and demands for the average year are summarized in Table 4-25. 

 

Page 969

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-33 

Table 4-25.  DWR 7-2R Normal Year Supply and Demand Comparison 

- 
2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Supply Totals (AFY) 
From DWR Table 6-9R 

137,061 144,982 152,729 158,981 164,966 

Groundwater (not desalinated) 123,461 130,582 137,629 143,081 148,166 

Recycled Water 13,600 14,400 15,100 15,900 16,800 

Demand Totals (AFY) 
From DWR Table 4-3R 

137,061 144,982 152,729 158,981 164,966 

Potable Water Demand 123,461 130,582 137,629 143,081 148,166 

Recycled Water Demand 13,600 14,400 15,100 15,900 16,800 

Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for 
long-term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the 
agencies could produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here. 

 

Urban water supplies during the single dry year are fully reliable. Thus, the supply and demand comparison 
for the single dry year, shown in Table 4-26, is the same as the average year. 

 

Table 4-26.  DWR 7-3R Single Dry Year Supply and Demand Comparison 

- 
2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Supply Totals (AFY) 137,061 144,982 152,729 158,981 164,966 

Groundwater (not desalinated) 123,461 130,582 137,629 143,081 148,166 

Recycled Water 13,600 14,400 15,100 15,900 16,800 

Demand Totals (AFY) 137,061 144,982 152,729 158,981 164,966 

Potable Water Demand 123,461 130,582 137,629 143,081 148,166 

Recycled Water Demand 13,600 14,400 15,100 15,900 16,800 

Difference (AFY) 0 0 0 0 0 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for 
long-term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the 
agencies could produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here. 

 

Page 970

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-34 

Similar to the single dry year, the multiple dry year urban water supply reliability is 100 percent.  Table 4-27 
summarizes the multiple dry year supply and demand comparison.  

 

  

Page 971

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-35 

 

Table 4-27.  DWR 7-4R Multiple Dry Years Supply and Demand Comparison 

 -  - 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

First 
Year 

Supply Totals (AFY) 137,061 144,982 152,729 158,981 164,966 

Groundwater 123,461 130,582 137,629 143,081 148,166 

Recycled Water 13,600 14,400 15,100 15,900 16,800 

Demand Totals (AFY) 137,061 144,982 152,729 158,981 164,966 

Potable Water Demand 123,461 130,582 137,629 143,081 148,166 

Recycled Water Demand 13,600 14,400 15,100 15,900 16,800 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Second 
Year 

Supply Totals (AFY) 137,061 144,982 152,729 158,981 164,966 

Groundwater 123,461 130,582 137,629 143,081 148,166 

Recycled Water 13,600 14,400 15,100 15,900 16,800 

Demand Totals (AFY) 137,061 144,982 152,729 158,981 164,966 

Potable Water Demand 123,461 130,582 137,629 143,081 148,166 

Recycled Water Demand 13,600 14,400 15,100 15,900 16,800 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Third 
Year 

Supply Totals (AFY) 137,061 144,982 152,729 158,981 164,966 

Groundwater 123,461 130,582 137,629 143,081 148,166 

Recycled Water 13,600 14,400 15,100 15,900 16,800 

Demand Totals (AFY) 137,061 144,982 152,729 158,981 164,966 

Potable Water Demand 123,461 130,582 137,629 143,081 148,166 

Recycled Water Demand 13,600 14,400 15,100 15,900 16,800 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Fourth 
Year 

Supply Totals (AFY) 137,061 144,982 152,729 158,981 164,966 

Groundwater 123,461 130,582 137,629 143,081 148,166 

Recycled Water 13,600 14,400 15,100 15,900 16,800 

Demand Totals (AFY) 137,061 144,982 152,729 158,981 164,966 

Potable Water Demand 123,461 130,582 137,629 143,081 148,166 

Recycled Water Demand 13,600 14,400 15,100 15,900 16,800 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Fifth 
Year 

Supply Totals (AFY) 137,061 144,982 152,729 158,981 164,966 

Groundwater 123,461 130,582 137,629 143,081 148,166 

Recycled Water 13,600 14,400 15,100 15,900 16,800 

Demand Totals (AFY) 137,061 144,982 152,729 158,981 164,966 

Potable Water Demand 123,461 130,582 137,629 143,081 148,166 

Recycled Water Demand 13,600 14,400 15,100 15,900 16,800 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 
Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for 
long-term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the 
agencies could produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown 
here. 

 

Page 972

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-36 

4.7.3    Management Tools and Options 

CVWD was formed in 1918 with the purpose of protecting the water supplies of the Coachella Valley.  
CVWD has acquired imported water supplies to replenish local groundwater supplies and continues to 
evaluate additional opportunities to increase supply reliability.  Significant investments have been made to 
implement water conservation programs, acquire additional SWP Table A allocations, construct 
groundwater replenishment facilities to recharge the groundwater basin, and convert groundwater users to 
Canal water and recycled water. These programs have had a significant effect on stabilizing groundwater 
levels and eliminating overdraft. 

CVWD is acting as a GSA in both the Indio and Mission Creek Subbasins to help manage the groundwater 
basin and implement the Alternative Plans.  CVWD has implemented a number of programs to maximize 
the use of local water supplies and reduce demands including significant recycled water and water 
conservation programs; see Section 4.9 for demand management measures currently in place by CVWD.  
CVWD has also participated in the Coachella Valley Regional Water Management Group (CVRWMG) with 
other public water agencies in the Coachella Valley; more information about this group’s activities to 
increase supply reliability is included in Chapters 2 and 3 of the RUWMP. 

4.7.4    Drought Risk Assessment 

A new reporting requirement for the 2020 UWMP is a five-year Drought Risk Assessment (DRA).  The DRA 
is based on projections of demand and available supply for the next five years.   

The results of the DRA are summarized in Table 4-28. 

  

Page 973

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-37 

 

Table 4-28.  DWR 7-5 Five-Year Drought Risk Assessment 

2021 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 114,862 
Total Supplies (AFY) 114,862 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit) 0 
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit) 0 
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2022 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 120,412 
Total Supplies (AFY) 120,412 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit) 0 
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit) 0 
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2023 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 125,961 
Total Supplies (AFY) 125,961 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit) 0 
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit) 0 
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2024 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 131,511 
Total Supplies (AFY) 131,511 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit) 0 
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit) 0 
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2025 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 137,061 
Total Supplies (AFY) 137,061 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit) 0 
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit) 0 
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for long-
term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the agencies could 
produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here.  Supplies and 
demands above reflect the total of potable water and recycled water. 

 

 

Page 974

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-38 

 Water Shortage Contingency Plan 

CVWD has developed a Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP) to meet the requirements of this section 
of the Guidebook.  The WSCP is included as an attachment to this RUWMP. 

 Demand Management Measures 

This section describes CVWD water conservation goals, its existing and proposed conservation programs, 
and addresses the requirements of the UWMP relative to demand management. 

4.9.1    Demand Management Measures for Wholesale Suppliers 

CVWD does not receive or currently provide wholesale water. This section is not applicable to CVWD’s 
service area. 

4.9.2    Existing Demand Management Measures for Retail 

CVWD implements the demand management measures (DMMs) identified in CWC §10631 in addition to 
other DMMs.  The following subsections summarize the current DMMs in place and implementation over 
the past five years. 

4.9.2.1    Water Waste Prevention Ordinances 

CVWD has implemented water waste restrictions through its ordinance imposing mandatory restrictions on 
water use. CVWD’s current ordinance is 1422.5 and includes prohibitions on inefficient water use.  Some 
measures are in effect at all times, and some are implemented at different shortage levels of the WSCP.  
CVWD’s ordinance also describes recommended activities for customers and Homeowners Associations 
(HOAs). 

In addition, provisions of CVWD’s landscape ordinance 1302.5 (revised July 2020) include specific 
prohibitions and penalties for water waste. These provisions from Section 3.15.040, Part C are provided 
below: 

1. Water waste resulting from inefficient landscape irrigation including runoff, low-head drainage, 
overspray, or other similar conditions where water flows onto adjacent property, non-irrigated areas, 
walks, roadways, or structures is prohibited. All broken heads and pipes must be repaired within 72 
hours of notification. Penalties for violation of these prohibitions are established in Section 3.15.070. 

2. Customers who cause water waste may have their service discontinued. 
3. Customers who appear to be exceeding the Maximum Applied Water Allowance (MAWA) may be 

interviewed by the District Water Management Department to verify customer water usage to ensure 
compliance. 

4.9.2.2    Metering 

One hundred percent of CVWD’s urban water customers are metered. The meters are billed based on 
volume of use. CVWD has mixed use meters serving both domestic use and landscape irrigation. The 
landscape ordinance Section 3.15.030, Part D specifies: 

Separate landscape water meters shall be installed for all projects except single family homes with a 
landscape area less than 5,000 square feet. Landscape meters for single family homes with a landscape 
area over 5,000 square feet may be served by a permanent service connection provided by the District or 
by a privately owned submeter installed at the irrigation point of connection on the customer service line. 

Page 975

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-39 

4.9.2.3    Conservation Pricing 

Conservation pricing provides incentives to customers to reduce average or peak use, or both. CVWD uses 
water commodity rates for its domestic water, non-potable (including Canal and recycled) water, and 
groundwater replenishment services. For its urban water system, CVWD has used a water budget-based 
tiered rate structure that discourages wasteful water use since 2009. 

Every residential customer is given a personalized water budget based on the number of people living in 
the home, the size of the home’s landscaped area (budgeting more water to those with larger landscapes), 
and daily weather (budgeting more water during hotter months). Customers pay the tier rate for all water 
used within that tier. 

CVWD is currently in the process of updating water rate studies for its domestic water, Canal water, and 
replenishment assessment charges. The domestic water rates are proposed to be adjusted to continue to 
encourage additional water conservation and generate the revenue required to meet District expenses, 
consistent with cost of service principles and legal requirements. 

4.9.2.4    Public Education and Outreach 

There are several public information programs being operated presently by CVWD. The purpose of these 
programs is to educate the public on conservation programs being planned and/or implemented by CVWD, 
as well as educational tips that customers can use to lower their water usage. 

4.9.2.5    Publications – Lush and Efficient 

CVWD publishes a comprehensive book on water-efficient landscaping in the Coachella Valley titled Lush 
and Efficient: Landscape Gardening in the Coachella Valley. The guide draws on the expertise of local 
irrigation and landscaping specialists to provide users with step-by-step instructions and techniques for 
creating and maintaining water-efficient landscapes, plus hundreds of low-water using plants that thrive in 
the desert. First published in 1988, the popular book is available for free from CVWD’s website. Hard copies 
are also readily available for free at special events and for purchase for a nominal fee. In 2016, an updated 
version showcasing new plant materials and the latest irrigation tools and techniques, was debuted. The 
measurement of interest and success of this program will be to show an increase in the number of hard 
copies distributed and the number of page views the online version receives. 

4.9.2.6    Demonstration Gardens 

The majority of urban potable water distributed by CVWD is used outside, with about 70-80 percent being 
used to maintain landscapes. Since CVWD’s boundaries fall within the California Department of Water 
Resources’ highest ET zone (18), it takes more water to grow landscapes here than in any other portion of 
California. The Coachella Valley shares this highest water use designation with the Palo Verde Valley, 
Imperial Valley, and Death Valley. 

One way to reduce landscape water requirements is to use native desert plants in landscaping. Desert 
native plants have evolved both anatomical and physiological mechanisms that allow them to survive on 
annual rainfall alone. 

Within the Coachella Valley, which is one of the lowest annual rainfall areas in the state, desert plants from 
other, wetter deserts can be utilized with a minimum amount of irrigation. CVWD has identified and 
illustrated these plant choices in its publication Lush and Efficient: Landscape Gardening in the Coachella 
Valley. CVWD’s two demonstration gardens, one at its headquarters in Coachella and the other at its office 
in Palm Desert, provide the landscape industry and the general public an opportunity to observe the plants 
in a landscape setting. 

The objective measurements of interest and success of this program will be attendance at the gardens and 
subjective measurements achieved through the feedback from visitor surveys. 

Additionally, a new demonstration garden is planned for the Palm Desert Campus using grant funding. 

Page 976

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-40 

4.9.2.7    Landscape and Leak Detection Workshops 

CVWD started offering an annual horticultural workshop more than 20 years ago with about 30 people 
attending a half-day session at College of the Desert. This program steadily grew over the years to a 
culmination of 220 people participating in 2010. In order to make the workshop more manageable, the 
structure was changed, and workshops are now held throughout the year with different topics continually 
being introduced. 

Speakers include CVWD staff and community members who are experts in various fields related to 
landscaping. Participants are given a free copy of Lush and Efficient: Landscape Gardening in the 
Coachella Valley and other xeriscape information. Attendance at each event ranges from 50-75 people. 

The measurement of interest and success of this program will be through stable or increased attendance 
for the course offered under this program. 

4.9.2.8    Community Outreach 

Outreach events in 2020 were impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, however CVWD developed virtual 
resources that could be accessed online. These resources include virtual workshops, CVWD staff 
presenting at virtual meetings, and current development of virtual tours. 

CVWD’s marketing/advertising program includes print, radio, billboards, social media, and TV ads primarily 
focused on water conservation, CVWD services, and promotion of workshops. 

4.9.2.9    Water Conservation Website, E-notifications, and Facebook 

CVWD has a large section on its website (www.cvwd.org/conservation) devoted to water conservation and 
education. Started in 2005, the webpage provides information on all of the agency’s conservation programs, 
including conservation rebate programs, current water-use restrictions, upcoming workshops, conservation 
tips (in the form of videos, fact sheets and guides), a guide for proper irrigation, and a link to download 
CVWD’s landscaping book, Lush and Efficient: Landscape Gardening in the Coachella Valley. In addition, 
regional daily and monthly weather and reference evapotranspiration rate information is provided to guide 
water users. The conservation section received 39,953 page views in 2020. The measurement of interest 
and success of this program will be to show stable or increasing page views to the section. 

In addition, CVWD partners with four other public water agencies in the region to maintain a cooperative 
educational website at www.cvwatercounts.com. This site also provides water conservation tips and links 
to the five agencies. 

CVWD’s e-notification program began in 2014 to provide a voluntary email subscription service to 
customers. As of January 2021, email notification subscriptions include the following topics and number of 
subscribers: 

 Board meetings - 517 

 Events & workshops - 917  

 News releases - 1,997  

 Tours – 1,113  

 Water quality reports – 1,956 

The District launched its Facebook page in 2014, its Twitter page in 2017, and its Instagram account in 
2018. As of January 2021, these social media pages had 2,044 followers on Facebook, 563 on Twitter and 
965 on Instagram. 

Social media posts include information about services, construction projects, milestones, employee 
highlights, conservation tips, traffic advisories for construction work and announcements of new policies 
and programs. 

Page 977

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-41 

4.9.2.10    School Education Program 

CVWD has an established school education program which began in 1992. The agency has two full-time 
teachers on staff implementing the program. Presently, there are four components to the program. The first 
is classroom presentations on a variety of water-related topics with an emphasis on water conservation. 
The second component is facility tours, the third is science fair promotion and sponsorship and the fourth 
is a newsletter targeted to teachers. CVWD’s teachers make audience-specific water education 
presentations to students at every level from pre-school to college. All school lesson plans are developed 
using California State Board of Education Standards and Frameworks. In addition to classroom 
presentations, CVWD’s teachers host several tours of water-related facilities and judge science fairs for the 
public and private schools within the agency’s service area. A quarterly newsletter, The Water Wheel was 
targeted specifically to teachers to promote the other three components of the program and provide 
valuable information to assist teachers in incorporating water-related topics into their lesson plans. That 
newsletter is currently being revised into an e-newsletter and will likely be renamed.  

4.9.2.11    Programs to Assess and Manage Distribution System Real Loss 

CVWD’s water loss program evaluates both apparent and real water loss. The programs and practices 
listed below constitute water loss reduction efforts: 

 Production Well Meter Testing: This consists of CVWD testing all our production well meters twice 
per year. This is to ensure meter accuracy and data validity to accurately calculate our water loss 
when performing water loss audits.  If the meter is not within the acceptable tolerance, it is replaced.  

 Customer Meter Testing: CVWD tests a random representative sample of our customer meter 
population.  The testing process includes minimum, intermediate, and maximum flow rates. All 
tested meters are required to be within a range based on the AWWA M6 standard for “accuracy 
limits” for size and type of meter; if a meter fails one of these flow rates, the meter is replaced. Test 
data is used in the AWWA Water Loss Audit Software to calculate customer meter inaccuracy.   

 Proactive Meter Replacement: Based on meter failures and industry data, CVWD currently replaces 
meters after 20 years of service as an ongoing preventative maintenance program. This program 
is to ensure accurate data in regards to customer billing and water loss due to meter inaccuracy.   

 Leak Detection: CVWD’s leak detection program surveys 80-110 miles of main a month, the goal 
is to proactively find and fix unreported non-surfacing leaks in the distribution system. The leak 
detection crew surveys the entire distribution system for leaks over an approximately two-year 
period.   

 Leak Repair: CVWD fixes surfacing and non-surfacing leaks within five days for non-emergency 
leaks. Five days is generally the time between the notification of the leak and the fixing of the leak. 
Emergency leaks are prioritized and fixed within one day of notification. Non-surfacing/unreported 
leaks are scheduled and fixed accordingly.  

 District Site Use Water Meters: CVWD has installed meters at all of its domestic sites to accurately 
track site usage. This data helps provide consumption data that is entered into the AWWA Water 
Loss Audit Software.  

 Meter Reading: CVWD’s meter reading system identifies meters with no/low consumption. Staff is 
also trained to identify potential faulty meters.  A work order is entered for replacement if the meter 
is not operating correctly. Comparison reading is also conducted to compare Automatic Meter 
Reads to their actual read.  This practice can help identify faulty electronics or set up errors in the 
metering system. 

 Meter Repair Work Order Prioritization: Work orders that negatively impact billing and/or contribute 
to water loss are considered “priority” and are completed as soon as possible.  It is typical to have 
less than a two week backlog on these type of priority work orders. Making these a priority 
minimizes water loss. 

 Billing Reports: Billing runs exceptions reports to identify low or zero consumption anomalies. 
These reports can help locate a potential problem in the billing system or the meter, which can be 
investigated and repaired. 

 

Page 978

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-42 

4.9.2.12    Water Conservation Program Coordination and Staffing Support 

CVWD currently has a full-time water conservation manager as well as support staff for CVWD’s 
conservation programs. Supporting positions include a water management supervisor, lead water 
management specialists, water management specialists, water management technicians, and water 
management aides. Beginning in 2001 with a staff of only two people, the section has now grown to a staff 
of 15 people tasked with carrying out the agency’s various conservation programs. 

4.9.2.13    Other Demand Management Measures 

CVWD has several other DMMs including landscape conservation and incentive programs, residential 
efficiency programs, and golf and agricultural conservation programs. These are described briefly in the 
following subsections. 

4.9.2.14    Large Landscape Conservation Programs and Incentives Program 

There are two principal groups of large landscape customers within the CVWD service area – those with 
separate irrigation meters on the urban water system, and those with private wells for golf course or other 
large landscape irrigation. Irrigation accounts for approximately 75-80 percent of total urban water usage. 
Consumption by users with separate irrigation meters represents over 20 percent of total CVWD domestic 
water consumption. There are also many golf course irrigation users, who are not CVWD urban water users, 
but produce groundwater from private wells. One of CVWD’s goals is to reduce water use by these large 
landscape pumpers. 

4.9.2.15    Water Management Seminar for Landscape Professionals (English and Spanish) 

Commercial and recreational landscape irrigation systems are often improperly installed, poorly maintained, 
and inefficiently scheduled by transitory landscape maintenance personnel who are often unskilled and 
uneducated in the science and practice of landscape irrigation efficiency. Career landscape maintenance 
professionals have little or no in-valley irrigation science educational opportunities. 

Starting in September 2009, CVWD began offering a water landscape workshop specifically aimed at 
landscape professionals. The 6-hour workshop was designed to help local landscape professionals 
efficiently irrigate their clients’ lawns and gardens without wasting water. Certified water conservation 
managers and turf and irrigation experts gave presentations on Coachella Valley soils, drip irrigation, smart 
controllers, water pressure regulation, and irrigation scheduling. At the conclusions of each workshop, all 
participants received a certificate of completion. Participants with professional landscape companies were 
listed on CVWD’s website (www.cvwd.org). 

The program has since been replaced by a combination of the public Landscape Workshop Series (hosted 
in the spring and fall) and the Landscaper Certification Program (see below). 

4.9.2.16    Landscaper Certification Program 

CVWD hosts a Landscaper Certification Program (LCP) for professional landscapers that focuses on water 
use efficiency. The class was modeled after an existing course focused on air quality in relation to lawn 
scalping and re-seeding practices. The certification is a requirement in order to obtain or renew a 
professional landscaping business license in any city or county area within the Coachella Valley. 

CVWD partnered with College of the Desert (COD), a local community college with an established 
Landscape Management Program, Coachella Valley Association of Governments (CVAG), and the cities, 
county and neighboring water districts to implement the course and establish certification criteria for 
incorporation into each city's business license qualification requirements. 

CVWD developed the curriculum of the LCP using existing staff that hold licenses and certifications in 
irrigation efficiency, plant water use, horticultural practices, arboriculture, and landscape/golf course 
irrigation auditing. CVWD ensures the curriculum is high quality by asking for review from industry educators 
such as COD instructors and industry professionals. CVWD and COD worked together to create the course 

Page 979

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-43 

and certification based on the developed curriculum. CVWD and CVAG worked with the cities on an 
amendment to existing ordinances to establish the business license requirement. 

4.9.2.17    Water Audits for Large Water Users 

The purpose of the Large Landscape Irrigation Audit Program is to assist users in maximizing the efficient 
operation of their irrigation system by measuring performance, generating irrigation schedules and 
recommending improvement actions. 

The goals of this audit program are to determine the irrigation uniformity, efficiency and application rate of 
each audited site, suggest modifications in design, operation, maintenance and scheduling and estimate 
the water and energy savings associated with the suggested modifications. A report summarizing the audit’s 
findings and recommendations is sent to the irrigation manager. 

Audit sites are chosen based on excessive water consumption, or in response to a request for audit 
services. CVWD’s Water Management Specialist evaluates and approves each site. All auditors must take 
the Irrigation Association’s Landscape Irrigation Auditor course and pass the Certified Landscape Irrigation 
Auditor examination, or equivalent. 

Once a site is approved for audit, the owner or operator of the facility is contacted and an appointment is 
made to conduct the audit. After measurements and calculations are completed, a summary report and 
recommendations is delivered and explained to the site operator by the auditor. The large landscape audit 
program operates continuously, and completes approximately 20 landscape audits per year. The success 
of this program will be measured by the annual water reduction achieved by large water users participating 
in the program. A study in 2005 found that the average HOA saved 3.1 AFY as a result of implementing 
some of the audit recommendations.  

CVWD contracted Proteus Consulting to conduct large scale comprehensive water audits for 13 commercial 
customers with water use in Tier 5. The program was designed to educate, train, and promote water 
conservation. The consultant firm conducted a water conservation review at each property to identify 
excessive water use. The chosen customer received a final report that included implementation advice and 
a return-on-investment calculation. This program ran from 2016 to 2018. 

4.9.2.18    Adoption of Model Landscape Ordinance by Coachella Valley Cities to Establish 
Water Budget and Landscaping Criteria for New Development 

The Water Conservation in Landscaping Act of 2006 (Assembly Bill 1881, Laird) required cities and counties 
to adopt water conservation ordinances by January 1, 2010. In accordance with the law, the DWR prepared 
an updated Model Efficient Landscape Ordinance (MWELO). For all cities and counties that do not adopt 
their own conservation ordinances, DWR’s updated MWELO would apply within their jurisdiction by January 
1, 2010. 

In response to this law, CVWD worked with the Coachella Valley Association of Governments, Coachella 
Valley cities, Riverside County, other water agencies, and the Building Industry Association for the 
acceptance of CVWD’s Landscape and Irrigation System Design Ordinance No. 1302.5. The most recent 
revisions to this ordinance were adopted in July of 2020. 

4.9.2.19    Plan Checking for Compliance with Landscape Ordinance 

New and rehabilitated landscape sites are required to submit water efficient landscape plans to CVWD’s 
Water Management Department for a plan check prior to construction. The plan check is conducted to 
insure that the water efficiency features of the new landscape meet the provisions of CVWD’s Landscape 
and Irrigation System Design Ordinance No. 1302.5. Each proposed site is given an annual maximum water 
allowance based on landscaped area, plant water use zone, low-moderate landscape plant water use rates 
and high irrigation system application efficiency. The landscape designer must utilize a combination of plant 
choice and irrigation system choice such that the estimated annual water use of the finished landscape 
does not exceed the annual maximum water allowance assigned. In addition, certain irrigation system 
design practices are mandated, such as setting sprinkler irrigated areas at least 24 inches back from street 

Page 980

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-44 

curbs, or prohibited, such as overhead sprinkling of street median strips. Since 2010, CVWD has performed 
926 landscape plan checks for new and rehabilitated landscape sites. 

4.9.2.20    Random Inspections of Landscape Projects for Compliance with Landscape Ordinance 

As mentioned in the previous section, all new and rehabilitated landscape sites are required to submit water 
conserving landscape plans to CVWD’s Water Management Department for a plan check prior to 
construction. The plan check is conducted to ensure that the water efficiency features of the new landscape 
meet the provisions of CVWD’s Landscape and Irrigation System Design Ordinance.  

In order to ensure that contractors are installing plan-checked, water efficient landscapes as approved, 
CVWD has implemented a random inspection program. The inspections signal to the landscape 
construction industry that CVWD is spot checking completed landscape irrigation systems for plan-check 
compliance and will require errors and omissions to be corrected or face the possibility of discontinued 
water service. 

4.9.2.21    Smart Controller Rebate Program 

Beginning in 2005, CVWD instituted a smart irrigation controller rebate program to financially assist large 
water users in reducing landscape irrigation water consumption by purchasing an advanced irrigation 
controller capable of synchronizing their landscape irrigation schedules with seasonal variations in 
Coachella Valley reference evapotranspiration (ETo) rates. 

ETo is a scientific description of the rate at which plant water use varies with the weather. Since the weather 
changes from season-to-season, week-to-week and even day-to-day, programming irrigation controllers 
frequently and efficiently remains one of the landscape industry worker’s most neglected tasks. CVWD’s 
program is specifically aimed at encouraging the use of “smart” irrigation clocks that reprogram themselves 
according to periodic variations in ETo after the initial calibrating program has been professionally installed. 

CVWD initially offered this program to residential customers in November 2005 and expanded the program 
to large landscape customers in March 2008. For residential customers, CVWD staff will install and program 
the “smart” controller at no cost to the customer. For large landscape customers, CVWD will rebate 75% of 
the cost of the controller. Since 2010, CVWD has installed 3,262 smart controllers for residential customers 
and has issued 1,659 rebates to large landscape customers that installed smart controllers. 

The measurement of success of this program will be documenting water reduction by each participating 
user, as well as showing an annual increase in applications for the rebate as the region grows. 

4.9.2.22    Landscape Conversion Rebate Program 

Since 2007, CVWD has offered a rebate to its customers for converting their outdoor grass landscaping to 
desert-friendly landscaping, which requires less irrigation. CVWD’s landscaping guide, Lush & Efficient: 
Landscape Gardening in the Coachella Valley, provides guidelines on which plants work best in the hot, 
arid climate. The rebate consists of $2 per square foot of landscaping or turf, up to $20,000 per project. 
Since 2010, 4,245 residential and 1,291 commercial/HOA rebates have been issued, amounting to a total 
of 16,648,202 square feet of turf conversion. 

The measurement of the success of this program will be the number of rebates issued per year and a 
marked reduction in a participating customer’s water consumption. CVWD performed a study of smart 
controllers using actual customers after having converted their landscaping and found that, on average, 
water savings amounted to 36% as a result of landscape conversion. 

4.9.2.23    Residential Ultra-Low-Flush Toilet Replacement Rebate Program 

Ultra-low-flush toilets (ULFT) conserve water by utilizing far less water than older, less efficient toilets. An 
ULFT uses less than 1.6 gallons per flush. In addition to direct conservation benefits, the promotion and 
use of these toilets has social value as it brings conservation products, literally, in direct contact with area 
users, thereby raising awareness of water conservation efforts. Furthermore, the use of these products has 

Page 981

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-45 

the potential to reduce customer water and electric bills. The use of these products provides no direct health 
benefit or detriment. 

CVWD has had a toilet rebate program since 2011. The agency provides a rebate of $100 for each toilet 
replacement plus $10 for reimbursement of any recycling fees, which will cover approximately half the cost 
of purchasing and installing a ULFT. Since 2010, a total of 9,445 rebates have been issued for ULFT 
replacements. 

In addition to the rebate program, ULFTs are required for all new construction per plumbing code 
requirements. ULFTs were first introduced to the U.S. market in 1980, and the manufacturing of older, less 
efficient toilets designs was halted shortly thereafter. Industry estimates are that natural replacement of 
residential toilets occurs every 20-30 years or at a rate of about 3-5 percent per year. Using this 
methodology, approximately 25 percent of the toilets from pre-1980 houses would still be installed in 2025. 

4.9.2.24    Residential High-Efficiency Washing Machine Replacement Program 

As of 2018, clothes washers that have earned the ENERGY STAR certification use 14 gallons of water per 
load, compared to the 20 gallons used by a standard machine. CVWD now provides a high-efficiency 
washing machine rebate, offering a maximum of $150 rebate per installed washing machine. Washing 
machine must be ENERGY STAR certified with an Integrated Water Factor of 4.5 or less.  

The promotion and use of high-efficiency washing machines has social value as it brings conservation 
products, literally, in direct contact with area users, thereby raising awareness of water conservation efforts. 
Furthermore, the use of these products has the potential to reduce customer water, wastewater, gas and 
electric bills. The use of these products provides no direct health benefit or detriment. The indirect benefits 
of this are that less energy and detergents are used to operate the machines. This would reduce the need 
for groundwater pumping and replenishment, collection, treatment and the subsequent reuse or disposal 
of wastewater, as well as the numerous environmental benefits of reducing energy consumption. 

4.9.2.25    Hot Water Recirculating Pump Rebate Program 

CVWD offers a rebate program for residential customers who install a Hot Water Recirculating Pump in 
their home. Hot water recirculating pumps save water and energy by reducing the wait time for hot water 
to arrive at the faucet or shower.  Research shows that hot water recirculating pumps can save anywhere 
from 3,000 to 12,000 gallons of water per year.  CVWD will offer a maximum $125 rebate, or the cost of the 
recirculating pump, whichever is less. 

4.9.3    Implementation 

DMM implementation over the past five years is summarized in Table 4-29. 

 

  

Page 982

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-46 

 

Table 4-29.  Demand Management Measure Implementation Summary 

Program 
Completed Since 

Program 
Inception 

Completed 
Since 2010 

Completed in 
2015 

Completed 
in 2020 

Landscape Plan Check 1,126 926 893 116 

Residential Smart 
Controller Installations 

4,801 3,262 803 133 

Lange Landscape 
Smart Controller 
Rebates 

1,769 1,659 319 83 

Residential Turf 
Conversions 

4,305 

(5,974,040 square 
feet) 

4,245 

(5,965,009 
square feet) 

628 

(760,094 square 
feet) 

244 

(308,215 
square feet) 

Commercial / HOA Turf 
Conversions 

1,291 

(12,819,155 
square feet) 

1,291 

(10,683,193 
square feet) 

212 

(2,135,963 
square feet) 

101 

(1,334,404 
square feet) 

Water Waste 
Investigations 

4,941 4,888 1,205 298 

Toilet Rebates 9,445 9,445 603 1,736 

 

CVWD has achieved its 2020 water use target, but continues to implement DMMs to reduce per capita 
water use. CVWD anticipates the average per capita use by its existing customers will at least maintain the 
383 GPCD average usage observed in 2015. In addition, CVWD anticipates that CVWD future users will 
achieve a 291 GPCD average usage across all customer classes due to implementation of plumbing code 
and updated landscape ordinance requirements. CVWD’s service area has a significant seasonal and 
tourist population component that impacts the per capita water use calculations. CVWD anticipates 
continued growth in the seasonal population but at lower rates than have been observed historically. 

4.9.4    Water Use Objectives (Future Requirements) 

The final water use objectives for CVWD have not yet been determined. 

 Plan Adoption, Submittal, and Implementation 

This section includes a discussion of CVWD’s process for adopting, submitting, and implementing the 
RUWMP and CVWD’s WSCP. 

4.10.1    Inclusion of All 2020 Data 

This RUWMP presents data on a calendar year basis and includes data for the entire calendar year 2020. 

4.10.2    Notice of Public Hearing 

CVWD provided notice that it would hold a public hearing to consider adoption of the RUWMP and CVWD’s 
WSCP.  CVWD provided written notice to the cities and counties within its service area on February 23, 

Page 983

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-47 

2021.  These entities are identified in Table 4-30, and the notification letters are included in Appendix B of 
the RUWMP.  CVWD provided an additional notice to the cities and counties with the time and date of the 
public hearing. 

 

Table 4-30. DWR 10-1R Notification to Cities and Counties 

City 
60 Day 
Notice 

Notice of Public 
Hearing 

La Quinta Yes Yes 

Indio (Indio Water Authority) Yes Yes 

Coachella (Coachella Water Authority) Yes Yes 

Palm Desert Yes Yes 

Cathedral City Yes Yes 

Indian Wells Yes Yes 

Rancho Mirage Yes Yes 

County 
60 Day 
Notice 

Notice of Public 
Hearing 

County of Riverside Transportation and Land 
Management Agency - Planning Department 

Yes Yes 

Riverside County Flood Control and Water 
Conservation District 

Yes Yes 

Riverside County Department of Public Health Yes Yes 

Imperial County Planning and Development 
Services 

Yes Yes 

 

CVWD published a notice of the public hearing in a local newspaper two weeks and one week before the 
hearing itself to inform the public on the meeting time and place, with the location of where the draft 2020 
RUWMP and WSCP were available for review. 

4.10.3    Public Hearing and Adoption 

CVWD held a public hearing on June 22, 2021 to hear public comment and consider adopting this RUWMP 
and CVWD’s WSCP. 

As part of the public hearing, CVWD provided information on baseline values, water use targets, and the 
implementation plan as required in the Water Conservation Act of 2009.  The public hearing on the RUWMP 
and CVWD’s WSCP took place before the adoption of the plans, which allowed CVWD the opportunity to 
modify the plans in response to public input before adoption.  After the hearing, the plans were adopted as 
prepared or as modified after the hearing.  

The adoption resolutions for the RUWMP and CVWD’s WSCP are included in Appendix H. 

4.10.4    Plan Submittal 

CVWD submitted standard tables electronically via DWR’s UWMP submittal website along with a copy of 
the final report. The plan will also be submitted to the California State Library. The plan is made available 
to all cities and counties to which CVWD supplies water. 

Page 984

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

4-48 

4.10.5    Public Availability 

The RUWMP and CVWD’s WSCP will be available on the CVWD website for public viewing within 30 days 
of filing the plans with DWR. 

4.10.6    Notification to Public Utilities Commission 

This section is not applicable because CVWD is not regulated by the California Public Utilities Commission. 

4.10.7    Amending an Adopted UWMP or Water Shortage Contingency Plan 

If CVWD identifies the need to amend the adopted RUWMP or CVWD’s WSCP, each of the steps for 
notification, public hearing, adoption, and submittal will also be followed for the amended plan. 

 

Page 985

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-1 

 

 

 Introduction 

The Coachella Water Authority (CWA) has participated in the Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water 
Management Plan (RUWMP) to meet its reporting requirements for 2020. This chapter describes 
information specific to CWA and its water use efficiency programs. 

Updates to the California Water Code (CWC) for the 2020 reporting cycle are discussed in Chapter 1 of the 
RUWMP. 

5.1.1    Chapter Organization 

This chapter is organized into the sections recommended by the Guidebook prepared by the California 
Department of Water Resources (DWR). 

 Sub-Chapter 1 provides an introduction to the chapter. 
 Sub-Chapter 2 shows details about the preparation of this RUWMP. 
 Sub-Chapter 3 presents information about the service area. 
 Sub-Chapter 4 presents information about current and projected future water demands. 
 Sub-Chapter 5 documents compliance with SB X7-7 through a reduction in per-capita water use. 
 Sub-Chapter 6 presents the current and planned future water supplies. 
 Sub-Chapter 7 assesses the reliability of supplies and presents a comparison of projected future 

supplies and demands. 
 Sub-Chapter 8 discusses the Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP) that will help guide 

actions in case of a future water shortage. 
 Sub-Chapter 9 presents information about Demand Management Measures (DMMs) being 

implemented to encourage efficient water use. 
 Sub-Chapter 10 presents information about the adoption and submittal process for this RUWMP 

and the WSCP. 

5.1.2    UWMPs in Relation to Other Efforts 

The related planning efforts by agencies in the Coachella Valley are described in Chapter 2 of the RUWMP. 

5.1.3    UWMPs and Grant or Loan Eligibility 

The CWC requires urban water suppliers to have a current UWMP, deemed sufficient at addressing the 
CWC requirements by DWR, on file with DWR in order for the urban water suppliers to be eligible for any 
water management grant or loan administered by DWR. In addition, the UWMP Act requires a retail water 
agency to meet its 2020 Compliance Urban Water Use Target and report compliance in the 2020 UWMP. 

5.1.4    Demonstration of Consistency with the Delta Plan for Participants in Covered Actions 

The participating agencies’ approach to demonstrating reduced reliance on the Delta is discussed in 
Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

  

Page 986

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-2 

 Plan Preparation 

This section provides information on CWA’s process for developing the RUWMP, including efforts in 
coordination and outreach. 

5.2.1    Plan Preparation 

CWA is participating in the Coachella Valley Regional UWMP to meet its reporting requirements under the 
UWMP Act. 

5.2.2    Basis for Preparing a Plan 

CWA is a retail public water supplier that meets the definition of an urban water supplier with over 8,300 
municipal water service connections. CWA operates a single Public Water System, with information 
summarized in Table 5-1. 

 

Table 5-1. DWR 2-1R Public Water Systems 

Public Water 
System Number 

Public Water System Name 
Number of Municipal 

Connections 2020 
Volume of Water 

Supplied 2020 (AFY) 

3310007 Coachella Water Authority 8,935 7,216 

- Total 8,935 7,216 

 

5.2.3    Regional Planning 

CWA is participating in the Coachella Valley Regional UWMP with five other water agencies, as described 
in Chapter 2 of the RUWMP. 

5.2.4    Individual or Regional Planning and Compliance 

CWA is reporting compliance with SB X7-7 as an individual agency; CWA did not participate in a Regional 
Alliance. 

5.2.5    Fiscal or Calendar Year and Units of Measure 

CWA does not sell wholesale water and is a retail agency. This report was prepared using calendar years 
and acre-feet as a measure of water. 

5.2.6    Coordination and Outreach 

CWA has coordinated with other agencies in the development of this plan. This coordination is described 
in Chapter 2 of the RUWMP. CWA does not rely on a wholesale supplier to meet demand. CWA meets 
demand through its own groundwater supplies.  

 

  

Page 987

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-3 

 

 System Description 

This section provides information on CWA’s service area, population and demographics. 

5.3.1    General Description 

The City of Coachella is a desert community of approximately 44,000 people located at the eastern end of 
the Coachella Valley, in Riverside County, California. The City is located southeast of the San Gorgonio 
Pass, east of the San Jacinto and Santa Rosa Mountains, and north of the Salton Sea. The current City 
limits encompass over 20,000 acres, and the sphere of  influence encompasses approximately 13,000 
additional acres around the City. 

Existing land uses within the City consists primarily of single and multi‐family homes. There is a 
commercial/light industrial zone along the freeway corridor, agricultural zone east of Highway 86/111, and 
a heavier industrial zone in the southern part of the City. Full buildout of the City’s sphere of influence (SOI), 
for a total service area of approximately 53 square miles, is not anticipated until sometime after 2050. 

The City of Coachella provides the following water‐related services: domestic water delivery, wastewater 
collection and reclamation, and local drainage control. In addition, the City manages the Coachella Sanitary 
District, which operates a wastewater treatment facility. The City also may develop a recycled water system 
in the future. 

CWA’s current water supply source is groundwater from the Indio Sub‐basin produced from CWA owned 
and operated wells. Currently, the City limits extend beyond CWA’s current water distribution service area. 
However, this study takes into account the entire City limits and its sphere of influence when considering 
potential growth and demand. 

CWA’s existing water system consists of different pressure zones, groundwater wells, storage reservoirs, 
booster pumping stations, and distribution facilities. The current water system is divided into two pressure 
zones, the Low Zone and the 150 Zone. The Low Zone Area is generally south of 48th Avenue, bounded 
by Van Buren on the west, the Coachella Valley Storm Channel on the east, and 54th Avenue on the south. 
The Low Zone provides water service to the majority of the City and as the City continues to grow, the Low 
Zone will extend further east. The 150 Zone service area is generally north of 48th Avenue and supplies 
primarily commercial and light industrial users along the Interstate 10 freeway corridor. 

CWA has one principal source of water supply, local groundwater pumped from the CWA‐owned wells. 
There are currently six wells within the City’s distribution system. The total pumping capacity of active wells 
is approximately 11,400 gallons per minute (gpm) or 16.5 million gallons per day (MGD). 

There are three storage reservoirs within the City, the 1.5 million gallon (MG) Dillion Road Reservoir, the 
3.6 MG Mecca Reservoir, and the 5.4 MG Well 18 Reservoir. CWA has a total reservoir storage capacity 
of approximately 10.5 MG; of which, approximately 1.5 MG lies within the 150 Zone. 

CWA operates two booster pumping stations, the Mecca Reservoir booster pump station (Well 12 Booster) 
and the Well 18 Reservoir booster pump station (Well 18 Booster). The Well 12 Booster supplies the Low 
Zone and takes suction from the Mecca Reservoir, and the Well 18 Booster supplies both the 150 Zone 
and Low Zone, and takes suction from the Well 18 Reservoir. 

CWA’s distribution system network consists of approximately 120 miles of pipeline, which range from 4‐ 
inches to 36‐inches in diameter. It is estimated that a majority of pipes in the City’s water distribution system 
network were installed between the year 1940 and year 1990. The older pipes reside in the southerly section 
of the lower zone, and the newer pipes are in the northerly section. Asbestos cement (AC) is the most 
common pipeline material in the City, according to operations staff; with the remaining pipelines being either 
polyvinyl chloride (PVC) or ductile iron (DI) and lined steel. 

Page 988

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-4 

5.3.2    Service Area Boundary Map 

The City is not near built out, with large undeveloped parcels and agricultural areas, mostly east of Highway 
86. Agricultural areas are not served by CWA’s water system and rely on Coachella Canal water and 
privately owned and operated wells. As undeveloped and agricultural lands are developed into residential 
or other land uses, they will be served by CWA and become part of CWA’s service area. For the purpose 
of developing baselines and targets, CWA delineated the existing water service area based on the existing 
distribution system. Figure 5-1 shows the existing water service area, City boundaries, and Sphere of 
Influence. 

 

 

Page 989

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-5 

 

Figure 5-1. CWA Service Area Boundary 
 

Page 990

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-6 

5.3.3    Service Area Climate 

The City’s climate is arid with the majority of precipitation occurring as rainfall in the winter months between 
November and March. The average rainfall for the Coachella area is approximately 4‐inches per year. 
Winter temperatures are generally between the low 40’s and the mid 70’s. Summer temperatures are 
generally between mid‐ 70’s and the low 100’s. Table 5-2 shows the average monthly temperature, 
precipitation and reference Evapotranspiration (ETo) for the area.  The data are shown graphically in Figure 
5-2. 

 

Table 5-2. Monthly Average Climate Data 
Parameter Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Annual 

Average Max. 
Temperature (F) 

71 74 80 85 91 101 102 103 98 88 78 67 87 

Average Minimum 
Temperature (F) 

43 45 52 58 64 71 78 78 71 60 50 42 59 

Average Total 
Precipitation (in) 

0.6 0.1 1.0 0.4 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.3 0.7 3.9 

Evapotranspiration, 
ETo (in) 

2.5 3.4 5.6 7.1 8.3 8.7 8.1 7.5 6.2 4.7 2.9 2.2 67.2 

Notes: 

Data from California Irrigation Management Information System (CIMIS) Station 208, La Quinta II.  Data from February 2007 
through December 2020 

 

 

 

Figure 5-2. Monthly Average Climate Data 
 

A discussion of the potential impacts of climate change on the region is included in Chapter 3 of the 
RUWMP. 

0.5 0.6 0.7 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.2 0.7 

2.7 
3.6 

6.0 

7.7 

9.2 
9.8 9.7 

9.1 

7.2 

5.2 

3.3 
2.3 

 -

 20

 40

 60

 80

 100

 120

 -

 2.0

 4.0

 6.0

 8.0

 10.0

 12.0

Te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

 (F
)

Pr
ec

ip
ita

tio
n 

an
d 

ET
o 

(in
)

Precipitation (in) ETo (in) Maximum Air Temperature (F) Minimum Air Temperature (F)

Page 991

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-7 

5.3.4    Service Area Population and Demographics 

CWA’s water service area (WSA) population is expected to increase substantially in the future. Currently, 
the WSA lies within the City’s boundaries, serving the more densely populated areas to the west and 
commercial/resort areas to the north.   

In order to calculate the current water service area population, the DWR population tool was used to find 
the population within WSA boundary. DWR’s population tool uses census data to determine the population 
in 2010, and then the 2020 population is estimated by using the number of connections in 2010 and 2020. 

Future population projections were developed using the regional growth forecast prepared by the Southern 
California Association of Governments (SCAG). 

The City Development Services Department has plans for several proposed development projects, ranging 
in size from 10 residential units to mixed‐use developments with over 7,500 residential units. These units 
are included in the City’s SOI, which is not anticipated for full build out until after 2050. 

The current and projected population are shown in Table 5-3. 

 

Table 5-3.  DWR 3-1R Current and Projected Population 

Population Served 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

CWA 45,522  66,478 78,735 90,991 10,248 115,504 

 

A summary of demographic data for the City of Coachella is presented in Table 5-4. 

 

  

Page 992

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-8 

 

Table 5-4.  Coachella City Demographic Data 

Age Distribution 
Race / Ethnicity 

Distribution 
Income and Household 

Size 
Household Income 

Distribution 

Age Percent Race / 
Ethnicity 

Percent Parameter Amount Income Percent 

19 
years 
and 
under 

26.6% White 1.7% Median 
household 
income 

$34,224 $24,999 
and under 

35.5% 

20-34 
years 

24.1% Black 0.6% Average 
household 
income 

$46,759 $25,000-
$49,999 

30.1% 

35-54 
years 

31.1% Native 
American 

0.1% Per capita 
income 

$17,442 $50,000-
$74,999 

16.3% 

55-64 
years 

9.9% Asian / 
Pacific 
Islander 

0.2% Percent of 
Population 
Below Poverty 
Level 

21.8% $75,000-
$99,999 

8.8% 

Over 65 
years 

8.3% Hispanic 97.3% Average 
Household 
Size 

2.92 $100,000-
$149,999 

6.2% 

  Other 0.0%   $150,000 
and 
above 

3.1% 

Notes:  Reference: American Community Survey 2014-2019 (United States Census Bureau, 2021) 

 

5.3.5    Land Uses within Service Area 

CWA coordinated with land use planners within the City in developing the projections of future development. 
The following is a brief summary of the nature and status of the City’s larger development projects. 

5.3.5.1    La Entrada 

The La Entrada Specific Plan, approximately 2,200 acres on the eastern edge of the City, south of Interstate 
10 and northeast of the All American Canal, provides for approximately 7,800 residential units, 135 acres 
of mixed‐use, elementary schools, 343.8 acres of parks, multi‐ purpose trails and 556.9 acres of open 
space. The La Entrada development has completed environmental review and is undergoing City 
development review. Construction is expected to follow the City’s approval process. 

5.3.5.2    Coachella Vineyard 

The Coachella Vineyard Specific Plan provides for 807 units in the southeastern area of the City. The 
Coachella Vineyard development is currently undeveloped and located east of State Route 86. 

Page 993

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-9 

5.3.5.3    Brandenburg Butters Specific Plan 

The Brandenburg Butters project provides for 71.5 acres of commercial uses and 1,381 dwelling units. The 
project has been approved by City Council and Planning Commission; however, no units have been 
constructed to date. This development is centrally located, east of State Route 86. 

5.3.5.4    Eagle Falls 

The Eagle Falls Specific Plan resides in both Coachella (60 acres) and Indio (30 acres) on a 90‐acre site.  
The project includes 295 units, of which 202 units will be within the City of Coachella. The Specific Plan 
provides for a gated golf course community and is included as a part of the Cabazon Band of Mission 
Indians Fantasy Springs Master Plan. Rough grading has been completed for the Eagle Falls development; 
however, no units have been constructed to date. 

5.3.5.5    Shadow View 

The Shadow View Specific Plan provides for a single‐family residential community consisting of 1,600 
dwelling units on 380 acres, a mixed‐use commercial center on 100 acres, and a 37‐acre park. The 
commercial site has a residential overlay that provides an option to construct up to 1,000 high‐density 
residential units. The Shadow View development has been approved by City Council. 

 Water Use Characterization 

This section describes the current and projected water uses within CWA’s service area. 

5.4.1    Non-Potable Versus Potable Water Use 

CWA produces all of its water supplies from the Coachella Valley Groundwater Basin, specifically, the East 
Indio Subbasin, which is continuously replenished at the local and regional level pursuant to a variety of 
water supply projects and programs. The East Indio Subbasin is regionally managed by CVWD, CWA, and 
IWA within the jurisdictional boundaries. 

Currently, CWA does not produce or use recycled water or raw water in its service area; however, the City 
is considering a recycled water system in the future. It should be noted that raw water, via the Coachella 
Canal, is used within the City limits, but by the agricultural community and not as a part of the CWA system. 

Per CVWD Ordinance No. 1428, CWA has opportunity to receive canal water for additional potable water 
supply when available. As the water becomes available, CWA may work with CVWD to pursue those 
opportunities to supplement its water portfolio. 

5.4.2     Past, Current, and Projected Water Use by Sector 

CWA maintains records of total water production and water consumed by its customers. Water use is 
tracked by customer type, using CWA’s billing system.   

The difference between water production and metered water deliveries (billed to customers) is defined as 
non-revenue water. Non-revenue water includes authorized non-billed use (such as fire fighting or flushing), 
and it includes losses from the system. CWA has completed annual water audits using the American Water 
Works Association (AWWA) Water Audit Software. The results are summarized in Table 5-5. The 
completed audits are included in Appendix G of the RUWMP. 

 

 

 

Page 994

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-10 

Table 5-5. DWR 4-4R 12 Month Water Loss Audit Reporting 

Report Period Start Date 
Volume of Water Loss (AFY) 

MM YYYY 

01 2015 538 

01 2016 103 

01 2017 704 

01 2018 239 

01 2019 254 

 

CWA’s water use for the past five years is summarized in Table 5-6. 

 

Table 5-6. DWR 4-1R Actual Demands for Water (AFY) 

Use Type 
Additional 
Description 

Level of Treatment  
When Delivered 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Single Family   Drinking Water 4,236 3,855 4,022 3,860 4,283  

Multi-Family   Drinking Water 174  125  704 609  693  

Commercial / 
Institutional 

  Drinking Water 967 807  723 755  779  

Industrial   Drinking Water 6 16  -    -    -  

Landscape   Drinking Water 698 1,106 583 1,065  1,087  

Other   Drinking Water 37 118 12 97 62 

Other Non-Revenue Drinking Water 119 790 1,092 417 312 

-   Total 6,236 6,818 7,136 6,802 7,216 

 

CWA is participating in the update of the Indio Subbasin Alternate Plan Update being prepared to meet 
requirement of the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA).  The participating agencies 
coordinated efforts with demand projections being prepared for the Indio Subbasin Alternative Plan and the 
Mission Creek Subbasin Alternative Plan.  The demand projection approach included several steps: 

 The projections were based on the regional growth forecast prepared by the Southern California 
Association of Governments (SCAG) as part of their regional transportation plan.  SCAG’s most 
recent transportation plan is referred to as Connect SoCal.4   SCAG gathered input from cities 
and counties throughout Southern California about expected growth and development for the next 
25 years and incorporated the land use designations in each jurisdiction’s General Plan.    The 

 

 

4 Information about SoCal Connect is available at https://scag.ca.gov/connect-socal 
 

Page 995

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-11 

SCAG analysis includes estimates of population, households, and employment in each Traffic 
Analysis Zone (TAZ) in their study area.5 

 Additional analysis of vacancy rates was performed to estimated baseline and projected housing 
units for the study area, including housing units used by seasonal residents and other part-time 
uses. 

 Future estimates of employment were used to drive future growth in Commercial, Industrial, and 
Institutional (CII) demands 

 Five years of customer billing data were used to develop unit demand factors. These factors have 
units of gallons per housing unit for residential and landscape uses and gallons per employee for 
CII uses. 

 Water losses were estimated using water loss audits  
 Demands were adjusted for two types of conservation savings: 

o Indoor passive conservation savings from the natural replacement of indoor devices 
o Outdoor conservation savings from the implementation of the 2015 Model Water 

Efficiency Landscape Ordinance (MWELO)and agency-specific requirements for future 
developments. 

The projected demands are summarized in Table 5-7. 

 

Table 5-7. DWR 4-2R Projected Demands for Water 
- 

Additional 
Description 

Projected Water Use (AFY) 

Use Type 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Single Family   7,072 8,364 9,575 10,840 11,785 

Multi-Family   1,005 1,189 1,422 1,799 2,342 

Commercial / Industrial / 
Institutional 

  1,181 1,370 1,558 1,674 1,790 

Landscape   935 1,096 1,257 1,449 1,641 

Other   22 26 31 36 41 

Losses   654 774 888 1,021 1,147 

- Total 10,869 12,819 14,731 16,819 18,746 

 

Demand projections prepared for this plan considered the incorporation of codes and standards  The draft 
Indio Subbasin Alternative Plan Update included modeling of anticipated future water savings due to fixture 
replacements. The analysis included indoor savings related to toilets, showerheads, dishwashers, clothes 
washers, and urinals (categorized as indoor water use) as well as outdoor water use. Indoor conservation 
is mainly a result of government mandated water efficiency requirements for fixtures, defined as “passive 
savings”. The model considers these mandates and the average useful life and replacement rates for each 
type of fixture based on standard industry estimates and plumbing fixture saturation studies. It assumes 
that all new construction complies with the plumbing codes in effect at that time and that when a device is 
replaced, the new device is also in compliance with the current plumbing codes. Estimated frequency of 
use for each type of fixture as determined by the Water Research Foundation and American Water Works 

 

 

5 An overview of the demographic and growth forecast is available at 
https://scag.ca.gov/sites/main/files/file-attachments/0903fconnectsocal_demographics-and-
growth-forecast.pdf?1606001579. 
 

Page 996

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-12 

Association Research Foundation were multiplied by the number of housing units to produce the total indoor 
passive conservation savings. 

Anticipated outdoor water use savings were based on the implementation of the California Model Water 
Efficiency Landscape Ordinance (MWELO) which is the standard for outdoor water conservation for the 
state. The resulting water savings from the MWELO are estimated using an Evapotranspiration Adjustment 
Factor (ETAF) which adjusts the reference ET for plant requirements and irrigation efficiency. No savings 
were assumed from special landscape areas, such as recreational areas, as these are allotted extra water 
use as well as existing landscapes as these savings are not considered passive since there are incentives 
under conservation programs. 

The anticipated savings due to these measures are summarized in Table 5-8. These savings have been 
incorporated into the water demand projections presented in Table 5-7. 

 

Table 5-8. Anticipated Water Savings Due to Conservation (AFY) 
 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Indoor Passive Savings 118 345 528 695 873 1,040 

Outdoor Passive Savings 326 600 867 1,125 1,395 1,630 

Total Passive Savings 444 945 1,395 1,820 2,268 2,670 

 

The current and projected future gross water use are summarized in Table 5-9. 

 

Table 5-9. DWR 4-3R Total Gross Water Use (AFY) 

- 2020 2020 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Potable and Raw Water 
From DWR Table 4-1R and 4-2R 

7,216 10,869 12,819 14,731 16,819 18,746 

Recycled Water Demand 
From DWR Table 6-4R 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total Water Use 7,216 10,869 12,819 14,731 16,819 18,746 

 

5.4.3    Worksheets and Reporting Tables 

CWA has completed the required UWMP submittal tables and included them in Appendix D of this RUWMP. 

5.4.4    Water Use for Lower Income Households 

Lower income households are those with less than 80 percent of the area’s median household income, 
adjusted for family size. The City will strive to meet their new construction goals of the Regional Housing 
Needs Allocation. The demand for lower income households is included in the water use projections in 
Table 5-7. 

 

Page 997

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-13 

5.4.5    Climate Change Considerations 

Potential impacts of climate change on water use in the region are discussed in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

 SB X7-7 Baseline and Targets 

CWA’s methods for calculating baseline and target water consumption values are described in this section. 
This section also documents CWA’s compliance with its 2020 Urban Water Use Target. 

5.5.1    Wholesale Suppliers 

CWA is not a wholesale supplier, and therefore this section is not applicable. 

5.5.2    SB X7-7 Forms and Tables 

CWA has completed the SB X7-7 2020 Compliance Form and included it in Appendix E. 

5.5.3    Baseline and Target Calculations for 2020 UWMPs 

CWA calculated its baselines and targets for its 2010 and 2015 UWMPs, and CWA has not re-calculated 
its baselines or targets. 

5.5.4    Service Area Population and Gross Water Use 

CWA has calculated its 2020 service area population using the DWR Population Tool. CWA uploaded a 
GIS boundary of its water service area (WSA) to the DWR Population Tool. The tool used the census data 
in 2010 and the number of connections in 2010 and 2020 to estimate the population in 2020. 

CWA’s gross water use was determined from the City’s annual production and storage records. Meter 
adjustments, exported water, distribution system storage, recycled water, and process water were not 
applicable to CWA’s distribution system. 

5.5.5    2020 Compliance Daily Per-Capita Water Use (GPCD) 

CWA’s average use during the baseline period and confirmed 2020 target are shown in Table 5-10. 

 

Table 5-10. DWR 5-1R Baselines and Targets Summary 

Baseline Period 
Start 
Year 

End 
Year 

Average Baseline 
Use (GPCD) 

Confirmed 2020 
Target (GPCD) 

10-15 Year 2001 2010 208 200 

5 Year 2006 2010 210  

*All values are in Gallons per Capita per Day (GPCD) 

 

CWA’s compliance with the 2020 target is shown in Table 5-11. 

 

Page 998

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-14 

Table 5-11. DWR 5-2R 2020 Compliance 

Actual 2020 
Use 

Optional Adjustments 
2020 Confirmed 
Target (GPCD) 

Supplier Achieved 
Targeted Reduction 

in 2020 (GPCD) 2020 Total 
Adjustments 

Adjusted 
2020 GPCD 

141 0 141 200 Yes 

*All values are in Gallons per Capita per Day (GPCD) 

 

5.5.6    Regional Alliance 

CWA is not participating in a regional alliance and is documenting compliance with SB X7-7 as an individual 
agency. 

 Water Supply Characterization 

CWA produces all of its water supplies from the Coachella Valley Groundwater Basin, specifically, the East 
Indio Subbasin, which is continuously replenished at the local and regional level pursuant to a variety of 
water supply projects and programs. 

5.6.1    Water Supply Analysis Overview 

The Coachella Valley groundwater basin area serves as an expansive conjunctive use resource that is 
capable of ensuring a sufficient and sustainable water supply to serve existing uses and projected growth 
during normal, single‐dry and multiple‐dry years over an extended planning horizon, currently established 
as the year 2045. Not only does the basin contain vast reserves of local groundwater (approximately 30 
million AF at 1,000-foot depth), it has substantial available storage space that has been utilized and will 
continue to be utilized to store millions of acre‐feet of supplemental supplies that become available during 
normal and above‐normal years. Those surplus supplies are recharged to the basin for later use during dry 
periods. 

Further discussion of regional water supply sources is presented in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

5.6.2    Supply Characterization 

This discussion includes the types of water supply considered by DWR. 

5.6.2.1    Purchased or Imported Water 

CWA does not use purchased or imported water. As described in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP, imported water 
is used in the region for groundwater replenishment. 

5.6.2.2    Groundwater 

Groundwater is the principal source of municipal water supply in the Coachella Valley. CWA produces water 
from the Eastern Indio Subbasin. Discussion of on-going efforts to manage the Indio Subbasin are 
presented in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

Page 999

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-15 

CWA’s water quality meets Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL) for monitored primary, secondary, or 
microbial contaminants. The City’s water quality also meets most secondary MCL’s known as Public Health 
Goals (PHG’s). PHG’s are set by the California EPA and are the level of contaminants in drinking water 
below which there is no known or expected health risk. 

There are two major developments within the City’s SOI that are scheduled to be built on the east side of 
the San Andreas Fault, which lies outside of the Indio Subbasin. These developments would lie within the 
Fargo Canyon Subarea of the Desert Hot Springs Subbasin. Within this area groundwater is generally of 
poor quality (TDS >1,000 mg/L) and the native yield is limited. 

Groundwater supply for developments within the Fargo Canyon Subarea of the Desert Hot Springs 
Subbasin will most likely have come from new wells added on the westerly side of the San Andreas Fault 
due to the groundwater quality issues on the east side. While wellhead or centralized treatment for these 
contaminants is possible it may or may not prove to be economical for CWA.  Further analysis of this would 
be required to make a determination on where or how to proceed. 

CWA’s total groundwater production for the past five years is presented in Table 5-12.  

 

Table 5-12. DWR 6-1R Groundwater Volume Pumped (AFY) 

Groundwater Type Location or Basin Name 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Alluvial Basin Indio Subbasin 6,236 6,818 7,136 6,802 7,216 

- Total 6,236 6,818 7,136 6,802 7,216 

 

5.6.2.3    Surface Water 

CWA does not use self‐supplied surface water as part of its water supply. However, that could change in 
the future and will be further evaluated at that time. 

5.6.2.4    Stormwater 

CWA does not use, or plan to use, local stormwater runoff as part of its water supply. However, that could 
change in the future and will be further evaluated at that time. 

5.6.2.5    Wastewater and Recycled Water 

The City manages the Coachella Sanitary District that operates a 4.5-MGD secondary treatment 
wastewater facility. In addition, the City is considering plans to develop a recycled water system in the 
future; however, the City does not have infrastructure in place to recycle water. 

In 2010, the City upgraded the capacity of the Coachella Water Reclamation Facility to 4.5 MGD, and 
current average daily discharge is approximately 2.7 MGD. The plant remains a full secondary treatment 
facility with oxidation ditches for denitrification. Waste activated sludge is sent to drying beds for dewatering 
and then hauled away to landfill for alternate daily cover material. 

Information about wastewater collected and treated is presented in Table 5-13 and Table 5-14. 

 

Page 1000

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-16 

Table 5-13.  DWR 6-2R Wastewater Collected within Service Area in 2020 

Wastewater Collection Recipient of Collected Wastewater 

Name of Wastewater 
Collection Agency 

Wastewater Volume 
Metered or Estimated 

Wastewater Volume Collected 
from UWMP Service Area in 2020 

(AFY) 

Name of Wastewater Agency 
Receiving Collected Wastewater 

Wastewater Treatment 
Plant Name 

Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Located within UWMP Area 

WWTP Operation Contracted 
to a Third Party 

Coachella Sanitary District Metered 3,105 Coachella Sanitary District 
Avenue 54 Wastewater 
Treatment Plant 

Yes No 

- Total 3,105         

 

 

 

Table 5-14.  DWR 6-3R Wastewater Treatment and Discharge within Service Area in 2020 
-             2020 Volumes (AFY) 

Wastewater 
Treatment Plant 

Name 

Discharge 
Location Name or 

Identifier 

Discharge 
Location 

Description 

Wastewater 
Discharge ID 

Number 

Method of 
Disposal 

Plant Treats 
Wastewater 

Generated Outside 
the Service Area 

Treatment Level 

Wastewater 
Treated 

Discharged 
Treated 

Wastewater 

Recycled 
Within 

Service Area 

Recycled 
Outside of 

Service Area 

Instream 
Flow Permit 
Requirement 

Avenue 54 
Wastewater 
Treatment Plant 

Coachella Valley 
Stormwater 
Channel 

Stormwater channel 
CA0104493 – 001 
 
7A330104012 

River or creek 
outfall 

No Secondary 3,105 3,105 0 0 0 

-           Total      

 

 

Page 1001

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-17 

The City currently does not have recycled water use within its service area. While the City plans to  use 
recycled water in some capacity in the future, additional information related to a potential recycled water 
system is being developed as part of regional planning efforts. 

Potential uses of recycled water could be implemented, including non‐potable water systems for larger 
developments. In addition, requiring new developments to include a “non‐potable” water distribution system 
could help offset much of the costs associated with delivering recycled water system‐wide.   

5.6.2.6    Desalinated Water Opportunities 

CWA does not anticipate the future use of desalinated water within its service area, as the backbone 
facilities and infrastructure needed for desalination are not economically feasible. 

5.6.2.7    Water Exchanges and Transfers 

Water transfers involve the temporary or permanent sale or lease of a water right or contractual water 
supply between willing parties. Water can be made available for transfer from other parties through a variety 
of mechanisms. 

CWA is exploring opportunities to exchange non‐potable groundwater for water from the Coachella Canal.  
Certain groundwater in the East Coachella Valley has higher levels of dissolved solids and fluoride, and 
thus is not suitable for potable purposes. However, that supply may be suitable for irrigation and other non‐
potable uses. In turn, Canal water that is currently used only for irrigation purposes could be treated for 
potable use or left untreated and used for non‐potable urban uses. 

In September 2009 CVWD and the City signed a Memorandum of Understanding (2009 MOU) to assist in 
ensuring a sufficient and reliable water supply for development projects within the City and a major portion 
of its sphere of influence (SOI). Under the terms of the 2009 MOU, various means are identified by which 
the City can mitigate impacts associated with development projects, such as: 

 Source Substitution not identified in the current Coachella Valley Water Management Plan 
(CVWMP). For example, using recycled wastewater effluent of the City’s Wastewater Treatment 
Plant for landscape irrigation instead of using groundwater. 

 Acquire supplemental water supplies sufficient to offset the impacts of new water demands within 
the City or supplied by the City’s water system. 

 Participate in funding CVWD’s acquisition of supplemental water supplies sufficient to offset the 
impacts of new water demands approved by the City or supplied by the City’s water system. 

In February 2013, CVWD and the City executed an additional Memorandum of Understanding (2013 MOU) 
regarding implementation of the 2009 MOU. 

5.6.2.8    Future Water Projects 

CWA understands the need to develop additional sources of supply to meet demands associated with 
projected growth. CWA continues to work with CVWD and other regional partners on potential projects to 
increase water supply. CWA will continue to evaluate the use of Canal Water as a source substitution for 
drinking water supplies obtained from groundwater.  

Per CVWD Ordinance No. 1428, CWA has the opportunity to receive canal water for additional potable 
water supply when available. As the water becomes available, CWA may pursue those opportunities to 
supplement its water portfolio. As part of its planning process, the City will continue to design water system 
improvements to enhance conservation, identify additional water supplies and potential source 
substitutions, and enhance local groundwater recharge. 

5.6.2.9    Summary of Existing and Planned Sources of Water 

CWA currently receives 100 percent of its water supply from groundwater, and does not currently participate 
in water recycling, water desalination, water exchanges or transfers, or purchase imported water supplies.  

Page 1002

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-18 

In addition, the groundwater quality is high and currently only receives chlorine disinfection. No future large 
scale projects are proposed that would increase CWA’s current supply, including recycled water. 

CWA’s water supplies for 2020 and projected water supplies through 2045 are shown in Table 5-15 and 
Table 5-16. 

 

Table 5-15.  DWR 6-8R Actual Water Supplies 

-   2020 

Water Supply 
Additional Detail 
on Water Supply 

Actual 
Volume (AFY) 

Water Quality 

Groundwater (not desalinated) Indio Subbasin 7,216 Drinking Water 

- Total 7,216  

 

 

Table 5-16.  DWR 6-9 R Projected Water Supplies 
-   Projected Water Supply  (AFY) 

-   2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Water Supply 

Additional 
Detail on 
Water 
Supply 

Reasonably 
Available 
Volume 

Reasonably 
Available 
Volume 

Reasonably 
Available 
Volume 

Reasonably 
Available 
Volume 

Reasonably 
Available 
Volume 

Groundwater 
(not 
desalinated) 

Indio 
Subbasin 

10,869 12,819 14,731 16,819 18,746 

- Total 10,869 12,819 14,731 16,819 18,746 

 

5.6.2.10    Special Conditions 

The potential impacts of climate change on regional water supplies are discussed in Chapter 3 of the 
RUWMP. 

5.6.3    Submittal Tables Using Optional Planning Tool 

Because CWA’s supply availability does not vary seasonally during a typical year, CWA has not completed 
the optional DWR planning tool. 

5.6.4    Energy Use 

CWA has compiled data to document the energy used for water management operations.  CWA used the 
Total Utility Approach to estimate the energy intensity of its water management operations.  

The data are summarized in Table 5-17. 

 

Page 1003

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-19 

Table 5-17.  DWR O-1B Energy Intensity Reporting 
Table O-1B: Recommended Energy Reporting  - Total Utility Approach  

Enter Start Date for Reporting 
Period 

1/1/20 Urban Water Supplier Operational Control 

End Date 12/31/20 

Is upstream embedded in the 
values reported?  

 No Sum of All Water 
Management 

Processes 

Non-Consequential 
Hydropower  

Water Volume Units Used AFY Total Utility  Hydropower Net Utility  

 Volume of Water Entering Process (volume unit) 7,216 0 7,216 

Energy Consumed (kWh) 3,772,520 0 3,772,520 

Energy Intensity (kWh/volume) 522.8 0.0 522.8 

   

Quantity of Self-Generated Renewable Energy 

 0 kWh 

Data Quality (Estimate, Metered Data, Combination of Estimates and Metered Data) 

Combination of Estimates and Metered Data    

Data Quality Narrative 

Energy use data was obtained from electricity consumption records maintained by the agency. 

Narrative 

The agency uses energy for groundwater production from wells, pumping at booster stations from lower 
pressure zones to higher pressure zones, and treatment processes. 

 

 Water Service Reliability and Drought Risk Assessment 

Reliability is a measure of a water system’s expected success in managing water shortages. In addition to 
climate, other factors that can cause water supply shortages are natural disaster, such as earthquakes, 
chemical spills, energy outages and water quality issues. 

5.7.1    Reliability Overview 

CWA’s groundwater supply has historically been able to meet demands during dry periods. 

5.7.2    Water Service Reliability Assessment 

The reliability of the groundwater supply is dependent on reliable sources to replenish water extracted from 
the groundwater basin. To ensure a safe and reliable supply, CWA participates in the East Indio Subbasin 
recharge plan with CVWD. In addition to recharging the groundwater basin, CWA is also exploring 
exchange and transfer opportunities to minimize non‐potable uses for water withdrawn from the 
groundwater basin. CVWD replenishes East Indio Subbasin groundwater supplies with Colorado River 

Page 1004

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-20 

water. Participating agencies’ efforts in regional management of the groundwater basin have helped 
address long‐term overdraft of the basin; therefore, water supply reliability is expected to be good and fully 
reliable. 

Further discussion of constraints on local water resources is included in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

Per UWMP requirements, CWA has evaluated reliability for an average year, single dry year, and multiple 
dry year periods. The average year represents a year or an averaged range of years that most closely 
represents the typical water supply available to CWA. The UWMP Act uses the term “normal” conditions.  
CWA uses the long‐term average supply amounts, as presented herein, to represent average year 
conditions. 

The single dry year is the year that represents the lowest water supply available to CWA. For this UWMP, 
2014 represents that the single dry year as a worst case with strict water conservation measures in place. 
With regards to State Water Project (SWP) water, only 5 percent of Table A water allocation were delivered 
in 2014. 

The multiple dry year period is the period that represents the lowest average water supply availability to 
CWA for a consecutive multi year period (five years or more). This is generally considered to be the lowest 
average runoff for a consecutive multiple year period (five years or more) for a watershed since 1903. This 
UWMP uses 2013 through 2017 as the multiple dry year period. 

CWA relies on one source, groundwater, to meet demand. CWA’s ability to meet demands during the type 
of year scenarios described above is determined by an analysis of the available water supplies within 
CWA’s water service area in each scenario. Considering the groundwater basin management efforts 
presented throughout this RUWMP, the historical groundwater supply availability during these scenarios is 
assumed to be fully reliable and an accurate assumption for future reliability.  

A summary of the basis of water year data is presented in Table 5-18. 

 

Table 5-18. DWR 7-1R Basis of Water Year Data 

-   Available Supply if Year Type Repeats 

Year 
Type 

Base 
Year 

Percent of 
Average Supply 

Average Year 2020 100% 

Single-Dry Year 2014 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 1st Year  2012 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 2nd Year 2013 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 3rd Year 2014 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 4th Year 2015 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 5th Year  2016 100% 

 

The Indio Subbasin storage will be used in dry years to support potential differences between demands 
and supply. The groundwater basin has a capacity of approximately 28.8 million acre‐feet. It is capable of 
meeting the water demands of CWA for extended periods during normal, single‐dry and multiple‐dry year 
conditions. 

The projected supply and demand during a normal year are shown in Table 5-19. 

 

 

Page 1005

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-21 

Table 5-19. DWR 7-2R Normal Year Supply and Demand Comparison 

- 
2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Supply Totals (AFY) 
From DWR Table 6-9R 

10,869 12,819 14,731 16,819 18,746 

Demand Totals (AFY) 
From DWR Table 4-3R 

10,869 12,819 14,731 16,819 18,746 

Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for 
long-term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the 
agencies could produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here. 

 

The projected supply and demand during a single dry year are shown in Table 5-20. CWA’s demands in 
single dry years are projected to be similar to average year demands since CWA’s local water supplies 
(groundwater) is 100 percent reliable and groundwater production is driven by demand. 

 

Table 5-20. DWR 7-3R Single Dry Year Supply and Demand Comparison 

- 
2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Supply Totals (AFY) 10,869 12,819 14,731 16,819 18,746 

Demand Totals (AFY) 10,869 12,819 14,731 16,819 18,746 

Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for 
long-term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the 
agencies could produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here. 

 

A comparison of supply and demand during multiple dry years is shown in Table 5-21. CWA’s demands in 
multiple dry years are projected to be similar to average year demands since CWA’s local water supplies 
(groundwater) is 100 percent reliable and supply is driven by demand.  

 

  

Page 1006

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-22 

 

Table 5-21. DWR 7-4R Multiple Dry Years Supply and Demand Comparison 

 -  - 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

First  
Supply Totals (AFY) 10,869 12,819 14,731 16,819 18,746 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 10,869  12,819 14,731 16,819 18,746 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Second 
Supply Totals (AFY) 10,869 12,819 14,731 16,819 18,746 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 10,869  12,819 14,731 16,819 18,746 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Third 
Supply Totals (AFY) 10,869 12,819 14,731 16,819 18,746 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 10,869  12,819 14,731 16,819 18,746 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Fourth 
Supply Totals (AFY) 10,869 12,819 14,731 16,819 18,746 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 10,869  12,819 14,731 16,819 18,746 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Fifth 
Supply Totals (AFY) 10,869 12,819 14,731 16,819 18,746 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 10,869  12,819 14,731 16,819 18,746 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for 
long-term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the 
agencies could produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown 
here. 

 

Agencies in the region have many programs to maximize the water resources available to CWA, including 
but not limited to recharge of the basin using Colorado River and SWP supplies, direct use and recharge 
of recycled water, conversion of groundwater uses to Canal water and comprehensive water conservation 
practices such as tiered water rates, landscaping ordinances, outreach and education. The groundwater 
replenishment programs establish a comprehensive and managed effort to reduce and eliminate overuse 
of local groundwater resources. These programs allow the agencies to maintain the groundwater basin as 
the primary water supply and to recharge the groundwater basin as other supplies are available and needed 
to meet existing and projected demands within its overall service area, including the City and the City’s 
sphere of influence. 

Page 1007

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-23 

Additionally, CWA has committed sufficient resources to further implement the primary elements of the 
regional planning efforts, including source substitution, water conservation, and purchases of additional 
water supplies. 

5.7.3    Drought Risk Assessment 

A new reporting requirement for the 2020 UWMP is a five-year Drought Risk Assessment (DRA).  The DRA 
is based on projections of demand and available supply for the next five years. 

Demands are expected to increase to the projected demands for 2025. It is expected that conservation 
messaging and programs will prevent any significant increase in demands due to dry conditions. The 
groundwater supply is reliable for a five-year dry period as the volume in storage can be drawn down during 
a dry period. 

The results of the DRA are summarized in Table 5-22. 

 

  

Page 1008

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-24 

 

Table 5-22. DWR 7-5 Five-Year Drought Risk Assessment 

2021 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 7,947 
Total Supplies (AFY) 7,947 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2022 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 8,677 
Total Supplies (AFY) 8,677 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2023 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 9,408 
Total Supplies (AFY) 9,408 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2024 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 10,138 
Total Supplies (AFY) 10,138 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2025 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 10,869 
Total Supplies (AFY) 10,869 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for long-
term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the agencies could 
produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here. 

 

Page 1009

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-25 

 Water Shortage Contingency Plan 

CWA has developed a Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP) to help manage potential future water 
shortages. The WSCP is being adopted separately from the RUWMP and may be modified as needed 
based on changing conditions. The WSCP is an attachment to this RUWMP. 

 Demand Management Measures 

The goal of the Demand Management Measures (DMM) section is to provide a comprehensive description 
of the water conservation programs that the City of Coachella has implemented, is currently implementing, 
and plans to implement in order to encourage efficient water use. The City of Coachella is committed to 
conservation as a means to provide a sustainable supply of water to its service area, and plans to continue 
its conservation program during the next five years. The City’s DMM implementation efforts are described 
in the following sections. 

5.9.1    Demand Management Measures for Wholesale Suppliers 

CWA is not a wholesale supplier, and therefore this section is not applicable. 

5.9.2    Existing Demand Management Measures for Retail 

The City recognizes water use efficiency as an integral component of its current and future water strategy 
for the service area. Demand Management Measures (DMM) refer to policies, programs, rules, regulation 
and ordinances, and the use of devices, equipment and facilities that, over the long term, have been 
generally justified and accepted by the industry as providing a “reliable” reduction in water demand. This 
means providing education, tools, and incentives to help the homeowner, apartment owner and business 
owner reduce the amount of water used on their property. Demand management is as important to insuring 
water supply reliability as is providing a new water supply. The City of Coachella has aggressively pursued 
conservation in an effort to reduce demand. 

The following DMMs include technologies and methodologies that have been sufficiently documented in 
multiple demonstration projects that result in more efficient water use and conservation.  

5.9.2.1    Water Waste Prevention Ordinances 

The City has a prohibition for wasting water in Municipal Code Section 13.03.044 which states it is unlawful 
for any person to willfully or neglectfully water waste in any manner whatsoever. In addition, the City has 
adopted CVAG’s Landscape Ordinance which has specific penalties for water waste. 

The measurement of success for this program is a reduction in water waste violations in the future.  
Additionally, the City has mandatory prohibitions on water wasting that they enforce during a water 
shortage. These prohibitions include voluntary and mandatory  provisions, audits, and fines than can be 
imposed. 

5.9.2.2    Metering 

The City bills its customers according to meter consumption. In addition, the City encourages the installation 
of dedicated landscape meters, which allows the City to recommend the appropriate irrigation schedules 
through future landscape programs. 

Meter calibration and periodic replacement help verify that customers are paying for all of the water they 
consume, and therefore encourages conservation. The City replaced all existing meters prior to 2000 to 
upgrade the older meters to obtain an accurate measure of water usage. In 2015, the City completed the 
process of metering its past unmetered accounts including parks and other accounts, which has further 
enhanced the effectiveness of measuring consumption. 

Page 1010

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-26 

5.9.2.3    Conservation Pricing 

The City has a tiered rate structure for water service within its service area. The City’s water rates include 
a variable commodity charge (monthly charge based on the amount of water used or consumed by the 
customer in hundreds of cubic feet (HCF)) and a fixed metered account charge (basic monthly rate by meter 
size). The rates have been designed to recover the full cost of water service in the commodity charge, while 
discouraging wasteful water use, and will continue to be implemented into the future. Tiered rates are 
designed to incentivize customers to be proactive in reducing water use. 

5.9.2.4    Public Education and Outreach 

The City recognizes the continued need for a public information program to maintain and increase the 
public’s awareness of water and the need to use it wisely. The City promotes water conservation and other 
resources. 

The City distributes public information through bill inserts, brochures, and community events. The City also 
has the opportunity to provide public information on conservation measures through television advertising 
on public access channel in conjunction with the City Council meeting broadcasts. The City also maintains 
a web page, www.conservecoachella.com, which provides water conservation information, ideas, and 
frequently asked questions. The City will continue to work on providing public information and materials to 
remind the public about water and other resource issues, and will track commentary regarding the 
information provided. There is no reliable method to quantify the savings of this management measure; 
however, the City will monitor the number of public announcements, television advertisements, brochures 
and bill inserts distributed throughout the service area. An increase in distribution of materials will indicate 
heightened public water conservation awareness and may correlate with decrease water demand. 

The City supports school education programs provided to the schools within the City. The education 
programs include water conservation, water quality and pollution prevention. The program has provided 
educational programs predominately for elementary age children throughout the service area. School 
education helps future water users realize that water in the State is a precious commodity that cannot be 
taken for granted. The program educates school children about where water comes from, how it is used, 
that it is a precious resource, and ways to conserve water. The children are also taught about the 
importance of recycled water, where it comes from, and how it is used. 

5.9.2.5    Programs to Assess and Manage Distribution System Real Losses 

The City generally performs system water audits on an as‐needed basis. Although leak and/or line break 
repairs are performed expediently (within 24 hours) by the City, no records of these activities, including 
system audits or leak detection program data are available. 

The City does monitor the difference between the water pumped into the distribution system compared to 
the amount billed annually, which is considered “non‐revenue” water.  Non‐revenue water may be attributed 
to “apparent losses” or “real losses.” Apparent losses are paper losses that occur in utility operations due 
to customer meter inaccuracies, billing system data errors and unauthorized consumption. In other words, 
this is water that is consumed but is not properly measured, accounted or paid for. Real losses are the 
physical losses of water from the distribution system, including leakage. These losses inflate production 
costs and stress water resources since they represent water that is extracted and treated, yet never reaches 
beneficial use. Real losses also include other events causing water to be withdrawn from the system and 
not measured, such as hydrant testing and flushing, street cleaning, new construction line draining and/or 
filling and draining and flushing, and firefighting. 

5.9.2.6    Water Conservation Program Coordination and Staffing Support 

The City’s Utilities General Manager serves the City as its water conservation coordinator along with the 
staff Environmental/Regulatory Program Manager. They work closely with agencies in the region, 
particularly through the Coachella Valley Regional Water Management Group (CVRWMG) and CV 
Watercounts, to implement and provide successful execution of water conservation programs in the City. 

Page 1011

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-27 

The City continues to investigate Federal, State, and local funding to develop new programs throughout its 
service area. 

5.9.2.7    Other Demand Management Measures 

The City of Coachella has developed several other demand management measures to support 
consumption reduction and promote efficient water use. They are described in the following subsections. 

5.9.2.8    Water Survey Programs for Single‐Family Residential and Multi‐Family Residential 
Customers 

The City conducts water audits at the request of water customers. The City has identified its largest water 
users and work with these users in hopes of developing a site-specific water conservation program. The 
City believes that identifying and reducing water uses of their largest water consumers provides the largest 
benefit to the City. 

5.9.2.9    Residential Plumbing Retrofit 

The City has adopted the latest version of the Uniform Building Code (UBC), which requires the installation 
of water efficient fixtures. The City, through the Redevelopment Agency, provides assistance for low‐income 
families to retrofit older houses with newer water efficient fixtures. Measuring reductions in water usage 
from implementation of the UBC is not achievable. 

5.9.2.10    Large Landscape Conservation Programs and Incentives 

Typically, the large landscape areas such as golf courses and large common areas are required to provide 
landscape irrigation with non‐potable water such as Canal water, non‐potable groundwater, or recycled 
water and will not be allowed to connect to the City’s domestic water system, unless no other water source 
is available. In addition to negotiating agreements for additional Canal water to serve large landscapes, the 
City negotiated additional rights to Canal water supplies that may be treated to drinking water standards 
with the implementation of a new treatment facility. The City does not currently operate a tertiary‐treatment 
plant and does not have infrastructure in place to deliver recycled water. 

In 2000, the City adopted a landscape ordinance for single family and multi‐family residences and large 
landscape areas. The new ordinance encourages limited use of turf areas and reduces landscape irrigation 
consumption by mandating high efficiency irrigation systems and low water use landscaping. The City 
conducts plan checking for compliance with the landscape ordinance prior to the construction of new and/or 
rehabilitated landscape sites. 

Further, in response to the Water Conservation in Landscaping Act of 2006 (Assembly Bill 1881, Laird), 
requiring cities and counties to adopt water conservation ordinances by January 1, 2010, CVWD worked 
with the Coachella Valley Association of Governments (CVAG), Coachella Valley cities, Riverside County, 
other water agencies, and the Building Industry Association to develop a Regional Landscape Water 
Conservation Ordinance.  The Regional Landscape Ordinance not only meets the state requirements, but 
also is tailored specifically to the unique climate and water conservation needs of the Coachella Valley, 
including the City of Coachella.  The City has adopted the model landscape ordinance by CVAG. 

In addition, the City of Coachella Utilities Department offers a turf removal rebate program for residents 
who want to reduce outdoor water use by converting their front lawn to desert‐friendly landscaping. The 
program aims to provide examples of water wise planting alternatives to turf in parkways and front yards.  
Residents who chose to replace their grass with beautiful, desert‐friendly landscaping can get up to a 
$1,000 rebate. 

Furthermore, the City instituted a Smart Controller Rebate Program. The program is designed to financially 
assist water users in reducing landscape irrigation water consumption by purchasing an advanced irrigation 
controller capable of synchronizing their landscape irrigation schedules with seasonal variations in local 
reference evapotranspiration (ETo) rates. These “smart” irrigation clocks reprogram themselves according 

Page 1012

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-28 

to periodic variations in ETo after the initial calibrating program has been professionally installed. The City 
will perform installation and follow‐up work for all customers at a reduced rate of $50.00. 

5.9.2.11    Conservation Programs for Commercial, Industrial, and Institutional Accounts 

The amount of water used in commercial, industrial and institutional (CII) within the City is a small 
percentage of the overall water usage. CII user demand makes up approximately 15 percent of the City’s 
total water deliveries. The City does, however, incorporate into its planning review process, a review of 
water uses for a specific development and how it has incorporated water conservation measures. This is 
an ongoing procedure as part of the development approval process. A majority of existing passive 
conservation by CII customers is due to current plumbing codes. 

5.9.2.12    Residential ULFT Replacement Programs 

The City has adopted the Uniform Building Code that requires ultra‐low flush toilets (ULFT) (1.2 gallons per 
flush) be used in all new construction. Most of the population is projected into the future with new 
developments. These developments will be required to install ULFT toilets under current Building Code 
provisions. For existing houses, the City of Coachella is offering its single‐family residence and multi‐ family 
residence the opportunity to receive a rebate of up to $100 for exchanging a non‐efficient toilet that uses 
3.5 gallons per flush (GPF) for an ULFT that uses less than 1.2 GPF and is a qualifying WaterSense model.  
Currently toilets using 3.5 GPF or more account for roughly 26% of a home’s indoor water use. The use of 
these WaterSense ULFT will not only conserve water but they also have the potential to reduce customer 
water and electric bill. To date, the City has successfully replaced several non‐efficient toilets with the 
program. The City plans to continue the program into the foreseeable future. 

5.9.3    Implementation 

The City of Coachella is committed to conservation as a means to provide a sustainable supply of water to 
its service area, and plans to continue its conservation program during the next five years. The conservation 
program was initiated in 2012. The following represents the City’s best understanding of the nature and 
extent of these programs over the past five years. 

5.9.3.1    Water Waste Prevention Ordinance 

As mentioned before, the measurement of success for this program is a reduction in water waste violations 
in the future. Since 2014, 444 water waste reports have been investigated by the City. Additionally, the City 
has mandatory prohibitions on water wasting that they enforce during a water shortage. These prohibitions 
include voluntary and mandatory  provisions, audits, and fines that can be imposed. 

5.9.3.2    Metering 

One hundred percent of the City of Coachella’s urban water customers are metered. The City completed 
the process of metering its past unmetered accounts including parks and other accounts, which has further 
enhanced the effectiveness of measuring consumption. Meter calibration and replacement insures that 
customers are paying for all of the water they consume, and therefore encourages conservation. 

5.9.3.3    Conservation Pricing 

The City implemented a tiered water rate system that went into effect for residential customers in mid‐2010. 
While no study has been completed to verify its effectiveness, the City has seen a decline in water demand 
that can be partly attributed to conservation pricing. 

5.9.3.4    Public Education and Outreach 

There is no reliable method to quantify the savings of this management measure. The City has  continued 
to promote public awareness of water consumption reduction in the past five years through several public 

Page 1013

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-29 

announcements, television advertisements, brochures and bill inserts distributed throughout the service 
area. The City’s increase in distribution of materials will indicate heightened public water conservation 
awareness and may correlate with decrease water demand. 

CWA has seen reduced water consumption and notification of water waste. Furthermore, CWA recently 
implemented turf reduction program, smart irrigation controllers, ultra‐low flow toilets and retrofit kits. A total 
of $750,000 has been spent in four years and reduced water consumption by 223 million gallons. 

5.9.3.5    Program to Assess and Manage Distribution System Real Loss 

The City has completed the process of metering its past unmetered accounts including parks and other 
accounts, which has further enhanced the effectiveness of measuring consumption. The City’s efforts to 
meter its entire service area will help decrease the distribution system’s real loss. 

5.9.3.6    Water Conservation Program Coordination and Staffing Report 

The effectiveness of this demand management measure cannot be quantified and measured. Water 
Conservation Program coordinators and staff will continue to seek and implement water consumption 
reducing programs and investigate Federal, State, and local funding to develop new programs throughout 
the service area. 

5.9.3.7    Other Demand Management Measures 

The following table quantifies and summarizes each of the water conservation programs in the past five 
years. 

 

Table 5-23.  DMM Implementation Summary 

Program 
Completed Since 

Program Inception 
Completed Since 2010 

Residential Plumbing Retrofit 300 300 

Turn Removal Rebate Program 135 135 

Smart Controller Rebate Program 15 15 

Residential ULFT Replacement Program 42 42 

 

The City plans to continue implementing the programs described above and will continue to implement 
water conservation practices and enforce requirements of City ordinances to maintain lower than historic 
per capita water use. The City will continue to seek new water consumption reducing programs that benefit 
the Basin. 

As funding becomes available, CWA will pursue additional conservation activities such as energy efficient 
appliances, customer portal, mobile application, and advance metering infrastructure. 

5.9.4    Water Use Objectives (Future Requirements) 

Updated water use objectives are being developed for water suppliers to meet the requirements of the 
CWC. The final water use objectives for CWA have not yet been determined. The DMMs described in this 
section are expected to align with CWA’s efforts to comply with these objectives when they are finalized. 

 Plan Adoption, Submittal, and Implementation 

Page 1014

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-30 

This section includes a discussion of CWA’s process for adopting, submitting, and implementing the 
RUWMP and CWA’s WSCP. 

5.10.1    Inclusion of All 2020 Data 

This UWMP presents data on a calendar year basis and includes data for the entire calendar year 2020. 

5.10.2    Notice of Public Hearing 

CWA serves water to the City of Coachella and sent notice to the City of Coachella and County of Riverside 
that it would be reviewing the UWMP and considering amendments to the Plan. This notice was sent at 
least 60 days prior to the public hearing. The recipients are identified in Table 5-24. A second notice was 
provided to these cities and counties with the date and time of the public hearing and the location where 
the draft report was available for review. 

 

Table 5-24.  DWR 10-1R Notification to Cities and Counties 
City 60 Day Notice Notice of Public Hearing 

Coachella Yes Yes 

County 60 Day Notice Notice of Public Hearing 

Riverside Yes Yes 

 

The City provided notice to the public through its website and published announcements of the public 
hearing in the newspaper on two occasions before the hearing. Copies of the proof of publication are 
included in Appendix B. 

5.10.3    Public Hearing and Adoption 

The City held a public hearing on June 23, 2021 to hear public comment and consider adopting this RUWMP 
and CWA’s WSCP. As part of the public hearing, the City provided information on its baseline values, water 
use targets, and implementation plan required in the Water Conservation Act of 2009. The public hearing 
on the RUWMP and CWA’s WSCP took place before the adoption of the Plans, which allowed the City the 
opportunity to modify the RUWMP and CWA’s WSCP in response to public input before adoption. After the 
hearing, the Plans were adopted as prepared or as modified after the hearing.  

The City’s adoption resolution for the RUWMP and CWA’s WSCP is included in Appendix H. 

5.10.4    Plan Submittal 

CWA will submit the RUWMP and CWA’s WSCP to DWR, the State Library, and cities and counties within 
30 days after adoption. RUWMP submittal to DWR will be done electronically through WUEdata, an online 
submittal tool. 

5.10.5    Public Availability 

No later than 30 days after filing a copy of its Plan with DWR, the City will make the plan available for public 
review during normal business hours by placing a copy of the RUWMP and CWA’s WSCP at the front desk 
of the City’s office, and by posting the RUWMP and CWA’s WSCP on the City’s website for public viewing. 

Page 1015

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

5-31 

5.10.6    Notification to Public Utilities Commission 

Because CWA is not regulated by the California Public Utilities Commission, this section is not applicable. 

5.10.7    Amending an Adopted UWMP or Water Shortage Contingency Plan 

If the City amends the adopted RUWMP or CWA’s WSCP, each of the steps for notification, public hearing, 
adoption, and submittal will also be followed for the amended plan. 

 

 

 

Page 1016

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-1 

 

 

 Introduction 

The Desert Water Agency (DWA) collaborated with five other water supply agencies in the Coachella Valley 
to prepare the Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan (RUWMP) to meet reporting 
requirements for 2020. This chapter presents information specific to DWA and its water use efficiency 
programs. 

Updates to the California Water Code (CWC) for the 2020 reporting cycle are discussed in Chapter 1 of the 
RUWMP. 

6.1.1    Chapter Organization 

This chapter is organized into the sections recommended by the Guidebook prepared by the California 
Department of Water Resources (DWR). 

 Sub-Chapter 1 provides an introduction to the chapter. 
 Sub-Chapter 2 shows details about the preparation of this RUWMP. 
 Sub-Chapter 3 presents information about the service area. 
 Sub-Chapter 4 presents information about current and projected future water demands. 
 Sub-Chapter 5 documents compliance with SB X7-7 through a reduction in per-capita water use. 
 Sub-Chapter 6 presents the current and planned future water supplies. 
 Sub-Chapter 7 assesses the reliability of supplies and presents a comparison of projected future 

supplies and demands. 
 Sub-Chapter 8 discusses the Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP) that will help guide 

actions in case of a future water shortage. 
 Sub-Chapter 9 presents information about Demand Management Measures (DMMs) being 

implemented to encourage efficient water use. 
 Sub-Chapter 10 presents information about the adoption and submittal process for this RUWMP 

and the WSCP. 

6.1.2    UWMPs in Relation to Other Efforts 

The related planning efforts by agencies in the Coachella Valley are described in Chapter 2 of the RUWMP. 

6.1.3    UWMPs and Grant or Loan Eligibility 

The CWC requires urban water suppliers to have a current UWMP, deemed sufficient at addressing the 
CWC requirements by DWR, on file with DWR in order for the urban water suppliers to be eligible for any 
water management grant or loan administered by DWR. In addition, the UWMP Act requires a retail water 
agency to meet its 2020 Compliance Urban Water Use Target and report compliance in the 2020 UWMP.  

6.1.4    Demonstration of Consistency with the Delta Plan 

The participating agencies’ approach to demonstrating reduced reliance on the Delta is discussed in 
Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

Page 1017

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-2 

 Plan Preparation 

This section provides information on DWA’s process for developing the RUWMP, including efforts in 
coordination and outreach. 

6.2.1    Plan Preparation 

DWA is participating in the Coachella Valley RUWMP to meet its reporting requirements under the UWMP 
Act. 

6.2.2    Basis for Preparing a Plan 

DWA is a retail public water supplier that meets the definition of an urban water supplier with over 23,000 
municipal water service connections in 2020. DWA maintains a single Public Water System (PWS) with 
information shown in Table 6-1. 

 

Table 6-1.  DWR 2-1R Public Water Systems 

Public Water 
System Number 

Public Water System Name 
Number of Municipal 

Connections 2020 
Volume of Water 

Supplied 2020 (AFY) 

3310005 Desert Water Agency 23,550 32,504 

 

6.2.3    Regional Planning 

DWA is participating in the Coachella Valley Regional UWMP with five other water agencies, as described 
in Chapter 2 of the RUWMP. 

6.2.4    Individual or Regional Planning and Compliance 

DWA is reporting compliance with SB X7-7 as an individual agency; DWA did not participate in a Regional 
Alliance.  

6.2.5    Fiscal or Calendar Year and Units of Measure 

This report is being prepared on a calendar year basis with water use reported in acre-feet (AF). 

6.2.6    Coordination and Outreach 

DWA has developed this Plan through coordination with the public and other entities. This coordination is 
described in Chapter 2 of the RUWMP.   

DWA is a retail agency and does not provide wholesale water to any other agencies. DWA does not 
purchase water from a wholesaler. Therefore, no coordination with wholesale agencies was performed. 

 System Description 

This section provides information on DWA’s service area, population, and demographics. 

Page 1018

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-3 

6.3.1    General Description 

DWA was formed in 1961 to ensure an adequate water supply for the northwestern portion of the Upper 
Coachella Valley. In 1962, DWA entered into a water supply contract with the State of California through 
DWR. In 1968, DWA purchased the Palm Springs Water Company and Cathedral City Water Company 
systems to provide domestic and municipal water service (hereafter municipal water service) to Palm 
Springs and vicinity. 

DWA is responsible for water supply management within its Institutional Boundary, which encompasses 
325 square miles including the City of Palm Springs (CPS), the southwestern portion of the City of Cathedral 
City (CCC), the City of Desert Hot Springs (CDHS), essentially all of Mission Springs Water District 
(MSWD), and some unincorporated areas within Riverside County. 

DWA's management of the water supply within its Institutional Boundary includes artificial groundwater 
replenishment to augment natural replenishment as part of a joint groundwater basin management 
agreement with the Coachella Valley Water District (CVWD) in the Indio Subbasin and with a management 
committee in the Mission Creek Subbasin. CVWD and DWA augment local groundwater supplies via 
groundwater replenishment, using imported water from the State Water Project (SWP) exchanged for 
Colorado River Water supplies by the Metropolitan Water District of Southern California (MWD). 

DWA provides water service through two separate systems (potable and recycled) within its service area, 
which includes the CPS, the southwestern portion of the CCC, and some unincorporated areas within 
Riverside County. DWA's service area does not include the MSWD service area, which is generally north 
of Interstate 10 and includes DHS and its surroundings. MSWD provides municipal water service throughout 
its service area. 

DWA's water service area is generally bounded on the north (from west to east) by Interstate 10 to Highway 
111, to Chino Canyon and the Whitewater River, on the east by the Whitewater River and CVWD, on the 
south by the rugged Santa Rosa Mountains, and on the west by the rugged San Jacinto Mountains. 

6.3.2    Institutional Boundary Map 

The DWA institutional boundary is shown in Figure 6-1. 

 

Page 1019

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-4 

 

Figure 6-1. DWA Institutional Boundary 
 

Page 1020

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-5 

6.3.3    Service Area Climate 

DWA's service area lies within the western Coachella Valley, which experiences an arid climate 
characterized by low humidity, high summer temperatures, and mild dry winters. The area normally receives 
an average annual precipitation of roughly four to five inches (most of which occurs in January, February, 
or March, except for summer thundershowers), and prevailing winds which are usually gentle but 
occasionally increase to velocities as high as 50 to 60 miles per hour or more with intense winds occurring 
most frequently in late spring. Midsummer temperatures commonly exceed 100 degrees F, frequently reach 
110 degrees F, and periodically reach 120 degrees F. During the winter, the average temperature is about 
60 degrees F. 

The average rainfall and maximum and minimum monthly temperatures, as well as monthly average 
evapotranspiration (ETo) rates, are shown in Table 6-2. Due to the low annual rainfall and high summer 
temperatures, large quantities of water are required for supplemental landscape irrigation, even during the 
cooler winter months. The data are plotted in Figure 6-2. 

 

Table 6-2. Monthly Average Climate Data 
Parameter Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Annual 

Average Daily High 
Temperature (F) 

71 74 81 87 95 104 109 108 102 91 79 69 89 

Average Daily Low 
Temperature (F) 

48 50 54 59 66 73 79 80 74 65 53 46 62 

Average Total 
Precipitation (in) 

1.14 1.11 0.51 0.09 0.02 0.00 0.25 0.14 0.24 0.20 0.23 0.68 4.61 

Evapotranspiration, 
ETo (in) 

2.5 3.4 5.6 7.1 8.3 8.7 8.1 7.5 6.2 4.7 2.9 2.2 67.2 

Notes: 

Temperature and Precipitation from National Weather Service Forecast office, Station Palm Springs Airport. Data from 
1998 through 2020. Accessed through https://w2.weather.gov/climate/xmacis.php?wfo=sgx 

 

ETo Data from California Irrigation Management Information System (CIMIS) Station 208, La Quinta II. Data from 
February 2007 through December 2020. 

 

 

 

Page 1021

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-6 

 

Figure 6-2. Monthly Average Climate Data 
 

A discussion of the potential impacts of climate change on the region is included in Chapter 3 of the 
RUWMP. 

6.3.4    Service Area Population and Demographics 

Table 6-3 shows the current and projected population within DWA's service area. DWA's total population is 
estimated based on its permanent year-round population and an adjustment for seasonal population with 
year-round water usage. 

The CPS contains the largest population within DWA's service area, with a current year-round population 
of 48,518, according to the United States Census Bureau population estimate for Palm Springs as of July 
1, 2019. The Palm Springs area has experienced tremendous growth since its beginnings during the late 
1800s, particularly during the period from 1970 to the present, during which the population more than 
doubled. The golf and tourism industries remain paramount to the area's economy. 

Palm Springs is also a popular destination for a seasonal "snow bird" population and annual visitors as 
reported by the City of Palm Springs. The "snow bird" population consists mainly of people from the 
northeastern and midwestern United States, or from Canada, who spend a large portion of the winter in 
warmer locales such as California. "Snow birds" are drawn to the Palm Springs area by the weather, which 
includes around 350 days of sunshine. This seasonal population nearly doubles the permanent population 
in the winter months (November - April). Many seasonal residents occupy residences and condominiums 
that require year-round water use for maintenance, including irrigation. 

Additionally, Palm Springs is one of the only cities in the area that does not have a prohibition or moratorium 
on short-tern vacation rentals (STVRs). These properties are generally occupied with more people than the 
average resident household and are full much of the year. These properties use water indoors and out 
year-round but do not have any associated resident population affiliated with them per the Census. 

Existing development within the western Coachella Valley primarily occupies the valley floor and is situated 
in Palm Springs, Cathedral City, Palm Springs Oasis (commonly known as Palm Oasis), and Snow Creek 
Village. Future development is expected to consist of infill within the local communities and expansion into 
canyons, coves, and mountainous areas. 

1.1 1.1
0.5

0.1 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2
0.7

2.5
3.4

5.6

7.1

8.3
8.7

8.1
7.5

6.2

4.7

2.9
2.2

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

10.0

Te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

 (F
)

Pr
ec

ip
ita

tio
n 

an
d 

Et
o 

(in
)

Average Total Precipitation (in) Evapotranspiration, ETo (in)

Average Max. Temperature (F) Average Minimum Temperature (F)

Page 1022

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-7 

DWA has developed estimates of seasonal population using demographic data and reports the total 
population as the sum of the permanent population (counted by the census) and the equivalent seasonal 
population. 

The permanent year-round population projection for future years is based on data and projections from the 
Southern California Association of Governments (SCAG) Regional Transportation Plan forecast of 
population, households, and employment. The Regional Transportation Plan adopted by SCAG in 2020 is 
referred to as Connect SoCal.6 As part of that effort, SCAG performed a detailed evaluation of current and 
projected future demographics throughout Southern California, including the study area for the RUWMP. 
The Connect SoCal analysis included forecasts for employment, population, and households within cities 
and unincorporated areas. This demographic information was used to prepare projections of future water 
demands. 

The U.S. Census Bureau and SCAG projections do not count non-permanent residents. The methodology 
for estimating population in seasonal housing units consists of the following steps: 

1. The number of housing units in each Census block was obtained from 2010 Census data. The 
Census blocks were intersected with the supplier boundaries to calculate the number of housing 
units. 

2. The portion of housing units that are for seasonal use was determined from Census data. The 
2010 Census data indicated that 23.4% of the total number of housing units in Palm Springs was 
for seasonal use. 

3. The number of seasonal housing units was calculated by multiplying the number of housing units 
by the portion of housing units that are for seasonal use. 

4. The annual average occupancy rate for seasonal housing units was estimated from data provided 
by the Greater Palm Springs Convention and Visitors Bureau (GPSCVB). These data showed a 
62% occupancy rate in Palm Springs from July of 2017 to July of 2018. 

5. The number of occupied seasonal housing units was calculated by multiplying the number of 
seasonal housing units by the annual average occupancy rate of 62%. 

6. 2010 Census data was used to calculate a number of persons per household. 
7. The number of people in occupied seasonal housing units was calculated by multiplying the 

number of occupied seasonal housing units by the number of persons per household. 

The calculation can be shown in the following equation: 

 

Seasonal 
Population 

= Housing 
Units 

* Portion for 
Seasonal Use 

* Average 
Occupancy Rate 

* Persons per 
Housing Unit 

 

A separate methodology was used for estimating population in RV parks, consisting of the following steps: 

1. Data was collected from managers of RV parks for the number of spaces that are occupied 
seasonally. Spaces that are occupied permanently were not included, since those residents 
should be included in the Census data for permanent population. 

2. The annual average occupancy rate for seasonally occupied RV spaces was estimated using the 
GPSCVB occupancy rate. 

3. The number of occupied seasonal RV spaces was calculated by multiplying the number of 
seasonal RV spaces by the annual average occupancy rate of 62%. 

4. 2010 Census data was used to calculate a number of persons per household. 

 

 

6 More information about Connect SoCal is available at https://scag.ca.gov/read-plan-adopted-final-
plan. 
 

Page 1023

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-8 

5. The number of people in occupied seasonal RV spaces was calculated by multiplying the number 
of occupied seasonal RV spaces by the number of persons per household. 

The service area population consists of permanent year-round population, seasonal population (expressed 
as equivalent year-round population), and population in RV parks.  

For the years 2025 through 2045, the permanent population was estimated using the regional growth 
forecast prepared by SCAG. The number of future housing units was also available from the regional growth 
forecast. DWA applied consistent factors for the percentage of housing units for seasonal use, the 
occupancy factor, and the persons per household to calculate a future seasonal population. The RV park 
population was assumed to remain constant at its 2020 value. The future service area population was then 
calculated as the sum of permanent population, seasonal population, and RV park population. 

The current and projected permanent year-round population and the seasonal population (expressed as 
equivalent year-round population) are shown in Table 6-3. 

 

Table 6-3. DWR 3-1R Current and Projected Population 

Population Served 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Year-Round Population 56.272 59,356 62,440 65,524 68,609 71,693 

Seasonal Population 
(Equivalent Year-Round 
Population) 

15,034 15,857 16,680 17,504 18,360 19,216 

RV Parks 375 375 375 375 375 375 

Total 71,680 75,588 79,495 83,403 87,343 91,284 

Note: Seasonal population and RV park population were estimated using method described in 
Section 6.3.4 and pre-approved by DWR. 

 

Since DWA relies primarily on groundwater and imports water for groundwater replenishment, the droughts 
of 1965-1967, 1976-1977, and 1989-1992 had negligible effects on DWA's ability to supply water to its 
customers. The drought period 2012 - 2015 was the driest on record in the state, though DWA's ability to 
supply water to its customers was not impacted. In response to the drought and state mandates, and in 
addition to its existing water conservation programs, DWA has implemented several water conservation 
programs to reduce water demands within its service area. 

Water conservation is one of several high-priority policies actively implemented within DWA, and programs 
such as water audits for large-volume water users and various conservation incentives are encouraged and 
well received. 

Since most water use within DWA's service area is used outdoors, DWA has focused conservation efforts 
on developing outdoor water conservation measures. Further explanation of DWA's water conservation 
programs is included in the Demand Management Measures section. 

6.3.5    Land Uses within Service Area 

DWA collaborates on planning issues with the City of Palm Springs, the City of Cathedral City, and Riverside 
County, as well as other regional entities. The demand projections in this report were developed using the 
regional growth forecast developed by SCAG. As part of updating the regional transportation plan in 2020, 
SCAG met with individual land use jurisdictions to verify that the growth forecast was consistent with local 
land use policies. 

Page 1024

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-9 

 Water Use Characterization 

This section describes the current and projected future water uses within DWA’s service area. 

6.4.1    Non-Potable Versus Potable Water Use 

DWA uses groundwater and local surface water to meet potable demands in its service area. DWA also 
produces and delivers recycled water and local surface water for non-potable uses. 

6.4.2     Past, Current, and Projected Water Use by Sector 

Data from DWA’s billing system was used to summarize water sales by customer sector for the past five 
years. The sectors recorded are summarized in Table 6-4. 

 

Table 6-4. Water Use Sectors 
Sector Notes 

Single-Family Residential Single-family residential customers constitute the majority of DWA's 
customers. 

Multi-Family Residential Multiple dwelling units contained within one building or several 
buildings in a single complex. 

Commercial DWA has a complex mix of commercial customers, ranging from family 
restaurants, insurance offices, and gas stations to shopping centers, 
high-volume restaurants, golf courses, and other facilities serving the 
local and visitor populations (hotels). 

Industrial DWA serves a small industrial sector, primarily centered on light 
manufacturing. The industrial sector has not grown much in the last 
decade or so.  

Institutional / Governmental DWA has a stable institutional/governmental sector, primarily local 
government, parks, schools, and other types of public facilities. 

Landscape Currently, DWA utilizes recycled water for irrigation of large turf areas, 
such as golf courses, HOAs, schools, and public parks. 

 

As part of a parallel ongoing planning effort, the Indio Subbasin Alternative Plan is currently being updated 
to meet the requirements of the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA). That effort included 
an evaluation of five years of billing data and an estimation of indoor and outdoor water use. It was 
estimated that 69 percent of water use for residential and commercial accounts is being used outdoors. 
With the unique climate, extensive landscape irrigation requirements, and destination resort atmosphere, 
the average annual water consumption per capita is considerably higher than most Southern California 
areas outside the Coachella Valley. 

DWA does not sell water to any other agencies or districts and there are no plans to wholesale municipal 
water in the future. DWA does not use its potable water supply for any purpose other than domestic water. 

The difference between water production and metered water deliveries (billed to customers) is defined as 
non-revenue water. Non-revenue water includes authorized non-billed use (such as fire-fighting or flushing), 
and it includes losses from the system. 

Water losses within DWA's water system generally result from water loss due to unauthorized connections, 
system leaks, and inaccuracies in production and consumption meters. Water losses are calculated as the 
difference between production meter records and customer meter records. DWA either estimates or 

Page 1025

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-10 

measures water for firefighting, fire hydrant flow testing, water main flushing, reservoir cleaning, and 
identifiable system leaks and excludes these quantities from its calculated water losses.  

DWA has completed annual water audits using the American Water Works Association (AWWA) Water 
Audit Software. The completed audits are included in Appendix G of the RUWMP. The losses recorded are 
summarized in Table 6-5. 

 

Table 6-5. DWR 4-4R 12 Month Water Loss Audit Reporting 

Report Period Start Date 
Volume of Water Loss (AF) 

MM YYYY 

01 2015 2,391 

01 2016 2,283 

01 2017 3,503 

01 2018 2,716 

01 2019 577 

 

The actual water use for 2020 is summarized in Table 6-6. 

 

Table 6-6. DWR 4-1R Actual Demands for Water (AF) 

Use Type 
Additional 

Description 
Level of Treatment  

When Delivered 2020 

Single Family   Drinking Water 15,488 

Multi-Family   Drinking Water 1,705 

Commercial / Industrial / Institutional   Drinking Water 8,881 

Industrial   Drinking Water 0 

Landscape   Drinking Water 3,410 

Other Non-Revenue Drinking Water 3,020 

Whitewater River  Non-Potable 703 

-   Total 33,207 

 

DWA is participating in the Indio Subbasin Alternate Plan Update being prepared to meet requirements of 
the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA). The RUWMP participating agencies coordinated 
efforts with demand projections being prepared for the Indio Subbasin Alternative Plan and the Mission 
Creek Subbasin Alternative Plan. The demand projection approach included several steps: 

 The projections were based on the regional growth forecast prepared by SCAG as part of their 
regional transportation plan. SCAG’s most recent transportation plan is referred to as Connect 
SoCal7. SCAG gathered input from cities and counties throughout Southern California about 

 

 

7 More information about Connect SoCal is available at https://scag.ca.gov/connect-socal 

Page 1026

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-11 

expected growth and development for the next 25 years and incorporated the land use 
designations in each jurisdiction’s General Plan. The SCAG analysis includes estimates of 
population, households, and employment in each Traffic Analysis Zone (TAZ) in their study area8. 

 Additional analysis of vacancy rates was performed to estimate baseline and projected housing 
units for the study area, including housing units used by seasonal residents and other part-time 
uses. 

 Future estimates of employment were used to drive future growth in Commercial, Industrial, and 
Institutional (CII) demands 

 Five years of customer billing data (from July 2014 through June 2019) were used to develop unit 
demand factors. These factors have units of gallons per housing unit for residential and 
landscape uses and gallons per employee for CII uses. 

 Water losses were estimated using water loss audits. 
 Demands were adjusted for two types of conservation savings: 

o Indoor passive conservation savings from the natural replacement of indoor devices such 
as toilets, showerheads, clothes washers, and dishwashers. 

o Outdoor conservation savings from the implementation of the 2015 Model Water 
Efficiency Landscape Ordinance (MWELO) for future developments. 

Estimates of future demand are shown in Table 6-7. 

 

Table 6-7. DWR 4-2R Projected Demands for Water (AF) 
- 

Additional 
Description 

Actual 
Use 

Projected Water Use 

Use Type 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Single Family   15,488 17,305 18,180 19,008 19,770 20,342 

Multi-Family   1,705 1,716 1,738 1,777 1,841 1,944  

Commercial / Industrial / 
Institutional 

  
8,881 10,292 10,687 11,084 11,245 11,407 

Landscape   3,410 3,739 3,885 4,032 4,185 4,337 

Other   0 2 2 3 3 3 

Losses Non-revenue 3,020 2,474 2,570 2,660 2,750 2,832 

Non-Potable 
Whitewater 
River 

703 700 700 700 700 700 

- Total 33,207 36,228 37,762 39,264 40,494 41,565 

 

The estimated water savings due to codes and standards are included in the estimated demands in Table 
6-7. Those estimated savings were quantified in the draft Indio Subbasin Alternative Plan and are presented 
in Table 6-8. 

 

 

 

8 An overview of the demographic and growth forecast is available at 
https://scag.ca.gov/sites/main/files/file-attachments/0903fconnectsocal_demographics-and-growth-
forecast.pdf?1606001579 

Page 1027

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-12 

Table 6-8. Estimated Water Savings Due to Passive Conservation 

Type 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Indoor Passive Savings (AFY) 131 335 464 563 642 707 

Outdoor Passive Savings (AFY) 509 872 1,228 1,575 1,838 2,072 

Total Passive Savings (AFY) 640 1,207 1,692 2,138 2,480 2,779 

 

Gross water use including projected recycled water demands are shown in Table 6-9. 

 

Table 6-9. DWR 4-3R Total Gross Water Use 

- 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Potable and Raw Water (AFY) 
From DWR Table 4-1R and 4-2R 

33,207 36,228 37,762 39,264 40,494 41,565 

Recycled Water Demand (AFY) 
From DWR Table 6-4R 

3,649 3,413 3,413 3,413 3,413 3,413 

Total Water Use (AFY) 36,856 39,641 41,175 42,677 43,907 44,978 

 

6.4.3    Worksheets and Reporting Tables 

DWA has completed the required UWMP submittal tables and included them in Appendix D of this RUWMP. 

6.4.4    Water Use for Lower Income Households 

DWA has a civic and legal responsibility to provide for the water-related health and safety of the community. 
DWA’s main objective is to provide its customers with an adequate and reliable supply of high-quality water 
to meet present and future needs in an environmentally and economically responsible manner. 

Residential sector water use projections herein include all households, regardless of income level, and 
residential accounts are not subdivided into income-specific categories. 

DWA does not give priority to one residential area over another; therefore, all residential customers are 
served equally during water shortage emergencies in terms of service and delivery. DWA does not deny 
service to non-delinquent accounts. Additionally, DWA has established a fund to assist low-income 
customers in paying their water bills. 

The water use projections set forth in Table 6-7 include projected water use for lower-income households. 
Water use priority does not differ based on income level but is classified by the type of use.  

6.4.5    Climate Change Considerations 

A discussion of potential climate change impacts on demands is presented in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

Page 1028

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-13 

 SB X7-7 Baseline and Targets 

DWA’s methods for calculating baseline and target water consumption values are described in this section. 
This section also documents DWA’s compliance with the 2020 Urban Water Use Target. 

6.5.1    Wholesale Suppliers 

DWA is not a wholesale supplier, and therefore this section is not applicable. 

6.5.2    SB X7-7 Forms and Tables 

DWA calculated baseline water use and targets in its 2015 UWMP. Since that time, DWA has obtained 
more accurate information to estimate its service area population. Therefore, DWA is recalculating its 
baseline water use and compliance target in this plan. 

6.5.3    Baseline and Target Calculations for 2020 UWMPs 

DWA calculated service area population for its baseline period and calculated an updated compliance target 
for 2020. The calculations are documented on the standard DWR SB X7-7 tables included in Appendix E 
and are summarized here. 

6.5.4    Service Area Population and Gross Water Use 

DWA calculated permanent population within its service area using the DWR population tool. DWA then 
added an equivalent population to represent the seasonal population of “snow birds” and visitors. 

The methodology for estimating seasonal population is described in Section 6.3.  This methodology was 
reviewed and approved in advance by DWR. 

DWA’s gross water use was obtained from water production records.   

6.5.5    2020 Compliance Daily Per Capita Water Use (GPCD) 

The average use during the baseline period and the confirmed target are shown in Table 6-10. 

 

Table 6-10. DWR 5-1R Baselines and Targets Summary 

Baseline Period 
Start 
Year 

End 
Year 

Average Baseline 
Use (GPCD) 

Confirmed 2020 
Target (GPCD) 

10-15 Year 1996 2005 593 474 

5 Year 2004 2008 603  

All values are in Gallons per Capita per Day (GPCD) 

 

DWA’s actual water use in 2020 was below the confirmed target, as shown in Table 6-11. 

 

Page 1029

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-14 

Table 6-11. DWR 5-2R 2020 Compliance 

Actual 
2020 

Optional Adjustments to 2020 Use 
2020 Confirmed 
Target (GPCD) 

Supplier Achieved 
Targeted Reduction 

in 2020 Use 
(GPCD) 

Total 
Adjustments 

Adjusted 
2020 Use (GPCD) 

405 0 405 474 Yes 

All values are in Gallons per Capita per Day (GPCD) 

 

Although the water use targets set forth herein have been met and surpassed, DWA will continue to 
implement the Demand Management Measures described later in this chapter. DWA’s commitment to 
educating the public on the water supply and water conservation have had a positive impact on 
conservation throughout its service area. Therefore, DWA plans to continue and expand these measures 
as opportunities arise. 

6.5.6    Regional Alliance 

DWA is complying with SB X7-7 requirements as an individual retail agency and is not participating in a 
Regional Alliance. 

 Water Supply Characterization 

This section describes the water supplies currently available to DWA and those planned for the 25-year 
planning period. 

6.6.1    Water Supply Analysis Overview 

In the 1920s and 1930s, the area’s municipal water supply was derived entirely from creek diversions 
(surface water). Currently, DWA’s sources of supply include groundwater produced by their potable water 
supply wells, surface water diverted from creeks in the San Jacinto Mountains and Whitewater River, 
imported State Water Project (SWP) water exchanged for Colorado River water, and recycled water (for 
irrigation use). As described in the Desert Water Agency Domestic Water System General Plan 2008 (2008 
General Plan), all imported water is used to replenish or recharge the Coachella Valley Groundwater Basin, 
particularly the Indio and Mission Creek Subbasins, and subsequently the Garnet Hill Subarea. 

6.6.2    Supply Characterization 

This discussion includes the types of water supply considered by DWR. 

6.6.2.1    Purchased or Imported Water 

Colorado River water has been and continues to be exchanged for State Water Project water per the 2019 
and prior Exchange Agreements among DWA, CVWD, and MWD. State Water Project water consists of 
DWA’s apportionment of its Table A allocation, Article 21 surplus water allocation (when available), and 
other surplus water acquired and conveyed through the State Water Project.  

More information about DWA’s use of State Water Project water is included in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

Page 1030

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-15 

6.6.2.2    Groundwater 

DWA extracts groundwater comprising natural recharge, non-consumptive return, and groundwater from 
storage. Net natural replenishment for the Indio Subbasin is described in the 2010 Update to the Coachella 
Valley Water Management Plan. “Groundwater from storage” is continued groundwater extraction required 
to meet demands in addition to natural and imported supplies. 

Non-consumptive return to the aquifer is estimated to be 29 to 35 percent of groundwater and surface water 
produced and used but not consumed. 

Groundwater pumped by DWA over the past five years is summarized in Table 6-12. 

 

Table 6-12. DWR 6-1R Groundwater Volume Pumped (AFY) 

Groundwater Type Location or Basin Name 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Alluvial Basin Indio Subbasin 28,559 31,316 32,135 28,371 31,812 

 

6.6.2.3    Surface Water 

DWA has rights to divert surface water from local streams tributary to the Whitewater River. Surface water 
sources are secured from Snow and Falls Creeks, Chino Creeks North and West, and the Whitewater River. 
The creeks are all tributary to the Whitewater River. DWA’s surface water diversions are used for municipal 
water service or agriculture.  

Per State Water Resources Control Board Water Rights Division Licenses 2292 and 8226, DWA is 
permitted to divert 5.5 cubic feet per second (cfs) from Snow Creek and 1.5 cfs from Falls Creek per license 
3097, for a total of 7.0 cfs from both creeks combined. Under the Whitewater River Adjudication Decree, 
Case No. 18035, dated September 28, 1938, DWA has the right to divert 2 cfs from Chino Creek. 

In 2009, DWA acquired water rights for the diversion of Whitewater River water from the Whitewater Mutual 
Water Company (WMWC) through stock purchase agreements with stockholders. Therefore, the water 
previously diverted by WMWC is now incorporated into DWA’s supply. WMWC has diverted Whitewater 
River water pursuant to its adjudicated stream rights (Whitewater River Adjudication Decree, dated 
September 28, 1938). DWA now continues to use that right, which is 10 cfs with a priority date of September 
19, 1913. 

The diversion at Chino Creek North was taken out of service in 2000 due to turbidity spikes in the source 
water, and it cannot be restored to potable service without filtration. Water that had been historically diverted 
from Chino Creek North now infiltrates the creek bed below the diversion, recharging the groundwater 
basin. DWA continues to monitor the water quality of Chino Creek North to determine when it may be put 
back into service. 

Average annual surface water diversions are assumed to increase from 2,630 AFY in 2020 to 6,000 AFY 
in 2035. 

6.6.2.4    Stormwater 

DWA is involved in regional efforts to identify opportunities to cost-effectively capture stormwater for 
potential beneficial use. 

 

Page 1031

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-16 

6.6.2.5    Wastewater and Recycled Water 

The City of Palm Springs maintains a sanitary sewer collection system consisting of approximately 250 
miles of gravity sewer pipe within city limits. DWA is responsible for providing wastewater collection service 
within portions of Cathedral City and unincorporated Riverside County. 

The use of recycled water plays a key role in DWA’s resource management as it serves to conserve and 
protect the valuable groundwater and surface water supplies for potable uses. In 1988, DWA and the City 
of Palm Springs (CPS) entered into an agreement to treat wastewater. Under the agreement, the City 
provides primary and secondary treatment at the City of Palm Springs Wastewater Treatment Plant (CPS 
WWTP), after which the secondary effluent is piped to DWA’s Recycled Water Treatment Facility for tertiary 
treatment or to a collection of percolation ponds for recharge back into the groundwater basin. 

In 1989, DWA constructed its Recycled Water Treatment Facility (RWTF) with an initial capacity of 5.0 
million gallons per day (MGD). The facility was expanded in 1995 to its present capacity of 10.0 MGD 
(ultimate capacity of 15.0 MGD). DWA’s recycled water system facilities consist of the RWTF, two booster 
pumping plants, and transmission pipelines. 

When secondary effluent is available to the RWTF, DWA treats it to tertiary standards and delivers it to 
existing customers. At times of high demand, particularly in the summer months, DWA has the ability to 
supplement the recycled water supply with non-potable water from shallow groundwater wells, and/or 
potable water in rare circumstances. Secondary effluent from the CPS WWTP that is not needed to meet 
recycled water demands is diverted to percolation ponds, where it infiltrates back into the groundwater 
subbasin at an average rate of approximately 2,000 AFY. Presently, DWA’s RWTF treats over half of the 
secondary effluent available from the CPS WWTP in the winter months and all of the secondary effluent 
available during the summer. DWA’s current recycled water customer base does not require the full capacity 
of the CPS WWTP to meet their recycled water demands during the winter months. 

The supply of recycled water is limited by the quantity of raw wastewater flowing into the CPS WWTP. 
Water conservation appears to have impacted the quantity of wastewater generated within DWA’s service 
area. Also, the City is near buildout and future quantities of wastewater are unlikely to exceed current 
quantities by any significant margin. With limited wastewater available for treatment and use as recycled 
water, there is limited potential for expanding recycled water use within DWA’s service area. 

Portions of DWA’s wastewater collection system within areas of Cathedral City that have been developed 
since 1980 are located at a lower elevation than the CPS WWTP; therefore, wastewater from these areas 
must be pumped and piped to the neighboring CVWD wastewater collection system for treatment and 
disposal. Both DWA and the City of Cathedral City are involved in planning for wastewater collection 
systems to serve any remaining areas that are currently served by septic systems. 

In 2014, DWA constructed two non-potable, shallow groundwater wells (1,200 gallons per minute [gpm] 
capacity each) that are intended to extract shallow, low-quality groundwater to supplement recycled water 
demands in the summer months in-lieu of potable water. Production at these two wells began in early 2015 
and has completely replaced potable water as a supplement to meet recycled water demands within DWA’s 
service area. It is estimated that approximately 500 AFY of supplemental water is required to meet existing 
recycled water demands, primarily in the summer. Production from the shallow groundwater wells can 
potentially recover 100 percent of the 2,000 AFY of secondary effluent that is discharged to the percolation 
ponds. 

The recycled water produced by DWA’s RWTF is approved for all uses, except drinking, by the State Water 
Resources Control Board. To help demonstrate the positive effects of using recycled water, DWA’s 
Operations Center and RWTF are both irrigated with recycled water. The CPS Demuth Park and several 
Palm Springs golf courses are also irrigated with recycled water, among other locations within DWA’s 
service area. 

Currently, all recycled water produced by DWA’s facility is utilized for non-potable irrigation purposes. Other 
uses for recycled water could be developed; however, due to the large quantities of water required for 
irrigation within DWA’s boundaries, it is prudent to assume that the predominant use will continue to be for 
irrigation. Irrigation use also has the highest potential for conserving valuable groundwater. 

Page 1032

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-17 

Due to the fact that the use of recycled water does not change the nature of consumptive water use, use 
of recycled water is considered herein to have a negligible effect on the assumed rate of non-consumptive 
return to the aquifer based on the total groundwater and surface water production. However, increased 
recycled water use can help offset the use of other sources (such as pumped groundwater) to meet total 
demand and improve water quality. DWA is active exploring new recycled water connections. 

Information about wastewater collected within the DWA service area is summarized in Table 6-13, and 
information about treatment is provided in Table 6-14. 

The 2020 use of recycled water and projected future use is presented in Table 6-15. The actual use in 2020 
is compared to the projections from the 2015 UWMP in Table 6-16. 

 

 

Page 1033

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-18 

Table 6-13. DWR 6-2R Wastewater Collected within Service Area in 2020 

Wastewater Collection Recipient of Collected Wastewater 

Name of Wastewater 
Collection Agency 

Wastewater Volume 
Metered or Estimated 

Wastewater Volume Collected 
from UWMP Service Area in 2020 

(AFY) 

Name of Wastewater Agency 
Receiving Collected Wastewater 

Wastewater Treatment 
Plant Name 

Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Located within UWMP Area 

WWTP Operation Contracted 
to a Third Party 

City of Palm Springs Metered 5,004 City of Palm Springs Palm Springs WWTP Yes Yes 

Desert Water Agency Estimated 1,300 CVWD WRP-10 No No 

- Total 6,304         

 

 

Table 6-14. DWR 6-3R Wastewater Treatment and Discharge within Service Area in 2020 
-       2020 Volumes (AFY) 

Wastewater 
Treatment Plant Name 

Discharge 
Location Name 

or Identifier 

Discharge 
Location 

Description 

Wastewater 
Discharge ID 

Number 

Method of 
Disposal 

Plant Treats 
Wastewater 

Generated Outside 
the Service Area 

Treatment Level 

Wastewater 
Treated 

Discharged 
Treated 

Wastewater 

Recycled 
Within 

Service Area 

Recycled 
Outside of 

Service Area 

Instream Flow 
Permit 

Requirement 

Palm Springs WWTP     7A330114012 Percolation Pond No Secondary 5,004 2,813 2,195 0 0 

DWA RWTF     7A330132001   No Tertiary     3,649 0 0 

-           Total 5,004 2,813 3,649   

 

 

 

Page 1034

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-19 

 

Table 6-15. DWR 6-4R Recycled Water Within Service Area in 2020 
Name of Supplier Producing (Treating) the Recycled Water Desert Water Agency 

Name of Supplier Operating the Recycled Water Distribution System Desert Water Agency 

Supplemental Volume of Water Added in 2020 (AF) 1,454 

Source of 2020 Supplemental Water Shallow groundwater wells and potable water 

Beneficial Use Type 
Potential Beneficial Uses of 

Recycled Water 

Amount of 
Potential Uses 

of Recycled 
Water 

General Description 
of 2020 Uses 

Level of Treatment 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Landscape Irrigation (excludes golf courses)      Tertiary 739 740 740 740 740 740 

Golf Course Irrigation       Tertiary 2,910 2,673 2,673 2,673 2,673 2,673 

Commercial Use                     

Industrial Use                     

Geothermal and Other Energy Production                     

Seawater Intrusion Barrier                     

Recreational Impoundment                     

Wetlands or Wildlife Habitat                     

Groundwater Recharge                     

Surface Water Augmentation                     

Direct Potable Reuse                     

-       Total 3,649 3,413 3,413 3,413 3,413 3,413 

 

 

 

Page 1035

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-20 

Table 6-16. DWR 6-5R Recycled Water Use Projection Compared to Actual 

Use Type 
2015 Projection for 2020 

(AFY) 
2020 Actual 
Use (AFY) 

Agricultural Irrigation     

Landscape Irrigation (excludes golf courses) 6,100 739 

Golf Course Irrigation   2,910 

Commercial Use     

Industrial Use     

Geothermal and Other Energy Production     

Seawater Intrusion Barrier     

Recreational Impoundment     

Wetlands or Wildlife Habitat     

Groundwater Recharge (IPR)*     

Surface Water Augmentation (IPR)     

Direct Potable Reuse     

Total 6,100 3,649 

 

DWA offers the following incentives to encourage recycled water use within its service area: 

 Favorable Rates – DWA's rates for providing recycled water to its customers are approximately 
one-half of its rates for providing potable water. 

 Cost-Sharing – DWA participates in the cost of constructing offsite water recycling facilities. 
 Technical Assistance – DWA provides technical assistance to its recycled water customers at no 

charge. 
 Reliability Guarantee – DWA guarantees its recycled water service reliability (with qualifying 

statements), even during water supply shortages (excluding disaster conditions). In the event that 
DWA is unable to provide recycled water, it will supply shallow groundwater or potable water to its 
recycled water customers. 

 Cost-Comparisons – DWA provides potential recycled water customers with a comparison of the 
costs of using recycled water for irrigation versus the costs of constructing and operating a private 
water well, including costs associated with groundwater replenishment assessments. 

Historically, the favorable rates for recycled water have been the primary incentive for customers with large 
landscaped areas to use recycled water in lieu of potable water for irrigation. DWA has experienced 
challenges with its recycled water distribution system with one of its largest recycled water customers going 
offline in 2020. The Agency is looking for possible new connections to replace that demand. 

6.6.2.6    Desalinated Water Opportunities 

DWA does not have direct access to ocean water or a significant quantity of brackish groundwater. There 
is a limited and questionable supply of brackish water at the downstream (lower or southeasterly) end of 
the Mission Creek Subbasin; however, extraction of such brackish groundwater would deplete the same 
groundwater subbasin from which usable groundwater is extracted. At this time, DWA has no plans to 
extract and treat any brackish water, and desalinated water is not a potential source of water supply for 
DWA. 

Page 1036

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-21 

6.6.2.7    Water Exchanges and Transfers 

DWA currently exchanges its SWP water with MWD for water from the Colorado River Aqueduct.  DWA 
continues to explore additional opportunities to obtain supplemental sources through transfers or 
exchanges with other suppliers. 

6.6.2.8    Future Water Projects 

DWA and CVWD are always exploring possible future joint water supply projects to increase water supply 
for the Coachella Valley. DWA and CVWD will continue efforts to secure additional water supplies from the 
State Water Project or other sources. 

DWA has made investments in the Sites Reservoir and Delta Conveyance Facility, two projects that would 
increase reliability of SWP supplies. Increased groundwater replenishment with SWP Exchange water 
would help with groundwater basin management objectives. However, the water would not be used to meet 
urban demands directly; the water would be used for groundwater replenishment. Therefore, these projects 
are not identified in this report as increasing urban supply. 

6.6.2.9    Summary of Existing and Planned Sources of Water 

DWA’s sources of supply used in 2020 are summarized in Table 6-17. DWA’s anticipated future supplies 
are shown in Table 6-18. 

 

Table 6-17. DWR 6-8R Actual Water Supplies 

-   2020 

Water Supply 
Additional Detail 
on Water Supply 

Actual 
Volume 
(AFY) 

Water Quality 

Groundwater Indio Subbasin 31,812 Drinking water 

Surface water Chino Creek 12.98 Drinking water 

Surface water Snow Creek 678.59 Drinking water 

Surface water Whitewater River 703.11 Non Potable 

Recycled water DWA RTF 3,649 Recycled water 

- Total 33,207   

 

  

Page 1037

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-22 

Table 6-18. DWR 6-9 R Projected Water Supplies 
-   Projected Water Supply (AFY) 

-   2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Water Supply 

Additional 
Detail on 
Water 
Supply 

Reasonably 
Available 
Volume 

Reasonably 
Available 
Volume 

Reasonably 
Available 
Volume 

Reasonably 
Available 
Volume 

Reasonably 
Available 
Volume 

Surface water 

Chino Creek, 
Snow Creek, 
Falls Creek, 
Whitewater 
River 

2,630 2,630 6,000 6,000 6,000 

Groundwater 
Indio 
Subbasin 

33,598 35,132 33,264 34,494 35,565 

Recycled water  3,413 3,413 3,413 3,413 3,413 

- Total 39,641 41,175 42,677 43,907 44,978 

 

 

6.6.2.10    Special Considerations 

Although groundwater is a relatively resilient water supply with respect to climate change, long periods of 
drought/dry weather may reduce the availability of imported water for groundwater recharge. Climate 
change may more directly impact the availability of imported water to DWA in future years. A more detailed 
discussion of potential climate change impacts is presented in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

6.6.3    Submittal Tables Using Optional Planning Tool 

Because supply availability for DWA’s primary supply source does not vary seasonally, DWA has not 
completed the DWR Optional Planning Tool. 

6.6.4    Energy Use 

DWA compiled the total energy use for water management activities during calendar year 2019, the most 
recent year for which complete energy usage data were available. 

The results are shown in Table 6-19. 

 

  

Page 1038

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-23 

 

Table 6-19. Energy Use for Water Management 

Category 
Usage during 

Calendar Year 2019 
Notes 

Potable water (wells, boosters, 
streams, reservoir sites) 

23,075,285 kwh  

Recycled water 1,821,996 kwh 1,075,193 kwh of this amount was 
generated from solar 

Hydropower production 4,581,038 kwh 2,002,601 should be credited to CVWD 

2,578,437 should be credited to DWA 

Solar production 1,615,470 kwh  

 

The energy usage information was used to populate DWR’s standard table for reporting energy use. DWA 
used the Total Utility Approach to estimate the energy intensity of its water management operations. The 
results are shown in Table 6-20. 

 

  

Page 1039

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-24 

 

Table 6-20. DWR O-1B Energy Intensity Reporting 
Table O-1B: Recommended Energy Reporting - Total Utility Approach  

Enter Start Date for Reporting 
Period 

1/1/2019 Urban Water Supplier Operational Control 

End Date 12/31/2019 

Is upstream embedded in the 
values reported? 
 

 No Sum of All Water 
Management 

Processes 

Non-Consequential 
Hydropower  

Water Volume Units Used AF Total Utility  Hydropower Net Utility  

 Volume of Water Entering Process (volume unit) 29,546 0 29,546 

Energy Consumed (kWh) 23,075,285 -2,578,437 20,496,848 

Energy Intensity (kWh/volume) 781.0 0.0 693.7 
 

Quantity of Self-Generated Renewable Energy 

1,615,470 kWh 

Data Quality (Estimate, Metered Data, Combination of Estimates and Metered Data) 

Combination of Estimates and Metered Data 
 

Data Quality Narrative  

Energy use data was obtained from electricity consumption records maintained by the agency. 

Narrative 

The agency uses energy for groundwater production from wells, pumping at booster stations from lower 
pressure zones to higher pressure zones, and treatment processes. 

 

 Water Service Reliability and Drought Risk Assessment 

The California Urban Water Management Planning Act (Act) requires urban water suppliers to assess water 
supply reliability that compares total projected water use with the expected water supply over the next 20 
to 25 years in five-year increments. The Act also requires an assessment for a single dry year and multiple 
dry years. This chapter presents the reliability assessment for DWA’s service area. 

6.7.1    Reliability Overview 

It is the goal of DWA to deliver a reliable and high-quality water supply to its customers, even during dry 
periods. 

Several of DWA's surface water diversions are occasionally taken out of service due to water quality. In the 
summer months Snow and Falls Creeks are subject to high levels of coliform bacteria and therefore require 

Page 1040

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-25 

additional disinfection. In 2020, DWA completed construction of a surface water filtration plant to filter water 
from Snow and Falls Creek. 

Constraints on DWA's groundwater supplies resulting from water quality include those that could result from 
high concentrations of nitrate and uranium in the groundwater. DWA's Well 19 was taken out of service as 
a result of high nitrate concentrations in the underlying groundwater, which are caused by discharges from 
septic systems in the area. As a result of the high nitrate concentrations, Well 19 remains inoperable, and 
groundwater in the vicinity of the well is unusable. 

Additionally, several of DWA's wells, namely Wells 9, 14, 16, and 43, are intermittently inoperable due to 
high levels of uranium in the groundwater. 

6.7.2    Water Service Reliability Assessment 

Water has played, and will continue to play, a vital role in the development of the Palm Springs area, a 
world-renowned resort destination community. A reliable, abundant, high-quality water supply is the most 
important factor in the economic sustainability and growth of the Palm Springs area. DWA's goal is to 
provide its customers with an adequate and reliable supply of high-quality water to meet present and future 
needs in an environmentally and economically responsible manner. 

Since 1973, DWA has been using Colorado River water exchanged for SWP water to replenish groundwater 
in the Indio Subbasin. As a state water contractor, DWA is susceptible to the uncertainty of supply and 
delivery from the SWP and the Delta due to legal, environmental, and climatic restrictions. 

Due to DWA's reliance on local groundwater sources and its ability to secure imported water for storage 
within the Indio Subbasin, short-term drought situations have historically had a negligible effect on DWA's 
ability to supply water to its customers. DWA will continue to request the maximum allocation from the SWP 
and will obtain and store as much available water as possible to prevent supply deficiencies and to preserve 
the groundwater basin. 

The majority of DWA's service area depends exclusively on groundwater, while the northwestern portion of 
the service area is supplied by a mix of groundwater and surface water. Since the surface water sources 
are fed with water originating in the local mountains, they are inherently more susceptible to seasonal 
variation and drought conditions. A small group of relatively isolated single-family, minimally-landscaped 
residences (i.e., Snow Creek Village) are supplied solely with surface water. If delivery of surface water to 
these residences was interrupted or reduced, demand could be met in the interim through stored water in 
reservoirs dedicated to those areas. In the unlikely event that water became unavailable in those areas, a 
water supply would have to be trucked in from elsewhere within DWA's water system. 

DWA's water system has the potential to be affected by earthquakes, power outages, floods, and other 
potentially devastating occurrences; therefore, emergency preparedness planning is a key part of DWA's 
operations. DWA has coordinated internally with all departments and with other local entities to formulate 
an Emergency Response Plan. The Emergency Response Plan outlines specific courses of action DWA 
personnel will follow in the event of a disaster or a breach in facility security. In the Emergency Response 
Plan, all areas of emergency preparedness are addressed, with emphasis on employee response and 
delivering safe water to DWA's customers as quickly as possible. 

Additionally, many of DWA's 26 aboveground steel reservoirs are equipped with earthquake valves to 
conserve stored water supply in the event of a pipeline break resulting from an earthquake. Additional 
earthquake valve installations will be constructed as funds become available. Aging pipelines are also 
replaced as part of an ongoing mainline replacement program to further enhance the reliability of the 
system. All new facilities are designed taking into consideration the potential for earthquakes, power 
shortages, and flooding potential. 

As required by the Urban Water Management Planning Act, the tables below describe DWA's supply 
reliability and vulnerability during an average (normal) water year, a single dry water year, and multiple dry 
water years. For purposes of this section, a normal water year, a single dry water year, and a multiple dry 
year period are defined below: 

Page 1041

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-26 

 Normal Water Year is defined as a year in the historical sequence that most closely represents 
median runoff levels and patterns. 

 Single Dry Water Year is defined as the lowest annual runoff for a watershed. 
 Multiple Dry Water Year Period is defined as the lowest average runoff for a consecutive multiple 

year period (five years or more). 

DWA's water supply is not directly affected by short-term fluctuations in hydrology (i.e. drought conditions), 
since approximately 95 percent of DWA's water supply consists of groundwater and recycled water. The 
challenges that DWA faces are long-term in nature, as opposed to short-term shortage situations, due to 
the large supply of stored ("banked") groundwater. While there is sufficient groundwater in storage to 
weather short-term droughts, it will not sustain the current population indefinitely due to the limited quantities 
of natural recharge. Continued water importation, water recycling, water conservation, and long-range 
planning are necessary to meet current and future water demands without depleting the groundwater in 
storage. 

6.7.2.1    Water Quality Impacts on Reliability 

DWA exchanges its Table A allocations of State Water Project water with MWD for Colorado River water 
to augment the Indio Subbasin. Colorado River water is generally of good quality; however, Colorado River 
water has a higher total dissolved solids (TDS) concentration (greater than 500 milligrams per liter) than 
native groundwater (less than 500 milligrams per liter). 

TDS consist of minerals and salts dissolved in water, typically resulting from the erosion of natural deposits, 
and TDS concentration is often viewed as an indicator of water quality. The Division of Drinking Water has 
established a secondary maximum contaminant level (MCL) of 1,000 milligrams per liter for TDS, with a 
recommended level of 500 milligrams per liter. The MCL for TDS concentration is a secondary drinking 
water standard, meaning that TDS is regulated on the basis of customer acceptance rather than on the 
basis of public health. Regulations of TDS concentrations could affect the reliability of DWA's water supply. 

DWA is working with other parties to update the regional Salt-Nutrient Management Plan (SNMP) for 
Regional Water Quality Control Board approval. Through this collaboration, DWA hopes to achieve long-
term salinity management strategies that are protective of both water quality and quantity. 

Due to ammonium perchlorate contamination from manufacturing facilities in Nevada, perchlorate has been 
detected in Colorado River water. Perchlorate is a substance that can be either naturally occurring or man-
made. Currently, perchlorate is a regulated contaminant with a State MCL of 6 micrograms per liter. Within 
DWA's service area, very low levels of perchlorate (<1 microgram per liter) have been detected in nearly 
every well; however, perchlorate concentrations are well below the MCL and are expected to continually 
decrease over time. Capture and treatment of perchlorate contamination began in 1999, and concentrations 
of perchlorate in the Colorado River have been decreasing ever since. The presence of perchlorate in 
Colorado River water is not expected to affect the reliability of DWA's water supply. 

The base years for reliability assessment are shown in Table 6-21. 

 

Table 6-21. DWR 7-1R Basis of Water Year Data 

-   Available Supply if Year Type Repeats 

Year 
Type 

Base 
Year 

Percent of 
Average Supply 

Average Year 2020 100% 

Single-Dry Year 2014 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 1st Year  2012 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 2nd Year 2013 100% 

Page 1042

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-27 

-   Available Supply if Year Type Repeats 

Year 
Type 

Base 
Year 

Percent of 
Average Supply 

Consecutive Dry Years 3rd Year 2014 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 4th Year 2015 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 5th Year  2016 100% 

 

The anticipated supplies and demands during a normal year are shown in Table 6-22. 

 

Table 6-22. DWR 7-2R Normal Year Supply and Demand Comparison 

- 
2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Supply Totals (AFY) 
From DWR Table 6-9R 

39,641 41,175 42,677 43,907 44,978 

Demand Totals (AFY) 
From DWR Table 4-3R 

39,641 41,175 42,677 43,907 44,978 

Difference (AFY) 0 0 0 0 0 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for 
long-term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the 
agencies could produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here. 

 

The anticipated supplies and demands during a single dry year are shown in Table 6-23. 

 

Table 6-23. DWR 7-3R Single Dry Year Supply and Demand Comparison 

- 
2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Supply Totals (AFY) 39,641 41,175 42,677 43,907 44,978 

Demand Totals (AFY) 39,641 41,175 42,677 43,907 44,978 

Difference (AFY) 0 0 0 0 0 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for 
long-term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the 
agencies could produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here. 

 

The anticipated supplies and demands during a multiple-dry year period are shown in Table 6-24. 

 

Page 1043

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-28 

Table 6-24. DWR 7-4R Multiple Dry Years Supply and Demand Comparison (AF) 

 -  - 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

First  
Supply Totals (AFY) 39,641 41,175 42,677 43,907 44,978 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 39,641 41,175 42,677 43,907 44,978 

 - Difference (AFY) 0 0 0 0 0 

Second 
Supply Totals (AFY) 39,641 41,175 42,677 43,907 44,978 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 39,641 41,175 42,677 43,907 44,978 

 - Difference (AFY) 0 0 0 0 0 

Third 
Supply Totals (AFY) 39,641 41,175 42,677 43,907 44,978 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 39,641 41,175 42,677 43,907 44,978 

 - Difference (AFY) 0 0 0 0 0 

Fourth 
Supply Totals (AFY) 39,641 41,175 42,677 43,907 44,978 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 39,641 41,175 42,677 43,907 44,978 

 - Difference (AFY) 0 0 0 0 0 

Fifth 
Supply Totals (AFY) 39,641 41,175 42,677 43,907 44,978 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 39,641 41,175 42,677 43,907 44,978 

 - Difference (AFY) 0 0 0 0 0 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for 
long-term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the 
agencies could produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown 
here. 

 

6.7.3    Drought Risk Assessment 

A new reporting requirement for the 2020 UWMP is a five-year Drought Risk Assessment (DRA).  The DRA 
is based on projections of demand and available supply for the next five years. 

Demands are expected to increase to the projected demands for 2025. It is expected that conservation 
messaging and programs will prevent any significant increase in demands among existing customers due 
to dry conditions. The groundwater supply is reliable for a five-year dry period as the volume in storage can 
be drawn down during a dry period. 

The results of the DRA are summarized in Table 6-25. 

  

Page 1044

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-29 

Table 6-25. DWR 7-5 Five-Year Drought Risk Assessment 

2021 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 37,413 
Total Supplies  (AFY) 37,413 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2022 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 37,970 
Total Supplies  (AFY) 37,970 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2023 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 38,527 
Total Supplies  (AFY) 38,527 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2024 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 39,084 
Total Supplies  (AFY) 39,084 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2025 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 39,641 
Total Supplies  (AFY) 39,641 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for long-
term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the agencies could 
produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here. 

 

 Water Shortage Contingency Plan 

Page 1045

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-30 

DWA has developed a Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP) to help manage potential future water 
shortages. The WSCP is being adopted separately from the RUWMP and may be modified as needed 
based on changing conditions. The WSCP is an attachment to this RUWMP. 

 Demand Management Measures 

This section describes the Demand Management Measures (DMMs) implemented by DWA to help increase 
water use efficiency. The sections of this chapter have been arranged to follow the organization 
recommended in the DWR Guidebook 2020. 

6.9.1    Demand Management Measures for Wholesale Suppliers 

Since DWA is not a wholesale supplier, this section is not applicable. 

6.9.2    Existing Demand Management Measures for Retail 

As part of its comprehensive water conservation program, DWA has implemented the DMMs described in 
the following sections. 

6.9.2.1    Water Waste Prevention Ordinances 

On March 1, 2016, DWA adopted Ordinance No. 65: Ordinance of Desert Water Agency Establishing a 
Water Conservation Plan and Restricting the Use of Water During Threatened or Existing Water Shortage 
Conditions, referred to herein as Ordinance No. 65, a copy of which is attached to DWA’s WSCP. 

Ordinance No. 65 was adopted by DWA in response to the continued state of emergency issued by 
Governor Brown resulting from ongoing severe dry conditions throughout California. The provisions of 
Ordinance No. 65 were developed in accordance with the emergency regulations for urban water suppliers 
due to continuing water shortage conditions, adopted by the State Water Resources Control Board on 
March 17, 2015 and May 5, 2015. Water use prohibitions set forth in DWA's Ordinance No. 65 are 
summarized as follows: 

 Washing hardscape, such as driveways, parking lots, and walkways; 
 Vehicle washing without the use of buckets and shut off nozzles on hoses; 
 Serving water in restaurants unless requested; 
 Outdoor irrigation between 7 AM and 7 PM, and on specified days of the week; 
 Use of non-recirculating fountains; 
 Outdoor irrigation of newly constructed homes and buildings without drip or micro-spray systems; 
 Use of potable water to irrigate turf within street medians or public street rights-of-way. 

Additionally, DWA has water waste reporting mechanisms in place by phone and on its website at 
www.dwa.org. 

DWA is developing an updated ordinance to reflect the updated Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP). 

6.9.2.2    Metering 

DWA meters 100 percent of the service connections within its service area and will continue to meter all 
future new connections. Additionally, the Agency is rolling out an advanced metering infrastructure (AMI) 
program over the next several years. DWA hopes to have at least hourly water use data available to 
customers by 2030. In 2021, the US Bureau of Reclamation awarded DWA a $500,000 grant for one phase 
of its AMI rollout. 

6.9.2.3    Conservation Pricing 

Page 1046

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-31 

Desert Water Agency does not implement conservation or tiered rates for water consumption. Water 
charges consist of monthly water rates based on the meter size and a flat water rate per each 100 cubic 
feet. There are currently no plans to implement a tiered rate structure, although the Agency is undergoing 
a new rate study in 2021. The Agency does have a drought rate surcharge that is triggered by a drop in 
overall water consumption and a vote of the Board of Directors. The surcharge applies to every unit of 
water. 

While the Agency has not implemented conservation pricing, it has updated bills with graphics that more 
easily allow a customer to compare their current use to prior use and to understand how their use compares 
to other customers with meters the same size. This information is provided in order to nudge customers 
into more water conscious behavior. 

6.9.2.4    Public Education and Outreach 

Desert Water Agency hosts a monthly information session for customers on a variety of topics, oftentimes 
related to its incentive programs or water saving tips.  

The Agency also has an advertising budget, is active on social media and invests in the regional CV Water 
Counts conservation outreach program. Part of the regional program also includes a “Water Counts 
Academy,” which affords local residents an opportunity to learn more about water in our community. 

Desert Water Agency offers classroom curriculum that can be offered in class or remotely for grades 4, 6 
and 10. Additionally, the Agency offers presentations by its staff. 

DWA conducts water audits for large water users, such as homeowners associations and commercial 
properties, at no charge. Audits can be scheduled virtually. Water audits are aimed at providing customers 
with an optimum irrigation schedule, identification of system deficiencies, and suggestions for improving 
system efficiency. 

DWA has several incentive programs in place to encourage installation of water-saving fixtures and 
features. DWA's Smart Irrigation Controller program has been implemented since 2011 and, through 
December of 2020, has resulted in the installation of 2,572 Smart Irrigation Controllers. Smart Irrigation 
Controllers allow customization of watering times based on climate, temperature, and evapotranspiration 
rates. DWA provides the Smart Irrigation Controllers upon request at no cost to the customer; however, 
some customers have chosen to pay for their own controllers. 

DWA launched its turf buy-back program in August 2014. The program was extremely popular during the 
drought and has experienced a resurgence in popularity among single-family residents in 2020. To date, 
the program has issued nearly $3 million in incentives to homeowners associations, businesses and 
residents for replacing grass with a more water savvy option. The program continues to evolve as demands 
and community expectations shift. One key example is allowing back yard and private areas to be converted 
through the program. Additionally, though it was not allowed at the inception of the program, artificial turf is 
now permitted. 

In 2017, Desert Water Agency began an efficient nozzle program. The Agency has incentivized more than 
9,200 efficient nozzles since that time. The efficient rotary nozzles replace traditional spray sprinklers for 
grass areas. Customers can also replace water intensive adjustable bubblers for pressure compensating 
bubblers for trees and shrubs.  

In September of 2019, DWA launched a residential washing machine incentive to replace its popular toilet 
rebate program. The reason for ending the toilet program was that nearly every toilet model available on 
the market met efficiency standards so the savings opportunities were limited. The conservation team saw 
an opportunity to realize savings by encouraging consumers to select water-efficient washing machines 
since there were still more water-intensive, less expensive models readily available. From when the 
program began through 2020, the Agency has provided incentives for more than 200 washing machines. 

6.9.2.5    Programs to Assess and Manage Distribution System Real Losses 

DWA informs customers of possible leaks at their properties when there is excessive consumption 
compared to prior use. DWA meters all customer connections and water used for construction purposes 

Page 1047

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-32 

through fire hydrants. DWA also keeps records of water used for other purposes, such as city street washing 
and firefighting. These are all components of annual Water Loss Reports submitted to the State Water 
Resources Control Board. 

DWA funds an aggressive water main replacement program. Leaks are repaired as soon as they are 
discovered in order to prevent damage and waste of water. All leaks are tracked on maps and through a 
pipeline inventory computer program. Mains with a history of leaks are prioritized and budgeted for 
replacement. 

In addition, DWA has instructions and videos on its website (at www.dwa.org/checkforleaks) showing 
customers how to check for leaks on their properties by turning off all water fixtures and reading their water 
meters. 

6.9.2.6    Water Conservation Program Coordination and Staffing Support 

DWA's Outreach & Conservation Department is responsible for public education and outreach. Outreach & 
Conservation Department staff create and distribute digital and printed materials, such as bill inserts and 
fliers that educate and inform the public about water conservation methods and current incentives and 
programs. Staff also manage DWA's conservation programs, including incentives, school curriculum, public 
educational programs, and continuous dialog with community stakeholders. 

6.9.2.7    Other Demand Management Measures 

DWA's Hospitality Conservation Program is aimed at helping local hotels reduce their water use. This 
program is free for hotels and provides room cards, door hangers, and pillow cards that allow guests to 
voluntarily reuse towels and choose when to have their sheets changed. Additionally, there is water 
conservation material in the “house guidebooks” for many of the vacation rental properties. 

6.9.3    Implementation of DMMs 

The details of implementation over the past five years are discussed in the previous sections for the 
applicable DMMs. 

Due to our community’s continued investment in using less water with the help of DWA programs, the 2020 
water use target set forth in its 2010 UWMP was achieved ahead of schedule. The water use targets are 
described in further detail in Section 5. DWA plans to maintain, or further reduce, its per capita water use 
through the continued implementation of its existing and potential future water conservation programs. 

6.9.4    Water Use Objectives (Future Requirements) 

Updated water use objectives are being developed for water suppliers to meet the requirements of the 
CWC. The final water use objectives for DWA have not yet been determined. The DMMs described in this 
section are expected to align with DWA’s efforts to comply with these objectives when they are finalized. 

 Plan Adoption, Submittal, and Implementation 

This section includes a discussion of DWA’s process for adopting, submitting, and implementing the 
RUWMP and DWA’s WSCP. 

6.10.1    Inclusion of All 2020 Data 

This report was prepared on a calendar-year basis and includes all water data for the year 2020. 

Page 1048

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-33 

6.10.2    Notice of Public Hearing 

DWA is a retail water supplier and has actively encouraged community participation in its urban water 
management planning efforts since its first UWMP was developed in 1985. Public meetings were held on 
the 1985, 1990, 1995, 2000, 2005, 2010, and 2015 UWMPs. 

Notice of the public hearing for adoption of this 2020 RUWMP and DWA’s WSCP was provided to the City 
of Palm Springs, the City of Cathedral City, and the County of Riverside, as shown in Table 6-26. Copies 
of the notices are included in Appendix B. 

Subsequent notices were provided with the date and time of the public hearing, and the location where the 
draft report could be reviewed. 

Prior to the public hearing and in accordance with California Government Code §6066, DWA provided 
notice to the public through its website and published announcements of the public hearing in the 
newspaper on two occasions before the hearing. Copies of the proof of publication are included in Appendix 
B of the RUWMP. 

 

Table 6-26. DWR 10-1R Notification to Cities and Counties 
City 60 Day Notice Notice of Public Hearing 

Cathedral City Yes Yes 

Palm Springs Yes Yes 

County 60 Day Notice Notice of Public Hearing 

Riverside Yes Yes 

 

6.10.3    Public Hearing and Adoption 

DWA held a public hearing on June 15, 2021 to receive comments on the draft RUWMP and DWA’s WSCP. 

Copies of the draft RUWMP and WSCP were made available at the front desk of DWA's Operations Center 
during business hours (subject to access restrictions due to the COVID-19 pandemic) and online at 
www.dwa.org/uwmp. All comments received prior to and during the public hearing were taken into 
consideration during preparation of the Final RUWMP and DWA’s WSCP. 

A copy of the adoption resolution for the RUWMP and DWA’s WSCP is included in Appendix H. 

6.10.4    Plan Submittal 

DWA will submit the RUWMP and DWA’s WSCP to DWR, the State Library, and cities and counties within 
DWA’s service area (City of Palm Springs, City of Cathedral City, and County of Riverside) within 30 days 
after adoption. UWMP submittal to DWR will be done electronically through WUEdata, an online submittal 
tool. 

6.10.5    Public Availability 

The Draft RUWMP and DWA’s Draft WSCP were made available to the public for review and comment 
prior to Plan adoption. Within 30 days after adoption, the Final RUWMP and DWA’s WSCP were provided 
to the City of Palm Springs, City of Cathedral City, and County of Riverside and was made available for 
public review online at www.dwa.org/uwmp. 

Page 1049

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

6-34 

Final copies of this UWMP, as well as any adopted amendments, are available for public review online at 
www.dwa.org/uwmp. 

6.10.6    Notification to Public Utilities Commission 

DWA is not regulated by the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) and therefore is not required to 
submit this Plan and Water Shortage Contingency Plan to the CPUC. 

6.10.7    Amending an Adopted UWMP or Water Shortage Contingency Plan 

If DWA amends the adopted RUWMP or DWA’s WSCP, each of the steps for notification, public hearing, 
adoption, and submittal will also be followed for the amended plan. DWA will also notify the other parties to 
this RUWMP. 

 

 

Page 1050

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-1 

 

 

 Introduction 

The Indio Water Authority (IWA) has participated in the Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water 
Management Plan (RUWMP) to meet its reporting requirements for 2020. This chapter describes 
information specific to IWA and its water use efficiency programs. 

Updates to the California Water Code (CWC) for the 2020 reporting cycle are discussed in Chapter 1 of the 
RUWMP. 

7.1.1    Chapter Organization 

This chapter is organized into the sections recommended by the Guidebook prepared by the California 
Department of Water Resources (DWR). 

 Sub-Chapter 1 provides an introduction to the chapter. 
 Sub-Chapter 2 shows details about the preparation of this RUWMP. 
 Sub-Chapter 3 presents information about the service area. 
 Sub-Chapter 4 presents information about current and projected future water demands. 
 Sub-Chapter 5 documents compliance with SB X7-7 through a reduction in per-capita water use. 
 Sub-Chapter 6 presents the current and planned future water supplies. 
 Sub-Chapter 7 assesses the reliability of supplies and presents a comparison of projected future 

supplies and demands. 
 Sub-Chapter 8 discusses the Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP) that will help guide 

actions in case of a future water shortage. 
 Sub-Chapter 9 presents information about Demand Management Measures (DMMs) being 

implemented to encourage efficient water use. 
 Sub-Chapter 10 presents information about the adoption and submittal process for this RUWMP 

and the WSCP. 

7.1.2    UWMPs in Relation to Other Efforts 

The related planning efforts by agencies in the Coachella Valley are described in Chapter 2 of the RUWMP. 

7.1.3    UWMPs and Grant or Loan Eligibility 

The California Water Code (CWC) requires urban water suppliers to have a current UWMP, deemed 
sufficient at addressing the CWC requirements by DWR, on file with DWR in order for the urban water 
suppliers to be eligible for any water management grant or loan administered by DWR.  In addition, the 
UWMP Act requires a retail water agency to meet its 2020 Compliance Urban Water Use Target and report 
compliance in the 2020 UWMP.  

7.1.4    Demonstration of Consistency with the Delta Plan for Participants in Covered Actions 

The participating agencies’ approach to demonstrating reduced reliance on the Delta is described in 
Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

  

Page 1051

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-2 

 Plan Preparation 

This section provides information on IWA’s process for developing this RUWMP, including efforts in 
coordination and outreach. 

7.2.1    Plan Preparation 

IWA is participating in the Coachella Valley Regional UWMP to meet its reporting requirements under the 
UWMP Act. 

7.2.2    Basis for Preparing a Plan 

Public Water Systems (PWSs) are the systems that provide drinking water for human consumption.  These 
systems are regulated by the State Water Resources Control Board (Board), Division of Drinking Water 
(DDW).  IWA has a PWS with more than 3,000 connections and therefore is required to develop and submit 
a UWMP.  Information about IWA’s PWS is summarized in Table 7-1. 

 

Table 7-1.  DWR 2-1R Public Water Systems 

Public Water 
System Number 

Public Water System Name 
Number of Municipal 

Connections 2020 
Volume of Water 

Supplied 2020 (AF) 

CA3310020 Indio Water Authority 23,974 19,880 

- Total 23,974 19,880 

 

7.2.3    Regional Planning 

IWA is participating in the Coachella Valley Regional UWMP with five other water agencies, as described 
in Chapter 2 of the RUWMP. 

7.2.4    Individual or Regional Planning and Compliance 

IWA is reporting on SB X7-7 compliance as an individual agency; a regional alliance was not used.   

7.2.5    Fiscal or Calendar Year and Units of Measure 

IWA does not sell wholesale water and is a retail agency.  This report was prepared using calendar years 
and acre-feet as a measure of water. 

7.2.6    Coordination and Outreach 

IWA has coordinated with other agencies in the development of this plan.  This coordination is described in 
Chapter 2 of the RUWMP.   

IWA does not rely upon water supply from a wholesale agency, as supply is provided exclusively from IWA 
groundwater wells. 

 

Page 1052

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-3 

 System Description 

This section includes a description of the IWA service area including climate and population demographics. 

7.3.1    General Description 

Incorporated in 1930, the City of Indio (City) was the first city in the Coachella Valley.  The City 
encompasses approximately 38 square miles with a sphere of influence that adds approximately 22 square 
miles north of Interstate 10.  The existing land uses include commercial, limited industrial, and residential.  
The majority of land use can be classified as residential, varying in density from equestrian and country 
estates to high-density multi-family dwellings.  The proposed future land uses within the sphere of influence 
include open space, residential, resource recovery, specific plans (assumed mixed use), business park, 
and a small amount of community commercial. 

The Indio Water Authority (IWA) was formed as a Joint Powers Authority in 2000, wholly owned by the City 
and Indio Redevelopment Agency, to be the legislative and policy entity responsible for delivering water to 
residents of the City for all municipal water programs and services.    The City Council serves as the IWA 
five member Board. 

Since the establishment of IWA, service connections have increased from approximately 12,100 to over 
23,000 active meter accounts, with the majority of the new growth occurring north of Interstate 10.  In 2020, 
IWA supplied approximately 20,000 AF of water to businesses and residents.  As one of the fastest growing 
municipal utilities in the Coachella Valley, IWA is committed to maintaining a sustainable water supply for 
its residential and commercial customers. 

IWA extracts groundwater to meet the needs of its existing customer.  The groundwater is drawn from the 
Indio Subbasin and is delivered to the service area via a pressurized distribution system of 326 miles of 
pipe supplied by 10 active wells.  IWA also has emergency intertie connections with Coachella Valley Water 
District (CVWD) and the City of Coachella. 

Since 2005, IWA has established active water conservation, water reuse, and groundwater recharge 
planning efforts to ensure adequate water availability and system capacity to meet the growing needs of 
the City.  These planning efforts include: residential and commercial landscape and irrigation upgrade 
rebates, water audits, water conservation kits, washing machine and toilet rebates, water waster mobile 
app and hotline, budget-tiered rate structure, water conservation workshops, water misuse program, and a 
Memorandum of Understanding between IWA and Valley Sanitation District (VSD) to collaborate in the 
construction of capital improvement projects that support groundwater recharge efforts. 

7.3.2    Service Area Boundary Maps 

IWA’s service area boundary is shown in Figure 7-1. 

 

Page 1053

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-4 

 

Figure 7-1.  IWA Service Area Boundary 
 

Page 1054

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-5 

7.3.3    Service Area Climate 

The climate of the Coachella Valley is arid characterized by low annual rainfall, low humidity, high summer 
temperatures, abundant sunshine, and relatively mild winters.  The average summer high temperature in 
Indio is 103 degrees Fahrenheit (F); the average winter low temperature is 43 degrees F.  Precipitation 
typically occurs during the winter months with an annual mean rainfall of approximately 3.9 inches (in).  

Monthly climate data are summarized in Table 7-2 and are shown in Figure 7-2. 

 

Table 7-2.  Monthly Average Climate Data 
Parameter Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Annual 

Average Max. 
Temperature (F) 

72 75 82 87 93 103 106 106 101 90 80 65 88 

Average Minimum 
Temperature (F) 

42 45 52 58 63 70 76 75 69 59 49 39 58 

Average Total 
Precipitation (in) 

0.5 0.6 0.7 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.4  0.2 0.7 3.8 

Evapotranspiration, 
ETo (in) 

2.7 3.6 6.0 7.7 9.2 9.8 9.7 9.1 7.2 5.2 3.3 2.3 75.7 

Notes: 

Data from California Irrigation Management Information System (CIMIS) Station 200, Indio 2.  Data from May 2006 through 
December 2020 

 

 

 

Figure 7-2.  Monthly Average Climate Data 
 

A discussion of the potential impacts of climate change on the region is included in Chapter 3 of the 
RUWMP. 

0.5 0.6 0.7 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.2 0.7 

2.7 
3.6 

6.0 

7.7 

9.2 
9.8 9.7 

9.1 

7.2 

5.2 

3.3 
2.3 

 -

 20

 40

 60

 80

 100

 120

 -

 2.0

 4.0

 6.0

 8.0

 10.0

 12.0

Te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

 (F
)

Pr
ec

ip
ita

tio
n 

an
d 

ET
o 

(in
)

Precipitation (in) ETo (in) Maximum Air Temperature (F) Minimum Air Temperature (F)

Page 1055

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-6 

7.3.4    Service Area Population and Demographics 

The current population within the service area was estimated using DWR’s population tool.  Projected 
population is based on adopted growth forecasts prepared by the Southern California Association of 
Governments (SCAG). 

The current and projected population within IWA’s service area is presented in Table 7-3.  

 

Table 7-3.  DWR 3-1R Current and Projected Population 

Population Served 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

IWA 78,940 93,762 99,659 105,557 111,454 117,351 

 

An important demographic consideration within the Coachella Valley is that the region has a large seasonal 
population.  Standard DWR water use per capita calculations only consider the permanent population but 
include all water users (permanent and seasonal), leading to higher consumption values in gallon per capita 
per day (GPCD).   

IWA’s service area is located entirely within the City of Indio.  A summary of demographic information for 
the City of Indio is presented in Table 7-4. 

 

Table 7-4.  City of Indio Demographic Data 
Age 

Distribution 
 

Race / Ethnicity 
Distribution 

 
Income and 

Household Size 
 

Household Income 
Distribution 

Age Percent  Race/Ethnicity Percent  Parameter Amount  Income Percent 

19 
years 
and 
under 

23.8%  White 34.7%  Median 
household 
income 

$74,774  $24,999 
and under 

23.4% 

20-34 
years 

19.7%  Black 4.9%  Average 
household 
income 

$93,308  $25,000-
$49,999 

23.7% 

35-54 
years 

21.7%  Native 
American 

0.0%  Per capita 
income 

$33,704  $50,000-
$74,999 

18.8% 

55-64 
years 

12.1%  Asian / Pacific 
Islander 

1.7%  Percent of 
Population 
Below 
Poverty 
Level 

11.3%  $75,000-
$99,999 

11.6% 

Over 
65 
years 

22.7%  Hispanic 57.2%  Average 
Household 
Size 

2.86  $100,000-
$149,999 

12.4% 

   Other 1.4%     $150,000 
and above 

10.2% 

Notes:  Totals may not equal 100% due to rounding errors. 

Reference: American Community Survey 2014-2019 (United States Census Bureau, 2021) 

 

Page 1056

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-7 

7.3.5    Land Uses within Service Area 

Land use jurisdictions within most of IWA’s service area falls to the City of Indio and Riverside County.  
During its preparation of regional growth projections, SCAG gathered input and coordinated outreach with 
both jurisdictions.  IWA has coordinated with these agencies to align its growth projections with local plans. 

 Water Use Characterization 

This section describes historic and current water usage and presents projected future demands within 
IWA’s service area.  Water usage is presented by customer class such as residential, institutional, 
landscape, and other purposes.  Demand projections contain an inherent level of uncertainty and are 
intended to provide a general sense as to water supply requirements for the future.  Demand projections 
are dynamic, often changing as a result of economic, political, and environmental pressures.  Several 
factors can affect demand projections, including: 

 Land use revisions 
 New regulations 
 Consumer choice 
 Economic conditions 
 Transportation needs 
 Highway construction 
 Environmental factors 
 Conservation programs 
 Plumbing codes 

These factors can impact not only the amount of water needed, but also the timing and location of when 
and where it is needed.  Past experience in the City of Indio has indicated that population growth is the 
most influential factor in determining water demand projections.  During the recent economic recession, 
there was a major downturn in development and new construction, consequently reducing projected 
demands for water. 

The projections do account for IWA’s current water conservation efforts, which are projected to continue to 
reduce water demand.  

7.4.1    Non-Potable Versus Potable Water Use 

IWA delivers potable water to its customers. Potential future recycled water supply would be used for 
groundwater replenishment and would not be delivered to customers. 

7.4.2     Past, Current, and Projected Water Use by Sector 

Water use is broken down by sector.  The use sectors are summarized in Table 7-5. 

 

Table 7-5.  Water Use Sectors 
Sector Description 

Single-Family Residential A single-family dwelling unit. A lot with a free-standing building 
containing one dwelling unit that may include a detached secondary 
dwelling. 

Multi-Family Residential Multiple dwelling units contained within one building or several 
buildings in a single complex. 

Commercial A water user that provides or distributes a product or service. 

Page 1057

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-8 

Sector Description 

Landscape Water connections supplying water solely for landscape irrigation.  
Such landscapes may be associated with multi-family, commercial, 
industrial, or institutional/governmental sites, but are considered a 
separate water use sector if the connection is solely for landscape 
irrigation. 

Distribution System Losses Reporting of system losses is required by the CWC in the 2020 
UWMPs. 

Other (Fire Services) Fire services such as hydrant flows are unbilled, authorized uses of 
water. 

Other Other metered water use that is not assigned a specific billing 
category, such as metered construction use, etc. 

 

Non-revenue water is the difference between the water production pumped into the system and the billed 
consumption used by customers.  Non-revenue water includes some authorized non-billed use, like 
firefighting, as well as real and apparent losses from the system. 

IWA currently does not provide any recycled water, and all water served in the IWA service area is potable 
supplied from groundwater basin. 

Distribution system water losses are the real and apparent water losses from the water distribution system 
and the supplier’s storage facilities, up to the point of customer consumption.  IWA has completed annual 
water audits using the American Water Works Association (AWWA) Water Audit Method.  The results from 
the five most recent audits are summarized in Table 7-6.  The audits are included in Appendix G of the 
RUWMP. 

 

Table 7-6. DWR 4-4R 12 Month Water Loss Audit Reporting 

Report Period Start Date 
Volume of Water Loss (AFY) 

MM YYYY 

07 2011 1,705 

07 2016 995 

07 2017 1004 

07 2018 1,176 

07 2019 1,347 

 

The 2020 water use is summarized in Table 7-7. 

  

Page 1058

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-9 

 

Table 7-7.  DWR 4-1R Actual Demands for Water (AFY) 

Use Type 
Additional 

Description 

Level of 
Treatment  

When Delivered 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Single Family   Drinking Water 10,000 10,756 11,095 12,235 10,740 

Multi-Family   Drinking Water 1,498 1,511 1,805 1,918 1,714 

Commercial / 
Institutional 

  Drinking Water 
2,566 2,552 2,821 2,931 2,134 

Industrial   Drinking Water 130 137 142 170 136  

Landscape   Drinking Water 1,923 2,281 2,347 2,459 2,033 

Other 
Non-
Revenue 

Drinking Water 
978 1,055 1,415 (898) 3,122  

-   Total 17,095 18,291 19,624  18,815 19,880 

 

IWA is participating in the update of the Indio Subbasin Alternate Plan Update being prepared to meet 
requirement of the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA).  The participating agencies 
coordinated efforts with demand projections being prepared for the Indio Subbasin Alternative Plan and the 
Mission Creek Subbasin Alternative Plan.  The demand projection approach included several steps: 

 The projections were based on the regional growth forecast prepared by the Southern California 
Association of Governments (SCAG) as part of their regional transportation plan.  SCAG’s most 
recent transportation plan is referred to as Connect SoCal9.  SCAG gathered input from cities and 
counties throughout Southern California about expected growth and development for the next 25 
years and incorporated the land use designations in each jurisdiction’s General Plan.  The SCAG 
analysis includes estimates of population, households, and employment in each Traffic Analysis 
Zone (TAZ) in their study area10. 

 Additional analysis of vacancy rates was performed to estimated baseline and projected housing 
units for the study area, including housing units used by seasonal residents and other part-time 
uses. 

 Future estimates of employment were used to drive future growth in Commercial, Industrial, and 
Institutional (CII) demands 

 Five years of customer billing data were used to develop unit demand factors.  These factors have 
units of gallons per housing unit for residential and landscape uses and gallons per employee for 
CII uses. 

 Water losses were estimated using water loss audits  
 Demands were adjusted for two types of conservation savings: 

o Indoor passive conservation savings from the natural replacement of indoor devices 
o Outdoor conservation savings from the implementation of the Model Water Efficiency 

Landscape Ordinance (MWELO) and agency-specific requirements for future 
developments. 

Estimates of future demand are shown in Table 7-8. 

 

 

9 Information about SoCal Connect available at https://scag.ca.gov/connect-socal 
 
10 A summary of SCAG’s demographic forecast available at https://scag.ca.gov/sites/main/files/file-
attachments/0903fconnectsocal_demographics-and-growth-forecast.pdf?1606001579 
 

Page 1059

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-10 

 

 

Table 7-8.  DWR 4-2R Projected Demands for Water 
- 

Additional 
Description 

Projected Water Use (AFY) 

Use Type 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Single Family   12,790 13,828 14,822 15,532 16,067 

Multi-Family   1,875 1,985 2,135 2,303 2,553 

Commercial / Industrial / 
Institutional 

  
3,113 3,254 3,397 3,468 3,540 

Landscape   5,752 6,171 6,590 6,934 7,277 

Other   5 6 6 6 7 

Losses   1,257 1,348 1,434 1,495 1,553 

- Total 24,792 26,592 28,384 29,738 30,997 

 

Demand projections prepared for this plan considered the incorporation of codes and standards.  The draft 
Indio Subbasin Alternative Plan Update included modeling of anticipated future water savings due to fixture 
replacements.  The analysis included indoor savings related to toilets, showerheads, dishwashers, clothes 
washers, and urinals (categorized as indoor water use) as well as outdoor water use. Indoor conservation 
is mainly a result of government mandated water efficiency requirements for fixtures, defined as “passive 
savings”. The model considers these mandates and the average useful life and replacement rates for each 
type of fixture based on standard industry estimates and plumbing fixture saturation studies.  It assumes 
that all new construction complies with the plumbing codes in effect at that time and that when a device is 
replaced, the new device is also in compliance with the current plumbing codes.  Estimated frequency of 
use for each type of fixture as determined by the Water Research Foundation and American Water Works 
Association Research Foundation were multiplied by the number of housing units to produce the total indoor 
passive conservation savings. 

Anticipated outdoor water use savings were based on the implementation of the California Model Water 
Efficiency Landscape Ordinance (MWELO) which is the standard for outdoor water conservation for the 
state.  The resulting water savings from the MWELO are estimated using an Evapotranspiration Adjustment 
Factor (ETAF) which adjusts the reference ET for plant requirements and irrigation efficiency.  No savings 
were assumed from special landscape areas, such as recreational areas, as these are allotted extra water 
use as well as existing landscapes as these savings are not considered passive since there are incentives 
under conservation programs.  

The anticipated savings due to these measures are summarized in Table 7-9.  These savings have been 
incorporated into the water demand projections presented in Table 7-8. 

 

Table 7-9.  Anticipated Water Savings Due to Conservation (AFY) 
 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Indoor Passive Savings 198 512 714 872 993 1,094 

Outdoor Passive Savings 340 717 1,088 1,449 1,721 1,972 

Total Passive Savings 538 1,229 1,802 2,321 2,714 3,066 

 

 

Page 1060

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-11 

Total gross water use (including expected future recycled water use) is shown in Table 7-10. 

 

Table 7-10.  DWR 4-3R Total Gross Water Use 

- 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Potable and Raw Water (AFY) 
From DWR Table 4-1R and 4-2R 

19,880 24,792 26,592 28,384  29,738  30,997 

Recycled Water Demand (AFY) 
From DWR Table 6-4R 

0 0 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 

Total Water Use 19,880 24,792 31,592 33,384  34,738 35,997 

 

7.4.3    Worksheets and Reporting Tables 

IWA has completed the required UWMP submittal tables and included them in Appendix D of this RUWMP. 

7.4.4    Water Use for Lower Income Households 

California Water Code 10631.1 requires retail urban water suppliers to provide water use projections for 
future single-family and multifamily residential housing needed for lower income households.  These water 
use projections are to assist a supplier in complying with state code which grants priority of the provision of 
service to housing units that is affordable to lower income households. 

The City of Indio 2014-2021 Housing Element (2014) projects needing 1,201 low to extremely low income 
housing units by 2021 that meet the definition of the Southern California Association of Governments 
Regional Housing Needs Assessment Plan.  A similar proportion of future lower income housing units is 
estimated for years 2025 through 2040. 

IWA has summarized the projected water use for lower income households assuming the following: 

1. the average persons per household remains constant at the 2014 level of 3.29 persons per 
household, 

2. lower income housing needs are proportional to the projected population growth, and  
3. daily water use per capita is equal to the 2020 water use target. 

The estimated demand for lower-income households is approximately 1,500 AFY.  This demand has been 
included in the demand projections prepared for this plan. 

7.4.5    Climate Change Considerations 

Increased drought risk as a result of climate change may impact demands in the future.  A combination of 
state- and local-led demand management measures may reduce demand for irrigation via landscape 
ordinances, while public outreach and education can lead to reductions in water demands through 
conservation measures.  

A more detailed discussion of potential climate change impacts is presented in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

 SB X7-7 Baseline and Targets 

IWA’s methods for calculating baseline and target water consumption values are described in this section.  
This section also documents IWA’s compliance with the 2020 Urban Water Use Target. 

Page 1061

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-12 

7.5.1    Wholesale Suppliers 

IWA is not a wholesale supplier, and therefore this section is not applicable. 

7.5.2    SB X7-7 Forms and Tables 

IWA has completed the SB X7-7 2020 Compliance Form and included it in Appendix E. 

7.5.3    Baseline and Target Calculations for 2020 UWMPs 

IWA calculated its baselines and targets for its 2015 UWMP, and IWA has not re-calculated its baselines 
or targets. 

7.5.4    Service Area Population and Gross Water Use 

IWA’s service area population for 2020 was estimated using the DWR Population Tool.  The tool requires 
the number of single-family and multi-family residential connections to estimate population.  Since the 
number of connections was not available for the 1990 or 2000 Census years, the persons per single-family 
and multi-family connections was based on the 2010 Census year and number of connections; in 2010, 
there were an average of 2.74 persons per single-family connection and 48.01 persons per multi-family 
connection.  

The number of service connections were available for 2020, so population for 2020 was estimated using 
the number of connections and calculated persons per connection from 2010. 

Gross water use was determined using production records.  IWA’s sole source of supply is groundwater.  
There have been no imports, exports, changes in system storage, indirect recycled water use, or agricultural 
deliveries. 

7.5.5    2020 Compliance Daily Per Capita Water Use (GPCD) 

IWA’s average use during the baseline and confirmed target are shown in Table 7-11. 

 

Table 7-11. DWR 5-1R Baselines and Targets Summary 

Baseline Period 
Start 
Year 

End 
Year 

Average Baseline 
Use (GPCD) 

Confirmed 2020 
Target (GPCD) 

10-15 Year 2001 2010 327 262 

5 Year 2003 2007 333   

All values are in Gallons per Capita per Day (GPCD) 

 

Allowable adjustments include extraordinary events, weather normalization, and economic adjustments. 
No adjustments are made to IWA’s 2020 water use.  IWA’s calculated 2020 water use and compliance with 
its confirmed target are shown in Table 7-12. 

 

 

Page 1062

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-13 

Table 7-12.  DWR 5-2R 2020 Compliance 

Actual 
2020 

Optional Adjustments to 2020 Use 
2020 Confirmed 
Target (GPCD) 

Supplier Achieved 
Targeted Reduction 

in 2020 Use 
(GPCD) 

Total 
Adjustments 

Adjusted 
2020 Use (GPCD) 

225 0 225 262 Yes 

All values are in Gallons per Capita per Day (GPCD) 

 

7.5.6    Regional Alliance 

An urban water supplier may satisfy the requirements of CWC 10620 by participation in area wide, regional, 
watershed, or basin wide urban water management planning (Regional Alliance) where those plans will 
reduce preparation costs and contribute to the achievement of conservation and efficient water use.  IWA 
did not choose to comply with the SB X7-7 requirements through a Regional Alliance. 

 Water Supply Characterization 

This section describes the water supplies currently available to IWA and those planned for the 25-year 
planning period. 

7.6.1    Water Supply Analysis Overview 

Throughout the Coachella Valley, the only direct water source employed for potable urban water use is 
local groundwater. 

7.6.2    Supply Characterization 

This discussion includes the types of water supply considered by DWR. 

7.6.2.1    Purchased or Imported Water 

IWA does not use purchased or imported water.  Although both CVWD and DWA have contracted for State 
Water Project (SWP) and Colorado River water, these waters are currently used only to either replenish 
the groundwater basin via recharge, or for agricultural irrigation and other non-urban purposes.  Colorado 
River water is delivered to the Coachella Valley via the Coachella Canal, while SWP water is exchanged 
for Colorado River water from MWD.  CVWD currently uses its Colorado River water supply for agricultural 
and golf course irrigation, groundwater recharge, and other non-potable uses. 

7.6.2.2    Groundwater 

Groundwater has historically been the sole source of supply for IWA.  Supplies for the City of Indio are 
primarily from the lower aquifer in the Indio Subbasin, the largest subbasin in the Coachella Valley 
Groundwater Basin.  Because the Indio Subbasin is an un-adjudicated basin, IWA does not hold specific 
water rights, but rather pumps supplies from the aquifer as needed to meet demands within its service area.  
More information about the Indio Subbasin is presented in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

Page 1063

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-14 

IWA currently has 20 operational supply wells.  Pumping capacities for these wells range from 1,200 gpm 
to 3,500 gpm, with a total pumping capacity of 74,600 AFY.  IWA historical groundwater pumping is 
summarized in Table 7-13.  

 

Table 7-13.  DWR 6-1R Groundwater Volume Pumped (AFY) 

Groundwater Type Location or Basin Name 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Alluvial Basin Indio Subbasin 17,072 18,267 19,567 18,793 19,880 

- Total 17,072 18,267 19,567 18,793 19,880 

 

7.6.2.3    Surface Water 

IWA does not currently use or intend to use any surface water (non-imported surface water) as part of its 
water supply. 

7.6.2.4    Stormwater 

IWA does not currently use stormwater as a water supply.  All stormwater either percolates into the 
groundwater basin or is conveyed to the Coachella Valley Stormwater Channel (CVSC).  Stormwater 
capture may become a potential future supply but is not currently being considered due to the low average 
volume of water available for capture.  As the local flood control authority, CVWD considers delivery of 
treated stormwater as a potential future potable or non-potable water supply. 

7.6.2.5    Wastewater and Recycled Water 

This section of the UWMP describes the existing and future recycled water opportunities available to IWA’s 
service area.  Wastewater treatment services for the City of Indio are predominantly provided by Valley 
Sanitary District (VSD).  IWA and VSD are working together to evaluate a recycled water program to 
augment the local water supply.  IWA completed a 2011 Recycled Water Master Plan and 2016 Recycled 
Water Feasibility Study to assess potential customers and infrastructure build-out to support recycled water 
service within the service area.  The City of Indio is served by two wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs): 
one is owned by VSD and the other by CVWD.  The VSD WWTP is located on Van Buren Street in the City 
of Indio and provides services to 96 percent of the City’s population.  Currently, VSD discharges the effluent 
to the CVSC. The VSD WWTP operates parallel treatment processes: an activated sludge treatment 
process and a biological treatment pond process.  Any effluent that is not reused is discharged to the CVSC 
which flows directly to the Salton Sea. 

CVWD’s WRP-7 treats a small percentage of the City’s wastewater.  The facility is located at Avenue 38 
and Madison Street in the City of Indio.  WRP-7 is a tertiary treatment facility, and the effluent produced is 
recycled for non-potable uses for CVWD customers. 

Wastewater collection and treatment in the IWA service area is summarized in Table 7-14 and Table 7-15. 

 

Page 1064

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-15 

Table 7-14.  DWR 6-2R Wastewater Collected within Service Area in 2020 

Wastewater Collection Recipient of Collected Wastewater 

Name of Wastewater 
Collection Agency 

Wastewater Volume 
Metered or Estimated 

Wastewater Volume Collected 
from UWMP Service Area in 

2020 (AFY) 

Name of Wastewater Agency 
Receiving Collected Wastewater 

Wastewater Treatment 
Plant Name 

Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Located within UWMP Area 

WWTP Operation Contracted 
to a Third Party 

Valley Sanitary District Estimated 6,261 Valley Sanitary District Valley SD WWTP Yes No 

Coachella Valley Water District Estimated 100 Coachella Valley Water District WRP-7 Yes No 

- Total 6,361         

 

 

Table 7-15.  DWR 6-3R Wastewater Treatment and Discharge within Service Area in 2020 
-             2020 Volumes (AFY) 

Wastewater 
Treatment Plant 

Name 

Discharge 
Location Name or 

Identifier 

Discharge 
Location 

Description 

Wastewater 
Discharge ID 

Number 

Method of 
Disposal 

Plant Treats 
Wastewater 

Generated Outside 
the Service Area 

Treatment Level 

Wastewater 
Treated 

Discharged 
Treated 

Wastewater 

Recycled 
Within 

Service Area 

Recycled 
Outside of 

Service Area 

Instream 
Flow Permit 
Requirement 

Valley SD WWTP 
Coachella Valley 
Stormwater 
Channel 

Stormwater channel 
CA0104477-001 
 
7A333069001 

Storm Channel 

Yes (portions of the 
City of Coachella 
and County of 
Riverside) 

Secondary 6,261 6,261 0 0 0 

-           Total 6,261 6,261 0 0 0 

 Note:  Treatment at CVWD WRP-7 is reported in CVWD chapter of the RUWMP. 

Page 1065

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-16 

The Indio Water Authority and the Valley Sanitary District formed the East Valley Reclamation Authority 
(EVRA) in 2013.  EVRA is a Joint Powers Authority created to develop an indirect potable reuse project, to 
supplement a sustainable water supply.  The existing VSD WWTP facilities consist of primary and 
secondary treatment facilities, which discharge to the CVSC.  Development of a new recycled water supply 
would require the addition of tertiary treatment facilities, and potentially advanced treatment, depending on 
the ultimate use of the recycled water. 

IWA’s 2016 Recycled Water Feasibility Study evaluated a proposed recycled water system.  However, due 
to lack of irrigation customers, a purple pipe system is not feasible.  

The projected uses of recycled water are shown in Table 7-16.  The 2015 UWMP projected recycled water 
uses for 2020 are compared with actual recycled water use in Table 7-17. 

 

Page 1066

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-17 

Table 7-16.  DWR 6-4R Recycled Water Within Service Area (AFY) 

Beneficial Use Type 
Potential Beneficial Uses of 

Recycled Water 

Amount of 
Potential Uses 

of Recycled 
Water 

General Description 
of 2020 Uses 

Level of Treatment 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Agricultural Irrigation                     

Landscape Irrigation (excludes golf courses)           

Golf Course Irrigation                     

Commercial Use                     

Industrial Use                     

Geothermal and Other Energy Production                     

Seawater Intrusion Barrier                     

Recreational Impoundment                     

Wetlands or Wildlife Habitat                     

Groundwater Recharge       Advanced 0 0 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 

Reservoir Water Augmentation (IPR)*                     

Direct Potable Reuse                     

-       Total 0 0 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 

 

 

Page 1067

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-18 

Table 7-17.  DWR 6-5R Recycled Water Use Projection Compared to Actual 

Use Type 
2015 Projection for 

2020 (AFY) 
2020 Actual 
Use (AFY) 

Agricultural Irrigation     

Landscape Irrigation (excludes golf courses) 50 0 

Golf Course Irrigation 960 0 

Commercial Use     

Industrial Use     

Geothermal and Other Energy Production     

Seawater Intrusion Barrier     

Recreational Impoundment     

Wetlands or Wildlife Habitat     

Groundwater Recharge (IPR)     

Surface Water Augmentation (IPR)     

Direct Potable Reuse     

Total 1,010 0 

 

There are a few methods that have been considered to provide an incentive to recycled water users.  One 
method is to issue a monthly rebate directly to each recycled water user.  The other is utilizing a two-fold 
approach to encourage recycled water use.  The two-fold approach relies on making recycled water 
available at a reduced rate and to adopt a Recycled Water Ordinance, mandating recycled use for certain 
applications.  It is unknown at this time how the combination of incentives and requirements will impact 
projected recycled water use.  Further, if recycled water can be offered to potential customers at competitive 
costs when compared to groundwater pumping, potential customers can be converted to actual future 
customers.  

7.6.2.6    Desalinated Water Opportunities 

Along the California coastline, from the San Francisco Bay to San Diego, numerous studies are currently 
underway investigating the feasibility of desalting seawater.  Recent technological advances in various 
desalination processes have significantly reduced the cost of desalinated water to levels that are 
comparable and, in some instances, competitive with other alternatives for acquiring new water supplies.  
Desalination technologies are becoming more efficient, less energy demanding, and less expensive; 
however, they are still considered energy intensive relative to other treatment technologies.  In December 
2015, the Claude "Bud" Lewis Carlsbad Desalination Plant, a 50 million gallon per day (56,000 acre-feet 
per year (AFY)) seawater desalination plant located adjacent to the Encina Power Station in Carlsbad, 
California, commenced operation. This facility provides water to the San Diego County Water Authority 
under a 30-year purchase agreement. 

One water management alternative under consideration is the possibility of IWA investing in a new 
desalination plant, planned by other water agencies such as MWD and San Diego County, in exchange for 
receiving a portion of their Colorado River water deliveries.  If IWA were able to invest in such a facility, 
IWA would also have to make arrangements for acquiring or exchanging the water.  This may require a 
turnout on the Colorado Aqueduct in order to exchange for Colorado River water with MWD.  Additional 
costs may be associated with such an agreement. 

7.6.2.7    Water Exchanges and Transfers 

Page 1068

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-19 

This section discusses potential exchanges and transfers with other water suppliers. 

Water exchanges are typically water delivered by one water user to another water user, with the receiving 
water user providing water in return at a specified time or when the conditions of the parties’ agreement are 
met.  Water exchanges can be strictly a return of water on a basis agreed upon by the participants or can 
include payment and the return of water.  The water returned may or may not be an “even” exchange.  IWA 
is not currently involved in any water exchanges.  The predominant water exchange that occurs in the 
Coachella Valley is SWP water exchanged for Colorado River water, which is discussed in Chapter 3 of the 
RUWMP. 

The CWC defines a water transfer as a temporary or long-term change in the point of diversion, place of 
use, or purpose of use due to a transfer, sale, lease, or exchange of water or water rights.  Temporary 
water transfers have a duration of one year or less.  Long-term water transfers have a duration of more 
than one year.  IWA has no current plans for water transfers. 

IWA has three emergency intertie connections with CVWD and the City of Coachella.  These are 
summarized in Table 7-18.  IWA is in discussions with Myoma Dunes for a new intertie west of IWA’s 
system. 

 

Table 7-18.  Emergency Interties 
Location As-Built Date Current Configuration Capacity 

Northwest corner of 
Avenue 40 and Madison 
St. 

8-20-2007 8” Cla-valve and meter; 
currently valves are off with 
no current set points on Cla-
valve 

3,100 gpm 
estimated 

Northeast corner of 
Congress St. and 
Philadelphia Ave. 

12-1-2003 One valve  with  4  stub  
outs; no meter or Cla-valve 

3,800 gpm – 
estimated with 6” 
diameter  at  62 PSI 
to atmosphere 

South side of Miles Ave., 
250’ west of Monticello 
Ave. 

5-21-2004 Currently valves are off with 
no current set points on clay 
valve; it has a 6” Cla-valve 
and meter 

4,000 gpm – 
estimated with 6” 
diameter at 82  PSI 
to atmosphere 

 

7.6.2.8    Future Water Projects 

IWA is involved in evaluating several potential programs to increase water supply.  The joint project with 
EVRA is currently planned for implementation by 2030.  Next steps include developing the feasibility study 
to evaluate treatment needs and potential locations for recharge basins.  The estimated capacity is 5,000 
AFY.  Planned water supply projects are listed in Table 7-19. 

 

Table 7-19.  DWR 6-7R Expected Future Water Supply Projects or Programs 

Name of 
Future 

Projects or 
Programs 

Joint 
Project 

with 
Other 

Suppliers 

Agency 
Name 

Description 

Planned 
Imple-

mentation 
Year 

Planned for 
Use in Year 

Type 

Expected 
Increase 
in Water 

Supply to 
Supplier 

(AFY) 

Groundwater 
Recharge 

Yes IWA, VSD 
Recycled water 
for groundwater 
recharge 

2030 
Average 

Year 
5,000 

 

Page 1069

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-20 

 

7.6.2.9    Summary of Existing and Planned Sources of Water 

Summaries of the existing and planned water supply volumes by source are presented in Table 7-20 and 
Table 7-21. 

 

Table 7-20.  DWR 6-8R Actual Water Supplies (AFY) 

-   2020 

Water Supply 
Additional Detail 
on Water Supply 

Actual 
Volume 

Water Quality 

Groundwater (not 
desalinated) 

Indio Subbasin 19,880 Drinking Water 

- Total 19,880   

 

 

Table 7-21.  DWR 6-9 R Projected Water Supplies (AFY) 

Water Supply 

Additional 
Detail on 
Water 
Supply 

2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Groundwater (not 
desalinated) 

Indio 
Subbasin 

24,792 26,592 28,384  29,738  30,997 

Recycled Water EVRA  5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 

- Total 24,792 31,592 33,384  34,738 35,997 

 

7.6.2.10    Special Conditions 

Although groundwater is a relatively resilient water supply with respect to climate change, long periods of 
drought/dry weather may reduce the availability of imported water for groundwater recharge. A more 
detailed discussion of potential climate change impacts is presented in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

7.6.3    Submittal Tables Using Optional Planning Tool 

Because supply availability does not vary seasonally, IWA has not completed the DWR Optional Planning 
Tool. 

7.6.4    Energy Use 

IWA has compiled data to document the energy used for water management operations.  IWA used the 
Total Utility Approach to estimate the energy intensity of its water management operations. 

The results are presented in Table 7-22. 

Page 1070

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-21 

Table 7-22. DWR O-1B Energy Intensity Reporting 
Table O-1B: Recommended Energy Reporting  - Total Utility Approach 

Enter Start Date for Reporting 
Period 

1/1/2019 Urban Water Supplier Operational Control 

End Date 12/31/2019 

Is upstream embedded in the 
values reported?  

No Sum of All Water 
Management 

Processes 

Non-Consequential 
Hydropower  

Water Volume Units Used AF Total Utility  Hydropower Net Utility  

Volume of Water Entering Process (volume unit) 18,793 0 18,793 

Energy Consumed (kWh) 11,925,522 0 11,925,522 

Energy Intensity (kWh/volume) 634.6 0.0 634.6 

   

Quantity of Self-Generated Renewable Energy 

  kWh 

Data Quality (Estimate, Metered Data, Combination of Estimates and Metered Data) 

Combination of Estimates and Metered Data 
 

Data Quality Narrative 

Energy use data was obtained from electricity consumption records maintained by the agency. 

Narrative 

The agency uses energy for groundwater production from wells, pumping at booster stations from lower 
pressure zones to higher pressure zones, and treatment processes. 

 

 Water Service Reliability and Drought Risk Assessment 

The California Urban Water Management Planning Act (Act) requires urban water suppliers to assess water 
supply reliability that compares total projected water use with the expected water supply over the next 20-
25 years in five-year increments. The Act also requires an assessment for a single dry year and multiple 
dry years. This section presents the reliability assessment for IWA’s service area. 

7.7.1    Reliability Overview 

It is the stated goal of IWA to deliver a reliable and high-quality water supply to its customers, even during 
dry periods.  IWA has already achieved a reduction in water use from its baseline greater than 20 percent.  
The UWMP will continue to ensure that urban water resources are reliably and sustainably secured for 
existing and future customers of IWA. 

Page 1071

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-22 

7.7.2    Water Service Reliability Assessment 

The Coachella Valley Groundwater Basin is un-adjudicated and has sufficient storage to meet the projected 
pumping conditions on the basin for the next 25 years, and beyond.  Thus, issues related to reliability of 
supply and vulnerability to seasonal and climatic changes do not significantly affect the reliability of the 
Coachella Valley Groundwater Basin.  All of the water currently and historically consumed by IWA comes 
from the groundwater basin. 

Because groundwater supplies have not been vulnerable to seasonal or climatic conditions, the supplies 
are limited only by available IWA pumping capacity.  The water quality of IWA’s water supply, consisting 
entirely of pumped groundwater, meets applicable regulatory criteria.  

The average year is a year, or an averaged range of years, that most closely represents the median water 
supply available to IWA.  The UWMP Act uses the term “normal” conditions.  

The single dry year is the year that represents the lowest water supply available to IWA.  This UWMP uses 
2014 for the single-dry year, as it corresponds to a record-dry year with the lowest SWP Table A Amount 
allocation ever set by DWR. 

The multiple dry year period is the period that represents the lowest average water supply availability to 
IWA for a consecutive multiple year period (five years or more).  This is generally considered to be the 
lowest average runoff for a consecutive multiple year period (five years or more) for a watershed since 
1903.  This UWMP uses 2012 to 2016 for the multiple-dry year period. 

The available water supplies and demands for IWA’s service area were analyzed to understand the region’s 
ability to satisfy demands during three scenarios: an average water year, single-dry year, and multiple-dry 
years.  The years and availability are summarized in Table 7-23. 

 

Table 7-23.  DWR 7-1R Basis of Water Year Data 

-   Available Supply if Year Type Repeats 

Year 
Type 

Base 
Year 

Percent of 
Average Supply 

Average Year 2020 100% 

Single-Dry Year 2014 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 1st Year  2012 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 2nd Year 2013 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 3rd Year 2014 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 4th Year 2015 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 5th Year  2016 100% 

 

Reliability during a normal year is shown in Table 7-24. 

 

  

Page 1072

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-23 

 

Table 7-24.  DWR 7-2R Normal Year Supply and Demand Comparison 

- 
2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Supply Totals (AFY) 
From DWR Table 6-9R 

24,792 31,592 33,384  34,738 35,997 

Demand Totals (AFY) 
From DWR Table 4-3R 

24,792 31,592 33,384  34,738 35,997 

Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for 
long-term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the 
agencies could produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here. 

 

Reliability during a single-dry year scenario was assumed to be similar to the average year scenario.  Supply 
will consist of pumped groundwater and recycled water.  Any additional supply needed will be pumped from 
the groundwater basin.  Reliability during a single dry year is shown in Table 7-25. 

 

Table 7-25.  DWR 7-3R Single Dry Year Supply and Demand Comparison 

- 
2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Supply Totals (AFY) 24,792 31,592 33,384  34,738 35,997 

Demand Totals (AFY) 24,792 31,592 33,384  34,738 35,997 

Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for 
long-term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the 
agencies could produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here. 

 

Reliability during a multiple-dry year scenario was assumed to be similar to the average year scenario.  Any 
additional supply needed will be pumped from the groundwater basin. The multiple dry year supply scenario 
is shown in Table 7-26. 

 

  

Page 1073

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-24 

 

Table 7-26.  DWR 7-4R Multiple Dry Years Supply and Demand Comparison 

 -  - 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

First  
Supply Totals (AFY) 24,792 31,592 33,384  34,738 35,997 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 24,792 31,592 33,384  34,738 35,997 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Second 
Supply Totals (AFY) 24,792 31,592 33,384  34,738 35,997 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 24,792 31,592 33,384  34,738 35,997 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Third 
Supply Totals (AFY) 24,792 31,592 33,384  34,738 35,997 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 24,792 31,592 33,384  34,738 35,997 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Fourth 
Supply Totals (AFY) 24,792 31,592 33,384  34,738 35,997 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 24,792 31,592 33,384  34,738 35,997 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Fifth 
Supply Totals (AFY) 24,792 31,592 33,384  34,738 35,997 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 24,792 31,592 33,384  34,738 35,997 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for 
long-term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the 
agencies could produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here. 

 

Historically, the groundwater basin has shown signs of overdraft, which could impact reliability in the very 
long term. The implementation of ongoing groundwater management efforts (see Chapter 3 of the RUWMP) 
seeks to ensure groundwater levels are maintained to mitigate potential overdraft conditions of the basin.  
IWA also continues to develop and expand an Urban Water Use Efficiency and Conservation Program to 
implement Demand Management Measures (DMMs) and other conservation programs to decrease the 
annual volume of water consumed. 

7.7.3    Drought Risk Assessment 

A new reporting requirement for the 2020 UWMP is a five-year Drought Risk Assessment (DRA).  The DRA 
is based on projections of demand and available supply for the next five years. 

Page 1074

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-25 

Demands are expected to increase to the projected demands for 2025.  It is expected that conservation 
messaging and programs will prevent any significant increase in demands by existing customers due to dry 
conditions.  The groundwater supply is reliable for a five-year dry period as the volume in storage can be 
drawn down during a dry period. 

The results of the DRA are summarized in Table 7-27. 

  

Page 1075

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-26 

 

Table 7-27.  DWR 7-5 Five-Year Drought Risk Assessment  

2021 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 20,898 
Total Supplies  (AFY) 20,898 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2022 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 21,917 
Total Supplies  (AFY) 21,917 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2023 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 22,935 
Total Supplies  (AFY) 22,935 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2024 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 23,954 
Total Supplies  (AFY) 23,954 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)  

WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2025 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 24,972 
Total Supplies  (AFY) 24,972 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for long-
term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the agencies could 
produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here. 

 

 

Page 1076

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-27 

 Water Shortage Contingency Plan 

Water supplies may be interrupted or reduced significantly in a number of ways, such as a drought which 
limits supplies, an earthquake which damages water delivery or storage facilities, a regional power outage, 
or a toxic spill that affects water quality.  

IWA has developed a Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP) to help manage potential future water 
shortages.  The WSCP is being adopted separately from the RUWMP and may be modified as needed 
based on changing conditions.  The WSCP is an attachment to this RUWMP. 

 Demand Management Measures 

Establishing goals and choosing water conservation measures is a continuing planning process.  Goals are 
developed, adopted, and then evaluated periodically.  Specific conservation measures are phased in and 
then evaluated for their effectiveness, achievement of desired results, and customer satisfaction.  Water 
conservation can achieve a number of goals such as: 

 Reducing groundwater overdraft 
 Reducing average annual potable water demands 
 Reducing urban runoff 
 Reducing demands during peak seasons 
 Meeting drought restrictions 

This section describes Demand Management Measures (DMMs) implemented by IWA to encourage 
efficient use of water. 

7.9.1    Demand Management Measures for Wholesale Suppliers 

IWA does not receive or provide wholesale water. This section is not applicable to IWA’s service area. 

7.9.2    Existing Demand Management Measures for Retail 

Compliance with water savings goals can be accomplished by implementing the specific measures laid out 
in each DMM, 

7.9.2.1    Water Waste Prevention Ordinances 

A Water Waste Prohibition is an important component for any conservation plan and refers to enactment 
and enforcement measures that prohibit gutter flooding, single pass cooling system in new connections, 
non-recirculation system in all new conveyer car washes and commercial laundry systems, and non-
recycling decorative water fountains. 

The City of Indio has already passed Ordinance No. 1662 prohibiting water wasting which results in flows 
onto roadways, adjacent property, or non-irrigated property.  In addition, the City has also passed 
Ordinance No. 257, which states: “Chapter 54.050 It shall be unlawful for any person to willfully or 
neglectfully waste in any manner, any person having knowledge of any conditions whereby water is being 
wasted, shall immediately notify the Water Department of that fact.” 

IWA enforces local ordinances regarding sprinklers which could include a temporary shut-off of water 
service upon receipt of a complaint of a broken sprinkler head.  IWA is addressing nuisance water through 
this ordinance.  However, IWA has addressed nuisance water more specifically in its landscaping ordinance 
(54.054). 

The public is able to report water wasters online at IWA’s “Report Water Wasters!” site.  IWA has developed 
a “Water Waster Notice” to notify the property owner of the violation and corrective actions to be taken 
when over-irrigation or water wasting is reported on the property.  IWA has developed a form for calculating 

Page 1077

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-28 

the amount of water being wasted and can inform the property owner.  With documentation of wasted water, 
specifically by photos of the violation and “Water Waster Notice”, IWA can enforce its regulations and 
educate the public. 

The effectiveness of this DMM is currently determined by how many revisits are made to a site and by 
tracking the number of total complaint calls received in the database. 

7.9.2.2    Metering 

Currently, 100 percent of IWA’s customers are metered for water use and meters are required for any new 
service connections.  This DMM enables IWA to meter and bill customers based on their actual volume of 
use.  Industry organizations estimate that metered accounts along with volumetric rates can result in a 20 
percent reduction in demand.  IWA has likely already realized the savings associated with metering all 
accounts.  A tiered rate structure would be necessary to reduce further usage under this DMM. 

IWA’s meter change-out program has been fully implemented with Advanced Metering Infrastructure and 
Automated Meter Reading system. 

7.9.2.3    Conservation Pricing 

Retail conservation pricing provides economic incentives to customers to use water efficiently.  The goal of 
this DMM is to recover the maximum amount of water sales revenue from volumetric rates that is consistent 
with utility costs, financial stability, revenue sufficiency, and customer equality.  IWA’s Board has approved 
a new allocation-based rate structure that went into effect on January 1, 2014.  The new rate structure 
alone will change customer behaviors, resulting in conservation.  The revenue for the rate structure will also 
off-set the costs of the conservation program. 

7.9.2.4    Public Education and Outreach 

IWA’s public education and outreach includes the following programs: public information and school 
education. 

A public information program for IWA’s customers is a critical aspect of the conservation plan.  IWA has 
been proactive and implemented a public information program.  Through the program, IWA can assist 
customers in identifying opportunities for conservation via brochures, media events, service 
announcements, workshops, and other means.  Savings could be significant if the program targets 
residential outdoor use, including demonstration gardens for re- landscaping away from turf.  IWA’s current 
public information program includes: 

 Public service announcements 
 Bill inserts, newsletters, and brochures 
 Special events and media events 
 Speakers bureau 

A school education program contributes to the long-term reduction in water use as a result of actual changes 
to water use behaviors in City of Indio’s youth.  IWA has presented to classes in the Desert Sands Unified 
School District as well as provided calendars promoting efficient water use to several elementary schools.  
Each year the IWA offers school presentations free of charge to any interested school or class.  
Presentations include information about water conservation, water quality and information about where the 
water comes from. 

Costs for this program have been estimated as $10 per year per student reached. 

7.9.2.5    Programs to Assess and Manage Distribution System Real Loss 

IWA conducts a program for system water audits, leak detection, and repair. 

IWA reported a water loss of 1,378 AF in the 2018-2019 fiscal year.  For that reporting year, 19,171 AF of 
water was produced resulting in a water loss of 7.2 percent.  Non-revenue water in the FY2019-2020 
calendar year was 8.6 percent suggesting that IWA has already achieved the goal of less than 10 percent 

Page 1078

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-29 

unaccounted-for water losses in its system.  IWA would like to further reduce this to between 3 and 5 
percent.  Such a reduction could result in additional water savings of approximately 800 to 1,100 AFY by 
2025. 

IWA expects that the program will be further expanded.  Non-revenue water will be determined by reviewing 
monthly and annual water consumption and production data, which is currently being tracked.  Expansion 
of this program will enhance IWA’s knowledge and awareness of its system, which will allow for more 
accurate targeting of problem areas for future maintenance or replacement.  Areas of expansion currently 
in effect are: 

 Changing the way IWA performs fire flows, utilizing hydraulic modeling software to predict the 
available fire flow without using any water. 

 IWA has had its own inspector since mid-2007 to monitor water use at construction sites and ensure 
all flows are being monitored. 

 IWA acquired an electronic leak-detection device in 2008, which was the first step in implementing 
its leak detection/prevention program. 

7.9.2.6    Water Conservation Program Coordination and Staffing Support 

IWA has conservation programs for CII and a dedicated Conservation Coordinator in charge of 
implementation of the conservation programs. 

A Conservation Coordinator provides oversight of conservation programs and DMM implementation, as 
well as communicating and promoting water conservation issues.  The Coordinator oversees not only water 
conservation, but also other environmental programs within the City of Indio.  IWA plans on maintaining a 
conservation coordinator and manager on staff at all times. 

7.9.2.7    Other Demand Management Measures 

IWA’s other DMMs include: water survey programs for residential customers, landscape conservation 
programs and incentives, high efficiency washer incentives, and low flush toilet replacement programs. 

7.9.2.8    Water Survey Programs for Single-Family Residential and Multi-Family Residential 
Customers & Residential Retrofits 

A water survey program for residential customers is a key component of IWA’s conservation plan.  Through 
the survey program, residents can request that IWA staff visit their homes and identify opportunities outside 
the residence or business to reduce consumption, such as landscaping conversions or the installation of 
more efficient irrigation heads.  IWA has been performing outside surveys for residents and businesses 
since 2008.  Over 2,000 landscape conversions have been performed. 

IWA may be able to expand this program to include indoor surveys as well.  IWA may consider requiring 
in-home surveys for any residents interested in participating in its Smart Controller and/or Re- landscape 
Rebate programs. 

This part of the program is still in the planning phase and has not yet been implemented.  The IWA is 
continually working to improve and expand conservation plans through partnerships and additional funding 
opportunities.  In 2011 IWA signed an MOU with the Coachella Valley Water District (CVWD) to provide 
Indio residents who are served by CVWD equal opportunities to receive smart controller rebates or convert 
lawns to desert landscape. 

A residential plumbing retrofit program can also contribute to the overall reduction in indoor water use in 
the residential customer class.  This program targets residences constructed prior to 1992.  IWA should 
market this program to the North Indio and Central zones of the City, where pre-1992 construction accounts 
for 97 percent and 77 percent of residences, respectively. 

Other utilities implement residential plumbing retrofit programs through the actual distribution of retrofit kits 
to their residential customers, at no cost to the customers.  The kit should include a minimum of one new 
showerhead and two aerators (one kitchen and one bathroom).  The estimated cost of such a kit is $10. 

Page 1079

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-30 

The Gas Company distributes these kits and in partnership with the Gas Company, IWA helps promote the 
program to Indio residents.  The IWA promotes the program through the website and supplying information 
during residential audits. 

The IWA may expand this program and possibly add toilet retrofit kits dependent on future funding. 

7.9.2.9    Large Landscape Conservation Programs and Incentives 

A large landscape water conservation program with incentives for IWA’s CII and irrigation customers could 
be an important component of its long-term conservation plan.  IWA should strive to provide educational 
opportunities to these clients about the benefits and opportunities for reducing their outdoor water usage.  
An important aspect of this program will be surveys and water audits of landscaping water usage. 

The cost for each CII survey has been estimated as twice that of a residential survey or $220 per survey, 
which accounts for the time spent by IWA staff to perform surveys and track program implementation. 

This program is still in the planning phase and has not yet been implemented.  Implementation goals were 
established in the conservation master plan.  IWA continues to seek partnerships and additional funding to 
implement and expand conservation programs including this DMM. 

7.9.2.10    High Efficiency Clothes Washing Machine Financial Incentive Programs 

A high-efficiency clothes washing machine (HECW) financial incentive program will contribute to the overall 
reduction in indoor water use by the residential customer class.  A Coverage Goal (CG) system was 
developed to more easily determine coverage progress and allow agencies to obtain credit for promoting 
ultra-high efficiency machines. The annual CG is calculated as: 

CG = Total Dwelling Units x 0.0768 

Total dwelling units (DUs) are estimated to be approximately 25,860 at implementation.  The calculated 
coverage goal would be 1,986 HECWs installed over the 2.5 year program, or 794 units per year.  IWA may 
want to consider developing a tiered incentives program with the largest incentives for washing machines 
with a water factor equal to or less than 6.0.  Each replaced machine could save approximately 120,000 
gallons of water over the life of the machine (estimated as 14 years).  

The HECW Machine Financial Incentives Programs can be implemented by supplying rebates to customers 
for the purchase of approved HECW machines.  A rebate of $100/HECW is being considered at this time. 

This program is still in the planning phase and has not yet been implemented.  IWA continues to form 
partnerships and additional funding to expand conservation programs. 

7.9.2.11    Conservation Programs for Commercial, Industrial, and Institutional (CII) Accounts 

Conservation programs for IWA’s CII customers could play a significant role in its long-term conservation 
plan. Under this DMM, IWA will need to identify and rank CII customers by their water use, develop an Ultra 
Low-Flow Toilet (ULFT) program, and either implement a CII water use survey and incentives program or 
establish and meet CII conservation performance targets. 

If IWA chooses to pursue a CII Survey and Customer Incentives Program, then it should work to supply 
surveys to 10 percent of its CII customers within 10 years.  However, if IWA pursues a CII Conservation 
Program, then that program should achieve a 10 percent reduction in the CII baseline water use within 10 
years.  Some utilities have achieved this by supplying one-time grants to CII customers for both indoor and 
outdoor water conserving measures.  This program is still in the planning phase and has not yet been 
implemented.  IWA continues to seek new partnerships and additional funding to expand conservation 
programs. 

7.9.2.12    Residential Ultra Low Flush Toilet Replacement Programs 

A residential ULFT replacement program seeks to replace high consuming toilets (greater than three 
gallons per flush) with the more efficient ULFTs that use 1.6 gallons or less per flush in both single-family 
and multifamily residences.  At a minimum, the program should replace as many toilets as would be 

Page 1080

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-31 

replaced under a City ordinance that required ULFT retrofits on resale for all homes older than 1992.  The 
program may achieve these water savings through financial incentives or rebates.  Under the residential 
ULFT replacement program, some agencies provide rebates for the purchase of ULFT toilets while others 
actually supply and install the toilets themselves.  IWA can consider either approach for implementation of 
this program.  An estimated cost of $150 per ULFT replaced is assumed for this DMM. 

This program is still in the planning phase and has not yet been implemented.  IWA continues to seek 
partnerships and additional funding to expand conservation programs. 

7.9.3    Implementation 

IWA’s Conservation Program was initiated in 2008.  In developing its water Conservation Program, IWA 
utilized many DMMs as guidelines.  IWA continues to seek new partnerships and addition funding to expand 
conservation programs.  IWA will continue to implement water conservation practices and enforce 
requirements of City ordinances to maintain lower than historic per capita water use. 

7.9.4    Water Use Objectives (Future Requirements) 

Updated water use objectives are being developed for water suppliers to meet the requirements of the 
CWC.  The final water use objectives for IWA have not yet been determined.  The DMMs described in this 
section are expected to align with IWA’s efforts to comply with these objectives when they are finalized. 

 Plan Adoption, Submittal, and Implementation 

This section addresses the CWC requirements for a public hearing, the process for adopting the RUWMP 
and IWA’s WSCP, submitting the adopted plans, and plan implementation. 

7.10.1    Inclusion of All 2020 Data 

IWA is reporting on a calendar year basis.  This plan includes water production and use data for all of 
calendar year 2020. 

7.10.2    Notice of Public Hearing 

The CWC requires several notifications regarding the preparation and adoption of the RUWMP and IWA’s 
WSCP.  The CWC states that cities and counties must be notified that the supplier will be reviewing the 
UWMP and considering amendments to the Plan.  IWA sent a notification to cities and counties within its 
service area informing them of IWA’s intent to update the UWMP.  These notices are described in Chapter 
2 of the RUWMP and are included in Appendix B.  The cities and counties in IWA’s service area are 
identified in Table 7-28. 

IWA provided notice to the cities and counties of the public hearing, including the time and place and the 
location where the draft RUWMP and IWA’s draft WSCP were available for review. 

 

  

Page 1081

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

7-32 

 

Table 7-28.  DWR 10-1R Notification to Cities and Counties 
City 60 Day Notice Notice of Public Hearing 

La Quinta Yes Yes 

Indio Yes Yes 

Coachella Yes Yes 

County 60 Day Notice Notice of Public Hearing 

Riverside Yes Yes 

 

IWA published notice in the newspaper of the public hearing on two occasions before the public hearing 
was held.  Proof of publication of these notices is included in Appendix B. 

The draft RUWMP and IWA’s WSCP were made available for public review on IWA’s web site and at IWA’s 
office. 

7.10.3    Public Hearing and Adoption 

IWA held a public hearing meeting for the RUWMP and IWA’s WSCP on June 16, 2021.  The public hearing 
provided an opportunity for the public to give feedback on the plan before it was adopted. 

IWA adopted the RUWMP and IWA’s WSCP by resolution following the public hearing.  Copies of the 
resolutions are included in Appendix H. 

7.10.4    Plan Submittal 

IWA submitted standard tables electronically via DWR’s UWMP submittal website along with a copy of the 
final report.  The RUWMP and WSCP were also submitted to the California State Library.  The plans were 
made available to all cities and counties to which IWA supplies water. 

7.10.5    Public Availability 

The RUWMP and IWA’s WSCP will be available on the IWA website for public viewing within 30 days of 
filing a copy with DWR. 

7.10.6    Notification to Public Utilities Commission 

Because IWA is not regulated by the California Public Utilities Commission, this section is not applicable. 

7.10.7    Amending an Adopted UWMP or Water Shortage Contingency Plan 

If IWA identifies the need to amend the RUWMP or IWA’s WSCP, it will follow the same procedures for 
notifications, a public hearing, and adoption. 

 

 

Page 1082

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-1 

 

 

 Introduction 

The Mission Springs Water District (MSWD or District) has participated in the Coachella Valley Regional 
UWMP to meet its reporting requirements for 2020.  This chapter describes information specific to MSWD 
and its water use efficiency programs. 

Updates to the California Water Code (CWC) for the 2020 reporting cycle are discussed in Chapter 1 of the 
RUWMP. 

8.1.1    Chapter Organization 

This chapter is organized into the sections recommended by the Guidebook prepared by the California 
Department of Water Resources (DWR). 

 Sub-Chapter 1 provides an introduction to the chapter. 
 Sub-Chapter 2 shows details about the preparation of this RUWMP. 
 Sub-Chapter 3 presents information about the service area. 
 Sub-Chapter 4 presents information about current and projected future water demands. 
 Sub-Chapter 5 documents compliance with SB X7-7 through a reduction in per-capita water use. 
 Sub-Chapter 6 presents the current and planned future water supplies. 
 Sub-Chapter 7 assesses the reliability of supplies and presents a comparison of projected future 

supplies and demands. 
 Sub-Chapter 8 discusses the Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP) that will help guide 

actions in case of a future water shortage. 
 Sub-Chapter 9 presents information about Demand Management Measures (DMMs) being 

implemented to encourage efficient water use. 
 Sub-Chapter 10 presents information about the adoption and submittal process for this RUWMP 

and the WSCP. 

8.1.2    UWMPs in Relation to Other Efforts 

The related planning efforts by agencies in the Coachella Valley are described in Chapter 2 of the RUWMP. 

8.1.3    UWMPs and Grant or Loan Eligibility 

The CWC requires urban water suppliers to have a current UWMP, deemed sufficient at addressing the 
CWC requirements by DWR, on file with DWR in order for the urban water suppliers to be eligible for any 
water management grant or loan administered by DWR.  In addition, the UWMP Act requires a retail water 
agency to meet its 2020 Compliance Urban Water Use Target and report compliance in the 2020 UWMP.  

8.1.4    Demonstration of Consistency with the Delta Plan for Participants in Covered Actions 

The participating agencies’ approach to demonstrating reduced reliance on the Delta is discussed in 
Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

Page 1083

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-2 

Plan Preparation 

This section provides information on MSWD’s process for developing the RUWMP, including efforts in 
coordination and outreach. 

8.2.1    Plan Preparation 

MSWD is participating in the Coachella Valley Regional UWMP to meet its reporting requirements under 
the UWMP Act. 

8.2.2    Basis for Preparing a Plan 

Per CWC 10617, “urban water supplier” means a supplier, either publicly or privately owned, providing 
water for municipal purposes either directly or indirectly to more than 3,000 customers or supplying more 
than 3,000 acre-feet of water annually.  An urban water supplier includes a supplier or contractor for water, 
regardless of the basis of right, which distributes or sells for ultimate resale to customers.  This part applies 
only to water supplied from public water systems.  

MSWD is a public water supplier that meets the definition of an urban water supplier with over 13,000 
municipal water service connections. 

Information about MSWD’s Public Water System (PWS) is summarized in Table 8-1. 

 

Table 8-1.  DWR 2-1R Public Water Systems 

Public Water 
System Number 

Public Water System Name 
Number of Municipal 

Connections 2020 
Volume of Water 

Supplied 2020 (AF) 

3310008 Mission Springs Water District 12,783 8,103 

3310078 West Palm Springs Village 256 88 

3310081 Palm Springs Crest 174 77 

- Total 13,213 8,269 

 

8.2.3    Regional Planning 

MSWD is participating in the Coachella Valley Regional UWMP with five other water agencies, as described 
in Chapter 2 of the RUWMP. 

8.2.4    Individual or Regional Planning and Compliance 

MSWD is reporting compliance with SB X7-7 as an individual agency; MSWD did not participate in a 
Regional Alliance. 

8.2.5    Fiscal or Calendar Year and Units of Measure 

MSWD is a water retailer (as opposed to a water wholesaler).  The RUWMP has been prepared using 
calendar years (as opposed to fiscal years) and has been prepared using acre-feet (AF) as the units of 
water volume measure.  

Page 1084

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-3 

8.2.6    Coordination and Outreach 

MSWD has coordinated with other agencies in the development of this plan.  This coordination is described 
in Chapter 2 of the RUWMP.   

MSWD meets demands with its own groundwater supplies and does not purchase wholesale water from 
any wholesale supplier.  Therefore no coordination with wholesale suppliers was necessary.  MSWD did 
coordinate with Desert Water Agency (DWA) on plans for continued replenishment of the groundwater 
basin with imported water. 

 System Description 

This section provides information about MSWD’s service area, climate, and population. 

8.3.1    General Description 

MSWD was established in 1953 and was formerly known as Desert Hot Springs County Water District.  The 
District’s water service area consists of 135 square miles including the City of Desert Hot Springs, 10 
smaller communities in Riverside County, and communities in the City of Palm Springs.  The District’s water 
supply source is 100 percent groundwater produced from District-owned and operated wells.  The District 
provides water service to approximately 43,000 people in its water service area.  The District also provides 
sewer service to approximately 26,000 people in Desert Hot Springs, Desert Crest Country Club and Dillon 
Mobile Home Park. 

MSWD offices are located in Desert Hot Springs, California.  MSWD water supply and distribution system 
includes three separate and distinct water supply and distribution systems with the largest of the three 
systems serving the community of Desert Hot Springs; the surrounding communities of West Garnet 
(located south of Interstate 10 and West of Indian Avenue); and North Palm Springs.  The two smaller 
systems, Palm Springs Crest System and West Palm Springs Village System, are located approximately 
five miles west of Desert Hot Springs.  These two communities are located on the north side of Interstate 
10 (I-10) abutting the Morongo Indian Reservation.  

MSWD currently receives 100 percent of its water supply from groundwater produced from subbasins within 
the Coachella Valley Groundwater Basin, which underlies the District’s water service area.  MSWD primarily 
produces groundwater from the Mission Creek Subbasin via eight active wells.  To a lesser extent, the 
District also produces groundwater from the Indio Subbasin (including the Garnet Hill Subarea) via three 
active wells; and the San Gorgonio Pass Subbasin via two active wells. 

The existing MSWD distribution system consists of three independent water distribution systems: 1) Desert 
Hot Springs and surrounding area system – encompasses the City of Desert Hot Springs, a portion of the 
City of Palm Springs and surrounding unincorporated areas of Riverside County including Desert Edge 
community, 2) Palm Springs Crest System, and 3) West Palm Springs Village System. 

The existing Desert Hot Springs and surrounding area water distribution system serves up to 16 different 
pressure service zones through either a primary pressure zone or a reduced pressure service zone.  In 
general, the MSWD standard pressure zones are reflective of existing storage tank overflow (or high water) 
elevations, i.e. the 913 Zone has a water storage tank high water elevation of 913 feet above mean sea 
level.  As development of MSWD occurred, numerous storage tanks were constructed at varying elevations 
to provide adequate pressure throughout its service area. 

8.3.2    Service Area Boundary Maps 

The service area boundary is shown in Figure 8-1. 

 

Page 1085

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-4 

 

Figure 8-1.  MSWD Service Area Boundary 
 

Page 1086

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-5 

8.3.3    Service Area Climate 

The District has a desert climate with low rainfall and humidity and a large range between high and low 
temperatures. The average monthly evapotranspiration (ETo), rainfall, and temperatures for the District 
service area are shown in Table 8-2 and are shown in Figure 8-2.  

 

Table 8-2.  Monthly Average Climate Data 
Parameter Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Annual 

Average Max. 
Temperature (F) 

72 75 82 87 93 103 106 106 101 90 80 65 88 

Average Minimum 
Temperature (F) 

42 45 52 58 63 70 76 75 69 59 49 39 58 

Average Total 
Precipitation (in) 

0.5 0.6 0.7 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.2 0.7 3.8 

Evapotranspiration, 
ETo (in) 

2.7 3.6 6.0 7.7 9.2 9.8 9.7 9.1 7.2 5.2 3.3 2.3 75.7 

Notes: 

Data from California Irrigation Management Information System (CIMIS) Station 200, Indio 2.  Data from May 2006 through 
December 2020 

 

 

 

Figure 8-2.  Monthly Average Climate Data 
 

A discussion of the potential impacts of climate change on the region is included in Chapter 3 of the 
RUWMP. 

 

0.5 0.6 0.7 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.2 0.7 

2.7 
3.6 

6.0 

7.7 

9.2 
9.8 9.7 

9.1 

7.2 

5.2 

3.3 
2.3 

 -

 20

 40

 60

 80

 100

 120

 -

 2.0

 4.0

 6.0

 8.0

 10.0

 12.0

Te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

 (F
)

Pr
ec

ip
ita

tio
n 

an
d 

ET
o 

(in
)

Precipitation (in) ETo (in) Maximum Air Temperature (F) Minimum Air Temperature (F)

Page 1087

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-6 

8.3.4    Service Area Population and Demographics 

The District’s water service area encompasses 135 square miles including the City of Desert Hot Springs, 
10 smaller communities in Riverside County, and communities in the City of Palm Springs. The City of 
Desert Hot Springs makes up approximately 17 percent of the District’s water service area (23 square 
miles).  A majority of the District’s water service area population resides inside the City of Desert Hot 
Springs.  

The DWR Population Tool was utilized to estimate the District’s water service area population for 2020.  
DWR’s population tool uses a geographic outline of MSWD’s service area and census data to determine 
the population in 2010, and then the 2020 population is estimated by using the number of connections in 
2010 and 2020. 

Future population projections were developed using the regional growth forecast prepared by the Southern 
California Association of Governments (SCAG). 

The current and projected future population are shown in Table 8-3. 

 

Table 8-3. DWR 3-1R Current and Projected Population 

Population Served 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

MSWD 38,287 49,081 54,414 59,747 66,064 72,380 

Note:  2020 Population calculated using DWR population tool for SB X7-7 compliance.  Alternative 
estimates are 43,517 in 2020. 

 

Approximately 95 percent of the District’s service connections are for residential use, and of those 
approximately 95 percent are single-family residential connections. 

Demographic data for the City of Desert Hot Springs is summarized in Table 8-4. 

 

  

Page 1088

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-7 

 

Table 8-4.  City of Desert Hot Springs Demographic Data 

Age Distribution 
Race / Ethnicity 

Distribution 
Income and 

Household Size 
Household Income 

Distribution 

Age Percent Race/Ethnicity Percent Parameter Amount Income Percent 

19 years 
and 
under 

27.7% White 30.4% Median 
household 
income 

$33,046 $24,999 
and under 

38.4% 

20-34 
years 

19.1% Black 9.2% Average 
household 
income 

$46,178 $25,000-
$49,999 

30.3% 

35-54 
years 

27.2% Native 
American 

0.7% Per capita 
income 

$18,076 $50,000-
$74,999 

14.3 

55-64 
years 

12.4% Asian / Pacific 
Islander 

3.1% Percent of 
Population 
Below 
Poverty 
Level 

31.1% $75,000-
$99,999 

8.0% 

Over 65 
years 

13.6% Hispanic 54.5% Average 
Household 
Size 

2.71 $100,000-
$149,999 

6.6% 

  Other 2.1%   $150,000 
and 
above 

2.4% 

Notes 

Reference: American Community Survey 2014-2019 (United States Census Bureau, 2021) 

 

8.3.5    Land Uses within Service Area 

MSWD coordinates with the City of Desert Hot Springs and Riverside County on issues related to land use 
planning.   

The area of the City of Desert Hot Spring’s Sphere of Influence (City’s SOI) including the City and County-
managed lands over which the City has an advisory role constitutes approximately 40 percent (56 square 
miles) of MSWD’s water service area.  The City itself makes up approximately 17 percent of the District’s 
water service area (23 square miles).   

Approximately 60 percent of the area within the City’s SOI (including the City) is (or is planned to be) 
residential land use, with approximately 50 percent of the residential land use categorized as low-density 
residential and residential estates.  Approximately 23 percent of the land is categorized as open space.  
Approximately 17 percent of the land is categorized as commercial, industrial, or institutional (CII). 

The City completed an update of its General Plan in May of 2020.  The General Plan identifies policies and 
general categories of development envisioned for different areas within the City.  In its regional growth 
forecast, SCAG also coordinated with each land use jurisdiction to coordinate growth projections with 
current and projected future land use. 

 

Page 1089

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-8 

 Water Use Characterization 

This section summarizes MSWD’s current and projected future water use. 

8.4.1    Non-Potable Versus Potable Water Use 

MSWD currently receives 100 percent of its water supply from groundwater production and does not 
purchase imported water from a water wholesaler, although it does coordinate with DWA on replenishment 
of the groundwater basin with imported water.   

District groundwater meets all Federal and State primary and secondary water quality standards without 
treatment (other than chlorination for disinfection) with the exceptions that groundwater from Well No. 26A 
is treated at each well to meet the primary water quality standard for uranium. 

8.4.2    Past, Current, and Projected Water Use by Sector 

MSWD has summarized its water use for the past five years by customer sector.  Water use is tracked by 
customer type, using MSWD’s billing system.  Water production is tracked by recording groundwater 
production from the District’s wells. 

The difference between water production and metered water deliveries (billed to customers) is defined as 
non-revenue water.  Non-revenue water includes authorized non-billed use (such as fire fighting or 
flushing), and it includes losses from the system.   

MSWD has completed annual water audits using the American Water Works Association (AWWA) Water 
Audit Software.  The results are summarized in Table 8-5.  The completed audits are included in Appendix 
G of the RUWMP. 

 

Table 8-5.  DWR 4-4R 12 Month Water Loss Audit Reporting 

Report Period Start Date 
Volume of Water Loss (AFY) 

MM YYYY 

01 2015 655 

01 2016 717 

01 2017 897 

01 2018 823 

01 2019 1,002 

 

The water use for the past five years is summarized in Table 8-6. 

 

  

Page 1090

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-9 

 

Table 8-6.  DWR 4-1R Actual Demands for Water (AFY) 

Use Type 
Level of Treatment  

When Delivered 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Single Family Drinking Water 3,874 3,803 3,977 4,071 4,496 

Multi-Family Drinking Water 1,225 1,148 1,189 1,148 1,248 

Commercial Drinking Water 331 334 323 379 435 

Industrial Drinking Water 108 150 237 192 282 

Institutional / 
Governmental 

Drinking Water 163 197 205 161 170 

Landscape Drinking Water 844 871 982 999 933 

Other Drinking Water 720 899 925 1,879 705 

-   Total 7,223 7,812 7,875 7,692 8,269 

Note:  Other represents Non-Revenue water, which includes losses. 

 

MSWD is participating in the update of the Mission Creek Subbasin Alternate Plan Update being prepared 
to meet requirement of the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA).  The participating agencies 
coordinated efforts with demand projections being prepared for the Indio Subbasin Alternative Plan and the 
Mission Creek Subbasin Alternative Plan.  The demand projection approach included several steps: 

 The projections were based on the regional growth forecast prepared by the Southern California 
Association of Governments (SCAG) as part of their regional transportation plan.  SCAG’s most 
recent transportation plan is referred to as Connect SoCal.11  SCAG gathered input from cities 
and counties throughout Southern California about expected growth and development for the next 
25 years and incorporated the land use designations in each jurisdiction’s General Plan.  The 
SCAG analysis includes estimates of population, households, and employment in each Traffic 
Analysis Zone (TAZ) in their study area.12 

 Additional analysis of vacancy rates was performed to estimated baseline and projected housing 
units for the study area. 

 Future estimates of employment were used to drive future growth in Commercial, Industrial, and 
Institutional (CII) demands 

 Five years of customer billing data were used to develop unit demand factors.  These factors 
have units of gallons per housing unit for residential and landscape uses and gallons per 
employee for CII uses. 

 Water losses were estimated using water loss audits  
 Demands were adjusted for two types of conservation savings: 

o Indoor passive conservation savings from the natural replacement of indoor devices 

 

 

11 Information about Connect SoCal is available at https://scag.ca.gov/connect-socal 
 
12 An overview of the demographic and growth forecast is available at 
https://scag.ca.gov/sites/main/files/file-attachments/0903fconnectsocal_demographics-and-
growth-forecast.pdf?1606001579. 
 

Page 1091

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-10 

o Outdoor conservation savings from the implementation of the 2015 Model Water 
Efficiency Landscape Ordinance (MWELO) for future developments. 

MSWD’s projected future demands are shown in Table 8-7. 

 

Table 8-7.  DWR 4-2R Projected Demands for Water 
- Projected Water Use (AFY) 

Use Type 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Single Family  4,743   5,143   5,543   6,066   6,588  

Multi-Family  1,316   1,427   1,538   1,683   1,828  

Commercial  459   498   537   587   638  

Industrial  298   323   348   381   413  

Institutional / Governmental  179   194   209   229   249  

Landscape  984   1,067   1,150   1,258   1,366  

Other  1,017   1,102   1,188   1,300   1,412  

-Total  8,996   9,754   10,513   11,504   12,495  

Note:  Other represents Non-Revenue water, which includes losses. 

 

Demand projections prepared for this plan considered the incorporation of codes and standards.  The draft 
Mission Creek Subbasin Alternative Plan Update included modeling of anticipated future water savings due 
to fixture replacements.  The analysis included indoor savings related to toilets, showerheads, dishwashers, 
clothes washers, and urinals (categorized as indoor water use) as well as outdoor water use. Indoor 
conservation is mainly a result of government mandated water efficiency requirements for fixtures, defined 
as “passive savings”. The model considers these mandates and the average useful life and replacement 
rates for each type of fixture based on standard industry estimates and plumbing fixture saturation studies.  
It assumes that all new construction complies with the plumbing codes in effect at that time and that when 
a device is replaced, the new device is also in compliance with the current plumbing codes.  Estimated 
frequency of use for each type of fixture as determined by the Water Research Foundation and American 
Water Works Association Research Foundation were multiplied by the number of housing units to produce 
the total indoor passive conservation savings. 

Anticipated outdoor water use savings were based on the implementation of the California Model Water 
Efficiency Landscape Ordinance (MWELO) which is the standard for outdoor water conservation for the 
state.  The resulting water savings from the MWELO are estimated using an Evapotranspiration Adjustment 
Factor (ETAF) which adjusts the reference ET for plant requirements and irrigation efficiency.  No savings 
were assumed from special landscape areas, such as recreational areas, as these are allotted extra water 
use as well as existing landscapes as these savings are not considered passive since there are incentives 
under conservation programs.  

The anticipated savings due to these measures are summarized in Table 8-8.  These savings have been 
incorporated into the water demand projections presented in Table 8-7. 

 

  

Page 1092

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-11 

 

Table 8-8.  Anticipated Water Savings Due to Conservation 
 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Indoor Passive Savings (AFY) 118 236 354 472 590 700 

 

The DWR reporting framework accounts for recycled water separately from potable water.  More discussion 
of the recycled water supplies and demands are presented in Section 8.6.  Total projected gross water use, 
including both potable and recycled use, is shown in Table 8-9. 

 

Table 8-9.  DWR 4-3R Total Gross Water Use 

- 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Potable and Raw Water (AFY) 
From DWR Table 4-1R and 4-2R 

8,269  8,996   9,754   10,513   11,504   12,495  

Recycled Water Demand (AFY) 
From DWR Table 6-4R 

0   0 1,120 2,200 3,600 5,000 

Total Water Use 8,269 8,996 10,874 12,713 15,104 17,495 

Note:  Recycled water demands are discussed in Section 8.6  and are included in Table 8-15. 

 

8.4.3    Worksheets and Reporting Tables 

MSWD has completed the required UWMP submittal tables and included them in Appendix D of this 
RUWMP. 

8.4.4    Water Use for Lower Income Households 

For planning and funding purposes, the State Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) 
categorizes households into five income groups based on the County Area Median Income (AMI): 

 Extremely Low Income — up to 30 percent of AMI 
 Very Low Income - 31 to 50 percent of AMI 
 Low Income - 51 to 80 percent of AMI 
 Moderate Income - 81 to 120 percent of AMI 
 Above Moderate Income — greater than 120 percent of AMI 

Combined, extremely low, very low, and low income households are often referred to as lower income 
household. 

State Housing Element law requires that a local jurisdiction accommodate a share of the region’s projected 
housing needs for the planning period.  This share, called the Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA), 
is important because State law mandates that a jurisdiction provide sufficient land to accommodate a variety 
of housing opportunities for all economic segments of the community.  Compliance with this requirement is 
measured by the jurisdiction's ability in providing adequate land with adequate density and appropriate 
development standards to accommodate the RHNA.  The Southern California Association of Governments 
(SCAG), as the regional planning agency, is responsible for allocating the RHNA to individual jurisdictions 
within the region. 

SCAG assigned a RHNA of 4,196 units to the City of Desert Hot Springs for the 2014- 2021 RHNA period. 

Page 1093

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-12 

The lower income households total 1,646 units for the City of Desert Hot Springs.  The estimated water 
demand increase for these 1,646 lower income housing units is estimated at 1,055 AFY, which is included 
in the District’s demand projections. 

8.4.5    Climate Change Considerations 

Potential impacts of climate change on water use in the region are discussed in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

 SB X7-7 Baseline and Targets 

This section describes MSWD’s compliance with SB X7-7 and documents MSWD’s reduction in per-capita 
water use below its 2020 Urban Water Use Target. 

8.5.1    Wholesale Suppliers 

MSWD is not a wholesale supplier, and therefore this section is not applicable. 

8.5.2    SB X7-7 Forms and Tables 

MSWD has completed the SB X7-7 2020 Compliance Form and included it in Appendix E. 

8.5.3    Baseline and Target Calculations for 2020 UWMPs 

MSWD calculated its baselines and targets for its 2015 UWMP and has not re-calculated its baselines or 
targets for the 2020 RUWMP. 

8.5.4    Service Area Population and Gross Water Use 

MSWD has calculated its 2020 service area population using the DWR Population Tool.  MSWD uploaded 
a GIS boundary of its service area to the DWR Population Tool.  The Tool used the census data for 2000 
and 2010 to calculate population per residential service connection.  The tool then used the number of 
connections to estimate the population in 2020. 

MSWD’s gross water use was determined from the annual production and storage records.  Meter 
adjustments, exported water, distribution system storage, recycled water, and process water were not 
applicable to MSWD’s distribution system. 

8.5.5    2020 Compliance Daily Per Capita Water Use (GPCD) 

MSWD’s average use during the baseline period and confirmed 2020 target are shown in Table 8-10. 

 

Page 1094

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-13 

Table 8-10.  DWR 5-1R Baselines and Targets Summary 

Baseline Period 
Start 
Year 

End 
Year 

Average Baseline 
Use (GPCD) 

Confirmed 2020 
Target (GPCD) 

10-15 Year 1997 2006 289.7 234.9 

5 Year 2004 2008 291.2   

All values are in Gallons per Capita per Day (GPCD) 

 

MSWD’s compliance with the 2020 target is shown in Table 8-11. 

 

Table 8-11.  DWR 5-2R 2020 Compliance 

 

Optional Adjustments to 2020 Use 
2020 Confirmed 

Target GPCD 

Supplier 
Achieved 
Targeted 

Reduction 
in 2020 

Actual 2020 
Use (GPCD) 

Total Adjustments Adjusted 
2020 Use (GPCD) 

189  0 189 234.9 Yes 

All values are in Gallons per Capita per Day (GPCD) 

 

8.5.6    Regional Alliance 

The District is not participating in a regional alliance and is complying with SB X7-7 as an individual retail 
agency. 

 Water Supply Characterization 

This section describes and quantifies the sources of water available to MSWD. 

8.6.1    Water Supply Analysis Overview 

MSWD currently receives 100 percent of its water supply from the Coachella Valley groundwater basin via 
District owned and operated wells.   

8.6.2    Supply Characterization 

This discussion includes the types of water supply considered by DWR. 

Page 1095

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-14 

8.6.2.1    Purchased or Imported Water 

MSWD does not use purchased or imported water.  The region’s imported water supplies are discussed in 
Chapter 3. 

8.6.2.2    Groundwater 

MSWD currently receives 100 percent of its water supply from groundwater produced from subbasins within 
the Coachella Valley Groundwater Basin, which underlies the District’s water service area.  All of the 
subbasins except for the Desert Hot Springs Subbasin can provide potable water.  The Desert Hot Springs 
Subbasin is a “hot-water” basin that is highly mineralized with water temperatures exceeding 100 degrees 
Fahrenheit and is not used to supply potable water.  However, this hot, highly mineralized water is important 
to the local economy as it supports numerous spa resorts and hotels in and around the City of Desert Hot 
Springs. 

MSWD primarily produces groundwater from the Mission Creek Subbasin via eight active wells.  To a lesser 
extent, the District also produces groundwater from the Indio Subbasin (including the Garnet Hill Subarea) 
via three active wells; and the San Gorgonio Pass Subbasin via two active wells. 

In general, the existing groundwater quality from District wells is excellent.  All urban water served by MSWD 
meets state and federal drinking water quality standards. 

The Mission Creek Subbasin is located beneath both developed and undeveloped areas.  Given the high 
permeability of the surface sediments and the presence of residential / commercial / industrial activities 
within the subbasin boundaries, there is a possibility that the underlying groundwater could be impacted by 
various activities currently occurring or proposed in the subbasin.  While not all-inclusive, the following 
activities may pose the greatest threat to the existing groundwater quality in the subbasin: 

o Septic systems 
o Recharge of imported water 
o Abandoned/inactive wells 
o Accidental commercial/industrial discharges 

MSWD is actively pursuing a program to properly place residences/businesses in the district on the MSWD 
water supply system and promoting the proper abandonment of unused/inactive wells.  In addition, MSWD 
is converting residences/businesses currently on septic systems to the MSWD sewer collection and 
treatment system. 

Historical groundwater production is shown in Table 8-12. 

 

Table 8-12.  DWR 6-1R Groundwater Volume Pumped (AFY) 

Groundwater Type Location or Basin Name 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Alluvial Basin Mission Creek Subbasin 6,792 7,207 7,568 7,273 7,833 

Alluvial Basin San Gorgonio Pass 145 156 153 153 165 

Alluvial Basin Garnet Hill Subarea 285 449 154 266 270 

- Total 7,223 7,812 7,875 7,692 8,269 

 

8.6.2.3    Surface Water 

The District does not use, or plan to use, self-supplied surface water as part of its water supply. 

Page 1096

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-15 

8.6.2.4    Stormwater 

The District is currently not using stormwater to meet local water supply demands. At this time, there are 
no plans to utilize stormwater, but that could change in the future. 

8.6.2.5    Wastewater and Recycled Water 

The existing wastewater collection system for the water service area, which is operated and maintained by 
MSWD, consists of a network of approximately 45 miles of sewers, which are concentrated in the central 
portion of the study area where the majority of the populace and businesses reside.  The Desert Crest 
Country Club community first received sewer service in the early 1960s with the outlying tracts established 
later in the early 1970s.  Most of the MSWD sewer pipelines were constructed in the early 1970s and include 
lines along Ocotillo Road, Palm Drive, and Mission Lakes Boulevard.  In the early 1980s, improvements to 
the pipeline system were added to tracts west of West Drive. 

MSWD has an ongoing program to connect existing residences currently on septic systems to sewer 
collectors that have been constructed or are in the process of being constructed.  Since 2005, 3,520 parcels 
have been converted from septic to sewer service for a total of 7,700 parcels.  

MSWD operates two wastewater treatment plants.  The Horton Wastewater Treatment Plant (Horton 
WWTP), located on Verbena Drive about a half mile south of Two Bunch Palms Trail, has a capacity of 2.3 
million gallons per day (MGD).  The plant uses an extended aeration process for treatment and disposes 
of the secondary wastewater, which is not disinfected, in adjacent percolation/evaporation ponds.  The 
sludge generated from the treatment process is run through a dewatering sludge filter press and then 
trucked offsite to proper disposal areas.  The average daily flow metered to the plant in 2020 was 2.0 MGD. 

The Desert Crest Wastewater Treatment Plant, located about a half mile southeast of the intersection of 
Dillion Road and Long Canyon Road, has a capacity of 0.18 MGD and serves a country club development 
and mobile home park.  The facility operates similarly to the Horton WWTP using an aeration basin for 
treatment and disposes of the secondary wastewater, which is not disinfected, by way of 
percolation/evaporation ponds.  The sludge generated from the treatment process is dried in on-site beds 
and then trucked offsite to proper disposal areas. The average daily flow to the plant in 2020 was metered 
at 0.05 MGD.  

Both District wastewater treatment plants uses an extended aeration process for treatment and dispose of 
the secondary wastewater, which is not disinfected, in adjacent percolation/evaporation ponds located 
within the plant on the southwest (potable water) side of the Mission Creek Fault.  In addition, effluent is 
used for irrigation and maintenance at the treatment plants. 

Information about wastewater collected within the District’s service area is provided in Table 8-13.  
Information about wastewater treated and discharged in the District’s service area is provided in Table 8-14. 

 

Page 1097

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-16 

Table 8-13.  DWR 6-2R Wastewater Collected within Service Area in 2020 

Wastewater Collection Recipient of Collected Wastewater 

Name of Wastewater 
Collection Agency 

Wastewater Volume 
Metered or Estimated 

Wastewater Volume Collected 
from UWMP Service Area in 2020 

(AFY) 

Name of Wastewater Agency 
Receiving Collected Wastewater 

Wastewater Treatment 
Plant Name 

Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Located within UWMP Area 

WWTP Operation Contracted 
to a Third Party 

MSWD Metered 2,244 MSWD Alan L. Horton Yes No 

MSWD Metered 51 MSWD Desert Crest Yes No 

- Total 2,295         

 

 

Table 8-14.  DWR 6-3R Wastewater Treatment and Discharge within Service Area in 2020 
-             2020 Volumes (AFY) 

Wastewater 
Treatment Plant 
Name 

Discharge 
Location Name or 
Identifier 

Discharge 
Location 
Description 

Wastewater 
Discharge ID 
Number 

Method of 
Disposal 

Plant Treats 
Wastewater 
Generated Outside 
the Service Area 

Treatment Level 

Wastewater 
Treated 

Discharged 
Treated 

Wastewater 

Recycled 
Within 

Service Area 

Recycled 
Outside of 

Service Area 

Instream 
Flow Permit 
Requirement 

Alan L. Horton   Percolation ponds 7A330109012 Percolation ponds No 
Secondary, 
undisinfected 

2,244 2,244 0 0 0 

Desert Crest   Percolation ponds 7A330109021 Percolation ponds No 
Secondary, 
undisinfected 

51 51 0 0 0 

-           Total 2,295 2,295 0 0 0 

 

 

Page 1098

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-17 

 

MSWD’s 2004 Water Conservation Master Plan outlines various planned and implemented activities to 
ensure water use efficiency throughout the District’s service area.  Under System Reliability Initiatives, 
Initiative No. 2 calls for total management of water resources to ultimately include developing recycled water 
for appropriate beneficial uses.  The District’s Water Efficient Landscaping Guidelines identifies the 
installation of recycled water irrigation systems (dual distribution systems) as required to allow for the future 
use of recycled water, unless a written exemption has been granted. 

The District prepared a Recycled Water Program Development Feasibility Study in 2018 in which treatment 
and distribution alternatives and recycled water demands were identified.  It was determined that recycled 
water infrastructure could feasibly be implemented for groundwater recharge, and, subsequently, to supply 
existing and future irrigation demands and offset a portion of potable water demands.  Recycled water can 
be used for groundwater basin replenishment and favorably impacts water balance calculations. 

Approximately 30 percent of the potable water demand (after water losses) is typically conveyed to the 
District’s wastewater collection system and ultimately to the Horton WWTP and Desert Crest WWTP for 
treatment, as there are still many customers on septic systems.  As the District continues its program to 
convert existing septic systems to the wastewater collection system and connects to new customers, the 
percentage is envisioned to increase to approximately 55 percent by 2040.  The 55 percent projection for 
wastewater generation (interior water use) from potable water demand is based on recent studies in 
Southern California (approximately 45 percent) and the projection of increased exterior landscape irrigation 
conservation in the future. 

Due to the success of its septic to sewer program, , the District is constructing the MSWD Regional Water 
Reclamation Facility (RWRF) to meet increasing wastewater demands.  In its initial phase, the RWRF will 
uses an sequence batch reactor process for treatment and dispose of the secondary wastewater, which is 
not disinfected, in adjacent percolation/evaporation ponds located within the plant over the Garnet Hill 
Subarea.  The District plans to produce recycled water meeting Title 22 standards with tertiary treatment 
facilities in the subsequent phase.  The primary recycled water demands are foreseen to be replenishment 
of the Mission Creek Subbasin and public green areas, golf courses and playing fields that were identified 
as part of the 2018 study.  Consistent with recycled water demands that have been identified and estimated 
system wastewater flows, it is envisioned that the recycled water system including the RWRF will be 
expanded to accommodate a system recycled water system demand of 5,000 AFY by 2045. 

Estimates of future recycled water use are shown in Table 8-15.  The District’s projection from its 2015 
UWMP is shown in Table 8-16.  The projection from the 2015 UWMP was not met because the regional 
WWTP project has progressed more slowly than originally planned. 

 

Page 1099

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-18 

Table 8-15.  DWR 6-4R Recycled Water Within Service Area (AFY) 
Name of Supplier Producing (Treating) the Recycled Water MSWD 

Name of Supplier Operating the Recycled Water Distribution System MSWD 

Supplemental Volume of Water Added in 2020 0 

Source of 2020 Supplemental Water Not applicable (future planned use) 

Beneficial Use Type 
Potential Beneficial Uses of 
Recycled Water 

Amount of 
Potential Uses 
of Recycled 
Water   

General Description 
of 2020 Uses 

Level of Treatment 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Groundwater Recharge     None Tertiary   0 1,120 2,200 3,600 5,000 

-       Total 0 0 1,120 2,200 3,600 5,000 

 

 

Page 1100

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-19 

Table 8-16.  DWR 6-5R Recycled Water Use Projection Compared to Actual 

Use Type 
2015 Projection for 2020 

(AFY) 
2020 Actual 
Use (AFY) 

Landscape Irrigation (excludes golf courses) 300 0 

Golf Course Irrigation 820 0 

Total 1,120 0 

 

Potential methods to expand recycled water use are shown in Table 8-17. 

 

Table 8-17. DWR 6-6R Methods to Expand Future Recycled Water Use 

Name of Action Description 
Planned 

Implementation 
Year 

Expected Increase 
of Recycled Water 

Use (AFY) 

Construct Plant & 
Build RW 
Distribution 

Expand RWRF with tertiary 
treatment and construct distribution 
infrastructure 

2030 1,120 

Expand Plant and 
Build RW 
Distribution 

Expand RWRF Capacity and 
construct distribution infrastructure 

2035 1,080 

Expand Plant and 
Build RW 
Distribution 

Expand RWRF Capacity and 
construct distribution infrastructure 

2040 1,400 

Expand Plant and 
Build RW 
Distribution 

Expand RWRF Capacity and 
construct distribution infrastructure 

2045 1,400 

    

-   Total 5,000 

 

8.6.2.6    Desalinated Water Opportunities 

MSWD does not anticipate the future use of desalinated water within its service area, as the backbone 
facilities and infrastructure needed for desalination are not economically feasible. 

8.6.2.7    Water Exchanges and Transfers 

The District has not entered into any agreements for the transfer or exchange of water.  However, the 
District cooperates with DWA for the Desert Water Agency/Coachella Valley Water District (DWCV) SWP 
Table A Transfer and the DWCV Advance Delivery Program. 

8.6.2.8    Future Water Projects 

MSWD has installed approximately 65,700 linear feet of sewer since 2010 and has abated approximately 
1,275 septic tanks.  The District is continuing this program to connect additional parcels to the collection 
system. 

To produce recycled water meeting Title 22 standards, the District is constructing the Regional Water 
Reclamation Facility and plans to add tertiary treatment facilities in a subsequent phase.  Recycled water 

Page 1101

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-20 

system transmission and distribution system piping and other infrastructure will be constructed.  This project 
is included as an expected future water supply in Table 8-18. 

 

Table 8-18.  DWR 6-7R Expected Future Water Supply Projects or Programs 

Name of 
Future 

Projects or 
Programs 

Joint 
Project 

with 
Other 

Suppliers 

Agency 
Name 

Description 

Planned 
Imple-

mentation 
Year 

Planned for 
Use in Year 

Type 

Expected 
Increase 
in Water 

Supply to 
Supplier 

(AFY) 
Regional 
Water 
Reclamation 
Facility 

No MSWD 
Recycled water 
for non-potable 
use 

2030 
Average 

Year 
1,120 

 

8.6.2.9    Summary of Existing and Planned Sources of Water 

MSWD currently receives 100 percent of its water supply from groundwater production and does not 
purchase imported water from a water wholesaler.  However, CVWD and DWA are remediating the 
overdraft condition of the groundwater in the Upper Coachella Valley by replenishment with Colorado River 
and State Water Project (SWP) Exchange water from Metropolitan.  District groundwater meets all Federal 
and State primary and secondary water quality standards without treatment (other than chlorination for 
disinfection) with the exceptions that groundwater from Well No. 26A is treated at each well site to meet the 
primary water quality standard for uranium. 

The construction of recycled water infrastructure including tertiary treatment facilities at the planned RWRF 
is projected to accommodate future deliveries of recycled water. 

The actual supplies used by MSWD in 2020 are summarized in Table 8-19.  MSWD’s projected supplies 
through 2045 are summarized in Table 8-20. 

 

Table 8-19.  DWR 6-8R Actual Water Supplies 

-   2020 

Water Supply 
Additional Detail on 
Water Supply 

Actual Volume 
(AFY) 

Water Quality 

Groundwater (not 
desalinated) 

Mission Creek Subbasin 7,833 Drinking Water 

Groundwater (not 
desalinated) 

San Gorgonio Pass 
Subbasin 

165 Drinking Water 

Groundwater (not 
desalinated) 

Garnet Hill Subarea 270 Drinking Water 

- Total 8,269  

 

  

Page 1102

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-21 

 

Table 8-20.  DWR 6-9R Projected Water Supplies (AFY) 

Water Supply 

Additional 
Detail on 
Water 
Supply 

2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Groundwater (not 
desalinated) 

All Subbasins  8,996   9,754   10,513   11,504   12,495  

Recycled Water  0 1,210 2,200 3,600 5,000 

- Total 8,996 10,874 12,713 15,104 17,495 

Note:  Recycled water will be used for groundwater recharge and will not be a new demand.  It is 
presented as a supply and a demand for consistency with the DWR reporting framework. 
 

8.6.2.10    Special Conditions 

The potential impacts of climate change on regional water supplies are discussed in Chapter 3 of the 
RUWMP. 

8.6.3    Submittal Table Using Optional Planning Tool 

Because MSWD’s supply availability does not vary seasonally during a typical year, MSWD has not 
completed the optional DWR planning tool. 

8.6.4    Energy Use 

MSWD has used available energy data to estimate the energy intensity of its water operations.  In addition, 
MSWD completed a 1.0 mega-watt solar facility in 2019 that offsets approximately 35% of its energy 
consumption. The data are summarized in Table 8-21. 

 

  

Page 1103

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-22 

 

Table 8-21.  DWR O-1A Energy Intensity Reporting 
Table O-1A: Recommended Energy Reporting  - Water Supply Process Approach 
Enter Start 

Date for 
Reporting 

Period 

1/1/2019 Urban Water Supplier Operational Control 

End Date 12/31/2019 

Is upstream 
embedded 
in the 
values 
reported?  

 No Extract 
and 

Divert 

Place 
Into 

Storage 

Distribution Sum of All 
Water 

Management 
Processes 

Non-Consequential 
Hydropower  

Water 
Volume 

Units Used 

AF    Total Utility  Hydro-
power 

Net Utility  

Volume of Water 
Entering Process 

(volume unit) 

7,692 7,692 7,692 7,692 0 7,692 

Energy Consumed (kWh) 7,033,446 1,097,973 67,046 8,198,465 0 8,198,465 

Energy Intensity 
(kWh/volume) 

914.4 142.7 8.7 1065.8 0.0 1065.8 

 

Quantity of Self-Generated Renewable Energy 

2,100,000 kWh 

Data Quality (Estimate, Metered Data, Combination of Estimates and Metered Data) 

Metered Data 
 

Data Quality Narrative 

Energy use data was obtained from electricity consumption and production records maintained by the 
agency. 
Narrative 

The agency uses energy for groundwater production from wells, pumping at booster stations from lower 
pressure zones to higher pressure zones, and treatment processes.  The agency produces energy at a 1.0 
MW solar facility.  

 

 Water Service Reliability and Drought Risk Assessment 

Reliability is a measure of water service systems expected success in managing water shortages.  In 
addition to climate, other factors that can cause water supply shortages are natural disaster, such as 
earthquakes, chemical spills, energy outages and water quality issues. 

8.7.1    Reliability Overview 

The California Urban Water Management Planning Act (Act) requires urban water suppliers to assess water 
supply reliability that compares total projected water use with the expected water supply over the next 20-

Page 1104

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-23 

25 years in five-year increments.  The Act also requires an assessment for a single dry year and multiple 
dry years.  This section presents the reliability assessment for MSWD’s service area. 

8.7.2    Water Service Reliability Assessment 

The only current direct water source to MSWD is local groundwater.  The reliability of the District’s water 
supply is dependent on the reliability of groundwater supplies, supplemented by imported surface water 
used for groundwater replenishment and the planned implementation of recycled water supply.  

Further discussion of constraints on local water resources is included in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

Per UWMP requirements, MSWD has evaluated reliability for an average year, single dry year, and multiple 
dry year periods.  The average year represents a year or an averaged range of years that most closely 
represents the typical water supply available.  The UWMP Act uses the term “normal” conditions.  MSWD 
uses the long‐term average supply amounts, as presented herein, to represent average year conditions. 

The single dry year is the year that represents the lowest water supply available.  For this UWMP, 2014 
represents that the single dry year as a worst case with strict water conservation measures in place.  With 
regards to SWP water, only 5 percent of Table A water allocation were delivered in 2014. 

The multiple dry year period is the period that represents the lowest average water supply availability for a 
consecutive multi year period (five years or more).  This is generally considered to be the lowest average 
runoff for a consecutive multiple year period (five years or more) for a watershed since 1903.  This UWMP 
uses 2012 through 2016 as the multiple dry year period. 

MSWD’s ability to meet demands during the type of year scenarios described above is determined by an 
analysis of the available water supplies within MSWD’s water service area in each scenario.  Considering 
the groundwater basin management efforts presented throughout this RUWMP, the historical groundwater 
supply availability during these scenarios is assumed to be fully reliable and an accurate assumption for 
future reliability. 

A summary of the base years for each condition is shown in Table 8-22. 

 

Table 8-22.  DWR 7-1R Basis of Water Year Data 

-   Available Supply if Year Type Repeats 

Year 
Type 

Base 
Year 

Percent of 
Average Supply 

Average Year 2020 100% 

Single-Dry Year 2014 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 1st Year  2012 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 2nd Year 2013 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 3rd Year 2014 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 4th Year 2015 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 5th Year  2016 100% 

 

Projected normal-year average annual District supplies and demands are shown in Table 8-23. 

 

 

Page 1105

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-24 

Table 8-23.  DWR 7-2R Normal Year Supply and Demand Comparison 

- 
2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Supply Totals (AFY) 
From DWR Table 6-9R 

8,996 10,874 12,713 15,104 17,495 

Demand Totals (AFY) 
From DWR Table 4-3R 

8,996 10,874 12,713 15,104 17,495 

Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Note:  Recycled water used for groundwater recharge is presented as a supply and a demand for 
consistency with DWR reporting framework. 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for 
long-term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the 
agencies could produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here. 

 

Projected single-dry-year average-annual District supplies and demands are shown in Table 8-24. 

 

Table 8-24.  DWR 7-3R Single Dry Year Supply and Demand Comparison 

- 
2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Supply Totals (AFY) 8,996 10,874 12,713 15,104 17,495 

Demand Totals (AFY) 8,996 10,874 12,713 15,104 17,495 

Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Note:  Recycled water used for groundwater recharge is presented as a supply and a demand for 
consistency with DWR reporting framework. 
Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for 
long-term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the 
agencies could produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here. 

 

Projected multiple dry-year average-annual  District supplies and demands are shown in Table 8-25. 

 

  

Page 1106

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-25 

Table 8-25.  DWR 7-4R Multiple Dry Years Supply and Demand Comparison 

 -  - 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

First  
Supply Totals (AFY) 8,996 10,874 12,713 15,104 17,495 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 8,996 10,874 12,713 15,104 17,495 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Second 
Supply Totals (AFY) 8,996 10,874 12,713 15,104 17,495 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 8,996 10,874 12,713 15,104 17,495 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Third 
Supply Totals (AFY) 8,996 10,874 12,713 15,104 17,495 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 8,996 10,874 12,713 15,104 17,495 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Fourth 
Supply Totals (AFY) 8,996 10,874 12,713 15,104 17,495 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 8,996 10,874 12,713 15,104 17,495 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Fifth 
Supply Totals (AFY) 8,996 10,874 12,713 15,104 17,495 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 8,996 10,874 12,713 15,104 17,495 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Note:  Recycled water used for groundwater recharge is presented as a supply and a demand for 
consistency with DWR reporting framework. 
Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for 
long-term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the 
agencies could produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here. 

 

8.7.3    Drought Risk Assessment 

A new requirement for the 2020 UWMP is a five-year Drought Risk Assessment (DRA).  The DRA is based 
on projections of demand and available supply for the next five years. 

Demands are expected to increase to the projected demands for 2025.  It is expected that conservation 
messaging and programs will prevent any significant increase in demands from existing customers due to 
dry conditions.  The groundwater supply is reliable for a five-year dry period as the volume in storage can 
be drawn down during a dry period. 

The results of the DRA are summarized in Table 8-26.  

Page 1107

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-26 

 

Table 8-26.  DWR 7-5 Five-Year Drought Risk Assessment 

2021 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 8,414 
Total Supplies (AFY) 8,414 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2022 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 8,560 
Total Supplies (AFY) 8,560 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2023 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 8,705 
Total Supplies (AFY) 8,705 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2024 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 8,851 
Total Supplies (AFY) 8,851 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2025 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 8,996 
Total Supplies (AFY) 8,996 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for long-
term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the agencies could 
produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here. 

 Water Shortage Contingency Plan 

Page 1108

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-27 

MSWD has developed a Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP) to help manage potential future water 
shortages.  The WSCP is being adopted separately from the RUWMP and may be modified as needed 
based on changing conditions.  The WSCP is an attachment to this RUWMP. 

 Demand Management Measures 

The goal of the Demand Management Measures (DMM) section is to provide a comprehensive description 
of the water conservation programs that the District has implemented, is currently implementing, and plans 
to implement in order to meet its urban water use reduction targets. 

8.9.1    Demand Management Measures for Wholesale Suppliers 

MSWD is not a wholesale supplier, and therefore this section is not applicable. 

8.9.2    Existing Demand Management Measures for Retail 

The District has made the State-mandated DMMs a key element in the overall water resource management 
strategy.  The District is dedicated to implementing water conservation measures, as demonstrated in the 
District’s adopted (September 2004) Water Conservation Master Plan.  The Water Conservation Master 
Plan defines a series of sensible water conservation activities that complement the unique water resource 
characteristics of the District’s service area.  The Plan represents a qualitative effort at identifying and 
screening potential conservation initiatives appropriate for implementation in the District’s service area.  The 
data will assist the District in determining which initiatives should be continued to meet long-term 
conservation objectives. 

As part of the Water Conservation Master Plan, the District identified factors affecting water conservation 
within the District.  Significant factors are impacting water use within the District and include the following: 
Limited availability of water as a resource in Coachella Valley; the District’s 100 percent dependency on 
groundwater as a water source; lack of other potable water sources and limited emergency 
interconnections; assessments to DWA for future imported water supply; continued new residential 
development in the City of Desert Hot Springs; risk of future degradation of groundwater supplies from 
septic systems, and commercial and industrial development; and the need to implement costly new sources 
of water (reclamation/conjunctive use, etc.). 

The water conservation principles identified in the District’s Water Conservation Master Plan were outlined 
and include detailed tasks.  Overall, the District aims to employ the following principles: 

o Clarify and summarize the District’s conservation programs, reflecting conservation commitments 
made through the UWMP and other programs. 

o Ensure that the conservation measures adopted by the District treat all customers fairly and 
equitably. 

o Do not create undue pressure on revenue stability resulting in water costs exceeding local socio-
economic conditions. 

o Identify and establish measurable conservation targets to be accomplished by the District within a 
reasonable period of time. 

o Develop sensible approaches for practical, cost-effective and efficient conservation programs 
which anticipate and serve the long-term needs of District customers. 

o Facilitate the District’s ability to provide a dependable, reliable supply of water. 

The District also developed a conceptual framework for the proposed conservation planning process 
throughout the service area.  Four phases are envisioned as part of the process, including the formulation 
of conservation principles, program refinement, program implementation and program evaluation.  The 
Plan’s Conservation Action Plan seeks to implement the conceptual framework in a “dual approach,” 
whereby regulatory and management practices are jointly utilized. In the Conservation Action Plan, the 

Page 1109

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-28 

process for establishing measurable conservation targets is discussed. Three distinct components for the 
process are identified as the following: 

o Establishment of measurable targets, 
o Identifying worthwhile conservation measures, and 
o Evaluating the effects of conservation activities and attainment of goals 

The District’s implementation of the demand management and water conservation measures are discussed 
below. 

8.9.2.1    Water Waste Prevention Ordinances 

In 2004, the District adopted two major conservation policy statements: a water conservation master plan 
and water efficient landscaping guidelines.  The Water Conservation Master Plan identifies several key 
areas in which the District will pursue more efficient water use practices, namely: efficient landscaping 
guidelines; efficient landscaping requirements for new development; and xeriscape demonstration garden; 
efficient landscaping incentives; conservation education programs in schools, community and bimonthly 
billing information; tiered water pricing that encourages conservation; updated water shortage ordinance; 
water audits for the largest users; and rebates for water efficient plumbing fixtures. 

8.9.2.2    Metering 

The District maintains water meters on all residential, commercial, industrial and municipal connections to 
the District’s water distribution system. 

The District has an aggressive meter replacement program.  Meters are re-built or replaced on a multi-year 
cycle to ensure accuracy and proper functioning.  The District’s water system is fully metered.  Therefore, 
the District completes annual checks on the accuracy and operation of production meters by either 
recalibrating and reinstalling meters, or by replacing meters that do not fall within the required operating 
range of AWWA standards.  Monthly non-revenue water is accounted for.  In 2020, the District completed 
a system-wide upgrade to advanced metering infrastructure (AMI), which allows for the direct transmission 
of water use data between the point of consumption and the utility.  As such, AMI provides a higher level 
of accuracy, eliminates the need to manually read water meters, improves overall efficiency of operations, 
and allows for the identification of potential leaks. 

8.9.2.3    Conservation Pricing 

The District has a tiered rate structure for water service within its service area.  The tiered rate structure is 
intended to discourage high water use.  The District may also enact a drought surcharge, as required by 
Statewide drought measures.  For example, during the 2016 California Drought, the District implemented a 
temporary $0.05 per hundred cubic feet drought surcharge, consistent with State drought requirements. 
Most of the District’s water customers also receive sewer service from District. The District imposes rates 
for sewer service based on maximum potential water usage, billed at a uniform rate for residential 
customers. Commercial sewer service fees are based on water usage and also promote water 
conservation. 

8.9.2.4    Public Education and Outreach 

The District maintains a website titled MSWD.org which provides information regarding: 

 Methods to reduce water use; 
 Watering restrictions; 
 A dedicated conservation page; 
 A water efficient planting database; 
 An evaporative cooler maintenance program and primer; 
 Fines and surcharges associated with violation of watering restrictions; 
 Water rebates for installing certain water saving devices and turf removal; and 
 Other frequently asked questions regarding water use and conservation 

Page 1110

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-29 

Moreover, the District has partnered with SCE and SCGC in school education outreach programs that 
provide information to children to learn the importance of water conservation. 

The Groundwater Guardian Program is a community educational program developed by The Groundwater 
Foundation, a private, non-profit educational organization recognized internationally, in Lincoln, Nebraska. 
"Designation as a Groundwater Guardian Community is presented by The Groundwater Foundation to 
communities which demonstrate an ongoing participatory approach to protecting groundwater resources." 
"For continuing designation as a Groundwater Guardian, a community must submit an Annual Entry Form 
and proposed ROA (Result Oriented Activities) Plan(s) by February each year; continue ongoing activities; 
and submit an Annual Report in August each year." For more information about The Groundwater 
Foundation and/or the Groundwater Guardian Program see www.groundwater.org. 

The Desert Hot Springs community has three Groundwater Guardian Teams and a Groundwater Guardian 
Affiliate: 

o Desert Hot Springs Groundwater Guardian Team (Community - 1st Designated in 1995) 
o Mission Springs Water District (Affiliate - 1st Designated in 1997) 
o Desert Hot Springs High School (nation's 1st Groundwater Guardian Campus Team - 1st 

Designated in 2000) 
o Desert Springs Middle School (Groundwater Guardian Campus Team - 1st Designated in 2004) 

8.9.2.5    Programs to Assess and Manage Distribution System Real Losses 

The District is currently using a wide range of operational policies and practices to ensure the efficient use 
of its water supply.  The District conducts monthly monitoring of all water services. In addition, daily 
inspection of all facilities such as pump stations, wells, reservoirs, valve vaults, etc., is completed.  On an 
annual basis, visual inspection of all easements and pipeline alignments is accomplished. 

The District conducts water audits and leak detection through various District activities focused on finding 
and correcting water losses.  Field crews visually survey the system as they travel the throughout the 
District’s service area on a daily basis.  The District’s telemetry system, and newly implemented AMI 
system, also enhances the ability to locate and correct large leaks expeditiously.  Leak monitoring is 
accomplished by all operations field personnel.  In the event of a leak, prompt response and investigation 
are communicated to the District by customers and other entities.  Leak and other system losses (fire flows) 
are calculated monthly and recorded in a database. 

The District demonstrates to all customers how to identify toilet leaks using dye tablets.  At public outreach 
events, the District provides the dye tablets at no charge and offers a pamphlet on how to use them.  The 
District encourages landlords to make them available to tenants.  Finally, the availability of the free tablets 
is advertised on the District website, stating that customers may come into the District lobby and pick up 
tablets at no charge.  The District also offers Indoor Water Conservation kits at no charge to customers.  
The kits include faucet and kitchen aerators, low-flow shower head, leak detection tablets, and toilet tank, 
toilet fill cycle divertor.  This has been advertised on the District quarterly newsletter as well as the website.  
Customers are encouraged to reach out to the District and the District mails one out to them at no additional 
charge.  

The District works diligently to confirm that the appropriate parties are billed for water loss resulting from 
damaged fire hydrants, air-vacuums, blow offs, dig-ins, etc.  In addition, monthly monitoring of 
“unaccounted-for” water losses assists in identifying leaks.  Average unaccounted-for water losses are 
currently at approximately 13.5 percent for the District. 

To evaluate the effectiveness of these conservation measures, the District finance staff will continue to 
review the data records to confirm that unaccounted-for water remains low and consistent.  Because of the 
District’s proactive measures, the unaccounted-for water losses are projected to be approximately 13.5 
percent.  Industry guidelines have established a standard rate of water savings based on the repair of a 
distribution line:  a 1-inch crack in a distribution main at 100 pounds per square inch (psi) can leak 57 
gallons per minute.  Cost and savings depend on the age of infrastructure for the water system. 

The District implements programs on leak detection and repair, metering, meter replacement, system 
flushing, reservoir cleaning and maintenance, valve maintenance and mapping.  The District continued 

Page 1111

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-30 

reviewing distribution system operational procedures and maintenance practices with appropriate field and 
administrative staff, as detailed in the 2004 Water Conservation Master Plan.  These measures will ensure 
system reliability.  The hydrant flushing program will be reviewed for its scope and timing, as well as to 
determine how much water is lost during flushing. 

The Desert Willow waterline replacement project included 8,200 linear feet of 8-inch ductile iron pipe which 
will replace aging 8-inch PVC water lines, and 153 service line replacements.  In 2010 MSWD saw 
approximately 800 service line leak which triggered a service line replacement program.  On average 
MSWD budgeted $100,000-$120,000 annually to replace poly service lines. In 2020, MSWD was seeing 
approximate 230 service line leaks annually.  Over the past eight years, MSWD has also implemented 
seismic valve controls on the Districts reservoirs to mitigate water loss during a sizable earthquake event.  
MSWD also implemented additional water loss tracking at well sites with the installation of flow meters on 
the pump to waste lines for each well.  Most wells will also discharge to drywells or ponds onsite allowing 
water to percolate back into the groundwater aquifer in lieu of running off the well sites. 

In 2019, MSWD began a system wide advanced metering infrastructure (AMI) program.  Since deploying 
the AMI system, the District has seen a substantial decrease in calls to deploy a technician to the property 
to check the meter for high bill calls or the check reads as the District has daily/hourly flow data available 
through the Neptune 360 dashboard.  The system allows District staff to resolve identify issues related to 
high consumption and resolve them quickly with customers. 

8.9.2.6    Water Conservation Program Coordination and Staffing Support 

The District has designated the Programs and Public Affairs Associate responsible for implementing both 
the conservation master plan as well as monitoring progress in fulfilling DMMs and a state conservation 
order.  

The District continues to be involved in water conservation programs and coordinates with the four other 
water agencies of the Coachella Valley through the Coachella Valley Regional Water Management Group 
and CV Water Counts (www.cvwatercounts.com) regional conservation group. 

8.9.2.7    Other Demand Management Measures 

The District in concert with the SCE, and SCGC has developed a number of consumption reduction/ 
conservation program methods for residential, landscape, and commercial/ industrial/institutional 
customers that include: 

 Water Use Surveys/Audits 
 Rebates or Giveaways of Plumbing Fixtures and Devices 
 Rebate Programs including: 

o Turf conversion 
o High Efficiency Toilet rebates 

 Leak detection and monitoring program 
 Evaporative cooler maintenance and assessment program 

Large landscape irrigation surveys are offered to cost effectively achieve quantifiable water savings. The 
audits are performed in conjunction with the District’s Efficient Landscaping Guidelines, adopted by the 
District board on December 20, 2004. The guidelines establish effective water efficient landscape 
requirements for newly installed and rehabilitated landscapes, as well as promote water conservation 
through climate appropriate plant material and efficient irrigation practices. 

Section 0.00.040 of the District’s Landscaping Guidelines outlines provisions for landscape water audits. 
Under the Guidelines, all landscaped areas which exceed 1.0 acre (43,560 square feet), including golf 
courses, green belts, common areas, multifamily housing, schools, businesses, public works, parks, and 
cemeteries, may be subject to a landscape irrigation audit at the discretion of the District if the District 
determines that the annual maximum applied water allowance has been exceeded for a minimum of 2 
consecutive years. At a minimum, the audit will be conducted by a certified landscape irrigation auditor and 
shall be in accordance with the California Landscape Irrigation Auditor Handbook, the entire document 
which is hereby incorporated by reference. 

Page 1112

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-31 

The Guidelines also require an irrigation design plan, which includes the installation of separate landscape 
water meters for all projects except for single-family homes or any project with a landscaped area of less 
than 2,500 square feet. Automatic control systems shall be required for all irrigation systems and must be 
able to accommodate all aspects of the design. Mechanical irrigation controllers are prohibited. Plants that 
require different amounts of water shall be irrigated by separate valves. If one valve is used for a given 
area, only plants with similar water use shall be used in that area. Anti-drain valves shall be installed in 
strategic points to prevent low-head drainage. Sprinkler heads shall have application rates appropriate to 
the plant water use requirements within each control valve circuit. Scheduling aids, including soil moisture 
sensing devices and ET controllers, are required and recommended, respectively. Emitters shall have 
applications rates appropriate to the plant water use requirements within each control valve circuit. 

Since early 2002, the District has been an active participant along with various Coachella Valley area public 
agencies and private sector organizations to develop a standardized landscape ordinance appropriate to 
the arid desert climate. The resulting Coachella Valley-Wide Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance 
(Ordinance No.1302 adopted by CVWD on March 25, 2003) is designed to ensure consistency of landscape 
water efficiency standards, and applies to new and rehabilitated landscapes within the Valley. A key feature 
of the Ordinance is a 25 percent reduction in landscape water use. This savings is achieved by changing 
the plant water-use coefficient factor in the formula originally established by AB 325 from 0.8 to 0.6. With 
this ordinance, new landscaping for any parcel in the Coachella Valley can use no more than 60 percent of 
the water required for an equivalent sized parcel completely planted in grass. 

The City of Desert Hot Springs adopted the District’s Efficient Landscaping Guidelines, and incorporated 
them into its Ordinance No. 2005-02, which establishes a Water Efficient Landscaping Ordinance within 
the City’s boundaries. The Ordinance was updated and revised in 2009 and subsequently readopted again 
by the City. The City’s Ordinance directly follows the District’s Ordinance as applicable to the City’s 
jurisdiction. In other jurisdictions served by the District, the Riverside County Planning Department and the 
City of Palm Springs require compliance with the District’s Landscaping Guidelines as a condition of new 
building permits and/or certificates for occupancy. 

The adoption of the District’s Guidelines by the City of Desert Hot Springs, and its consistency with CVWD 
and City’s water conservation measures, demonstrates the District’s commitment to regional collaboration 
and support for the implementation of large landscape conservation programs. 

The District’s Water Conservation Master Plan sets forth an initiative to require water efficient practices in 
landscape plans and irrigation systems of all new or substantially rehabilitated residential and commercial 
development projects. 

In late 2003, the District assumed a leadership role in landscape water conservation by partnering with a 
local builder to develop a series of cost-effective and aesthetically pleasing landscape design options for 
the builder’s new residential tract. The landscape solutions emphasized the use of native desert and other 
water-conserving plants, in concert with water efficient irrigation systems. A key goal of this joint venture 
was to satisfy the maximum applied water allowance budget established by the Coachella Valley-Wide 
Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance. The landscape designs jointly developed between the District and 
the builder also reflect several factors important to homeowners, including the style of landscaping, the 
maintenance demands and water use of a particular design option, and cost. This collaborative effort has 
resulted in over 30 percent of the homes in Phase 1 of the project featuring water wise landscaping. The 
District’s leadership and innovation was recognized by the water community when the Association of 
California Water Agencies (ACWA) presented the District with the Theodore Roosevelt Environmental 
Award in 2004 for the Lifestyle Landscaping Program. 

The District was part of the Riverside County Conservation Task Force to create the Riverside County 
Water Use Efficiency Ordinance. The District was an active member of the Task Force to encourage 
approval and adoption of the ordinance among stakeholders, including County Supervisors, planning 
agencies, cities, and water districts. To date, a water budget approach has been recommended to allow 
customers flexibility and does not dictate design implementation. In addition, the Task Force evaluated the 
use and inclusion of Weather Based Irrigation Controllers (WBIC), enforcement of the Ordinance, support 
from stakeholders, and emphasis on education as key components of the implementation. The Task Force 
developed the Model (draft) Ordinance in 2008/09 with compliance by local cities by January 1, 2010. 

Page 1113

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-32 

The District provides resources to assist residents in planning and implementing a desert- friendly 
landscape. Residents within the District service area are provided with the steps for water conservation 
measures in their homes and businesses under the following three categories of land uses: Residential 
Landscape Makeover, Landscape Planning (in-fill projects which require a building permit), and Landscape 
Planning (tract projects). The steps for each category are summarized below. 

The District continues to recommend water-wise and desert-friendly plant materials in homes and 
businesses. Desert-friendly landscape styles include the following: Arid, Semi-Arid, and Lush & Efficient. 
Arid landscapes include slower growing, low water use plant materials and often incorporate decorative 
rock or mulch into the landscape design. A 2000-square foot, Arid landscape design will use about 29,000 
gallons of water per year. Semi-Arid landscapes use plant materials similar to Arid, but may also include a 
limited turf area for pets and children, if needed. 

The Semi-Arid style may include a mix of low and medium water-use plants. A 2000 square foot, Semi-Arid 
landscape will use about 38,000 gallons of water per year. Lush & Efficient landscapes may incorporate 
high water use plants or a larger amount of grass. Careful, ongoing maintenance of the irrigation system is 
a must, as well as shaping the turf areas to conform to sprinkler patterns and avoid runoff. A 2000 square 
foot, Lush & Efficient landscape will use about 56,000 gallons of water per year. A turf lawn requires heavy 
maintenance and uses about three times more water than the Semi-Arid landscape. Turf lawns also look 
out of place, and do not blend in with the desert’s natural beauty. A 2,000 square foot turf landscape will 
use about 96,000 gallons of water per year. 

The District also refers its service area residents to the following links for further information: 

 The New Mexico Office of the State Engineer 5-step guide to creating a water-wise landscape, 
called “Xeriscape 101: A Step-by-Step Guide to Creating a Water-Wise Yard.” 
http://www.ose.state.nm.us/water-info/conservation/xeriscape-101.html. 

 Gallery of California Heritage Gardens: 
http://www.bewaterwise.com/Gardensoft/garden_gallery.aspx 

 CVWD’s guide, “Lush & Efficient: Gardening in the Coachella Valley,” contains information on 
topics such as “The Ingredients of a Desert Garden,” “Grouping Plants by Sun and Water Needs,” 
and “How Much and When to Water.” It also includes a month-to-month gardening calendar for 
the Coachella Valley and a vast plant database. “Lush & Efficient” can be ordered from CVWD or 
you can browse the online version at: http://cvwd.org/lush&eff.htm. 

 The Southern Nevada Water Authority has useful information on general landscape tips at: 
http://www.snwa.com/html/ws_landscape_tips.html 

 The Alliance for Water Awareness and Conservation (AWAC) provides featured plant updates at: 
http://www.hdawac.org/ 

 The Water Education Water Awareness Committee (WEWAC) provides monthly plant features at: 
http://www.usewaterwisely.com/potm.cfm 

 MSWD Mission: conservation - Plant Guide provides a custom search tool for water efficient 
plants and provides calculation on water use and other helpful information for turf replacement 
and new landscaping, at: http://topratedms.azurewebsites.net/ 

On its website, the District also provides a water budget calculator to assist residents in figuring out what 
their water allowance is and how the landscape alternatives fit into the allowance. The District provides 
detailed instruction on how to use the calculator, including determining square footage of landscape and 
annual maximum water allowance for landscape. Based on the calculations, a type of irrigation will be 
suggested, for example, drip irrigation (non-turf), and the recommended area in which to use spray 
irrigation. 

The District then provides a step by step process for selecting the types of plants that will meet the 
recommended irrigation methods and landscape size. The water use calculator estimates the amount of 
water that the selected landscape and plant materials will use on an annual basis. Next, the District provides 
recommendations on design and installation of an efficient irrigation system. The District encourages public 
consultation of the District staff as a source of information. 

Page 1114

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-33 

8.9.3    Implementation 

The majority of the water conservation programs implemented within the District’s service area have been 
conducted in coordination with the Southern California Gas Company.  The following represents the 
District’s best understanding of the nature and extent of these programs over the past five years. 

The Mission Springs LivingWise® Program, a school-based energy efficiency education program, is 
designed to generate immediate and long-term resource savings by bringing interactive, real-world 
education home to students and their families.   

MSWD, amongst other Coachella Valley water agencies, are part of CV Water Counts, a nonprofit 
collaborative that was formed to focus on water conservation, through awareness and education programs 
for Coachella Valley residents, businesses and government.  In February 2020, CV Water Counts reported 
that since June 2015, the Coachella Valley has saved more than 50 billion gallons of water.  

Additionally, in 2015-2016 MSWD implemented a Turf Rebate Program to incentivize the removal of high 
water consuming turf grass (and/or significant groundcover plant materials that are similar in water demand) 
and replaced it with desert-friendly, water-efficient landscaping.  The program was available to all MSWD 
customers; including a residential component for single family homes, a commercial component that 
included for-profit and non-profit businesses and multi-family housing, and a public-properties component 
included all municipal properties and those considered public, such as parks, medians, government 
buildings, schools and similar properties.  The intent was to replace turf with aesthetically pleasing desert 
landscaping and reduce water consumption and water runoff as well as increase education about water 
conservation and desert friendly landscaping.  Residents could earn up to $3,000 in rebate per project and 
commercial property owners could receive up to $10,000 per project.  Each project would receive $2 per 
square foot of turf removed and were required to pay a minimum of 35% of the project expenses.  As 
demand is again increasing for such a program, MSWD is opening it back up in Spring 2021.  

Also in 2016, MSWD implemented a Plumbing Retrofit Rebate Program for the sole purpose of reducing 
domestic water consumption through incentivizing the installation of water efficient plumbing fixtures, such 
as replacing toilets that used at least 3 gallons per flush and replacing shower heads and faucet aerators 
with “WaterSense” approved fixtures. The plumbing program was open to residential, multi-family and 
commercial customers.  Beginning in 2020, MSWD has opened up the Plumbing Retrofit Rebate Program 
to provide customers with a greater opportunity to participate in efficient water use.  

Lastly, MSWD also completed an Evaporative Cooler and Maintenance Program in 2016 to further combat 
water waste.  Evaporative coolers can use between 3 and 15 gallons per hour and the program was aimed 
at providing maintenance to existing systems and disseminating information to residents on efficient use. 

A summary of MSWD conservation DMMs for the years 2016 through 2020 is shown in Table 8-27. 

 

Table 8-27.  Summary of DMM Implementation (2016 – 2020) 
Conservation Area / Type 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

 Quantity Quantity Quantity Quantity Quantity 

Number of landscape audits - - - - - 

Water Wise Residential Plumbing 
Retrofit Kits (No. Distributed) 

- - - - - 

Toilet Rebates (# completed) 100 - - - 11 

Water Cooler Audits/Maintenance (# 
completed) 

14 - - - - 

Turf Replacement Program (# 
completed) 

76 - - - - 

Page 1115

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-34 

Conservation Area / Type 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Residential Turf Replacement Program 
(sf completed) 

82,025 - - - - 

CII Turf Replacement Program (sf 
completed) 

47,279 - - - - 

Turf Replacement Program ($ Paid) 187,952 - - - - 

Turf Replacement Program ($ Pending) 0 - - - - 

 

8.9.3.1    Public Education and Outreach 

The extent of the District’s involvement in programs for public education and outreach has not been 
quantified.  As the program matures and the program is further developed, the District will have a better 
understanding of the extent of the overall program. 

The District runs a continual advertising campaign focusing on conservation. These advertisements appear 
in both regular as well as periodic publications. Public education and outreach also extend to social media 
outlets such as Facebook, Nextdoor, Instagram, Twitter, LinkedIn and the CV Water Counts website and 
social media outlets. 

The Desert Hot Springs community has three Groundwater Guardian Teams and a Groundwater Guardian 
Affiliate. Designation as a Groundwater Guardian Community is presented by The Groundwater Foundation 
to communities which demonstrate an ongoing participatory approach to protecting groundwater resources. 

8.9.3.2    Programs to Assess and Manage Distribution System Real Loss 

As previously stated, the District conducts monthly monitoring of all water services. In addition, daily 
inspection of all facilities such as pump stations, wells, reservoirs, valve vaults, etc., is completed. On an 
annual basis, visual inspection of all easements and pipeline alignments is accomplished. 

A budgeted service line replacement program has been ongoing since 2010. 

The extent of the District’s involvement in programs to assess and manage distribution losses has not been 
quantified.  As the program matures and the program is developed, the District will have a better 
understanding of the extent of the overall program. 

8.9.4    Implementation to Achieve Water Use Targets 

Through the implementation of District water conservation ordinances and measures, total per-capita 
District water use has significantly dropped from 308.1 GPCD in 2005 to 216.0 GPCD in 2010 to 172.1 
GPCD in 2015 (a reduction of 44.1% since 2005). Residential per-capita District water use has also 
significantly dropped from 189.8 GPCD in 2005 to 160.4 GPCD in 2010 to 121.1 GPCD in 2015 (a reduction 
of 36.2% since 2005). MSWD has surpassed the required 20% reduction for 2020. 

Many of the water conservation measures already implemented and being implemented by District 
customers such as turf removal, conversion to drought resistance landscapes, turf replacement, conversion 
to more efficient irrigation systems and ET-based irrigation controllers, retrofits to toilets and plumbing 
fixtures, implementation of weather-based irrigation controllers, AMI meters, etc. will have permanent 
effects on water use (reduction) in the future. 

Lower per-capita water use is projected for new housing development (relative to existing housing and 
development) due to new building codes and landscape ordinances. California’s newly adopted green 
building code will have a direct impact on home building and water conservation in the State.  The new 
code aims to cut indoor water consumption by at least 20%, primarily through more efficient indoor water 

Page 1116

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-35 

fixtures. For a three-bedroom house, the saving is estimated to be about 10,000 gallons of water per year, 
on average. 

The California Green Building program also includes outdoor water conservation by reducing the area 
devoted to high-irrigation lawns and plants, emphasizing natural drought-tolerant plantings, and installing 
irrigation controls that respond to local weather conditions.  This is consistent with the District’s 2009 Water 
Efficient Landscaping Guidelines and the Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance (MWELO), which 
was adopted by the State on July 15, 2015 and was adopted by the City of Desert Hot Springs. 

8.9.5    Water Use Objectives (Future Requirements) 

Updated water use objectives are being developed for water suppliers to meet the requirements of the 
CWC.  The final water use objectives for MSWD have not yet been determined.  The DMMs described in 
this section are expected to align with MSWD’s efforts to comply with these objectives when they are 
finalized. 

 Plan Adoption, Submittal, and Implementation 

This section includes a discussion of MSWD’s process for adopting, submitting, and implementing the 
RUWMP and MSWD’s WSCP. 

8.10.1    Inclusion of All 2020 Data 

The District is reporting on a calendar year basis.  This report includes completed data for calendar year 
2020. 

8.10.2    Notice of Public Hearing 

There are two audiences to be noticed for the public hearing; cities and counties, and the public.  

MSWD supplies water to the City of Desert Hot Springs and to the unincorporated area of Riverside County.   
Notices were provided to these entities as shown in Table 8-28. 

The City of Desert Hot Springs and Riverside County were notified that MSWD will be reviewing the UWMP 
and considering amendments to the Plan.  This notice was sent at least 60 days prior to the public hearing.  
The District provided notice of the time and place of the public hearing by publishing such notice in a local 
newspaper at least two weeks and one week prior to the date of the public hearing, respectively.  A copy 
of the 60-day notice letters is included in Appendix B. 

 

Table 8-28.  DWR 10-1R Notification to Cities and Counties 
City 60 Day Notice Notice of Public Hearing 

Desert Hot Springs Yes Yes 

Palm Springs Yes Yes 

County 60 Day Notice Notice of Public Hearing 

Riverside Yes Yes 

 

The District’s public notice of the public hearing was published in the newspaper on two occasions before 
the public hearing.  Copies of the proof of publications are included in Appendix B. 

Page 1117

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

8-36 

8.10.3    Public Hearing and Adoption 

The District held a public hearing on June 21, 2021 to hear public comment and consider adopting this 
RUWMP and MSWD’s WSCP.  As part of the public hearing, the District provided information on its baseline 
values, water use targets, and implementation plan required in the Water Conservation Act of 2009.  

The public hearing on the UWMP took place before the adoption of the UWMP, which allowed the District 
the opportunity to modify the UWMP in response to public input before adoption.   

The District adopt the RUWMP and MSWD’s WSCP before submitting them to DWR.  A copy of the District’s 
adoption resolution is included in Appendix H. 

8.10.4    Plan Submittal 

The RUWMP and MSWD’s WSCP will be submitted to DWR within 30 days of adoption and by July 1, 
2021.  UWMP submittal will be done electronically through WUEdata, an online submittal tool.   

Not later than 30 days after adoption, the District will submit a CD or hardcopy of the adopted UWMP to the 
California State Library. 

8.10.5    Public Availability 

Not later than 30 days after filing a copy of the RUWMP and MSWD’s WSCP with DWR, the District will 
make the plans available for public review during normal business hours by placing a copy of the UWMP 
at the front desk of the District’s office, and by posting the UWMP on the District’s website for public viewing. 

8.10.6    Notification to Public Utilities Commission 

MSWD is not regulated by the California Public Utilities Commission, and therefore this section is not 
applicable. 

8.10.7    Amending an Adopted UWMP or Water Shortage Contingency Plan 

If the District amends the adopted RUWMP or MSWD’s WSCP, each of the steps for notification, public 
hearing, adoption, and submittal will also be followed for the amended plan. 

 

 

Page 1118

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-1 

 

 

 Introduction 

The Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company (MDMWC) has participated in the Coachella Valley Regional 
UWMP to meet its reporting requirements for 2020.  This chapter describes information specific to MDMWC 
and its water use efficiency programs. 

Updates to the California Water Code (CWC) for the 2020 reporting cycle are discussed in Chapter 1 of the 
RUWMP. 

9.1.1    Chapter Organization 

This chapter is organized into the sections recommended by the Guidebook prepared by the California 
Department of Water Resources (DWR). 

 Sub-Chapter 1 provides an introduction to the chapter. 
 Sub-Chapter 2 shows details about the preparation of this RUWMP. 
 Sub-Chapter 3 presents information about the service area. 
 Sub-Chapter 4 presents information about current and projected future water demands. 
 Sub-Chapter 5 documents compliance with SB X7-7 through a reduction in per-capita water use. 
 Sub-Chapter 6 presents the current and planned future water supplies. 
 Sub-Chapter 7 assesses the reliability of supplies and presents a comparison of projected future 

supplies and demands. 
 Sub-Chapter 8 discusses the Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP) that will help guide 

actions in case of a future water shortage. 
 Sub-Chapter 9 presents information about Demand Management Measures (DMMs) being 

implemented to encourage efficient water use. 
 Sub-Chapter 10 presents information about the adoption and submittal process for this RUWMP 

and the WSCP. 

9.1.2    UWMPs in Relation to Other Efforts 

The related planning efforts by agencies in the Coachella Valley are described in Chapter 2 of the RUWMP. 

9.1.3    UWMPs and Grant or Loan Eligibility 

The CWC requires urban water suppliers to have a current UWMP, deemed sufficient at addressing the 
CWC requirements by DWR, on file with DWR in order for the urban water suppliers to be eligible for any 
water management grant or loan administered by DWR.  In addition, the UWMP Act requires a retail water 
agency to meet its 2020 Compliance Urban Water Use Target and report compliance in the 2020 UWMP.  

9.1.4    Demonstration of Consistency with the Delta Plan for Participants in Covered Actions 

The participating agencies’ approach to demonstrating reduced reliance on the Delta is described in 
Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

  

Page 1119

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-2 

 Plan Preparation 

This section provides information on MDMWC’s process for developing this RUWMP, including efforts in 
coordination and outreach. 

9.2.1    Plan Preparation 

Because MDMWC supplies over 3,000 acre-feet per year (AFY) of water for retail purposes, it is considered 
an “urban retail water supplier” according to the CWC, and therefore must prepare a 2020 UWMP. 

9.2.2    Basis for Preparing a Plan 

MDMWC operates one Public Water System (PWS) as defined by the California Health and Safety Code.  
Public Water Systems are regulated by the State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB, or Board), 
Division of Drinking Water (DDW).  MDMWC’s PWS information is shown in Table 9-1. 

 

Table 9-1.  DWR 2-1R Public Water Systems 
Public Water 
System 
Number 

Public Water System Name 
Number of 
Municipal 

Connections 2020 

Volume of Water 
Supplied 2020 

(AF) 

3310051 Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 2,567 3,987 

- Total 2,567 3,987 

 

9.2.3    Regional Planning 

MDMWC is participating in the Coachella Valley Regional UWMP with five other water agencies, as 
described in Chapter 2 of the RUWMP. 

9.2.4    Individual or Regional Planning and Compliance 

MDMWC is reporting on SB X7-7 compliance as an individual agency; a regional alliance was not used. 

9.2.5    Fiscal or Calendar Year and Units of Measure 

MDMWC does not sell wholesale water and is a retail agency.  This report was prepared using calendar 
years and acre-feet as a measure of water. 

9.2.6    Coordination and Outreach 

MDMWC has coordinated with other agencies in the development of this plan.  This coordination is 
described in Chapter 2 of the RUWMP.  MDMWC does not rely upon water supply from a wholesale agency, 
as supply is provided exclusively from MDMWC groundwater wells. 

  

Page 1120

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-3 

 System Description 

This section includes a description of MDMWC’s service area, climate, and population projections. 

9.3.1    General Description 

The Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company (MDMWC) is a retail urban water supplier that was established 
in 1953 to provide potable water service to the community of Bermuda Dunes.  MDMWC has grown over 
the years, seeing housing booms in the mid-1980s, late 1990s, and mid-2000s, and it now provides service 
to more than 2,500 customers in the Bermuda Dunes area.  MDMWC is a mutual water company that is 
governed by a four-member Board of Directors. 

MDMWC’s service area is located within the Coachella Valley in Southern California.  MDMWC’s service 
area is approximately 2.6 square miles, generally bounded by the I-10 Freeway to the north, Washington 
Street to the west, Fred Waring Drive to the south, and Jefferson Street to the east.  There is a small area 
of homes in the center of the MDMWC service area that is served by Coachella Valley Water District 
(CVWD). 

The service area is predominantly comprised of single-family residential demands, with outdoor water use 
being a major component of this demand category.  The service area also includes multi- family residential, 
commercial, and landscape irrigation demands.  Currently, the Bermuda Dunes Country Club (BDCC) and 
Bermuda Dunes Airport irrigation demands are met with their own private wells, not MDMWC potable water.  
The service area is near build-out, with some small pockets of potential development, more so towards the 
northern and western edges of the service area. 

MDMWC serves its customers through a network of pressurized water distribution facilities.  Myoma's water 
supply source consists solely of groundwater from the Indio Subbasin.  Water is extracted via five active 
groundwater wells with a total nominal production capacity of 10,300 gallons per minute (gpm).  Two of the 
wells pump directly into two respective one-million gallon reservoirs, which serve as forebays to the 
distribution system.  Two booster stations with nominal capacities totaling 7,500 gallons per minute deliver 
water from the forebays into the distribution system. The other three wells pump directly into the distribution 
system. The distribution system consists of a single pressure zone that is operated at pressures from 
approximately 70 to 100 pounds per square inch (psi).  Current treatment consists of wellhead chlorine 
injection.  MDMWC is not interconnected with any other water purveyor and is completely reliant upon its 
own groundwater well supply and storage. 

9.3.2    Service Area Boundary Maps 

MDMWC’s service area boundary is shown in Figure 9-1.  MDMWC only provides potable water service, 
and therefore, has a single service area boundary.  No changes have been made to the service area since 
the beginning of the baseline period (1995) through 2020. 

 

Page 1121

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-4 

 

Figure 9-1.  MDMWC Service Area Boundary 
 

Page 1122

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-5 

9.3.3    Service Area Climate 

The Coachella Valley has a unique climate due to it being situated between two mountain ranges, 
characterized as arid with year-round warm temperatures and relatively high winds.  Precipitation is 
minimal, typically occurring during the winter months.  

Monthly climate data are summarized in Table 9-2 and are shown in Figure 9-2. 

 

Table 9-2.  Monthly Average Climate Data 
Parameter Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Annual 

Average Max. 
Temperature (F) 

72 75 82 87 93 103 106 106 101 90 80 65 88 

Average Minimum 
Temperature (F) 

42 45 52 58 63 70 76 75 69 59 49 39 58 

Average Total 
Precipitation (in) 

0.5 0.6 0.7 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.4  0.2 0.7 3.8 

Evapotranspiration, 
ETo (in) 

2.7 3.6 6.0 7.7 9.2 9.8 9.7 9.1 7.2 5.2 3.3 2.3 75.7 

Notes: 

Data from California Irrigation Management Information System (CIMIS) Station 200, Indio 2.  Data from May 2006 through 
December 2020 

 

 

 

Figure 9-2.  Monthly Average Climate Data 
 

A discussion of the potential impacts of climate change on the region is included in Chapter 3 of the 
RUWMP. 

9.3.4    Service Area Population and Demographics 

0.5 0.6 0.7 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.2 0.7 

2.7 
3.6 

6.0 

7.7 

9.2 
9.8 9.7 

9.1 

7.2 

5.2 

3.3 
2.3 

 -

 20

 40

 60

 80

 100

 120

 -

 2.0

 4.0

 6.0

 8.0

 10.0

 12.0

Te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

 (F
)

Pr
ec

ip
ita

tio
n 

an
d 

ET
o 

(in
)

Precipitation (in) ETo (in) Maximum Air Temperature (F) Minimum Air Temperature (F)

Page 1123

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-6 

MDMWC serves the majority of Bermuda Dunes, which is a Census-Designated Place (CDP) in Riverside 
County, and a small portion of the City of La Quinta.  Because MDMWC’s service area is not substantially 
the same as a city or CDP, the DWR Population Tool methodology has been used for estimating MDMWC’s 
current and historical service area population.  DWR’s Population Tool utilizes U.S. Census data and an 
electronic map of MDMWC’s service area to obtain population data for census years.  Using the number of 
service connections, the tool calculates the population for the non-census years. 

Estimates of future population within the MDMWC service area were made using projections prepared by 
the Southern California Association of Governments (SCAG). 

Current and projected populations within MDMWC’s service area are presented in Table 9-3. 

 

Table 9-3.  DWR 3-1R Current and Projected Population 

Population Served 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

MDMWC 7,167 7,780 8,070 8,360 8,421 8,482 

 

The Coachella Valley region has a large seasonal population, with the majority of the influx typically 
occurring during the months of November to April.  This seasonal population can be generally attributed to 
persons that wish to enjoy the mild winters of the Coachella Valley, as well as other recreational and tourist 
attractions. 

In terms of water demand impacts, seasonal residents may not be counted toward census population, but 
often still use water throughout the year for landscape irrigation.  This phenomenon can result in higher 
than typical per capita water usage.  According to the 2014-2019 American Community Survey (ACS) 5-
Year Estimates, of the 2,816 housing units in the Bermuda Dunes CDP, 1,014 of these (36 percent) were 
vacant, and 844 of these vacant units (83 percent) were used for seasonal, recreational, or occasional use. 
For the City of La Quinta, of the 25,990 housing units, 10,042 (39 percent) were vacant, with 9,426 (94 
percent) used for seasonal, recreational, or occasional use. 

A summary of the demographics of the Bermuda Dunes CDP and the City of La Quinta is presented in 
Table 9-4 and Table 9-5.  Note that these values are not directly representative of MDMWC’s as its water 
service boundary does not directly coincide with the CDP or City boundaries. 

  

Page 1124

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-7 

 

Table 9-4.  Bermuda Dunes CDP Demographic Data 

Age Distribution 
Race / Ethnicity 

Distribution 
Income and 

Household Size 
Household Income 

Distribution 

Age Percent Race/Ethnicity Percent Parameter Amount Income Percent 

19 
years 
and 
under 

25.2% White 58.5% Median 
household 
income 

$59,860 $24,999 
and under 

18.0% 

20-34 
years 

18.0% Black 1.8% Average 
household 
income 

$77,829 $25,000-
$49,999 

23.2% 

35-54 
years 

25.8% Native 
American 

0.0% Per capita 
income 

$33,786 $50,000-
$74,999 

16.7% 

55-64 
years 

12.6% Asian / Pacific 
Islander 

3.5% Percent of 
Population 
Below 
Poverty 
Level 

12.4% $75,000-
$99,999 

15.9% 

Over 65 
years 

18.6% Hispanic 33.8% Average 
Household 
Size 

2.38 $100,000-
$149,999 

13.2% 

  Other 2.5%   $150,000 
and 
above 

13.1% 

Notes: 

Totals may not equal 100% due to rounding errors. 

Reference: American Community Survey 2014-2019 (United States Census Bureau, 2021) 

 

  

Page 1125

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-8 

 

Table 9-5.  City of La Quinta Demographic Data 

Age Distribution 
Race / Ethnicity 

Distribution 
Income and Household 

Size 
Household Income 

Distribution 

Age Percent Race/Ethnicity Percent Parameter Amount Income Percent 

19 
years 
and 
under 

22.2% White 57.3% Median 
household 
income 

$77,839 $24,999 
and under 

13.3% 

20-34 
years 

14.0% Black 1.7% Average 
household 
income 

$120,884 $25,000-
$49,999 

19.9% 

35-54 
years 

22.4% Native 
American 

0.1% Per capita 
income 

$48,186 $50,000-
$74,999 

15.3% 

55-64 
years 

15.5% Asian / Pacific 
Islander 

3.5% Percent of 
Population 
Below 
Poverty 
Level 

11.2% $75,000-
$99,999 

11.4% 

Over 65 
years 

25.9% Hispanic 34.7% Average 
Household 
Size 

2.57 $100,000-
$149,999 

17.3% 

  Other 2.7%   $150,000 
and 
above 

22.7% 

Notes: 

Totals may not equal 100% due to rounding errors. 

Reference: American Community Survey 2014-2019 (United States Census Bureau, 2021) 

 

9.3.5    Land Uses within Service Area 

Land use jurisdictions with MDMWC’s service area include the City of La Quinta and Riverside County.  
During its preparation of regional growth projections, SCAG gathered input and coordinated outreach with 
both jurisdictions.  MDMWC has coordinated with these agencies to align its growth projections with local 
plans. 

 Water Use Characterization 

This section describes current and projected future water use within the MDMWC service area.  Although 
the MDMWC service area is substantially built-out, there are still many complex factors that impact water 
use projections such as weather, demand restrictions, housing trends, and landscaping conversions.  

9.4.1    Non-Potable Versus Potable Water Use 

MDMWC currently serves only potable water to its customers.  

Page 1126

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-9 

9.4.2     Past, Current, and Projected Water Use by Sector 

Water use for the past five calendar years has been categorized by sector in accordance with the sectors 
accepted by the Water Use Efficiency (WUE) data online submittal tool.  MDMWC’s metering categories 
generally coincide with the WUE sectors.  MDMWC only supplies drinking water from groundwater wells 
for retail consumption.  MDMWC does not supply raw water or recycled water. 

The water use sectors in the MDMWC service area are summarized in Table 9-6. 

 

Table 9-6.  Water Use Sectors 
Sector Description 

Single-Family Residential A single-family dwelling unit. A lot with a free-standing building 
containing one dwelling unit that may include a detached secondary 
dwelling. 

Multi-Family Residential Multiple dwelling units contained within one building or several 
buildings in a single complex. 

Commercial A water user that provides or distributes a product or service. 

Landscape Water connections supplying water solely for landscape irrigation. 
Such landscapes may be associated with multi-family, commercial, 
industrial, or institutional/governmental sites, but are considered a 
separate water use sector if the connection is solely for landscape 
irrigation. 

Distribution System Losses Reporting of system losses is required by the CWC in the 2020 
UWMPs. 

Other Other metered water use that is not assigned a specific billing 
category, such as metered construction use, etc. 

 

Distribution system water losses include real and apparent losses.  Real losses are the physical water 
losses from the water distribution system as well as storage facilities, up to the point of customer 
consumption.  Apparent losses (also known as “paper losses”) include losses due to water theft, metering 
inaccuracies, or data errors. Combined, these two components make up total water losses. 

MDMWC water losses for the past five years been estimated using the American Water Works Association 
(AWWA) Method, covered in AWWA M36 – Water Audits and Loss Control Programs, utilizing the AWWA 
Water Audit Software (WAS).  The results are summarized in Table 9-7, and the completed audits are 
included in Appendix G of the RUWMP. 

 

Table 9-7.  DWR 4-4R 12 Month Water Loss Audit Reporting 

Report Period Start Date 
Volume of Water Loss (AFY) 

MM YYYY 

01 2015 288 

01 2016 290 

01 2017 237 

01 2018 367 

01 2019 271 

 

Page 1127

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-10 

Water use for the past five years is shown in Table 9-8. 

 

Table 9-8.  DWR 4-1R Actual Demands for Water (AFY) 

Use Type 
Additional 
Description 

Level of 
Treatment  
When 
Delivered 

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Single Family   Drinking Water 2,145 2,218 2,375 2,315 2,474 

Multi-Family   Drinking Water 75 75 79 77 317 

Commercial   Drinking Water 497 557 562 572 374 

Landscape   Drinking Water 244 243 263 242 274 

Other 
Hydrants, 
Non-Billed, 
Fire Protection 

Drinking Water 1 6 3 1 132 

Other Non-Revenue Drinking Water 336 302 438 407 416 

-   Total 3,297 3,402 3,719 3,613 3,987 

 

Local agencies are currently participating in the update of the Indio Subbasin Alternate Plan Update being 
prepared to meet requirement of the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA).  The participating 
agencies coordinated efforts with demand projections being prepared for the Indio Subbasin Alternative 
Plan and the Mission Creek Subbasin Alternative Plan.  The demand projection approach included several 
steps: 

 The projections were based on the regional growth forecast prepared by the Southern California 
Association of Governments (SCAG) as part of their regional transportation plan.  SCAG’s most 
recent transportation plan is referred to as Connect SoCal.13  SCAG gathered input from cities and 
counties throughout Southern California about expected growth and development for the next 25 
years and incorporated the land use designations in each jurisdiction’s General Plan.  The SCAG 
analysis includes estimates of population, households, and employment in each Traffic Analysis 
Zone (TAZ) in their study area14. 

 Additional analysis of vacancy rates was performed to estimated baseline and projected housing 
units for the study area, including housing units used by seasonal residents and other part-time 
uses. 

 Future estimates of employment were used to drive future growth in Commercial, Industrial, and 
Institutional (CII) demands 

 Five years of customer billing data were used to develop unit demand factors.  These factors have 
units of gallons per housing unit for residential and landscape uses and gallons per employee for 
CII uses. 

 Water losses were estimated using water loss audits.  
 Demands were adjusted for two types of conservation savings: 

o Indoor passive conservation savings from the natural replacement of indoor devices 

 

 

13 More information is available at https://scag.ca.gov/connect-socal 
 
14 An overview of the demographic and growth forecast is available at 
https://scag.ca.gov/sites/main/files/file-attachments/0903fconnectsocal_demographics-and-
growth-forecast.pdf?1606001579 
 

Page 1128

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-11 

o Outdoor conservation savings from the implementation of the 2015 Model Water Efficiency 
Landscape Ordinance (MWELO) for future developments. 

The projected water use is shown in Table 9-9. 

 

Table 9-9.  DWR 4-2R Projected Demands for Water (AFY) 
- 

Additional 
Description 

Projected Water Use 

Use Type 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Single Family   2,716 2,817 2,918 2,939 2,961 

Multi-Family   348 361 374 377 380  

Commercial / Industrial / 
Institutional 

  
410 426 441 444 447 

Landscape   300 312 323 325 327 

Other   145 150 156 157 158 

Losses   457 474 491 494 498 

- Total 4,376 4,539 4,702  4,737 4,771 

 

Demand projections prepared for this plan considered the incorporation of codes and standards.  The draft 
Indio Subbasin Alternative Plan Update included modeling of anticipated future water savings due to fixture 
replacements.  The analysis included indoor savings related to toilets, showerheads, dishwashers, clothes 
washers, and urinals (categorized as indoor water use) as well as outdoor water use. Indoor conservation 
is mainly a result of government mandated water efficiency requirements for fixtures, defined as “passive 
savings”. The model considers these mandates and the average useful life and replacement rates for each 
type of fixture based on standard industry estimates and plumbing fixture saturation studies.  It assumes 
that all new construction complies with the plumbing codes in effect at that time and that when a device is 
replaced, the new device is also in compliance with the current plumbing codes.  Estimated frequency of 
use for each type of fixture as determined by the Water Research Foundation and American Water Works 
Association Research Foundation were multiplied by the number of housing units to produce the total indoor 
passive conservation savings. 

Anticipated outdoor water use savings were based on the implementation of the California Model Water 
Efficiency Landscape Ordinance (MWELO) which is the standard for outdoor water conservation for the 
state.  The resulting water savings from the MWELO are estimated using an Evapotranspiration Adjustment 
Factor (ETAF) which adjusts the reference ET for plant requirements and irrigation efficiency.  No savings 
were assumed from special landscape areas, such as recreational areas, as these are allotted extra water 
use as well as existing landscapes as these savings are not considered passive since there are incentives 
under conservation programs.  

The anticipated savings due to these measures are summarized in Table 9-10.  These savings have been 
incorporated into the demand projections presented in Table 9-9. 

 

  

Page 1129

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-12 

 

Table 9-10.  Anticipated Savings Due to Conservation 
- 

Additional 
Description 

Projected Water Savings (AFY) 

Use Type 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Indoor Passive Savings  39 52 61 66 69 

Outdoor Passive Savings  95 128 159 179 195 

- Total 134 180 220 245 264 

 

Total water demands are listed in Table 9-11. 

 

Table 9-11.  DWR 4-3R Total Gross Water Use (AF) 

- 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Potable and Raw Water 
From DWR Table 4-1R and 4-2R 

3,987 4,376 4,539 4,702 4,737 4,771 

Recycled Water Demand* 
From DWR Table 6-4R 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total Water Use 3,987 4,376 4,539 4,702 4,737 4,771 

 

9.4.3    Worksheets and Reporting Tables 

MDMWC has completed the required UWMP submittal tables and included them in Appendix D of this 
RUWMP. 

9.4.4    Water Use for Lower Income Households 

The portion of MDMWC’s service area north of Avenue 42 is considered low income housing based on the 
DWR’s Disadvantaged Communities (DAC) mapping tool.  A DAC is a community with an annual median 
household income (MHI) that is less than 80 percent of the Statewide annual MHI. 

Using geographic meter records, the number of connections and water use within the DAC was determined. 
The connections for lower income households were estimated to be approximately 25 percent of the total 
residential connections in the service area.  MDMWC estimates that approximately 25 percent of its demand 
is delivered to lower income households.  This percentage is expected to remain approximately constant 
for future years.  This demand has been included in the demand projections presented in this report. 

9.4.5    Climate Change Considerations 

The agencies participating in the Regional UWMP have prepared an assessment of potential climate 
change impacts on demand.  This information is presented in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

Page 1130

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-13 

 SB X7-7 Baseline and Targets 

MDMWC’s methods for calculating baseline and target water consumption values are described in this 
section.  This section also documents MDMWC’s compliance with its 2020 Urban Water Use Target. 

9.5.1    Wholesale Suppliers 

MDMWC is not a wholesale supplier, and therefore this section is not applicable. 

9.5.2    SB X7-7 Forms and Tables 

MDMWC has completed the SB X7-7 2020 Compliance Form and included it in Appendix E. 

9.5.3    Baseline and Target Calculations for 2020 UWMPs 

MDMWC calculated its baselines and targets for its 2015 UWMP, and MDMWC has not re-calculated its 
baselines or targets for the 2020 RUWMP. 

9.5.4    Service Area Population and Gross Water Use 

MDMWC serves the majority of the Bermuda Dunes CDP and a small portion of the City of La Quinta.  
Because MDMWC’s service area is not substantially the same as a city or CDP (“substantially the same” 
defined as service area boundaries corresponding by 95 percent or more with the boundaries of a city or 
CDP during the baseline period), the DWR Population Tool methodology has been used for estimating 
MDMWC’s service area population.  DWR’s Population Tool utilizes U.S. Census data and an electronic 
map of MDMWC’s service area to obtain population data for census years.  Using the number of service 
connections, the tool calculates the population for the non-census years. 

MDMWC’s gross water use was determined from production records.  One hundred percent of MDMWC’s 
supply entering the distribution system is provided by groundwater wells owned and operated by MDMWC.  
All groundwater wells pump from the Indio Subbasin.  As MDMWC does not utilize recycled water, does 
not place water into long term storage, does not convey water to another urban supplier, does not deliver 
water for agricultural uses, and does not deliver water to industrial users, no deductions to gross water use 
have been made.  

9.5.5    2020 Compliance Daily Per Capita Water Use (GPCD) 

Per capita water use has been historically high in the MDMWC service area, which may be attributed in 
part to the following reasons: 

 Hot, dry climate with very little rainfall 
 Irrigated turf yards 
 Swimming pools 
 Past water use habits from a historical flat water rate 
 Vacation homes and seasonal habitants underrepresenting service area population 

It should be noted that the BDCC golf course, which occupies a relatively large portion of MDMWC’s service 
area, irrigates with a private well supply.  MDMWC only supplies potable water to BDCC’s clubhouse, 
restrooms, and drinking fountains.  

MDMWC’s average use during the baseline period and confirmed 2020 target are shown in Table 9-12. 

 

Page 1131

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-14 

Table 9-12.  DWR 5-1R Baselines and Targets Summary 

Baseline Period 
Start 
Year 

End 
Year 

Average Baseline 
Use (GPCD) 

Confirmed 2020 
Target (GPCD) 

10-15 Year 1995 2004 859 685 

5 Year 2003 2007 721   

*All values are in Gallons per Capita per Day (GPCD) 

 

The reduced per capita consumption already achieved is largely expected to continue as water use habits 
developed during the recent drought period become more permanent, turf is replaced with more drought-
tolerant landscaping, alternative water supply sources are secured, and tiered rate structures are utilized. 

MDMWC’s compliance with the 2020 target is shown in Table 9-13. 

 

Table 9-13.  DWR 5-2R 2020 Compliance 

Actual 2020 
Optional Adjustments to 2020 Use 

2020 Confirmed 
Target (GPCD) 

Supplier Achieved 
Targeted Reduction 

in 2020 Use (GPCD) Total 
Adjustments 

Adjusted 
2020 Use (GPCD) 

497 0 497 685 Yes 

*All values are in Gallons per Capita per Day (GPCD) 

 

9.5.6    Regional Alliance 

MDMWC is complying with SB X7-7 as an individual retail agency and did not participate in a Regional 
Alliance. 

 Water Supply Characterization 

This section describes and quantifies the sources of water available to MDMWC.   

9.6.1    Water Supply Analysis Overview 

Within the MDMWC service area, the only direct water source employed for potable urban water use is 
local groundwater from MDMWC wells.  This groundwater is pumped from the Indio Subbasin of the 
Coachella Valley hydrologic basin.  More information about the Indio Subbasin is presented in Chapter 3 
of the RUWMP. 

9.6.2    Supply Characterization 

This discussion includes the types of water supply considered by DWR. 

Page 1132

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-15 

9.6.2.1    Purchased or Imported Water 

MDMWC does not independently purchase, exchange, or import water from any source outside of 
Coachella Valley.  As described in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP, imported water is used on a regional basis 
for groundwater replenishment. 

9.6.2.2    Groundwater 

Groundwater is the sole source of supply for MDMWC.  MDMWC supplies are primarily from the eastern 
end of the Indio Subbasin.  Because the Indio Subbasin is a non-adjudicated basin, MDMWC operates 
under overlying groundwater rights and pumps supplies from the aquifer as needed to meet demands within 
its service area. 

MDMWC’s historical groundwater pumping is summarized in Table 9-14.  

 

Table 9-14. DWR 6-1R Groundwater Volume Pumped (AFY) 

Groundwater Type Location or Basin Name 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Alluvial Basin Indo Subbasin 3,297 3,402 3,719 3,613 3,987 

- Total 3,297 3,402 3,719 3,613 3,987 

 

9.6.2.3    Surface Water 

Irrigation needs at the BDCC golf course and Bermuda Dunes Airport are currently met with private well 
supply.  There is a planned CVWD project to serve Canal water to the BDCC for irrigation purposes to help 
decrease groundwater basin overdraft, which includes the construction of a new pump station and 
transmission main.  There is also the potential for serving Bermuda Dunes Airport irrigation demands from 
the Canal, whose irrigation demand amounts to slightly over 20 acre-feet per year; however, there is 
currently no planned project. 

9.6.2.4    Stormwater 

MDMWC does not currently use stormwater as a water supply.  Stormwater in the Coachella Valley typically 
percolates into the groundwater basin or is conveyed to the Coachella Valley Stormwater Channel (CVSC); 
however, there is some stormwater catchment at the Whitewater River GRF and other smaller recharge 
basins.  Due to the extremely limited amount of rainfall and runoff in the region, stormwater is not currently 
regarded as a high priority potential water source. 

9.6.2.5    Wastewater and Recycled Water 

MDMWC does not possess any recycled water infrastructure and does not produce or serve any recycled 
water.  In the immediate vicinity of MDMWC, CVWD is the only agency that is currently producing recycled 
water.  CVWD operates five water reclamation plants (WRPs), three of which generate recycled water for 
irrigation of golf courses and large landscaped areas.  Indio Water Authority (IWA) and Valley Sanitary 
District (VSD) are currently evaluating potential options for recycled water use, although no recycled water 
is produced at this time. 

Irrigation needs at the BDCC golf course and Bermuda Dunes Airport are currently met with private well 
supplies.  Current plans are to serve Canal water to the BDCC for irrigation purposes. There are currently 
no plans to provide recycled water to these customers, or to any other customer. 

MDMWC does not currently provide any wastewater collection services within its service area.  Roughly a 
third of MDMWC’s customers have wastewater collection services provided by CVWD, with the remainder 
on septic systems. The wastewater that is collected by CVWD is conveyed to CVWD’s WRP-7 facility, 

Page 1133

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-16 

which treats and supplies recycled water.  The wastewater within the MDMWC service area that is sent to 
CVWD’s WRP-7 facility is not separately metered; therefore, volumes are estimated. 

MDMWC does not provide any wastewater treatment service. The wastewater that is collected by CVWD 
is conveyed to CVWD’s WRP-7 facility, located approximately 3 miles north of MDMWC’s service area in 
north Indio. 

Wastewater collection within the MDMWC service area is summarized in Table 9-15. 

 

Page 1134

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-17 

Table 9-15.  DWR 6-2R Wastewater Collected within Service Area in 2020 

Wastewater Collection Recipient of Collected Wastewater 

Name of Wastewater 
Collection Agency 

Wastewater Volume 
Metered or Estimated 

Wastewater Volume Collected 
from UWMP Service Area in 2020 

(AFY) 

Name of Wastewater Agency 
Receiving Collected Wastewater 

Wastewater Treatment 
Plant Name 

Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Located within UWMP Area 

WWTP Operation Contracted 
to a Third Party 

CVWD Estimated 100 CVWD WRP-7 No No 

- Total 100         

Note:  For MDMWC customers on CVWD sewer, "Volume of Wastewater Collected from UWMP Service Area" was estimated assuming 35 percent of metered water consumption becomes wastewater using an average of expected 
ranges of indoor versus outdoor use for the Bermuda Dunes area. 

 

 

 

 

Page 1135

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-18 

MDMWC did not use recycled water within its service area in 2020.  MDMWC’s 2015 UWMP did not project 
the use of recycled water in 2020. 

MDMWC does not have current or planned uses for recycled water primarily due to the lack of wastewater 
treatment capabilities within the service area.  Some limited recycled water service is being provided in the 
surrounding area, and while water agencies in the vicinity are continuing to evaluate and plan for recycled 
water use, the future availability of recycled water and location of recycled water facilities with respect to 
MDMWC is uncertain.  Costs to install wastewater treatment facilities or a dual recycled water distribution 
system are likely prohibitive at this time.  Furthermore, the largest potential recycled water users currently 
utilize low cost private well supplies, with Canal water already planned as the new supply for the BDCC golf 
course irrigation. 

9.6.2.6    Desalinated Water Opportunities 

Developing new desalinated water sources for MDMWC is currently impractical for several reasons 
including the lack of a saline water source; the distance, costs, and lack of infrastructure for desalinated 
ocean water; and brine management issues.  While MDMWC’s groundwater supply does not require any 
desalination treatment, increasing salinity in the Coachella Valley Groundwater Basin is being managed 
through the Coachella Valley Groundwater Basin Salt and Nutrient Management Plan, with emphasis on 
source control. 

9.6.2.7    Water Exchanges and Transfers 

MDMWC does not currently have plans to participate in direct water exchanges.  Water exchanges related 
to the exchange of State Water Project (SWP) rights for Colorado River Water (CRW) rights for basin 
replenishment are handled by CVWD and Desert Water Agency (DWA). 

MDMWC does not currently have plans to participate in direct water transfers. Water transfers related to 
basin replenishment are handled by CVWD and DWA. 

MDMWC does not have any existing emergency interties.  Opportunities may exist for the construction of 
emergency interties between MDMWC and CVWD and/or IWA based on the proximity of water distribution 
infrastructure; however, there are no planned projects at this time. 

9.6.2.8    Future Water Projects 

Because MDMWC’s service area is substantially built-out and demands have recently reduced due to 
drought conditions and water conservation measures, MDMWC does not have plans for substantial water 
supply projects within the urban water management planning horizon outside of MDMWC’s capital 
improvement projects that are part of regular system maintenance.  The planned project to serve Canal 
water to the BDCC for irrigation purposes is being implemented by CVWD; therefore, specific project details 
are not included in this chapter. 

9.6.2.9    Summary of Existing and Planned Sources of Water 

Existing water supply volumes are presented in Table 9-16. These figures are based on MDMWC 
production records for 2020.  One hundred percent of the supply was from the Indio Subbasin. 

Planned water supply volumes are presented in Table 9-17. As the Indio Subbasin is anticipated to be 
reasonably reliable for the urban water management planning horizon, the projected water supply is 
assumed to be equivalent to the projected water demand. 

 

  

Page 1136

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-19 

 

Table 9-16.  DWR 6-8R Actual Water Supplies 

-   2020 

Water Supply 
Additional Detail on 
Water Supply 

Actual Volume 
(AFY) 

Water Quality 

 Groundwater (not desalinated) Indio Subbasin 3,987 Drinking Water 

- Total 3,987   

 

 

Table 9-17.  DWR 6-9 R Projected Water Supplies (AFY) 

Water Supply 

Additional 
Detail on 
Water 
Supply 

2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Groundwater (not 
desalinated) 

Indio 
Subbasin 

4,376 4,539 4,702 4,737 4,771 

- Total 4,376 4,539 4,702 4,737 4,771 

 

9.6.2.10    Special Conditions 

A discussion of potential climate change impacts on MDMWC’s supplies is provided in Chapter 3 of the 
RUWMP. 

9.6.3    Submittal Tables Using Optional Planning Tool 

Because MDMWCs supply availability does not vary seasonally during a typical year, MDMWC has not 
completed the optional planning tool that was provided by DWR. 

9.6.4    Energy Use 

MDMWC has compiled data to document the energy used for water management operations.  MDMWC 
used the Total Utility Approach to estimate the energy intensity of its water management operations. 

The data are summarized in Table 9-18. 

 

  

Page 1137

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-20 

 

Table 9-18.  DWR O-1B Energy Intensity Reporting 
Table O-1B: Recommended Energy Reporting - Total Utility Approach  

Enter Start Date for Reporting 
Period 

1/1/20 Urban Water Supplier Operational Control 

End Date 12/30/20 

Is upstream embedded in the 
values reported?  

 No Sum of All Water 
Management 

Processes 

Non-Consequential 
Hydropower  

Water Volume Units Used AF Total Utility  Hydropower Net Utility  

Volume of Water Entering Process (volume unit) 3,987 0 0 

Energy Consumed (kWh) 2,526,200 0 0 

Energy Intensity (kWh/volume) 633.6 0.0 633.6 

   

Quantity of Self-Generated Renewable Energy 

0 kWh 

Data Quality (Estimate, Metered Data, Combination of Estimates and Metered Data) 

Combination of Estimates and Metered Data    

Data Quality Narrative 

Energy use data was obtained from electricity consumption records maintained by the agency. 

Narrative 

The agency uses energy for groundwater production from wells, pumping at booster stations from lower 
pressure zones to higher pressure zones, and treatment processes. 

 

 Water Service Reliability and Drought Risk Assessment 

This section describes MDMWC’s long term water supply reliability including historical reliability, reliability 
for average, single dry, and multiple dry years, and constraints that may impact supply reliability. 

9.7.1    Reliability Overview 

MDMWC’s groundwater supply has historically been able to meet demands during dry periods. 

Further discussion of constraints on local water resources is included in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

Page 1138

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-21 

9.7.2    Water Service Reliability Assessment 

Average year is defined as, one year, or an averaged range of years, that most closely represents the 
median average water supply available to the agency. The UWMP Act uses the term “normal” conditions. 
Within the UWMP guidebook, the terms “normal” and “average” are used interchangeably. 

The single-dry year is the year that represents the lowest water supply available to the agency. 

The multiple-dry year period is the period that represents the lowest average water supply availability to the 
agency for a consecutive multiple year period (five years or more).  The Guidebook 2020 defines “multiple 
dry years” to mean five dry years. 

MDMWC only has one source for meeting its potable water demands.  All potable water demands are met 
using groundwater wells in the Indio Subbasin.  The groundwater basin has been historically reliable as it 
is not significantly affected by short-term seasonal or climate changes, and there has been no historical 
occurrence of pumping limitations.  

The single dry year is the year that represents the lowest water supply available.  For this UWMP, 2014 
represents the single dry year as a worst case with strict water conservation measures in place.  With 
regards to SWP water, only 5 percent of Table A water allocation were delivered in 2014. 

The multiple dry year period is the period that represents the lowest average water supply availability for a 
consecutive multi year period (five years or more).  This is generally considered to be the lowest average 
runoff for a consecutive multiple year period (five years or more) for a watershed since 1903.  This UWMP 
uses 2012 through 2016 as the multiple dry year period. 

Table 9-19 provides a summary of base years and supply availability. 

 

Table 9-19.  DWR 7-1R Basis of Water Year Data 

-   Available Supply if Year Type Repeats 

Year 
Type 

Base 
Year 

Percent of 
Average Supply 

Average Year 2020 100% 

Single-Dry Year 2014 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 1st Year  2012 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 2nd Year 2013 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 3rd Year 2014 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 4th Year 2015 100% 

Consecutive Dry Years 5th Year  2016 100% 

 

The Indio Subbasin storage will be used in dry years to support potential differences between demands 
and supply.  The groundwater basin has a capacity of approximately 28.8 million acre‐feet.  It is capable of 
meeting the water demands of regional agencies for extended periods during normal, single‐dry and 
multiple‐dry year conditions. 

The expected water supply availability for an average (normal) year is provided in Table 9-20. The available 
supply is assumed equivalent to the projected demands since the basin is non-adjudicated and based on 
the expected reliability of the groundwater basin. 

 

 

Page 1139

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-22 

 

Table 9-20. DWR 7-2R Normal Year Supply and Demand Comparison 

- 
2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Supply Totals (AFY) 
From DWR Table 6-9R 

4,376 4,539 4,702 4,737 4,771 

Demand Totals (AFY) 
From DWR Table 4-3R 

4,376 4,539 4,702 4,737 4,771 

Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for 
long-term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the 
agencies could produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here. 

 

Supply reliability during a single-dry year scenario was assumed to be similar to the average year scenario. 
Table 9-21 summarizes the single-dry year supply and demand scenario. 

 

Table 9-21. DWR 7-3R Single Dry Year Supply and Demand Comparison 

- 
2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

Supply Totals (AFY) 
4,376 4,539 4,702 4,737 4,771 

Demand Totals (AFY) 
4,376 4,539 4,702 4,737 4,771 

Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for 
long-term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the 
agencies could produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here. 

 

 

Reliability during a multiple-dry year scenario was assumed to be similar to the average year scenario for 
reasons discussed previously. Table 9-22 summarizes the multiple-dry year supply and demand scenario. 

 

  

Page 1140

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-23 

Table 9-22. DWR 7-4R Multiple Dry Years Supply and Demand Comparison 

 -  - 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 

First  
Supply Totals (AFY) 4,376 4,539 4,702 4,737 4,771 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 4,376 4,539 4,702 4,737 4,771 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Second 
Supply Totals (AFY) 4,376 4,539 4,702 4,737 4,771 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 4,376 4,539 4,702 4,737 4,771 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Third 
Supply Totals (AFY) 4,376 4,539 4,702 4,737 4,771 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 4,376 4,539 4,702 4,737 4,771 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Fourth 
Supply Totals (AFY) 4,376 4,539 4,702 4,737 4,771 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 4,376 4,539 4,702 4,737 4,771 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Fifth 
Supply Totals (AFY) 4,376 4,539 4,702 4,737 4,771 

Year 
Demand Totals (AFY) 4,376 4,539 4,702 4,737 4,771 

 - Difference 0 0 0 0 0 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for 
long-term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the 
agencies could produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here. 

 

While MDMWC relies on groundwater to meet demands, which has historically been a local and reliable 
source of water, it is recognized that declining groundwater levels in the Coachella Valley Groundwater 
Basin and the issue of overdraft must be addressed in order to ensure the long-term reliability of 
groundwater as a source of supply.  The recharge of the Coachella Valley Groundwater Basin is also heavily 
dependent upon CRW and the exchange of SWP water rights. 

Discussion of the regional efforts to enhance reliability are included in Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

9.7.3    Drought Risk Assessment 

A new requirement for the 2020 UWMP is a five-year Drought Risk Assessment (DRA).  The DRA is based 
on projections of demand and available supply for the next five years.   

Page 1141

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-24 

Demands are expected to increase to the projected demands for 2025.  It is expected that conservation 
messaging and programs will prevent any significant increase in demands by existing customers due to dry 
conditions.  The groundwater supply is reliable for a five-year dry period as the volume in storage can be 
drawn down during a dry period.  The results of the DRA are summarized in Table 9-23. 

 

  

Page 1142

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-25 

 

Table 9-23.  DWR 7-5 Five-Year Drought Risk Assessment 

2021 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 4,065 
Total Supplies (AFY) 4,065 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2022 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 4,143 
Total Supplies (AFY) 4,143 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2023 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 4,220 
Total Supplies (AFY) 4,220 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2024 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 4,298 
Total Supplies (AFY) 4,298 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

2025 

Gross Water Use (AFY) 4,376 
Total Supplies (AFY) 4,376 
Surplus/Shortfall without WSCP Action 0 

Planned WSCP Actions (Use Reduction and Supply Augmentation) 
WSCP (Supply Augmentation Benefit)   
WSCP (Use Reduction Savings Benefit)   
Revised Surplus/Shortfall 0 
Resulting Percent Use Reduction from WSCP Action 0% 

Note:  The RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on groundwater management plans for long-
term sustainability. During a normal year, single-dry year, or five-dry year period, the agencies could 
produce additional groundwater if demands exceeded the estimates shown here. 

 

  

Page 1143

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-26 

 Water Shortage Contingency Plan 

Water shortage contingency planning is a program that is developed in the form of a Water Shortage 
Contingency Plan (WSCP) that is used to help manage droughts and other short-term water shortages or 
supply interruptions by temporarily reducing demand and finding alternate water sources to temporarily 
increase supply utilizing methods that are within the authority of the water agency. As droughts are part of 
the normal water cycle in California, this type of planning is a necessity. 

MDMWC has developed a WSCP to help manage potential future water shortages.  The WSCP is being 
adopted separately from the RUWMP and may be modified as needed based on changing conditions.  The 
WSCP is an attachment to this RUWMP. 

 Demand Management Measures 

This section describes MDMWC’s water conservation goals, existing and proposed conservation programs, 
and efforts to promote conservation and reduce demand in order to meet its urban water use reduction 
targets.  Setting goals and selecting appropriate water conservation measures is a continuous process that 
evolves based upon legislation, technologies, and past measure effectiveness. 

9.9.1    Demand Management Measures for Wholesale Suppliers 

MDMWC is not wholesale supplier, and therefore this section is not applicable. 

9.9.2    Existing Demand Management Measures for Retail 

MDMWC aims to reduce unnecessary water usage and eliminate wasteful practices.  MDMWC plans to 
achieve these goals through a combination of promotion, public outreach, voluntary, and mandatory 
measures.  MDMWC also employs a water conservation staff for support. 

9.9.2.1    Water Waste Prevention Ordinances 

There are a series of State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) ordinances regarding the waste of 
water that remain in effect at all times. Depending on State mandates for water use reduction and depending 
on the stage of the WSCP, additional water waste prevention ordinances may be enacted. 

9.9.2.2    Metering 

Except for fire protection services, all customer service connections are fully metered.  Most multi-family 
units are served by one meter.  A few multi-family units are metered separately at the owner’s request.  
MDMWC is also in the process of implementing a meter replacement program. 

9.9.2.3    Conservation Pricing 

MDMWC has adopted a four-tier budget-based rate structure, which is a conservation rate structure that 
remains active at all times.  Tiers are based upon customer water budgets.  As the customer uses water in 
excess of their budget, the tier increases with a progressively increasing unit water cost. 

9.9.2.4    Public Education and Outreach 

MDMWC is a partner and contributing member of CV Water Counts (http://cvwatercounts.com), a local 
program consisting of the six water agencies in the Coachella Valley: CVWD, IWA, CWA, Mission Springs 
Water District (MSWD), DWA, and MDMWC.  CV Water Counts promotes the message of water 
conservation, provides water saving tips, landscaping and leak detection resources, as well as resources 
for parents, teachers, and children.  MDMWC provides links on its website (http://www.myomawater.com/) 
to CV Water Counts as well as Save Our Water (http://saveourwater.com), a statewide conservation 

Page 1144

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-27 

program that aims to make water conservation a daily habit through partnering with local water agencies, 
social marketing, and event sponsorships. 

MDMWC also reaches its customers by providing water conservation pamphlets at the MDMWC office as 
well as by periodically distributing water conservation related materials through customer water bills. 

In addition, the State provides rebate incentives for turf replacement and water-efficient toilet replacement. 

9.9.2.5    Programs to Assess and Manage Distribution System Real Losses 

MDMWC controls water loss by comparing production with consumption, regular and frequent inspection 
of distribution facilities, advising customers of observed or suspected leakage downstream of meters, and 
immediate leak repair. 

9.9.2.6    Water Conservation Program Coordination and Staffing Support 

MDMWC adopted a conservation policy in 2003 as part of its Rules and Regulations, encouraging efficiency 
in water use and actively discouraging the waste of water. The policy covers shortages, waste, and 
landscaping provisions.  

MDMWC has recently added a conservation coordinator to its staff and is in the process of developing a 
formal water conservation program. 

9.9.2.7    Other Demand Management Measures 

MDMWC makes the following conservation assistance available to high consumption users or those who 
request it at no cost: 

 Location and instructions on how to read water meter. 
 Identifications of high consumption areas. 
 Check for leakage. 
 Irrigation schedule and check timers. 
 Recommendations on sprinkler repair or improvements. 
 Information on landscape conservation methods including water efficient design, maintenance, and 

plant selection. 

9.9.3    Implementation 

MDMWC has been implementing its conservation policy since 2003, and has continued to support water 
conservation over the past five years through the demand management measures (DMMs) described 
herein.  The conservation pricing, public outreach, and State-mandated measures due to the drought have 
all had a significant impact on reducing per capita demands.  In addition, voluntary customer turf 
replacement has reduced MDMWC’s largest demand component, landscape irrigation. 

MDMWC has achieved its 2020 target per capita water use.  MDMWC plans to continue support of its water 
conservation policy, water conservation program development, and implementation of DMMs to support 
water conservation as a way of life. 

9.9.4    Water Use Objectives (Future Requirements) 

Updated water use objectives are being developed for water suppliers to meet the requirements of the 
CWC.  The final water use objectives for MDMWC have not yet been determined.  The DMMs described in 
this section are expected to align with MDMWC’s efforts to comply with these objectives when they are 
finalized. 

Page 1145

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-28 

 Plan Adoption, Submittal, and Implementation 

This section addresses the CWC requirements for a public hearing, the adoption process for the RUWMP 
and MDMWC’s WSCP, plan submittal, plan implementation, and the process for amending an adopted 
UWMP or WSCP. 

9.10.1    Inclusion of All 2020 Data 

This RUWMP includes all water use and planning data for the entire calendar year of 2020. 

9.10.2    Notice of Public Hearing 

Water suppliers must hold a public hearing prior to adopting the Plan to provide opportunity for public input 
and must provide adequate notice of public hearing in accordance with the CWC.  MDMWC supplies water 
to the Bermuda Dunes CDP in the County of Riverside and to a portion of the City of La Quinta.  As 
described in Chapter 2 of the RUWMP, these cities and counties were notified that MDMWC was updating 
its UWMP more than 60 days before the public hearing. 

Notifications of a public hearing were provided in accordance with the CWC as indicated in Table 9-24. 
Copies of notifications are provided in Appendix B. 

 

Table 9-24.  DWR 10-1R Notification to Cities and Counties 
City 60 Day Notice Notice of Public Hearing 

La Quinta Yes Yes 

County 60 Day Notice Notice of Public Hearing 

Riverside County Yes Yes 

 

Notification of a public hearing was provided in accordance with the CWC and Government Code 6066. 
Copies of notifications are provided in Appendix B.  Copies of the draft RUWMP and MDMWC’s WSCP 
were made available on MDMWC’s website (http://www.myomawater.com) in electronic format, and hard 
copies were made available at MDMWC’s office. 

9.10.3    Public Hearing and Adoption 

A public/adoption hearing was held prior to MDMWC’s adoption of the 2020 RUWMP and MDMWC’s 
WSCP.  This hearing took place on June 22, 2021 as a Virtual Meeting (zoom).  Information was provided 
on MDMWC’s baseline values, water use targets, and economic impacts of Plan implementation.  Public 
comments were solicited and addressed. 

The 2020 RUWMP and MDMWC’s WSCP were adopted by the MDMWC Board of Directors on June 22, 
2021. 

9.10.4    Plan Submittal 

The 2020 RUWMP and MDMWC’s WSCP will be submitted to DWR, the California State Library, County 
of Riverside, and City of La Quinta within 30 days after adoption.  The submittal to DWR will be done 
electronically online through DWR’s submittal tool WUEdata (https://wuedata.water.ca.gov/secure). The 
submittal to the California State Library will be made by CD or hardcopy to: 

California State Library Government Publications Section 

Page 1146

Item 37.



2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

9-29 

P.O. Box 942837 Sacramento, CA 94237-0001 

Attention: Coordinator, Urban Water Management Plans 

9.10.5    Public Availability 

MDMWC will make the 2020 RUWMP and MDMWC’s WSCP available to the public online in electronic 
format on MDMWC’s website (http://www.myomawater.com). 

9.10.6    Notification to Public Utilities Commission 

MDMWC is not regulated by the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC), and therefore this 
requirement does not apply. 

9.10.7    Amending an Adopted UWMP or Water Shortage Contingency Plan 

If MDMWC identifies the need to amend the 2020 RUWMP or MDMWC’s WSCP, it will follow similar 
processes for notification of cities, counties, and the general public.  MDMWC will hold a public hearing to 
consider the amended RUWMP or WSCP and will follow the same procedures for adoption, submittal, and 
implementation as the original plans. 

 

Page 1147

Item 37.



Page 1148

Item 37.



  
 

Appendix A:  Urban Water 
Management Planning Act 
 

 

 

 
  

Page 1149

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-1 

Appendix A. California Water Code – 
Urban Water Management Planning 
This material is for informational purposes only and not to be 
used in place of official California Water Code (Water Code). 

This document presents updated sections of Water Code as of January 1, 2020, 
as compiled by DWR staff. The selection focuses on the portions of code directly 
relevant to preparation of the urban water management plan and contextually 
relevant to urban water suppliers and the Department of Water Resources 
(DWR). This includes the Urban Water Management Planning Act and the 
Sustainable Water Use and Demand Reduction (SB X7-7), and more. Further 
legislative information is available on the California Legislative Information 
website at  
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/.   

The following Water Code sections are included in this appendix.  

• Sustainable Water Use and Demand Reduction (SB X7‐7)   
Water Code Division 6, Part 2.55 

o Chapter 1. General Declarations and Policy, Sections 10608 
– 10608.8 

o Chapter 2. Definitions, Section 10608.12 

o Chapter 3. Urban Retail Water Suppliers, Sections 10608.16 
– 10608.44 

o Chapter 4. Agricultural Water Suppliers, Section 10608.48 

o Chapter 5. Sustainable Water Management, Section 
10608.50 

o Chapter 6. Standardized Data Collection, Section 10608.52 

o Chapter 7. Funding Provisions, Sections 10608.56 – 
10608.60 

o Chapter 8. Quantifying Agricultural Water Use Efficiency, 
Section 10608.64 

Page 1150

Item 37.

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/


2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-2 

• Urban Water Management Planning Act 
Water Code Division 6, Part 2.6 

o Chapter 1. General Declaration and Policy, Sections 10610 – 
10610.4 

o Chapter 2. Definitions, Sections 10611 – 10618 

o Chapter 3. Urban Water Management Plans 
Article 1. General Provisions, Sections 10620 – 10621 
Article 2. Contents of Plans, Sections 10630 – 10634 
Article 2.5. Water Service Reliability, Section 10635 
Article 3. Adoption and Implementation of Plans, Sections 
10640 – 10645 

o Chapter 4. Miscellaneous Provisions, Sections 10650 – 
10657 

PART 2.55. SUSTAINABLE WATER USE AND DEMAND REDUCTION 
CHAPTER 1. General Declaration and Policy [10608 – 10608.8] 

10608. The Legislature finds and declares all of the following: 

(a) Water is a public resource that the California Constitution protects 
against waste and unreasonable use. 

(b) Growing population, climate change, and the need to protect and 
grow California’s economy while protecting and restoring our fish 
and wildlife habitats make it essential that the state manage its 
water resources as efficiently as possible. 

(c) Diverse regional water supply portfolios will increase water supply 
reliability and reduce dependence on the Delta. 

(d) Reduced water use through conservation provides significant 
energy and environmental benefits, and can help protect water 
quality, improve streamflows, and reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions. 

(e) The success of state and local water conservation programs to 
increase efficiency of water use is best determined on the basis of 
measurable outcomes related to water use or efficiency. 

(f) Improvements in technology and management practices offer the 
potential for increasing water efficiency in California over time, 

Page 1151

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-3 

providing an essential water management tool to meet the need 
for water for urban, agricultural, and environmental uses. 

(g) The Governor has called for a 20 percent per capita reduction in 
urban water use statewide by 2020. 

(h) The factors used to formulate water use efficiency targets can vary 
significantly from location to location based on factors including 
weather, patterns of urban and suburban development, and past 
efforts to enhance water use efficiency. 

(i) Per capita water use is a valid measure of a water provider’s 
efforts to reduce urban water use within its service area. However, 
per capita water use is less useful for measuring relative water use 
efficiency between different water providers. Differences in 
weather, historical patterns of urban and suburban development, 
and density of housing in a particular location need to be 
considered when assessing per capita water use as a measure of 
efficiency. 

10608.4. It is the intent of the Legislature, by the enactment of this part, to 
do all of the following: 

(a) Require all water suppliers to increase the efficiency of use of this 
essential resource. 

(b) Establish a framework to meet the state targets for urban water 
conservation identified in this part and called for by the Governor. 

(c) Measure increased efficiency of urban water use on a per capita 
basis. 

(d) Establish a method or methods for urban retail water suppliers to 
determine targets for achieving increased water use efficiency by 
the year 2020, in accordance with the Governor’s goal of a 20-
percent reduction. 

(e) Establish consistent water use efficiency planning and 
implementation standards for urban water suppliers and 
agricultural water suppliers. 

(f) Promote urban water conservation standards that are consistent 
with the California Urban Water Conservation Council’s adopted 
best management practices and the requirements for demand 
management in Section 10631. 

Page 1152

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-4 

(g) Establish standards that recognize and provide credit to water 
suppliers that made substantial capital investments in urban water 
conservation since the drought of the early 1990s. 

(h) Recognize and account for the investment of urban retail water 
suppliers in providing recycled water for beneficial uses. 

(i) Require implementation of specified efficient water management 
practices for agricultural water suppliers. 

(j) Support the economic productivity of California’s agricultural, 
commercial, and industrial sectors. 

(k) Advance regional water resources management. 

10608.8. (a) (1) Water use efficiency measures adopted and implemented 
pursuant to this part or Part 2.8 (commencing with Section 10800) are water 
conservation measures subject to the protections provided under Section 
1011. 

(2) Because an urban agency is not required to meet its urban 
water use target until 2020 pursuant to subdivision (b) of 
Section 10608.24, an urban retail water supplier’s failure to 
meet those targets shall not establish a violation of law for 
purposes of any state administrative or judicial proceeding 
prior to January 1, 2021. Nothing in this paragraph limits the 
use of data reported to the department or the board in 
litigation or an administrative proceeding. This paragraph 
shall become inoperative on January 1, 2021. 

(3) To the extent feasible, the department and the board shall 
provide for the use of water conservation reports required 
under this part to meet the requirements of Section 1011 for 
water conservation reporting. 

(b) This part does not limit or otherwise affect the application of 
Chapter 3.5 commencing with Section 11340), Chapter 4 
(commencing with Section 11370), Chapter 4.5 (commencing with 
Section 11400), and Chapter 5 (commencing with Section 11500) 
of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code. 

(c) This part does not require a reduction in the total water used in the 
agricultural or urban sectors, because other factors, including, but 
not limited to, changes in agricultural economics or population 

Page 1153

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-5 

growth may have greater effects on water use. This part does not 
limit the economic productivity of California’s agricultural, 
commercial, or industrial sectors. 

(d) The requirements of this part do not apply to an agricultural water 
supplier that is a party to the Quantification Settlement 
Agreement, as defined in subdivision (a) of Section 1 of Chapter 
617 of the Statutes of 2002, during the period within which the 
Quantification Settlement Agreement remains in effect. After the 
expiration of the Quantification Settlement Agreement, to the 
extent conservation water projects implemented as part of the 
Quantification Settlement Agreement remain in effect, the 
conserved water created as part of those projects shall be credited 
against the obligations of the agricultural water supplier pursuant 
to this part. 

CHAPTER 2. Definitions [10608.12] 

10608.12. Unless the context otherwise requires, the following definitions 
govern the construction of this part: 

(a) “Agricultural water supplier” means a water supplier, either 
publicly or privately owned, providing water to 10,000 or more 
irrigated acres, excluding recycled water. “Agricultural water 
supplier” includes a supplier or contractor for water, regardless of 
the basis of right, that distributes or sells water for ultimate resale 
to customers. “Agricultural water supplier” does not include the 
department. 

(b) “Base daily per capita water use” means any of the following: 

(1) The urban retail water supplier’s estimate of its average 
gross water use, reported in gallons per capita per day and 
calculated over a continuous 10-year period ending no earlier 
than December 31, 2004, and no later than December 31, 
2010. 

(2) For an urban retail water supplier that meets at least 10 
percent of its 2008 measured retail water demand through 
recycled water that is delivered within the service area of an 
urban retail water supplier or its urban wholesale water 
supplier, the urban retail water supplier may extend the 

Page 1154

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-6 

calculation described in paragraph (1) up to an additional five 
years to a maximum of a continuous 15-year period ending 
no earlier than December 31, 2004, and no later than 
December 31, 2010. 

(3) For the purposes of Section 10608.22, the urban retail water 
supplier’s estimate of its average gross water use, reported 
in gallons per capita per day and calculated over a 
continuous five-year period ending no earlier than December 
31, 2007, and no later than December 31, 2010. 

(c) “Baseline commercial, industrial, and institutional water use” 
means an urban retail water supplier’s base daily per capita water 
use for commercial, industrial, and institutional users. 

(d) “CII water use” means water used by commercial water users, 
industrial water users, institutional water users, and large 
landscape water users. 

(e) “Commercial water user” means a water user that provides or 
distributes a product or service. 

(f) “Compliance daily per capita water use” means the gross water use 
during the final year of the reporting period, reported in gallons 
per capita per day. 

(g) “Disadvantaged community” means a community with an annual 
median household income that is less than 80 percent of the 
statewide annual median household income. 

(h) “Gross water use” means the total volume of water, whether 
treated or untreated, entering the distribution system of an urban 
retail water supplier, excluding all of the following: 

(1) Recycled water that is delivered within the service area of an 
urban retail water supplier or its urban wholesale water supplier. 

(2) The net volume of water that the urban retail water supplier 
places into long-term storage. 

(3) The volume of water the urban retail water supplier conveys 
for use by another urban water supplier. 

(4) The volume of water delivered for agricultural use, except as 
otherwise provided in subdivision (f) of Section 10608.24. 

(i) “Industrial water user” means a water user that is primarily a 

Page 1155

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-7 

manufacturer or processor of materials as defined by the North 
American Industry Classification System code sectors 31 to 33, 
inclusive, or an entity that is a water user primarily engaged in 
research and development. 

(j) “Institutional water user” means a water user dedicated to public 
service. This type of user includes, among other users, higher 
education institutions, schools, courts, churches, hospitals, 
government facilities, and nonprofit research institutions. 

(k) “Interim urban water use target” means the midpoint between the 
urban retail water supplier’s base daily per capita water use and 
the urban retail water supplier’s urban water use target for 2020. 

(l) “Large landscape” means a nonresidential landscape as described 
in the performance measures for CII water use adopted pursuant 
to Section 10609.10. 

(m) “Locally cost effective” means that the present value of the local 
benefits of implementing an agricultural efficiency water 
management practice is greater than or equal to the present value 
of the local cost of implementing that measure. 

(n) “Performance measures” means actions to be taken by urban retail 
water suppliers that will result in increased water use efficiency by 
CII water users. Performance measures may include, but are not 
limited to, educating CII water users on best management practices, 
conducting water use audits, and preparing water management 
plans. Performance measures do not include process water. 

(o) “Potable reuse” means direct potable reuse, indirect potable reuse 
for groundwater recharge, and reservoir water augmentation as 
those terms are defined in Section 13561. 

(p) “Process water” means water used by industrial water users for 
producing a product or product content or water used for research 
and development. Process water includes, but is not limited to, 
continuous manufacturing processes, and water used for testing, 
cleaning, and maintaining equipment. Water used to cool 
machinery or buildings used in the manufacturing process or 
necessary to maintain product quality or chemical characteristics 
for product manufacturing or control rooms, data centers, 
laboratories, clean rooms, and other industrial facility units that 

Page 1156

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-8 

are integral to the manufacturing or research and development 
process is process water. Water used in the manufacturing process 
that is necessary for complying with local, state, and federal health 
and safety laws, and is not incidental water, is process water. 
Process water does not mean incidental water uses. 

(q) “Recycled water” means recycled water, as defined in subdivision 
(n) of Section 13050. 

(r) “Regional water resources management” means sources of supply 
resulting from watershed-based planning for sustainable local 
water reliability or any of the following alternative sources of 
water: 

(1) The capture and reuse of stormwater or rainwater. 

(2) The use of recycled water. 

(3) The desalination of brackish groundwater. 

(4) The conjunctive use of surface water and groundwater in a 
manner that is consistent with the safe yield of the 
groundwater basin. 

(s) “Reporting period” means the years for which an urban retail water 
supplier reports compliance with the urban water use targets. 

(t) “Urban retail water supplier” means a water supplier, either 
publicly or privately owned, that directly provides potable 
municipal water to more than 3,000 end users or that supplies 
more than 3,000 acre-feet of potable water annually at retail for 
municipal purposes. 

(u) “Urban water use objective” means an estimate of aggregate 
efficient water use for the previous year based on adopted water 
use efficiency standards and local service area characteristics for 
that year, as described in Section 10609.20. 

(v) “Urban water use target” means the urban retail water supplier’s 
targeted future daily per capita water use. 

(w) “Urban wholesale water supplier” means a water supplier, either 
publicly or privately owned, that provides more than 3,000 acre-
feet of water annually at wholesale for potable municipal purposes. 

CHAPTER 3. Urban Retail Water Suppliers [10608.16 – 10608.44] 

Page 1157

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-9 

10608.16. (a) The state shall achieve a 20-percent reduction in urban per 
capita water use in California on or before December 31, 2020. 

(1) The state shall make incremental progress towards the state 
target specified in subdivision (a) by reducing urban per 
capita water use by at least 10 percent on or before 
December 31, 2015. 

10608.20. (a) (1) Each urban retail water supplier shall develop urban 
water use targets and an interim urban water use target by July 1, 2011. 
Urban retail water suppliers may elect to determine and report progress 
toward achieving these targets on an individual or regional basis, as 
provided in subdivision (a) of Section 10608.28, and may determine the 
targets on a fiscal year or calendar year basis. 

(2) It is the intent of the Legislature that the urban water use 
targets described in paragraph (1) cumulatively result in a 
20-percent reduction from the baseline daily per capita water 
use by December 31, 2020. 

(b) An urban retail water supplier shall adopt one of the following 
methods for determining its urban water use target pursuant to 
subdivision (a): 

(1) Eighty percent of the urban retail water supplier’s baseline 
per capita daily water use. 

(2) The per capita daily water use that is estimated using the 
sum of the following performance standards: 

(A) For indoor residential water use, 55 gallons per capita 
daily water use as a provisional standard. Upon 
completion of the department’s 2017 report to the 
Legislature pursuant to Section 10608.42, this standard 
may be adjusted by the Legislature by statute. 

(B) For landscape irrigated through dedicated or residential 
meters or connections, water efficiency equivalent to the 
standards of the Model Water Efficient Landscape 
Ordinance set forth in Chapter 2.7 (commencing with 
Section 490) of Division 2 of Title 23 of the California 
Code of Regulations, as in effect the later of the year of 
the landscape’s installation or 1992. An urban retail 

Page 1158

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-10 

water supplier using the approach specified in this 
subparagraph shall use satellite imagery, site visits, or 
other best available technology to develop an accurate 
estimate of landscaped areas. 

(C) For commercial, industrial, and institutional uses, a 10-
percent reduction in water use from the baseline 
commercial, industrial, and institutional water use by 
2020. 

(3) Ninety-five percent of the applicable state hydrologic region 
target, as set forth in the state’s draft 20x2020 Water 
Conservation Plan (dated April 30, 2009). If the service area 
of an urban water supplier includes more than one hydrologic 
region, the supplier shall apportion its service area to each 
region based on population or area. 

(4) A method that shall be identified and developed by the 
department, through a public process, and reported to the 
Legislature no later than December 31, 2010. The method 
developed by the department shall identify per capita targets 
that cumulatively result in a statewide 20-percent reduction 
in urban daily per capita water use by December 31, 2020. 
In developing urban daily per capita water use targets, the 
department shall do all of the following: 

(A) Consider climatic differences within the state. 

(B) Consider population density differences within the 
state. 

(C) Provide flexibility to communities and regions in 
meeting the targets. 

(D) Consider different levels of per capita water use 
according to plant water needs in different regions. 

(E) Consider different levels of commercial, industrial, and 
institutional water use in different regions of the state. 

(F) Avoid placing an undue hardship on communities that 
have implemented conservation measures or taken 
actions to keep per capita water use low. 

(c) If the department adopts a regulation pursuant to paragraph (4) of 

Page 1159

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-11 

subdivision (b) that results in a requirement that an urban retail 
water supplier achieve a reduction in daily per capita water use 
that is greater than 20 percent by December 31, 2020, an urban 
retail water supplier that adopted the method described in 
paragraph (4) of subdivision (b) may limit its urban water use 
target to a reduction of not more than 20 percent by December 31, 
2020, by adopting the method described in paragraph (1) of 
subdivision (b). 

(d) The department shall update the method described in paragraph 
(4) of subdivision (b) and report to the Legislature by December 
31, 2014. An urban retail water supplier that adopted the method 
described in paragraph (4) of subdivision (b) may adopt a new 
urban daily per capita water use target pursuant to this updated 
method. 

(e) An urban retail water supplier shall include in its urban water 
management plan due in 2010 pursuant to Part 2.6 (commencing 
with Section 10610) the baseline daily per capita water use, urban 
water use target, interim urban water use target, and compliance 
daily per capita water use, along with the bases for determining 
those estimates, including references to supporting data. 

(f) When calculating per capita values for the purposes of this chapter, 
an urban retail water supplier shall determine population using 
federal, state, and local population reports and projections. 

(g) An urban retail water supplier may update its 2020 urban water 
use target in its 2015 urban water management plan required 
pursuant to Part 2.6 (commencing with Section 10610). 

(h) (1) The department, through a public process and in consultation 
with the California Urban Water Conservation Council, shall develop 
technical methodologies and criteria for the consistent 
implementation of this part, including, but not limited to, both of 
the following: 

(A) Methodologies for calculating base daily per capita 
water use, baseline commercial, industrial, and 
institutional water use, compliance daily per capita 
water use, gross water use, service area population, 
indoor residential water use, and landscaped area 
water use. 

Page 1160

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-12 

(B) Criteria for adjustments pursuant to subdivisions (d) 
and (e) of Section 10608.24. 

(2) The department shall post the methodologies and criteria 
developed pursuant to this subdivision on its internet 
website, and make written copies available, by October 1, 
2010. An urban retail water supplier shall use the methods 
developed by the department in compliance with this part. 

(i) (1) The department shall adopt regulations for implementation of 
the provisions relating to process water in accordance with Section 
10608.12, subdivision (e) of Section 10608.24, and subdivision (d) 
of Section 10608.26. 

(2) The initial adoption of a regulation authorized by this 
subdivision is deemed to address an emergency, for 
purposes of Sections 11346.1 and 11349.6 of the 
Government Code, and the department is hereby exempted 
for that purpose from the requirements of subdivision (b) of 
Section 11346.1 of the Government Code. After the initial 
adoption of an emergency regulation pursuant to this 
subdivision, the department shall not request approval from 
the Office of Administrative Law to readopt the regulation as 
an emergency regulation pursuant to Section 11346.1 of the 
Government Code. 

(j) (1) An urban retail water supplier is granted an extension to July 1, 
2011, for adoption of an urban water management plan pursuant 
to Part 2.6 (commencing with Section 10610) due in 2010 to allow 
the use of technical methodologies developed by the department 
pursuant to paragraph (4) of subdivision (b) and subdivision (h). 
An urban retail water supplier that adopts an urban water 
management plan due in 2010 that does not use the 
methodologies developed by the department pursuant to 
subdivision (h) shall amend the plan by July 1, 2011, to comply 
with this part. 

(2) An urban wholesale water supplier whose urban water 
management plan prepared pursuant to Part 2.6 
(commencing with Section 10610) was due and not 
submitted in 2010 is granted an extension to July 1, 2011, to 
permit coordination between an urban wholesale water 

Page 1161

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-13 

supplier and urban retail water suppliers. 

10608.22. Notwithstanding the method adopted by an urban retail water 
supplier pursuant to Section 10608.20, an urban retail water supplier’s per 
capita daily water use reduction shall be no less than 5 percent of base daily 
per capita water use as defined in paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of Section 
10608.12. This section does not apply to an urban retail water supplier with 
a base daily per capita water use at or below 100 gallons per capita per day. 

10608.24. (a) Each urban retail water supplier shall meet its interim urban 
water use target by December 31, 2015. 

(b) Each urban retail water supplier shall meet its urban water use 
target by December 31, 2020. 

(c) An urban retail water supplier’s compliance daily per capita water 
use shall be the measure of progress toward achievement of its 
urban water use target. 

(d) (1) When determining compliance daily per capita water use, an 
urban retail water supplier may consider the following factors: 

(A) Differences in evapotranspiration and rainfall in the 
baseline period compared to the compliance reporting 
period. 

(B) Substantial changes to commercial or industrial water 
use resulting from increased business output and 
economic development that have occurred during the 
reporting period. 

(C) Substantial changes to institutional water use resulting 
from fire suppression services or other extraordinary 
events, or from new or expanded operations, that have 
occurred during the reporting period. 

(2) If the urban retail water supplier elects to adjust its estimate 
of compliance daily per capita water use due to one or more 
of the factors described in paragraph (1), it shall provide the 
basis for, and data supporting, the adjustment in the report 
required by Section 10608.40. 

(e) When developing the urban water use target pursuant to Section 
10608.20, an urban retail water supplier that has a substantial 

Page 1162

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-14 

percentage of industrial water use in its service area may exclude 
process water from the calculation of gross water use to avoid a 
disproportionate burden on another customer sector. 

(f) (1) An urban retail water supplier that includes agricultural water 
use in an urban water management plan pursuant to Part 2.6 
(commencing with Section 10610) may include the agricultural 
water use in determining gross water use. An urban retail water 
supplier that includes agricultural water use in determining gross 
water use and develops its urban water use target pursuant to 
paragraph (2) of subdivision (b) of Section 10608.20 shall use a 
water efficient standard for agricultural irrigation of 100 percent of 
reference evapotranspiration multiplied by the crop coefficient for 
irrigated acres. 

(2) An urban retail water supplier, that is also an agricultural 
water supplier, is not subject to the requirements of Chapter 
4 (commencing with Section 10608.48), if the agricultural 
water use is incorporated into its urban water use target 
pursuant to paragraph (1). 

10608.26. (a) In complying with this part, an urban retail water supplier 
shall conduct at least one public hearing to accomplish all of the following: 

(1) Allow community input regarding the urban retail water 
supplier’s implementation plan for complying with this part. 

(2) Consider the economic impacts of the urban retail water 
supplier’s implementation plan for complying with this part. 

(3) Adopt a method, pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 
10608.20, for determining its urban water use target. 

(b) In complying with this part, an urban retail water supplier may 
meet its urban water use target through efficiency improvements 
in any combination among its customer sectors. An urban retail 
water supplier shall avoid placing a disproportionate burden on any 
customer sector. 

(c) For an urban retail water supplier that supplies water to a United 
States Department of Defense military installation, the urban retail 
water supplier’s implementation plan for complying with this part 
shall consider the conservation of that military installation under 

Page 1163

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-15 

federal Executive Order 13514. 

(d) (1) Any ordinance or resolution adopted by an urban retail water 
supplier after the effective date of this section shall not require 
existing customers as of the effective date of this section, to 
undertake changes in product formulation, operations, or 
equipment that would reduce process water use, but may provide 
technical assistance and financial incentives to those customers to 
implement efficiency measures for process water. This section shall 
not limit an ordinance or resolution adopted pursuant to a 
declaration of drought emergency by an urban retail water 
supplier. 

(2) This part shall not be construed or enforced so as to interfere 
with the requirements of Chapter 4 (commencing with 
Section 113980) to Chapter 13 (commencing with Section 
114380), inclusive, of Part 7 of Division 104 of the Health 
and Safety Code, or any requirement or standard for the 
protection of public health, public safety, or worker safety 
established by federal, state, or local government or 
recommended by recognized standard setting organizations 
or trade associations. 

10608.28. (a) An urban retail water supplier may meet its urban water use 
target within its retail service area, or through mutual agreement, by any of 
the following: 

(1) Through an urban wholesale water supplier. 

(2) Through a regional agency authorized to plan and implement 
water conservation, including, but not limited to, an agency 
established under the Bay Area Water Supply and 
Conservation Agency Act (Division 31 (commencing with 
Section 81300)). 

(3) Through a regional water management group as defined in 
Section 10537. 

(4) By an integrated regional water management funding area. 

(5) By hydrologic region. 

(6) Through other appropriate geographic scales for which 
computation methods have been developed by the 

Page 1164

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-16 

department. 

(b) A regional water management group, with the written consent of 
its member agencies, may undertake any or all planning, 
reporting, and implementation functions under this chapter for the 
member agencies that consent to those activities. Any data or 
reports shall provide information both for the regional water 
management group and separately for each consenting urban retail 
water supplier and urban wholesale water supplier. 

10608.32. All costs incurred pursuant to this part by a water utility 
regulated by the Public Utilities Commission may be recoverable in rates 
subject to review and approval by the Public Utilities Commission, and may 
be recorded in a memorandum account and reviewed for reasonableness by 
the Public Utilities Commission. 

10608.34. (a) (1) On or before January 1, 2017, the department shall 
adopt rules for all of the following: 

(A) The conduct of standardized water loss audits by urban 
retail water suppliers in accordance with the method 
adopted by the American Water Works Association in 
the third edition of Water Audits and Loss Control 
Programs, Manual M36 and in the Free Water Audit 
Software, version 5.0. 

(B) The process for validating a water loss audit report 
prior to submitting the report to the department. For 
the purposes of this section, “validating” is a process 
whereby an urban retail water supplier uses a technical 
expert to confirm the basis of all data entries in the 
urban retail water supplier’s water loss audit report and 
to appropriately characterize the quality of the reported 
data. The validation process shall follow the principles 
and terminology laid out by the American Water Works 
Association in the third edition of Water Audits and 
Loss Control Programs, Manual M36 and in the Free 
Water Audit Software, version 5.0. A validated water 
loss audit report shall include the name and technical 
qualifications of the person engaged for validation. 

(C) The technical qualifications required of a person to 

Page 1165

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-17 

engage in validation, as described in subparagraph (B). 

(D) The certification requirements for a person selected by 
an urban retail water supplier to provide validation of 
its own water loss audit report. 

(E) The method of submitting a water loss audit report to 
the department. 

(2) The department shall update rules adopted pursuant to 
paragraph (1) no later than six months after the release of 
subsequent editions of the American Water Works 
Association’s Water Audits and Loss Control Programs, 
Manual M36. Except as provided by the department, until the 
department adopts updated rules pursuant to this paragraph, 
an urban retail water supplier may rely upon a subsequent 
edition of the American Water Works Association’s Water 
Audits and Loss Control Programs, Manual M36 or the Free 
Water Audit Software. 

(b) (1) On or before October 1 of each year until October 1, 2023, 
each urban retail water supplier reporting on a calendar year basis 
shall submit a completed and validated water loss audit report for 
the previous calendar year or the previous fiscal year as prescribed 
by the department pursuant to subdivision (a). 

(2) On or before January 1 of each year until January 1, 2024, 
each urban retail water supplier reporting on a fiscal year 
basis shall submit a completed and validated water loss audit 
report for the previous fiscal year as prescribed by the 
department pursuant to subdivision (a). 

(3) On or before January 1, 2024, and on or before January 1 of 
each year thereafter, each urban retail water supplier shall 
submit a completed and validated water loss audit report for 
the previous calendar year or previous fiscal year as part of 
the report submitted to the department pursuant to 
subdivision (a) of Section 10609.24 and as prescribed by the 
department pursuant to subdivision (a). 

(4) Water loss audit reports submitted on or before October 1, 
2017, may be completed and validated with assistance as 
described in subdivision (c). 

Page 1166

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-18 

(c) Using funds available for the 2016–17 fiscal year, the board shall 
contribute up to four hundred thousand dollars ($400,000) 
towards procuring water loss audit report validation assistance for 
urban retail water suppliers. 

(d) Each water loss audit report submitted to the department shall be 
accompanied by information, in a form specified by the 
department, identifying steps taken in the preceding year to 
increase the validity of data entered into the final audit, reduce the 
volume of apparent losses, and reduce the volume of real losses. 

(e) At least one of the following employees of an urban retail water 
supplier shall attest to each water loss audit report submitted to 
the department: 

(1) The chief financial officer. 

(2) The chief engineer. 

(3) The general manager. 

(f) The department shall deem incomplete and return to the urban 
retail water supplier any final water loss audit report found by the 
department to be incomplete, not validated, unattested, or 
incongruent with known characteristics of water system operations. 
A water supplier shall resubmit a completed water loss audit report 
within 90 days of an audit being returned by the department. 

(g) The department shall post all validated water loss audit reports on 
its internet website in a manner that allows for comparisons across 
water suppliers. The department shall make the validated water 
loss audit reports available for public viewing in a timely manner 
after their receipt. 

(h) Using available funds, the department shall provide technical 
assistance to guide urban retail water suppliers’ water loss 
detection programs, including, but not limited to, metering 
techniques, pressure management techniques, condition-based 
assessment techniques for transmission and distribution pipelines, 
and utilization of portable and permanent water loss detection 
devices. 

(i) No earlier than January 1, 2019, and no later than July 1, 2020, the 
board shall adopt rules requiring urban retail water suppliers to 
meet performance standards for the volume of water losses. In 

Page 1167

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-19 

adopting these rules, the board shall employ full life-cycle cost 
accounting to evaluate the costs of meeting the performance 
standards. The board may consider establishing a minimum 
allowable water loss threshold that, if reached and maintained by 
an urban water supplier, would exempt the urban water supplier 
from further water loss reduction requirements. 

10608.35. (a) The department, in coordination with the board, shall 
conduct necessary studies and investigations and make a recommendation 
to the Legislature, by January 1, 2020, on the feasibility of developing and 
enacting water loss reporting requirements for urban wholesale water 
suppliers. 

(b) The studies and investigations shall include an evaluation of the 
suitability of applying the processes and requirements of Section 
10608.34 to urban wholesale water suppliers. 

(c) In conducting necessary studies and investigations and developing 
its recommendation, the department shall solicit broad public 
participation from stakeholders and other interested persons. 

10608.36. Urban wholesale water suppliers shall include in the urban water 
management plans required pursuant to Part 2.6 (commencing with Section 
10610) an assessment of their present and proposed future measures, 
programs, and policies to help achieve the water use reductions required by 
this part. 

10608.40. Urban water retail suppliers shall report to the department on 
their progress in meeting their urban water use targets as part of their urban 
water management plans submitted pursuant to Section 10631. The data 
shall be reported using a standardized form developed pursuant to Section 
10608.52. 

10608.42. (a) The department shall review the 2015 urban water 
management plans and report to the Legislature by July 1, 2017, on 
progress towards achieving a 20-percent reduction in urban water use by 
December 31, 2020. The report shall include recommendations on changes 
to water efficiency standards or urban water use targets to achieve the 20-
percent reduction and to reflect updated efficiency information and 
technology changes. 

Page 1168

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-20 

(b)  A report to be submitted pursuant to subdivision (a) shall be 
submitted in compliance with Section 9795 of the Government 
Code. 

10608.43. The department, in conjunction with the California Urban Water 
Conservation Council, by April 1, 2010, shall convene a representative task 
force consisting of academic experts, urban retail water suppliers, 
environmental organizations, commercial water users, industrial water users, 
and institutional water users to develop alternative best management 
practices for commercial, industrial, and institutional users and an 
assessment of the potential statewide water use efficiency improvement in 
the commercial, industrial, and institutional sectors that would result from 
implementation of these best management practices. The taskforce, in 
conjunction with the department, shall submit a report to the Legislature by 
April 1, 2012, that shall include a review of multiple sectors within 
commercial, industrial, and institutional users and that shall recommend 
water use efficiency standards for commercial, industrial, and institutional 
users among various sectors of water use. The report shall include, but not 
be limited to, the following: 

(a) Appropriate metrics for evaluating commercial, industrial, and 
institutional water use. 

(b) Evaluation of water demands for manufacturing processes, goods, 
and cooling. 

(c) Evaluation of public infrastructure necessary for delivery of 
recycled water to the commercial, industrial, and institutional 
sectors. 

(d) Evaluation of institutional and economic barriers to increased 
recycled water use within the commercial, industrial, and 
institutional sectors. 

(e) Identification of technical feasibility and cost of the best 
management practices to achieve more efficient water use 
statewide in the commercial, industrial, and institutional sectors 
that is consistent with the public interest and reflects past 
investments in water use efficiency. 

10608.44. Each state agency shall reduce water use at facilities it operates 
to support urban retail water suppliers in meeting the target identified in 

Page 1169

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-21 

Section 10608.16. 

 

 

CHAPTER 4. Agricultural Water Suppliers [10608.48] 

10608.48. (a) On or before July 31, 2012, an agricultural water supplier 
shall implement efficient water management practices pursuant to 
subdivisions (b) and (c). 

(b) Agricultural water suppliers shall implement both of the following 
critical efficient management practices: 

(1) Measure the volume of water delivered to customers with 
sufficient accuracy to comply with subdivision (a) of Section 
531.10 and to implement paragraph (2). 

(2) Adopt a pricing structure for water customers based at least 
in part on quantity delivered. 

(c) Agricultural water suppliers shall implement additional efficient 
management practices, including, but not limited to, practices to 
accomplish all of the following, if the measures are locally cost 
effective and technically feasible: 

(1) Facilitate alternative land use for lands with exceptionally 
high water duties or whose irrigation contributes to 
significant problems, including drainage. 

(2) Facilitate use of available recycled water that otherwise 
would not be used beneficially, meets all health and safety 
criteria, and does not harm crops or soils. 

(3) Facilitate the financing of capital improvements for on-farm 
irrigation systems. 

(4) Implement an incentive pricing structure that promotes one 
or more of the following goals: 

(A) More efficient water use at the farm level. 

(B) Conjunctive use of groundwater. 

(C) Appropriate increase of groundwater recharge. 

(D) Reduction in problem drainage. 

Page 1170

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-22 

(E) Improved management of environmental resources. 

(F) Effective management of all water sources throughout 
the year by adjusting seasonal pricing structures based 
on current conditions. 

(5) Expand line or pipe distribution systems, and construct 
regulatory reservoirs to increase distribution system 
flexibility and capacity, decrease maintenance, and reduce 
seepage. 

(6) Increase flexibility in water ordering by, and delivery to, 
water customers within operational limits. 

(7) Construct and operate supplier spill and tailwater recovery 
systems. 

(8) Increase planned conjunctive use of surface water and 
groundwater within the supplier service area. 

(9) Automate canal control structures. 

(10) Facilitate or promote customer pump testing and evaluation. 

(11) Designate a water conservation coordinator who will develop 
and implement the water management plan and prepare 
progress reports. 

(12) Provide for the availability of water management services to 
water  users. These services may include, but are not limited 
to, all of the following: 

(A) On-farm irrigation and drainage system evaluations. 

(B) Normal year and real-time irrigation scheduling and 
crop evapotranspiration information. 

(C) Surface water, groundwater, and drainage water 
quantity and quality data. 

(D) Agricultural water management educational programs 
and materials for farmers, staff, and the public. 

(13) Evaluate the policies of agencies that provide the supplier 
with water to identify the potential for institutional changes 
to allow more flexible water deliveries and storage. 

(14) Evaluate and improve the efficiencies of the supplier’s 

Page 1171

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-23 

pumps. 

(d) Agricultural water suppliers shall include in the agricultural water 
management plans required pursuant to Part 2.8 (commencing 
with Section 10800) a report on which efficient water management 
practices have been implemented and are planned to be 
implemented, an estimate of the water use efficiency 
improvements that have occurred since the last report, and an 
estimate of the water use efficiency improvements estimated to 
occur five and 10 years in the future. If an agricultural water 
supplier determines that an efficient water management practice is 
not locally cost effective or technically feasible, the supplier shall 
submit information documenting that determination. 

(e) The department shall require information about the 
implementation of efficient water management practices to be 
reported using a standardized form developed pursuant to Section 
10608.52. (f) An agricultural water supplier may meet the 
requirements of subdivisions (d) and (e) by submitting to the 
department a water conservation plan submitted to the United 
States Bureau of Reclamation that meets the requirements 
described in Section 10828. 

(f) On or before December 31, 2013, December 31, 2016, and 
December 31, 2021, the department, in consultation with the 
board, shall submit to the Legislature a report on the agricultural 
efficient water management practices that have been implemented 
and are planned to be implemented and an assessment of the 
manner in which the implementation of those efficient water 
management practices has affected and will affect agricultural 
operations, including estimated water use efficiency improvements, 
if any. 

(g) The department may update the efficient water management 
practices required pursuant to subdivision (c), in consultation with 
the Agricultural Water Management Council, the United States 
Bureau of Reclamation, and the board. All efficient water 
management practices for agricultural water use pursuant to this 
chapter shall be adopted or revised by the department only after 
the department conducts public hearings to allow participation of 
the diverse geographical areas and interests of the state. 

Page 1172

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-24 

(h) (1) The department shall adopt regulations that provide for a range 
of options that agricultural water suppliers may use or implement 
to comply with the measurement requirement in paragraph (1) of 
subdivision (b). 

(2) The initial adoption of a regulation authorized by this 
subdivision is deemed to address an emergency, for 
purposes of Sections 11346.1 and 11349.6 of the 
Government Code, and the department is hereby exempted 
for that purpose from the requirements of subdivision (b) of 
Section 11346.1 of the Government Code. After the initial 
adoption of an emergency regulation pursuant to this 
subdivision, the department shall not request approval from 
the Office of Administrative Law to readopt the regulation as 
an emergency regulation pursuant to Section 11346.1 of the 
Government Code. 

CHAPTER 5. Sustainable Water Management [10608.50] 

10608.50. (a) The department, in consultation with the board, shall 
promote implementation of regional water resources management practices 
through increased incentives and removal of barriers consistent with state 
and federal law. Potential changes may include, but are not limited to, all of 
the following: 

(1) Revisions to the requirements for urban and agricultural 
water management plans. 

(2) Revisions to the requirements for integrated regional water 
management plans. 

(3) Revisions to the eligibility for state water management 
grants and loans. 

(4) Revisions to state or local permitting requirements that 
increase water supply opportunities, but do not weaken 
water quality protection under state and federal law. 

(5) Increased funding for research, feasibility studies, and 
project construction. 

(6) Expanding technical and educational support for local land 
use and water management agencies. 

Page 1173

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-25 

(b) No later than January 1, 2011, and updated as part of the 
California Water Plan, the department, in consultation with the 
board, and with public input, shall propose new statewide targets, 
or review and update existing statewide targets, for regional water 
resources management practices, including, but not limited to, 
recycled water, brackish groundwater desalination, and infiltration 
and direct use of urban stormwater runoff. 

CHAPTER 6. Standardized Data Collection [10608.52] 

10608.52. (a) The department, in consultation with the board, the 
California Bay-Delta Authority or its successor agency, the State Department 
of Public Health, and the Public Utilities Commission, shall develop a single 
standardized water use reporting form to meet the water use information 
needs of each agency, including the needs of urban water suppliers that 
elect to determine and report progress toward achieving targets on a 
regional basis as provided in subdivision (a) of Section 10608.28. 

(b) At a minimum, the form shall be developed to accommodate 
information sufficient to assess an urban water supplier’s 
compliance with conservation targets pursuant to Section 
10608.24 and an agricultural water supplier’s compliance with 
implementation of efficient water management practices pursuant 
to subdivision (a) of Section 10608.48. The form shall 
accommodate reporting by urban water suppliers on an individual 
or regional basis as provided in subdivision (a) of Section 
10608.28. 

CHAPTER 7. Funding Provisions [10608.56 – 10608.60] 

10608.56. (a) On and after July 1, 2016, an urban retail water supplier is 
not eligible for a water grant or loan awarded or administered by the state 
unless the supplier complies with this part. 

(b) On and after July 1, 2013, an agricultural water supplier is not 
eligible for a water grant or loan awarded or administered by the 
state unless the supplier complies with this part. 

(c) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), the department shall determine 
that an urban retail water supplier is eligible for a water grant or 
loan even though the supplier has not met the per capita 

Page 1174

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-26 

reductions required pursuant to Section 10608.24, if the urban 
retail water supplier has submitted to the department for approval 
a schedule, financing plan, and budget, to be included in the grant 
or loan agreement, for achieving the per capita reductions. The 
supplier may request grant or loan funds to achieve the per capita 
reductions to the extent the request is consistent with the eligibility 
requirements applicable to the water funds. 

(d) Notwithstanding subdivision (b), the department shall determine 
that an agricultural water supplier is eligible for a water grant or 
loan even though the supplier is not implementing all of the 
efficient water management practices described in Section 
10608.48, if the agricultural water supplier has submitted to the 
department for approval a schedule, financing plan, and budget, to 
be included in the grant or loan agreement, for implementation of 
the efficient water management practices. The supplier may 
request grant or loan funds to implement the efficient water 
management practices to the extent the request is consistent with 
the eligibility requirements applicable to the water funds. 

(e) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), the department shall determine 
that an urban retail water supplier is eligible for a water grant or 
loan even though the supplier has not met the per capita 
reductions required pursuant to Section 10608.24, if the urban 
retail water supplier has submitted to the department for approval 
documentation demonstrating that its entire service area qualifies 
as a disadvantaged community. 

(f) The department shall not deny eligibility to an urban retail water 
supplier or agricultural water supplier in compliance with the 
requirements of this part and Part 2.8 (commencing with Section 
10800), that is participating in a multiagency water project, or an 
integrated regional water management plan, developed pursuant 
to Section 75026 of the Public Resources Code, solely on the basis 
that one or more of the agencies participating in the project or plan 
is not implementing all of the requirements of this part or Part 2.8 
(commencing with Section 10800). 

10608.60. (a) It is the intent of the Legislature that funds made available 
by Section 75026 of the Public Resources Code should be expended, 
consistent with Division 43 (commencing with Section 75001) of the Public 

Page 1175

Item 37.

javascript:submitCodesValues('10608.60.','7.9.7','2009','4','1',%20'id_ff76acf5-10a5-11df-8635-fac6a4a7b1ad')


2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-27 

Resources Code and upon appropriation by the Legislature, for grants to 
implement this part. In the allocation of funding, it is the intent of the 
Legislature that the department give consideration to disadvantaged 
communities to assist in implementing the requirements of this part. 

(b) It is the intent of the Legislature that funds made available by 
Section 75041 of the Public Resources Code, should be expended, 
consistent with Division 43 (commencing with Section 75001) of 
the Public Resources Code and upon appropriation by the 
Legislature, for direct expenditures to implement this part. 

CHAPTER 8. Quantifying Agricultural Water Use Efficiency [10608.64] 

10608.64. The department, in consultation with the Agricultural Water 
Management Council, academic experts, and other stakeholders, shall 
develop a methodology for quantifying the efficiency of agricultural water 
use. Alternatives to be assessed shall include, but not be limited to, 
determination of efficiency levels based on crop type or irrigation system 
distribution uniformity. On or before December 31, 2011, the department 
shall report to the Legislature on a proposed methodology and a plan for 
implementation. The plan shall include the estimated implementation costs 
and the types of data needed to support the methodology. Nothing in this 
section authorizes the department to implement a methodology established 
pursuant to this section. 

PART 2.55. SUSTAINABLE WATER USE AND DEMAND REDUCTION 
[10608 – 10609.42] 
CHAPTER 9. Urban Water Use Objectives and Water Use Reporting 
[10609 – 10609.38] 

10609. (a) The Legislature finds and declares that this chapter establishes a 
method to estimate the aggregate amount of water that would have been 
delivered the previous year by an urban retail water supplier if all that water 
had been used efficiently. This estimated aggregate water use is the urban 
retail water supplier’s urban water use objective. The method is based on 
water use efficiency standards and local service area characteristics for that 
year. By comparing the amount of water actually used in the previous year 
with the urban water use objective, local urban water suppliers will be in a 
better position to help eliminate unnecessary use of water; that is, water 
used in excess of that needed to accomplish the intended beneficial use. 

Page 1176

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-28 

(b) The Legislature further finds and declares all of the following: 

(1) This chapter establishes standards and practices for the 
following water uses: 

(A) Indoor residential use. 

(B) Outdoor residential use. 

(C) CII water use. 

(D) Water losses. 

(E) Other unique local uses and situations that can have a 
material effect on an urban water supplier’s total water use. 

(2) This chapter further does all of the following: 

(A) Establishes a method to calculate each urban water use 
objective. 

(B) Considers recycled water quality in establishing 
efficient irrigation standards. 

(C) Requires the department to provide or otherwise 
identify data regarding the unique local conditions to 
support the calculation of an urban water use 
objective. 

(D) Provides for the use of alternative sources of data if 
alternative sources are shown to be as accurate as, or 
more accurate than, the data provided by the 
department. 

(E) Requires annual reporting of the previous year’s water 
use with the urban water use objective. 

(F) Provides a bonus incentive for the amount of potable 
recycled water used the previous year when comparing 
the previous year’s water use with the urban water use 
objective, of up to 10 percent of the urban water use 
objective. 

(3) This chapter requires the department and the board to solicit 
broad public participation from stakeholders and other 
interested persons in the development of the standards and 
the adoption of regulations pursuant to this chapter. 

Page 1177

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-29 

(4) This chapter preserves the Legislature’s authority over long-
term water use efficiency target setting and ensures 
appropriate legislative oversight of the implementation of 
this chapter by doing all of the following: 

(A) Requiring the Legislative Analyst to conduct a review of 
the implementation of this chapter, including 
compliance with the adopted standards and 
regulations, accuracy of the data, use of alternate 
data, and other issues the Legislative Analyst deems 
appropriate. 

(B) Stating legislative intent that the director of the 
department and the chairperson of the board appear 
before the appropriate Senate and Assembly policy 
committees to report on progress in implementing this 
chapter. 

(C) Providing one-time-only authority to the department 
and board to adopt water use efficiency standards, 
except as explicitly provided in this chapter. 
Authorization to update the standards shall require 
separate legislation. 

(c) It is the intent of the Legislature that the following principles apply 
to the development and implementation of long-term standards 
and urban water use objectives: 

(1) Local urban retail water suppliers should have primary 
responsibility for meeting standards-based water use targets, 
and they shall retain the flexibility to develop their water 
supply portfolios, design and implement water conservation 
strategies, educate their customers, and enforce their rules. 

(2) Long-term standards and urban water use objectives should 
advance the state’s goals to mitigate and adapt to climate 
change. 

(3) Long-term standards and urban water use objectives should 
acknowledge the shade, air quality, and heat-island 
reduction benefits provided to communities by trees through 
the support of water-efficient irrigation practices that keep 
trees healthy. 

Page 1178

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-30 

(4) The state should identify opportunities for streamlined 
reporting, eliminate redundant data submissions, and 
incentivize open access to data collected by urban and 
agricultural water suppliers. 

10609.2. (a) The board, in coordination with the department, shall adopt 
long-term standards for the efficient use of water pursuant to this chapter 
on or before June 30, 2022. 

(b) Standards shall be adopted for all of the following: 

(1) Outdoor residential water use. 

(2) Outdoor irrigation of landscape areas with dedicated 
irrigation meters in connection with CII water use. 

(3) A volume for water loss. 

(c) When adopting the standards under this section, the board shall 
consider the policies of this chapter and the proposed efficiency 
standards’ effects on local wastewater management, developed 
and natural parklands, and urban tree health. The standards and 
potential effects shall be identified by May 30, 2022. The board 
shall allow for public comment on potential effects identified by the 
board under this subdivision. 

(d) The long-term standards shall be set at a level designed so that 
the water use objectives, together with other demands excluded 
from the long-term standards such as CII indoor water use and CII 
outdoor water use not connected to a dedicated landscape meter, 
would exceed the statewide conservation targets required pursuant 
to Chapter 3 (commencing with Section 10608.16). 

(e) The board, in coordination with the department, shall adopt by 
regulation variances recommended by the department pursuant to 
Section 10609.14 and guidelines and methodologies pertaining to 
the calculation of an urban retail water supplier’s urban water use 
objective recommended by the department pursuant to Section 
10609.16. 

10609.4. (a) (1) Until January 1, 2025, the standard for indoor residential 
water use shall be 55 gallons per capita daily. 

(2) Beginning January 1, 2025, and until January 1, 2030, the 

Page 1179

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-31 

standard for indoor residential water use shall be the greater 
of 52.5 gallons per capita daily or a standard recommended 
pursuant to subdivision (b). 

(3) Beginning January 1, 2030, the standard for indoor 
residential water use shall be the greater of 50 gallons per 
capita daily or a standard recommended pursuant to 
subdivision (b). 

(b) (1) The department, in coordination with the board, shall conduct 
necessary studies and investigations and may jointly recommend 
to the Legislature a standard for indoor residential water use that 
more appropriately reflects best practices for indoor residential 
water use than the standard described in subdivision (a). A report 
on the results of the studies and investigations shall be made to 
the chairpersons of the relevant policy committees of each house 
of the Legislature by January 1, 2021, and shall include 
information necessary to support the recommended standard, if 
there is one. The studies and investigations shall also include an 
analysis of the benefits and impacts of how the changing standard 
for indoor residential water use will impact water and wastewater 
management, including potable water usage, wastewater, recycling 
and reuse systems, infrastructure, operations, and supplies. 

(2) The studies, investigations, and report described in 
paragraph (1) shall include collaboration with, and input 
from, a broad group of stakeholders, including, but not 
limited to, environmental groups, experts in indoor plumbing, 
and water, wastewater, and recycled water agencies. 

10609.6. (a) (1) The department, in coordination with the board, shall 
conduct necessary studies and investigations and recommend, no later than 
October 1, 2021, standards for outdoor residential use for adoption by the 
board in accordance with this chapter. 

(2) (A) The standards shall incorporate the principles of the model 
water efficient landscape ordinance adopted by the department 
pursuant to the Water Conservation in Landscaping Act (Article 
10.8 (commencing with Section 65591) of Chapter 3 of Division 
1 of Title 7 of the Government Code). 

(B) The standards shall apply to irrigable lands. 

Page 1180

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-32 

(C) The standards shall include provisions for swimming 
pools, spas, and other water features. Ornamental water 
features that are artificially supplied with water, including 
ponds, lakes, waterfalls, and fountains, shall be analyzed 
separately from swimming pools and spas. 

(b) The department shall, by January 1, 2021, provide each urban 
retail water supplier with data regarding the area of residential 
irrigable lands in a manner that can reasonably be applied to the 
standards adopted pursuant to this section. 

(c) The department shall not recommend standards pursuant to this 
section until it has conducted pilot projects or studies, or some 
combination of the two, to ensure that the data provided to local 
agencies are reasonably accurate for the data’s intended uses, 
taking into consideration California’s diverse landscapes and 
community characteristics. 

10609.8. (a) The department, in coordination with the board, shall conduct 
necessary studies and investigations and recommend, no later than October 
1, 2021, standards for outdoor irrigation of landscape areas with dedicated 
irrigation meters or other means of calculating outdoor irrigation use in 
connection with CII water use for adoption by the board in accordance with 
this chapter. 

(b) The standards shall incorporate the principles of the model water 
efficient landscape ordinance adopted by the department pursuant 
to the Water Conservation in Landscaping Act (Article 10.8 
(commencing with Section 65591) of Chapter 3 of Division 1 of 
Title 7 of the Government Code). 

(c) The standards shall include an exclusion for water for commercial 
agricultural use meeting the definition of subdivision (b) of Section 
51201 of the Government Code. 

10609.9. For purposes of Sections 10609.6 and 10609.8, “principles of the 
model water efficient landscape ordinance” means those provisions of the 
model water efficient landscape ordinance applicable to the establishment or 
determination of the amount of water necessary to efficiently irrigate both 
new and existing landscapes. These provisions include, but are not limited 
to, all of the following: 

Page 1181

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-33 

(a) Evapotranspiration adjustment factors, as applicable. 

(b) Landscape area. 

(c) Maximum applied water allowance. 

(d) Reference evapotranspiration. 

(e) Special landscape areas, including provisions governing 
evapotranspiration adjustment factors for different types of water 
used for irrigating the landscape. 

10609.10. (a) The department, in coordination with the board, shall 
conduct necessary studies and investigations and recommend, no later than 
October 1, 2021, performance measures for CII water use for adoption by 
the board in accordance with this chapter. 

(b) Prior to recommending performance measures for CII water use, 
the department shall solicit broad public participation from 
stakeholders and other interested persons relating to all of the 
following: 

(1) Recommendations for a CII water use classification system 
for California that address significant uses of water. 

(2) Recommendations for setting minimum size thresholds for 
converting mixed CII meters to dedicated irrigation meters, 
and evaluation of, and recommendations for, technologies 
that could be used in lieu of requiring dedicated irrigation 
meters. 

(3) Recommendations for CII water use best management 
practices, which may include, but are not limited to, water 
audits and water management plans for those CII customers 
that exceed a recommended size, volume of water use, or 
other threshold. 

(c) Recommendations of appropriate performance measures for CII 
water use shall be consistent with the October 21, 2013, report to 
the Legislature by the Commercial, Industrial, and Institutional 
Task Force entitled “Water Use Best Management Practices,” 
including the technical and financial feasibility recommendations 
provided in that report, and shall support the economic 
productivity of California’s commercial, industrial, and institutional 
sectors. 

Page 1182

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-34 

(d) (1) The board, in coordination with the department, shall adopt 
performance measures for CII water use on or before June 30, 
2022. 

  

Page 1183

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-35 

(a) Each urban retail water supplier shall implement the 
performance measures adopted by the board pursuant to 
paragraph (1). 

10609.12. The standards for water loss for urban retail water suppliers shall 
be the standards adopted by the board pursuant to subdivision (i) of Section 
10608.34. 

10609.14. (a) The department, in coordination with the board, shall 
conduct necessary studies and investigations and, no later than October 1, 
2021, recommend for adoption by the board in accordance with this chapter 
appropriate variances for unique uses that can have a material effect on an 
urban retail water supplier’s urban water use objective. 

(b) Appropriate variances may include, but are not limited to, 
allowances for the following: 

(1) Significant use of evaporative coolers. 

(2) Significant populations of horses and other livestock. 

(3) Significant fluctuations in seasonal populations. 

(4) Significant landscaped areas irrigated with recycled water 
having high levels of total dissolved solids. 

(5) Significant use of water for soil compaction and dust control. 

(6) Significant use of water to supplement ponds and lakes to 
sustain wildlife. 

(7) Significant use of water to irrigate vegetation for fire 
protection. 

(8) Significant use of water for commercial or noncommercial 
agricultural use. 

(c) The department, in recommending variances for adoption by the 
board, shall also recommend a threshold of significance for each 
recommended variance. 

(d) Before including any specific variance in calculating an urban retail 
water supplier’s water use objective, the urban retail water 
supplier shall request and receive approval by the board for the 
inclusion of that variance. 

(e) The board shall post on its Internet Web site all of the following: 

Page 1184

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-36 

(1) A list of all urban retail water suppliers with approved 
variances. 

(2) The specific variance or variances approved for each urban 
retail water supplier. 

(3) The data supporting approval of each variance. 

10609.15. To help streamline water data reporting, the department and the 
board shall do all of the following: 

(a) Identify urban water reporting requirements shared by both 
agencies, and post on each agency’s Internet Web site how the 
data is used for planning, regulatory, or other purposes. 

(b) Analyze opportunities for more efficient publication of urban water 
reporting requirements within each agency, and analyze how each 
agency can integrate various data sets in a publicly accessible 
location, identify priority actions, and implement priority actions 
identified in the analysis. 

(c) Make appropriate data pertaining to the urban water reporting 
requirements that are collected by either agency available to the 
public according to the principles and requirements of the Open 
and Transparent Water Data Act (Part 4.9 (commencing with 
Section 12400)). 

10609.16. The department, in coordination with the board, shall conduct 
necessary studies and investigations and recommend, no later than October 
1, 2021, guidelines and methodologies for the board to adopt that identify 
how an urban retail water supplier calculates its urban water use objective. 
The guidelines and methodologies shall address, as necessary, all of the 
following: 

(a) Determining the irrigable lands within the urban retail water 
supplier’s service area. 

(b) Updating and revising methodologies described pursuant to 
subparagraph (A) of paragraph (1) of subdivision (h) of Section 
10608.20, as appropriate, including methodologies for calculating 
the population in an urban retail water supplier’s service area. 

(c) Using landscape area data provided by the department or 
alternative data. 

Page 1185

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-37 

(d) Incorporating precipitation data and climate data into estimates of 
a urban retail water supplier’s outdoor irrigation budget for its 
urban water use objective. 

(e) Estimating changes in outdoor landscape area and population, and 
calculating the urban water use objective, for years when updated 
landscape imagery is not available from the department. 

(f) Determining acceptable levels of accuracy for the supporting data, 
the urban water use objective, and compliance with the urban 
water use objective. 

10609.18. The department and the board shall solicit broad public 
participation from stakeholders and other interested persons in the 
development of the standards and the adoption of regulations pursuant to 
this chapter. The board shall hold at least one public meeting before taking 
any action on any standard or variance recommended by the department. 

10609.20. (a) Each urban retail water supplier shall calculate its urban 
water use objective no later than January 1, 2024, and by January 1 every 
year thereafter. 

(b) The calculation shall be based on the urban retail water supplier’s 
water use conditions for the previous calendar or fiscal year. 

(c) Each urban water supplier’s urban water use objective shall be 
composed of the sum of the following: 

(1) Aggregate estimated efficient indoor residential water use. 

(2) Aggregate estimated efficient outdoor residential water use. 

(3) Aggregate estimated efficient outdoor irrigation of landscape 
areas with dedicated irrigation meters or equivalent 
technology in connection with CII water use. 

(4) Aggregate estimated efficient water losses. 

(5) Aggregate estimated water use in accordance with variances, 
as appropriate. 

(d) (1) An urban retail water supplier that delivers water from a 
groundwater basin, reservoir, or other source that is augmented by 
potable reuse water may adjust its urban water use objective by a 
bonus incentive calculated pursuant to this subdivision. 

Page 1186

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-38 

(2) The water use objective bonus incentive shall be the volume 
of its potable reuse delivered to residential water users and 
to landscape areas with dedicated irrigation meters in 
connection with CII water use, on an acre-foot basis. 

(3) The bonus incentive pursuant to paragraph (1) shall be 
limited in accordance with one of the following: 

(A) The bonus incentive shall not exceed 15 percent of the 
urban water supplier’s water use objective for any 
potable reuse water produced at an existing facility. 

(B) The bonus incentive shall not exceed 10 percent of the 
urban water supplier’s water use objective for any 
potable reuse water produced at any facility that is not 
an existing facility. 

(4) For purposes of this subdivision, “existing facility” means a 
facility that meets all of the following: 

(A) The facility has a certified environmental impact 
report, mitigated negative declaration, or negative 
declaration on or before January 1, 2019. 

(B) The facility begins producing and delivering potable 
reuse water on or before January 1, 2022. 

(C) The facility uses microfiltration and reverse osmosis 
technologies to produce the potable reuse water. 

(e) (1) The calculation of the urban water use objective shall be made 
using landscape area and other data provided by the department 
and pursuant to the standards, guidelines, and methodologies 
adopted by the board. The department shall provide data to the 
urban water supplier at a level of detail sufficient to allow the 
urban water supplier to verify its accuracy at the parcel level. 

(2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), an urban retail water supplier may 
use alternative data in calculating the urban water use objective if 
the supplier demonstrates to the department that the alternative 
data are equivalent, or superior, in quality and accuracy to the 
data provided by the department. The department may provide 
technical assistance to an urban retail water supplier in evaluating 
whether the alternative data are appropriate for use in calculating 
the supplier’s urban water use objective. 

Page 1187

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-39 

10609.21. (a) For purposes of Section 10609.20, and notwithstanding 
paragraph (4) of subdivision (d) of Section 10609.20, “existing facility” also 
includes the North City Project, phase one of the Pure Water San Diego 
Program, for which an environmental impact report was certified on April 10, 
2018. 

(b) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2019. 

10609.22. (a) An urban retail water supplier shall calculate its actual urban 
water use no later than January 1, 2024, and by January 1 every year 
thereafter. 

(b) The calculation shall be based on the urban retail water supplier’s 
water use for the previous calendar or fiscal year. 

(c) Each urban water supplier’s urban water use shall be composed of 
the sum of the following: 

(1) Aggregate residential water use. 

(2) Aggregate outdoor irrigation of landscape areas with 
dedicated irrigation meters in connection with CII water use. 

(3) Aggregate water losses. 

10609.24. (a) An urban retail water supplier shall submit a report to the 
department no later than January 1, 2024, and by January 1 every year 
thereafter. The report shall include all of the following: 

(1) The urban water use objective calculated pursuant to Section 
10609.20 along with relevant supporting data. 

(2) The actual urban water use calculated pursuant to Section 
10609.22 along with relevant supporting data. 

(3) Documentation of the implementation of the performance 
measures for CII water use. 

(4) A description of the progress made towards meeting the 
urban water use objective. 

(5) The validated water loss audit report conducted pursuant to 
Section 10608.34. 

(b) The department shall post the reports and information on its 
internet website. 

Page 1188

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-40 

(c) The board may issue an information order or conservation order to, 
or impose civil liability on, an entity or individual for failure to 
submit a report required by this section. 

10609.25. As part of the first report submitted to the department by an 
urban retail water supplier no later than January 1, 2024, pursuant to 
subdivision (a) of Section 10609.24, each urban retail water supplier shall 
provide a narrative that describes the water demand management measures 
that the supplier plans to implement to achieve its urban water use objective 
by January 1, 2027. 

10609.26. (a) (1) On and after January 1, 2024, the board may issue 
informational orders pertaining to water production, water use, and water 
conservation to an urban retail water supplier that does not meet its urban 
water use objective required by this chapter. Informational orders are 
intended to obtain information on supplier activities, water production, and 
conservation efforts in order to identify technical assistance needs and assist 
urban water suppliers in meeting their urban water use objectives. 

(2) In determining whether to issue an informational order, the 
board shall consider the degree to which the urban retail 
water supplier is not meeting its urban water use objective, 
information provided in the report required by Section 
10609.24, and actions the urban retail water supplier has 
implemented or will implement in order to help meet the 
urban water use objective. 

(3) The board shall share information received pursuant to this 
subdivision with the department. 

(4) An urban water supplier may request technical assistance 
from the department. The technical assistance may, to the 
extent available, include guidance documents, tools, and 
data. 

(b) On and after January 1, 2025, the board may issue a written notice 
to an urban retail water supplier that does not meet its urban 
water use objective required by this chapter. The written notice 
may warn the urban retail water supplier that it is not meeting its 
urban water use objective described in Section 10609.20 and is not 
making adequate progress in meeting the urban water use 
objective, and may request that the urban retail water supplier 

Page 1189

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-41 

address areas of concern in its next annual report required by 
Section 10609.24. In deciding whether to issue a written notice, 
the board may consider whether the urban retail water supplier 
has received an informational order, the degree to which the urban 
retail water supplier is not meeting its urban water use objective, 
information provided in the report required by Section 10609.24, 
and actions the urban retail water supplier has implemented or will 
implement in order to help meet its urban water use objective. 

(c) (1) On and after January 1, 2026, the board may issue a 
conservation order to an urban retail water supplier that does not 
meet its urban water use objective. A conservation order may 
consist of, but is not limited to, referral to the department for 
technical assistance, requirements for education and outreach, 
requirements for local enforcement, and other efforts to assist 
urban retail water suppliers in meeting their urban water use 
objective. 

(2) In issuing a conservation order, the board shall identify 
specific deficiencies in an urban retail water supplier’s 
progress towards meeting its urban water use objective, and 
identify specific actions to address the deficiencies. 

(3) The board may request that the department provide an 
urban retail water supplier with technical assistance to 
support the urban retail water supplier’s actions to remedy 
the deficiencies. 

(d) A conservation order issued in accordance with this chapter may 
include requiring actions intended to increase water-use efficiency, 
but shall not curtail or otherwise limit the exercise of a water right, 
nor shall it require the imposition of civil liability pursuant to 
Section 377. 

10609.27. Notwithstanding Section 10609.26, the board shall not issue an 
information order, written notice, or conservation order pursuant to Section 
10609.26 if both of the following conditions are met: 

(a) The board determines that the urban retail water supplier is not 
meeting its urban water use objective solely because the volume of 
water loss exceeds the urban retail water supplier’s standard for 
water loss. 

Page 1190

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-42 

(b) Pursuant to Section 10608.34, the board is taking enforcement 
action against the urban retail water supplier for not meeting the 
performance standards for the volume of water losses. 

10609.28. The board may issue a regulation or informational order 
requiring a wholesale water supplier, an urban retail water supplier, or a 
distributor of a public water supply, as that term is used in Section 350, to 
provide a monthly report relating to water production, water use, or water 
conservation. 

10609.30. On or before January 10, 2024, the Legislative Analyst shall 
provide to the appropriate policy committees of both houses of the 
Legislature and the public a report evaluating the implementation of the 
water use efficiency standards and water use reporting pursuant to this 
chapter. The board and the department shall provide the Legislative Analyst 
with the available data to complete this report. 

(a) The report shall describe all of the following: 

(1) The rate at which urban retail water users are complying 
with the standards, and factors that might facilitate or 
impede their compliance. 

(2) The accuracy of the data and estimates being used to 
calculate urban water use objectives. 

(3) Indications of the economic impacts, if any, of the 
implementation of this chapter on urban water suppliers and 
urban water users, including CII water users. 

(4) The frequency of use of the bonus incentive, the volume of 
water associated with the bonus incentive, value to urban 
water suppliers of the bonus incentive, and any implications 
of the use of the bonus incentive on water use efficiency. 

(5) The early indications of how implementing this chapter might 
impact the efficiency of statewide urban water use. 

(6) Recommendations, if any, for improving statewide urban 
water use efficiency and the standards and practices 
described in this chapter. 

(7) Any other issues the Legislative Analyst deems appropriate. 

Page 1191

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-43 

10609.32. It is the intent of the Legislature that the chairperson of the 
board and the director of the department appear before the appropriate 
policy committees of both houses of the Legislature on or around January 1, 
2026, and report on the implementation of the water use efficiency 
standards and water use reporting pursuant to this chapter. It is the intent 
of the Legislature that the topics to be covered include all of the following: 

(a) The rate at which urban retail water suppliers are complying with 
the standards, and factors that might facilitate or impede their 
compliance. 

(b) What enforcement actions have been taken, if any. 

(c) The accuracy of the data and estimates being used to calculate 
urban water use objectives. 

(d) Indications of the economic impacts, if any, of the implementation 
of this chapter on urban water suppliers and urban water users, 
including CII water users. 

(e) The frequency of use of the bonus incentive, the volume of water 
associated with the bonus incentive, value to urban water suppliers 
of the bonus incentive, and any implications of the use of the 
bonus incentive on water use efficiency. 

(f) An assessment of how implementing this chapter is affecting the 
efficiency of statewide urban water use. 

10609.34. Notwithstanding Section 15300.2 of Title 14 of the California 
Code of Regulations, an action of the board taken under this chapter shall be 
deemed to be a Class 8 action, within the meaning of Section 15308 of Title 
14 of the California Code of Regulations, provided that the action does not 
involve relaxation of existing water conservation or water use standards. 

10609.36. (a) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to determine or 
alter water rights. Sections 1010 and 1011 apply to water conserved 
through implementation of this chapter. 

(b) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to authorize the board to 
update or revise water use efficiency standards authorized by this 
chapter except as explicitly provided in this chapter. Authorization 
to update the standards beyond that explicitly provided in this 
chapter shall require separate legislation. 

Page 1192

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-44 

(c) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to limit or otherwise 
affect the use of recycled water as seawater barriers for 
groundwater salinity management. 

10609.38. The board may waive the requirements of this chapter for a 
period of up to five years for any urban retail water supplier whose water 
deliveries are significantly affected by changes in water use as a result of 
damage from a disaster such as an earthquake or fire. In establishing the 
period of a waiver, the board shall take into consideration the breadth of the 
damage and the time necessary for the damaged areas to recover from the 
disaster. 

PART 2.6. URBAN WATER MANAGEMENT PLANNING  
CHAPTER 1. General Declaration and Policy [10610 – 10610.4] 

10610. This part shall be known and may be cited as the "Urban Water 
Management Planning Act." 

10610.2. (a) The Legislature finds and declares all of the following: 

(1) The waters of the state are a limited and renewable resource 
subject to ever-increasing demands. 

(2) The conservation and efficient use of urban water supplies 
are of statewide concern; however, the planning for that use 
and the implementation of those plans can best be 
accomplished at the local level. 

(3) A long-term, reliable supply of water is essential to protect 
the productivity of California’s businesses and economic 
climate, and increasing long-term water conservation among 
Californians, improving water use efficiency within the state’s 
communities and agricultural production, and strengthening 
local and regional drought planning are critical to California’s 
resilience to drought and climate change. 

(4) As part of its long-range planning activities, every urban 
water supplier should make every effort to ensure the 
appropriate level of reliability in its water service sufficient to 
meet the needs of its various categories of customers during 
normal, dry, and multiple dry water years now and into the 

Page 1193

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-45 

foreseeable future, and every urban water supplier should 
collaborate closely with local land-use authorities to ensure 
water demand forecasts are consistent with current land-use 
planning. 

(5) Public health issues have been raised over a number of 
contaminants that have been identified in certain local and 
imported water supplies. 

(6) Implementing effective water management strategies, 
including groundwater storage projects and recycled water 
projects, may require specific water quality and salinity 
targets for meeting groundwater basins water quality 
objectives and promoting beneficial use of recycled water. 

(7) Water quality regulations are becoming an increasingly 
important factor in water agencies’ selection of raw water 
sources, treatment alternatives, and modifications to existing 
treatment facilities. 

(8) Changes in drinking water quality standards may also impact 
the usefulness of water supplies and may ultimately impact 
supply reliability. 

(9) The quality of source supplies can have a significant impact 
on water management strategies and supply reliability. 

(b) This part is intended to provide assistance to water agencies in 
carrying out their long-term resource planning responsibilities to 
ensure adequate water supplies to meet existing and future 
demands for water. 

10610.4. The Legislature finds and declares that it is the policy of the state 
as follows: 

(a) The management of urban water demands and efficient use of 
water shall be actively pursued to protect both the people of the 
state and their water resources. 

(b) The management of urban water demands and efficient use of 
urban water supplies shall be a guiding criterion in public decisions. 

(c) Urban water suppliers shall be required to develop water 
management plans to achieve the efficient use of available supplies 
and strengthen local drought planning. 

Page 1194

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-46 

CHAPTER 2. Definitions [10611 – 10618] 

10611. Unless the context otherwise requires, the definitions of this chapter 
govern the construction of this part. 

10611.3. “Customer” means a purchaser of water from a water supplier 
who uses the water for municipal purposes, including residential, 
commercial, governmental, and industrial uses. 

10611.5. “Demand management” means those water conservation 
measures, programs, and incentives that prevent the waste of water and 
promote the reasonable and efficient use and reuse of available supplies. 

10612. “Drought risk assessment” means a method that examines water 
shortage risks based on the driest five-year historic sequence for the 
agency’s water supply, as described in subdivision (b) of Section 10635. 

10613. "Efficient use" means those management measures that result in 
the most effective use of water so as to prevent its waste or unreasonable 
use or unreasonable method of use. 

10614. "Person" means any individual, firm, association, organization, 
partnership, business, trust, corporation, company, public agency, or any 
agency of such an entity. 

10615. "Plan" means an urban water management plan prepared pursuant 
to this part. A plan shall describe and evaluate sources of supply, reasonable 
and practical efficient uses, reclamation and demand management activities. 
The components of the plan may vary according to an individual community 
or area's characteristics and its capabilities to efficiently use and conserve 
water. The plan shall address measures for residential, commercial, 
governmental, and industrial water demand management as set forth in 
Article 2 (commencing with Section 10630) of Chapter 3. In addition, a 
strategy and time schedule for implementation shall be included in the plan. 

10616. "Public agency" means any board, commission, county, city and 
county, city, regional agency, district, or other public entity. 

  

Page 1195

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-47 

10616.5. "Recycled water" means the reclamation and reuse of wastewater 
for beneficial use. 

10617. "Urban water supplier" means a supplier, either publicly or privately 
owned, providing water for municipal purposes either directly or indirectly to 
more than 3,000 customers or supplying more than 3,000 acre-feet of water 
annually. An urban water supplier includes a supplier or contractor for water, 
regardless of the basis of right, which distributes or sells for ultimate resale 
to customers. This part applies only to water supplied from public water 
systems subject to Chapter 4 (commencing with Section 116275) of Part 12 
of Division 104 of the Health and Safety Code. 

10617.5. “Water shortage contingency plan” means a document that 
incorporates the provisions detailed in subdivision (a) of Section 10632 and 
is subsequently adopted by an urban water supplier pursuant to this article. 

10618. “Water supply and demand assessment” means a method that looks 
at current year and one or more dry year supplies and demands for 
determining water shortage risks, as described in Section 10632.1. 

CHAPTER 3. Urban Water Management Plans  
ARTICLE 1. General Provisions [10620 – 10621] 

10620. (a) Every urban water supplier shall prepare and adopt an urban 
water management plan in the manner set forth in Article 3 (commencing 
with Section 10640). 

(b) Every person that becomes an urban water supplier shall adopt an 
urban water management plan within one year after it has become 
an urban water supplier. 

(c) An urban water supplier indirectly providing water shall not include 
planning elements in its water management plan as provided in 
Article 2 (commencing with Section 10630) that would be 
applicable to urban water suppliers or public agencies directly 
providing water, or to their customers, without the consent of 
those suppliers or public agencies. 

(d) (1) An urban water supplier may satisfy the requirements of this 
part by participation in areawide, regional, watershed, or basinwide 
urban water management planning where those plans will reduce 

Page 1196

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-48 

preparation costs and contribute to the achievement of 
conservation, efficient water use, and improved local drought 
resilience. 

(2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), each urban water supplier 
shall develop its own water shortage contingency plan, but 
an urban water supplier may incorporate, collaborate, and 
otherwise share information with other urban water suppliers 
or other governing entities participating in an areawide, 
regional, watershed, or basinwide urban water management 
plan, an agricultural management plan, or groundwater 
sustainability plan development. 

(3) Each urban water supplier shall coordinate the preparation of 
its plan with other appropriate agencies in the area, including 
other water suppliers that share a common source, water 
management agencies, and relevant public agencies, to the 
extent practicable. 

(e) The urban water supplier may prepare the plan with its own staff, 
by contract, or in cooperation with other governmental agencies. 

(f) An urban water supplier shall describe in the plan water 
management tools and options used by that entity that will 
maximize resources and minimize the need to import water from 
other regions. 

10621. (a) Each urban water supplier shall update its plan at least once 
every five years on or before July 1, in years ending in six and one, 
incorporating updated and new information from the five years preceding 
each update. 

(b) Every urban water supplier required to prepare a plan pursuant to 
this part shall, at least 60 days before the public hearing on the 
plan required by Section 10642, notify any city or county within 
which the supplier provides water supplies that the urban water 
supplier will be reviewing the plan and considering amendments or 
changes to the plan. The urban water supplier may consult with, 
and obtain comments from, any city or county that receives notice 
pursuant to this subdivision. 

(c) An urban water supplier regulated by the Public Utilities 
Commission shall include its most recent plan and water shortage 

Page 1197

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-49 

contingency plan as part of the supplier’s general rate case filings. 

(d) The amendments to, or changes in, the plan shall be adopted and 
filed in the manner set forth in Article 3 (commencing with Section 
10640). 

(e) Each urban water supplier shall update and submit its 2015 plan to 
the department by July 1, 2016. 

(f) Each urban water supplier shall update and submit its 2020 plan to 
the department by July 1, 2021. 

CHAPTER 3. Urban Water Management Plans  
ARTICLE 2. Contents of Plans [10630 – 10634] 

10630. It is the intention of the Legislature, in enacting this part, to permit 
levels of water management planning commensurate with the numbers of 
customers served and the volume of water supplied, while accounting for 
impacts from climate change. 

10630.5. Each plan shall include a simple lay description of how much 
water the agency has on a reliable basis, how much it needs for the 
foreseeable future, what the agency’s strategy is for meeting its water 
needs, the challenges facing the agency, and any other information 
necessary to provide a general understanding of the agency’s plan. 

10631. A plan shall be adopted in accordance with this chapter that shall do 
all of the following: 

(a) Describe the service area of the supplier, including current and 
projected population, climate, and other social, economic, and 
demographic factors affecting the supplier’s water management 
planning. The projected population estimates shall be based upon 
data from the state, regional, or local service agency population 
projections within the service area of the urban water supplier and 
shall be in five-year increments to 20 years or as far as data is 
available. The description shall include the current and projected 
land uses within the existing or anticipated service area affecting 
the supplier’s water management planning. Urban water suppliers 
shall coordinate with local or regional land use authorities to 
determine the most appropriate land use information, including, 

Page 1198

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-50 

where appropriate, land use information obtained from local or 
regional land use authorities, as developed pursuant to Article 5 
(commencing with Section 65300) of Chapter 3 of Division 1 of 
Title 7 of the Government Code. 

(b) Identify and quantify, to the extent practicable, the existing and 
planned sources of water available to the supplier over the same 
five-year increments described in subdivision (a), providing 
supporting and related information, including all of the following: 

(1) A detailed discussion of anticipated supply availability under 
a normal water year, single dry year, and droughts lasting at 
least five years, as well as more frequent and severe periods 
of drought, as described in the drought risk assessment. For 
each source of water supply, consider any information 
pertinent to the reliability analysis conducted pursuant to 
Section 10635, including changes in supply due to climate 
change. 

(2) When multiple sources of water supply are identified, a 
description of the management of each supply in correlation 
with the other identified supplies. 

(3) For any planned sources of water supply, a description of the 
measures that are being undertaken to acquire and develop 
those water supplies. 

(4) If groundwater is identified as an existing or planned source 
of water available to the supplier, all of the following 
information: 

(A) The current version of any groundwater sustainability 
plan or alternative adopted pursuant to Part 2.74 
(commencing with Section 10720), any groundwater 
management plan adopted by the urban water 
supplier, including plans adopted pursuant to Part 2.75 
(commencing with Section 10750), or any other 
specific authorization for groundwater management for 
basins underlying the urban water supplier’s service 
area. 

(B) A description of any groundwater basin or basins from 
which the urban water supplier pumps groundwater. 

Page 1199

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-51 

For basins that a court or the board has adjudicated 
the rights to pump groundwater, a copy of the order or 
decree adopted by the court or the board and a 
description of the amount of groundwater the urban 
water supplier has the legal right to pump under the 
order or decree. For a basin that has not been 
adjudicated, information as to whether the department 
has identified the basin as a high- or medium-priority 
basin in the most current official departmental bulletin 
that characterizes the condition of the groundwater 
basin, and a detailed description of the efforts being 
undertaken by the urban water supplier to coordinate 
with groundwater sustainability agencies or 
groundwater management agencies listed in 
subdivision (c) of Section 10723 to maintain or achieve 
sustainable groundwater conditions in accordance with 
a groundwater sustainability plan or alternative 
adopted pursuant to Part 2.74 (commencing with 
Section 10720). 

(C) A detailed description and analysis of the location, 
amount, and sufficiency of groundwater pumped by the 
urban water supplier for the past five years. The 
description and analysis shall be based on information 
that is reasonably available, including, but not limited 
to, historic use records. 

(D) A detailed description and analysis of the amount and 
location of groundwater that is projected to be pumped 
by the urban water supplier. The description and 
analysis shall be based on information that is 
reasonably available, including, but not limited to, 
historic use records. 

(c) Describe the opportunities for exchanges or transfers of water on a 
short-term or long-term basis. 

(d) (1) For an urban retail water supplier, quantify, to the extent 
records are available, past and current water use, over the same 
five-year increments described in subdivision (a), and projected 
water use, based upon information developed pursuant to 
subdivision (a), identifying the uses among water use sectors, 

Page 1200

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-52 

including, but not necessarily limited to, all of the following: 

(A) Single-family residential. 

(B) Multifamily. 

(C) Commercial. 

(D) Industrial. 

(E) Institutional and governmental. 

(F) Landscape. 

(G) Sales to other agencies. 

(H) Saline water intrusion barriers, groundwater recharge, 
or conjunctive use, or any combination thereof. 

(I) Agricultural. 

(J) Distribution system water loss. 

(2) The water use projections shall be in the same five-year 
increments described in subdivision (a). 

(3) (A) The distribution system water loss shall be quantified for 
each of the five years preceding the plan update, in 
accordance with rules adopted pursuant to Section 10608.34. 

(B) The distribution system water loss quantification shall be 
reported in accordance with a worksheet approved or 
developed by the department through a public process. 
The water loss quantification worksheet shall be based 
on the water system balance methodology developed by 
the American Water Works Association. 

(C) In the plan due July 1, 2021, and in each update 
thereafter, data shall be included to show whether the 
urban retail water supplier met the distribution loss 
standards enacted by the board pursuant to Section 
10608.34. 

(4) (A) Water use projections, where available, shall display and 
account for the water savings estimated to result from 
adopted codes, standards, ordinances, or transportation and 
land use plans identified by the urban water supplier, as 
applicable to the service area. 

Page 1201

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-53 

(B) To the extent that an urban water supplier reports the 
information described in subparagraph (A), an urban 
water supplier shall do both of the following: 

(i) Provide citations of the various codes, standards, 
ordinances, or transportation and land use plans 
utilized in making the projections. 

(ii) Indicate the extent that the water use projections 
consider savings from codes, standards, ordinances, 
or transportation and land use plans. Water use 
projections that do not account for these water 
savings shall be noted of that fact. 

(e) Provide a description of the supplier’s water demand management 
measures. This description shall include all of the following: 

(1) (A) For an urban retail water supplier, as defined in Section 
10608.12, a narrative description that addresses the nature and 
extent of each water demand management measure implemented 
over the past five years. The narrative shall describe the water 
demand management measures that the supplier plans to 
implement to achieve its water use targets pursuant to Section 
10608.20. 

(B) The narrative pursuant to this paragraph shall include 
descriptions of the following water demand management 
measures: 

(i) Water waste prevention ordinances. 

(ii) Metering. 

(iii) Conservation pricing. 

(iv) Public education and outreach. 

 

(v) Programs to assess and manage distribution 
system real loss. 

(vi) Water conservation program coordination and 
staffing support. 

(vii) Other demand management measures that have a 
significant impact on water use as measured in 

Page 1202

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-54 

gallons per capita per day, including innovative 
measures, if implemented. 

(2) For an urban wholesale water supplier, as defined in Section 
10608.12, a narrative description of the items in clauses (ii), 
(iv), (vi), and (vii) of subparagraph (B) of paragraph (1), and 
a narrative description of its distribution system asset 
management and wholesale supplier assistance programs. 

(f) Include a description of all water supply projects and water supply 
programs that may be undertaken by the urban water supplier to 
meet the total projected water use, as established pursuant to 
subdivision (a) of Section 10635. The urban water supplier shall 
include a detailed description of expected future projects and 
programs that the urban water supplier may implement to increase 
the amount of the water supply available to the urban water 
supplier in normal and single-dry water years and for a period of 
drought lasting five consecutive water years. The description shall 
identify specific projects and include a description of the increase 
in water supply that is expected to be available from each project. 
The description shall include an estimate with regard to the 
implementation timeline for each project or program. 

(g) Describe the opportunities for development of desalinated water, 
including, but not limited to, ocean water, brackish water, and 
groundwater, as a long-term supply. 

(h) An urban water supplier that relies upon a wholesale agency for a 
source of water shall provide the wholesale agency with water use 
projections from that agency for that source of water in five-year 
increments to 20 years or as far as data is available. The wholesale 
agency shall provide information to the urban water supplier for 
inclusion in the urban water supplier’s plan that identifies and 
quantifies, to the extent practicable, the existing and planned 
sources of water as required by subdivision (b), available from the 
wholesale agency to the urban water supplier over the same five-
year increments, and during various water-year types in 
accordance with subdivision (f). An urban water supplier may rely 
upon water supply information provided by the wholesale agency 
in fulfilling the plan informational requirements of subdivisions (b) 
and (f). 

Page 1203

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-55 

10631.1. (a) The water use projections required by Section 10631 shall 
include projected water use for single-family and multifamily residential 
housing needed for lower income households, as defined in Section 50079.5 
of the Health and Safety Code, as identified in the housing element of any 
city, county, or city and county in the service area of the supplier. 

(b) It is the intent of the Legislature that the identification of projected 
water use for single-family and multifamily residential housing for 
lower income households will assist a supplier in complying with 
the requirement under Section 65589.7 of the Government Code to 
grant a priority for the provision of service to housing units 
affordable to lower income households. 

10631.2. (a) In addition to the requirements of Section 10631, an urban 
water management plan shall include any of the following information that 
the urban water supplier can readily obtain: 

(1) An estimate of the amount of energy used to extract or 
divert water supplies. 

(2) An estimate of the amount of energy used to convey water 
supplies to the water treatment plants or distribution 
systems. 

(3) An estimate of the amount of energy used to treat water supplies. 

(4) An estimate of the amount of energy used to distribute water 
supplies through its distribution systems. 

(5) An estimate of the amount of energy used for treated water 
supplies in comparison to the amount used for nontreated 
water supplies. 

(6) An estimate of the amount of energy used to place water into 
or withdraw from storage. 

(7) Any other energy-related information the urban water 
supplier deems appropriate. 

(b) The department shall include in its guidance for the preparation of 
urban water management plans a methodology for the voluntary 
calculation or estimation of the energy intensity of urban water 
systems. The department may consider studies and calculations 
conducted by the Public Utilities Commission in developing the 
methodology. 

Page 1204

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-56 

(c) The Legislature finds and declares that energy use is only one 
factor in water supply planning and shall not be considered 
independently of other factors. 

10632. (a) Every urban water supplier shall prepare and adopt a water 
shortage contingency plan as part of its urban water management plan that 
consists of each of the following elements: 

(1) The analysis of water supply reliability conducted pursuant to 
Section 10635. 

(2) The procedures used in conducting an annual water supply 
and demand assessment that include, at a minimum, both of 
the following: 

(A) The written decision making process that an urban 
water supplier will use each year to determine its water 
supply reliability. 

(B) The key data inputs and assessment methodology used 
to evaluate the urban water supplier’s water supply 
reliability for the current year and one dry year, 
including all of the following: 

(i) Current year unconstrained demand, considering 
weather, growth, and other influencing factors, 
such as policies to manage current supplies to meet 
demand objectives in future years, as applicable. 

(ii) Current year available supply, considering 
hydrological and regulatory conditions in the 
current year and one dry year. The annual supply 
and demand assessment may consider more than 
one dry year solely at the discretion of the urban 
water supplier. 

(iii) Existing infrastructure capabilities and plausible 
constraints. 

(iv) A defined set of locally applicable evaluation criteria 
that are consistently relied upon for each annual 
water supply and demand assessment. 

(v) A description and quantification of each source of 
water supply. 

Page 1205

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-57 

(3) (A) Six standard water shortage levels corresponding to 
progressive ranges of up to 10, 20, 30, 40, and 50 percent 
shortages and greater than 50 percent shortage. Urban 
water suppliers shall define these shortage levels based on 
the suppliers’ water supply conditions, including percentage 
reductions in water supply, changes in groundwater levels, 
changes in surface elevation or level of subsidence, or other 
changes in hydrological or other local conditions indicative of 
the water supply available for use. Shortage levels shall also 
apply to catastrophic interruption of water supplies, 
including, but not limited to, a regional power outage, an 
earthquake, and other potential emergency events. 

(B) An urban water supplier with an existing water 
shortage contingency plan that uses different water 
shortage levels may comply with the requirement in 
subparagraph (A) by developing and including a cross-
reference relating its existing categories to the six 
standard water shortage levels. 

(4) Shortage response actions that align with the defined 
shortage levels and include, at a minimum, all of the 
following: 

(A) Locally appropriate supply augmentation actions. 

(B) Locally appropriate demand reduction actions to 
adequately respond to shortages. 

(C) Locally appropriate operational changes. 

(D)  Additional, mandatory prohibitions against specific 
water use practices that are in addition to state-
mandated prohibitions and appropriate to the local 
conditions. 

(E) For each action, an estimate of the extent to which the 
gap between supplies and demand will be reduced by 
implementation of the action. 

(5) Communication protocols and procedures to inform 
customers, the public, interested parties, and local, regional, 
and state governments, regarding, at a minimum, all of the 
following: 

Page 1206

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-58 

(A) Any current or predicted shortages as determined by 
the annual water supply and demand assessment 
described pursuant to Section 10632.1. 

(B) Any shortage response actions triggered or anticipated 
to be triggered by the annual water supply and 
demand assessment described pursuant to Section 
10632.1. 

(C) Any other relevant communications. 

(6) For an urban retail water supplier, customer compliance, 
enforcement, appeal, and exemption procedures for 
triggered shortage response actions as determined pursuant 
to Section 10632.2. 

(7) (A) A description of the legal authorities that empower the 
urban water supplier to implement and enforce its shortage 
response actions specified in paragraph (4) that may include, 
but are not limited to, statutory authorities, ordinances, 
resolutions, and contract provisions. 

(A) A statement that an urban water supplier shall declare a 
water shortage emergency in accordance with Chapter 
3 (commencing with Section 350) of Division 1. 

(B) A statement that an urban water supplier shall 
coordinate with any city or county within which it 
provides water supply services for the possible 
proclamation of a local emergency, as defined in 
Section 8558 of the Government Code. 

(8) A description of the financial consequences of, and responses 
for, drought conditions, including, but not limited to, all of 
the following: 

(A) A description of potential revenue reductions and 
expense increases associated with activated shortage 
response actions described in paragraph (4). 

(B) A description of mitigation actions needed to address 
revenue reductions and expense increases associated 
with activated shortage response actions described in 
paragraph (4). 

Page 1207

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-59 

(C) A description of the cost of compliance with Chapter 
3.3 (commencing with Section 365) of Division 1. 

(9) For an urban retail water supplier, monitoring and reporting 
requirements and procedures that ensure appropriate data is 
collected, tracked, and analyzed for purposes of monitoring 
customer compliance and to meet state reporting 
requirements. 

(10) Reevaluation and improvement procedures for systematically 
monitoring and evaluating the functionality of the water 
shortage contingency plan in order to ensure shortage risk 
tolerance is adequate and appropriate water shortage 
mitigation strategies are implemented as needed. 

(b) For purposes of developing the water shortage contingency plan 
pursuant to subdivision (a), an urban water supplier shall analyze 
and define water features that are artificially supplied with water, 
including ponds, lakes, waterfalls, and fountains, separately from 
swimming pools and spas, as defined in subdivision (a) of Section 
115921 of the Health and Safety Code. 

(c) The urban water supplier shall make available the water shortage 
contingency plan prepared pursuant to this article to its customers 
and any city or county within which it provides water supplies no 
later than 30 days after adoption of the water shortage 
contingency plan. 

10632.1. An urban water supplier shall conduct an annual water supply and 
demand assessment pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 10632 and, on or 
before July 1 of each year, submit an annual water shortage assessment 
report to the department with information for anticipated shortage, triggered 
shortage response actions, compliance and enforcement actions, and 
communication actions consistent with the supplier’s water shortage 
contingency plan. An urban water supplier that relies on imported water 
from the State Water Project or the Bureau of Reclamation shall submit its 
annual water supply and demand assessment within 14 days of receiving its 
final allocations, or by July 1 of each year, whichever is later. 

10632.2. An urban water supplier shall follow, where feasible and 
appropriate, the prescribed procedures and implement determined shortage 
response actions in its water shortage contingency plan, as identified in 

Page 1208

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-60 

subdivision (a) of Section 10632, or reasonable alternative actions, provided 
that descriptions of the alternative actions are submitted with the annual 
water shortage assessment report pursuant to Section 10632.1. Nothing in 
this section prohibits an urban water supplier from taking actions not 
specified in its water shortage contingency plan, if needed, without having to 
formally amend its urban water management plan or water shortage 
contingency plan. 

10632.3. It is the intent of the Legislature that, upon proclamation by the 
Governor of a state of emergency under the California Emergency Services 
Act (Chapter 7 (commencing with Section 8550) of Division 1 of Title 2 of 
the Government Code) based on drought conditions, the board defer to 
implementation of locally adopted water shortage contingency plans to the 
extent practicable. 

10632.5. (a) In addition to the requirements of paragraph (3) of subdivision 
(a) of Section 10632, beginning January 1, 2020, the plan shall include a 
seismic risk assessment and mitigation plan to assess the vulnerability of 
each of the various facilities of a water system and mitigate those 
vulnerabilities. 

(b) An urban water supplier shall update the seismic risk assessment 
and mitigation plan when updating its urban water management 
plan as required by Section 10621. 

(c) An urban water supplier may comply with this section by 
submitting, pursuant to Section 10644, a copy of the most recent 
adopted local hazard mitigation plan or multihazard mitigation plan 
under the federal Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000 (Public Law 106-
390) if the local hazard mitigation plan or multihazard mitigation 
plan addresses seismic risk. 

10633. The plan shall provide, to the extent available, information on 
recycled water and its potential for use as a water source in the serv`ice 
area of the urban water supplier. The preparation of the plan shall be 
coordinated with local water, wastewater, groundwater, and planning 
agencies that operate within the supplier’s service area, and shall include all 
of the following: 

(a) A description of the wastewater collection and treatment systems 
in the supplier’s service area, including a quantification of the 

Page 1209

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-61 

amount of wastewater collected and treated and the methods of 
wastewater disposal. 

(b) A description of the quantity of treated wastewater that meets 
recycled water standards, is being discharged, and is otherwise 
available for use in a recycled water project. 

(c) A description of the recycled water currently being used in the 
supplier’s service area, including, but not limited to, the type, 
place, and quantity of use. 

(d) A description and quantification of the potential uses of recycled 
water, including, but not limited to, agricultural irrigation, 
landscape irrigation, wildlife habitat enhancement, wetlands, 
industrial reuse, groundwater recharge, indirect potable reuse, and 
other appropriate uses, and a determination with regard to the 
technical and economic feasibility of serving those uses. 

(e) The projected use of recycled water within the supplier’s service 
area at the end of 5, 10, 15, and 20 years, and a description of the 
actual use of recycled water in comparison to uses previously 
projected pursuant to this subdivision. 

(f) A description of actions, including financial incentives, which may 
be taken to encourage the use of recycled water, and the projected 
results of these actions in terms of acre-feet of recycled water used 
per year. 

(g) A plan for optimizing the use of recycled water in the supplier’s 
service area, including actions to facilitate the installation of dual 
distribution systems, to promote recirculating uses, to facilitate the 
increased use of treated wastewater that meets recycled water 
standards, and to overcome any obstacles to achieving that 
increased use. 

10634. The plan shall include information, to the extent practicable, relating 
to the quality of existing sources of water available to the supplier over the 
same five-year increments as described in subdivision (a) of Section 10631, 
and the manner in which water quality affects water management strategies 
and supply reliability. 

  

Page 1210

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-62 

CHAPTER 3. Urban Water Management Plans  
ARTICLE 2.5. Water Service Reliability [10635] 

10635. (a) Every urban water supplier shall include, as part of its urban 
water management plan, an assessment of the reliability of its water service 
to its customers during normal, dry, and multiple dry water years. This 
water supply and demand assessment shall compare the total water supply 
sources available to the water supplier with the long-term total projected 
water use over the next 20 years, in five-year increments, for a normal 
water year, a single dry water year, and a drought lasting five consecutive 
water years. The water service reliability assessment shall be based upon 
the information compiled pursuant to Section 10631, including available data 
from state, regional, or local agency population projections within the 
service area of the urban water supplier. 

(b) Every urban water supplier shall include, as part of its urban water 
management plan, a drought risk assessment for its water service 
to its customers as part of information considered in developing 
the demand management measures and water supply projects and 
programs to be included in the urban water management plan. The 
urban water supplier may conduct an interim update or updates to 
this drought risk assessment within the five-year cycle of its urban 
water management plan update. The drought risk assessment shall 
include each of the following: 

(1) A description of the data, methodology, and basis for one or 
more supply shortage conditions that are necessary to 
conduct a drought risk assessment for a drought period that 
lasts five consecutive water years, starting from the year 
following when the assessment is conducted. 

(2) A determination of the reliability of each source of supply 
under a variety of water shortage conditions. This may 
include a determination that a particular source of water 
supply is fully reliable under most, if not all, conditions. 

(3) A comparison of the total water supply sources available to 
the water supplier with the total projected water use for the 
drought period. 

(4) Considerations of the historical drought hydrology, plausible 
changes on projected supplies and demands under climate 

Page 1211

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-63 

change conditions, anticipated regulatory changes, and other 
locally applicable criteria. 

(d) The urban water supplier shall provide that portion of its urban 
water management plan prepared pursuant to this article to any 
city or county within which it provides water supplies no later than 
60 days after the submission of its urban water management plan. 

(e) Nothing in this article is intended to create a right or entitlement to 
water service or any specific level of water service. 

(f) Nothing in this article is intended to change existing law concerning 
an urban water supplier’s obligation to provide water service to its 
existing customers or to any potential future customers. 

CHAPTER 3. Urban Water Management Plans  
ARTICLE 3. Adoption and Implementation of Plans [10640 – 10645] 

10640. (a) Every urban water supplier required to prepare a plan pursuant 
to this part shall prepare its plan pursuant to Article 2 (commencing with 
Section 10630). The supplier shall likewise periodically review the plan as 
required by Section 10621, and any amendments or changes required as a 
result of that review shall be adopted pursuant to this article. 

(b) Every urban water supplier required to prepare a water shortage 
contingency plan shall prepare a water shortage contingency plan 
pursuant to Section 10632. The supplier shall likewise periodically 
review the water shortage contingency plan as required by 
paragraph (10) of subdivision (a) of Section 10632 and any 
amendments or changes required as a result of that review shall 
be adopted pursuant to this article. 

  

Page 1212

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-64 

10641. An urban water supplier required to prepare a plan or a water 
shortage contingency plan may consult with, and obtain comments from, 
any public agency or state agency or any person who has special expertise 
with respect to water demand management methods and techniques. 

10642. Each urban water supplier shall encourage the active involvement of 
diverse social, cultural, and economic elements of the population within the 
service area prior to and during the preparation of both the plan and the 
water shortage contingency plan. Prior to adopting either, the urban water 
supplier shall make both the plan and the water shortage contingency plan 
available for public inspection and shall hold a public hearing or hearings 
thereon. Prior to any of these hearings, notice of the time and place of the 
hearing shall be published within the jurisdiction of the publicly owned water 
supplier pursuant to Section 6066 of the Government Code. The urban water 
supplier shall provide notice of the time and place of a hearing to any city or 
county within which the supplier provides water supplies. Notices by a local 
public agency pursuant to this section shall be provided pursuant to Chapter 
17.5 (commencing with Section 7290) of Division 7 of Title 1 of the 
Government Code. A privately owned water supplier shall provide an 
equivalent notice within its service area. After the hearing or hearings, the 
plan or water shortage contingency plan shall be adopted as prepared or as 
modified after the hearing or hearings. 

10643. An urban water supplier shall implement its plan adopted pursuant 
to this chapter in accordance with the schedule set forth in its plan. 

10644. (a) (1) An urban water supplier shall submit to the department, the 
California State Library, and any city or county within which the supplier 
provides water supplies a copy of its plan no later than 30 days after 
adoption. Copies of amendments or changes to the plans shall be submitted 
to the department, the California State Library, and any city or county within 
which the supplier provides water supplies within 30 days after adoption. 

(2) The plan, or amendments to the plan, submitted to the department 
pursuant to paragraph (1) shall be submitted electronically and 
shall include any standardized forms, tables, or displays specified 
by the department. 

(b) If an urban water supplier revises its water shortage contingency 
plan, the supplier shall submit to the department a copy of its 

Page 1213

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-65 

water shortage contingency plan prepared pursuant to subdivision 
(a) of Section 10632 no later than 30 days after adoption, in 
accordance with protocols for submission and using electronic 
reporting tools developed by the department. 

(c) (1) (A) Notwithstanding Section 10231.5 of the Government Code, 
the department shall prepare and submit to the Legislature, on or 
before July 1, in the years ending in seven and two, a report 
summarizing the status of the plans and water shortage 
contingency plans adopted pursuant to this part. The report 
prepared by the department shall identify the exemplary elements 
of the individual plans and water shortage contingency plans. The 
department shall provide a copy of the report to each urban water 
supplier that has submitted its plan and water shortage 
contingency plan to the department. The department shall also 
prepare reports and provide data for any legislative hearings 
designed to consider the effectiveness of plans and water shortage 
contingency plans submitted pursuant to this part. 

(B) The department shall prepare and submit to the board, 
on or before September 30 of each year, a report 
summarizing the submitted water supply and demand 
assessment results along with appropriate reported 
water shortage conditions and the regional and 
statewide analysis of water supply conditions 
developed by the department. As part of the report, 
the department shall provide a summary and, as 
appropriate, urban water supplier specific information 
regarding various shortage response actions 
implemented as a result of annual supplier-specific 
water supply and demand assessments performed 
pursuant to Section 10632.1. 

(C) The department shall submit the report to the 
Legislature for the 2015 plans by July 1, 2017, and the 
report to the Legislature for the 2020 plans and water 
shortage contingency plans by July 1, 2022. 

(2) A report to be submitted pursuant to subparagraph (A) of 
paragraph (1) shall be submitted in compliance with Section 
9795 of the Government Code. 

Page 1214

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-66 

(d) The department shall make available to the public the standard the 
department will use to identify exemplary water demand 
management measures. 

10645. (a) Not later than 30 days after filing a copy of its plan with the 
department, the urban water supplier and the department shall make the 
plan available for public review during normal business hours. 

(b) Not later than 30 days after filing a copy of its water shortage 
contingency plan with the department, the urban water supplier 
and the department shall make the plan available for public review 
during normal business hours. 

CHAPTER 4. Miscellaneous Provisions [10650 – 10657] 

10650. Any actions or proceedings, other than actions by the board, to 
attack, review, set aside, void, or annul the acts or decisions of an urban 
water supplier on the grounds of noncompliance with this part shall be 
commenced as follows: 

(a) An action or proceeding alleging failure to adopt a plan or a water 
shortage contingency plan shall be commenced within 18 months 
after that adoption is required by this part. 

(b) Any action or proceeding alleging that a plan or water shortage 
contingency plan, or action taken pursuant to either, does not 
comply with this part shall be commenced within 90 days after 
filing of the plan or water shortage contingency plan or an 
amendment to either pursuant to Section 10644 or the taking of 
that action. 

10651. In any action or proceeding to attack, review, set aside, void, or 
annul a plan or a water shortage contingency plan, or an action taken 
pursuant to either by an urban water supplier on the grounds of 
noncompliance with this part, the inquiry shall extend only to whether there 
was a prejudicial abuse of discretion. Abuse of discretion is established if the 
supplier has not proceeded in a manner required by law or if the action by 
the water supplier is not supported by substantial evidence. 

10652. The California Environmental Quality Act (Division 13 (commencing 
with Section 21000) of the Public Resources Code) does not apply to the 

Page 1215

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-67 

preparation and adoption of plans pursuant to this part or to the 
implementation of actions taken pursuant to Section 10632. Nothing in this 
part shall be interpreted as exempting from the California Environmental 
Quality Act any project that would significantly affect water supplies for fish 
and wildlife, or any project for implementation of the plan, other than 
projects implementing Section 10632, or any project for expanded or 
additional water supplies. 

10653. The adoption of a plan shall satisfy any requirements of state law, 
regulation, or order, including those of the board and the Public Utilities 
Commission, for the preparation of water management plans, water 
shortage contingency plans, or conservation plans; provided, that if the 
board or the Public Utilities Commission requires additional information 
concerning water conservation, drought response measures, or financial 
conditions to implement its existing authority, nothing in this part shall be 
deemed to limit the board or the commission in obtaining that information. 
The requirements of this part shall be satisfied by any urban water demand 
management plan that complies with analogous federal laws or regulations 
after the effective date of this part, and which substantially meets the 
requirements of this part, or by any existing urban water management plan 
which includes the contents of a plan required under this part. 

10654. An urban water supplier may recover in its rates the costs incurred 
in preparing its urban water management plan, its drought risk assessment, 
its water supply and demand assessment, and its water shortage 
contingency plan and implementing the reasonable water conservation 
measures included in either of the plans. 

10655. If any provision of this part or the application thereof to any person 
or circumstances is held invalid, that invalidity shall not affect other 
provisions or applications of this part which can be given effect without the 
invalid provision or application thereof, and to this end the provisions of this 
part are severable. 

10656. An urban water supplier is not eligible for a water grant or loan 
awarded or administered by the state unless the urban water supplier 
complies with this part. 

  

Page 1216

Item 37.



2020 Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook Appendix A 

California Department of Water Resources   A-68 

10657. The department may adopt regulations regarding the definitions of 
water, water use, and reporting periods, and may adopt any other 
regulations deemed necessary or desirable to implement this part. In 
developing regulations pursuant to this section, the department shall solicit 
broad public participation from stakeholders and other interested persons. 

 
 

Page 1217

Item 37.



 

Appendix B:  Notices of 
Preparation and Notices of 
Public Hearing 
 

 
  

Page 1218

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Jon McMillen 

City Manager 

La Quinta 

78-495 Calle Tampico 

La Quinta CA 92253 

jmcmillen@laquintaca.gov  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1219

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Cheri L. Flores 

Planning Manager 

La Quinta 

78-495 Calle Tampico 

La Quinta CA 92253 

cflores@laquintaca.gov  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1220

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Danny Castro 

Design and Development Director 

La Quinta 

78-495 Calle Tampico 

La Quinta CA 92253 

dcastro@laquintaca.gov  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1221

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Trish Rhay 

General Manager 

Indio 

83101 Avenue 45 

Indio CA 92201 

trhay@indio.org  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1222

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Castulo Estrada 

Utilities Manager 

Coachella 

53990 Enterprise Way 

Coachella CA 92236 

cestrada@coachella.org  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1223

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Randy Bynder 

Interim City Manager 

Palm Desert 

73510 Fred Waring Drive 

Palm Desert CA 92260 

rbynder@cityofpalmdesert.org  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1224

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Eric Ceja 

Principle Planner 

Palm Desert 

73510 Fred Waring Drive 

Palm Desert CA 92260 

eceja@cityofpalmdesert.org  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1225

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Ryan Stendell 

Director of Community Development 

Palm Desert 

73510 Fred Waring Drive 

Palm Desert CA 92260 

rstendell@cityofpalmdesert.org  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1226

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Charlie McClendon 

City Manager 

Cathedral City 

68700 Avenida Lalo Guerrero 

Cathedral City CA 92234 

CMcClendon@cathedralcity.gov  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1227

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Brenda Ramirez 

Associate Planner 

Cathedral City 

68700 Avenida Lalo Guerrero 

Cathedral City CA 92234 

bramirez@cathedralcity.gov  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1228

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Robert Rodriguez 

Director of Planning/Building 

Cathedral City 

68700 Avenida Lalo Guerrero 

Cathedral City CA 92234 

rrodriguez@cathedralcity.gov  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1229

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Christopher Freeland 

City Manager 

Indian Wells 

44-950 Eldorado Drive 

Indian Wells CA 92210 

cfreeland@indianwells.com  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1230

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Jon Berg 

Community Development Director 

Indian Wells 

44-950 Eldorado Drive 

Indian Wells CA 92210 

jberg@indianwells.com  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1231

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Luis Rubalcava 

Assistant Planner 

Indian Wells 

44-950 Eldorado Drive 

Indian Wells CA 92210 

lrubalcava@indianwells.com  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1232

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Isaiah Hagerman 

City Manager 

Rancho Mirage 

69825 Highway 111 

Rancho Mirage CA 92270 

isaiahh@ranchomirageca.gov  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1233

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Jeremy Gleim 

Director of Development Services 

Rancho Mirage 

69825 Highway 111 

Rancho Mirage CA 92270 

jeremyg@ranchomirageca.gov  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1234

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

David Ready 

City Manager 

Palm Springs 

3200 E. Tahquitz Canyon Way 

Palm Springs CA 92262 

David.Ready@palmspringsca.gov  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1235

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Flinn Fagg 

Director of Planning Services 

Palm Springs 

3200 E. Tahquitz Canyon Way 

Palm Springs CA 92262 

flinn.fagg@palmspringsca.gov  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1236

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Chuck Maynard 

City Manager 

Desert Hot Springs 

11-999 Palm Drive 

Desert Hot Springs CA 92240 

citymanager@cityofdhs.org  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1237

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Rebecca Deming 

Community Development Director 

Desert Hot Springs 

11-999 Palm Drive 

Desert Hot Springs CA 92240 

rdeming@cityofdhs.org  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1238

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Mojahed Salama 

Deputy Director of Transportation and Land Management 

Riverside 

4080 Lemon Street 

Riverside CA 92501 

msalama@rctlma.org  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1239

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Jason Uhley 

General Manager 

Riverside 

1995 Market St 

Riverside CA 92501 

juhley@rcflood.org  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1240

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Mark Abbott 

Land Use & Water Supervisor 

Indio 

47-950 Arabia St, Suite A 

Indio CA 92201 

MAbbott@rivco.org  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1241

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Jim Minnick 

Director 

El Centro 

801 Main St 

El Centro CA 92243 

jimminnick@co.imperial.ca.us  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1242

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Mark Krause 

General Manager 

Palm Springs 

1200 S Gene Autry Trail 

Palm Springs CA 92264 

mkrause@dwa.org  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1243

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Victoria Llort 

Programs & Public Affairs 

Desert Hot Springs 

66575 Second Street 

Desert Hot Springs CA 92240 

vllort@mswd.org  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1244

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Zoe Rodriguez del Rey 

Water Resources Manager 

Coachella 

PO Box 1058 

Coachella CA 92236 

zrodriguezdelrey@cvwd.org  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1245

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Mark Meeler 

General Manager 

Bermuda Dunes 

79-050 Avenue 42 

Bermuda Dunes CA 92203 

markmeeler@myomawater.com  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1246

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Doug Welmas 

Tribal Chairman 

Indio 

84-245 Indio Springs Parkway 

Indio CA 92203 

nmarkwardt@cabazonindians-nsn.gov  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1247

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

J Aceves 

Environmental Analyst 

Indio 

84-245 Indio Springs Parkway 

Indio CA 92203 

jaceves@cabazonindians-nsn.gov  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1248

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Jeff Grubbe 

Tribal Chair 

Palm Springs 

5401 Dinah Shore Drive 

Palm Springs CA 92264 

jgrubbe@aguacaliente.net  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1249

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Margaret Park 

Chief Planning Officer 

Palm Springs 

5401 Dinah Shore Drive 

Palm Springs CA 92264 

mpark@aguacaliente-nsn.gov  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1250

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Thomas Tortez, Jr. 

Tribal Chairman 

Thermal 

66-725 Martinez Road 

Thermal CA 92274 

thomas.tortez@torresmartinez-nsn.gov  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1251

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Otoniel Quiroz 

Natural Resources Manager 

Thermal 

66-725 Martinez Road 

Thermal CA 92274 

oquiroz@tmtanf.org  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1252

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Amanda Vance 

Tribal Chairman 

Coachella 

PO Box 846 

Coachella CA 92236 

avance@augustinetribe-nsn.gov  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1253

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Karen Kupcha 

Tribal Administrator 

Coachella 

PO Box 846 

Coachella CA 92236 

karen_kupcha@eee.org  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1254

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Darrell Mike 

Tribal Chairman 

Coachella 

46200 Harrison Place 

Coachella CA 92236 

29chairman@29palmsbomi-nsn.gov  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1255

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Jose Mora 

Environmental Technician 

Coachella 

46200 Harrison Place 

Coachella CA 92236 

jmora@29palmsbomi-nsn.gov  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1256

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Robert Martin 

Tribal Chairman 

Banning 

12700 Pumarra Road 

Banning CA 92220 

rmartin@morongo-nsn.gov  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1257

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Yvonne Franco 

District Manager 

Indio 

81077 Indio Blvd. Suite A 

Indio CA 92201 

YFranco@cvrcd.com  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1258

Item 37.



 
     

 

February 24, 2021 

Gretchen Gutierrez 

CEO 

Palm Desert 

75100 Mediterranean 

Palm Desert CA 92211 

gg@thedvba.org  

Re: Notice of Intent to Update Urban Water Management Plan 

Dear Mr. McMillen: 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley are updating their Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) and preparing a Regional 

UWMP to comply with the current requirements of the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  The 

participating agencies are:  

• Coachella Valley Water District 

• Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

• Desert Water Agency 

• Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

• Mission Springs Water District 

• Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The State of California requires urban water purveyors to update their UWMP every five years.  

Preparing a Regional UWMP will allow the six agencies to coordinate their efforts on demand 

projections and supply characterizations. 

The agencies will be evaluating their previous UWMP and considering amendments and changes as 

required by the law.  The agencies will be hosting a public workshop to gather input, and the draft 

RUWMP will be made available for public review before each agency’s governing board holds a public 

hearing to gather input and consider adoption.  The adopted RUWMP is due to be submitted to the 

State by July 1, 2021.  More information and the draft RUWMP will be available at 

http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1259

Item 37.



 
         

 

 

Notice of Availability and Public Review of 

Draft 2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan, 

Draft Water Shortage Contingency Plan, and 

Appendix L Addendum to the 2015 Urban Water Management Plan 

On behalf of the six participating agencies, this letter provides notice that six water agencies in the 

Coachella Valley have prepared a Draft 2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

(RUWMP), a Draft Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP) for each agency, and an Appendix L Addendum 

to the 2015 Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) for each agency. 

The participating agencies are:  

 Coachella Valley Water District 

 Coachella Water Authority (City of Coachella) 

 Desert Water Agency 

 Indio Water Authority (City of Indio) 

 Mission Springs Water District 

 Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

The RUWMP describes the region’s water supplies and anticipated demands through 2045.  It also 

describes each agency’s programs to encourage efficient water use.  The WSCP for each agency describes 

the actions that could be taken during a water shortage to reduce demands.  The agencies have 

coordinated their WSCPs to provide consistent shortage levels and response actions across the region. 

Because the region receives imported water from the Sacramento‐San Joaquin Delta (Delta), the agencies 

are required to demonstrate consistency with Delta Plan Policy WR P1, Reduced Reliance on the Delta 

Through Improved Regional Water Self‐Reliance.  Draft Appendix L has been prepared to satisfy the 

requirement to demonstrate reduced reliance on the Delta.  This appendix is included in the Draft 2020 

RUWMP and will also be included as an addendum to each agency’s 2015 UWMP. 

These documents will be available for public review on each agency’s web site.  Each agency will hold a 

public hearing to hear comments before considering adoption of the plans.  Information for each agency’s 

public hearing is included in the table below.  The table also includes a contact for questions or comments 

regarding the plans.   

More information and the draft documents will also be available at http://www.cvrwmg.org/uwmp/. 

   

Page 1260

Item 37.



Agency 
Hearing Date and 

Time  Agency Web Site for Hearing Details and Additional Information 

Coachella Valley 
Water District 

Tuesday, June 22, 
2021 

8:00 a.m. 

https://www.cvwd.org/151/Board‐Agendas 
 
https://www.cvwd.org/543/Urban‐Water‐Management‐Planning 

Coachella Water 
Authority (City of 
Coachella) 

Wednesday, June 
23, 2021 
6:00 p.m. 

https://www.coachella.org/city‐government/city‐
council/agendas‐and‐minutes 
 

Desert Water 
Agency 

Tuesday, June 15, 
2021 

8:00 a.m. 

https://dwa.org/organization/board‐agendas/ 
 

Indio Water 
Authority (City of 
Indio) 

Wednesday, June 
16, 2021 
5:00 p.m. 

https://www.indio.org/your_government/city_clerk/agendas.htm 
 

Mission Springs 
Water District 

Monday, June 21, 
2021 

3:00 p.m. 

https://www.mswd.org/board.aspx 
 

Myoma Dunes 
Mutual Water 
Company 

Tuesday, June 22, 
2021 

2:00 p.m. 

http://www.myomawater.com/Board.aspx 
 

 

Please address any comments or questions to: 

Agency  Address  Contact  Email 

Coachella Valley 
Water District 

P.O. Box 1058 
Coachella, CA 92236 

Zoe Rodriguez del Rey, 
Water Resources 

Manager 

ZRodriguezdelRey@cvwd.org 
 

Coachella Water 
Authority (City of 
Coachella) 

1515 Sixth St. 
Coachella, CA 92236 

Castulo Estrada, 
Utilities Manager 

cestrada@coachella.org 
 

Desert Water Agency  1200 S Gene Autry Trail 
Palm Springs, CA  92264 

Ashley Metzger, 
Outreach & 

Conservation Manager 

ametzger@dwa.org 
 

Indio Water 
Authority (City of 
Indio) 

83101 Avenue 45 
Indio, CA 92201 

Reymundo Trejo, 
Assistant General 

Manager 

rtrejo@indio.org 
 

Mission Springs 
Water District 

66575 Second Street 
Desert Hot Springs, CA 
92240 

Victoria Llort, 
Programs & Public 

Affairs 

vllort@mswd.org 
 

Myoma Dunes 
Mutual Water 
Company 

79‐050 Avenue 42 
Bermuda Dunes, CA  
92203 

Mark Meeler, 
General Manager 

markmeeler@myomawater.com 
 

 

On behalf of all the RUWMP Agencies, 

 

Ryan Molhoek, P.E. 

Senior Engineer 

Desert Water Agency 

Page 1261

Item 37.



 

 

Appendix C:  Demonstration 
of Reduced Delta Reliance 
 

 

 

(Appendix L to 2015 UWMP) 
  

Page 1262

Item 37.



 

 1 
Appendix - Delta Reliance_DRAFT.docx 

 
Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

Quantifying Regional Self-Reliance and Reduced Reliance on Water Supplies from the Delta 
Watershed 

June 2021 

1 Background 
Under the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta Reform Act of 2009, state and local public agencies proposing a 
covered action in the Delta, prior to initiating the implementation of that action, must prepare a written 
certification of consistency with detailed findings as to whether the covered action is consistent with 
applicable Delta Plan policies and submit that certification to the Delta Stewardship Council. Anyone may 
appeal a certification of consistency, and if the Delta Stewardship Council grants the appeal, the covered 
action may not be implemented until the agency proposing the covered action submits a revised 
certification of consistency, and either no appeal is filed, or the Delta Stewardship Council denies the 
subsequent appeal. 

An urban water supplier that anticipates participating in or receiving water from a proposed covered 
action such as a multi-year water transfer, conveyance facility, or new diversion that involves transferring 
water through, exporting water from, or using water in the Delta should provide information in their 2015 
and 2020 Urban Water Management Plans (UWMPs) that can then be used in the covered action process 
to demonstrate consistency with Delta Plan Policy WR P1, Reduce Reliance on the Delta Through Improved 
Regional Water Self-Reliance (WR P1). 

WR P1 details what is needed for a covered action to demonstrate consistency with reduced reliance on 
the Delta and improved regional self-reliance. WR P1 subsection (a) states that: 

(a) Water shall not be exported from, transferred through, or used in the Delta if all of the following 
apply: 

(1) One or more water suppliers that would receive water as a result of the export, 
transfer, or use have failed to adequately contribute to reduced reliance on the Delta and 
improved regional self-reliance consistent with all of the requirements listed in paragraph 
(1) of subsection (c); 

(2) That failure has significantly caused the need for the export, transfer, or use; and 

(3) The export, transfer, or use would have a significant adverse environmental impact in 
the Delta. 

WR P1 subsection (c)(1) further defines what adequately contributing to reduced reliance on the Delta 
means in terms of (a)(1) above. 

(c)(1) Water suppliers that have done all the following are contributing to reduced reliance on the 
Delta and improved regional self-reliance and are therefore consistent with this policy: 

Page 1263

Item 37.



 

 2 
Appendix - Delta Reliance_DRAFT.docx 

(A) Completed a current Urban or Agricultural Water Management Plan (Plan) which has 
been reviewed by the California Department of Water Resources for compliance with the 
applicable requirements of Water Code Division 6, Parts 2.55, 2.6, and 2.8; 

(B) Identified, evaluated, and commenced implementation, consistent with the 
implementation schedule set forth in the Plan, of all programs and projects included in the 
Plan that are locally cost effective and technically feasible which reduce reliance on the 
Delta; and 

(C) Included in the Plan, commencing in 2015, the expected outcome for measurable 
reduction in Delta reliance and improvement in regional self-reliance. The expected 
outcome for measurable reduction in Delta reliance and improvement in regional self- 
reliance shall be reported in the Plan as the reduction in the amount of water used, or in 
the percentage of water used, from the Delta watershed. For the purposes of reporting, 
water efficiency is considered a new source of water supply, consistent with Water Code 
section 1011(a). 

The analysis and documentation provided below include all the elements described in WR P1(c)(1) that 
need to be included in a water supplier’s UWMP to support a certification of consistency for a future 
covered action. 

The analysis presented here was developed on behalf of the six agencies participating in the 2020 
Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan (RUWMP).  These six agencies include: 

 Coachella Valley Water District 
 Coachella Water Authority 
 Desert Water Agency 
 Indio Water Authority 
 Mission Springs Water District 
 Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

This analysis is based on the water used to meet demands throughout the Coachella Valley. 

2 Methodology 
As stated in WR P1(c)(1)(C), the policy requires that, commencing in 2015, UWMPs include expected 
outcomes for improved regional self-reliance and measurable reduction in Delta reliance. WR P1 further 
states that those outcomes shall be reported in the UWMP as the reduction in the amount of water used, 
or in the percentage of water used, from the Delta. The expected outcomes for regional self-reliance and 
reduced Delta reliance were developed using the approach and guidance described in Appendix C of 
DWR’s Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook 2020 issued in March 2020 (Guidebook Appendix C). 

The methodology used to determine improved regional self-reliance and reduced Delta reliance is 
consistent with the approach detailed in DWR’s UWMP Guidebook Appendix C, including the use of 

Page 1264

Item 37.



 

 3 
Appendix - Delta Reliance_DRAFT.docx 

narrative justifications for the accounting of supplies and the documentation of specific data sources. 
Some of the key assumptions include: 

 All data were obtained from the current 2020 RUWMP, UWMPs from previous years, the 
Integrated Regional Water Management Plan, the Draft Indio Subbasin Alternative Plan Update, 
or the Draft Mission Creek Subbasin Alternative Plan Update.  Demands represent average or 
normal water year conditions. 

 All analyses were conducted at the service area level, and all data reflect the total contributions 
of the agencies as well as their customers. 

To calculate the expected outcomes for improved regional self-reliance and reduced Delta reliance, a 
baseline is needed to compare against. This analysis uses a normal water year representation of 2010 as 
the baseline, which is consistent with the approach described in the Guidebook Appendix C. 

3 Demonstration of Regional Self-Reliance 
Demands without Water Use Efficiency 
In alignment with the Guidebook Appendix C, this analysis uses normal water year demands, rather than 
normal water year supplies to calculate expected outcomes in terms of the percentage of water used. 
Using normal water year demands serves as a proxy for the amount of supplies that would be used in a 
normal water year, which helps alleviate issues associated with how supply capability is presented to fulfill 
requirements of the UWMP Act versus how supplies might be accounted for to demonstrate consistency 
with WR P1. 

Because WR P1 considers water use efficiency savings a source of water supply, water suppliers that do 
not explicitly quantify water use efficiency savings in their UWMPs can calculate their embedded water 
use efficiency savings based on changes in forecasted per capita water use since the baseline.  As 
explained in the Guidebook Appendix C, water use efficiency savings must be added back to the normal 
year demands to represent demands without water use efficiency savings; otherwise the effect of water 
use efficiency savings on regional self-reliance would be overestimated. Table C-1 shows the results of 
this estimation. Supporting narrative and documentation for the data shown in Table C-1 are provided 
below. 

Demands with Water Use Efficiency  

The demands shown in Table C-1 represent the water demands for the region, compiled from the previous 
documents mentioned above and current projections. . 

Population 

Population was estimated using the previous UWMPs and the regional growth forecast prepared by the 
Southern California Association of Governments (SCAG). 

Page 1265

Item 37.



 

 4 
Appendix - Delta Reliance_DRAFT.docx 

Estimated Water Use Efficiency Since Baseline 

This line item was calculated using “Potable Demands with Water Use Efficiency” divided by “Population” 
and then calculating Estimated Water Use Efficiency Since Baseline by comparing with 2010 Per Capita 
Water Use. 

Water Demands without Water Use Efficiency 

This line item was calculated by adding “Demands with Water Use Efficiency” to “Estimated Water Use 
Efficiency Since Baseline.” 

Supplies Contributing to Regional Self-Reliance 
For a covered action to demonstrate consistency with the Delta Plan, WR P1 subsection (c)(1)(C) states 
that water suppliers must report the expected outcomes for measurable improvement in regional self-
reliance. Table C-3 shows expected outcomes for supplies contributing to regional self-reliance both in 
amount and as a percentage. The numbers shown in Table C-3 represent efforts to improve regional self-
reliance for all agencies and include the total contributions of the agencies and their customers. 
Supporting narratives and documentation for the data shown in Table C-3 are provided below. 

Water Use Efficiency 

The water use efficiency information shown in Table C-3 is taken directly from Table C-1. 

Water Recycling 

Estimates of water recycling volumes are based on previous UWMPs and current projections. 

Local and Regional Water Supply and Storage Programs 

The local and regional water supply and storage programs data shown in Table C-3 represent estimates 
by the participating agencies.   

Conclusions 
The results shown in Table C-3 demonstrate that the agencies are measurably improving regional self-
reliance.  In the long-term (through 2045), the expected outcome for normal water year regional self-
reliance is an increase of approximately 17 percentage points from the 2010 baseline. The results show 
that as a region, the agencies and their customers are measurably reducing reliance on the Delta and 
improving regional self-reliance. 

4 Demonstration of Reduced Reliance on the Delta 
The agencies reduce reliance on the Delta through investments in non-Delta water supplies, local water 
supplies, and regional and local demand management measures. For reduced reliance on supplies from 
the Delta Watershed, the data used in this analysis represent the total regional efforts of the agencies and 
their customers.  

Page 1266

Item 37.



 

 5 
Appendix - Delta Reliance_DRAFT.docx 

Calculation of Reliance on Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed 
The calculation of reliance on water supplies from the Delta watershed, shown in Table C-4, is based on 
the following assumptions. The agencies’ supplies from the Delta watershed include:  

 Central Valley Project (CVP) / State Water Project (SWP) Contract Supplies 
 Other Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed.   

CVP/SWP Contract Supplies 

The supply data shown in Table C-4 is for SWP Table A allocations to CVWD and DWA.  These values are 
based on the combined Table A amount for CVWD and DWA (194,100 AFY) and the historical average 
reliability as published in the SWP Delivery Capability Report. 

Other Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed 

Because this document demonstrates reduced reliance on the Delta and could be used to help support 
the approval of a future project, these supplies do not include any potential future projects that could be 
covered actions. 

Change in Supplies from the Delta Watershed 

This line item was calculated by adding “CVP/SWP Contract Supplies” and “Other Water Supplies from the 
Delta Watershed” to get total Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed and then calculating changes 
from the 2010 baseline. 

Percent Change in Supplies from the Delta Watershed 

In this line item the “Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed” is divided by “Demands without Water 
Use Efficiency” for each timeframe to show changes from the 2010 baseline. 

Conclusions 
The results shown in Table C-4 demonstrate that the agencies are measurably reducing reliance on 
supplies from the Delta watershed.  In the long term (through 2045), the results show that as a region, 
the agencies and their customers are measurably reducing reliance on the Delta and improving regional 
self-reliance. 

5 UWMP Implementation 
In addition to the analysis and documentation described above, WR P1 subsection (c)(1)(B) requires that 
all programs and projects included in the UWMP that are locally cost-effective and technically feasible, 
which reduce reliance on the Delta, are identified, evaluated, and implemented consistent with the 
implementation schedule. WR P1 (c)(1)(B) states that water supplies must have: 

(B) Identified, evaluated, and commenced implementation, consistent with the implementation 
schedule set forth in the Plan, of all programs and projects included in the Plan that are locally cost 
effective and technically feasible which reduce reliance on the Delta[.] 

Page 1267

Item 37.



 

 6 
Appendix - Delta Reliance_DRAFT.docx 

In accordance with Water Code Section 10631(f), water suppliers must include in their UWMP a detailed 
description of expected future projects and programs that they may implement to increase the amount 
of water supply available to them in normal and single-dry water years and for a period of drought lasting 
five consecutive years. The UWMP description must also identify specific projects, include a description 
of the increase in water supply that is expected to be available from each project, and include an estimate 
regarding the implementation timeline for each project or program. 

The 2020 RUWMP summarizes the implementation plan and continued progress in developing a 
diversified water portfolio to meet the region’s water needs. 

6  2015 UWMP Appendix L 
The information contained in this appendix is also intended to be a new Appendix L attached to each 
agency’s 2015 UWMP consistent with WR P1 subsection (c)(1)(C) (Cal. Code Regs. tit. 23, § 5003).  The 
agencies provided notice of the availability of the draft 2020 RUWMP, 2021 WSCPs, and a new Appendix 
L to the 2015 UWMP and of a public hearing to consider adoption of the documents in accordance with 
CWC Sections 10621(b) and 10642, and Government Code Section 6066, and Chapter 17.5 (starting with 
Section 7290) of Division 7 of Title 1 of the Government Code. The public review drafts of the 2020 
RUWMP, Appendix L to the 2015 UWMP, and the 2021 WSCPs were posted on each agency’s website 
before the public hearings in June 2021.  The notice of availability of the documents was published in local 
newspapers and was sent to cities and counties in each agency’s service area.  Copies of the notification 
letter sent to cities and counties are included in the 2020 RUWMP Appendix B. Thus, this Appendix C to 
the 2020 RUWMP, which was adopted with the 2020 RUWMP, will also be recognized and treated as 
Appendix L to each agency’s 2015 UWMP.  

Each agency held a public hearing for the draft 2020 RUWMP, draft Appendix L to the 2015 UWMP, and 
draft 2021 WSCP in June of 2021, at a regular Board of Directors meeting. Each agency’s Board of Directors 
determined that the 2020 RUWMP and the 2021 WSCP accurately represent the water resources plan for 
the service area. In addition, each agency’s Board of Directors determined that Appendix L to  the 2015 
UWMP (and Appendix C to the 2020 RUWMP) includes all of the elements described in Delta Plan Policy 
WR P1, Reduce Reliance on the Delta Through Improved Regional Water Self-Reliance (Cal. Code Regs. tit. 
23, § 5003), which need to be included in a water supplier’s UWMP to support a certification of 
consistency for a future covered action. Each agency’s Board of Directors adopted the 2020 RUWMP, 
Appendix L to the 2015 UWMP, and the 2021 WSCP and authorized their submittal to the State of 
California. Copies of the resolutions are included in the 2020 RUWMP Appendix H.  

Page 1268

Item 37.



Reduced Reliance Calculation - Data Template
Table C-1: Optional Calculation of Water Use Efficiency -To be completed if Water Supplier does not specifically estimate Water Use Efficiency as a supply

Water Use Efficiency Demands
(Acre-Feet)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

Water Demands with Water Use Efficiency Accounted For 670,396         577,233         591,136         622,594         633,243         643,736         651,535         658,561         
Non-Potable Water Demands 473,083         419,852         418,469         418,722         416,275         413,828         410,616         407,405         
Potable Demands with Water Use Efficiency Accounted For 197,313         157,381         172,667         203,872         216,968         229,908         240,919         251,156         

Total Population
Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045

Population 481,800         496,853         507,951         592,237         639,654         687,782         734,493         781,710         

Water Use Efficiency Since Baseline
(Acre-Feet)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

Per Capita Water Use (GPCD) 366                 283                 303                 307                 303                 298                 293                 287                 
Change in Per Capita Water Use from Baseline (GPCD) (83)                  (62)                  (58)                  (63)                  (67)                  (73)                  (79)                  
Estimated Water Use Efficiency Since Baseline (AF) 46,097           35,356           38,669           44,992           51,762           59,880           68,980           

Table C-2: Calculation of Water Demands Without Water Use Efficiency 

Total Water Demands
(Acre-Feet)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

Water Demands with Water Use Efficiency Accounted For 670,396         577,233         591,136         622,594         633,243         643,736         651,535         658,561         
Reported Water Use Efficiency or Estimated Water Use Efficiency Since Baseline 46,097           35,356           38,669           44,992           51,762           59,880           68,980           
Water Demands without Water Use Efficiency Accounted For 670,396         623,330         626,492         661,263         678,235         695,498         711,415         727,541         

Page 1269

Item 37.



Table C-3: Calculation of Supplies Contributing to Regional Self-Reliance

Water Supplies Contributing to Regional Self-Reliance
(Acre-Feet)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

Water Use Efficiency -                  46,097           35,356           38,669           44,992           51,762           59,880           68,980           

Water Recycling 14,268           13,349           13,398           17,013           23,933           25,713           27,913           30,213           
Stormwater Capture and Use
Advanced Water Technologies
Conjunctive Use Projects
Local and Regional Water Supply and Storage Projects 412,587         437,587         462,387         488,890         498,390         498,390         498,390         498,390         
Other Programs and Projects the Contribute to Regional Self-Reliance 11,600           11,600           11,187           11,187           11,187           11,187           
Water Supplies Contributing to Regional Self-Reliance 438,455         508,633         522,035         555,759         578,502         587,052         586,183         597,583         

Water Demands without Water Use Efficiency
(Acre-Feet)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

Water Demands without Water Use Efficiency Accounted For 670,396         623,330         626,492         661,263         678,235         695,498         711,415         727,541         

Change in Regional Self Reliance
(Acre-Feet)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

Water Supplies Contributing to Regional Self-Reliance 438,455         508,633         522,035         555,759         578,502         587,052         586,183         597,583         
Change in Water Supplies Contributing to Regional Self-Reliance 70,178           83,580           117,304         140,047         148,597         147,728         159,128         

Percent Change in Regional Self Reliance
(As Percent of Demand w/out WUE)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

Percent of Water Supplies Contributing to Regional Self-Reliance 65.4% 81.6% 83.3% 84.0% 85.3% 84.4% 82.4% 82.1%
Change in Percent of Water Supplies Contributing to Regional Self-Reliance 16.2% 17.9% 18.6% 19.9% 19.0% 17.0% 16.7%

Page 1270

Item 37.



Table C-4: Calculation of Reliance on Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed 64% 49% 58% 58% 58% 58% 52% 52%

Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed
(Acre-Feet)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

CVP/SWP Contract Supplies 124,224         95,109           112,578         112,578         112,578         112,578         100,932         100,932         
Delta/Delta Tributary Diversions
Transfers and Exchanges
Other Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed 651                 651                 651                 651                 651                 651                 651                 
Total Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed 124,224         95,760           113,229         113,229         113,229         113,229         101,583         101,583         

Water Demands without Water Use Efficiency
(Acre-Feet)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

Water Demands without Water Use Efficiency Accounted For 670,396         623,330         626,492         661,263         678,235         695,498         711,415         727,541         

Change in Supplies from the Delta Watershed
(Acre-Feet)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed 124,224         95,760           113,229         113,229         113,229         113,229         101,583         101,583         
Change in Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed (28,464)          (10,995)          (10,995)          (10,995)          (10,995)          (22,641)          (22,641)          

Percent Change in Supplies from the Delta Watershed
(As a Percent of Demand w/out WUE)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

Percent of Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed 18.5% 15.4% 18.1% 17.1% 16.7% 16.3% 14.3% 14.0%
Change in Percent of Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed -3.2% -0.5% -1.4% -1.8% -2.2% -4.3% -4.6%

Page 1271

Item 37.



 

 

Appendix D:  Standard 
DWR UWMP Tables 
 

 

 
  

Page 1272

Item 37.



  
 

Coachella Valley Water District 
 

 

 

 
  

Page 1273

Item 37.



 

Coachella Water Authority 
 

 
  

Page 1274

Item 37.



 

 

Desert Water Agency 
 

 

 

 
  

Page 1275

Item 37.



 

 

Indio Water Authority 
 

 

 
  

Page 1276

Item 37.



 

 

 

Mission Springs Water District 
 

 

 
  

Page 1277

Item 37.



 

 

Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 
 

 

 

 

Page 1278

Item 37.



 

 

 

Appendix E:  Standard SB 
X7-7 Tables 
 

 

 
  

Page 1279

Item 37.



  
 

Coachella Valley Water District 
 

 

 

 
  

Page 1280

Item 37.



SB X7-7 Table 0: Units of Measure Used in UWMP*           (select 
one from the drop down list)                 

Acre Feet

*The unit of measure must be consistent with Submittal Table 2-3 
NOTES:  

Page 1281

Item 37.



Parameter Value Units
2008 total water deliveries 129,273                 Acre Feet

2008 total volume of delivered recycled water -                          Acre Feet

2008 recycled water as a percent of total deliveries 0% See Note 1

Number of years in baseline period1, 2
10 Years

Year beginning baseline period range 1999

Year ending baseline period range3 2008
Number of years in baseline period 5 Years
Year beginning baseline period range 2003

Year ending baseline period range4 2007

2  The Water Code requires that the baseline period is between 10 and 15 years. However, DWR recognizes that some water suppliers may not have the 
minimum 10 years of baseline data.    

 SB X7-7 Table-1: Baseline Period Ranges

1 If the 2008 recycled water delivery is less than 10 percent of total water deliveries, then the 10-15year baseline period is a continuous 10-year period.  If the 
amount of recycled water delivered in 2008 is 10 percent or greater of total deliveries, the 10-15 year baseline period is a continuous 10- to 15-year period.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            

3 The ending year for the 10-15 year baseline period must be between December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2010.  

4 The ending year for the 5 year baseline period must be between December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2010.

5-year                   
baseline period 

Baseline

10- to 15-year    
baseline period

NOTES:

Page 1282

Item 37.



NOTES:

SB X7-7 Table 2: Method for Population Estimates

Method Used to Determine Population
(may check more than one)

1. Department of Finance  (DOF) or American Community 
Survey (ACS)

3. DWR Population Tool

4. Other
DWR recommends pre-review

2. Persons-per-Connection Method

Page 1283

Item 37.



Population

Year 1 1999                                   182,524 
Year 2 2000                                   189,328 
Year 3 2001                                   196,133 
Year 4 2002                                   202,938 
Year 5 2003                                   209,742 
Year 6 2004                                   216,547 
Year 7 2005                                   223,351 
Year 8 2006                                   230,156 
Year 9 2007                                   236,960 
Year 10 2008                                   243,765 
Year 11
Year 12
Year 13
Year 14
Year 15

Year 1 2003                                   209,742 
Year 2 2004                                   216,547 
Year 3 2005                                   223,351 
Year 4 2006                                   230,156 
Year 5 2007                                   236,960 

SB X7-7 Table 3: Service Area Population

10 to 15 Year Baseline Population

5 Year Baseline Population

NOTES:

Year

Page 1284

Item 37.



Acre Feet

Exported 
Water 

Change in 
Dist. System 

Storage
(+/-) 

Indirect 
Recycled 

Water
This column will 

remain blank 
until SB X7-7 
Table 4-B is 
completed.           

 Water 
Delivered 

for 
Agricultural 

Use 

Process Water
This column will 

remain blank 
until SB X7-7  
Table 4-D is 
completed. 

Annual Gross Water Use 

Year 1 1999 106,805                                          -                          -                                      106,805 
Year 2 2000 117,547                                          -                          -                                      117,547 
Year 3 2001 116,916                                          -                          -                                      116,916 
Year 4 2002 123,219                                          -                          -                                      123,219 
Year 5 2003 121,231                                          -                          -                                      121,231 
Year 6 2004 124,139                                          -                          -                                      124,139 
Year 7 2005 121,737                                          -                          -                                      121,737 
Year 8 2006 134,988                                          -                          -                                      134,988 
Year 9 2007 129,871                                          -                          -                                      129,871 
Year 10 2008 129,273                                          -                          -                                      129,273 
Year 11 0 -                                                   -                          -                                                  -   
Year 12 0 -                                                   -                          -                                                  -   
Year 13 0 -                                                   -                          -                                                  -   
Year 14 0 -                                                   -                          -                                                  -   
Year 15 0 -                                                   -                          -                                                  -   

122,573

Year 1 2003                       121,231                      -                          -                                      121,231 
Year 2 2004                       124,139                      -                          -                                      124,139 
Year 3 2005                       121,737                      -                          -                                      121,737 
Year 4 2006                       134,988                      -                          -                                      134,988 
Year 5 2007                       129,871                      -                          -                                      129,871 

126,393

*  Units of measure (AF, MG , or CCF) must remain consistent throughout the UWMP,  as reported in Table 2-3.

NOTES:

SB X7-7 Table 4: Annual Gross Water Use *

 10 to 15 Year Baseline - Gross Water Use 

10 - 15 year baseline average gross water use
 5 Year Baseline - Gross Water Use 

5 year baseline average gross water use

Baseline Year
Fm SB X7-7 Table 3

Volume Into 
Distribution System
This column will remain 
blank until SB X7-7 Table 

4-A is completed.             

Deductions

Page 1285

Item 37.



Volume   Entering 
Distribution 

System1 

Meter Error 
Adjustment 2 

Optional
(+/-)

Corrected 
Volume Entering 

Distribution 
System

Year 1 1999 106,805                                 106,805 
Year 2 2000 117,547                                 117,547 
Year 3 2001 116,916                                 116,916 
Year 4 2002 123,219                                 123,219 
Year 5 2003 121,231                                 121,231 
Year 6 2004 124,139                                 124,139 
Year 7 2005 121,737                                 121,737 
Year 8 2006 134,988                                 134,988 
Year 9 2007 129,871                                 129,871 
Year 10 2008 129,273                                 129,273 
Year 11 0                            -   
Year 12 0                            -   
Year 13 0                            -   
Year 14 0                            -   
Year 15 0                            -   

Year 1 2003 121,231                                 121,231 
Year 2 2004 124,139                                 124,139 
Year 3 2005 121,737                                 121,737 
Year 4 2006 134,988                                 134,988 
Year 5 2007 129,871                                 129,871 

SB X7-7 Table 4-A:  Volume Entering the Distribution System(s)
Complete one table for each source. 

10 to 15 Year Baseline - Water into Distribution System

5 Year Baseline - Water into Distribution System

Name of Source

Baseline Year
Fm SB X7-7 Table 3

1   Units of measure  (AF, MG , or CCF) must remain consistent throughout the UWMP,  as 
reported in Table 2-3.                                                                                                                                                              
2  Meter Error Adjustment  - See guidance in Methodology 1, Step 3 of Methodologies Document

NOTES:

This water source is:
The supplier's own water source
A purchased or imported source

Groundwater

Page 1286

Item 37.



Service Area 
Population
Fm SB X7-7   

Table 3

Annual Gross 
Water Use
Fm SB X7-7

Table 4

Daily Per 
Capita Water 
Use (GPCD) 

Year 1 1999 182,524            106,805                  522                 
Year 2 2000 189,328            117,547                  554                 
Year 3 2001 196,133            116,916                  532                 
Year 4 2002 202,938            123,219                  542                 
Year 5 2003 209,742            121,231                  516                 
Year 6 2004 216,547            124,139                  512                 
Year 7 2005 223,351            121,737                  487                 
Year 8 2006 230,156            134,988                  524                 
Year 9 2007 236,960            129,871                  489                 
Year 10 2008 243,765            129,273                  473                 
Year 11 0 -                     -                          
Year 12 0 -                     -                          
Year 13 0 -                     -                          
Year 14 0 -                     -                          
Year 15 0 -                     -                          

                  515 

Service Area 
Population
Fm SB X7-7

Table 3

Gross Water Use
Fm SB X7-7

Table 4

Daily Per 
Capita Water 

Use

Year 1 2003              209,742                   121,231                   516 
Year 2 2004              216,547                   124,139                   512 
Year 3 2005              223,351                   121,737                   487 
Year 4 2006              230,156                   134,988                   524 
Year 5 2007              236,960                   129,871                   489 

505
NOTES:
5 Year Average Baseline GPCD

Baseline Year
Fm SB X7-7 Table 3

SB X7-7 Table 5: Baseline Gallons Per Capita Per Day (GPCD)

Baseline Year
Fm SB X7-7 Table 3

10 to 15 Year Baseline GPCD

10-15 Year Average Baseline GPCD
 5 Year Baseline GPCD

Page 1287

Item 37.



515

505

SB X7-7 Table 6: Baseline GPCD         Summary 
From Table SB X7-7 Table 5

10-15 Year Baseline GPCD

5 Year Baseline GPCD

NOTES:

Page 1288

Item 37.



Supporting Tables

Method 1 SB X7-7 Table 7A

Method 2 SB X7-7 Tables 7B, 7C, and 7D 

Method 3 SB X7-7 Table 7-E

Method 4

Method 4 Calculator           Located 
in the WUE Data Portal at 
wuedata.water.ca.gov Resources 
button

SB X7-7 Table 7: 2020 Target Method
Select Only One

Target Method

NOTES:

Page 1289

Item 37.



10-15 Year Baseline                              
GPCD

  2020 Target 
GPCD

515 412

SB X7-7 Table 7-A: Target Method 1
20% Reduction

NOTES:

Page 1290

Item 37.



Prorated 2020 
Target

Population 
Weighted 
Average 

2020 Target

505 480 412 412

SB X7-7 Table 7-F: Confirm Minimum Reduction for 2020 Target

NOTES: 

1 Maximum 2020 Target  is 95% of the 5 Year Baseline GPCD except for suppliers at or below 100 GPCD.
2 Calculated 2020 Target is the target calculated by the Supplier based on the selected Target Method, see SB X7-7 Table 7 and 
corresponding tables for agency's calculated target. Supplier may only enter one calculated target.                                                                                                                                                                                               
3 Prorated targets and population weighted target are allowed for special situations only. These situations are described in 
Appendix P, Section P.3                                                                                                                                                                                            4 

Confirmed Target  is the lesser of the Calculated 2020 Target (C5, D5, or E5) or the Maximum 2020 Target (Cell B5)                                                                                                                                                                                                    

Maximum 2020 
Target1

5 Year
Baseline GPCD
From SB X7-7           

Table 5

Calculated 
2020 Target 2

Special Situations3
Confirmed 2020 

Target4

As calculated by 
supplier in this 

SB X7-7 
Verification 

Form

Page 1291

Item 37.



 

Coachella Water Authority 
 

 
  

Page 1292

Item 37.



SB X7-7 Table 0: Units of Measure Used in 2020 UWMP*           
(select one from the drop down list)                 

Acre Feet

*The unit of measure must be consistent throughout the UWMP, as 
reported in Submittal Table 2-3.

NOTES:  

Page 1293

Item 37.



NOTES:

SB X7-7 Table 2:  Method for 2020 Population Estimate

Method Used to Determine 2020 Population
(may check more than one)

1. Department of Finance  (DOF) or                                   
American Community Survey (ACS) 

3. DWR Population Tool

4. Other
DWR recommends pre-review

2. Persons-per-Connection Method

Page 1294

Item 37.



                                           45,522 2020

SB X7-7 Table 3: 2020 Service Area Population

2020 Compliance Year Population

NOTES:

Page 1295

Item 37.



Exported 
Water *

Change in 
Dist. System 

Storage*
(+/-) 

Indirect 
Recycled 

Water
This column will 

remain blank 
until SB X7-7 
Table 4-B is 
completed.           

 Water 
Delivered for 
Agricultural 

Use* 

Process Water
This column will 

remain blank 
until SB X7-7  
Table 4-D is 
completed. 

                 7,216                      -                          -                           7,216 

NOTES:

SB X7-7 Table 4: 2020 Gross Water Use 

2020 Volume 
Into 

Distribution 
System

This column will 
remain blank until 
SB X7-7 Table 4-A 

is completed.             

2020 Gross Water 
Use 

2020 Deductions

*  Units of measure (AF, MG , or CCF) must remain consistent throughout the UWMP,  as reported in SB X7-7 Table 0 and 
Submittal Table 2-3.

Compliance 
Year 2020

Page 1296

Item 37.



Volume   Entering 
Distribution System  1

Meter Error 
Adjustment 2 

Optional
(+/-)

Corrected Volume 
Entering 

Distribution System

7,216                               -                                              7,216 

SB X7-7 Table 4-A:  2020 Volume Entering the Distribution System(s), Meter 
Error Adjustment
Complete one table for each source. 

Name of Source

1  Units of measure (AF, MG , or CCF)  must remain consistent throughout the UWMP,  as reported in SB 
X7-7 Table 0 and Submittal Table 2-3.                                                                                                  2  Meter 
Error Adjustment  - See guidance in Methodology 1, Step 3 of Methodologies Document

NOTES

This water source is (check one) :
The supplier's own water source
A purchased or imported source

Groundwater

Compliance Year 
2020

Page 1297

Item 37.



2020 Gross Water               
Fm SB X7-7 Table 4

2020 Population Fm 
SB X7-7 Table 3

2020 GPCD

7,216                        45,522                        142                           

SB X7-7 Table 5: 2020 Gallons Per Capita Per Day 
(GPCD)

NOTES:

Page 1298

Item 37.



Extraordinary 
Events1

Weather 
Normalization1

Economic 
Adjustment1

142                         -                              -                         -   -                    142                   200 YES

NOTES: 

1  All values are reported in GPCD                                                                                                                                                                                                    
2  2020 Confirmed Target GPCD is taken from the Supplier's SB X7-7 Verification Form Table SB X7-7, 7-F.

SB X7-7 Table 9: 2020 Compliance

Optional Adjustments to 2020 GPCD
Did Supplier 

Achieve 
Targeted 

Reduction for 
2020?

Actual 2020 
GPCD1

2020  Confirmed 
Target GPCD 1, 2TOTAL 

Adjustments1

Adjusted 2020 
GPCD 1 

(Adjusted if 
applicable)

Enter "0" if Adjustment Not Used

Page 1299

Item 37.



 

 

Desert Water Agency 
 

 

 

 
  

Page 1300

Item 37.



SB X7-7 Table 0: Units of Measure Used in UWMP*           (select 
one from the drop down list)                 

Acre Feet

*The unit of measure must be consistent with Submittal Table 2-3 
NOTES:  

Page 1301

Item 37.



Parameter Value Units
2008 total water deliveries 41,430                    Acre Feet

2008 total volume of delivered recycled water 4,079                      Acre Feet

2008 recycled water as a percent of total deliveries 10% See Note 1

Number of years in baseline period1, 2
10 Years

Year beginning baseline period range 1996

Year ending baseline period range3 2005
Number of years in baseline period 5 Years
Year beginning baseline period range 2004

Year ending baseline period range4 2008

2  The Water Code requires that the baseline period is between 10 and 15 years. However, DWR recognizes that some water suppliers may not have the 
minimum 10 years of baseline data.    

 SB X7-7 Table-1: Baseline Period Ranges

1 If the 2008 recycled water delivery is less than 10 percent of total water deliveries, then the 10-15year baseline period is a continuous 10-year period.  If the 
amount of recycled water delivered in 2008 is 10 percent or greater of total deliveries, the 10-15 year baseline period is a continuous 10- to 15-year period.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            

3 The ending year for the 10-15 year baseline period must be between December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2010.  

4 The ending year for the 5 year baseline period must be between December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2010.

5-year                   
baseline period 

Baseline

10- to 15-year    
baseline period

NOTES: Water use reported in Appendix J of 2015 UWMP

Page 1302

Item 37.



NOTES:  Methodology to calculated equivalent population for 
seasonal residents approved by DWR.

SB X7-7 Table 2: Method for Population Estimates

Method Used to Determine Population
(may check more than one)

1. Department of Finance  (DOF) or American Community 
Survey (ACS)

3. DWR Population Tool

4. Other
DWR recommends pre-review

2. Persons-per-Connection Method

Page 1303

Item 37.



Population

Year 1 1996                                     62,661 
Year 2 1997                                     62,866 
Year 3 1998                                     63,071 
Year 4 1999                                     63,276 
Year 5 2000                                     63,481 
Year 6 2001                                     63,686 
Year 7 2002                                     63,891 
Year 8 2003                                     64,096 
Year 9 2004                                     64,301 
Year 10 2005                                     64,506 
Year 11
Year 12
Year 13
Year 14
Year 15

Year 1 2004                                     64,301 
Year 2 2005                                     64,506 
Year 3 2006                                     64,711 
Year 4 2007                                     64,916 
Year 5 2008                                     65,121 

SB X7-7 Table 3: Service Area Population

10 to 15 Year Baseline Population

5 Year Baseline Population

NOTES:  Population calculated using approved 
methodology.

Year

Page 1304

Item 37.



Acre Feet

Exported 
Water 

Change in 
Dist. System 

Storage
(+/-) 

Indirect 
Recycled 

Water
This column will 

remain blank 
until SB X7-7 
Table 4-B is 
completed.           

 Water 
Delivered 

for 
Agricultural 

Use 

Process Water
This column will 

remain blank 
until SB X7-7  
Table 4-D is 
completed. 

Annual Gross Water Use 

Year 1 1996 42,310                                            -                          -                                         42,310 
Year 2 1997 40,080                                            -                          -                                         40,080 
Year 3 1998 40,080                                            -                          -                                         40,080 
Year 4 1999 42,210                                            -                          -                                         42,210 
Year 5 2000 42,690                                            -                          -                                         42,690 
Year 6 2001 42,135                                            -                          -                                         42,135 
Year 7 2002 43,440                                            -                          -                                         43,440 
Year 8 2003 41,440                                            -                          -                                         41,440 
Year 9 2004 44,635                                            -                          -                                         44,635 
Year 10 2005 43,070                                            -                          -                                         43,070 
Year 11 0 -                                                   -                          -                                                  -   
Year 12 0 -                                                   -                          -                                                  -   
Year 13 0 -                                                   -                          -                                                  -   
Year 14 0 -                                                   -                          -                                                  -   
Year 15 0 -                                                   -                          -                                                  -   

42,209

Year 1 2004                         44,635                      -                          -                                         44,635 
Year 2 2005                         43,070                      -                          -                                         43,070 
Year 3 2006                         44,780                      -                          -                                         44,780 
Year 4 2007                         44,580                      -                          -                                         44,580 
Year 5 2008                         41,430                      -                          -                                         41,430 

43,699

*  Units of measure (AF, MG , or CCF) must remain consistent throughout the UWMP,  as reported in Table 2-3.

NOTES:  Water use reported in Appendix J of 2015 UWMP

SB X7-7 Table 4: Annual Gross Water Use *

 10 to 15 Year Baseline - Gross Water Use 

10 - 15 year baseline average gross water use
 5 Year Baseline - Gross Water Use 

5 year baseline average gross water use

Baseline Year
Fm SB X7-7 Table 3

Volume Into 
Distribution System
This column will remain 
blank until SB X7-7 Table 

4-A is completed.             

Deductions

Page 1305

Item 37.



Volume   Entering 
Distribution 

System1 

Meter Error 
Adjustment 2 

Optional
(+/-)

Corrected 
Volume Entering 

Distribution 
System

Year 1 1996 42,310                                     42,310 
Year 2 1997 40,080                                     40,080 
Year 3 1998 40,080                                     40,080 
Year 4 1999 42,210                                     42,210 
Year 5 2000 42,690                                     42,690 
Year 6 2001 42,135                                     42,135 
Year 7 2002 43,440                                     43,440 
Year 8 2003 41,440                                     41,440 
Year 9 2004 44,635                                     44,635 
Year 10 2005 43,070                                     43,070 
Year 11 0                            -   
Year 12 0                            -   
Year 13 0                            -   
Year 14 0                            -   
Year 15 0                            -   

Year 1 2004 44,635                                     44,635 
Year 2 2005 43,070                                     43,070 
Year 3 2006 44,780                                     44,780 
Year 4 2007 44,580                                     44,580 
Year 5 2008 41,430                                     41,430 

SB X7-7 Table 4-A:  Volume Entering the Distribution System(s)
Complete one table for each source. 

10 to 15 Year Baseline - Water into Distribution System

5 Year Baseline - Water into Distribution System

Name of Source

Baseline Year
Fm SB X7-7 Table 3

1   Units of measure  (AF, MG , or CCF) must remain consistent throughout the UWMP,  as 
reported in Table 2-3.                                                                                                                                                              
2  Meter Error Adjustment  - See guidance in Methodology 1, Step 3 of Methodologies Document

NOTES:

This water source is:
The supplier's own water source
A purchased or imported source

Potable Water System

Page 1306

Item 37.



Service Area 
Population
Fm SB X7-7   

Table 3

Annual Gross 
Water Use
Fm SB X7-7

Table 4

Daily Per 
Capita Water 
Use (GPCD) 

Year 1 1996 62,661              42,310                    603                 
Year 2 1997 62,866              40,080                    569                 
Year 3 1998 63,071              40,080                    567                 
Year 4 1999 63,276              42,210                    596                 
Year 5 2000 63,481              42,690                    600                 
Year 6 2001 63,686              42,135                    591                 
Year 7 2002 63,891              43,440                    607                 
Year 8 2003 64,096              41,440                    577                 
Year 9 2004 64,301              44,635                    620                 
Year 10 2005 64,506              43,070                    596                 
Year 11 0 -                     -                          
Year 12 0 -                     -                          
Year 13 0 -                     -                          
Year 14 0 -                     -                          
Year 15 0 -                     -                          

                  593 

Service Area 
Population
Fm SB X7-7

Table 3

Gross Water Use
Fm SB X7-7

Table 4

Daily Per 
Capita Water 

Use

Year 1 2004                64,301                     44,635                   620 
Year 2 2005                64,506                     43,070                   596 
Year 3 2006                64,711                     44,780                   618 
Year 4 2007                64,916                     44,580                   613 
Year 5 2008                65,121                     41,430                   568 

603
NOTES:
5 Year Average Baseline GPCD

Baseline Year
Fm SB X7-7 Table 3

SB X7-7 Table 5: Baseline Gallons Per Capita Per Day (GPCD)

Baseline Year
Fm SB X7-7 Table 3

10 to 15 Year Baseline GPCD

10-15 Year Average Baseline GPCD
 5 Year Baseline GPCD

Page 1307

Item 37.



593

603

SB X7-7 Table 6: Baseline GPCD         Summary 
From Table SB X7-7 Table 5

10-15 Year Baseline GPCD

5 Year Baseline GPCD

NOTES:

Page 1308

Item 37.



Supporting Tables

Method 1 SB X7-7 Table 7A

Method 2 SB X7-7 Tables 7B, 7C, and 7D 

Method 3 SB X7-7 Table 7-E

Method 4

Method 4 Calculator           Located 
in the WUE Data Portal at 
wuedata.water.ca.gov Resources 
button

SB X7-7 Table 7: 2020 Target Method
Select Only One

Target Method

NOTES:

Page 1309

Item 37.



10-15 Year Baseline                              
GPCD

  2020 Target 
GPCD

593 474

SB X7-7 Table 7-A: Target Method 1
20% Reduction

NOTES:

Page 1310

Item 37.



Prorated 2020 
Target

Population 
Weighted 
Average 

2020 Target

603 573 474 474

SB X7-7 Table 7-F: Confirm Minimum Reduction for 2020 Target

NOTES: 

1 Maximum 2020 Target  is 95% of the 5 Year Baseline GPCD except for suppliers at or below 100 GPCD.
2 Calculated 2020 Target is the target calculated by the Supplier based on the selected Target Method, see SB X7-7 Table 7 and 
corresponding tables for agency's calculated target. Supplier may only enter one calculated target.                                                                                                                                                                                               
3 Prorated targets and population weighted target are allowed for special situations only. These situations are described in 
Appendix P, Section P.3                                                                                                                                                                                            4 

Confirmed Target  is the lesser of the Calculated 2020 Target (C5, D5, or E5) or the Maximum 2020 Target (Cell B5)                                                                                                                                                                                                    

Maximum 2020 
Target1

5 Year
Baseline GPCD
From SB X7-7           

Table 5

Calculated 
2020 Target 2

Special Situations3
Confirmed 2020 

Target4

As calculated by 
supplier in this 

SB X7-7 
Verification 

Form

Page 1311

Item 37.



 

 

Indio Water Authority 
 

 

 
  

Page 1312

Item 37.



SB X7-7 Table 0: Units of Measure Used in 2020 UWMP*           
(select one from the drop down list)                 

Acre Feet

*The unit of measure must be consistent throughout the UWMP, as 
reported in Submittal Table 2-3.

NOTES:  

Page 1313

Item 37.



NOTES:

SB X7-7 Table 2:  Method for 2020 Population Estimate

Method Used to Determine 2020 Population
(may check more than one)

1. Department of Finance  (DOF) or                                   
American Community Survey (ACS) 

3. DWR Population Tool

4. Other
DWR recommends pre-review

2. Persons-per-Connection Method

Page 1314

Item 37.



                                           78,940 2020

SB X7-7 Table 3: 2020 Service Area Population

2020 Compliance Year Population

NOTES:

Page 1315

Item 37.



Exported 
Water *

Change in 
Dist. System 

Storage*
(+/-) 

Indirect 
Recycled 

Water
This column will 

remain blank 
until SB X7-7 
Table 4-B is 
completed.           

 Water 
Delivered for 
Agricultural 

Use* 

Process Water
This column will 

remain blank 
until SB X7-7  
Table 4-D is 
completed. 

               19,880                      -                          -                         19,880 

NOTES:

SB X7-7 Table 4: 2020 Gross Water Use 

2020 Volume 
Into 

Distribution 
System

This column will 
remain blank until 
SB X7-7 Table 4-A 

is completed.             

2020 Gross Water 
Use 

2020 Deductions

*  Units of measure (AF, MG , or CCF) must remain consistent throughout the UWMP,  as reported in SB X7-7 Table 0 and 
Submittal Table 2-3.

Compliance 
Year 2020

Page 1316

Item 37.



Volume   Entering 
Distribution System  1

Meter Error 
Adjustment 2 

Optional
(+/-)

Corrected Volume 
Entering 

Distribution System

19,880                             -                                            19,880 

SB X7-7 Table 4-A:  2020 Volume Entering the Distribution System(s), Meter 
Error Adjustment
Complete one table for each source. 

Name of Source

1  Units of measure (AF, MG , or CCF)  must remain consistent throughout the UWMP,  as reported in SB 
X7-7 Table 0 and Submittal Table 2-3.                                                                                                  2  Meter 
Error Adjustment  - See guidance in Methodology 1, Step 3 of Methodologies Document

NOTES

This water source is (check one) :
The supplier's own water source
A purchased or imported source

Groundwater

Compliance Year 
2020

Page 1317

Item 37.



2020 Gross Water               
Fm SB X7-7 Table 4

2020 Population Fm 
SB X7-7 Table 3

2020 GPCD

19,880                      78,940                        225                           

SB X7-7 Table 5: 2020 Gallons Per Capita Per Day 
(GPCD)

NOTES:

Page 1318

Item 37.



Extraordinary 
Events1

Weather 
Normalization1

Economic 
Adjustment1

225                         -                              -                         -   -                    225                   262 YES

NOTES: 

1  All values are reported in GPCD                                                                                                                                                                                                    
2  2020 Confirmed Target GPCD is taken from the Supplier's SB X7-7 Verification Form Table SB X7-7, 7-F.

SB X7-7 Table 9: 2020 Compliance

Optional Adjustments to 2020 GPCD
Did Supplier 

Achieve 
Targeted 

Reduction for 
2020?

Actual 2020 
GPCD1

2020  Confirmed 
Target GPCD 1, 2TOTAL 

Adjustments1

Adjusted 2020 
GPCD 1 

(Adjusted if 
applicable)

Enter "0" if Adjustment Not Used

Page 1319

Item 37.



 

 

 

Mission Springs Water District 
 

 

 
  

Page 1320

Item 37.



SB X7-7 Table 0: Units of Measure Used in 2020 UWMP*           
(select one from the drop down list)                 

Acre Feet

*The unit of measure must be consistent throughout the UWMP, as 
reported in Submittal Table 2-3.

NOTES:  

Page 1321

Item 37.



NOTES:

SB X7-7 Table 2:  Method for 2020 Population Estimate

Method Used to Determine 2020 Population
(may check more than one)

1. Department of Finance  (DOF) or                                   
American Community Survey (ACS) 

3. DWR Population Tool

4. Other
DWR recommends pre-review

2. Persons-per-Connection Method

Page 1322

Item 37.



                                           38,962 2020

SB X7-7 Table 3: 2020 Service Area Population

2020 Compliance Year Population

NOTES:

Page 1323

Item 37.



Exported 
Water *

Change in 
Dist. System 

Storage*
(+/-) 

Indirect 
Recycled 

Water
This column will 

remain blank 
until SB X7-7 
Table 4-B is 
completed.           

 Water 
Delivered for 
Agricultural 

Use* 

Process Water
This column will 

remain blank 
until SB X7-7  
Table 4-D is 
completed. 

                 8,269                      -                          -                           8,269 

NOTES:

SB X7-7 Table 4: 2020 Gross Water Use 

2020 Volume 
Into 

Distribution 
System

This column will 
remain blank until 
SB X7-7 Table 4-A 

is completed.             

2020 Gross Water 
Use 

2020 Deductions

*  Units of measure (AF, MG , or CCF) must remain consistent throughout the UWMP,  as reported in SB X7-7 Table 0 and 
Submittal Table 2-3.

Compliance 
Year 2020

Page 1324

Item 37.



Volume   Entering 
Distribution System  1

Meter Error 
Adjustment 2 

Optional
(+/-)

Corrected Volume 
Entering 

Distribution System

8,269                               -                                              8,269 

SB X7-7 Table 4-A:  2020 Volume Entering the Distribution System(s), Meter 
Error Adjustment
Complete one table for each source. 

Name of Source

1  Units of measure (AF, MG , or CCF)  must remain consistent throughout the UWMP,  as reported in SB 
X7-7 Table 0 and Submittal Table 2-3.                                                                                                  2  Meter 
Error Adjustment  - See guidance in Methodology 1, Step 3 of Methodologies Document

NOTES

This water source is (check one) :
The supplier's own water source
A purchased or imported source

Groundwater

Compliance Year 
2020

Page 1325

Item 37.



2020 Gross Water               
Fm SB X7-7 Table 4

2020 Population Fm 
SB X7-7 Table 3

2020 GPCD

8,269                        38,962                        189                           

SB X7-7 Table 5: 2020 Gallons Per Capita Per Day 
(GPCD)

NOTES:

Page 1326

Item 37.



Extraordinary 
Events1

Weather 
Normalization1

Economic 
Adjustment1

189                         -                              -                         -   -                    189                   235 YES

NOTES: 

1  All values are reported in GPCD                                                                                                                                                                                                    
2  2020 Confirmed Target GPCD is taken from the Supplier's SB X7-7 Verification Form Table SB X7-7, 7-F.

SB X7-7 Table 9: 2020 Compliance

Optional Adjustments to 2020 GPCD
Did Supplier 

Achieve 
Targeted 

Reduction for 
2020?

Actual 2020 
GPCD1

2020  Confirmed 
Target GPCD 1, 2TOTAL 

Adjustments1

Adjusted 2020 
GPCD 1 

(Adjusted if 
applicable)

Enter "0" if Adjustment Not Used

Page 1327

Item 37.



 

 

Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 
 

 

 

 

Page 1328

Item 37.



SB X7-7 Table 0: Units of Measure Used in 2020 UWMP*           
(select one from the drop down list)                 

Acre Feet

*The unit of measure must be consistent throughout the UWMP, as 
reported in Submittal Table 2-3.

NOTES:  

Page 1329

Item 37.



NOTES:

SB X7-7 Table 2:  Method for 2020 Population Estimate

Method Used to Determine 2020 Population
(may check more than one)

1. Department of Finance  (DOF) or                                   
American Community Survey (ACS) 

3. DWR Population Tool

4. Other
DWR recommends pre-review

2. Persons-per-Connection Method

Page 1330

Item 37.



                                             7,167 2020

SB X7-7 Table 3: 2020 Service Area Population

2020 Compliance Year Population

NOTES:

Page 1331

Item 37.



Exported 
Water *

Change in 
Dist. System 

Storage*
(+/-) 

Indirect 
Recycled 

Water
This column will 

remain blank 
until SB X7-7 
Table 4-B is 
completed.           

 Water 
Delivered for 
Agricultural 

Use* 

Process Water
This column will 

remain blank 
until SB X7-7  
Table 4-D is 
completed. 

                 3,987                      -                          -                           3,987 

NOTES:

SB X7-7 Table 4: 2020 Gross Water Use 

2020 Volume 
Into 

Distribution 
System

This column will 
remain blank until 
SB X7-7 Table 4-A 

is completed.             

2020 Gross Water 
Use 

2020 Deductions

*  Units of measure (AF, MG , or CCF) must remain consistent throughout the UWMP,  as reported in SB X7-7 Table 0 and 
Submittal Table 2-3.

Compliance 
Year 2020

Page 1332

Item 37.



Volume   Entering 
Distribution System  1

Meter Error 
Adjustment 2 

Optional
(+/-)

Corrected Volume 
Entering 

Distribution System

3,987                               -                                              3,987 

SB X7-7 Table 4-A:  2020 Volume Entering the Distribution System(s), Meter 
Error Adjustment
Complete one table for each source. 

Name of Source

1  Units of measure (AF, MG , or CCF)  must remain consistent throughout the UWMP,  as reported in SB 
X7-7 Table 0 and Submittal Table 2-3.                                                                                                  2  Meter 
Error Adjustment  - See guidance in Methodology 1, Step 3 of Methodologies Document

NOTES

This water source is (check one) :
The supplier's own water source
A purchased or imported source

Groundwater

Compliance Year 
2020

Page 1333

Item 37.



2020 Gross Water               
Fm SB X7-7 Table 4

2020 Population Fm 
SB X7-7 Table 3

2020 GPCD

3,987                        7,167                          497                           

SB X7-7 Table 5: 2020 Gallons Per Capita Per Day 
(GPCD)

NOTES:

Page 1334

Item 37.



Extraordinary 
Events1

Weather 
Normalization1

Economic 
Adjustment1

497                         -                              -                         -   -                    497                   685 YES

NOTES: 

1  All values are reported in GPCD                                                                                                                                                                                                    
2  2020 Confirmed Target GPCD is taken from the Supplier's SB X7-7 Verification Form Table SB X7-7, 7-F.

SB X7-7 Table 9: 2020 Compliance

Optional Adjustments to 2020 GPCD
Did Supplier 

Achieve 
Targeted 

Reduction for 
2020?

Actual 2020 
GPCD1

2020  Confirmed 
Target GPCD 1, 2TOTAL 

Adjustments1

Adjusted 2020 
GPCD 1 

(Adjusted if 
applicable)

Enter "0" if Adjustment Not Used

Page 1335

Item 37.



 

 

Appendix F:  Water 
Management Agreements 
 

 
  

Page 1336

Item 37.



Page 1337

Item 37.



Page 1338

Item 37.



Page 1339

Item 37.



Page 1340

Item 37.



Page 1341

Item 37.



Page 1342

Item 37.



Page 1343

Item 37.



Page 1344

Item 37.



Page 1345

Item 37.



Page 1346

Item 37.



Page 1347

Item 37.



Page 1348

Item 37.



Page 1349

Item 37.



Page 1350

Item 37.



Page 1351

Item 37.



Page 1352

Item 37.



Page 1353

Item 37.



Page 1354

Item 37.



Page 1355

Item 37.



Page 1356

Item 37.



Page 1357

Item 37.



Page 1358

Item 37.



Page 1359

Item 37.



Page 1360

Item 37.



Page 1361

Item 37.



Page 1362

Item 37.



Page 1363

Item 37.



Page 1364

Item 37.



Page 1365

Item 37.



Page 1366

Item 37.



Page 1367

Item 37.



Page 1368

Item 37.



Page 1369

Item 37.



Page 1370

Item 37.



Page 1371

Item 37.



Page 1372

Item 37.



Page 1373

Item 37.



Page 1374

Item 37.



Page 1375

Item 37.



Page 1376

Item 37.



Page 1377

Item 37.



Page 1378

Item 37.



 

Appendix G:  AWWA 
Water Loss Audits 
 

 
  

Page 1379

Item 37.



  
 

Coachella Valley Water District 
 

 

 

 
  

Page 1380

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: MILLION GALLONS (US) PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 5 27,821 MG/Yr 1 MG/Yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 27,821.000 MG/Yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 3 24,796.000 MG/Yr

Billed unmetered: n/a MG/Yr

Unbilled metered: 5 2.583 MG/Yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 5 69.553 MG/Yr 1.25% MG/Yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 24,868.136 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 2,952.865 MG/Yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 5 69.553 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 3 377.643 MG/Yr 1.50% MG/Yr
Systematic data handling errors: 61.990 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Apparent Losses: 509.186 MG/Yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)

Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 2,443.679 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES: 2,952.865 MG/Yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 3,025.000 MG/Yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 5 2,106.0 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 5 109,524

Service connection density: 52 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 5 82.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $79,420,264 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $1.16
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 7 $774.46 $/Million gallons

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Billed metered

     3: Customer metering inaccuracies

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

69.553

2016 7/2015 - 6/2016
Coachella Valley Water District  (CA3310001, CA1310011, & CA3310048)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 55 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water supplied

OR
value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1381

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: MILLION GALLONS (US) PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 9 29,524 MG/Yr 1 MG/Yr

Water imported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 29,524.153 MG/Yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 7 26,052.210 MG/Yr

Billed unmetered: n/a MG/Yr

Unbilled metered: 9 29.681 MG/Yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 5 73.810 MG/Yr 1.25% MG/Yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 26,155.702 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 3,368.451 MG/Yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 5 73.810 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 8 1,214.698 MG/Yr 4.45% MG/Yr

Systematic data handling errors: 5 65.131 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Apparent Losses: 1,353.639 MG/Yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)

Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 2,014.812 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES: 3,368.451 MG/Yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 3,471.943 MG/Yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 6 1,710.6 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 9 103,352

Service connection density: 60 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 5 83.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $87,662,914 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $1.54
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 7 $717.20 $/Million gallons

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Billed metered

     3: Unauthorized consumption

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

217.897

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 81 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

73.810

2017 7/2016 - 6/2017

Coachella Valley Water District  (CA3310001)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

0.000

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of 
the input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1382

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: MILLION GALLONS (US) PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 9 31,329 MG/Yr 1 MG/Yr

Water imported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 31,329.400 MG/Yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 9 27,918.710 MG/Yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr

Unbilled metered: 9 86.930 MG/Yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 5 78.324 MG/Yr 1.25% MG/Yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 28,083.964 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 3,245.437 MG/Yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 5 78.324 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 8 1,943.713 MG/Yr 6.49% MG/Yr

Systematic data handling errors: 5 69.797 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Apparent Losses: 2,091.833 MG/Yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)

Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 1,153.603 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES: 3,245.437 MG/Yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 3,410.690 MG/Yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 6 1,715.5 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 9 104,053

Service connection density: 61 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 5 83.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $94,697,612 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $1.60
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 7 $752.77 $/Million gallons

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Unauthorized consumption

     3: Systematic data handling errors

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

217.897

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 83 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

78.324

2018 7/2017 - 6/2018

Coachella Valley Water District  (CA3310001)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

0.000

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of 
the input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1383

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: MILLION GALLONS (US) PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 9 30,083.503 MG/Yr 1 MG/Yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 30,083.503 MG/Yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 9 26,282.950 MG/Yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr

Unbilled metered: 9 158.700 MG/Yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 5 75.209 MG/Yr 1.25% MG/Yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 26,516.859 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 3,566.644 MG/Yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 75.209 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 7 1,657.872 MG/Yr 5.90% MG/Yr
Systematic data handling errors: 5 65.707 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Apparent Losses: 1,798.788 MG/Yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)

Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 1,767.856 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES: 3,566.644 MG/Yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 3,800.553 MG/Yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 6 1,724.0 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 9 104,738

Service connection density: 61 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 5 84.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $105,096,574 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $1.57
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 7 $691.55 $/Million gallons

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Unauthorized consumption

     3: Systematic data handling errors

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 82 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

75.209

2019 7/2018 - 6/2019
Coachella Valley Water District   (CA3310001)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1384

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: MILLION GALLONS (US) PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 9 29,803.000 MG/Yr 3 MG/Yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 29,791.150 MG/Yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 9 26,039.750 MG/Yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr

Unbilled metered: 10 228.480 MG/Yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 5 74.478 MG/Yr 1.25% MG/Yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 26,342.708 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 3,448.442 MG/Yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 74.478 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 9 1,356.368 MG/Yr 4.91% MG/Yr
Systematic data handling errors: 5 65.099 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Apparent Losses: 1,495.945 MG/Yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)

Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 1,952.497 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES: 3,448.442 MG/Yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 3,751.400 MG/Yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 9 1,657.4 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 9 105,612

Service connection density: 64 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 5 84.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $107,086,412 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 10 $1.67
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 7 $718.28 $/Million gallons

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Unauthorized consumption

     3: Systematic data handling errors

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

74.478

2020 7/2019 - 6/2020
Coachella Valley Water District Cove  (CA3310001)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

11.850

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 86 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1385

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: MILLION GALLONS (US) PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 9 886.380 MG/Yr 3 MG/Yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 886.286 MG/Yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 9 766.190 MG/Yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr

Unbilled metered: 10 9.530 MG/Yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 5 2.216 MG/Yr 1.25% MG/Yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 777.936 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 108.350 MG/Yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 2.216 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 9 85.043 MG/Yr 9.88% MG/Yr
Systematic data handling errors: 5 1.915 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Apparent Losses: 89.175 MG/Yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)

Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 19.176 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES: 108.350 MG/Yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 120.096 MG/Yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 9 116.4 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 9 1,698

Service connection density: 15 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 5 88.5 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $4,926,393 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 10 $1.37
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 7 $704.40 $/Million gallons

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Unauthorized consumption

     3: Systematic data handling errors

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

2.216

2020 7/2019 - 6/2020
Coachella Valley Water District ID08  (CA3310048)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

0.094

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 86 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

76.619

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1386

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: MILLION GALLONS (US) PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 9 403.560 MG/Yr 3 MG/Yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 403.482 MG/Yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 9 316.870 MG/Yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr

Unbilled metered: 10 7.690 MG/Yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 5 1.009 MG/Yr 1.25% MG/Yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 325.569 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 77.913 MG/Yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 1.009 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 9 11.145 MG/Yr 3.32% MG/Yr
Systematic data handling errors: 5 0.792 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Apparent Losses: 12.946 MG/Yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)

Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 64.967 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES: 77.913 MG/Yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 86.612 MG/Yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 9 351.5 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 9 2,985

Service connection density: 8 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 5 74.5 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $3,241,740 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 10 $1.34
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 7 $663.06 $/Million gallons

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Unauthorized consumption

     3: Systematic data handling errors

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

1.009

2020 7/2019 - 6/2020
Coachella Valley Water District ID11  (CA1310011)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

0.078

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 86 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1387

Item 37.



 

Coachella Water Authority 
 

 
  

Page 1388

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: MILLION GALLONS (US) PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 8 2,127.780 MG/Yr 4 0.00% MG/Yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 2,127.780 MG/Yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 8 1,925.960 MG/Yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr

Unbilled metered: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 26.597 MG/Yr 1.25% MG/Yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 1,952.557 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 175.223 MG/Yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 5.319 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 3 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr
Systematic data handling errors: 4.815 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Apparent Losses: 10.134 MG/Yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)
Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 165.088 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES: 175.223 MG/Yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 201.820 MG/Yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 3 119.6 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 3 8,037

Service connection density: 67 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 6 75.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 2 $5,000,000 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $1.50
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 9 $/Million gallons

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Total annual cost of operating water system

     3: Customer metering inaccuracies

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

       Default option selected for Unbilled unmetered - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

2015 1/2015 - 12/2015
TKE Engineering, Inc. for Coachella Water Authority

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 67 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the input 
data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property boundary, 
that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water supplied

OR
value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where the 
utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1389

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: MILLION GALLONS (US) PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 5 2,031.790 MG/Yr 4 0.00% MG/Yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 2,031.790 MG/Yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 5 1,993.120 MG/Yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr

Unbilled metered: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 5 5.079 MG/Yr 1.25% MG/Yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 1,998.199 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 33.591 MG/Yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 5.079 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 3 10.016 MG/Yr 0.50% MG/Yr
Systematic data handling errors: 4.983 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Apparent Losses: 20.078 MG/Yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)
Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 13.513 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES: 33.591 MG/Yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 38.670 MG/Yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 6 119.6 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 6 8,126

Service connection density: 68 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 5 75.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $5,960,000 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 5 $1.50
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 1 $300.00 $/Million gallons

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses)

     3: Customer metering inaccuracies

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

5.079

2016 1/2016 - 12/2016
Coachella Water Authority

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 50 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the input 
data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property boundary, 
that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water supplied

OR
value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where the 
utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1390

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: MILLION GALLONS (US) PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 8 2,221.260 MG/Yr 4 MG/Yr
Water imported: 0.000 MG/Yr n/a MG/Yr
Water exported: 0.000 MG/Yr n/a MG/Yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 2,221.260 MG/Yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 8 1,963.970 MG/Yr

Billed unmetered: 0.000 MG/Yr

Unbilled metered: 0.000 MG/Yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 27.766 MG/Yr 1.25% MG/Yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 1,991.736 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 229.524 MG/Yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 5.553 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 6 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr
Systematic data handling errors: 4.910 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Apparent Losses: 10.463 MG/Yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)
Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 219.061 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES: 229.524 MG/Yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 257.290 MG/Yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 6 119.6 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 6 8,344

Service connection density: 70 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 5 75.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 7 $6,650,000 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 6 $1.65
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 6 $/Million gallons

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Customer metering inaccuracies

     3: Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses)

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

       Default option selected for Unbilled unmetered - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

100.000

2017 1/2017 - 12/2017
Coachella Water Authority  (3310007)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 69 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the input 
data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property boundary, 
that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water supplied

OR
value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where the 
utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1391

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: MILLION GALLONS (US) PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 5 2,324.669 MG/Yr 3 MG/Yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr n/a MG/Yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr n/a MG/Yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 2,324.669 MG/Yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 5 2,240.846 MG/Yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr

Unbilled metered: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 5 5.812 MG/Yr 1.25% MG/Yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 2,246.657 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 78.012 MG/Yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 5.812 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 3 11.261 MG/Yr 0.50% MG/Yr
Systematic data handling errors: 5.602 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Apparent Losses: 22.674 MG/Yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)
Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 55.337 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES: 78.012 MG/Yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 83.823 MG/Yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 6 119.6 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 8 8,487

Service connection density: 71 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 5 75.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $6,883,678 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 5 $1.65
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 5 $409.46 $/Million gallons

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Customer metering inaccuracies

     3: Billed metered

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 54 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

5.812

2018 1/2018 - 12/2018
Coachella Water Authority  (3310007)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the input 
data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property boundary, 
that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water supplied

OR
value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where the 
utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1392

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: MILLION GALLONS (US) PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 5 2,216.370 MG/Yr 3 MG/Yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 2,216.370 MG/Yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 5 2,127.930 MG/Yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr
Unbilled metered: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 5 5.541 MG/Yr 1.25% MG/Yr24061

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 2,133.471 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 82.899 MG/Yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 5.541 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 3 10.693 MG/Yr 0.50% MG/Yr
Systematic data handling errors: 5 5.320 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Apparent Losses: 21.554 MG/Yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)
Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 61.345 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES: 82.899 MG/Yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 88.440 MG/Yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 9 119.6 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 8 8,235

Service connection density: 69 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: 2 ft

Average operating pressure: 5 55.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $6,936,815 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 5 $1.65
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 5 $409.46 $/Million gallons

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Customer metering inaccuracies

     3: Billed metered

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 54 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

5.541

2019 1/2019 - 12/2019
Coachella Water Authority  (CA3310007)

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access 

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property boundary, 
that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.

?

?
?

+

+
+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1393

Item 37.



 

 

Desert Water Agency 
 

 

 

 
  

Page 1394

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: ACRE-FEET PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 9 29,731.000 acre-ft/yr acre-ft/yr
Water imported: n/a acre-ft/yr acre-ft/yr
Water exported: n/a acre-ft/yr acre-ft/yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 29,731.000 acre-ft/yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 9 26,796.000 acre-ft/yr

Billed unmetered: n/a acre-ft/yr

Unbilled metered: 9 172.000 acre-ft/yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 371.638 acre-ft/yr 1.25% acre-ft/yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 27,339.638 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 2,391.363 acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 74.328 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 7 1,419.368 acre-ft/yr 5.00% acre-ft/yr
Systematic data handling errors: 66.990 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses: 1,560.686 acre-ft/yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)

Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 830.677 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES: 2,391.363 acre-ft/yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 2,935.000 acre-ft/yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 9 392.0 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 9 22,073

Service connection density: 56 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 8 80.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 9 $25,084,704 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $2.50
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 9 $814.57 $/acre-ft

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Unauthorized consumption

     3: Systematic data handling errors

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 84 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

       Default option selected for Unbilled unmetered - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

2015 1/2015 - 12/2015
Desert Water Agency  (3310005)

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to 

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1395

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: ACRE-FEET PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 5 29,931.033 acre-ft/yr 3 acre-ft/yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr n/a acre-ft/yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr n/a acre-ft/yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 29,931.033 acre-ft/yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 6 27,386.910 acre-ft/yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr

Unbilled metered: 3 186.030 acre-ft/yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 5 74.828 acre-ft/yr 1.25% acre-ft/yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 27,647.768 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 2,283.265 acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 74.828 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 4 278.515 acre-ft/yr 1.00% acre-ft/yr
Systematic data handling errors: 68.467 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses: 421.809 acre-ft/yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)

Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 1,861.456 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES: 2,283.265 acre-ft/yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 2,544.123 acre-ft/yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 7 411.9 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 6 22,073

Service connection density: 54 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 2 80.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $25,558,688 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $1.58
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 7 $216.92 $/acre-ft

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Unbilled metered

     3: Customer metering inaccuracies

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 58 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

74.828

2016 1/2016 - 12/2016
Desert Water Agency  (3310005)

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property boundary, 
that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water supplied

OR
value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to 

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1396

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: ACRE-FEET PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 5 32,712.023 acre-ft/yr 3 -0.54% acre-ft/yr
Water imported: n/a acre-ft/yr n/a acre-ft/yr
Water exported: n/a acre-ft/yr n/a acre-ft/yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 32,888.635 acre-ft/yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 6 28,931.285 acre-ft/yr

Billed unmetered: n/a acre-ft/yr

Unbilled metered: 3 343.128 acre-ft/yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 8 110.902 acre-ft/yr 1.25% acre-ft/yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 29,385.315 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 3,503.320 acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 82.222 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 4 295.701 acre-ft/yr 1.00% acre-ft/yr
Systematic data handling errors: 72.328 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses: 450.251 acre-ft/yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)

Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 3,053.069 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES: 3,503.320 acre-ft/yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 3,957.350 acre-ft/yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 7 414.1 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 6 25,807

Service connection density: 62 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 3 80.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $25,428,532 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $1.67
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 7 $235.19 $/acre-ft

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Unbilled metered

     3: Customer metering inaccuracies

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 58 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

110.902

2017 1/2017 - 12/2017
Desert Water Agency  (3310005)

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property boundary, 
that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water supplied

OR
value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to 

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1397

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: ACRE-FEET PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 5 33,141.858 acre-ft/yr 3 -0.34% acre-ft/yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr n/a acre-ft/yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr n/a acre-ft/yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 33,253.590 acre-ft/yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 7 30,042.202 acre-ft/yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr

Unbilled metered: 3 437.579 acre-ft/yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 10 57.393 acre-ft/yr 1.25% acre-ft/yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 30,537.174 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 2,716.416 acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 6 83.134 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 4 307.877 acre-ft/yr 1.00% acre-ft/yr
Systematic data handling errors: 4 75.106 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses: 466.116 acre-ft/yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)

Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 2,250.300 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES: 2,716.416 acre-ft/yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 3,211.388 acre-ft/yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 7 423.9 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 7 25,527

Service connection density: 60 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 5 79.1 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $27,935,986 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $1.83
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 7 $255.62 $/acre-ft

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Unbilled metered

     3: Customer metering inaccuracies

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 60 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

500.000

11.269

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

57.393

2018 1/2018 - 12/2018
Desert Water Agency  (3310005)

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property boundary, 
that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water supplied

OR
value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to 

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1398

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: ACRE-FEET PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 5 29,545.666 acre-ft/yr 3 1.43% acre-ft/yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr n/a acre-ft/yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr n/a acre-ft/yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 29,128.258 acre-ft/yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 7 28,112.120 acre-ft/yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr

Unbilled metered: 3 368.224 acre-ft/yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 10 71.237 acre-ft/yr 1.25% acre-ft/yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 28,551.581 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 576.677 acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 6 72.821 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 7 229.680 acre-ft/yr 0.80% acre-ft/yr
Systematic data handling errors: 4 70.280 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses: 372.781 acre-ft/yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)

Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 203.896 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES: 576.677 acre-ft/yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 1,016.138 acre-ft/yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 7 424.7 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 7 25,508

Service connection density: 60 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 5 79.7 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $27,896,593 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $2.02
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 7 $280.56 $/acre-ft

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Unbilled metered

     3: Billed metered

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 62 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

500.000

11.409

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

71.237

2019 1/2019 - 12/2019
Desert Water Agency  (3310005)

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property boundary, 
that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water supplied

OR
value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to 

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1399

Item 37.



 

 

Indio Water Authority 
 

 

 
  

Page 1400

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for: Indio Water Authority

Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: MILLION GALLONS (US) PER YEAR

WATER SUPPLIED

Volume from own sources: 7 7,308.910 Million gallons (US)/yr (MG/Yr)

Master meter error adjustment (enter positive value): 7 118.844

Water imported: n/a MG/Yr

Water exported: n/a MG/Yr

WATER SUPPLIED: 7,427.754 MG/Yr

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION

Billed metered: 7 6,779.170 MG/Yr

Billed unmetered: n/a MG/Yr

Unbilled metered: n/a MG/Yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 92.847 MG/Yr 1.25% 24061

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 6,872.017 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 555.737 MG/Yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 18.569 MG/Yr 0.25%

Customer metering inaccuracies: 7 138.350 MG/Yr 2.00%

Systematic data handling errors: 7 36.000 MG/Yr

Apparent Losses: 192.920  

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)

Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 362.817 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES: 555.737 MG/Yr

NON-REVENUE WATER

NON-REVENUE WATER: 648.584 MG/Yr

= Total Water Loss + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 9 325.7 miles

Number of active AND inactive service connections: 9 21,084

Connection density: 65 conn./mile main

Average length of customer service line: 9 20.0 ft

Average operating pressure: 8 70.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 8 $12,234,251 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 8 $1.17

Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 8 $442.97 $/Million gallons

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Financial Indicators

Non-revenue water as percent by volume of Water Supplied: 8.7%

Non-revenue water as percent by cost of operating system: 4.1%

Annual cost of Apparent Losses: $301,739

Annual cost of Real Losses: $160,717

Operational Efficiency Indicators

Apparent Losses per service connection per day: 25.07 gallons/connection/day

Real Losses per service connection per day*: 47.15 gallons/connection/day

Real Losses per length of main per day*: N/A

Real Losses per service connection per day per psi pressure: 0.67 gallons/connection/day/psi

Unavoidable Annual Real Losses (UARL): 141.13 million gallons/year

From Above, Real Losses = Current Annual Real Losses (CARL): 362.82 million gallons/year

2.57

* only the most applicable of these two indicators will be calculated

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Master meter error adjustment

     3: Billed metered

       Default option selected for Unbilled unmetered - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

 AWWA WLCC Free Water Audit Software: Reporting Worksheet

2011

under-registered

7/2010 - 6/2011

<< Enter grading in column 'E'

MG/Yr

Choose this option to 

enter a percentage of 

billed metered 

consumption. This is 

NOT a default value

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 72 out of 100 ***

Infrastructure Leakage Index (ILI) [CARL/UARL]:

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

? 

? 

? 

? 

? 

? Click to access definition 

? 

? 

? 

? 

? 

? 

Back to Instructions 

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of 

? 

? 

? 

? 

? 

? 

? 

? 

? 

(pipe length between curbstop and customer 

meter or property boundary) 

Use buttons to select 
percentage of water supplied 

OR 
value 

? Click here:  

for help using option 
buttons below 

For more information, click here to see the Grading Matrix worksheet 

? 

Copyright © 2010, American Water Works Association. All Rights Reserved. 

? 

? 

? 

? 

 WAS v4.2 

AWWA Water Loss Control Committee Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1401

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: ACRE-FEET PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 7 17,614.600 acre-ft/yr 3 0.50% acre-ft/yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr n/a acre-ft/yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr n/a acre-ft/yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 17,705.000 acre-ft/yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 8 16,529.430 acre-ft/yr

Billed unmetered: 10 3.200 acre-ft/yr

Unbilled metered: 10 132.700 acre-ft/yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 5 44.263 acre-ft/yr 1.25% acre-ft/yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 16,709.593 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 995.407 acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 44.263 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 4 168.304 acre-ft/yr 1.00% acre-ft/yr
Systematic data handling errors: 5 41.324 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses: 253.890 acre-ft/yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)
Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 741.517 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES: 995.407 acre-ft/yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 1,172.370 acre-ft/yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 10 344.0 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 9 22,878

Service connection density: 67 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 5 72.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $26,423,911 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $2.41
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 8 $163.65 $/acre-ft

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Customer metering inaccuracies

     3: Unauthorized consumption

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

44.263

2017 7/2016 - 6/2017
City of Indio/Indio Water Authority  (3310020)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

-90.400

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 76 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the input 
data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property boundary, 
that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water supplied

OR
value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where the 
utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1402

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: ACRE-FEET PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 7 19,228.000 acre-ft/yr 5 -0.50% acre-ft/yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr n/a acre-ft/yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr n/a acre-ft/yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 19,323.404 acre-ft/yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 8 18,252.000 acre-ft/yr

Billed unmetered: 7 1.072 acre-ft/yr

Unbilled metered: 8 17.584 acre-ft/yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 5 48.309 acre-ft/yr 1.25% acre-ft/yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 18,318.965 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 1,004.439 acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 48.309 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 6 184.541 acre-ft/yr 1.00% acre-ft/yr
Systematic data handling errors: 5 45.630 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses: 278.480 acre-ft/yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)
Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 725.960 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES: 1,004.439 acre-ft/yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 1,070.332 acre-ft/yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 10 344.0 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 9 23,135

Service connection density: 67 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 5 71.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $28,280,336 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $2.42
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 8 $163.65 $/acre-ft

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Customer metering inaccuracies

     3: Unauthorized consumption

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

48.309

2017-2018 7/2017 - 6/2018
City of Indio/Indio Water Authority  (3310020)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

-95.404

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 74 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1403

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: ACRE-FEET PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 7 19,074.900 acre-ft/yr 5 -0.50% acre-ft/yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr n/a acre-ft/yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr n/a acre-ft/yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 19,170.754 acre-ft/yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 8 17,789.490 acre-ft/yr

Billed unmetered: 7 3.180 acre-ft/yr

Unbilled metered: 8 153.980 acre-ft/yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 5 47.927 acre-ft/yr 1.25% acre-ft/yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 17,994.577 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 1,176.177 acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 47.927 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 6 181.247 acre-ft/yr 1.00% acre-ft/yr
Systematic data handling errors: 5 44.474 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses: 273.648 acre-ft/yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)
Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 902.529 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES: 1,176.177 acre-ft/yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 1,378.084 acre-ft/yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 10 346.1 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 9 23,377

Service connection density: 68 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 5 71.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $22,841,733 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $1.45
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 8 $198.93 $/acre-ft

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Customer metering inaccuracies

     3: Unauthorized consumption

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 74 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

47.927

2018 - 2019 7/2018 - 6/2019
City of Indio/Indio Water Authority  (3310020)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

-95.404

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1404

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: ACRE-FEET PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 8 19,422.100 acre-ft/yr 3 -0.30% acre-ft/yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr n/a acre-ft/yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr n/a acre-ft/yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 19,480.542 acre-ft/yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 9 17,806.000 acre-ft/yr

Billed unmetered: 8 3.260 acre-ft/yr

Unbilled metered: 10 275.500 acre-ft/yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 5 48.701 acre-ft/yr 1.25% acre-ft/yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 18,133.461 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 1,347.080 acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 48.701 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 4 275.353 acre-ft/yr 1.50% acre-ft/yr
Systematic data handling errors: 5 44.515 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses: 368.569 acre-ft/yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)
Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 978.511 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES: 1,347.080 acre-ft/yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 1,671.282 acre-ft/yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 10 344.0 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 10 24,194

Service connection density: 70 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 8 69.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $21,828,275 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $2.41
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 7 $163.65 $/acre-ft

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Customer metering inaccuracies

     3: Unauthorized consumption

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 78 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

48.701

2020 7/2019 - 6/2020
City of Indio/Indio Water Authority  (CA3310020)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

-90.400

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1405

Item 37.



 

 

 

Mission Springs Water District 
 

 

 
  

Page 1406

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: ACRE-FEET PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 8 7,252.000 acre-ft/yr 8 acre-ft/yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr 8 acre-ft/yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr 8 acre-ft/yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 7,252.000 acre-ft/yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 8 6,506.000 acre-ft/yr

Billed unmetered: 8 0.000 acre-ft/yr

Unbilled metered: 8 0.000 acre-ft/yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 7 90.650 acre-ft/yr 1.25% acre-ft/yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 6,596.650 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 655.350 acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 18.130 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 8 0.000 acre-ft/yr acre-ft/yr
Systematic data handling errors: 8 16.265 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses: 34.395 acre-ft/yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)
Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 620.955 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES: 655.350 acre-ft/yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 746.000 acre-ft/yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 8 240.0 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 7 12,967

Service connection density: 54 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 7 65.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 8 $8,792,437 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 8 $2.97
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 8 $432.00 $/acre-ft

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Unauthorized consumption

     3: Systematic data handling errors

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

       Default option selected for Unbilled unmetered - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

2015 1/2015 - 12/2015
Mission Springs Water District

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 76 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/1000 gallons (US)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the input 
data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property boundary, 
that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water supplied

OR
value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where the 
utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1407

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: ACRE-FEET PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 7 7,222.900 acre-ft/yr 3 acre-ft/yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr acre-ft/yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr acre-ft/yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 7,222.900 acre-ft/yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 5 6,503.000 acre-ft/yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr

Unbilled metered: 8 0.974 acre-ft/yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 7 2.090 acre-ft/yr 1.25% acre-ft/yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 6,506.064 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 716.836 acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 18.057 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 5 65.697 acre-ft/yr 1.00% acre-ft/yr
Systematic data handling errors: 16.258 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses: 100.011 acre-ft/yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)
Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 616.825 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES: 716.836 acre-ft/yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 719.900 acre-ft/yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 8 390.0 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 7 13,098

Service connection density: 34 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 7 65.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $9,334,124 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 8 $2.97
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 5 $432.00 $/acre-ft

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Billed metered

     3: Customer metering inaccuracies

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/1000 gallons (US)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 67 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

2.090

2016 1/2016 - 12/2016
Mission Springs Water District  (3310008)

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1408

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: ACRE-FEET PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 7 7,811.740 acre-ft/yr 4 acre-ft/yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr acre-ft/yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr acre-ft/yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 7,811.740 acre-ft/yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 7 6,912.000 acre-ft/yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr

Unbilled metered: 8 0.629 acre-ft/yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 8 1.464 acre-ft/yr 1.25% acre-ft/yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 6,914.093 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 897.647 acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 5 19.529 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 6 69.825 acre-ft/yr 1.00% acre-ft/yr
Systematic data handling errors: 6 17.280 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses: 106.634 acre-ft/yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)
Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 791.013 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES: 897.647 acre-ft/yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 899.740 acre-ft/yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 8 390.0 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 7 13,101

Service connection density: 34 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 7 65.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $9,927,696 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 8 $2.97
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 6 $432.00 $/acre-ft

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Billed metered

     3: Customer metering inaccuracies

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

1.464

2017 1/2017 - 12/2017
Mission Springs Water District  (3310008)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/1000 gallons (US)

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 71 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1409

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: ACRE-FEET PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 7 7,875.220 acre-ft/yr 3 1.25% acre-ft/yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr acre-ft/yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr acre-ft/yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 7,777.995 acre-ft/yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 7 6,950.165 acre-ft/yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr

Unbilled metered: 9 0.962 acre-ft/yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 8 3.391 acre-ft/yr 1.25% acre-ft/yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 6,954.518 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 823.477 acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 5 19.445 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 6 70.213 acre-ft/yr 1.00% acre-ft/yr
Systematic data handling errors: 6 17.375 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses: 107.034 acre-ft/yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)
Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 716.443 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES: 823.477 acre-ft/yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 827.830 acre-ft/yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 8 282.4 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 8 13,215

Service connection density: 47 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 7 65.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $10,264,350 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $2.38
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 8 $600.87 $/acre-ft

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Billed metered

     3: Customer metering inaccuracies

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

3.391

2018 1/2018 - 12/2018
Mission Springs Water District  (3310008)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 74 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1410

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: ACRE-FEET PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 7 7,539.140 acre-ft/yr 3 1.00% acre-ft/yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr acre-ft/yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr acre-ft/yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 7,464.495 acre-ft/yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 7 6,466.254 acre-ft/yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr

Unbilled metered: 9 21.800 acre-ft/yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 8 3.198 acre-ft/yr 1.25% acre-ft/yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 6,491.252 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 973.243 acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 5 18.661 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 6 65.536 acre-ft/yr 1.00% acre-ft/yr
Systematic data handling errors: 6 16.166 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses: 100.363 acre-ft/yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)
Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 872.880 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES: 973.243 acre-ft/yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 998.241 acre-ft/yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 8 303.4 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 8 12,783

Service connection density: 42 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 7 65.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $10,726,421 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $2.87
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 8 $590.64 $/acre-ft

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Billed metered

     3: Customer metering inaccuracies

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 74 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

3.198

2019 1/2019 - 12/2019
Mission Springs Water District  (3310008)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1411

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: ACRE-FEET PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 7 63.620 acre-ft/yr 3 1.00% acre-ft/yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr acre-ft/yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr acre-ft/yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 62.990 acre-ft/yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 7 49.150 acre-ft/yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr

Unbilled metered: 9 0.120 acre-ft/yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 8 0.044 acre-ft/yr 1.25% acre-ft/yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 49.314 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 13.676 acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 5 0.157 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 6 0.498 acre-ft/yr 1.00% acre-ft/yr
Systematic data handling errors: 6 0.123 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses: 0.778 acre-ft/yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)
Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 12.898 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES: 13.676 acre-ft/yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 13.840 acre-ft/yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 8 7.3 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 8 174

Service connection density: 24 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 7 60.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $158,036 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $2.87
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 8 $1,638.27 $/acre-ft

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Billed metered

     3: Customer metering inaccuracies

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

0.044

2019 1/2019 - 12/2019
Mission Springs Water District  (3310081)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

Retail costs are less than (or equal to) production costs; please review and correct if necessary

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 74 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1412

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: ACRE-FEET PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 7 89.660 acre-ft/yr 3 1.00% acre-ft/yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr acre-ft/yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr acre-ft/yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 88.772 acre-ft/yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 7 73.530 acre-ft/yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 acre-ft/yr

Unbilled metered: 9 0.059 acre-ft/yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 8 0.064 acre-ft/yr 1.25% acre-ft/yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 73.653 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 15.119 acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 5 0.222 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 6 0.743 acre-ft/yr 1.00% acre-ft/yr
Systematic data handling errors: 6 0.184 acre-ft/yr 0.25% acre-ft/yr

Apparent Losses: 1.149 acre-ft/yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)
Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 13.970 acre-ft/yr

WATER LOSSES: 15.119 acre-ft/yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 15.242 acre-ft/yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 8 10.4 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 8 256

Service connection density: 25 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 7 60.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $237,053 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $2.87
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 8 $1,743.70 $/acre-ft

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Billed metered

     3: Customer metering inaccuracies

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

Retail costs are less than (or equal to) production costs; please review and correct if necessary

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 74 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

0.064

2019 1/2019 - 12/2019
Mission Springs Water District  (3310078)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1413

Item 37.



 

 

Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 
 

 

 

 

Page 1414

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:

Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: MILLION GALLONS (US) PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 3 1,083.200 MG/Yr n/a MG/Yr

Water imported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr

Water exported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration

WATER SUPPLIED: 1,083.200 MG/Yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration
.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION

Billed metered: 5 975.800 MG/Yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr

Unbilled metered: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 5 13.540 MG/Yr 1.25% MG/Yr24061

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 989.340 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 93.860 MG/Yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 2.708 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 3 30.179 MG/Yr 3.00% MG/Yr

Systematic data handling errors: 2.440 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Apparent Losses: 35.327 MG/Yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)

Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 58.533 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES: 93.860 MG/Yr

NON-REVENUE WATER

NON-REVENUE WATER: 107.400 MG/Yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 5 33.5 miles

Number of active AND inactive service connections: 7 2,514

Service connection density: 75 conn./mile main

Yes

Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 5 80.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $2,026,409 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $0.97

Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 4 $33.61 $/Million gallons

WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

1: Volume from own sources

2: Customer metering inaccuracies

3: Billed metered

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line?

AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
Reporting Worksheet

Default option selected for Unbilled unmetered - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

2015 1/2015 - 12/2015

Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company (3310051)

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 49 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

<----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water

supplied
OR

value

?Click here:
for help using option
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet 2

Page 1415

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: MILLION GALLONS (US) PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 5 1,074.300 MG/Yr 3 MG/Yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 1,074.300 MG/Yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 5 966.100 MG/Yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr

Unbilled metered: 9 0.427 MG/Yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 13.429 MG/Yr 1.25% MG/Yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 979.956 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 94.344 MG/Yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 2.686 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 3 29.893 MG/Yr 3.00% MG/Yr
Systematic data handling errors: 2.415 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Apparent Losses: 34.994 MG/Yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)

Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 59.351 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES: 94.344 MG/Yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 108.200 MG/Yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 5 33.5 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 7 2,514

Service connection density: 75 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 9 80.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $2,026,409 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $0.97
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 7 $0.97 $/Million gallons

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Customer metering inaccuracies

     3: Billed metered

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 61 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

       Default option selected for Unbilled unmetered - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

2016 1/2016 - 12/2016
Myoma Water Company  (3310051)

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1416

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: MILLION GALLONS (US) PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 3 1,108.600 MG/Yr 3 MG/Yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr n/a MG/Yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 1,108.600 MG/Yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 5 1,010.600 MG/Yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr

Unbilled metered: 10 20.700 MG/Yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 10 0.216 MG/Yr 1.25% MG/Yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 1,031.516 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 77.084 MG/Yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 2.772 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 3 31.896 MG/Yr 3.00% MG/Yr
Systematic data handling errors: 2.527 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Apparent Losses: 37.194 MG/Yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)

Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 39.890 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES: 77.084 MG/Yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 98.000 MG/Yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 5 34.0 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 7 2,537

Service connection density: 75 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 6 80.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $2,330,710 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $0.97
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 5 $350.05 $/Million gallons

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Customer metering inaccuracies

     3: Billed metered

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

0.216

2017 1/2017 - 12/2017
Myoma Water Company  (3310051)

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 54 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1417

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: MILLION GALLONS (US) PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 3 1,211.900 MG/Yr 3 MG/Yr
Water imported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr n/a MG/Yr
Water exported: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr MG/Yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 1,211.900 MG/Yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 5 1,069.298 MG/Yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr

Unbilled metered: 10 21.900 MG/Yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 5 1.212 MG/Yr 1.25% MG/Yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 1,092.410 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 119.490 MG/Yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 3.030 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 3 33.748 MG/Yr 3.00% MG/Yr
Systematic data handling errors: 2.673 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Apparent Losses: 39.451 MG/Yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)

Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 80.039 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES: 119.490 MG/Yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 142.602 MG/Yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 5 34.0 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 7 2,550

Service connection density: 75 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 6 80.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $2,314,890 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $0.97
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 5 $312.65 $/Million gallons

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Customer metering inaccuracies

     3: Billed metered

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

1.212

2018 1/2018 - 12/2018
Myoma Water Company  (3310051)

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 53 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1418

Item 37.



Water Audit Report for:
Reporting Year:

All volumes to be entered as: MILLION GALLONS (US) PER YEAR

Master Meter and Supply Error Adjustments

WATER SUPPLIED Pcnt: Value:

Volume from own sources: 3 1,177.300 MG/Yr 3 0.00% MG/Yr
Water imported: n/a MG/Yr MG/Yr
Water exported: n/a MG/Yr MG/Yr

Enter negative % or value for under-registration
WATER SUPPLIED: 1,177.300 MG/Yr Enter positive % or value for over-registration

.

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION
Billed metered: 4 1,044.610 MG/Yr

Billed unmetered: n/a 0.000 MG/Yr

Unbilled metered: 10 44.390 MG/Yr Pcnt: Value:

Unbilled unmetered: 10 0.131 MG/Yr 1.25% MG/Yr

AUTHORIZED CONSUMPTION: 1,089.131 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES (Water Supplied - Authorized Consumption) 88.169 MG/Yr

Apparent Losses Pcnt: Value:

Unauthorized consumption: 2.943 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Customer metering inaccuracies: 3 33.680 MG/Yr 3.00% MG/Yr
Systematic data handling errors: 2.612 MG/Yr 0.25% MG/Yr

Apparent Losses: 39.235 MG/Yr

Real Losses (Current Annual Real Losses or CARL)

Real Losses = Water Losses - Apparent Losses: 48.934 MG/Yr

WATER LOSSES: 88.169 MG/Yr

NON-REVENUE WATER
NON-REVENUE WATER: 132.690 MG/Yr

= Water Losses + Unbilled Metered + Unbilled Unmetered

SYSTEM DATA

Length of mains: 5 35.0 miles
Number of active AND inactive service connections: 7 2,577

Service connection density: 74 conn./mile main

Yes
Average length of customer service line: ft

Average operating pressure: 5 80.0 psi

COST DATA

Total annual cost of operating water system: 10 $2,364,469 $/Year

Customer retail unit cost (applied to Apparent Losses): 9 $1.31
Variable production cost (applied to Real Losses): 7 $538.05 $/Million gallons

 WATER AUDIT DATA VALIDITY SCORE:

 PRIORITY AREAS FOR ATTENTION:

     1: Volume from own sources

     2: Billed metered

     3: Customer metering inaccuracies

 Based on the information provided, audit accuracy can be improved by addressing the following components:

$/100 cubic feet (ccf)

              <----------- Enter grading in column 'E' and 'J' ---------->

                Default option selected for unauthorized consumption - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed                

*** YOUR SCORE IS: 54 out of 100 ***

A weighted scale for the components of consumption and water loss is included in the calculation of the Water Audit Data Validity Score

                   Default option selected for Systematic data handling errors - a grading of 5 is applied but not displayed

Average length of customer service line has been set to zero and a data grading score of 10 has been applied

Are customer meters typically located at the curbstop or property line? 

 AWWA Free Water Audit Software:
 Reporting Worksheet

0.131

2019 1/2019 - 12/2019
Myoma Dunes Water Company  (3310051)

?

?

?

?

?

? Click to access definition

?

?

?

?

?

?

Please enter data in the white cells below. Where available, metered values should be used; if metered values are unavailable please estimate a value. Indicate your confidence in the accuracy of the 
input data by grading each component (n/a or 1-10) using the drop-down list to the left of the input cell. Hover the mouse over the cell to obtain a description of the grades

?

?

?

?

?

?

(length of service line, beyond the property 
boundary, that is the responsibility of the utility)

Use buttons to select
percentage of water 

supplied
OR

value

?Click here: 
for help using option 
buttons below

?

?

?

?

+

+ Click to add a comment

WAS v5.0

+

+

+

+

+

+

American Water Works Association.
Copyright © 2014, All Rights Reserved.

?

?

?

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+ Use Customer Retail Unit Cost to value real losses

?

To select the correct data grading for each input, determine the highest grade where 
the utility meets or exceeds all criteria for that grade and all grades below it.

AWWA Free Water Audit Software v5.0 Reporting Worksheet      1

Page 1419

Item 37.



 

 

Appendix H:  Resolutions of 
Adoption 
 

 
  

Page 1420

Item 37.



 

 

Appendix I:  DWR UWMP 
Checklists 
 

 

Page 1421

Item 37.



  
 

Coachella Valley Water District 
 

 

 

 
  

Page 1422

Item 37.



Coachella Valley Water District

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x x
Chapter 1 10615

A plan shall describe and evaluate sources of supply, reasonable and practical efficient uses, 
reclamation and demand management activities.

Introduction and Overview Section 1.1

x x

Chapter 1 10630.5
Each plan shall include a simple description of the supplier’s plan including water availability, 
future requirements, a strategy for meeting needs, and other pertinent information. Additionally, a 
supplier may also choose to include a simple description at the beginning of each chapter.

Summary Section 1.3

x x
Section 2.2 10620(b)

Every person that becomes an urban water supplier shall adopt an urban water management plan 
within one year after it has become an urban water supplier.

Plan Preparation Section 4.2

x x
Section 2.6 10620(d)(2)

Coordinate the preparation of its plan with other appropriate agencies in the area, including other 
water suppliers that share a common source, water management agencies, and relevant public 
agencies, to the extent practicable.

Plan Preparation Section 4.2

x x
Section 2.6.2 10642

Provide supporting documentation that the water supplier has encouraged active involvement of 
diverse social, cultural, and economic elements of the population within the service area prior to 
and during the preparation of the plan and contingency plan.

Plan Preparation Section 4.2

x
Section 2.6, Section 6.1 10631(h)

Retail suppliers will include documentation that they have provided their wholesale supplier(s) - if 
any - with water use projections from that source.

System Supplies Section 4.2

x
Section 2.6 10631(h)

Wholesale suppliers will include documentation that they have provided their urban water 
suppliers with identification and quantification of the existing and planned sources of water 
available from the wholesale to the urban supplier during various water year types.

System Supplies N/A

x x Section 3.1 10631(a) Describe the water supplier service area. System Description Section 4.3
x x Section 3.3 10631(a) Describe the climate of the service area of the supplier. System Description Section 4.3
x x Section 3.4 10631(a) Provide population projections for 2025, 2030, 2035, 2040 and optionally 2045. System Description Section 4.3

x x
Section 3.4.2 10631(a)

Describe other social, economic, and demographic factors affecting the supplier’s water 
management planning.

System Description Section 4.3

x x
Sections 3.4 and 5.4 10631(a) Indicate the current population of the service area.

System Description and Baselines 
and Targets

Section 4.3

x x Section 3.5 10631(a) Describe the land uses within the service area. System Description Section 4.3

x x
Section 4.2 10631(d)(1) Quantify past, current, and projected water use, identifying the uses among water use sectors. System Water Use Section 4.4

x x Section 4.2.4 10631(d)(3)(C) Retail suppliers shall provide data to show the distribution loss standards were met. System Water Use Section 4.4

x x
Section 4.2.6 10631(d)(4)(A)

In projected water use, include estimates of water savings from adopted codes, plans and other 
policies or laws. 

System Water Use Section 4.4

x x
Section 4.2.6 10631(d)(4)(B) Provide citations of codes, standards, ordinances, or plans used to make water use projections. System Water Use Section 4.4

x optional Section 4.3.2.4 10631(d)(3)(A) Report the distribution system water loss for each of the 5 years preceding the plan update. System Water Use Section 4.4

x optional
Section 4.4 10631.1(a)

Include projected water use needed for lower income housing projected in the service area of the 
supplier.

System Water Use Section 4.4

x x
Section 4.5 10635(b)

Demands under climate change considerations must be included as part of the drought risk 
assessment.

System Water Use Section 4.4

x
Chapter 5 10608.20(e)

Retail suppliers shall provide baseline daily per capita water use, urban water use target, interim 
urban water use target, and compliance daily per capita water use, along with the bases for 
determining those estimates, including references to supporting data.

Baselines and Targets Section 4.5

x Chapter 5 10608.24(a) Retail suppliers shall meet their water use target by December 31, 2020. Baselines and Targets Section 4.5

x
Section 5.1 10608.36

Wholesale suppliers shall include an assessment of present and proposed future measures, 
programs, and policies to help their retail water suppliers achieve targeted water use reductions.

Baselines and Targets N/A

x
Section 5.2 10608.24(d)(2)

If the retail supplier adjusts its compliance GPCD using weather normalization, economic 
adjustment, or extraordinary events, it shall provide the basis for, and data supporting the 
adjustment.

Baselines and Targets Section 4.5

x
Section 5.5 10608.22

Retail suppliers’ per capita daily water use reduction shall be no less than 5 percent of base daily 
per capita water use of the 5 year baseline. This does not apply if the suppliers base GPCD is at 
or below 100.

Baselines and Targets Section 4.5

x
Section 5.5 and Appendix E 10608.4

Retail suppliers shall report on their compliance in meeting their water use targets. The data shall 
be reported using a standardized form in the SBX7-7 2020 Compliance Form.

Baselines and Targets Section 4.5

x x
Sections 6.1 and 6.2 10631(b)(1)

Provide a discussion of anticipated supply availability under a normal, single dry year, and a 
drought lasting five years, as well as more frequent and severe periods of drought.

System Supplies Section 4.7

x x
Sections 6.1 10631(b)(1)

Provide a discussion of anticipated supply availability under a normal, single dry year, and a 
drought lasting five years, as well as more frequent and severe periods of drought, including 
changes in supply due to climate change. 

System Supplies Section 4.7

x x
Section 6.1 10631(b)(2)

When multiple sources of water supply are identified, describe the management of each supply in 
relationship to other identified supplies.

System Supplies Section 4.6

Page 1 of 4

Page 1423

Item 37.



Coachella Valley Water District

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x x Section 6.1.1 10631(b)(3) Describe measures taken to acquire and develop planned sources of water. System Supplies Section 4.6

x x
Section 6.2.8 10631(b)

Identify and quantify the existing and planned sources of water available for 2020, 2025, 2030, 
2035, 2040 and optionally 2045.

System Supplies Section 4.6

x x
Section 6.2 10631(b) Indicate whether groundwater is an existing or planned source of water available to the supplier. System Supplies Section 4.6

x x
Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(A)

Indicate whether a groundwater sustainability plan or groundwater management plan has been 
adopted by the water supplier or if there is any other specific authorization for groundwater 
management. Include a copy of the plan or authorization.

System Supplies Section 4.6

x x Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(B) Describe the groundwater basin. System Supplies Section 4.6

x x
Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(B)

Indicate if the basin has been adjudicated and include a copy of the court order or decree and a 
description of the amount of water the supplier has the legal right to pump.

System Supplies Section 4.6

x x
Section 6.2.2.1 10631(b)(4)(B)

For unadjudicated basins, indicate whether or not the department has identified the basin as a 
high or medium priority. Describe efforts by the supplier to coordinate with sustainability or 
groundwater agencies to achieve sustainable groundwater conditions. 

System Supplies Section 4.6

x x
Section 6.2.2.4 10631(b)(4)(C)

Provide a detailed description and analysis of the location, amount, and sufficiency of groundwater 
pumped by the urban water supplier for the past five years

System Supplies Section 4.6

x x
Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(D)

Provide a detailed description and analysis of the amount and location of groundwater that is 
projected to be pumped.

System Supplies Section 4.6

x x
Section 6.2.7 10631(c) Describe the opportunities for exchanges or transfers of water on a short-term or long- term basis. System Supplies Section 4.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(b)

Describe the quantity of treated wastewater that meets recycled water standards, is being 
discharged, and is otherwise available for use in a recycled water project.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 4.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(c) Describe the recycled water currently being used in the supplier's service area.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 4.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(d)

Describe and quantify the potential uses of recycled water and provide a determination of the 
technical and economic feasibility of those uses.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 4.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(e)

Describe the projected use of recycled water within the supplier's service area at the end of 5, 10, 
15, and 20 years, and a description of the actual use of recycled water in comparison to uses 
previously projected.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 4.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(f)

Describe the actions which may be taken to encourage the use of recycled water and the 
projected results of these actions in terms of acre-feet of recycled water used per year.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 4.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(g) Provide a plan for optimizing the use of recycled water in the supplier's service area.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 4.6

x x Section 6.2.6 10631(g) Describe desalinated water project opportunities for long-term supply. System Supplies Section 4.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(a)

Describe the wastewater collection and treatment systems in the supplier’s service area with 
quantified amount of collection and treatment and the disposal methods.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 4.6

x x
Section 6.2.8, Section 6.3.7 10631(f)

Describe the expected future water supply projects and programs that may be undertaken by the 
water supplier to address water supply reliability in average, single-dry, and for a period of drought 
lasting 5 consecutive water years.

System Supplies Section 4.6

x x
Section 6.4 and Appendix O 10631.2(a)

The UWMP must include energy information, as stated in the code, that a supplier can readily 
obtain. 

System Suppliers, Energy 
Intensity

Section 4.6

x x
Section 7.2 10634

Provide information on the quality of existing sources of water available to the supplier and the 
manner in which water quality affects water management strategies and supply reliability

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 4.7

x x
Section 7.2.4 10620(f)

Describe water management tools and options to maximize resources and minimize the need to 
import water from other regions.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 4.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(a)

Service Reliability Assessment: Assess the water supply reliability during normal, dry, and a 
drought lasting five consecutive water years by comparing the total water supply sources available 
to the water supplier with the total projected water use over the next 20 years.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 4.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)

Provide a drought risk assessment as part of information considered in developing the demand 
management measures and water supply projects.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 4.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(1)

Include a description of the data, methodology, and basis for one or more supply shortage 
conditions that are necessary to conduct a drought risk assessment for a drought period that lasts 
5 consecutive years.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 4.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(2)

Include a determination of the reliability of each source of supply under a variety of water shortage 
conditions.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 4.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(3)

Include a comparison of the total water supply sources available to the water supplier with the total 
projected water use for the drought period. 

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 4.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(4)

Include considerations of the historical drought hydrology, plausible changes on projected supplies 
and demands under climate change conditions, anticipated regulatory changes, and other locally 
applicable criteria. 

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 4.7

Page 2 of 4

Page 1424

Item 37.



Coachella Valley Water District

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x x
Chapter 8 10632(a) Provide a water shortage contingency plan (WSCP) with specified elements below. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP

x x
Chapter 8 10632(a)(1) Provide the analysis of water supply reliability (from Chapter 7 of Guidebook) in the WSCP

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 1

x x
Section 8.10 10632(a)(10)

Describe reevaluation and improvement procedures for monitoring and evaluation the water 
shortage contingency plan to ensure risk tolerance is adequate and appropriate water shortage 
mitigation strategies are implemented.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 2

x x
Section 8.2 10632(a)(2)(A)

Provide the written decision-making process and other methods that the supplier will use each 
year to determine its water reliability. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 2

x x
Section 8.2 10632(a)(2)(B)

Provide data and methodology to evaluate the supplier’s water reliability for the current year and 
one dry year pursuant to factors in the code.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 2

x x

Section 8.3 10632(a)(3)(A)

Define six standard water shortage levels of 10, 20, 30, 40, 50 percent shortage and greater than 
50 percent shortage. These levels shall be based on supply conditions, including percent 
reductions in supply, changes in groundwater levels, changes in surface elevation, or other 
conditions. The shortage levels shall also apply to a catastrophic interruption of supply.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 3

x x
Section 8.3 10632(a)(3)(B)

Suppliers with an existing water shortage contingency plan that uses different water shortage 
levels must cross reference their categories with the six standard categories.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 3

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(A)

Suppliers with water shortage contingency plans that align with the defined shortage levels must 
specify locally appropriate supply augmentation actions. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(B) Specify locally appropriate demand reduction actions to adequately respond to shortages. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(C) Specify locally appropriate operational changes.  

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(D)

Specify additional mandatory prohibitions against specific water use practices that are in addition 
to state-mandated prohibitions are appropriate to local conditions. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(E)

Estimate the extent to which the gap between supplies and demand will be reduced by 
implementation of the action.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4.6 10632.5 The plan shall include a seismic risk assessment and mitigation plan. Water Shortage Contingency Plan WSCP, Section 4.6

x x
Section 8.5 10632(a)(5)(A)

Suppliers must describe that they will inform customers, the public and others regarding any 
current or predicted water shortages.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 5

x x
Section 8.5 and 8.6

10632(a)(5)(B) 
10632(a)(5)(C)

Suppliers must describe that they will inform customers, the public and others regarding any 
shortage response actions triggered or anticipated to be triggered and other relevant 
communications.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 5

x
Section 8.6 10632(a)(6)

Retail supplier must describe how it will ensure compliance with and enforce provisions of the 
WSCP.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 6

x
Section 8.7 10632(a)(7)(A) Describe the legal authority that empowers the supplier to enforce shortage response actions. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 7

x x
Section 8.7 10632(a)(7)(B)

Provide a statement that the supplier will declare a water shortage emergency Water Code 
Chapter 3. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 7

x x
Section 8.7 10632(a)(7)(C)

Provide a statement that the supplier will coordinate with any city or county within which it 
provides water for the possible proclamation of a local emergency. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 7

x x
Section 8.8 10632(a)(8)(A)

Describe the potential revenue reductions and expense increases associated with activated 
shortage response actions.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x x
Section 8.8 10632(a)(8)(B)

Provide a description of mitigation actions needed to address revenue reductions and expense 
increases associated with activated shortage response actions.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x
Section 8.8 10632(a)(8)(C)

Retail suppliers must describe the cost of compliance with Water Code Chapter 3.3: Excessive 
Residential Water Use During Drought

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x
Section 8.9 10632(a)(9)

Retail suppliers must describe the monitoring and reporting requirements and procedures that 
ensure appropriate data is collected, tracked, and analyzed for purposes of monitoring customer 
compliance.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x
Section 8.11 10632(b)

Analyze and define water features that are artificially supplied with water, including ponds, lakes, 
waterfalls, and fountains, separately from swimming pools and spas.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 11

x x
Sections 8.12 and 10.4 10635(c)

Provide supporting documentation that Water Shortage Contingency Plan has been, or will be, 
provided to any city or county within which it provides water, no later than 30  days after the 
submission of the plan to DWR.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

WSCP, Section 12

x x
Section 8.12 10632(c)

Make available the Water Shortage Contingency Plan to customers and any city or county where 
it provides water within 30 after adopted the plan.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 12

x
Sections 9.1 and 9.3 10631(e)(2)

Wholesale suppliers shall describe specific demand management measures listed in code, their 
distribution system asset management program, and supplier assistance program.

Demand Management Measures N/A

Page 3 of 4

Page 1425

Item 37.



Coachella Valley Water District

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x
Sections 9.2 and 9.3 10631(e)(1)

Retail suppliers shall provide a description of the nature and extent of each demand management 
measure implemented over the past five years. The description will address specific measures 
listed in code.

Demand Management Measures Section 4.9

x
Chapter 10 10608.26(a)

Retail suppliers shall conduct a public hearing to discuss adoption, implementation, and economic 
impact of water use targets (recommended to discuss compliance).

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 4.10

x x
Section 10.2.1 10621(b)

Notify, at least 60 days prior to the public hearing, any city or county within which the supplier 
provides water that the urban water supplier will be reviewing the plan and considering 
amendments or changes to the plan. Reported in Table 10-1.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 4.10

x x
Section 10.4 10621(f)

Each urban water supplier shall update and submit its 2020 plan to the department by July 1, 
2021.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 4.10

x x
Sections 10.2.2, 10.3, and 10.5 10642

Provide supporting documentation that the urban water supplier made the plan and contingency 
plan available for public inspection, published notice of the public hearing, and held a public 
hearing about the plan and contingency plan.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 4.10

x x
Section 10.2.2 10642

The water supplier is to provide the time and place of the hearing to any city or county within 
which the supplier provides water.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 4.10

x x
Section 10.3.2 10642

Provide supporting documentation that the plan and contingency plan has been adopted as 
prepared or modified.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 4.10

x x
Section 10.4 10644(a)

Provide supporting documentation that the urban water supplier has submitted this UWMP to the 
California State Library.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 4.10

x x
Section 10.4 10644(a)(1)

Provide supporting documentation that the urban water supplier has submitted this UWMP to any 
city or county within which the supplier provides water no later than 30 days after adoption.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 4.10

x x
Sections 10.4.1 and 10.4.2 10644(a)(2)

The plan, or amendments to the plan, submitted to the department shall be submitted 
electronically.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 4.10

x x
Section 10.5 10645(a)

Provide supporting documentation that, not later than 30 days after filing a copy of its plan with the 
department, the supplier has or will make the plan available for public review during normal 
business hours.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 4.10

x x
Section 10.5 10645(b)

Provide supporting documentation that, not later than 30 days after filing a copy of its water 
shortage contingency plan with the department, the supplier has or will make the plan available for 
public review during normal business hours.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 4.10

x x
Section 10.6 10621(c)

If supplier is regulated by the Public Utilities Commission, include its plan and contingency plan as 
part of its general rate case filings. 

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 4.10

x x
Section 10.7.2 10644(b)

If revised, submit a copy of the water shortage contingency plan to DWR within 30 days of 
adoption.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 4.10

Page 4 of 4

Page 1426

Item 37.



 

Coachella Water Authority 
 

 
  

Page 1427

Item 37.



Coachella Water Authority

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x x
Chapter 1 10615

A plan shall describe and evaluate sources of supply, reasonable and practical efficient uses, 
reclamation and demand management activities.

Introduction and Overview Section 1.1

x x

Chapter 1 10630.5
Each plan shall include a simple description of the supplier’s plan including water availability, 
future requirements, a strategy for meeting needs, and other pertinent information. Additionally, a 
supplier may also choose to include a simple description at the beginning of each chapter.

Summary Section 1.3

x x
Section 2.2 10620(b)

Every person that becomes an urban water supplier shall adopt an urban water management plan 
within one year after it has become an urban water supplier.

Plan Preparation Section 5.2

x x
Section 2.6 10620(d)(2)

Coordinate the preparation of its plan with other appropriate agencies in the area, including other 
water suppliers that share a common source, water management agencies, and relevant public 
agencies, to the extent practicable.

Plan Preparation Section 5.2

x x
Section 2.6.2 10642

Provide supporting documentation that the water supplier has encouraged active involvement of 
diverse social, cultural, and economic elements of the population within the service area prior to 
and during the preparation of the plan and contingency plan.

Plan Preparation Section 5.2

x
Section 2.6, Section 6.1 10631(h)

Retail suppliers will include documentation that they have provided their wholesale supplier(s) - if 
any - with water use projections from that source.

System Supplies Section 5.2

x
Section 2.6 10631(h)

Wholesale suppliers will include documentation that they have provided their urban water 
suppliers with identification and quantification of the existing and planned sources of water 
available from the wholesale to the urban supplier during various water year types.

System Supplies N/A

x x Section 3.1 10631(a) Describe the water supplier service area. System Description Section 5.3
x x Section 3.3 10631(a) Describe the climate of the service area of the supplier. System Description Section 5.3
x x Section 3.4 10631(a) Provide population projections for 2025, 2030, 2035, 2040 and optionally 2045. System Description Section 5.3

x x
Section 3.4.2 10631(a)

Describe other social, economic, and demographic factors affecting the supplier’s water 
management planning.

System Description Section 5.3

x x
Sections 3.4 and 5.4 10631(a) Indicate the current population of the service area.

System Description and Baselines 
and Targets

Section 5.3

x x Section 3.5 10631(a) Describe the land uses within the service area. System Description Section 5.3

x x
Section 4.2 10631(d)(1) Quantify past, current, and projected water use, identifying the uses among water use sectors. System Water Use Section 5.4

x x Section 4.2.4 10631(d)(3)(C) Retail suppliers shall provide data to show the distribution loss standards were met. System Water Use Section 5.4

x x
Section 4.2.6 10631(d)(4)(A)

In projected water use, include estimates of water savings from adopted codes, plans and other 
policies or laws. 

System Water Use Section 5.4

x x
Section 4.2.6 10631(d)(4)(B) Provide citations of codes, standards, ordinances, or plans used to make water use projections. System Water Use Section 5.4

x optional Section 4.3.2.4 10631(d)(3)(A) Report the distribution system water loss for each of the 5 years preceding the plan update. System Water Use Section 5.4

x optional
Section 4.4 10631.1(a)

Include projected water use needed for lower income housing projected in the service area of the 
supplier.

System Water Use Section 5.4

x x
Section 4.5 10635(b)

Demands under climate change considerations must be included as part of the drought risk 
assessment.

System Water Use Section 5.4

x
Chapter 5 10608.20(e)

Retail suppliers shall provide baseline daily per capita water use, urban water use target, interim 
urban water use target, and compliance daily per capita water use, along with the bases for 
determining those estimates, including references to supporting data.

Baselines and Targets Section 5.5

x Chapter 5 10608.24(a) Retail suppliers shall meet their water use target by December 31, 2020. Baselines and Targets Section 5.5

x
Section 5.1 10608.36

Wholesale suppliers shall include an assessment of present and proposed future measures, 
programs, and policies to help their retail water suppliers achieve targeted water use reductions.

Baselines and Targets N/A

x
Section 5.2 10608.24(d)(2)

If the retail supplier adjusts its compliance GPCD using weather normalization, economic 
adjustment, or extraordinary events, it shall provide the basis for, and data supporting the 
adjustment.

Baselines and Targets Section 5.5

x
Section 5.5 10608.22

Retail suppliers’ per capita daily water use reduction shall be no less than 5 percent of base daily 
per capita water use of the 5 year baseline. This does not apply if the suppliers base GPCD is at 
or below 100.

Baselines and Targets Section 5.5

x
Section 5.5 and Appendix E 10608.4

Retail suppliers shall report on their compliance in meeting their water use targets. The data shall 
be reported using a standardized form in the SBX7-7 2020 Compliance Form.

Baselines and Targets Section 5.5

x x
Sections 6.1 and 6.2 10631(b)(1)

Provide a discussion of anticipated supply availability under a normal, single dry year, and a 
drought lasting five years, as well as more frequent and severe periods of drought.

System Supplies Section 5.7

x x
Sections 6.1 10631(b)(1)

Provide a discussion of anticipated supply availability under a normal, single dry year, and a 
drought lasting five years, as well as more frequent and severe periods of drought, including 
changes in supply due to climate change. 

System Supplies Section 5.7

x x
Section 6.1 10631(b)(2)

When multiple sources of water supply are identified, describe the management of each supply in 
relationship to other identified supplies.

System Supplies Section 5.6

Page 1 of 4

Page 1428

Item 37.



Coachella Water Authority

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x x Section 6.1.1 10631(b)(3) Describe measures taken to acquire and develop planned sources of water. System Supplies Section 5.6

x x
Section 6.2.8 10631(b)

Identify and quantify the existing and planned sources of water available for 2020, 2025, 2030, 
2035, 2040 and optionally 2045.

System Supplies Section 5.6

x x
Section 6.2 10631(b) Indicate whether groundwater is an existing or planned source of water available to the supplier. System Supplies Section 5.6

x x
Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(A)

Indicate whether a groundwater sustainability plan or groundwater management plan has been 
adopted by the water supplier or if there is any other specific authorization for groundwater 
management. Include a copy of the plan or authorization.

System Supplies Section 5.6

x x Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(B) Describe the groundwater basin. System Supplies Section 5.6

x x
Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(B)

Indicate if the basin has been adjudicated and include a copy of the court order or decree and a 
description of the amount of water the supplier has the legal right to pump.

System Supplies Section 5.6

x x
Section 6.2.2.1 10631(b)(4)(B)

For unadjudicated basins, indicate whether or not the department has identified the basin as a 
high or medium priority. Describe efforts by the supplier to coordinate with sustainability or 
groundwater agencies to achieve sustainable groundwater conditions. 

System Supplies Section 5.6

x x
Section 6.2.2.4 10631(b)(4)(C)

Provide a detailed description and analysis of the location, amount, and sufficiency of groundwater 
pumped by the urban water supplier for the past five years

System Supplies Section 5.6

x x
Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(D)

Provide a detailed description and analysis of the amount and location of groundwater that is 
projected to be pumped.

System Supplies Section 5.6

x x
Section 6.2.7 10631(c) Describe the opportunities for exchanges or transfers of water on a short-term or long- term basis. System Supplies Section 5.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(b)

Describe the quantity of treated wastewater that meets recycled water standards, is being 
discharged, and is otherwise available for use in a recycled water project.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 5.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(c) Describe the recycled water currently being used in the supplier's service area.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 5.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(d)

Describe and quantify the potential uses of recycled water and provide a determination of the 
technical and economic feasibility of those uses.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 5.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(e)

Describe the projected use of recycled water within the supplier's service area at the end of 5, 10, 
15, and 20 years, and a description of the actual use of recycled water in comparison to uses 
previously projected.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 5.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(f)

Describe the actions which may be taken to encourage the use of recycled water and the 
projected results of these actions in terms of acre-feet of recycled water used per year.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 5.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(g) Provide a plan for optimizing the use of recycled water in the supplier's service area.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 5.6

x x Section 6.2.6 10631(g) Describe desalinated water project opportunities for long-term supply. System Supplies Section 5.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(a)

Describe the wastewater collection and treatment systems in the supplier’s service area with 
quantified amount of collection and treatment and the disposal methods.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 5.6

x x
Section 6.2.8, Section 6.3.7 10631(f)

Describe the expected future water supply projects and programs that may be undertaken by the 
water supplier to address water supply reliability in average, single-dry, and for a period of drought 
lasting 5 consecutive water years.

System Supplies Section 5.6

x x
Section 6.4 and Appendix O 10631.2(a)

The UWMP must include energy information, as stated in the code, that a supplier can readily 
obtain. 

System Suppliers, Energy 
Intensity

Section 5.6

x x
Section 7.2 10634

Provide information on the quality of existing sources of water available to the supplier and the 
manner in which water quality affects water management strategies and supply reliability

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 5.7

x x
Section 7.2.4 10620(f)

Describe water management tools and options to maximize resources and minimize the need to 
import water from other regions.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 5.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(a)

Service Reliability Assessment: Assess the water supply reliability during normal, dry, and a 
drought lasting five consecutive water years by comparing the total water supply sources available 
to the water supplier with the total projected water use over the next 20 years.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 5.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)

Provide a drought risk assessment as part of information considered in developing the demand 
management measures and water supply projects.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 5.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(1)

Include a description of the data, methodology, and basis for one or more supply shortage 
conditions that are necessary to conduct a drought risk assessment for a drought period that lasts 
5 consecutive years.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 5.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(2)

Include a determination of the reliability of each source of supply under a variety of water shortage 
conditions.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 5.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(3)

Include a comparison of the total water supply sources available to the water supplier with the total 
projected water use for the drought period. 

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 5.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(4)

Include considerations of the historical drought hydrology, plausible changes on projected supplies 
and demands under climate change conditions, anticipated regulatory changes, and other locally 
applicable criteria. 

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 5.7

Page 2 of 4

Page 1429

Item 37.



Coachella Water Authority

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x x
Chapter 8 10632(a) Provide a water shortage contingency plan (WSCP) with specified elements below. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP

x x
Chapter 8 10632(a)(1) Provide the analysis of water supply reliability (from Chapter 7 of Guidebook) in the WSCP

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 1

x x
Section 8.10 10632(a)(10)

Describe reevaluation and improvement procedures for monitoring and evaluation the water 
shortage contingency plan to ensure risk tolerance is adequate and appropriate water shortage 
mitigation strategies are implemented.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 2

x x
Section 8.2 10632(a)(2)(A)

Provide the written decision-making process and other methods that the supplier will use each 
year to determine its water reliability. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 2

x x
Section 8.2 10632(a)(2)(B)

Provide data and methodology to evaluate the supplier’s water reliability for the current year and 
one dry year pursuant to factors in the code.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 2

x x

Section 8.3 10632(a)(3)(A)

Define six standard water shortage levels of 10, 20, 30, 40, 50 percent shortage and greater than 
50 percent shortage. These levels shall be based on supply conditions, including percent 
reductions in supply, changes in groundwater levels, changes in surface elevation, or other 
conditions. The shortage levels shall also apply to a catastrophic interruption of supply.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 3

x x
Section 8.3 10632(a)(3)(B)

Suppliers with an existing water shortage contingency plan that uses different water shortage 
levels must cross reference their categories with the six standard categories.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 3

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(A)

Suppliers with water shortage contingency plans that align with the defined shortage levels must 
specify locally appropriate supply augmentation actions. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(B) Specify locally appropriate demand reduction actions to adequately respond to shortages. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(C) Specify locally appropriate operational changes.  

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(D)

Specify additional mandatory prohibitions against specific water use practices that are in addition 
to state-mandated prohibitions are appropriate to local conditions. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(E)

Estimate the extent to which the gap between supplies and demand will be reduced by 
implementation of the action.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4.6 10632.5 The plan shall include a seismic risk assessment and mitigation plan. Water Shortage Contingency Plan WSCP, Section 4.6

x x
Section 8.5 10632(a)(5)(A)

Suppliers must describe that they will inform customers, the public and others regarding any 
current or predicted water shortages.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 5

x x
Section 8.5 and 8.6

10632(a)(5)(B) 
10632(a)(5)(C)

Suppliers must describe that they will inform customers, the public and others regarding any 
shortage response actions triggered or anticipated to be triggered and other relevant 
communications.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 5

x
Section 8.6 10632(a)(6)

Retail supplier must describe how it will ensure compliance with and enforce provisions of the 
WSCP.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 6

x
Section 8.7 10632(a)(7)(A) Describe the legal authority that empowers the supplier to enforce shortage response actions. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 7

x x
Section 8.7 10632(a)(7)(B)

Provide a statement that the supplier will declare a water shortage emergency Water Code 
Chapter 3. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 7

x x
Section 8.7 10632(a)(7)(C)

Provide a statement that the supplier will coordinate with any city or county within which it 
provides water for the possible proclamation of a local emergency. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 7

x x
Section 8.8 10632(a)(8)(A)

Describe the potential revenue reductions and expense increases associated with activated 
shortage response actions.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x x
Section 8.8 10632(a)(8)(B)

Provide a description of mitigation actions needed to address revenue reductions and expense 
increases associated with activated shortage response actions.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x
Section 8.8 10632(a)(8)(C)

Retail suppliers must describe the cost of compliance with Water Code Chapter 3.3: Excessive 
Residential Water Use During Drought

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x
Section 8.9 10632(a)(9)

Retail suppliers must describe the monitoring and reporting requirements and procedures that 
ensure appropriate data is collected, tracked, and analyzed for purposes of monitoring customer 
compliance.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x
Section 8.11 10632(b)

Analyze and define water features that are artificially supplied with water, including ponds, lakes, 
waterfalls, and fountains, separately from swimming pools and spas.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 11

x x
Sections 8.12 and 10.4 10635(c)

Provide supporting documentation that Water Shortage Contingency Plan has been, or will be, 
provided to any city or county within which it provides water, no later than 30  days after the 
submission of the plan to DWR.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

WSCP, Section 12

x x
Section 8.12 10632(c)

Make available the Water Shortage Contingency Plan to customers and any city or county where 
it provides water within 30 after adopted the plan.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 12

x
Sections 9.1 and 9.3 10631(e)(2)

Wholesale suppliers shall describe specific demand management measures listed in code, their 
distribution system asset management program, and supplier assistance program.

Demand Management Measures N/A

Page 3 of 4

Page 1430

Item 37.



Coachella Water Authority

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x
Sections 9.2 and 9.3 10631(e)(1)

Retail suppliers shall provide a description of the nature and extent of each demand management 
measure implemented over the past five years. The description will address specific measures 
listed in code.

Demand Management Measures Section 5.9

x
Chapter 10 10608.26(a)

Retail suppliers shall conduct a public hearing to discuss adoption, implementation, and economic 
impact of water use targets (recommended to discuss compliance).

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 5.10

x x
Section 10.2.1 10621(b)

Notify, at least 60 days prior to the public hearing, any city or county within which the supplier 
provides water that the urban water supplier will be reviewing the plan and considering 
amendments or changes to the plan. Reported in Table 10-1.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 5.10

x x
Section 10.4 10621(f)

Each urban water supplier shall update and submit its 2020 plan to the department by July 1, 
2021.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 5.10

x x
Sections 10.2.2, 10.3, and 10.5 10642

Provide supporting documentation that the urban water supplier made the plan and contingency 
plan available for public inspection, published notice of the public hearing, and held a public 
hearing about the plan and contingency plan.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 5.10

x x
Section 10.2.2 10642

The water supplier is to provide the time and place of the hearing to any city or county within 
which the supplier provides water.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 5.10

x x
Section 10.3.2 10642

Provide supporting documentation that the plan and contingency plan has been adopted as 
prepared or modified.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 5.10

x x
Section 10.4 10644(a)

Provide supporting documentation that the urban water supplier has submitted this UWMP to the 
California State Library.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 5.10

x x
Section 10.4 10644(a)(1)

Provide supporting documentation that the urban water supplier has submitted this UWMP to any 
city or county within which the supplier provides water no later than 30 days after adoption.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 5.10

x x
Sections 10.4.1 and 10.4.2 10644(a)(2)

The plan, or amendments to the plan, submitted to the department shall be submitted 
electronically.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 5.10

x x
Section 10.5 10645(a)

Provide supporting documentation that, not later than 30 days after filing a copy of its plan with the 
department, the supplier has or will make the plan available for public review during normal 
business hours.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 5.10

x x
Section 10.5 10645(b)

Provide supporting documentation that, not later than 30 days after filing a copy of its water 
shortage contingency plan with the department, the supplier has or will make the plan available for 
public review during normal business hours.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 5.10

x x
Section 10.6 10621(c)

If supplier is regulated by the Public Utilities Commission, include its plan and contingency plan as 
part of its general rate case filings. 

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 5.10

x x
Section 10.7.2 10644(b)

If revised, submit a copy of the water shortage contingency plan to DWR within 30 days of 
adoption.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 5.10

Page 4 of 4

Page 1431

Item 37.



 

 

Desert Water Agency 
 

 

 

 
  

Page 1432

Item 37.



Desert Water Agency

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x x
Chapter 1 10615

A plan shall describe and evaluate sources of supply, reasonable and practical efficient uses, 
reclamation and demand management activities.

Introduction and Overview Section 1.1

x x

Chapter 1 10630.5
Each plan shall include a simple description of the supplier’s plan including water availability, 
future requirements, a strategy for meeting needs, and other pertinent information. Additionally, a 
supplier may also choose to include a simple description at the beginning of each chapter.

Summary Section 1.3

x x
Section 2.2 10620(b)

Every person that becomes an urban water supplier shall adopt an urban water management plan 
within one year after it has become an urban water supplier.

Plan Preparation Section 6.2

x x
Section 2.6 10620(d)(2)

Coordinate the preparation of its plan with other appropriate agencies in the area, including other 
water suppliers that share a common source, water management agencies, and relevant public 
agencies, to the extent practicable.

Plan Preparation Section 6.2

x x
Section 2.6.2 10642

Provide supporting documentation that the water supplier has encouraged active involvement of 
diverse social, cultural, and economic elements of the population within the service area prior to 
and during the preparation of the plan and contingency plan.

Plan Preparation Section 6.2

x
Section 2.6, Section 6.1 10631(h)

Retail suppliers will include documentation that they have provided their wholesale supplier(s) - if 
any - with water use projections from that source.

System Supplies Section 6.2

x
Section 2.6 10631(h)

Wholesale suppliers will include documentation that they have provided their urban water 
suppliers with identification and quantification of the existing and planned sources of water 
available from the wholesale to the urban supplier during various water year types.

System Supplies N/A

x x Section 3.1 10631(a) Describe the water supplier service area. System Description Section 6.3
x x Section 3.3 10631(a) Describe the climate of the service area of the supplier. System Description Section 6.3
x x Section 3.4 10631(a) Provide population projections for 2025, 2030, 2035, 2040 and optionally 2045. System Description Section 6.3

x x
Section 3.4.2 10631(a)

Describe other social, economic, and demographic factors affecting the supplier’s water 
management planning.

System Description Section 6.3

x x
Sections 3.4 and 5.4 10631(a) Indicate the current population of the service area.

System Description and Baselines 
and Targets

Section 6.3

x x Section 3.5 10631(a) Describe the land uses within the service area. System Description Section 6.3

x x
Section 4.2 10631(d)(1) Quantify past, current, and projected water use, identifying the uses among water use sectors. System Water Use Section 6.4

x x Section 4.2.4 10631(d)(3)(C) Retail suppliers shall provide data to show the distribution loss standards were met. System Water Use Section 6.4

x x
Section 4.2.6 10631(d)(4)(A)

In projected water use, include estimates of water savings from adopted codes, plans and other 
policies or laws. 

System Water Use Section 6.4

x x
Section 4.2.6 10631(d)(4)(B) Provide citations of codes, standards, ordinances, or plans used to make water use projections. System Water Use Section 6.4

x optional Section 4.3.2.4 10631(d)(3)(A) Report the distribution system water loss for each of the 5 years preceding the plan update. System Water Use Section 6.4

x optional
Section 4.4 10631.1(a)

Include projected water use needed for lower income housing projected in the service area of the 
supplier.

System Water Use Section 6.4

x x
Section 4.5 10635(b)

Demands under climate change considerations must be included as part of the drought risk 
assessment.

System Water Use Section 6.4

x
Chapter 5 10608.20(e)

Retail suppliers shall provide baseline daily per capita water use, urban water use target, interim 
urban water use target, and compliance daily per capita water use, along with the bases for 
determining those estimates, including references to supporting data.

Baselines and Targets Section 6.5

x Chapter 5 10608.24(a) Retail suppliers shall meet their water use target by December 31, 2020. Baselines and Targets Section 6.5

x
Section 5.1 10608.36

Wholesale suppliers shall include an assessment of present and proposed future measures, 
programs, and policies to help their retail water suppliers achieve targeted water use reductions.

Baselines and Targets N/A

x
Section 5.2 10608.24(d)(2)

If the retail supplier adjusts its compliance GPCD using weather normalization, economic 
adjustment, or extraordinary events, it shall provide the basis for, and data supporting the 
adjustment.

Baselines and Targets Section 6.5

x
Section 5.5 10608.22

Retail suppliers’ per capita daily water use reduction shall be no less than 5 percent of base daily 
per capita water use of the 5 year baseline. This does not apply if the suppliers base GPCD is at 
or below 100.

Baselines and Targets Section 6.5

x
Section 5.5 and Appendix E 10608.4

Retail suppliers shall report on their compliance in meeting their water use targets. The data shall 
be reported using a standardized form in the SBX7-7 2020 Compliance Form.

Baselines and Targets Section 6.5

x x
Sections 6.1 and 6.2 10631(b)(1)

Provide a discussion of anticipated supply availability under a normal, single dry year, and a 
drought lasting five years, as well as more frequent and severe periods of drought.

System Supplies Section 6.7

x x
Sections 6.1 10631(b)(1)

Provide a discussion of anticipated supply availability under a normal, single dry year, and a 
drought lasting five years, as well as more frequent and severe periods of drought, including 
changes in supply due to climate change. 

System Supplies Section 6.7

x x
Section 6.1 10631(b)(2)

When multiple sources of water supply are identified, describe the management of each supply in 
relationship to other identified supplies.

System Supplies Section 6.6

Page 1 of 4

Page 1433

Item 37.



Desert Water Agency

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x x Section 6.1.1 10631(b)(3) Describe measures taken to acquire and develop planned sources of water. System Supplies Section 6.6

x x
Section 6.2.8 10631(b)

Identify and quantify the existing and planned sources of water available for 2020, 2025, 2030, 
2035, 2040 and optionally 2045.

System Supplies Section 6.6

x x
Section 6.2 10631(b) Indicate whether groundwater is an existing or planned source of water available to the supplier. System Supplies Section 6.6

x x
Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(A)

Indicate whether a groundwater sustainability plan or groundwater management plan has been 
adopted by the water supplier or if there is any other specific authorization for groundwater 
management. Include a copy of the plan or authorization.

System Supplies Section 6.6

x x Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(B) Describe the groundwater basin. System Supplies Section 6.6

x x
Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(B)

Indicate if the basin has been adjudicated and include a copy of the court order or decree and a 
description of the amount of water the supplier has the legal right to pump.

System Supplies Section 6.6

x x
Section 6.2.2.1 10631(b)(4)(B)

For unadjudicated basins, indicate whether or not the department has identified the basin as a 
high or medium priority. Describe efforts by the supplier to coordinate with sustainability or 
groundwater agencies to achieve sustainable groundwater conditions. 

System Supplies Section 6.6

x x
Section 6.2.2.4 10631(b)(4)(C)

Provide a detailed description and analysis of the location, amount, and sufficiency of groundwater 
pumped by the urban water supplier for the past five years

System Supplies Section 6.6

x x
Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(D)

Provide a detailed description and analysis of the amount and location of groundwater that is 
projected to be pumped.

System Supplies Section 6.6

x x
Section 6.2.7 10631(c) Describe the opportunities for exchanges or transfers of water on a short-term or long- term basis. System Supplies Section 6.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(b)

Describe the quantity of treated wastewater that meets recycled water standards, is being 
discharged, and is otherwise available for use in a recycled water project.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 6.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(c) Describe the recycled water currently being used in the supplier's service area.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 6.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(d)

Describe and quantify the potential uses of recycled water and provide a determination of the 
technical and economic feasibility of those uses.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 6.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(e)

Describe the projected use of recycled water within the supplier's service area at the end of 5, 10, 
15, and 20 years, and a description of the actual use of recycled water in comparison to uses 
previously projected.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 6.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(f)

Describe the actions which may be taken to encourage the use of recycled water and the 
projected results of these actions in terms of acre-feet of recycled water used per year.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 6.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(g) Provide a plan for optimizing the use of recycled water in the supplier's service area.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 6.6

x x Section 6.2.6 10631(g) Describe desalinated water project opportunities for long-term supply. System Supplies Section 6.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(a)

Describe the wastewater collection and treatment systems in the supplier’s service area with 
quantified amount of collection and treatment and the disposal methods.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 6.6

x x
Section 6.2.8, Section 6.3.7 10631(f)

Describe the expected future water supply projects and programs that may be undertaken by the 
water supplier to address water supply reliability in average, single-dry, and for a period of drought 
lasting 5 consecutive water years.

System Supplies Section 6.6

x x
Section 6.4 and Appendix O 10631.2(a)

The UWMP must include energy information, as stated in the code, that a supplier can readily 
obtain. 

System Suppliers, Energy 
Intensity

Section 6.6

x x
Section 7.2 10634

Provide information on the quality of existing sources of water available to the supplier and the 
manner in which water quality affects water management strategies and supply reliability

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 6.7

x x
Section 7.2.4 10620(f)

Describe water management tools and options to maximize resources and minimize the need to 
import water from other regions.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 6.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(a)

Service Reliability Assessment: Assess the water supply reliability during normal, dry, and a 
drought lasting five consecutive water years by comparing the total water supply sources available 
to the water supplier with the total projected water use over the next 20 years.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 6.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)

Provide a drought risk assessment as part of information considered in developing the demand 
management measures and water supply projects.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 6.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(1)

Include a description of the data, methodology, and basis for one or more supply shortage 
conditions that are necessary to conduct a drought risk assessment for a drought period that lasts 
5 consecutive years.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 6.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(2)

Include a determination of the reliability of each source of supply under a variety of water shortage 
conditions.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 6.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(3)

Include a comparison of the total water supply sources available to the water supplier with the total 
projected water use for the drought period. 

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 6.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(4)

Include considerations of the historical drought hydrology, plausible changes on projected supplies 
and demands under climate change conditions, anticipated regulatory changes, and other locally 
applicable criteria. 

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 6.7

Page 2 of 4

Page 1434

Item 37.



Desert Water Agency

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x x
Chapter 8 10632(a) Provide a water shortage contingency plan (WSCP) with specified elements below. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP

x x
Chapter 8 10632(a)(1) Provide the analysis of water supply reliability (from Chapter 7 of Guidebook) in the WSCP

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 1

x x
Section 8.10 10632(a)(10)

Describe reevaluation and improvement procedures for monitoring and evaluation the water 
shortage contingency plan to ensure risk tolerance is adequate and appropriate water shortage 
mitigation strategies are implemented.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 2

x x
Section 8.2 10632(a)(2)(A)

Provide the written decision-making process and other methods that the supplier will use each 
year to determine its water reliability. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 2

x x
Section 8.2 10632(a)(2)(B)

Provide data and methodology to evaluate the supplier’s water reliability for the current year and 
one dry year pursuant to factors in the code.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 2

x x

Section 8.3 10632(a)(3)(A)

Define six standard water shortage levels of 10, 20, 30, 40, 50 percent shortage and greater than 
50 percent shortage. These levels shall be based on supply conditions, including percent 
reductions in supply, changes in groundwater levels, changes in surface elevation, or other 
conditions. The shortage levels shall also apply to a catastrophic interruption of supply.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 3

x x
Section 8.3 10632(a)(3)(B)

Suppliers with an existing water shortage contingency plan that uses different water shortage 
levels must cross reference their categories with the six standard categories.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 3

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(A)

Suppliers with water shortage contingency plans that align with the defined shortage levels must 
specify locally appropriate supply augmentation actions. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(B) Specify locally appropriate demand reduction actions to adequately respond to shortages. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(C) Specify locally appropriate operational changes.  

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(D)

Specify additional mandatory prohibitions against specific water use practices that are in addition 
to state-mandated prohibitions are appropriate to local conditions. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(E)

Estimate the extent to which the gap between supplies and demand will be reduced by 
implementation of the action.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4.6 10632.5 The plan shall include a seismic risk assessment and mitigation plan. Water Shortage Contingency Plan WSCP, Section 4.6

x x
Section 8.5 10632(a)(5)(A)

Suppliers must describe that they will inform customers, the public and others regarding any 
current or predicted water shortages.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 5

x x
Section 8.5 and 8.6

10632(a)(5)(B) 
10632(a)(5)(C)

Suppliers must describe that they will inform customers, the public and others regarding any 
shortage response actions triggered or anticipated to be triggered and other relevant 
communications.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 5

x
Section 8.6 10632(a)(6)

Retail supplier must describe how it will ensure compliance with and enforce provisions of the 
WSCP.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 6

x
Section 8.7 10632(a)(7)(A) Describe the legal authority that empowers the supplier to enforce shortage response actions. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 7

x x
Section 8.7 10632(a)(7)(B)

Provide a statement that the supplier will declare a water shortage emergency Water Code 
Chapter 3. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 7

x x
Section 8.7 10632(a)(7)(C)

Provide a statement that the supplier will coordinate with any city or county within which it 
provides water for the possible proclamation of a local emergency. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 7

x x
Section 8.8 10632(a)(8)(A)

Describe the potential revenue reductions and expense increases associated with activated 
shortage response actions.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x x
Section 8.8 10632(a)(8)(B)

Provide a description of mitigation actions needed to address revenue reductions and expense 
increases associated with activated shortage response actions.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x
Section 8.8 10632(a)(8)(C)

Retail suppliers must describe the cost of compliance with Water Code Chapter 3.3: Excessive 
Residential Water Use During Drought

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x
Section 8.9 10632(a)(9)

Retail suppliers must describe the monitoring and reporting requirements and procedures that 
ensure appropriate data is collected, tracked, and analyzed for purposes of monitoring customer 
compliance.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x
Section 8.11 10632(b)

Analyze and define water features that are artificially supplied with water, including ponds, lakes, 
waterfalls, and fountains, separately from swimming pools and spas.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 11

x x
Sections 8.12 and 10.4 10635(c)

Provide supporting documentation that Water Shortage Contingency Plan has been, or will be, 
provided to any city or county within which it provides water, no later than 30  days after the 
submission of the plan to DWR.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

WSCP, Section 12

x x
Section 8.12 10632(c)

Make available the Water Shortage Contingency Plan to customers and any city or county where 
it provides water within 30 after adopted the plan.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 12

x
Sections 9.1 and 9.3 10631(e)(2)

Wholesale suppliers shall describe specific demand management measures listed in code, their 
distribution system asset management program, and supplier assistance program.

Demand Management Measures N/A

Page 3 of 4

Page 1435

Item 37.



Desert Water Agency

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x
Sections 9.2 and 9.3 10631(e)(1)

Retail suppliers shall provide a description of the nature and extent of each demand management 
measure implemented over the past five years. The description will address specific measures 
listed in code.

Demand Management Measures Section 6.9

x
Chapter 10 10608.26(a)

Retail suppliers shall conduct a public hearing to discuss adoption, implementation, and economic 
impact of water use targets (recommended to discuss compliance).

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 6.10

x x
Section 10.2.1 10621(b)

Notify, at least 60 days prior to the public hearing, any city or county within which the supplier 
provides water that the urban water supplier will be reviewing the plan and considering 
amendments or changes to the plan. Reported in Table 10-1.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 6.10

x x
Section 10.4 10621(f)

Each urban water supplier shall update and submit its 2020 plan to the department by July 1, 
2021.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 6.10

x x
Sections 10.2.2, 10.3, and 10.5 10642

Provide supporting documentation that the urban water supplier made the plan and contingency 
plan available for public inspection, published notice of the public hearing, and held a public 
hearing about the plan and contingency plan.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 6.10

x x
Section 10.2.2 10642

The water supplier is to provide the time and place of the hearing to any city or county within 
which the supplier provides water.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 6.10

x x
Section 10.3.2 10642

Provide supporting documentation that the plan and contingency plan has been adopted as 
prepared or modified.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 6.10

x x
Section 10.4 10644(a)

Provide supporting documentation that the urban water supplier has submitted this UWMP to the 
California State Library.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 6.10

x x
Section 10.4 10644(a)(1)

Provide supporting documentation that the urban water supplier has submitted this UWMP to any 
city or county within which the supplier provides water no later than 30 days after adoption.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 6.10

x x
Sections 10.4.1 and 10.4.2 10644(a)(2)

The plan, or amendments to the plan, submitted to the department shall be submitted 
electronically.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 6.10

x x
Section 10.5 10645(a)

Provide supporting documentation that, not later than 30 days after filing a copy of its plan with the 
department, the supplier has or will make the plan available for public review during normal 
business hours.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 6.10

x x
Section 10.5 10645(b)

Provide supporting documentation that, not later than 30 days after filing a copy of its water 
shortage contingency plan with the department, the supplier has or will make the plan available for 
public review during normal business hours.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 6.10

x x
Section 10.6 10621(c)

If supplier is regulated by the Public Utilities Commission, include its plan and contingency plan as 
part of its general rate case filings. 

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 6.10

x x
Section 10.7.2 10644(b)

If revised, submit a copy of the water shortage contingency plan to DWR within 30 days of 
adoption.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 6.10

Page 4 of 4

Page 1436

Item 37.



 

 

Indio Water Authority 
 

 

 
  

Page 1437

Item 37.



Indio Water Authority

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x x
Chapter 1 10615

A plan shall describe and evaluate sources of supply, reasonable and practical efficient uses, 
reclamation and demand management activities.

Introduction and Overview Section 1.1

x x

Chapter 1 10630.5
Each plan shall include a simple description of the supplier’s plan including water availability, 
future requirements, a strategy for meeting needs, and other pertinent information. Additionally, a 
supplier may also choose to include a simple description at the beginning of each chapter.

Summary Section 1.3

x x
Section 2.2 10620(b)

Every person that becomes an urban water supplier shall adopt an urban water management plan 
within one year after it has become an urban water supplier.

Plan Preparation Section 7.2

x x
Section 2.6 10620(d)(2)

Coordinate the preparation of its plan with other appropriate agencies in the area, including other 
water suppliers that share a common source, water management agencies, and relevant public 
agencies, to the extent practicable.

Plan Preparation Section 7.2

x x
Section 2.6.2 10642

Provide supporting documentation that the water supplier has encouraged active involvement of 
diverse social, cultural, and economic elements of the population within the service area prior to 
and during the preparation of the plan and contingency plan.

Plan Preparation Section 7.2

x
Section 2.6, Section 6.1 10631(h)

Retail suppliers will include documentation that they have provided their wholesale supplier(s) - if 
any - with water use projections from that source.

System Supplies Section 7.2

x
Section 2.6 10631(h)

Wholesale suppliers will include documentation that they have provided their urban water 
suppliers with identification and quantification of the existing and planned sources of water 
available from the wholesale to the urban supplier during various water year types.

System Supplies N/A

x x Section 3.1 10631(a) Describe the water supplier service area. System Description Section 7.3
x x Section 3.3 10631(a) Describe the climate of the service area of the supplier. System Description Section 7.3
x x Section 3.4 10631(a) Provide population projections for 2025, 2030, 2035, 2040 and optionally 2045. System Description Section 7.3

x x
Section 3.4.2 10631(a)

Describe other social, economic, and demographic factors affecting the supplier’s water 
management planning.

System Description Section 7.3

x x
Sections 3.4 and 5.4 10631(a) Indicate the current population of the service area.

System Description and Baselines 
and Targets

Section 7.3

x x Section 3.5 10631(a) Describe the land uses within the service area. System Description Section 7.3

x x
Section 4.2 10631(d)(1) Quantify past, current, and projected water use, identifying the uses among water use sectors. System Water Use Section 7.4

x x Section 4.2.4 10631(d)(3)(C) Retail suppliers shall provide data to show the distribution loss standards were met. System Water Use Section 7.4

x x
Section 4.2.6 10631(d)(4)(A)

In projected water use, include estimates of water savings from adopted codes, plans and other 
policies or laws. 

System Water Use Section 7.4

x x
Section 4.2.6 10631(d)(4)(B) Provide citations of codes, standards, ordinances, or plans used to make water use projections. System Water Use Section 7.4

x optional Section 4.3.2.4 10631(d)(3)(A) Report the distribution system water loss for each of the 5 years preceding the plan update. System Water Use Section 7.4

x optional
Section 4.4 10631.1(a)

Include projected water use needed for lower income housing projected in the service area of the 
supplier.

System Water Use Section 7.4

x x
Section 4.5 10635(b)

Demands under climate change considerations must be included as part of the drought risk 
assessment.

System Water Use Section 7.4

x
Chapter 5 10608.20(e)

Retail suppliers shall provide baseline daily per capita water use, urban water use target, interim 
urban water use target, and compliance daily per capita water use, along with the bases for 
determining those estimates, including references to supporting data.

Baselines and Targets Section 7.5

x Chapter 5 10608.24(a) Retail suppliers shall meet their water use target by December 31, 2020. Baselines and Targets Section 7.5

x
Section 5.1 10608.36

Wholesale suppliers shall include an assessment of present and proposed future measures, 
programs, and policies to help their retail water suppliers achieve targeted water use reductions.

Baselines and Targets N/A

x
Section 5.2 10608.24(d)(2)

If the retail supplier adjusts its compliance GPCD using weather normalization, economic 
adjustment, or extraordinary events, it shall provide the basis for, and data supporting the 
adjustment.

Baselines and Targets Section 7.5

x
Section 5.5 10608.22

Retail suppliers’ per capita daily water use reduction shall be no less than 5 percent of base daily 
per capita water use of the 5 year baseline. This does not apply if the suppliers base GPCD is at 
or below 100.

Baselines and Targets Section 7.5

x
Section 5.5 and Appendix E 10608.4

Retail suppliers shall report on their compliance in meeting their water use targets. The data shall 
be reported using a standardized form in the SBX7-7 2020 Compliance Form.

Baselines and Targets Section 7.5

x x
Sections 6.1 and 6.2 10631(b)(1)

Provide a discussion of anticipated supply availability under a normal, single dry year, and a 
drought lasting five years, as well as more frequent and severe periods of drought.

System Supplies Section 7.7

x x
Sections 6.1 10631(b)(1)

Provide a discussion of anticipated supply availability under a normal, single dry year, and a 
drought lasting five years, as well as more frequent and severe periods of drought, including 
changes in supply due to climate change. 

System Supplies Section 7.7

x x
Section 6.1 10631(b)(2)

When multiple sources of water supply are identified, describe the management of each supply in 
relationship to other identified supplies.

System Supplies Section 7.6

Page 1 of 4

Page 1438

Item 37.



Indio Water Authority

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x x Section 6.1.1 10631(b)(3) Describe measures taken to acquire and develop planned sources of water. System Supplies Section 7.6

x x
Section 6.2.8 10631(b)

Identify and quantify the existing and planned sources of water available for 2020, 2025, 2030, 
2035, 2040 and optionally 2045.

System Supplies Section 7.6

x x
Section 6.2 10631(b) Indicate whether groundwater is an existing or planned source of water available to the supplier. System Supplies Section 7.6

x x
Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(A)

Indicate whether a groundwater sustainability plan or groundwater management plan has been 
adopted by the water supplier or if there is any other specific authorization for groundwater 
management. Include a copy of the plan or authorization.

System Supplies Section 7.6

x x Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(B) Describe the groundwater basin. System Supplies Section 7.6

x x
Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(B)

Indicate if the basin has been adjudicated and include a copy of the court order or decree and a 
description of the amount of water the supplier has the legal right to pump.

System Supplies Section 7.6

x x
Section 6.2.2.1 10631(b)(4)(B)

For unadjudicated basins, indicate whether or not the department has identified the basin as a 
high or medium priority. Describe efforts by the supplier to coordinate with sustainability or 
groundwater agencies to achieve sustainable groundwater conditions. 

System Supplies Section 7.6

x x
Section 6.2.2.4 10631(b)(4)(C)

Provide a detailed description and analysis of the location, amount, and sufficiency of groundwater 
pumped by the urban water supplier for the past five years

System Supplies Section 7.6

x x
Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(D)

Provide a detailed description and analysis of the amount and location of groundwater that is 
projected to be pumped.

System Supplies Section 7.6

x x
Section 6.2.7 10631(c) Describe the opportunities for exchanges or transfers of water on a short-term or long- term basis. System Supplies Section 7.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(b)

Describe the quantity of treated wastewater that meets recycled water standards, is being 
discharged, and is otherwise available for use in a recycled water project.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 7.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(c) Describe the recycled water currently being used in the supplier's service area.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 7.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(d)

Describe and quantify the potential uses of recycled water and provide a determination of the 
technical and economic feasibility of those uses.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 7.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(e)

Describe the projected use of recycled water within the supplier's service area at the end of 5, 10, 
15, and 20 years, and a description of the actual use of recycled water in comparison to uses 
previously projected.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 7.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(f)

Describe the actions which may be taken to encourage the use of recycled water and the 
projected results of these actions in terms of acre-feet of recycled water used per year.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 7.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(g) Provide a plan for optimizing the use of recycled water in the supplier's service area.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 7.6

x x Section 6.2.6 10631(g) Describe desalinated water project opportunities for long-term supply. System Supplies Section 7.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(a)

Describe the wastewater collection and treatment systems in the supplier’s service area with 
quantified amount of collection and treatment and the disposal methods.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 7.6

x x
Section 6.2.8, Section 6.3.7 10631(f)

Describe the expected future water supply projects and programs that may be undertaken by the 
water supplier to address water supply reliability in average, single-dry, and for a period of drought 
lasting 5 consecutive water years.

System Supplies Section 7.6

x x
Section 6.4 and Appendix O 10631.2(a)

The UWMP must include energy information, as stated in the code, that a supplier can readily 
obtain. 

System Suppliers, Energy 
Intensity

Section 7.6

x x
Section 7.2 10634

Provide information on the quality of existing sources of water available to the supplier and the 
manner in which water quality affects water management strategies and supply reliability

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 7.7

x x
Section 7.2.4 10620(f)

Describe water management tools and options to maximize resources and minimize the need to 
import water from other regions.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 7.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(a)

Service Reliability Assessment: Assess the water supply reliability during normal, dry, and a 
drought lasting five consecutive water years by comparing the total water supply sources available 
to the water supplier with the total projected water use over the next 20 years.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 7.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)

Provide a drought risk assessment as part of information considered in developing the demand 
management measures and water supply projects.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 7.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(1)

Include a description of the data, methodology, and basis for one or more supply shortage 
conditions that are necessary to conduct a drought risk assessment for a drought period that lasts 
5 consecutive years.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 7.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(2)

Include a determination of the reliability of each source of supply under a variety of water shortage 
conditions.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 7.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(3)

Include a comparison of the total water supply sources available to the water supplier with the total 
projected water use for the drought period. 

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 7.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(4)

Include considerations of the historical drought hydrology, plausible changes on projected supplies 
and demands under climate change conditions, anticipated regulatory changes, and other locally 
applicable criteria. 

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 7.7

Page 2 of 4

Page 1439

Item 37.



Indio Water Authority

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x x
Chapter 8 10632(a) Provide a water shortage contingency plan (WSCP) with specified elements below. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP

x x
Chapter 8 10632(a)(1) Provide the analysis of water supply reliability (from Chapter 7 of Guidebook) in the WSCP

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 1

x x
Section 8.10 10632(a)(10)

Describe reevaluation and improvement procedures for monitoring and evaluation the water 
shortage contingency plan to ensure risk tolerance is adequate and appropriate water shortage 
mitigation strategies are implemented.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 2

x x
Section 8.2 10632(a)(2)(A)

Provide the written decision-making process and other methods that the supplier will use each 
year to determine its water reliability. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 2

x x
Section 8.2 10632(a)(2)(B)

Provide data and methodology to evaluate the supplier’s water reliability for the current year and 
one dry year pursuant to factors in the code.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 2

x x

Section 8.3 10632(a)(3)(A)

Define six standard water shortage levels of 10, 20, 30, 40, 50 percent shortage and greater than 
50 percent shortage. These levels shall be based on supply conditions, including percent 
reductions in supply, changes in groundwater levels, changes in surface elevation, or other 
conditions. The shortage levels shall also apply to a catastrophic interruption of supply.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 3

x x
Section 8.3 10632(a)(3)(B)

Suppliers with an existing water shortage contingency plan that uses different water shortage 
levels must cross reference their categories with the six standard categories.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 3

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(A)

Suppliers with water shortage contingency plans that align with the defined shortage levels must 
specify locally appropriate supply augmentation actions. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(B) Specify locally appropriate demand reduction actions to adequately respond to shortages. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(C) Specify locally appropriate operational changes.  

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(D)

Specify additional mandatory prohibitions against specific water use practices that are in addition 
to state-mandated prohibitions are appropriate to local conditions. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(E)

Estimate the extent to which the gap between supplies and demand will be reduced by 
implementation of the action.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4.6 10632.5 The plan shall include a seismic risk assessment and mitigation plan. Water Shortage Contingency Plan WSCP, Section 4.6

x x
Section 8.5 10632(a)(5)(A)

Suppliers must describe that they will inform customers, the public and others regarding any 
current or predicted water shortages.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 5

x x
Section 8.5 and 8.6

10632(a)(5)(B) 
10632(a)(5)(C)

Suppliers must describe that they will inform customers, the public and others regarding any 
shortage response actions triggered or anticipated to be triggered and other relevant 
communications.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 5

x
Section 8.6 10632(a)(6)

Retail supplier must describe how it will ensure compliance with and enforce provisions of the 
WSCP.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 6

x
Section 8.7 10632(a)(7)(A) Describe the legal authority that empowers the supplier to enforce shortage response actions. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 7

x x
Section 8.7 10632(a)(7)(B)

Provide a statement that the supplier will declare a water shortage emergency Water Code 
Chapter 3. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 7

x x
Section 8.7 10632(a)(7)(C)

Provide a statement that the supplier will coordinate with any city or county within which it 
provides water for the possible proclamation of a local emergency. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 7

x x
Section 8.8 10632(a)(8)(A)

Describe the potential revenue reductions and expense increases associated with activated 
shortage response actions.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x x
Section 8.8 10632(a)(8)(B)

Provide a description of mitigation actions needed to address revenue reductions and expense 
increases associated with activated shortage response actions.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x
Section 8.8 10632(a)(8)(C)

Retail suppliers must describe the cost of compliance with Water Code Chapter 3.3: Excessive 
Residential Water Use During Drought

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x
Section 8.9 10632(a)(9)

Retail suppliers must describe the monitoring and reporting requirements and procedures that 
ensure appropriate data is collected, tracked, and analyzed for purposes of monitoring customer 
compliance.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x
Section 8.11 10632(b)

Analyze and define water features that are artificially supplied with water, including ponds, lakes, 
waterfalls, and fountains, separately from swimming pools and spas.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 11

x x
Sections 8.12 and 10.4 10635(c)

Provide supporting documentation that Water Shortage Contingency Plan has been, or will be, 
provided to any city or county within which it provides water, no later than 30  days after the 
submission of the plan to DWR.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

WSCP, Section 12

x x
Section 8.12 10632(c)

Make available the Water Shortage Contingency Plan to customers and any city or county where 
it provides water within 30 after adopted the plan.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 12

x
Sections 9.1 and 9.3 10631(e)(2)

Wholesale suppliers shall describe specific demand management measures listed in code, their 
distribution system asset management program, and supplier assistance program.

Demand Management Measures N/A

Page 3 of 4

Page 1440

Item 37.



Indio Water Authority

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x
Sections 9.2 and 9.3 10631(e)(1)

Retail suppliers shall provide a description of the nature and extent of each demand management 
measure implemented over the past five years. The description will address specific measures 
listed in code.

Demand Management Measures Section 7.9

x
Chapter 10 10608.26(a)

Retail suppliers shall conduct a public hearing to discuss adoption, implementation, and economic 
impact of water use targets (recommended to discuss compliance).

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 7.10

x x
Section 10.2.1 10621(b)

Notify, at least 60 days prior to the public hearing, any city or county within which the supplier 
provides water that the urban water supplier will be reviewing the plan and considering 
amendments or changes to the plan. Reported in Table 10-1.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 7.10

x x
Section 10.4 10621(f)

Each urban water supplier shall update and submit its 2020 plan to the department by July 1, 
2021.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 7.10

x x
Sections 10.2.2, 10.3, and 10.5 10642

Provide supporting documentation that the urban water supplier made the plan and contingency 
plan available for public inspection, published notice of the public hearing, and held a public 
hearing about the plan and contingency plan.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 7.10

x x
Section 10.2.2 10642

The water supplier is to provide the time and place of the hearing to any city or county within 
which the supplier provides water.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 7.10

x x
Section 10.3.2 10642

Provide supporting documentation that the plan and contingency plan has been adopted as 
prepared or modified.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 7.10

x x
Section 10.4 10644(a)

Provide supporting documentation that the urban water supplier has submitted this UWMP to the 
California State Library.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 7.10

x x
Section 10.4 10644(a)(1)

Provide supporting documentation that the urban water supplier has submitted this UWMP to any 
city or county within which the supplier provides water no later than 30 days after adoption.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 7.10

x x
Sections 10.4.1 and 10.4.2 10644(a)(2)

The plan, or amendments to the plan, submitted to the department shall be submitted 
electronically.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 7.10

x x
Section 10.5 10645(a)

Provide supporting documentation that, not later than 30 days after filing a copy of its plan with the 
department, the supplier has or will make the plan available for public review during normal 
business hours.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 7.10

x x
Section 10.5 10645(b)

Provide supporting documentation that, not later than 30 days after filing a copy of its water 
shortage contingency plan with the department, the supplier has or will make the plan available for 
public review during normal business hours.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 7.10

x x
Section 10.6 10621(c)

If supplier is regulated by the Public Utilities Commission, include its plan and contingency plan as 
part of its general rate case filings. 

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 7.10

x x
Section 10.7.2 10644(b)

If revised, submit a copy of the water shortage contingency plan to DWR within 30 days of 
adoption.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 7.10

Page 4 of 4

Page 1441

Item 37.



 

 

 

Mission Springs Water District 
 

 

 
  

Page 1442

Item 37.



Mission Springs Water District

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x x
Chapter 1 10615

A plan shall describe and evaluate sources of supply, reasonable and practical efficient uses, 
reclamation and demand management activities.

Introduction and Overview Section 1.1

x x

Chapter 1 10630.5
Each plan shall include a simple description of the supplier’s plan including water availability, 
future requirements, a strategy for meeting needs, and other pertinent information. Additionally, a 
supplier may also choose to include a simple description at the beginning of each chapter.

Summary Section 1.3

x x
Section 2.2 10620(b)

Every person that becomes an urban water supplier shall adopt an urban water management plan 
within one year after it has become an urban water supplier.

Plan Preparation Section 8.2

x x
Section 2.6 10620(d)(2)

Coordinate the preparation of its plan with other appropriate agencies in the area, including other 
water suppliers that share a common source, water management agencies, and relevant public 
agencies, to the extent practicable.

Plan Preparation Section 8.2

x x
Section 2.6.2 10642

Provide supporting documentation that the water supplier has encouraged active involvement of 
diverse social, cultural, and economic elements of the population within the service area prior to 
and during the preparation of the plan and contingency plan.

Plan Preparation Section 8.2

x
Section 2.6, Section 6.1 10631(h)

Retail suppliers will include documentation that they have provided their wholesale supplier(s) - if 
any - with water use projections from that source.

System Supplies Section 8.2

x
Section 2.6 10631(h)

Wholesale suppliers will include documentation that they have provided their urban water 
suppliers with identification and quantification of the existing and planned sources of water 
available from the wholesale to the urban supplier during various water year types.

System Supplies N/A

x x Section 3.1 10631(a) Describe the water supplier service area. System Description Section 8.3
x x Section 3.3 10631(a) Describe the climate of the service area of the supplier. System Description Section 8.3
x x Section 3.4 10631(a) Provide population projections for 2025, 2030, 2035, 2040 and optionally 2045. System Description Section 8.3

x x
Section 3.4.2 10631(a)

Describe other social, economic, and demographic factors affecting the supplier’s water 
management planning.

System Description Section 8.3

x x
Sections 3.4 and 5.4 10631(a) Indicate the current population of the service area.

System Description and Baselines 
and Targets

Section 8.3

x x Section 3.5 10631(a) Describe the land uses within the service area. System Description Section 8.3

x x
Section 4.2 10631(d)(1) Quantify past, current, and projected water use, identifying the uses among water use sectors. System Water Use Section 8.4

x x Section 4.2.4 10631(d)(3)(C) Retail suppliers shall provide data to show the distribution loss standards were met. System Water Use Section 8.4

x x
Section 4.2.6 10631(d)(4)(A)

In projected water use, include estimates of water savings from adopted codes, plans and other 
policies or laws. 

System Water Use Section 8.4

x x
Section 4.2.6 10631(d)(4)(B) Provide citations of codes, standards, ordinances, or plans used to make water use projections. System Water Use Section 8.4

x optional Section 4.3.2.4 10631(d)(3)(A) Report the distribution system water loss for each of the 5 years preceding the plan update. System Water Use Section 8.4

x optional
Section 4.4 10631.1(a)

Include projected water use needed for lower income housing projected in the service area of the 
supplier.

System Water Use Section 8.4

x x
Section 4.5 10635(b)

Demands under climate change considerations must be included as part of the drought risk 
assessment.

System Water Use Section 8.4

x
Chapter 5 10608.20(e)

Retail suppliers shall provide baseline daily per capita water use, urban water use target, interim 
urban water use target, and compliance daily per capita water use, along with the bases for 
determining those estimates, including references to supporting data.

Baselines and Targets Section 8.5

x Chapter 5 10608.24(a) Retail suppliers shall meet their water use target by December 31, 2020. Baselines and Targets Section 8.5

x
Section 5.1 10608.36

Wholesale suppliers shall include an assessment of present and proposed future measures, 
programs, and policies to help their retail water suppliers achieve targeted water use reductions.

Baselines and Targets N/A

x
Section 5.2 10608.24(d)(2)

If the retail supplier adjusts its compliance GPCD using weather normalization, economic 
adjustment, or extraordinary events, it shall provide the basis for, and data supporting the 
adjustment.

Baselines and Targets Section 8.5

x
Section 5.5 10608.22

Retail suppliers’ per capita daily water use reduction shall be no less than 5 percent of base daily 
per capita water use of the 5 year baseline. This does not apply if the suppliers base GPCD is at 
or below 100.

Baselines and Targets Section 8.5

x
Section 5.5 and Appendix E 10608.4

Retail suppliers shall report on their compliance in meeting their water use targets. The data shall 
be reported using a standardized form in the SBX7-7 2020 Compliance Form.

Baselines and Targets Section 8.5

x x
Sections 6.1 and 6.2 10631(b)(1)

Provide a discussion of anticipated supply availability under a normal, single dry year, and a 
drought lasting five years, as well as more frequent and severe periods of drought.

System Supplies Section 8.7

x x
Sections 6.1 10631(b)(1)

Provide a discussion of anticipated supply availability under a normal, single dry year, and a 
drought lasting five years, as well as more frequent and severe periods of drought, including 
changes in supply due to climate change. 

System Supplies Section 8.7

x x
Section 6.1 10631(b)(2)

When multiple sources of water supply are identified, describe the management of each supply in 
relationship to other identified supplies.

System Supplies Section 8.6

Page 1 of 4

Page 1443

Item 37.



Mission Springs Water District

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x x Section 6.1.1 10631(b)(3) Describe measures taken to acquire and develop planned sources of water. System Supplies Section 8.6

x x
Section 6.2.8 10631(b)

Identify and quantify the existing and planned sources of water available for 2020, 2025, 2030, 
2035, 2040 and optionally 2045.

System Supplies Section 8.6

x x
Section 6.2 10631(b) Indicate whether groundwater is an existing or planned source of water available to the supplier. System Supplies Section 8.6

x x
Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(A)

Indicate whether a groundwater sustainability plan or groundwater management plan has been 
adopted by the water supplier or if there is any other specific authorization for groundwater 
management. Include a copy of the plan or authorization.

System Supplies Section 8.6

x x Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(B) Describe the groundwater basin. System Supplies Section 8.6

x x
Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(B)

Indicate if the basin has been adjudicated and include a copy of the court order or decree and a 
description of the amount of water the supplier has the legal right to pump.

System Supplies Section 8.6

x x
Section 6.2.2.1 10631(b)(4)(B)

For unadjudicated basins, indicate whether or not the department has identified the basin as a 
high or medium priority. Describe efforts by the supplier to coordinate with sustainability or 
groundwater agencies to achieve sustainable groundwater conditions. 

System Supplies Section 8.6

x x
Section 6.2.2.4 10631(b)(4)(C)

Provide a detailed description and analysis of the location, amount, and sufficiency of groundwater 
pumped by the urban water supplier for the past five years

System Supplies Section 8.6

x x
Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(D)

Provide a detailed description and analysis of the amount and location of groundwater that is 
projected to be pumped.

System Supplies Section 8.6

x x
Section 6.2.7 10631(c) Describe the opportunities for exchanges or transfers of water on a short-term or long- term basis. System Supplies Section 8.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(b)

Describe the quantity of treated wastewater that meets recycled water standards, is being 
discharged, and is otherwise available for use in a recycled water project.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 8.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(c) Describe the recycled water currently being used in the supplier's service area.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 8.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(d)

Describe and quantify the potential uses of recycled water and provide a determination of the 
technical and economic feasibility of those uses.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 8.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(e)

Describe the projected use of recycled water within the supplier's service area at the end of 5, 10, 
15, and 20 years, and a description of the actual use of recycled water in comparison to uses 
previously projected.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 8.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(f)

Describe the actions which may be taken to encourage the use of recycled water and the 
projected results of these actions in terms of acre-feet of recycled water used per year.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 8.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(g) Provide a plan for optimizing the use of recycled water in the supplier's service area.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 8.6

x x Section 6.2.6 10631(g) Describe desalinated water project opportunities for long-term supply. System Supplies Section 8.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(a)

Describe the wastewater collection and treatment systems in the supplier’s service area with 
quantified amount of collection and treatment and the disposal methods.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 8.6

x x
Section 6.2.8, Section 6.3.7 10631(f)

Describe the expected future water supply projects and programs that may be undertaken by the 
water supplier to address water supply reliability in average, single-dry, and for a period of drought 
lasting 5 consecutive water years.

System Supplies Section 8.6

x x
Section 6.4 and Appendix O 10631.2(a)

The UWMP must include energy information, as stated in the code, that a supplier can readily 
obtain. 

System Suppliers, Energy 
Intensity

Section 8.6

x x
Section 7.2 10634

Provide information on the quality of existing sources of water available to the supplier and the 
manner in which water quality affects water management strategies and supply reliability

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 8.7

x x
Section 7.2.4 10620(f)

Describe water management tools and options to maximize resources and minimize the need to 
import water from other regions.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 8.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(a)

Service Reliability Assessment: Assess the water supply reliability during normal, dry, and a 
drought lasting five consecutive water years by comparing the total water supply sources available 
to the water supplier with the total projected water use over the next 20 years.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 8.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)

Provide a drought risk assessment as part of information considered in developing the demand 
management measures and water supply projects.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 8.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(1)

Include a description of the data, methodology, and basis for one or more supply shortage 
conditions that are necessary to conduct a drought risk assessment for a drought period that lasts 
5 consecutive years.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 8.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(2)

Include a determination of the reliability of each source of supply under a variety of water shortage 
conditions.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 8.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(3)

Include a comparison of the total water supply sources available to the water supplier with the total 
projected water use for the drought period. 

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 8.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(4)

Include considerations of the historical drought hydrology, plausible changes on projected supplies 
and demands under climate change conditions, anticipated regulatory changes, and other locally 
applicable criteria. 

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 8.7

Page 2 of 4

Page 1444

Item 37.



Mission Springs Water District

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x x
Chapter 8 10632(a) Provide a water shortage contingency plan (WSCP) with specified elements below. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP

x x
Chapter 8 10632(a)(1) Provide the analysis of water supply reliability (from Chapter 7 of Guidebook) in the WSCP

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 1

x x
Section 8.10 10632(a)(10)

Describe reevaluation and improvement procedures for monitoring and evaluation the water 
shortage contingency plan to ensure risk tolerance is adequate and appropriate water shortage 
mitigation strategies are implemented.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 2

x x
Section 8.2 10632(a)(2)(A)

Provide the written decision-making process and other methods that the supplier will use each 
year to determine its water reliability. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 2

x x
Section 8.2 10632(a)(2)(B)

Provide data and methodology to evaluate the supplier’s water reliability for the current year and 
one dry year pursuant to factors in the code.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 2

x x

Section 8.3 10632(a)(3)(A)

Define six standard water shortage levels of 10, 20, 30, 40, 50 percent shortage and greater than 
50 percent shortage. These levels shall be based on supply conditions, including percent 
reductions in supply, changes in groundwater levels, changes in surface elevation, or other 
conditions. The shortage levels shall also apply to a catastrophic interruption of supply.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 3

x x
Section 8.3 10632(a)(3)(B)

Suppliers with an existing water shortage contingency plan that uses different water shortage 
levels must cross reference their categories with the six standard categories.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 3

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(A)

Suppliers with water shortage contingency plans that align with the defined shortage levels must 
specify locally appropriate supply augmentation actions. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(B) Specify locally appropriate demand reduction actions to adequately respond to shortages. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(C) Specify locally appropriate operational changes.  

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(D)

Specify additional mandatory prohibitions against specific water use practices that are in addition 
to state-mandated prohibitions are appropriate to local conditions. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(E)

Estimate the extent to which the gap between supplies and demand will be reduced by 
implementation of the action.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4.6 10632.5 The plan shall include a seismic risk assessment and mitigation plan. Water Shortage Contingency Plan WSCP, Section 4.6

x x
Section 8.5 10632(a)(5)(A)

Suppliers must describe that they will inform customers, the public and others regarding any 
current or predicted water shortages.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 5

x x
Section 8.5 and 8.6

10632(a)(5)(B) 
10632(a)(5)(C)

Suppliers must describe that they will inform customers, the public and others regarding any 
shortage response actions triggered or anticipated to be triggered and other relevant 
communications.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 5

x
Section 8.6 10632(a)(6)

Retail supplier must describe how it will ensure compliance with and enforce provisions of the 
WSCP.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 6

x
Section 8.7 10632(a)(7)(A) Describe the legal authority that empowers the supplier to enforce shortage response actions. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 7

x x
Section 8.7 10632(a)(7)(B)

Provide a statement that the supplier will declare a water shortage emergency Water Code 
Chapter 3. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 7

x x
Section 8.7 10632(a)(7)(C)

Provide a statement that the supplier will coordinate with any city or county within which it 
provides water for the possible proclamation of a local emergency. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 7

x x
Section 8.8 10632(a)(8)(A)

Describe the potential revenue reductions and expense increases associated with activated 
shortage response actions.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x x
Section 8.8 10632(a)(8)(B)

Provide a description of mitigation actions needed to address revenue reductions and expense 
increases associated with activated shortage response actions.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x
Section 8.8 10632(a)(8)(C)

Retail suppliers must describe the cost of compliance with Water Code Chapter 3.3: Excessive 
Residential Water Use During Drought

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x
Section 8.9 10632(a)(9)

Retail suppliers must describe the monitoring and reporting requirements and procedures that 
ensure appropriate data is collected, tracked, and analyzed for purposes of monitoring customer 
compliance.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x
Section 8.11 10632(b)

Analyze and define water features that are artificially supplied with water, including ponds, lakes, 
waterfalls, and fountains, separately from swimming pools and spas.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 11

x x
Sections 8.12 and 10.4 10635(c)

Provide supporting documentation that Water Shortage Contingency Plan has been, or will be, 
provided to any city or county within which it provides water, no later than 30  days after the 
submission of the plan to DWR.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

WSCP, Section 12

x x
Section 8.12 10632(c)

Make available the Water Shortage Contingency Plan to customers and any city or county where 
it provides water within 30 after adopted the plan.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 12

x
Sections 9.1 and 9.3 10631(e)(2)

Wholesale suppliers shall describe specific demand management measures listed in code, their 
distribution system asset management program, and supplier assistance program.

Demand Management Measures N/A

Page 3 of 4

Page 1445

Item 37.



Mission Springs Water District

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x
Sections 9.2 and 9.3 10631(e)(1)

Retail suppliers shall provide a description of the nature and extent of each demand management 
measure implemented over the past five years. The description will address specific measures 
listed in code.

Demand Management Measures Section 8.9

x
Chapter 10 10608.26(a)

Retail suppliers shall conduct a public hearing to discuss adoption, implementation, and economic 
impact of water use targets (recommended to discuss compliance).

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 8.10

x x
Section 10.2.1 10621(b)

Notify, at least 60 days prior to the public hearing, any city or county within which the supplier 
provides water that the urban water supplier will be reviewing the plan and considering 
amendments or changes to the plan. Reported in Table 10-1.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 8.10

x x
Section 10.4 10621(f)

Each urban water supplier shall update and submit its 2020 plan to the department by July 1, 
2021.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 8.10

x x
Sections 10.2.2, 10.3, and 10.5 10642

Provide supporting documentation that the urban water supplier made the plan and contingency 
plan available for public inspection, published notice of the public hearing, and held a public 
hearing about the plan and contingency plan.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 8.10

x x
Section 10.2.2 10642

The water supplier is to provide the time and place of the hearing to any city or county within 
which the supplier provides water.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 8.10

x x
Section 10.3.2 10642

Provide supporting documentation that the plan and contingency plan has been adopted as 
prepared or modified.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 8.10

x x
Section 10.4 10644(a)

Provide supporting documentation that the urban water supplier has submitted this UWMP to the 
California State Library.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 8.10

x x
Section 10.4 10644(a)(1)

Provide supporting documentation that the urban water supplier has submitted this UWMP to any 
city or county within which the supplier provides water no later than 30 days after adoption.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 8.10

x x
Sections 10.4.1 and 10.4.2 10644(a)(2)

The plan, or amendments to the plan, submitted to the department shall be submitted 
electronically.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 8.10

x x
Section 10.5 10645(a)

Provide supporting documentation that, not later than 30 days after filing a copy of its plan with the 
department, the supplier has or will make the plan available for public review during normal 
business hours.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 8.10

x x
Section 10.5 10645(b)

Provide supporting documentation that, not later than 30 days after filing a copy of its water 
shortage contingency plan with the department, the supplier has or will make the plan available for 
public review during normal business hours.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 8.10

x x
Section 10.6 10621(c)

If supplier is regulated by the Public Utilities Commission, include its plan and contingency plan as 
part of its general rate case filings. 

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 8.10

x x
Section 10.7.2 10644(b)

If revised, submit a copy of the water shortage contingency plan to DWR within 30 days of 
adoption.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 8.10

Page 4 of 4

Page 1446

Item 37.



 

 

Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 
 

 

 

 

Page 1447

Item 37.



Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x x
Chapter 1 10615

A plan shall describe and evaluate sources of supply, reasonable and practical efficient uses, 
reclamation and demand management activities.

Introduction and Overview Section 1.1

x x

Chapter 1 10630.5
Each plan shall include a simple description of the supplier’s plan including water availability, 
future requirements, a strategy for meeting needs, and other pertinent information. Additionally, a 
supplier may also choose to include a simple description at the beginning of each chapter.

Summary Section 1.3

x x
Section 2.2 10620(b)

Every person that becomes an urban water supplier shall adopt an urban water management plan 
within one year after it has become an urban water supplier.

Plan Preparation Section 9.2

x x
Section 2.6 10620(d)(2)

Coordinate the preparation of its plan with other appropriate agencies in the area, including other 
water suppliers that share a common source, water management agencies, and relevant public 
agencies, to the extent practicable.

Plan Preparation Section 9.2

x x
Section 2.6.2 10642

Provide supporting documentation that the water supplier has encouraged active involvement of 
diverse social, cultural, and economic elements of the population within the service area prior to 
and during the preparation of the plan and contingency plan.

Plan Preparation Section 9.2

x
Section 2.6, Section 6.1 10631(h)

Retail suppliers will include documentation that they have provided their wholesale supplier(s) - if 
any - with water use projections from that source.

System Supplies Section 9.2

x
Section 2.6 10631(h)

Wholesale suppliers will include documentation that they have provided their urban water 
suppliers with identification and quantification of the existing and planned sources of water 
available from the wholesale to the urban supplier during various water year types.

System Supplies N/A

x x Section 3.1 10631(a) Describe the water supplier service area. System Description Section 9.3
x x Section 3.3 10631(a) Describe the climate of the service area of the supplier. System Description Section 9.3
x x Section 3.4 10631(a) Provide population projections for 2025, 2030, 2035, 2040 and optionally 2045. System Description Section 9.3

x x
Section 3.4.2 10631(a)

Describe other social, economic, and demographic factors affecting the supplier’s water 
management planning.

System Description Section 9.3

x x
Sections 3.4 and 5.4 10631(a) Indicate the current population of the service area.

System Description and Baselines 
and Targets

Section 9.3

x x Section 3.5 10631(a) Describe the land uses within the service area. System Description Section 9.3

x x
Section 4.2 10631(d)(1) Quantify past, current, and projected water use, identifying the uses among water use sectors. System Water Use Section 9.4

x x Section 4.2.4 10631(d)(3)(C) Retail suppliers shall provide data to show the distribution loss standards were met. System Water Use Section 9.4

x x
Section 4.2.6 10631(d)(4)(A)

In projected water use, include estimates of water savings from adopted codes, plans and other 
policies or laws. 

System Water Use Section 9.4

x x
Section 4.2.6 10631(d)(4)(B) Provide citations of codes, standards, ordinances, or plans used to make water use projections. System Water Use Section 9.4

x optional Section 4.3.2.4 10631(d)(3)(A) Report the distribution system water loss for each of the 5 years preceding the plan update. System Water Use Section 9.4

x optional
Section 4.4 10631.1(a)

Include projected water use needed for lower income housing projected in the service area of the 
supplier.

System Water Use Section 9.4

x x
Section 4.5 10635(b)

Demands under climate change considerations must be included as part of the drought risk 
assessment.

System Water Use Section 9.4

x
Chapter 5 10608.20(e)

Retail suppliers shall provide baseline daily per capita water use, urban water use target, interim 
urban water use target, and compliance daily per capita water use, along with the bases for 
determining those estimates, including references to supporting data.

Baselines and Targets Section 9.5

x Chapter 5 10608.24(a) Retail suppliers shall meet their water use target by December 31, 2020. Baselines and Targets Section 9.5

x
Section 5.1 10608.36

Wholesale suppliers shall include an assessment of present and proposed future measures, 
programs, and policies to help their retail water suppliers achieve targeted water use reductions.

Baselines and Targets N/A

x
Section 5.2 10608.24(d)(2)

If the retail supplier adjusts its compliance GPCD using weather normalization, economic 
adjustment, or extraordinary events, it shall provide the basis for, and data supporting the 
adjustment.

Baselines and Targets Section 9.5

x
Section 5.5 10608.22

Retail suppliers’ per capita daily water use reduction shall be no less than 5 percent of base daily 
per capita water use of the 5 year baseline. This does not apply if the suppliers base GPCD is at 
or below 100.

Baselines and Targets Section 9.5

x
Section 5.5 and Appendix E 10608.4

Retail suppliers shall report on their compliance in meeting their water use targets. The data shall 
be reported using a standardized form in the SBX7-7 2020 Compliance Form.

Baselines and Targets Section 9.5

x x
Sections 6.1 and 6.2 10631(b)(1)

Provide a discussion of anticipated supply availability under a normal, single dry year, and a 
drought lasting five years, as well as more frequent and severe periods of drought.

System Supplies Section 9.7

x x
Sections 6.1 10631(b)(1)

Provide a discussion of anticipated supply availability under a normal, single dry year, and a 
drought lasting five years, as well as more frequent and severe periods of drought, including 
changes in supply due to climate change. 

System Supplies Section 9.7

x x
Section 6.1 10631(b)(2)

When multiple sources of water supply are identified, describe the management of each supply in 
relationship to other identified supplies.

System Supplies Section 9.6

Page 1 of 4

Page 1448

Item 37.



Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x x Section 6.1.1 10631(b)(3) Describe measures taken to acquire and develop planned sources of water. System Supplies Section 9.6

x x
Section 6.2.8 10631(b)

Identify and quantify the existing and planned sources of water available for 2020, 2025, 2030, 
2035, 2040 and optionally 2045.

System Supplies Section 9.6

x x
Section 6.2 10631(b) Indicate whether groundwater is an existing or planned source of water available to the supplier. System Supplies Section 9.6

x x
Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(A)

Indicate whether a groundwater sustainability plan or groundwater management plan has been 
adopted by the water supplier or if there is any other specific authorization for groundwater 
management. Include a copy of the plan or authorization.

System Supplies Section 9.6

x x Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(B) Describe the groundwater basin. System Supplies Section 9.6

x x
Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(B)

Indicate if the basin has been adjudicated and include a copy of the court order or decree and a 
description of the amount of water the supplier has the legal right to pump.

System Supplies Section 9.6

x x
Section 6.2.2.1 10631(b)(4)(B)

For unadjudicated basins, indicate whether or not the department has identified the basin as a 
high or medium priority. Describe efforts by the supplier to coordinate with sustainability or 
groundwater agencies to achieve sustainable groundwater conditions. 

System Supplies Section 9.6

x x
Section 6.2.2.4 10631(b)(4)(C)

Provide a detailed description and analysis of the location, amount, and sufficiency of groundwater 
pumped by the urban water supplier for the past five years

System Supplies Section 9.6

x x
Section 6.2.2 10631(b)(4)(D)

Provide a detailed description and analysis of the amount and location of groundwater that is 
projected to be pumped.

System Supplies Section 9.6

x x
Section 6.2.7 10631(c) Describe the opportunities for exchanges or transfers of water on a short-term or long- term basis. System Supplies Section 9.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(b)

Describe the quantity of treated wastewater that meets recycled water standards, is being 
discharged, and is otherwise available for use in a recycled water project.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 9.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(c) Describe the recycled water currently being used in the supplier's service area.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 9.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(d)

Describe and quantify the potential uses of recycled water and provide a determination of the 
technical and economic feasibility of those uses.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 9.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(e)

Describe the projected use of recycled water within the supplier's service area at the end of 5, 10, 
15, and 20 years, and a description of the actual use of recycled water in comparison to uses 
previously projected.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 9.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(f)

Describe the actions which may be taken to encourage the use of recycled water and the 
projected results of these actions in terms of acre-feet of recycled water used per year.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 9.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(g) Provide a plan for optimizing the use of recycled water in the supplier's service area.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 9.6

x x Section 6.2.6 10631(g) Describe desalinated water project opportunities for long-term supply. System Supplies Section 9.6

x x
Section 6.2.5 10633(a)

Describe the wastewater collection and treatment systems in the supplier’s service area with 
quantified amount of collection and treatment and the disposal methods.

System Supplies (Recycled 
Water)

Section 9.6

x x
Section 6.2.8, Section 6.3.7 10631(f)

Describe the expected future water supply projects and programs that may be undertaken by the 
water supplier to address water supply reliability in average, single-dry, and for a period of drought 
lasting 5 consecutive water years.

System Supplies Section 9.6

x x
Section 6.4 and Appendix O 10631.2(a)

The UWMP must include energy information, as stated in the code, that a supplier can readily 
obtain. 

System Suppliers, Energy 
Intensity

Section 9.6

x x
Section 7.2 10634

Provide information on the quality of existing sources of water available to the supplier and the 
manner in which water quality affects water management strategies and supply reliability

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 9.7

x x
Section 7.2.4 10620(f)

Describe water management tools and options to maximize resources and minimize the need to 
import water from other regions.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 9.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(a)

Service Reliability Assessment: Assess the water supply reliability during normal, dry, and a 
drought lasting five consecutive water years by comparing the total water supply sources available 
to the water supplier with the total projected water use over the next 20 years.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 9.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)

Provide a drought risk assessment as part of information considered in developing the demand 
management measures and water supply projects.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 9.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(1)

Include a description of the data, methodology, and basis for one or more supply shortage 
conditions that are necessary to conduct a drought risk assessment for a drought period that lasts 
5 consecutive years.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 9.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(2)

Include a determination of the reliability of each source of supply under a variety of water shortage 
conditions.

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 9.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(3)

Include a comparison of the total water supply sources available to the water supplier with the total 
projected water use for the drought period. 

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 9.7

x x
Section 7.3 10635(b)(4)

Include considerations of the historical drought hydrology, plausible changes on projected supplies 
and demands under climate change conditions, anticipated regulatory changes, and other locally 
applicable criteria. 

Water Supply Reliability 
Assessment

Section 9.7

Page 2 of 4

Page 1449

Item 37.



Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x x
Chapter 8 10632(a) Provide a water shortage contingency plan (WSCP) with specified elements below. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP

x x
Chapter 8 10632(a)(1) Provide the analysis of water supply reliability (from Chapter 7 of Guidebook) in the WSCP

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 1

x x
Section 8.10 10632(a)(10)

Describe reevaluation and improvement procedures for monitoring and evaluation the water 
shortage contingency plan to ensure risk tolerance is adequate and appropriate water shortage 
mitigation strategies are implemented.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 2

x x
Section 8.2 10632(a)(2)(A)

Provide the written decision-making process and other methods that the supplier will use each 
year to determine its water reliability. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 2

x x
Section 8.2 10632(a)(2)(B)

Provide data and methodology to evaluate the supplier’s water reliability for the current year and 
one dry year pursuant to factors in the code.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 2

x x

Section 8.3 10632(a)(3)(A)

Define six standard water shortage levels of 10, 20, 30, 40, 50 percent shortage and greater than 
50 percent shortage. These levels shall be based on supply conditions, including percent 
reductions in supply, changes in groundwater levels, changes in surface elevation, or other 
conditions. The shortage levels shall also apply to a catastrophic interruption of supply.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 3

x x
Section 8.3 10632(a)(3)(B)

Suppliers with an existing water shortage contingency plan that uses different water shortage 
levels must cross reference their categories with the six standard categories.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 3

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(A)

Suppliers with water shortage contingency plans that align with the defined shortage levels must 
specify locally appropriate supply augmentation actions. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(B) Specify locally appropriate demand reduction actions to adequately respond to shortages. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(C) Specify locally appropriate operational changes.  

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(D)

Specify additional mandatory prohibitions against specific water use practices that are in addition 
to state-mandated prohibitions are appropriate to local conditions. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4 10632(a)(4)(E)

Estimate the extent to which the gap between supplies and demand will be reduced by 
implementation of the action.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 4

x x
Section 8.4.6 10632.5 The plan shall include a seismic risk assessment and mitigation plan. Water Shortage Contingency Plan WSCP, Section 4.6

x x
Section 8.5 10632(a)(5)(A)

Suppliers must describe that they will inform customers, the public and others regarding any 
current or predicted water shortages.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 5

x x
Section 8.5 and 8.6

10632(a)(5)(B) 
10632(a)(5)(C)

Suppliers must describe that they will inform customers, the public and others regarding any 
shortage response actions triggered or anticipated to be triggered and other relevant 
communications.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 5

x
Section 8.6 10632(a)(6)

Retail supplier must describe how it will ensure compliance with and enforce provisions of the 
WSCP.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 6

x
Section 8.7 10632(a)(7)(A) Describe the legal authority that empowers the supplier to enforce shortage response actions. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 7

x x
Section 8.7 10632(a)(7)(B)

Provide a statement that the supplier will declare a water shortage emergency Water Code 
Chapter 3. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 7

x x
Section 8.7 10632(a)(7)(C)

Provide a statement that the supplier will coordinate with any city or county within which it 
provides water for the possible proclamation of a local emergency. 

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 7

x x
Section 8.8 10632(a)(8)(A)

Describe the potential revenue reductions and expense increases associated with activated 
shortage response actions.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x x
Section 8.8 10632(a)(8)(B)

Provide a description of mitigation actions needed to address revenue reductions and expense 
increases associated with activated shortage response actions.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x
Section 8.8 10632(a)(8)(C)

Retail suppliers must describe the cost of compliance with Water Code Chapter 3.3: Excessive 
Residential Water Use During Drought

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x
Section 8.9 10632(a)(9)

Retail suppliers must describe the monitoring and reporting requirements and procedures that 
ensure appropriate data is collected, tracked, and analyzed for purposes of monitoring customer 
compliance.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 8

x
Section 8.11 10632(b)

Analyze and define water features that are artificially supplied with water, including ponds, lakes, 
waterfalls, and fountains, separately from swimming pools and spas.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 11

x x
Sections 8.12 and 10.4 10635(c)

Provide supporting documentation that Water Shortage Contingency Plan has been, or will be, 
provided to any city or county within which it provides water, no later than 30  days after the 
submission of the plan to DWR.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

WSCP, Section 12

x x
Section 8.12 10632(c)

Make available the Water Shortage Contingency Plan to customers and any city or county where 
it provides water within 30 after adopted the plan.

Water Shortage Contingency 
Planning

WSCP, Section 12

x
Sections 9.1 and 9.3 10631(e)(2)

Wholesale suppliers shall describe specific demand management measures listed in code, their 
distribution system asset management program, and supplier assistance program.

Demand Management Measures N/A

Page 3 of 4

Page 1450

Item 37.



Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company

Retail Wholesale
2020 Guidebook Location Water Code Section Summary as Applies to UWMP Subject

2020 UWMP Location (Optional 
Column for Agency Review Use)

x
Sections 9.2 and 9.3 10631(e)(1)

Retail suppliers shall provide a description of the nature and extent of each demand management 
measure implemented over the past five years. The description will address specific measures 
listed in code.

Demand Management Measures Section 9.9

x
Chapter 10 10608.26(a)

Retail suppliers shall conduct a public hearing to discuss adoption, implementation, and economic 
impact of water use targets (recommended to discuss compliance).

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 9.10

x x
Section 10.2.1 10621(b)

Notify, at least 60 days prior to the public hearing, any city or county within which the supplier 
provides water that the urban water supplier will be reviewing the plan and considering 
amendments or changes to the plan. Reported in Table 10-1.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 9.10

x x
Section 10.4 10621(f)

Each urban water supplier shall update and submit its 2020 plan to the department by July 1, 
2021.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 9.10

x x
Sections 10.2.2, 10.3, and 10.5 10642

Provide supporting documentation that the urban water supplier made the plan and contingency 
plan available for public inspection, published notice of the public hearing, and held a public 
hearing about the plan and contingency plan.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 9.10

x x
Section 10.2.2 10642

The water supplier is to provide the time and place of the hearing to any city or county within 
which the supplier provides water.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 9.10

x x
Section 10.3.2 10642

Provide supporting documentation that the plan and contingency plan has been adopted as 
prepared or modified.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 9.10

x x
Section 10.4 10644(a)

Provide supporting documentation that the urban water supplier has submitted this UWMP to the 
California State Library.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 9.10

x x
Section 10.4 10644(a)(1)

Provide supporting documentation that the urban water supplier has submitted this UWMP to any 
city or county within which the supplier provides water no later than 30 days after adoption.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 9.10

x x
Sections 10.4.1 and 10.4.2 10644(a)(2)

The plan, or amendments to the plan, submitted to the department shall be submitted 
electronically.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 9.10

x x
Section 10.5 10645(a)

Provide supporting documentation that, not later than 30 days after filing a copy of its plan with the 
department, the supplier has or will make the plan available for public review during normal 
business hours.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 9.10

x x
Section 10.5 10645(b)

Provide supporting documentation that, not later than 30 days after filing a copy of its water 
shortage contingency plan with the department, the supplier has or will make the plan available for 
public review during normal business hours.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 9.10

x x
Section 10.6 10621(c)

If supplier is regulated by the Public Utilities Commission, include its plan and contingency plan as 
part of its general rate case filings. 

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 9.10

x x
Section 10.7.2 10644(b)

If revised, submit a copy of the water shortage contingency plan to DWR within 30 days of 
adoption.

Plan Adoption, Submittal, and 
Implementation

Section 9.10

Page 4 of 4

Page 1451

Item 37.



 

 

 

 

Water Shortage Contingency Plan 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Coachella Water Authority 

 

 

 

DRAFT 

 

 

June 2021 

 

 

 

 

PUBLIC REVIEW DRAFT JUNE 2,2021 

 

 

Page 1452

Item 37.



 i 

 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.0  Water Supply Reliability Analysis ...................................................................................................... 1 

2.0  Annual Water Supply and Demand Assessment Procedures .......................................................... 2 

  Decision Making Process .............................................................................................................. 2 

  Data and Methodologies ............................................................................................................... 3 

2.2.1  Evaluation Criteria ..................................................................................................................... 3 

2.2.2  Water Supply ............................................................................................................................. 3 

2.2.3  Unconstrained Customer Demand ............................................................................................ 3 

2.2.4  Planned Water Use for Current Year Considering Dry Subsequent Year ................................ 3 

2.2.5  Infrastructure Considerations .................................................................................................... 3 

2.2.6  Other Factors ............................................................................................................................ 3 

3.0  Six Standard Water Shortage Levels ................................................................................................ 3 

4.0  Shortage Response Actions .............................................................................................................. 4 

  Supply Augmentation .................................................................................................................... 4 

  Demand Reduction Actions and Mandatory Use Restrictions ...................................................... 5 

  Operational Changes .................................................................................................................... 8 

  Additional Mandatory Restrictions ................................................................................................. 8 

  Emergency Response Plan ........................................................................................................... 8 

  Seismic Risk Assessment and Mitigation Plan ............................................................................. 8 

5.0  Communication Protocols ................................................................................................................. 9 

6.0  Compliance and Enforcement ......................................................................................................... 11 

  Penalties ...................................................................................................................................... 11 

  Appeals and Exemption Process ................................................................................................ 11 

7.0  Legal Authorities ............................................................................................................................. 11 

8.0  Financial Consequences of WSCP ................................................................................................. 13 

9.0  Monitoring and Reporting ................................................................................................................ 13 

10.0  WSCP Refinement Procedures ....................................................................................................... 13 

11.0  Special Water Feature Distinction ................................................................................................... 14 

12.0  Plan Adoption, Submittal, and Availability ....................................................................................... 14 

 

 

Appendix A.  Legal Authority 

Appendix B.  Resolution of Adoption 

 

Page 1453

Item 37.



Water Shortage Contingency Plan   

 1  

This document represents the Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP) adopted by the Coachella 
Water Authority (CWA).  The document follows the structure recommended in guidance documents 
prepared by the California Department of Water Resources (DWR). 

CWA is one of six agencies in the Coachella Valley participating in the development of a 2020 Regional 
Urban Water Management Plan (RUWMP).  Each agency is adopting the RUWMP to meet its reporting 
requirements under the Urban Water Management Planning Act.  Each agency is also adopting its own 
WSCP.  The agencies have sought to align their shortage levels and shortage response actions to the 
extent possible, with the intent of reducing confusion for neighboring customers during a shortage.  
However, each agency will adopt its own WSCP with slight variations (e.g. penalty processes and 
amounts) for flexibility in the event that future changes are necessary.  

As individual agencies make updates or enhancements to their WSCP, each will be able to make 
modifications and re-adopt an amended WSCP without triggering a requirement for the other participating 
agencies to take similar steps. The update process is described in later sections of this WSCP.  

 

This section provides a summary of the supply reliability analysis presented in the RUWMP and highlights 
key issues that could create a shortage condition. 

The supplies of the agencies in the Coachella Valley generally have a high degree of reliability.  The 
RUWMP participating agencies meet most of their urban demands with groundwater produced from the 
Indio (also known as Whitewater River) and Mission Creek Subbasins of the Coachella Valley 
Groundwater Basin.  The groundwater basin is large enough to provide storage that allows continued 
production during dry periods.  Because production exceeds the recharge provided by precipitation and 
return flows, the agencies use imported water to recharge the groundwater basin.  These sources of 
imported water for recharge include: 

 Colorado River water that Coachella Valley Water District (CVWD) receives through the 
Coachella Canal. 

 State Water Project (SWP) water that CVWD and Desert Water Agency (DWA) have rights to 
receive.  Because the SWP infrastructure does not extend into the Coachella Valley, CVWD and 
DWA have an exchange agreement with the Metropolitan Water District of Southern California 
(MWD).  The agreement allows MWD to deliver water from its Colorado River Aqueduct (CRA) to 
the Coachella Valley to recharge the local aquifer.  In return, MWD receives SWP water through 
the SWP infrastructure based on the annual allocations to CVWD and DWA. 

Drought conditions are not expected to affect CVWD’s Colorado River water supply due to the agency’s 
high priority allocation.  Colorado River water is not a direct source of urban water supply; it is used for 
groundwater replenishment and non-potable uses.  If a reduction in Colorado River water supply 
occurred, CVWD would initially reduce deliveries to groundwater replenishment projects.  Subsequent 
reductions in delivery would be applied to users following the priorities in CVWD’s Canal Water Shortage 
Contingency Plan.  These priorities are defined in CVWD’s Canal Water Shortage Contingency Plan, 
which is Chapter 3.10, Article XII of CVWD’s administrative code. 

Drought conditions in the Sierra Nevada would have an effect on the SWP water allocation; thus reducing 
the SWP Exchange water received by CVWD and DWA.  This water is used for replenishment of the 
groundwater basin and is not a direct source of urban water supply.  Consequently, water use restrictions 
due to drought involving the SWP water supply would likely be implemented only as a result of a 
prolonged drought. 

During dry periods when less imported water is available, groundwater production will exceed the amount 
of recharge, and the volume in storage will be reduced.  However, these reductions can be reversed in 
years when additional imported water is available.  The Coachella Valley Groundwater Basin is a large 
basin which provides a buffer during dry periods, thus allowing the agencies to develop long-term plans 
and programs to manage regional water supplies. 

Page 1454

Item 37.



Water Shortage Contingency Plan   

 2  

The reliability analysis for CWA is presented in Section 7 of CWA’s chapter of the RUWMP.  Although that 
analysis demonstrates that the region’s urban water supply is reliable, there are potential issues that 
could create a shortage condition.  These include: 

 An extended drought more severe than historic events, possibly impacted by climate change. 
 A natural disaster or a malevolent act that leads to prolonged disruption of imported water 

delivery from the Colorado River or the SWP. 
 Reductions in imported water supply due to environmental restrictions related to endangered 

species or habitat protection. 
 Identification of a currently unregulated contaminant that has widespread effects on the region’s 

groundwater supply. 
 Regulatory mandates to reduce water use. 

Water shortage contingency planning provides a way to plan for these risks and anticipate actions that 
can be implemented to manage the impacts. This plan describes how CWA intends to respond to such 
shortage events.  The responses have been aligned with those of other RUWMP participating agencies to 
the extent possible. 

 

CWA will be required to prepare an Annual Water Supply and Demand Assessment (Annual Assessment) 
and submit it to DWR each year, beginning July 1, 2022.  The Annual Assessment is intended to meet 
requirements of Water Code Section 10632.1 and present an assessment of the likelihood of a water 
shortage occurring during the next 12 months.  This section of the WSCP outlines the procedures that 
CWA will use to prepare the Annual Assessment.  The procedures defined in this section will allow CWA 
to follow a consistent annual procedure for making the determination of whether to activate the WSCP. 

 Decision Making Process 

DWR requires a defined decision-making process for performing the Annual Assessment.  The process 
and anticipated timeline are presented in Table 1. 

 

Table 1.  Annual Assessment Decision-Making Process 
Anticipated Timeline 

of Each Year Activities 
February CWA staff will review available data related to anticipated supplies and 

demands. 

March The six agencies participating in the Coachella Valley RUWMP will review 
the data and determine whether a consistent region-wide determination on 
water supply reliability can be made.  If needed, individual agencies may 
elect to activate their WSCP at different shortage levels than other 
participating agencies. 

April CWA staff will make a determination whether to recommend 
implementation of shortage response actions.   

May If shortage response actions are to be implemented, CWA management will 
present the recommendation to the governing board for consideration. 

If the governing board decides to implement the WSCP, it will provide 
public notice of a hearing to consider changes in the implementation of the 
shortage response actions. 

June CWA staff will prepare the Annual Assessment and submit it to DWR by 
July 1st. 

 

Page 1455

Item 37.



Water Shortage Contingency Plan   

 3  

 

 Data and Methodologies 

This section describes the data and methodologies that will be used to evaluate water system reliability 
for the coming year, while considering that the year to follow could be dry. 

2.2.1 Evaluation Criteria 

CWA will rely on locally applicable criteria for each annual assessment.  These criteria will include the 
findings of the annual reports prepared for the Indio Subbasin and the Mission Creek Subbasin for 
compliance with the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act.  Findings from the annual Engineer’s 
Report on Water Supply and Replenishment Assessment will also be incorporated. 

2.2.2 Water Supply 

CWA’s anticipated supplies will be quantified for the near-term future, and descriptive text will be used to 
note any anticipated reductions in supply. 

2.2.3 Unconstrained Customer Demand 

CWA will prepare an estimate of unconstrained demand (as the term is used in Water Code Section 
10632(a)(2)(B)(i)). The estimated demand will be calculated using the demand projection approach 
described in Section 4 of each agency’s chapter of the RUWMP, in combination with updated data for 
connections, climate, changes in land use, and recent water usage history. 

2.2.4 Planned Water Use for Current Year Considering Dry Subsequent Year 

CWA will describe the anticipated use of water supplies for the coming year, with the anticipation that the 
following year will be dry.  The supplies will be characterized in a manner consistent with the RUWMP, in 
combination with updated data for climate and recent observations. 

2.2.5 Infrastructure Considerations 

CWA will describe any potential infrastructure constraints on the ability to deliver adequate supplies to 
meet expected customer demands in the coming year.  CWA will verify that its system of wells, pipelines, 
pump stations, and storage tanks have adequate capacity to deliver the anticipated demands.  CWA will 
describe any anticipated capital projects that are intended to address constraints in production, treatment, 
or distribution. 

2.2.6 Other Factors 

CWA will describe any specific locally applicable factors that could influence or disrupt supplies.  CWA will 
also describe unique local considerations that are considered as part of the Annual Assessment. 

 

 

The RUWMP participating agencies have elected to use the six standard shortage levels included in 
guidance documents prepared by DWR.  The six standard water shortage levels correspond to 
progressively increasing estimated shortage conditions (up to 10-, 20-, 30-, 40-, 50- percent, and greater 
than 50-percent shortage compared to the normal reliability condition).  These levels are identified in 
Table 2. 

Page 1456

Item 37.



Water Shortage Contingency Plan   

 4  

Table 2.  Water Shortage Contingency Plan Levels 

Shortage 
Level 

Percent 
Shortage Range Description 

Narrative Summary of Shortage Response 
Actions 

1 Up to 10% Normal water 
supplies 

Mandatory prohibitions defined by the state, 
ongoing rebate programs 

2  Up to 20% Slightly limited 
water supplies 

Outdoor water use restrictions on time of day, 
increased water waste patrols 

3  Up to 30% Moderately limited 
water supplies 

Outdoor water use restrictions on days per 
week, restrictions on filling swimming pools 

4  Up to 40% Limited water 
supplies 

Limits on new landscaping, expanded public 
information campaign 

5  Up to 50% Significantly 
limited water 
supplies 

Limits on watering of parks or school grounds 

6  Greater than 50% Severe shortage 
or catastrophic 
incident 

No potable water use for outdoor purposes 

 

Each level in Table 2 represents an anticipated reduction in the supplies that would normally be available 
to CWA.  These supply reductions could be the result of a variety of potential causes including natural 
forces, system component failure or interruption, regulatory actions, contamination, or any combination of 
factors.  CWA may need to activate shortage levels across its entire service area or within certain areas 
that are impacted by an event. 

The levels involve voluntary and mandatory conservation measures and restrictions, depending on the 
causes, severity, and anticipated duration of the water supply shortage.  The locally appropriate shortage 
response actions that would be taken at each level to address the resulting gap between supplies and 
demands are described in the following section. 

 

This section describes the shortage response actions that would be taken by CWA at each shortage 
level.  These actions have been grouped into categories including: 

 Supply Augmentation Actions 
 Demand Reduction Actions and Mandatory Use Restrictions 
 Operational Changes 

 Supply Augmentation 

For long-range planning, CWA continues to evaluate opportunities for transfers, exchanges, and other 
purchases of imported water to increase supply reliability.  CVWD and DWA collaborate to replenish the 
groundwater aquifer with imported water, creating a stored supply that can be used for emergencies or 
longer-term shortages.  CVWD and DWA are also making investments in increasing supply reliability from 
the SWP through the Delta Conveyance Facility and in securing new supplies like Sites Reservoir.  
Additionally, the RUWMP participating agencies continue to implement water conservation measures and 
increase use of recycled water usage to reduce groundwater demand. These programs are described in 
Chapter 3 of the RUWMP. 

In their WSCP, agencies have the option of identifying short-term supply augmentation actions that would 
be taken during a shortage.  These actions are intended to be separate from the long-range planning 
efforts to sustainably manage the groundwater basin.  The short-term supply augmentation measures that 
could be implemented are presented in Table 3. 

Page 1457

Item 37.



Water Shortage Contingency Plan   

 5  

Table 3.  Supply Augmentation Actions 

Shortage 
Level 

Supply Augmentation 
Methods and Other 
Actions by Water 

Supplier 
Expected 

Relative Impact Additional Explanation or Reference 

1 - 6 Exchanges Medium 

Emergency connections with neighboring 
agencies could be activated or 
constructed to help exchange water with 
adjoining systems. 

5 New recycled water Medium 

In areas where recycled water supply is 
available, customers could be mandated 
to use recycled water and cease use of 
potable water. 

6 Other actions Medium 
Additional non-potable water sources 
such as new shallow groundwater wells. 

 

 Demand Reduction Actions and Mandatory Use Restrictions 

The RUWMP participating agencies have aligned their demand reduction actions to the greatest extent 
possible, while allowing each agency to tailor its response to the unique characteristics of its service area.  
The agencies conducted public workshops to gather input on actions that could be taken during a water 
shortage.  The input from stakeholders was used to select and prioritize actions that reflected the values 
of the community.  Key elements of the input included: 

 The importance of recognizing the conservation efforts that many customers have already made 
and not imposing requirements for all customers to meet the same percentage reduction in water 
use. 

 The importance of involving Homeowner Associations (HOAs) to help implement and 
communicate response actions to individuals. 

 The benefits of tiered rates in allowing customers to pay less for their basic efficient use and more 
for excessive use. 

 A balanced program should include incentives (such as expanded rebates for turfgrass removal) 
as well as penalties (such as drought rates). 

 A range of approaches is needed to communicate with customers and end users, including social 
media, web sites, bill inserts, presentations, and virtual tours, ideally in multiple languages. 

The demand reduction actions that could be implemented at each shortage level are shown in Table 4.  
During a shortage, CWA may implement some or all of the actions as needed, depending on actual 
conditions. 

 

  

Page 1458

Item 37.



Water Shortage Contingency Plan   

 6  

Table 4.  Demand Reduction Actions 

Shortage 
Level ID Demand Reduction Actions 

Expected 
Relative 
Impact 

Penalty or 
Enforcement 

1 1.1 Applying any water to outdoor landscapes in a manner 
that causes runoff such that water flows onto adjacent 
property, non-irrigated areas, private and public 
walkways, roadways, parking lots, or structures is 
prohibited. 

Low No 

 1.2 Using any water in a fountain or other decorative 
water feature is prohibited, unless the water 
recirculates. 

Low No 

 1.3 Applying water to driveways, sidewalks, concrete or 
asphalt is prohibited unless to address immediate 
health and safety needs. Reasonable pressure 
washer or water broom use is permitted. 

Low No 

 1.4 Spray irrigation of outdoor landscapes during and 
within 48 hours after rainfall of 0.10 inches is 
prohibited. 

Low No 

 1.5 Using a hose to wash a vehicle, windows, or solar 
panels is prohibited unless an automatic shut-off 
nozzle or pressure washer is used. 

Low No 

 1.6 Broken sprinklers shall be repaired within five 
business days of notification by agency, and leaks 
shall be repaired as soon as practical. 

Low No 

 1.7 Draining and refilling of private swimming pools is 
discouraged, unless necessary for health and safety 
or leak repair. 

Low No 

 1.8 Hotels will provide guests the option of choosing not to 
have towels and linens laundered daily. 

Low No 

 1.9 Agency shall discourage overseeding. Low No 
 1.10 Agency shall provide rebates for landscape efficiency. High No 
 1.11 Agency shall offer water use surveys/audits. Medium No 
 1.12 Agency shall provide rebates on plumbing fixtures and 

devices. 
Medium No 

2 2.1 Outdoor water use is prohibited during daylight hours 
for spray irrigation except for leak checks or with an 
agency approved conservation alternative plan. 

Medium Yes 

 2.2 Restaurants can serve water only on request. Low Yes 
 2.3 Agency shall encourage use of non-potable water for 

construction, if available. 
Low No 

 2.4 Agency shall actively discourage overseeding. Medium No 
 2.5 Agency shall reduce outdoor water budget by 10% Medium Yes 
 2.6 Agency shall expand public information campaign. Medium No 
 2.7 Agency shall increase water waste patrols. Medium Yes 
 2.8 Agency shall reduce hydrant and dead-end line 

flushing. 
Low No 

3 3.1 Outdoor water use is allowed only three days a week 
for spray irrigation (Monday, Wednesday, and Friday). 

High Yes 

 3.2 Drip or subterranean irrigation is allowed seven days 
per week, during non-daylight hours. 

Medium Yes 

 3.3 Commercial nurseries are to use water only on 
alternate days during non-daylight hours for outside 
operations. 

Low Yes 

Page 1459

Item 37.



Water Shortage Contingency Plan   

 7  

Shortage 
Level ID Demand Reduction Actions 

Expected 
Relative 
Impact 

Penalty or 
Enforcement 

 3.4 Decorative ponds, non-irrigation system golf course 
water hazards, fountains, and other waterscape 
features are not to be filled or replenished. 

Low Yes 

 3.5 No filling of swimming pools or landscaping ponds 
unless necessary for health and safety or leak repair. 

Low Yes 

 3.6 Commercial car washes must use recycled water or 
recirculating water systems. 

Medium Yes 

 3.7 Spray irrigation of medians and parkways is 
prohibited.  

Medium Yes 

 3.8 Agency shall encourage counties, cities, Homeowners 
Associations (HOAs) and other enforcement agencies 
to suspend code enforcement and fines for brown 
turfgrass areas and to otherwise comply with new 
State laws regarding limitations on such enforcement. 

Low No 

 3.9 Agency shall strengthen customer billing messages 
with use comparisons. 

Medium No 

 3.10 Agency shall implement water use audits targeted to 
key customers to ensure compliance with directives. 

Medium No 

 3.11 Agency shall expand rebate programs. Medium No 
4 4.1 Turfgrass landscapes may not be watered except 

where subterranean or non-potable water systems are 
used. 

High Yes 

 4.2 Agency shall implement or modify drought rate 
surcharge. 

High Yes 

 4.3 Agency shall reduce outdoor water budget by up to 
25%. 

High Yes 

 4.4 Agency shall expand public information campaign. Medium No 
5 5.1 Watering turfgrass is prohibited. High Yes 
 5.2 The use of misting systems is prohibited. Medium Yes 
 5.3 Turfgrass at parks and school grounds are to be 

watered with recycled water, if available, or not at all.   
Medium Yes 

 5.4 Golf course greens and tees may be watered no more 
than two times per week during non-daylight hours 
with recycled water, or not at all. 

Medium Yes 

 5.5 Trees, desert plants and shrubs may be watered only 
with drip, subterranean or non-adjustable bubbler 
irrigation systems during non-daylight hours. 

High Yes 

 5.6 Agency shall reduce outdoor water budget by up to 
50%. 

High Yes 

 5.7 Agency shall impose moratorium or net zero demand 
on new connections. 

N/A Yes 

6 6.1 Commercial nurseries shall discontinue all use of 
potable water for watering and irrigation. 

Low Yes 

 6.2 Watering of livestock is permitted as necessary. N/A Yes 

 6.3 Outdoor water use is prohibited. High Yes 

 6.4 Restaurants must use disposable cups, plates, and 
utensils. 

Low Yes 

 6.5 Agency shall implement mandatory rationing. High Yes 

 

Page 1460

Item 37.



Water Shortage Contingency Plan   

 8  

 

 Operational Changes 

CWA has identified potential operational changes that could be made to help address a short-term gap 
between demands and available supplies.  These include improved monitoring and analysis of customer 
water usage, reductions in flushing of hydrants and dead-end lines, and use of emergency connections 
with neighboring water agencies.  Some of the potential actions are included in Table 4.  CWA may also 
expedite planned system improvement projects that include reduction in water loss (e.g., replacement of 
water mains that are experiencing higher rates of leaks and breaks). 

 Additional Mandatory Restrictions 

CWA has identified a series of restrictions that could be implemented at different shortage levels.  These 
restrictions are included in the demand reduction actions in Table 4. 

 Emergency Response Plan 

The Water Code requires that an agency’s WSCP address catastrophic water shortages and plans to 
address them.  This information can be addressed in the agency’s Emergency Response Plan (ERP).  
CWA’s ERP contains sensitive information related to potential vulnerabilities or impacts of natural 
disasters or malevolent acts.  Therefore, these documents are not typically made publicly available.  
CWA’s plan outlines specific disaster-related procedures to guide staff in responding efficiently to 
catastrophic interruptions of water supply. 

Five of the RUWMP participating agencies collaborate on planning efforts, including emergency 
response, through the Coachella Valley Regional Water Management Group (CVRWMG).  In addition, 
CVWD, DWA, IWA, and MSWD are members of the California Water/Wastewater Agency Response 
Network (CalWARN), which supports and promotes emergency preparedness.  More information about 
CalWARN is available at their web site at www.calwarn.org. 

The region’s imported water supplies from the Colorado River and the SWP could be disrupted by an 
earthquake.  Because the agencies use local groundwater to meet urban demands, the agencies could 
continue to meet short term urban demands with groundwater production.  The agencies have installed 
backup generators at key water production facilities to allow continued operation during a power outage. 

DWR has plans in place to make emergency repairs to the SWP, and MWD has plans in place to make 
emergency repairs to the CRA.  CVWD has plans to make emergency repairs to the Coachella Canal.  
CVWD staff receives regular Incident Command System (ICS) training through the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA), and drills are conducted routinely.  CVWD remotely monitors the status of 
most key facilities at CVWD headquarters, which enables it to detect areas affected by disasters.  
RUWMP participating agencies also participate in ICS training and regularly monitor key water facilities 
remotely. 

If imported water supplies were disrupted for an extended period, it would reduce the water supply 
available for replenishment of the groundwater basin.  It could also lead to increased groundwater 
pumping by non-urban users who normally use imported canal water.  CWA would implement levels of 
this WSCP as needed if pumping needed to be decreased while imported water supplies were 
interrupted.   

 Seismic Risk Assessment and Mitigation Plan 

Water Code Section 10632.5 requires the RUWMP participating agencies to assess seismic risk to water 
supplies as part of their WSCP.  The code also requires a mitigation plan for managing seismic risks. In 
lieu of conducting their own seismic risk assessment, which can be a lengthy process, suppliers can 
comply with the Water Code requirement by submitting the relevant local hazard mitigation plan or multi-
hazard mitigation plan. 

Page 1461

Item 37.



Water Shortage Contingency Plan   

 9  

The Riverside County Local Hazard Mitigation Plan (LHMP) was updated in 2018.  The Riverside County 
LHMP is available on the Riverside County web site at https://rivcoemd.org/LHMP.  The Riverside County 
LHMP includes an assessment of the region’s vulnerability to a broad range of hazards, including 
earthquakes.  It also describes mitigation strategies and actions to reduce the impacts of a seismic event.  
The RUWMP participating agencies continue to include seismic risk assessment in their planning process 
for system improvements. 

 

Timely and effective communication is a key element of WSCP implementation.  CWA will need to inform 
customers, the general public, and other government entities of WSCP actions taken during a water 
shortage (either one determined by the Annual Assessment, an emergency, catastrophic, or other event).  
An overview of planned communication approaches is provided in Table 5.  These protocols have been 
aligned between the RUWMP participating agencies where possible, but some are tailored to the needs 
of CWA’s service area.  CWA will adjust its communication strategy as needed to address issues that are 
impacting the entire service area or limited areas. 

 

 

Page 1462

Item 37.



Water Shortage Contingency Plan   

 10  

 

Table 5.  Communication Plan Outline 

At all times 

Level 1 

 

Up to 10% Voluntary Conservation 

Level 2 

 

Up to 20% Mandatory Conservation 

Levels 3 and 4 

 

Up to 30% or 40% Mandatory Conservation 

Levels 5 and 6 

 

Up to 50% or Over 50% Mandatory 
Conservation 

Standard outreach efforts in effect 
(media relations, social media, website) 

Update message platform to reflect 
conditions, District response, and needed 
actions from public 

Update campaign and messages to generate 
immediate actions/behaviors by public, 
include information on enforcement actions 

Update campaign and messages to raise 
awareness for more severe water-saving 
actions/behaviors by public, highlight need for 
reduced outdoor water use 

Update campaign and messages to reflect 
extreme or emergency condition and likely 
need to focus water use on health/safety 
needs 

Promote ongoing Water Use Efficiency 
(WUE) programs and tools and 
partnerships designed to achieve long-
term water management goals 

Announce status change to key stakeholders 
and general public (e.g., News release, social 
media, etc.) 

Announce status change to key stakeholders 
and general public (e.g.,  News release, social 
media, etc.) 

Announce status change to key stakeholders 
and general public (e.g., News release, social 
media, etc.) 

Announce emergency status to key 
stakeholders and general public (e.g.,  News 
release, social media, etc.) 

Standard coordination with MWD and 
regional partners 

Include increased conservation messages on 
website and in standard outreach efforts; 
provide regular condition updates to 
stakeholders/media 

Supplement Level 1 activities with additional 
tactics as needed; provide regular condition 
updates to stakeholders/media 

Supplement Level 2 outreach with additional 
tactics as needed; provide regular updates to 
stakeholders/media on conditions 

Supplement Level 3-4 outreach with additional 
tactics as needed; provide regular condition 
updates to stakeholders/media on conditions 

Board reports on public communication 
and water-use efficiency outreach 
activities at least annually.  

Enhance promotion of ongoing WUE 
programs/tools; deploy targeted advertising 

Conduct issue briefings with elected officials, 
other key civic and business leaders 

Conduct specialized outreach to HOAs and 
local organizations 

Suspend promotion of long-term WUE 
programs/tools to focus on imminent needs 

 Initiate regular Board reports on campaign 
efforts 

Increase promotion of ongoing WUE 
programs/tools 

Promote available water assistance resources 
for vulnerable populations; specialized outreach 
to impacted industries 

Continue enhanced coordination with 
neighbor agencies and local/state/federal 
policy makers as needed (e.g. daily or weekly 
briefings or email updates, etc.) 

 

 

 

 

Page 1463

Item 37.



Water Shortage Contingency Plan   

 11  

 

This section describes how CWA will ensure compliance with and enforce provisions of the WSCP.  The 
RUWMP participating agencies have worked together to align their policies where possible, but each 
agency implements its compliance and enforcement actions within its service area. 

 Penalties 

The penalties that could be imposed for non-compliance are summarized in Table 6.  

 

Table 6.  Enforcement Actions 

Water 
Shortage 

Level First Violation 

Second 
Violation 
(within 12 
months) 

Third Violation 
(within 12 
months) 

Subsequent 
Violations 

Additional 
Information 

1 Written warning $15 
administrative 
fee 

$50 
administrative 
fee 

$100 
administrative fee 

 

2 Written warning $100 
administrative 
fee 

$150 
administrative 
fee 

$300 
administrative fee 

 

3 Written warning $150 
administrative 
fee 

$300 
administrative 
fee 

$500 
administrative fee 

 

4 through 
6 

$300 
administrative 
fee 

$500 
administrative 
fee 

$500 
administrative 
fee 

$500 
administrative fee 

 

 

 Appeals and Exemption Process 

This section describes the appeals and exemption processes. Where feasible, specific exemptions can 
be identified and defined. Where not feasible, the process to appeal or obtain an exemption should be 
detailed. 

Any water user violating the regulations and restrictions on water use may receive a written notice for the 
violation.  The water user shall have seven days from receipt of the notice to submit a written request for 
a hearing.  If no hearing is requested, or at the hearing it is determined that the water user has committed 
a violation, a civil penalty may be levied. 

The government codes and ordinances that are used to implement these policies and processes are 
discussed in Section 7. 

 

This section describes the legal authorities that CWA relies upon to implement the shortage response 
actions and the associated enforcement actions.   

Chapter 13.03 of the Coachella Municipal Code provides the legal authority to enforce water service 
conditions, including the WSCP.  The City adopted Resolution No. WA-2014-05 to Implement Stage II of 
its WSCP in 2014. 

The City is in the process of updating its ordinances to reflect the contents of this WSCP. 

Page 1464

Item 37.



Water Shortage Contingency Plan   

 12  

A copy of the legal authority is included in Appendix A. 

In accordance with Water Code Chapter 3 (commencing with Section 350) of Division 1 general 
provisions regarding water shortage emergencies, CWA shall declare a water shortage emergency in the 
event of a catastrophic interruption in supply. 

CWA shall coordinate with any city or county within which it provides water supply services for the 
possible proclamation of a local emergency under California Government Code, California Emergency 
Services Act (Article 2, Section 8558).  Including a list of and contacts for all cities or counties for which 
the RUWMP participating agencies provide service in the WSCP, along with developed coordination 
protocols, can facilitate compliance with this section of the Water Code in the event of a local emergency 
as defined in subpart (c) of Government Code Section 8558. 

These cities and counties are summarized in Table 7. 

Table 7.  City and County Coordination on Proclamation of Emergencies 
City or County Contact CVWD CWA DWA IWA MDMWC MSWD 

Imperial County Office of 
Emergency 

Services 

X      

Riverside County  Emergency 
Management 
Department 

X X X X X X 

City of La Quinta Emergency 
Management 

Division 

X   X X  

City of Indio Emergency 
Services 

Coordinator 

X X  X   

City of Coachella Emergency 
Services 

Coordinator 

X X  X   

City of Palm Desert Emergency 
Services 

Coordinator  

X      

City of Cathedral City Emergency 
Manager 

X  X    

City of Indian Wells Emergency 
Services 

Coordinator 

X      

City of Rancho Mirage Emergency 
Services 

Coordinator 

X      

City of Palm Springs Emergency 
Management 
Coordinator 

  X   X 

City of Desert Hot 
Springs 

Emergency 
Services 

Coordinator 

  X   X 

 

Page 1465

Item 37.



Water Shortage Contingency Plan   

 13  

 

This section describes the anticipated financial consequences to CWA of implementing the WSCP.  The 
description includes potential reductions in revenue due to lower water sales and increased expenses 
associated with implementing the shortage response actions.   

Potential financial impacts of implementing the WSCP could include: 

 Reduced revenue from reduced water use 
 Increased staff costs for tracking, reporting, patrolling, and enforcing restrictions 
 Economic impacts associated with water-dependent businesses in the service area 

Potential mitigation measures include: 

 Triggering of drought rate structures or surcharges 
 Using financial reserves 
 Reducing operation and maintenance expenses (expenses related to source of supply and 

pumping will fall due to reduced water production) 
 Deferring capital improvement projects 
 Reducing future projected operation and maintenance expenses 
 Increasing fixed readiness-to-serve charge 
 Increasing commodity charge and water adjustment rates to cover revenue shortfalls 
 Seeking alternative source of funding, such as state or federal grants or loans 
 Other financial management mechanisms 

CWA will monitor financial conditions during a water shortage and take appropriate actions as needed.  
CWA maintains financial reserves that can be used to continue operations during a period of reduced 
water sales.  CWA has the ability to increase water rates or implement surcharges or penalties to 
increase revenues from water sales. 

 

 

This section describes how CWA will monitor and report on implementation of the WSCP.  CWA will 
gather data on key water use metrics and use the data to evaluate the effectiveness of response actions 
in achieving their intended water use reduction purposes.  CWA will also gather data on customer 
compliance to evaluate the effectiveness of enforcement actions.  CWA will gather and report data at 
frequencies adequate to meet reporting requirements established by the State Water Resources Control 
Board and other government agencies.  The specific reporting requirements are expected to continue to 
change over the next five years. 

CWA will monitor water use by customers using billing systems and operational control systems to 
monitor production and consumption.  Each customer is metered, and billing records will be compiled and 
used to observe trends in water consumption.  Each groundwater well and water connection point is also 
metered, and production records will be used to observe trends in water production.  Levels in reservoirs 
can be monitored using the operational control systems to help identify potential high usage or leaks.  
CWA staff may also perform field visits and record observations to monitor water use and identify 
potential issues for follow-up. 

For agencies that have budget-based rates, the consumption by customers will be compared to the water 
budgets to determine effectiveness of response actions.  For agencies without defined water budgets for 
each customer, the consumption records will be aggregated by customer class to evaluate response 
actions and identify potential additional measures. 

 

CWA will monitor the implementation of this plan to evaluate its effectiveness as an adaptive 
management tool.  The monitoring and reporting program described in Section 9 will provide information 

Page 1466

Item 37.



Water Shortage Contingency Plan   

 14  

on the effectiveness of the shortage response actions during any shortage levels that may be invoked.  If 
CWA determines that the shortage response actions are not effective in producing the desired results, 
CWA will initiate a process to refine the WSCP.  CWA will consider the addition of new shortage response 
actions, or changing the levels when shortage response actions are implemented.  Suggestions for 
refinements will be collected from agency staff, customers, industry experts, and the general public.  The 
RUWMP participating agencies will share data and suggestions for refinement to identify opportunities to 
increase the effectiveness of the WSCP while maintaining alignment with other agencies in the region 
when possible. 

 

The RUWMP participating agencies have distinguished swimming pools and spas as recreational water 
features, while non-pool and non-spa water features are considered decorative water features.  This 
distinction is used in the shortage response actions because decorative water features have the potential 
to use recycled water, while most pools and spas (recreational water features) use potable water for 
health and safety considerations.  However, this distinction does not apply to the hot mineral spring pools 
and spas throughout the Desert Hot Springs area; while they are recreational, they also do not rely on 
potable water.  

 

CWA adopted this WSCP with the 2020 RUWMP.  The RUWMP and WSCP were made available for 
public review during May and June of 2021.  A public hearing was held on June 23, 2021 to allow public 
input on the draft RUWMP and the WSCP. 

CWA’s governing board adopted the RUWMP and the WSCP at a meeting on June 23, 2021.  The 
resolution of adoption is included as Appendix B. 

This WSCP was submitted to DWR through the WUEData portal before the deadline of July 1, 2021.  This 
WSCP was made available to the public on CWA’s web site.  Notice was provided to cities and counties 
in the service area that the WSCP was available on CWA’s web site. 

If CWA identifies the need to amend this WSCP, it will follow the same procedures for notification to cities, 
counties and the public as used for the RUWMP and for initial adoption of the WSCP.  The draft amended 
WSCP will be made available for public review, and CWA’s governing board will hold a public hearing to 
receive comments on the draft amended WSCP.  Once CWA’s governing board adopts the amended 
WSCP, the amended plan will be submitted to DWR and the California State Library, and it will be made 
available to the public and the cities and counties in the service area through placement on CWA’s web 
site.   

 

Page 1467

Item 37.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A.  Legal Authority 

 

 

 

  

Page 1468

Item 37.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix B.  Resolution of Adoption 

 

Page 1469

Item 37.



 

 

Appendix C:  Demonstration 
of Reduced Delta Reliance 
 

 

 

(Appendix L to 2015 UWMP) 
  

Page 1470

Item 37.



 

 1 
Appendix - Delta Reliance_DRAFT.docx 

 
Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

Quantifying Regional Self-Reliance and Reduced Reliance on Water Supplies from the Delta 
Watershed 

June 2021 

1 Background 
Under the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta Reform Act of 2009, state and local public agencies proposing a 
covered action in the Delta, prior to initiating the implementation of that action, must prepare a written 
certification of consistency with detailed findings as to whether the covered action is consistent with 
applicable Delta Plan policies and submit that certification to the Delta Stewardship Council. Anyone may 
appeal a certification of consistency, and if the Delta Stewardship Council grants the appeal, the covered 
action may not be implemented until the agency proposing the covered action submits a revised 
certification of consistency, and either no appeal is filed, or the Delta Stewardship Council denies the 
subsequent appeal. 

An urban water supplier that anticipates participating in or receiving water from a proposed covered 
action such as a multi-year water transfer, conveyance facility, or new diversion that involves transferring 
water through, exporting water from, or using water in the Delta should provide information in their 2015 
and 2020 Urban Water Management Plans (UWMPs) that can then be used in the covered action process 
to demonstrate consistency with Delta Plan Policy WR P1, Reduce Reliance on the Delta Through Improved 
Regional Water Self-Reliance (WR P1). 

WR P1 details what is needed for a covered action to demonstrate consistency with reduced reliance on 
the Delta and improved regional self-reliance. WR P1 subsection (a) states that: 

(a) Water shall not be exported from, transferred through, or used in the Delta if all of the following 
apply: 

(1) One or more water suppliers that would receive water as a result of the export, 
transfer, or use have failed to adequately contribute to reduced reliance on the Delta and 
improved regional self-reliance consistent with all of the requirements listed in paragraph 
(1) of subsection (c); 

(2) That failure has significantly caused the need for the export, transfer, or use; and 

(3) The export, transfer, or use would have a significant adverse environmental impact in 
the Delta. 

WR P1 subsection (c)(1) further defines what adequately contributing to reduced reliance on the Delta 
means in terms of (a)(1) above. 

(c)(1) Water suppliers that have done all the following are contributing to reduced reliance on the 
Delta and improved regional self-reliance and are therefore consistent with this policy: 

Page 1471

Item 37.



 

 2 
Appendix - Delta Reliance_DRAFT.docx 

(A) Completed a current Urban or Agricultural Water Management Plan (Plan) which has 
been reviewed by the California Department of Water Resources for compliance with the 
applicable requirements of Water Code Division 6, Parts 2.55, 2.6, and 2.8; 

(B) Identified, evaluated, and commenced implementation, consistent with the 
implementation schedule set forth in the Plan, of all programs and projects included in the 
Plan that are locally cost effective and technically feasible which reduce reliance on the 
Delta; and 

(C) Included in the Plan, commencing in 2015, the expected outcome for measurable 
reduction in Delta reliance and improvement in regional self-reliance. The expected 
outcome for measurable reduction in Delta reliance and improvement in regional self- 
reliance shall be reported in the Plan as the reduction in the amount of water used, or in 
the percentage of water used, from the Delta watershed. For the purposes of reporting, 
water efficiency is considered a new source of water supply, consistent with Water Code 
section 1011(a). 

The analysis and documentation provided below include all the elements described in WR P1(c)(1) that 
need to be included in a water supplier’s UWMP to support a certification of consistency for a future 
covered action. 

The analysis presented here was developed on behalf of the six agencies participating in the 2020 
Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan (RUWMP).  These six agencies include: 

 Coachella Valley Water District 
 Coachella Water Authority 
 Desert Water Agency 
 Indio Water Authority 
 Mission Springs Water District 
 Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company 

This analysis is based on the water used to meet demands throughout the Coachella Valley. 

2 Methodology 
As stated in WR P1(c)(1)(C), the policy requires that, commencing in 2015, UWMPs include expected 
outcomes for improved regional self-reliance and measurable reduction in Delta reliance. WR P1 further 
states that those outcomes shall be reported in the UWMP as the reduction in the amount of water used, 
or in the percentage of water used, from the Delta. The expected outcomes for regional self-reliance and 
reduced Delta reliance were developed using the approach and guidance described in Appendix C of 
DWR’s Urban Water Management Plan Guidebook 2020 issued in March 2020 (Guidebook Appendix C). 

The methodology used to determine improved regional self-reliance and reduced Delta reliance is 
consistent with the approach detailed in DWR’s UWMP Guidebook Appendix C, including the use of 

Page 1472

Item 37.



 

 3 
Appendix - Delta Reliance_DRAFT.docx 

narrative justifications for the accounting of supplies and the documentation of specific data sources. 
Some of the key assumptions include: 

 All data were obtained from the current 2020 RUWMP, UWMPs from previous years, the 
Integrated Regional Water Management Plan, the Draft Indio Subbasin Alternative Plan Update, 
or the Draft Mission Creek Subbasin Alternative Plan Update.  Demands represent average or 
normal water year conditions. 

 All analyses were conducted at the service area level, and all data reflect the total contributions 
of the agencies as well as their customers. 

To calculate the expected outcomes for improved regional self-reliance and reduced Delta reliance, a 
baseline is needed to compare against. This analysis uses a normal water year representation of 2010 as 
the baseline, which is consistent with the approach described in the Guidebook Appendix C. 

3 Demonstration of Regional Self-Reliance 
Demands without Water Use Efficiency 
In alignment with the Guidebook Appendix C, this analysis uses normal water year demands, rather than 
normal water year supplies to calculate expected outcomes in terms of the percentage of water used. 
Using normal water year demands serves as a proxy for the amount of supplies that would be used in a 
normal water year, which helps alleviate issues associated with how supply capability is presented to fulfill 
requirements of the UWMP Act versus how supplies might be accounted for to demonstrate consistency 
with WR P1. 

Because WR P1 considers water use efficiency savings a source of water supply, water suppliers that do 
not explicitly quantify water use efficiency savings in their UWMPs can calculate their embedded water 
use efficiency savings based on changes in forecasted per capita water use since the baseline.  As 
explained in the Guidebook Appendix C, water use efficiency savings must be added back to the normal 
year demands to represent demands without water use efficiency savings; otherwise the effect of water 
use efficiency savings on regional self-reliance would be overestimated. Table C-1 shows the results of 
this estimation. Supporting narrative and documentation for the data shown in Table C-1 are provided 
below. 

Demands with Water Use Efficiency  

The demands shown in Table C-1 represent the water demands for the region, compiled from the previous 
documents mentioned above and current projections. . 

Population 

Population was estimated using the previous UWMPs and the regional growth forecast prepared by the 
Southern California Association of Governments (SCAG). 

Page 1473

Item 37.



 

 4 
Appendix - Delta Reliance_DRAFT.docx 

Estimated Water Use Efficiency Since Baseline 

This line item was calculated using “Potable Demands with Water Use Efficiency” divided by “Population” 
and then calculating Estimated Water Use Efficiency Since Baseline by comparing with 2010 Per Capita 
Water Use. 

Water Demands without Water Use Efficiency 

This line item was calculated by adding “Demands with Water Use Efficiency” to “Estimated Water Use 
Efficiency Since Baseline.” 

Supplies Contributing to Regional Self-Reliance 
For a covered action to demonstrate consistency with the Delta Plan, WR P1 subsection (c)(1)(C) states 
that water suppliers must report the expected outcomes for measurable improvement in regional self-
reliance. Table C-3 shows expected outcomes for supplies contributing to regional self-reliance both in 
amount and as a percentage. The numbers shown in Table C-3 represent efforts to improve regional self-
reliance for all agencies and include the total contributions of the agencies and their customers. 
Supporting narratives and documentation for the data shown in Table C-3 are provided below. 

Water Use Efficiency 

The water use efficiency information shown in Table C-3 is taken directly from Table C-1. 

Water Recycling 

Estimates of water recycling volumes are based on previous UWMPs and current projections. 

Local and Regional Water Supply and Storage Programs 

The local and regional water supply and storage programs data shown in Table C-3 represent estimates 
by the participating agencies.   

Conclusions 
The results shown in Table C-3 demonstrate that the agencies are measurably improving regional self-
reliance.  In the long-term (through 2045), the expected outcome for normal water year regional self-
reliance is an increase of approximately 17 percentage points from the 2010 baseline. The results show 
that as a region, the agencies and their customers are measurably reducing reliance on the Delta and 
improving regional self-reliance. 

4 Demonstration of Reduced Reliance on the Delta 
The agencies reduce reliance on the Delta through investments in non-Delta water supplies, local water 
supplies, and regional and local demand management measures. For reduced reliance on supplies from 
the Delta Watershed, the data used in this analysis represent the total regional efforts of the agencies and 
their customers.  

Page 1474

Item 37.



 

 5 
Appendix - Delta Reliance_DRAFT.docx 

Calculation of Reliance on Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed 
The calculation of reliance on water supplies from the Delta watershed, shown in Table C-4, is based on 
the following assumptions. The agencies’ supplies from the Delta watershed include:  

 Central Valley Project (CVP) / State Water Project (SWP) Contract Supplies 
 Other Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed.   

CVP/SWP Contract Supplies 

The supply data shown in Table C-4 is for SWP Table A allocations to CVWD and DWA.  These values are 
based on the combined Table A amount for CVWD and DWA (194,100 AFY) and the historical average 
reliability as published in the SWP Delivery Capability Report. 

Other Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed 

Because this document demonstrates reduced reliance on the Delta and could be used to help support 
the approval of a future project, these supplies do not include any potential future projects that could be 
covered actions. 

Change in Supplies from the Delta Watershed 

This line item was calculated by adding “CVP/SWP Contract Supplies” and “Other Water Supplies from the 
Delta Watershed” to get total Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed and then calculating changes 
from the 2010 baseline. 

Percent Change in Supplies from the Delta Watershed 

In this line item the “Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed” is divided by “Demands without Water 
Use Efficiency” for each timeframe to show changes from the 2010 baseline. 

Conclusions 
The results shown in Table C-4 demonstrate that the agencies are measurably reducing reliance on 
supplies from the Delta watershed.  In the long term (through 2045), the results show that as a region, 
the agencies and their customers are measurably reducing reliance on the Delta and improving regional 
self-reliance. 

5 UWMP Implementation 
In addition to the analysis and documentation described above, WR P1 subsection (c)(1)(B) requires that 
all programs and projects included in the UWMP that are locally cost-effective and technically feasible, 
which reduce reliance on the Delta, are identified, evaluated, and implemented consistent with the 
implementation schedule. WR P1 (c)(1)(B) states that water supplies must have: 

(B) Identified, evaluated, and commenced implementation, consistent with the implementation 
schedule set forth in the Plan, of all programs and projects included in the Plan that are locally cost 
effective and technically feasible which reduce reliance on the Delta[.] 

Page 1475

Item 37.



 

 6 
Appendix - Delta Reliance_DRAFT.docx 

In accordance with Water Code Section 10631(f), water suppliers must include in their UWMP a detailed 
description of expected future projects and programs that they may implement to increase the amount 
of water supply available to them in normal and single-dry water years and for a period of drought lasting 
five consecutive years. The UWMP description must also identify specific projects, include a description 
of the increase in water supply that is expected to be available from each project, and include an estimate 
regarding the implementation timeline for each project or program. 

The 2020 RUWMP summarizes the implementation plan and continued progress in developing a 
diversified water portfolio to meet the region’s water needs. 

6  2015 UWMP Appendix L 
The information contained in this appendix is also intended to be a new Appendix L attached to each 
agency’s 2015 UWMP consistent with WR P1 subsection (c)(1)(C) (Cal. Code Regs. tit. 23, § 5003).  The 
agencies provided notice of the availability of the draft 2020 RUWMP, 2021 WSCPs, and a new Appendix 
L to the 2015 UWMP and of a public hearing to consider adoption of the documents in accordance with 
CWC Sections 10621(b) and 10642, and Government Code Section 6066, and Chapter 17.5 (starting with 
Section 7290) of Division 7 of Title 1 of the Government Code. The public review drafts of the 2020 
RUWMP, Appendix L to the 2015 UWMP, and the 2021 WSCPs were posted on each agency’s website 
before the public hearings in June 2021.  The notice of availability of the documents was published in local 
newspapers and was sent to cities and counties in each agency’s service area.  Copies of the notification 
letter sent to cities and counties are included in the 2020 RUWMP Appendix B. Thus, this Appendix C to 
the 2020 RUWMP, which was adopted with the 2020 RUWMP, will also be recognized and treated as 
Appendix L to each agency’s 2015 UWMP.  

Each agency held a public hearing for the draft 2020 RUWMP, draft Appendix L to the 2015 UWMP, and 
draft 2021 WSCP in June of 2021, at a regular Board of Directors meeting. Each agency’s Board of Directors 
determined that the 2020 RUWMP and the 2021 WSCP accurately represent the water resources plan for 
the service area. In addition, each agency’s Board of Directors determined that Appendix L to  the 2015 
UWMP (and Appendix C to the 2020 RUWMP) includes all of the elements described in Delta Plan Policy 
WR P1, Reduce Reliance on the Delta Through Improved Regional Water Self-Reliance (Cal. Code Regs. tit. 
23, § 5003), which need to be included in a water supplier’s UWMP to support a certification of 
consistency for a future covered action. Each agency’s Board of Directors adopted the 2020 RUWMP, 
Appendix L to the 2015 UWMP, and the 2021 WSCP and authorized their submittal to the State of 
California. Copies of the resolutions are included in the 2020 RUWMP Appendix H.  

Page 1476

Item 37.



Reduced Reliance Calculation - Data Template
Table C-1: Optional Calculation of Water Use Efficiency -To be completed if Water Supplier does not specifically estimate Water Use Efficiency as a supply

Water Use Efficiency Demands
(Acre-Feet)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

Water Demands with Water Use Efficiency Accounted For 670,396         577,233         591,136         622,594         633,243         643,736         651,535         658,561         
Non-Potable Water Demands 473,083         419,852         418,469         418,722         416,275         413,828         410,616         407,405         
Potable Demands with Water Use Efficiency Accounted For 197,313         157,381         172,667         203,872         216,968         229,908         240,919         251,156         

Total Population
Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045

Population 481,800         496,853         507,951         592,237         639,654         687,782         734,493         781,710         

Water Use Efficiency Since Baseline
(Acre-Feet)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

Per Capita Water Use (GPCD) 366                 283                 303                 307                 303                 298                 293                 287                 
Change in Per Capita Water Use from Baseline (GPCD) (83)                  (62)                  (58)                  (63)                  (67)                  (73)                  (79)                  
Estimated Water Use Efficiency Since Baseline (AF) 46,097           35,356           38,669           44,992           51,762           59,880           68,980           

Table C-2: Calculation of Water Demands Without Water Use Efficiency 

Total Water Demands
(Acre-Feet)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

Water Demands with Water Use Efficiency Accounted For 670,396         577,233         591,136         622,594         633,243         643,736         651,535         658,561         
Reported Water Use Efficiency or Estimated Water Use Efficiency Since Baseline 46,097           35,356           38,669           44,992           51,762           59,880           68,980           
Water Demands without Water Use Efficiency Accounted For 670,396         623,330         626,492         661,263         678,235         695,498         711,415         727,541         

Page 1477

Item 37.



Table C-3: Calculation of Supplies Contributing to Regional Self-Reliance

Water Supplies Contributing to Regional Self-Reliance
(Acre-Feet)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

Water Use Efficiency -                  46,097           35,356           38,669           44,992           51,762           59,880           68,980           

Water Recycling 14,268           13,349           13,398           17,013           23,933           25,713           27,913           30,213           
Stormwater Capture and Use
Advanced Water Technologies
Conjunctive Use Projects
Local and Regional Water Supply and Storage Projects 412,587         437,587         462,387         488,890         498,390         498,390         498,390         498,390         
Other Programs and Projects the Contribute to Regional Self-Reliance 11,600           11,600           11,187           11,187           11,187           11,187           
Water Supplies Contributing to Regional Self-Reliance 438,455         508,633         522,035         555,759         578,502         587,052         586,183         597,583         

Water Demands without Water Use Efficiency
(Acre-Feet)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

Water Demands without Water Use Efficiency Accounted For 670,396         623,330         626,492         661,263         678,235         695,498         711,415         727,541         

Change in Regional Self Reliance
(Acre-Feet)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

Water Supplies Contributing to Regional Self-Reliance 438,455         508,633         522,035         555,759         578,502         587,052         586,183         597,583         
Change in Water Supplies Contributing to Regional Self-Reliance 70,178           83,580           117,304         140,047         148,597         147,728         159,128         

Percent Change in Regional Self Reliance
(As Percent of Demand w/out WUE)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

Percent of Water Supplies Contributing to Regional Self-Reliance 65.4% 81.6% 83.3% 84.0% 85.3% 84.4% 82.4% 82.1%
Change in Percent of Water Supplies Contributing to Regional Self-Reliance 16.2% 17.9% 18.6% 19.9% 19.0% 17.0% 16.7%

Page 1478

Item 37.



Table C-4: Calculation of Reliance on Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed 64% 49% 58% 58% 58% 58% 52% 52%

Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed
(Acre-Feet)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

CVP/SWP Contract Supplies 124,224         95,109           112,578         112,578         112,578         112,578         100,932         100,932         
Delta/Delta Tributary Diversions
Transfers and Exchanges
Other Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed 651                 651                 651                 651                 651                 651                 651                 
Total Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed 124,224         95,760           113,229         113,229         113,229         113,229         101,583         101,583         

Water Demands without Water Use Efficiency
(Acre-Feet)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

Water Demands without Water Use Efficiency Accounted For 670,396         623,330         626,492         661,263         678,235         695,498         711,415         727,541         

Change in Supplies from the Delta Watershed
(Acre-Feet)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed 124,224         95,760           113,229         113,229         113,229         113,229         101,583         101,583         
Change in Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed (28,464)          (10,995)          (10,995)          (10,995)          (10,995)          (22,641)          (22,641)          

Percent Change in Supplies from the Delta Watershed
(As a Percent of Demand w/out WUE)

Baseline    
(2010) 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2045
(Optional)

Percent of Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed 18.5% 15.4% 18.1% 17.1% 16.7% 16.3% 14.3% 14.0%
Change in Percent of Water Supplies from the Delta Watershed -3.2% -0.5% -1.4% -1.8% -2.2% -4.3% -4.6%

Page 1479

Item 37.



RESOLUTION NO. WA-2021-04 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE COACHELLA 

WATER AUTHORITY ADOPTING THE 2020 COACHELLA VALLEY 

REGIONAL URBAN WATER MANAGEMENT PLAN 
 

WHEREAS, the Urban Water Management Planning Act requires urban water suppliers 

providing water for municipal purposes to more than 3,000 customers or supplying more than 3,000 

acre-feet of water annually to prepare and adopt, in accordance with prescribed requirements, an 

urban  water management plan every five years; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Urban Water Management Planning Act specifies the requirements and 

procedures for adopting such urban water management plans; and 

 

WHEREAS, the 2020 Coachella Valley Regional Urban Water Management Plan 

(RUWMP) has been prepared at the direction of Coachella Valley Water District, Coachella Water 

Authority, Desert Water Agency, Indio Water Authority, Mission Springs Water District, and 

Myoma Dunes Mutual Water Company in accordance with the Urban Water Management 

Planning Act and the Water Conservation Act of 2009, also referred to as SB X7-7; and 

 

WHEREAS, in accordance with applicable law, including Water Code section 10642, and 

Government Code section 6066, a Notice of a Public Hearing regarding the 2020 RUWMP was 

published within the jurisdiction of the Coachella Water Authority on June 4, 2021 and June 11, 

2021; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Coachella Water Authority wishes to adopt the 

2020 RUWMP and has determined the 2020 RUWMP to be consistent with the Urban Water 

Management Planning Act and Water Conservation Act of 2009 and to be an accurate representation 

of the water resources plan for Coachella Water Authority. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Coachella 

Water Authority herby resolves as follows: 

 

1. All of the above recitals are true; 

 

2. The Board of Directors of the Coachella Water Authority adopts the 2020 RUWMP, as      

amended by changes incorporated by the Board of Directors as a result of input received (if 

any) at the public hearing; 
 

3. The Utilities Manager is hereby authorized and directed to file the Plan with the California 

Department of Water Resources within 30 days of this date.  
 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23rd day of June 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez, President 

Page 1480

Item 37.



Resolution No. WA-2021-04 

Page 2 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

Secretary 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

General Counsel 

 

  

Page 1481

Item 37.



Resolution No. WA-2021-04 

Page 3 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA        ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE       ) ss. 

CITY OF COACHELLA           ) 

 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. WA-2021-04 was duly adopted by the 

Board of Directors of the Coachella Water Authority at a regular meeting thereof, held on the 23rd day of 

June 2021, by the following vote of the Authority: 

 

AYES:   

 

NOES:   

 

ABSENT:   

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

___________________________________ 

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy Secretary, Coachella Water Authority 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 1482

Item 37.



RESOLUTION NO. WA-2021-05 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

COACHELLA WATER AUTHORITY ADOPTING THE 2021 WATER 

SHORTAGE CONTINGENCY PLAN 

 

WHEREAS, the Urban Water Management Planning Act requires urban water suppliers 

providing water for municipal purposes to more than 3,000 customers or supplying more than 

3,000 acre-feet of water annually to prepare and adopt, in accordance with prescribed 

requirements, a water shortage contingency  plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Urban Water Management Planning Act specifies the requirements and 

procedures for adopting such Water Shortage Contingency Plans; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Urban Water Management Planning Act requires urban water suppliers 

to conduct an annual water supply and demand assessment (Annual Assessment) each year and to 

include in their water shortage contingency plans the procedures they use to conduct the Annual 

Assessment; and 

 

WHEREAS, the procedures used to conduct an Annual Assessment include, but are not 

limited to, the written decision-making process that an urban water supplier will use each year to 

determine its water supply reliability; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Coachella Water Authority’s water shortage contingency plan provides 

that by June of each year, agency staff will present a completed Annual Assessment for approval 

by the Board of Directors or by the Board’s authorized designee with expressly delegated authority 

for approval of Annual Assessment determinations; and  
 

WHEREAS, in accordance with applicable law, including Water Code section 10642, 

and Government Code section 6066, a Notice of a Public Hearing regarding the Water Shortage 

Contingency Plan was published within the jurisdiction of the Coachella Water Authority on 

June 4, 2021 and June 11, 2021; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Coachella Water Authority wishes to adopt 

such Water Shortage Contingency Plan and has determined the Water Shortage Contingency Plan 

to be consistent with the Urban Water Management Planning Act and to be an accurate 

representation of the planned actions during shortage conditions for Coachella Water Authority. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Coachella 

Water Authority herby resolves as follows: 

 

1. All of the above recitals are true; 

 

2. The Board of Directors of the Coachella Water Authority adopts the Water Shortage 

Contingency Plan, as amended by changes incorporated by the Board of Directors as a 

result of input received (if any) at the public hearing and expressly authorizes the Executive 

Director of the Authority to approve the Annual Assessment each year; 

Page 1483

Item 37.



Resolution No. WA-2021-05 

Page 2 

 

 

3. The Utilities Manager is hereby authorized and directed to file the Water Shortage 

Contingency Plan with the California Department of Water Resources within 30 days of 

this date.  

 
PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23rd day of June 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez 

President 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

Secretary 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

General Counsel 

 

  

Page 1484

Item 37.



Resolution No. WA-2021-05 

Page 3 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA        ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE       ) ss. 

CITY OF COACHELLA           ) 

 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. WA-2021-05 was duly adopted by the 

Board of Directors of the Coachella Water Authority at a regular meeting thereof, held on the 23rd day of 

June 2021, by the following vote of the Authority: 

 

AYES:   

 

NOES:   

 

ABSENT:   

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

___________________________________ 

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy Secretary, Coachella Water Authority 

 

 

Page 1485

Item 37.



RESOLUTION NO. WA-2021-06 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

COACHELLA WATER AUTHORITY ADOPTING APPENDIX L AS AN 

ADDENDUM TO THE 2015 URBAN WATER MANAGEMENT PLAN 

 

 

WHEREAS, the Urban Water Management Planning Act requires urban water suppliers 

providing water for municipal purposes to more than 3,000 customers or supplying more than 

3,000 acre-feet of water annually to prepare and adopt, in accordance with prescribed 

requirements, an urban  water management plan every five years; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Urban Water Management Planning Act specifies the requirements and 

procedures for amending and adopting such urban water management plans; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta Reform Act of 2009, the 

Delta Plan, and Water Code section 85021, which declares that the State’s policy is to “reduce 

reliance on the Delta in meeting California’s future water needs through a statewide strategy of 

investing in improved regional supplies, conservation, and water use efficiency,” urban water 

suppliers are encouraged by the California Department of Resources (DWR) and the Delta 

Stewardship Council (DSC) to consider adopting an Addendum to their 2015 urban water 

management plans to demonstrate consistency with the Delta Plan Policy WR P1 to Reduce 

Reliance on the Delta Through Improved Regional Water Self-Reliance (Cal. Code Regs. tit. 23, 

§ 5003); 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Coachella Water Authority wishes to adopt 

Appendix L as an addendum to Authority’s 2015 Urban Water Management Plan and has 

determined Appendix L to be consistent with the Urban Water Management Planning Act and 

include all of the elements described in Delta Plan Policy WR P1, Reduce Reliance on the Delta 

Through Improved Regional Water Self-Reliance (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 23, § 5003, subd. 

(c)(1)); and  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Coachella 

Water Authority herby resolves as follows: 

 

1. All of the above recitals are true; 

 

2. The Board of Directors of the Coachella Water Authority adopts Appendix L as an 

addendum to the 2015 Urban Water Management Plan, as amended by changes 

incorporated by the Board of Directors as a result of input received (if any) at the public 

hearing; 
 

3. The Utilities Manager is hereby authorized and directed to file Appendix L as an addendum 

to the 2015 Urban Water Management Plan with the California Department of Water 

Resources within 30 days of this date.  

 
 

Page 1486

Item 37.



Resolution No. WA-2021-06 

Page 2 

 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 23rd day of June 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez 

President 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

Secretary 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

General Counsel 

 

  

Page 1487

Item 37.



Resolution No. WA-2021-06 

Page 3 

 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA        ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE       ) ss. 

CITY OF COACHELLA           ) 

 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. WA-2021-06 was duly adopted by the 

Board of Directors of the Coachella Water Authority at a regular meeting thereof, held on the 23rd day of 

June 2021, by the following vote of the Authority: 

 

AYES:   

 

NOES:   

 

ABSENT:   

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

___________________________________ 

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC 

Deputy Secretary, Coachella Water Authority 

 

 

Page 1488

Item 37.


	Top
	Item 6.	Minutes of May 26, 2021 (Study Session)
	CouncilMinutes-05-26-2021 - Study Session

	Item 7.	Meeting Minutes of May 26, 2021 (City Council)
	CouncilMinutes-05-26-2021

	Item 11.	Voucher Listing- EFT's/Utility Billing Refunds/FY 2020-21 Expenditures as of June 23, 2021, $3,140,670.63.
	210623 Warrant Register

	Item 12.	Ordinance No. 1181, Pueblo Cannabis - Change of Zone 20-08 (2nd Reading)
	CC Staff Rpt 06-09-21
	Ord No 1181-2nd Reading

	Item 13.	Ordinance No. 1182 - Updates to the Hotel Operations Incentive Program (Second Reading)
	Staff Report - Ordinance Updating Hotel Incentive Program - 2nd Reading
	Ordinance No 1182 Amending Chapter 4.49 Hotel Incentive Program - 2nd Reading
	Hotel Incentive Program HIP Revised - 2nd Reading

	Item 14.	Resolution No. 2021-35, Local Agency Investment Fund - Authorized Signers - City
	LAIF - Authorized Signers - Staff Report - City - 2021
	LAIF - Authorized Signers - Reso - 2021-35

	Item 15.	Resolution No. SD-2021-03 Local Agency Investment Fund - Authorized Signers
	LAIF - Authorized Signers - Staff Report
	LAIF - Authorized Signers - Reso SD-2021-03

	Item 16.	Resolution No. 2021-37, Authorization of Eminent Domain Deposit - SR86/Ave 50 Interchange
	Eminent Domain Deposit - Staff Report
	Eminent Domain Deposit - Reso 2021-37
	Eminent Domain Deposit - Request For Funds Letter

	Item 17.	Appropriations Limit for Fiscal 2021-22
	Appropriations Limits - Staff Report - 2021-22
	Resolution No 2021-38
	Resolution No SD-2021-04
	Resolution No FD-2021-03

	Item 18.	Approve Resolution No. 2021-39 amending the existing street sweeping parking fine.
	Agenda - Parking Fines Updated (St Sweeping) 6 23 21
	Reso - Adopting Updated St Sweeping Parking Violation Fees 6 23 21

	Item 19.	Adopt Resolution No. 2021-41 Authorizing the City Manager to Execute Grant Documents and Submit a Joint Application with Pacific Southwest Community Development Corporation, the Project’s Managing General Partner, for Funding Under the Infill Infrastructure Grant Program to the California Department of Housing and Community Development in a Not-to-Exceed Amount of $4,500,000 Million for the Affordable Housing Apartment Project on Tripoli Avenue in the City of Coachella
	Staff Report - Infill Infrastructure Grant Program (JUNE 23 2021)
	Resolution No. 2021-41 IIG Grant

	Item 20.	Investment Policy Update For Fiscal Year 2021-22
	Investment Policy Staff Report - 6-23-2021
	Approved Investment Policy 2020-21
	Recommended Coachella Investment Policy FY 2021-22
	PFM - Memo of Recommended Changes
	Investment Policy Resolution City (2021-44)
	Investment Policy Resolution Water (WA-2021-07)
	Investment Policy Resolution Sanitary (SD-2021-05)
	Investment Policy Resolution Fire (FD-2021-04)
	Investment Policy Resolution Cable (CBL-2021-02)

	Item 21.	Authorize a Community Based Grant to the California Farmworker Foundation in the Amount of $1,000 to Assist Farmworkers Facing Food Insecurity
	Staff Report - CA Farmworker Foundation
	CBG Program Application

	Item 22.	Approve 2021 – 2023 Memorandum of Understanding between the City of Coachella and Desert Recreation District.
	Agenda - DRD MOU 2021-2023
	MOU 2021 and 2023 - Desert Recreation District

	Item 23.	Approve execution of Amendment No. 3 to the lease agreement between the City of Coachella and Armtec Defense Technologies.
	Agenda - Armtec Lease Agreement 6 23 21
	Lease - Armtec Defense Technologies Third Amendment 6 15 21

	Item 24.	Authorize execution of Amendment No. 1 between the City of Coachella and Vintage Landscape for Rancho Las Flores Park Project No. 030619A.
	Agenda - Award Amend No 1 to Vintage for RLF Park
	Amendment No 1 - RLF Park Proj 030619A

	Item 25.	Authorize execution of Amendment No. 3 between the City of Coachella and Vintage Landscape for City Parks and Office Facilities Project No. 030619C.
	Agenda - Award Amend No 1 to Vintage for City Parks and Office Facilities Project 062321
	Amendment No 3 -City Parks and Office Facilities Proj 030619C

	Item 26.	Authorize execution of Amendment No. 1 to West Coast Arborist Maintenance Agreement extending their term for one year.
	Agenda - WCA Amendment No 1; 6 23 21
	Amendment No 1 - West Coast Arborist 062321

	Item 27.	Authorize a Community Based Grant to Eastern Coachella Valley for Change in the Amount of $1,000 to Provide Mentorship to Students Enrolled in the Tenth Grade at Coachella Valley High School
	Staff Report - ECV For Change
	CBG_Application_ECV4Change

	Item 28.	Approve Agreement for Animal Field and Shelter Services between the City of Coachella and the County of Riverside
	Staff Report Agreement for Animal Field and Shelter Services
	ATTACHMENT 21-005 Coachella Field and Shelter Agreement

	Item 29.	Authorize a Community Based Grant to the Academy of Musical Performance in the Amount of $1,000 for Summer Day Camp Meals
	Staff Report - Academy of Musical Performance
	CBG Program Application - AMP

	Item 30.	Approve execution of Change Order No. 1 and Notice of Completion for Bagdouma Pool Rehabilitation Project No. 102720; accept project as complete and direct City Clerk to record the Notice of Completion.
	Agenda - Bagdouma Pool Notice of Completion and Change Order No. 1 62321
	Exhibit - Change Order No. 1 Bagdouma Pool 62321
	Exhibit - Notice of Completion Condor Inc.

	Item 31.	Ordinance No. 1178 - 2nd Reading
	CC Staff Rpt 06-09-21
	Ord No 1178 - 2nd Reading
	Letter for staff report 6.9.2021
	300 ft owner certifed labels

	Item 32.	Ordinance No. 1184 Amending Chapter 2 of the Coachella Municipal Code by adding Section 2.30 to include a Youth Advisory Commission. (First Reading)
	Agenda - Youth Commission 6 23 21
	Ordinance - Youth Commission 6 23 21

	Item 33.	Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Budget Adoption
	Staff Report - 21-22 Budget - City
	Staff Report - 21-22 Budget - Cable
	Staff Report - 21-22 Budget - Fire
	Staff Report - 21-22 Budget - Sanitary
	Staff Report - 21-22 Budget - Water
	Resolution No. 2021-34 City Budget
	Resolution No. CBL-2021-01
	Resolution No. FD-2021-02
	Resolution No. SD-2021-02
	Resolution No. WA-2021-03
	FY 2021-22  Draft Proposed Budget

	Item 34.	Ordinance No. 1183 B-4 Ranch Change of Zone Project (First Reading)
	CC Staff Rpt 06-09-21
	Reso No 2021-36
	NOI ND for CZ 20-07
	IS-ND - CC Version
	Ord No 1183 - 1st Reading

	Item 35.	Public Hearing for Resolution No. 2021-19 Confirming the Assessment and Diagram and Ordering the Levy and Collection of Assessments for Fiscal Year 2021/2022 for the City of Coachella Landscaping and Lighting Maintenance District Number 1 through 38.
	LLMD Staff Report
	Engineering's Report 2021-2022
	Reso 2021-19 Confirming the Assessment & Diagram of the LLMD Engineer's Report FY 2022

	Item 36.	Pulte Coachella Subdivision - Sevilla Community
	CC Staff Rpt 06-23-21 Pulte Coach Subdivision
	Reso No. 2021-42 TTM
	2629 TTM 38084 2021-02-18
	Reso No. 2021-43 AR 21-03
	2021-03-09 Conceptual Landscape Plans
	Landscape Exhibit - Ribera at Street D
	2021-04-26_Coachella gate &amp; fence
	CEQA Addendum - CC Version
	2629 Coachella Prado - Appendix A
	Architectural Exhibits - Pulte Sevilla
	2629 - Colors and Materials
	Letter from Prado HOA 05-19-21
	CVWD Ltr 04-22-21
	Sunline Ltr - TTM 38084

	Item 37.	Resolution Nos. WA-2021-04, WA-2021-05 and WA-2021-06, Public Hearing and Adoption of the 2020 Regional Urban Water Management, Water Shortage Contingency Plan, and Appendix L to the 2015 Urban Water Management Plan
	Staff Report
	Coachella Valley RUWMP draft
	Coachella Valley RUWMP Appendices draft
	CWA_WSCP__draft
	Appendix_C_2015_L
	2020RUWMP_resolution
	2021WSCP_resolution
	addendum_resolution

	Bottom

